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THE KU-KLUX, CONSPIRACY.

This report consists of thirteeu volumes.

Volume I contains the report of the committee and the views of the minority.

Volume II contains the testimony taken by the committee in relation to North Caro-

lina, and the reiJort of the trials in the United States circuit court held at Raleigh,

North Carolina.

Volumes III, IV, and V contain testimony taken by the committee in relation to

South Carolina, and the report of the trials in the United States circuit court held at

Columbia, South Carolina. Index to the three volumes is contained in volume III.

Volumes VI and VII contain testimony taken by the counnittee in relation to Geor-

gia. Index is contained in volume VI.

Volumes VIII, IX, and X contain testimony taken by the committee in relation to

Alabama. Index is contained in volume VIII.

Volumes XI and XII contain testimony taken by the committee in relation to Mis-

sissipin. Index is contained in volume XI.

Volume XIII contains miscellaneous testimony taken by the committee, testimony

in relation to Florida, and miscellaneous documents.
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AARON, NANCY SUSAN, testimony of 459,460
thirty-two years of a»e ; born and lives in Jackson County, Georgia ; is mar-

ried; was visited by the Ku-Klux 459
William Booth threatened with flogging 4fiO

AARON, W. R., testimony of 588-591
twenty-eight years old ; born in Forsyth County ; live in Jackson County

;

a farmer 588
is visited by thirty-six Ku-Klux; they came for Mr. Booth ; said nothing out

of the way to his folks ; was asked by Perry Nicholson to join the Ku-
Klux 588

did not see the men who attacked Mr. HoUiday 589
William Booth threatened 590
negro whipped 591

Ackridge, case of. (See Eckridge. )

Acock, (Haycock,) whipping, by negroes of 7,237,238
Adam, (colored,) outrage upon, (Habersham County) 488
Adams, Kitchen, homicide of 282
Addison, Joseph, outrage upon, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 544,545,546,1009
Addison, Joseph, whipping of son-in-la.w and nephew of, (Haralson County, May,

187 J) 545
Addison, Joseph-, outrage upon wife and sister-in-law of, (Haralson County, Sep-

tember, Jrt71) 546
ADDISON, JOSEPH, testimony of 545-548

twenty-four years old ; born in Muscogee County ; lives in Haralson County
;

a farmer; a Union man; whipping of his brother-in-law and his son; is notified

to leave ; lay out three weeks ; visited by the Ku-Klux and whipped, March,
187 J; is again notified to leave 545

again visited by the Ku-Klux, May 3 1 ; taken out and shot at 545, 546
outrage upon his wife and sister-iu-la,w September, 1871 ; was driven away 546
was assailed ibr being a radical; killing of John Walthall; the party assault-

ing him was disguised 47
Address of B. H. Hill before the Society of Alumni, University of Georgia, July 31,

1871 799-808
Adkins, Senator, homicide of, (near Dearing, 1869).... 136, 207, 208, 231, 268, 269, 283, 284,

610,737,742,770, 1019, 1021, 1023-1026, 1150, 1151, 11.58, 1210, 1211
Adkins, Senator, encounter with Mr. Adams i 025, 1030, 1033
Alibis 818,873,876
Alien, Harry, and wife, (colored,) whipping of, (Gwinnett County, May, 1871). 603, 641,681
Allen, Jack, (colored,) whipping of, (Gwinnett County, May, 1871) 603,641,681
Allen, Thomas M., homicide of brother-in-law of, (Jasper County, October, 1868). 607,608
ALLEN, THOMAS M., (colored,) testimony of 607-618

thirty-eight years old ; born in Charleston, South Carolina; lives in Atlanta ;

pastor of Baptist church at Marietta, Jasper County ; came to the State about
J849; was a slave till emancipation ; took an active part in the constitutional
convention; elected to the legislature in 1868; colored members expelled

;

was reinstated 607
voted for Grant; renominated for the legislature: beaten by 60 votes 609
visit of the Ku-Klux to his house October 17, 1868, and his brother-in-law
Emanuel killed 607, 608

verdict of the coroner's jury; received a threatening letter; whipping of Mr.
Goldsboro; murder of Terry and six of his sons, in Warren County; killing
of Ayer, Ashhurn, and Adkins 610

no safety for colored people except in the large cities; killing of Abram Turner,
in Putnam County ;' colored people expect protection from the Federal Gov-
ernment only ; believes many of the jurymen and lawyers are members of
the Ku-Klux ; Ku-Klux operations principally in the Black Belt, wherever
the negroes are in the majority ; colored people very peaceable ; whipping
of Abram Colby 61
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ALLEN, THOMAS M.—Continued.

was advised to quit the Uniou League; feeling toward white radicals 612
investigation made by the nnilitary authorities of the killing of Emanuel 613
organizntion of the Grant Hangers 608,613,615,617
Union Lt'agiie, a secret political organization ; these organizations necessary

to rcnilcr the right of suifrage efficient and practical 615
sentiment in his county good about schools ; greatest amount of ignorance
among the, colored jjcople on huge plantations ; church statistics 616

no armed organization among the colored people of the State ; political affairs

getting worse ; a colored man not daring to say now what he could say two
years ago 617

Amendments, constitutional 523, 772, 773, 8*21

Amnesty, probable effect of general 60, 318, 319, 448, 529, 530, 759, 760, 813, 903, 997,

998,1129,1134,1137
ANDERSON, EDWARD C, testimony of 175-182

resident of Savannah, and mayor of that city for years ; laws are fully en-

forced ; comts ample for the maintenance of the law ; one or two disturbances

in that section of the State; election riot in Savannah ; tarring and feathering

of Aaron Hurt and the assault upon Aaron A. Bradley ; Southern Georgia
entirely free from Ku-Klux organizations 176

northern men received with the utmost kindness; negroes law-abiding and
orderly; prosperous condition of Savannah; city under democratic rule;

effect of the removal of disabilities; present taxation as compared with that

four or five years ago 177

sentiment of the people toward the Government of the United States and its

administration; relative colored and white population of the sea-island and
rice region : no knowledge of any organization of disguised men in the

State : - 178
belongs to the democratic party, and was a colonel in the coutederate army. .. 179

crimes committed by white men during the time he was mayor; increased

value of properly in Savannah 180
the city pays one-iifth of the whole taxation of the State 181

the people look upon the State government as an iniquity to civilization 182

ANDERSON, LEWIS, (colored, ) testimony of 864-866
twenty-live years old ; born and lives in Walton County ; knows Mr. Felker
and Jim Austin to be Ku-Klux; they advised him to give up his pistol, and
to be polite to white people; saw twenty-five Ku-Klux in Walton County in

1869 864
killing of Jake Daniel ; whipping of Charley Smith; Mr. Felker drew his pis-

tol on him in March last ; whipping of Gus Mills 865
ANGIER, NEDON L., testimony of

." 149-175,1062-1070
has resided thirty-one years in the State; twenty-three in Atlanta; went

north in 1863, and remained till the close of the war: was collector of in-

ternal revenue at Augusta 149
elected as a republican to the State convention, and elected by the general
assembly State treasurer in 1868; the laws of the State have been violated

and disregarded by the party in power and the governor 150
points in which the law has been disregarded, viz: mortgage bonds used by

the governor for other purposes than the redemption of the old bonds ; $55,000
to Kimball's Opera House 150,151,156, 157,160,161,162

issue of bonds in excess ; engraving the name of the trea,surer upon them with-

out authority, and not reporting them to the treasury ; issue in excess of

gold bonds to im-et the bonded indebtedness and other expenses of the State;

misapplication of the school-fund ; use ot State railroad funds for other pur-

poses than railroads 151
election law approved by governor containing points violative of the constitu-

lion ; inordinate sum paid for the printing of the constitution of the State in

pamphlet form ; paj'mcnt of Jhe interest on the Alabama and Chattanooga
Railroad bonds ; more clerks than the law authorizes and illegal payments
of rewards 152, 153,165,166,167

pardons granted by the governor, taken from the pardon-book 153
statement of the Slate finances : 153-155
knowledge of the Ku-Klux outrages 15(i, 174
history of the management of the Chattanooga and Atlanta Railroad 157, 169
road leased to certain partit's named 158, 169, 170
effort made to conceal the true stale of the indebtedness of the State 158
opinion as to the corruption of Governor Bullock, and his attempt to justify what
he has done 158, 1 59

mibapplicatiou of the school-fund 162, 163



INDEX. Ill

ANGIER, NEDON L.—Continued.
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printing of the State constitution 163
the payment of interest on railroad bonds ] 64
pardoning power exerci.sed by the governor, and its effect 156, 167 j 168, 169
general impression that Governor Bullock has not administered the govern-
ment fairly and honestly 170

tauDot say whether the outrages committed had anything to do with Governor
Bull'ick's maladministration of affairs 171

they grew out of the objection of the people to negro suffrage, in connection
with so many white people disfranchised ]72

doubts the propriety of negro suffrage ; negroes quiet and well-behaved in
everything except pilfering 17;]

Ku-Klux law a source of irritation in some localities 174
propriety of enforciug it 175
is state treasurer of Georgia; testified before the committee at Washington 1062
born in New Hampshire; came south when twenty-four years old 1064
never received a cent of interest on the State deposits 1062
letter to the House of Representatives of Georgia, July 20, 1670, relative to the

school-fund 1062, 1 063
the charge that he ever used the school-fund for his own purpose false and slan-

derous ] 063
supervising power over the affairs of Georgia exercised by General Terry ; mis-

appropriation of the school-fund 1(63, 1064
unreliability of negroes as wi;nesses 1064
management of the State funds ] 065-106S, 1070
governor Bullock and the 7 per cent, mortfrage bonds 1067, 1068
removal of the post-office to Mr. Kimball's building 1067, 1069

ANTHONY, MARTIN, (colored, ) testimony of 692-694
forty years old; born in Virginia; lives in Atlanta; came from Morgan
County ; left there because he could not stay in peace 692

his door broken in and himself beaten, August, 1869 692, 693
Antony,

, (colored,) whipping of, (Floyd County) 405
ARNOLD, RACHEL, (colored,)' tesiimouy of 383-390

from twenty-two to twenty-live years old; born in White County, Georgia,
and lives there now •.

".

388
whipping of Mary Brown ; exposure of person 3H9

Ashburn, George, homicideof, (Columbus, March. 1868) 136, 1H4, 186-188, 43!, 433,
451-453, 532, 533, 610, 770, 782, 784, 78^, 786, 1035, 1036

Ashburn, George, character of 434
ATKINS, JAMES, testimony of 522-.'32

native of Georgia; collector of internal revenue, since 1865; a republican .. . 522,523
community generally peaceable ; many outrages in different parts of the State ;

more breaches of the peace than before the war ; judges administer the law
as justly as possible ; juries influenced by their feelings ' 522

state of feeling between whites and blacks 522, 523
thirteenth amendment adopted under duress ; passions generated by the war

(gradually subsiding
, 523

farms better cultivated than before the war ; general disposition on the part
of the whites to improve the condition of the State; prejudice against the
negroes having schools ( 524 \

Amos S. Alexander, and Jackson Alexander, Chattooga County, visited by Ku- •

Klux, September, 1871 ; Mr. Rott, visited, whipped, and threatened ; illicit

distilling ; resistance to officers in collecting iutt-rnal revenue tax !.. 525
an organization for political purposes ; a Ku-Klux order 525, 526
cases of Ashburn, Atkins, Ayer, and another; number of carpet-baggers exag-

gerated ; northern men's chances e(}ually as good as those of the citizens of
the Stale, if they ignore politics or are democrats 5'26

the problem of negro equality ; feeling of antagonism 527
effect of the Freedmen's Bureau 527, 528
the ignorant must be educated ; ieeling toward the negro 528, 529
the foundation of the troubles ; a want of adjustment between the races ; the

question of the proposed equality of negroes a sore one ; misapprehension
about the matter ; division of the negro vote in 1870 529

probable effect of general amnesty .529, 530
party use of the feeling of antagonism between the races 530
article from Nashville paper on carpet-baggers 530, 531
not the custom for negroes to sit on juries ; does not advise Federal interference

at this time ."

531
the State under General Terry 531,532
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Atkinson, R. II., report on pardon statistics 809-810, 825-826, 840-841

Atlanta, riot in 254, 255

Aver. Dr., homicide of 010,785,1019

B.

l^arnioro, Mr., homicide of. (Tennessee. 1869) 748

BAKNES, ELI, (cohired,) testimony of 954-959

thirty-six years old ; born and lives in Hancock County 954

republican candidate for the letrislattn-e 955

member of the icffislaturc in IdKO _ 957

his house surrounded by men in disguise, October, 18G9 954, 955

has received a {^reat many notices to leave 955

character of the election in Hancock County 9.')5, 956, 957

kiiliufTof Jerry Lou;^ and Will Cuh'cr ; whipping a common thing : scores shot,

but not killed ; some driven into the swamps ; nobody punished 956
witnesses who testify to Ku-Klux operations would not be safe at home 959

Barney, Mr., liomicide of negroes by, (Habersham County, 1865) 484, 4r5
Battle. Lawrence, whipping of brother-in-law of, (Hancock County) 1204

BEXAFIELD, JACK, (colored,) testimony of 683,684
thirty-one years old ; born and lives in Walton County 683
saw live Ku-Klux in March last ; knew William Felker ; was raided on and ran

;

whipping of Billy Smith 683
Beualield, .lack, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, October, 1871) 406
BENXING, HENRY LEWIS, testimony of. 182-189

a resident of Columbus, was solicitor of the circuit, and judge ; law is well

iidmiuistered in his district ; no secret associations of any sort except the

Loyal League clubs ; the general opinion of those Leagues is that they are

for political purposes -. 183
particular.-; of a homicide, in 1868, of a negro riding in a democratic proces-

sion 183,186
killing of George Ashburu by disguised men 184, 186, 187, 188

homicide of Major Warner 184, 188, 189

no secret organization of either party, in the region of which Columbus is the

center, embracing some thirty or forty counties ; the district republican ; law
and order prevail in Southern and Western Georgia ; citizens can express

their political opinions freely ; the city has a good school system 185
BENSON, CAROLINE, (colored,) testimony of 386-388

forty-eight years old ; born in North Carolina ; lives in White County,
Georgia 386

whijjping of Mary Brown and Joe Brown, May 20, 1871 ; exposure of person
of the females 387

names of parties engaged in the raid 388
Bonds, issue of, by the governor of State 102, 103, 110, 151, 1067, 1068
Booth, William, threats against 460, 590
BRADFORD, ROBERT H., testimony of 707-712

sixty-one years old; born in South Carolina; lives in Gwinnett County; a
farmer 707

a Union man 70i)

has heard of Ku-Klux, that they take up and whip some people 707
general opinion is that they should be put down, but nothing has been done

;

thinks a white republican could freelj' discuss political opinions without
disturbance, but h.trdly thinks a freedman could 708

the democratic jjajjcr of the county says nothing for or against them ; was
told that the Ku-Klux were g<iiug to visit him ; only one boy in the settle-

ment whipped ; prevailing opinion that the court-house was burned by private

individuals who. had some bad case in court, some say by the Ku-Klux; the
county democratic by ouc-tifth majority 709

Dougherty whipped Ibr insulting decent girls 710,71

1

then; is <i fair ami just settlement witli colored tenants by the owners of the
lands; a good icling between whites and blacks; negroes vote freely 711

r.radham, William, (colored,) whipping of, (Floyd County, 1870) 7,5

Bradley, Aaron, (colored.) assault l)y negroes upon 176
BRAND, M. V, testimony of 350-3-56

thirty-tour years of age; born in Waldon County, Georgia; now sherifiF of
Gwinnett County; elected December 24, ly70; deputy sheriff for a year
betbie 350

is engaged in selling groceries 351
elected sheriff not by party votes 353
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BRAND, M. v.—Continued.

burainp of court-house and records therein on the night of September 10, 1871

;

very little effort made to ferret out the perpetrators ; arrested some parties,

but they were released on habeas corpus; found no disguises, only some
horse-covers -- 350

some parlies indicted for card-plajing, and the witnesses against them notified

by the Klan to leave; most of the Ku-Kluxing done last year and this year,

the worst part this year ;
growing worse of late ; several black people

whipped, and a number of whites threatened ; those mistreated belong
generally to the republican party ; never heard of a democrat being mistreated ;

a great many favor and just ify the Klau 351
no doubt that there is a big Klan in Gwinnett County, numbering from 300 to

500 ; two or three of their captains under bond with bills of indictment

against them ; character of these men generally bad ; the Ku-Klux claim to

be democrats 352

about five whites to one colored in the county; county democratic ; no ob-

struction in serving processes or in arresting men, or in obtaining convic-

tions for breaches of the peace ; fair juries 353
last whipping occurred about two months since ; no arrests made for these

whippings by the Kii-KUix, the civil authorities seeming not inclined to

touch them ; firing of pistols in a Methodist church in Cain's district; Mr.
Timms, justice uf the peace, notified to leave or he would be killed : certified

copy of Mr. Timin's statement that he could not enforce the law ; of Andrew
Hays, notary public 354

and of J. W. Spencer, notary public ; the disturbance i«i the church was a
personal quarrel - 355

Brassels. Mrs., whipping of. (Glascock County, July, 18t9) 1111, 1112

Brigan. Bill, whipping of, (Wilkinson County, August, 1671) 359

BROCK, WALTER, testimony of 1007-1017

forty-three years old ; born in Arkansas ; lives in Haralson County ; a lawyer
and farmer; member of the State senate ; first elected in 1863; imprisoned

by the confederate authorities in 1863; was exempt from military duties,

released, and took his seat 1007

was arrested for disloyalty to the confederate government ; ran ©n the Union
ticket; opposed secession ; was a reconstructionist 1008

a republican 1010

outrages upon negroes the night previous to the election in October, 1871 1008
whipping of Mr. Juhn Cole^', Joe Addison, and A. B. Martin 1009
has heard of twenty or thirty cases of whipping since the 1st of May ; B. T.

Hughes whipped, and Columbus Hughes; killing of John Walthall 1010

no steps taken to bring the perpetrators of these outrages to justice; Daniel

Dodson and Thomas Roe confess their connection with tliB Ku-Klux, and
ask witness's influence in behalf of Joseph Roe, chief of the Ku-Klux 1011, 1014

names of parties belonging to the Klan 1011, 1012, 1015

signs, password, oflicers, &c., of the Klan 1012, 1015, 1016, 1017

thinks every man who belongs to the order casts a democratic vote ; their

victims republicans ; very kw men on the democratic side who condemn
the organization; thiuks a large majority of them are willing that it should

continue ; no public action of the republicans against it, for fear of assassina-

tion 1013

General Forrest as the head of the order 1012, 1015, 1017

Brown, a freedman, outrage upon 506, 507
BROWN, JOE, (colored, ) testimony of 501-503

bora in 1630, in Virginia; lives in White County; visited by the Ku-Klux- .501

whipping of witness and wife; they are swung up by the neck with trace-

chains; manner of whipping ; exposureof the person of the females ; injury

done to the children 502
cause of the outrage their knowledge of Bailey Smith, supposed to have been

engaged in the murder of Mrs. Cason 503
Brown. Joe, (colored.) whipping of, (White County, May, 1871) ....375,386,387,502,908
BROWN, JOSEPH E., testimony of 810-828

native of South Carolina; came to Georgia about 1837; a lawyer; State sen-

atcjr; presidential elector : judge of the superior court of the Blue Ridge cir-

cuit; governor of Georgia for four successive terms; chief justice of the

State ; president of ttie Western and Atlantic Railroad Company ; since 1868 »

has acted witJi the republican party; delegate to the Chicago conventio«
and voted for Grant 810

was a slaveholder 814

bis relations always friendly with the colored people 822
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pprsDii and pvopcrty sate irj tho State generally; administration ofjustice rea-

sonablv siiiiifient ; uinin tl)e whole, a very fair judiciary ; confusion {^rosving

(lilt of ilie destruction of the old system of master and slave ; as a fjem-ral rule

ni> disposition njion the jiart of former slaveholders to impose upon the ne- /

fjroes ; manv of the lufjroes delinqut-nt I 811

burning of James McCoy's house ; is thought to have been on account of his ^-''

informing against illicit distillers ; it had no connection witli politics ; illicit

distilling frequent ; organization of bands for its protection ; general dispo-

sition of courts iiiid juries to punish otionders, and not to deny justice to any

one on account of color or politics B12

effect of di>^franchisement ; probable etVect of general amnesty; discrinunatiou

tiou against carpet-baggers 813

northern immigratiou welcome 813,819

second reconstruction very unfortunate; opinion as to the reliability of negro

testimony 814

general feeling of Kindness by old masters toward their former slaves ; extent

and object of tin; Union Leiigue 815

o-eneral conduct of the colored people since emancipation unparalleled ; no
disposition upon their part to avengo foimer wrongs ; .they desire only fair-

play and an equal chance : great mass of the whiles were opposed to giving

them political rights - 816

social relations of the colored people; fre([uent instances of persons attacked

in their own houses at night by bunds of disguised men 817

politics has had very little to do with outrages ; they meet the coudemimtion of

the better part of society ; has heard of a few instances being punished ; prov-

ing o( fdihis a frequent line of defense 818

tone of the democratic press 818, 819

in favor of general, unlimited, and unqualified amnesty: privileges and immu-
nities of citizens 819,820

antecedents of the judges of the Supreme Court of the United States; a vast

amount of social ostracism; expulsion of menibeis of the legislature 820

large majority acquiesce in the constitutional amendments; there are some
leading men who would abrogate the 14th and ]r)tli ; the want ot a sense of

moral obligation on the part of the negroes, the result of servitude and lack

of education ; education was prohibited by law 821

the pardoning power as exercised by the governor 822, 823, S24

the rewards offered unusually large 823, 824
report of K. II. Atkinson on pardon statistics 825, 82ij

it is not incorrect 826
tone of the oi)|iosition press as to the administration of affairs since the war.. 826,827

,

article from a Nashville paper on cavpet-bagg(>rs 827
article from the Ciucinuati Conunercial's Nashville correspondent 828

BROWN, MAKV, (colored,) testimony of 375-377
was born in White County, Georgia, and now lives there; does not know her

age 375
whipping of her liusband Joseph and self, May 21, 1871 375
the par y was disguised; her husband whipped for being a republican ; she

received 7U or >0 licks with hickory switclies 376
whipjung of a girl ; forced expt)sure of person ; hanging of Jelf Meadows

;

her house visited and she warned to leave 377
Brown, Mary, (^colored,) whipping of, (White County, May, 1871,) ..37.">, 376, 386,

387,389,502
Bullock, Governor, issue of State bonds by 1(12, 103, 110, 151, JU67, 1008
Bullock, Governor, reward offered by ..." 32, 3:?, 37,76-78, Ui2, 1 1 1, 112. 138-141, 152, 153,

lG.j-167, 24
1 , 2-12, 293, 399, 626, 630, 751 , 767, 823, 824, 918-920, 948, 951, 999, lUOO,

1076, 1077
Bullock, Governor, pardoning power as exercised by 31 , 32, 36, 40, 72, 73, 101, 102, 137,

y.i-', 1 .53, l.'O, I(i7-I(i9, 234, 237, 238, 240. 242, 274, 275, 2^!<;, 766, 767, 780, 822, 823,
H-.>4,832, H39, 8 10, 841, 860,861,984, 1028, W^9, 1040, 1076-1078, 1139, 1193, 1210

Bullock. Governor, proclamation of 884, rt85

BURN KT, WI LLI .\ M, testimony of 991-999
native of Ohio; removed to Georgia in I8()6; son of Judge Burnet, formerly

I'uited States Senator; was a republican during the war 991
has taken no part in politics since li^66; resides about five miles from Atlanta 992
had a suit in court ; verdict against him because he was '' a damned Yankee ;

"

colored people treated very well, and get good wages 992
aid given to colored schools 992, 993
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BURNETT, WILLIAM—Continii.d.

lias heard of no operations by disgjuised bands; the community peaceable and
secure ; negroes are encouraged to purchase laud 1 993.,

colored men vote without molestation; uo intimidation; social standing of *--^''

Mr. Willinghain, candidate tor the legislature 994
lie and his t'aniily well received socially 995
social treatment of Mr. Sisson, a clergymau from Boston 995-997,999
a great deal of rebel feeling existing in the country ; negro suffrage the bit-

terest point •-
- 996, 997, 998

social equality of mechanics and laboring men with other classes • 997
probable effect of general amnesty 997, 998
disposition of the negroes to flock to the towns l^*"^

BUENP:TT, G. 15., testimony of 947-^^5^
forty-one years old; born in East Tennessee; lives in Rome; a planter; lived

, in Chattooga County tHrteen years 947
was the largest slave-holder north of Atlanta ; a republican and last fall radi-

cal candidate for Congress 950
member of the constitutional convention 951

arrest, trial, and conviction of Epp^, Kelly, and another in Chattooga County;
they are sentenced to the, penitentiary 947, 952

they were ably defended by counsel ; Epps previously confined at Tryon Fac-
' tory and released by disguised men ; facts relative to the reward oft'ered and
paid in t!iis case 948,951

saw the Ku-Ivlux November 11, 1870, at Summerville, and is notified not to

make a speech and to leave 948, 949
how disguised ; great number of oirtrages during the last two or three years

;

negro women outraged on Waltemire's plantation ; thinks Waltemire afraid

to testif;v to the facts 949
effect of Ku-Klux operations upon labor ; very few attempts to bring the

oftenders to justice; tone of the Rome Courier and Commercial as to Ku-
Klux outrages :... 950

the Eckridge case 950,951,9.V2
thinks Waltemire afraid to live on his plantation; he has left there ; there are

many good citizens of both parties who do not approve of these outrages

;

some respectable men members of the Ku-Klux order 953
BURNE:TT, GEORGE P., testimony of 64-73

a resident of Atlanta, formerly resided in Rome, and a native of Tennessee

;

has been a merchant and a planter; was mayor of Rome, a member of the

constitutional convention, and a Union man during the war 64
was the republican candidate for Congress at the last election ; canvassed the

district ; was threatened by the Ku-Klux, and notified not to speak ; not pru-

dent or safe in some localities for a mau to express his opinions fully, if he
is a republican, or has been connected with the United States Army 65

case of Jourdan Ware, (Foster) 66
what is considered " impudence ".on the part of the negro, and the deportment

required of him
_ 66,67

killing of negroes occur so frequently that little attention is paid to it; Ku-
Klux made their first appearance, perhaps, a little over three years since;

has heaid of their operations within a month ; their operations more gene-
rally directed against colored men than white men; the organization politi-

cal because the parties maltreated are republicans ; has never known a demo-
crat to be assaulted 67

the organization condemned by republicans and the republican papers ; a ma-
jority of the democrats sympatiiize with these organizations; it is sometimes
alleged that the men assaulted have been guilty of some offense; whipping
of Milliard Johnson; the first object of the institution of the Ku-Klux was

' to cripple any effect that might be produced by Loyal Leagues ; the Leagues
were disbanded in 1808, and has not heard of their being in operation since;

the Ku-Klux organization increased after the Leagues were disbanded ; the

purpose of the order was to break down the reconstruction acts, and to neu-
tralize the votes of negroes by intimidation 68

state of feeling among the colored people produced by this organization; think
the great majority of outrages have gone unpunished ; his o])inion as to

why they have not been prosecuted and punished 69
there has never been any necessity for organizing these Ku-Klux bands for

the purpose of affording protection to the white people against the colored
people. • 69, 70

the Etheridge case ; and the action or non-action of General Terry thereon .. 70, "l
pardoning power as exercised by Governor Bullock 72, '"J
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BuTniiigof couvt-lionse, (Gwinnett County, September, 1871,) 350,423,424,537,538

Burnin<^ of school-hooks 402

Burning of scliool-houscs and cburches 594, 1100, 1137, 11G7, 11S8, 118'J

Bursdii, Charles, (colored,) whippiiifr of, (Gwinnett County, May, 187J) 003,641,681

BUSH, IllLLIAKI), (colored,) testimony of 686-687

twenty yesirs old ; born in Pike County ; lives in Atlanta 684

threatened 684,685

killing of Columbus Lovelace ; none of the parties arrested 685

is compelled to leave his home - - 687

CALDWELL, Rev. J. H., testimony of 425-459

native of South Carolina, lives in La Grange, Troup County, Georgia, was a
member of constitutional convention and of the House ftf Representatives ; is

judge of the district court in 37th senatorial district ; a republican 425

fifty-one years old 427

employed by Attorney General Akerman to investigate Ku-Klux outrages 425

cause of the outrage upon Henry Lowther; bands of lawless men in different

localities in the State; these organizations merely local; they have no politi-

cal significance ; reasonable protection for person and propejty in his district. 426

has canvassed 10 counties several times; expressed his views emphatically

and with freedom in the canvass ; met with no signs of disorder or attempt

at violence 427

state of feeling of the people toward citizens coming from the North ; is'

attacked while attempting to vote ; some disorder at the presidential election. 428
knows of no arrest or conviction for Ku-Klux outrages ; examines Mr. Holli-

day's house 429
number of Ku-Klux in Jackson County; their victims republicans 430
case of Heurv Lowther 430, 431

killing of Ashburn, March, 1868 431-433
his killing political 432
prepared an account of it for the New York Tribune 433
character of Mr. Ashburn 434
intimidation of voters at the presidential election; election last fall quiet 435
resolution adopted by mass meeting of German citizens ; tone of the press in

regard to the Ku-Klux order; denounced by republican papere, ignored or

sanctioned by the democratic; article from the "Daily Constitution;" 436
article from the "Atlanta Daily Sun;" facts showing that the law is impar-

tially administered in his district 437
letter of witness to Senator Scott giving names of persons who can furnish

information 438
character and standing of those persons ; improvement in the feeling between

the two races 439
lawlessness in Haralson, Floyd, Chattooga, Whitfield, Murray, Gwinnett,

Jackson, White, Habersham, Columbia, Greene, Morgan, \Yarreu, and
Washington Counties; these organizations not for political purposes 440

James Nance (white) threatened; Mitchell Reed whipped; Morgan Reed
struck with pistol; Michael Davis Avhipped ; the latter the only case that

was political 441
in some localities tlio order exists for political purposes 442,443
Georgia has no greater average of crimes than other States of equal popula-

tion ; has never bei'U molested 443
Ashburn's case investigated by General Meade 444, 449
illicit distilling 445
use of the term "rebel " 445, 446
ton(! of the democratic press ; organization and extent of the Union League.. 447
general desire of the people of Georgia to encourage immigration, general

desire for removal of disabilities ; probable efiect of general amnesty ; general
condition of Georgia 448

disfranchisement and disqualification for office a great blunder; the State
under the Johnson administration practicnlly in the hands of former rebels. 449

general feeling of the whites towar<l the negroes .•. 450
witness's article on the assassination of Hon. G. W. Ashburn in Columbus,
Georgia 451-453

witness's letter to Hon. Wm. E. Chandler, Secretary of the National Repub-
lican Executive Committee, giving tabular analysis of the ofiicial returns of
the presidential election in Georgia, showing fraud, violence, and terrorism. 454-459
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CALHOUN, JOHN C, (colorcl, ) testimony of 478-4e0
twenty years old ; born in Vivi^inia ; lives in Jacksou County, Georgia; came

from Virginia a year before the war 478
was visited by Kii Klux and whipped 478, 479
manner of whippinnr; outragfe upon Harrison Flannigan 479

Calhoun, Wash., (colored,) shootings of, (Rome. 1671) 79
CAMPBELL, T. G., (colored,) testimony of 845-864

lifty-nine years old ; born in.New Jersey ; lives in Darien, Mcintosh County;
minister of the Methodist Church ; came to South Carolina the second year
of ihe war ; to Georgia, in 18(i4 ; was governor of the islands of St. Catherine,

Sapelo, Ossabaw, and others ; a justice of the peace; a member of the StatQ

Senate 846
lived in Jersey till five and a half years old 853
remained twelve years on Long Island, two in New Jersey, then went to

New York ; educated to go to Liberia 854
is denounced and threatened during his canvass 846
is poisoned, and forced to speak to a crowd in Tatnall County, 1868 846,847,865
poisoning and death of one of his fellow registrars 847
bis life tiireatened in Darien, and he leaves for Atlanta 848, 849
was arrested on the charge of preventing Captain Irving and Mr. Eppings

from exercising their rights as citizens; arrested four limes in one day,
previously ; is satisfied they meant to kill him 850, 856, 8-07, 858, 8.'")9

has been compelled to lie out night after night 850
alleged Ku-Klnx threatening letters to Henry Frazer and Adam Stafford; affi-

davit of Jeremiah .Jones, as to the burning of his houses 851
man in Darien forbidden to open his store 851 , 6i)2

intentional interruption of mail facilities ; schools in his section not molested ;

impossibility of theii' establishment in Tatnall County 852
murder of a man by the Ku-Klu.x ; election frauds ; the colored people depend
upon the republican party; they are atta(k(;(! only by democrats 853

number of registered voters in Mcintosh, Liberty, and Tatnall Counties;
result of the legislative election in those counties . 855

appointment of Judge Syms, (colored ;) tne bar meet and retuse to taKe cases
before his court 859

character and acquirements of Judge Syms 860, 863, 864
pardoning power as exercised by Governor Bullock 830, 861
a colored man cannot get a verdict against a white man 860
colored men punished more severely than while ; the colored people desire to

become laud-holders 881
no more infidelity to the marriage tie than in the North, generally ; no infanti-

cide among them ; diminution of licentiousness 862
extent of jurisdiction as justice of the peace, and of Judge Syms's 663

CAMPBELL, T. G, Jr., (colored,) testimony of 1057-1060
thirty years old ; born in New York City; lives in Darien ; represents Mcin-

tosh County in the lower house ; a son of Senator Campbell 1057
was a waiter J 058
conspiracy to poison witness 1057
shooting of George McPhail 1057, iO.58
difficulty of Captains Irwin and Hatfield with their crews 1153
Bradley chased away by boys ] ((59

Carpet-baggers 526,530,531,633,764,813,827, 1097
CARTER JASPER, (colored,) testimony of 472-477

twenty-five years old; born in Carroll County; lives in Haralson County;
outrage upon witness and John Walthall's wife 472

killing of John Walthall 470^ 473
whipping of witness ; received 150 blows ; recognized six of the party 473
no attempt made to find out the perpetrators of these outrages; he and John

voted the Union ticket , 474
witness deterred from attending school ; his wife struck 476
witness al raid to stay at home; lies out in the woods; many others do the
same 477

Carter, Jasper, (colored,) whipping of, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 408,412,473
CARTER, MARIA, (colored.) testimony of 411-414

twenty-eight years old ; born in South Carolina ; lives in Haralson County,
Georgia ; miuried to Jasper Carter 4J

1

'visited by the Ku-Klux; outrage upon John Walthall's wife; whipping and
killing of John Walthall; whipping of her husband 412

Walthall whipped for his intimacy with low white women 413
Carter, Maria, (colored,) outrage upon, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 476
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Cason, Mr., homicido of, (White County, November, 1870)... 498,500,503,504,1172,1177

CHAiUBEKS, E. H., tesrimouy of 6U2-lM)7

forty years of rt<To; born and lives in Gwinnett County; a farmer 602

first heard of the Ku-KUix some two or three years a^o ; is forced in May to

aocouipany them and jioints out the residences of some colored people ; whip-

pinf^ of these people. May, 1H7J 602

character of the disjjuises worn ; knew one of the party, Melvin C. Kennedy;
parties whijiped were Harry Allen and wife, George Mitchell, Hamp Mitch-

ell, Charles IJurson, and Jack Allen 603

nejjroes to l)e put down; Ku-Klux furty thousand strong in the State ; Ku-
Klux democratic- ; no attempts at arrests -- 604

feeling ajrainst radicals very hard ; thinks the lionest men of the democratic

party concur in opposing such lawless acts, but that they cannot get at it

properly ; is a democrat , oOo

is afraid jurors would hesitate, through fear, to give true verdicts ; Ku-Klux
Organization so strong as to create a reign of terror in the county, and that

it would not be possible to bring them to justice 606

CHRISTY, JOHN H., testimony of 23:J-248

a resident of Athens, Clarke County ; has been twice elected to Congress .... 233

a member of the State constitutional convention of ISG.'j; his portion of the

State as quiet and orderly as it ever was; is sustained in that opinion by Mr.

Jackson, the ordinory, and Jmlge Davis of the circuit court 234

two acts of violence occurred in the county since the war 234, 235

wlmt he understands to be the facts in the case of Alfred Richardson and
Watson 23.5,236,238

republicans cast their votes as other people, without any fear or intimidation ; two

or three negroes have been threatened for voting the democratic ticket ; not

true that republican negroes are unsafe in the country ; has been a great

deal annoyed in the country by larcenies committed by colored people ; has

heard from time to time of parties who were living in a state of fornication and
adultery being wiiipped at night by disguised men 236

there has been no Ku-Klux organization' in tiie State, or any other sort of

secret organization, except the Ijoyal League 236,243
sometimes miscldevous boys go on a masquerading frolic to scare the negroes,

which keeps up the impressiou that there is really a Ku-Klux organization . 237,246

his statement embiaces the twenty-one counties of the sixth congressional dis-

trict, and a number of the caunties of the third and fifth congressional dis-

tricts 237

the pardoning power as exercised by the governor, and its etfect ..234,237,238,240,242
whipping of Acock (Haycock) by negroes 237,238
editor of a democratic newspa[)er ; shooting of Ponder by llichardson 238

whipping of Flamlirough, (wliite;) several cotton-gins burned in the county
witliin the last three or four years 239

a state of intimidation on the part of the negroes, to a certain extent, is pro-

duced by the Ku-Klux, from superstition 239, 244
accounts for the prosecution of disguised negroes, and the non-prosecution of

disguised whites 240
has iieard more of Ku-Klux outrages in Washington than he ever heard any-

where else 240,241
ku-Klux outrages greatly magnified 241

proclamations issued and rewards offered by Governor Bull(>ck 241,242
'i'lie peop!e generally are opposed to everytuiiig in the shapi^ of mob violence . 242
general character of the colored people; operations of these disguised men

irregular jiud seldom ; a few sporadic cases 243
what he understands an "' organization " to be 243,244
negroes do not sit upon juries in the State; has never seen any of these dis-

gtiised men or their disguises 245
lias no doubt there arc more cases of disorder in the city of New York in one
week tlian in (jenrgia for a year ;*negres not kept off of juries on any par-

tisan ground '. 247
intimidation of democratic volers 248

Ciiurcht's, disturbance in '. 354, 3.'J5

CHUIiCH, JOHN M., testimony of 483-493
toity-nini; years old ; born and lives in Habersham County 483
an organization of Ku-Klux in that county ; feeling against Union men and

negroes, in the sixth congressional district, bad ; intimidation of voters 484
killing of Dave Starrett, shooting of Lew McMillan, Isaac Payne, Jefif Star-

rett, and a boy, all colored, in J 865 484,487
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CHUKCir, JOHM M.-Contiiiuod.

1)0 om; pnnislied for these shootinp^s; wliippinp; of a u-hite man ; outrHp;e upon
Charles iJeane, (colored;) negroes have quit asking for their legal rights in

the courts , 485

iutiraidatiou of voters - _- 485, 466

the men injured were republicans ; those inflicting the injuries, democrats ; is

notary public and was ciiairiiiau of board of registration, sheriff, and deputy

sheriff
__

'i^^'^

failure to arrest Barney for the shooting of Starrett 487, 4S8

outrage upon a negro named Adam 488

his cas* iiutlc proscqukd or dismissed for some defect 489, 490

no single instance in the county of a white man being tried and punished for

an injury done a colored man since the war; is alraid to testify as to a mur-

der committed 490

has been abused for appearing before the committee ; abuse of the Government,
revenue laws, and Ku-Klux prosijcutions 491

the spirit of rebellion in the county is as high as it ever was ; rejoicing over

the Chicago tire ; prefers not to give names 402

Citizens uolitied or compelled to leave their homes 75-77, 81-83,207,251, 351, 354, 377,

507, 532, 544, 545, 546, 654, 656, 664, 687, 687, 6->9, 692,

729, 73 1
, 848, 849, 868, 872, 873, 9i.9, 948, 949, 955, 1003, lOGi'3

Clarke, Charles, (colored,) homicide of, (Morgan County, September. 1871) 656,664,
720, 723, 725

Clarke, Charles, outrage upon uncle of, (Morgan County, September, 1871) 656

Clergyman, (colored.) whipping of a, Chattooga County ^ 93,94, 127- 1
29'

Cody, Mrs. , homicide of 2c2

CUE, HENKY, (colored,) testimony of -- 640

tweuty-one years old ; born in North Carolina; lives in Atlanta ; lived with

Columbus Jeter at the time he was injured ; is paid a month's wages,

by Mr. Winn, to stay out of the way ; the people tolerably rough to col-

ored people "ViJ.

COLBY, ABRAM, (colored,) testimony of- 695-/117

lifty-two years old ; born and lives in Greene County 695

was a slave: have been free about twenty years; was a barber ; an active

republican ; a member of the lower house of legislature in J868 ; was
expelled and reinstated ; a memljer of the next house 696

cannot read nor write 702
his house broken into October 29, 1869, and he taken to the woods and
whipped with sticks and straps 5.0t0 blows by a band of disguised men ;

is left for dead ; knew ten or fifteen of the party ; their names ; some of

them Hrst-class men 696
whipped for voting the radical ticket 698, 697

is offered §5,000 to change his politics 697, 704, 705

none of these men punished for this transaction ; Mr. Saunders, a member of

the grand jury, is the father of one of the ineii who whipped him ; has not

yet recovered trom his injuries ; was run oli' the last day of the election 697

was shot at through the open door; pretty fair election last year ; elected by
seven or eigiit hundred majority ; kinds of disguises worn by the Ku-Klux

;

about fifty colored demociatic voters in the county ; a fi'w white republicans ;

several school-teachers run off 698
Allen Jackson and Bob Lewis killed ; thinks about six or seven have been

killed ; firing of a school-house ; not allowed to remain at home the present

year ; his house shot into every time he goes home ; shot at them once, in

March last ; was not allowed to make a canvass last fall ; no republican

can do it
*- 699

no free discussion since the war ; democrats can make speeches ; no demticrats

interfered with ; it is proposed to expel him from the legislature on account

of non-residence ; came to Atlanta for protection ; no chance for protection

under the laws of Georgia; the only liope that Geoigia will be put under
military control 700

thinks none of tlie judges are reliable; if the colored people were protected

they would go to the country on farms ; thinks the feeling is that colored

))»( pie shall not have anything at all
;
general disposition among the colored

jreople to become lanil-owners 701
disposition to bring lalse charges against colored people ; agreement among

the whites not to rent or sell land to negroes |702

the State < iBces filled by republicans; the facts in his case stated in

Washiusrton in lo70 703,705



XII INDEX.

Page.

COLBY, ABRAM—Continncd.
bus uever attempted to obtain redress ; about nitictGen hundred colored and

seven hundred white voters in the coimty ; received about four white

votes 704

three attempts to organize the militia ; the pi-oposition commanded twenty-

white and all the colored votes ; thirty-three or thirty-five colored members
in the legislature of \66S, twenty-three or twenty -five in the p«'eseut ; diffi-

culty in making people realize the actual state of affairs ; a common thing to

charge the persons whipped with the commission of some crime 705

if the law reinstating members had provided- that the legislature should hold

out its full term it would have saved the lives of hundreds *.. 706

Abram Turner killed by Mr. Reed, his opponent in the election 706,707

Colby, Abram, (colored,) whipping of, (Greene County, October, 1869) 611,696,
1113,1114

COLE, CARLETON B., testimony of 1182-1198

judge of the superior court of the Macon circuit : resident of the State forty-

four years ; came from North Carolina in 18'i6, and resident of Macon since ;

native of Massachusetts ; been on the bench nearly twenty years 1 1 82

opposed secession 1 18l{

Has acted with the repubKcan party 1187

a Union man 1194

his circuit uniformly quiet, orderly, and peaceable ; counsel invariably as-

signed in cases of crimes charged where the party is too poor to employ
one 11 82

election riot and intimidation of democratic voters 1183, 1164

controlling inllueuce of the colored preachers ; character of Henry M. Turner. 1184

contested election cases tor State legislature 1184-1186, 1187, 1195, 1196

Mr. Turner's general reputation, and the general character of his speeches.. 1187, 1188,
1195

burning of a Methodist church 1188, 1189

weight of negro testimonj'-, political statistics of the county 1189

child killed by a negro ; another raped ; the negro imprisoned ; taken from

jail and hung 1190

rape in Bibb County by a negro 1 191, 1192

the laws of the State efBcieni for the protection of person and property ; per-

sons from the North free to express their political sentiments ; no prejudice

against persons of northern birth 1191

concurrence of opinion of judges as to the peaceable condition of the State ;

pardons by Governor Bullock 1189, 1 193

letter of James Fitzpatrick to Hon. Horace Maynard 1193, 1 197

letter of J. F. Long ; does not believe in the existence of the Ku-Klux order. 1194

general behavior of the colored people 1 195

cause, of Turner's removal from otfice 1 196-1198

COLEY, JOHN L., testimony of 363-368

born in South Carolina ; lives in Haralson County, Georgia; is a farmer 363

a licensed preacher of the Congregational Methodists 367

details of raid upon his house February, 1^7l, and his whipping and hang-

ing by Ku-Klux 363-367

whipped on account of being a radical 366, 367

Coley, John L.. whipping of, (Haralson County, February, 1871) 363-367, 1009

CONLEY, JOHN L., testimony of 921,922

twenty-five years old ; born in Augusta ; lives in Fulton County ; an attor-

ney at-law 921

son of the present governor of the State , 922

testimony of Mr. Angler relative to the publishing of the State constitution

read to him - . - 921

witness is the person referred to; made an analytical index of the constitu-

tion, and copyrighted it ; the legislature authorized Governor Bullock to

purchase sucli number of copies as was necessary for the civil officers of the

State ; Governor Bullock had no interest whatever in it ; a private enter-

prise altogether 922

Constitutional amendments 523, 772, 773, 821

Court-house in Gwinnett County burned September, 1871 350,423,424,537,538

Creech, father and son, homicide of, (Jackson County) 280, 1120

Culver, Will, (colored,) homicide of, (Hanc(.ck County, June, 1870) 2(K5, 207, 925,988

Cunningham, or Cummings, Mr., whipping of, (Uade County).... 744

D.

Daniel, Jacob, (colored,) homicide of, (Walton County, 1809) 865
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Dannons, Jake, (colored,) shootiug of, (Walton County, October^ 1870) 8
Darden, Dr., homicide of, (Warremon, March, 1869) 197-201,220,221,267,282,283,

769, 770, !0I8, 1 161-1104, 1205, 1210
Darden, Dr., homicide of Mr. Wallace by.... 197, 198,220,221,266,267,288,289,769,770,

1024, 1U25, 1164, 1165, 1168, 1169, 1170, 1205, 1210
Davis, Michael, whipping of ^ 441
DAVIS, WARKEX, (colored,) testimony of 727-730

iortv -eipht years old ; born in Decatur ; lives in Atlanta ; came from Coweta
last Saturday ; his houj>e visited ; is shot at by Jourdan Hancock, August,
lb71 - 7-27

a cotMu left on the fence, with a Ku-Klux notice inside 727, 728
left the f^ame night 729

Dease, Charles, (colored,) outrage Tipon, (Habersham County) 485
Dease, Fred, (colored,) whipping of, (Wilkinson County, August, 1871) 359
Dease, Joel, (colored,) homicide of, (Wilkinson County, September, 1871) 359,1036
Dease, Lijc, (colored,) whipping of, (Wilkinson County, August, 1871) 359
Dease, Lije, mother of, whipping of, (Wilkinson County, August, 1871) 359
Dcason, Mat., homicide of, ( Wilkinson County, August, 1^71 ) 359, 362, 363
Disabilities, probable effect of general removal of political 35, 100, 101, 177,278,279,295,

296, 302, 303, 448
Distilling, illicit 445, 461, 465, 467, 469, 499, 509, 510, 525, 601, 643, 644, 749, 751 ,812,

1126,1130,1131
Dougherty, Mr., whipping of, (Jackson County) 710,711
DKENNON, THOMAS M., testimony of 403-4U7

forty-two years old; born in Morgan County, lives in Floyd County, Georgia;
blacksmith and wagon-maker 403

visited by the Ku-Klux, January, 1871 403, 404
whipping of Jourdan Ware same night; shooting of a negro ; afraid to vote

the republican ticket 404
intimidation of voters ; whipping of an old man named Antony 405

E.

EAGER, SCIPIO, (colored,) testimony of 66S-671
twenty-four or tweuty-tive years old ; born in Hancock County ; lives in

Washington County ; killing of his brother, April, 1871; names five of the

party engaged 668
himself and another brother whipped 668, 669
is hunted with dogs ; slept out since April 669
no arrest made in the case 670

Eager, Scipio, brother ot, (colored,) whipping of, (Washington County, April,

1871) 668,669
Eager, Washington, (colored,) homicide of, (Washington Countj', April, 1871) (068

Eckridge, case of 61 -63, 70, 7 1 , 95, 98, 127-129, 917, 950, 951, 952, 1 073
Elder, Jim, (, colored,) whipping of, (Clarke County, January, 1871) 6
ELDER, MARY, (colored,) testimony of. 733-735

thirty-three years old ; lives in Decatur, De Kalb County ; house attacked
by the KuKlux, her husband beaten; witness slapped over the head and
taken to the woods nearly naked 733

her husband shot at ; knew five of the party ; none of them ever punished 734
ELDER, SIMON, (colored,) testimony of 731-733

fiity-six years old ; born in Clarke County ; lives in De Kalb County ; left

Clarke County November, 1869, on account of the Ku-Klux; his house
attacked by the Ku-Klux, and he beaten with clubs 731

is taken to the woods, strijjped, and shot at, but makes his escape ; was as-

saulted for being a radical 732
recognizes some of the party 732-733]

Election frauds 420, 454-459, 853, 901, 1038, 1087, 1092

'

Election in Atlanta, manner of conducting the '

, 252-254,256
Election laws, their working, &c 274,310-312,327-330,347
Elections, character of..428, 435, 454-459, 698, 1037, 1038, 1040, 1048, 1087, 1147-1150, 1153,

11.59,1160,1183,1184
Elections, manner of conducting. .378, 379, 923-925, 929, 974-977, 979, 980, 982, 983, 985, 987
Ellison, (colored,) homicide of, (Floyd County, 1871) 76,77
Exposure of person of females 376, 377, 386, 387, 389, 502, 566, 597, 1022

F.

Fambrough, Mr., whipping of ; 239
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FARROW, HENRY P., testimony of 637-640

details of his investigation, as attorney g'eneral of the State, before Judge
Wright, of the outrage cominitted upon Columbus Jeter aufl his wife 637-tV,^9

was appoiuted attorney general of the State, by Governor Bullock, in 18G8.. H40

Feeling toward colored people and radicals 450, 50o, r>'>2, ^2'^, 527, fi'iH. G05, G12, 678, 701,

71l,7J7,815,b73,!574,876,982, 1046, 1053,1054,1055,1076,1077,1106, 1121. 1122,

1133,1151, 1152, 1205

Feeling toward northern immigrants 428, 448, 623, 715, 718, 777, 813, 819, 900, 995, 1048.

1)51,1174, 1178,1179,1181,1182

Ferguson, Mr., whipping of, by negroes, (Jefferson County) 280

FERRELL, ANDEKSON, (colored,) testimony of 618-622

forty-five years old; born in Monroe County; lives in Atlanta; came there

from Troup Connty 618

details visit of Ku-Klux May 28, 1870, and his shooting 618-620

the party numbered ten ; recognized two ; three arrested but never tried ; has

heard of many cases of whipping and shooting; no one punished for it 620

Finances of the State 153-155,276,277,293

Fish, Mr., homicide of, by Mr. Holsenbake 293

FLANNIGAN, HARRISON, (colored,) testimony of 480-483

twenty-tive years old ; born and lives iu Jackson County ; is visited by the

Ku-Klux, January, 1871 480

is taken out and shut at when trying to escape 480, 481

previous quarrel with Jack Haney ; is knocked down ; tries to prosecute, but

has to pay the costs ; recognized three of the disguised party 481

object of Ku-Klux to prevent republicans voting 482

Flannigau, Harrison, (colored,) outrage upon, (Jackson County, January,

1871) 479-481,585

FLEMISTER, GEORGE, (colored, ) testimony of 655-663

twenty-seven years old ; born iu Jasper County; lives in Morgan County. 655

got up a crowd to guard the jail in Madison for the protection of Charles

Clarke 655,660

shooting of Charles Clarke, in the jail, and beating of his uncle ; plundering

of witness's shoe-store; was threatened and left, September, 1871; about

titty concerned iu putting Clarke to death ; all disguised 656

they were not interfered with in any way 6,57

various parties alleged to have been beaten 658

Charles Clarke was charged with rape ; proceedings iu his case before the

mayor *
-_

659

details of his action and those of his men during the attack on the jail 660, 661

belongs to the Union League 661-662

politics of various parties 662

colored people wauted Clark to have a fair trial, nothing naore 663

FLOURNOY, HANNAH, (colored. ) testimony of 532-535

thirty-one years old; born in Eatonton; lives iu Atlanta since run from

Columbus ^^
details of the killing of George W. Ashburn, April I, 1868 532,533

FLOYD, MONDAY, (colored,) testimony of 1060-1062

sixty-eight years old; born in Greene County ; lives in Morgan County; a

house-carpenter; member of the lower house of the legislature; his second

term - 1060

was a slave until emancipation 1061

copy of two Ku-Klux notices ho received IWiO. 1061

killing of Charles .loues in Madison jai'l 1061

Forrest, General, head of the Ku-Klux order 1012, 1015, 1017

FORSYTH, C. D., testimony of 19-43

a native of the State, and a resident of Rome ; is solicitor general of the Rome
judicial circuit, composed of six couulies ; is State's attorney, and has been

acting with the republican party since the war; was a captain in the rebel

army 19

arrested three men for robbery ; the t^'stimoiiy developed upon their trial

;

their condition; what he learned of the organization of the Klan 20,21,24,25,29

first heard of these bands of disgui.-ed uien about two years ago; the first

indication of their unlawful acts, the going round the neighborhood and

frightening the colored jjoople, giving writteu notices prescribing the manner

in which to conduct themselves; the substance; of the notices was to leave

off talking about negro suffrage, and to (juit supporting it 21

killing of Jourdau Ware (Green Foster) by disguised meu 21, 22, .30, 31

undertook to prosecute the parties engaged but failed because he could not get

the names of the parties ; kdling of a negro in Haralson County by disguised

meu ; has heard of negroes being whipped and disarmed 22
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the org^aaizaiion Las beeu thorough thioughout the State ; has heard of its opera-

tious within the last three weeks : it wa.s got up aud kept up by the men who
are dislianchised to control the colored population ; the general behavior of

the colored people since their enfranchisement has been good ; nothing done
by them, as a laee, to ati'ord any lair ground of fear of their invading the

rights of the while people ; the colored people have been deterred from exer-

cising their pulitical rights by the operations of tlie Kkiu 23
there is an indisposition to testify against those bands through fear ; the re-

publican party, aud a portion of the democratic, in favor of putting down the

organization 24
all the victims of these outrages were republican with, possibly, the exception

of O'Lant ; nature of the obligation taken by the order 25, 28
Las heard of negroes being taken from their lionses and whipped and killed ;

this would have a tendency to make the bad feeling of the negroes against

the whites worse ; his circuit democratic, and the county oiBeers democrats,

with the exception of Haralson County 26
character ot tiie men composing the Ku-Klux Klan 2G, 27
the cause of the organization was the emancipation of the slaves, and the con-

ferring upon them of civil rights; it is intended to control the colored

race in every respect, politically and otherwise 27
condemnation and palliation or justitication of the order by the members of

the bar and otliers 27, 28
Union League organized in 1866, and disbanded in J868; there has generally

been some allegation of crimes ao-aiust the negroes that have been whipped
or kille 1 'l 28

has never known colored people to use their arms to hurt anybody or to

threaten to do it 29
the pardoinng power as exercised by Governor Bullock 31,32,36,40
basis of palliation or justification of the Ku-Klux organization 31, 32, 35
his opinion that the reward offered by the governor has done more to disband

the Ku-Klux than anything else 32
rewards offered by the governor 32, 33, 37
amount of fee received as attorney for collecting reward due to James S.

Wyatt, and his legal right thereto 33,34,38,40,41
explains what he meant whmi he said that men who were under disabilities

encouraged and kept up the Ku-Klux organization 34,35
the etfect of a general removal of disabiliiies would be good 35
killing of a colored man in Bartow County by disguised men 35,36
general treatment of negroes by white democrats 36
no colored men sei'ving on juries in the State; free schools about to be inau-

. gurated 37
the leaders of the rebellion, the generals of the army, &c., have more influ-

ence than anybody else, and talk as openly and freely 37, 38
sign of recoguiiiou aud signals of the order 39
the ptfering of rewards (or the apprehension of men who commit these crimes

in organized bands bitterly denounced by the democratic press ; it is con-
sidered a reproach for a wjjite man to belong to the republican party ; and
by so doing he and his fa'uily are proscribed 40

the men who are disfranchised can stop these outrages in twenty-four hours.. 41
purport of a newspaper article which he regards as encouraging these out-

rages 41, 42
has heard of threats against himself 42, 43

Foster, Green, (see Jourdau Ware.

)

Foster, Green, notified to leave his home 76, 77
FOSTER, ROBERT S., testimony of 1070-1081

sixt^ -four yearj old ; born in South Carolina; lives in Chattooga County ; a
farmer 1070

a democrat 1 080
whipping of a negro on Eiihu Hendley's place January, 1871; attack upon

a family of negroes on Mr. Geddes's place, one shot ; Mr. Taliaferro aud son
^ threatened ; mgro upon witness's place cut three times with a sabre and shot

;

is threatened with punishment for burying this negro ; no one punished for

the offenses committed that night ; Epps, Kelley, and another convicted in

March 1071
bill found by the grand jury against the firemen concerned in these out-

rages 1072,1074
intimidation prevents prosecution ; object of these acts of violence 1072
people afraid to speak against the Ku-Klux 1073, 1074
effect of the Ku-Klux bill ; tlie Eckridge case 1073
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FARROW, HENRY P.. testimony of 6;:$7-640

det;iils ot' liis investigation, as attorney {renenil of the State, before Judge
Wright, of the outrage committed upon Columbus .Jeter and his wife 637-639

was appointed attorney general of the State, by Governor Bullock, in 1868.. 640
Feeling toward colored people and radicals.. . .450, 505, 522, 523, 527, 52H. 005, 612, 678, 701,

711,717,815,873,874,876,982, 1046, 1053, 1054, 1055, 1076, 1077, 1106, 1 121, 1 122,

1133, 1151, 1152, 1205

Feeling toward northern immigrants 428,448,623,715,718.777,813,819,900,995, 1048.

1151, 1174, 1178,1179, 1181,1182
Ferguson, Mr., whipping of, by negroes, (Jefferson County) 280
FERRKLL, ANDERSON, (colored,) testimony of 618-622

forty-five years old ; born in Monroe County ; lives in Atlanta ; came there

ficm Troup County 618
details visit of Ku-Klux May 28, 1870, and his shooting 618-620

the party numbered ten; recognized two; three arrested but never tried ; has
heard of many cases of whipping and shooting; no one punished for it 620

Finances of the State 153-155,276,277,293
Fish, Mr., homicide of, by Mr. Holsenbake 293
FLANNIGAN, HARRISON, (colored,) testimony of

_
480-483

twenty -tive years old ; born and lives in Jackson County ; is visited by the

Ku-Klux, January, 1871 480
is taken out and shot at when trying to escape 480, 481

previous quarrel with Jack Hanej' ; is knocked down ; tries to prosecute, but
has to pay the costs ; recognized three of the disguised party 481

object of Ku-Klux to prevent republicans voting 482
Flannigau, Harrison, (colored,) outrage upon, (Jackson County, January,

1871) 479-481,585
FLEMISTER, GEORGE, (colored,) testimony of 655-663

twenty-seven years old ; born in Jasper County; lives in Morgan County. 655
got up a crowd to guard the jail in Madison for the protection of Charles

Clarke 655,660
shooting of Charles Clarke, in the jail, and beating of his uncle ; plundering

of witness's shoe-store; was threatened and left, September, 1871; about
titty concerned in putting Clarke to death : all disguised 656

they were not interfered with in any way 657
various parties al leged to have been beaten 658
Charles Clarke was charged with rape ; proceedings in his case before the

mayor ' 659
details of his action and those of his men during the attack on the jail 660, 661

belongs to the Union League 661-662
politics of various parties 662
colored people wanted Clark to have a fair trial, nothing nsore 663

FLOUKNOY, HANNAH, (colored. ) testimony of 532-5:J5

thirty-one years old; born in Eatonton; lives in Atlanta since run from
Columbus 532

details of ttic killing of George W. Asliburn, April 1, 1868 532,533
FLOYD, MONDAY, (colored,) testimony of 1060-1062

sixty-eight years old; born in Greene County ; lives in Morgan County; a
house-carpenter; member of the lower house of the legislature; his second
term 1060

was a slave until emancipation 1061

copy of two Ku-Klux notices he received KKjO, 1061

killing of Charles Jones in Madison jai«l 1061

Forrest, General, head of the Ku-Klux order 1012, 1015, 1017

FORSYTH, C. D., testimony of 19-43

a native of tiie State, and a resident of Rome ; is solicitor general of the Rome
judicial circuit, composed of six counties ; is State's attorney, and has been
acting with the republican party since the war; was a captain in the rebel

army 19

arrested three men for robbery ; the t<'stiinotiy developed upon their trial

;

their condition ; what he learned of the organization of the Klan 20, 21 , 24^ 25, 29
first heard of the.-ie bands of disgui.-^ed men about two years ago; the first

indication of their unlawful acts, the going round the neighborhood and
frightening the cohered people, giving written notices prescribing the manner
in which to conduct themselves; the substance of the notices was to leave

elf talking about negro suffrage, and to (put supporting it 21

killing ot Jourdau Ware (Grceu Foster) by disguised men 21,22,30,31
undertook to prosecute the parties engaged but failed because he could not get

the names of the parties ; kdling of a negro in Haralson County by disguised

men ; has heard of negroes being whipped and disarmed 22
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FORSYTH, C. D.—Continued.
the organization Las been thorough throughout the State ; has hoard of its opera-

tions within the last three weeks ; it was got up and kept up by the men who
are disliunehised to eontrol tlie colored population ; the general behavicn" of
the eolored peojtle sinee their eufianchisenicnt has been good ; nothing done
by them, as a raee, to ati'ord any lair ground of fear ot their invading the

rights of the w hilt peojile ; the eolored people have been deterred from exer-

cising their political rights by the operations of the Klan 23
there is an indisposition to testify against those hands through fear ; the re-

publican party, and a portion of the democratic, in favor of putting down the
organization 24

all the victims of these outrasjes were republican with, possibly, the exception
of O'Lant ; uature of the obligation taken by the order 25, 28

Las heard of negroes being taken from their liouses and whipped and killed ;

this would have a tendency to niaki! the bad feeling of the negroes against
the whites worse ; his circuit democratic, and the county officers democrats,
with the exception of Haralson County 26

character of the men composing the Ku-Klux Klan 26, 27
the cause of the organization was the emancipation of the slaves, and the con-

ferring upon them of civil rights; it is intended to control the colored

race in every respect, politically and otherwise 27
condemnation and palliation or justification of the order by the members of

the bar and others 27, 28
Union League organiziid in 1866, and disbanded in Jfi68; there has generally

been some allegation of crimes ao;ainst the negroes that have been whipped
or killel

". 28
has never known colored people to use their arms to hurt anybody or to

threaten to doit 29
the pardoning power as exercised by Governor Bullock 31,32,36,40
basis of palliation or justihcation of the Ku-Klux organization 31,32, 35
his opinion that the reward offered by the governor has done more to disband

the Ku-Klux than anything else 32
rewards offered by the governor 32, 33, 37
amount of fee received as attorney for collecting reward due to James S.

Wyatt, and his legal right thereto 33,34,38,40,41
explains what he meant when he said that men who were under disabilities

encouraged and kept up the Ku-Klux organization 34,35
the effect of a general removal of disabilities would be good 35
killing of a colored man in Dai tow County by disguised men — 35,36
general treatment of negroes by white democrats 36

no colored men sei'ving on juries in the State; free schools about to be inau-
. gurated 37
the leaders of the rebellion, the generals of the army, &c., have more influ-

ence than anybody else, and talk as openly and freely 37,33
sign of recognition and signals of the order 39

the ptfering of rewards for the apprehension of men -who commit these crimes

in organized bauds bitterly denounced by the democratic press ; it is con-

sidered a reproach for a white man to belong to the republican party ; and
by so doing he and his family are proscribed 40

the meu who are disfranchised can stop these outrages in twenty-four hours.. 41

purport of a newspaper article which he regards as encouraging these out-

rages 41, 42

has heard of threats against himself 42, 43

Foster, Green, (see Jourdan Ware.)
Foster, Green, notified to leave his home 76,77

FOSTER, K0I3ERT S., testimony of 1070-1081

sixt,) -four yearj old ; born in South Carolina; lives in Chattooga County ; a

farmer K'70

a democrat 1 080

whipping of a negro on Eiihu Hendley's place January, 1871 ; attack upon

a family of negroes on Mr. Geddes's place, one shot ; Mr. Taliaferro and sou
'* threatened ; mgro upon witness's place cut three times with a sabre and shot;

IS threatened with punishment for burying this negro ; no one punished for

the offenses committed that night ; Epps, Kelley, and another convicted in

March K'71

bill found by the grand jury against the firemen concerned in these out-

rages..... - 1072,1074

intimidation prevents prosecution ; object of these acts of violence 10^2

people afraid to speak against the Ku-Klux 1''73, 1074

effect of the Ku-Klux bill ; the Eckridge case i073



effect of Ku-Klux upon labor very demoralizing ; object of the organiza

tion •f>~4, 6;
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FOSTER, KOBERT S.—'^ontimied.

juries will convict upon reasonable evidence 1075, 1078

paidons by tlic governor and tlieir supposed effect 1076-1078

the rewards offered ; disposition to treat colored people kindly 1076, 1077

wliipping of William Sbarpe 1078, 1079

tone of the press generally favorable to the Ku-Klux operations, and had a

tendency to encourage lawlessness ; social condition of the five meu who
committed the offense against his colored man; one of them, Lowrey, is

"Cyclops" 1079

disorganization of the Klan 1080

FOSTER, WILLIAM G., testimony of 671-681

forty years old ; born in Gwinnett County ; lives in Floyd County ; a farmer;

deputy sheriff of Floyd County 671

democrat ; in rebel army 676

arrested James Penny who confessed to acting with Ku-Klux ; his brothers

threatened for endeavoring to prosecute a party for killing a negro 672
parties afraid to testify before the committee 673

articles from the Rome Courier in respect to Ku-Klux, and the efforts to punish

them 673-674
tie organiza-

--^^JJ
copy of threatening letter sent him by Squire T. C. Hubbard; his fatner

threatened 675
intimidation of different parties 676
sentiment of the people as to Ku-Klux; intimidation of jurors; difficulty of

arrest in Ku-Klux cases ; character of juries 677
difficulty in getting cases before the courts ; feeling toward the colored race ;

the Rome Courier a democratic organ ; its tone calculated to prevent parties

being brought to justice 678
Ku-Klux dens in Chattooga County ; members of all parties would be whipped

for interference with their operations 679
views as to secret societies 681

FGWLER, LEVI, testimony of 1161-1171

fifty-five years old ; born and lives in Warreuton County ; merchandising ... 1161

killing of Dr. Darden 1161-1164

no one brought to trial for the killing 1 164

causes leading to the death of Mr. Wallace and his character 1164, J 165, 1168,

1169, 1170

negroes taken from the train at Bearing and killed ; burning of a negro at

Brinkley's Station ; shooting of a negro 1165
disguised men visit a negro and threaten him, and are themselves afterward

whipped by disguised men 1166, 1168
apprehension of the negroes ; object of the Ku-Klux order 1166

burning of a church 1167

charges against Sheriff' Norris 1170, IP'
Freedmen's Bureau, "effect, &c., of 527, 528, 1083, ^084, 109i
Fulvvard, Boston, (colored,) shooting of, (Wilkinson County, August, 1871) 359

Fye, Cudjo, (colored,) rescue of prisoners from jail, by 280,296,297

G.

Gallaher, John C, shooting of, (Washington County) 1044

Garrett, William, (colored,) whipping of, (Floyd County, 1870) 75
Garrison, Jerry, (colored,) homicide of, (Cherokee County, October, 1868) 666,687
Garrison, Jerry, (colored,) two sons of, shooting of, (Cherokee County, October,

lb68) 666,687
GARRISON, LEANNA. (colored,) testimony of 6(56-668

fifty odd years old ; born in South Carolina ; raised in Hall County : lives in

Atlanta 6G6
killing of her husband, Jerry Garrison, in Cherokee County, October 31, 1868 ;

and shooting of two of her sons by William and James Cloud and Lafayette

McGraw ' 666
the parties engaged have been arrested several times, but never tried 6(i7

GARRISON, SAMUEL, (colored,) testimony of 687-689
twenty-seven year.s old ; born in Cherokee County ; lives in Atlanta ; shoot-

ing ot self aud brother, and killing of bis father by James and William Cloud
and Mr. McGraw

_
687

the parties arre.-ited several times, now out on bail; witness was laid up five

months 688
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GENTRY, GEORGE W., testimony of 55&-560
thirty-five years old ; born in Fiiyette Connty: lives in I Iiiralson County ; ;i

fanner ; has been bailitf for several years 55,")

county republican from ")() to 75 np to last election, when it went democratic
by 48 majority 555

twenty or thirty men whipped previous to the election by disf^uised men ; in-
timidation of voters 550

never knew a democrat to be abused by the Ku-Klux ; approval of the Ku-
Klux by Duncan Monroe; voted the democratic ticket until IHGO; now gen-
erally vote with the republican party f).")?

li. D. Harvey threatened 50y
Georg-ia, extracts from the constitution of 977, <J78

Georgia, resolutions of the State senate of 1214, 1215
Giesiand, Mr., an alleged Ku-Klux homicide of, (near Warrenton, September,

1^00) 209
GOGGIN, HESTER, (colored,) testimony of 408,409

sixteen years old ; lives in Haralson County, Georgia 408
whipping of witness and Charles Little's wife 409

Golilsboro, Mr., whiijping of 010
GORDON, JOHN 11, testimony of 304-349

native of the State, and a resident of Atlanta; bas been a lawyer; and was a
candidate for governor in J8()8 304

statement as to the general condition of affairs in the belt of country bordering
on the coast, embracing the sea islands, with reference to state of Jeeling
between the negroes and the whites; the ignorance 0/ the negro ; his pecu-
liar language and religious superstitions, &c 304-:>08. :'H)

, :^:^4^ 344^ 34;")

knows nothing of any Ku-Klux organization 308
was asked in 1868 to attach himself to a secret organization, the object of

which he approved ;
gives causes of its formation and dissolution, and nature

of the organization, &c 303, 309, 321-32(5, 340, 341, 342
general character of the judicial administration 310
the election law and its operation ; cites election. at Atlanta 310-312,327-330,347
management of the State road under the governor's appointees 312-314, 347
the opinion general that the Kimball Opera House was built by the money of

the State; the prime source of dissatisfaction is the plundering of the State

hy the government 314
indorsements by the legislature, of railroad bonds 315
reconstruction of the legislature by General Terry and the democrats 315,330-332,

345, 348, 349
if the programme set on foot at Appomattox Conrt-House had been carried out

there would have been no disturbance in the South ; the alienation of the

people increased since that time by the coi.-rse pursued towards them
by the general government, and by tiie actions of the " politv^al earj)et-bag-

gers. "
.'

3Jt;, 317, 332, 333, 334, 340, 342, 343, 344, 346
arrest of certain parties charged with killing Ashburn ; their treatment in the

cells at Atlanta ; trial before military commission and their acquittal; wit-

nesses tortured to extort evidence against them 317,318
class of citizens afl'ected bj' the disabilities imposed by the fourteenth amend-
ment

;
probable eflect of general auniesty 318,319

favored secession in 1861 : entered confederate army as captain, and at the

time of the surrender conmrauded the second corps of the army 319
relations between the negroes, tiieir foimer masters, and the non-slaveholding

whites; no apprehensions as to collision between the races ; the negroes, >

during and since the war, have behaved remarkably well
\p20, 345)

organization of the democratic party in the State tliorongh but not secret, and
entirely distinct from the organization ibr protection referred to 322, 323

has heard of bands of disguised men riding about, intimidating and whipping
colored people ; the only case he knows of where parties were captured in

disguise was a case in Chattooga County where the parties turned out to be

republicans ; the case stated 326.

apprehensions of conliscatiou and execution under Johnson's administration.. \j334y

condition and feeling of the negroes while in slavery 33d
has not heard of any of the outrages, about which he is questioned, for the in-

timidation of negro and republican voters -— 336, 337

favors a qualified sutfrage for the negro; but would not vote for their disfran-

chisement as a class 337, 338, 346

"carpet-baggers," and their teachings ; its effect upon the colored vote . .339-341,346

believes thut outrages have been committed by disguised men, but that there

are as few disturbances in the State as in any State of the Union, and that a

II—

G
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GORDON, JOHN B,-Contiuued.
''^^'

large prcportion have been committed by the republican party for the sole

]>ur[)o.<e of itnikinjif a political advertisement 344
Union Leagues appeared iu the State subsequent to the passage of tlie recon-

struction act of March 2, )SG7, and disappeared about two years ago; the
organization for protection subsequent to the appearance of the Leagues 345

effect of I he reconstruction policy 345-347
Grant Rangers, organization of the 608,613,615,617
Grant Sheriff, homicide of, (Augusta) :... 1122
GRKGORY, JOHN M., testimony of 988-991

forty-eight years old ; born in Virginia ; lives in Rome : a physician 988
some disturbance in the country this year, among the negroes mostly 988
some people believe in a Ku-Klux order, others not ; no public demonstration

against them ; private condemnation and palliation ; influence of the press ;

failure of the courts in supjiressing disorders ; effect upon the labor of the

country ; no act of violence since the passage of the Ku-Klux bill ; whipping .

of two of Mr. Bryant's hands l98a
Grifnn, ]Mr., threats against 507
Gritlith, Harry, (colored,) whipping of (Gwinnett County, June, 1871) 642
Guidon, Andrew, shooting of, (Wilkinson County, August, lb7l) 360

H.

HARDEMAN, THOMAS, testimony of 248,249
a resident of Macon ; was a member of the State senate and house of represent-

atives, a member of Congress, and speaker of the house of representatives

ot the State legislature ; is in the commission and storage business; the peo-

ple are as quiet as any in the Union ; and the laws are administered with
fairness • 248

has never heard of a case of disguised men interfering with the people; men
of all parties have been voting their sentiments without intimidation 249

Hardimau, Samuel E., whipping of, (Oglethorpe County, 1868 or 1869) 872
HARGROVE, Z. B., testimony of 73-88,999-1002

native of the State and a resident of Rome ; is an attorney by profession

;

was mail agent under Mr. Buchanan's administration ; was an officer in the

confederate army and a true rebel ; his antecedents all democratic ; was one
of the executive committee of the county, and vice-president of a democratic
club ; was a member of the legislature and twice mayor of Rome *.

.

73
bitter feeling against the Union element near the close of the war; many acts

of violence committed in consequence thereof, and the great cause leading

thereto ; espoused the republican cause iu the last election 74
shooting of Joe Kennedy and whipping of Jourdan Ware ; the reasons as-

signed 74, 75
describes raid upon* the city of Rome on the night of February 6; white and

colored men notified verbally and iu writing not to leave their homes on the

day of the election ; some of them severely whipped ; whipping of William
Garrett and William Bradham ; numbers of republican voters deterred from
voting ; whipping of a colored man on the plantation of Mr. Bryant, of Pat-
rick King and llillard Johnson; rapes upon Adelia Horton, Anna Bryant,
and another girl 75

there were men who fostered the Ku-Klux organization for political effect who
would not countenance a murder; killing of an old colored man named
Ellison on the plantation of Mr. Foster ; Mr. Foster notified in writing to

leave because he co-operated in suppressing these acts of violence ; warrauts
sworn out against these parties and rewards offered by the governor lor their

apprehension 76, 77
no arrests have been made in these cases of outrages, committed by disguised

men ; all of them have been upon republicans ; no democrat injured, unless,

perhaps, Borden, attacked upon the highway by two negroes, not iu dis-

guise 77
declares his intention, with the co-operation of Colonel Foster, to break up

the organization 77, 78, 80
outrages committed in the neighborhood of Rome about three months ago,

whipping, driving away from home, breaking up farming operations, taking
horses awa,y, &.C., and the reason assigned therefor ; names partie."* arrested

by Mr. Forsyth in Chattooga County ; rewards offered by the governor 78
gives information obtained from members of the order as to the organization;

opinion as to the political intent of the order, and the sympathy of the better

portion of the order, even when it does these outrageous acts, and cites the
case of the shooting of Wash. Calhoun 79,86
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"the dirticwlty in ferreting out and prosecuting' ttese men is in consequence of
tlic synipatby with tlieni and the fear of assassination ; and that parties are
prevented from prosecuting or testifying tlirougb fear 80

. his opinion that as apolitical organization itoccupied-a considerable extent
of country, and was used in the election for governor and in the recent elec-

tion of the legislature, and that its general purpose was to prevent the color-

ed people from voting 801,62
its eftect in intimidating republican voters, and upon the labor of the country

;

no general feeling of intimidation which prevents the people from voting the

democratic ticket gl
uan:es parties driven from home . . 81 , 82
pretexts or excuses oftered for this organization 82
its justification or defense by newspapers luid prominent men, and denuncia-

tion of the KuKlux bill ; many persons driven from their homes in Cherokee
County 83, 85

what he thinks would be proper remedies for these evils and disorders ; denun-
ciation of the grand jury by the newspapers for reporting the Ku-Klux and
condemning it operations ; jurors exclusively white 84

opinion as to miscegenation and its extent and effects 84, 85
a considerable number of republican papers opposed the Ku-Klux bill upon

the ground that it interfered with and was an infringement upon Stato

rights 85, 86
his opinion as to the extract read him from the New York Evening Post rela-

tive to the Ku Klux legislation 86
names a democrat who acquiesces with him in not opposing the Ku-Klux

bill 57
defines his political status, and states his political aspirations 87, 88
has received no part of the re^vard offered for the arrest and conviction of cer-

tain persons in Chattooga County 91)9

character of this prosecution ; the rewards offered by the governor 1(J(J0

facts in the case of Mr. Penuj', a ccnl'essed Ku-Kiux, before the grand jury
of Floyd County 1001

probably twenty outrages williiu the last three years in the county, fairly

traceable to disguised bands ; no one punished for these ofienses lOO'i

Harper, Jim, (colored, ) whipping of, (Walton County) Ej99

Harrill, Mr., father and son, outrage upon, (Hancock County) 10v;2

HARRIS, W. H., testimony of 576-580
sixty-one years old ; bcrn in North Carolina ; lives in Whitefield County ; a

retailer of spirits and a shoemaker 576
had one party of disguised men at his house 57G, 577
negro taken from the jail in Spring Place, Murray County, and hung; hang-

ing of a negro charged with killing a white woman ; Mr. Nance's house
visited 577

public sentimeirt did not find any fault with tbese actions 578
feeling in regard to the drowning of the negro by Posey Sebastian .578, 579
character of Posey Sebastian 579

HARRISON, W. H., (colored,) testimony of 923-932
twenty-eight years old ; born in Sparta ; lives in PTancock County ; member

of the constitutional convention of 1867 and 1868 ; member of the legislature

in 1868 ; candidate for re-election in 1870 ; member of the republican State

central committee 923
was a slave

J925,
9261

has been engaged in raising cotton 1928-930 j

was a body- servant 931

details of the manner of conducting the election held in Sparta, December,
1 870 ; interference of Linton Stevens 923-925, 929

Jerry Long and William Culver killed by Ku-Klux June, 1870; Israel John-
son arrested for the murder of Long; his case pending ever ^since ; more
cases of %\^ipping and far greater in severity, in the county, than in the

days of slavery ; no one arrested and brought to trial for these offenses 925

received a dozen notices, with coffins and skeletons on them, in 1868, 18(59,

and 1870 926

nirmber of votes in the county, and relative party and colored vote 926,927

school-fund of 1868 and lH69"app!ied to the pay of the members of the legisla-

ture ; remission of poll-tax for 1 888 and 1 869 927, 928, 931

thinks all democrats are Ku-Klux ; how the school-fund is raised .930

.

it is considered a disgrace for a white man to labor on a farm IwJ^
Harvey, R. D. , threats against 5^^
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Havcock. ''Acock.) whipping of 7,237,238

HAYES, HENRY, (colored,) testimony of 866,867
tweoty-iive years old ; bom in Walton County; lives in Gwinnett County;

Avlii'pped by the Ku-Kiux, in August ; recognized William Smith and Wil-

liam Felkor; was threatened with death if he ever told '866

reason Ibr his whipping 867

HAYS, KANSOM, (colored,) testimony of 681,682

twenty years old : born and lives in Walton County 681

saw tiieKu-Klux thrfe or four times; saw five the night they whipped Gus
Mills ; recognized Mr. Felker and Jim Austin ; saw about eighty going up
to Gwinnett on horseback ; whipping of Charles Burson, Jack and Harry
Allen 681

saw eight at another time ; how they were disguised 682

HENDRICKS, CHARLES, (colored,) testimony of 515-520

forty-two years old ; boru in Butts County ; lives in Atlanta ; was one of the

committee of election in 1870 516

is a carpenter 517

was visited by the Ku-Klax and shot through the thigh, December, 1870.-516,517,519

was knocked down at the governor's election, and cut with a knife, by the same
man who shot him ; still sutlers from his injuries 517

Ku-Klux belong to the democratic party ; the men whipped are republicans .. 518

Heudiicks, Charles, (colored,) shooting of, (Gwinnett County, December, 1870). .516, 517,

519, 520, 521

H ENDRICKS, MARTHA, (colored, ) testimony of 520-522

twentv-eio-ht years old; born in Gwinnett County; lives in Atlanta; mar-
rie.r. 520

Ku-Klnx raid on her house ; wounding of her husband Charles 520,521

Hepsonstall, Mr., whipping of step-sou and wife of, (Chattooga County, October,

1871) 1102

HIGHTOWER, E. A., testimony of 1198-1207

twenty-seven years old; born in Greene County; lives in Hancock County,
school-teacher; lived two years in Warren County 1198

was ill confederate army ; a democrat 1199

a secret organization existed in 1869 ; was a member of it 1198

ceremony of ioining and oath taken 1198, 1199, 1201 , 1202, 1204

killing of a iiegro, Isaac, in his neighborhood, 1869 1199, 1200, 1203, 1204,

1206,1207

signs, grips and passwords of the order 1200

some persons join in order to keep the Klan off ot them ; object of the order. 1201, 1202

has never known a democratic negro whipped 1202
nranuscript statement of witness, prepared upon application of Sheriff J. C.

Norris ..-.- 1203
whipping of a brother-in-law of Mr. Lawrence Battle 1204

killing of Doctor Darden and W^•iliace ; general security of well-behaved peo-

ple of all colors
;
general feeling of the whites toward the blacks ; no reason

to doubt that juries will do justice 1205

threats of using the military 1205, 1206

bribery of Chap. Norris 1206

knows of no one punished for Ku-Klux outrages 1207

HILL, B. 11., testimony of 752-810

forty-eight years old ; native of Georgia ; lives in Athens ; a lawyer and a

planter : 752
never held office under the United States ; an old-line whig ; a pi'acticing law-

yer of 26 years 756

was a slave-holder , 757

a Union man 760

twice member of the State legislature; burned in effigy as an abolitionist 761

imprisoned in Fort Lafayette in 1865 762

makes detailed statement of his coimcction as counsel for the defense in the

Holliday case, denying Mr. Holliday's assertions ; disclaiming any ksowledge
of Ku-Klux ; giving his conversation witli Mr. Holliday, and liis etforts to-

ward the release of the prisoners after the failure of the grand jury to find a

bill 7.53-756

thinks Holliday crazy 755, 775, 776

negroes competent witnesses in the courts of Georgia ; testimony of a negro

not influenced by any passion of avarice, fear, or superstitious notions, very

reliable: otherwise, wholly unreliable; as a race e.xceedingly liable to be in-

Huencod by all the passions alluded to 756

what his course would be in prosecuting or defending a negro 756,757
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the greatest mist'ortiiuethat has befallen the negro, the exclnsion from the Gov-
ernment of the groat body of tlie old slave-holders; no difference of sentiment
among respectable men as to these crimes of whipping, &c 757

constitutional qualifications of grand jurors 757, 758
justice done to negroes in civil suits; they stand the very best chance; con-

siderable trouble in the labor system, owing to the default of negro laborers
I and from a class of whites intent on cheating; correction of these evils woe-
1 fully impeded by the class of men in control of the State government ; the

! tendency of the laws in direct conflict witli the sentiment of the people; the
*- greatest evils that afflict the labor system, the results of the reconstruction I

measures
J
758

his course and advice to the people on the reconstruction measures and the *^

results 758,759,775
has no knowledge of any sentiment hostile to the Government of the UnTfecI '

States 759
probable effect of general amnesty end the withdrawal of Federal power 759, 7(J(J

best for all classes to have the government of Georgia returned to the hands
of the old slave-holding population ; the government now in the hands of
men incapable and dishonest ; the class of people to whom he refers 760

the reason tor the old Union men adhering to the secessionists after the close

of the rebellion 701 , 7G2
expression of his opinion on reconstruction, by letter and speech, in 1865, 1866,
and 1868 7G2

opinions of the whigs and Union men as to secession ; the jiowers of the

General Government, reconstruction, &c 762, 763,764
thinks the article quoted from a Nashville paper on carpet-baggers exceedingly

inaccurate ; defines a '

' carpet-bagger " 764
defines a "scalawag ;" but few officers in the State who are not carpet-baggers

or scalawags : with individual exceptions, no gentleman of respectability

would take office in the State government; very few of tbe native citizens

have tak(.'n part under the reconstruction measures of Congress 765
what he thinks would have been the condition of affairs had Georgia been al-

lowed to elect such men as she chose 765, 766
the judiciary tolerably fair; the extravagant and unjustifiable use of the par-

doning power has created a sense of insecurity, and given birth to Ku-Klux
bands... 766,767,760

governor Bullock elected by a fraudulent count of votes, and charged with
bribery ; licentiousness of the press ; the large rewards offered unprecedented
and have had a very evil effect 767

the legislation on the subject of labor and employment by the first legislature

after Johnson's i-econstrnction was intended to be wise, fair, and just, andj

in accord with the governing sentiment of the United States VZS2^*-Z^8
if the slave-holders had been unanimous in denouncing secession, it would have
been impossible ; a majority did so in county meetings ; the press now in the

hands of the secession democracy and the Union whigs • 768
many peo'ple disbelieve in the existence of a regular organization of the Ku-Klux ;

most people now concede that there have been bauds, local, temporary, and
sporadic in their character; they are justified by some, but not by the great

body of the people 769
shooting of Wallace by Darden ; Darden hanged by disguised men 769, 770
thinks Ashburn and Adkins were killed by their political friends for political

effect ; cannot name a case of anj' one being punished for alleged Ku-Klux
outrages - 770

is unable to give a very satisfactory reason for the democratic press denying the ex-

istence of the Ku-Klux organization, and discountenancing with unmeasured
abuse every effort to punish such oft'enses 77

1

received a notice to leave the State, signed K. K. K., but thought it a joke ; re-

publicans always spoken of as radicals, and occupy much the situation of

abolitionists before the war, if possible with a little more odium 772
the people are willing to accept the amendments conferring civil and political

rights as an end to the controversy 772, 773

the incoming legislature, November 1, 1871, democratic; his views, read to

him from Mr. Eedfield's account of the interview, stated correctly ; thinks

the leadiug democrats of the State opposed to these views, but that they are

sustained by the leadiug whigs and Union democrats 773

number included within the scope of the third section of the fourteenth amend-
nient several thousand of the very best people ; this element of the people

imbittered upon the subject of reconstruction 774
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no {iieatcr iivorage of crime, including Ku-Klux outrages, in Georgia than in

Northern States with equal population 77G
immigration of northern farmers and mechanics desirable; they would be

welcome, and would be treated with entire respect, socially and otherwise

;

their political affiliations would make no difference ; cites case of Captain
True -• 777

facts as to social intercourse with families from the North; objections to the

reconstruction measures 778
his hopes and misgivings for the future of Georgia; the great body of thinking
men sympathize with these views 779

very little exodus of the colored population ; knows of no contradiction to the

material facts in the report of R. H. Adkinson, secretary of the executive de-

partment, relative to pardon statistics, but they do not controvert his own
statements to the committee 780

a strong disposition upon the part of many to assail the action of the govern-
ment of the State, by making an array of evil consequences and by a very
liberal imputation of motives ; belief that the military power of the United
States has been used for blackmailing and terrorizing ; thinks this largely

true in Warren County, in belialf of Chap Norris ; Chap Norris's reputation

exceedingly execrable ; would not consider him in any case a credible wit-

ness 781
results of his investigation in the Ashbiiru case, as to character, position, and

the cause of his death 782, 784, 785, 786
the case investigated by General Meade with unusual vigor; many arrests

made and the parties subjected to very rigorous coniiuement ; this treatment
went as far to imbitter the people against the Government as any one act that

ever occurred | 782
.universal belief that the torture of the sweat-box was resorted to for the pur-

pose of obtaining testimony ; utter disregard of the ordinary protection of
defendants in such a case ; prosecution linally broken down, and the prison-

ers released ; military authority makes investigation into cases of alleged
violation of private contracts, enforcing the civil rights of the citizens with-
out regard to the civil tribunals /783

effect of the reconstruction measures and the policy of the Government toward
the State 784

thinks Dr. Ayer was killed by a negro for money 76.'>

the Ku-Klux have punished persons who have committed no improprieties,

and have originated charges against their victims 786
many republicans are Ku-Klux ; in some counties a majority of* them ; cites a

case in Chattooga County : has heard of a number of repirblicans outraged
by the Ku-Klux, but of no democrat; some of tire injuries inllicted upon
radicals self-inflicted, for the purpose of stirring up feeling in the North 787

these cases few in number 788
burning of Mr. Holliday's mill property and cotton-gin 788,790 791
many of the Ku-Klux outrages committed for private ends 788
believes Dr. Darden was killed by the Ku-Klux; his views in general as to

the organizations, the parties concerned and individual cases cited; it is time
that these outrages ought to be put an end to by some power 789

while some have been afraid to make application for justice, there has been no
reason for that fear; the people have not had a fair opportunity to exercise

their own power to rectify these abuses in the State generally ; no reason
why justice should not be done in Floyd County 791

Lis speech delivered before the Young Men's Democratic Union, October 13,

1868 791-798
address before the Society of Alumni, University of Georgia, July '.M, 1S7L .. 799-808
report of R. II. Atkinson, secretary executive department, relative to pardon

.statistics 809-810
HILL, JOHN, testimony of 712-714

thirty-six years old ; born in Cobb County ; lives in Gwinnett County ; a farmer

;

have had liq uor for sale 712
attends a stallion 714
thinks there are Ku-Klux ; heard two persons say they belonged to the Klan.. 712
Ku-Klux graves; has never been disturbed: Ku-lvlux democratic 713
was threatened with the lash for being a radical ; voted the democratic ticket last

election, becau.se he thought it wa.s safer ; thinks he would be in danger had
he come before the committee voluntarily 714
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HINTON, ALEXANDER, (colored,) testimony of 604,095
tbirty-riix years old; bom in North Caroliim ; lives in Atlanta; came from
Walton County, lived tlierc from liis sixtli year to ciiiiincijjation ; shooting
of witness, and killing of his brother by Dave Harris in the fall of 1865 094

Hinton, Al(>XHndcr, homicide of brotlier of, (Walton County, ]H(i5) 094
HOLCOMBE, G. P.., testimony of ' 490-5nu

forty-six years old ; born and lives in White County : notified by the Ku-Klux
not to attend the United States court 49(5

names parties he identified ; was waylaid and shot through the leg as he
returned from comt in May last ; his horse killed : liist heard of the Ku-Klux
in March ; Silas Hutchens whipped, and run off; no parties brought to

trial and punished 497
Lis shooting and the killing of Mr. Cason prophesied by M. K. Palmer ; was

a democrat, secessionist, and rebel soldier; killing of, Mr. Cason, deputy
marshal, November 9, ]b70; no arrests made in the case : colored people
cannot get justice in the courts; is again notified that be would bo shot 49S

thinks he was shot by a man named Brock 498, 499
illicit distilling in White County 499
objects of the Ku-Klnx organization; killing of Jlr. Cason; the Ku-Kln.x

belong to the democratic party 500
Holcomb, G. B., shooting of. (White County. May, 1871,) 493,497,908,909,912
HOLIJDAY, ELIZABETH, testimony of 4J4-417

thiit\ eight years old; lives in Jackson County, Georgia; is married ; visited

by Kn-Klux July 25 or 26; details of the outrage 414, 415
lier husband charged with being a radical 415
no general disapproval of the doings of the Ku-Klux ; Ku-Klux caves 410
her husband a democrat and a Union man during the war 417

HOLLIDAY, F. M., testimony of 4G0-40i>

thirty -five years old ; born and lives in Jackson County; farmer 400
burning of his brother's mill-house, cotton-mill, gin-house, and cotton, &c.,

October, 1871 ; nnmber of Ku-Klux in the Stale; public meeting to suppress
Ku-Kluxing ; his brothers hands threatened and driven off last week 401

Holliday, J. I^., burning of mills, gin-houses, &c., of 401,788,790,791
Ho! lid ay, J. R., case of 753-750
Holliday, J. R. , character of 755, 775, 770
Holliday, J. R, outrage upon, (Jackson County, July, 1871.) 414,415,418, 535, .530

HOLLIDAY, J. R., testimony of 417-4-24

forty-one years old ; born and lives in Jackson Count}', Georgia; farmer and
niill-wright '- 417

opposed secession 418
attack upon his house, details of light ; names of parties engaged 418
Ku-Klux originated there since April last ; Ku-Klux caves

; parties threatened ;

Mitchell Reed whipped ; Ku-Klux justified ; their object 419
funds raised for bribery 419, 422, 423
rascality in voting; character of the members of the Ku-Klux organization

;

causes of opposition to the negroes 420
agreement to stop Ku-Kluxing 421

Ku-Klux on the grand jury 422
Ben Hill promises there shall be no more Ku-Kluxing 423
burning of court-house 423, 424

Holsenbake, Mr. , homicide of Mr. Fish by 293
Homicides

:

Adams, Kitchen 282
Adkins, Senator 130, 207, 208, 231, 268, 269, 283, 284, 01 0,737, 742, 770, 1019, 1021,

1023-1020, 1150, 1151, 1158, 1210, 1211

Allen, Thomas M., brotlier-in-law of, (colored,) (.Jasper County, October,

1808) : 607,608
Ashburn, George 1 36, 184, 186-188, 431 , 433, 451-453, 532, 533, 010, 770, 782, 784,

785,785, 1035, 103()

Ayer, Dr 010,785,1019
Barmore, Mr., (Tennessee, 1808) 748

Boy, (Walton County) 594

Cason, Mr., (White County, November, 1870) 498, 500, 503, 504, 1 172, 1 177

Clark, Charles, (c.lored,) (Morgan County, September, 1871) ...0.50,004,720,723,725

Cody, Mr 282

Creech, Mr. , father and son, (Jackson County) 280, 1 120

Culver, Will, (colored,) (Hancock County, June, 1870) 200,207,925,988
Daniel, Jacob, (colored,) (Walton County, 1809) 8t)5

Darden, Dr., (Wurrentou, March, 1809) 197-20 J, 220, 221, 267, 282, 2o3, 769, 770,

1018,1101-1104,1205,1210
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Dease, Joel, (Wilkinson County, September, 1S71) 359, lOoG
Deason, Mat., (Wilkinson County, Auj^nist, 187

1 ) :».>, Sd-Z, ;{(i".?

Eanjer, Washinijton, (Washington County, April, 187J) GliS

Fish, Mr 29^}

Garrison, Jerry, (colorecl,) (Cherokee County, Oetober, 18(18) G6G,G87
Gieslaud, Mr.

,
(near Warrenton, September, 18G9) 209

Grant, Sheriff, (Augusta) 1122
Hinton. Alexander, brother of, (colored,) (Walton County, IBG.")) G94
Hull, Wash., (colored,) (Hancock County, June, 1871) 207
Jackson, Allen, (colored,) ((iieene County) G99
Jeffers, Perry, and sons, (colored,) (near Hearing, September, J8G9) 210,211,1029
JcfTers, Perry, son of .^ 209
Jones, Charles, (colored,) (Madi.son County) 1061
Lewis, Robert, (colored, ) (Greene County) 699
Long, Jerry, (colored.) (Hancock County, June, 1870) 92r5,987,988
Lovelace, Columbus, (colored,) (Pike County, August, lw7I) 685
Meadows, George, (Wilkinson County, September, 1871) 1359

Moore, Matt., (colored,) (Whitefield County. August, 1871) 568, .571,575
Negroes (names not given) 22, :30, 35, 36, 183, 1 8G, 21 !, 214, 217, 218, 3.39, 360, 395,

574, 575, 577, 839, 847, 1044, 1 108, 1 1 12, 1 1 13, 1 1 17, 1 1 18, 1 120,

1 122, 1 165, 1 199, 1200, 12U3, 1204, 1206, 1207
Starrett, Dave, (colored, ) (Habersham County, 1865) 484, 487
Terry, Mr., and six sons, (Walton County) GIO
Turner, Abram, (colored,) (Putnam County) 611,706,707,1039
Wallace. Daniel, (colored,) (Walton County) 594
Wallace, Mr., (Warrenton, March, 1869) 197, 198.220,221,266,267,288,289,769,

770,1024,1025, 1164, 1165, 1168, 1169, 1170,120.5, 1210
Walthall, John, (Haralson County, Mav. 1871) 407, 412, 471, 473, .544, 547, 1010
Warner, Major, (Columbus. 1865 or 1866) 184,188, 189

White men 1097,1098
Horson, Adelia, rape of, (near Rome) - 75
Houses burned

:

Holliday's, J. R 4(^,788,790,791
Ivev's, Mary 872
McCoy's, James 390, 391, 393, 395, 812, 1 126
Owens's, Jeremiah .'^51

HOWARD, CHARLES WALLACE, testimony of 828-845
native of Georgia ; lives in Atlanta ; editor of the Plantation, an agricultural

newspaper ; was a Presbyterian minister for twenty-live years 823
vice-president of the State Agricultural Society ; a graduate of the theological

seminary at Princeton 833
was a captain, during the war, in the confederate army 837
present agricultural condition of the State as compared witli that of three ori

five years ago, and the progress made I829jj^
restoration of fortunes, and the building up of towns ; increase of the com-

merce of Savannah 830
development of the railway system ; condition of educational interests ; edu-

cation of negroes meets the general sanction of the better disposed 831
general condition of the country; apart from instances of lawlessness the

State never in a sounder condition, as to morals, and the execution of the

laws than at present .- 832
pardons by the governor 832,839,840,841
vices of the negroes, indolence, theft, and sensuality: conduct of the negroes

since the war orderly and quiet, to a wonderful degree; extensive cotton- i i

planting ; coal and iron resources {§§2»
causes of the great improvement in the industries and material condition of

the State 834
the vices of the negro greatly increased since the abolition of slavery 835
cause of the repeal of the laws permitting ncgioes to learn to read; no system

of common schools in operation 836
his hojjes for the future of Georgia ; eagerness of the colored people to learn.

.

837
social exclusion of female teachers from the North ;

general social ostracism

of ladies from the North 838
better for the negroes as a race li ad they remained in slavery; they consider .

they have gained a great result ; the people would not reestablish slavery. 1839] 844,
845

knows of a single instance where a man was whipped for adultery, by a band
of disguised men ; a negro killed by three men in liailow County 83J
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report of R. H. Atkinsoa on pardon statistics 840, 841

Increase of sensuality and infanticide among the blacks 842

unreliability nf neijro testimony 844

HOYT, LIEUTENANT C4E0RGE S., testimony of 1111,1119

second lieutenant in Eighteenth United States Infantry; in Georgia since

April, 18ti9; in Atlanta, from April to .June, 18G9; in Warrenton until the

latter part of August ; then to Union Point, Greene County; never met with

forcible resistance to orders IJll

Avhippino- of Mr. Brassel, Glascock County, and his investigation of the case,

July, 1809 1111-1112

his investigation of the -whipping and killing of a negro on !Mr. Marchman's
place, in Hancock County, and the retaliation upon Mr. Marchman by ne-

groes, September, 1869; the negroes punished 11 1"2, 1113, 1117, 1118

whipping of Mr. Hurlbut iu Green.sborough, September, 1869 1113

whipping of Abe Colby, Greensborough, Sejitember, 1869 1113, 1114

negro whipped in Oglethorpe County 1114

disposition made of the testimony taken in these cases; no investigation in

cases of civil contract by the military 1115

charges of bribery against Chap Norris 11 16, 1 1 17

does not know of a case of punishment for Ku-Klux outrages; a general or-

ganization existed in 1868; thinks it broken up in a measure and now local 1118

toire of the democratic press as to Ku-Klux outrages 1 118, 1 1 19

Hughes, B. T., whipping of, (Haralson County, 1871) 1011

HUGHES, C. C, testimony of 539-543

twenty-seven years old ; born in Cherokee County ; lives in Haralson County 539

was visited by Ku-Klux and whipped, May 7, 1871 539, 54U

whipped on account of politics &40

Ku-Klux democratic, their victims republicans 541

no anests made ^-12

Hughes, C. C, Avhipping of, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 539,540,1010

Hull, Wash., (colored,) homicide of, (Hancock County, June, 1871) 207

Hurlbut, Mr., whipping of, (Greensborough, September, 1869) 1113

Hurt, Aaron, ((^olored, ) tarring and feathering by negroes, of (Savannah, November,

1868) - 17*>

Hutchens, Silas, whipping of, (White County, lb7]) 497

INGERSOLL, H. D., testimony of 1171-1182

thirty years old ; born in Massachusetts; lives in Loudsville, White County;

book-keeper for a gold-mining company ; came in September, 1865 1171

notary public a short time -
__^

1 179

a republican or northern man has no protection in the courts ; cases cited ..1171, 1172,

1176,1177,1180,11^1

object of the Ku-Klux ^ 1'^^
killing of Mr. Cason and whipping of some negroes ;

politics the cause 1172, 1177

etfect of the presence of the military 1 173

presentment of the grand jury 1173, 1174, 1175

intimidation of voters • ^}/'^

feeling: of the community toward northern republicans ; case cited ... 1 174, 1 178, 1 179,
"

1181,1182

Georgia school system 1 ^~^

Intimidation of complainants 10, 24, 80, 213, 525, GOO, 866, 920, 1013, 1038, 1072, 1102

Intimidation of voters 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 19, 44. 51 , 68, 75, 81 , 213, 236, 248, 27
1 , 2d9, 404,

405, 428, 435, 454-459, 484, 485, 486, 556, 631, 738, 741,

873, 1103, 1127, 1128, 1147-1 1.50, 11.52, 1153, 1173, 1183, 1184

Intimidation of witnesses, jurors, &c .60, 213, 490, 496, 509, 640, 673, 677, 908, 9.59, 1004, 1005

Ivev, Mary, burning of the house of 8<-

IVEY, WESLEY, (colored,) testimony of 650,651

forty-three years old ; born and lives iu Jackson County ; never troubled by

Ku-Klux *j^^

Jackson, Allen, (colored, ) homicide of, (Greene County) - - ^-'^

Jail, Jefferson County, rescue by Cudjo Fye, of pri.soners from the 280,296,297

Jail, mutilation of prisoners taken from the Louisville 281,282,296-298,904, 1043, 1120

Jefi'ers, Perry, homicide of son of
J-'^ -^

Jeffers, Perry, hanging of wile of -^^
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Jeffcrs, Perry, and family, attack upon 209
Jctlcrs, Perry, and sons, homicide of, (Dearing, September, 1869) 210,211, 1029
JENNING8, WILLIAM, testimony of 1125-1140

assessor of internal revenue for fourtti district 1125
forty-six counties in bis district 1 126
a republican 1128
larg-e number of illicit distillers ; tbeir combination for protection and ag^jjre.s-

sive actions; burninjr of Mr. McCoy's house, in Cherokee County, 1870,
informers liable to suffer 1126

whippinf^ of a negro in Banks County 1126, 1127
thinks the members of the Ku-Klux are principally illicit distillers and illicit

traders in tobacco, and that the order has not much political signification.. 1127, 1134
intimidation of voters 1127, 112S
general character of the administration of justice 1128, 1129
thinks some juries influenced by personal considerations ; sectional prejudice;

increase of good feeling 1129
probable oft'ect of general amnesty 1129, 1134, 1137
illicit distillation without regard to party affiliations 1130
illicit distillation in Brooklyn, New York 1130,1131
meetings held to suppress illicit distillation 1131
remedy for existing evils ; the schoolmaster ; business proscription 1 132
character and influence of colored preachers 1132, 1133, 1137, 1138
feeling of the people averse to educating the colored people ; social proscrip-

tion of teachers of colored schools ; prejudice against Yankees; meaning of
'

' Yankee " 1 133
believes there is a Ku-Klux organization ; has received threatening letters ;

Ku-Klux in Floyd and Chattooga Counties; has a political significance 1134
tone of the democratic press as to Ku-Klux outrages 1135
character of Eev. Charles Howa,rd ; teaching of colored schools by ladies.. 1136, 1138,

1139
some among the disfranchised who opposed secession ; burning of churches
and school-houses common in 1867 and 1868 1137

' effect of Mr. A. H. Stephens's teaching 1138
white political preachers 1138, 1139

JETER, AURY, (colored, ) testimony of 565-567
thirty-five years old; born in Lincoln County, Georgia 565
lives in Atlanta; born a slave; wife of Columbus Jeter; raided by Ku-
Klux and beaten ; exposure of her person ; had been teaching day-school

;

went to school in Knoxville and Memphis 566
recognized four of the assaulting party ; is a quadroon 567

Jeter, Aury, (colored,) outrage upon, (Douglas County, April, 1871) 566,637-639,
959-961 , 964, 968, 969, 972, 973

JETER, COLUMBUS, (colored, ) testimony of 560-565
forty-one years old ; born in Greene County ; lives in Douglas County 560
is visited by the Ku-Klux and shot, April 4, 1871 560,561
difficulty with Mr. Morris 561
tries to secure protection 562
has not yet recovered from his wounds 563
his attempts to obtain justice 564,565

Jeter, Columbus, (colored,) shooting of, (Douglas County, April, 1871) 560,561,566,
637-639, 959-961 , 964, 968, 969, 972, 973

Johnson, Hilliard, (colored,) whipping of, (near Rome) 68,75
JOHNSON, JOHN, (colored, ) testimony of 664-666, 867-870

twenty five or twenty-six years old ; born in Newton County; lives in Madi-
son, Morgan County 664

left in September on account of threats
; jail broken into and Charles Clarke

killed ; the crowd came from the mayor's ofiice 664
had been helping guard the jail ; name of parties recognized 664,665
was before the committee last week ; returned to Madison, Morgan County,
on Friday 867

has had to lie out every night ; is threatened with death and leaves ; Monday
Floyd threatened 868

his house searched by Marshal Hogue for stolen clothes 868-870
Jones, Charles, (colored, ) homicide of, (Madison) 1061
JONES, H. C, testimony of 1207-1212

twenty-five years old ; born in Griffin ; lives in Decatur; attoruey-at-law 1207
Character of Chap. Norris _ 1 207, 1208, 1210
Knows nothing of the Ku-Klux ; has seen a band of men riding at night in

Warren County 1208
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has been incited to go out and deal with men that the courts did not deal
with ; instances the case of a IMiss Hani 11 1209 1210

general disposition of courts and juries to do justice 1209
effects of pardons by the governor 1210
killing of Senator Adkins 1210, 1211
killing of Dr. Darden and Mr. Wallace 1210
character of Mr. John Neal 1212

JONES, WARREN, (colored.) testimony of 689-692
thirty -nine years old ; born »in North Carolina ; was brought to Warren

County, Georgia; lives now in Atlanta; left WaiTen County 20th of last
March ; is threatened with death by Obadiah Laseter, and leaves through
fear of the Ku-Klux 689

worked for Laseter over a year and received no pay (689-69lj
abundance of Ku-Klux; burning of bush-arbors ; school broken up ; negroes^

^-^^.^

not allowed to have preaching, or talk politics ; kinds of disguises worn by
the Ku-Klux ; could not count the number of whippings done by them ; the
white people have nothing to say against them 690

some radicals among the Ku-Klux ; they are hired ; has made no attempt to
sue Laseter

, Q^i
copy of contract

i(691-692j
Judiciary, character, &c., of 137,265,269,270,500,310, 370, 701, 766,811,' 8597860",

863,864,945,946
Juries, character, composition, &c., of 37,54,84,245,247,265,266,370.422,522,531,

606, 61
] , 624, 677, 757, 758, 899, 936

Justice, administration of 311, 398, 399, 437, 485, 487, 488, 489, 490, 495, 498, 522, 564,
565, 623, 700, 758, 81 1, 812, 860, 861 , 933, 939, 963, 984, 989, 992, 1041,

1046, 1075, 1078, 1093, 1094, 1128, 1129, 1171, 1176, 1177, 1180, 1181, 1205

K.

Kellogg, Major, threats against 507
Kennedy, Joe, (colored,) shooting of, (near Rome, January, 1871) 44,45,74,75
KENIMER, R. T., testimony of 908-913

twenty-eight years old ; born in Habersham County: lives in White County ;

a wheelwright; sometimes farms 908
two disguised men came to his house in April or May, and proposed to re-

cover some stolen money; whipping of Joe Brown; witnesses notified by the
Ku-Klux not to appear against the Henderson boys 908

Green 13. Holcombe shot 908, 909, 912
character of Brock, the man suspected of shooting Holcombe ; his father-in-

law, Mr. Burke, and Mr. Taylor's boys, notified to leave 909
several alleged Ku-Kiux cases ; Mr. Oakes shot from a blind 910
Ku-Klux outrages disapproved by all parties: an old gentleman whipped in
Habersham County 9f 1

Mr. Oakes understood to be at the head of the Ku-Klux order ; character of
Duke Palmer, of Cleveland 912

King, Patrick, (colored,) whipping of, (near Rome) 75
KINNEY, BETTY, (colored, ) testimony of 535, 536

twenty -five years old; born and lives in Jackson County; wife of Toddy
Kinney 535

details conversation overheard relative to the raid on Bob Holliday 535, 536
whipping of Uncle Simon and son 536

KINNEY, TODDY, (colored, ) testimony of 477, 478
twenty-five years old; born and lives in Jackson County; saw Jim Finch go

to Mr. Martin's plantation the evening they went to Mr. HoUiday's, and get
his boys and go off with them at night 477

Kirby, Judge, appointment of 94, 126, 127
Kirby, Judge, compelled to ask for the release of Eckridge 95,98, 127-129
Ku-Klux, cause, nature, extent, object, &c., of the 14,21,23,25,27,28,39,46,47,58,

68, 79, 80-82, 106, 122-126, 132, 191, 192, 195, 213, 383, 384, 416, 419, 420, 426, 430, 440,
442, 443, 461 , 482, 484, 500, 506, 509, 510, 525, 526, 583-585, 603, 604, 61

1
, 632, 674, 676,

679,681,682,690,698,713,739, 747,769,788,789,873, 877,953,964, 965,1003,1006,
1011,1012,1015,1016,1017,1072, 1080,1099,1103,1118, 1127,1134,1166, 1172,1198,

1 199, 1200, 1201, 1202, 1203, 1204
Ku-Klux, effect upon negroes of the operations of the 9,11,23,46,47,55,69,213,

214, 233, 239, 244, 485, 606, 915, 916, 950, 987, 1040, 1 166
Ku-Klux notices 610,675,727,728,745,851,926,1060,1061
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Ku-Klux outragjes ; no arrests, convictions, &.c., for 354,361,369,429,474,485,490,
497, 49d, 506, 54'2, 598, 604, 6-20, 628, 642, 647, 670, 633, 685, 697, 72U, 726, 734, 745, 747,

748, 770, 872, 915, 925, 950, 956, 1002, 1010, 1045, 1071, 1 102, 1 118, 1 164, 1207
Ku-Klux, palliation or justification of the 27. 28, 31 , 32, 35, 52, 56, 57, 82, 83, 85, 118,

142, 287, 284

L.

LANE, DANIEL, (colored,) testimony of 653-655
thirty-seven years old ; born in Morgan County ; came to Atlanta about three

m.onths ago 653
whipped by Ku-Klux July 11, 1871 653
more than 100 persons whipped; he was driven away from home 654

Lavender, John A., whipping of, (Wilkinson County, August, 1871) 359
Legislature, charges of corruptions, &c., against tlie 53,105
Legislature, reconstruction of the 277, 278, 294, 295, 315, 330-332, 345, 348, 349
Letters 438,454-459,634,722,1193,1194,1197
Lewis, Robert, (colored, ) homicide of, (Greene County) 699
Little, Charles, (colored) outrage upon, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 408,471
Little, Charles, (colored,') whipping of wife of, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 409,471
LITTLE, CHARLES, (colored,) testimony of 471,472

between sixty and seventy years old ; born in Jackson County; lives in Har-
alson County; whipping of John Walthall's wife; outrage upon witness;
killing of .John Walthall; whipping of witness's wife, her daughter 471

LITTLE, LETITIA, (colored,) testimony of 410,411
does not know how old she is, nor whei'e she was born ; lives in Haralson

County, Georgia; whipping of witness 411
Little, Letitia, (colored,) whipping of, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 410,411,471
Little, Letitia, whipping of aunt of, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 410
LITTLE, RENA, (colored,) testimony of 410

does not know how old she is ; born and lives in Haralson County, Georgia ;

is single ; whipping of witness, her sister, and aunt 410
Little, Rena, (colored,) whipping of, (Haralson County, May, f871) 410,471
Long, Jerry, (colored,) homicide of, (Hancock County, June, 1870).. 925,987,988
Lovelace, Columbus, (colored,) homicide of, (Pike County, August, 1871,) 685
Lowrey, Mr., whipping of, (Walker County, July, 1871) 1004,1005
Lowther, Henry, mutilation of, (castration,) (Wilkinson County, September,

1871) 356-358,426,4.30,431
LOWTHER, HENRY, (colored, ) testimony of 356-363

forty-one years old ; native of the State ; lives in Wilkinson County ; was in

jail, charged with having a company of men to take a colored man out and
kill him 356

v.'as a slave 359
was taken from jail by the Ku-Klux and castrated 356-358
company raised by Bose Lavender for his protection 358
Eli Cuumiins said to be the head of the Ku-Klux; was injured on account of

being a republican ; knew three of the party who castrated him ; they were
all democrats ; killing of the sheriff, Mr. Mat Deason, and a colored women,
about the 27th of August ; killing of George Meadows, (colored,) September
1, and Joel Dease, (white,) three weeks ago ; shooting of Boston Falvvard,

(colored,) two months ago; whipping of John A. Lavender, Fred. Dease,
Henry Winn, John Winn, Lije Dease, and his mother, and Bill Brigau, in

July or August 359
shooting of Andrew Guidon; hanging of two men in 1869; castration of

Register, (white,) in adjoining county; whipping of Jerry Lowther; the

party visiting the jail were disguised ; names three of them 360
no arrests have been made in his case 361
particulars of killing of Sheriff Deason and a colored woman 362, 363

Lowther, Jerry, whipping of 360
Loyal Leagues. (See Union Leagues.)
LYON, OLIVER T., testimony of 378-385

thirty years of age ; from Maryland ; railroad contractor ; been in Georgia
since the spring of 1866; was an officer in the United States Army ; Second
Maryland Regiment for three and one-third years; engaged in planting;

was a Union man, and always voted the republican ticket ; was superin-

tendent of registration in Cokiuitt, Thomas, and Brooks Counties 378
married in Georgia a lady of a stroug democratic family, formerly rebels— 379,362

his whole business connection with those who belong to the democratic party. 379
manner of conducting the elections 378, 379
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lerson and property as secure as in the Nortlieru States ; applies for the pnst-
mastprship at Savannah, but I'uils to get it ,3g()

political :idventurcrs not wanted in tlie State ; no oppression of the negroes by
the white race; knows nothing of KuKlux ^81

none in the State, to his knowledge 383 334

M.

MARTIN, A. B., testimony of 548-559
seventy-one years old ; born in Carolina : lives in Haralson County ; keep

shop, and farm ; a mechanic ; a Union man ,f^42

was visited by the Kn-Klux, and he and his step-son, Mr. Willingham, whipped,
May d, 1^71 ; manner of whipping 549

was whipped on account of his politics ; party numbered fifteen or twenty, with
some negroes, as prisoners, who said they jvere whipped 550

is afraid to return home; Thomas Powell and wife, whipped; names of parties
iiijiking the assault on him 55I

STarliu, A. 15., whipping of, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 549,553, 1009
Martin, Mr., case of, (charged with being accessory to the murder of Dr. Darden)..202-J06,

223-233
Martin, Mrs., outrage upon, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 554
McCoy. James, burning of house of 390, 391 , 393, 395, 812, 1 126
McCoy, James, outrage upon family of 390, 393
MrCOY, JAMES, testimony of 395-400

littv-nine years old ; born in South Carolina ; lived in Cherokee County; is

a farmer... 395
was a Union man during the war 396
homicide ot a negro by son of witness ; burning of his house, and killing of

stock ; knows the parties engaged .• 395
did not prosecute on account of sickness and want of money ; has been fre-

quently threatened 39(5

heard that Pope was the head of the Ku-Klux 397
is endeavoring to prosecute 393
cannot get justice in Cherokee County ; 398 399
roMttud otiVred by Governor Bullock 399

McCOY, REBECCA, testimony of 393-395
twenty years old ; born in Cherokee County : lives in Cass County, Georgia

;

outrage upon the family ; burning of her father's house : heard it was because
he was trying to collect some money on liis father's estate 393

and that a Union man should not live in the county 394
McCOY, SARAH, testimony of 390-393

seventeen years of age ; born in Cherokee County, Georgia ; lives in Cass
County- ; unmarried 390

burning of her father's (James McCoy) house February, 1870 390, 391
outrage upon the family ; killing of stock '. 390
the party were disguised ; raid made on account of her father beinj* a Union
man 391

only one arrest made 392
McCullom, Mr. , raid upon, (White County) 505
McELHANNON, PRINCE, (colored,) testimony of 648-650

thirty-eight years old ; born and lives in Jackson County 648
conversation w ith supposed Ku-Klux 648, 649
voted the radical ticket 649

McHenry, James, and son, (colored,) whipping of, (near Rome) 63,64
McMillan, Lew, (colored,) shooting of, (Habersham County, 1865) 484,487
McPhail, George, (colored,) shooting of, (Mcintosh County, 1871) 1057, 1058
Meadows, George, homicide of, (Wilkinson County, September, 1871) 359
Meadows, Jeff, hanging of, (White County) 377
Military arrests and investigations ,372,444,449,511,514,613,782,783,1104,1105,

1110, ]111,11]2, 1113, 1115, 1117, 1118
MILLS, AUGUSTUS, (colored,) testimony of 4G8-470

thirty-three years old; born in Gwinnett County; lives in Walton County,
Georgia, whipping of self, wife, and boy Tobe, March 20, 1871 468

knew only Wm. Felker ; left home on the 20th; was badly injured ; voted
the radical fcicket ; Felker was running a still 469

Mills, Augustus, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, March, 1871) 465,466,468,
652, 865

MILLS, LETTY, (colored,) testimonyof 465-168
thirty years old ; boru in Walton County, Georgia ; married 465
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whippiuo: of witness, her husband Gus, and the boy Tobe, by disguised Ku-
Klux, led by Mr, Felker, March, 187 J 465, 466

whipping of Sarali Ann Sturtevant and Jack Benafield 466
Ft-lkcr's illicit distilliii<^

.'

467
Mills, Letty, (colored,) whippinj^ of, (Walton Countj', March, ]871) 465.466,468,652
Mitchell, GeorfTe, (colored,) whipping of, (Gwinnett County, May, J 871) 603,641
Mitchell, William Hampton, (colored,) whipping of, (Gwinnett County, May,

1871) 603,641
Mitchell, William Hampton, outrage upon wife of, (Gwinnett County, May, 1871). 641
Mirchell, William Hampton, v.hippiug of former wife and son of, (Gwinnett County,

Juue, 1871) 642
MITCHELL, WILLIAM HAMPTON, (colored,) testimony of 641-644

forty-seven years old ; born in Athens ; lives in Gwinnett County, was raided

by the Ku-Klux, in May or June last ; whipping of his son-in-law, George
Mitchell ; beating of his wife with a pistol : witness and his father-in-law,

Charles Burson, whipped ; whipping of Jack Allen, his sou, and wife 641
reasons for these whippings 641 , 642
names of some of the parties engaged ; nothing has been done with them ;

whipping of Harry Griffith ; witness's former wife and her son whipped 642
illicit distilling 643, 644

Mobley, or Mosley, Mr., whipping of, (Appling County, 1871) 938,939
Moore, Matt., (colored,) homicide of, (Whitetield County, August, 1871) 568,571,575
Moore, Matt., (colored,) whipping of, (Whitetield County, August, 1871) 570
Moore, Mr., whippino^ of, (Chattooga County, October, 1871) 1102
MOORE, ROMULUS, (colored,) testimouy-of 735-743

fiftj'-threo years old; born in Taliaferro County; lives in Atlanta; proper
home in Columbia County ; born a slave; became free in January, 1858;
bought himself ; a blacksmith; was registrar ; member of the constitutional

convention and of the lower branch of the legislature 735
was pastor of a church 736
keeps a public house 741
.six hundred white and eighteen hundred colored voters in Columbia County.. 736,741
a great many whites did not registeij^ not wanting to take part in reconstruc-

tion ; thinks it was at Mr. A. H. Stephens's request ; a friend of his, Tbomai^
Richards, beaten by the Ku-Klux; is visited himself in July, ISiJS, and
abused for his political principles 736

his house again visited by them in disguise, and his wife informed that she
could not teach school ; another colored man beaten 737

killing of Mr. Adkins 737,742
his wife again visited 737
intimidation of voters ; about nine hundred colored and three hundred white

voters on second registration 738, 741

believes there is a large organization of the Ku-Klux in the State; their object

to control the -colored vote, and keep the colored people in subjection 739
views of Messrs. Davis and Stephens 739,740,742
general belief of the colored people that former rebels would not give them civil

and political rights 740
MORRILL, WILLIAM C, testimony of 1081-1099

came to Georgia in December, 1865 ; a native of JIaiue ; was in the Army

;

in connection with General Sheppard, bought a large plantation in South-
western Georgia ; remained on it two years ; was an agent of the Ereedmen's
Bureau ; collector of revenue in Macon 1081

was United States commissioner ; a republican ; resides in Atlanta ; treasurer

of the Western and Atlantic Railroad Company ; is kindly received by the

people 1082
entered the Army as a private ; promoted to be lieutenant 1098
relative vote, white and colored, in Dougherty County; colored people well

treated and generally well paid by the jilanters .1083/1089}

freedmen's Bureau as managed by John L. Robinson 1 083,Ho5T
character of Henry M. Turner, and the charges against him 1084, 1085, 109(t, 1091,

1092, 1094, 1097
relative vote in Macoji ; ^iews as to the reliability of negro testimony ~ 1086
whipping of a colored man in Schley County, in 18(;S 1087; 1098 .

discharge of laborers with w.nges due ; general character of the elcciions. — .. 11087/
has never been molested on accijunt of his. political opinions or place of birth;

causes for the negroes flocking to the towns - 1 0R8 *

laborers often treated unjustly gop^jinso/
discharge of hands from the Albany and Brunswick Railroad 1087, 1^90
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imfiiir character of tlie election in Americus 1087, ]fl',)2

his social treatment and intercourse 1092, Ml'.)',]

opinion as to the administration ofjustice by courts and juries 1093, l(i!)4

beneficial effect of the Freedmen's Bureau l(il)4

views as to the appointment of supervisors of internal revenue 1094-1U"JG

article from the New Era, copied frotn the Savannah News, " Ku-Klux in

Georf^ia " 1 09()

the article from a Tennessee paper on " Carpet-bap:gers," very nearly correct. 1096, 1UU7
a dispatch from Louisville, November 4, in the Daily New Era, relative to an

attempt to lynch a neg'ro in Indiana , 1097
a white man killed in jail in Dawson County 1097, 1098
martial law in the fcjtate ; his deputies perform their duties without molestation. 1098
orf^anizatiou of Ku-Klux in the State three or four years agjo 1099

Mutilation of Lowther, Henry, (colored,) (Wilkinson County, September, 1871. ..356-358,
42G, 430, 431

Mutilation of man and woman, (colored,) (Jackson County) 1120, 1123
Mutilation of prisoners, (Louisville jail) 1 904, 1043, 1120
Mutilation of Register, Mr., (1869) 360

NANCE, JAMES, testimony of 567-574
forty-three years old; born in South Carolina ; lives in Whitefield County,

Georgia ; a farmer 567
a party of nine disguised men at his house Scpteaiber 30, 1871 567,568
saw a negro chained in Posey Sebastian's out-house ; the negro's statements;

his body afterwards found in the river 568
knew two of the party visiting his house, the Sebastians 569
whipping of the negro Matt Moore, August, 1871 570
character of the Sebastians; verdict of the coroner's jury, that Matt Moore
had been killed by Sebastian 571

thinks Sebastian will not be punished 572, .574

negro taken from jail at Dalton and hung, last year 574
Nance, James, threats against 441, 567, 568, 575
NANCE, JAMES L., testimony of 574-576

eighteen years old ; born in Floyd County; lives in Whitefield County 574
the KuKlux visit his father's house; the conversation held ; recognized three

of the party; threats made against his fatlier; haugiog of a negro 575
saw Matt Moore when he was chained ; character of tht Sebastians 576

NEAL, JOHN, testimony of 1018-1034
thirty-one years old ; born in Warren County ; lives in Atlanta ; in a loaning

business; was captain in the confederate army ;
judge of the inferior court;

member of both constitutional conventions, and represented Warren County
in the legislature 1018

a republican 1023
thinks Norris's account of the killing of Darden corresponds with that given by

other people ; parties taken off the train at Deariug and murdered, 1869 ;

negroes on Mr. IJriuckley's )ilantation attacked 1018
killing of Senator Adkins, May JO, 1869 ..1019,1021,1023-1026
killing of Dr. Ayer, in Louisville, Jefferson County 1019
negro tried for the murder of Ayer, and ac(piitted ; no investigation made in

the Adkins case; duration of military government in the State 1020
has examined the printed testimony of Mr. Norris and finds several errors as

to certain things, but no material difference upon the whole ; errors speci-

fied 1021,1022,1023,1029
whipping of Mr. Brassel and some white women ; exposure of person ; outrage

upon Harrill, father and son, in 1869 1022
copy of Mrs Adl;ins's statement of the murder of her husband 1023, 1024

leport of the killing of Wallace by Dr. Darden from a democratic paper,

"Death of Charles Wallace." 1024,1025
rumors of bribery, blackmailing, malfeasance, <&c., affecting the character of

Chapman Norris 1027,1028,1030-1034
certificate of R. M. Wilder, clerk of the superior court, as to plea of pardon

in seven cases of the State vs. J. C. Norris 1028,1029
affidavit of Samuel Bailey as to the taking of the Jeffrey family from the train

at Dearing, and their killing 1029
* encounter between Adams and Senator Adkins, the latter charged with insult-

ing Miss Adams 1025,1030,1033

^ politics of the officers of Warren County, in 1868, 1869 1031 , 1032
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NEAL, MARY, (coloiecl,) testimony of » 386
does not know how old she is ; born in Bank-s County, and lives in White
County 386

whippinp: of Mary Brown, Joe Brown, and self; exposure of person 386
Negroes, cTedil)ility of testimony of 717,756,814,821,844, 1064, 1086, lOSL)

Education of 524,616,821,831,836
Effect of Ku-Klux upon. (See Ku-Klux.)
General character and behavior of 23, 48, 55, 131, 173, 177, 214, 243, 270, 285, 304,

308, 319, 320, 334, 344, 345, 611, 81(), 833, 835, 842, 862, 972, 998, 1195
General treatment by the whites, of 36, 47, 48, 66, 67, 270, 320, 345, 381 , 420, 439,

484, 640, 702, 71 1, 715, 716, 81 1, 992, 993, 1083, 1089
Homicide of, (names not given) 22, 30, :i5, 36, 183, 18t;, 211,214,217, 218, 359, 360,

360, 395, 574, 575, 577, 839, 847, 1044, ! 108, 11 12, 1 1 13, 1117,

1118, 1120, 1122, 1165, 1199, 1200, 1203, 1204, 1206, 1207
Shootino- of, (names not given) 108,404,484,485,720
Whipping of, (names not given) 75, 21 1 , 217, 218, 359, 402, 591 , 720, 744, 913, 914,

921,989, 1071. 1087, 1098, 1 100, 1 106, 11 14, J 126, 1127
Newspaper articles 436, 437, 451-453, 521 , 530, 673-674, 761, 827, 82M, ,s78, 879, 880, 882,

883, 884, 885, 886, 887, 888, 889, 890, 891 , 895, 898, 899, 9(i5, 966, 1024, 1025, 1096

Norris, J. C, character of 781, 1027, 1028, 1030-J031, 1105, 1 106, 1 107, J109, 1110, llUi,

1117, 1170, 1171,1206, 1207,1208, 1210

Norris, J. C shooting of. (Warrenton, October, 1868.) (See Norris, J. C, testi-

mony of) 1 96, 197, 218, 219, 267, 268, 1 107

NORRIS, JOHN C. , testimony of 193-233

has been living in Atlanta since March, ]869; previously resided at Warren-
ton, Warren County ; a native of the State ; was engaged before aud during

the war in manufacturing boots and shoes, in Warrenton ; did not carry ou
business after the war, as his course during the war had rendered him un-
popular ; had been a whig, then a repnblican ; was elected sheriff 193

parties decline to go upon his bond as sureties, unless he would agree to sup-

port Seymour and Blair 194, 215
senator Adkius becomes his surety ; attempt to set aside liis bond, by General
Toombs and Jlr. Pottle ; was threatened liy the Ku-Klux organization, which,

he thinks, first appeared in 1 866 194

general character and operations of the organization at its lirst appearance

;

commenced to whip and kill the latter part of 1867, to try to control the

election 165

was advised by his friends to resign his office, as there was an organization

that did not intend any radical sliould hold oflice, and that he might be
killed - 195,196

asks General Meade to send a few troops to the county 196

was waylaid and shot by disguised men, of whom he recognizes two.. 196, 197,218,219
the shooting was done by a rc-gular order of the Klan, and was for the sin of

being a radical othce-holder ; is again advised to resign 197
killing of Wallace, editor, and captain of the Ku-Klux organization, by Doc-

tor Dardeu ; the imprisonment of the latter by the crowd ; his forcible taking

therefrom aud subsequent murder 197-201,220,221
discharge of parties charged with rape, by order of the prosecutor^ Mr. Pot-

tle - 198,199
General Ruger sends some troops down ; arrests eight charged with the mur-

der of Doctor Darden ; the parties give; bail, and have never been tried 201,221,
222, 223

true bills found against witness for the false imprisonment of these men 201, 226
was pardoned by tlie governor; removed to Atlanta, aud his oflice turned over

to a man named Wright, appointed by General Terry or the court 202
case of Maitin, charged v.ith being accessory to the murder of Dr. Darden;

investigated before military commission, and the propositions and agreements'

for its settlement ; aud proceed i ngs t hereon 202-206,223-233

has remained in Atlanta ; does not dare to go back to Warrenton; the Ku-
Klux have kept u\) their operations tlierc ever since 206

killing of Will Culver, colored 206, 207
killing of Wash Hull, in Hancock County; many colored people forced to

leave the county 207
killing of Senator Adkins - 207,208,231
attack upon Pi^rry Jeffers and family by the Ku-Klux; killing of Geisland
and the -wounding of sevcn'al in the attack ; Jtffers and his sons placed in

the jail for safety; killing of his sick sun by the Ku-Klux, aud the burning
of his body ; hanging of Mrs. Jeffers 209

Rubseiiuent killing of Jetiers, and live or six of his sous 210,21
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colored man whipped to death by the Ku-Klnx 211, 217, 2 !S
killiup; of a colored man at Bell Springs ; killing- of a colored man at Mr. Fow-

ler's and Mr. Lono;'s ; any amount of whijipiug in Warrentou ; killing of a
colored man by Wallace, and one by Shirley 211

these negroes killed for being " bad negroes " 211,212
the Ku-Klux organizations are now in existence and in full blast ; and the
men whipped or killed universally belong to the radical party ; never knew
or heard of a radical belonging to the organization 212

opinion of the radicals and of the other side, as to the organization 2J2, 2i;J

their purpose is to control the State government and negro labor, by prevent-
ing voting and any republican from holding office ; the negroes in terror at
their operations ; if an election were now held not one half of them would
vote ; no one prosecuted for these offenses ; the people afraid to prosecute or
testify 2r,5

' effect of the organization in respect to negroes trading in land and other prop-
erty 213,2)4

jdemeanor of the colored people humble and obedient ; knows of no cases of' *
stealing by negroes to any extent ; burning of a negro accused of rape at

the stake, in Louisville, Jefferson County ; the negroes are obedient and law
abiding 2M

comparative vote, white and colored, of Warren County 215, 2:!

!

political status of the judge, prosecuting attorney, and clerk of the circuit court- 2JG, 217
the cases of killing in Warren County that he has mentioned occurred prior to

January 1, 187U 21

H

has seen disguised men in the town in the latter part of 1H67, 1H(J8, and 1869. 219^220
the whites own all the property in Warren County ; and that a great deal of \

the labor has been run off .....' \ 232 J

the negroes were in great drea,d of the Ku-Klux at the beginning of J87U, and '

have not been relieved of it up to this time 233

O.

OGLESBY, WILLIAM H., testimony of 1002-1007
fifty-four years old ; born in Tennessee ; lives in Walker County ; a silver-

smith ; a republican 1002, 1005
was visited by the Ku-Klux October, 1871 ; threatened with death, and ordered

to leave ; character of their disguise 1003, 1006
he arrested one of the parties, C. P. Collins ; reasons for not arresting others ;

Bray Bryant assaulted . 1004.

Lowrey whipped to prevent his testifying, in July or August 1004, 100.5

has heard of the Ku-Klux being out at least twenty times ; attempt to whip
Kelley's son and daughter ; Ku-Klux belong to the democratic party ; the
people abused all radicals 1 005

Outrages upon

—

Adam, colored, Habersham County 45^8

Addison, Joseph, Haralson County 544,545, 546, ]0l9
Addison, Joseph, wife and sister-in-law of, Haralson County, September,

1871 546
Brown, colored 506, 507
Bryant Bray, (Walker County, 1871) 10(;4

Campbell, T. G., (colored,) (Tatnall County, 1868) 846,847, 8i;5

Carter, Maria, (colored,) (Haralson County, May, 1871) 47()

Clarke, Charles, (colored,) uncle of, (Morgan County, September, 1871) ()56

Colby, Abram, (colored,) (Green County) 608
Dease, Charles (colored, ) ( Habersham County) 4~o
Eager, Scipio, (colored,) (Washington County, April, 1871) , 669
Elder, Mary, (colored, ) (Clarke County) 733
Elder, Simon, (colored,) (Clarke County) 732,733,734
Flannigan, Harrison, (colored,) (Jackson County, January, 1871) 479-481,585
Harrill, Mr., father and son, ( Hancock County) 1022.

' Holliday, J. R., (Jackson County, July, 1871) 414,415.418
Jeter, Aury, (colored,) (Douglas County, April, 1871) 566,607-639,959-961,964,

^{\ri, 969, 972, !)73

Little, Charles, (colored,) (Haralson County, May, 1871) 408,471
Martin, Anthony, (colored,) (Morgan County, August, 1869) 692,693
Martin, Mr., (Haralson County, May, 1871) 5.54

McCoy, James, family of, (Cherokee County, February, 1870) 390,393
Meadows, Jeff, (White County) 377

Mitchell, Wui. Hampton, (colored,) wife of, (Gwinnett County, May, 1871).. 641

ni—

G
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negroes, (Haralson County, October, 1871) 1008,1018
negroes, number of, (in Clarke County) jl

Reed, Andy, (colored,) (Jackson County, July, 1871) 645
Eeed, Morgan, (Jackson County) 441
Reed, Sampson, (colored,) (Jackson County, July, 1871) 644,645
Richardson, Alfred, (colored,) and family, (Clarke County, January, 1871) .. 2,3
Robinson, F. J., (Oglethorpe County, October, 1870) 871,872,874,875
Sherman, Josiah, (Fulton County) 1146
Taylor, Ben, (colored,) (near Rome, 1870) ^ 63,64
Walthall, Tilda, (colored,) (Haralson County, May, 1871) 412,471,472
Ware, Jourdan, (colored,) (near Rome, January, 1871) ....21,22,30,31,44,45,66,74,

75, 98, 99, 130, 131, 404, 685, 900, 913, 920
Owen, Jeremiah, burning of house of •. 851

PAINE, WILLIAM W., testimony of 190-193
a resident of Savannah ; has been State senator, and was a member of Congress

from the first district, embracing twenty-nine counties ; the laws are well en-

forced in that district ; there is no organization of disguised men there ; po-
litical opinions, in the district, when not offensively expressed, may be
uttered freely; the Union League exercised an influence, and the negroes
were afraid to vote any other than the republican ticket at the first election,

but that it is dying away ; a large proportion of the negro vote " floaters " . 190
his idea of the Ku-Klux organization 191, 192
feeling of the colored people toward the republican party 192

Pardoning power as exercised by Governor Bullock 31, 32, 36, 40, 72, 73, 101 , 102, 137,

138, 153, 156, 167-169, 234, 237, 238, 240, 242, 274, 275, 286, 766, 767, 780, 822, 823, 824,

832,839,840,841,860,861,984, 1028, 1029, 1040, 1076-1078, 1189, 1193, 1210
Payne, Isaac, (colored,) shooting of, (Habersham County, 1865) 484,487
Pendergrast, Mitchell, (colored,) whipping of, (Jackson Couutv, April, 1871) 581,585
Penny, Mr., case of ' 893,902,906,1001
PERRY, JOHN O., testimony of 537-539

forty-six years old; born and raised in Gwinnett County, Georgia 537
burning of the court-house in Lawrenceville, September, 1871; is visited by

the Ku-Klux July, 27, 1871 537,538
Poldo, Hilliard, (colored,) whipping and shooting of, (Clarke County, 1870) 5,6
Ponder, James, shooting of, (Clarke County, January, 1871 ) 2, 3, 238
POPE, JOHN D., testimony of 368-375

United States attorney for Georgia, a lawyer, native of Georgia 368
has lived there all his life 372
was judge of the superior court previous to July, 1870 374
indictments are now pending against thirty persons under the enforcement act 368
his neighborhood as peaceable as any place ; no arrests made under these in-

dictments ; a reasonable obedience to the laws '-^9

and a reasonable prospect of fair trials in the courts ; no more evasion of jus-

tice here than elsewhere
;
juries are as good as the average ; more proof re-

quired to convict irnder tlie enforcement act than in other cases 370
life and projicrty are reasonably sure in most sections of the State ; not as

much security in Haralson, Gwinnett, Walton, and Floyd Counties ; existing

evils are within the remedy of the State laws to a certain extent 371
the marshal has ibund it necessary to call in military aid in making arrests in

cases of violation ot the internal revenue laws ; heard of the Ku-Klux in 1868 372
no doubt that there have been bands of disguised men in the northern districts;

press of the State now almost universal in its condemnation of the Ku-Klux
;

a portion still deny the existence of the organization; great disposition to

evade the revenue laws 373
majority of those assaulted republicans 374

Powell, Thomas, and wile, whipping of, (Haralson County, 187
1
) 551

Presentments of juries 634-637,879,898, 1173, 1174-1175
Proscription, social and business 718,778,813,820,838,673,874,876,915-997,999, 1053,

1092, 1093, 1122, 1124, 1125. 1132, 1133, J 142, 1143, 1146, 1147
Public press, tone of 41 , 42, 57, 58, 68, 83, 85, 373, 436, 447, 625, 078, 709, 819, 820, 826,

827, 91(), 950, 989, 1079, 1 118, 1119, 1135

R.

Raid by negroes, (Johnson County, 1871) 1047, 1048

on the house ot Aaron, Nancy Susan 459
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Eaidon the house of Allen, Thomas M G07,C{j8
Barnes, Eli 954, 1'fKi

Benatiekl, Jack (W3
Colby, Abraiii (i%
Coley, John L 3fi:'.-3G7

Elder, KSirnou 7'M, 7;>3

McCullom & Sou 503
Mitchell, William Hampton (Ml
Moore, Romulus 700, 71^7

Perry. John O 537, 52S
Ray", Mary 424,425
Sheets, Reuben 651
Wood, Solomon ^ 543

Rapes, cases of 75, 214, 914, 949, 1190, 1191,1192
Ray, Joe, (colored,) whipping of, (Haralson County, 1871) 554
RAY, MARY, testimony of 424, 425

fifty-six Years of age; born and lives in Jackson County, Georgia; is visited

by the'Ku-Klux 424, 425
RAY, O. G., testimony of 5S0--5b2

twenty-four years old ; born and lives in JacksonCounty ; a farmer 580
his father's house visited by the Ku-Klux and he threatened ; Thomas Arnold
warned to quit selling liquor; Mitchell Pendergrast (colored) whipped April,

1871 5BL
RAY, WILLIS, testimony of 582-5SvS

sixty-odd years old ; born in Jasper County ; lives in Jackson County ; a
farmer 582

was threatened by the Ku-Klux 583
their actions and sayings in that section 583-585
whipping of Mitchell Reed, Sampson Pendergrast, and Harrison Flannigan.. 585
neighborhood quarrels, scandal, &c 586-588

Ray, Willis, threats against 581,583
Reconstruction policy, effect of 52, 53, 318, 319, 345, 347, 758, 759,^775, 7S4, 814
REED, ANDY, (colored,) testimony of 645,646

sixteen years old ; born and lives in Jackson County ; was knocked down
with a ]iistol; his father beaten; guns carried off 645

REED, MITCHELL, (colored, ) testimony of Giii, 647
twenty-two years old; born in Jackson Connty ; lives at Stone Mountain... 646
whipped by Ku-Klux with staff end of whip 646-647
nothing done in his case 667

Reed, Mitchell, (colored,) whipping of, (Jackson County, April, 1871) 419,441,585,
645, 646-6^17

Reed, Morgan, outrage upon, (Jackson County) 441

REED, SAMPSON, (colored,) testimony of 644,645
fort}' -tivii or tbrty-six years old ; born and lives in Jackson County 644
was raided by the Ku-Klux and beaten July 17, 1671 644,645
his sou knocked down with a pistol; recognized two of the party ; Mitchell

Reed whipped in April, 1871 645
Register, Mr., nmtilatiou of 360
Report of R. H. Atkinson on pardon statistics 809-810, 325-826, 840-841

Republicanism the leasou for whippings, &c 10, 25, 67, 77, 197, 212, 351, 359, 366, 367,

374, 376, 39] , 394, 415, 430, 432, 441, 486, 518, 540, 541, 547, 550, 554, 633, 696, 697, 714,

732,736,748, 1005, 1013, 1039, 1172, 1177

Resolutions of Georgia State senate relative to outrages 1214, 1215

'Rewards offered by Governor Builock 32, 33, 37, 76-78, 102, 111,112, 138-141, 1 52, 153,

165-107, 241, 242, 293, 399, 626, 630, 751, 767, 823, 824, 918-920, 948, 951 , 999, lOOO,

1076, 1077

Richards, Thomas, (colored,) whipping of, (Columbia County, July, 1868) 736
Richardson, Alfred, shooting of. (See Richardson, Alfred, testimony of) 1,2,3,4,

15, 2:J5, 236, 238, 250, 251
Richardson, Alfred, shooting of James Ponder by 2, 3, 238
RICHARDSON, ALFRED, (colored,) testimony of 1-19

a native of the State, and resides in Clarke County; was born a slave, and
remained so until the general emancipation; has been house-carpentering

;

voted with the republican party 1

whipping of Charles Watson by the Ku-Klux and sJhooting of witness 1, 2, 3, 4, 15

second outrage upon himself and family 2,

3

killing of James Ponder 2, 3

was elected to the legislature in 18t)8 4
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RICHARDSON, ALFRED—Continued.
^^^"

h fid an interest iu the grocery business with his brother; conversation with
regard to the attack upon him ; has heard of no outrages committed by the

colored people; his advice to them as to their behavior 5
dispute between Barton Middlebrooks, white, and Hilliard Poldo, colored

;

whipi)ing and shooting of the latter 5,6
finding of disguises on Dr. Elder's place ; whipping of Jim Elder 6
wlii Piling of Noali Thrasher, his wife, and child ; whipping of a white man
named Haycock 7

shooting of Jake Dannons in Walton County 8
shooting of Anthony Robinson in Morgan County 8,

9

it is a general thing of whipping, in his part of the State, all the time, and of
riding at night; its effect upon the colored people ; has moved to Athens for

fear of being killed
; general feeling of fright among the colored people 9

no one punished for these outrages ; the people afraid to prosecute or testify

;

the attack upon him was because he was a republican ; intimidation of
voters by threats; burning of school-houses and threats against school-

teachers 10
general state of terror and alarm among the colored people throughout the

Slate; has heard of one instance of the conviction of a member of the

Ku-Klux; number of persons whipped, &c., in the county within the last

year 11

colored men voting the democratic ticket for safety ; if an election were to

occur now, not twenty negroes would dare to vote the republican ticket

;

women whipped for talking saucily 12
men whipped for disputing with their employers Vl2, K3l
and threatened for leaving the plantations upon which they had been work- '

—

—""'^

ing; condition of affairs in Jackson, Walton, Madison, Oglethorpe, Morgan, I _
Greene, Wilkes, Taliaferro, and Warren Counties ".

Li-^ii-L/
the object of the parading and whipping is to prevent the colored people from

voting the republican ticket; the intimidation is done before the election;

colored men advised to desist from voting the democratic ticket, to avoid
trouble 14,18

these disguised men pretend to have risen from the grave J 4

his case the only political one that occurred in the county ; the others private

quarrels J5, 17

intimidation of voters 16, 18, 19

has seen the wounds of Jim Elder and Abe Colby; describes his own 17

manner of whipping women 18

Eobb, Mr., whipping of, (Chattooga County, September, 1870) 52.5

Robinson, Anthony, (colored,) shooting of, (Morgan County, 1870) 8,9
ROBINSON, FRANCIS J., testimony of

_.

870-877
twenty-tive years old ; born in Wilkes County ; lives in Lexington, Oglethorpe
County ; ordinary of the county and postmaster 870

a republican 877
made a speech against the Ku-Klux, October 4, 1 870, and was assaulted and
knocked senseless therefor by Willis M. Willingham 871,872,874,875

has brought a civil suit for damages ; Samuel Z. Hardiman (white) taken
from his house and whipped in I8()8 or ISG'J; Avhipping of A. M. Sorrow;
Mary Ivey (white) driven from the county and her house burned 872

some arrests made for Ku-Klux outrages, but no one punished 872
alibis generally proved ; effect of the Ku-Klux order upon labor ; intimidation

of voters; leaves Lexington, through fear of a mob, .\ugust 10, 1868 873
fcclitig of democrats toward republicans ; social ostracism 873, 874, 876
number of voters in the county 875

"

Ku-Klux outrages universally condemned by republicans, and not by demo-
crats as a general thing; thinks the Ku-Klux not a political organization

;

that it was to follow up the old system of patrolling 877
ROCKAFELLOW, ANDREW D., testimony of 249-264

a resident of Atlanta; was in the revenue service, and afterwards connected
witli the Western Atlantic Railroad or State road 249

particulars of the outrage ujiou Mr. Monday Floyd by a band of disguised

men 250
shooting of Alfred Richardson 250, 251
Abrahanr Colby compelled to leave his home ; the Ku-Klux organizations pre-

vail more in the "Black Belt" than in any other portion of the State i 251
details manner in which the election in December, 1870, was conducted at

Atlanta ; obstruction to voting 252-254,2.56
describes riot in Atlanta on the day of the last municipal election 254,255
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KOCKAFELLOW, ANDREW D.-Contioued
^^^^'

has resided iu the State sixteen or eighteen months ; came from Pennsylvania ;

was in tlie employ of the State road, under IMr. Blodgett, in the freight
department; was a detective in the revenue service 257

was agent for Mr. Wells in introducing' his patent flour-cooler; obtained his

appointment as clerk in tiio freight department through Mr. Burnett, can-
didate for Congress 258

was an applicant for the postmastership of Atlanta 259
expects to be mail-agent on the route from Washington to New Orleans, via

Chattanooga ; is charged with attempting to vote men illegally, and is

arrested ; afterward released i>r,0

has been an active politician and has never been disturbed 261
has heard of three or four cases of -whiiiijings in the State •within the last

twelve months 263

S.

Savannah News, article from Augusta Constitutionalist on Ku-Klux outrages ]2I(). 1217
SAWYER, B. F., testimony of 87^-d()7

thirty-eight years of age; born in Alabama; lives in Rome, Floyd County;
editor of the Rome Courier, a democratic paper 878

was in the army of the Tennessee, under General Bragg 906
extracts from the Commercial of February 3, 1671 ; the latter hardly a fair

expression of the sentnnent of the democratic party 878, 879
presentment of the grand jury against secret organizations made the first week of

last spring term ; subsequent grand jury found that there was no such organi-
sation and regretted the action of the first grand jury; condemned the first

finding in his paper 879, 893
another article from the Commercial relative to the finding of the grand jury. 879,880
witness concurs in it 880
correspondent's account of an interview with Mr. Robert Toombs, from the
same paper 880,881,899

views of witness as to suffrage 881
two articles from the Coiimiercial and one from the Rome Courier, March 25,

1871, entitled "And the ass opened his mouth and spake;" assumes the re-

sponsibility of its authorship 882
article from the Courier of February 24, 1871, "The Ku-Klux—The Atlanta

Sun and Bullock's proclamation " 883
proclamation of Governor Bullock and editorial comments 884, 885
whipping of Jourdan W are 885, 900
article from the Southerner and Commercial, February 17, 1^71, "The
Ku-Klux Klan—An article in which the editor speaks his mind very plainly ;"

thinks the article exaggerated 886
articles from the Rome Courier : June 16, 1871, "Another of Bullock's lies

nailed to the counter; " September 28, 1871, "The North Carolina Ku-Klux
trials" 687,899

his authority for the statements therein ; article from the Rome Courier, August
11, 1871, and from the Soutb.erner and Commercial of October 27, 1871 888

and from same issue, article headed "Good;" not three men in the
county would indorse the sentiment of the latter; another article from same
issue,

'

' General Grant has gone to the front .' The Army moves to-morrow !

"

expresses thefeelmg of the community; one from the Rome Courier, July 1,

1871 ; would like to qualify it and make i-t not quite so strong 889
one from the Rome Courier, June 23, 1871, "The laws of the Medes and the

Persians ;
" the sentiments therein are his and those of the democratic party

of Georgia; paragraph from Rome Courier, September 24, 1871; Mr. W. G.
Foster the gentleman referred to 890

from same paper, "Congressional Ku-Klux Conuuittee; " his reasons for the
disapproval of the committee 891

is not a member of the Ku-Klux order; has never seen its ritual nor a mem-
ber of it ; is met by a party of disguised men about 12 o'clock at night, but
is not made to dance as reported 892, 900, 901

accounts for the failure of the grand jury to find a bill against the Livingston
men in the Foster case, Mr. Penny being bribed ; and approves of its ac-
tion 893,902,906

thought it proper to rebuke the grand jury and Mr. Foster for appealing to the
Federal grand jury ; is now satisfied Mr. Foster did right 894

from the Southerner and Commercial, October 13, 1871, "To business men;"
another paragraph, "The new departure;" sentiment of the democratic
party of Georgia opposed to "the new departure" 895
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SAWYER, B. F.—Continued.
had nothiufj to do with the preparation of any of the articles read from the

Commercial ; had no knowledge of them ; found better comments upon the

committee in the Boston Post 896
knows of no denunciation of General Grant by any southern man as strong as

that used by Senator Sumner in his San Domingo speech ; nor any stronger
denunciation of lawlessness than the address signed by the democratic mem-
bers of Congress after the passage of the Ku-Klux bill ; has never published
any article approving Ku-Klux outrages 897

article from the Indianapolis Journal, October 25, J871, taken from the La
Crosse Republican, 21 st 898

the oath applied by Judge Bond to grand and petit jurors ; its effect to exclude
almost every white man in the South, and compel the formation of juries

almost entirely of negroes and northern men 899
feeling toward northern immigrants generally kind; no prejudice on account

of political views 900
was asked to join the Union League in J8(iG ; its character ; a relative murdered

in Shelby County, Alabama, and robbed of $20,000 by the Union Leaguers,
in the summer of 1665 ; illegal voting in Floyd County 901

number of voters 901, 902
disposition of the people to do justice to all men, irrespective of race or politics . 902, 903
probable eflect of general amnesty 903
jail at Louisville, Jefferson County, broken into and seven prisoners whipped

and mutilated « 904
three men })uuished in Chattooga County punished for^n outrage upon a negro ;

has heard of no others 904 905
a portion of General Forrest's testimony read to him 905
never heard of the existence of the Ku-Klux organization.. 906
interference of the general government with the affairs of the States 907

School-fund 9^7,928,930,931, 10G2, J063, 1064
School-houses burned 10, 298, 594, 1100, 1 137, 1 167, 1 188, 1 189
SESSIONS, W. M., testimony of 932-947

lives at Blackshear, Pierce County ; judge of the superior court for the Bruns-
wick circuit since 1860 932

has belonged to no political organization since the war 944
no disturbance in Pierce County; and throughout the circuit no more than

before the war; thinks the civil authorities can enforce the law in the circuit,

unless it be at Darien ; population and trade of Darien 933
committal to jail of Mr. Fisher by T. G. Campbell, justice of the peace; his

discharge on habeas corpus 933,934,936,943
committal to jail of Captain Hatfield by Campbell; he is released on a

rehearing 934,935,943
mixed juries in Mcintosh County ; frequent complaints against Campbell 936
his administration as governor of the Sea Islands 936, 937, 940, 941
general bearing and acts of Mr. Campbell 938, 941, 942, 944
Liberty County overwhelmingly republican 938
its Ibrmer condition as to real estate, society, &-c., compared with its present. 938,940
whipping of Mobly or Mosley, Appling County, spring of 1871 938, 939
less "regulating" now than before the war; courts and juries disposed to do
justice without regard to race, color, or politics 939

doubts the existence of the Ku-Klux organization in his neighborhood 940
political power in the hands of the blacks very distasteful to the whites 9i'.'>

character of Mr. Campbell's son-in-law 943, 944
Judge Syms and his legal knowledge 945, 946
stalistics of the bar in Chatham and Effingham Counties and in Savannah . .. 946

Sharpe, William, whipping of, (Chattooga County) J 078, 1079

SHEETS. REUBEN, (colored,) testimony of 65J-653
fiity-three years old ; born in Clarke County; lives in Walton County; a

slave 651
his house visited by the Klu-Klux in March, 1871 ; advice given him 651
Auoustus Mills and wife whipped ; whipping of Abel and Rufus Smith 652

SHEiBLEY, P. M., testimony of 43-64
a native of Pennsylvania ; left there in 1848 ; reside 1 throe years in Virginia,

and twenty years in Georgia; is living in Rome ;aid is postmaster; prior to
the war was professor of Latin, Greek, and mathematics in the Madison Col-
legiate Institute in Virginia, and the Rome Collegiate Institute in Georgia;
engaged in planting after the school was injure'i in the war 43

was secretary of a State convention and of the Georgia State constitutional con-
vention, in Jb67-'68; feeling against Union men after the election of Lin-
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'^^''

coin ; violence done by disguised men toward the colored people, threatening
them that thej shall not interfere in the elections; that the}' must not vote
the radical ticket ".

44
cites cases of Jourdan Ware and Joe Kennedy 44,4')

first heard of these bands of disguised men in 1868, through a proclamation
issued by General Meade ; they began to commit outrages in the county
some time in ] 870 45

supposes the general intention Avas to create alarm and to prevent parties from
voting

;
parading in Rome of twenty-one disguised men ; has heard of several

cases of whippings in Floyd, Chattooga, Polk, and Cherokee Counties 4G
the effect upon the colored men of the conduct of these bands 46, 47
the object of the organization is to interfere with the reconstruction measures,
withlhe right of the colored people to vote, with their political rights generally

;

and a majority of the white voters of Floyd county, outside of the
republicans, would take the ballot from them, and also all civil and political

rights 47
state of feeling between Whites and blacks 47, 4?)

the colored people have generally been peaceable, and orderly ; was vice-pres-
ident of the Loyal League : Leagues first organized in the State in 1867;
the Leagues have not been keep up since the presidential election in ]8o8 .. 4S

main features of the League, its teachings and practical operation 48, 49, o3
a colored man can vote the democratic ticket without incurring danger 49
sentiment of the people in relation to this organization 49, 50, 57
it would not be safe lor a mau publicly to proclaim his belief in equal suffrage,
&c 50

has heard of threats being made 'against negroes for voting or desiring to vote
the democratic ticket 51

palliation of Ku-Klux acts ; influence of Mr. Toombs and others upon public
sentiment 52, 56, 57

the effect of disabilities 52, 53
charge of extravagance, &c., made against the State administration 53
opinion as to the administration of justice in Ku-Klux cases c 53,54,59,60
colored men do not sit upon juries iu the State, but testify in the courts 54
no excuse for Ku-Klux given in his region ; the colored people quiet and

orderly ; material interference with their industry by the operations of the
Ku-Klux organizations ; the general state of terror tends to influence them in

their political action and to keep them from going to the ballot-box ; a col-

ored man could purchase peace and safety by voting the democratic ticket . 55
his presumptiou that there is a State organization, and his reasons thei^efor .. 56
tone of the public press, democratic and republican, relative to the Ku-Klux .. .57,58

the purpose of the organization is to nullify the practical effect of the recon-
struction policy, and to get possession of the Government 58

opinion as to the effect that would be produced by republicans holding
public meetings against these organizations 5'J

there is such a state of intimidation among witnesses as to interfere with the
action of the grand jury ; and one of the causes therefor ; his opinion as to

the effect of general amnesty and of the Ku-Klux law 60
standing and character of Judge Wright 61
circumstances connected with the arrest of a man by General Terry, and his

liberation by the Ku-Klux 61,62,63
attack upon Ben. Taylor and McHenry, republicans, by disguised men ()3, 64

SHERMAN, JOSJAH, testimony of 1140-1461
fifty-three yars old ; born in Vermont ; lives in Fulton County ; a mechanic; » >

came to Georgia in 1865 ; engaged in cotton-planting near Augusta in 1866 U140y
went to Columbia County ; member of the constitutional convention H43j^rl55
a republican 1144
member of the senate 1 145, 1 ] 55
bosses a gang of men on the railroad ^ 1157
superintendent of car-building, &c 1156
was treated cordially for six months; established a Sabbath-school and an even-

ing-school 1140, 1154
details of his difficulty with Dr. relative to pay for attendance on the

sick in his employ - 1 140-1 142

change of feeling on the part of the people towards him 1 142, 1 1 43
Mr. Phinnessy claims damages on his farm and arrests witness 1143, 1154, 1155
his horse's ear, mane, and tail cut off 1145
Lis account of the breaking up of a ivpublican meeting in Lincoln County ..1145, 1 146

pereonal assaults made upon him, and threats against him 1146
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was turned out ol a hotel on account of his politics 1140, 1147

statement relative to election held at Appling, county-seat of Columbia County,

December, 1870, frauds, intimidation, riotinj^, &c 1147-1 150

has seen persons alleged to have been injured by the Ku-Khix 1150

killing of Mr. Adkins 1150,1151,1158

feeling toward northern immigrants and republicans 1151

feeling in regard to the education of colored people ;
persecution on account

of teaching 1152

names of parties intimidated 11.52, 1)515

troubles at the election in Appling 1153, 1159, 1160

political statistics of Richmond, Columbia and Lincoln counties 11.56

Shooting of

—

Calhoun, Wash,, (colored,) (Rome, 1871) 79

Dannons, Jake, (colored,) (Walton County, October, 1870) 8

Ferrell, Anderson, (colored, ) (Troup County, May, 1870) 618-620

Fulward, Boston, (colored, 1 (Wilkinson County, August, 1871) 359

Gallaher, .lohn C, (Washington County) 1044

Garrison, Jerry, (colored,) two sons of, (Cherokee County, October, 1868) 666,687

Guidon, Andrew, (Wilkinson County, August, 1871) 360

Hendricks, Charles, (colored,) (Gwinnett County, December, 1870) 516 517,519,
520, 521

Hinton, Alex., (colored,) (Walton County, 1865) 694

Holcombe, G. 15. ,
( White County. May, 187] ) 493, 497, 908, 909, 912

Jeter, Columbus, (colored,) (Douglas County, April, 1871 ). .500, 561 , 566, 637-639, 9.-i9,

9,n, 964, 968, 969, 972, 973

Kenneday, Joe, (colored,) (near Rome, January, 'l 87
1
) 44,45,74,75

McMillan, Lew., (colored, ) (Habersham County, lSi;5) 484, 487

McPhaii, George, (colored,) (Mcintosh County, l87n 10.57,1058

Negroes, (names not given) 108,404,484,485,720

Norris, John C, (Warrentou, October, 1868) 196, 197,218,219,267,268,1107

Payne, Isaac, (colored,) (Habersham County, 1865) 484,487

Poldo, Hilliard, (eolored,) (Clarke County, 1870) 5,6
Ponder, James, (Clarke County, January, 1871) 2,3
Richardson, Alfred, (colored,) (Clarke County, January, 1871).. 1-4, 15,235,236,238,

250,251
Robinson, Anthony, (colored.) (Morgan County, 1870) 8,9
Starrett, Jeff, (colored,) (Habersham County, 1865) 484,487
Stewart, Sanuiel, (colored,) (Walton County, August, 1868) 591,592

SHROPSHIRE, JOHN W., testimony of 913-921

fifty-three years old; born in Oglethorpe County; lives in Floyd County; a

farmer, and sells goods 913
black man shot in Rome, and two or three out of town ; knows of three cases

of wiiippings ; saw two of the parties ; one was .lourdan Ware 913
Colonel Waltemire's plantation visited ; several of his hands whipped, and two

of the girls raped ; three or tbiu negroes whipped about Mr. Henley's place ;

a crowd at old mauxVdams's and Wesley Shropshire's place ; burning of a
school-house • - 914

two negroes whipped on witness's place, also his son-in-law 914, 921

general fear produced by these acts ; sentiment of all good citizens opposed to

these transactions ; no one punished in Floyd County ; three in Chattooga
County 915

Floyd and Chattooga Counties democratic ; the country ruined bj' running the

negroes off to town ; the papers treat Ku-Klux lawlessness too lightly, rather

in commendation than condemnation 916
the Eckridge case 917

the large rewards offered, and the effect thereof 918-920
nothing done to suppress the Ku Klux order on account of intimidation; pre-

tended charges against Ku-Klux victims ..-' 920
SHROPSHIRI?:, WESLEY, testimony of 1099-1103

seventy-one years old ; born in Oglethorpe County ; lives in Chattooga County

;

a farmer and planter ; has been senator, sheriff', and judge, and a member
of the lower iiouse; was sheriff' of Floyd County; member of secession

and constitulioiial conventions; opposed secession; a Jackson democrat;
Union man ; a slave-holder ; voted for General Grant 1099, 1100, 1 101

whipping of a school-teacher, February, 1871 ; witness notified to suppress the

school ; burning of a cinuch in which a school was held ; two negroes whip-
ped 1100

the people opposed to educating the negroes 1101
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whipping of Mr. Moore, Mr. Hepsonstall, his step-son and wife, October, 1871

;

no one pnnished, as some of the members of the grand jury are members of

the organization ; parties afraid to testify 1 ] 02
object of the Ku-Klux to carry the elections and to intimidate the voters ; in-

ti midation of voters 1 103
SHROPSHIRE, W. M., testimony of 622-G37

native of Georgia, resides in Rome, Floyd County ; a merchant ; member of
the grand jury of the superior court of the county ; summoned as a witness
before the United States grand jury, but not examined ; so far as he knows
the law is executed as well as can be 622

a democrat ; was a Union man ; when Georgia went out, went out with her

;

voted against ordnance of secession 632
was a slave-holder and slave-trader 633
does not know of any organized resistance to the laws; courts and jurors dis-

posed to do justice irrespective of color or politics; northern people treated

with kindness, courtesy and hospitality ; remarks of a Baptist clergyman
from the North; some depredations by disguised men; negroes abused,
whipped, and shot 623

manner of drawing juries ; terms of court ; no negroes on juries 624
two newspapers published in Rome, both democratic ; they denounce the pre-

sentment of the grand jury because it was against the Ku-Klux ; true bill

found against Samuel Dempsey, but no others 625
governor Bullock's oiler of rewards assigned as a reason for finding no bill. .. 626
affidavit of James Penny, considered by the grand jury; no indictment

found
._ 626, 627, 630

indictment of two men for shooting Calhoun; they are tried and acquitted;
knows of no one being punished for a wrong done to a colored man or white
radical 628

thinks the sentiment of the people has changed very much in regard to Ku-
Klux ; at the election in December, for members of the legislature, the dem-
ocrats had a very large majority in the county ; colored people and radical

whites were not kept from the polls through i'ear 629
the unusually large rewards' oflered by Governor Bullock led to the belief

that persons would procure themselves to be indicted and convicted in order

to obtain them 630
sawyer, editor, made to dance ; elections generally peaceable ; colored men

not deterred from voting ; in some instances they have been intimidated by
their own race 631

negroes more divided in their voting than formerly, owing to kind treat-

ment ; thinks there are such organizations as the Ku-Klux, but not a politi-

cal body entirely, more for robbery; that they were first intended to sup-
press crimes ; has heard of one democrat being whipped in Walker County. 632

with that exception, their victims negroes or radicals ; never knew of a negro
or radical belonging to the Ku-Klux ; accounts for this ; has heard a great

deal of abuse toward carpet baggers 633
letter of witness inclosing the general presentments of the grand jury of Floyd

County, at its January term, 187 1 634
the presentments ,„ 634, ( )37

SKILES, JAMES, testimony of 743-752
twenty-eight years old ; born in Ohio ; lives in Atlanta ; for four years been
engaged in secret service for railroad and express companies ; assists the

United States marshal executing processes, &:c 743
been in the South since 1857 ; a machinist by trade 747
special detective in Tennessee in 1869 749
saw people in disguise in Tennessee and Georgia 743
saw seventy-iive in Dade County; telegraph operator, Cunningham, or Cum-

mings, whipped, the wires cut, and instruments broken ; the train of cars

taken possession of and held for two hours; two colored men and their wives
whipped

;
passengers very much trightened, but not interfered with 744

no arrests in Dade County ; could not get a justice of the peace to issure war-
rants against parties burning the court-house in Gwinnett County; line of

operations of the Ku-Klux to suppress prosecutions against any of the Klan,
and to control the vote of the county 745,747

two threatening letters 745
made thirteen arrests in Jackson County in connection with the Holliday

case; could not have done it without the aid of soldiers; compelled to release

four men in Gwinnett County ; arrests cannot be made safely by the ordi-

nary officers of the law 746
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in the counties wlicre he has been workinjj, at least two-thirds of the able-

botliiHl men belong to the Ku-Klux ; nearly all .speak in fa%'or of them ; con-

servative party controls the organization ; Ku-Klux have grown stronger

for the last eighteen months ; they control pretty much everything about the

State courts, and the juries in the Federal courts to a considerable extent;

reasons for .so thinking ; Joseph Jones arrested in Jackson County; con-

fesses his connection with Ku-Klux ; cases of abuse too numerous to state.. 747

has never known a single instance of any one ))unished for these acts 747,768

their victims generally radicals ; where democrats have been molested it has

been for protecting negroes; B;irmore killed in Tennessee in 18(59; what
was said about it by the democratic papers ; his body found and recognized ;

particulars of the killing ; Ku-Klnx conduct more severe daily, and commit-

ting more acts of violence ; thinks no Ku-Klux could be tried and punished

in any State where they exist 748

took blank warrants against illicit distillers 749

thinks the Klan concerned in protecting illicit distilleries ; rewards offered by
Governor Bullock in Georgia, and by Governor Seuter in Tennessee 751,752

Smith, Abel, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, March, 187J) 652

Smith, Abraham, (colored,) whipping of wife of, (Walton County, March, 1871).. 4(J2

SMITH, CAROLINE, (colored,) testimony of 400, 4U3
thirty-tive years old : born and lives in Walton Count}% Georgia ; whipping

of'self and husband Octolier, 1871 400,401

outrage upon her sister-in-law, Sarah Ann ; whipped before on March 19 4U1

whipping of a girl, and of Abraham Smith's wife, in March ; general scattering

of the colored people that month ; burning of school-books ; suppression of

schools 402
Smith, Caroline, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, September, 1871) 400-401,

463, 597
SMITH, CHARLES, (colored,) testimony of. 597-601

thirty-nine years old ; born and lives in Walton County 597
is visited by Ku-Klux March 19, 1871, and shot at ; whipping of his wife and

sister; lay out for tvyo months ; visited again in September; knocked down
with rocks and whipped ; exposure of the person of the females 597

breaking of his gun ; seven Ku-Klux visited him the first time, and about thirty

the second time ; recognized Mr. Felker and Sam. Rich ; character of their

disguises 598
the children not injured ; Jim Harper assailed because he was teaching

school ; iirst heard of Ku-Klux two yeai's ago last Christmas 599
made no attempt at arrest for f( ar of being killed ; was before the grand jury. 600
Felker engaged in illicit distilling 601

Smith, Charles, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, September, 1871) ..400,404,463,
597, 805

Smith, Charles, (colored, ) whipping of sister of, (Walton County, September, 1871 ). 597
Smith, Rufus, (colored,) whipping of, Walton County, March, 1871 652
Smith, William, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, March, 1871) 683
Smyth, William H., United States marshal, letter of, November 18, 1871 1215
Sorrow, A. M., whipping of, (Oglethorpe County) 872
Speech of 13. H. Hill before the Young Men's Democratic Union, October 13, 1868. 791-798
Stales, Rat, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, March, 1871) 464
STALLINGS, WILLIAM H., testimony of 1119-1125

thirty-eight years old ; born and lives in Augusta ; a carpenter 1119
was county treasurer of Richmond County 1 123
agent for the Western and Atlantic Railroad 1 124
men taken from the Jefferson County jail ; two whipped, one killed, and seven
had their ears cut otf 1 120

mutilation of a colored man and white woman in Jackson County, as given
to witness by Dr. M.E.Swinney ...-• 1120,1123

killing of the Creeches, father and son, and a colored woman 1120
manifestation of hostility toward witness and Colonel BloJgett in Dawson,

Terrell County, February, 1870; radical, a term of reproach 1121
bitter feeling toward radicals 1 121 , 1 122
business proscription of radicals 1122, 1124, 1125
killing of Sheriff Grant and a colored man in Augusta 1 122
election statistics of Richmond County 1124, 1125
has heard of various Ku-Klnx outrages in a number of counties 1125

Starrctt, Dave, (colored,) homicide of, (Haber.sham County, 1865) 484,487
Starrett, Jefi',, (colored,) shooting of, (Habersham County, 1865) 484,487
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ate road, management of the 103-105, 110, 111, 142-145, 157, 158, 169, 170,275,270,
300, 312-;}! 4, 347

CEPHENS. LINTON, testimony of 974-988
' native of Georgia ; lives in Sparta, Hancock County ; a lawyer, and has a

plantiug interest 974
knows W. H. Harrison, who made statement to the committee as to witness's

action on election day 97(5

what occurred on the day of the election, his action in an'esting three man-
agers of election, and the grounds for it 974-977

979, 980, 9S2, 983, 985
the poll-tax of 18G9 975-978,981,985
exhibition of fire-arms on election day, and the reason therefor 977,985,937
article 2, constitution of Georgia, relative to qualilications of voters 977,978
section 29, of Article 1 ; poll-tax for educational purposes ; article 6, sections

1 , 2, and 3, establishment of a free-school system 978
was arrested fur a violation of the enforcement act of Congress ; held in $5,000

bail ; matter brought before the grand jury, and the bill ignored ; resents a
personal insult on election day by knocking Dr. Brown down; antecedents

of Harrison ; engaged in an insurrection in 1663 979
object of tliat conspiracy ; Harrison and Barnes elected to.the legislature, both

without education ; Harrison's occupation, politics 980
no intimidation of colored voters the day of the election ; act in relation to the

payment of the poll-tax ; no white republicans in the county 981
Harrison has no cause to feel insecure ; no organized sentiment unfriendly to

the negroes 9S2
whipping of Watson 983
man attacked by negroes in disguise and shot ; fourteen persons convicted and

sentenced to the penitentiary for two years ; pardoned after three months
imprisonment ; the circumstances that led to the attack 984

taxes for lb70 and 1871, and questions that might be raised in regard to the

qualification of voters 986
murder of Jerry Long ; his character 987, 988
murder of William Culver ; his character 988

rEWART, SAMUEL, (colored,) testimony of 591-596
forty-nine years old ; born in Athens; lives in Atlanta; a carpenter 591

describes the attack made on him and his shooting, in Social Circle, Walton
County, August 7, 1868, by John and William Saluda 591, 592

attempts made to have these men arrested and punished resulted in nothing— 593-595
killing of a boy and of a colored man, Daniel Wallace ; burning of a school-

house; loses his tools 594

rURTEVANT, SARAH ANN, (colored,) testimony of 462-465

twenty-five or thirty years old ; born and lives in Walton County, Georgia ;

unmarried 462

whipping of self, of her brother, Charles Smith, and his wife ; manner of

whippmg 4oj
visited by the Ku-Klux before, in March; threats made ; whipping of self and

sister-in-law, Caroline ; Rat Stales whipped ; names of parties engaged 464

illicit distilling 464,465
urtevant, Sarah Ann, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, October, 1871). .401, 463,

464, 466
T.

ixation, rate, assessment, &c., of State 103,177,299,300,304,724,927,928,931,975-
978, 981, 9f!5, 986, 1041

lylor, Ben, (colored, ) outrage upon, (near Rome, 1870) i'lo, 64

A.YLOR, Lieutenant F. B., testimony of „ 503-515

twenty-six years old ; bora in Nev^' York ; a lieutenant in the United States

Army ; stationed in White County about seventy days ; been in Georgia
since April, 1869 503

killing of Mr. Cason , 504

case of Mr. West, charged with misdemeanor 504, 505, 513, 514

feeling against colored people and radicals very bitter ; heard of the first Ku-
Klux raid in March last ; twelve or thirteen different raids since ; raid upon
Mr. McCuUom and sou 505

saw some twenty of the Ku-Klux in Decatur, Alabama, in 1868; they were
disguised, and seemed to have some kind of drill and organization ; Ku-Klux
in Southwestern Georgia ; six or seven cases came to his knowledge in Hous-
ton County, in July and August, 1870 ; two shot, one badly cut, and one
whipped ; no notice taken of these by the civil authorities 506
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in tbe counties wbevG be bas been workinj^, at least two-tbirds of the able-

bodied men belong to tbe Ku-Klux ; nearij' all speak in favor of them ; con-
servative party controls tbe organization ; Ku-Klux have grown stronger
for the last eighteen mouths ; they control pretty much everything about tbe

State courts, and the juries in the Federal courts to a considerable extent

;

reasons fur so thinking ; Joseph Jones arrested in Jackson County; con-

fesses his connection with Ku-Klux ; cases of abuse too numerous to state.

.

747
bas never known a single instance of any one punished for these acts 747, 768
their victims generally radicals ; where democrats have been molested it has

been for protecting negroes; Barmore killed in Tennessee in 18(59; what
was said about it by the democratic papers ; his body found and recognized ;

particulars of the killing ; Ku-Klux conduct more severe daily, and commit-
ting more acts of violence ; thinks no Ku-Klux could be tried and punished
in any State whei'e they exist 748

took blank warrants against illicit distillers 749
thinks the Klan concerned in protecting illicit distilleries ; rewards oflfered by
Governor Bullock in Georgia, and by Governor Senter in Tennessee 751,752

Smith, Abel, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, March, 187J) 652
Smith, Abraham, (colored,) whipping of wife of, (Walton County, March, 1871).. 402
SMITH, CAROLINE, (colored, ) testimony of 400, 403

thirty-five years old : born and lives iu Walton County, Georgia; whipping
of'self and husband October, 1871 400,401

outrage upon her sister-in-law, Sarah Ann ; whipped before on March 19 401
whipping of a girl, and of Abraham Smith's wife, in March ; general scattering

of the colored people that month ; burning of school-books ; suppression of
schools 402

Smith, Caroline, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, September, 1871) 400-401,

463, 597
SMITH, CHARLES, (colored,) testimony of. 597-601

thirty-nine years old ; born and lives in Walton County 597
is visited by Ku-Klux March Vj, 1871, and sliot at ; whipping of his wife and

sister; lay out for tvyo months ; visited again iu September; knocked down
with rocks and whipped ; exposure of the person of the females 597

breaking of his gun ; seven Ku-Klux visited him the first time, and about thirty

the second time ; recognized Mr. Felker aud Sam. Rich ; character of their

disguises 598
the children not injured ; Jim Harper assailed because be was teaching

school ; first heard of Ku-Klux two years ago last Christmas 599
made no attempt at arrest for f( ar of being killed ; was before the grand jury. 600
Felker engaged in illicit distilling 601

Smith, Charles, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, September, 1871) ..400,404,463,
597, 6S55

Smith, Charles, (colored, ) whipping of sister of, (Walton County, September, 1871 ). 597
Smith, Rufus, (colored,) whipping of, Walton County, March, 1871 652
Smith, William, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, March, 1871) 683
Smyth, William H., United States marshal, letter of, November 18, 1871 12\5
Sorrow, A. M. , whipping of, (Oglethorpe County) 872
Speech of B. H. Hill before the Young Men's Democratic Union, October 13, 1868. 791-798
Stales, Rat, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, March, 1871) 464
STALLINGS, WILLIAM H., testimony of 11]9-1]25

thirty-eight years old ; born and lives in Augusta; a carpenter 1119
was county treasurer of Richmond County 1123
agent for the Western aud Atlantic Railroad 1124
men taken from the Jefferson County jail ; two whipped, one killed, and seven
had their ears cut off 1120

mutilation of a colored man and white woman in Jackson County, as given
to witness by Ur. M. E. Swinney ...-• 1120,1123

killing of the Creeches, father and son, and a colored woman 1120
manifestation of hostility toward witness and Colonel Blodgett in Dawson,

Terrell County, February, 1 870 ; radical, a term of reproach 1121
bitter feeling toward radicals 1121, 1122
business proscription of radicals 1122, 1124, 1125
killing of Sherifi" Grant and a colored mau in Augusta 1122
election statistics of Richmond County 1124,1125
has heard of various Ku-Klux outrages in a number of counties 1125

Starrett, Dave, (colored,) homicide of, (Habersham County, 1865) 484,487
Starrett, Jeff., (colored,) shooting of, (Habersham County, 1863) 484,437
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STEPHENS, LINTON, testimony of 'J74-<)d8

'native of Geoifjia; lives in Sparta, Hancock County; a lawyer, and has a
plantiijg interest 974

knows W. H. Harrison, who made statement to the committee as to witness's
action on election day 976

what occurred on the day of the election, his action in arresting three man-
agers of election, and the grounds for it 974-977

979,980,982,983,985
the poll-tax of 1809 975-978, 981 , 985
exhibition of fire-arms on election day, and the reason therefor 977,985,937
article 2, constitution of Georgia, relative to qualilications of voters 977,978
section 29, of Article 1 ; poll-tux for educational purposes ; article 0, sections

1 , 2, and 3, establishment of a fi'ee-school system 978
was arrested for a violation of the enforcement act of Congress ; held in $5,000

bail ; matter brought before the grand jury, and the bill ignored; resents a
personal insult on election day by knocking Dr. Brown down; antecedents
of Harrison; engaged in au insurrection in 1863 979

object of that conspiracy; Harrison and Barnes elected to. the legislature, both
without education ; Harrison's occupation, politics 980

no intimidation of colored voters the day of the election ; act in relation to the
paj'nieut of the poll-tax ; no white republicans in the county 981

Harrison has no cause to feel insecure ; no organized sentiment unfriendly to

the negroes 982
whipping of Watson 983
man attacked by negroes in disguise and shot; fourteen persons convicted and

sentenced to the penitentiary for two years; pardoned after three mouths
imprisonment ; the circumstances tiiat led to the attack 984

taxes for 1870 and 187J, and questions that might be raised in regard to the

qualification of voters 986
murder of Jerry Long ; his character 987, 988
murder of William Culver; his character ^ 988

STEWART, SAMUEL, (colored,) testimony of 591-596
forty-nine years old ; born in Athens ; lives in Atlanta ; a carpenter 591
describes the attack made on him and his shooting, in Social Circle, Walton

County, August 7, 1868, by John and William Saluda 591,592
attempts made to have these men ayrested and punished resulted in nothing 593-595
killing of a boy and of a colored man, Daniel Wallace ; burning of a school-

house ; loses his tools 594
STURTEVANT, SARAH ANN, (colored,) testimony of 462-465

twenty-five or thirty years old ; born and lives in Walton County, Georgia

;

unmarried 462
whipping of self, of her brother, Charles Smitli, and his wife ; manner of

whipping 463
visited by the Ku-Klux before, in March; threats made ; whipping of self and

sister-in-law, Caroline ; Eat Stales whipped ; names of parties engaged 464
illicit distilling 464, 465

Sturtevant, Sarah Ann, (colored,) whipping of, (Walton County, October, 1871). .401, 463,

464, 466
T.

Taxation, rate, assessment, &c., of State 103, 177,299,300,304,724,927,928,931,975-
978,981,9=5,986,1041

Taylor, Ben, (colored, ) outrage upon, (near Rome, 1670) ^^o, 64

TAYLOR, Lieutenant F. B., testimony of 503-515

twenty-six years old ; born in New York ; a lieutenant in the United States

Army ; -stationed in White County about seventy days ; been in Georgia
since April, 1869 503

killing of Mr. Cason , 504

case of Mr. West, charged with misdemeanor 504, 505, 513, 514

feeling against colored people and radicals very bitter ; heard of the first Ku-
Klux raid in March last ; twelve or thirteen different raids since ; raid upon
Mr. McCullom and son 505

saw some twenty of the Ku-Klux in Decatur, Alabama, in 1868; they were
disguised, and seemed to have some kind of drill and organization ; Ku-Klux
in Southwestern Georgia ; six or seven cases came to his knowledge in Hous-
ton County, in July and August, 1870; two shot, one badly cut, and one
whipped ; no notice taken of these by the civil authorities 506
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TAYLOR, Lieutenant F. B.~Continued.

outrage upon Brown, a freedmau 506,507
lives of Mr. Griffin and several freedmen threatened ; Major Kellogg served

with a Ku-Klux notice * 507
thinks the lives of those asking protection would not be safe if the troops were

not there, or the United States authority, military and civil, were withdrawn;
They would be secure only in the larger cities ; the old feeling between the
secession and Union element still kept up ; difSculty in serving warrants
and making arrests 508

faihire to indict has luade matters worse in White County ; hostility of the
Ku-Klux against witnesses in the United States courts 509

illicit distillers at the bottom of the Ku-Klux organization in White County .. 509,510
abuse of soldiers 510, 51

1

action of the military officers under General Terry 51 1 , 514
forcible release by the Ku-Klux of a man arrested by the military in Chattooga
County; attempted release of prisoners 512

Terry, General, action in the case of Etheridge by 61-63,70,71
Terry, General, general orders, &c 96-98, 531, 532, 3063, 1064, 1098
Terry, Mr., and six sons, homicide of, (Warren County) 610
Testimony of

—

Aaron, Nancy Susan 459, 460
Aaron, W. R 585-591
Addison, Joseph 545-548
Allen, Thomas M 607-618
Anderson, Edward C 175-182
Anderson, Lewis 864-866
Angier, Nedou L 149-175, 1062-1070
Anthonv, Martin 692-694
Arnold, Rachel 388-390
Atkins, James 522-532
Barnes, Eli 9,54-959

Benatield, Jack 683,684
Benniug, Henry L 182-189
Benson, Caroline 386-388
Bradford, Robert H 707-712
Brand, M. V 350-356
Brock, Walter 1007-1017
Brown, Joe 501-503
Brown, Joseph E 810-828
Brown, Mary 37.5-377

Burnet, William 991-999
Burnett, G. B 947-954
Burnett, George P 64-73
Bush, Hilliard 684-687
Caldwell, Rev. J. H 425-459
Calhoun. John C > 478-4^0
Campbell, T. G 845-864
Campbell, T. G., jr 1057-1060
Carter, Jasper 472-477
Carter, Maria 41J-414
Chambers, E. H 602-6t-'7

Christy, John H 233-248
Church, JohnM 483-493
Coc, Henry 640
Colby, Abraham 695-707
Cole, Carlton B 1182, 1198

Coley, JohuL 363-368
Conley, John L 921,922
Davis, Warren 727-730
Drennon, Thomas M 4t»3-4U7

Eager, Scipio 668-()7

1

Elder, Mary 733-735
Elder, Simon 731-733
Farrow, Henry P 637-640
Ferrell, Anderson 618-622 •

Flannigan, Harrison 480-483
Flemister, George 655-663
Flournoy, Hannah , 532-535
Floyd, Monday 1060-1U62
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Testimony of

—

Forsyth, C. D 19-43
Foster, Robert S 1071-1081
Foster, William G 071-081
Fowler, Levi llGI-1171
Garrison, Leauna 000-008
Garrison, Samuel e87-0':'9

Gentry, George W 555-500
Goggin, Hester 4U8, 409
Gordon, John B 304-:549
Gregory, John M 988-91)1
Hardeman, Thomas 248.249
Hargrove, Z. B 73-88, 999- 1 0U2
Harris, W. H 570-5-^0
Harrison, W. H 923-9:5'2

Hayes, Henry HOO, b(i7

Hays, Eansom 081 , 082
Hendricks, Charles 51.5-520
Hendricks, Martha 520-522
Hightouer, E. A 1198-1207
Hill, 15. H 752-810
Hill, John 712-714
Hinton, Alexander 094, 095
Holcouibe, G. B 496-500
Hollidav, Elizabeth 414-417
Holliday. F. M 400-402
Holliday, J. 11 417-424
Howard, Charles Wallace 828-845
Hoyt Lieutenant George S , 111I-1II9
Hughes, 0. C 539-543
lugersoU, H. D 1171-1182
Ivey, Wesley O.jO, 051
Jennings, William 11 25-1 1 40
Jeter, Aury 505-507
Jeter, Columbus 5ei)-505

Johnson, John 004-000, 8C7-H70
Jones, H. C 1207-1212
Jones, Warren 089-092
Xeuimer, R. T 906-913
Kinney, Betty 535, .536

Kinney, Toddy 477-478
Lane, Daniel 053-055
Little, Charles 471 , 472
Little, Letitia 410,411
Little, Rena 410
Lowther, Henry 350-303
Lyon, Oliver T 378-385
Martin, A. B 548-552
McCoy, James .395-400

McCoy, Rebecca 393-395
McCoy, Sarah 390-393
McElhannon, Prince 048-050
Mills, Augustus 408-470
Mills, Letty 405-408
Mitchell, William Hampton 041-044
Moore, Romulus 735-743
Morrill, William C 1081-1099
Mauce, James 507-574
Nance, James L 574-570
Neal, John 1018-1034
Neal, Mary 366
Jsorris, John C 193-233
Oglesby, William H 1002-1007
Paine. Hon. Wm. W 190-193
Perry, John 537-539
PoDB, John D 368-375
Ray, Mary 424,425
Ray, O. G 580-582-

Ray, Willis 582-588
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Testimony of

—

Reed, Amly 645, 646
Reed, Mitchell 646, 647
Reed, Sampson 644,645
Richardson, Alfred 1-1 J)

Robinson, Francis J ' 870-877
Rockafellow, Andrew D 249-264
Sawyer, B. F 878-907
Sessions, W. M 932-947
Sheets. Reuben 651-653
Sheibley, P. M 43-64
Sherman, Josiah 1140-1161
Shropshire, John W 913-921
Shropshire, Wesley 1099-1103
Shropshire, W. M 622-637
Skiles, James 743-7,52

Smith, Ciirolina 400-403
Smith, Charles 597-601
Stalliugs, William H - 1119-1125
Stephens, Linton 974-988
Stewart, Samuel 591-596
Sturtevaut, Sarah Ann 462-465
Taylor, Lieutenant F. B 503-515
Todd, Lieutenant J. H 1103-1110
Trotter, Henry C 493-496
True, B. H 715-727
Turner, Henry M 1034-1042
Twiggs, H. D.D 1042-1056
Westmoreland, Greene 7.30,731

Willingham, William 552-555.

Wimpy, John A 1212-1217
Woods, Solomon 543-545
W^right, Ambrose R 264-304
Wright, Augustus R 88-149
Wright, William F 9.59-974

Thrasher, Noah, (colored, ) wife and child, whipping of 7

Threats against

—

Booth, William 460,590
Bush, Hilliard 684,685
Griffin, Mr 507
Harvey, R. D 559
Hill, John 714
Holcombe, G. B 498
Kellogg, Major 507
McCoy, James 396
Nance, James 441,567,568,575
Ray, Willis 581,583
Timms, Mr 354
Turner, Henry M 1035

Timms, Mr., threats against 354
Tobe, (boy,) whipping of, (Walton County, March, 187 1; 465,466,468
TODD, Lieutenant J. H., testimony of 1103-1110

second lieutenant Eighteenth United States Infantry 1103
in Georgia since April, 1869; one year in Warrenton ; two months at Wash-

ington, Georgia; the remainder of the time at Atlanta 1104

has met with no resistance to liis orders ; never met any bands of disguised

men; some parties bitter toward the Government in 1869; has heard of par-

ties disposed to threalen the use of military forces of the United States ; was
detailed to assist Sheriff Chap Norris in making arrests in Warren County.. 1104

Norris made five or six arrests, and met with no resistance ; arrests parties by
order of Major Kline as witnesses against Norris, charged with bribery 1105

Norris charged with using the name of the military to levy money fiom per-

sons 1105,1110
character of Norris 1105
is satisfied of Norris's dishonesty 1100, 1107
never met with any personal uukindness from the citizens; believes in an or-

ganized body inimical to the Government of the United States ; negro whipped
on Mr. Battle's place in the fall of 1869; no general feeling for or against

the negroes ; they can pursue their avocations in some sections, in others * %

not 1 1106 1
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TODD, Lieiitenant J. H.—Continued.
shooting of Chap Norris : the note he took to cover damaj^es he had sustained,

the base of the chArge of bribery 11 ()7

people of Warren County not generally friendly to the Government ; taking of

negroes from a train at Dearing, and their killing 1108
bribery of Norris 1 109, 1 110

, a man escaping arrest shot, and claims he was Ku-Kluxed by soldiers ; the

military authorities endeavored to do justice to all 1110

TROTTER, HENRY C, testimony of 493-496
twenty-five years old: born and lives in Habersham County; a democrat;
was notary public ; proposition made to him bj' a committee to administer an
oath in a secret organization for the purpose of putting down the revenue
law, 1867 ; Mr. Hoicombe shot at; heard of three negroes whipped in White
County ; heard of about seventy-five persons riding disguised 493

these negroes whipped on account of their charging certain parties with being
connected with the murder ()f Mr. Cason, United States marshal ; friendly con-

dition of feeling among the people of Habersham ; peace and good order

there 494
thinks the parties injured could not obtain justice in the courts ; cites the kill-

ing of several negroes by Mr. Barney 49.'>

TRUE, B. H., testimony of 715-727
has resided in Madison, Morgan County, since November, 186,"); born in

Monroe Count}', New York ; was a lieutenant in the One hundred and
thirty-sixth New York Volunteers ; served through the war ; bought a farm
in Morgan County; liis reception friendly; as successi'ul in farming as his

neighbors ; never met with rudeness because he had beeu a Union soldier

and a northern man; employs negroes chiefly; colored people generally

contented ; they generallj' receive good treatment

settlements made by the land-owners with their tenants renting on shares.niiemeuts maae oy tue lanu-owners wiiii tneir tenants renung on snares, .-"^ i

justly and fairly made; the administration of justice reasonably fair I 716 J

there is a natural antagonism to the negro race ; voting free and unrestrained ;

has no confidence in the veracity of the negroes ; considers Georgia as

peaceable and orderly as New York 717
there is no discrimination against any of the northern families on account of

politics ; sentiment of the people and the laws of the State sufficient for the

protection of person and property ; has voted but once since he has been in

Georgia 718
and only once in the North ; is twenty-eight years old ; reasons for not voting. 719
has heard of no Ku-Klux organization in the county ; two or three raids im-

puted to them ; the breaking open of the jail, and the shooting of a colored

man; the whipping of a negro near Rutledge, and a colored woman shot in

the leg ; no arrests made 720
owns the Appeal and Advertiser, an independent paper; it detailed the facts

in the case of the negro shot in jail 721

is a printer ; has a real estate office, and prints the paper as an advertising

medium ; introductory letter to Messrs. liayard and Voorhees 722
the negro Charles Clarke shot in jail, was charged with attempting rape 723
but a small fraction of the real estate of the county held by negroes ; the tax

falls most heavily upon the whites; general feeling of the whites toward the t .

colored people v!24/
his views as to voting for blacks, and qualification for office 724, TST)

shooting of Charles Clai ke 72.")

knows of no attempt to tind out who were concerned in his killing, except the

coroner's inquest 726
Turner, Abrani. (colored,) homicide of, (Putnam County) 011,706,707,1039
Turner, Henry M., character of 1084, 1085, 1090, 1091, 1092, 1094, 1097, 1184,

l]b7, 1188,1195

TURNER, HENRY M., (colored,) testimony of U31-10-12

thirty-eight years old ; born in South Carolina; lives in Macon, Bibb County;
minister of the gospel; presiding elder; member elect of the legislature; to-

daj' ejected from his seat and his opponent given it; was a chaplain in the

Union Army ; a republican 1034

his life has been threatened, and he is satisfied that if he had not secreteil him-

self ia a dozen instances he would have been assassinated 1 035

killing of Mr. Ashburn - 1 035, 1 036

scores of people injured by disguise<l night marauders ; cases most numerous
between Macon and Augusta, in counties named ; killing of Mr. Dease 1036

condition of affairs in Macon 1 036, 1 037

general character of the election in December, 1870 1037, 1036, 1040
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TURNER, HENRY M.—Continued.

illegal voting and intimidation ; opening of tbe ballot-boxes lOoS

his contest for a seat in the legislature 1038, 1039

organized bands of assassins to kill republicans : killing of Abram Turner in

Putnam County 1039

fight at the election held to fill the vacancy caused by the death of Turner. .. 1039, 1040

a number of the colored men sentenced to the penitentiary for ten years ; par- . •

dons bj^ Governor Bullock; colored people run to the cities as an asylum .. ( 104Q|

justice generally done by the courts between persons of color ; between white

and black, the odds against the black man ; practical peonage in the country

;

effect of the provision in the constitution requiring the prepayment of taxes / ^

as a qualification for voting I 12lV
estimated number of murders in Georgia since reconstruction between fifteen

and sixteen hundred, and in the Southern States twenty thousand; feeling

in favor of emigration from the State
; proposed legislation in regard to con- \

tracts (l042i
TWIGGS, H. D. D., testimony of 1042^1050

thirty-four years old ; born in South Carolina; lives in Washington County

;

a lawyer 1042
judge of the middle judicial circuit 1042

a democrat ; appointed by Governor Bullock 1 045

parties taken from the jail in Jefferson County. February, 187] : six of them
mutilated and one shot dead 1 043

killing of a negro in Sandersville jail, Washington County ; shooting of John
C. Gallaher, December, 1670

_.
1044

no successful prosecutions against any of the parties charged with these offenses

;

Washington County quiet since the general meeting held to condemn the

Ku-Klux 1045
the colored people generally flock to the towns and villages ; kindly feeling . -^

between the races; promjit justice done colored people in the courts VlC'4^
unqualified condemnation of Ku-Klux by the best people of the country ; quiet ^*—

^

and prosperity of the people; greater degree of industry kmong the whites

than before the war; sentiment of the community toward men who live by --

manual labor V^^
raid upon a lady in Johnson County by colored men 1047,^048
average amount of lawlessness no greater than in the North; elections within

the last two years markedly quiet and orderly; no attempts made to prevent

the negroes from voting ; persons from the North received with astonishing

courtesy and welcome ._ 1 048

a man is secure anywhere in Georgia in the expression of his political opinions;

no organized hostility to the Government of the United States; insecurity of

jails; whipping the conjnion punishment under the system of slavery 1049
corporal punishment of servants by their employers ; two or three negroes in

Washington County strapped 1050
rescue by disguised men of a man, condemned to death, from the Milledgeville

jail ; his previous rescue from the Hancock jail 1 C'51

social feeling toward republicans generally, and scalawags ] 053
establishment of colored schools

;
general disposition to educate the colored

people ; feeling toward teachers ; Governor Bullock's appointments gen-
erally republican 1054

feeling against a clergyman or teacher who combines jjolitics with his teaching. K 55
no white republicans in his circuit 1056

U.

Uncle Simon and son, (colored,) whijiping of, (Jackson County) 53G
Union Leagues, (Loyal,) nature, effect, «fcc., of 28, 48, 49, 51, G8, 183, 190, 345, 447, G15,

815,901
W.

Wallace, Daniel, (colored,) homicide of, (Walton County) 594
Wallace, Mr, homicide of, (Warrenton, Maich, 1869) 197, 198,220,221,266,267,288,

289,769,770, 1024, 1025, 1164, 1165, 1168, 1169, 1170, 1205, 12i0
Wallace, Mr., homicide of a negro, by, (Warrenton, 1868) 211
Walthall, John, liomicide and whipping of, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 407,412,

471,473,544,547,1010
Walthall, Tilda, outrage upon, (Haralson County, May, 1671) 412,471, 172

WALTHALL, TILDA, (colored, ) testimony of 407-4()8

twenty-one years old ; lives in Haralson County, Georgia ; was married 407
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killing of her husband, Jolin, in May, 1871 ; he receives 300 lashes 407
whipping of Jasper Carter and Charles Little, same date 4US

Ware, Jourdfin, (Green Foster.) (colored,) outrage upon, (near Eome, January,
1871

)

2] , 2v', I',0, 31 , 44, 45, 66, 74, 75, 98, 99, 130, 131, 404, 8^5, 9UU, 913, 920
Warner, Major, homicide of, (Columbus, 1865, or 1866) 184,188,189
W^atson, Charles, (colored.) ^Yhipping of, (Clarke County, January, 1871) 1-4, 15,235,

236, 238
West, Mr., case of, (charged with misdemeanor) 504,505,513,514
Western and Atlantic Eailroad, (State road,) management of the 103-105,110,111,

142-145, 157, 158, 169, 170,275,270, 300, 312-314, 347
WESTMORELAND, GREENE, (colored, ) testimony of 730, 73

1

thirty-six years old ; born in Spalding County ; lives in Atlanta 730
had a fracas with Dr. Nunnally, who cut him and struck him with an iron bar .

.

7150

Whipping, manner of 18, 401 , 463, 473, 479, 502, 539, 549, 553, 669
Whipping of

—

Addison, Joseph, (Haralson County, March, 1871

)

545
Addison, Joseph, son-in-law and nephew of, (Haralson County, May, 1871).. 545
Allen, Harry, and wife, (colored,) (Gwinnett County, May, 1871) 603,641,681
Allen, Jack, (colored,) (Gwinnett County, May, 1871) 603,641,681
Antony, (Floj'd County) 405
Battle, Lawrence, brother-in-law of, (Hancock County) 1204
Benafield, Jack, (colored, ) (Walton County, October, 1871) 466
Bradham, William, (colored,) (Floyd County, 1870) ^ 75
Brassel, Mrs., (Glascock County, July, 1869) 1022,1111,1112
Brigan. Bill, (Wilkinson County, August, 1871) 359
Brown, Joseph, (colored,) (White County, May, 1871) 3-57,386,387,502,908
Brown, Mary, (colored,) (White County, May, 1871) 375,376,386,367,389,502
Burson, Charles, (colored,) Gwinnett County, May, 1871) 503,641,681
Calhoun, John C. ,

(colored, ) (Jackson County, 1870) 478, 479
Carter, Jasper, (Haralson County, May, 1871

)

408, 412, 473
Clergyman, (colored,) (Chattooga County) 93,94,127-129
Colby, Abra-m. (colored,) (Greene County, October, 1869) 611,696,1113,1114
Coley, JohnC, (Haralson County, February, 1871) 363,367,1009
Cunningham or Cummings, (Dade County) 744
Davis, Michael 441

Dease, Elijah, (Wilkinson County, August, 1871 ) 359

Dease, Elijah, mother of, (Wilkinson County, August, 1871) 359
Dease, Fred., (Wilkinson County, August, 1871) 359
Dougherty, Mr., (Jackson County) 710,711
Eager, Scipio, (colored,) (Washington County, April, 1871) 668,669
Eager, Scipio, (colored,) brother of, (Washington County, April, 1871) 668,669
Elder, Jim, (colored,) Clarke County, Januarv, 1871 )j 6
Fambrough, Mr

_.

". 239
Ferguson, (colored,) (Jefferson County) 2^0
Garrett, ^Yilliam, (colored,) (Floyd County, 1870) 75
Goggin, Hester, (colored) (Haralson County, May, 1871) 409
Goldsboro, Mr 610
GrifSth, Harry, (colored,) (Gwinnett County, June, 1871) 642
Hardiman, Samuel Z., (Oglethorpe County, 1868 or 1869) 872
Harper, Jim, (colored,) (Walton County) 599
Haycock, (Acock) 7

Hayes, Henry, (colored,) (Gwinnett County, August, 1871 ) 866
Hepsonstall. Mr., step-son and wife, (Chattooga County, October, 1871) 1102

Hughes, B. T., (Haralson County, 1671) 1010

Hughes, C.C, (Haralson County", May, 1871) 539,540,1010
Hurlbut, Mr.. (Greensborough, September 1, 1869) 1113

Hutchens, Silas, (White County, 1871 ) 497

Johnson, Hilliard, (colored,) (near Rome) 68,75
King, Patrick, (near Rome) 68,75
Lane, Daniel, (colored,) (Morgan County, July, 1871) 653
Lavender, John A., (Wilkinson Countj^ August, 1871) 3.59

Little, Charles, (colored,) wife of, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 409,471
Little, Letitia, (colored,) (Haralson County, May, 1871) 410,411,471

Little, Letitia. (colored,) aunt of, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 410

Little, Rena, (colored,) (Haralson County, May, 1871 410,471

Lowrey, Mr., (Walker County, July, 1871) 1004,1005

Lowther, Jerry 360

Martin, A. B., (Haralson County, May, 187
1
) 549, 553, 1009

IV—

G
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Whipping of

—

McHenrj, James, and son, (coloretl, ) (near Rome) (53, 64
Mills, Augustus, (colored,) (Walton County, March, 1871) 405,466,468,652,865
Mills, Letty, (colored,) (Walton County, March, 1871) 465,466,468,652
Mitchell, George, (colored,) (Gwinnett County, May, 1871) 603,641
Mitchell, Wm. Hampton, (colored,) Gwinnett County, May, 1871) 603,641
Mitchell, Wm. Hampton, former wife and son of, (Gwinnett County, June,

1871) 642
Mobley. or Mosley, Mr.

,
(Appling County, 187] ) 938, 939

Moore, Mat, (colored, ) ( Whitefield County, August, 1871) 570
Moore, Mr., (Chattooga County, October, 1871 ) 1102
Neal, Mary, (White County, May, 1871 ) 377, 386
Negroes, (names not given) 75, 211,217, 218, 359, 402, 591 , 720, 744, 913, 914, 921,

939, 1071, 1087, 1098, 1100, 1106, 1114, 1126, 1127
Pendergrast, Mitchell, (colored,) (Jackson County, April, 1871) 581,585
Poldo, Hilliard, (colored,) (Clarke County, 1870) 516
Powell, Thomas, and wife, (Haralson County, 1871) 551
Eay, Joe, (colored,) (Haralson County, 1871) 504
Eeed, Mitchell, (colored,) Jackson County, April, 1871) 419,441,585,645,646,647
Richards, Thomas, (colored,) (Columbia County, Julj', 1868) 736
Robb, Mr., (Chattooga County, September, 1871) 525
Sharpe, William, (Chattooga County) 1078, 1079
Smith, Abel, (colored,) (Walton County, March, 1871). 652
Smith, Abraham, wife of, (Walton County, March, 1871) 402
Smith, Caroline, (colored,) (Walton Countv, September, 1871) 400,401,463,464
Smith, Charles, (colored,) (Walton County, September, 1871).... 400, 401, 463, 597, 865
Smith, Charles, sister of, (Walton County, September, 1871) 597
Smith, Rufus, (colored, ) (Walton County, March, 1871) 652
Smith, William, (colored, ) (Walton County, March, 1871) 683
Sorrow, A. M., (Oglethorpe County) 872
Stales, Eat, (colored, ) (Walton County, March, 1871 ) 464
Sturtevant, Sarah Ann, (colored,) (Walton County, October, 1871).. .401,403,464,466
Thrasher, Noah, w i fe and child, (Clarke County, 1871 ) 5,6
Tobe, (colored,) (Walton Couuty, March, 1871) 465,466,468
Uncle Simon and son, (colored, ) (Jackson County) 536
Ware, Jourdau, (colored,-) (Floyd Count3% January, 1871) 404,885,900,913,920
Walthall, John, (colored,) (Haralson County, May, 1871) 407,412,471,473
Watson, Charles, (colored,) (Clarke County, 1871) 1-4,15,235,236,238,983
White men 485,911,1022
Willingham, William, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 549,553
Winn, Henry, ( Wilkinson County, August, 1 871 ) 35f

Winn, John, (Wilkinson County, August, 1871) 35f

WILLINGHAM, WILLIAM, testimony of -_
552-55;-

nineteen years old ; born in Alabama; lives in Haralson County; a farmer;

step-sou of A. B. Martin ; is visited Jjy the Ku-Klux, and he and his step-

father whipped ; maimer of whipping ; names of parties 553
whipped on account of politics ; Joe Ray whipped ; his mother struck with a
gun 554

slept in the house but twice since May 7, 1871 555
Willingham, William, whipping of, (Haralson County, May, 1871) 549-553

WIMPY, JOHN A., testimony of 1212-1217

thirty-three years old ; born in East Tennessee ; lives iu Lumpkin Couuty ; a
lawyer, and has an ofQce in Atlanta 1212

a republican 1213

bitter remarks of Colonel Young, member of Congress 1212-1214

Winn, Henry, whipping of, (Wilkinson County, August, 1871 ) 359
Winn, John, whipping of, (Wilkinson Couuty, August, 1871) 359
Witnesses, list of, (see "Testimony.")
WOODS, SOLOMON, testimony of 543-545

fifty-nine years old ; born iu South Carolina ; live in Haralson County, Geor-
gia ; a farmer ; a radical 543

visited by Ku-Klux July 30, 1871 543
outrage upon Mr. Addison ; killing of John Walthall 544

WRIGHT, AMBROSE E., testimony of 264-304

a resident of Augusta ; a lawyer ; the editor of the Chronicle and Sentinel, and
a native of the State ; was an elector on the Fillmore ticket in 1850, and on
the Bell and Everett ticket iu l.-OO ; the laws are enforced by the courts,

» and there is less crime now committed than within the last ten or fifteen

years ! 264
manner of appointment of the judicial oflScers, and their political status 265
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WRIGHT, AMBROSE R.—Continued.
manner ot selecting ami cliaracter of juries 265, 266
killing of ISIr. Wallace by Dr. Dardeu 266, 267, 288, 289
killing of Dr. Darden 267, 282, 283
attack upon J. C. Norris ; his character as to veracity 267,268
history of the note held by Norris, signed by Swayne, Hill, and others 268, 283
particulars of the Adkins case 268,269,283,284
Lis views as to the general administration of justice by the courls ; cites cases. 269,270
the changes made in the law, reducing the grade of offenses, and the effect and

object thereof; pilferings by the negroes ; the negroes, as a class, have be-

haved remarkably well ; manner of their treatment by the whites \ 270 i

has never seen any attempt on the part of the whites to intimidate the negro v

—

.J
from voting ; knows from personal observation that negroes were intimidated

by their own race from voting the democratic ticket, und that that was
markedly the case at the last election 271,289

the negroes were taken possession of by a class of men connected with the

Freedmen's Bureau who had themselves elected to the legislature, and who
j

controlled the negro vote by promises of land and other property \ '^l^^i,

has heard of but one election disturbance in the State, in Columbia County,
arising from the appointment of election managers 272, 273,'WO

the election law^, and the opportunity for frauds ; whipping of women, and its

cause 274
the pardoning power as exercised by the governor, and its effects 274,275,286
the rapes, murders, larcenies, burning of gin-houses, &c., led to the people,

in a number of cafees, taking the law in their own hands 275
management of railroad affairs and the discontent caused thereby 275,276,300
enormous expenditure, for the executive department, advertising proclama-

tions. Governor Scott's letter to the committee, &c., and for lavv-yers' fees. -.276, 292,
293

state debt and liabilities, and prospective indebtedness of the State 276, 277, 293
all the legislation that has taken place has been by a republican legislature,

and that its republican strength was considerably increased by the action of

General Terry and Governor Bullock, under pretense of authority given them
by Congress ; how the legislature was reconstructed 277,278,294,295

this reconstruction considered an act of military usurpation! 278,295
his opinion as to the effect of the removal of disabilities 278, 279, 295, 296, 302, 303
manner in which strangers coming into the State are treated ; no difference

made on account of politics ; edits a democratic paper 279
has denounced the Ku-Klux in his paper ; whipping of a man named Fergu-
son by a band of negroes 280

rescue of prisoners from the jail in Jefferson County by a crowd of negroes
headed by Cudjoe Fye 280,296,297

murder of Creech, (white,) by a band of men 280
prisoners taken from the Louisville jail in February last by disguised men

;

one killed and some of the others mutilated 281 , 282, 296, 297, 298
killing of Mr. Cody and Kitchen Adams, at Dearing, in a broil between white

people 282
what he means by mingling socially with the negroes ; miscegenation ; there

is not as much pilfering now by the negroes as before the war 284
desire of the negroes to learn to read and write ,

". 285
what he believes to be the main influences that controlled the vote of the

negroes against the white people in the first two or three elections 285,286
causes that gave rise to discontent, if not to the Ku-Klux organization 286
knows of no secret association of any character for political purposes ; has

heard reports of the whipping of negroes by bands of disguised men, in War-
ren, Jefferson, Washington and Columbia Counties 237

reasons given by those who palliate the conduct of parties who had committed
offenses against the negroes 287,288

the cases of two white men who have been convicted for murdering negroes.. 289
believes ihere were frauds in the election for governor ; selling of stakes to ne-

290groes
misunderstanding betAveen the negroes and the planters in regard to contracts

;

the negroes stand up for their rights ; character of Judge Gibson, and his

action in a rape case
rewards offered by the governor ; the killing of Fish by Holsenbake a private **

difficulty '. 293
has heard of but one school-house burned in the State ; establishment of free-

schools in Richmond County, upon the recommendatiouiof the grand jury.. 298
the State school-fund and its misapplication 298, 299
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WEIGHT, AMBROSE R.—Continued.

maiiuer of assessing and collecting- taxes 299, 300

the judiciaiy, elective before the war, during the war by appointment 300
defines '" carpet-baggers" 301

the burning of gin-houses grew out of the deviltry taught to the uogvoes by
th(> cfirpet-baggers 302

appointment and election of carpet-baggers to office .*. 303, 304
property exempt from taxation 304

WRIGHT, AUGUSTUS R .--.- 88-149

a resident of Rome, and has resided in the State since J 836; was circuit judge
of the Cherokee circuit; a member of the Congress that went out in IHGO.. 88

was on the Douglas electoral ticket ; canvassed the State for him to some extent;

opposed the act of secession with all his power, and ran as the Union candi-

date for the convention that seceded; action of the secession convention 89
his course in the confederate congress ; his action during the Avar, and his

opinions as to the policy of Lincoln and Johnson 90-92

there is no such organization as the Ku-Klux Klan, if it is meant a secret

society, with pass-words, signs, and grips like the Free Masons, but violence is

done by men in disguise having local organizations ; the organization was
formed with reference to what was conceived to be an imminent danger to

society, the negro element , 92
if there is any organization to prevent the negro from exercising the ballot it

lias not come under his observation, and there is more hostility exhibited

toward a negro by republicans when he vote.s the democratic ticket than

there is exhibited by the democrats when he votes the republican ticket 93
whipping of a colored clergyman in Chattooga County 93, 94, 127, 128, 129
creation of the Rome judicial circuit, and the appointment of Judge Kirby .94, 126, 127

arrest of Eckridge or Ackridge by United States troops, and his confinement

in jfiil; Judge Kirby visited by tv;o or three hundred disguised men, and
forced to ask for the release of Ackridge from the Federal officer ; Ackridge's

arrest caused intense excitement; thinks it was a lawless act, done without

warrant 95,98,127,129
general orders and telegrams relative to General A. H. Terry's command un-

der the reconstruction acts read 96-89
outrage upon Jourdan Ware, (Foster) 98, 99, 130, 131

Messrs. Toombs, Stephens, and men of that class could not prevent these out-

breaks - 99
the negro incapable of self-government ; there is no hostility among the peo-

ple to the ibrin of our government, but simply to the measures of the admin-
istration; his opionion of General Grant's administration 100

his opinion as to the effect of a general removal of disabilities 100, 101

the laws are as well executed, with as little obstruction and opposition, in the

State as they ever were 10]

the pardoning power as exercised by the governor, and the effect thereof- 10], 102, 137

]3:l

his opinion of Governor Bullock ]01

rewards and proclamations of the governor 102, 111, 112, 138-141

State bonds issued by the governor, and amount of State taxation 102, 103, 110
management of the Western and Atlantic Railroad under Blodgett. ..103, 104, 142-145
leasing of the road to certain parties named; and its value 104, 105,110, 111, 144
there is great discontent all over the State at the corruption and mal-admin-

istration of the government; the Ku-Klux organization iirst made its ap-

pearance aljout eighteen months since, and the largest one is along the line

in the county of Chattooga 1 05
the formation of this organization was in the interest of peace and order, and

to repress any disturbance that might arise among the colored people 106
some acts of violence have been committed by the organization where there

was no proper excuse for it, and cites one or two instances ; his opinion as to

the guilt of the three men prosecuted by Mr. Forsyth 107
there are no radicals among the Ku-Klux ; the Union League in the State

did not last long, and did not commit violence ; shooting of a negro in Rome
by Moore and Wiight, and alibi proved in the case ] 08

these organizations have no reference to general politics or matters of general

State policy, or to any alleged misconduct of Governor Bullock 109, 114, 115

understood tiiere was a body of Ku-Klux who went to Augusta for the pur-

pose of assaulting Governor Bullock; does not believe in the necessity of

the organization as a general tlung 109, 144, 145
himself, and such men as Toombs and others, have failed to exercise all the influ-

ence they could againsf'this organization 109, 1 10

opinion as to the capacity of the negro for the use of the ballot, and the effect

of its exercise by them 112, 113
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WRIGHT, AUGUSTUS E.—Continued.
''"''

does not look lor good government iu the South as long as the negro lias the
unrestricted use of the ballot 113

proposes to change the fifteenth amendment by ballot 113, 1 14

does not think negroes would be afraid to go to the ballot-box if an election

should occur uow 114
cites instances in which ho thinks Ku-Klux outrages have been committed
upon democrats ; thinks them exceptional cases , 115, 116

his opinion as to the character of the southern republicans, generally, and as to

some of the individual members of the party 117, 118, 144
the cases of homicide by the Ku-Klnx that he had heard of were cases of
murder 118,119

his political course through life Hi)
was once a Methodist preacher ; is now one of the foot-washing Baptists... 119, 1"J0

manner of selecting juries in the State '. 121

has heard of the Ku-Klux in other States ; thinks there has been iiniformity in

their mode of operations, and that their victims were generally republicans

;

his theory in regard to these outrages and their object .. ..122, 123, 124, 125, 12G, 132
evils resulting from the negroes and a few white men having control of the

State government '. 124

expulsion of some colored members of the legislature ; thinks General Terry
exercised arbitrary power toward the legislature 130

the negro deserves great credit for the manner in which he has behaved 131

defines '
' loyalty " 132

the prevailing sentiment of the people is that they would prefer a separate

government, if the three amendments to the Constitution are to stand, and
there would be serious difficulty in the event of a foreign war 133

the Ku-Klux organization would greatly enhance the danger to the Govern-
ment in the event of war 134

views of leading men and the masses of the people as to secession 134, 135
the Ku-Klux existed in Chattooga, Floyd, Walker, and Polk Counties; has
heard of outrages in Columbus, Savannah, Cherokee, and Warren Counties;
killing of Ashburu and Atkins 13ti

character of the judiciary 137

a negro charged with crime is more easily convicted than a white man 138, 139

the Ku-Klux organization not a suitable remedy for corruptions of the State

government, but there are cases in which justice in the abstract has been done 14! , 142

views as to the power of the State's attorney to institute proceedings in the

case of railroad corruptions 143

georgia would have given 50,000 majority against secession iu 1861, and there

is now no disposition to resist the authority of the Government 145

his view as to the power of the governor to remove judges 146

his views and the public sentiment as to presii-^ential and congressional recon-

struction, and what was expected by the leaders of the rebellion 146-149

WRIGHT, WILLIAM F., testimony of 959-974

judge of the superior court of the Tallapoosa circuit ; appointed by Governor
Bullock ; practiced law in the district for fifteen years 963

was an old-line whig; Bell and Everett elector ; opposed secession; seceded

with the State; uow acts with the democratic party; democratic candidate

for Congress last fall 964
details his investigation into the case of Columbus Jeter and his wife, and

the release of the parties charged with the offense on proving an alibi . .959-961 , 964,

968, 963, 972, 973
charges the grand jury against lawless bodies ;

public sentiment is against

such lawlessness 961

case of Ku-Kluxing by negroes 962
fair and impartial trials of colored people in his court ; ah instance cited 963

thinks there is no Ku-Klux organization in his country 964, 965
articles from the Daily Constitution, October 25, 1871, " Ku-Kluxism," and

'

' Useless the First and martial law" 965, 966
his opinion as to the views therein expressed 966

views as to the enforcement of law against Ku-Klux outrages 967, 968

his knowledge, or want of it, in specified cases in various counties named 969
homicides in the South as compared with those in the North 969, 970
supposed motive for the cruel treatment of Jeter 970, 971

prejudice against granting the negroes civil and political rights 971

less miscegenation since emancipation 972

has no knowledge of any democrat being a member of the Ku-Klux 973





TESTIMONY.

CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

GEOEGIA.

"Washington. D. C, July 7-. 1871.

ALFRED RICHARDSON (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Where do you live ?

Anisioc): In Clarke County, Georgia.
Question. What is your age?
Jinsu-er. About thirty-four years.
Question. Were you born in that county ?

Answer. No, sir; in Walton County, the adjoining county to Clarke.
Question. Were you born a freeman or a slave ?

AnsKer. I was born a slave.

Question. Did you remain a slave until the general emancipation ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your master's name ?

Answer. William Murray.
Question. Were you ever owned by any other master ?

Ansiver. I was born the property of his mother-in-law. She owned me until I was
about seven years old. She got in debt some way or other, and he bought me and the
rest of the family all in.

Question. Did h§ live in the same place where you now live ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he is living in the same place.

Question. Since you became a freeman what have you been doing?
Answer. I have been house-carpentering.
Question. Have you a family ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Of how many does your family consist ?

Answer. My wife and three childreu.

Question. Since you became a freeman have you voted ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. With what party have you A'oted?
Answer. The republican party.
Question. State to the conmiittee whether you have been attacked in any way by any-

body ; if so, when and how. Tell us the whole story about it.

Answer. Yes, sir; I was attacked twice. The first time was just before last Christ-

mas ; I cannot recollect exactly what day.
Question. Tell us all the particulars.

Answer. There was a set of men came down to about a quarter of a mile of where I

live. They were all disguised. They had taken out an old man by the name of Charles

Watsou. They commenced lieating him. His wife and children all ran out, and
screamed and hallooed for help to stop the men from beating him to death. We, who
Avere in town, came out to see what was the matter.

Question. You heard the outcry ?

Answ«i: Yes, sir, and came out to see what was the matter. We went up the street

a piece, out on the edge of the town, and heard a great parcel of men talking beside

the fence. It was the Ku-Klux, Avho had this old man down in the corner of the fence,

knocking him and telling him he had to tell where Alfred Richardson was, and had to

go with them to his house and show how he was fixed up. The old man seemed to bo

sort of dilatory in telling them, and they rapped liim over the head again and told him
he had to go.

Question. They wanted him to tell where you were ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they wanted him to tell where I was, and how I was fixed up ; they
said he had to go and get me out. In the mean time, while they were tellinghim this,

a crowd of boys came on behind me, and we all ran up, after we heard what they were

1
g'
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up to. They all broke and rau, and carried this old man with them. We followed
tliem to the forks of the road, about three hundred yards from where wo met tlieni.

They all stojiped and got over into the field, taking the old nniu with them. I ran up.
and looked lirst up one road and then the other, to see whieh way they had gt^ie. I

eould not see anybody for a long time ; a cloud had got over tlie moou. "
After'a, while

I saw one fellow slipping alongside the fence. lie had a pi.stol in his hand, as if to

shoot me. When I saw him doing that, I took my pistol, and shot at him. AVhen 1

sliot at him there wore three or four men who shot me from Hirongli the fence. 1 did
nut see them. Tliey shot about twenty shots into my leg avid hip. I went oft home,
and went to the doctor's ofSce. The doctor examined me, and lixeil my wounds up. In
three or four days I got so that 1 could travel very well. Tilings went on till after

Christmas. On the l.'r-th of January a man by the name of John O. Thrasher came to

me
Question. Was he a white man ?

Answer. Yes, sir; a very wealthy man. He came to rae. Jly brother was keeping a
family grocery; and I was In with him. I did not stay in the store; I worked at my
trade.

Question. Were you a partner in the concern ?

Answer. Yes, sir. This man told me, " There are some men about here that havo
something against you ;

and they intend to kill you or break you up. They say yon
are making' too much money; that they do not allow any nigger to rise that way:
that you can control all the colored votes; and they intend to break you u)), and then
they can rule the balance of the niggers when they get you off." He said, "They"
said they wanted mo to join their party, but I told them 1 did not Want to do it ; I

never knew you to <lo anything wrong, and these are a parcel of low-down men, and I

don't want to join any such business; but I tell you, you had better keep your eyes
open, for they are after you." Ho talked to mc about it that evening for three or four

hours. I told him I didn't know why they had anything against me. I talked to the
ordinary, and the clerk of the court, and several other citizens. They said they didn't

tee why anybody wanted to interrupt me; that I had always kept the peace between
the colored and ithe white })eople ; that when there was a fuss I was the only man that
could break it up and make the colored people behave themselves ; that they hated to let

me go away. I talked with all the citizens, and they told me they did not see why any-
body had anything against me. I said, " I am told that some men are coming to kill me
or run me oft', and I think I had better go away. I don't know whether I can stay safely."

They told me, " No, don't move away ; they are just talking that way to scare you, I

reckon." The same night this man was telling me that, I went to bed about 9 o'clock.

Between 12 and 1 o'clock these men came ; there were about twenty or twenty-five of

them, I reckon. About eight or ten of them got abreast and ran against my door. I

sort of expected them, and had my door barred vei'y tight ; I had long staples at the

side, and scantling across the door. Tliey ran against the door and tried to burst it in.

They could not do it. One fellow had a new patent ax with him ; and he commenced
cutting down the door. One lit a candle aud put it down in the piazza ; the other man
cut the door till he cut it down. I stood and looked at him until he cut it spang
through. Then I thought I had better go up-stairs. I did so. I thought I would
stand at the head of the stair-steps and shoot them as they came up. But they broke
in the lower door and came up-stairs firing in every direction. I could not stand in

the stairway to shoot at them. I had some small arms back in the garret. There was
a door up there about large enough for one man to creep in. I thought 1 had better go
in there, and maybe they would not find me—probably they would miss me, and I

couhl make my esca[)e. They all came up-stairs. My wife ojiened the window to call

out for help, and a fellow shot at her some twelve or fifteen times through that window
while she was hallooing. A whole crowd cann; up, and when they sav/^ that window
'•pen, they said, " He has jumped out of the window," and they hallooed to the fellows

on the ground to shoot on top of the house. Thinking I had gone out the window,
they all went down-stairs except one man. He went and looked in the cuddy-holo
where I was, and saw me there. Ho hallooed to the rest of the fellows that lie had
ibund me; but they had got down-stairs, aud some of them were ou the ])iazza. Then
he commenced firing, and shot me three times. He lodged two balls in my side, and
one in the right arm. That weakened me ])retty smartly. Alter he hiul shot his loads

all out? he said to the rest of them, " (Jome hack up here ; I have got him ; and I have
shot him, but he is not quite dead ; let us go up and finish him." 1 crei)t from the

door of the little room where I wa.s to tiie stairway; they came up-staa's with their

pistols in their hands, and a man behind with a light. I shot one of them as he got

on the to)) step. TJiey gathered him up by the legs ; and then they all ran and left me.
1 never saw any more of them that night ; and I have not se(m them since. I have
heard talk of them; and they say they will have me, they don't care where 1 go.

After that they attacked a man five miles from town—a man who was raised in the

county where I was. I think he was born about the mountains, and brought down
to Clarke County when ho was a little child. He was au orphan boy—had no mother

—
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and was broncjlit down to old man Durham's, and lie staid there till he was a yoniig

man. 1 think he uas twenty-tour or tweuty-tivo years old.

Question. What was his name ?

Annwtr. James Ponder.

By Mr. Pot)i.

:

Qitetitlun. Was he killed?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think he was killed dead.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Hovv- large a number of men do you think were ahout your house on that
night ?

Ansiar. As near as I could judge from the noise about the house, I thought thero
were twenty or twenty-five. Some people say there were thirty or lV)rty, and tomo
say fifteen or twenty. I allow there were twenty or twenty-five.

Qucslioii. You did not have an opportunity to count them ?

Ansivcr. O, no, sir ; they had me in too hot a place for me to count them.
Question. Were those meu disguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think I saw only ahont one that had no disguise on.
Question. How were tliey disguised ?

Ansivei: Some had on the regular old-fashioned doeface ; some had on black cam-
bric, with eye-holes, and tied around the face ; some wore cambric caps. I have two
of those caps in my trunk; and I have one of their little horns that they carry about
and blow. I have, too, a long white gown iu my trunk at my boarding-house. I havu
got seven of their caps. A part of them were found at a man's plantation— about his

barn or shnck-house. Some of theru were brought to me, and some werc^ dropped thero
in the yard. Some three' of the caps I got out of the yard there at my house. I have
one of the little horns that they blow wheii they are gathering, or when they get scat-

tered and want to blow one another together ?

Question. Did those men say anything to you that night ?

Anstver. No, sir ; they never said a word. When they ran against the door, I asked
who was there. They said, "Never mind; God damn you, we'll show you who it is;

Ave'll have yon to night." When the man found me in that room, he said, " God damn
yon, I 've got you," and then he commenced tiring.

Question. He did not say what it was for ?

An.swcr. No, sir.

Question. The first time you saw these men when they had that old man, were those
you saw in disguise?

Ansicer. 0, yes, sir ; they were disguised.
Question. They wanted him to go and show where you were, and how you were fixed up ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they said he had to go and show them where I was.
Question. What did they mean by sayiug he must show them how you were fixed up?
Answer. They wanted to know whether I had any guns, or whether my door wa«

barred. Generally there, when jieoplo go round to whip and beat of nights, if a door
has got a common catch on it, five or six meu run against it, and burst it right in ; and
before a man can get out of bed to get hold of anything to fight with, they are right
on him.

Question. Were yon wounded on that first night ?

Answei: Yes, sir ; I was shot in the right leg from ray ankle up to my thigh.
Question. ?low many shots did yon receive at that time ?

Answer. I think about twenty shots—small shot ; I meau there were twenty shot-

holes.

By Mr. Beck:
Question. All from one firing ?

Answer. I think there were about two meu that shot at- one time,

By the Chairman, (Jyin: Poland :)

Question. They were small shot ?

Ansira\ Yes, sir.

Question. You mean that twenty different shot went into your leg ?

Ariswcr. Yes, sir ; I was not shot twenty times.
Question. You suppose that they came from two discharges?
Answer. Yes, sir; the last time I was shot it was with pistol balls—three of them—two

in my side, and one in my arm.
Question. Did you hear what those men said on the first night?
Answer. Yeg, sir.

QueMion. What did you hear them say ?

Answer. I heard them say to this old man that he had to tell them Where I was, aud
how I was fixed up.

Question. What had they against that old man ?
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Aiisnrr. Well, I don't know. Tli(\v said tliat be had stolen aomotliing from soiiH;body

down by where he lived. I did not know anything about where he lived. He was
woiking fifteen miles from where his home was.

(Jitcslioii. He <lid not live in your town f

Aiit!icc)\ No, sir. His v>ife .staid U]) eloso to me—I snjipose three or four hnndred
yardii from nie ; but he was working fifteen miles away. I thiuii he was \\()rking

iu Greene County.
Qticaiion. His wife lived near you ?

Jwiwer. Yes, sir ; she lived iu the town where I lived.

Question. And that was his home ?

Anstvcr. Yes, sir.

(Jiication. But he had been working fifteen miles away?
Aiisn-cr. Yes, sir. He bought a i)iece of ground up there, and put his wife in a house

he built there. He worked all through the settlement.

(Jiicstion. What was said about his stealing something?
Aimiver. Th(\v said he stole a beef, and they were coming up there to whip him for it.

That was all they said after I got wounded ; that I ought not to have come out—that
tluy were not alter me, but after this old man who stole ii beef.

Qiifsiion. Did these men come from fifteen miles away ? -^

Antiwer. O, yes, sir ; one man came nearly twenty miles. The man who got shot
came ten miles.

Qitistion. What did they want with yon if they came merely for this old man ?

A.imn-er. Well, that is the question. They were after me at first; but that was the
turn-oii they had.

(Jiii-nlio)!. When they came to this old man, was the first thing they wanted of him
tliat he should go and show where you were ?

Aiiiiwer. Yes, sir. His wife and all the citizens living right around came out when
they heard him hallooing; and they say the men never named anything to him about
anything he had done, but commeueed knocking him, and asking him where I was,
saying that he must go and show tln^m where I was. They asked him, too, how he
voted, and told him if he ever voted \xuy other ticket besides the democratic ticket,

they would kill him.
Qitestion. What did they do to him ?

Aufiicei: They knocked him some over the head, and connnenced leading him down
the road toward my lu'yuse. They had got half way do\^"u from his house to mine.

Question. When you heard them '?

An-vcer. Yes, sir. Tliey were leading him on. Some of the crowd said to the others,
" Don't knock him any more ; he'll lioller so as to disturb all the others down her<i,

and they Avill all get waked up before you got there." Thou they stoi)ped knocking
him, and connnenced talking to him. »

Question. Did all the men conu^ from a distance of twenty miles ?

Answer. No, sir; it is supposed among citizens that some of them did not live more
than four or five miles from town. I don't believe myself, and I never found anybody
clsi! tluit believed, it was any.of the citiz(;ns of the place where I live.

Qtu'stion. You du not think it was anybody living in the imuiediate neighborhood ?

Ansicer. No, sir; I don't think it was anybody living less than live or six miles away,
Qu^'stion. Where did the man you shot live ?

Answer. Close to the edge of Greene County, about ten miles from where I live.

Question. Were you ac(|uainte<l with Uim f

Answer. Yes, sir ; I had seen him, but I had not been with him lately. I knew him
when he was a boy.

Question. How old was he ?

Answer. About twenty-four or twenty-five years old, I reckon.
Quesii/)n. He was some ten years younger than you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know who any others of the party were ?

, ylvswer. No, sir ; I do not know for certain who they were. I did think I know souio

by the voice ; but I knew that would not be worth anything in court.

Question. Had you had any trouble or dif(i(;ulty v/ith the m;in you sliot ?

Answer. No, sir ; I never had across word with him nor with any othc^r white man in

the county, so far as I know.
Question. You never had any quarrel with anybody ?

Ansieer. No, sir.

Question. Siuce you became a ixeeman you have been at work at your tiade as a
house carpenter ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. I worked ou until 1888 ; and I have been working off and on ever
since. In 1868 I was elected a member of the legislature. I was turned out the first

e(^ssi()n, but was reseated. I serviul out that session and went honre. The ordinary
and clerk of the court hired me to fix uj) the court-house and the county building.

Question. Is that the county seat '"hero you live f
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Answer. Yes, sir. I was ptij^aj^pcl at my work all the time then.
t^hwstion. That was work iu your liue of trade ;

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How long have you and your brother been connected in the !;roct>rv busi-

ness ?

Answer. About one year, I think.
Question. You were a partner with your brother, but did not have anything to do with

the actual management of the business ?

Answer. No, sir; he managed all the business.
Question. But you had an interest in it?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Qiu'stion. What was this man's name that cauie and talked with you, just before you
were attacked at your house f

Answer. His name is John 0. Thrasher.
Question. Does he live in your town ?

Answer. No, sir ; about two miles from town. He came in every day.
Qiitstion. Is he a farmer ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he is a heavy farmer ; he has got three or four plantations.
Question. Of what politics is hef
Answer. He is, 1 suppose, a democrat. He is a very clever man, though, to the col-

ored people.
Question. He was friendly with you ?

Anstiei: Yes, sir; he was very friendly with me. He was as good to me as a man
could be.

Question. You had conversation with several people of your town iu regard to the
attack on you ?

Answer. Yes, six*; I talked with several of the citizens all round; I talked with
almost all of them. None of them could see what these men had against me. After
the fuss was over I met several leading citizens of the place, and they told me they
had met several people and had asked what in the; world the Ku-Klux were after

me for, and they said, " We cannot tell
;
you will have to go to somebody else ; wo

cannot see what they are after him for ; there is nothing that he has ever done, more
than that he was a member of the legislature." Doctor Durham said he expected my
politics was at the head of it ; he did not know anything else.

Qwestion. He thought the attack was on account of your politics ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Queation. Is it true that you have been somewhat of a leader among the colored
people of your immediate neighborhood ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I was one of the leaders.

Question. Have the colored people iu your section been guilty of any outrages toward
anybody ?

Aiiswer. No, sir ; I have heard of none.
Question. What course have you taken with them ; how have you advised them iu

relation to their behavior and conduct ?

Answer. Well, I always told them to treat everybody gentlemanly, and never create

any difficulties with the white people, I would come up sometimes when there would
be a fuss with white men, round the bar-rooms and places, and I would tell the coloie<l

men to break it up and quit fussing. I could control almost all of them, and make
them quit fusses, whenever I came across them.

Question. 80 far as you had any control, or could exercise any influence, you endeav-
ored to make all your jjeople behave quietly and peaceablj', and respect the rights of

other people there ?

Answer. 0, yes, sir; I can get a recommendation signed for that from every man iu

that place. The clerk, the ordinary, and all the rest will say that ;iny da\ I ask them.
Question. When this band of disguised men came there and took out this old man,

was that the lirst tifue that any l)ody of disguised men had appeared iu your vicinity ?

Answn: No, sir. It was the first time they ever came to town ; but they had been
all through the settlement for some time, and whipped and knocked the people about.
There had been nobody shot, I believe, before that. There had been whippings round
through the country—none closer than seven or eight miles from town.

Question. How long is it since bands of disguised men began to appear in your county?
Answer. Something better than a year, I think.
Question. Can you tell any instances where they abused anybody ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir; they got hold of a man down about Farmington, about seven miles
from the town I live iu. There was a man there by the name of Hilliard Poldo, a col-

ored man. He was working on the road, and he got into a cpiarrel with a white man
named Middlebrooks—Barton Micldlebrookn, I think. They had a quarrel ; and tho
colored man, I suppose, stood up as if be was willing to jump in and fight with tlio

v'hite man if he hit him, Middlebrooks let him alone, and the colored man went on
to his work. No more was said on that day. A night or tvjo aiter that, about lifteclT
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or twenty men came ivn<l broke Poldo's door down, jumped in, and connneneed beating

him. lie rushed throutili the (hior and ran. They shot alter him. and shot liini

lluongh a leader in the loot. They cauj;hr, him and heat him. Some of them named
1o liim how he liad sauced Barton Middlcibrook.s on the roa<l. They cuised him and
l;noched him about powerfully, lie was laid up, I sn})pose, for about a week.

QiasUon. This colored man and Middlebrooks did not come to blows

f

Aiiniver. No, sir ; they did not have .^ny fuss ; they threat<med one another. The
colored man told him that if he hit him he would hit back; and there was no more
^ai'-l. These men came in a nij>ht or two, took him out aud boat him.

Qitcsliou. Were they disguised ?

Jni^wcr. O, yes, sir.

Qucsiion. Was there any cause assigned for what they did, except that Poldo had had
a dis])ute with Middlebrooks?

Aitf'iirr. I imver found out exactly what the dispute was, more than that they had a

(jnarrel on thi^ load. •

Question. Was there any charge against this colored man except that he had had this

dispute with Middlebrooks?
Jvmrr. No, sir-, uo charge more than the quarrel which there had been between

them on the road.

By Mr. Pool.

:

Question. When did this case occnr?
Answer. Last summer—the latter part of the summer.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Qiifstion. Nearly a year ago ?

Aiim-er. Yes, sir.

Question. That was the first thing of the kind in your county, so fiir as yon know?
Ansirer. Yes, sir, that w.as along with the first cases. There may have been souie

little wliippings before that. A heap of whippingsdown there have never beeji reported

;

and a heap I don't get hold of, without I happen to see them in the paper. WHiat I am
telling you is what i)eople come right to me and tell me. Thousands of things are

dyne tlx're that are never reported in the papers, aud nobody ever knows anything
about them.

Qnefilion. State any other case of the same kind that you know of.

Answer. There was aman who lived down at Elders—Dr. Elder's. This man, Jiin Elder,

has been dispatched for ; but I don't know Avhether he will come; I believe he is not

a.ble to come himself. His case hapjiened just two nights before mine. My last attack

Avas on the 18th, and his was on the IBth. .Tim Ehler was living with a man they

called Dr. Elder. .Tim aud one or two of tlir old man's sons were hanging U]) meat in

the meat-house. about the 14th, I think, of .January. This black man's little daughter
went to the shuck-house to get some shucks to feed the cows, or something of that

];ind. When she got there slie found some disguise clothing—doeface, and long caps,

and gOAVus, and one thing and another. She got scared, and ran into the house, and said

slie had found a Avhole parcel of cnri«ms things out yonder. The little child's mother
Avent into thi' shuck-house, and got the things, and brought them to the house. The
old man of the plantation Avalked out, and Avhen he saw them, grabbed hold of them,
and look them away from the Avoman, and carried them into the house.

By Mr. Pooi,

:

Question. Was he a white man ?

Ansnrr. Yes, sir; he Avas the owner of the plantation—Dr. Elder. He carried them
into the house, and said to the boys, "I ncA'cr haA'c seen such things before in my life;

Inv,' came they here ?" The young Avliite boys did not say anything. Jim said, " They are

some of you boys' (dothes; I thought it was some ofyou that were Ku-Kluxing all around
liere all the time ; and here are the clothes you have been imtting on, in the shuck-house.

1 thonght it Avas you, and now 1 knoAV it." He had been raised with them, and talked

as he pleased. They said, " Nov/, .Tim, you have got to take that l>ack, if you accuse us

of Ku-Kluxing." .Jim said, "I will not do it; I believe it is true," talking in a kind
of joking Avay. They said, " We'll be damned if yon had not better take it back, .Jim."

Nothing more Avas said. A night or two afterward they came and took him, aud
gave him two or three hundred hushes. He laid around there till he got over it.

By the Ciiaikman, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. He lived in the same house Avith those young men?
Arsirer. On the same? plantation.
Questio)!. In the same house or another?
Answer. In another house on the same plantation. Ho then moA^d from thnre over

to Athens.
Question. Were the men Avho took him out and Avhipped him disguised?
Answer. Yes, sir, they were all disguised.
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By Mr. Pool :

Qucstio7i. Did they ever -whip him any more?
Ansiver. No, sir; he mov'd to the city of Athens, and they never eome to a bij}; town.

Pe()])le who get scared at others being beaten go to the cities; many are afraid to stay
at home.

By the Ciiairmax, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. Within the past year have there been many instances of colored people
being taken ont in the night and whipped by bodies of men in disguise ?

Annicei: Yes, sir; not a week ])asses now but what there is somebody whipped. The
week befoi'c I came np here, Noah Tlirasher, a black man, was whipped. He lived
within about two miles of Watkinsville, and about two miles from my house; but I

don't stay at my home now ; I stay in Athens.
Question. You have gone away from your former home?
Answer. Yes, sir; I am in the same county, but in another town, a larger place. They

took him and whipped him and his wife and child the w'eek before last.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Do you say that they whipi)ed also his wife and child ?

Aiiswer. Yes, sir.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

<p«es//on. What was that done for ? '^"^-^^^

Anstcer. He hired his daughter out to a man, and after she was hired there she was
conliued and had a child born. After her month was up she did not care about staying-

there ; she wanted to leave, and Thrasher says this wliite man gave her n whipping.
She went ott' then to her father's. Her father saw this man. who told him that ho
wanted him to bring lier back. He took his daughter and carried her back to the muM.
They said he wliipped her again. She left there again, and he carried there a boy, big-

enough to do as much as she could do, he thought, and told the nmu he would let the
boy stay there in place of his daughter. The man said that would not do, that ho
must make her come back there. Tlie black man went off and never carried his daughter
back. So, about iifteen or twenty men came to his house week before last and beat
him powerfully, and beat his Avife and the girl too. They were a parcel of disguised ,

men.
Question. This girl was the one who had been at service and leftf

Answer. Yes, sir; they whipjicd her and her father and mother.
Question. Have these bodies of disguised men whipped anybody except colored people

in your regicm of country ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they have whipped a fellow by the name of Haycock.
Question. Where did he live?

Answer. About seven miles above Watkinsville.
Question. You say that the girl whose whipping you mentioned in the last case had

a child?
Answer. Yes, sir; she had a child. Her month was up, though. She was at work

when, she was whipx>ed ; she was well.

Question. Was this whipping in any way on account of her having a child ?

Answer. 0, no, sir ; I suppose not.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. You say she was a colored woman?
Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. Was her child black or white ?

Answer. I never understood, and never inquired whether the child was black or

white,
Qaesiion. Did she accuse .anybody of being the father of it ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. The Avhippingdid not grow out of that ?

Answer. No, sir; I never heard anything of that sort.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Go on and state the circumstances in regard to the whipping of this white
man, Haycock.
Answer. Haycock was living between seven and ten miles from the place where I

lived. He had some dispute with some man concerning his sister, I und(>rstood. Tho
fellow, I suppose, was fooling round his sister, and he said something about it. They
got up a kind of a fuss between them. These men came in on him one night and
whipped hira pretty smartly. That is the only white man, I think, that has V*eu
whipped there.

Question. Do you know how it has been in other counties in that part of the State ?
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Austin-. Well, sir, several have becMi whipped, and some killed. A blacksmith by
the tiaiiH- of Jake Dannouswas shot dead about ten miles from where I live,

Question. In your county or auother?
Ansnrr. I think lie lived on the edge of Walton County.
Quesiion. When wa.s that?
Answer. Tliat was, I think, about two or three mouths before Christmas.
Question. Some time last fallf

Answer. Yes, sir.

Quesiion. You say he was killed ?

Aiisiver. Yes, sir ; I think they shot seven Ijalls into him.
' Question. Was that done by a body of men in disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; a body of disguised men.
Quesiion. What was that done for?

Ansicer. This bhick man was keeping a blacksmith shop. He had done work for a

man named Kemp. I was not acquainted witli Kemp, tliough I had seen him. Kemp
had been having liis work done tlieri' for aljont a year or two, and had never paid the

black nuui. The black man complained to the man he was renting tlie shop from
about Kemp's account. He said, '• Kemj) don't pay me ; it looks like he won't jiay me.
I am getting tired of working for him. Now ho has brought a buggy here for me to fix,

and I am not going to work for him any more till he pays me." This white man said

to him, " I would not work ibr him .any more; put the buggy outsidi", the door, and
work for somebody else that you can get money from." Dannons hud the buggy aside,

and wouhl not iix it. Kem]> came up after a wliile and asked why he had not lixed the

buggy. Dannons said he did not care about working any more for liim till they set-

tled up. Then Kemp took the buggy—the wheels had been taken oil'—betook the cai'-

riage i)art and set it on the anvil, and said, " Don't you move this olf till you take it ofl

to work on it."

Question. He put the wagon on the anvil so that Dannons could not work ?

^)i.sjc<;)-. Yes, sir; and told him that he should not move it unless he was going to fix

it. Dannons then went to the man he was renting the shop from, and askinl him what
he nuist do. The man told him, " You take the buggy and set it aside, and go on with
your work."

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Was the man who owned the shop a white man ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. Dannons took the buggy off the anvil and set it dow^n. Kemp
came along and asked why he had moved that buggy from there without he was going

to fix it. Dannons told hi'm he wanted the anvil ty go to work at, and took the buggy
off. Kemp said, " God damn you, I will kill you." He went olf and said no more to

liim. lu a night or two about fifteen or twenty men came down there and hallooed to

Dannons to come to the door.

Question. Were they in disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir. They came and told him to come to the door. He told them to

hold on till he got his pants on. They told him, "Never mind about your pants;

• come to the door." He came and opened the door, and saw these men all standing in

tke yard disguised. He turned his back on them, and ran into the house. As he

turned back they shot him right in the back of the head. I think the first ball struck

bim. He fell. They ran in and shot some live or six more shots into him ; and then

they all went away. That was the last of theui that night.

By tlie Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Do you know of any other case in which those bauds ot men have killed

anybody ?

Answer. They killed a man in Morgan County, about five or six miles from Madison

—

a fellow by the name of Anthony Robinson.
Question. When was that f

Answer. That has been over a year ago, I reckon.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Does Madison County adjoin your county ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Quesiion. Do you know anytliing as to the reason why that act was committed ?

Answer. 1 do not know how the fuss got up between them. I never heard anything

about that more thau that the disguised men came down there after him, and knocked
at the door for hun to open it, and he would not open it ; then they conuuenced break-

ing tlie door down. He ran to the door to resist with an ax, I thiiilc, and t\u-y shot

him. He made a lick at one of the men with the ax, and in making the lick he
jumped out of the door to run. Aa he went to run they shot him dead.
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Qnmilon. TIad he had a quarrel wit*.i anybody, out of which this attack grew?
An.^iar. I do uot kuow ; I never heard ol'any.

Qaeation. Do you know of any other instance where bauds of this kind have killed

anybody f

Answer. No, sir; I do not recollect of anybody being killed after that.

Qutsliuu. lias this practice of taking people out and whipping them prevailed in

other counties besides your own ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; in the same way.
Qtiestion. Did it begin in those otlier counties about the same time it did in yours \

Answer. A little before. They commenced in Walton and Morgan before they did in

my county.
Quention. Has this thing been geiK^ral in your part of the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir; it is a general thing of whipjiing there all the time. There is not

more than three or four weeks but what there is somebody whipped. If they don't

whip they ride anyhow, and scare people; they ride up and down at nights. Some-
times they ride through a whole settlement and never touch anybody. Sometimes
they go by colored people's doors and shoot some live or six balls through the door

and ride on without stopping. .

Question. What is the effect of all this conduct upon the colored j)eoplo? How do
ihey feel about it ?

Answer. Well, they don't know hardlj' what to think about it.

Question. Do they feel frightened f

Answer. O, yes, sir ; it frightens them. Several of them where I live had bought
land there, two or three acre lots, put houses on them, and were living there and
getting ah)ng very well. Since this ttiing has been going on, they have conmienced
Belling theirlots for little or nothing. Some of them don't get for the house and
ground half what they paid for the <jp.ouud. They go away to some large town where
they lay around and get whatever they can.

Question. You yourself have removed?
Answer. Yes, sir, I have moved to Athens.
Question. Why did you do so ?

Answ.:r. Well, I thought I would be killed down where I was.
Question. Was that your sole reason for removing?
Answer. Yes, sir; that is the sole reason. If I could have had peace there, I would

rather live there than in any other place I have been in.

Question. You were getting along well ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I was getting along well. I had as much work as I could do.

Everj' white man Avho had anj- work of my kind to do would hire me if he could

get me.
Question. Did you own any land there ?

Answer. Yes, .sir ; I owned one lot of seven acres, another of one acre, and another of

about a quarter of an acre.

Question. Have you sold your lots?

Answer. No, sir. I tried to si'll them, but I could not get anything for them. The
ordinary told me I better let them stand; he said probably the feeling w-ould wear
down after a while. He said that luay be it would become quiet there, and he would
like me to come back again. I told him I did not think I could live there any more,

and I would rather sell out if I could.

Question. Have you moved to Athens solely because you felt you could not be safe

where you were ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I moved there to keep from being killed, and perhaps my wife

killed. She is injured a good deal. She was in a delicate state iit the time they came
to my house, and it has injured her. She will never be of anj' more account, I think.

Question. You say that many people there have moved a\yay in the same manner on
account of feeling unsafe ?

Answer. Several that had bought lots adjoining mine moved away. Some have
moved to Atlanta. One fellow bought two acres at .§20 an acre, and put a house ou
the ground. He fenced it and fixed it up. He sold the house, fencing, &c., for $40,

and got nothing for the land. He moved to Atlanta.
Question. AVhy did he leave ?

Answer. He thought he was in danger of his life.

Question. Is that feeling of fright and fear general among the col'orcd people ?

Answer. Yes, sir. It is general among tlw colorcil people in tlu; cdunty where I live.

They told me when I left that if I could lind a i)laee where I could make a living, I

should write back to them. I have never written back. They sai<l that they wanted
to leave if they, could make anything above their support. There are lots of men
down there whose crops are ruinung away with grass, and they cannot get hands on
account of this thing ; the men are running away so and leaving the county. A heap
of farmers there can't get labor enough to make their crop.

Question. Has anybody been j)unished for any of these things ?
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Ati9wey. Nobody has been pniiished at all. The attempt is made sometimes to pnnisli

people, that is, tht.'v try to ])rosecute some few; but it is the hardest thing to do in the
world. If a man knows two or three men in a evowd, or knows one man for certain,

that man gets forty or tifty men to swear that he was at some othei- placi; that night.

Yon cannot prove it on a man to save your life. I thought once I v.ouid try to piose-

cute the parties in my case, to the best of my knowledge. I got some papers tixed up
to go to the governor and see him and get some advice from him. I went to the
ordinary and clerk of the court, and they told me they would sign in a minute, but
they said they were afraid of their lives, and they were afraid to do it. They told mo
to tell the governor and the leading men at the capital of the Stat<! how they were
iixed—that they could not sign the paper for the reason that they were in danger of
their lives.

Qiwstion. That was what these officers told yoxi ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; they told me they could not do anything at all.

Qu^-slio)). Are the people upon whom these acts of violence are inflicted afraid to

prosecute—afraid to testify I

An>:wer. Yes, sir, they are ; if they think they know a man they are afraid to call

his nante.

Qu-eaiion. In the case of the attack on you, you say you know of no reason in the
world for it, exce-iit that you were a somewhat leading republican among the colored
people ?

AmnHT. Yes, sir; that is about what I think. The white citizens and black could
not lind any other way to account for it.

Quextion. In some of these other instances which you have given, there seems to

have been some quarrel out of which tlie attack grew. Are there many cases like

yours, in which you think the attack was for i)olitical reasons?
Antiwer. In my county I don't recollect of any case of whipping or shooting on account

of political aftairs, but mine. Every man they whipped they asked him how he voted.

Sometimes the men would say they ilid not vote a.t all ; thej' were afiaid to tell the
party they did vote for. Sometimes they would say they voted for the republican
party, and then the men would say, " If you ever do it again, we will kill you."

Qiw-ftion, The advice these di-sguised men give is to vote the democratic ticket?

Answer. Yes, sir; they say, " If you vote any other sort of ticket besides the demo-
cratic ticket, we will kill j'ou when we come again." They say tliey have just como
from the grave; that they were killed at Manassas, and are just outrof the grave.

Question. It is a kind of s^jiritual advice they give ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. Has there been in your county or your part of the State any disturbance of
your schools ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; threats have been made against school teachers wliich caused them
to run otf and leave the schools—not iji my county ; none have run away from my
county. In the adjoining county there was a man teaching school, a colored man that
I saw in Atlanta. He said they threatened to come after him, and he got wind of it

and left before they came.
Question. Do you know of any other instances where teachers of schools have been

frightened away ?

Answer. In my county there was a white woman that commenced teaching school.

That was directly after the surrender. They burned her school-house down; some-
body did it ; they don't know who, whether it was disguised parties or not. It was
sui)i)osed to be that class of ]>eople that did it.

Question. The school-house is supposed to have been set on fire purposely?
Answer. Yes, sir.

• Question. It is not supposed to have been an accidental fire?

Answer. No, sir ; it was set on fire on purpose.
Qiwslion. That was some years ago-?

^Inswer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have there been anv recent instances of burning school-houses in your part
of the State ?

Answer. No. sir; not in my county. I don't think there has been any school-house
burned lately in my county or any of the adjoining counties.

Question. Does what these disgr.ised bands say to these people about voting have
any effect upon t'he colored ])eoi)]e ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Several of them say that excepting they can get protection against

these disguised men going about, they do not intend to vote any more.
Question. Why ?

Answer. They say they cannot vote excepting they vote the democratic ticket, and
they say, before they do that they will not vote at all. They say that if they can't vote
as they want to vote, they don't care to vote at all.

Qucslion. Do they feel afraid to vote as they want to vote ?

An8Wt)\ Yes, sir ; they tell me they are afraid to vote the waj they want to vote.
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By Mr. Pool :

Question. You said you were a member of the legislature ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you talked with members of the legislature from other parts of
Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I have talked with several of them.
Question. The condition of things of which you have been speaking exists in other

parts of the State of Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did members of the legislature tell you of the existence of such things in
other places ?

Ansiuer. Yes, sir.

Question. From your conversation with them, how extensively do yon suppose thia
condition of things prevails?

Answer. Well, sir, it is throughout Georgia pretty well—all the farming parts of the
State, where there are no towns close around ; it is generally there.

Question. Yon learned from your fellow representatives whom you met in the legisla-
ture that this condition of things is general throughout the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
*

Question. And that the colored people are in a state of terror and alarm?
Answer. Yes, sir. While I was in Atlanta they were coming there every day or two,

stopping there.

Question. You mean colored people from different parts of the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What did they come to Atlanta for?
Answer. They came there to get out of the way of the Ku-Klux, and to be protected

some way or other. They think they cannot stay around where they have lived with-
out being killed or whipped.

Question. Do you now refer to counties distant from where you live ?

Answer. That is what people told me whom I saw coming to Atlanta to see the gov-
ernor.

Question. To represent their grievances to the governor?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you ever heard of an instance in w^hich any man belonging to this
disguised organization of Ku-Klux, who are committing these outrages, has been con-
victed or punished in your State ?

Answer. I heard about three weeks ago that there was one sentenced to be hung in

Crawfordsville, Georgia; I tliink that was the place.
Question. What became of him ?

Answer. Well, he is there yet, I suppose. The time h.ad uot amved for him to be
hung. I t^nderstood the 4th of August was the time he was to be hung ; and his friends
were trying to get a pardon for him, I understood.

Question. Was he to be hanged for a crime committed iu disguise ?

Answer. That is what I understood.
Question. Have you ever heard of any other instance ?

Answer. No, sir. About two weeks before I left Atlanta, I saw it mentioned in the
papers that Captain Anderson and Captaiii Murjihy, United States marshals, had been
down to Dawson County and brought up two prisoners who had not had their trial.

Question. Captain Anderson and Ca]itain Murphy were United States oihcers?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was this man who was convicted and sentenced to be hanged tried in the
United States court ?

Answer. I do not know whether he was or not.
Question. Have you heard of any other instances of that kind in the State?
Answer. No, sir; I have heard of no other instance where they have been convicted.
Question. How many persons do you think have been whipped, attacked in their

houses, or molested in any way in your county within the last year ?

Ansiuei: Well, as many as one hundred, I reckon, have been whijiped.
Question. In your county within the last year ?

Answer. Yes, sir; some have been got hold of and afterwards got away ; they run off

and didn't get any whij)ping. There have been many disturbed in that way, though
sonuj wuuhl get away.

Question. Do the colored people generally sleep in their houses ?

Answer. Some do ; and some who hear of these threats do not sleep in their houses.
Question. Suppose a colored man votes tlie repul)licau ticket, is he safe there ?

Ansieer. 1 sup])ose that if he is not a leader and has not much influence, they are not
apt to l»f)ther him, excepting he gets into some cross words with some white man.

Question. But suppose a negro should vote the democratic ticket?
Ansicer. Well, he woidd never bo interrupted then. I never heard of one being inter-

rupted. There are several that vote it down our way. There are lots of them that
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voto it in the city of Atlanta, tlie great mass of tlicm. In the town where I live sev-

eral vote it.

(^>l(cn^ion. Do they vote it for the'pnrposo of making themselves safe by so doing ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they think it is the best jilan to get along among the white pcojile.

(Juaiion. Is it generally understood there among the colored people that if they will

vote the democratic ticket, they are then safe from these attacks I

Answer. Yes, sir; that is the impression among the ])(^ople. They have told me that
if I wonld act with that ])arty I would be as popular as any white man, and would dc
well the lialance of my days.

Quentlon. Who told you that 1

Answer. The white men of the county.
Qu^fstion. Democrats ?

Answer. Y'es, sir. They said if I would vote for their party and use my influence for

it, I would never suffer for anything. I told them I thought I was doing rij^ht, and I

did not care to deceive the party that I was in with ; and I tiiought I would do wrong
to go over to the dcmcfcrats; tor then my present jnaty wt)uld be as hard against me
as the opposite party was now. I said I didn't care to d«>ceive anybody at all. We had
no hard words ; it all passed off in good terjtis ; there was no trouble and no ai-gument.
They just gave me advice what it would be best for^ncs to do.

Question. Then it is tlie general feeling among the colored pt^ople, and it is your opin-
ion, that you might buy your safety by voting the democratic ticket?

Answer. Yes, sir; if I had never voted the republican ticket, if I had stood with the
democrats ever siuce I have been enfranchised, I don't thiiilc I would ever have had a
cross word with a nuin in that county, and would never have had a hurt of any sort.

Qucsfion. Do you think you could now buy peace and safety by changing and going
with the democratic party '?

Ansioer, I dou't think I could, after shooting that mail. I think that would make
them kill me still. If it had not been for that man being shot, I suppose I could go
back there, change my politics, and live as well as I ever did.

Qnestion. Suppose au election were to occur now in your county, would the colored
people vote ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not think they would in the county where I live. Around the
city of Athens, where there is no trouble, they might vote.

Question. I meau outside the city ?

Answer. Outside the city in the countiy I do not think you could poll twenty votes
among the colored people, unless they were persuaded to vote with the democrats.

Question. I mcau,Avould colored people dare to vote the republican ticket ?

Answer. You could not get twenty.
Question. How many colored voters are there in your county outside of the to^vn. ?

Answer. I don't know ; I su^ipose in the whole county there are about nine or ten
hundred.

Question. Do you think, if an election were to occur now, not twenty out of that ten
hundred would dare to vote the republican ticket ?

Answer. Not twenty out of the portion in the country.
Question. Is the case the same in the adjoining counties?
Answer. Y'es, sir; that is pietty much so all through the adjoining counties, except in

the towns, where they are protected by the police or something of that sort.

Question. Do these bands of men ever whip women ?

Slnswer, Y'es, sir.

Question. Why do they whip women ? They do not vote.

Answer. Many times, you know, a white lady has a colored lady for cook or waiting
in the house, or something of that sort. They have some quarrel, and sometimes prob-
ably the colored women gives the lady a little jaw. In a night or two a crowd will
come in and take her out and whip her.

Question. For talking saucily to her mistress?
Answer. Y''es, sir.

Question. Does that state of things control colored labor down there ? Do these bauds
make the negroes Avork for whomever they please ?

Answer. Do you mean the Ku-Klux ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Ansiccr. Well, they go sometimes so far as this: When a man is hired, if he and his
employer have any dispute about the price, and there are hard words between then?
about the amount of money to be paid, they whip the colored man for disputing the
white man's word, or having any words with him.

Question. They whip the colored man for having any dispute with his employer aboni
[what shall be paid him ?

Answer. Y'es, sir.

Question. Is that common ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; that has been done several times. Sometimes colored people are
working for a part of the crop. They work on till the crop i.s nearly completed and
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ready for galhering. Then a fuss arises between tliem and the employer, and they are
AvbipiJed off—wiiipjied otf by these men in disguise. If they do not whip a man/tbey
come uiid liuock his door down and run him out, and be gets seared and moves away,
leaving his share of the crop. He will sometimes go to the employer, and th(^ man will
say, "Your eroj) in the lield is worth such and such a price, and that is all I will give
you."' The man will havi^ to take what he can get and move otf. Some of the colored
people swear that they do not intend to farm any more, excepting they can Iiave peace
to gather what they phuit. Now, they work a part of the year and then get run ott

and make nothing. 80 they conclude it is best to go to some city and work by the
day for what they can' get. Every town in our State where there is any protection is

oveiTun with colored people. Many of the farm hands are there; and there is a great
mass of loafers who stand round town because tbey have got no work to do. Yet peo-
ple's fields around in the country are running away with grass. Some men go to town
and try to get hands. The colored men will ask, '' In what part of the country do you
live?"' The man will mention such and such a place. Tbey will say, "We can't go
down there ; the Ku-Klux is down there. If it wasn't for the Ku-Klux we would go :

down and work for you." -I
Qiiefitio)). Are there many white republicans in your county?
Answer. Nu, sir; 1 do not suppose there are over four or five. In the city of Alliens

the man who attends the post office, I tiiink. is a republican ; then be has got two or
three sons who are clerks in the post office ; then tliere is the tax collector. They are

'—*'epublicans ; they vote the republican ticket.

QiiesUoit. Have you ever known colored men to be whipped for leaving the planta-
tions upon which tiiey Imd been Avorking?

Answer. I have heard of their being threatened ; they were told that if they did not
go back and go to work, these men would come and beat them to death some night. Some
of them would go to the houses where the colored men were living off to themselves,
and tell them if tbey did not leave there and go to some white man's jard and live, they
would come in on them some night and kill them.

Question. Do the colored people generally obej^ such orders?
Answer. Some of them get scared. I beard of a case in Jackson County, which

adjoins Clarke County. In that case one or two families left their houses and went to
3c>me white man's yard to live. They complain that tbey do not know what to do;
that they are afraid on account of the Ku-Klux. Then the citizens will tell them,
'' Come to my bouse and stay, and I'll be bound they won't pester you."

Qitesiion. Y<ni live in the county of Clarke?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Quesi'iMi. Do you know anything about the condition of things in "Walton County?
Answer. 1 have heard of several whi])ping spells out there by the Ku-Klux. A colored

man came to Atlanta a day or two before 1 left there, and said that be came in because
he was aiiaid.

Question. How is it in Jackson County ?

Answer. Two or three families moved down to Athens from Jackson County two or
three months ago.

Question. On account of the Ku-Klux?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Questio)!. Did they report any whippings?
Ansn-cr. Yes, sir; they said they whipped one; and one who had moved to Athens

and brought his family had been shot at, I think; but they missed him.
Question. How is it in Madison County?
Answer. I have not heard of any particular whipping spell in Madison County. I

have beard of the Ku-Klnx being out there deviling people. I have not heard much
about Madison ; I don't suppose there has been much of it done there.

Question. Does the riding round of these men in disguise terrify the colored people,
whether tbey commit any acts of violence or not ?

Ansiver. Sometimes they ride round there and never pester anybody at all—just go
by the house and wake the colored people up and let them see them. Sometimes
they come in and take a gun or pistol away from them, or powder, if they have any.

Question. Have they generally disarmed the colored people in that section ?

Ansxrcr. Sometimes they jusi go through the country and never do anything but taL'Q

guns and pistols away from the colored people.
Question. How is it in Oglethorpe County?
Answer. The same way.
Question. Have you heard of anything of the kind in Morgan County?
Answer. Yes, sir ; it is the same way in Morgan.
Question. And Greene?
Ansu'er. Yes, sir.

Question. And those counties that border on Clarke?
Answer. Yes, sii*.

Question. How is it in Wilkes County ?
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Aitsirer. I do not kuow anything about it in Wilkes—wlicther they are doing any-
thing there or not. I have heard of" a great deal ol" ontrage and whipying in Taliaferro
County and in Warren County. Taliaferro, I reckon, is a hundred miles from my
place.

Qiicufion. From what is said generally by these men while going around whipping
colored jieople or parading through the countrj^, and from your knowledge of the kind
of men they are, is it your opinion that their ol)ject is to iireveut the colored peoj^le
from voting the republican ticket?

Aiifiicer. Yes, sir; they intend to do it till they get the government in their own
hands. They say that if they had started soon enough Grant never would have been
elected, and IkiUock never would have had his seat as governor.

Quisiioii. Do those persons to v.hom you have spoken at the capital of your State,
and who report the condition of affairs in other sections, have the same impressions?

Aiinicc): Yes, sir, it is about the same thing.
Question. Have you talked it over with them?
Answer. Yes, sir ; that is the chat wdien we are together ; that is the first thing we

name when w^e meet one another—to find ont how times are in their counties, and to
report from our counties.

Question. Do they say that the object of the organization is to influence the colored
Tote ?

Answer. Yes, sir, all say the same thing.
Question. Do tliese tlisguised men talk about voting when they are committing their

outrages ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qiiesfiofi. On the days of election, do any of these disguised men make their appear-
ance at the ballot-boxes or around the jjolls f

Ansxcer. No, sir.

Question. Do you see any violence on the days of election ?

Answer. No, sir; not at our polls; we never have had any trouble at all.

Question. Your idea is that the intimidation is done beforehand ?

Answer. Yes, sir, it is done beforehand.
Question. To keej) the colored men from coming there ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. This intimidation is carried on at night by these men in disguise?
Answer. Yes, sir. I recollect now there was one man shot in the day-time—the day

of the presidential election. A mjin by the name of Mitchell Stroud was shot in the day-
time ; he was shot through the hand ; he was going to town to vote.

Question. Have you heard of any instances where men have gone to a man's house
and left a warning with his wife that he had better not go to the election?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. You have heard of nothuig of that sort being done in the day-time ?

Answer. No, sir, I have heard of nothing said in the day-time at all, that I know of,

concerning going to the polls.

Question. Have you heard of any instances where neighbors, without any disguise,
would go in the day-time and, as a friendly act, give such warning?

Answer. Yes, sir; they would advise them to vote their way.
Question. Would they advise them that it would not be safe to go to the election and

vote the republican ticket?
Answer. They would say to them, "You had better vote the democratic ticket; we

are your friends now, and it is not worth while for you to vote to put in power these
men from the North who do not care as much about you as we do."

Question. Do they tell them at the same time that they will be safe from the Ku-Klux
if they will do so?

Answer. They don't tell them so right out. They say that they will have no trouble.
They say they don't know who the Ivu-Klux are, but if they will do that, they Avill

not be in any danger from the Ku-Klux.
Question. You say that men who are known do this in the day-time?
Answer. Yes, sir ; men who are known tell the colored people they know nothing

about the Ku-Klux-Klan, but that they are just after those; who are going ahead in

politics, pretend to be leaders in politics, that they are not after anybody else; and
they say, "Just let politics alone, have nothing to do wifli it, don't vote at all if you
can't vote any other sort of a ticket than the republican ticket, have nothing to do with
it, and you will have no trouble."

Question. You said that these disguised men spoke of being men who had been killed
at Manassas. Do they pretend to be persons who have risen from the grave ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is their chat. They took aman that lived right close to mo
and carried him two or three miles from town, hunting a woman that had rnn away
fVotn the i)art of the country where they came from, eight or ten miles oil'. They
asked him who ho belonged to before the war. He told them he belonged to Carton
Thrasher, but that Barton Thrasher was dead now. One of the men said " Oh, yes ; he
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is doad : I saw him the other day ; I am just from hell ; I saw Barton Tlirasher tliere.

I was killed at Manassas. I just came out of the grave to-iiight. 1 see Barton Thrasher
every day or two."

(Jucstion. Do you know whether these men have places of meeting ? Do you hear of
tbef asscnibling together at particular places

?

Answer. Well, I am not certain where they have met ; but I heard a man say they
nu't at Fontenoy Mills. I do not know whether it is so or not. I have never been
down there. I saw a man down tlie railroad the other day who told me they came
thyre every week ; that he saw their horses hitched there, covered with white cloth.

Queslion. Do they disguise their horses ?

Ansivn: Yes, sir ; they liave a white cloth spread over the horses.
Queslion. So that the horses cannot bo recognized ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know whether they h.ave divided themselves into separate camps

—

whether part of the men belong to one camp under one commander, and part to
another ? Have you heard anything about that ?

Answer. No, sir; I never heard of it.

Quesfion. You do not know anything about the inside working of the organization ?

Answer. Xo, sir; not a thing.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Did you say that, in your opinion, your case is the only political case you
have heard of as occurring in the county of Clarke f

Answer. Yes, sir, so far as I can recollect.

Question. All the other cases in your county were matters of private quarrel?
Ansii'er. Yes, sir

;
private quarrels.

Question. You know nothing, of your own knowledge, of any of the facts that you
have stated as occurring in couuties other than your own? You only know what you
have heard [)eople say ?

Answer. That is what I hear people say about surrounding counties.
Question. Your county- is all you know anything about yourself?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In your opinion, your case is the only political case that has occurred in
your county ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I think my case was the only political case, so far as I know
People have said they approach' them about voting when they first get hold of them.
They tell them about voting as soon as they get hold of them.

Question. That is what other j)eople tell you?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. These men never mentioned to you anything about voting in their talk
with you on the night they visited you ?

Answer. Xo, sir ; they did not say anything to me ; they just cursed me, and com-
menced shooting me.

Question. When they iirst came after you, you went out from the place where you
lived, and heard them asking this old man where you lived, and how you were tixed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was his name?
Answer. Charles W^atson.
Question. Did they accuse him then of having stolen a beef?
Answer. I did not hear tliem say anything about the beef; this chat about the be«f

came out alterward—a day or two after the fuss was over. The news came then that
they were not after me ; that they came there after Charles W^atson for stealing a beef.

Question. They did not on that night go to your house ?

Answer. Xo, sir; they were on the way to my house.
Question. How many were there in your party?
Anstccr. About four of us ran up Iirst, and I think there were thirty or forty coming

up behind us. They heard us coming, and they broke and ran.
Question. Were you all armed ?

A7isiver. Those who were with me were. As to the others, some were armed and
some were not.

Question. Did you shoot the man in the field ?

Answer. I shot at the man in the road; he was walking alongside of the fence.

Question. Did you shoot him ?

Ansteer. I never hit him.
Question. Was no one of them shot that night ?

Answer. There was a man shot that night; but they said the Ka-KIux shot hiia
There was a man wounded that night iu the eye.

Question. One of their fellows ?

Ansjver. Yes, sir; but he said the Ku-Klux shot him.
Question. What was his name ?
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Ansuwr. His name ^vas Malcora ; I think it was Georgo Malcom; lie lives in Walton
Connty, lif'tecn or eighteen luilos from wlicre I livo.

Question. How long alter this night when you had the shooting with them did they
come to your Ijoiise ?

Jiisircr. 1 suppose it was about tliree or four weeks ; five or six weeks, I reckon.
(^>(ic!ition. Were any of those men who were at your house identified afterward, in any

way "?

Jnsicc7\ No, sir; none that I know of particularly. People said they knew pretty

well who they were. Some people told mo they knew pretty well who some of t^iem

were; but they were afraid to say anything—afraid they would get killed.

(Juestio)t. What white man was it who told you that if you voted the democratic
ticket you would be safe, and that you would not be unless you did ?

jinsiver. Dickeu was one.

Question. Is he a democrat ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Does he live in the county of Clarke ?

Anmrr. Yes, sir, lie was living thei'e.

Question. Do you tell this committee that he said to you that >-our only chance to be
safe was to vote the democratic ticket ?

Answer. No, 1 do not think lie said it was my only chance of being safe. He told me
if I would turn and vote that w%'iy, I would be always protected—would always do
well, and never snffei- for anything.

Question. Did yon understand him to tell you that you could not live there unless

you did vote the democratic ticket ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; he did not tell me I could not live there if I did not vote that way.
Question. Did any white man ever tell you that you could not live there unless you

votf^l the democratic ticket? If so, tell who it was.
An^W(r. No, sir; none ever told me 1 could not Ha'c there without voting Ihedemo-

cralic ticket.

Qnestiov. Did you ever hear any white man tell any person that he could not live

there in safety unless he voted the democratic ticket ?

Ans^oei-. No, sir; I iiever heard anybody tell them that.

Question. Did you yourself ever liear anybody threatened with any wrong to his per-

son or property if he did not vote that way ? If so, give us the names of the men who
made such threats. Did you ever know any one threaten anybody with any harm if

he did not change his politics frcmi republican to democratic'?
Ansiver. None, except what I was si)eaking of a while ago.

Questiw>r. Did you hear that yourself?
Ansu-er. No, sir.

Question. I am asking you as to what you know yourself.

Answer. 1 do not know about it myself.

Qnestio-n. Can yoir give us the name of any white man Avhom you have heard threaten
anybody f

Ansicer. No, sir; I never heai'd them threaten anybody.
Question. You do not know yourself of any such threats ?

Answer. No more than what they tell me that they say to them.
. Question. That is, what you get from other people ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; all I tell you outside of my own case is just what other people tell

me who have been whipi)ed and come in there. Some come in who are laid up and
cripi^hid, and th(\y tell me that.

Question. You spoke of men saying that if they had begun tJiis thing sooner Grant
never would have been elected ; did you ever hear any white man say that?

Ansicer. That is the chat among the colored people there ; they tell me that.

Question. Did you ever hear anybody say that?
Answer. No, sir; never myself.
Question. Then I understand that all you have been telling about is what has been

said ; the fears and apprehensions and threats are what you get from other people ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. No part of which you have ever heard yourself from anybody whose name
you can giv(^ ?

Answer. No, sir; I was not present myself at any of these talk.s.

Question. Who is the judge of the circuit court in the county of Carke ?

Answer. Charles Davis.
Question. Are your grand juries made up of white and black?
Answer. No, sir; they are all white.
Question. They will not allow black men to sit on a jury in Clarke Coiinty, and the

jurymen are all white ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And all your officers are white men ?

Answer. Y'es, sir.
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Question. How many couutios are in Judoe Daviis'.s circuii; ?

Jtiswe)\ Three.
Queslion. What are they ?

Answer. Jacksou, Chuke, and Walton.
Question. You mentioned some white man avIio talked to yon on the day befoi'e you

were attacked ; what was his name ?

Ansirer. John Thrashei'.

Question. What did he say to yon?
Answer. Ho tokt me he had known mo a knig time: that he wanted to tell me some-

thing that he thought would make me .sale, or get mo out of .some trouble in some way.
He said ho had heard them talking around that they intended to kill mo or make me
leave, one or the other; and he said that they tried to get him to join the party to go
help do it, but he .said he was above such things as that; he did not want to have any-
thing to do with it. I told him I did not know why they had anything against me

—

why they wanted to do anything to me. He said, "They say you are making too much
here ; you are running a grocery and making more money than some of the white men,
and they do not intend to allow it." He said, " It is a parcel of low-down fellows that
begrudge it to you ; I would just as soon buy from you as anybody; but some of them
about here are after yon, and are going to have you if yon don't mind."

Que-^iion. Even in your owu case, there was some other feeling besides politics mixed
up with the ditKculty?

Answer. No feeling outside of what this mau Thrasher said that they said—that I

Avas making too much there ; that is all the feeling I could understand. I questioned
the citizens all around town, and none of them could tiud anything at all that they
thought tiiese men had against me.

By Mr. Coburx :

Question. You were talking about having seen men who had been thrashed and
injured; did you ever examine their Avounds ?

Answer. I have looked at the lashes; sometimes they would tnke off their clothes
and show me the marks.

Question. How many persons have you seen in that way?
Ansirer. Jim Elder and Abe Colby ; I also saw a fellow with a hole shot in the side

fif his head. •
Question. These men whom yon name, how were they injured ?

Answer. They were whipped.
Question. You saw the stripes ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question Did you see anybody else who was wounded or iu any way injured?
A ns^cer. Well, I saw persons, but never examined the wounds of every one of them

;

there was ouly one or two that I examined the wounds of.

Question. Describe the wounds that you yourself received.
Answer. I have a ball in my right arm and two in the right side.

Question. Where in the side ?

Answer. Right above the hip-bone.
Question. Did the ball come out ?

'

Answer. No, sir-; it is in there now.
Question. Where did the other ball go iu?
Answer. About six inches below the arm-pit. It ran around into the fleshy part and

stopped. The doctor probed for it, but said he had better let it stay there.

Question. Then two balls are now in your body?
Answer. Yes, sir; all three. The doctor said at first that the one in the arm had

glanced off, but it was sore some time, and he thought maybe it was there after all.

By the Chairm^vn (Mr. Pola:*id :)

Question. You have said that your case is the only political case you kadw of in your
county ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think my case is the only political case, as folks suppose. These
men never said anything to me about what they were shooting me for, but people sup-

pose it was on account of politics.

Question. There was no other reason?
Answer. No, sir; no other reason; that is what people thought was the reason, and I

thought so too.

Question. In these other cases in your county, do you say there has been nothing said

about how the persons attacked voted ?

Answer. 1 say they would speak to them about voting; that is the first thing they
would say when they commenced whipping them.

Question. Do you mean that remark to apply to these other cases in your county? Do
you mean to say that the men inquired iu the first place how the persons voted ?

Ansiver. Yes. sir.

2g
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Question. Do you uioau to say that there was nothing political in these other cases in

your county ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not say that there was not.

Question. But in most of 1 hem there had been some quarrel or some difficulty that

had something to do with the attack?
Answer. Yes, su'. Where women were whipped it was mostly on account of disputeal[

with their employers. When men were whipped, it originated sometimes from quarfj

reling ; and then when they got hold of them, the first word they would say to theuil

would bo, " How do you vote? Do you vote the radical ticket ? " They would tell theni|

that if they voted any other sort of a ticket than the democratic they would kill them.^

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. How many women have been whipped about there ?

Answer. I can not tell ; several women have been whipped.
Question. How do they whij) them ?

^Lnsn-er. They just strip them ; maybe they take a belt that they belt their pistols

around with, and strap them with it—buckle and all sometimes; and then they knock
them over the head with a pistol-stock or pistol-barrel.

(^hiestion. How do they stri^) thcni ? Do they strip all theirclothes off, or only partially?

Answer. Mostly when they come in the night the women have hardly any clothes

on ; they have all gone to bed ; they strip their clothes nearly all about off.

Question. Do they strip them naked ?

Anstrer. In several cases I never questioned particularly whether they stripped them
naked or not. They just stated the facts about lieing beaten, and I never asked them
whether they were stripped stark naked or not.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

(^)uestion. State precisely what has been said to yon in regard to your being better

oif or safer if you would change your politics and vote the other way.
Answei: 1 was telling yon a while ago about this man Dicken. He told me that if I

would turn my politics and go the other way, I would be better off'; that I could get

as much work as I wanted to do as long as I lived about there, and I could make a
fortune there—that 1 could make as much as I wanted to make.

Question. Has anything been said to you by anybody as to your safety from these

Ku-Kkix ?

Answer. No, sir; nothing at all more than they told me that I had belter leave there,

that they expected 1 would gvt killed if 1 staid there. Some of them told me that.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. You said that you did not know that they had at any time actually threat-

ened that if you did not vote the democratic ticket you would not be able to live there

in safety?
Ansiver. I do not understand the question.

Question. I understood you to say that you did not know any particular case in which
they told the colored iieoi)le that if thtjy did not vote the democratic ticket they could
not live there in safety ?

Answer None, only these disguised men ; they told them that if they voted any other
ticket besides the democratic ticket they would kill them or beat them.

Question. You have heard of its being put in this form: that if they would not vote
the republican ticket they could live there in safety f

Answer. Yes, sir; they told them not to have anything to do with politics at all—nolr

to vote at all.

Question. Then it is not so common for them to threaten them ?

Aiiswer. No, sir.

Question. The acts themselves terrify the colored people without threats ?

Answer. Yes, sir?

Question. But they tell them they can be free from those acts if they will vote tho
other way or will not vote at all ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

(Question. Then they do not threaten what they will do to a man if ho votes, but tell

liim that if he will not vote the republican ticket he will be free from such things.

Do you know whether thc^y have alleged as a reason for putting it in that form that
their purpose is to endeavor to evade the. law against threatening voters ?

^Answer. Yes, sir; to keep from being charged with intimidation.

Question. To evade the law ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. That is an inqtroveineiit they have adopted which they think will evade
the law against threatening voters?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. They let the acts stan<l for threats and then promise protection if tho
negroes will vote in a particular way?
Answer. Yes, sir.
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By Mr. Beck :

Quefition. Senator Pool asks you if you ]ciiow all these things, and you say, "Yea,
sir." Now, how do you know them ?

Ansicer. I thought he was asking me whether I supposed that was the notion or not
Question. The question was ])ut to you, " Do you know th6se things?"
Ansicer. I do not say that I know it for certain.

Question. Did yoix ever hear a white man say any such thing to anybody as Senator
Pool has just stated; if so, what white man f

Ansicer. I just answered him according to the way I thought he asked the cjuestion.

Question. Did you ever hear any white man say any such thing to anybody?
Ansicer. No, sir, I did not; I was oidy informed so and so.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Did you hear this from colored people Avho had been attacked by these

men ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you hear it generally from colored people who reported the attacks
upon them ?

Answer. Yes, sir; people wlio would come up with these wounds on them would say
so; they would come up for u)e to go with them to the justice of the peace, or to tho
governor, to get some protection, and they would tell me all about it, and I would go
with them.

Question. And it was from what those men said that you learned these things?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Washington, D. C, July 10, 1871.

C. D. FOESYTH sworn and examined.

By the Chapman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Where do you reside?

Answer. I reside at Eome, Georgia.

Question. How long have you resided there?
Answer. I have lived at Rome only about ouo year. I was raised within forty miles

of the place, however.
Question. You are a native of the State of Georgia?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And until within about a year you resided forty miles from Eome ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; in Paulding County.
Question. Do y.ou hold any ofdcial position, and if so, what?
Ansicer. I am solicitor general of the Eome judicial circuit.

Question. By your law do you have a solicitor or solicitor general in each judicial

circuit in the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you hold that position in the Eome circuit?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many counties compose your circuit?

Answer. Six counties.

Question. By virtue of this office you are the State prosecutor?
Answer. Yes, sir; the State's attorney.

Question. To what political party do you belong?
Answer. Well, sir, I have been acting witli the republican party since the war.
Question. Were you iu any way connected with either army during the rebellion ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. With which army ?

Answer. I was a captain iu the rebel army.
Question, During the entire war?
Answer. Yes, sir ; however, I did not hold that position all the time, bnt I was iu the

rebel army all the time.
Question. Were you in practice as a lawyer before the war?
Answer. No, sir; I was admitted to the bar only a few months before I went into tho

army. I was a young mau then, only twenty-one, about the time the war commenced,
Question. You had just been admitted to the bar at the outbreak of the war?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. The object of this inquiry is to ascertain the coudition of the country in the

late insurrectionary States, esjiecially in relation to the degree of order and peace

there, how far person and property are res]»ected, to what exteut there are unlawful

violations of either, and whether offenses of that character, if committed, are duly
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l>rosecntcd and puuisbed ; iiiid more especially wbetbcr in any poi-tion of tlae conntry
nulawful acts arc done to persons or property by bands of aruK^d men going about in

disguise. Will you now give us any information wbic^b you bave in relation to tbe
condition of affairs in your part of tbe State of Georgia, especially in your judicial cir-

cuit wbere your oliicial duties are ? »

Answer. Well, sir, I bave knov. n of some crimes being committed by parties in dis-

guise. If you require me to do so. I can give you a statement of wbat I know.
Question. Go rigbt on and state, witbout being inquired of, all tbat you know upon

tbat subject. 1 intended merely to give you an outline of our line of inquiry, and tbeii

bave you go on and make yoTir statement fully.

Amncei: Well, occupying tbe position I do, tbere bave been various reports made
to me.

Question. By tbe way, let me inquire bow long you bave belt! tliis otTicc of solicitor

general

?

Answer. A little more tban two years. As I was saying, various reports were made
to me, but I never got possession of any facts until last JMarcb. At tbe superior court

iu Cbattooga County, some parties represented to me Ibat tbere bad been some crimes
committed by bands of men in disguise ; and we laid a plan to capture some of tbe

Klan, and did get tbree of tbem, and I indicted tbem for robbery. Tbey bad taken some
guns and pistols from some colored people, and I convicted tbem of robbery, and tbey
were sentenced to tbe penitentiary for seven years eacb. 1 liad an interview witb
all tbe party after tbey were convicted ; bowever, tliere was only one

Question. Perbaps before going on witb tbat you bad better give us an account of

tbat transaction as fully as you understood it.

Answer. Tbe testimony developed on tbe trial sbowed tbat tbese parties went out in

disguise. 1 bad tbeir disguises iu court, a kind of black gown, and a black mask tbat

went over tbe face, witb places cut for tbe eyes, and some fantastic colors about it in

places to make it look frigbtful. Tbey went to tbe bouses of tbree different colored

men ; from one tbey took a gun, from auotber a pistol, and from anotber two pocket-
knives, I believe.

Question. Wben was tbat ?

Ansuer. Tbat was iu last January or February. Tbey also met a wbite man ou tbe
road, and took bis watcb from bim. I do not remember tbe names of tbe colored men,
but tbe uaTue of tbe wbite man from wbom tbej took tbe watcb was Enocb Pbant. 1

believe tboso were all tbe crimes tbey committed. I indicted tbem for robbery iu eacb
one of tbe cases.

Question. How large a body of men were tbere out at tbat time ?

Answer. It appeared from tbe testimony tbat tbere were only five men iu tliat party

tbat any of tbe witnesses saw. After conviction one of tbe i^arties stated to me that

tbey belonged to a regular organization of tbat sort ; tbat one of tbeir party bad been
taken out of a calaboose T>y tlie organization a week or two before tbat, wbere be bad
been confined for some minoi- offense.

(luesiion. Taken out by force, rescued ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; be gave me tbe names of some persons tbat be said belonged to the

orgauizatioir—a great many of tbem ; some per.sonstbat did belong to it, and some tbat

did not ; that is my opinion about it.

Question. State all tbat lie said to you about it ?

Answer. He said to me tbat ho did not know anything about tbe extent of tbe organi-

zation. I endeavored as much as possible to get at tbe root of tbe thing ; but he stated

that he did not know anything about tbe extent of tbe organization, that he simply
knew that there was an organization in his militia district, and tlmt he bad been with
parties from one or two other militia districts ; tbat he understood tbere was an organi-

zation of tbat sort in each militia distiict. I do not know anything that would sub-

stantiate what he said, except in one case. There is one militia district in my county
in which he represented that tbe Klan from that district was witb him on a certain

night previous to the time of the crimes which were committed, and for which he was
convicted. I bave found since tbat some of the men be reported to me as belonging to

it bave been committing crimes in tbe same way. One man, I think John Penny—

I

know his name is Penny, but I am not so certain about tbe given name—one of those

wbom be told me belonged to tbe Klan, I managed to get an interview with, by
making a promise to bim tbat be would not be prosecuted. I got bim to come to towu
and see me in a private room ; and bo there told me that he did belong to the Klan,

and he acknowledged having been with a party that committed some other crimes in

the county in which I live. As soon as the men connected with it found that I had
had an interview with this Penny tbey all rau off, and left the country, so tbat I have

• not been able to capture any of them yet.

Question. Did any of these men tell you anythuig about the manner of the organiza-

tion, any particulars about it ?

Answer. No, sir ; they neither one knew, or tbey said they did not know, about how
it was organized. -Tbey said it was tbe understanding with tbem tbat there was such
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ail orgauization, but all they kuew about it was that tliey had to obey without any
questiou the orders brought to them.

Question. Did this organization to which they belonged have officers?

Jnsiver. Yes, sir; they had a captain, and that was the extent of their knowledge

;

in both of these militia districts I tesitify about there was a ca])tain of a Ivlau ; as to
the organization al>ove tliat, they did not themselves have any knowledge.

Qitistioii. They knew there was souk; organization above them, from which they re-

ceived tlieir orders 1

jlmurr. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you learn from either of those, or from l)oth of tlieni, liow long this

order had existed tliere, or when it conmienced ?

Ansicer. No, sir ; I do not remember that they told me about that.

Question. How early did you tirst hear of these bands of disguised men being seen in

your part of the State, in your circuit ?

j4«.s)r«\ AVell, sir, it has been nearly two years.

Question. When it commenced f

Answer. Yes, sir; when I lirst heard of them.
Question. Did they begin to commit outrages, unlawful acts, as early as that?
Avsu-er. I do not think they did ; 1 did not hear of any at first. The first unlawful

act that I remember
Question. What did you hear about that ; what was the first indication of their com-

mitting unlawful acts?

Answer. Well, sir, the first indication that I remember was that they would get to-

gether in disguised bands and go around through the neighborhood and frighten the
colored people ; they gave several persons in the country written notices prescribing to

them the manner in which they should conduct themselves, and if they did not, stating

that they would have to leave the country, ^c. That was the first thing I heard of
their doing.

Question. What was the substance of these notices, and to whom were they given?
Answer. The main thing that was at the bottom of it was simjily this, what the

southern people call negro equality. If a man there was in favor of universal suffrage

he made himself very obnoxious to the people; and if he is in favor of it, it is best

for him to keep it to himself.

Question. And these notices were given to that class of men ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Can you state the substance of the notices, whether they were to leave the

country, or to leave oft" talking about negro sufii-age, and to quit supporting it '?

Answer. To leave otf talking about negTo suffrage, and to quit supporting it.

Question. About how soon did they begin to commit acts of violence anywhere?
Answer. Well, sir, I think that in" last January and February the first cases of vio-

lence were reported to me, about the time this robbery was committed. There was a
colored man in the sarue county by the name of Jourdau Ware

Question. Eight there in regard ito'that case, what were the particulars ?

Ansicer. He was a colored man. With us, colored men frequently have difterent

names ; his name has been published in the papers as Green Foster, hut Jourdan Ware
was the name I used in trying to get an indictment.

Question. That was the name he went by ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. State all the circumstances which you learned about the manner of the

outrage connuitted ujion him.
Answer. The negro had belonged to Green Foster's father ; Green Foster is the young

man who gave me a statement of the facts. These men went to his house and repre-

sented themselves as being Union soldiers, and that they were going around the coun-

try to organize a counter organization to the Ku-Klux ; and this boy agreed to go into

the organization.
Question. This colored man ?

Answer. Yes, sir, this colored man. He started on with them, and went off some con-

siderable distance, perhaps a half a mile, from the house, and then they killed him.

Question. Was that a body of men' in disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you understand about how large a force that band consisted of?

Answer. Xo, sir ; Mr. Foster gave me the names of about seven or eight that he supposed

Avere with the Klan that night, but there were a large number of others that he had no
idea who thev were. Judge Wright, a gentleman from Georgia, who is now here, can

testifv all about the facts if vou can get them from him, for he was employed by the

father of one of the boys engaged in the killing, for they thought we were going to

make arrests some six weeks ago. Judge Wright got possession of all the facta from

him.
Question. Did you understand that there was any allegation against this colored man

that he had done anything ?
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Answer. No, sir ; Mr. Foster reprcseiitccl to me that ho was a very good kind of a
man, that thero was nothing against him.

QueMioit. But he was ready td join in with tlie hand against the Ku-Khix?
Jnswei: Yes, sir.

«

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. Was that the pretext or excuse which they gave for killing him ?

Ansiver. I suppose it was. They called there and pretended to be Union soldiers, and
got him off under that pretext away from the house.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Quesiion. You have heard of no other reason alleged for that murder except that?
Answer. No, sir.

Quesiion. Y'ou undertook to prosecute some persons that you supposed were engaged
in the killing of that man?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir.

Question. When was that ?

Answci: At our last court in ChattK>oga County ; but I failed in this way, I was not
able to get the names of the parties.

Question. You could not identify them ?

Answer. No, sir; I could not identify them.
Question. You got possession of the names of several jiersous that you supposed, or

that somebody supjjosed, were in it?

Anstve>: Yes, sir ; and one or two of them have left the State ; there is no doubt they
were the parties, but I could noi make the proof.

Question. When did those persons leave^
Answei: I think about six weeks ago ; not longer than two months ago.

Quesiion. About the time you were trying to get a bill against them ?

Ansiver. No, sir, some time afterward ; I was still ferreting the matter out.

Question. Y^ou were still pursuing it.

Answer. Y'es, sir ; with a pretty tair prospect, I think, of getting at the facts. They
left, and perhaps now I never will get the facts.

Question. Can you state any other instance; are t^iere any other instances where
persons have been killed by these bands?

Answer. Y'es, sir ; there was one other case in' my circuit reported to me a short time
before I left home, where a negro was killed in Haralson County by a band of disguised
men. I have not been there, but a gentleman from that county came up and let me
know.

Question. Wluit did he say ?

Answer. He said that there was a party of men came to his house and killed him that
night ; that ho knew no reason why it was done. He reported that the people in the
county were very much outraged, and were going" to hold a meeting and condemn the
action of the Klan, which I think it is likely they will do. I believe that county is

considered to be more loyal to the Government than most of the other counties in my
circuit.

Question. Have yon information of any other acts of violence committed by these
bodies of disguised men that did not result in death ?

Answer. None, except what this man Penny stated to me. He told me that the party
that he belonged to had taken some guns from some colored people, and that they
whipped one; I think they took two or three gnus, and whipped one colored man.

Question. What was the object of taking the guns away from these colored men ?

Answer. Well, sir, he gave no reason for it.

Quesiion. Why did they whip this man ?

Ansiver. He gave no reason for it at all. Ho said that they went there and were look-

ing for guns and pistols, and taking them away from the negroes, and this one said

something they did not like, and one of the men whipped him.
Question. He whs not civil ?

Answer. So ho said.

Question. And they whipped him ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you stated all the instances of violence by these bands in yoiu' circuit

that you have any kuijwledge of ?

Answer. All that I have any knowledge of; I have heard rumors of others, but I do
not have any reliable information of any others.

Question. You succeeded in convicting three of the men that were engaged in this

taking away of guns, &.c.?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Quesiion. Will you state the names of the counties that compose'your judicial circuit ?

Answer. They are Floj'd, Walker, Chattooga, Haralson, and Paulding.
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By Mr. Beck :

Question. In Avliich one is Rome ?

Answer. It is iu Floyd Couuty.

By the Chaikmax, (Mr. Poland :

)

Question. Can you give any opinion, other than you have given, in rehitioiii to the
extent of this organization?
Answer. Well, sir, my oi)inion is that the organisation is thorough throughout the

State, or at least it has been.
Question. How lately have they appeared anywhere ?

Answer. Well, sir, I have heard of some within the last three weeks.
Question. You have heard of their being abroad iu bands and in disguise ?

A)tswer. Yes, sir.

Question. Now, from what you have observed, and Crom what you have heard. Avhat,

in your opinion, is the object and purpose of the organization f

Ansxcer. That is a very hard question to answer.
Question. You probably have a judgment and an opinion about it, formed upon what

you have seen aud heard ?

Answer. My opinion is that the order was gotten up and is kept up, as a rule, by the
men who are disfranchised; that is my o\»inion. I think that it is the purpos(^ of the
organization to control the colored population. There is a kind of vague notion with
a great many people in the countiy, and it is an honest conviction with them, that they
are in danger from the colored population. As a general thing, when persons there at-

tempt to justify the operations of this Klan they do it ui)on that theory, that it is ne-
cessary to keep the colored people down to keep them iu subordination. And my opin-
ion is that that is the ground of the whole of it. The idea of the liberation of the
slaves, and the conferring upon them univtrsal suffrage, is so obnoxious to the people
of that eountrj' that I think that is the cause of the whole of it.

Question. In your judguient, is it designed to have an effect upon them to deter them
from exercising the right of suffrage; to make them afraid to vote?

Ansirer. I do not know of any act that has been done that would justify me in saying
that they had deterred and intimidated any one from voting.

Question. No direct instance of that kind?
Answer. No, sir; no direct instance.
(lueslion. I speak of its general purpose. What has been the behavior and deport-

ment of the colored people as a class since thej^ were enfranchised ? In your judgment,
is there any foundation for any fear that they will invade the rights of the white
people ?

Answer. Their conduct has generally been good, better than I expected. I do not
think there is any danger whatever of any violence or injury from the colored race

toward any person.
Question. Has anything been done by them -to afford any fair ground of fear of that,

in j'our judgment?
Ansu-er. Nothing as a race, or as a class. There have been some very heinous crimes

committed by colored people, and they have committed a great many crimes ; but I

have never failed to be able to convict them.
Question. There has been no difficulty in any case in putting the law in force where

the colored man has committed a crime?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. What has been the effect of the operations of these bands of men upon the

colored people ; what state of feeling has it produced among them ?

Answer. Well, sir, the colored people are more or less iu fear from the operations of
this Klan, less disposed to take any iiart in public affairs of any sort.

Question. Yon think it has produced a fear among them that deters them from exer-

cising their political rights?
Answer. I do.

Question. Have any of them moved away, gone f^way, on that account ?

Ansiver. None that I know of.

Question. Have you heard of the operations of these bands of disguised men in your
State beyond the limits of your circuit ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. In other parts of the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; 1 have heard of them in various parts of the State.

Question. Are their operations in other jdaces of a similar character to what they
have been in your circuit?

Answei: Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know whether, as a general rule, so far as you have any informa-

tion upon the subject, the offenses committed by these armed bodies of men in other

places have been i)rosecuted and punished?
Answer. I have not heard of any case of conviction. I suppose that those I have

myself convicted are all that have been convicted in the State.
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Question. Do you think that in that coiumnnity tli(!re is any indisposition to testify

through fear—to give information against these bands on account of the fear produced
l)y them?

AiinHTi: I think tliat has been the case to a very considerable extent, and it is yet to

some extent. But in my circuit lam satisfied now tliat I have tlu^ coo])eratiou of most
of the otlicei-s of the court. I have hiboi'i'd to that end and I think I have succeeded.

Question. Do you have the cooperation of the conunuuity ?

Jnswer. \\'ell, sir, they are dividcid.

Question. How divided ?

Answer. There is a i)ortion of the people who are very anxious to see the Klan
broken up and to see these parties punished, while there are some, of course, that will

justify it.

Quefition. ralliate it or excuse it?

.insu-er. Yes, sir.

Que.stion. And is that portion of the community indisposed to give any aid to ferret

out these parties and punish them ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they wiU'uot give any assistance whatever in the way of informa-
tion or otherwise.

Question. Does the opinion in relation to the projiriety of putting down this organi-
zation and stopping its outrages partake, to any extent, of a political character?

Answer. The question stands in this way now: All of the i-epublican jiarty are in

favor of putting it down, and there is a division in the democratic party. A great
many good men in the democratic party are in favor of ijutting it down, and have
cooperated with me in trying to do so in my circuit.

Question. How about the other portion ?

Answer. Well, sir, the other portion would cover up everything they can for them.
I presume that most of the others belong to it, or have some of their families or friends
in it ; that is my oiiinion.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. You said that you have convicted two or three of these parties?
Answer. Three.
Question. What has been done with them?
Answer. They were sentenced to the penitentiary.

Question. For what length of time ?

Ansiver. Seven years each.
Question. Have they been sent there ?

Answer. Two of them have been, so I have been told. I know that I sent the men
to Atlanta, and I know that two of them are in the penitentiary.

Question. Where is the other one?
Answer. The other one is still in jail at Atlanta.
Question. Why has he not been sent to the penitentiary?
Ansiver. I requested the governor to keep him there in order that I might use him as

a witness in case I could capture any of the others; and he has kept him' there for that
purpose.

Question. Was there any manifestation of resistance to the execution of the law in

sending these men to the penitentiary ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was there any effort to release them from jail?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. What was the character of these three men outside of these transactions
for which they were convicted?

Ansiver. I am not acqtiainted with their character.

(Juesiion. Are they ignorant men ?

.Answer. Yes, sir; they are illiterate men.
Question. Are they men of any means ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. What are their ages ?

Ansiver. They are all yoimg men, perhaps not far from twenty, twentj'-one, or twenty-
two, somewhere along there ; I am merely guessing at that.

Question. To what political party do they belong ?

.inswer. I do not know.
Question. Were there any extraordinary efforts made to defend them in court ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they had very able counsel, the btist there was in tlie circuit.

Question. How many lawyers appeared for them ?

i Answer. Two.
Question. The l)est in the circuit ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Were those lawyers assigned them by the court ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Was there jiuytliiiig outside of what the lawyers did—anj' mauifestations

amoujj; the ])eople tliere, and the h'adin,t>- men there—to help them ?

An.itccr. Kotliing that 1 observed. There seemed to be a lair legal trial ; iiothing

imjiroper about it on either side.

(fiitcsttoii. Were others ou trial for the same offense at the same time and in the same
eourt'?

Anmver. None for erimes committed in disj^uise except these three 'jieu.

Question. Did you eonvict them )iy outsitle testimony or l>y testimony of jiersous

tliat belonged to the order ?

Answer. By outside testimony.

Question. Nobody confessed that he belon<^ed to the order .'

Answer. No, sir; I had the property that had been taken from the parties and their

disguises, ^vhich I used in evidence in court.

By the Ciiaikmax, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. The confession this young iium nuide to you was since the trial ?

Answer. After conviction.

Question. He is the one you have retained in jail ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he is the one I have retained in the Atlanta jail.

By Mr. Pool:

Question. You say j'ou have heard of other outrages in different parts of the State
committed by these men in disguise ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are the victims members of one party ?

Answer. I cannot tell you anything about their political standing. I merely hear of
parties going through the country and committing crimes in disguise; I am not ac-
quainted with the men.

Question. Did you ever know one of these outrages to be committed upon a white
man f

Ansiccr. I have heard of it.

Question. Whipping?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know the politics of the parties who were victims of these outrages
in your circuit?

Answer. I think I do pretty generally.

Question. Are the victims all of one party ?

Answer. I am not positive about this nuiu Phant ; all the others I know belong to
the republican party.

Question. What was the case of this mau Phant ?

Answer. I do not know whether he was a democrat or a republican.
Question. Was he whipped ?

Answer. No, sir ; they took his watch away from him.
Question. Is there a state of intimidation among the republicans there—a feeling of

dread and terror—on account of these things ?

Answa: Not among the white republicans, that I know of; that is, I have not had
any fear.

Question. Is there among the colored people ?

Ansicer. I think there is.

Question. You said the effect of this was to keep them from taking any part in pub-
lic affairs?

AnJiwer. Yes, sir.

Question. You do not know whether such is the intention ?

Ansiftr. I do not.

Question. Did the man who made the confession to you say anything about that,
whether it was to keep negroes from voting, or anything of that kind?

Ansirer. No, sir.

Question. Did either of them give the obligation taken by the order?
Answer. One did ; he could not tell all the obligation, not the exact language of it,

but \ui went over what he remembered. The principal part of it was that they should
obey all orders without question or investigation ; that whenever an order came they
Avere to execute it. They were also bound by their obligation to be subject to the call

of the captain of their district, to meet when notified, and to keep secret everything
that was done.

Question. Was anything intimated as to what was the purpose?
Answer. No, sir; nothing more than what I have already stated.
Question. To accomplish what ?

Answer. They represented that it was to keep the negroes in subordination
Question. To keep them down?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.
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Qiicsfion. You say that tlierc was notliiug on the jihrt of the negroes, in their con-

duct, that would warrant any such movement ?

AtiKWcr. Nothing as a race.

Question. They have been orderly and peaceable ?

yl n siccr. Generally

.

Question. Except in individual cases?
Au.su-cr. Yes, sir.

Quratiou. Have you known a great many negroes to bo taken from their houses and
whipped "i Have you heard it IVom reliable authority?

Jusii-cr. Yes, sir.

Question. Any killed ?

Jnmver. I have heard of their being killed.

Question. You have heard of these men riding about iu their disguises, displaying
themselves in the night-time?

-J/fsH'cr. Yes, sir.

Quexiion. With arms ?

Answer. I do not know about their arms; sometimes they have arms, and sometimes
not, at least none that could be seen.

Qucfition. Do you suppose taking the negroes from their houses and whipping them
at night, outraging them in that way, is calculated to allay any bad feeling the negroes
might have against the white j^jeople, or otherwise?

Answer. My opinion is that it would have a tendency to make them worse.
Question. To make them worse?
Ansiver. That is, if the negroes had any resentment. That is the position I have

taken all the time, that it was a bad way to control the negroes.
Question. Would it not bo likelj' to stir them up to take revenge by burning houses,

barns, &c. ?

Answer. It is reasonable to suppose that it would; Ijut there has been nothing of
that sort.

Question. No burnings of houses or barns there?
Anstver. None in my circuit.

Question. Is your circuit democratic or republican ?

Answer. Democratic.
Question. Are the county officers democrats?
Answei: Yes, sir; except in Haralson County, where they are republicans.
Question. No excuses that improper officers have been elected have been assigned as

a reason for such things?
,

Answer. I have known of no corruption on the part of officers.

Question. The democrats have full control of everything ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. There has been no burning of barns?
Answer. None that I have heard of.

Question. The negroes have been orderly?
Ansiver. Generally so.

Question. You say you have had no difficulty iu having the law executed npon
negroes, when individuals of that race have committed outrages ?

Answer. No, sir.

Qneslion. No difficulty about it ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; none at all.

Question. Your difficulty has been iu executing the law upon white men who have
commit ti3d these outrages ?

Anstvcr. The difficulty has been in identifying them; I believe I could convict the
men if I could identify them.

Que'-tion. Suppose you had the assistance of the better part of the community
earnestly given, would you not be able to ferret them out in all probability, and
identify them ?

Answn: I think I would.
Question. Tlie reason why they cannot be identified is because a great p.art of the

white peoJ)l(^ do not help with earnestness to ferret them out and pursue them ?

Answer. Well, sir, I caniu)t regard the Ku-Klux Klan as being the better part of the
community ; I think it is the bad j)art.

Q^uestion. The bad i)art of the counuunity?
Ansiver. I do, most assuredly.
Question. Do you thiuk any good men belong to it ?

Answer. I think some good men have belonged to it, but I believe they have quit it

;

I do not l)elieve there is any good man in it now.
Question. I mean men who had a tiiir character before, and in regard to other acts.

Answer. I think there aro-men who have got some standing in the community belong-
ing to it.

Question. And some influence ?
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Ansiver. Yes, sir.
jj

Question. You think tliere is still another class of men of more influence that encourage
it and in some tlegreo direct its operations ?

Anstvir. Yes, sir ; I think that is tlie case to some extent.

Qucsiioiu Men of still better standing?
Ansicer. I think there are some men of considerable influence in the country ^Yho

stand back behind and sort of govern the thing and encourage it.

Queslion. What is the politics of tliose men?
A)i8ircr. Well, they run in the democratic line, all of them that I have any suspicion

of having a,ny connection with the Klan.
Qiu'siion. Do you know any republican who encourages this thing?
Ausivcr. No, sir.

Question. Do they oppose it in a body and denounce it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question . You find no difficulty in identifying negroes and bringing them to justice

when they commit crimes ?

Ansiccr. No, sir; I have had no trouble at all in convicting them. .

Question. Is your judge a democrat?
Atisicer. Well, no ; he is not a democrat, he has hardly got any politics. He was

apx^ointed by Governor Bullock, the republican governor.

By the CuairM/VN, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Who is the judge of yonr circuit ?

Answer. E. D. Harvey.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Yoxi think the cause of this thing was the emancipation of the slaves, as
you said just now, and the conferring upon them civil rights, among other rights that
of voting f

Answer. Yes, sir ; that is my opinion.
Question. That is at the bottom of it?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. The object of this organization is to jirevent the free exercise bj^ the negroes
of such rights ?

Answer. It is very hard for me to testify as to that being the object ; I think it has
that eli'ect, but not being acquainted with the organization, I would dislike to testify

that it is for that purpose.
Question. You cannot testify as to the purpose?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. What is your judgment from the manifestation of it? You say it is a gen
eral organization, you think, and that it extends all over the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir; my opinion is that it is intended to control the colored race in
every respect, politically as well as in every other way, and to keep them in subjection
to the whites. And people justify it uiion the ground that it is necessary to keep
the negroes in subjection.

Question. Have you conversed with the members of the bar who practice in your cir-

cuit upon this subject?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What is the general sentiment of the bar in your circuit on that subject ?

Answer. Well, sir, lawyers are about like people generally; some of them will justify
it and others will condemn it.

Question. What is the iiroportion between those who palliate it and justify it and
those who condemn it ?

Answer: Well, sir, there arc a great many more of course who will attempt to palliate
and excuse.

Question. More of them ?

Answer. Certainly, about in proxiortion to the people.
Question. That is the case even among members of the bar ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Q2iestion. How many republican members of the bar have you in the circuit ?

Answer. Well, sir, v/e have about hve.
Question. Do any of them justify or jjalliate these offenses in any way ?

Answer. No, sir; they are all known to be openly opposed to it.

Question. How many democratic lawyers in the circuit join these republican law-
yers in denouncing this thing ?

Answer. It would be very hard for mo to give the number. I know there are some,
perhaps one-fourth, of the members of th* bar.

Question. Of the democratic lawyers ?

Ansu'cr. Yes, sir.

Question. Who join with the republican lawyers in denouncing these things?
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Jiiswcr. Yes, sir.

Quciition. Amoug tLoso -wlio offer tlieso excuses and palliations are tliero any men
\vlu) have been at the bar a great number of years, who have standing and cliaracter

and intluence?
.tnsiccr. O, yes, the most prominent men in the ('ircuit.

(jHcutioii. They are those who palliate and jnstil'y it ?

Jnsicer. Yes, sir,

(Question. Arc they leading politicians too ?

.insivcr. Well, some of them are.

(Jiicalio)). Tlie politics of your judge seems hardly to be kuovvu. Does he manifest
any lecHng on the subject ?

Annwer. lie is very much opposed to this Klan. He has taken no active part in poli-

tics at all ; ho was originally an old whig.
Queslion. Have you reason to believe that the sheriffs and the deputy sheriffs of any

of your counties are in collusion Avith, or disposed to overlook and palliate, crimes of
this kind ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not know of any acts of theirs that look in that direction.

The shcrifls have manifested to me a desire to assist me in ferreting out the crimes
committed l)y these parties.

Qucsliou. There has been no resistance to iirocesses or anything of that sort ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did the men who confessed to you tell you that it was jiart of their obliga-
tion not to resist i>rocess ?

Ansiver. Both men told me it was a part of their obligation to assist each other when
necessary.

Question. Did they tell you that they were not to resist officers who went to arrest

1-hem '?

Answer. I do not know that they spoke of that particularly ; btit they said that they
were not to permit one of their Klan to be convicted or punished.

Question. They were to prevent that by rescuing them ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they tell yon about getting some of their men on juries, or swearing
for one another in courts, swearing to alibis ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You say occasionally white republicans have been whipped ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I have heard of a few.
Question. You think the object is to control and keep down the begroes?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How does the whipping of the white republieauvS tend to that?
Answer. Upon the ground that they were advising witli the negroes and cooperating

with them.
Question. It is to keep the white men from standing np for the rights of the negroes ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you had any Union Leagues in your country since 1868 ?

Answer. Not since 1868. It was in 1866 that they were organized.
Question. Did the League disband in 1868 ?

Answei: Yes, sir ; I have not heard of them since.

Question. So that the existence of the Union League can be no excuse for these
acts?

Ansicer. None that I know of.

Question. Were you a member of the Union League ?

Answer. I was not.

Question. Well, as I understand you, then, whatever excuse these men could have
for their crimes and outrages elsewhere, they give none there except that it is neces-
sary to keep the negroes down ?

Answer. That is all I have lieard of.

Question. Has there been generally some allegation of crimes against the negroes
who have been whipped or killed ; have they pretended that they have been guilty of
some crimes ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I have heard such reports as that.

Question. You have known many negroes tlua-e to be guilty of crimes, and to be con-
victed of them?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have those been the negroes that the Ku-Klux visited and whipped ?

Answer. No, sir ; I have never i)rosecuted a negro for any crime who has been whipped
by the Ku-Klux.

Question. They generally allege some crime ?
,

Answer. Sometiuies they do, and again they do not.
Question. You hear nothing alleged sometimes ?

Ansicer. They justify themselves in taking arms away from colored people.



GEORGIA. 29

Qucsiion. Have you ever Ldoavu colored pooplo IIrtc to use tlicir arms to Lnrt any-

Ijody ?

J usurer. No, sir.

Question. Have you ever knovn them to tljreateu to do it
.'

Jnsu-er. No, sir.

Qucsiion. Have yon ever heard of their threateniug to do so ?

Jnsica: No, sir.

Question. They think it is a little more safe to <;;o ahont and take negroes out and

\vhii> them if they do not have arms than if they do have arms, do they not ?

Avsuer. I think there -^vould bo less danger.

Question. Do you think there arc some negi-oes in your community ts-Iio would be

likely to use arms under those circumstances '!

Answer. 1 think some would.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. How many cases have come under your cognizance in your district of Ku-
Klux offenses ? You have named the case of Penny.

Ansu-er. Penny was not convicted ; he was one of the parties reported to me as

being Ku-Klux, and I had an interview with him.
Question. Give us the cases in your district that you know of by information.

Answer. Do you mean that have been reported to me ?

Question. Yes.

Answer. Well, it would take a great while to give them.
Question. In what case was it that you convicted three men ?

Aiiswer. That was the first case I had any immediate connection with ; it was in

Chattooga County ; I convicted three parties that had committed some crimes in dis-

guise ; I had them indicted in three cases and convicted them.
Question. What is the name of the man who is still in jail at Atlanta?
Answer. John Payton.
Question. In that case it Avas supjiosed there were five persons connected?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And three were convicted?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The statements that Payton made to you were, in your oijiuion, partly

true and partly false ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. That was \h& case where the three men you convicted were young men
from twenty to tweuty-tsvo, men without position and without character, so far as yon
know?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. And their polities are unknown to you ?

Answer. I do not know their politics.

(Juestion. The other two have made their escape from the State?

Answer. I do not know where they are ; I have never been able to arrest them.
Question. Those yon did succeed in aiTesting you had no trouble in convicting on a

fair and impartial trial?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Counsel was assigned them by the court?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is it your habit always to assign the best counsel?
Answer. They had the best counsel in the circuit.

Question. That is your habit wheu assigning counsel?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. There was no attemjit at rescue ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Was your jury composed of part democrats and part republicans?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. There was no indisposition on the iiart of the jury to convict ?

Answer: None whatever, that I know of.

Question. Have you ever had a case where you presented your case fairly before the

jury, that you have had any trouble m convicting men of crime because of their

politics ?

Answer. None at all.

Question. So that whenever you can identify a man and fairly prove the crime against

him, your people there AviU execute the law regardless of politics ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Your difficulty has been in ascertaining who the men are?
Answer. Yes, sir, that is the trouble.
Question. Once ascertained, conviction follows as certainly there as anywliere else?

Anstver. Yes, sii*.
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Question. Tlic wifnossos, jurors, and the court, all act together in maintainiug the
law?

Aiiswei: Yes, sir.

Question. These robberies were coiumittecl in January or February last ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir.

Question. The man that was killed in your district of the name of Green Foster was
fh(^ otlier case yon spoke of?

Ansicer. Jonrdan Ware was killed ; Green Foster brought me the information.
Question. Did that negro have more than one name?
An-nver. Yes, sir. I have seen his name ])ublished as Green Foster, hut it was the

same man. Some people give him the name of his former master, but the name that
he registered by and was known by was Jourdan Ware.

Question. When Jonrdan Ware and Greeu Foster are spoken of, is it the same man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Nobody was punished for his killing ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. The men you had information about from Foster have escaped from the
State ?

Answer. One or two have gone, but the others we still have suspicion against ; hut
we cannot identify them.

Question. The killing of Jourdan Ware was by men in disguise ?

Anrnvo: Yes, sir.

Question. Was it stated at the time that he agreed to go with the men who professed

to be Union soldiers, and to aid them in killing men they believed to be Ku-IQux?
Answer. Yea. sir, that was the way it was represented to me.
Question. And while going with them, as he believed, for the j)urpose of killing men

called Ku-Klux, those men killed him ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That is the extent of the case, as you understand it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. They got him to agree to do that thing under pretense that they were Union
soldiers, instead of benig Ku-Klux themselves?

Answer. Yes, sir, that was the way the crime was committed.
Question. That occuired when ?

Answer. That was about January or February, close to the same time that the other
acts were committed.

Question. What other killing, by 'disguised men, in your circuit,* came to your knowl-
edge ?

Answer. 'J'he case in Haralson County, only six weeks ago, perhaps two mouths. I

have not been in that county since ; we have had no court there ; therefore I am not
acquainted with the facts. But a man came up and let me know that there had been
a colored man killed there by a party of men in disguise.

Queatiiin. You do not know whether any persons have been arrested for that ?

Answer. There had not been at that time.'

Question. You know none of the circumstances of the killing ?

Answer. I do not.

Question. That is the only other case of killing in your circuit ?

Answer. There were none others in my circuit. A colored man was killed in a county
adjoining my circuit by a party of men in disguise ; but I am not acquainted with the
facts in the case, for it was not my business to look it up.

Question. This Jourdan Ware case, and the case in Haralson County, are the only two
cases recently of killing in your cii'cuit by men in disguise, that you know of at
present ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In regard to the other cases of which you have heard, you are not advised
whether the perpetrators of the acts were white men or black men, or whether they
were democrats or re))ublicans ; they are wholly unknown to you?
Answer. Wholly unknown to me.
Question. And the causes also unknown ?

Ansreer. Certainly, I do not know anything about the causes.

Question. While nothing has been done by the negroes as a race, you say quite
grievous offenses have been committed by individual members of that race ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is it not true that you have a very large negro i)opnlation in your district

Avho have been wholly unmolested?
Answer. O, yes, sir.

Question. And the injuries done to the individuals have been exceptional when com-
pared with the whole race, just as the crimes committed by negroes have been excep-
tional when compared with the whole race ?

Answer. Of course the depredations have been but few compared with the number
of the race in the circuit.
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Question. Aud the ofleiises liaA-o Ibeen few by tbe race as compared with the number
of the race ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The ijreteuse, or whatever you call it, of the meu who have been doin<»

acts against the negroes has been that the individual negroes have been guilty of

offenses; that is what they pretend?
Answer. It has been so re]>res('nted in some cases.

Question. In the case of Jourdnn Ware, or Green Foster, the excuse for killing him,

I understand, was that lie was, as he believed, on his way with men he supposed to bo

his friends, he himself to go and kill others illegally ?

Ansivn: That he was with Union soldiers to organize in opposition to the Ku-Klux.
Question. Did it not go further than that; that at the same time he was killed ho

thought he was going with them to kill other men ?

Answer. I think that was so ; I think they had started out on a raid that night.

Question. They had started out on a raid ibr that very purpose ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And he believed ho was going with his friends on a raid to commit out-

rages himself?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And he was killed under these circumstances, as you, are advised ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have there not been a great many crimes committed on white persons

within the last few years such as robbery, larceny, and other quite heinous offenses,

the perpetrators of which have never been discovered and brought to justice in your
circuit ?

Answer. O, yes, sir ; a great many have escaped.

Question. Whether the perpetrators of those offenses were white or black, you do not
know ?

Answer. We generally know whether they were white or black; but, of course, I

cannot tell whether there have been more colored persons escaped, or more white per-

sons esca^jed. I suppose it has been about in proportion to the numbers of the two
races.

Question. Aud how far those persons who were believed to have been guilty of those

offenses, against whom you could not obtain proof, have been the victims of outrages
you have no information ?

Answer. I cannot say ; I do not know of any.
Question. Not knowing the parties, you cannot tell ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Were there any accusations made that they had been guilty of offenses,

and that there was no proof against them ; has it been said that that was at the bot-

tom of these outrages upon them ?

Ansutr. I do not think it has, not that I know of.

Question. Has, or not, the governor, within the last year or so, been extremely liberal

in his pardons of his political friends?
Answer. He has been extremely liberal in his pardons generally.

Question. Has, or not, that fact diminished the sense of security of your people very
greatly ?

Ansivcr. Well, sir, I do not know that it has ; that is an excuse.
Question. I mean they make that as an excuse ?

Ansicei: Yes ; they make that as an excuse in some cases.

Question. Have, or not, a number of persons who have been convicted, after a fair

trial, been pardoned and turned loose again in your community?
Answer. None in my circuit; I have heard of some in other circuits. Governor Bul-

lock has pardoned several meu in my circuit before conviction, which he has the power
to do under our constitution. I have ojjposed Goveruor Bullock in that policy of his,

aud I think it has had a bad effect.

Question. When was your last election held there?
Ansu-er. For the last legislature ?

Question. Yes.
Answer. It was held last January.
Question. You sjioke of lawyers at your bar, and prominent meu, many of them palli-

ating and excusing these outrages. Upon what basis did they do that, those who
did it ?

Ansicer. Well, sir, upon the ground, as I stated before, that it was necessary to con-
trol the negroes.

Question. Control them, how ?

Answer. Well, generally ; to keep them in subjection to the white race. They ar-

gued in this way, that it is dangerous to allow them to have arms, and to keep arms iu

their hands ; and they did not pretend to recognize the right of the negro to suffrage;

they do not believe they ought to have that privilege ; they justify it upon that idea.

Question. Justify the right to go and kill them upon that idea ?
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Answa: I do not tliiiik tlioy do that. I do not want to bo iiudcrstood as saying that
.any members of the bar in my circuit ^Yonhl jnstiiy at all the killintj of a man by this

Klan. They .justify the organization, but they do not justify the killing of a man for a
thing of that sort.

(jJicHtion. Do they justify the taking him out of his house and whipping him?
Ansiva: I think they would.
Q^uestion. Without any offense having been committed by him. simply because he is

a black man ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I think so.

Qitcslioii. Give ns the name of some prominent lawyer in your district who justifies

anything of that sort, ami we will try to get him before ns and hear what he has to say.

Ansirer. I do not think that, as a rule, in that country they regard it as any offense

to whip a negro.
Question. If the majority of your bar, or a respectable number of men iu practice

there as lawyers, justify the right of any one to take anybody li"om his house, without
any excuse for it, without his having been guilty of any offense, and to whip him, I

would like to know the names of some of them ; I want the names of some of the men
who would put it on that ground.
Answer. They might not justify the taking a man out and whipping him for no offense

whatever, but they would construe a great many things to be offenses that you would
not.

Qitcstion. Then yon did not intend to tell Senator Pool that any members of your bar
would justify the taking a niau out and whipping him, punishing him in any way,
whether he be white or black, who had been guilty of no offense ?

Answer. I think they would, where he had been guilty of no offense against the crim-
inal law of the land. If a negro was to show any impudence, what is called impudence
there, they would justify his being whipped for it.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Impudence to a white man f

Answer. Yes, sir ; if they showed any impudence to a white man ; that is, if they did
not occupy about the same position to the white race as they foi'merly did.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Then there is no member of your bar who you are williug to say will justify

the whippug of a negro without cause f

Answer. No, sir, not without some excuse ; I do not think they would.
Question. But you think some of them would have excuses that you would not regard

as good ones ?

Answer. I am certain they would, for a great many things that would not be a viola-
tion of the criminal law of the land.

Question. Do iiot your people believe that your governor has turned loose very many
men who were by them believed to be guilty of crime ; turned them loose wrongfully,
simply because they were his jiolitical friends ?

Answer. Do the iieople believe that ?

Question. Yes; do the people believe it ?

Answer. A great many of them do.

Question. Do or not the people believe that he has offered all sorts of rewards for men
without having any sufficient justification for so doing?
Answer. They generally condemn his offering rewards. My opinion is that the re-

wards he has offered has done more to disband or disorganize this Ku-Klux-Klau than
anything else ; I know it has in my circuit.

Question. Did he or not pay the sheriff of your county as much as .$7,000 on one occa-
sion lately for making arrests ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. What was the amount paid to him ".

Answer. There has been no amount jiaid to the sheriff of my county, or any other
sheriff', that I know of.

Question. To whom was it paid ?

Ansu-er. There was $7,000 paid to a man by the name of James S. W'yatt for the cap-
ture of the three men I have convicted.

Question. The Georgia papers gave some account of that, but I had forgotten the
particulars. What was Wyatt ?

Answer. A private citizen.

Question. Did ktt capture them ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Upon information obtained how?
Ansirtr. From tlie colored nu'n that they had taken guns and i)istols from.
Question. 1 uiulerstand you to say that you had obtained that information yoiirself ?

.inswer. Mr. Wyatt brought it to mo from the colored men when I went there, at the
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time the court was held, and I assisted him in planning an arrangement to capture the
men.

Question. Had the reward been oflfered before that time ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. How much reward for each?
Ansicer. There was .S5,0{)0 reward offered for the first one of the Klau captured for the

commission of any crime, and $1,000 for each additional one.

Question. Three being captmed, §7,000 reward was given?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I saw it stated in the Georgia papers—I do not know how true it is—that

$2,500 or $2,000 of that eum was paid to you.
Aiisiver. It was so stated in the papers, but it was a falsehood.

Question. Did you get any part of it ?

Answer. I got no part of it at all as a reward.
Question. In what form did you get it ?

Answer. I got a compensation from Wyatt for assisting him to collect the reward.
Question. Did that compensation amount to $2,500 f

Answer. No, sir, nothing in the neighborhood of it.

Question. What did it amount to ?

Ansiver. I do not know that I am compelled to state the precise amount ; if I am, I

will do it. I simply took a fee as an attorney in the matter, as other attorneys do.
Question. And you refuse to tell how much ?

Answer. I will not refuse to tell how much, but I would rather not; I do not care to
tell how much; I will tell you my reason why, if you will allow me to do so.

Question. I have no objection to your telling your reason.

Answer. My reason is this : I came very near having a very serious trouble with the
editors in my town about it. The fact is, it assumed a very serious appearance there,

and seemed likely to lead to very serious consequences, and perhaps a reiteration of
all these things might bring it on again. We did not have a personal collision, but we
came very near it. The whole matter is now. corrected, and everything is j)eaceable

and quiet with us, and I would rather it would remain in that way. I am not ashamed
of the amount I received, or of any connection I had with it. I received a fee for

assisting in the collection of the reward.
Question. I am still unable to see how it would make any serious trouble to tell what

it is. What I desire, and the committee can determine whether it is proper or not, is

to know how much you, as the jirosecnting attorney for that district, received of the
reward offered by the governor.
The Chaik:man, (Mr. Poland. ) I do not understand the witness to say that he re-

ceived anything as prosecuting attorney.

Mr. Beck. Well, the witness being the prosecuting attorney, I want to know
what amount he did receive.

The Chairman, (Mr. Pol^otd.) The witness says that whatever amount he re-

ceived he received as the attorney for Mr. Wyatt in collecting the ireward.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Were you at that time the prosecuting attorney of the district?
Ansiver. I was.

By the Chairm-^n', (Mr. Poland:)

Question. I think if Mr. Beck insists spon youi- stating the amount paid you, there is

no valid reason why you should not state it.

Ansicer. Well, sir, I received $750.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Is it the law in your State that an attorney who is an attorney for the com-
monwealth has any legal right to receive fees for aiding in obtaining rewards offered
by the government ?

Ansieer. That wa.s the advice that Judge Harvey, the presiding judge, gave me at the
time. I consulted with him before I would have any connection with it.

Question. You acted upon his opinion ?

Ansiver. I acted upon his opinion and advice.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Wa« there any law against your doing so ?

Answer. No, sir, there is no law forbidding me at all from taking a fee.

By Mr. Blaxr :

Question. Can an attorney for the State appear against the State f

Answer. There was no litigation, no appearing.

3g



34 CONDITION OP AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES

Questian. 1 mean, can an attorney for the State take a fee for his services against the

State?
Answer. Unless there was a case

Question. This was a claim against the State for a reward, a claim on the part of this

person who claimed this reward ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Yon, becoming his counsel, as a matter of course took a fee against the

Stat«, of which you were an officer, tlie attorney ?

Ansicer. How do I understand the question you waitt me to answer ?

Question. My question was, whether there was any law against an attorney for the

State taking a fee in a case against the State. •

Ansiver. There was no law to i>rohibit me from taking that business as I took it and
receiving a fee for it.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. That is what I want to get at. Does the law of the State of Georgia
authorize her offleers, of whom you are one, and whose fees she pays, to take fees for

prosecuting claims against her?
Aiiswer. There is nothing to prohibit my representing a claim against the State any-

where outside of my circuit. I could sue the State of Georgia in the Atlanta circuit

as well as I could sue an individual in my county. In any case where the State is a

party in my circuit I have to represent the State.

Question.' Was or not this a case in your circuit ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was not the offense committed in your circuit I

Answer. The offense was committed there.

Question. Was not the trial had in your circuit ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did not all the facts originate there?
Answer. Yes, sir ; but if I had gone to ^ue the State for the reward I never would

have sueci it in my circuit. And I have a perfect right to represent any sort of a case

outside of my circuit against the State. I can go and defend <^n the criminal side of
the court in any case out of my circuit.

Question. Did you yourself ever see any disguised men ?

Answ(T. I have seen two besides those I have convicted.

Question. When and where ?

Ansiver. On the night after the court adjourned when I convicted them, and as I was
going home.

^ Question. Those are the only two you ever saw ?

Ansuwr. Yes, sir.

Question. The facts of which you have spoken as to the existence of these disguised
bands in other parts of the State are simply hearsay ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I understand you to say that you have never investigated them for the
pur])ose of ascertaining their true nature, character, or object, outside of your own iau-

mediate circuit"?

Ansivcr. No, sir, I have never done so.

Question. And the information you have given relative to their purpose and objects
is what other people have told you was their belief?

Answer. It is founded upon the knowledge I obtained from parties who belonged to
it, and from others who have reported to me acts which have been committed by them,
and from general nsport.

Question. You made a remark during your testimony that you thought the men who
were disfranchised had a great deal to do with these organizations. What do you
mean by tliat ?

Answer. I think they are dissatisfied with the Government, and they keep up the
organization.

Question. When you speak of disfranchised men, what do you mean ?

Answer. I mean men ineligible to hold office.

Question. Men now under disabilities by the fourteenth amendment to the Consti-
tution of the United States?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who of them have you ever known to say or do anything to justify these
things ? I>et us have their names.

Answer. I have heard Judge Wright, a man now here as a witness, express himself
in that way.

Question. Have you heard any others ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I have heard Judge Underwood.
Question. Let us hear what Judge Wright has said, as ho is here.
Ansicer. I have simply heard Judge Wright speak of the Government as though a
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government that would pnt him under ban was a government that he could not I'/ve,

&c. He would express hnuself as very much opposed to universal sulinifre and all

that sort of thing, and say a great many things that satisfied my mind that ho did not

object to the organization as 1 did.

Question. Can you give any statement of Judge Wright indicating that he favored

the operations of this Ku-Klnx Khin of which you have spoken I If so, I wish you
would state it, for I want to know tlie extent to which you implicate all that body of

men.
Ansicer. O, sir, he would not justify it to the extent it goes at all. As I remarked a

moment ago I do not want it understood that 1 say any of the lawyers of my circuit

justify the killing of men.
Qtu'stion. What did you want the committee to understand when you said that men

under disabilities were men who encouraged and kept up this Ku-Klux organization,

of whom you have given Judge Wright as an instance ?

Answer. They are the men who control the country. They can take a stand in the

country and control it, politically and socially, in one month ; they are the men who
have always controlled it and who can control it yet.

Question. Do you not know that when any of those men open their months on poli-

tics, they are denounced by the whole press of the country as improperly interfering,

and therefore they are compelled, because of that fact, to remain silent f

Answer. No, sir; I do not think they are.

Question. Do you believe that the people of the country regard those men who are

under disabilities—who cannot hold office—as being as free to talk and advise as men
who are not under disabilities ?

Answer, Yes, sir; some political demagogues may contend that they ought to keep
their mouths shut, and allege against them, as a reason why they should not run for

office, that they are laboring under disabilities.

QtKslion. Let me ask you, just here, what would be the effect upon your whole peo-

ple of a general removal of disabilities from all your people ; would it be good or bad ?

Aiisicer. Well, sir, I think it would be good-.

Question. The extent, therefore, to which you implicate these m.eu who are under dis-

abilities is, that they do not use the influence they have in the community to the
extent which you think they ought, in order to stoi) these things f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qnesiion. You do not mean that they give any active encouragement to if, l.'ut they
fail to frown upon it as they ought?

Anstcer. Yes, sir ; and then they will palliate, you know, rather justify any moderate
act—well, for instance, controlling of the negroes. They would not justify any
violence, but they would justify the idea of controlling the negroes and keei)ing them
down.

Question. Is there a fear, w^ell or ill founded, that many of the negroes are receiving
'

advice which may lead them to commit offenses against the white people of the
country f

Ansivc.r. If they receive any such advice or instruction, I have never learned anything
about it.

Question. Is there a feeling existing very generally that they are receiving it from
.'ii class of men who are seeking to use them for political purposes ?

An.sn'er. I do not think there is ; I do not think there is any just cause for appre-
hending any danger at ail from the colored people.

By Jlr. CoBURN

:

Question. In answer to a question by Mr. Beck, you said that a man was killed in a
county adjoining your circuit. What county was that f

Answer: Bartow County.
Question. What is the county seat of Bartow County ?

Answer. Cartersville is the county seat. Before the war, it was Cass County, and
the county seat was Cassville ; it was changed the first year of the war.

Question. Do you know the circumstances in that case ?

Answer. I know nothing more than that it was reported that this colored man and
the boss of a steam saw-mill had a difficulty in the evening ; that the boss cut him very
severely with his knife, and they thought he would die, and this disguised band of men
came there that night and shot hiiu. The man who brought the news to me said that the
other hands of the saw-mill supposed he was killed for fear he would die and tbia other
man be prosecuted for murder ; that was the reason they gave for it

Question. Did you hear tlie circumstances under which he was killed, the number of
men in the disguised band, the time, Scc.'l

Answer. It was stated that there were some fifteen men.
Question. Were they disguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they were disguised, came to his house, arid shot him in bis bed.
Question. Was any one present at the time ?
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Anmer. None but tho colored man and bis -wife and children.

Qnestio)). Was that iu the night or in the day-timo ?

Ansuei: In tho night-time.

Question. Was it tho night after tho fight ?_

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you hear who Tvas the aggressor in the fight that took place iu the day-

time?
Ansiccr. I did not.

Quesiion. Did you hear of a case occurring near Chattooga lately, where a colored

justice of the peace of the name of Flowers was outraged and beaten ?

Answer. No, sii".

fytesdon. You said something as to the treatrilent of negroes hy white democrats.

How do the whites treat the negroes as a general thing? You said they treated them
as they formerly treated them when they were slaves.

Ansn-n: I do "not mean by that, of course, that they pretend to exercise the rights of

ownership or control ; they expect obedience and submission generally.

Qneslion. They do not, in other words, treat them, when they meet them on the

street and have them in their employ, as ordinary white men?
Answer. No, sir; there is a decided difference.

Question. State the points of difference as near as you can.

Answer. AVei, when we have colored servants we do not bring them to the table

•where the white people eat ; and when they come in the house we expect them to pull

otf their hats ; then if there is any dispute about a settlement, or anything of that sort,

it is not expected that a colored man will contend, in a white man's face, for anything
as a white man would. Any language that wo would regard as not ofteusive at all

from a wlnte man would bo impudence from a negro.

Question. Do you mean to say that if a negro man asserts his rights as a human being
upon an equality with a white man they will not be recognized ?

Answer. They will pay him his just wages, and treat him right as to that ; but if

there is auy misunderstanding about it they will not suffer any dispute with him.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Do they require from him that same kind of cringing submission in his

conduct toward them that they required in the days of slavery?

Answer. Yes, sir; just about the same.

By Mr. Cobcrn :

Question. Do they justify the taking out of a negro, who has been guilty of some
offense, and punishing him outside of the law ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I have heard frequent remarks that would go to show that they
would justify the whipping of a negro.

Quesiion. Are, or are not, negroes often punished outside of the law for petty offenses?

Ans^^•er. That is the report that is made in a great many of these cases where they
are whipped, that they whipped them for the commission of some crime.

Qu£stion. Is that given as an excuse?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do they make this allegation openly and freely?

Answer. Yes, sir; they talk it publicly.

Question. They do not consider that it is an infamous outrage to make such a justiii-

cafion ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You said something about pardons being granted by the governor, and
that that fact was made an excuse for crimes ; who makes that excuse ?

Answer. Well, the parties who commit the crimes, and their friends.

Question. Do outside parties, who do not commit crimes, allege that that is a cause
for the commission of crimes? «

Answer. Yes, sir; I have heard various persons say that they thought the liberal

manner in which Governor Bullock had exercised the pardoning power had had a bad
effect on society.

Question. Do you know any instance in which a criminal who has been pardoned has
come V)ack to the community in which he lived and committed a crime ?

Answer. No, su'.

Question. When these democrats talk about its being necessary to control the negroes,
in what respect do they want to contrbl them ; what do they mean by that expression ?

We have had that in the testimony of a dozen witnesses, and I want to know what it

means.
Ansiver. I think it means in every respect, jiolitically and socially, and every other

way.
Question. Do they assum'e it as a matter of their business and their right to control

them as to labor, and as to their behavior, and all these things ?



GEORGIA. 37

Answer. No, sir; that is, if I understand you. They do not pretend to want to tell a
man where he shall work, or when he shall work, or for whom he shall work. But they
do intend to control his status in society and in the country.

Question. How about schools and jurors ; how about the education of the colored man,
and his serving on juries ?

Ansv.-'sr. Tlio colored men do not serve on juries in Georgia.

Question. They do not ?

Jnsu-er. No, sir.

Question. Is there any law forbidding it /

Ansicer. The constitution says juries shall be made of upright and intelligent men,
and that the ordinaries and clerks shall revise the jury list each year, and put such
names in the jury-box as they think come under the provisions of the constitution.

The county oiiicers, being composed of democrats, have never put any colored names
in the jury-box. There has been no colored man on the jury iu Georgia, that I know of.

Question. How about schools ; have you free schools there ?

Ansuer. "We are just getting free schools inaugurated, or are going to do so. The
colored people hj e equal with the white peoj)le in that respect ; and we have free

schools.

Question. Do you practice law outside of your duties as i)rosecuting attorney ?

Answer. Yes, sir, on the civil side of the court.

Question. In the matter of the reward, wag it your duty to appear for the State?
Aiisicer. No, sir.

Question. Who did appear for the State; who did act for the State ?

Answer. The governor and the secretary of the executive department.
Question. Has the State a law ofBcer ?

Ansu'er. Yes, sir.

(Question. What is his name ?

Answer. The attorney general of the State.

Question. Would he not act for the State in the matter "?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he was there.

Question. He was there and did act?
Answer. Yes, sir; he was consulted.

Question. Wliat was the amount of this reward ?

Answer. The amount of the reward was $7,000.

By the Chairman, (]Mr. Pol.vxd :)

Question. The governor published a proclamation offering a reward of $5,000 for any
one man who should be discovered and convicted of participation iu the outrage ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And §1,000 additional for each additional person, describing the outrage iu
the proclamation offering the reward ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. When was this reward paid ?

Answer. It was paid last March.
Question. Where ?

Ansxcer. In Atlanta.
Question. Who paid it ?

Answer. The treasurer of the State, }.Ir. Angler.,

Question. In answer to a question as to whether men who are disqualified by reason
of the fourteenth amendment make any public or political speeches, you said that those
men were instrumental iu some degree in organizing and continuing the life of this
Ku-Klux association. And you were asked if those men were not discouraged from
Bpeaking because of their disabilities. Are not such men as Toombs, Stephens, and
Jeff Davis, and that class of men, encouraged to speak in public, and are not their
opinions highly respected by the democrats of Georgia and of the South ?

Ansicer. Certainly they are. As I remarked before, those men who are disfranchised
have controlled the country for a number of years, and can do it yet any day.
• Question. Are not the great leaders of the rebellion, the generals of the army, the
members of the rebel congress, and other men, still men of influence and power, and
encouraged to speak and act publicly ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir, and they have more influence there than anybody else.

By the Chairjlvn, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Have you discovered any disposition on the part of men who were.disfran
chised to keep silent on political subjects ?

Ansu'er. No, sir.

Question. Do they not talk as freely and openly and as much as anybody ?

Answer. Certainly they do talk as freely, and when called upon they speak.
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Qiip.st'wii. Does anj'body in your country questron their right to talk on political sub-

jects as much as they choose?
Jiiswer. No, sir ; uoue at all. The only objection that is ever raised is, some politicians

will say that they ou«;ht not to make themselves public, that they are not eligible to

oliice, that they "ought to stand back and give them the track ; that is all you hear

about it.

Question. Those are men of their own party who say that?

Anstrer. Certainly.

Question. That is a quarrel among men who desire to be candidates for office ?

Anstrer. Yes, sir.

Question. Now, about Judge Wright : is ho a man who keeps silent at all on political

subjects ?

Jnsirer. No, sir ; he is a man who talks a great deal.

Question. Is he not a very free, liberal, and outspoken man on political subjects?

Ansirer. Very unich so.

Question. Does he make any attempt to conceal liis hostility to the Government?
Answer. None whatever. I have no doubt he will state here to you just what I have

said, that he does not pretend to conceal anything.

Question. In relation to these rewards: Governor Bullock has issued a great many
proclauuitions offering rewards for the discovery of parties who have been connected

with these various outrages ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. Not only in your circuit, but all about the State ?

Ansiuer. Yes, sir.

Question. Has he found occasion to pay any other reward within your circuit, that

you know of, except the one that you had paid ?

Anstver. No, sir ; no other. There has been no other reward paid in the State, I do
not suppose, for the capture of persons committing crimes in disguise, none that I have
ever heard of, and I think I would have heard of it if there had been.

Question. You do not know but this reward is the only one that has ever been paid ?

Answer. That is the only one I know of.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Have no others been captured ?

Answer. No others, I think.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. You say that in your judgment this offering inducements for the discovery
of persons committing offenses of this sort has had a beneficial tendency in restrain-

ing them ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I think so.

Question. And the oulj^ sum of money, so far as you kuowj that has gone out of the
treasury for that purpose is $7,000 ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. After these persons had been tried and convicted, and this man had worked
up the evidence against them and procured them to be prosecuted and punished, after

he had thus become entitled to the reward, as he claimed, you were employed by him to

aid in procuring it to be paid him ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was in no way connected with your duty as prosecuting attorney?
Answer. No, sir; not in any way whatever.
Question. It was in no manner connected with it, or in any way hostile to your duty

as prosecuting attorney ?

Answer. Not at all ; in no way whatever. When he proposed to employ me to assist

him in getting the reward, I investigated the matter thoroughly, for I was fearful it

might give rise to some chat, if nothing else, that might be unpleasant. In the first

•place, 1 investigated the law, and then I consulted Judge Harvey.
Question. You did not desire to act for him in any way that would be contrary tQ

your supposed duty to the State as prosecuting attorney ?

Ansieer. No, sir, and would not have done it for any consideration.
Question. Could your State have been sued at all; can you maintain a suit agaiasi

your State in any of your courts?
Answer. No, sir; not in that way.
Question. Can the State be sued at all?
Answer. No, not in its own courts.
Question. There is no provision of your constitution, or any law of your State, that

authorizes a suit to be maintained against the State ?

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. I understood you to say tlfat Judge Wright has no hesitation in expressing
his hostility to the Government ?
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Jnswer. In the way I have indicated.

Qu^tion. In what way is that f

Anmcer. That he has no lovo for a government that will diafianchise liLm, that will

take away from him his political privileges.

Qtiestion. That is hostility to the measures of the Government instead of to the Gov-
ernment itsell".

Answer. I am no politician; I do not understand what you mean by "measures of the
Government." I know that he will not hesitate to state his feelings toward tl^ Gov-
ernment.

Qxicsiion. T do not hesitate to state my hostility to that measure by which a portion
of the people of the country are placed under disabilities. I want to know if you
characterize such a feeling as that as hostility to the Government.
Answer. Certainly, that is what I mtian by it; I do not mean that Judge Wright is

ready to enter into a rebellion against the Government, for I do not think he would.
Question. I want to understand what you do mean, by it ; it is simple hostility to the

measures of a party ?

Answer. Ho is very bitterly opposed to the whole reconstruction policy of Congress.
Questioti. So are a great many other people.
Answer. And he would prefer anything else to that.

Question. Do you mean to say that because he is bitterly opposed to the reconstruc-
tion policy, bitterly opposed especially to that one amendment by which a portion of
the people were disfi-auchised and disqualified from holding ofiice, that he is hostile to

the Government ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think he is.

Question. I just want to take your measure about that, to find out what you consider
hostility to the Government.
Answer. Well, I believe it.

By Mr. Tool :

Question. Did you get from anj" of these parties who confessed to you any signs of
this order ?

Answer. Yes. sir ; both of them gave me a sign of recognition.
Question. What was that sign?
Answer. It is this : [Closing the fingers of the right hand except the forefinger, and

drawing the forefinger across the forehead toward the right temple.]
Question. Was that sign given by the right hand ?

Answer. It was given by one hand and answered by the same sign with the other
hand. They gave signals at night by means of a whistle.

Question. They give signals at night by whistles?
Ansr.er. They understood each other by whistles at night.
Questiot. Did they give you the mode of working their way into a camp ?

Anstcei: No, sir.

Question. Did they say when they were halted that the question would be, " Who
comes here ? " and the answer to that question would be, "A friend ?

"

Answer. No, sir; they did not tell me about that.

Question. Did they give you the grip ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; one of them gave me a grip. I do not know whether I can give it

to any one in the same way or not.

Question. Was it by putting the forefinger upon the pulse ?

Ansicer. lustead of taking hold of the hand in the ordinary way, they would sort of
reach under the pabn of the hand.

Question. So as to rest the forefingers upon the pulse of the party with whom they
were shaking hands ?

Ansicer. They would juat about make the palms of their hands come together even
instead of taking hold in the ordinary way.

Question. Did they give you any pass-word ?

Answer. They did not.
Question. Did they give you any sign by which persons standing in a crowd would

recognize each other by a signal given by the thumb ?

Answer. No, sir; only the sign I have given, across the forehead.
Question. Vv'as there any sign connected with the lappel of the coat ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Does an outrage upon one or two colored men intimidate others ?

Answer. 0, yes, sir ; the most of the colored people with us are very easily fright-
ened

; take one out in a neighborhood and whip him, and it will frighten all in the
neighborhood.

Question. In order to intimidate the colored people it is not necessary to whip any
great body of them ?

Answer. No, sir. ,

Question. You were asked if any crime of rape had been committed in your neigh-
borhood ; have you heard of any such ?
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Ansiver. No, sir ; I understood the qnestion to be if any persons committing crime
of that sort, nape, larceny, &c., liud escaped; I did not understand the question to be
confined to colored people.

By Jlr. Bi<:CK

:

Questio7i. I referred to any persons.

Anmver. There was only one case of a colored man indicted for rape in my circuit

since IJiave been in my office, and I convicted him.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Was the rape upon a white woman or a black woman ?

Atjsiccr. It was upon a black woman.
Question. Has there been any case of a rape npon a white woman ?

Ansuer. No, sir. «
Question. Among the outrages committed by this Klan have you heard that they

have committed rape upon a black woman ?

Ansiver. I have heard that they did.

Question. In repeated instances, or only in one instance ?

Ansiver. In only one instance, and I do not believe that was the truth ; I have reasoa
to think that was not the taith.

Question. What class of cases are those pardoned by the governor generally ?

Answer. Well, sir, all classes of criminals.

Question. Of high grade ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Murder cases ?

Answer. A great many murder cases.

Question. Do you know whether it is the habit of farmers, being white men, and
democrats, to sign applications to the governor for the pardon of negroes in order to
get them back on their plantations ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; it is very frequently the case that they do so. In fiict, there is no
case that has gone to Governor Bullock but what is signed by a great many petitioners

—

signed by democrats as well as republicans. The cases that have gone up from my
circuit haVe been signed by as many democrats as republicans, and more too, because
there are more democrats there.

Question. The governor has not pardoned except upon application in this way f

An^ver. No, sir ; not to my knowledge.
Question. Have you ever heard of his pardoning without such application?
Answer. No, sir ; I have no idea he has ever done it.

Question. You say the offering of rewards for the apprehension of men who commit
these crimes in organized bands has been defiounced by some persons in your State ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir
;
generally denounced.

Question. Bitterly denounced ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; bitterly denounced by the newspapers and the people generally.
Question. What is the class of newspapers that thus denounce it?

Answer. They are all democratic; we have no other sort in the State, except one ou
two.

Question. Have you heard of any republicans denouncing these acts of the governor
in offering rewards ?

Ansiva: No, sir ; I do not think I have.
Question. What sort of papers made this charge against you, that you received apart

of the reward to the extent of $2,500.
Answer. Democratic papers.
Question. Did they denounce you for it?

Answei: O, yes, sir; they denounced me as a great villain, and they called me by the
worst name you can give a man down there, that is, a radical.

Question. Is it considered a reproach for a white man to belong to the republican
party there?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say the worst abuse they can heap upon a man is to call him a radical ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; that is the worst abuse they can give a man in that country.
Question. If a white man belongs to the republican party, is it their habit to bring

all sorts of accusations against his character?
Answer. Yes, sir; if a man belongs to the republican party, and takes a stand for the

administration, the man and his family are proscribed.
Question. Dj they bring false charges against liis private character?
Answer. Well, sir, they did against mine, and I suppose they do against other men.
Question. Have you ever heard charges, that you supposed to bo entii'ely untrue,

brought against men who before were esteemed men of good character?
^Answer. Yes, sir, I have.
Question. Was the fee you took in the case Tinusually large ; it was about tea per

cent.?
Answer. Just about ten per cent. ; not unusually largo ; not so much as many law-

jers in that county charge.
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Question. Not so much as they charge for collecting money ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you have to go to the capital to get it?

Answer. Yes, sir; I made two trips there.

Question. Did you pay your own expenses ?

AnsH-er. Yes, sir.

Question. You say the judge of your circuit, before you agreed to be retained in the

case at all, advised you thatit was entirely consistent with your official duties?'

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And it was upon your own examination of the law, and that advice of the
judge of your circuit, that you agreed to be retained ?

Ans^rer. Yes, sir. I would not have done so in any other way ; I had no idea of being
interested in the reward at all, until the conviction was had; I had no promise what-
ever from the man that I would be benefited one cent. I was emj)loyed afterward,

after consulting the judge, and being advised by him to take the fee.

Question. You say the parties who make these charges against you, and who de-

nounced you, have made subsequent statements taking them back ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they have made a positive retraction of the whole matter.
Question. Did you obtain that retraction without considerable effort?

Ansieer. No, sir, I made a considerable effort ; it was simplj^ submitted as an ultima-
tum ; they were forced to do it.

Question. They were forced to make it ?

Anstver. Yes, sir ; I made the demand, and made it a personal matter.
Question. In your judgment, can those gentlemen who are under disabilities stop

these cutragt s, if thej' choose to express their condemnation, and take the proper steps
to dp so, by their influence with the perpetrators '?

Ansuer. Yes, sir ; I think the men who are disfi'a nchised in the State can stop it ia

twenty-four houis.
Question. Yon think they have sufficient influence with those who perpetrate them

to stop it in twenty-four hours?
Answer. Yes, sir ; I think that Toombs, the two Shephenses, Judge Wright, Judge

Underwood, and a few other men in the State could control it in twenty-four hours.
Question. By means of making a publication?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Order it to be stopped ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You think an order they w^ould giv^ on the subject would be obeyed by the
perpetrators ?

Answer. I think so ; they have always molded public oi)inion in the State since I can
remember, and I think they can do so to this day.

Question. Have you any carpet-baggers in oftice in your circuit ?

Answer. None at all.

Questimi. Are there any down there ?

Answer. There are none in the Cherokee portion of Georgia, that I know of.

Question. None in your circuit?

Anstver. No, sir.

Question. So that no operations of carpet-baggers there can be used as an excuse for
these bands?
Answer. No, sir ; there are no political adventurers in that part of the State.
Question. You were asked if negroes had been advised to commit thefts against

white people ?

Ansioer. No, sir.

Question. You have not heard any charge that anybody has done it ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you heard that these white men who go in disguise have been advised
to commit violence against negroes "I

Ansivcr. Well, sir, 1 have frequently heard men speak, encouraging them to go on.
There was a piece published in one of the papers in my town, not more than three or
four weeks ago, that I regarded as an encouragement to them ; in fact, it almost asked
the Klan in plain terms to visit a citizen of Chattooga County, and give him a whip-
ping.

Question. What was the purport of that article?
Answe): There was a man who had attempted to build a little school-house on his

land, and the Ku-Klux went there and tore it down. The old gentleman who built
the school-house was a very good citizen and a man of good property.

Qaes<io?i. Was he a white man?
Anstver. Yes, sir ; he wrote the governor a letter about it, a very violent letter ; he is

a republican ; and Governor Bullock published it. And then this article came out
upon that letter, justifying the action of the Ku-Klux Klan in tearing down the school-
house^ because it said that Mr. Shropshire, the man who had been building it, was put-
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ting lip a nogro scbool-liouse close to a •white school, and that the only thing the peo-

ple had to regret was, that the Kn-Klux tore down the house and whipped an old negro
instead of whipping the Honorable Weslej Shropshire. That was about the wording
of the article in the paper.

Question. Had he held any public position ?

Answer, Yes, sir ; he has been a member of the legislature from several counties in

the State. He has served ten or fifteen years in the legislature.

By Mr. Beck :

Qnesiion. How lately has ho been in public office?

Answer. He was in the convention of lyfiS, I think. That was the last office ho has
held.

By I^Ir. Pool :

Question. Is he a man of age?
Answer. Yes, sir; about seventy years old.

Question. His services in the legislature run back for the last twenty or thirty years ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Has he ever been a member of Congress?
Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Is ho a lawyer?
Anstvei: I believe he practiced law for a while, but he has not practiced for a great

many years.

Question. They regretted that the Ku-Klnx did not whip him instead of the old
colored man, when they tore down the school-house ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How near to the white school-house was this colored school-house being
erected ?

Answer. Mr. Shropshire told me it was a mile oft'.

Question. They considered that too near?
Anstcer. Yes, sir ; they said so.

Question. Have you heard of school-houses, churches, and dwelling-houses of colored
people being burned in your circuit?

Ansicer. No, sir; I have not heard of any.
Question. Was this gentleman erecting a school-house upon his own land?
Ansiver. Yes, sir; he owns a very large plantation. The other school-house was on

his land also. He gave that land to the whites for a school-house, and then he gave
the colored people a little plat of ground on the other side of his plantation for tSieir

Bchool-house.
Question. Did that article advise any trespass upon the property of Mr. Shropshire?
Ansirer. The whole tone of the article was in justification of tearing down the

school-house, and said about what I have told you.
Question. Is that a leading democratic paper in your county?
Ansiver. Yes, sir; that is the oldest paper, and it might be regarded as the leading

democratic paper in my town.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. Did the grand jury in Floyd County make any general presentment to the
court in relation to outrages of this character by disguised men?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; the grand jury of the last court there made some general present-
ment, calling upon the citizens of the county to aid the civil authorities in suppress-
ing the commission of crime by parties of disguised men.

Question. It was a kind of recommendation that they made ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Aside from any presentment against particular individuals ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; a general recommendation when the court adjourned.
Question. They set forth the existence of this class of outrages by disguised men?
Answe): Yes, sir.

Question. And it was a sort of general recommendation to everybody to aid in putting
them down ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Beck :

Qtieslion. How many of the grand jury were democrats?
Answer. I cannot tell you now, but I know a majority of them were democrats.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)
Question. In consequence of the zeal you have manifested in trying to ferret out

transactions of this sort and bring the perpetrators to punishment, have any threats
Jjeen made against you ? ^^-'

r Ansiver. I have heard that some have been made. My friends have repeatedly come
to me and told mo that there were threats made against me.
"" Question. No threats have been made against you in your presence ?

'
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Answer. No, sir, except that a written notice was brought to me by the deputy
eaeriff a week or two before I left Lome. We were making an effort to arrest some
parties who were skulking about, and a written notice was left near his gate.

Question. Kcar the gate of the sheriff?

Answer. Yes, sir. it was directed, "To whom it may concern;" and then made a
proposition rather, that they were willing to come in aud surrender the guns and pistols

they had taken from the colored people, but they would not themselves submit to the
authorities Then it wound up by stating that all persons who were engaged in trying
to make arrests had better take care of themselves. Then it finished by saying, " Live
long, die soon," and a parcel of hieroglyphics that I did not understand ; and it was
signed, " Captain of Ku-Klux." That is all the evidence I have of any threat to myself

j

I do not know tliat tlmt was jiarticnlarly intended for me more than for others.

Question. You have been told by some of your friends that threats have been made
against you personally 1

Ans^cer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you felt any apprehension of danger in consequence of what you have
heard?

Answer. Xo, sir, I have not ; I have expected that perhaps they would visit my house
8ome time, but I cannot say that I have had fear of personal violence fiom them ; I, of
course, felt unpleasant about it.

Question. You had some expectations that you might see them some time ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; but I have a great number of personal friends in that country. I
was raised right there ; I had a company of men in the rebel army, and they are all my
personal friends ; and I have a great many other personal friends. I hav^o a foothold
that I think they would be afraid to attack.

Question. You think you would be in a state of readiness foiTthem ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Washengtox, D. C, July 10, 1871.

P. M. SHEIBLEY sworn and examined.

By the CirAiR:\iA>:, (ilr. Fotaxd :)

Question. VfheTd do you reside ?

Answer. At Home, Georgia.
Question. Do you hold any ofQcial position there t

Ansuer. I am postmaster there, and have been for two aud a halt years. I was first

appointed in May, 1868, and then again in December.
Question. How long have you resided in the State of Georgia ?

Ansivcr. I have resided there twenty years, and probably a few months more.
Question. Did you reside in any other southern State before going to Georgia T

Answer. I resided in Virginia three years. Pennsylvania is my native State, and I

left there in the spring of 1848, and I have remained South ever since then.

Question. What was your business in the South prior to the war?
Ansiccr. I was professor of Latin, Greek, and mathematics ; I taught up to 1860, until

the war commenced.
Question. In what institutions ?

Ansuer. I taught in the Madison Collegiate Institute in Virginia, and in the Rome
Collegiate Institute in Georgia. In the latter institute there were three other gentle-

men teaching in connection with myself.

Question. You have been for many years in the city of Rome, Georgia ?

Ansu-e.r. Yes, sir; about eighteen and one-third years in the city of Rome.
Question. Did your emi)loyment of teaching end with the beginning of the war ?

^Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. In what were you engaged during the war ?

Answer. I commenced planting immediately after the school was injured, on account
of my being a Union man.

,

Question. Y^ou were a Union man before the war?
Answer. Y'es, sir.

Question. And during the war 1

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And since the war ?

Ansiccr. Y'"es, sir.

Question. Are you engaged in any other business now, except that of postmaster of
your city ?

t. Ansice): No, sir; no further than as a general insurance agent, or a real estate agent,
to look after business of that kind.
' Qvestio7i. Have you held any other official position in the State of Georgia except the

•office of postmaster which you now hold ?
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Answer. I have twice been a secretary of a State convention, and secretary of the

Georgia State constitutional convention.

Qiwsiion. The convention which framed the present constitution of Georgia ?

Anstcer. Yea, sir; in 1867 and 1868.

Question. The subject this committee was charged by Congress to inquire into is in rela-

tion to the condition ofthe communities in the late insurrectionary States, and especially

in relation to their present condition as to peace and order ; as to the commission of

oflenses against person and property, and especially as to tiie commission of such

offenses by any organized band or bauds of men in disguise; and whether otienses com-
mitted against person or property, and particularly those committed by these bands of

disguised men, if there are any such, are properly prosecuted and punished, or if not,

what are the obstacles that .prevent their being duly prosecuted and punished. Will

you now state your views in relation to that general subject?

Anstcer. I can but answer your question by speaking comparatively. Before the war,

politically we had our rights and privileges under the Government ; we voted as we
pleased without harm or hinderance, other than the differences between parties. The
Breckenridge party were extreme ultra men; the Union party could vote either for

Douo'las, or for Bell and Everett. My position was in favor of Bell and Everett. After

the separation, or rather after the election of Abraham Lincoln, there was a determina-

tion on the part of southern people to still further oppose Union men ; that is, to feel

xmkindly toward them, to keep them out ofplace, position, and advancement in society

—

out of progress in any and every way. At present, disturbances are still greater and
violence occurs. This violence is done by disguised men, and generally toward the

colored people, threatening them that they shall not vote; shall not interfere in elec-

tions; that they must not vote the radical ticket. In several instances where I have
known outrages to be committed, the parties have come to me ; I did not myself see

the outrages committed, because I was not with the band. But two different negroes

have come to me and asked what they should do—what could be done for them. One
of these negroes was named Jourdan Ware, and lived about two and a half miles from

Rftme. He was taken out of his house, and beaten and abused ; he came to my othce with
his head mangled. The other is named Joe Kennedy, who lives about a mile and a half

from Rome ; he was shot in the leg, I believe. In both these cases the negroes told me
they had done nothing; and that the threat made to them was that they should not

interfere with the elections.

Question. We will first take up the case of Ware, and ascertain the particulars of that^

You said he lived about two and a half miles from Rome ?

Anstvcr. Yes, sir.

Qiwstion. How long had you known him ?

Answer. Ever since he registered. The registration took place in 1867, 1 believe.

Question. You have known him since that time ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir.

Question. What is his reputation and character?

Ansiver. So far as I know, his reputation was good.

Question. Did you ever hear him charged with any offense or violation of law ?

Answer. No, sir ; I never did.

Question. About how old a man is he ?

Anstcer. I should think he was between forty-five and fifty years of age. It is diffi-

cult to t'cll the age of a negro.

Q«€«(((0)i. He was not a young man ?

Anstoer. No, sir.

Question. Was he to any extent a leading man, a prominent man among the colored

people ?

Answer. Rather so. The Ware family is one of some prominence; old Mr. Ware, the

old man of all, had owned a great many slaves.

Question. Was not this colored man also called Foster ?

Answer. No, sir ; the Foster case was a different case. Old Mr. Ware owned a great

many slaves ; the family was a large one, and this colored man took the name of his

former owner, who was well known throughout that whole community, and had a

great deal of influenco.

Question. At what time did this colored man Ware come to you ?

Answer. It was in January last.

Question. He had been assaulted and beaten ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What did he tell you in reference to tlie particulars of that transaction ?

Anstoer. I have stated that it was on account of his politics.

Question. Was this assault committed upon him by a band of disgufsed men?
(Ansiver. Yes, sir ; by disguised men.

Question. Did he say that they told him it was on account of his politics?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; and then an additional reason, which he mentioned, was to get

possession of his place ; that is, " to break him up," as the common phrase is. He w^
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fi:xed very comfortably there. He had rented a, place from a lady living in town, and
was cultivating abont thirty acres of land, and was taking care of the place for her at
a specified rate.

Question. Was it because somebody else wanted to get possession of that property, sr
did they merely want to break him up and drive him off/

Ansicer. This band wanted to break him up. In connection with telling him that
he was a radical, and nhould not vote the radical ticket any more, t'ley told him that
he must go away from there.

Question. What became of this man Ware ?

Anstcei: I have not seen him rjjore than once or twice since, and I do not know what
has become of him. He has left the jilace, however, and is not in ])OSsession of it. I
advised him to move to Rome to save himself; to make no disturbance, but to go to
the lady who owned the place and give it up.

Question. How badly was he injured ?

Ansuer. Well, he was bleeding pretty badly ; I did not examined his wounds. He had
been beaten over the head, which injury might have resulted in his death; but I know
he did not die from it then. The attempt seemed to have been to bruise or break in
his skull ; he was struck on the side of the head.

Question. Did he say anything in relation to this band of disguised men, who came
there and attacked him, pretending to bo a band of Union soldiers ?

Ansicer. No, sir, O, no ; there were no Union soldiers there.

Qttestion. They did not pretend to be Union soldiers ?

Ansipir. No, sir; they made no pretense of that kind.
Quesiiov. Did you ever hear from anybody that there was any allegation against

this man Ware, that he had committed any olfense against anybody ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. There was no charge or allegation of crime against him, to your knowledge ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Who was the other colored man f

Anstcer. Joe Kennedy.
Question. How far did he live from you ?

Anstver. He lived a mile and a half from town.
Question. What was done to him?
Ansiver. He was shot through the leg.

Question. State the particulars of that transaction, as he gave them to you.
Ansivn-. He came to me and made complaint. I said, " Joe, what in the world is to

pay? What is the matter with you? What have you done ?" He said, " I have not
done anything." I said, " Have you not done anything to bring this party upon you?"
" No," he said ;

" you see mc here every few days ; I come to see you. I come to yoiu*
house, and you know I am quiet and don't harm anybody." " I know that," I said

;

" but what excuse did they make ?" His reply was, " They said to me, ' You damned
niggers are getting too big anyway, and it is time you should seek some other business
ior get out of the country.' " That was the sum and substance of it. His object in com-
, ng to me was to get aclvice as to what he should do about it. I told him that he had
fetter keep quiet and come to town, and I would look into the matter and see if any
•^elp could be given him.

Question. How long had you known him ?

Ansivei: About two years ; he had beei^ working in the city.

Question. Did you ever hear any accusation of any kind against him ?

Ansu'(7\ None whatever.
Question. Was he a man of any prominence among men of his color?
Answer. No, sir ; not more than ordinary prominence.
Question. Those two cases were both last winter ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; and both about the same time.
Question. How early had you begun to hear of any of these bands of disguised men

being about in your part of the State ?

Ansuer. In 18G8 ; I learned it more particularly then from a proclamation issued by
General Jleade, when he was military commaudeff there. In order to be certain about
times and dates I might perhaps be able to get a copy of the proclamation and send it

to you.
Question. He made proclamation in regard to them ?

Ansuer. Yes, sir ; it was in view of stopping everything of the kind, in order that all

persons might have a free right to vote. I think it was before the election in April,
1868, just before the vote on our constitution.

Question. Was there any interference by armed bands in the elections in your part of
the State ?

Ansu'er. Not at that election.
Question. How soon did these bodies of anned men begin to visit people and to com-

mit outrages ?

Ansuer. Last year some time, in 1870 ; in our county and in adjoining counties.

;
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Question. What had been their mode of operations, and the extent of them, prior to
that time ?

,

Answer. I do not know ; I suppose the general intention -was to create alarm and to
prevent parties from voting.

Question. Before that time, had they been in the habit of going about in the nigb i-

time in this disguised manner and visiting colored people ?

Anstver. No, sir, not that I know of; not before that time.

Question. You say that last year they began to commit acts of violence ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many have you heard of in your vicinity ? And give the particulars
of them, so far as you can state them.

'

Answer. It is notorious that at onetime they came intothecityof Rome, twenty-one
of them, one nigli-t,just after these two outrages bad been committed ; and I am of the
impression that it was the same night of the commission of these acts against Kennedy
and Ware.

Question. Those acts were both done the same night ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; by disguised men.
Question. And a body of disguised men that same night came into the city*

Anstva: Yes, sir.
'

Question. I think you said there were twenty-one of them ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they do anything in the city except to ride about and i^arado '?

Ansiver. No, sir ; that is about all. As persons would api^roach them, they would
draw their pistols and keep them off, as if the object was not to have themselves
known. I speak of that as a notorious fact, that we know from general rumor ; it was
about 11 or 12 o'clock at night.

Question. It is said that three have been convicted of these offenses in your part of

the State?
Answer. Yes, sir; they were taken in Chattooga County, an adjoining county.
Question. That was not in your county '/

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You have heard of that case ?

Answer'. Yg», sir.

Question. Have you information about their committing acts of violence upon any
other people in your county except the two you have mentioned ?

Answer. I liave heard of others, but those two came directly to my notice.

Question. Have tbere been any cases in your county where any person has been kille<l

by them, that you know of or have heard of'/

AnsiPer. I cannot bring to my mind now any particular one, or any circumatancea
about ouf', but there have been reports to that effect; I cannot recollect them.

Question. Have there ]>een several cases where they bave visited colored iieople and
whipped them, l>eat them ?

Answn: Yes, sir; that has frequenidy occurred in the county of Floyd.
Question. Has that same state of things, as you learned by newspapers and from other

sources, prevailed in other counties in your section of the State, and indeed throughout
the State? - _ .

Answer. Yes, sir ; in Chattooga County particularly, which is the adjoining county
;

also in Polk, which is an adjoining county; and in Cherokee County, Alabama.
Question. How far are you from the Alabama line ?

Answ'a: About twenty miles.

Question. Your county adjoins the Alabama line ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. What has been the effect upon the colored people of the conduct of these

bands of men?
Answei: It has disorganized them very much in their labor, in their political privil-

eges, and in theii' social relations one with the other; and general fear and intimida-

tion prevail.

Question. A feeling of alarm ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; so as to prevent them from i^rospcring or doing proi)er service for

those who employ them.
Question. Do you know whether, in consequence of these acts, many of them have

gone into town, where they would bo less liable to danger ?

Ansivei: Yes, sir ; that has been done in some cases.

Question. You say you advised tliose two men who came to you to do so ?

Answer. Yes, sir, Kennedy and Ware ; Ware wanted to resent it by lorce, as a frc«

man ; he said he was free and did ilot like to be beaten in that way ; but I advised him
that he liad better be quiet.

Question. Did they both remove into town ?

Ansioer. Yes, sir; both came into town.
Question. AVhat has been the effect upon the colored peoi>le, so far as relates to oxer
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cising the political and civil rights that have been conferred upon them ; do they now
feel free to exercise their legal rights and privileges?

Atis^cer. Not so much so as they did when they voted there the first time for the con-
stitution of the State of Georgia; that was the first vote, I believe, they gave in the
State.

Question. Do you believe a great many of them would be afraid to vote now ?

Jnsirer. I really believe so.

Queslion. From all you have seen and heard in relation to the character, the objects,
the transactions of these disguised men, what do you believe is the pnrpose of that
organization ?

Ansicer. Well, sir, my belief only you want?
Question. Yes.

Ansivo: I do not know what the object is, because 1 do not belong to them, and
never have.

Question. I want your judgment, from all the information you have about them.
Answa\ My opinion is this, that the object is to interfere with the reconstruction

measures, with the rights of the colored people to vote, with their political rights gen-
erally. If they cannot force them to vote as they themselves want them to vote, they
will endeavor to take the ballot away from them.

Question. What is the sentiment of the white people in that part of Georgia where
you live ; I do not mean among the white republicans ? The great mass of the white
people in your part of Geoigia, I su^jpose, belong to the democratic party ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir; largely so.

Question. Now, what is the sentiment and feeling of those white men who are not
republicans in relation to conferring the right of suffrage aud all civil rights upon the
colored people ?

Ansiva: Well, I believe that a majority of the white voters of the county of Floyd^
outside of the rexiublicaus, wotild take the ballot from them, and also all civil and
political rights.

Question. They were opposed to giving them ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. And do you believe that they do not intend that colored men shall have a,

full and free exercise of the rights that have been conferred upon them ?

Answer. Not unless they can themselves control them.
Que^stion. They do not intend that they shall vote unless they vote as they want

them to vote ?

Anstver. They do not.

Question. And do you believe that the object of this organization is to iiroduce that
result f

Ansu-er. Yes, sir ; I judge so from its operations.
Question. And you think it is producing that result?
Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. I want to inquire a little in relation to the state of feeling between the
whites and the blacks, whether on the part of the whites they require liom the blacks
submission of manner that they do not require from white jjeople ?

Atisive^r. Those who employ them ?

Question. Well, in all tlie intercourse between the whites and blacks there ; will the
whites allow a black man to use language toward them that they would allow a white
man to use without taking ofleuse ?

Anstver. No, sir ; they will not.

Question. Suppose that a white man and a colored man have some controversy about
a matter of dealing between them, a disagreement about it, will the white man allow
the black man to stand up and assert his side of a controversy, and his views, and his
claims, in the same manner that he would allow a white man to do so ?

Answer. No, sir ; not as a general thing.
Question. And if he does it, if he does stand up and assert his right against a white

man as another white man would do, and wotild be j)ermitted to do, that is what is
called imptidence, is it ?

Anstver. Yes, sir; that is impudence.
Question. That is being intpudent aud saucy ?

Answer. Yes. sir. It is natural for those persons who have been raised there in the
South, and who have owned slaves—it is rather natural for them to domineer over the
colored people.

Question. I am not criticising the manner ; I am merely inquiring what the fact is.

Anstver. They require a yielding obedience from them.
Question. Suppose that a colored man is guilty of impudence, as they term it—that

is, he stands up in the assertion of his rights, and talks as a white man would—is it
considered at all out of character to beat him for it and chastise him ?

Anstver. Well, sir, he would meet with the indignation of the white people for acting
so

; but I do not think that in aU cases they would chastise him, not as in former times
they chastised their slaves.
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Question. I do not mean everybody.
Anstver. That \v6uld be the feeling.

Question. It is considered an ofiense worthy of chastisement ; is not that the general
feeling ?

Anmcer. It pi'oduces that fe(;liug.

Question. We have heard considerable from various witnesses from different parts of
the Southas to the reasons that are alleged for these organizations. Now, what is the
excuse that is generally given by those people who do excuse and apologize for theexist-
ence of this Ku-Klux organization j what are the reasons that are generally given by
way of apology for it ?

. Answer. I do not know that they make much ajiology for what they do at all ; but I

think the main purpose is to control the political affairs of the country.
Question. What do those people say who speak with any degree of approbation of

this organization and its operations ; what do they say about it ?

Answer. Well, sir, I think that the whole matter grows out of the right of suffrage,
and the rights that the reconstruction measures of Congress give to the negroes ; I

think that is about the main thiug ; I think that in the South they do not want the
negroes to have any privileges at all.

Question. Did you ever hear them allege this : that it is necessary to have this organ-
ization to keep the negroes in order, and to keep them from'violating the law?
Answer. They may give that as an excuse.
Question. Have you heard that excuse given ?

Ansicer. No, sir; I have never heard it giveli.

Question. Suppose that excuse was given, is there any just occasioii for it ; have the
colored people iu your part of the State shown any disposition to violate the rights of
white people, or to arrogate to themselves any more I'ights than the law now gives
them ?

Answer. None that I know of.

Question. Have they, as a general thing, been peaceable, quiet, and orderly ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. They would be more so there, perhaps, than in other places, for

they are but one-third of the population, and their resistance to law and order in any
shape or manner would not redound to their benefit, even if it was in their nature to

do so.

Question. There would be no wisdom in it, at any rate ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have they shown any such disposition ?

Answer. No, sir; not iu my section. I have been a slaveholder myself; I once owned
thirty slaves, and I know the feeling of the negro very well. •

Question. It has beeu alleged by some people that this Ku-Klux organization was got
np to counteract the evil effect of the Loyal League. Have you ever had any connec-
tion with the Loyal League '?

Anstver. Yes, sir; I have been connected with it.

Question. How ?

Ansiver. I was grand vice-president of the Loyal League iu the State of Georgia, the
second office iu the League iu the State.

Question. When were those organizations called Loyal Leagues first organized in your
State?

Ansiver. I think in 1867. I have the document, but not witlime; if I had it I could
give you the precise date.

Question. How long did those Leagues exist in Georgia ?

Ansiver. They existed through the first State election after the war, and partly so in

the last presidential election ; we were fully organized to carrj^ our State constitution.

Question. Are those Loyal Leagues kept up, or have they been, since the presidential
election in 1868 ?

Answer. No, sir, not in our State.

Question. While it did exist, what obligation did a man take upon himself who be-
came a member of it ?

Answer. The main feature iu the League was to bring all the Union men together, to

maintain the laws passed by Congress, whatever those laws might be—that is, to con-
form to the order of our National Government, as distinct from State institutions ; it

was a national organization.
Question. Were there any penalties by the rules of the order, or by any oath that was

taken, or anything of the sort, that a man sul)jected himself to for leaviug the order, or
for voting the other way ?

Ansiver. No, sii', none whatever.
Question. The object of it was to concentrate as much Union sentiment as you could

in your State ?

Answei: The idea, as I understood it, was to bring the people together, as it were,
under the national flag, the Stars and Stripes.

Question. To concentrate the Union sentiment ?
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Answer-. Yes, sir ; that was flio prevailing idea tliroxiglioiit. I suppose nine-tenths of

them voted with the repnl)licau party, but the jirevailing feature of tlie organization,

as I now recollect it—1 have not thought of it for two or three years—was to bring

our people back under tht^ thig from which they had estranged theuiselves.

Qucfiiion. And the prevailing seutimeut among the colored jieople and the white
Union men of Georgia was that the way they could best show their Union seutimeut
after the war was by acting with the republican party ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that was the feeling.

Question. Now, was it ever taught in any constitittion, or ritual, or any publication

of the Loyal League, or by any republican speaker, by any one who weut out to orga-

nize these Leagues—was it ever inculcated that they were to violate any law, or to

violate the rights of any man ?

Answer. No, sir ; never, and I have never heard of its l)cing done.
Question. Were theteachingsof those Leagues all the other way, in the cause of law,

and order, and j)eace ?
"•

Answer. As the ritual showed it, and as I knew it, it was so.

Question. As it was practically expounded by the men who -had the lead in the busi-

ness?
Answer. The whole idea was to obey the law, all laws.
Question. Have you ever heard that the formation of this Ku-Klux organizatiou was

to check, to counteract the Union Leagues ?

Anstrer. 1 heard it about two years after the Leagues had ceased to exist in our sec-

tion ; I heard it last year.
Question. In your part of the State the Union Leagues had all dissolved and ended

before this Ku-Klux organizatiou had begun to operate at all ?
,

Answer. About that time.

Question. Before they did any acts of violence ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. All the violence committed by this organization has been since then ?

Answer. Yes, sir; all the acts of violence in our State have been done last year and
this year.

Question. It has been said to be the object of this Loyal League to keep the negroes
from voting the democratic ticket. Are there any negroes who want to vote the dem-
ocratic ticket in your part of the State "?

Ansicer. None, that I have heard, unless they are forced to do so. They appear by
intuition, some way or other, to know how to vote.

Question. Do you believe that any considerable number of them desire to vote the
democratic ticket unless some personal interest or inlluence is brought to bear upon
them?

Ans}ver. I think not.

Qnestion. Suppose one of them wants to vote that way, can he do so without danger ?

Anstver. I have never seen any one trying to prevent a negro from voting the demo-
cratic ticket, not by force ; they may try to persuade him.

Question. The great mass of them, at least, vote the other way ?

Answer. Yes, sir, until the last election ; more of them voted the democratic ticket

then.
Question. In your judgment, have they tried^o do more, in order to prevent a colored

man from voting the democratic ticket, than to persuade him that bis interest lay in

the other direction ?

Ansicer. Would they do more than persuade, in order to get him to vote the repub-
lican ticket?

Question. Suppose that one of them, for any reason, either for interest or otherwise,
from honest conviction it may be, should choose to vote the democratic ticket, would
the mass of the colored people attempt by violence to prevent liim from doing so ?

Ansirei: I have never seen them do so, and I have been at the polls at every election

since the war.
Question. Have you heard of any such thing in your part of Georgia? It has been

said that a colored man cannot vote the democratic ticket without danger of his life.

Anstver. I do not know of any instance.
Question. From what you know of the colored men there, do you think a man would

imperil his life if he undertook to vote the democratic ticket?
A)tswer. No, sir, he would not imperil his life ; they would feel indignant toward

him, somewhat unkind.
Question. They would not believe much in his honest conviction ?

^inswer. They would not believe he was acting right, is what they would term it.

Question. In relatiou to this organizatiou of disguised men who have gone about
doing this mischief, what has been the sentiment of the people generally, people that
were not supposed to actively belong to it, or to actively participate in it—that is, to go
out upon these marauding expeditions ; what has been the sentiment of the people in

regard to it, whether opposed to it or otherwise ?

4g
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Answer. They are mainly opposed to it, but tbcy dare not speak their sentiments, or

liavo not, iiiilii this last bill was passed by Congress, and the President issued his j)roC'

laraation under it.

Qkc^Ho)). Have there been any considerable number of people of standing and in-

fluence who have apologized for, or palliated, or excused,, this organization ?

Answei: Yes, sir, a great many.
^Quesfiou. What class of people were they?
iiimccT. They were generally the better class of people ; what I mean by the better

class is, those who were men of property ; they are afraid to come out against it.

Question. Have there been any portion of the white people
Answer. The dei)redatious, however, I think, were committed by the lower class.

Question. What I want to get at is this : has there been any cousid(;rable number of
the white people, those who were not the active men who went out on these expedi-
tions, who have spoken approvingly and palliatingly of the order and its operations ?

Answer. I Miink they generally try to excuse it.

Question. How large a portion of the white x>i-'ople down there besides the repub-
licans—I understand that the white ijeojile who are republicans have always disap-

proved it, have spoken against it, and have been active against it?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That does not seem to be denied. Now, how large a proportion of the
white people who are not republicans have either done auytliing or said anything
against it?

Answer. I have not mingled much with the people, for my business keeps me confined
to my room in my office. But, so far as I can hear from my position, my public position

as postmaster, ,1 hear very few speak out opeidy against it.

Question. Are there a great many people who you think really do feel opposed to it,

and still do not sjieak against it ; that is, is there a feeling among many people that it

is not exactly safe to talk against it ?

Answer. That is the way they have acted.

Question. Do you believe that there are a great many people who, in reality, would
be glad to have that state of things end, and who still fail to say or do anything
against it for fear of some evil consequences to themselves?

Answer. I do believe there are a great many of that sort ; I cannot but help think,

though, that a majority of the people condemn it.

Question. What you mean now by saying "that a majority of the people condemn
it," is it that a majority of the people really desire to have it stop[)ed ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; that is, a majority of the white people, and all the negroes would
like it stoppecl.

Question. Do you mean that a majority of the white people who are not republicans
do talk openly and publicly against it?

Answer. 0, no ; they do not spealv openly against it.

Question. There are a class of men in the South, leading men, who are disqualified by
the fourteenth amendment; what ground have that class of men taken in reference to

these Ku-Klux outrages, as far as you know ?

Answer. Vv^ell, my impression is, that the men who are disqualified are opyjosed to the
reconstruction measures of Congress, and hence endeavor as much as possible to iuter-

rui)t the progress of the Government. •

Question. What particular view, what particular action, have they taken in reference

to these Kn-Klux outrages? Have they done anything to put them down, or said any-
thing against them?

Ansxoer. I think they have been perfectly passive.

Question. What influence has that class of men exerted on that subject, if any ?

Answer. My opinion is, that Bob Toombs and that class of men encourage it ; I do
not know that positively, from my own knowledge ; I only judge so from eircimistances.

Question. Do you know any men, of all those who are now disqualified from holding
oflice under the Constitution, who have taken any active part, or who have exercised

any active influence, against this Ku-Klux organization ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not.

Question. Do you think there is in your part of Georgia entire freedom for a man who
entertains the views which you say are unpopular among the mass of the white people ; a
man who believes in- equal sufiVage, in negro equality, or civil rights, ami all that; do
you believe that he can go anywhere in Georgia and publicly and stotitly proclaim
those seutimints and views?

Answer. Not as he could in the North.
Question. Well, do you believe it wonld be entirely safe for him to do so?
Answer. No, I do not think it would be safe at all.

Question. Tljese outrages that have been committed by these bodies of disguised men
;

have they generally been punished?
Ansieer. No, sir, they have not.

Question. As a general rule they have not been punished?
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Answer. Tbey liave not been pniiislied.

Question. What liiis been the ditljcnlty? Why have tbey not been punished?
Ansu-er. It would seem that the officers do not do their duty ; I do not know whether

it is from fear or why ; but the truth is, they are very seldom punished.

Question. You have said that this organization really grew out of opposition to the

exercise of civil and political rights by the negToes; now, do you believe that that

same feeling, tliat same public sentiment, has been one of the principal reasons why
these outrages have not been punished ?

,

Answer. 1 do.

Question. Because public sentiment is not sufficiently strong against them ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Beck:

Question. You were in the city of Washington I believe, when you were summoned
as a witness here ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Prosecuting claims before the Southern Commission?
Answer. Yes, sir; I have a claim before the Southern Commission.
Qitestion. The only two cases you know of personally, of offenses of the character

which has been referred to here, are the cases of Jourdan Ware and Joe Kennedy, who
came to you individually and told tlieir grievances ?

Ansteer. Those are the only two I know personally.

Question. And you have heard of only one case of killing in your county, I think,

you have stated ?

Ansu-er. That is all, I believe; there may have been others.

Question. That is your recollection, as well as you can recollect?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; that is my recollection now
Question. What else j'ou have stated has all been hearsay about an organization of

this character and its doings elsewhere?
Ansiver. Yes, sir; general rumor. You asked me a question a moment ago ; I desire

to state here that I had no part in having myself subpoenaed here. You asked me the
question if I was not here when I was summoned as a witness before this committee.
The subpu?na was sent to my house at Eome, Georgia, because the gentleman did not
know that I was here.

Question^. But in fact you were suunnoned here in Washington, and had been here a
week or so before the summons reached you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. They telegraphed to Georgia to know if you were there, fouud that you were
not, and then summoneil you here?

Answer. They telegraphed me at Rome, supposing I was home; but I was not at

home, I was attending to business here.

Qucstfon. Judge Poland asked you if you had ever heard of any attempt to intimidate
negroes who wanted to vote the democratic ticket, and you answered him that you did

not know of any such case. You did not say whether you had ever heard of any such
case or not. *

Ansiver I answered that the negroes felt indignant toward any of their race for

voting contrary to the will and wishes of the majority, but I had known of no violence
against them.

Question. That is what you answered. Now I ask you if you have not heard of

threats being made against them for voting the democratic ticket, or desiring to do so
;

I do not ask if what von have heard be true or not; but have you not heard of such
threats ?

Answer. Public rumor has said that threats were made.
Question. That is what I su]>posed was the fact, from the way you answered, limiting

it to your own knowledge. You have heard of such threats by public rumor, as you
have heard of other things?

Answer. Yes, sir ; in one or two cases.

Question. You spoke of the organization of your Leagues, in connection with these
threats, and said that there was nothing in the constitution of your League that
authorized any member of that League to use threats, nothing to justify threats, in

accordance with your constitution.
Answei: No, sir; I do not know any member of the League that ever did it, and I

'have never heard of any member of the League that has made threats.

Question. The practical operation of it

Answer. Was peace, and union, and order.
Question. So far as the constitution itself has laid down rules ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and so far as the operation of the League itself in that section was
concerned, it was in the interest of law and order, and against violence of any kind.

Question. As to the extent to which individuals or bands of negroes interfered with ne-
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"loi's wlio souj^ht to vote the deniocnitic ticket, you can ouly say that yon have heard
occasioually of threats heiiig made a^gaiiist themf
Answa: One or two, Iroiu public ruuior.

Qiiestiun. AVhen you speak of men of the democratic party, as you say, excusing and
palliating the acts of these Ku-Klux, in what way do they doit, and how do tJiey ex-

cuse and palliate these acts ? Let the committee understand fullj- what you mean bv
that.

Answer. They do it by denying that anything was done, or Ly suggesting that the

boys were on.ly on a frolic.

Qttcstiou. They deny the fact ?

Aiimccr. Tlu^y speak of it as if it was only a little spree, or something of that kind ;

they palliate it in that way, not as an organized Ku-Klux baud, but just the boys on a

si)ree.

Question. And your opinion as to the extent of the organization, whatever it may be,

is based merely upon rumor ; to w hat extent it exists as an organized form you do not
know ?

jiusver. I have never belonged to it. I would not have known anything about tho

Know-Nothiug order if I had not belonged to it. That they have ctmie into the city

of Eome was the rumor, aud the fact is notorious that they have been and were iu

Rome.
Question. A band of disguised m<^u were there ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Whether they were connected with any other organization or not, outside

of the immediate men who composed it, you do not know, and have no means of know-
ing ; have you ?

Answer. No, sir ; I have not.

Question. Aud whether that was a band of Ku-Klux, connected with men in other
counties, or merely an isolated baud of men, who disguised themselves and came into

Eome, you do not know ?

Answer. No, sir. But this band coming in there was in connection with those out-

rages about the same time ; my impression is that they probably occurred the same
night. •

Question. But whether the men who committed these wrongs upon these two men,
Joe Kennedy and Jourdan Ware, were men connected with any other organization out-

side of your own county, you do not know ?
,

Ansiver. No, sir; I have no means of knowing.
Question. You say that in your opinion Mr. Toombs and men of that sort encouraged

these Ku-Klux organizations. Do you mean to say that Mr. Toombs and men of tliat

sort are encouraging the killing and beating of men iu violation of law ?

Ansiver. No ; I wish to be understood iu this way, that it was the general remark
that that class of men favor them, or if they do not favor them, do not use any means
to put them down.

Question. What means did the republican men of Georgia, not in office, use to put
them down ?

Answer. They could not use any means.
Question. What power would private individuals, who were not in office, and who

belonged to the democratic party, have to put them down ?

Answer. Only by the influence of public sentiment.
Question. Only the same power that leading republicans would have, by speaking

out and trying to influence public sentiment ; is not that all the chance that they have 1

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I am speaking of men like Toombs; Toombs cannot hold an office in the
State of Georgia ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. He cannot hold any office there. State or Federal ?

Answer. 1 do not know whether he can hold a, State office or not ; I have understood
that he cannot hold a Federal office.

Question. He cannot take the oath required by the fourteenth amendment?
Answer. No, sir; I do not think he can.

Question. Take that class of men—no matter how desirous they may be to aid in an
official capacity to put down disorders—can they by any means have the ability to do so?

Ansiver. No, sir: but I think they might create xjublic sentiment to do it; I think
men of that class might control the State.

Question. Do you think that men who find themselves by the laws of the country
dis(nialitie(l from holding any office of ]>rofit or trust; when they see other men, who
have been as guilty as themselves in all that has passed, having the right to hold these
offices ; when they see their own former slaves having the rigbt to hold them, would
feel as kindly toward the party in power, which puts them under these bans, and ele-

vates thfiir own slaves over their heads, ami will not put th(mi upon an equality with
their neighbois? Would you feel so?
Answer. It is not natural.



GEORGIA. 53

Q^ncsiion. Do not your people there jrencrally think that that very han put npoa
them tcTuds naturally, as you say, to keeji them from feelinj^ as luudly towards the
men who are administering the government in that form, as they would feel if they
were put upon an 0(iuality hefore the law with other people ?

Ansicer. I do not understand you exactly.

Quesiion. You say they would naturally feel so ; would they or not also naturally
feel very much more disposed to aid in supporting law and order if they had the same
right to occupy official positions as other men in their midst, be they lilack or white ?

Answer. They might feel more kindly.
Qi:eslion. Do you uot think they would? Put it to yourself, would yon not?
Sl)tsi.r^ r. Yes, sir.

Question. Is not the feeling you speak of these men having against the Government,
as at present administered, rather a feeling against the party that has administered it

so as to make this discrimination ; and are they not seeking rather to change rulers
than the form of government ? Is not that the feeling ?

AuHicer. My impression is that they are opposed to the reconstruction measures.
They want a chauge in the laws of the country ; I understand the reconstruction
measures to be the laws of the countiy, and they want a change in those measures.

Quesiion. Those measures being the measiu'es which in great part deprive them of an
equal light Avith other people f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do not very many of your people in Georgia feel that your State adminis-
tration, has been conducted very badly and very partially, under your ])resent govern-
ment; that it is most burdensome, most extravagant, &c. ; is not that charged ?

Answer. Yes, there is a charge of that sort, but I do not know how well sustained.
Quesiion. 1 am not asking that, but do they not believe that there has been an

unnecessary increase of expenditures and taxation ; is not that the cause of great
complaint among them, whether well or ill founded ; is not that the belief or opinion ?

Answer. Yes.
Question. And is it uot the fact that your taxation has greatly increased during the

last three' years?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you say there is a great deal of feeling existing against men in that
State who stand up and defend all the acts of the dominant jjarty in Congress, and
the acts of the governor and those who are standing by him ?

Answer. I think there is.

Quesiion. And so far as the General Government is concerned, you think that the
complaint is against the reconstruction acts ; and so far as the State is concerned, you
think that the claim that there is maladministration in the State under your present
government is the giound of complaint; is not the burden of their complaint based
upon that, the reconstruction acts of Congress, and Avhat they claim to be the extrava-
gance and corruption of your State government ?

,

Answer. It is partly so.

Question. Have j-ou ever held any public meetiugs, among you republicans, for in-

stance, in your county, to organize public sentiment to put down these things ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. And the private individuals of the democratic party have never done it

either ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Have, or not, your officers of the law, wherever they could discover the
perpetrators of these crimes, prosecuted them with as much vigilance as usual ?

- Answer. No, sir, they have not.

Question. Who is your judge?
Answer. Robert D. Harvey.

^

Question. Does he not do his duty as such ?

Ansicer. He tries to do it.

Question. Mi\ Forsyth is the prosecuting attorney for your circuit ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Does he not try to do his duty ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do uot your sheriffs and other county officials try to do it?
Answer. Whenever they do not run counter to public sentiment they try.

. Question. Have your grand-jurors ever allowed a man to escape that they could iden-
tity, who has committed one of these oftenses ?

.
Answer. They indict them so far as public sentiment would allow them.
Question. Do you know any case, public sentiment or no public sentiment, where they

have had a man before them they could identify as the perpetrator of such a crime,
and have allowed him to escape? If so, give us the case.

Ansicer. I think that persons belonging to this organization, or this Ku-Klux organ-
ization, are not dealt with according to law.



54 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Question. Do yoii kuow a case wbeir they have been discovered ?

Jni^wer. They generally prove themselves somewhere else ; they prove an aUbi.

Question. If they prove an alibi, to the satisfaction of your juries, can they refuse to

act upon it 1?

Answer. No, sir.

Qnesfion. Is it not the general fact, that the otlflcials and jurors, wherever a case has

heen made out fairly, and a man is shown to he guilty, have punished him, as far as you
know ?

Answer. I think not.

Question. Tell us of a case Avhere they have allowed a man to get away, when there

was a fair ciise made out against him.
Ansicer. 1 do not attend the courts regularly ; hut that is my Impression, aiy belief.

Question. You would believe Mr. Forsyth's statement upon that subject ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. If he were to say that the officials and jurors had convicted in all fair' cases,

where they had evidence against a man, would you believe it ?

Answer. 'Yes, sir ; he is right on the spot and I am not.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. IIow long have you resided in Georgia ?

Answer. Twenty years.

Question. Where did you reside before you went there ?

Answer. I was born in 1824 ; I am a native of Pennsylvania.
Question. Have you ever resided in Virginia ?

A7iswe): Yes, sir ; I resided in Virginia three years.

Question. Preceding your removal to Georgia "/

Ansxver. Yes, sir, and long before the war.

Question. Have you held any public position in the State of Georgia ?

Answer. I am postmaster at ]n'esent.

Question. That is a United States office?.

Answer. Yes, sir; I have never held any State office at all. I was a teacher of clas-

sics and mathematics up till the commencement of the war. I was not connected with
the war ; I kept out of the war.

Question. Were you connected with any institi^ition of learning?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you have any position in a college ?

Anstver. There were four teachers, or four professors, that had charge of Rome Male
Institute previous to the war.

Question. What was the name of the institution ?

Ansuier. The "Rome Male Collegiate Inistitutiou."

Question. Are you a professor in the college now ?

Answer. No, sir.

Questibn. Do colored men sit lapon juries in your State?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Are their names put in the jury-box to be drawn?
Answer. I cannot say positively ; I can say this, however, I believe the list of jurors

is made up by the commissioners, and one of the commissioners said that they were
not going to put any negroes in the jury-boxes.

Question. Have you ever known a colored man to sit upon a jury in the State of

Georgia ?

Answer. Not in the county where I live, nor anywhere else that I know of.

Question. Were these commissioners democrats ?

Ansivei'. Yes, sir. This man who conversed with me. is ia democrat, a Union democrat,

that is, a conservativ.e democrat.
Question. Are the other commissioners democrats ?

Answer. I do not recollect who are the other commissioners ; I suppose they are.

Question. The democrats have a majority in the county?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Axe the commissioners elected by the people?

Answer. No, sir ; I think they are ai^pointed by the judge of the circuit ; I know they

are not elected by the people.

Question. Have you heard of any barn-burning in your county ?

Answer. No, sir ; none that I know of or recollect.

Question. Do colored people testify in your courts?
Aiiswer. Yes, sir.

Question. Where the case is one between white men ?
.

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Ha\e you heard of any rapes by colored men upon white persons in your
county, or in the counties around ?

Answer. No, sir, I have not:

Question. You say the Union League has not been in existence there for two years?
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Aiisiver. No, sir.

Question. Are the county officers generally democrats?
A7isiver. Yes, sir ; they are all democrats.
Queafion. Is there any charge of coiTuptiou against them ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Are they competent men ?

Answer. They are generally competent men.
Question. There is no complaint that they put too much taxation upon the people,

more than the circumstances of the county require ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you ever known the colored men there to make any display of arms ?

Answer. In an organization, or singly ?

Question. I mean in an organization ; to meet together and show arms.
Answei: No, srr.

Question. Have there been any parades of military companies of colored men ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Has there been any unusual arming of colored men ?

Ansner. No, sir.

Question. Have you heard any of these things I have just been mentioning to you
alleged as a cause for the existence of this organization ; the burning of buildings,
commission of rapes, the Union League, taxation, corruption in office, or display of
arms by the colored men ?

Ansurr. No, sir, I have not. Only in one inst.ance have I heard it made an excuse,
that it was to put down the League, but no League exists, and it has not existed for
years.

Question. So that no such excuse for Ku-Klux is given in your region ?

Answer. No, sil'.

Question. Are the colored people quiet and orderly as a general thing there?
Answer. Yes, sir; the most of them have always lived in that county.
Question. The most of whom ?

Answer. The most of the colored people, and they feel it is their home. They act
quietly and try to acquire homes for themselves, if possible.

Question. Do they work diligently ?

Answer. They do not work as much as when they were slaves.

Question. Have the operations of these Ku-Klux organizations interfered with their
industry ?

Answer. It has very materially.
Question. Interfered with their exertions to make an honest living?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say some of them have been driven into town for protection ?

Answer. Yes, sir, they have.
Question. When an outrage of this sort, whipping or anything of the kind, is com-

mitted upon a colored man, does it terrify the balance in the ^ighborhood ?

Answer. It has a tendency that way.
Question. Do you know whether colored men have laid out of their houses, in the

woods, from fear ?

A7iswer. These two have; I know rumor says it is the case with others.
Question. There is a general state of terror among them ?

Answer. In the neighborhood in which the act is committed.
Question. Does that terror tend to influence them in their political action?
Ansirer. Yes, su'.

Question. And keep them from going to the ballot-boxes ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir, very materially.
Question. Should a colored man announce himself a democrat, and that he was going

to vote for the democratic ticket, would he be in any danger from these organiza-
tions.

Answer. None, whatever.
Que-slion. Is it generally understood among them, that they can purchase their peace

and safety in that way ?

Answer. They come to that conclusion ; I do not know whether it is undersrood
among them.

Question. What is your judgment about it ?

Answer. I think they would not be disturbed at all.

Questio)i. You think they would not be disturbed, if they would do that ?

Answer. No, sir, if they would vote the democratic ticket.

Question. Have you heard of white men being whipped, or otherwise outraged, by
this organization in your county, or in those around you ?

Answer. Only by rumor have I heard of white men being wliipped.
Question. You have learned that from rumor?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.
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Qiicfttion. Have you ever heard the rumors contradicted ?

An.snrr. I never have.
Question. Were the rumors common '?

Armcer. No, sir, not common.
QuesHon. I do not mean whether it Avas connnon for such things to occur, but whether

the rumor in regard to any one of these occurrences was a common rumor 1

Answer. You mean a general rumor?
fJt(cs1io)i. Yes ; and you have not heard, that contradicted.?

Anaircr. No, sir.

Qucfitio)!. Does that rumor refer to more than one case of outrage upon white persons?

Answer. I do not Icnow whether it does or not.

Queniion. Was the white man, said to have been outraged, a democrat or a republican ?

Arimver. I cannot tell positivelj", but my impression is that they do not outrage those

who vote as they do, and I think the organization is generally composed of those in

the democratic party. I do not know of any one belonging to the republican party

who belongs to that organization.
Question. Have you ever heard a rumor that a democrat was outraged, by this organi-

zation '?

Answer. Not for political purposes, I have not.

Quention. If you have an instance in your mind, for any purpose, let us know what
its.

Answer. I am nf)t positive as to every instance being a republican and to there being

no democrats ; but tlie general impretsion is that they belonged, to the opposite party ?

Question. Have you in your mind a single instance where it was said it was a dem-
ocrat who was outraged I

Answer. No, sir ; I have not a single instance in my mind.

Question. What is the general impression, among the intelligent portion of the com-
munity, from every source of information that has come to you ; from your general

view of the surroundings, what is your judgment, as to the extent of the organization;

whether it is a State organization or simply local ?

Answer. I have no means of knowing whether there is a State organization, but the

presumption is that there must be such, because they commit depredations in nearly

all the counties throughout the State.

Question. You have heard of outrages committed at a distance ?

Ansiver. I have heard of them.
Question. Did you hear of the surrounding circumstances under which they were

committed ?

Answer. Some of them; yes, sir.

Question. Was there uniformity in the mode of operation?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they geuerally disguised ?

Ansiver. Generally in disguise
;
yes, sir.

Question. Was there anv uniformity iii the disguise?

Answer. I do not know about that; they generally wear a white dress of some kind
or other.

Question. At the time the outrages were committed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Committed by men in bauds?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Upon the same class of citizens?

Answer. Generally upon the colored people.

Question. Is it upon that uniformity that you base the idea that there must be some
concert of action between the various points ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. X^u were speaking of those who apologized for or attempted to palliate

these acts, and as having characterized them as being a spree of the boys?

Answer. Yes, sir, that is what they say; the opposite party try to palliate it" in that

way, or say there is no such thi-ng.

Question. You mean to belittle it, to take from its apparent importance?

Answer. Yes, sir, that is the idea I want to convey by my answer ; that they repre-

sent it was a spree of the boys; that it did not amount to anything.

Question. That is, those who are in sympathy with it, or are fearful to take any
decided stand agaiuvSt it ?

Answer. Yes, sir, it comes from that quarter.

Question. Would that seem to indicate to you that there was a desire that it should

not be considered a general organization in the State?

Answer. A desire on the iiart of those i)alliating it?

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. Well, sir, it would not make that impression upon me.

Question. It would make the impression that they wanted to make ijt appear as not

a general organization ?
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Ansjccr. That it was local ; a spree of the boys ?

Quentiun. Not a geueral orgauization throughout the State?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You spoke of- able men ; I think you mentioned Mr. Toomb's name
;
yoii

said you thought they had not done as much as they could to put this down, and you
were asked it' they could hold any official positiou by which they ebuld i)ut it down.
In j^our judgment, how much intluenco could they exercise upon it without holding-

official positions ; could they control it If

Answer. General Toombs, with his powerful intellect, with the influence he has in

the State, and having been connected with State and national politics for a very long
time, with his particular line of politics, could control it, independent of any official

positiou, or any sujiport of law.
Question. Are there other men such as Mr. Toombs, who could aid him verj' much ?

Ansu'er. Yes, sir ; I only spoke of him as one man. I do not want to cast any
reflection upon him at all ; I speak with the highest respect of his abilities.

Question. Name some other ])ersons who could operate with him ?

Answer. Alexander H. Stephens, Liutou Stephens, Geuei'al John B. Gordon, and Gen-
eral Alfred Colquhit.

Question. Are they all leading democrats in that State ?

Ansjver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do they act together politically ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; under the lead of the democracy ; they may hav.e different dis-

tinctive personal views. I speak of these gentlemen because of their weight and
influence in the State ; not as being connected with the organization, because I do not
know that they are connected in any manner or form with it ; but they have power
and influence politically over the State.

Question. You mean they are of that class of men who have influence ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What could they do to put tliis organization down ; in your opinion what
should they do ?

Ansicer. I think all that is necessary for them to do would be to issue an edict.

Question. You think an order of that sort from them would be obeyed by the Klaa 1

Answer. I think it would have such an influence upon the whites of the State that
it would check its progress, and probably lead them to abandon the whole thing.

Question. Have the republicans denounced it ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they have oi^posed it as much as they could.
Question. Have the democrats generally done so ?

Ansicer. Not that I know of.

Question. Suppose this class of men of whom you have been speaking were to denounce
it in the unmeasured terms which you believe it deserves, and do so publicly, would
it probably cause it to cease 1

Answer. I think it would bring peace and harmony to the State.
Question. Have they shown any disposition to do that ? Have you ever heard of

their doing it on any occasion ?

Answer. Some of the individuals I have mentioned may have done it privately, but
I know of no published or written document coming from any of them, or from all of
them, to that elfect.

Question. AVould not palliation from such a source have a tendency to encourage
these things ?

Answer. It would have; yes, sir.

Question. Have you ever heard the leading men of your State characterize the i^ro-
ceedings of this Klan as a species of wild justice, justifled to some extent by the cir-

cun)stances of the State ?

Answer. No, sir, not to me perso:^ally ; I have not heard any expression of that kind.
Question. Have you heard of their characterizing it in terms that amounted substan-

tially to tliat ; any of the leading men of the State ?

Answer. No, sir ; I have not.

Question. Have ypu seen any such thing in the public prints of the State ?

A]iswer. I do not know whether I have your connection now.
Question. I mean have you seen or known the j^ublic prints of the State to speak of

it as a species of wild justice, rendered necessary by the circumstances surrounding
the condition of aftairs?

Answer. I have ; I think I can get the papers if ycwi wish them.
Question. They have treated it in that way ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In the public press ?

Answer. Y''es, sir.

Question. Were these papers democratic ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did the rexiublican pa^iers speak of it in that way ?
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Jnsiver. No, sir; they denounced it.

Question. Did tliey denounce it as an outrage and a crime ?

Answo: Yes, sir.

Question. Such publications in tLe public press must have some effect upon the men
engaged in this thing ; has it the effect to encourage them ?

Jntiircr. Yes, sir, niateri;illy.

Qucfitlun. You do not mean to say that these men would encourage acts of murder, or

that they would justify an act of murder ?

Answer. Who, the public prints?
Question. Yes.

Answer. No ; I do not think they would.
Question. You think they might condemn some of the extravagances of which the

organization was guilty, but when they speak of it, you mean in general terms ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; in general terms.

Question. lu general terms they encourage it ?

Ansivej: Yes, sir.

Question. Suppose it should be known or alleged, with the probability of proof, that

a colored man had been whipped for insolence, or for using violent or perhaps provok-

ing language to a white man, how would the whipping of him by this organization be
regarded; as justifiable?

Answer. As perfectly right.

Question. You. think the scourging of colored men for alleged offenses, not for real

violation of the criminal laws of the State, would be justified or apologized for?

Answer. Well, I think they would be disposed to apologize ; I do uot know whether
as a general thing they would justify it.

Qi'iestion. Have the 'victims of these outrages generally had some crimes alleged

against them, by the men who committed the outrages upon them; did they generally

trump up some charge of crime against their victim ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they most generally gave some excuse.

Question. Is that universally the case?
Answer. No, sir ; I do not think it is universally the case ; I think they sometimes

come along and do it without any apology at all.

Question. Is it your judgment that the purpose of this organization was directed to

nuilil'y the practical effect of the recofistruction policy of Congress, iu conferring

rights upon the colored peoiile ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. That is, that though the law might stand conferring the right, they mt-au

to i)revent its exercise ?

Answer. Yes, sir; if you refer to the right of suffrage.

Question. And iu that way nullify the i^ractical effect of the law ?

Answer. That apjiears to me to be their design.

Question. Do you think that a leading design of the organization ?

Answer. I think it one of the leading designs ; the other is to get into power acd
place, and to get the Government into their own hands.

Question. Would not that be a very efficient means to get the Government into their

own hands ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. If the colored people could be kept from the ballot-boxes, so that the white
people of the State would have entire control, would they willingly confer upon the
colored people the rights and privileges which were conferred upon them by the recon-

struction policy of Congress ?

Answer. I think tliey would uot.

Question. You think they would not ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You said/that those who were disposed to defend the reconstruction policy

of Congress, and the conferring of these privileges upon the colored race, had a violent

opposition manifested against them, and that they were not entirely safe in some local-

ities iu expressing these opinions in strong language?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I undei-stood Mr. Beck, when he jiut the question to you, to ask whether,

if they defended all the acts of the party in power, both in the State and National

Government, there was not opposition to them ; I call attention to the words, " Would
there be opposition aud danger to their exjiressing their opinions, even if they did not

del'end every act ?" Suppose they defended the main policy of Congress, and the main
policy of the State administration ; that is, declared themselves republicans, aud at-

tempted to make republican speeches ; do you think they would then go unmolested ?

Answer. I think they would be disturbed iu some way, cither by reproachful words
or abuse.

Question. You do not mean that they must defend all that has been done to render

themselves subject to such disturbances ?
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Ausicer. No, sir.

Question. You were asked if the republicans had held auy meetings to turn public atten-

tion against these organizations. What effect -would a public meeting of the republi-

cans of that State produce upon such an organization ?

Answer. No good etfect, and it mighfencourage them to treat.the republicans worse

;

we would have to submit quietly in order to give no ofi'ense.

QuesUon. Suppose the republicans should hold an indignation meeting and pass
strong denunciatory resolutions against this organization and against its proceedings;
would it j)roduce any good effect in sup^jressing it ?

Ansirer. None whatever.
Question. Would the eliect be rather the other way ?

Answer. They would get the malediction and abuse of the jiapers there.

Question. For doing so '1

Ansiver. Yes.
Question. Is that the reason whj' the rei)ublican party is powerless ?

Ansicer. Maiulj" so.

Question. Have you any carpet-baggers in your section of the country, as that term
is generally understood } men who have gone down there since the war and held offi-

cial positions ?

An-'iwer. No, sir, I do not know of anj'.

Question. Tlaere is no carpet-bagger there, as such, who holds an office in that county ?

Answer. No, sir. They call me one, but I have been there twenty-three years.

Question. I do not mean that exactly. I mean those who have gone down there since

the war.
Answer. No, sir; none of that sort.

Question. Suppose those who are called the better class of the community, the white
men who have position and property, were zealous in their efibrts to ferret out and
detect these offenders, w^ould they be likely to succeed in bringing many of them to
justice ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Y'ou think the community would not be able, even the best portion of it, to

do so ?

Answer. I do not think at this time there is moral force enough in the community to
put it down.

Question. You d» not think there is moral force enough ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Suppose the great body of men of property and influence would set their

faces against it f

Answer. Then it would be just as I said, that the prominent nien in the State I have
mentioned could do it.

Question. You were questioned rather closely in regard to the grand juries, and asked
if you knew any instance where they allowed a man to escape against whom the proof
was plain, and you were unable to give an instance. Still you seemed to think that
the grand j iiries were not doing their duty entirely, because of public sentiment to the
contrary, you said.

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Now let me ask you if you believe the grand juries, as a general thing, do
make that diligent inquiry which their duty requires ?

Answer. No, sir; they do not. One grand jury in their x'resentment charged these
outrages upon the peoj^le of Floyd, and tried to do what they could to bring it before
the court ; they did that the first week. The second week another jury brought in a
different state of things. The first one was greatly condemned, because they brought
out things that were true and injurious, and tried to sujDpress this violence.

Question. That jury reported these things ?

Answer. Yes, sir; the first jury did.
Question. Wliat was said of that jury for doing it?

Ansiver. The public prints took it in hand and condemned them.
Question, (/'ondemned them for exposing it ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Why did they say it should not be ex^iosed; that it was a disgrace to tho
country, or anything of that sort ?

Answej: No, sir ; they tried to palliate it or excuse it.

Question. What did the next jury do ?

Answer. They tried to excuse it too.

Question. They followed the tone of public sentiment?
Answer. Y'es, sir.

Question. Is that what you mean by the grand jury following public sentiment ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did the course taken by the papers tend to make the jury less diligent in
inquiring into and ferreting out such oft'euses ?
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Ansicer. Altogether so.

Question. And you think the reason why the grand jury did not exert themselves suf-

ficiently to tind out these things was because of the public sentiuient that surrounded
them?

JuNiccr. Yes, sir.

<Jiic>:ti(m. You spoke of alibis being j)roved. Is it common there for those charged
with Ku-Klux outrages to get off upon proving an alibi '?

Ansiver. They feel very secure in getting off in that way.
Question. Might uot the grand jury, by being easy in their belief of such proof,, plausi-

bly release parties that ought uot to be released ?

Aiiswer. Yes, sir; I believe so.

Question. Do you think your grand juries have practiced upon that principle ?

^iiiswer. I am under the impression that our jury did in this same county. Mr. Beck
asked me if I knew of a single instance. I was not attending court and I do not know
positively, but the general impression was on the street that two men killed a colored
man in town. They wei'o brought before the court and they jjroved their presence some-
where else. Men tlid not ap])ear to testify against them.

Question. Is there silch a state ofintimidation among witnesses as to interfere with tho
action of the grand jury ?

Ansicer. To some extent I think it is so.

Question. Are the parties who are outraged generally afraid to go and tell it ; to make
it known in official quarters ?

Answer. Persons who are outraged are afraid to give information.
Question. Is it your opinion that many jiersons have been outraged in your county

who have kept it a secret ?

Answer. I think there are some.
Question. Do you know whether these men, when they commit outrages, threaten

further and more violent outrages upon the iiarties if they make it known f Is that the
rumor ?

Answer. That is the rumor.
Question. Have you ever heard the rumor contradicted ?

Answer. I never have.
Question. Is that rumor general ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Is the prevalence of such a rumor uncontradicted likely to intimidate wit-
nesses and lead them not to make their grievances known to the gxaud jury ?

Answer. I think it has that kind of influence.

Question. You think, then, all these things are a bar to a full and proper administration
of public justice, in regard to this class of offenses ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you any opinion as to what the remedy for that would be ? Is there
anything that this National Government could do to remedy it ?

Answer. Sometimes I think that general amnesty might do it; but lam not sure
whether it would or not. Our people are so rebellious that I do not know what would
reconcile them.

Question. Do you not believe that what is commonly called general amnesty would
have a tendency that way ?

Answer. It Avould have a very great tendency, if you gave up the Government to
them, and let them exercise its functions.

Question. What do you mean by that ?

Answer. Pardon them, and give them official positions.

Question. You mean that if these leading democrats were j)laccd in office and given
control of everything it would have a good effect?

Answer. Yes, sir, on them.
Question. Suppose they had simply the benefits of a general amnesty, had their disa-

bilities removed, but by the colored vote were still keirt out of office, would that help
The matter ?

Ansu'er. This question I have not studied fully. At one time I thought it might be
the best thing for the Government to pass a law of general amnesty ; biit then at other
times I feared that there was so little love for the Government that it would not do
much good ; so I have not come to any positive conclusion on tho subject.

Question. What has been the effect of the recent law of Congress, known as the Ku-
Klux law, supplemented by the President's proclamation, on that su'"jject ?

Aiiswer. I have heard of less disturbance since then.
Question. Yoii think the effect has been good?
Ansiver. Perhdps it has.
Question. Do you know Mr. Forsyth, who has been here to-day ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is lie a man of standing antt character?
Answer. Yea, sir ; he stands quite well.
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Qiieslion. Is he a man of intellect and sound juflgrnent ?

Answer. I think he is a man of fair intellect and fair judgment, and I consider him a
ti'ntlifnl man.

(J II est ion. Have you ever heard anything against his character ?

Ajisuer. Never ; he has lived in our city only two or three years.

Question. Are his social standing and surroundings good ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; his family and connections are all good.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pola::cd:)

Question. There is Judge Wright here from your town as a witness ; does he belong
to the same category of men as Toombs and Stephens, and would you rank Mm with
the same class of men ?

Ausu-cr. 1 think Judge Wright would have a great deal of influence in reconciling

these things.

QiKistion. He is a man who is under disabilities?

Amwer. He says he has President Lincoln's pardon ; I do not know.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. That does not remove his disabilities, does it?

Answer. I think he is somewhat in doul^t himself.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Is he a man very active in politics ? Does he talk a great deal ?

Answer. Yes, sir; he is a man who has had a great deal of influence. He was d
Douglas democrat before the war, and it required a great deal of nerve to be a Bell
and Everett man or a Douglas man then, and he was bold in his advocacy of Douglas.

Question. He was formerly a member of the United States Congress?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And he was a member of the confederate congress ?

Austcei: Yes, sir ; and he had a legion in the confederate service known as Wright's
legion.

Question. It was named after him?
Answer. Yes, sir; I do not think they went into active service, though it was organ-

ized.

Quesiion. What ground does he take about these Ku-Klus outrages ? Does he con-
demn them or apologize for tJiem ?

Answer. It has been more of apology than anything else.

Question. He has been counsel for them, when there have been any prosecuted ?

Answer. Yes, sir, he has been in two or three instances—in two that I have in mind

—

in the case of the negro who was killed in town.
Question. Do you happen to know anything about a transaction where a man, who

was taken up for one of these outrages and committed to jail, was rescued ?

Answer. That was in the adjoining county. Do you recollect the name ? Was he
rescued from the military ?

Question. Yes.
Answer. That was in Chattooga County.
Question. The county adjoining yours?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. A man was arrested on a chai-ge of particii>ating in one of these outrages ?

Answer. Yes, sir; as being a leader I think, and the case was reported to General
ferry, and he sent a scjuad of soldiers up there, probably a company, and they arrested
the man and ]mt him in prison.

Question. Was there some application made to the former judge?
Answer. Judge F. A. Kirl)}' was then acting.
Question. What was this aiiplication to Judge Kirby to discharge this man?
Answer. They went to Judge Kirby's house and demanded the release of this man.
Question. An armed body of men?
Answer. Yes, sir ; the man had been taken by the Union soldiers and put in i^rison,

and they went to the judge.
Question. Thej'—who ?

Ausiccr. This organized band, this disguised band, the Ku-Klus, generally known as
the Ku-Klux.

Question. How large a force was there of them ?

Ansiver. Judge Kirby told me that they ranged between one hundred and fifty and
three hundred ; that was his conclusion. His wife was then very sick with consump-
tion, about dying, and he pleaded with them to be allowed to remain home with h-s wife,
but they would not hear to his pleading at all. '

Question. What did they want the judge to do ?

Answer. Tliey wanted that he should by some manner of m(;ans get this man out of
prison. They gave him a brief time to make up his mind. He went in the dead hour
of the night and had an interview with the officer ; that is my recollection; and pleaded
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that it was for his life that ho desivcd tlie man released aud oive^a jip to this band,

there being, as he believed, three himdred armed Kn-Khix men on one side, and on the

other side tlurty soldiers; and they yielded to his Avisli.

Qiicxtion. TIkV threatened to take the man away by force, if not given np ?

Annwcr. Yes, sir.

Question. And the officer in command of these thirty soldiers did give up the man ?

Arisiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear Judge Wright say anything about that transaction ?

Answe): I heard him denounce it as wrong, but he thought as thcy'eould not release

the ]trisoner in any other way, as he supposed, he rather justified the taking of this

man from the hands of the military.

Question. How long ago was that transaction ?

Ansiver. It was last year some time.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. You say Judge Wright both denounced it and justified it ?

Answer. He denounced it so far as the treatment of Judge Kirby was concerned. He
did not like the treatment of Judge Kirby, who is connected with Judge Wright by
marriage in some way or other.

By tlie Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. It was their conduct to Judge Kirby that he found fault with ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; but as they would not obey a writ of habeas corpus, I think he

justified their taking the man from the military.

Question. He justified their taking the man away by force?

Answer. Yes, sir ; on that ground.

By Mr. Beck :
.

Question. And had not these soldiers in fact gone up there and taken this man out of

his'^bed at night without any charge against him, and refused to tell what charge, if

any, they had against him ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. What was the man's name ?

Answer. That I do not recollect.

Question. Do you not remember the fact that they did take him from his bed at night

and refused to tell him why he was arrested, or said that they did not know ; and also

that they refused to obey a writ of habeas corpus, and refused to state any sort of

ground for liis arrest, and that Judge Wriglit thought that they, too, had acted wrong
as well as the Ku-Klux fellows ?

Answer. My recollection is that he was taken at night, but I do not know all about

the circumstances.
Question. Was not this the general idea that Judge Wright had, that these fellows

had arrested the man without a warrant ; had confined him without intimation of the

charge against hirn ; had refused to obey a writ of habeas corpus ; had refused to give

up control of the man ; and therefore they were wrong in holding him; aud that these

disguised men were equally wrong in doing what tkey did to Judge Kirby?
Answer. That is about what I said in substance.

Question. Was it not generally understood there that General Terry was made abso^

lute commander of your district by the President and General Sherman, witli absolute

power, and against the law of Congress itself?

Answer. I do not know about that.

Question. Was it not generally believed that they had usurped authority under pre-

tense of the act of December, 1869, when, intact, there was no authority of that kind ?

Was there not a great deal of feeling ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; there was some feeling.

Question. Did not General Terry remove judicial officials elected by the people and
put in other men ?

Ariswer. I do not remember an instance.

Question. Do you not remevnber that ho removed a judge of one of your courts, a

republican, ]\Ir. Wetmore, or some such name as that ?

Answer. I do not recollect that instance.

Question. Did he not organize the legislature of Georgia by putting Harris, a railroad

employd, in l^he chair, and doing pretty mueli as he pleased by military authority for a

while ? And was not that considered high-handed usurpation on the part of the Presi-

dent and his military officers ; was not that the way the people felt in Georgia 1

Answer. That is the way members of the legislature expressed themselves.

Question. Did not all the people who knew anything about it feel in that way ? Did
you ever hear any republican contend that under tlie act of Congress either the Presi-

iient or General terry had the right to do the things they did ; to arrest men, to sus-

pend the writ of habeas corpus, and to do what they did do with their soldiers in tho

re-recoustructiou of Georgia i
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Answer. I have never heard them express their opinion.

Question. Was not this man taken by General Terry's soldiers when General. Terry

was assuming to act as the military commander of that district ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. After the constitution of Georgia had been adopted?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And after the legislature of Georgia vras organized ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And did not other lawyers, as well as Judge Wright, condemn and denounce
tb» usurpation of the military in so arresting men, and refusing to allow them to be
tried befoi'e civil courts ?

Answer. I have never heard any others than Judge Wright say so.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. What ^\-as the man charged -with who was arrested by the soldiers?

Answer. My impression is that he was charged with being one of a baud who shot

at or heat some negroes ; I do not know the circumstances in detail.

(Question. Was he charged with being a member of a disguised party who did that ?

Answer. Y'es, sir.

Question. He was charged with Ku-Klus outrages?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was that charge ever filed in any court anywhere, by anybody ?

Answer. I do not know whether it was ever filed. It was reported to General TeiTy,

and he sent his officer and some soldiers up there and had the man arrested.

Question. Is it a fact that a band of disguised men did commit such an outrage upon
the negroes there ?

Answer. That was the rumor; I do not kuoAv about the truth of it; I was not pres-

ent there, but it was generally conceded to be so.

Question. Did anybody deny that there had been such an outrage committed by a
disguised band?
Answer. No, sir; it was not denied by any man.
Question. What were the circumstances surrounding that outrage?
Answer. That was twenty-five miles away from my home.
Question. What did they do, as you understood?
Answer. They went to "the house of Ben. Taylor, a colored man, who was farming;

he had the superintendency of his former owner's place, and was endeavoring to make
a crop. That was one of the persons ; the other man's name was McHenry, a Meth-
odist preacher.

Question. Was he a colored man ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; both of these men were colored men. My impression Is that it was
said they shot at Ben. Taylor five or six times.

Question. At his own house?
Answer. Y'es, sir, and on his former master's place. I have this report &'om Mr. F. C.

Taylor liimself, the owner of the place.

Question. Was tliat at night?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were the men disguised who did it?

Answer. Yes, sir ; the men were all disguised.

Question. What number were there of them?
Answer. I cannot recollect now the number; it was done last year some time. Mr.

Taylor, the owner of the plantation, reported it to General Terry, and when he returned
they sent a communication to him warning hint not to remain at his home. He went
to the civil courts and could get no redress, and the advice was for him to go to the
military, and upon that complaint and the complaint of James McHenry, a colored man,
this order was issued by General Terry, commanding his troops to go to Summerville
and arrest such persons as were made known to them in connection with this outrage.
Among that number was this man who was arrested at night and put in prison.

Question. What else did they do ?

Answer. They did other things, but I cannot recollect what.
Question. Was anybody sliot or struck ?

Answer. These colored men were shot at, and they made their escape.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Shot at by the troops ?

Answer. No, sir ; shot at by the Kir-IHux, and the troops arrested one of the Klan
recognized to be the leader.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. I was asking what else the Ku-Klux did ?

Answer. They made an attack upon Ben. Taylor's house and upon James McHenry;
these men were both colored men, and were ciuite influential men.
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Question. Were they republicans ?

Answer. Yes, sir, tliej^ were republicans. They got James McHenry, and beat him and
beat one of his sous. They shot at Ben. Taylor, and lieu, lired back u])on them and
made his escape. Then Mr. F, C. Taylor came to Rome, to see if something could be
done.

Question. Is he a white man ?

Answer. Yes, sir, the owner of the plantation, a fine, large plantation.

Question. Is he a republican ?

Answer. He is neutral ; rather inclined to be a republican ; a Union man.
> Question. Was this man who was under arrest, aud who was rescued, implicated by
Wituesses ?

^ Answer. He was implicated by Ben. Taylor and James McHenry.
Question. Did they say they recognized him ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and so reported to General Terry, and upon that report aud upon,

the order of Geueral Terry the man was arrested.

Question. Did they make affidavit of the fact ?

Answer. I suppose they must have done so, or General Terry would not have acted
upon their information.

Question. Was this man who was under arrest by the soldiers said to bo a leader of
this gang?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were others arrested besides liim by the soldiers ?

Answer. My recollection is that they arrested him alone.

Question. What has become of the man ?

Answer. I do not know whether he is in the county now or not ?

Question. Do you kuow whether he left the county after his release ?

Answer. I do not recollect whether he did or not.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Was not the man named Etheridge who was arrested by the military ?

Answer, Yes, sir, that is my recollection.

Washington, D. C, Juhj 11, 1871.

GEORGE P. BURNETT sworn and examined

:

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Where do you live ?

Answer. My home at present is in Atlanta, Georgia.
Question, itow long have you lived there ?

Answer. I have lived in Atlanta about eighteen months.
Question. Where did you reside before that time ?

Ansieer. lu Rome, Georgia.
Question. Were yon born in Georgia?
Ansiver. No, sir ; in Tennessee.
Question. How many years have you lived in Georgia?
Answer. About tliirty-one years.

Question. What is your business ?

A«iswer. My occupation has been that of a merchant and planter.
Question. Is that your occupation now ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; but I have not been mcrchandisuig for two or three years.
Question. Do you hold any official position in the State ?

Answer. None.
Question. Have you ever held any ? ,

Answer. I have held some little offices. I was mayor of the city of Rome ; and since
the war I have held some positions.

Question. What positions have you held since the war ?

Answer. I was a member of the constitutional convention.
Question. The convention that framed your present constitution?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you a Union man during the war ?

Answer. Yes. sir ; I was.
Question. What were you doing during the war?
Answer. I was looking after my planting interests.

Question. You were not connected with the army ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. With what party have you acted since the war?
Answer. The republican jjarty.
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Qnesiion. Have yon been somewhat active as a republican ?

Ansirer. Yes, sir ; I presume it would be considered so, though I have not taken a
great deal of interest in it.

Question. You were the republican candidate for Congress in your district at the last

election ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I was.
QiicsUon. Did you go about in your district to make political speeches ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I canvassed the district pretty well—almost all the counties.

Qitention. Did you find any obstacle or hinderauce in doing -so ?

Answer. No, sir ; I cannot say that I did.

Question. Was there any objection made by anybody to your making political speeches
anywhere ?

Answer. Well, sir, I went from Rome to Snmmerville, where I was raised. I did not
go for the purpose of making a speech ; I intended and expected to have gone in com-
pany wit* General Young.

Question. He was the democratic candidate?
Answer. Yes, sir; but ho got away without me; I went over there, and got there

about G o'clock in the evening, 1 believe; I met a good number of citizens; about 12

o'clock that night some disguised men, known as Ku-Klnx in that country, made their

apjiearance, but they did not do me any harm at all ; they sent me a note asking me
to leave the place, stating that I could not travel through that country ; that I could
not be allowed to make a speech there, and that I nuist leave by a certain time.

Question. Did they come about the touse where you w^ere ?

Answer. They came within about thirty yards of me.
Question. How large a body of them ?

Answer. I saw about six of them ; that was all.

Question. They were in disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And armed ?

Answer. They had pistols ; they fired off their pistols all about town.
Question. Is that all there was of that transaction?
Ansiccr. That is all. They sent me a note ; and as soon as it was delivered they left.

The note was delivered by another party.
Question. What was the substance of this written communication which they sent to

you ?

Ansiccr. It stated to me that I would not be allowed to travel through that county,
and that I could not make a speech there ; that I had to leave by 8 o'clock the next
day ; that if I did so, and went back the way I came, I should not be harmed ; and
that in the event I remained, I would be dealt with very severely—or words to that
efiect.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. In what county is Atlanta?
Answer. Fultou County.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Polaxd :)

Question. Is that the only visit or communication j'ou have had from any of these
men?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. What can you tell us in relation to the liberty there is in your part of the
State of Georgia for a man to express his political sentiments, provided his opinions
are in favor of the "republican party ? Has every man entire freedom to express hia
political opinions, if they are republican opinions ?

Answer. I do not think it is prudent or safe in some localities for a man to express
his opinions fully, especially if he is a republican, or has been connected with the
United States A''my.

Question. V>'ho objects to it ?

Answer. It is very hard to say who objects to it ; but it is objected to ; there is no
doubt about that.

Question. Can you give us any facts bearing upon that matter—any instances of
which you have knowledge or information, where, in any part of the State of Georgia,
men have prevented, or attempted to prevent, the free expression of political opinions ?

Answer. I have iust given you one case—my own.
Question. Can you state any other ?

Answer. I cannot give you anything of my own knowledge. I have heard of a great
many things.

Question. We allow a man to stata what has been stated to him, if it came to him in
such a way that ho believes it. I ask you whether you know or have heard in any
authentic manner of any instances where anybody has undertaken to prevent the free
expression of political sentiments, either by public speech or otherwise.

5 G
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Ansu-cr. "Well. I could not give any sucli instance from my own kno-vrletlge. I have
heard of these things.

QueMio)!. "We allow you to state anything that you have heard, if yon have heard of it

in snch an antheutic way that you believe it to be true.

Ansirer. I cannot call to mind any special case.

Question. The particular sultject that this committee desires to inquire about is tho
condition of your community, so far as peace and good order are concerned, whether
the laws are executed, whether person and property are secure, or whether crimes are

committed which are not punished, and especially whether crimes have been com
mitted by bodies of armed men in disguise. State any such occurrences in your part

of Georgia of which you have known, or which you have information about.

Ansir7r. I am pretty well satisfied that there have been a number of outrages com-
mitted in my section of the country—principally upon negroes, although I have never
witnessed anythiug of that sort.

Question. I have already said we do not confine you to what you have personally

seen and known. "We allow you to state any information that you have about these

things which you consider authentic, as well as any instances which have come within

your own knowledge.
Ansicer. A few luonths ago—I have forgotten the date now—there was a negro killed

in or near Rome ; I believe' it was right in the town.
Question. Do you remember his name ?

Answer. I was trviug to think of it, but have forgotten it.
I

By Mr. Beck :

Question. "Was it the case of a negro who went by two names—one l^eing Foster, his

masters name, and the other Jouidan "Ware ?

Answer. No, sir ; this was another negro. I do not remember his name, and I do not
remember the date; but it was some five or six months ago that this happened.
There was a negro by the name of Foster or Jourdan "^'are, who was killed.

By the Chatrjia^s, (Mr. Pola^sD :)

Question. The case to which you are now referring is not the case of Jourdan Ware ?

Ansuer. No, sir ; I have forgotten the name of this negro.

Question. As yon understood, was he killed by a body of disguised men ?

Answer. That was my undit'standing ; and, from all the circumstances, I am induced

to believe that it was so.

Question. "W'as he killed in the night ?

Ansicer. I was not at the place where it occurred.

Question. Did you hear anythiug alleged as to why it was done?
Answer. I do not remember that I did hear any reason.

Question. Did you hear that there was any crime alleged against him ?

Answer. I think not.

Question. Did you hear of this case of the attack on Jourdan "Ware ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir, I heard of that case.

Question. You used to live at Rome ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you know Jourdan Ware ?

Arisicer. I am not certain that I did.

Question. It seems that he lived with a man named Foster. Did you know a white
man named Green Foster ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir, I knew him very well ; and I think I knew the colored man ; I am
not certain.

Question. Can you state any particulars you may have heard in reference to tho
attack on "W'are ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I can state what I heard. A body of about twenty-five or thirty

disgttised men went one night and met him upon the road. (I think this was the case

of Jourdan Ware.) I am uot certain that they went to his house. I believe they met
him on the road, somewhere or other, aud demanded of him his arms and his watch. I

believe he gave up his arms, and they shot him upon his refusal to siurrender the

watch, and he died a day or two afterward.

Question. Did you ever hear that there was any acctisation of his having done any-
thing wrong ?

Ansicer. No, sir; I think not, except I believe I did hear that there was some com-
plaint of his impudence, or something of that sort.

Question. We hear from a great many witnesses about the "impudence" of negroes.

"What is considered in your section of the country '" impudence"' on the part of a
_ negro ?

Answer. Well, it is considered impudence for a negro not to be polite to a white man

—

not to xjull off his hat and bow and scrajje to a white man, as was always done for-

merly.
'



, GEORGIA. 67
/

Qtirsiion. Do the white people generally expect or require no.w that kind of snbmis-
Bive deportmeut ou the part oi' the negroes that they did while the uegroes were ylaves ?

Answer. I do not think tliey do as a general thing ; a great many do.

Qucuiioii. Are there many white people wlio do require it?

Answii: Yes, sir ; I think there are a great inauj- who do require it, and are not satis-

fied unless the negroes do it.

Question. Suppose that a negro man has been working for a white man, and the^

have, some ditl'erence or dispute in relation to wages, will your people generidly allow^

a negro man to stand up and assert liis rights m the same way and in the same lan-

guage which they would allow to a white man without objection ?

Ausurr. O, no, sir, that is not expected at all.

QuesiioiK If the colored man does stand up and assert his rights in language which
would be considered pardonable and allowable in a white man, that is considered
" impudence" in a negro ?

Answa: Yes,- sir; gross impudence.
Question. Is that species of " impudence" on the i^art of the negro considered a suf-

ficient excuse l)y many of your peojile for chastising a negro, or "dealing with him?"
Anstvcr. Well, some think so.

Question. What other outrages have you heard of in your part of the State as com-^

mitted by disguised men '^

Answer. Well, I have heard of outrages all over the State, but I cannot call to mind
now the particular.s.

Question. State in the first place any incident which you may remember as occurring
in the region of the State where you live.

Answer. A short time ago there was a negro killed at Marietta, Georgia.
Question. Where is that?
Ansxver. It is above Atlanta. These things occur frequently—so frequently that

really I never pay niucli attention to them. If I hear of a negro being killed, I pay
verylittle attention to it, unless I shouhl happen to know him personally.

Question. When did you first begin to hear about these bands of disguised men—Ku-
Klux, as they are called—being around ? They have, I supxjose, api^eared in your iiart

of the State?
Answer. O, yes, sir; I think so.

Question. How long ago did they begin to make their appearance ?

Ansurr. I think it has been about three years since they began, perhaps a little over.

Question. How long is it since you heard of the last band of armed men in disguise

going about in the neighborhood?
Ansircr. xibout a mouth.
Question. Have you any belief that this organization of disguised men that has been

going about your country for the last two or three j'ears has ceased or disbanded '

Answer. No, sir ; I do not think they have.

Question. You have heard of them within about a month?
Answer. Yes, sir; I think so.

Question. In your part of the State of Georgia have there been a good many colored

men killed by these bands ?

Answer . There have been a good many whipped severely, and also some killed.

Question. Have there been a good manj- more whipi^ed than killed?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know of any white men ha^-ing been killed by these bands o^dis-
guised men ?

Ansu-er. No, sir ; I have heard of them, but not in my immediate vicinity.

Question. Have you heard of white men being killed by these disguised bands in other
portions of the State ?

Answer. O, yes, sir.

Question. Have they killed a good many more colored men than thej- have white
men?

Ansieer. I think they have.
Question. Have you heard of any white men being taken out and whipped, by these

disguised bands ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you heard of a still greater number of colored men being whipped ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The operations of these bands are more generally directed against colored

men than white men ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. In your judgment, from what you have seen and heard, is there something
of a Y>olitical character about this organization ?

Answei. I think it is entirely political.

Question. What makes you tlnnk so?
Ansicer. Because the parties who are maltreated by these men are generally republi-

cans. I have never known a democrat to be assaulted.
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Question. Is that almost universally so?
Ansirer. I Miink so.

Queslion. Have yon ever heard of any republican belonging to any of these bands?
Answer. No, sir ; I do not think there are any.
Question Have the republicans of your State universally condemned and spoken

against this organization ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think they have.
Question. Have the republican papers in your State universally denounced them?
Answer. I Ihinkthey have.
Question. What has been the course of men of .the other party in reference to thia

matter ? How have they talked about it ?

Answer. My opinion is that the other party have sympathized with these organiza-
tions. I have talked with democrats Avho, I think, did not favor these things; but a
majority of them, in my opinion, do.

Question. How do they talk about the matter?
Answer. Some of them do not have very ranch to say about it in any way.
Question Do some of them deny the existence of these organizations ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; they have said they do not believe they exist. I do not think they
eay so now. I think it is pretty generally conceded now that they do exist. 1 think
nobody will deny it now in that section of countiy, unless it be a crazy man.

Question. Do some of them claim that these persons upon whom violence is committed
are persons who are charged with some oli'ense or something of that sort ? Is that
excuse made by some of them ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; they sometimes say that the men assaulted have been guilty of
some otfense.

Question. So far as yon have become acquainted with this class of outrages, have you
generally learned that the persons ui)on whom violence was inflicted, (whether they
were killed or whipped,) were persons who had in point of fact been guilty of some
oifense ?

Answer. So far as my knowledge goes, the persons who have been whipped, as I before

stated, are colored men. There have been no charges of anything wrong against their

characters in any way, so far as I have heard, except in one case that I now recollect.

A negro fellow who was whipped very severely was, I think, charged wiih some viola-

tion of law in some way ; but I have forgotten now what it was.
Question. Do you remember where that took place ?

Answer. Not iar from Rome—a short distance below Rome. The negro's name was
Hilliard Johnson. They took him out and whipped him.

Question. Give the committee your judgment in relation to the object with which
this organization has been gotten uj). What do its members intend to attain by it ?

Ansiver. Well, sir, my opinion is that the first object of the institution of thd Ku-
Klux, or these disguised bands, was to cripple any eliect that might be produced by
Loyal Leagues. That is my oinnion—that this organization was an offset to the Loyal
Leagues.

Question. The Loyal League was a republican institution ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. My opinion is that this Ku-Klux organization carried the thing
further than they really first intended.

Question. Do you know when the Loyal Leagues were all disbanded in yoiu- State?
Ansiver. No, sir, I do not ; but I have a pretty good idea of the time.

Question. Have you known of Loyal Leagues being in operation in your State since

the Presidential election of 1868 ?

Answer. No ; I think about that time they disbanded,
Question. Y'^ou have not heard of their being in operation since that time?
Answer. No, sir. I did not belong to the Loyal League ; I never had anything to do

with it.

Question. Bat the Ku-Klux organization kept on increasing after the Loyal Leagues
were disbanded ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What, in your opinion, is the object of keeping up the Ku-Klux organization

and operating it as they do ? What do they intend to produce or effect by it ?

Answer. My opinion is, that the purpose was to break down the reconstruction acts

;

that they were dissatisfied with negro sufl'rage and the reconstruction measures and
everybody that was in favor of them.

Question. Do yon think this organization was intended to neutralize the votes of tho
negroes after suttrage had been extended to them ?

Answer. Yes, sir, 1 think so.

Question. How ? By intimidating them ?

Answer. Any way. Yes, sir, by intimidation.
Question. Making them afraid to exercise the right of suffrage ?

Ansiver. Y'cs, sir.

Question. Do you believe that the organization and its operations have, in fact, pro;

duced that effect ?
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Ansiver. I think they have to some extent.

Qatsiion. What is the state of feeling -which has been produced among the colored

people by this armed, disgnised organization, and the acts they have committed ?

Anmca: Well, in my section of the country, the colored people, generally, are afraid

vow, and have been lor some time, to turn out at an election. They are afraid to say
much, or to have anything to do with public affairs. I own a plantation on Coosa
River, upon ^vhich 1 have, perhaps, about 40 negroes, and some of them have been
pretty badly alarmed, afraid to saj^ nuich. Some have lain out in the woods, afraid to

stay at home.
Quoition. For fear of these attacks ?

jtihtwer. Yes, sir. I have told the negroes on my place that I thought their alarm
was entirely unnecessary

J
that I did not think they would bo hurt ; but they have

got sciired.

Question. You did not think they would be attacked on your place ?

JvsHrr. I did not think they would.
Qucsiiou. These znen have attacked negroes in a great many jilaces. Was it your

oinuion they would not come on your preiriises to do it ?

Answer. Well, I do not think they would, at least they never have.
Qwation. Have the operations of this organization produced the effect described to

anj^ considerable extent ? Have a good many negroes who lived out in the country
where the population was sparse, left and gone into towns in order to be safe %

Answer. O, yes, sir.

Quesiion. How extensive has that been ?

Anstrc): That has been pretty extensive in some localities.

(Jucsllon. The negroes were afraid to live at thinly-settled j)laccs ?

Ansiver. That is what they said.

QucntiOH. And they have broken up and gone into the towns?
Ansiver. Yes, sir ^ they have gone into the towns, saying they are afraid to live out in •

the country. Thxit is an excuse v.hich many of them give.

Question. This general movement of the negroes to the towns has not been beneiicial

at all in its effects ?

Anawer. No, sir.

Qucstmn. Their labor, I suppose, is needed in the country on the Land ?

Anmver. Yes, sir.

Qnestwn. And in the towns there are generally more of this class of people than are
needed or can be usefully employed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Queslhn. So far as you know or have heard, have there been any cases of prosecution
and punishment for any of these outrages (killings, whijtpiugs, or whatever they may
have been) committed by these armed bauds?

Answer. I think not, except in a few cases.

Question. Have the great majority of such outrages gone unpunished ?

Answer. So far as my knowledge and belief are concerned, they have.
(Question. Can you give us any opinion as to why they have not been prosecuted and

punished ? What luis stood in the way ?

Answer. In the lirst place, it is a very hard matter to find out who the parties are
that commit these depredations and outrages.

Question. Because they go about in the night and in disguise ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; they go in the night and in disguise. In the next place, the
parties who really believe the^' know the criminals, are afraid to say anything about it.

Question. They are afi'aid some evil will happen to them if they give information, or
testify, or take any measures to prosecute ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you think that another obstacle has been that some portion of the white
community sympathized with the offenders, did not wish to bring them to justice 'I

Anstcer'. O, yes, sir, I think ko.

Question. You think that has been one obstacle ?

Answer. I do not think there is any doubt aljout that.
Question. What has been the general de})ortmeut of the colored people in your part

of the State of Georgia since they became free ?

A)iswer. I think they have behaved themselves very well.

Questiijn. Have they as a general thing been quiet and peaceable?
Answer. Y'es, sir, they have.
Question. Since the colored people became free has tliere been, in your judgment, any

just ground of apprehension that the white people were in danger ii-om them as respects
person or property ?

Answer. None at all.

Question. Ho you believe there has ever been any necessity for organizing these Kri-
Klux bands, or other bands of white men, for the purpose of affording protection to thy
white people against the colored jieople ?
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Answer. No, sir, I do not.

Queslion. Has there ever been in yonr part of tlie State any obstacle to lilio expression
of political opinion by members of the democratic party I

Answer. No, sir ; oh, no.

Qufstioii. Their expression of opinion has been free and iinrestricted?

Answer. Yes, sir, so far as my knowledge goes.

By Mr. Bkck :

Question. Yon spoke all over your district in yonr canvass ?

Answer. No, sir ; I did not speak all over the district. I vras in nearly all the
counties—I believe all the counties; but I did not speak in all of them.

Quesfion. The only iuterruj)tion you met was at Summcrvjlle ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. And there you did not expect to speak ?

Ansn-er. No, sir.

Question. It was there that you received this notice which yon have mentioned ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Were yon going to leave at any rate ?

Ansiver. Oh, yes ; I staid as long as I expected to stay. I had no fears of them.
Question. That is the only interruption you met

!

Answer. Yes, sii- ; that is all.

Question. You cannot recollect of anybody else being interrupted ?

Ansiver. Oh, yes, sir ; I remember of othei's being interrupted in that county. I
remember a xiarty of disguised men that took a prisoner out of jail.

Question. I mean public speakers.
Answer. No, sir, I do not remember any.
Question. What Avas that case vrhere a prisoner -was taken out of jail ?

Ansiver. I have forgotten at what time it occurred ; it has been, 1 tluuk, about a year
and a half ago. There "was a man arrested, according to my recollection, by the
United States troops.

Question. Tliat was the Etheridge case ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; the man was in jail, and being guarded by United States troops. A
party of disguised men came and took him out.

Question. That is the man who was arrested by order of General Terry?
Answer. Yes, sir, I think it was.
Question. Was it not generally considered in your county that, while it was an out-

rage for these men to come and take this man out of jail, it Avas an equally great out-

rage for General Terry to put him there ?

Answer. No, sir. It Avas so considered by a few, but not generally so considered.
Question. Why Avas it not ?

Answer. Well, this man Avas a bad man—so regarded by everybody; he had com-
mitted depredations ; and they wanted somebody to arrest liim and put him in jail.

Question, Wluit authority had General Terry to do so ?

Ansiver. I do not kuoAV anything about the authority.

Question. Wliat authority do your people understand Genei'al Terry had to x>ut a man
in jail?

Ansiver. We had a sort of military government there.

Question. That Avas after your constitution had been adopted ; was it not ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir, I think it Avas.

Question. And after your legislaEure was in session ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. After your governor was installed ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I think it Avas.

Question. Had General Terry, or the President of the United States, or anybody else

the right to init a man in jail withoiit authority of law ?

Answer. General Terry sent troops all about oA'er the State.

Question. I know ho did ; bnt Avas he not just Ku-Kluxiug, iu the eye of your consti-

tutiou and the Federal Constitution '?

Answer. I think not.

Question. Did General Terry or the President CA'er dare to inquire into the cause of
the rescue of that man from them '?

Ansiver. Geuei'al Terry was A'ery nuid about it.

Question. Did he cA'er inquire into it ?

Ansiver. The demand Avas nuule upon the judge of the circuit

Question. Wc know the cireumstauces ; they luxA'c been testitied to already ; but I

"want to know whether General Terry cA'er A'eutured to nuvke an inquiry into tlio cause
of the rescue of that man ?

Answer. I do not know, sir ; I presume he did ; but I do not know.
Question. Do you not know that he Avas afraid to inquire into k, because lio himself

was a tresxnrsser iu arresting the man ?
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Ans^rcr. I do notknow lliat.

Question. Was thcro any la-.v, State or Federal, that anthori/.cd the President of tho
United States, or his military officers, -when your courts were open and your constitu-

tion in full effect, to go and arrest a citizen and put him in jail, hy means of the soldierj-,

Tvitliout a Avarrant and without an affidavit ?

Ansiccr. It occurs to me tliere -was a militarj' order under which this man was reached.

As to the legality of it, I do not remember now.
Qui'stiou. I know that the President assumed that authority, and that General Terry

executed it ; but did any Inw^yer, democrat or rcpuldican, ever contend that the arrest of
that man Avas anything else tliau usurpation on tho part both of the President and
General Terry ; and did not tho President and General Terry fail to have it investigated
because it was known to bo so?

Aii«tcei: I have never heard that idea suggested until within the last few days ; before
that I never heard such an intimation.

Question. The case was not investigated, however, by General Terry ?

Ansicer. I think not; I do not know about that.

Question. Have you not conlounded the case of Jonrdan Ware with another case ? You
6ay he was met on the road, and was shot because he would not give up his watch.

Answer. Well, that majf have been the other case.

Question. Was not that tlfe case of the man who was induced to go out by Ku-Klus,
representing themselves as Union soldiers, who started out himself on what he sup-

IKJsed was a Ku-Kluxing expedition, and was shot by those fellows, after they got him
out?

Ansiver. No; I think there was nothing of that sort.

Question. You never heard of that ?

Answer. I would not believe it if I did.

Question. Why would you not believe it?

Answer. Because it is unreasonable.
Question. Is it unreasonable that a negro who felt that his race had been persecuted

should, when those who claimed to be his friends came and ottered to go with him to

take vengeance, go out on an expedition of that kind ?

Answer. It would bo very unreasonable for a negro to undertake a thing of that
sort. The negroes are so largely in the minority that it is unreasonable to think a
negro would attempt a thing of that so^t.

Question. You never heard that suggested ?

Answer. I never have, and would not have thought of such a thing.

Mr. Beck. It has been testified to here.

The Chairman, (Mr. Polaxd.) You state tho case, Mr. Beck, in an entixely different

way from w-hat the witness did who told the story.

Mr. Bix'K. I think not. Mj recollection is that this negro was called upon by men
whom he believed to be Union soldiers, and was induced by them to go oiit with them
on a Ku-Kluxing expedition.
Witness. Now that I understand you, I would not bo surprised that a negro might

bo induced probably to go into something of that sort in that way ; but I never heard
of that before.

The CiiAiRM.VN, (Mr. Pol.vnd.) The statement Avas that the men represented to the
negro that they were a body of Union soldiers, and were going out after a band of
Ku-Klux.
Mr. Beck. For the purpose of killing them.
The Chairman, (Mr. Pol-vnd.) No; they did not say that. They said that they

were a body of Union soldiers, and were going in pursuit of a baud of Ku-Klux.
Mr. Beck. You will find that they went a step further.

The CiiAiitAiAX, (Mr. Poland.) The "step further" was in your question, not in the
statement of the witness.
Mr. Beck. The witness said he had heard that as being the fact.

The Chairjian, (Mr. Poland.) As you stated the case to this Avitncss, the negro was
going on a marauding expedition with a l>3dy of Union soldiers; but the Avitness who
told the story reijresented that they said they Avere going out after a band of Ku-Klux.

By Mr. Beck:
Question. You said you never heard anything about the matter in that connection ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. The way you heard the story, the negro refused to give tip his Avatch, and
tliey killed him ?

Answer. Yes, sir; he refused to give up his watch, and perhaps his knife and pistol,

or something of that kind. Those cases I did not charge my mind with particularly,

as I have before stated. I know we take privileges Avith negroes doAvn there that we
do not Y>i"etend to take with white people.

Question. Is not that done whereA'cr you have been? Do you think a man in Ncav
York or Philadelphia will stand and argue with a negro as he Avill AA'ith a Avhite man
about a matter of business ?
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Ansicer. No, sir : I do not thiuk be Avill.

Question. Do you think a white man will do it anywhere in America?
Aiisiccr. No, sir; I thiuk a white man tliinks lie is better than a uegro, and will take

liberties with a uegro that ho would not take with a white man. There is no question
about that.

Question. That is so universally?
AntiU-cr. Yes, sir.

Question. And, I suppose, in the State of Georgia, where the negroes were formerly
slaves, the white people are, perhaps, more sensitive about that than tbcy would be in
States where the negroes have always been free?
Jnswo: Yes, sir, or equally as much so.

Queslion. Has it not been the Iiabit of the negroes in yonr section, ever since they
were free, to Hock to the towns and villages, even Avhen there was no trouble in the
country? Has not this practice prevailed to an extent that has been, perhaps, very
injurious to them and to the people of tlio towns?

Answer. I think there has been a good*deal of disx>osition on the iiart of the negroes
to go to the tovtus.

Question. And Avhon they want to go to town^ does it not take a very little excuse to
induce them to go there ?

Answer. Oh, yes; they can easily get an excuse. I think the negro likes towns better
tliau he does the country, as a general thing.

Question. Did they not have a feeling (and perhaps they are not quite free from it yet)
that Avhen they had been raised ill the country they were not fully assured of their
freedom till they left the place where they had been living, and set up for themselves
elsewhere ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that was an idea that prevailed among them.
Question. Very generally ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think so.

Question. Have you not known many cases where negro servants, who seemed to be
pretty well couteut at their old homes, were induced to go away by simply that
feeling, a desire to assert their right « And were not the towns generally the places
where they went ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; that is about correct.

Question. Was not a bad effect jiroduced with regard to the sense of security among
your people by a very liberal system of pardoning pursued by Governor Bullock ?

Was there not a good deal of complaint in regard to the manner in which he exercised
the pardoning power?
Ansurr. No, sir; I never believed that Governor Bullock did wrong in that matter.
Question. I am not asking for your opinion ; I am asking you whether there was not

a general feeling of that sort pervading the comnumity iu which you lived?
Ansivcr. Well, I heard some complaint of that sort, not much. I have heard some

parties speak of it, saying that they thought he had exercised the i)ai"douing power
too far. But I have known the same parties to turn around and ask him iu other
cases to do the very same thing that they had been condemning.

Question. You think he generally found somebody to indorse petitions?
Answer. Oh, yes, sir.

Question. Such persons can be found in any case?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is it not the fact that the j)ardoning power was exercised very liberally,

to say the least ?

Answer. Do you want my opinion?
Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. My opinion is that Governor Bullock has not exercised the pardoning power
any further than I should have done if I had been governor, so far as I know. I know
that a great many negroes were convicted and sent to prison for very small offenses,

and I believe he did right iu pardoning them out, because they were sent to prison
many times Avhen they ought not to have been. There Avero some cases in which I
aided myself iu getting the negroes out, because I thought it was right; I thought the
crime did not justify ttie sentence, and that was conceded by all parties.

Question. You were a member of the convention that framed your State constitu-
tion ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you also appointed assistant superintendent of the Atlanta and Chat-
tanooga L'ailroad—the State road ?

Answer. No, sir; I never had any such appointment.
Question. Had you no connection with that road?
Answer, I acted as general ageut for the road.
Question. Only that ?

Answc7\ Yes, sir.

Question. You had no control over the management of it ?
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Answer. None at all, except sncla matters as were handed nic to look at.

Question. You bad iiotliiug to do with the general superintendence oi'the road?
Ansifir. No, sir ; I did not consider that niy position ; I did not take any oath or

give any Loud ; I simply performed such service as was intrusted to me as agent.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. It has been said by some people that there was great apprehension that tho
community would not be safe by reason of Governor Bullock })ar(louing so nuuiy bad
men. Have you ever known a case where any person who was pardonetl by Governor
Bullock conmiitted any other offense after coming out of prison /

Ansictr. I cannot think of any. I have known several that he pardoned, but I do
not know of any offense they ever committed.

Question. So far as you have knowledge iu reference to his exercising the pardoning
power, you believe he did it rightfully?

Answer. That is my o]iinioii. I do not know of a single case, so far as I have looked
into the matter, where I did not ai)proA'e of his action.

Question. Do you know' of his ever exereisnig this power except where it was soli-

cited by a great many people in the form of a petition ?

Answer. It was generally iu that way, I think.
Question. And tliese petitions showed the ajjiiroval of the people of the vicinity and

those who knew about the case ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Y^ou think it was his custom to act in that way ?

Answer, Yes, sir j that was his custom, I think.

Washington, D. C., July 12, 1871.

Z. B. HAEGROVE sworn and examined.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. Where do you reside?
Ansiccr. I reside at Pome, Georgia, in Floyd County.
Question. What is your occuiJation ?

Sinswcr. I am an attorney by profession.

Question. How long have you resided at Pome ?

Answer. About twenty years ; nearly twenty years.
Question. Are you a native of Georgia ?•

Ansiver. Y'es, sir ; I was born in Newton County, Georgia, near Covington.
Question. How long have you been in jjractice as an at'torney

'

Answer. About sixteen years, except during the interval of the war.
Question. Have you been iu Rome all tho time ?

A)iswer. Y'es, sir, except for a brief time v/lien I was engaged in the mail service as
mail agent, under Mr. Buchanan's administration.

Question. What were you during the war ?

Answer, I was an officer in the confederate army for nearly two aud a half years. I
was a rebel, and a true one, I reckon, if there ever was one.

Question. Did you serve during the entire war?
AnsH'er. Yes, sir, except the time I was contined to a sick-room.
Question. What have been your X)olitical opinions since the war ?

Answer. My antecedents are all democratic, aud it was a pleasure to me, when the
presidential election was going on, to support Mr. Seymour and Mr. Biair. I was a
reconstruction man, though that was rather in antagonism to my party. I was one
of the executive committee of the county, and was vice-president of a democratic club,
and most of the time acted as president of the club.

Question. Do you hold any official position in Georgia now?
Answer. No, sir ; none whatever. I was once elected to the legislature from my

county, and I have been twice fleeted mayor of my city, a small town of some six or
seven thousand inhabitants.

Question. Y'ou do not now hold any official position ?

Ansicer. No, sir; not now.
Question. The particular subject that this committee wishtoiuquire about, or that we

were directed to inquire about, is iu regard to the condition of the communities iu the
kite insurrectionary States; to ascertain how far i)erson aud property are there secure;
whether the laws ai'e properly enforced, especially t be laws against crime ; whether
otfeuses are committed, and, if committed, whether those offenses are properly prose-
cuted and punished, or, if not, what are the obstacles iu the way of doing so; and
especially we wish to inquire into the fact whether any offenses are committed by
bodies of disguised men going about the country. V/hatever you may know in refer-
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ence to that, (I have stated the ^pneral purpose and object of our inquiry,) you wir
now state—any facts that arc within your knowledge or observation bearing upon that
subject.

Aiifiwcr. I can state some facts, both within my own knowledge and from informa-
tion whiih is reliable. It may be proper for me to state to the committee that a short

time before the war ^yas closed there was in my immediate section of country a consid-

erable degree of lawlessness and violence, mostly perpetrated upon Union men by men
vrho were in the confederate service and those who had left it and had banded them-
selves together. The Union element of the country was unsafe ; many of the people
were hung, many of them were shot at their hom(;s, because of their attachment to the

Union. 1 myself was an officer in command of a battalion of cavalry stationed where
I live. I deprecated these acts of violence on the part of those men, and undertook to

prevent them, and to some extent I incurred their displeasure, wdiich has followed me
from that time to this. While I was a rebel I tried to be a conscientious one ; I did

not feel disposed to perpetrate acts of violence on Union citizens. It was my pleasure

to protect and shiehl .some of them from violence, and I did it during the war. One of

them, I think, will testify before this committee before he leaves you, I hope. I refer to

Judge Wright, Avho is a, thorough Union man, and a good man. I dili'er with him, though,
very widely al)OUt many things. Since the war the feeling has been still very l)itter

against this Union element in some instances, especially those who have espoused the

reconstruction cause. 1^ has been very bitter against reconstruction men, i)articularly

80 against myself. One great cause, I think, for the persecution of the reconstruction

men and the republicans is this: There is in that country now, as there was before

the war, a class of men -who are bitterly opposed to the colored people, and to whom
the colored people are bitterly opposed. Since the war, that feeling on the part of the

non-slaveholders toward the negroes has been worse, mostly confined to that element,

for most of the negroes w^ere republicans. The shrewd, smart, cunning men of the

country among the democratic masses took advant.age of that feeling. While they
probably would not coiinteuance any direct, open assassination, nevertheless they took
advantage of the prejudice of this class of men against tlie colored people and against

the republicans, most of the colored men being republicans, and fanned their passions

and kept them alive against the colored people and that portion of the white people
who acted with the republicans. By this means they placed themselves at the head of

it, in order that they might place themselves in a position of opposition to the govern-

ment of the country. In many instances that has been done. 1 do not say it has been
done there in all instances ; but I do believe it has been generally so. Many of them
advised the most I'cspectable portion of the community, as they took unto themselves
all the decency of the country, the nou-reconstrnction men, or the non-action men, as

they call them in that State, to k(^eii away from the polls and not to vote in the elec-

tions, to permit the carpet-baggers and scalawags, the negroes and radicals, to take

the government and run it. I advised a different course, and dnring that election for

a constitutional convention I came in conflict witli those non-reconstruction men, who
were then engaged in open acts of violence toward many. They made many threats,

and many acts of violence w^ere committed during that election, as was reported

through the press of the country, and through private sources that did not find their

way into the press, and many that will never find their way out, because it was not
generally known. During the last election

Question. When was that?
Answer. That was the election for members of the legislature. That comes immedi-

ately within my own knoT?ledgc, for then I came in direct conllict with these lawless

men, more or less, because then I espoused the rei)ublican cause, ; that was some few
months since. I, with some few other men who had been acting with the democratic
party up to that time, concluded that we would act with it no longer if it was to be
governed by such men as those. I was willing to leave the race of life free and open
to all ; I counseled submission to the powers that rule the Government. At t?jat time

there came to my immediate city, and in the neighborhood, a band of men in disguise,

some twenty in inimber. This Avas after the election. Th(>y shot a colored man in the
suburbs of the city, very severely beat another, and also beat the wife of the colored

man whom they shot, and who was a bright-colored woman. Is it desired that I should
give names and dates ?

Question. Give the names as nearly as yoii can.

Ansu-er. The name of the colored iiian Avliowas shot Avas Joe Kennedy, and tJie name
of the colored man who v/as beaten was Jourdan Ware. In justice to those men, if

there can bo any ])alliation of their crimes, I Avill say that the ri-ason they gaA^e for

beating Jourdan Ware was that he had made some insulting remark to a white lady

—

a lady with Avhoni I am Avell acquainted. Previous to that time he had borne the rep-

utation of being an humble and obedient negro. He had a little farm, and was do"ig
well, and was comfortable, though in a neighborhood surrounded by the poorer class of

white people, Avho did not like his residence there. He uuiy or may not have made
some insulting renuirk to a white lady ; I do not say A\hether ho did or did not, though,

from my knowledge of him, my opinion is that he did not.
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Qxcsiion. Let nie nudcrstaiitl the cLaracter of the allegation against him. Yon say
that he made sou.o insulting proposal to a white lady f

Ansiccr. O, no; that he had just made some insulting remark. Ho remarked, "Hotv
d'ye, sis," or something of that kind, as the yonng lady passed down the road. She
was a sister of the ladj- of whom he had rented the i>lace on whieh he was living. Ho
was driv<!-n away from his home, ar.d came very near being killed. The charge they
had against Joe Kennedy was that he had married this ranlatto girl, and they did not
intend he shonld marry so white a woman as she was ; and they beat her also for mar-
rying so black a negro as ho Avas. They told nie that tliese men stated that they had
such ehnrges against them. They also stated in that neighborhood, as they went along
home, that that was what they did it for.

Question. Did yon know Kennedy?
A)istn-r. I know the boy ; I i)ut him to work on the police force at Rome while I was

mayor of the city. He has as good a reiwtation as anybodj^ there. I saw this party
as they went out of town. They came groanipg throngh the streets of the city of
Rome, and I heard them ; I Avas sitting by my stove ; it Avas the Gth of February, I
think; I did not get up as I heard them going down.

By Mr. Cobuun :

Question. What time of the night was that?
Answer. I think it was about 12 o'clock at night. As they came back, I raised my

window and looked out and saAV them as they passed the corner. I heard some one
inquire who they were, and the reply Avas that they Avere some of the Ku-KInx. I was
a little uneasy, for I had been notihed by some friends tljat I had better be Avatchful
and careful. I Avas not so uneasy about myself, because I generallj' keep myself pro-
A'ided Avith fue-arms, and I did not think they Avould really attack me in my own
house. They did no act of A'iolence in the city except to draw their Aveux^ons on some
men.

By the CnAiRMA2f, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. From what yon could see of them, what was their appearance ?

Answer. The night was dark, and they all looked black to me.
Question. Were they on horseback f

Answer. Yes, sir. I did not go out at all, for I did not want to get into any melee with
them. They knew the opinion I had of them, for I had denounced them frequently in
my speeches there. A short time before that, just preceding the election, some forty
in number disguised themsel\'es and rode around to the diilerent farms where there
Avere a great many colored people, and some white people ; this was stated to me both
by the Avhites and the blacks, and both before and since the election. They went
there and notitied them, both in Avriting and A'erbally, that they must not leave their
lionies on the day of election ; that if they did they would sufter a very severe penalty.
Some of them Avere very severely whipped ; two of them shoAved themseh'es to me
with their backs very much lacerated. They Avere colored men, and their names Avere
William Garrett and William Bradham. Those two were whipped after the election,

as they said, for being almost too smart ; they were smart and shrewd boys ; one of
them could read and write very aycU. A great many of them did not go to the elec-

tion. There were some eight hundred and tifty colored registered A'oters, and some
live hundred white persons, who acted with the republican party ; and about seven or
eight hundred of them did hot A'ote in the election at all. HowcA-ei-, I do not make
any particular comiilaint of that ; all things are fair in elections as in war, and if they
could beat me in an election, all right. But I was opposed to their committing these
acts of A'iolence. I haAC no complaint to allege against the Ku-Klux organization as a
Ku-Klux organization, if they Avill not commit acts of violence. If it is a political or-

ganization, and can carry its row upon fair and legitimate terms, I do not oppose it

;

but I do opiiose this violence and bloodshed. There is uoav, or Avas up to a very few
days ago, a band of disguised men who Avere going around through the country.

Question. Perhaps you had better keep on in that connection and state all the acts of
violence that have come to your kuovvledge, if you liaA'e not already done so.

Answer. Well, there Avas a colored man that they wdiipped within four miles of the
city of Rome, whose name I have forgotten. He lives on the plantation of one Mr.
Bryant. Then there was one there, I believe, by the name of Patrick King, who Avas

A'Cry severely be.aten by them ; and another by the name of Hilliard Johnson. Some
AA-omen were badly .abused by them ; their names, if I remember correctly, were Adelia
Horton, Anna Bryant, and one other girl Avhose name I really haA^o forgotten ; they
were violated by these same men, as testilied to by parties who saw the act comjnitted.

Question. Do you mean that they committed rape upon them?
Answer. Yes, sii'. Now, I do not believe that the Ku-Klux organization as a body

would subscribe to such a tMng as that. But it is avcU known to them that where
there are so many men together such things Avill be done, as it used to be during the
rebellion; sometimes half a dozen bad men would slix) out of a company and commit
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some crimes Ihcat would attach to tbe wliolo brigade or regiment. I believe there
were some clever men in the Kii-Klux organization, who fostered it for its political

efi'ect, but who would have no intention to countenance an,y crime of assassination or

lunrdcr. There are some two or three whites wlio have bi'cn very badly used in my
immediate county, whose names I have forgotten. As to the adjoining counties, I do
not know of my personal knowledge; I only know from high democratic sources what
has been done by these men, all of which you will get from other witnesses who will

testify here, and who are more familiar with the facts than I am myself.

Question. Perhaps you may as well state, in a general way, such transactions as have
come to your knowledge from credible sources.

Ansu-er. I have it from information that nobody will controvert at all. It will be
necessary for me to state that a short time ago, about the same time these outrages
were perpetrated in Floyd County, an outrage was conuiiitted on the plantation of one
Mr. Foster, whom I have known for years, a democrat and a clever man. He had
employed a nnmber of colored peoxile on his place, among whom was an old man by
the name of Ellison, Some men went there to see him during the day, \\ bile he was
plowing in the held, and tried to get him to enter into an agreement with them against

the Ku-Klux. lie told them that he did not like to have anything to do with anythhig
away from home. Those men went to him without disguises. They finally prevailed

on him to give them some feed for their horses, which he did. lie said on his death-
bed that he told them he had not voted at any election, that he did not think he had
any chance in the country, and all he wanted to do was to make a living for himself,

wife, and children. Some two nights afterwards they went back in disguise, some
fifteen or sixteen of them, and called him out to the gate. He savv' that they wanted
to do some violence to him, and he broke and got away from, them, and was about
getting into the woods when he fell down. Before he conld get np and go away they
struck him over the head three blows with a saber and cut him to the brain, and then'

they went back to his house. After a time he got np and undertook to get back to the
house by creeping along holding to the fence ; as he turned the corner he was met by
them, and they shot him in both arms and in both breasts. Mr. Foster came out and
took him iip and carried him into the cabin ; he told him the facts that I have related

;

that the men had been there before and made this request of him, and that ho told

them he did not iuteud to leave home and go anywhere ; that he did not like the Ku-
Klux, was opposed to their movements, and did not intend to go away from home,
Mr. Foster and his two sous, both of whom had been in the army, one as lieutenant

colonel and one as colonel, and one of Avhom is now dejjuty sheriff in my county, were
very. much excited over this, and the deputy sheriff went over there to assist in bring-

ing these men to justice. The parties who had perpetrated this crime got very iiueasy,

and they sent over to the officer in command of the Wells' Valley den to come over
and assLst them to coerce old man Foster and make him be quiet ; that he was about to

expose them for killing an old negro. The officer did not go, but a few days afterwards
sent down word to that den that he had been informed they had gone out on that
occasion without order.s, and had killed this old negro man, and they nuist take care

of themselves; that they would not bother old ]Mr. Foster about it at all. I got this

information from Mr. Green Foster, a son of the old man, and who is the deputy sheritf

of my countj'^; he was a colonel in the confederate army, and is a high-toned gentle-

man. He says that the senator from my immediate district, who was over there about
this time, sent word to Mr. Kinchin Foster, that this man who was in connnand of
the den which had committed, this crime, had gone out without orders from
the commander, and if he went out any more in that way they would have him
executed. Mr, Foster told me that this senator told him so, they both beiug in the
Bame party together. A few days before I left home, and the same day I got the
dispatch to come here, I received a dispatch from the sheritf of my county stating that
Mr. Green Foster had been notified in writing that he must leave there; that he had
been threatened by the order because he was opposed to these acts of violence by these

men, and was cooperatingwith me in supx^ressing it. I had fourteen warrants sworn
out against parties whose names I had given to me by a member of the Klau, and was
trying to have them arrested and see if I could not break up their acts of violence in

Floyd Count}-. It has so disturbed the labor of the county that a great many good
men had gone off; and I thought I would see if I could not have it broken np. I got
the governor to offer rewards for their arrest, for democrats, like mean n-publ leans, as

they call them, might be led to take a consideration for the arrest of criminals. Wo
got after these parties, and they arc now out away from their homes. I i)at these

warrants in the hands of Colonel Foster ; I got tiie names of these ])arties from a
member of the Klan myself, with whom I was on friendly relations. Mr. Foster wanted
me to get the United States authorities in Atlanta to send some assistance to him, and
I went to see the marshal; but he said he did not know what conld be done. In the
mean time, I left home with the unitter in that shape. ^ am very anxic)n8 on that
account to go back home, as my own safety, and that of some of my friends, is in\ olved
in it. Inasmuch as there has been a great deal of abuse of Governor Bullock in refer-
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euce to offering these rewards, it may be well tbat I sboiilcl state some facts to tbo
committee to show why the rewards should have been ottered, though I have thought
perhaps they might be too high rewards. It was thought that if we could influence
some prominent members of the democratic party in the county by the hope of getting
these rewards, we might be able to get the labor of the county somewhat settled. A
great many colored men had run away and come into the city, and a great many of
them were on the charges of some of us. I was requested to go ami see the governor;
I went to see him, and he asked me to make out a general statement of facts when I

returned home, and to embody them in the shape of a proclamation, which I did, and
sent to him. The proclamations offering rewards were based upon the statements
furnished by me.

Question. Those rewards Avere offered for the arrest of the perpetrators of these
crimes '?

Aiisivei: For the arrest of the perpetrators mentioned in the proclamations, whicli
also mentioned the crimes.

QkcsHuii. The rewai'd was offered for the killing of the old man in Chattooga
County '?

Annxcer. Yes, sir ; and for some other acts reported to me. Through that means I
hoped, and I was honest and faithful in the effort, npon the advice of some of the best
citizens of my county, that we should break up the operations of these lawless men. I
do not know whether they are Ku-Klux or not, but they are men going around in dis-
guise, and perpetrating outrages, and always on reptiblicans ; or if on anybody else, I
do not know it. There are some bad men in the republican party who commit acts
which I do not subscribe to ; but in not a single instance in my county have I known
any democrat to be injured, unless it was an old man, by the name of Borden, by two
negroes of my county, npon the highway, but not in disguise ; and they are now in
jail, and will be tried and convicted. There have been some few little thefts perpetrated
in my county, and in all the cases there have been prosecutions and convictions before
the courts. But in none of these cases of outrages committed l)y bands of disguised
men in my county have there been any arrests made. They have been committed
mostly upon the defenseless and unprotected, and upon republicans. I do not know
whether it is because they are republicans ihat they are abused and outraged in this
way, but in many cases they tell me that they are told it is because they arc republi-
cans and vote the republican ticket ; and I have some good grounds to think that it is

true and correct. That may he one way of carrying an election ; I have no objection
to their carrying an election iu that way, if they can, but I want the perpetrators of
the crimes punished.

Qncfition. In relation to this partictilar case, the governor did offer a reward for the
arrest of the perpetrators ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Has anybody been arrested ?

Answer. No, sir, there has been no one arrested ; they have not been able to make
any arrests. I will state to the committee—and it is in strict confidence, and I hope it

v>-ill not be mentioned to any other witness, as it will very likely interfere with the
ends of justice iu my county—that one of these parties has been arrested, whom I pro-
pose to use to arrest the others. He is under a bond for his appearance at court, and
will be convicted of the crime with which he stands charged. He himself says that
he did not have any hand in perpetrating some of the most outrageous crimes, and
that he counseled and advised against it. He is one of this party of fifteen men. The
last outrage was perpetrated only a short time since. Of the others we have not been
able to make any arrest.

Qticsiion. Are you speaking now of the killing of old man Ellison ?

Answer. No, sir; I am speaking of the crimes perpetrated since then.
Question. Were any parties arrested who were concerned in killing old man Ellison ?

Answer. No, sir; and they are afraid to make any move. Old man Foster told mo
himself that liis life would not be worth a cent if he undertook to do ir, fhough he saya
he knows the parties. Colonel Fostdr went over there to make the arrests, and he told
me that his father and brother told him that it would not do. We had agreed together
to j)ut our lives in the scale and break it itp, he a democrat and I a republican. I do
not intend to flinch in it; I am going to see that they are broken up in my county, if
it can be done by any fair means. If I am satisfied the government of the State and
the Federal Government will not give us aid, I intend to organize a counter Klan, and
when they kill one of us, I will kill two of them. I have told them so in speeches
there, and I will tell them so again when I go back. I have not slept in peace iu my
room for months; I have kept tw-o double-barreled guns at my side and a repeater
under my pillow. I have come in contact Avith these men, and they have felt my hand
to some extent; they know if they come about the house where I am they cannot get
access to me without some of them being hurt. I have been anticipating it for some
time past, and I fear it now more than before, because I am engaged in prosecuting
these men. Colonel Foster and myself had agreed, and we intend to stand agreed, to
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prosecute these men, and have them arrested if vro can do it. They have openly pro-

clainied resistance, and, as I have been iutbnned, they have had two or three councils

since, and sworn to resist. Tlie sympatliies of a larj^e majority of the people are with
them in their iiUimidation of the republicans from voting and in whii>piug theu^. I

do not think that sojiie of the best ones among them would absolutely countenance
and aid nuxrder, assassination, robbery, and things of tliat kind. But a great majority
of them do not feel disposed to break them up, because they see it keeps the republi-

cans away from the polls, and that is a great tiling witli this organization.

Qucsiion. You spoke of the last outrage that had been committed there ; what was
that?

Ansivcr. That was going around and whipping a great many colored men, driving

them away from their houies, breaking up their little farmiug operations, taking their

horses away, &c.
Question. How long ago was that ?

Answer. That was about three months ago. I have been, I think, some two or three

mouths engaged in finding out who they were; it was only two or three weeks ago
that I got out warrants against them.

Question. Was this all done in one night?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In the immediate vicinity of Rome?
Answer. It was some eight or ten miles from the city.

Question. Were these iiersons who were taken out and whipped on that occasion
colored ?

Answer. All except two; and they were not whipped, but otherwise ill-used; those
two were one gentleman and one lady.

Question. They were not beaten ?

Answer. No, sir ; they were not beaten as the colored i^eople were beaten, but were
abused in one way and another.

Question. Did you understand that they gave any reason for doing that ?

Answer. None, except that tliey had no particular business in the country. I think
they wanted to go out generally and make a little raid on them for their guns and
pistols, and finally drive them away fronr the country.

Question. Did tlley take away their arms ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir; they took their guns and took their money.
Question. How has it been on these various occasions when they have been out on

expeditious against colored people ; have they taken away their guns ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and on some occasions thoy have taken other proj)erty; they took
from Jourdan Ware a valuable gold watch and some money.

Question. Mr. Forsyth, from your county, si^oke of having succeeded in convicting
three men ?

Anstcer. That was in Chattooga County. One of the men was named Payton, another
was named Epps, and another was named Kelley. Mr. Epps was a man Avliom the Ku-
Klux had taken out of the calaboose. About one hundred and fifty weut to Mr. Allgood's

calaboose in disguise, and released him. Mr. Allgood has a large factory there ; and
my brother was there the night it was done. He has been there on three occasions
when they have been there in disguise. Sly brother is a very violent democrat.

Question. We have heard something from Mr. Forsyth in relation to the reward offered

by tlie governor in that case.

Answer. I mentioned a iiroclamation of reward by the governor; that was another
proclamatio)! that I myself arranged, furnisliing the dates, and a statment of the crimes
perpetrated.

Question. You were instrumental in procuring that reward to be offered ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I did not know how large a reward he would offer, but I requested
him to offer a reward. It may or it may not be too large ; I do not disagree with him
in that particular.

Question. Iir the other case where the governor offered a reward, you say that nobody
has yet been arrested ?

Answer. No, sir ; and it requires a conviction before any reward can be paid. I so

worded it myself, in order to i>reveut any unfair means being taken of the governor; I

told him that I desired to put it in that shape. Those men who broke Epps out of the
calabooije at Allgood's—he stated to me who the parties were tliat broke him out—

I

intend to have arrested. Ho said he was a member of their organization, and gave me
their grip, pass-word, and countersign ; and Mr. Payton also told me the same thing.

They told me this at diiferent times, neither of them knowing that the other had given
the names of the same men.

Question. You have given us to some extent your idea as to how this order started.

Wliat information have you in relation to its form of organization, and as to how exten-
sive it is ?

Ansiccr. I know" nothing at all except its acts ; I know nothing at all about its inside

movements and operations. I see the victims of their wrath.
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Qi(est'ion. You spoko of some information tliat yon got from this man who -n-as taken
out of the calaboose.
Answer. Ho only gave mo their grip, pass-word, and countersign, told me about what

they had done, what disguise they wore, as did Payton. The reason I have faith in
their statements is that they made the statement at dilferent times, gave the names of
the same parties who had aided in breaking this man out of the calaboose, neither
knowing what the other had said.

Question. Their information corresponded?
Answer. Yes, sir ; and neither one knew what the other had said to me, or that he had

Btated to me anything about it, because they were separated.
Qiieslion. And you did not get any information from eitlier of them as to the particu-

lar mode of the organization, or as to how the order was officered, &c. ?

Answer. No, sir; only that they intended to keep the negroes from voting, to whip
them, to clean them out, and keep them from taking any part in the elections; that
was their tirst intention. There have been a great many outrages committed which I
do not think were intended by the organization as an organization ; but it is done by
the worst element in it. Some of the organization may swear it is not done by the organ-
ization ; they do not knowwho did it, for a half dozfiii men out of fifty men might con-
spire together and go and commit a murder, and the others need not know anything
about it.

Question. You think that among the better jiortion of those who belong to it, it is in-

tended to produce merely a iiolitical etiect ?

Answer. That is all.

Question. Do you think, from the fact that such is its purpose and object, that those
men are led not to interfere against this organization, even when it does these wrongful,
outrageous acts?
Answer. I have no doubt they sympathize with them. I could give you some positive

testimony on that iJoint.

Question. State any facts you know bearing upon that.
Answer. Well, a very short time ago a colored man by the name of \Yash Calhoun was

working in the rolling-mill at Kome. Three parties came into Eome inquiring of some
persons there if they could tell them where he lived, where he went to at night. They
finally succeeded in finding out where he lived, and went and stationed themselves on the
corner, so as to be ready for him as he went by. As he went home, about 8 o'clock at
night, these three men shot liim five times. They did not kill him, however, for he is

alive now ; they crippled and ruined him for life. He sent for me as soon as he could,
but I was very busy, having to leave the city, and did not go to see him. When I came
back he was able to be brought to town to see me. He told me that he had married a
bright mulatto girl, whom one of these men who had shot him had been keeping as his
mistress, and that ho knew of no other reason for their shooting him. There were true
bills found against three of these parties, two of whom have been acquilted. Some of
the prominent members of the democratic party, and generally believed to be identi-
fied with the organization, came up and went on their bonds. One of those men has
never been captured, but has been advised by his counsel to keep away, that it would
not be so easy for him to get clear as it was for the other two.

Question. Were the men who committed the act in disguise ?

Ansicer. They were not in disguise when they were going up there, or very slightly
disguised, if at all. They stated at the court that they could prove by twenty men
that they were not in Kome at all; but they would uotiutroduce any testimony, but
just gave bond. When the case was tried I do not think there was a' doubt upon the
mind of a single member of the court that they knev>- all about the murder. I do not
think theu" counsel thinks that one of them had anything to do with the direct assassi-
nation, but I am satisfied fi-om his statements to me that he knew all about it, and that
one of the iiarties against whom warrants were out was the party who did the work.
AVell, they say it is only a damned nigger killed, and it does not make auj' dilTerence;
that is the way they talk among the more ignorant.

Question. Did these two men who were acquitted get up an aliii ?

Ansicer. They x>roved an alibi ; but there is no doubt they were in the city a few
minutes before the shooting occurred ; but they proved that they were not there when
the shooting occurred. These men live in the country and are sons of respectable farm-
ers in the country. Of course when they come to town they are taken by the hand
by a great many men who we all know are very violently opposed to the republican
jiarty ; they secured bonds at once, and were releasee^ and finally got clear. One of the
same party has not yet been tried.

Question. He has not been arrested ?

A nsieer. No, sir ; but he is there in the neighborhood.
. Question. Is he in the vicinity there ?

.Ansicer. O, yes; I have seen him twenty times, I reckon. Well, that is one case. I
Lave no doubt in my own mind but what the sympathy of that particular element is

with them. There are a great many good men in the party who I have no doubt would
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be glad to see the law execiitetl ; bvit of that particular UHflor-class the great majority
sympathize with these parties. i

Qucxiioii. Let me inquire Nvhether there has been in all this class of cases in your
county, Avliere disguised men have gone out in bands and perpetrated any of these acts,

anybody yet prosecuted for any of those acts ?

Answer. No, sir ; none at all.

Question. Nobody has been arrested ?

AusH-o: None, and no effort made to arrest any except these men I am trying now tc

have , arrested. I am the only man who has sworn out a warrant against tlieni. I

have been working for sis long months to get into it, and I liave sneeeedeo in doing
so. I should not have made that statement, though it may go as it is. I have made
np my mind to fight them ; I am going to demand of my ])ersonal fri{!nds to stand
l)y me, and I will see whether they go for peace and order or whetlier for cut-throata
or vagabonds.

Oiwstion. In your judgment, is the difficulty of apprehending and bringing these men
to punishment in any considerable degree increased by this sympathy in their favor?

Aihsirtr. In some instances it is, and iu others the difficult}^ is from fear of being
assassinated.

Question. You think that tbe. difiBcuUy iu ferreting out and prosecuting these men is

to some extent in consequence of tlie sympathy with them ?

Answer. There is no doubt about that; none in the world.
Queslion. And you say that another great obstaclti also in the way of finding them

out and bringing them to jwuislimeut is the fear which the people have of them ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I have lieen given facts by ])arties who have exacted from mo a
faithful promise not to give their names, for their lives Avould not be worth a cent to

them iu the neigliorhood \vhere they lived if it was known.
Question. They are afraid to be witnesses if they know anything?
Answer. They are not going to be ; they know facts, but will not testify to them.

One of the witnesses who testified in court told me a very different story; in other
words, ho did not testify to what lie told me.

Question. You think this fear of being visited and i>unislied by these l)ands of dis-

guised men pi-events people from either prosecuting theiu or testifying against them ?

Answer. There is nn sensible-minded man iu my country wlio doubts tiiat l^or a mo-
ment ; it is a matter that is known to every one ; iu fact, it is plain to all of them. In
my opinion, that is one great reason.which prevents good men from coming up and
prosecuting these men. The majority is so large against them, and tliey are so firmly

united together by the peri>etration of common crimes, tlnit these peo]de who know
what they have done feel certain they will drive them away from their homes and per-

petrate outrages upon them if they tell what they know.
Question. Have you heard of similar operations in other counties or in other x^arts of

the State ?

Answe): In Bartow County, in Polk County, in Chattooga, Walker, Murray, Gordon,
and Dade Counties, and in some otlier counties down in the country below Atlanta,
these things have taken place. I presume you will haveother witnesses who can give
j'ou very important facts in regard to them. ^

Question. 1 wish to inquire generally over how miHh of your State does this thing
seem to extend, or is it all over the State ?

Answer. I think probably there are many counties where there have been no crimes
of this kind perpetrated.

Question. In all the counties about you does this state of things to a greater or less

extent exist ?

Answer. Not so mucli in Cass County as it is in Polk, Floyd, Chattooga, Walker,
Murray, and Gordon Counties.

Question. Does their plan of operations seem to be the same everywhere you have
heard of tlieni 1

Answer. Yes, sir ; about the same.
Question. From what you have seen of the operations of these bands and the similar-

ity of their mode of doing these things, what is your idea iu relation to the extent of
the organization ?

Answer. My opinion is that, as a political organization, at one time it ramified a con-
siderable extent of territory ; that is my opinion from coming in contact with people
from diftxirent parts of the State of Georgia. I do not think the fact will be coutro-
verted that it was used as a political organization along in the election for governor,
and in tlie recent election for members of tlie h^gislatun?, to a greater or less extent.

Nobody can find any particular comnlaint or ol)jectiou to tliat ; I do not, if they do
not go to Ivilling people. I had no oljjcction to tlio Know-Nothings when they were a
secret political organization, though, of course, I opposed their politics very bitterly.

Question. Do you mean to say you do not oppose the organization iu its murdering
people ?

Answer. No, sir, I am opposed to that. I say if they confine themselves within rea«



GEORGIA. 81

Bonable limits, and do not violate, the law, I am not opposed to them; but that, I think,

is a violation of law, and an outrage upon the rights of a free people.

Qucstio7i. Your idea is that the general jmrpose of the organization is to prevent peo-
ple from voting, especially the colored people ?

Anmcer. Yes. sir. there is no doubt about it in my county; and I prestime what trans-
pired in my own immediate county was the same as that which transpired in every
other place where they had any existence at all. There was not so much necessity for

it in some localities as in others.

Qiiaiioti. Y'ou think it answered the purpose well?
jUif)iver. Y'es, sir, there is no doubt al)out that.

Questio)!. Does it have the efiect of intimidating colored people and preventing them
from voting ?

Aiiywcr. Not only colored people, but a great many good wTiito men. I could give
you the names of some of the Ijest men in my county who were absolutely afraid to
go to the election. They would testify so, but it is not necessary to have them here
at all. I do not think any good, clever man in my county can controvert that point
at all.

Question. Does this fear of evil consequences from going to the polls to vote apply to
both sides ? Is anybody there afraid to go and vote the democratic ticket ?

Answer. Y'on hear in one or two instances where they have got into a mcl^e, and where
the one party has driven the other from the polls ; but it is generally commenced by
so-called democrats, though I do not think they are very good democrats; not my sort,,

and I have always been one.
Qucsiion. Y'ou say there is no general feeling of intimidation which would prevent

the people from voting the democratic ticket ?

Answer. O, no; they have no trouble, none at all.

Question. But you say that the operations of these bands of disguised men do have
the etiect of deterring the republicans, both white and black, from going to the polls

to vote ?

Answei: There is no doubt about that fact, none in the world ; it is as j)lain as the
sun in the heavens. Tiie most timid ones among them are not going out and come in

contact with the violent rabble.
Question. Have the colored people expressed that fear to you?
Answer. Not in many cases to me, but I have no doubt it is true not only with regard

to colored men but white men. I tell you that some of the best men in my county,
good, humble farmers, are afraid to vote.

Question. Y'ou say this has had a very bad effect upon the labor of the country?
Answer. Y'es, sir ; it has pretty nearly devastated one section of my country.
Question. Do the colored people leave the country and go into the towns in conse-

quence of that ?

Answer. Y'es, sir. n

Question. Have you known instances of that?
Answer. Y'es, sir.

Question. Does it prevail to any considerable extent ?

Answer. I can give you th« names of three or four parties who have left their farms.
There is a ^Methodist preacher by the name of Well, I know his name very well,
but I cannot call it right now ; I will think of it after a while. Some of these people,
named Taylor, Ware, Johnson, came into town and left their places, their little crops
of wheat, because they were driven away. And in Chattooga County I think some
seventeen or eighteen in difterent squads had to flee and get away for their lives. I

think that was done for a difterent purpose than a political purpose, though that may
have been one-of the purposes ; but there was auother purpose that conspired with it.

Question. I do not refer to instances where men have been driven off pieces of land
that somebody else wanted ; I refer to cases where the acts of these lawless bands
have driven them away from their homes.

/I nswer. I have given the names of some of these j)arties ; one of them killed a Ku-
Klux, and thej' have been after him ever since; they have been at Rome two or three
tinjes.

Que-ition. Was he driven away from his place, do you think ?

Answer. I know it.

Question. W'as he attacked by a band of them?
Avsiver. Y'es, sir ; they went to his house and very sftverely ill-used him and his wife

;

be shot one of them and killed him.
Question. Did it turn out who that man was who was killed ?

Answer. I say he killed him; I know he shot him; I will not say positively that he
is dead, but he was very severely shot, and I believe he did kill him

Question. Where was that ?

Ansiver. That was in Chattooga County, twenty miles from Rome.
Question. When was it ?

Ansicer. It was some time last year. In numbers of cases they have been driven away

6g
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from their little lionios in the country. This Methodist minister I referred to had qiiito

a little interest inu'lamilv, (luite a conilbrtaltle home; hut liehasjust hud to leave it- all,

and it has almost' ruined' him. lie has been to my oflice, J reckon, twenty times, trying

to "-et me to put ou loot some way that -svill enable him to get his living honestly.

(Jiieslioii. Was he attacked by a l)and of these disguised men ?

JiiHicer. Yis, sir; driv(Mi away liom homo.

OHtw/ioJi. Was there any charge against him ?

Aum-er. No, sir, except that he was preaclung to the colored people; telling them too

much ; he was a republican. If he has ever done anything, I have never heard of it ; lie

may have been guilty of some great crime ; but, if so, 1 have not heard of it, and I do

not l)eliev(! it. A great many would-be decent fellows make a great fuss about repub-

licans being in favor of negro equality. That is one thing they do not intend to have

;

no negro equality about it at all. They very severely beat this boy that I spoke of be-

cause tliev said lie married too white a woman.
Question. Do you think this conduct toward the colored people is really designed to

prevent them from exercising the right of suffrage ?

Anm-cr. 1 do not reckon there has been anybody hero that has denied that, has

there ?

Question. You have not heard all we have.

Answer. I do not reckon there is a sound-minded "man in the State of Georgia who
does not know that that was what it was intended for when it was originally started

as apolitical organization.
Question. It was intended to neutralize the right of suffrage given to the colored

peoph^ ?

Answer. WJiy, of course; they intended to control the elections through intimidating

the republicans in Georgia, so far as the Georgia elections are concerned; I mean in

those electious which have just transpired in the State; that is, where we had any ope-

rations of the organization at all.

Washington, D. C, July 13, 1871.

Z. B. HARGROVE. Examination continued.

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. Will you state to the committee what pretests or excuses are offered for

:this organization, if any ?

Anstcer. Well, there are some excuses given by some of these parties.

Question. Testimony has been given here that they have been excused ou the ground
of negro outlawry, and thieving, and robbing of white men ; on the ground of dangers
to the white people, and things of that kind. State whether such excuses are given for

the organization.
Answer. Yes; that may sometimes lead these parties to visit punishment upon the

negro ; that may have its influence on the unthinking portion of the community.
Questio7i. The question is, whether these things are offered as excuses or pretexts for

this organization ?

Ansicer. I say they sometimes are, though a large number of the punishments are in-

. flicted on mere hatched-up lu-etexts ; I mean those punishments that are inflicted by the
meanest ones among tliem.

Question. Testimony has been given in relation to the great objection the people have
to social equality with the whites. Has that any influence ou the minds of the people
in organizing these societies?

Ansiver. There is no sensible man in my State that regards that question at all ; they
consider it as preposterous. The idea of social equality with the negroes they do not
fear at all.

Question. Do the negroes assort social equality with the whites ?

Ansive): No, not in the least. In my section of the State they are very humble and
very obedient. Occasionally there is now and then a turbulent and violent negro, as
there was before the war. -

Question. Do they make any attempt to intermarry and mix with the whites ?

An.Hwer. I believe in one or two instances white women have married colored men
;

that is all :i question of taste.

Question. Is it n, rule, or do they, as a rule, contine themselves to tlieir own color ?

Anmcer. Yes. Sonu^ p(K)r, outcast, abandoned woman will sometimes marry a colored
man for the aid and assistance that he can give her ; but these are very rare occurrences.

Question. Is there any ground to fear miscegenation with the colored race?
Answer. No, sir; it is all on the other foot.

Question. What do you mean by the other foot ?
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Jnsu'er. I mean that colorod women have a great deal more to fear from white men.
(Jitti^tioii. Is it very disrepntable for a white man to become the parent of colored

children f

Ansicer. There are frequent instances in which white men, Lotli democrats and repub-
licans, are fathers of mnlatto children. I do not think that the uitiitjlit and clenr-

thinking portion of the community would consider it very re|nitai)le conduct for a
gentleman who made any pretensions to gentility. I know some one or two instances

where men who hold prominent and high positions have got mulatto children, ])nt they
are generally democrats ; sometimes there may be a republican guilty of the same
offense. I do not think it is confined to any one particular party.

Question. Something has been said about the origin of Ku-Klux, about its being de-

scended fi-om the old i)atrol system, as a means of guarding society from outlawry ?

Answer. I think that probably the Ku-Klux organization in its inception and
. birth—well, I do not know if it may not bo considered as true; that it was intended to

prevent any violent outbreaks among the colored people if any should be intended.

That was so in the State of Tennessee, as I have heard it stated by Tennesseeaus who
came to my town. But it was afterward seized hold of as a ])olitical machine, and
then these great crimes and outrages were perpetrated upon the colored peoi>lB in

many instances without any provocation Avhatever, except to prevent them froiu exer-

cising their right at the ballot-box. That is a fact that I do not think any well-dis-

pf)sed thinking man will attempt to controvert at all ; the occurrences are too freciuent

and tlagrant.

(Juesiion. Do you hear any justification or defense of these outrages or of this organ-
ization ?

Answei: Well, I do not think there can be any excuse whatever.
Qncstio7t. Do your papers defend them, or does the public defend them, and, if so,

bow?
Ausirer. Yes, sir ; our papers, in my immediate city, openly defend the operations of

the Klan, saying that they are doing good service. You will frequently hear prominent
men there say they do not intend to allow any negro ecpiality in the country, and that
this orgnnization is to prevent that.

QiKslion. Mention the names of the papers.

Aiisirer. The Courier and the Commercial ^if Rome. They are very bitter in their

deiuinciation of the Kn-Klnx bill passed bj" Congress. I do not think the bill ever had
any terrors for the law-abiding peoi)le of the country. I am not afraid of being pun-
ished under it. I think the great ground of opposition to the Ku-Klux bill was the
fear that it would punish these men for their crimes, and really give the colored race

some little fairer oiiportuuity of having justice done them.
Question. You spoke of men being driven from the country into the town. Can you

give the committee an idea of the number of them, or of the places from which they
were driven, within your knowledge ? '^

Answer. I was in Atlanta with a gentleman fiiend of mine, who is a wealthy planters
of Alabama. lie- was there trying to get help to go down ou his plantation. He was '

very angry, and I believe was buying some shot-guns. He said he was going to get
his labor and go there, and he was going to put shot-guns into their hands to kill the
Kn-Klux with ; that they had driven the labor put of the country. He wanted me to aid

him, and he said that he had found that the labor had been driven away from that
section of the State also. ---

Question. Who was this man ?

Ansicer. Bis name was Robert Thornton.
Question. Where does he live?
Answer. He lives in Cherokee County, Alabama, just over the line. He was very

angry, and it was from him that I learned there had been a great many colored persons
driven oft" in his part of the country. I then got to inquiring around about the mat-
ter, and I found that a great many persons had been driven otf from the country there.

I am in Atlanta as much as in Rome; I practice there as much as I do in Rome ; I have
an office there.

Question. You practice law in Atlanta ?

Answer. Yes, sir; in some particular cases only; I am prosecuting some claims there
before the railroad commission, some railroad settlements.

Question. Are these organized bands at work at x'l'esent, riding about?
Ansicer. Not to my own knowledge. I have received a communication from Rome,

stating that a few days before they had been at it again in the county adjoining mine

—

Chattooga County. It is a frequent occurrence there. I think they go around once
or twice a week probably, and notify all the colored men that they must stay at home
and keep at home.

Question. The simple question is whether, as a matter of fact, these organizations
have ceased, or do they still continue ?

Answer. I do not think they now ramify so considerable an extent of country as they
did a mouth or two ago ; there are not the same causes now. But just before the elections
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thoro were fVoquent outrages ; the outrages were more frequent tlieu than tliey have
been since.

(^iiC'iHon. IlaN-'o you any idea as to what -would be the ])r<>]ier remedy for these evils

an(l these disorders thi're f

Aiimrcr. I do not tliiid< with the ]>ri'sent feeling in Kiat i)artienlar section, of whioli

I gave you some mention yesterday, They ever intend To live in any peace with the col-

ored people in the South, t'olonization of the colored peoi)le would be one remedy.

Aiu)ther renu-dy is an amendment to the Kii-Klux bill, and to have it strongly enforced.

They can only know that they cannot violate tiie law l)y feeling the heavy hand of

power. It has been a matter of great surjirise, of ])ainful surprise, that there should

have Iieen an eti'ort, on the part of a ])ortion of the democrats in Congress, at iTs last

session, to deny the existence of these outrages. It is also a matter of surprise that

the papers there sliould undertake to cover and shield these parties ; it is weakening
thi' democratic party very materially in my sectiou.

(^iiicslioti. Is it only tlu' democrats who desire to cover up these oiTtrages?*

.i)iNtr(r. \ great iuany of them have tried to shield them ; to deny the existence of

these facts right In the face of them.
Question. Would not the more honest of the democrats there favor an investigation ?

Answer. •Well, a gr(!at many of them are opposed to the Ku-Klux bill, and then man y
of them are not o])posed to it, because they are not afraid of being punished under it;

they do not violate any law. But, as I said, it is a matter of painful surprise to that

particular class of men who act Avitli_ the democratic party, that there should be any
democrat who undertook to deny the lact. I think if they had admitted the fact there

would not have been that difficulty in the grand juries of our country which has
divided the grand juries in my county. One of the grand juries reported tl^e Ku-
Klux. and condemned its operations. For that both of the papers there very bitterly

denounced the grjind jury, and said it was only an invitation to a radical Congress to

pass a Ku-Klux bill and put the heavy hand of oppression upon them. The next grand
jury rei>orted adversely to that, right in the face of the fact that this Ku-Klux organi-

zation had been riding up and down the very streets of Rome with their pistols

drawn. ,

Question. How are your grand juries composed?
Answer. Generally of very good men.
Question. Of what color are the jurors f .

Answer. They are exclusively white. The laws of the State of Georgia require jurors
to be the most respectable and intelligent citizens of the community. I have never
seen any colored juror in the State; I do not seriously object to that, for I want to see

good, sensible men upon the juries of the country.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. You live, I believe, in the same district with Mr. Burnett, who ran for Con-
gress ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Mr. Forsyth is your district attorney ?

Answer. Yes, sir. •

Question. And Mr. Sheibley is yoirr postmaster 1

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are those men in possession of means of information as to the true condi-
tion of affairs iu the district they represent, or counties in it.

Answer. Well, Mr. Burnett would probably not have so good an opportunity of know-
ing the, true condition of things as Colonel Forsyth or Mr. Sheibley.

Question. Was not Mr. Burnett a candidate for Congress ?

Answer. Yes, sir; he was.
Question. Was he not in most parts of his district ?

Answer. I think he was during the canvass.
Queslion. Would he not necessarily have been thrown in contact with a large number

of ])crsous ?

Answer. I suppose so.

Question. Would he not have a large amount of information ?

A>is7ver. I say he would not have so large an amount iu my own county as the other
geiilh^Tiien you have named, esi)ecially iu my own immediate neighborhood. I only
speak of matters that surround my own little home particularly.

(^)nestion. If he is a man of observation his means of information, with his exiierience,
ought to be pretty large f

Answer. Yes, sir; he is a man of ordinary ability and observation.
Question. You speak about white men being the fathers of mulatto children ; is that a

peculiarity of Giiorgia?
Answer. No, sir; it is not confined to any particular State.
Question. Have you not.for instance seen as many mulattoes in tte State of New York

a.s in (<eoi'"'ia ?
*
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Answer. T have only been in New York once, and that for but a short time. Do not
understand me as saying that it is confined to any particular set of men. I say that
both reiiublicans and democrats all over the country have done the same thing, I reckon.

Qucfition. You do not give that as any peculiar evidence of the demoralization of jour
people ?

Ansurr. If it is, they have been demoralized a good many years.

Question. And the balance of the country has also been demoralized much in the same
way ?

Ansim: I reckon ; I do not know anything about it.

Question. You said that once in a while a white woman would mary a black man

;

that always gives ofieuse to people in that region of country, does it not ?

Ansicer. I think that is more or less wearing away
;
people are accommodating them-

selves more to the laws of the land. I speak of it as a question of taste.

Question. Has not that been iu Georgia, as well as elsewhere, one thing that has
always given dissatisfaction ?

AnsKer. I believe that some who are not so charitable and liberal in their views as
others have genei'ally denounced it.

Question. Yt)u think the bulk of your people have not ?

Ansicer. I do ; I am willing myself to let it be a question of taste on both sides.

Question. Do I understand you correctly as saying that you think that the greatest
amount of bitterness toward the colored people, and of opposition to the acknowledg-
ment of their civil rights, is shown by the lower orders of your white j)eople, who
themselves have not been slaveholders.

Answer. I think the greatest degree of bitterness is felt by that class of people.
Que-iiion. Do I undeistand you to say that your papers, which you named, and other

papers in your State, uphold the perpetrators of these outrages, and justify them?
Anstver. Well, they have apologized for them.
Question. In what form ?

Ansuer. Well, I think that you can very readily get hold of copies of both of these
papers.

Quesiion. But I cannot testify to them here.
Answer. I am satisfied that up to within a very short time they have been defending

The Ku-Klux organization ; they have been denying the existence of any such organiza-
tion : they did it for a while. One of the editors of my town fell into the hands of the
Ku-Klux organization, and they made him dance in the mud for half an hour. They took
him for another individual. However, they apologized to him, and he afterward sjjoke
very kindly of them in his paper, although they had drawn their gnus on him.
He told me this himself. The editor of the Commercial has written two or three very
strong articles of advice to the Ku-Klux Klau, as well as iu defense of them.

Quesiion. Do you mean to say in defense of the acts of outrage ?

Answer. He defends by way of denial.

Question. By denying them ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Whether he believes them or not you do not know ?

Answer. I am satisfied he believes them now.
Question. Are you satisfied he believed them at the time he was defending them ?

Answer. 1 am on more intimate terms with one of them than with the other. Proba-
bly I may have gone too far ; I might say that in my opinion he knew it.

Quesiion. You gave as an evidence of the intense bitterness of those papers, and of
their encouragement of the Ku-Klux Klan and its operations, their opposition to the
Ku-Klux bill ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You gave that as an evidence of their indorsing Ku-Klux operations?
Answer. Ko ; I do not wish to be understood iu that way.
Question. Wliat did you mean by finding fault with them, as you evidently did, for

opposing the Ku-Klux bill?

Answer. Well, 1 believe they did not desire it enforced against these parties who
were whipping and scourging these people in the way I have mentioned; that was
probably one ground of the opposition of some of these parties ; only some of them
I would say. I suppose there was opposition to the Ku-Klux bill on the part of many
intelligent people, because' they believed it was an infringement upon State ]-ights.

Question. Do yoii not know that there were very many leading republican papers in
the country that were bitterly opposed to the Ku-Klux bill ?

A)tswer: I read the papers, and I know to some extent that is true. I only state that
iu my neighborhood the reason of the opposition on the part of that particular class of
people was becanse it would probably give the colored people some little fairer show-
ing bijfore the courts of the country.

Question. I want to see if any paper in Georgia has said more against that bill than
has been said by the republicans.

Answer. I am free to admit that there were a considerable number of republican
papers that opposed the bill, and upon the ground that it interfered with and was an
jinfringement upon State Eights.
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(tiirs'lioit. Do yon not tliiiik tliiit wiis a ](;,i>itiin;ite ground of objoctioii to it ?

.'liisircr. Well", at one tiino. Imight Jiiive tliougbt that it would bo fair aud legitimate;

but rbis is au fxtiaoidiiiary occasion and \vi^ live in no ordinary times.

By Mr. Bi.aik :

(Jucstioii. Almost anybody would agree to tbat statement wbo lives under Bullock, I

Aiis'irn: I do not indorse all of Governor Bullock's acts. If yon will Interrogate m&
a little, 1 think 1 could probably give you some light ou tbat sulyeet which you have

not got.

By Mr. Bf.ck :

QnC'<tion. Did yon ever hear anyI)ody use stronger language among your people or in

your i)aiiers than this which I will read from the New York Evening Post

:

' Freedom camiot exist under a centralized government. Take from the States those

local and nninicipal powers aud duties which the Const.itutiou secures them, make tho

Federal courts police courts, tho Federal marshals policemen, detectives, and si)ies :

"ive the Federal Executive authority to interfere at his will, with soldiers or with his

civil ol'licers, in the internal alfairs of the States, and you break down the only safe-

guards of liberty, ami prepare the way for an imi>erial despot." * * # *

" Doubtless many men in Congress act in ignoi'ance aud out of motives of humanity

and gi.Mierous regard for those whom they believe to bo weak aud injured. But behiud

these stand other men whom no one imagines to be humanitarians, whom no one sus-

])ects to act in ignorance, who comprehend but too well the drift aud meaning of the

inicoustitutionaTand centralizing legislation they urge, who are preparing rev(dution,

fostering and increasing disorder, accustoming the people to violent measures and
repressive legislation, to force bills and standing armies in time of peaee, because thus

their hiddeu'plots of ambition can be realized, because everyday which sees their

ruinous policy continued brings nearer the time when they may snatch supreme power,

crush liberty^ destroy the safeguards of the Constitution, and make themselves mas-

ters of the nation.
" That is the real meaning of the Ku-Klnx legislation. Its promoters are the ene-

mies of the Union, the haters of liberty, the secret plotters of our ruin as a free people.

Tiiey will not succeiid, for the people cannot long be deceived. But it is for the repub-

lican leaders now to say whethcu- they will cast oft' these evil guides, or whether, fol-

lowing them, they shall be overwhelmed in the same condemnation with them by an

alarmed and indignant people."

AriAvcr. I have no donl)t that was his honest opinion.

Question. You have read that?

Ansicer. Yqs, sir.

Qvcfitioii. Have you heard any stronger language used by any gentleman in your

State than is used there "?

Avfiirci: No, sir ; I do not know that I have. That others have not nsed as strong

language does not do away with the fact; he does not indorse the Ku-Klux acts.

(hu'iiiion. In what way did the i)apers you refer to indorse their acts?

Aii.rii-cr. By strongly defending them.
Qnestion. By defendiug their acts?

Anaver. By defendiug the course of the Klan ; they did not mention their outrages.

()»(rs//oH. if you want to say that your papers defended the outrages, say so ; if not,

say so.

An>i>rc): I testified on yesterday that there was a large number of democrats
Quiiftion. 1 am speaking of the papers of your town.
Ansici'r. I will give it to you in a moment. I testified yesterday that a large number

of the truest and best men we had in our town rather sympathized with this organiza-

tion, in the obj(!ct for which it was organized, and in occasionally ill-using the negro:

but 1 do not believe they would openly advocate assassination. I believe these X'arties

would defend the Ku-Klux for going out and whipping a negro ; aud if you will get

their i)ai)ers yon will find it so.

Oiirsfion. Whii)])iug them for no cause whatever ?

A))nica: The papers said that one cause was that one of the negroes had used this

saucy ex))ression to a white lady, of which I told you yesterday; that was the ground
upon which the paper defended that particular outrage. In regard to the other one, it

made lu) excuse at all for his defense of them.
(>ii(:ni\<ni. You say it was a. matter of ])ainful surprise to democrats in your country

that the democrats here opposed the Ku-Kiux bill ?

.•J«.sirr>r. I said it was a nuTt/ter of painful surprise to them that denu)crats here denied
the existence of the organization and of their crimes in their opposition to tho Ku-Klux
bill.

(Jiuxtioii. You say that many of your democrats ar(^ in favor of the Ku-Klnx bill ?

.liixivcr. I think tiny arc: that is my opinion; in others words, it has no terrors for

them ; they do not ijarticularly fear it.
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Qucstioti. Who of your democrats are in favor of the Ku-Klnx bill? Give me the

name of a democrat In the State of Georgia viio is in favor of that bill.

Answer. I am not directly familiar with the sentiments of any except those witli

whom I asi^ociate.

Qucstio)t. Give me the name of some respectable democrat who is in favor of the Ku-
Klnx bill.

Jtisiccr. I do not think Dr. Gregory, of my town, wonld be opposed to it.

(^fiiatioii. Have yon heard him say that he favored it /

Aiis>rc)\ I have.
Qf'eslio)!. Is he a democrat ?

J)tf>irer. Yes, sir.

Qucafion. He has always been a democrat ?

j /.'«!(•«. Yes, sir.

Question. Is he a prominent citizen there?
Jiibuer. He is the mayor of my town.
Qtuslion. He believes that the powers conferred in that bill are strictly constitu-

tional ?

Anaicer. Xo; neither do I; that is, not according to onr old Constitntion ; but times
have changed, and we simjily agreed that we would not opj)ose the Ku-Klux bill, be-

cause it had no terrors for the law-abiding people of the country. ^Ve agreed that it

was au extraordinary occasion ; that there was so much violence in the land that it

required some extraordinary remedy to reach the disease.

Qiiistion. You say that you do not believe it was constitutional according to the old

Constitution ?

Answer. Well, if we had the old Constitntion as it was, there' might have been some
doubt about it.

Question. What I want to know is, what was the surprise of your democrats at the
course of the democrats here ?

Answer. The surprise was that the democrats here would deny the existence of this

organization and of their acts.

Question. How long ago did you quit the democratic party ?

Aiiswer. I expect it quit me about eighteen months ago.

Question. O, it quit you, did it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In what form did it quit you ?

Answer. It went into the hands of violent men, and, as I thought, it undertook to

live by means of violence.
Question. It defeated you as candidate for mayor of Eome ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. It also defeated you as candidate for the legislature ?

Answer. Yes, sir; but I suppose that was a foregone conclusion anyhow, for they
knew I was opposed to them ; that was all ftxir.

Question. You were a new convert to the new order of things ?

Answer. I am a reconstniction man.
Question. You voted for Seymour and Blair ?

A7iswer. Yes, sir.

Question. And obtained office at that time ?

Ansicer. I obtained ofitice as a recOnstructiou man, and I obtained it from Judge
Wright's son, whom I bitterly opposed. I had backbone, and received support from
prominent democrats, who afterward deserted me and went over to the side of the
enemy, and left me where I agreed to stand.

Question. How came it that you got to writing proclamations for Governor Bullock ?

Answer. I do not write the proclamations; I specified some particular outrages, gave
liim some definite facts, and requested him to issue proclamations in accordance with
those specifications. I did it iu order to interest parties that I thought would be will-

ing, for a consideration, to do something to break up these gangs of Ku-Klux.
Question. Do you think anybody in your country has been more denunciatory of Gov-

ernor Bullock, up to within the last eighteen mouths, than you were?
Answer. Have you ever heard that I denounced Governor Bullock ?

Question. I never saw you until yesterday.
Answer. I have had my deei) sympathy for Governor Bullock, and I have defended

him upon the stump.
Question. For all his expenditures and acts?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you not denonueed them ? w
Answer. I denounce everything that is wrong. I expect Governor Bullock has got

one of the strongest letters of denunciation from me that ever he got from any man in
Georgia, in which I expressly declared that I did not agree with him iu some of his.
'measures, and that I should denounce them.

Question. You have privately written to him letters as denunciatory of some of his
measures as any man iu the State of Georgia ?
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Ansicer. I -wrote him tliat I did not aftTec -with liim at all in tlicm.

Quation. I believe tbat you said that you wrote him letters as denunciatory as any
from anv other man ?

Answer. 1 saiil that, -while I felt kiiully disposed to-ward him, I could not subscribe

to some of his measures.
Quiistio)!. Sinei' you have become a republican, have your friends been applying to

Govormir Uullock lor ol'lice, or anythin;;' of that sort ?

Au-suir. I have never asked Governor Bullock to aid me in procuring any office only

during tlie session of the legislature, when I said to several friends—republicans anil

dfiiioerats—that if a bill establishing a district court there became a law, I desired to

be appointed in my district; but I never made any application to the governor, for I

have no idea in the world that Governor Bullock would appoint me to any position ; I

ha\-e never asked him for one.

(Jue.slioii. I framed the language in that form so as to know what office you have
askc-d your friends to ask for you.

Ansicer. I was a clerk of the senate of the legislature upon the recommendation of

personal friends.

Question. After you were defeated for the legislature ?

Ansivcr. Ko, sir; before.

Question. And your friends intended to get you appointed circuit judge?
Ansieer. I simply made the declarati(3ii that I would like to have that position,

Question. Is that the only position your friends have asked for you, that you are

aware of?
Answer. Yes, sir. I have never asked Governor Bullock for anything.
Question. Have you got your friends to apply to the President for anything for you ?

Answer. I have never applied to the President, but I shall do so if he is elected in the

next campaign, as I hope he will be.

Question. Have you picked out the particular office you would like to have?
Answer. 1 have no objections to telling it.

Question. I would like to know.
Answer. Well, I would like to be governor of one of the Territories out West.
Question. I do not think anybody will interfere with you if Grant is elected.

Answer. I might be induced to sui)p()rt my clever friend, General Blair, again, if ho
comes down from his high horse and supports conservative measures. I would take
great pleasure in supporting him as I did before. HoAvever, I will take occasion to state

that Colonel Atkins, revenue collector, told me some time ago that if I desired a posi-

tion with him I could have it. I have not conchided to accept, but I may do so. That
•was simply a voluntary oifer of his own, I said that the republican party was under
no obligation to me; that I had opposed it iu my county, and could not ask anything
at i1»s hands. I can get along and manage my own canoe without any position of that
kind.

Washington, D. C, Jrihj 13, 1871,

Hon. AUGUSTUS R. WRIGHT sworn and examined.

The Chaieman, (Mr. Poland.) As this witness has been called at your instance, Mr.
Blair, you will please commence his examination.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Where do you live ?

Answer. I live in the northwestern part of the State of Georgia, in the city of Rome,
and the county of Floyd.

Question. How long have you lived there ?

Aiiswer. I have lived, not in the city of Rome, but in that and the adjoining county,
since 183G. I went there bt^fore the Indians were removed, and commenced life there
in my profession. The railroads and the steamboats built up a city at Rome, and I

moved down there, because it was a l>etter place in which to practice my profession.

Question. State what public positions you have held?
Answer. In my twenty-seventh year, if I remember correctly, I was elected circuit

judge of the Cherokee circuit of Georgia, as it has been called. My remembrance is

that I tilled that otlicc; about seven years, and then resigned it, its labors being
more than I was willing to jx'rform. I was afterward a member of Congress, of the
Congress Ijefore the secetlii^ Cougress ; but I was not in the seceding Congress.

Question. Wi-va you in the Cougress that went out on the 4th of March, when Presi
dent Lincoln came in ?

Answer. I was iu the Congress before that.

By Mr. Beck :
^ •

Question. You were in the Cougress that went out iu 1859?
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Ansicer. I judge I went out in 1859. because secession was in 1861. I ought to have
stated, perhaps, that in the presidential contest, when Mr. Lincoln Was elected, I was
one of the candidates for presidential elector for the State at large, Mr. Stephens
being the other. We were on the electoral ticket for Mr. Douglas, and canvassed the
State to some extent. I met Mr. Douglas in the upper part of the State iind carried

him a part of the way through the State ; Mr. Stephens then received and Aveut with
him through the State. Mr. Stephens and myself canvassed the State to some extent
together, while the other electors, the district electors, were also active in their respect-

ive districts.

By Mr. Blatii :

Question. Yon opposed the act of secession, did you not ?

Ansiier. I opposed it with all the power I had on earth. There was no man in the
Union, North or South, more utterlj- liostile to the act of secession than I was. Ought
I not, in answering your question, to state the fact that I was run in my county of
Floyd as the Union candidate for the convention in Georgia that seceded ?

Question. Yes ; state all the facts.

Answer. They ran me against mj- son-in-law, who unfortunately differed with me, a
very prominent young lawyer, now dead. The lire-eaters ran him against me, upon
which they made a great point. I should have gained the race then, excejit upon the
solemn pledge made that if the State seceded the question should be referred back to
the people. Upon that pledge I was beaten three hundred votes in a county tliat gave
twenty-five hujidred votes. Do you want to know what oiiices I have held under
both governments ?

Question. Yes.
Answer. That convention met at the capital of Georgia, and organized ; there were a

majority of Union men in the convention when it organized, at least that was the un-
derstanding—they had been elected as such ; but they were controlled one way or an-
other by the revolutionary spirit which governed there. They elected delegates to
meet at Montgomery, Alabama. The delegates were elected in this way : In order to
prevent division in the State, after Mr. Stephens, who was a member of the conven-
tion, agreed to go, and the balance followed him, the two parties had a convocation,
and agreed that each would select so many men, the Union party so many, and the
lire-eaters so many, and that there should be no schism in the State, and that the vote
should be unanimous for the persons tLius selected. The convention voted uuanimoirsly
for every name thus selected, except mine. When my name was announced, a gentle-
man from my comity, (Colonel Fouche,) who was elected, with my son-in-law, to the
convention, as my remembrance now is—at all events he was there, and I think a mem-
ber—said that I was not, in his opinion, faithful to the people of the South; that it

was not safe to intrust me with that oftice, and he therefore insisted that I should not
be elected. Notwithstanding the agreement that had been made, and iiotN^ithstanding
I had been selected by the Union element, and the agreement was that neither was to

interfere with the otiier, they ran against me Dr. Miller, a Senator who came here and
was admitted ; he came within two or three votes of beating me. I was at home, two
or three hundred miles from there, and had no knowledge of what was done ; it was
all done without my knowledge and approbation. When I first received the news of
my election to Montgomery, with the understanding that the question of secession had
not been referred back to the people—for I had always said that when the peoi)le, upon
a fair vote referred to them, voted to quit the Union, I would go with them—])ut I did
not intend that Mr. Yancej- should '' precipitate the cotton States into a revolution."
He had used that phrase in a secret letter which had been obtained. I said that if

they wanted to divide the Union, they should understand what they were doing.
When I heard that they had sent these delegates to Montgomery to frame a now con-
stitution, and had not referred the question back to the people, I openly announced
that I would have nothing to do with the treasonable project. Now, public sentiment
in the South is very violent

;
you have uo idea of it. You have never been, any of

yon, at the starting of a revolution. You have uo idea how it sweeps over the land.
It is like a New York riot, and men had better get out of the way of it. I made a
speech in the City Hall of Eome, and but for a few personal friends they would have
killed mc right there. I understood that several thought I ought to be killed for tiy-
ing to stop the course of events. Well, you know that passed off, and everybody
joined in, especially JNlr. Stephens, who seemed to be a leader of the Union element.
He seemed to thinlc that it was a better programme not to create division at home

;

that opportunities would probably i)resent themselves, in taking office, to scotch the
revolution.

_

'

Question. Was that determination of yoiu-s facilitated in any way by the non-action of
the Government here, and the course of the extreme radical politicians of the North,
in assenting to the severance of the Union ?

Answer. 1 do not think so ; there was no assenting to the severance of the States. I
took ofhce by the persuasion of my fi'ieuds, under the idea that it was possible that we
could stop the revolution, with the idea that if the Union men wholly ignored it. iii

would go on and a collision would be inevitable.
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Qiicsfiou. Yon <li> not unrtprsfaiKl tny question.

Jmitrr. ^I:iy be I «lo not.

(htcstioii. I <"lo not sjK'iik of your assent to the severance of th(> States, but of the

Bee'iuin"- assent given by the extreme re])nblieans of the North to the severance of the

States.'^as shown by Mr. Greeley's publications, and others.

Aii.'iwcr. Oh, yes ;' I do not think that had any inlluence ; with me I know it did not

;

but I think it is true that it had intliicncc^ on our southern ifoliticiaus. Mr. Toombs,
i:i a iiubiie speech in the city of Atlanta, declared that the chances were, I think he

B.iid nineteen out of twenty, that the North would let us go; that the North would
not light. I have no doubt it influenced the action of a great many of them, to a

very gn^at extent. Yes, I think the action of the North was wholly unexpected.

The (JiiAilJMAN, (Mr. I'oi^VM).) 1 do not think tin; committee is charged with the

duty of ascertaining how the rebellion was brought about.

Mr. IJl.vik. These matters were brought in without intending to have them
expressed.
The Cii.viRMAK, (Mr. Polaxi).) Your inquiry, in regard to the public positions which

be held, is all proper.

Mr. Blaik. Of course, that inquiry is made of every witness, in order that the coun-
try may understand his means of inlbrmatiou upon matters of public interest.

By Mr. Blaiii :

Qucfition. Having got through with so much of the ]>reliminai-y, I will state that the

object of this committee, as has several times been announced by the chairman and
otiiers, is to ascertain the present condition of ali'airs in all the late insurrectionary

States, with respect to the execution of the laws and the security of life and property
there. You will, therelore. please give the committee such information upon that sub-
ject as you have in regard to your State.

Answer. Before I answer that question, let me ask pennission of the committee to

make a further statement. There is an idea abroad that I am a very violent politi-

ciaii ; that I was disposed to be a secession man, to encourage secession, to break up
the Union. Why, sir, if there ever "was a man on earth who had an idolatrous rev-

erence for the Union, I believe I was that man. I was in congrt^ss, the confederate
congress, and continued there until I was voted out on account of my reconstruction
movements. The last act of my political life was the introduction of a resolution in

the confederate congress, proposing to the Federal Government to call a convention of
the Staves for the pur])ose of reconstructing the Government of our fathers, and stop-
ping the revolution. Why, sir, there were thirty men on the floor in an instarrt, hal-
looing " Mr. Speaker" at the toi> of their voices. And this little Clapp, if I remember
aright, of Mississipiii, got the ear of the speaker, and moved that the galleries be
cleared, and the doors closed. I did not know honestly but what I should be slaugh-
tered right there on the floor. I explained to tliem that J had no intention of being un-
faithful to my section, or to the body of which I was a member; but that it was my
] onest judgment that it was best for our people, in every view^, ttiat we should try to
gt't back. 1 thouglit it was the best thing as an abstract question originally. I did
not want to se]>aral^e the Government ; I never did ; it never suited me; and then I

thought it would brt^ak down inevitably. I thought it was A^astly better for us to get
back under terms of agreement than to break down and be at the absolute disposal of
the Federal Government. I do not know that I am acting in fldelity to tell what w^as
done iu secret session ; I do not Avant to violate anything" of that soVt. I do not think
that it is a violation, for the resolittions got out some way and were published in some
of the northcin iiaiieis. and they were pul)lished in one or two of the iia]iers of the
S<!u1h. The most of them were afraid to i)nl>lisli them ; I think the Selina paper pub-
lished iLein with commendation, and I thisik that was the only paper that did it. I

think a member from New York read them here in the House oi' Eepresentatives, and
used them as an argument to show that we on our part were ready to yield and make
peace if the Government here would make the necessary movements. That was about
the last act of my jiolitical life. 1 was beat out then by a gentleman on account of
my reconstruction measures. Let me tell you again, mV. Stephens and myself were
chassmate.s in college. I have a great esteem for him; I think he is as i)ure a man as
ever was on earth, and 1 am satisiied that he has as great an intellect as any man in
this country. Bnt I think that after he got into congress, ho linally becarue in his
mind afhliated with the movement of the secession IKirty, and was willing and per-
haps anxious to have a separate government. I never was in favor of it. I know that
in a i)riel conversation at his own residence, in Hiehmond, out of regard to me, perhaps,
hi' told me that my movement in that time was really dangerous fo me. I did not say
to him that 1 thought if I had the inJlnencc and power of such a nanae as his to help
me we might do something; but I did not hav(! it. I make this statement to show yoii
that my testinuuiy is not to l)e regarded in the light of a partisan; 1 do not want it

ri'garded in that light. It is not tnn^ that I am a partisan, let who will make that
leprescn ration. I believe it is best for this people always to be together under one
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govornnient. if it is possible ; ar.d I see no roason why \V(? should not be the command

-

iiiir ,i;o\'<riuiu'n{, nor only on this continent, but in the woild, I'ully eqn;il to Kini^

"William of Germany, where there is a trreat government, beyond all controversy. I

want to say another thing to you before I pass from that, l^resideut Lincoln was
watching- the course of every man in the confederate congress, I suppose. I owned a
])lantation below Rome when the war connneneed. Rome was right in the track of

the armies, and I moved down on my plantation, for I had a large family, and daugh-
ters among them, and I wanted to be out of tlie way of tlu< armies. I weait there and
determineii to stay there, let the conse(pn'nces be what they might, whether I lived

or died. A great nniny of our people refugeed and ran away ; 1 determined to stay.

In the fall of 1864 Senator Spencer was at Rome, then a subordinate of (general Corse.

A man by the name of Shorter had refugeed, and left a lot of cotton, two hundred bales

or such a matter, in charge of his nephew, to do the best he could with it, but he ex-

]>ected to lose it. My brother had married a sister of that nephew, and Silencer was
up there at Shorter's residence, in Rome, where the cotton was. He was talking with
the Federal troops, and finding that I stood very fair with them, that th<'y regarded
Hie as favorable to a reconstruction of the government, as doing all I could to bring my
])<*ople back without abandoning them, that I stood in a favoral>le attitude with
them, he dropped me a note, which I got claiulestiuely, stating that from the way
the Federal otticers talked, his opinion was that I could save that two hundred bah'S if
cotton which General Vandever, then commanding tliere, was about to send off luidtr

some statute as confiscated cotton, and that I should have one qimrter of it for myself,

that one quai'ter of it should be for my brother Moses, who was then an exile in Ken-
tucky, on account of his politics. He had a daughter about grown, a very prettj- girl,

and another one nearly grown, and his family was living right oi)posite the river.

I had great anxiety to remove them, for they were the object of incessant assault l)y

the confederate scouts, as they ealleil themselves there, for they knew that they were
there within what was called the Yankee lines. I was fearful every day of violence
to them, but I had no means of i^rotecting them. Confederate money was not worth
a. dollar a bushel with the Federal Government. This nephew of Shorter's knew
or believed that it would be a strong inducement to me—and it was a powerful one—

^

for I saw in the cotton arrangement the means of protecting the family of my bi'other.

I declined at first to have anything to do with it, because I was afraid. But finally I

got to Rome and formed Spencer's acquaintance. As soon as I told him a))out the
facts of the case he tpld me he would help me. But Vandever refused to do anything
toward saving the lot of cotton. Spencer said, " I know him, and I will have that all

fixed." In a fcv.^ days afterward, I do not remember how long, about midnight one
night, 1 was arrested. There was a regiment, or a part of a regiment, of Federal
cavalry that surrounded my hoTise and arrested me, very much to my alarm and to the
alarm of my family. The officer came in and said that he was directed to say to me
that I would be respected and protected; that I was not arrested for the purpose of
imjirisoning me. That relieved me somewhat. I was carried up to Rome, and Siieucer
told me that Vandever was about sending the cotton off' to a man in Charleston, who
he thought was a partner of his in his speculations; that they had telegraphed to
General Sherman to send for me, and in the mean time the cotton was stopped. When
I got down to Atlanta I spent the most of one day there with General Sherman iu

talking with him; and I take this occasion to say that if I disagreed with him on one
solitary princijde of policy at the time, as explained to me by him, and of the purposes
of President Lincoln, I do not now remember it. I know that I was ready and
prepared to stand by that policy and carry it out at that time; that is, when we
broke down, which I knew was inevitable very soon. Well, Sherman stopped the
cotton, and sent me to Washington to see President Lincoln. I came here, staid three
days, and saw Mr. Lincoln several times, for the first time in my life. And I will say
now, judging from my intercourse with him upon that occasion, that I do not know
that I ever saw a public man who, in my opinion, was more truly devoted to the wel-
fare of his country—not to a part, but to the whole of the country. He seemed to
sympathize with the jieople of the South in their calamities. Ho declared to me again
and again that he did' not have one single impulse of anger toward them ; that he
desired nothing iu the world but the preservation of the Union. I know from my
conversation with him at that time that he had no great idea of giving the negro
the ballot, no more idea than he had of making his exit from the earth. I know we
talked over the cajjacity of the negro in that line, and he did not talk as if he thought
the negro was capable of self-government. He wanted him emancipated and free,

and protected; .that suited me. I want you to understand that President Lincoln
never promised me that I should be governor of Geoigia when the office was free; but
from al! that was said, I had good reason to belieA'e that I should be appointed to that
ofhce. But in the mean time Lincoln was killed, and Johnson came iu as President.
He had axes of his own to grind, and I had nothing to do with him. I did not like

him as a politician when we were democrats together; he ran one schedule rathei',

ami 1 ran another. I regarded Mr. Lincoln's death, and the falling of the Presidency,
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1)V coiiPtitntioTial ])rovisions, into the hands of the—I will not say a dranken tailor,

hilt a iiKiM, in my opinion, wliollv unlit tor any sneh i)osition, as most unibrtunate for

thiseountrv. IJnlortunatelv, Johnson professed to be a friend of tlie South, and

lireame its advocate. It was very natural, perhaps, but it seomed to me that the

Nortli lost si^-lit of the true state of the ease entirely, and nnide a war upon my people

that ou'dit To have been nuide upon Johnson alone. If they had Inoken him of hi.s

ofliee, iir uiy opinion, it would havi^ been ri,i,dit ; at least bhat was luy view of it. and

it is my fcelini;- yet. He betraved the party that put him in power; their mdijiuatum

anainst him was a just one personally, a righteous one; but my people got the punish-

ment that ought to have fallen upon his head.

(jin>^lioii. Do you mean to say that he betrayed the party that elected him when he

followed Mr. Lincoln's policy 'l

Anstcrr. Did lie Inllow his policy?

Question. He did; straiglit as a line.

Aiiswn: \Vell, I do not know about that; I will not say that he did not follow Mr.

Lincoln's policy, for I do not now remember what Mr. Lincoln's policy was. lint let

me tell yon a little occurrence: when he went into the presidential chair he made a

speech in whith he used this remarkalde language, " Treason must be made odious and

traitors imnished." Now, I do not tliink that was President Lincoln's policy. My
iiaitncr, who was a violent secessionist, but as good a man as ever lived in the world,

came into my olfice absolutely white with alarm. Said he, "Have yon read Johnson's

si)ce(h f I .said, " I have." He said, " What does it mean T' I replied somewhat jocu-

larly, " It means that God Almighty saw that Lincoln was too good a man for you tire-

eaters, that raised all this trouble in the country, and he has raised up this drunken

tailor to punish you as you deserve."

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pol.vnd :)

Question. I think all this is hardly according to what we are charged with. We are

directed to incpiire whether the laws were properly enforced, especially the criminal

laws; whether special or unusual crimes are committed by bands of disguised men,

and, if so, how tliey are punished, if punisl^ed at all. We are directed to ascertain the

present condition of the country.

J )it!wer. Upon that subject permit mc to say to yon that we must first understand terms.

Ku-Kluxism is a word used to mean difterent things. As a lawyer, you know that

words are the signs of ideas, and you mu.st be particular in their use. If you mean by
the Ku-Klux Klan thtij; there are' any organized secret clubs, having correspondence

with one anotlier throughout the State, having their signs and pass-words and all that

sort of thing, like the Free Masons and other secret societies, my candid conviction is

that there is no such organization ; I have no idea there is any such—none in the world.

That there is violence in that country occasionally, everybody knows tobetrne; no
man who has any self-respect would deny that there is violence by men in disguise,

and by men having local organizations. I am satisfied that there is one in the adjoining

county to the one in which I reside. But I must say to you, so far as my observation

lias gdne, I do not think that its purposes are evil. While I cannot approbate it, because it

is not the way to ki?ep up good government, still I do not think its purposes were evil or

that they are now ; I have no idea they were. I have reason to believe, without positively

knowiiii; it, that some of the best men in the county either belong to it, or encourage it.

I think t hat t he organization was formed with reference to what they conceived to be an
imminent danger to society. The negro element, yon know, is one thing to a white man
at tiie Soutii and another to a white man at the North, just as ditferent as heaven and
hell. It is ditlicult for us to understand one another upon that subject, or to have a
proi)er concc])tion of the relations which exist there. The men at th<>, Ninth stand olf

awd iiiiilosopliizf with the negro and experiment with him, and all that sort of thing.

The man at the South just simply feels that he may be at any time in danger ; that ex-

periments with the negro are dangerous ; that they may not result in serious danger,
and that they may result in .serious danger. We have had white men down there in

both p.'trties, bad white men b(,'longing to the democratic party, and bad white men
belonging to the radical party. I may say to you, and I speak it honestly, that in my
o]iiiii()n the icpul>lican i)arty North possesses as much intelligence and virtue as the
democratic party ; I am not sure but more, for you outnumber them. But it is not so

down South. The men who uphold radicalism down South, as a rule, are bad men ;

that is my judgment of tJiem ; they are unlit to govern any country in the world;
they are dangerous elements among the negroes. From my heart I sympathizi; with
the negnj; he is ignorant, to some extent confiding, superstitious, and. easily made to

b<>lieve anytliiiig in the world, especially by white men, and more especially by those
white nun who inofess to be his friends. Well, we have felt that there is danger. I

saw men moving among them, from whose conduct I apprehended danger, and a col-

lision between tlie two races. I think, gentlemen, that these local organizations have
Sfirung out of the necessities of the case, or the suppo.sed necessities—out of the belief

that the life of society was, to a greater or a less extent, in danger. I saw a report in
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the papers this morning— I reckon yon have all read it—of the testimony of Major Har-
grove, of my town ; he is my personal friend, and I am his ; he is my client.

By Mr. Beck :

Quefiiiou. What does that paper say about his testimony ?

. Answer. Tlii' paper says :

" Mr. Har<,a()Vfj of (ieorgia, was nest \mt on the stand. He says no intelligent or

candid man in the State will deny the existence of the Klan, or that its purposes wt^e
to practically unllify the working of the acts of Congress by which the right of suf-

frage was conferred upon the negroes. The organization was political, and com-
posed entirely of democrats, and labored solely in the interest of the democratic
party."
Now, I do not believe that, though I do not charge Major Hargrove with swearing to

what he believes to be a lie ; but 1 do not believe one word of it. I am here to say to

you most solemnly, that if there is any oiganization to prevent the negro from exercising

the ballot, it has not come under my observation. If aUybody has ever attempted to

prevent one from voting in my State, or in my county, I have never known it. 1 know
that at the election, shortly alter the ballot was given to him, there was some appre-
hension of a riot. The negroes crowded the polls, and the white men wanted to vote

;

it was a new thing to the white man to see his former slaves at the polls ; but still the
Government said that he must go there. My advice to the white men was to keep
away from the polls, and let the negroes vote first, and in that way they could prevent
a riot ; that if it was insisted that the negroes should vote, let them vote tirst. My remem-
brance is that the white men stood off and never cast a ballot until the colored vote was
safely deposited. I never heard any complaint before that anybody used violence to
keep the colored men from voting. I am astonished at that part of Major Hargrove's
testimony. One of my own slaves came to me not long ago, with two papers, one
given to him by a democrat, and one given to him by a radical, and wanted me to read
them. He said to me, " Massa, these white men bother me about voting; one white
man is after me and then another, and I want you to tell me how to vote." He is a
uudatto of some intelligence, and he had been my carriage driver, but he knew noth-
ing about politics. I said to him, '• Go and vote as- you please, if you vote at all ; but
it is just as well for you to continue at your labor, and let the white men fight it out
among themselves." I do not know what he did. I state before this committee that
I never tried to influence the vote of a colored man in my lite. I say I do not think
he .should be permitted to vote ; not because I have any prej\idice against him, but
because I do not think he is capable of self-government. That opinion is as honest as
I live. I should have the same hostility to the Chinese, if they formed the same
element of power in my State ; I think I should be more opposed to them than I am
to the negroes voting. I am astonished at this statement of Major Hargi-ove's. The
only scene of violence I ever witnessed, or any indication of one in my State, was at au
election not long ago; I do not remember what the election was. I saw some excite-
ment in the streets as I came out of my office, and I inquired what it Avas. I was
told that some negroes were about to mob a negro who had voted the democratic
ticket, (his name was mentioned, but I have forgotten it.) and that the white men
were anuing themselves to defend the negro who had voted the democratic ticket. I
took up the idea, from something said to me, that they did not iutend to let the
negroes know they were going to arm themselves, and be in xireparation to defentl the
attacked negro. I expostulated with my friends, and said if they did such a thing
they should let them know it, for it would probably prevent the assault. I think thej
did let them know it, and it did prevent the assault. From what I have heard
that is the only violence I have ever known. I say now, that my honest couAiction
from my own observation, is, that there, is more hostility exhibited toward a negro by
my republican friends when he votes the democratic ticket, than there is exliibited by
the democrats wlieu he votes the republican ticket. For myself, I was satisfied that
he would vote that way, and sort of calculated that ho would. The radicals solicited
him very strongly to vote with them, and the democrats stood off. Now this Kn-Klux
Klan^ if yon call it by that name, was organized, I think, with reference to wherever
a man was likely to be trouljlesome, white or black, to take him in hand, and let hv.n
know by personal violence, if necessary, even unto death, that the interests of society
cannot be tampered with. I expect yon have had these gentlemen tell before you
only what I have had from rumor, about some violence done to a negro clergyman of the
ISorthern Methodist Church. He seems to have had a sort of mission given him to
preach over in the adjoining county of Chattooga, where these Ku-Klux ai-e. I

never heard the boy preach, and therefore I cannot say, from my personal knowledge,
that anj-thing he saicl was incendiary, or calculated to excite the one race against the
other. But it the truth was told me, his preaching was more of that character than
scriptural or doctrinal. No doubt this Klan took him in hand ; whether they simply
got after him and he ran off, I do not remember; perh.i^'S they got him and whip[)ed.
him. I think that was done under au honest conviction that he was doing mischief.
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and DO good. Well, iioav, the KLiii ciiinc up to witLin two or tbree miles of the city

of Rome not lone; ago ; these disguised men tliat I am talking to you about I have no
doubt they are Organized along the line of Alabama. They eame up not far from
my residence, I am informed : I live ii little out of town. They took a negro man and
Avintc woman, who were living in a state of adultery, and paddled them both, I

suppose, and burned up the cabin.

By Mr. Blair :

QucMion. What was th(> name of that negro?
Atitiwcr. I have heard, but I could not say now,
Qiic-'ilion. Was it Kennedy '!

^iii.swcr. I really cannot say.

(^)i(('slion. 1 asked the question because it has been testified to here that she was a
mulatto woman : tliat in the case of John Kennedy, he was said, by some of tho
witnesses, 1o have ha<l a nuilatto wife.

Answer. This is the lirst time that I ever heard that the woman was a mulatto; I

have uniformly heard that she was a white woman, but I do not know.
(Jiu.stioii. Did the persons who punished them assign as a cause for it that the woman

was too light colored to cohabit with so black a man as he ?

Anawer. I do not think so ; but then, as I have remarked, I never saw her.

Question. She was a white woman 1

Ansiccr. That was my understanding and the understanding of the community in
which I reside. Therefore public sentiment seemed to say, "While Ave do not advise
these things, we cannot say anything about them. We do not care about them, let them
go." Now, further upon the subject of disturbances; in regard to this Methodist
preacher. After the preacher was disturbed in some way, I will not say how, a man by
Tlie name of Eckridge or Ackridge, I have heard the name called both ways, was sup-
jiosed to have been engaged in that deitredation, and we sui)posed that it was after-
wards the cause of his arrest, which I will now proceed to tell you about. I must tell

yon the whole of that, because you ought to know it. There was a new judicial circuit
about to be made, called the Rome circuit, while the legislature was in session some
year ago or so. The democrats had the power to defeat that measure. They wrote up
to my city to know what the lawyers of the city of Rome said about the making of
the Rome circuii. W<' needed it vt'ry much : I think there were a thousand cases on
our docket, and we could not near do the business the way the circuit was organized

;

but we were all very much afraid of the appoiutment of a certain num as judge of tho
m.'W circuit if it should be madc^ He was a man of ability and capacity ; he was
reirarded not so nnicii a dishonest as a tyranical man, an overbearing man. There was
a general idea that he would be a great scourge if he was put on the bench. So we
sent somebody to see Governor Bullock, and ascertain if he would pledge himself to
appoint Jlr. Harvey, now the present jiulge, who was understood to be a republican.
He was a native-born citizen, a (piiet, orderly man, a member of the church, and iiiough
not renowned as a lawyer, we thought he had judgment enough to make a fair judge,
and we believed him to be honest. We said to Governor Bullock, that if he would
appoitit Harvey, tlie democrats would vote for the bill. The governor made the pledge
that Harvey should be appointed, the democrats voted for the bill, and tlie circuit W"as
made: but to our utter astonishment he appointed a man by the name of Kirby, aman
iwibddy had s])okeu of for the othce. Personally, I was very well satisticd with Kirby,.
for he was distantly related to me by marriage, and I regarded him as an honest and
I'aithfnl num.

By the Ciiaiumax, (Mr. Poland :

)

Question. You spoke of some gentleman whose appointment you feared ; was that
Ml'. Kirby ?

ylnsircr. No, sir; I may as well give his name. He was Colonel Daniel S. Printup, a
good hiwyer, and a man of capacity; but we had the idea that he was too overbearing,
and we did not want him. He was from New York, Governor Bullock's State, and we
were told that the governor was carrying on some operations in New York to some
extent with his friends. We were alarmed and afraid that he would api»oint Colonel
Printup, and we could and would have defeated the bill but for the pledge that he
g;!ve us that lie would apjjoint Mr. Harvey. He appointed Judge Kirby; and whila
tliat satislied me personally very well, it dissatistied the community very much.
There was a .sort of idea got out at once that tlu're was some puri)os(»to be answered,
tlie p.eople did not know wnat. Things went on; Kirby was sworn in

; perhaps jire-

sided as judge once or twice. He went down to Atlanta, and then came back, and in
a few days a body of United States soldiers followed him to the county of Chattooga.
Tliat created intense excitement, and the (jiiestion was asked, "What (Iocs that mean ?

^^'lly are these; soldiers sent here?" And public susjiicions fell immediately upon
Kirby, that he had brought them there. They were sent over to (^^hattooga, and were
(liiartered in .Siuumerville, the little county town in Chattooga, and the residence of
Judge Kirby.
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Quesfion. Is that west of Romo ?

Ausu'tr. Yes, sir, and very close to tbe Alabama line ; a liitlc above Rome, aud west
of it.

Qticslioii. Not oil the river?
Answer. A littk' above the Coosa River. Floyd runs to the Coosa River and to tho

Alabama line. Well, of course it was a subject of conversation and nuicli conjecture
as to what was meant by that movement. ISome said that Judge Kirby was afraid of
being Ku-Kluxed ; others that he was afraid of his personal safety, and that troops
were sent there to protect him. Well, the idea occurred to me, and to all thinking
men. that that could not be the object, because he was going about all over the dis-
trict, holding his courts, and the troops did not follow him. It' the Kn-Klux M^anted
to kill him, or any thing of that sort, of course there could have been chances
enough to do it. They were there a few day.s—I do not know how long—Avheu we
Avere shutled with the news that they had gone, hite at night, to Aclu'idge's resi-
dence, arrested him while he was in bed. without informing him of what he was guilty,
carried him up to the court-house jail, aud put him in a dungeon. Well, that ci-eatt1l

very great excitement. I will not say whether I was consulted upon the subject of
bringing him out upon a writ of habeas corpus, or whether it was merely con-
versed about ; but 1 know that I gave it as my opinion that it was useless to
take out any such writ, for the military would not respect it. I know it Avas under-
stood, I do not know how, that the military would not pay any respect to a writ of
habeas corpus, and none was taken out. In a few days we heard that between two and
three hundred men in disguise had gone to Summerville, seized Judge Kirby while in
his bed, took him out and told him that unless Ackridge was released in thirty minutes
they would hang him : that they believed he had brought these troops there ftir the
purpose of arresting people and overawing them, and that they would hang him unless
Ackridge was given up. The Federal officer was seen and talked to, and he told Judge
Kirby that if his life was in danger, he would deliver up the iirisouer. Judge Kirby
told him thiffc he had no doubt that they Avould hang him if this Avas not done. And
the officer turned Ackridge over to these disguised men. I am told, I do not know that
it is true, that they pledged their honor to deliA^er him at any time to the sherift' on
any civil process, Avhen he could be tried before the courts.

Question. What AA^as Ackridge charged Avith ?

Aiisieer. I never knew ; the military never gaA'e a reason for his arrest that I ever
beard of. We simply supposed that it had reference to this marauding upon the Meth-
odist preacher; v.e just simply supposed so ; I judged it was that, for I did not know
anything else.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. You say the arrest of that man under those circumstances caused a great
deal of excitement in the community ?

Ansu'er. It did, A-ery intense excitement.
Question. It has been testihed to here, I Avill not say as a ground of complaint against

you, but that while you opposed the rescue of the man by these disguised men. at the
same time you were A-i^ry bitterly opposed to the imprisonment of the man in the Avay
iu Avhich it AA'as done f

Ansiver. I was.
Question. Those are the facts about that ?

Answer. Yes; I expressed my utter indignation at it before he was rescued, and
without any knowledge that he Avould be rescued, as one of the most lawless acts ever
performed by any government on earth, and I still honestly think so.

Question. At the time of that arrest by the military, was there anything like a re-
quirement Avith the provisions of the fourth article of amendments to the Constitu-
tion of the United States ; was there any Avarrant issued, any affidavit or affirmation,
or any steps required to be taken to put the citizen on his defense!

Answer. A'one that I cA'cr heard of: I do not believe there Avas any ; if there Tvas it

was made to the military authorities aud was unknown to the civil authorities. I am
sure Ackridge and his friends knew not wliat the charge was : they suspected, but it

Avas only suspicion ; he had been a confederate soldier, and had done a great many
acts during the Avar ; but they did not knoAv uy)ou what ground he had been arrested.

Question. About what time Avas that arrest made?
Answer. I have a poor mind for dates.
Question. You can come Avithin a year of it?

Answer. I do not think it Avas more than six or eight mouths ago.
Question. Was it or not after the con.stitution of Georgia was adopted, and after her

legislature Avas iu session ?

.inswer. O, yes, sir.

(Juestion. After her governor had been duly installed, and after she was restored to
the Union cacu according to the forms prescribed by Congress?

.inswer. Certainly it was, according to my understanding; aud that was one reason
why it was such an outrage uxion our feelings.
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QiiC'ition. Do you know upon -\vliat authority General Terry, or any of his soldiers,

AvcVi> arn-slinji "citizens of Georgia at that time without auy charge against them of

liaviiig cotniiiitted auy offense ?

JtiHirrr. I do not; 1 could not imagine.
Qiientioit. Had they been called upon hy the government of the State ; had martial

]a\v been (U'clared ; had the Avrit of ]ial)eas corpus been suspended ; had any county
been declared in insurrection, or had anything been done to warrant any arrest by the

nplitary ? ,

Aiiamr. I do not know that there was
;
perhaps the governor had called upon them

;

I do not know that.

By Mr. Blair:

Question. Do yon say they refused to obey a writ of habeas corpus ?

JmiviT. No. sir^ but there was an understanding that they would not obey it.

Qitestion. None was sued out ?

A)if!iver. None was sued out. I do not remember whether I was actually consi;lted

about suing one out or not. But the understanding was that they would not obey it

if it was sued out.

By Mr. Beck : .

Questloii. Was General Terry pretending, nnder any authority given him l)y the Presi-

dent of the United States, to be authorized to arrest jiersous in Georgia, without giving
anv cause for it, but for anything he pleased, as the military commander of that dis-

trict?

Answer. I did not so understand it. I have reason to know that there was no process
of the court that could not have been executed in the case without the least difdculty.

I am sure that the sheriff could have summoned a dozen gooil and true men to execute
any in his hands if anybody had resisted. I feel the responsibility of what I am swear-
ing, when I say that at the time I looked upon it as a most unmitigated act of military
power, without any pretext or adequate excuse. I felt so; I may have been mistaken,
l)ut that was my honest feeling, and it is so yet. I do not think any justiticatiou can
be made for it.

Qu<;fiiion. Do you know that on the 4tli of January, 1870, an order was issued from
Washington, in the following words

:

" [General Orders No. 1.1

" Headquartees of the Army,
"Adjutant General's Office,

" Washington, January 4, 1870.

" By direction of the President of the United States, so much of General Orders No.
10;>, dated headquarters third military district, (department of Georgia, Florida, and
Alabama,) Atlanta, Georgia "

The Chairm^vn, (Mr. Poland.) Are not all those orders now on record ?

^Ir. Beck. I want to prove that President Grant and General Terry were the original

Ku-Klux in Georgia ; that these acts were done by their authority ; that the President
was acting in violation of law ; that his general was acting in violation of law, and tiiat

they Avere themselves tresspasers and usurpers in the arrests that were made.
The CiiAiRALVN, (Mr. Poland.) So far as the facts are concerned upon which you

base all that, arc they not already upon record? *
Mr. ISi.cK. They arc not upon our record.
The Chairman, (Mr. Poland.) Not upon the record of our committee, but they are

flpon public record.

Mr. Beck. I do not think that one man in ten thousand knows these things; they
just assume that what the President and General Terry did was right, and that who-
ever opposed them were- Ku-Klux and scoundrels. Now, I hold that whoever in time
of peace arrests a citizen in violation of the Constitution, without any charge against
liim, and puts him in j;ul, is himself a violator of the law.
The Chaii;m.\j<, (Mr. Poland.) Is it necessary to ask that of this witness ?

Mr. Beck. 1 think it is, just as much so as it is to ask him about the organization or
uniform or purposes of any Ku-Klux bands that have l)eeu doing wrong.
The Chaii;max, (Mr. Poland.) That is not in any public record here.
Mr. Beck. Neither are these orders in any i)ublic record here; they are merely in a

ij]>eecli made by ajuember of Congress, by myself.
The CiiAimL\N, (IMr. 1'oland.) I made the suggestion with a view to shortening the

inquiry.

Mr. Beck. I want to ask this witness whether these orders
The Chairman, (Mr. Poland.) They are contained in a speech made by yourself in

CtMigresfi ?

Mr. Beck. Thev are.
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The CiiAiRMAX, (Mr. Poland.) Does this witness know more ahout them than
you do ?

Mr. Beck. They have complained of this witness as not being a law-abiding man,
because he condemned the acts of General Terry in arresting those cttizens of his State.

I want to show the facts upon Avhich he did so, that he condemned the acts of the Pres-
ident and of General Terry ; and I want to i)rovo by him that General Terry never
investigated that case. I know where the shoe pinches.
The CiiAiHMAX, (Mr. Poland.) You entirely misapprehend my idea. I do not suppose

that everything else in the world, all the puljlic documents, and all tlie public history of
this country, are to be ignored unless they apjiear in evidence before this couuuittee.
Mr. Bi:CK. Neither do I ; but this is not in any public history.

Mr. Blah;. I do not see how an intelligible imderstanding of the affairs of Georgia
at that tiujecan be had without these documents.
The Chairman, (Mr. Poland.) Well, go on.
Mr. Bkck. General Terry was there for some purpose ; and I want to show that he

was there in violation of the Constitution and laws of the country.
The Chairman, (Mr. Pol^vnd.) 1 sujjpose that everybody who knows anything at all

about public affairs knows that he was there by order of the President ; whether that
order was legal or illegal is a question of opinion entirely about which eacli one of us
can exercise his own judgment, without asking this witness about it.

Mr. Beck. We put in the corresijondence of a newspaper yesterday, to get at the
tone of that particular paper.
The CHAUiJiAN, (Mr. Poland.) Well, we will take up a great deal more time talking

about it than by letting you go on and make all the inquiries you wish ; but I do not
myself see any point in it.

Mr. Beck. I will show the country the point in it before we get through with it.

The Chairman, (Mr. Poland.) You have done so already, if there is any point iji it.

Mr. Beck. On the 2d' of January, 1870, General Terry sent the following telegram to
General Sherman :

' " [Telegram.]

"Atlanta, Georgia, Jamianj 2, 1870.

"General W. T. Sherman,
" Commanding] Annies of the United States

:

" I have assumed command of Georgia as a district. Since my last telegram I have
become convinced th.at my assignment as a district commander was necessary, and I think
I should be clothed with the powers given by the reconstruction acts. I would suggest
that the orders proposed in my report of August 14 be issued. I think that the
knowledge that I have those x^owers would go far to obviate the necessity for their use.

"A. H. TERRY,
"Brevet Major General."

On the 4tli of January, 1870, the following order was issued here :

"[General Orders No. 1.1

" Headqltarters of the Aijmy,
"Adjutant General's Office,

" Washington, January 4, 1870.

"By direction of the President of the United States, so much of General Orders No.
103, dated headquarters third military district, (deijartment of Georgia, Florida, and
Alabama,) Atlanta, Georgia, July 22, 1^68; and so much of General Orders No. 55,

dated headquarters of the Army, Adjutant General's Office, Washington, July 28, 1868,

as refers to the State of Georgia, is hereby countermanded. Brevet Major General
Terry will, until further orders, exercise within that State the iiowers of the com-
mander of a military district, as provided by the act of March 2, 1807, and the acts sup-
plementary thereto, xmder his assignment by General Orders No. 83, dated headquarters
of the Army, Adjutant General's Office, Washington, December 24, 1869.

" My order of General Sherman :

"E. D. TOWNSEND,
"Adjutant General."

On the 12th of January, 1870, General Sherman telegraphed to General Terry as
follows

:

" [Telegram.]

" Headquarter.s of the AR^^r,
" Washington, January 12, 1870.

"General A. H. Terry, Commanding Department of the South, Atlanta, Georgia:

" I answered your dispatch this day, and am assured it was sent. I will sustain you in

the exercise of any authority that will maintain substantial good order until the State

7 a
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of Goorffia is roconjnizcd by tho Executive aiul by Con<Tress. Even then soino lawful
incaiis will l)e tbuiid wheieby we can deleiid our own frientls from tlio Ku-Kiux or band
of assassins. I think the use of our soldiers should be liniittid to maintaining the
peace, while you, personally, are vested witli executive authority over governor and
legislature till the State is fully admitttnl. You, on the spot, must be tho jndge of how
far it is politic or wise to interfere wV.h the component parts of the legislature-elect,

or with their proposed legislation.
" W. T. SHERMAN, General"

By Mr. Beck : >

Question. Now I want to ask whether or not you consider that the atteni])t of the-

President, or his general, to make ai military commander and bis soldi<rs superior ro

the laws and the constitution of Georgia, and all your coiu^ts, was iii itself a gross vio-

lation of every i)rincipleof coustitutional law, and the arrest of that man under it was
also a violation of law?

Anaivcr. Well, I have just stated that I felt as indignant as a man well could feel at

that action of the Government, because I thought it was not only a usni'pation of
power, but it was unjust; ami, to tell the truth, 1 viewed it as the last, extremest act

%of despotism. I know of nothing that could more vitally aflect the citizen than to

permit the military to arrest him without giving him reasons for that iirrest. If there
is anything worse, it has not occurred to my mind. Therefore, 1 b'lt mortified, hurt,

chagrined, indignant, as much as any man conld. I will tell the whole truth. I have
nothing to conceal. When I heard that the Ku-Klux had released the man—Judge
Kirby is my personal friend, related to me by marriage—w-heu I heard that the Ku-
Klux bad released the num, I said that I rejoiced that Judge Kirby had received no
personal injury, but I did not see how it was possiijle ibr me so condemn the act, for

I knew no other way of wa'esting a citizen from the hands of power. I said that in

the honest impulse of my heart ; it may have been imi)roper for m(-. to have said it.

probably it was in our peculiar condition ; bat surely before the war it w-onld not have
been improper to have said it.

Question. Were your courts open at that time ?

Answer. They were ; and if the process of the law had been resisted at any time I

have never heard of it.

Question. Had any public notice been given in any form, indicating that any necessity
existed for a departure^ from the ordinary proceedings in courts oi" justice to bring
men to trial ?

Ansicer. None that ever came under my observation.
Question. There was no public proclamation declaring.those counties, or that particu-

lar county in a state of insurrection or rebellion, or anything of the sort '!

Answer. None that I ever heard of or saw.
Question. Was there anything, in fact, in the attitude of that county that authorized

er retjuired any such extraordinary proceedings on the part of either the President or
his military otiicers ?

AnMeer. Well, I think not.

Question. Do you remember whether during that same time General Terry removed
from his oflice a man by the name of Wetmore, who was an ordinary, 1 believe you call

it, a judge of probate?
Answer. Either jndge of probate or ordinary, he is known as either, and he had both

titles. Well, I could not answer that question; there was so much said about the
arbitrary acts of the military at the time, and so much complaint made of one sort

and another in other sections of the State, that I positively ceased to pay much atten-
tion to it ; I just concluded that it was the <luty of the people to submit to it, no matter
what it was, that we would have to submit to it. Therefore I could not say what hap-
pened out of my immediate section.

Question. Did or not those illegal acts of usurpation, on the ])art of the military
power, convince your jjeople that they were outside the ordinary pale of the law to a
great extent, as it was administered to other people and in other States, and that they
were the victims of vengeance ?

Answer. Well, sir; I have felt, and I have felt honestly, that the white race at tho
South were pretty much without a friend or protector in the world. Whether tliat

was a just sentiment or not, it was an honest one.

By Mr. Blair : •

Question. There have been some statements made here by witnesses with reference to
the case of a man arrested near Rome for an outrage upon Jourdan Ware. Have you
any recollection of the circumstances of that particular case ?

Answer. Perhaps if some of tho circumstances of the case were told me I might re-

call it. We pay very little attention to negroes' names down there ; we know them as

Jiob, Tom, Harry, and all that sort of thing. Very many have changed their names to

buit their own notion, and, therefore, we pay very little attention to names.
Question. I think the statement of the outrage was something of this kind; that
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party of men went to bis house, or place of lesideiue. and pictendecl toLe Federal sol-

diern, and asked him to accouqiaiiy them to kill some Kii-Khix.

Ansirer. 1 remember tlie ease now
;
you have the \\ rou;f name. I think that was tho

negro that was killed at Foster's, as it was called ; 1 thiuk that was the Foster negro,

unless I have got the name wrong. I renieniher that eireumstauce, and 1 can give

what knowledge I have of it, and how J derived it, if you desire. Professionally, 1

might refuse to do so, though I have no disposition to do so, and do not think it would
luirt my client now. This negro was killetl ; whatever his nauK,' was it is innuaterial

;

I do not remember it, though 1 iutve heard it. A young man who went with that crowd,
and was engaged in that operation, came to see me as a lawyer, to kuow what I thought
it best in the premises for him to do ; whether I could ac(juit him or not. I told him as

usual, "Tell me now everything that occurred; I want to know all aVjout it, and then
I can tell you what 1 think is best for you." 1 am uot sure whether he said his father

sent him to me, or whether he came himself. His father is my client, and he may have
said that his father sent him. I know his father furnished me the money to buy a
ticket for him on the railroad, which I did for him afterward. I told him to tell me
the whole truth about it. He said :

" We were not the regular Kti-KIux, we were some
boys (or young men) who bad heard that this negro had been making threats about tho
Ku-Klus." That was tho idea ; and he went on to say that they got together and con-

cluded to take him out upon their own hook and bring him to a reckoning. That boy
was under twenty-one years of age ; 1 think al)out nineteen years of age. I think be
told me that for the purpose of ascertaining how far it was the truth, what the old

negro had said, they seut in to bim pretending to be Northern men ; I do uot think be
said Northern soldiers, but pretending to be Northern men. They expressed sym-
pathy for the condition of the negroes down there, commented upon these Ku-Klux
outrages, &c., and said that they bad come there for the purpose of forming a Ku-Klux
organization themselves to Ku-Klux the Ku-Klux, and they wanted to know if be
would help and aid them. He said that the negro gave most hearty assent, and ex-

pressed bis anxiety upon the subject to have it done. 1 thiuk he told me that the
negro gave them the names of other negroes who would go with him and make a raid,

and gave bim the names of the men to be Kii-Kluxed. I am uot sure, but 1 think bo
told me his father's name was ou the list of the men to be Ku-Kluxed. They started

with the negro, going a little way out, I am not sure how far; but they started with
bim on the expedition, and after they got bim out a little way they just commenced
tiring upon him, or stabbing him, I do not remember which ; anyhow be said they
killed him. Tluit was bis case, and be wanted to kno^^^ whether I thought I could de-

fend him successfully. I told him that I did uot think I could ; that my honest opin-

ion was that be would be convicted ; that while the negro exhibited a bad temper or

disposition, and all that sort of thing, he had some cause for it ; that they had rather

decoyed him into the matter; that be was a poor, weak, suiierstitious creature, ready
to listen to anybody who pretended to be bis friend ; that it was cruel to make those

representations to him, and my opinion w'as that the community would so regard it.

Said I, "If you will take my advice you will leave the country and get away from
here." He took my advice ; bis father seut word where I could get some money, and
I bought bim a ticket and some clothes, and put bim ou board the railroad.

Qitesiioii. He made bis escape ?

AiisHcr. 1 presume so ; I have never beard of bim since in that country, and I do not
expect to ; I told bim that I thought he had better stay away. That advice was given
to bim honestly and tVutbfnlly ; 1 thought it was the best thing he could do.

Qitestwn. Some of the witnesses from your State have testitied that certain men in

Georgia, naming them, prominent men, could by a word put down all this Ku-Kluxiug,
or all these unlawful proceedings ; and among others they have named Mr. Toombs,
Mr. Alexander H. Ste])beus, and I believe your own name has been given also. The
inference was that you luul not exerted any iutluence to put down this thing, and that
if you would exert your iutluence, it could be done.
Answer. I do uot believe that is the truth. In the first place I do not believe we

could lircvcnt these outbreaks of violence occasionally, because while there are some
things done that are wrong, like the killing of this negro, for instance, and which I

utterly condemn; I sympathized' with that poor creature, for it was the almost inev-

itable result of the decoy laid lor bim—yet, as a rule, I tell you that the purposes of

these men are not bad ; however wrong their actions may be their purposes are not
bad ; it is to conserve what they take to be the life of society. I do not think there is

any power in the world to prevent that; where they think the life of society is seri-

ously eudaugered, they will help themselves the best way they can ; I do uot think a
million of troops would preAent it. It is just as it would be in your country ; if you
thought the life of society w;xs seriouslj' endangered, you could not wait, you v.ould

not wait, to kuow whether the Government would laelp you. I do not think they
would pay any attention to Mr. Toombs, Mr. Stephens, or myself. I have u(;ver advised
the formation of one of these secret ordt'rs. I even took my demit from the masons,
because I wa.^ opposed, upon calm reliection, to all secret organizations. 1 fought
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kuo\v-notliiii<;i.siii fioiu the word '• go," with all the power I bad in the world, because

it wa^< a seeiet organization. I never favored one, never at any time. Masonry is dif-

ferent from political organizations, bnt still, bceanso it was secret, I thought it better

to take my demit. I have not been in a lodge for twenty years, and I have forgotten

all abont it. I never countenanced, encouraged, «r favored any secret organization.

If I could, to-day, by a word, I would disband every one of them, and tell my country-

men to submit to tlieir fate; it is a terri))!e one, and it is pretty diltirult for a man to

contemplate it. And besides, how can the Government ask me to stand out as their

cham]iion in any regard, when 1 am denied the right of citizenship f I have not tho

ch.ince of a white man; I have not the chance of a negro ; I could not be bailiff to

my own slave, if lus was put into a magistrate's office, as former slaves sometimes are.

Th(!y ask mo to bo loyal to a Government that treats me in that way. I say, not so

;

YOU would know that I litnl deliberately if I was to say so, or that I was not worthy
of vour respect. God nnist make me over again before I can be loyal to a Government
whose blessings I do not feel ; when I only know its hand of power, it is impossible

for me to have affection for it. Whether that relates to the organization of the Gov-
er-'ment or to the administration of the Government you might make a distinction

there; perhaps it is the adniiuistration of tho Government. I am a republican, every

inch of me ; I am in favor of the rule of the people, and 1 am in favor of the rule of the

white race. I do not believe there is any people on the face of the globe, and I know
I am saying it under oath, that is capable of self-government but the white race

; and
I believe very few nationalities of them are capable of self-government. I have no

idea that the people of France are ; I do not believe the republic of France will live

ninety days. If there is any people on earth that could maintain a republican govern-

ment,' bbsides ours, in my opinion it would be the Germans ; they, possibly, might do

it, but they have no chance ; King William has got them in his hand and is likely to

keep them there. But the idea that the black man is capalde of self-government-

Low can I believe it? The history of his race for thousands of years, and his tj'pe oi

civilization now—I do not know, it seems to me so, I may bo wrong—but look at him
now, just out of slavery. Congress gives its judgment in favor of him, for it gives

bim the ballot ; and it cannot require a higher type of civilization when he receives

the ballot; that is the privilege of the highest type of civilization. I want it to go
out to the country, under oath, that I oi)posed that because I believe the negro is inca-

pable of self-government, not on account of any prejudice against his race.

Question. Is there any hostility among the ]ieople of your State to the form of oui

Government, a republican form of government '1

Answer. None on earth.

Question. Have yon ever heard of any one in the State in which you live who was
opposed to that form of government, any one among the white race ?

Ansxccr. I never did.

Question. Their antagonism is simply, then, to the measures of the administration ?

Ansuer. Yes. sir; as they operate upon the people of tht^ South. Now, understand
me, this is political, and perhaps, I should not say so. I have no particular hostility

to General Grant's administration generally ; I thiidc he deserves well of th(^ country

for his administration of the tinauces ; I think it has been admirable ; I think he
deserves credit of the country for it, I do sincerely. AthI it was a hereditary doctrine

of the democratic party the accpiisition of territory. Now, I suppose the democrats
will j>ut right straight in for the acquisition of San Domingo. And every impulse of

my soul was in favor of the President on that question ; bnt I did not open my mouth,
because my people did not go for it. But I cannot help regarding him as the implaca-

ble and powerful enemy of my peopk\ It does seem to me that every act of his

administration, as a rule, has been against the white men of the South. Well, I am
not astonished at it ; he fought ^ls for years, he regarded the rebels as striking at the
life of the country. Tho astonishment with me is that he never forgets and forgives.

You know that in the parable in scriptun?, when the father saw his prodigal son com-
ing back, he ran to meet him, and fell ujion his neck and wept. They do not do that
with tlie South ; there is no weeping on their pait, it is all on ours. All I desire on
the face of the earth is good government. I have no ])r(.'judice against a Northern
man ; my people sometimes call me a Yankee ; I was beaten most shauK-fully in my own
county of Floyd, after the war was over, Ijecause I was considered too much of a Yan-
kee. Jiut 1 tell you that 1 am bound to stand by my countiy and my people ; and \i

we cannot come into tiie Union as one of tho States of the Union, with all the rights

of a State, I do not want to come in at all.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. What would be the effect upon your people of a general I'cmoval of disabili-

ties ?

Answer. I was ju.st going to speak about that. I know for myself that it would re-

move one great obstacle to my reconciliation in feeling. How can I feel kind towards

a government, as I remarked a moment ago, that dots not give me the rights of citizen-

ship, and does not promise to do it ; and that, too, when I think I never should have
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boen disfranchised ? Let me say auotber word to yoii ; I baTc Mr. Lincoln's pardon in

my trunk, signed before tlie war was over, in the- fall of 186A. It Avas upon his own
miatiou; he voluntarily offered me a pardon. Said he, " D(m't you think you will

need a pardon if you break down '!" I said I thouj^ht I would. "Well," said he, " I

think yon deserve one,"' and he gave it to nie; it was wholly unsolicited. I have a
pardon signed by him, and it is laid away in my trunk ; but I suppose it is of no use

Tiuder the action of Congress.

By Mr. Blair:

Question. The question that I asked you at the beginning of this examination was
only partially answered. It was as to the security of life and ])roperty in your State,

and the execution of the laws there; the condition of the State in regard to those

things.

Ansurr. The laws are as well executed, that is, with as little obstruction and op]io-

sition, as they ever were in my State ; there is no doubt about that. The law is not
as ably executed ; men are upon the bench whom we never knew before as lawyers;
but they were almost forced upon the country by the circumstances. In the formation
of our constitution, they took away from the people the right to elect judges, aiid gave
the apjtointment of them to the governor. Ho exercised that right according to his

own schedule, and gave us meu who never expected to be judges, some of them. I do
not think anybody will say that they are learned in the law, or great jurists, or anything
of that kind'. Therefore,'l do not think the law as aldy executed as it has been. But
I think it can be as certainly executed, according to the judgment of those gentlemen
on the bench, as it ever was ; I know of no resistance to tke process of the courts ; I

never heard of any resistance to a sheriff in the exercise of his duties.

Question. After men have been convicted, is there any great complaint in the State

concerning the pardons of the governor?
Answtr. Oh heavens! it is hardly necessary for this committee to ask me such a

question as that. Our statistics show that our governor has issued between three

hundred and lour hnntlred pardons.
.

Question. Within what period?
Answer. Since he has been governor, and he has been governor, I believe, only two

years and a half. I do not think the like has been kuow^u in the history of any gov-
ernment-. I do not think there ever was a people on earth cursed with any such ruler

as Georgia is with her governor. I say it with all respect to you ; but here is Angier,

who will testify before you. He is a northern man, and an honest man. God Almighty
does not make honest meu by pai-allels of latitude. He is in controversy with his ov/n

goveraor; and yet both of them are radicals. Now, why is it? It is because Bullock
is trying to plunder the State, and it seems to me that he thinks a government is

nothing but a uuichine with which to plunder other people. Angier stood therein the

treasury, like a lion at bay, and resisted him. The result is that the governor sets him
at defiance ; he issues his bonds without the signature of the treasurer. He issued

some bonds and had the name of the treasurer engraved upon them without his con-

sent, and proposed to init them upon the market. Angier told him that if he did ft he
would have him indicted for forgery, and he did not issue them. But he issued other

bonds, with the comptroller's name on them ; at least so I am told, and I have no doubt
of it. I could not give you th(i details of all his acts. I declare that it is my honest
conviction that if the people of Massachusetts Avere to discover that their governor had
robbed their treasury to the extent that I think the records show tljat Governor Bul-

lock has the treasury of Georgia, the "solid mej| of Boston" would hang him in forty-

ei'ght hours. I know how staid their habits; but there are certain things 1 do not

think they would submit to, that we do.

Question. Were the criminals pardoned by the governor convicted of crimes of the

highest class?
Answer. I think there were some eighteen or twenty of them who were murderers,

that is my remembrance. I think a largo portion of tbem had been convicted of the

highest offenses known to the law.
Question. Did this course of his make the people feel insecure?

Answer. Why, I have heard it said again and again, "hang him," or, "kill him, for

if you don't Bullock will pardon him after you have sent him to the penitentiary."

I will give you a case. Week before last, or perhaps a week before that, a negro

knocked a w'hite num off his horse, about four miles from the city of Eome, at 11

o'clock in the day-tiuie, and within a quarter of a mile of a house, and robbed him of

all his money ; and the man has since died. They pursued him two or three days before

they caught him. Now, myself and others sent word (I did, and I think others did)

to those men in pursuit, and charged them whatever they did not to execute the man,
but to bring him in and put him in jail, and let the law take its course. And the
rejdy of some of them was—I will not say who it was or how I got it

—
" Wliy, what use

is there in that? Don't you suppose that Governor Bullock will pardon hint if ho

Bees any interest in it?" But notwithstanding all that, I protested that they should
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briuji him back, iviid they did T)ring bim back and put iiim iu jail, aud be is tbere now
await iiiji; bis trial in the" ordinary course of events. Now I thought that a very great

act of forbearance.
Quaiiion. The eft'ect of this great latitude of the governor in granting ])ardon3 ia to

iuduee the ]»eople in many in,-t:uiees to take the law into their own hands I

Am^ictr. Tiiat is the nec^essary result.

Qiiemio)!. For fear that the greatest criminals will go unpunished, by reason of the

clemency of the governor, as shown by his liberal use of the i)ardoning i>ower?

Answer. Ytjs, sir. It is my duty to give a case that came within my own knowledge.

A man by the name of .John Long, one of the most des])erate charaitters of the war,

living along upon t!ie line of tiei)rgia, Tennessee, and Alabama, making his excursions

along there ; since the war, a year or two ago, I cannot give the exact date, but since

the i)nblic tribunals were opened, he rode up in the day-tim(> to the house of the clerk

of the superior c(mrt of Callioun County, called him out, and asked him the way to

some place. After the clerk had told him, or while ho was telling him, he pulled out

his ])istol, and deliberately shot a bullet-hole through him. The reason given why he
did so yfiis that the clerk had aided tlu' authorities in getting a horse away from him
that they thought he had not got legally ; perhaps the clerk had been i)retty active in

that operation. He just shot him down iu cold blood. Application was made to me to

defend him. That was iu the county of Calhoun, aud I live in the county of Floyd. I

told his friends who made the application that I should charge them a thousand dollars

to defeud him, aud would not do it for less, but that I would defend him for that sum
to the extent of my ability. They x>roposed to see ine again, aud they did some time
afterward, and coniphiiued of the amount of the fee I charged. To make a long story

short, we disagreed. I occasionally incpiired who his counsel was, supposing that he
had employed ,«ouie other counsel at a less sum. I heard that a young man, compara-
tively of very little note, certainly of not nnich ability as a lawyer, had been employed
to defeud him. I asked the question if he was goiug to risk his life in the hands of

that couu.sel. I did not care about his not employing me, but I thought he should have
able counsel, for it was a very bad case. He went to tri:d, was tried, e<mvicted, aud
sentenced to be hung, without any hesitation on the part of th<i jury. But iu a short

time afterwards Governor Ihillock pardoned him. It was very plain then to all of us
why he went to trial so securely, with a young lawyer of very little experience. We
begau to think he uudcrstood the ropes better than we did. I regarded that then as

an outrage ujion public justice, and I do yet, an unmitigated, terrible outrage.

Question. What do you know, if anythiug, about the rewards that the governor has
oftered for the apprehension of oue class of criminals, while he is so lenient to others 1

Answer. My remembrance is that iu the two and a half years he has been governor
of Georgia,,he has olfered aud i)aid out of the treasury tiity and some odd thousand
dolhu's, iu rewards ; and my remeniljrance is that in that two and a half years he has paid
some $36,000 lawyers' fees, or iiurports to have done so ; my remembrance is that he
lias paid for publishiug proclamations of one sort aud another that he has i)ut out

—

soii\e of them are the strangest .surely that ever went into a public newsfjaper ; but
never mind about that—I think he has paid out about Jt;98,000. I think he has used
between $400,000 and $500,000 as a contingent fund, without returning the specilic

contingencies, so far as the authorities know ; whereas, as my remembrance now is,

for some four or live years of the other governors, the "^vhole contingent expenses
were oulj' a few thousand dollars, each item specitied. While we are on that subject
let me say that we are in trouble as no jieople ever were bofoi'e perhaps. He has
issued two and a half milllions of dollars of bonds, if I mistake not, on the Brunswick
and Albany Railroad. I am told tiiat his uuin Friday, as we call him down there, Kim-
ball, who came from Maine—and I .see his brother is the denmcratic candidate for gov-
ernor there in Maine, and, therefore, democrats may not like me to talk about the
family in that way—I am told that Kimball is the only stockholder iu Georgia in
that road. Bullock does not own anything at all that I know of. It is understood in
Georgia that whenever you see Kimball's tracks you see Bullock's tracks. He came
there bankrui)t ; but he has built a hotel there which, according to the estimates I

have heard, with all the furniture in it, is worth lunirly a million of dollars. He owjis
the Ciirtersville Railroad, sonn; twenty-tive n)iles long. I make the statement because
it is universally understood ; I do not think it is deni(;d by his friends. Governor Bul-
lock was authorized by an act of the legislature to issue gold interest-bearing bonds
euougli, not to exceed six millions of dollars, to take up the old bonds of the State sis

they fell due. I think the old bonds of the State falling due this year were, ])erhaps,
%-M),(m); that is my remembrance. He has issued the whole $li,000,000 of bonds,
and re(|uired the tii^asnrer to sign them, which he refused to do. But he has got monej'
for them in some way or other ; so we are informed. What he wants of it I do not
know

; what he intends to do with it I do not know. But surely between $100,000 and
$'200,OOO W(!re (enough to have bad engraved for the redem])tion of the bonds that are
due this year. I think the conii)laiut was that Iu; was obliged to issue some bonds to

keexi up with the expenditures of the State. Now, that is not true, for by examiuatiou
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to llie treasurer of the State you will find that accordinj; to all the showiugs the

reveuue is ample to jjay the interest nixui llie bonds due, and to take up the bonds
falling due now, if necessary. That might have been done with a part of these six

millions. But to pay the ordinary expenses of the government, putting it at half a

million of dollars, which is $175,000 more than it was for the last five or six j'ears before

the war, if 1 remember correctly, our revenue now is about $1,200,000, from taxes and
from all sources. We have an ad valorem tax upon the value of property, iind then we
have a special tax upon liquors, shows, lawyers, and jackasses ; as I tell them, they

t!;enerally put them together. Ihit the whole revenue amounts to $1,200,000, and
"then we" are entitled to a reut:il from the State road of $o00.000 ; but by law .$150,000

of that rental is to go to the free schot)l fund. But talcing that out, and you still have
left nearly one and a half million of dollars in the treasury subject to orders. Now,
putting the expenditures at half a million dollars, and surely that is large enough

;

putting the interest upon the public debt to accrne this year, which is a little above
$400,000

;
putting down bonds that are to be redeemed—and we have a clear surplus in

the treasury.

Question. Before the war the condition of your State was very sound?
Anstver. It was sound as a mackerel.
Question. The State was not in debt ?

Answer. Not to hurt ; it had a little debt ; it has the most splendid ]iublie work in the

South; of all the blundering ever seen, I think that about that puldic work takes the

lead ; Bullock called his right-hand man Friday down there and put him in the railroad,

with Mr. Burnett, who has been before you here ; and I suppose each of them knows
as much about the ruuuiug of a railroad as the learned pig Ben does about mathematics

;

but that does not make any ditTerence; if they had been honest and faithful men they

could have called in those to help them who did know about it ; before the war that

railroad paid $600,000 a year over and above expenses.

Question. What is the name of that railroad ?

Answer. The Western and Atlantic Eallroad, connecting with the Chattanooga and
Atlanta Railroad ; if you will take the map and look at it, you will see that there is a

.convergence of Avesteru and northern railroads at Chattanooga, and of eastern and
Boutheru railroads at Atlanta, and this link is the connecting link between those con-

verging lines.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. How many miles long is it ; 138 ?

Answer. I think it is about that; I was going to say over a hundred.
Question. And owned by the State?
Answer. Owned by the State; every dollar paid out of the treasury of the State ; they

took charge of it, and the first month, if I remember correctly, they paid in $25,000 ;

the second month they paid in $20,000 , and from that day to this they have never jiaid in

one solitary quarter of a dollar.

Question. For what length of time ?

Answer. I do not remember the precise time, it is going on two years.

By Mr. Bl.\ir :

Question. One would sirppose that he would hardly have occasion to borrow money!
Ansiver. None in the world.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Had not Campbell Wallace, the former superintendent of the road, been
paying from $25,000 to $40,000 a mouth up to the time Blodgett took possession of the

road ?

Answei: I know he was paying something into the treasury, I wiU not state the

amount ; I know he had the confidence of the people ; he was regarded as a taithful,

honest man ; I know he paid into the treasury, but I will not state the amount, because

I have not the data before me, and I have not scrutinized them for some time, as I havo
the accounts of Blodgett ; the peoi)le have been compelled to look at th-jm, and try t«

stop them if ]>ossible.

Question. Has not the business of the road, both of freight and travel, increased dur-

ing the administration of Blodgett ?

Answer. Immensely. Governor Brown the other day, trying to vindicate the small

ncss of his rental, and giving the figures, admitted that the income for the month o,

March was $128,000. Now, if you will Jake that and nmltiply it, I think you will finu

that the income for a year will be over one and a half millions of dollars.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. You say Governor Brown ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he now has it under a re-lease ; a fraud on the part «f democrat...

and radicals.
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By Mr. I3i:ck

Qitc'ition. Bloil^ett i);u<l nothing info the treasury after tbc first two months?
Anviccr. 1 have been informed so by the treasurer, aud those who examined the

record.

(j>H('.s/iOH. And the freight and travel on that road have increased iu the meantime?
Answer. Innucnsely ; that is not denied by anybody.
Question. Were not three roads running from Athiuta south aud east in connection

with this main trunlv ; the Macon and Atlanta Railroad, about one hundred and twelve
mih's long 1

Anmccr. Yes, sir.

Question. Was not that during the time paying a dividend of 12 per cent. ?

Answer. A very line dividend ; much over legal interest.

Question. Was there not a railroad running from Atlanta to Augusta, paying from 8

to lU per cent, dividwnd ?

Answer. It was paying above legal interest; it was good stock; the stock was at

I)ar.

Question. Was there not still another road known as the Atlanta aud West Point
Railroad ?

Answer. Yea, sir; or the Lagrange Railroad.

Question. That road is eighty-seven miles long ?

Answer. Y^es, sir.

Question. Had not that road paid a dividend 1

Answer. It was doing well.

Question. Did not the business of these roads all converge into this main trunk as

well as the net -work of roads converging from Chattanooga south ?

Ansivtr. They did.

Question, is it not the fact that a floating debt of |)700,000 has accumulated ou that
road iu the meantime ?

Answer. The treasurer reported some time ago that ho had paid some four hundred
and odd thousand dollars of the debt of the road, and he had no knowledge of the
debts behind

;
perhaps those, with the debts that have been liquidated, amount to

about $700,000 ; but where it will stop nobody knows.
Question. Aud in less than two years, under the administration of Bullock aud Blod-

gett, a first-class paying road has been reduced so that it pays nothing, with a debt
of $700,000 incurred ui)ou it ?

Aiiswer. Yes, sir; aud its engines and track and running stock run down.
Question. With freight aud travel largely increased ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And under that state of facts was it not confidently believed by the people
of Georgia that they had been robbed by their governor ?

Answer. By heavens ! gentlemen, we know it.

Question. And is it not a fact that a body of men, composed in part of Georgians, and
a portion of them being Columbus Delano, Secretary of the Interior ; Simon Cameron,
a Senatorfrom Peuusylvauia ; and Mr. Scott, vice-president of a Pennsylvania railroad,

while your road was in that broken down condition, obtained a lease of it for twentj-
years, from your legislature, at .$25,000 a month ?

Ansiver. They did.

Question. Is not that believed to bo far below the true value of the road, except that
the people were glad to get anything, in order to get rid of the robbery that wtis go-
ing on before 1

Answer. That reconciled the people to the lease. Before they got nothing, aud the
debt was accnnuilating. Governor Brown is the head of the company, the only man
who perhaps before the war was guilty of treason, for he captured the public property
before Geoigia seceded, and was perhaps tho bitterest man, during the Avar, to Union
men, of whom I was one ; and now I am denounced everywhere by that same class of
men, who come here and get forgiveness from the Government ; I am denounced as
disloyal to the Government I tried to save, because I did not stand there and see them
plunder our Government.

Question. Those men got your road under those circumstances ?

Answer. They did.

Question. Aud it is believed by your people to be a combination, and while better
than the Blodgett one, still a fraud upon the people ?

Answer. Well, they do regard it as a terrible fraud.
Question. Are not one and a half shares in the name of Kimball, and one and a half

shares in the name of Joe Brown ?

Answer. I n)ay have seen the schedule, but I cannot tell now.
Question. Was it not understood that the half shares were held by the governor?
Ansiver. It is understood that Bullock is one of the lessors of the road.
Question. There are some eighteen or twenty of them ?
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Ansicei: Yes, sir. But his uame is not there osteusibly as a lessor, though I have no
doubt of it.

(Juestion. Do not the people of the State of Georjj;ia, taking into consider.ition the
corruptions of the government, its mal-administration, the wrongful exercise of the
pardoning power by the governor, the robbery of the finances of the State, and its

indebtedness, do not the people feel themselves plundered by the men wlio ought to
protect them ?

Answer. Tliey do.
Qucfilion. And is there not great discontent prevailing all over the State, growing

out of tliat system of administration, wliich, if it was removed, and the State put into
the hands of honest men, would reconcile your peojde ?

Answer. I do not doubt it. I think if ever a people on the earth prayed for good
government, it was the South. Why should we not pray for it f Our cities were
bui'ned, our slaves were emancipated, our stock was destroyed, and we needed good
government for our own recuperation. We need the blessings of power, not its curses.

(^iic'ition. Is it believed by the jieople of Georgia that that road is worth from $50,000
to $7.5,000 a month, with any fair management ?

Answer. Let me answer that question by a iigure or two. Governor Brown , in trying to
excuse himself about the meanness of the pittance paid into the treasury, jiut down the
gi'oss income for the mouth of March at $128,000. He put down the common running
expenses of the month, if I remember correctly, at $124,000, in order to make the thing
plausible ; in that, perhaps, he included the rental. You see that made a very plausi-
ble showing, and by it the profits were very small. I wrote to a friend at Atlanta to
employ some man to get into the record—it is diliicult to get information about these
things—to get into the record without knowledge of wliat he was at, and send me the
running expenses of t,he road under Wallace's administration, when Joe Brown was
governor of Georgia before the war. He did this from the record, and I afterwards
published it in our State papers. According to that record the rimning expenses of tlie

road were a little over $30,000. In order to deceive the people Brown had ])Ut in his
ordinary expenses the purchases and refitting of the road, and everything of that sort,

for which he is to be paid by the State ; every improvement made on the road is not
out of his own pocket, but is paid by the State. You know that in ancient times we had
in Georgia what was known as the Yazoo frauds, the legislature granting away lands

;

the people of the mountains of Georgia poured down by the huudreds, and with a glass,

by fire from the sun, burned up the deed of conveyance by which those lands were
given away. If they were justified in that, I think we would be in burning up this
lease.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Is it believed that this lease was made to these potential men in the Gov-
ernment here with any view to their using their inllueuco to sustain Bullock and his
people in power in Georgia ?

Ansiver. Well, sir, we could not help having those suspicions. To say that we know
it would perhaps be too sti'ong language

;
you can see it as well as we can.

Question. They are directly interested in maintaining Bullock in power?
Answer. It seems to us so, and they have influence at headquarters. I sometimes pity

General Grant, for I suppose that he has an honest heart, and a desire to do all a man
can for the people. But he is so beset by men who have projects of their own, rings of
that sort, that he cannot get tlie truth, never does get it. I know how it is with men
in power.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. I desire to ask you a very few questions, and only a very few, upon a very
few of the subjects that you have talked about, because they are entirely outside of our
inquiry ; and I want direct answers to my questions. About this Ku-Klux organiza-
tion ; when do you think it was first started ?

Ansiver. Well, that is a very hard question to answer ; there have been some little

violations of the law and depredations all along ever since the war.
Question. Wlien did these bauds of men that go about in disguise to commit these

acts of violence—when did they first make their appeai'ance in your part of Georgia ?

A^iswer. I suppose it has not been over about eighteen months since I first had
knowledge of or believed there was an organization of that sort, a local organization.

Question. How local do you think those organizations are ; is there an organization
which extends through a county, or some smaller territory than a county, do you
think ?

Answer. I think the largest one in my own State, anywhere across the Chattahoochee,
I think that the largest is the one along the line in the county of Chattooga ; I think
there are more men iu that one.

Question. Do yoa think that is an organization that extends through the entire

county ?
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AnsHCV. I think it (Iocs ; I lliiiilc tlwro arc men in it that live in the oonuiy of Chat-

tooo'a, sonic, jx'iliaiis in Wallccr (Jonnty, and a ,t,n-cat many alonp,' down just across the

lino'of Ahihaiiia, for the State lino runs ah)no- (hronsh there ; I think there are some iu

Walker County, some in Chattooga, and some in Ahil)auia. I think there are a few in

the county ori''h)y(l. aU)ng about th(,> line between Floyd iiud Chattoojjja.

r)/*(.s7(0)i. ] )o yo'u believe this is one; orj^anization, or several orj^anizations ?

Jiisiirr. 1 Ihiiik it is one oroanization ; that is, I think they have among themselves

a <'cneral understanding that'upon notice they are to convene.

l)iusli(»i. U I Tinderstand your idea, and I wish to uuderstaud it exactly

Aiimcir. 1 want you to understand that I do not know this to be so, but I really

believe it to be so, and I am bound to tell the truth.

Question, I am only asking your judgment; I do uot understand that you have per-

sonal knowledge of this organization.

Answer. I certainly do not belong to it, and know nothing personally about it.

Qiicslion. Your idea, of the formation of this is th.at it was iu the interest of peace and
order, and to ri'piess any disturbance that might arise among the colored people?

.insurr. That is my honest, candid conviction. I have conversed with men who I

believed were leading men in it ; I do uot know that they are so, but I am sure from

those conversations and the indications that that was the original object.

Question. Ihit it was maiuly with referouce to the condition of the colored people in

your couunnnity ?

Anstier. Yes, sir; I would say mainly, but also with reference to the whites; it has

fre(iueutlv fallen in its ])ower upon the whites.

QiwMioii. Well, if there had been no colored people there, you do uot suppose it

would have been formed at all '?

An,swer. No, sir; because the dangerous element in society would uot have been there

to that extent.
Quention. Y'ou are fearful of outbreaks and acts of violence among the colored people ?

AnNirer. Not so much that.

Question. You say that you feared the influence of some bad white people upon the

colored people?
Avsiver. Y'es, sir.

Question. And the outbreaks that w^ere feared were outbreaks among the colored

people?
Answer. Yes, sir; exciting the colored people to violence, to burnings, sometimes to

killings, and things of that sort. Y'ou see there has been a great deal of property that

has been burned, and we do not know who burned it. We suppose it is the blacks

who have been i)ut up to do it, but we do uot know it is so. Occasionally a man was
killed, as iu the case the other day ; but then we run that mau down and know that

he was a negro.

Question. That was an ordinary case of robbery and murder?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The act you speak of as occurring the other day, where a negro killed a
man iu the road and robbed him, was for the sake of gain, like ordinary robberies?

Ansiver. Y'es, sir.

Question. It is not supposed that he was put up to that by any white man ?

Answer. No, sir; we do not know of any. Now, I thiuk the object of this Ku-Klux
organizatiou would probably have been to execute summarily any white man that

might have been identiiied with that
;
perhaps the negro also. I think that wonld

come within the purview of their operations; but that was not done in that case, and
he is now in the hands of the law.

Question. Has there ever been any difficulty in your country, where a colored man
committed a crinu!, in prosecuting him aud convicting him?

Answer. None, I thiuk ; they have been sometimes too easily convicted, I have
thought.

Question. Your idea was that this organization was to prevent the commission of
crinu! 1

Answer. That was the view I had of it.

Question. Do you thiidc this organization has ever gone beyond this limit of preserv-

ing peace and order ? Has it ever been guilty of outrages and acts of violence for

which there was really no excuse at all ?

Answer. In my opinion they have been the cause of it ; for instance, this young man
I told you about ; without the wiser heads they committed an act of outrage in killing

thiit negro, which was wholly unjustifiable.

Question. You say that you understand in that case, your client told you, that they
were not a part of the regular organizatiou ?

Answer. He said that they were not the regular Ku-Klux. I think his remark was,
" W<^ were our own Ku-Klux," or something of that sort.

Question. Whether they were members of the regular organization or not j'ou do not

know ?
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Jnswcr. I do uot know ; they possibly might have been.

(^>iii:siio)i. Do you uot believe that this regular organization or portions of this regu-
lar organization—I supi)oso the whole organization does not ever go out at once—do
yon not l)elieve that they have committed a great many acts of violence where there
was really no proper excuse for it?

Answer. Well, in one sense of the word they have. For instance, in releasing that
person by violence, and taking Judge Kirby from his bed; in one view of it that was
a terrible act, because it was revolutionary, very, in its tendency. He was a judge of
the superior court.

Question. 1 do not refer to that.

Ansivvr. Do you mean whether there have not been individual cases ?

Question. Yes ; where they have killed people or whipped pe()f>le, when there was
really no danger to th(?iiul)lic peace that requii'ed them to interfere.

Answer. Yes, sir; I know of one instance ; one particularly that I think was a bad
act, where a white man was whipped for helping a negro in a tight, I think, between a
wBite man and a negro ; and, from the best inforniaiiou I could get, the negro was
right. The white man helped the negro a little in the fight, and they whipped him, so

I was told. I do not think it was well done.
Question. Now, to come to that case you spoke of, where you say you Avere consulted

by this young man
; was there any charge that that negro had done anything wrong ?

Answer. Nothing at all ; he had done nothing
;
just his 'talking was all.

Question. He had talked large about the Ku-Klux?
Answe): Exactly.
Question. As to what fight he was going to make with the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. That is correct.

Question. Had he ever been attacked in any way by the Ku-Klux?
Answer. I never heard of it.

Question. Eut some of his race in that vicinity had been ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And he had talked violently about what ho would do ?

Answer. That is about the truth of it.

Question. And thereuj)ou these young men went there and got him to go with them
to fight the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; he sup^iosed they were northern men, and that he was going to ku-

klux the Ku-Klux.
Question. And getting him out without anything being done, they killed him ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; whether they shot him or stabbed him I do not remember.

Question. Have yoti any information of any case where anybody has been punished
for any act done by these disguised bands ?

Answer. Yes, sir
; I know of three that were sent to the penitentiary ; I defended them

with all the power and ability I had on earth.
Question. Do you mean the three that Mr. Forsyth i^rosecitted

?

Ajiswci: Yes, sir.

Question. Do you think that was one of these regular Ku-Klux proceedings, or was it

really a robbery ?

Answer. Well, sir, I have reason to think that two of the men convicted and sent to
the penitentiary were radicals, l)elonged to that party ; and I have reason to believe,
from what I was told by men who I think know, that the other had occa.sionally been
with the Ku-Klux. I defended them, and I say now under oath that I do uot think
they ought to have been convicted. I have no idea that their purpose was robbery
with intent to steal. They took, by violence, some pistols, knives, and old United
States mu.-ivets, I believe, and one thing and another, from the negroes, just to devil
them a little, as we say there, to scare them with their Ku-Klux operations just for

their amusement. They took from a man a flask of whisky and made him take pay for

it, although he did uot want to ; they niade him sell them the whiskey. They took from
another man a watch, and told him at the time that he need not be itneasy about the
watch, for they would rettirn it by the next Saturday, that all they wanted it for was
to tell the time. I think they were convicted improperly.

Question. What did they intend to do ; what was the real object and purpose of that
transaction, according to your information?

Answer. 1 regarded that particular transaction as a kind of drunken frolic ; the three
Avere young men, and two of them did uot look like meu who were of age.

Question. It Avas uot to redress any outrage that had been committed, or any danger
that thoy feared ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Were the men attacked quiet and peaceable ?

Answer. So far as I know.
(Question. There Avas uo charge of any offense against them ?

Answer. I know one of them, as black as a mink, Avas quite witty. They put him on
the stanil, and as he came down I asked him his name ; he said his name Avas Jolxn
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AVesloy. I thro-n' up my baiuls micl oxclaimcd, " TliP father of the Methodist Church !

"

lie instantly reitlicd, " No, the father of the J lard-shell Baptists." As I was a Baptist,

lie got the laugh on nie among the lawyers there particularly. These young men
alarmed th(> people they visited^ showed their pistols, told them how many people they

had killed, :nid 1 do not know what all; they were all very much scared. I regaidcd

it as a drunken frolic, with no intention of robbing. But there was a desire to convict

them, and they were convicted.
(^>ue.'itiott. Were there others there?

Answer. There wi-re no others, or if there were any more I did not hear of it. Two
of those who were convicted I was told were radicals ; one of them I was told jirivately

had been with the Ku-Klnx sometimes.
Qncsiioii. Of the regular organization of Ku-Klux, among the men who really belong

to the order, do you understand that there are any radicals among them ; any radicals

amoug the regular organization of tlie Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I do not suppose there are.

Question. Yon never heard of any ?

Answer. I do uot think there are any ; what little violence our radical friends have
lone there, either the negroes or their friends, has been done without disguise.

Question. They have no order ?

Answo: I do uot think they have any order. A while ago they had what was called,

the Union Leaguti. .When the League lirst came out there, application was made to

me to join it, when it was about to bo instituted in my State. I had friends in the
order, and I had several boys, about grown, and they were asked to join. Well, my
opposition to secret societies of every sort was one reason why I did uot join ; and
auother reason was that I did uot know whiu-e it would go to. I expected then, how-
ever, to act in support of the republican party. My boys thought ofjoining it, and one
of them spoke to me about it. I told him that he had better keep out of it ; that ho
could not tell where it would go. One thing I said to him, " I kuow, my sou, that these

secret organizations are all dangerous."
Question. Your sous did not joiu it f

Answer. No, sir, and the thing run through in a little while.
Question. It did not last long t

Ansicei: No, sir. But injustice to them I will say, that if they did any harm I have
never heard of it.

Question. Have yon heard of it beiug in operation there since 1868 ?

Answer. 1 have no reason to believe there is anything of the sort, and I have heard
of no violence by the Leagues there.

Question. Except in the instances you have mentioned, of the three persons who
•were convicted, have you known of anybody who has been tried for any of these acts

that were committed by these armed and disguised bands, Ku-Klux, as they call them?
Ansicer. I defended two meu at the last supeiior court in Floyd County, one by the

name of IMoore, and the othef by the name of Wright, no relative of mine ; he was a
stranger to me. They were tried for shooting a negro, about 9 o'clock at uight in the
city of Rome. He was Ku-Kluxed, as they call it, right in the broad street : that is,

the negro testified that two men in disguise attacked him, that one seized him, that
the other stood by, but he was not sure about the third man ; he saw but two. He
said that they told him that if he opened his mouth they would kill him, but if he was
quiet there would be no damage done to him. Well, the fellow commenced fighting
with all the power he had iu the world, and hallooed " murder" at the top of his voice,

which was very natural, and I think a very wise o})eration on his part, although it

might have involved murder, for they shot him but did uot kill him ; it so happened
that two balls ran around his skull.

Question. Some of the men were tried for that ?

Anmcer. Those two men were tried, but not convicted. I must say they proved most
conclusively an alibi, if witnesses, and credible witnesses, are to be believed.

Question. That w-as not a very considerable band engaged iu that transaction ?

Answer, No, sir, only those two that the negro knew of; I do not kuow Avhether they
were the regular Ku-Klux or uot.

Question. According to your idea of it, this organization is formed merely for the
purpose of keeping the peace iu the locality where the organization exists ?

Ausicer. Yes, sir, and punishing outrages and violence. I think thej' had a little

idea of taking the law iu their own hands in very great emergencies.
Question. It was organized not only ibr the purpose of preserving the peace, but to

preserve it by punishing oflfenses ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and in an unlawful manner. For instance, I am informed that they
took a negro the other day and whipped him just simjdy for asking a white woman to
have connection with him. She refused, and told that ho had done so, and. they got
hold of him and whipped hira ; of course they had no right to do it.

QiieMion, Are you sure that his oftense extended so far as that ; was it not for using
some uncivil language to her ?
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Answer. No ; according to the report that I heard he wanted to copulate -with her.
It may not have been tlie truth, but that was what was told me.

Question. Have these organizations anything else in view except matters in their
own localities ; in your opinion do they have any reference to general politics?

Answer. I do not think they have ; 1 am bound to swear that. I do not think there
is anything in any order I know of intended to keep the negro from the polls.

Question. Has it any reference to matters of general State policy in any way ?

Answer. I do not think it has any reference to that.

Question. Has this conduct of Governor Bullock in reference to railroad bonds, or any
matter of that sort, had anything to do with this organization ?

Answer. I do not think it has anything in the world to do with it*; I may be mis-
taken about that. I heard a very good radical swear not long ago that he would be
danmed if he ought not to be Ku-Kluxed. ,

Qiie,ftion. That Governor Bullock should be Ku-Kluxed?
Ansrrer. Yes, sir; he was a radical, and an honest man.
Question. I think you could hud men out of Georgia, perhaps, who do not\think very

well of Governor Bullock.
Ansiver. O, I hope so.

Question. ^Vhat I want to know is whether these organizations and their transactions
have any reference to the alleged misconduct of Governor Bulloek ?

Answer. I declare I do not think they do. But that calls to my mind another thing.
I heard a man say some time ago that they ought to make an organization and Ku-
Klux Brown and those engaged in that lease.

Question. You, yourself, do not know anybody who has thought that the proper
remedy for Governor Bullock was the going out and whijjping and killing negroes ?

Answer. I 60 not think anybody ever thought that; I never heard of it. Let me
tell you another thing. I did understand that there was a body ftf Ku-Klnx in the
lower part ofthe State that went to the city of Augusta and got in the cars, supposing that
Governor Bullock would be in them on the same trip, perhaps had been to New York
negotiating some of t-bese bonds, and that he would be there, and they would wait for
him. Providence heli)ed him that time, for, if he had come along just then, he would
have gone the way of all flesh.

Qnesiion. They were after Bullock himself?
Ansrcer. Yes, sir.

Question. Nobody believes that these things, of which you complain, can be remedied
by going out and whipping and killing negroes ?

Ansiver. O, no.

Question. Nobody has thought that to be a remedy ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Nobody has pretended that that would be a remedy ?

Ansiver. I do not think they have ; if so, it is beyond my knowledge and my belief.

Question. You do not yourself think it is any remedy ? •

A nsiver. I do not, conscientiously. If there is a man on the face of the habitable earth
that sympathizes with the black man, 1 think it is myself; he is entitled to the sympathy
of every good man dn the face of the globe.

Question. If I understand you, you yourself do not belong to this organization ?

Ansiver. I do not, and never have belonged to it.

Question. You do not believe in its necessity ?

Answer. No, certainly not, as a general thing. I will not say that circumstances
might not occur in our condition in the South where violence might be resorted to.

Question. Take into consideration your condition as it is ; take things asthey are ?

Ansiver. 1 would disband everything of the sort; tell them to go home and stay there.
Question. Have you used your influence as much as you could ; have you exerted

yourself, for the purpose of having them disorganized; have you tried to exercise any
influence for that purpose ?

Answer. Now you ask me " as much as I ought to ;
" that is a very difficult question to

ask.

Question. I did not put in that qualification. I asked if you had exerted yourself as
much as possible to have that done.
Answer. I have not. I could have exerted more influence, I suppose. I have gone so

far as co warn my boys to keep out of it. One of them was run for mayor of the city of
Rome. I warned them again and again to keep out of it, and not to have anything to
do with it.

Question. I understand you to say that you have not felt as though you were bound
to exert yourself in this matter, inasmuch as you were disqualified from really partici-
pating in the Government

;
you really did not feel that the Government had a right to

callnpon you to use your influence against these organizations to the extent that it was
xa your power to do f

Aiuwcr. Well, lam not satisfied with the Government and its attitude towards me at
all. Whether I can say that
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QMes/ion. I understood you to say that.

Amiver. Maybe- I did; that is biiiioiii,!;- it in a very direct attitude, and I waut to

answer you aecordinji' to the. truth. Dissatistied as 1 am, with a large ])ortioii of the

intelli;;ent peoph-oflhe South debarred iVoni all ]>articipatiou in the administration of

the (aVvenimeiit, I liave felt a great deal like the Government Avas my enemy : like

it did not do me.justice. I have not felt for it the .sain(i reverence and ati'ectiou that I

dill before the war, even that I did during the war, while I was a member of the con-

federate congress. For, as (!od i.s my judge, there was not an hour when the Hag of

the Union should not have lloated over every foot of our territory if I could have con-

trolled it.

<jii(nti<»i. Have those feelings prevented you from exerting your utmost influence to

stop these things?
Ausira: Well. I think they have. I think I have been comparatively indilierent;

sort of don't eare about it.

(JucNiion. Have any other persons in your position failed to exert the influence they
could have done against these things t

Aiiawer. I think" they have; such men as Toombs and others. He is a very active,

ardent man, and is very ai>t to curse when things don't please him, like my friend,

General Blair, here.

(Jucsikni. My democratic brethern will bear witness that I have been a very active

person in trying to get the removal of disabilities. 1 have asked you these questions in

good faith.

Annwer. I know they are asked in good faith. I have not exerted myself as I might
have done, I know

Qitoition. And others have not done so ?

Arisivcr. I think they have not. But I do not think wo could have put thetto things

down if we had exerted the whole of our iniluence. In the present state of things 1 do
not thiidi we could put them down entirely, and keep them down. I think if the neces-

sity occiirred these acts of violence would be again called into requisition.

ijucstion. Do you not believe that if yourself and all of the class of men like your-

s<df, who exercise leading intliumce in the dilfereut localities of the State, were to exert

yourselves to have this organization stopped, there would be nothing except an occa-

sional outrage ; for there might be an occasiimal outrage that would call for the rising

iq) of the people to put it down—but if all the good, steady people in your country
were to say that these organizations ought to be put an end to, that there was more
evil than good came from them; do you not believe tliey would be stopped, that there

would l>e no existing regular orgaaization of '*hem ?

AriHwer. It would have a very powerful influence that "way ; those are very controlling

men in society, and they are obliged to be ; they are men of intellect, worthy in every
way, men of good mcn-al standing. I suppose it would have a great influence in that
way ; I have no doubt of it, none in the world.

Question. One word about Governor Bullock, and I do not desire to go largely into

that matter. You say he issued two and a half millions of railroad bonds ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir, for the Brunswick and Albany Railroad.

Queatmn. \\'as there an act of the legislature authorizing the issfle of those bonds ?

Ansuxr. Yes, sir.

Question. To aid in the building of the road ?

Ansicei: Yes, sir.

Qjiesiion. The road has been built ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and said to be so out of the proceeds of these bonds alone. The facts
show that the proceeds from these bonds alone built the road, without any outside help.

Question. The legislature authorized the issue of those bonds ?

Answer. Yes, sir, that is correct.

Question. As I understand it, the governor^ias violated no law in issuing those bonds?
Answer. None ; I thirdi they were issued according to law.
Question. The legislature authorized the issue of those very bonds, but you think he

has issued them in advance of the time when he was authorized to issue them ; that
the contingency contemplated by tlic law had not happened when he issued those
bonds f

Anstver. I ara sure he has issued them in advance of the time.
Question. Now, about the leasing of the railroad to these Pennsylvania parties; that

lease was authorized by an act of the legislature, was it not i

Answer. Yes, sir, it was.
Qucslion. And by the present legislature?
Answer. There is some doubt as to which is the present legislature. It was author-

ized by the last one that assembled at Atlanta. But there is some doubt, from the
construction of the constitution, whether that legislature holds over, or whether if the
governor should now call a session of the legislature the members last elected would
come together.

Qnistion. In the legislature which did pass the act authorizing this lease, was it made
a party question '/
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Answer. Well, I cannot say that it was. I think it was regarded by the oommnnity,
by the common toiling masses, who had understanding of the matter and took occa-

sion to examine it, as a kind of combination between the head men of the democratic
party and the radicals to plnnder the people.

Question. You do not understand that in passing the act authorizing that lease to be
made it was considered a party question at all f

Answer. Ko ; I would not say it was. I know it was not strictly a party question.
Question. Was it in any sense a party question ?

Answa: Well, I think some of the democrats bolted, not many ; because a leader of
the democratic party from my city, Scott, regarded as the leatler in the house, intro-

duced the bill, and I think the democrats fiually came up to it. I do not think Cap-
tain Scott was corrupt, the member from my city ; ho is a man of social habits, and I

think he was used by Ben Hill and the others ; in fact, he admitted it in his speech.
Question. This lease of this railroad which now exists was made under the authority

of an act passed by your legislature ?

Ansicer. It was.
Question. How is the continuance of Governor Bullock in office to have any effect,

either one way or the otlier, upon the existence of that lease ?

Answer. Well, you see there was another company
Question. I want a definite answer to my question.

Anstcer. Well, regularly, Bullock would not be—well, I do not know that he would
in any regard ; I do not think I need make that explanation, for I do not think it would
afi"ect it materially.

Question. This lease is made in pursuance of an act of the legislature ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And therefore no subsequeut legislature or subsequent governor can alter

the terms of that lease ?

Ansicer. That is a legal question, and a very considerable legal question. In the first

place, I do not believe the lease was legal ; I think there is fraud enough in it to viti-

ateit.
Question. If that lease is void, in consequence of its having been made fraudu-

lently
Answer. Also upon a legal point.
Question. Well, upon a legal point; it is equally void whether Governor Bullock is

continued governor or not ?

Answer. Unquestionably, that is correct.

Question. If a subsequeut legislature should direct that the validity of the lease
should be contested, it would be contested whether Governor Bullock were continued
in office or not ?

Answer. Incontestably ; and it is being contestednow by the other company that made
a bid ; legal proceedings are now pending.

Question. So that whether Bullock continues in ofiSce or does not continue in office,

that can have no efiect upon the validity or continuance of that lease ?

Ansiver. None upon the face of the habitable earth ; he is out of that clear.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Suppose that, Bullock being in of6ce, a subsequent legislature should
attempt to repeal this act, and Bullock should veto it ?

Answer. Well, in that regard, it might be well to get him out.

Question. Is it not very well for those interested in continuing this lease to keep him
in office ?

. Answer. In that view, it would be necessary.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Might not the books in the executive department, if continued under his
control, be so managed as not to disx)lay the attempt at fraud periietrated in procuring
this lease, or the mismanagement of this road and its then coudition, which might be
displayed under a governor hostile toward such operations ?

Answer. Of course the facilities for examination might be greater imder another
governor.

Question. The chances for aiding an examination into the matter might be very much
better under a governor who is an honest man and not friendly to this operation ?

Answe): I think so.

Question. And in that regard, it might be quite well to have a friend in the executive
department f

Ansiver. It would indeed. Now let me say another thing : democratic bowels can be
moved by gold-covered pills as well as republican bowels. A large portion of this
§98,000 paid for proclamations has been jiaid to democratic newspapers ; and a large
portion of the §36,000 of fees paid out by Bullock has been paid to democrats. Bul-
lock is a man who understands the weaknesses of human nature as well as any man
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in the woilil ; and ILat makes liiin more danporons to tho toiling masses, both demo-
ciats and rcpulilicans. He onght to bo out ; the good of thti conntry requires it. I am
sorry the rresideiit does not liave ])o\v(a' to remove him. However, I %vill not say that,

because it might involve a general jniwer to remove governors. Bat that particular

governor I should like to see out powerl'nlly myself.

By Mr. Blaik:

Question. Are you iiot sorry that anybody should have had the po-wcr, except the

people of Georgia, to put him in ?

Answer. I urn ; 1 do not think he could have ever been governor except for the Fed-
eral Covernnunit.

Qiiisiiun. And ho could not remain there without their help?

Answer. I do not think he could.

Question. I understood you to say, in answer to some question by the chairman, that

the leading men of Georg'ia could suppress these disorders by uniting against them.

J /(.vicrr. I say they could, to a very great extent, but not entirely; that would be
about the answer to that question.

Question. Jly question is, could they make the people of Georgia satisfied with the

government as it now exists?

Answer. Tliey could not.

Question. With the government that is plundering them ?

AnsH-er. No, sir; they would lose their total iulluence if they undertook to satisfj'the

peojjle with the administration of the laws carried on there now; the people know
that tlu'y have not a good government.

Question. I understood you also to say that these outrages which have been com-
mitt(Hl do not originate in any sense from Bullock's frauds upon the people, and his

plundering the Government?
A)tswir. I do not think they do.

Question. Do not these frauds and the maladministration of the State government
continue the dissatisfaction of the people of the State ?

Answer. They certainly continue the dissatisfaction, and increase it greatly. There
was some dissatisfaction without reference to Bullock being governor. Of course, the
people of the South are not satisfied with the amendments to the Constitution, but
they are submissive. I have nevc^r heard any man intimate that he ever i)roposed to
eliange the Constitution in any way but l)y the ballot. But if we had the power to-

day, we would put limited suffrage upon the negroes. A negro who could pay ten
dollars tax into the treasury, I think, the people would be willing to have vote ; that
would keep the rabble out. Biit the body of that race are mere rabble; a good-to-do
negro is the exception. With the white race, the well-to-do is the rule, and the va-
grant is the exception. Now, out of a thousand negro voters in my county I can count
a dozen that can exercise the ballot with some degree of understanding—not over
twenty; the balance, I think, cannot appreciate it or understand it.

Question. Is not the best mode of restoring jieaco and quiet and order, and the rule of
law in the State, to give the people of the State the right to regulate their own affairs

in the same way that the people of other States have ?

Answer. That would satisfy them instantly, under any kind of obligation the Federal
Government would impose upon them to iirotect the negroes ; and left voluntarily to
themselves, 1 think they would open up to him every office in the gift of the State.
But look at the race, just out from slavery ; we feel and know, or we believe we know,
that there can be no good government where they make so large an element in society.

U[) here the negro does not make any difference with you whethc" he votes or not; he
is a small element. But in the South, in many of the States, he is the pi'eponderatiug
element. In my State he will vote about 90,000 out of 200,000 votes. Now we do not
look for any good government while the negro is in so large a preponderance as that.
I entertain no doubt that the democratic party could control a majority of the race,
that they can ado[)t that lino at once, and use him against the republican party, by
putting him in. Bnt they do not see any good government ahead in that case ; as a
permanent element he is without any capacity to use the ballot. We would just as
soon expect to have a good government with the negro using the ballot as the com-
mune in Paris. We hav(! no idea we can have good government with the negro ele-

ment in when it is so largo. Now, to say that we purpose resisting forcibly is not true

;

we will submit to that government if the Federal Government puts it upon us, and do
the best we can with it. I do not 1)elieve there ever has been or will be an organiza-
tion made to keep the negro away from the polls. And I think that ultimatoiy the
dtniocratic party will be provoked into using the negro, but I think it will greatly de-
moralize all the political elements in the South. We will have no good government,
but divide uj) into coml)iiiations and into rings, for robl)ery and all tliat sort of thim;,
with occasionally a little lighting, as all ignorant connnuuities have. I was educated
in the belief that viitne and intelligence both combined were necessary for running
the machinery of a government. Our fathers believed it was necessary to put some
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restriction, some limit, upon the use of the Itallot. And down to within the last tea

,\ ears, I believe, there was some qnalitication on' suffrage in some parts of the United
States; they were not willing to trust to universal sutirage; they wei'e afraid of it.

But they were trying the experiment of universal sulirage in most of the States when
this war came along. I think the last State had thcni agreed to abolish all qualihca-

tious on suH'rage. I know that in my State, within my memory, a man had to have a
j)roj)erty qnalitication in order to vote and to hold ollice. But hnally we Aviped it all

out, and said to the whole white race, '' Come in and take your chances." But wo do
not think that the negro is fitted for self-government. We are very much dissatisfied

with that part of the^ constitution, because we think it destroys tiie independence of
the States. I wish I could put a liuu(h-ed thousand negro voters in Massachusetts a
little while, and let them feel it just as wo feel it, and see what they could do with
them. If it is intended as a punishment for rebellion, all well and good ; it is a strange
sort of punishment, a new grade of punishment, this giving the rebels bad govern-
ments because they did rebel. The old rule of law was to hang a few of them, punish
the dangerous ones, and forgive the balance. And, as I told my brother tire-eaters, if

they hadhimgafew of them, and forgiven the balance, it would have been better.

Question. There has been some testimony here in regard to what is called impudence
on the iiart of the negro; that it was resented much more readily from them than im-
pudence from white people.

Aiisioer. I think that is true.

Question. Is not that the rule elsewhere than in Georgia ?

Answer. It is, according to my observation.
Question. Would it not be so here ?

Answer. I have no donbt about it.

Question. Would it not be the same in New York or Vermont?
Answer. 1 do not think my benevolent friend over there would stand it quite as well

from a darkey as he would from a white man.
Question. Is it not so in regard to all persons who occupy a dei^endent position ?

Anstccr. I think so, and a little more so in reference to a negro, from this sense of

inferiority of the race.

Question. Xow, in regard to the manufacturing districts of New England — have
you ever been there ?

Answer. Not much ; a little.

Question. Do you think the mill-owners there, in Vermont, for instance, would put
up from their operatives with the same that they would from an outsider?

Answer. I have no idea they would, from my observation of the race.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. You say that you do not look for a good goverument in the South as long
as the negro is in. What do you mean by the negro being in ?

Answer. If the negro had the unrestricted use of the ballot—that is, without any
qualification, the whole body of the negro race let in ; that is what I mean. I do not
mean that there will bo Ku-Klus organizations, and all that sort of thing ; but that
we do not think a government resulting from a constituency of that order would be a
good government. Like people like representatives, is the rule in republican govern-
ments, or is said to be. Wo think that with such a constituency as that the repre-

sentatives would be feeble and wanting in capacity as statesmen, and the government
would be l>ad and corrupit.

Question. Is it your purpose to change that if you can ?

Answer. By the ballot alone. I am bound to say that if I had the power I would
change it, but by the ballot ; I would apjjeal to the good sense and judgment of the
American people and ask them to change it, not from any hostility to the race, for I

would have greater objection to the Chinese.
Question. You think that restrictions should be put upon colored suifrage ?

Answer. I do.

Question. You have no purpose to lay any restriction upon white suffrage ?

Ansiver. None, because all restrictions had been removed from the Avhite man ; bnt
to give the unrestricted ballot to the colored man, I do not think was just. I think it

ought to stand where it is with the white race, because we had got to universal suf-

frage with the white race. But this matter of sutfrage with the negro is an experi-

ment, a new thing, and I cannot see why he should be put upon better terms than the

white men both'of Europe and of this' country, for the white race has until lately

been subjected to qualification upon the right of suffrage.

Question. You sav that your purpose is to change ; of course by the legitimate process

of the ballot '

Ansiver. Jnst as I would the tariff or any other question.

Question. You would change the law so as to put a restriction upon colored suffrage

and not upon white suffrage ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

8g
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Question. That would be making a distinction on account of color, raco, or previous

condition ? ...
Aiifiiccr. No ; I would not init it upon that ground; I would put the restriction upon

the ground of his incapacity. I regard color as an incontestable evidonco of that

incapacity.
Question. You would put the restriction upon the line of color ?

Ansu'ci: V\)ou the lino t)f color as an evidence of his incapacity.

Que.^tioii. Yon tiicn propose to change the tifteenth auiendnieut to the Constitution

of the United States .'

Jnswer. I <lo, if I can.

Question. Yon would do that by the ballot ?

Answer. I would, by persuading the people that it was right.

QhcsHoii. You said that the democrats might be provoked into using the negi'O ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. L5ut you think it would demoralize society and divide men into rings and
squads for robbery ?

AnsK-er. Not roljbcry exactly, but that the government would be corrupt, and there

would be rings formed.
QueMion. You think that would be the result of the democrats endeavoring to use

the negro vote, if they should be provoked to it f

Answer. Yes, all the' white race generally, and they are most all democrats down our
way ; very few of them but what are democrats. This new de]3arture of the democ-
racy rather iu<licates that we shall abandon the contest on that subject. Well, if they
do,'my opinion is that the democrats will put uj) with the negroes and use them.

Question. Have not these Ku-Klux operations already intiueuced the vote of tlie

negro ?

Ansirer. I do not think they have; I have no reason to believe that they were ever
meant to control his vote.

Question. Do you not believe that in parts of Georgia, in consequence of these oper-

ations, the negroes would be afraid to go to the ballot-box if an election should occur
now ?

Ansicer. I do not : I will be swamped if they are afraid in my town, and I have no
evidence that the negro has been terrilied anywhere away from the bollot-box. It

may have occurred ; 1 do uot say it has not ; I reckon it has ; I have no doubt that in

places violent men have run them off. But I do not believe this order was intended to

do it.

Question. Have you not heard of repeated outrages by this order upon colored men,
such as scourging and whipping ?

Answer. I have.
Question. In all parts of the State °l

A7iswer. Well, in different parts of the State.
Question. Have you not heard that those who commit outrages upon them spoke of

their voting when they committed the outrages!
Ansiver. I have never heard that that was given as a reason ; it may have been.
Question. Is it not generally the aMegation when an outrage is committed?
Answer. That it was done on that account ?

Question. Telling them that they must not vote the radical ticket, or some reference
made to their voting the radical ticket?

Ansiver. I declare I do not think so. Fcr myself, I have never expected that the
negro would vote the democratic ticket ; to tell the truth, I sort of thought that he
ought to vote for tlie radicals, who gave him the ballot, and that he should support them.

Question. Have you not h<'ard that when these outrages have been committed upon
negroes, the (luestion of their voting has been mentioned and referred to by those com-
mitting ontrages ?

Answer. I do not think I have ; if I had I would tell you ; I would have no hesita-
tion in telling yon. I would light an organization formed to keep the negro away
from the polls with all the jiower I have in the world.

Question. You might as an individual?
Ansiver. I think all our leading men would, such men as Stephens and Toombs, and

those men would be with me.
Question. You say this regular Ku-Klux organization, in your opinion, is not a politi-

cal organization at all f

Answer. I do not think it is
; I have no reason to believe there is any politics in it.

Question. It is an organization formed of one political party alone ?

Answer. I think it is, but then that party constitutes the whole body of the white
race in my country.

Question. Can you conceive it possible in this country that an organization secret in
its char;icter, formed of one political party alone, should operate, without any party or
political l»ias in its operations ?

Answer. It would not among the white men in the Northern States.
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Question. Those Tvho belong to tbe oroanization in your State are white men?
Aiisirer. Yes, sir; but dowu South the great body of the democratic party are white

men. This organization was not formed with reference to controlling political action
;

I have no idea it was. It may have been ; I would not swear it was not ; but I do not
believe it.

Question. I am not speal<ing of its purpose at all : I asked if you think there could
beany large body of men untler this Government, bound together in secret, com))osed
entirely of one political party, and operating bj- force, without having a political cast

in their operations ?

Answer. Well, " a large secret body," you say ?

Question. As large a body as the Ku-Klux in Georgia.
Ansicer. As I told you at the outset, I do not think there is any connected association

in Georgia, but that these are local demonstrations. As I told you, there is one over in

the county of Chattooga, in my oyiinion. But I do not think there is any general organ-
ization over the State ; I have no idea there is.

Question. I want you to answer my question. Do you believe that so large a body
of men as the Ku-Klux organization is in the State of Georgia, and formed as they are

of one political party alone, can operate as they operate without some political bias in

their operations ?

Answer. Well, I should think there would be some little political bias about it, per-

haps.
Question. Some reference to voting ?

Ansicer. Yes ; there would probably be some reference to voting, and it might still not
be with reference to nsing force. I suppose the body of the democrats would try to

control the negroes.
Question. But these Ku-Klux do use force and nothing else ?

Answer. I have never known them to use force to control a vote.
Question. Do they nse anything but force in their operations ?

Answer. Not generally ; they are a party of violence.
Question. Do you mean that their operations are free from any efibrt at political effect ?

Ansieer. I would not say that they are free from any effort for political effect.

Question. Do they make any effort except by force ?

Answer. They use force to accomplish certain purposes, to whij) a white woman and
a negro man living together in a state of adultery

;
you may say that has a political

bias, and perhaps it has.

Question. I have not said so.

Answer. I did not know what construction you might give to it. But I say again, that
if the organization was ever used for the purpose of keeping the negro awaj' from the
polls, it never came under my observation, nor do I believe it ever has been, except in

isolated cases.

By Mr. CoBiJRX

:

Question. Do you mean on the day of election or at any other time ?

Ansiver. I mean in both cases. I have no doubt that some men have said to the
negroes, " You work for me, and you must vote for me."

By Mr. Pool :

Question. That i.s, not on the day of election ?

Answer. No.
Question. Have you known instances when the Kn-Klux organization proper has com-

mitted an act of violence on a member of the democratic party ?

Answer. Let me think now about it. Yes, I know one instance where, if I got the
truth, they whipped a man for Kn-Klnxing without permission of the head man, as I

was told. He went upon his own hook and committed some little depredations about.

I knew him as a boy, and I regretted very much to hear of it ; he was a very good fellow.

I was told they whijiped him for Ku-Kluxing without ]iermission, and in that way bring-
ing discredit upon what they called the Ku-Klux. •

Question. Have you ever heard of any other instance?
Answer. I cannot say now certainly. They whipped a white man some time ago, who,

as I said, helped a negro in a fight ; whether he was a democrat or not I do not know

;

I think he voted the democratic ticket, but I am not sure of that. I think he helped the
negro in a fight betv%een a white man and the negro ; and, as I remarked a while ago,

from what 1 could hear I am disposed to think that the white man who was fighting

the negro was wrong.
Question. Tho.se are the only two instances that you can recollect ?

Ansicei: Well, let me see again. I know of their threatening to whip a man who
votes with the democratic party, a man pretty high in society. They threatened to

whip him. He is a doctor in pretty good society. He sent the letter he received from
them to Governor Bullock, and the governor wrote back to him to consult his lawyer.
He came to consult me. That case is a little irrelevant to politics. He had married a
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widow lady well allied, very niDch against the will of lier ])eoplo. I thiiik tliero was some
evideuee lliat he was after her i)roi)crty, aud they thought him a kiud o^ advcutLucr.

Qiu'Stioii. He received a letter?

Aii-sinr. He reecnved a note from these disguised men, at least he brought it to me,

and 1 suiiposed it -was iioin them. I told him it was very difficult to do auythiug.

Those are three iustauces I know; two were democrats, but I will not say that one of

them was a democrat, fori may be mistaken about that.

Question. Can you recollect any other?

Aii.sircr. Let me think again—now, mark what I state to yon, gentlemen ; it has gen-

erally been ni'groes and radicals tlicy have b<!eu after. No other case occurs to me at

this 'moment. If any occurs during tlie investigation I will tell you.

Question. Then of all of the outrages of the Kn-Klux proper in the State of Georgia,

there have been three instances within your recollection where democrats were the

objects of their proceeding ; one was where they whipped a member of their order for

transgressing the rule of the order?

Atiiiiccr. That is what I heard.

Qtustioti. Another was a white man who was whipped for taking part with a negro,

but you do not know whether he was a democrat or not ?

Jiisircr. It is my impression that he is a democrat, but I am not certain.

Question. And the other one was where a man had married against the wishes of tlie

family ?

Answer. Aud who was supposed to be trying to possess Mmself of her property.

Question. He received a note, you do not know from whom?
Answer. It was from disguised men, so he told me.
Question. Did the disguised men give it to him?
Answer. They gave it to a negro to carry to him.

Question. Those are all the instances you know ?

Answer. Those are all around me there at home.
Question. Are you not prepared to say that in an overwhelming majority of instances

the objects of these outrages have been members of the republican party?

Answer. I think they have been republicans and negroes, and you may put all the

negroes down as republicans.

Quciifion. And where a democrat has been touched it has been an exceptional case?

Ansicer. I think so.

Question. Do you, then, say that the organization has no political aspect about it?

Answer. I stated just now that I would not say that it had no political aspect.

Question. Are there not bad men in the democratic party in Georgia?
Ansivf:r. Yes, sir ; as bad as ever lived on the face of the earth, infamous rascals, that

should be hung.
Question. Then why is it that the republicans are whipped, and the scoundrels of

the democratic party go scot free from the operations of these men ?

Atwwer. Well, as I have before remarked, this organization seems to have been formed
with reference to preserving what they conceive to be the good order of society, and
these bad democrats, as a rule, do not disturb society ; they do not associate with the

negroes, they do not try to move the negroes to riotous deeds aud bloodshed, and
burning, and things ofthat sort, that we know of. I think they would whip a democrat
found at that Avork just as quick as they would a republican. 1 do not entertain a
doubt of it, from mys(?lf down.

Question. IJut you do not belong to the order ?

Answer. I do not, and I do not know that such a one exists. I only speak my belief

from what I have seen around me, and what I have heard from men who I think know.
Question. Or who you know belong to it ?

Answer. I do not know that a man on earth belongs to it, but I believe some do.

Question. You said that a great deal of the money paid for these proclamations was
paid to democratic newspapers ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I say everywhere you may see the etfect of it upon them, in my
judgment, as soon as they come within the reach of Bullock's money.

Question. And the fees improperly paid were ^laid democratic lawyers?
Answer. No, not all of them.
Question. Well, some of them?
Answer. Yes, sir ; some of them got them.
Question. And you say that some democratic leaders in the legislature combined with

the re])n])li(iin leaders for the purpose of robbing the peoj)le of the State, in some of
their legislature schemes?

Answer. I did not say in the legislature, but that some of the leading democrats in

the State, in my opinion, combined with some of the leading republicans to rob the
State of tliis road. I want to run for governor, next fall a year, if I am eligible, for

the piirixise of recapturing that road.
Question. You think, then, that democrats are in these corruptions as well as repub-.

licaus ?
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Ansrva: Did I not state that their bowels were moved the same -way ? I verily be-

lieve it.

Question. Suppose yon take the State government out of the hands of the republicans

and put it into the hands of the democrats
Answer. If a certain class of democrats in my State, that I knoAV of, should get it, I

think it would be as bad as Bullock. But, God bless you, there are honest men in all

parties.

(Jiitstion. Yon have stated that Southern republicans are generally very bad men, but

that Northern republicans are of a very ditYereut character 1

Answer. I say that, in the South, in my opinion, they are the shabbiest class of white

men ;
you ask'me and that is my candid judgmeut ; I believe that the best men in the

South belong to the democratic party.

Question. Do you consider Mr. Hill, the present senator from your State, a republican ?

Atiswer. He now stands in a doubtful attitude. He wrote a letter that caused all the

democratic papers in the State to believe that ho intended to go with the repnltlican

party, and they commenced denouncing him as a traitor. He wrote another letter

rather explanatory, but not quit(>, satisfactory ; since then he has not said a word, until

the other day, when some Tribune fellow iu'terviewed him. According to that he in-

tends to run in the repul)lican line. I know he is in the lease Avith Joe Brown.
Question. You think he is in that robbery ?

Ansieer. He is in that lease; his name is published as one of the stockholders.

Question. You said that it was a corrupt ring ?

Ansu-er. That is my opinion, as base a fraud as was ever perpetrated.

Question. What do you say to Mr. Hargrove?
Answer. In the days of secession he was the worst fire-eater, I believe, I ever saw.

He ran it clear through with as much diligence as any man ever did run anything.

He deserves credit for some things; he came back therewith a military command,
and did put down a set of infernal plunderers that robbed my poor people of bread

and meat and everything on earth in the name of the confederate cause. He killed a

half dozen of them'and threw them into the river in a week. I think he deserves the

good will of the people there ; he does mine, for I have reason to believe he saved my
life. He has been my client ; I recovered a judgment of over .«;10,000 for him and for

his sister. After the war was over the first thing I knew he turned up a radical. Well,

I was very much astonished at tliat. He has another admirable trait of character;"

he is a man of good courage, it is hereditary in the family ; it is a good sign, and Hike
to see a fellow have it. He ran for mavor of the city of Home, getting the entire negro

vote, against my sou who was a candidate on the other side. It was understood that

they got a few white men at the iron- works, under the control of Mr. Noble. He was
elected and he managed the mayoralty with a great deal of ability.

Question. I do not know that we care anything about that.

Answer. Well, he ran again, and the democrats opposed him and beat him. I sus-

tained Hargrove, and if I had had a vote I Avould have voted for him in that election,

radical republican as he is.

Question. I want to know whether he is one of those bad republicans you spoke of, or

whether he is an exception, whether he is embraced in the general denunciation which
you have just now expressed?
Answer. No

;
yon cannot make me say that. I did not say there are no good repub-

licans in the Sontli ; I said that as a rule they were bad. Yon will have Mr. Angler
here before you; he is a Northern man and a republican ; but I believe God never made
a more honest ]uan than he is.

Que^ition. He thinks with you on the Bullock question ?

Answer. He does, but on other questions he differs with me. I know he goes for

Grant the whole hog.
Question. Is Mr. Hargrove an honest upright man?
Answer. I cannot say anything to the contrary.

Question. Is he a truthful man ?

Answer. Now understand me ; I do not think Mr. Hargrove would deliberately swear
to a lie, or anything of that sort, but he is a man like myself, of very ardent t^-nipera-

ment, and when excited on any subject he is liable to very great excesses. With men
of his fair complexion, blue eyes, light hair, and his nervous system, it could not be
otherwi-se. He says and does things, I have no doubt, that he regrets.

Question. Will he tell the truth ?

Answer. I say he means to and does tell the truth. But to say that he always tells

it, I would not say that of him more than I will of any other man. I know that he
indulges in excessive language about the Ku-Klux, and has ideas that I think are at va-

riance with the truth, but I have no doubt he believes them.
Question. You believe he means to be honest and true in his statements ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is he a man of good judgment ?

Aiisivcr. Yes, sir, when not excited; but men of strong impulses are always liable to

draw wrong conclusions.
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(hivstion. Whai, do you say of Mr. Forsytli ? He is another one embraced in your
general donnneir-tir.n ?

Aiis-trcr. No, sir, he is not. 1 say tliere are exccjitions to the rule, and a great many
of tbeni; but I still stand to it that the repnl)liean ]iarty emhraees the worst class of

whites in the South, and I defy succesfnl contradirtion to that statement. Taking
Tht^ aggregate white people, I say that the virtue and intelligence of my country is ou
the other side.

QueHlion. Mr. Forsyth .shuull be excentel, if he is euMtled to b3 excepted.

Aiisircr. I think hi' is entith^d to be excepted ; I think ho is a respectable man.
Qiie-'^lion. Is he honest and truthful?

Ansircr. .So far as I know he is.

Qiioition. Is he a good lawyer ?

A)>m-('r. That is pinching ine pretty tight ; I would not like to give an expression of •

opinion on that subject.

Question. Is he a man of good judgment?
A)ii<uTr. Pretty good.
Question. Is ho a man of quick observation ?

Answer, rreffyfair; he is a very young lawyer, but he will improve with time, I

doubt not. He is solicitor general of my circuit.

Question. You state that your republican friends are hostile to the negroes voting the

democratic ticket f

Ansn-er. I did not say that.

Question. I understood you to say so.

Answer. Well, you are mistaken. I said the only instance I knew of violence in re-

ference to voting, so far as the negroes were concerned, was an atttTvspt to mob a negro
for voting the democratic ticket ; it is the only act of violence I know of on that

ground.
Question. You did not mean to say that the republicans were hostile to a negro be-

cause he voti'd the democratic ticket?
Answer. I think they are generally ; but I do not know that they would go to the

excess manifested that day, and moli him. Though, according to the papers, there have
been instances of mobbing negroes for voting the democratic ticket; divers instances

in the State, according to papers and rumors.
Question. I have observed that you have spoken of Southern republicans with consid-

erable severity, and perhaps they may have deserved it in your State ?

Answer. I think they do. I have great respect for the republican party North, but I

have none for the republican party South.
Question. Have you not heard ol^ the Ku-Klux committing murder?
Answer. Yes, sir; I have heard of their killing people. The killing of this negro, I

rather think, was a case of murder.
Question. Have you known of the Ku-Klux killing a man where it is not murder?

You are lawyer enough to know the difference between homicide and murder, I mean
technically ?

Answer. Y( s, sir. I am thinking whether I know of any other actual killing; I know
of .several whippings, and things of that sort.

Question. Speaking from common report of what you have heard?
Answer. We have heard in Southern Georgia, throtigh our papers, of a great many

cases, but the papers gave exactly reverse accounts. The radical papers say it was a
muriler, and the democratic papers give some justification.

Question. Ilaxc you ever heard or known of the Ku-Klux killing a man in self-defense
to protect theii- own lives ?

Answer. I do not know what you would call self-defense. I know where a man killed
several Ku-Klux ; that is, I was told so just before I left home, just over the Alabama
line. They went there to whip him, or something of that kind, but they found him
ready with his guns, and I think he killed several of them. They shot at him as he
ran off, as I was fold.

Question. Thi-y did not kill him ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you ever heard of the Ku-Klux killing a man in self-defense?
Answer. I do not thiidv I have ever heard of it.

t^ucstion. Then what(;ver cases of homicide by them yon have heard of were cases of
murder?

Answer. Well, I think they would amount to murder.
Question. What do you think of their taking a citizen of the United States from his

bed and family at nigiit and scourging him ; how unich of an offense is that?
Ansirer. It is a very iiigh o(l'ens(> ; that is as Itad as or worse than the soldiers taking

a man from his bed and putting him in a dungeon, without telling him why; fully as
bad, cxc(!pt that one was the act of the Government and the other the act of Indi-
vid nals.

Question. Have you heard of the Ku-Klux being guilty of that ?
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Anstver. Yes, sir, I have bean! of that.

Question. Tbcn they are iiuirdercrs, and they are men guilty of these high offenses.

And yon say they are members universally of the democratic party ?

Anmva: Yes.

QuetstioH. Then "what do you think of the comparative character of the southern re-

publicans and the southern democrats ?

Aiisiver. 1 still adhere to what 1 said. In the only instance of mnr<ler that I know
of, if you take the testimony of the young man himself, it was not the Ku-Klux that
did it ; they were Kn-Klux on their own account. Well, you may call them Ku-Klux

;

that was a case of murder. That is the only case where I considered the killing a
murder. The cases we have heard of in Lower Georgia, some of them would have been
murder according to radical papers, aud according to democratic papers they would not
have been murder. Therefore I could form no estimate about the truth in regard to

them. I think both parties lie a great deal through their papers ; that is my ob-

servation.

(Juention. You characterized pretty severely the political record of Mr. Hargrove.
Were you or not once a democrat before the war ?

Ansicer. I commenced life a whig. When General Scott was nominated under the
auspices of Mr. Greeley, I thought the whig party would become republican, aud 1 quit
it aud went for Mr. Pierce.

Quesiion. You were hrst a wiiig 1

Answer. I was.
Question. You then became a democrat?
Answer. Yes, sir; and ran the democratic ticket down to the nomination of Mr. Breck-

inridge. That I utterly repudiated, aud I tried to show that it was a plot to overthi-ow
the Government ; I believed it was then, and I do yet.

Question. For whom did yon go then ?

Answer. For Mr. Douglas. Mr. Douglas told me that Lincoln was a good man ; I never
heard him say- a word against Mr. Lincoln in his life.

Questioii. You were a Union man when the war conmienced ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and I reckon as strong a Union man as ever was. It cost a man
nothing in the North to be a Union man, but in the South a Union man carried his life

in his hand.
Question. You afterward went into the confederate congress ?

Answer. I did, aud I have told you how I did it.

Question. Did you become implicated in the rebellion in auf way ?

Answer. That was au imi)licatiou in the rebelliou.

Question. Well, did you become implicated in the rebellion in any way outside of that ?

- Answer. Yes, you would say it was. I raised one of the iiuest i-egiments that went
into tlie confederate service, and I commauded it for live months.

Question. To fight the Government of the United States ?

Answer. I had no chance ; I would have done it, I reckon, if I had had a chance. I

was in Savannah to defend that city against attack, and for live months I looked there
upon the llag of the Government that I still regarded as one of the best governments
on earth.

Question. You were once in the Congress of the United States?
Answer. Yes, sii", I was. I made two speeches while I was here ; one in favor of a

distribution of the pubhc lauds among the actual settlers, and that drew down upon
me obloquy at home.

Question. When the war closed you were at first a republican ?

Ans2ver. I had talked with Mr. Lincoln, aud I expected to carry out his policy.

Question. You afterwards became a democrat ?

Answer. I did.

Question. And you are one still?

Answer. I am what I call a national democrat, in the true sense of the word—not a
eectional democrat ; nothing can make me sectional, except continued hopeless oppres-
sion on the part of the Federal Government. If I believed in that, I would oppose it as
J would oppose any other government.

Question. You spoke of a negro Methodist jDreacher who was whipped for inflamma-
tory language '!

Answer. I said I was not sure whether he was whipped or not, or whether the Ku-
Klux dealt with him in some other way ; I know they dealt with him in some way.

Question Was he a Methodist preacher of the Nortfiern Methodist Church ?

Answer. O, yes; I said that was my uuderstanding.
Question. You yourself were once a Methodist preacher, were you not ?

Answer. I was.
Question. You belonged to the Southern Methodist Church?
Answer. I belong now to the Foot-washing Baptists—the simplest form of the Chris-

tian faith.

Question. You were once a Methodist minister?
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Answer. I was.
Qiicstiou. You aro now a Baptist minister ?

Auswa: I am. I was at a meeting of my order the other day, Avhore they washed a

negro's I'eet without any hesitation—as interesting and alTeeting a ceremony as I ever

Baw performed.
Question. Why did they wash the negro's feet ?

Ansurr. It is a ceremony of my chiireh. Some of the Baptists do not wash feet

—

ours do ; I belong to the order called' Foot-washing Baptists; there are several or-

der saniong the ]{ai)tists: the Ilard-siiell Ba]itists, as they are called; the Free-will

Bajitists; the Seven-day Baptists, and 1 do not know how many others ; but I belong

to the Foot-washing Baptists.

By Mr. Bkck :

Question. Are you not Hard-shells, too ?

Answo: They "generally call iis Ilard-shelLs, but I do not believe iu Hard-shell doc-

trines.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. A part of your ceremony is washing feet ?

Answir. It is. It is a ceremony the institution of which you will lind iu one of the
last chapters of John, Avhere it is stated the Saviour laid aside his garments, girded him-
self with a towel, and washed his disciples' feet.

Question. You are a preacher in that denomination ?

Answer. I do hold forth occasionally in my humble way—never for hire, never for

money—and only at places where they cannot get any better teacher.

Question. This ceremony of washing feet is a mere formal ceremony, and has nothing
to do with the doctrines?

Answer. Nothing, unless yon may call a ceremony a doctrine. The Apostle Paul
calls baiitism a doctrine, and it is a ceremony.

Question. Would you put the ceremony of washing feet upon the same footing with
the ordinance of baptism?

Answer. Every bit ; the one is jirescribed as much as the other, and is equally author-
ized.

The Chairman, (Mr. Poi^vnd.) I do not think all this is within our line of investi-

gation.
The Witness. lam x^prfectly willing he should goon. I think I am better posted

on Scripture than he is ; I may not be iu politics.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Y'ou think the ceremony of foot-washing should be put upon an equal dig-

nity with baptism ?

Ansicer. I think so ; they were both instituted bj^ our Saviour at nearly the same
time, tlu; one just before the other.

Question. I take it that this ceremony of washing the feet of a negro was to show
that your church recognized that a white man and a negro Were on a perfect equality ?

Answer. They do ; as a Christian and a disciple there is no difference. I assure you
it was a very affecting scene, one of the most affecting I ever witnessed.

Question. Are the members of your church generally members of the democratic
party ?

Answer. The Foot-washing Baptists?
Question. Y'es, sir.

Ajiswer. Well, I think they are.

Question. Do you sui)pose that any of them belong to the Ku-Klux etganization ?

Answer. I should not suppose they did, from the iict that so far as I know, they
are universally opposed to secret organizations of all sorts, political and every other
kind.

Question. What would you think of taking that negro, whoso feet you washed that
day, out of his bed at night and scourging him with rods?
Answer. I did not wash them, I was sini])ly ])resent ; but I would have done so if it

had been necessary. I have washed men's feet, and 1 would wash his just as quick as
1 would those of a white man, in the ])erforniance of this duty.

Question. Would you not have considered it a great outrage to have taken him that
night from his bed and scourged him 1

Answer. I would havt^ died for him.
Question. Do you consider the negroes who belong to your church any better than

other negroes?
Answer. I think they are a great deal bettcn-. I tliink they are meet to be partakers

of the inheritance of the saints in light; and, as a rule, I think the others are not.
Question. You have criticised the i)olitical changes of Mr. Hargrove very severely.

Do you thiid< his ])olitical changes have been more than your own f

Ansiver. 1 do not think my political changes have been much. My party rela-
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tions have cliangecl, bnt I am not conscious of having changed in political or religious

opinions much.

The CiiAiKMAN, (Mr. Poland.) I think this is rather more minute and particular

than we need go into during this investigation.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Do negroes sit upon the juries in your State?
Answer. I have never seen one on the jury in the county of Floyd, but I have heard

of them in different parts of the State.

Quesiioh. Have you known of their sitting upon a jury in any county in your judicial
circuit ?

Ansicer. No. Understand me, I do not practice except iu Eome, and perhaps some
in Chattooga.

Question."From your intercourse with members of the bar in your judicial circuit,

have you heard that negroes ever sat upon juries in any of your counties f

Answer. I know of none in my judicial circuit; I do not remember of any negro
taking a seat upon any jury in my judicial circuit.

Question. Are there any negroes in your judicial district whose character aiul intel-

ligence are equal to that of some of the white men who do sit upon your juries?

A nswer. Indisputably.
Question. That is so f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Why are not their names put in the jury-bos?
Ansiver. That would be hard for pie to tell. I suppose it is generally because of the

fact that the body of the negroes are not fit to be put there ; I do not think they nre
;

and from the further fact that it would be exceedingly disagreeable to the white race
to sit upon a jury with negroes.

Question. Do not negroes have cases in your courts?
Ansiver. They do.

(Question. Are they nqt indicted in your courts ?

Ansiver. They are.

Question. Are that class of citizens who are discriminated against enjoying the equal
rights of that class who are not discriminated against ?

Ansiver. They enjoy more- rights than I do. They can be elected to any office under
the Goverumeut.

Question. In whose discretion is it whether negroes shall be put upon the juries or
not ?

Answer. They have altered the law backward and forward so often that I do not
know that I have kept up with the law in regard to the formation of juries, for it is

not mj" business to form juries. But my remembrance is that the names are selected

by the sheriff and the ordinary, aiul according to the constitution of the State of
Georgia, if I remember correctly, they are to be citizens of intelligence, or something
of that Sort. I will not say what the qualitication is, but the idea is that they are to

be good men. The names are put in a box, and, as a rule, they are drawn by the pre-

siding judge from that box. I do not think there are any names of negroes put in the
box in my county, and I doubt if there are any in my district. There may be none
in the State, but I do not see how they could well get along iu some of the counties
without having negroes for jurors.

Question. You said that the white men of your city ke^it back from the polls, at an
election there, and allowed the negroes to vote first ?

Answer. They did, where the negroes seemed to be very anxious to vote, and where
there seemed to be considerable excitement among the white republicans about their

voting.
Question. You thought that was a marked degree of courtesy and forbearance ex-

tended to them ?

Answer. I thought it would be better for our race to keep away, instead of going up
at that time, when it was likelj^to make a disturbance. I think the whites stood back,

upon the ground that they thought it better not to have a riot, and the negroes exhib-
ited a disposition to hold on to the polls.

Question. Has that standing back been repeated since that time?
Answer. No, sir. I have seen them since then mingling in promiscuously at the polls.

Question. You have not seen any repetition of that ?

Answer. I have not. I think that was the tirst election in the county where the ne-
groes voted ; I will not swear xiositively to that, however.

Question. To go back a little to this order. I understood you to say that you were
not aware that they had any signs by which they recognized each other.

Ansiver. If they have I do not know it ; but I would naturally sujipose that they
would have.

Question. When Mr. Forsyth was j)rosecuting these three white men, whom you
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spoke of {IS Laving been convicted of -what appeared to be a Ku-Klux outrage, was
tboic not a confession made by one of them, ^vho gave the signs, &c.

Ansiver. Not within my knowledge ; it was not before the court and jury ; it may
have been given privately to Mr. Forsyth; if there is any testimony to that effect,

that it was before the court and jury, it is not true.

Question. You have not heard of lliat before ?

JnsHT): No, sir. We had the uniform in the court-house, and examined it ; it was
the lirst 1 ever saw, and it was said to be the uniform of that band.

Question. Have you not heard of these Ku-Klnx in other parts of the country besides

Georgia, and besides tliat little strip of Alabama of which you spoke?

Answer. O, heavens! yes. I have heard it almost from the beginning down.
Question. Do they usually go in disguise elsewhere as well as in Georgia?

AnsH-er. I have heard they did.

Question. Has there been any uniformity in their mode of operations that has struck

you?
Answer. Well, yes ; that is, in their scourging and Avhipping and violence, just as you

might say there was uniformity of operation in other States north.

Question. The uniformity consists of a disguise worn upon the person, and of their

operating in the night-time ?

Answer. I have heard that these bauds were generally disguised, if not ahnost uni-

formly.
Question. Do you know whether in every place they are composed of members of the

democratic party ? What is your judgment on that subject ?

jHSirtc. That is my judgment.
Question. That they are iu other States composed of members of the democratic

party i

Answer. Yes; that is my judgment.
Question. Have you learued that iu other States their victims were principally mem-

bers of the republican party ?

Answer. I judge they are.

Question. Did you ever know of bodies of men in disguise committing such crimes in.

the State of Georgia before this war ?

Answer. No, sir, not with the frequency, and not m disguise. We had lynch-law
down there occasionally, but I do not remember any case where the parties Avere iu

disguise.

Question. You heard of nothing of that sort in Georgia before the war?
Answer. If anything of that sort occurred, it has escai:)ed my recollection.

Question. All this in Georgia ami in the other States has occurred siuce the war ?

Answer. Y'es, sir; disguised men—that has been undoubtedly since the war, so far as

I kuow.
Question. What is your theory of the reason why these things have occurred since

the war so generally in other States as well as iu Georgia—bands of disguised men
composed of one political party committing outrages which you say were most univer-

sally upon the members of the other party ; what is your theory in regard to that ?

Answer. I think it arises, in the first place, from a general dissatisfaction in regard to

the administration of the Government in those States, both State and Federal. There
is not that satisfaction with the Government that there was before the war, and that
there ought to be in the minds of the people. I think that dissatisfaction originates
fi.'om what they believe to be bad government, as a rule, iu the State administration
and iu the Federal administration. I do not sjjcak about general politics ; as I said uot
long ago, I do not think there is any diysalistact ion with regard to General Grant,
other than in reference to the South. I have heard no special complaint, though the
democratic party, as a rule, are opposed to his administration. I thiid< it originates
from that feeling of general dissatisfaction, from believing that the Government is uot
faithfully administered ; that it is oppressive in its action upou the white peopleof the
South. I think there is a kind of general feeling that the purpose of the Goverimient,
both State and Federal, is to make the black race, with the few whites who may go
with them, dominate the white race of the South; to make the white race subject to
the black race. I think that is one cause. Then 1 think there is another cause, which
I have mentioned to-day : a great many of our best men are uuder the ban of the
Government; have no interest in the Government; have no right to any position under
the Government. There is a very general dissatisfaction created on that account. It

also originates in another thing: society is in a disturbed condition; the black man
has been our slave, and he has just been emancipated. The white race has uniformly
looked U]ion him as a dangerous element when left absolutely to his own control.
Heretofore the white race has controlled and directed him, but they regard him aa
dangerous when a perfectly free man; not that, perhaps ; but that lie is disjMjsed to
mischief, like all ignorant races. They regard him as very ignorant, and, therefore, like

all ignorant races, very capable of mischief. I think they have felt that in neighbor-
hoods and localities the very life of society was sometimes endangered by the animosity



GEORGIA 123

of the black, stiuiulatcd by some ^liite men, against the general body of the white
race. And tins organization has been felt to be a kind of necessity.

Question. Would you not believe that to take colored men out of their houses and
scourge them in this way would ho, apt to exasperate them still more ?

Aufiwcr. It might put fear upon them iu some iiistauces; in others, where they had
power, it would evidently exasperate them, and I think it would be a fearful trial if

they had power.
Question. Would it not be a doubtful remedy for any evil which might result from

exasperation, as you say they have been exasperated against the whites f

Ansuer. I think it a very doubtful remedj'.
Question. Do you not believe that the reconstruction policy adopted by Congress, so

diti'erent from what was expected, putting the negroes upon an equality with the
whites, investing them with all political and civil rights, making ccrtaiu white men
ineligible to othce, and none of the blacks ineligible—is not that the maiu cause of
all this Ku-Klux business ?

Answer. That has had a great deal to do with it. As I have just said, the white race
at the South is very much dissatisfied with the action of the Government, State and
Federal.

Question. You think whatever is bad in the local action results from the Federal
action 1

Ansuer. I judge it does.
Question. Then you think it was the reconstruction policy which was the main cause

of this Ku-Klux business ?

Answer. That is the ultimate cause ; I think that policy has been harsh as it is,

because of the war between Johnson and the republican i)arty. I think if Lincoln
had lived it would have been different. I stand here and swear that he intended to
publish a proclamation of universal amnesty, except iu regard to a few bad men, as he
called them.

Question. Is not the most objectionable feature of that reconstruction policy the
feature which enables the colored men, with a few white men, to control the politics of
the South ?

Answer. That is the leading cause.
Question. Is not that the objectionable feature iu the reconstruction policy?
Answer. That, and depriving the South of the right to regulate these things for them-

selves. We think that goes to the organic structure of the Government itself, not ouly
in the South, but iu the North.

Question. That fixes and gives stability to this condition of things?
Answer. That is correct ; the white race would alter it if they could.
Question. Then if this Ku-Klux organization originated, in a chief degree, because of

the reconstruction jiolicy of Congress, the most objectionable feature of which is the
feature which gives the jjower to the negroes, with a few white men, to control the
government of the Southern States, is it not the main object of that organization to
prevent these negroes and these few white men from continuing to hold that coutrol ?

Answer I do not thiuk it is. I haA'e virtually answered that question again and
again ; I do not think they intend to coutrol the ballot at all. I think if the nen^ro
behaves himself, and does not attempt any riot and anything of that sort, he may vote
there as quietly and peaceably as he can in any part of the country.

Question. One of the chief evils of the reconstruction policy which is complained of
is, that the negroes, with a few white men, are enabled thereby to get control of the
State governments?
Answer. They are, and to dominate over the white race.
Question. And you think the Ku-Klux was organized for two purposes?
Answer. Yes.
Question. And one purpose is to correct that evil ?

Answer. No ; I think that is one cause of dissatisfaction.
Question. Do you not consider that an evil ?

Ansicer. I do ; a very great evil, the greatest that ever was practiced upon any peo-
ple upon the face of the globe. You may put that down, that I swear that I believe to
make the black race dominate the white race is the greatest evil ever inflicted upon
any people on the globe.

Question. Do you say the Ku-Klux was not intended to correct that evil ?

Answer. They may want to correct evils resulting from that evil, but not to prevent
any one's voting as he pleases.

(Juesiion. Are they not sensible xieople ?

Answer. I think they are.

Question. Is not the best way to correct an evil to strike at the root of it ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and we do as well as we can, but very feebly.
Question. And you thiuk the object of this Ku-Klux organization is not to prevent

the ucOToes and these few white men from controlling the southern State govern-
ments?
Answa: I did say so.
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Question. However great an evil that may be, the object of this Khui is not to cor-

rect it ?

Answer. No; it is to correct evils resulting from that state of things.

Quesilon. Is not that at the root of all the evils resulting from that state of things?
Answer. It is; but you may be able to stand the root of an evil but not the manifest-

ation of it. As long as the negro does not disturb society in any of its relations, does

not burn houses, does not rob anybody, does not attempt to conunit riots or violence

of the law, you may be williug to stand it. But these negroes go further ; one of the

resulting consequences is that a black man and a white woman sometimes get together

and say tliat they are equal ; the Ku-Klux would prevent a thing of that sort, while

they would not control the ballot.

Qucsiion. State what those ri'sulting evils are that the Ku-Klux purpose to correct?

Aii.iwcr. I liave stated one; they came up the other night and whipped a white wo-
man and uegio for living together in a state of adultery.

Qucdion. Do you think that results from the negroes and a few white men having
control of the State government ?

Answer. O, no ; but I think that is one of the resulting evils from the general policy

of the Government, putting the two races upon an equality.

Question. State some of the resulting evils from the negroes and a few white men
having control of the State government?

Answer. One is the plundering of the State government. What do you think of pay-

ing $98,000 for proclamations in less than two and a half years ?

Question. Do you think dishonesty and plundering was the cause of the Ku-Klux out-

rages, or had anything to do with that whatever ?

Answer. No; my oinuion is that they were in the State before Bullock was elected.

Question. How could they have the purpose of correcting that as a resulting evil?

Answer. I say that these evils resulted in that way. They put Bullock in office ; the

white race did not put Bullock in oifice ; the negroes and a few whites put him in.

Question. And one of the resulting evils was corruption ?

Ansiver. Yes ; that is so.

Question. But that came after the Ku-Klux was formed?
Ansu'er. They might have formed before, and corrected an evil that resulted after-

ward.
Question. I am asking now about the purpose of their organization.

Anstoer. I do not suppose all these clubs were formed at one time.

Question. Now give me some resulting evil from the fact that the negroes and a few
white men have control of the State government, which resulting evils the Ku-Klux
were formed to correct.

Ansiver. I say that one of the resulting evils was this tendency to social equality; I

think the Ku-Klux was formed to prevent that. One of the resulting evils, in my
opinion, was to stimulate the black man, in his ignorance, to deeds that were improper,

such as thefts, burnings, and sometimes violence. Rape is a very common crime with
the black man ; it seems to be vastly more so with him than with the white man, and
it is vastly more ixequent now than it was when he was in a state of slavery. He does

not seem to have any adequate idea of the penalty for the ofleuse. I think we have
Lad more rapes by negroes upon white women than almost in the whole history of the

country before.

By Mr. Cobukn:
^

Question. How many rapes have occurred since* the war ? Give any cases of that

kind that have occurred in your county.

Answer. I think the only case we have had there was the case of a colored man com-
mitting a rape on a negro woman.

Question. How about rapes upon white women ?

Ansiver. I do not remember that in my county there has been any rape of that kind
charged.

Question. Or of white men upon white women ?

Ansiver. I do not remember any.

Question. Any in your circuit ?

Answer. I do not remember any in my county ; I may have forgotten it.

Question. Any in your district ?

Answer. I do not remember any since the war ; they may have occurred, but I do not

remember.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Do you know of any instance of a rape by a colored man uj)on a white
woman ?

Answer. Not in my county.
Question. Any in your circuit?

Answer. Not that I remember.
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Question. Then tlie, Kn-Klus in your circuit have no \iew to prevoit that if it docs
not occur ?

Jitsaci-. Tliey v hipped a negro man for asking a white wouian to copuhito with him;
he did not attein]»t to violate her.

Qucslioii. Wliat was the character of the woman?
AiiKivc): I sui)pose it wa.s fair, hecau&e if she had heen a connnou whore or strumpet,

I do not sup])ose tliey wi>uUl have paid any attention to it.

Question. 1 think Mr. Hargrove said there had been five cases of rape hy white men
upon white women in your county, or it uuvy have been in your circuit.

Answer. Well, sir, if there have been five cases of rape upon white Avonien in that
county or circuit, he has found out wliat has not come under my observation ; I will

not say it is not so, but I will say that I have not heard of it.

Question. Is there uot a kind feeling on the part of the negroes toward the white
people, and on tlie part of the white jieople toward the negroes ?

Answei-. In a great many individual instances there is. Let me say to you that there
are dilfereuces in the negroes ; we have some there very troublesome, who are disposed,

I think, to dominate the white race, to let them know^ they are as big as the wliites, or

a little bigger. For instance, they will not give up the sidewalk ; but that is not the
general character of the negro. As a rule, the negro is respectful to the white man, and
will get out of the way of the white man.

Question. Those are exceptional cases ?

Ansicer. Yes; but there are some of tliem. Well, in my oj)iuion, that is one reason
for the Ku-Klux ; they fall aboard a negro that exhibits any impudence of that sort.

Question. Do you mean in not giving up the sidewalk ?

Answer. Well, things of that sort—meeting a carriage on the road. The other day I

called the attention of a lady I was driving out with to this matter, on a road where
there were a great maiiy teams hauling wood. I said, "Notice that every white w^ood
hauler will give me the road, or a part of it, and notice that, as a rule, the darkeys will
make me give the road ; occasionally one will give me the road, but, as a rule, they wiU
make me give it to them."

Question. Well, it is to keep the negroes in subjection in these respects that the Ku-
Klux is organized ?

Ansiver. I think so.

Question. Do they inflict Ku-Klux punishment upon negroes for violating that prin-

ciple of subordination ?

Answer. I do not know that they do. I know of a fight that took place not long ago
between a negro and a white man ; the negro refused to give the road, and they clinched
and had a fight. *

Question. Do the Ku-Klux attack the negroes and punish them by violence for that
kind of insubordination of which you have spoken?
Answer. It would not have astonished me if they had whipped a negro for that,

but I have never heard of it.

' Question. Have the Ku-Klux in your county or district administered any punishment
to the negroes for violations of subordination of that kind, of which you have been
speaking 1

Answer. I do uot remember of auy Ku-Klttx administration now of that sort.

Question. Then, why would you suppose it was thfcir object to prevent anything of
that sort ?

Answer. Just because, as I before remarked, things of a like nature have occurred in
other instances. • You might ask me if I would suppose that the Ku-Klux would inter-

fere with a preacher. On the first view, that is a very tinreasouable supposition. I am
very much in favor of the preaching of the gospel, and believe in it with all my soul.

But a man who comes along, and whose preaching indicates that he is disposed to

create a feeling of animosity between white men and black men, and all that sort of
thing— w-ell, I do not think he is preaching the gos^^el, and I think it is very well to

stop him, but it ought to have been done legally.

Question. Do you think the use of words of that kind by a preacher more calculated
to produce a feeling of animosity between the white race and the black race, than for

white men to take black men out of their houses and strip aud scourge them ?

Answer. No ; a white man taking a black man out of his house aud whipping him and
scourging him is very well calculated to exasperate him.

Question Were the negroes any more likely to be exasperated by the words of the
preacher than by the outrages perpetrated upon them by the Ku-Klux ?

Ansiccr. ^^'ell, yon know the words of the preacher might mislead.
Question. Any more than the whip of the Ku-Klux ?

Ansicer. Well, that would have a tendency the other way ; it woidd tend to intimi-
date them and make them afraid to assail the whites.

Quehlion. We were talking about exasperating the negroes.
Answer. It might exasperate them, and they might be atiaid to attack the whites.
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QucsliotK Then the oliject of this oigaiiiza.tion is to overawe and iutiuiidate the ne-

groes ?

Answer. Well, it would tend to prevent his assuming equality with or su[)eriority

over the white race ; any assumption of superiority would not be tolerated by the

white race.

Question. If the negroes should be intimidated in that way, would it not give the white

race some control over them ?

Answer. It does. I have no doubt that negroes have been deterred from doing

things, from acting disrespectfully, by the violence of theKu-Klux—negroes who might
otherwise have done so.

Qiiesilon. May not control so gained be used to influence his voting ?

Anstcer. It might ; they might control the negro's vote by fear.

Question. Do you think the Ku-Klux are composed of men too good to do that ?

Ansu-er. Well', you say " too good ; " I do not think they have done it.

Question. I mean, do you think they are too ui)right in their purposes for that ?

Answer. I reckon some of ihem might do it ; I do not say they would not ; but I

know of no case of their having doneso. It is strange to me that I have never heard

of these acts of violence, the keeping of the negroes away from the polls that Major
Hargrove speaks of, and such as are reported in this newspaper; but I never did see

them. Sometimes you will see either party grab one, and try to electioneer with him,

but not to prevent him from A'oting. «

Question. You think the operations of the Ku-Klux are for the purpose of intimidat-

ing the negro and keeping him in his iiro])er i)lace ?

Anm-er. Yes, sir ; that is one of their objects, where they think he is disposed to be
troublesome.

Question. And you think that having so intimidated him, it gives the white people

control over him 1

Answer. Well, it has that tendency.
Question. Does it have that efiect ?

Anstcer. Sometimes, but not always.
Question. You think the purposes of the Ku-Klux are too elevated to use that control

thus gained to influence the negro in the uuitter of voting?
Anmver. I do not know about '" too elevated ; " I would not use that term about secret

organizations. If I was just to say " yes" to your question, it would be put down that

I would say they were too elevated for that.

Question. I exjjected you to say that they were not ; and if you had said they were
not too elevated for that, I should then have asked you whether to use that control in

that way was a less crime than that of murder, which they sometimes commit.
Answer. Yes ; intimidation is a less crime than the crime of murder.
Question. And the use of a coutrol obtained in that way
Answer. I do not think they have ever sought to coutrol his vote by fear. I will

stand on that before my peojile, that there is no well-authenticated case where the

negro was attempted to be controlled in his vote by fear. If there has been, it never

has come under my observation ; and I think such a statement as that would be out-

side of the facts.

Question. You said there was a great deal of dissatisfaction with the appointment of

Judge Kirby ?

Answer. Yes ; liot with me personally, for being allied to him, and believing him to

he an honest man, I was rather pleased with it.

Question. Was that dissatisfaction o!i the part of the republicans ?

Ansiver. No, not upon the part of the republicans, though they wanted Judge Har-
vey. Kirby was removed after this Ku-Klux afiair, and Harvey was appointed.

Question. You said that Judge Kirby was a good lawyer ?

Answer. No, I did not say that ; I said ho was a good man, a man of pretty fair abil-

ity ; and we thought he would be honest, and try to do about what was right. May-
be I did say he was a good lawyer. He was a little country lawyer, and nobody ever

thought he would be judge.
Question. The man you Avanted appointed was Mr. Printup? '

Answer. No, I was hostile to him, though he was a very intellectual man, and an
admirable lawyer.

Question. You were very much opposed to his appointment ?

Answer. I was.
Question. Were the republicans opposed to his appointment ?

An.swer. I think the most of them were, very much; they talked to me that way.
Question. Mr. Printup was a good lawyer?
Answer. Ho was.
Question. Was he a man of character?
Anstcer. Yes, sir ; undoubtedly.
Question. I think you said he was resolute, and rather domineering ?

Answer. I think he is both.
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Quesiion. Did he ever express himself in strong terms against these Ku-Klus opera-

tions previous to that time ?

Aimcer. If ho ever did he never did it in my presence ; and I do not think I ever

heard he did. It was not on that ground that he was opposed. Let me tell you the
grounds. Priutup is a northern man, and what we termed a fire-eater there when the

war broke out ; he ran that schedule.

Que^fio)!. He had gone there before the war commenced ?

Anm-er. Yes, sir ; and when the secession idea broke out, he ran that schedule; he
was on that line ; he seemed to be rather ultra-southern, as we call it. Well, there
were a great many things said about the colonel. He went into the confederate ser-

vice, got command of a regiment, and was very soon captured. He was a prisoner,

and we understood he was treated well, and all that sort of thing ; he had relatives in

New York, and did not do any more service. When the war was over ho was released,

and came home. There was a heap of hard things said about him of one sort and
another ; but I think he was honestly captured.
The Chairman, (Mr. Poland.) I do not see the object of the inquiry about Mr.

Printup.
Mr. Pool. The point I was endeavoring to make
The Witness. You asked me our objections to him.
The Chairman, (Mr. Poland.) It seems that some of the people there were averse

to him for some reason ; but it does not seem to me it is any way important what rea-

sons they had against the api)ointment of this Mr. Printup, especially as the governor
did not appoint him.
The Witness. He did not, hut we were afraid he would. I was so much alarmed

that I went all the way to Atlanta, and begged Bullock for heaven's sake not to
appoint Colonel Printup ; I never hud an interview with Bullock before.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. You do not think the appointment of Mr. Kirby gave offense to the repub-
licans ?

Answer. I think not; I think, as a rule, they were pleased with him. I know Har-
gTove was very much })leased, and he is a leading radical. I think the radicals liked
him better perhaps than Harvey, but it displeased the democrats, inost of them.

Question. What offense had that man committed who was arrested by the troops ?

Ansiva: Our Heavenly Father only knows what offeuse he had committed.
Quesiion. What was he charged with ?

Answer. Never charged with anything, that I could ascertain.

Question. Had there been any Ku-Klus outrage upon a plantation not far from
there ?

Ansiver. O, yes ; and we supposed that was the cause of his arrest, and so did ho, but
he never received any intimation of it. The soldiers uniformly declined to give the
reasons why he was arrested.

Question. Was he not arrested upon affidavit?
Ansicer. I have understood that he was arrested upon an alSdavit made before the

military ; but we never saw it.

Question. That affidavit stated the offense?
Answer. I judge the military knew.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. I thought you stated it was supposed that he was ari-ested on account of
this attack upon the Methodist minister ?

Answer. We supposed so, but we did not know; and we understood that there was
an affidavit before the military, made by the preacher ; but we did not know it ; we
never saw it.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Had there been other Ku-Klux outrages in that locality previous to that
one ?

Ansiver. It seems to me that there had been, hut I cannot remember.
Question. Did the troops come to that locality before this outrage ui)on the preacher ?

Anstver. O, no ; it was afterward.
Question. AVere they not sent there in consequence of it ?

Ansiver. We rather came to the conclusion they were, but we did not know,
Quesiion. Was any man arrested for that outrage by the State authorities ?

Answer. None that I ever heard of
Question. Had any man been arrested by the State authorities up to that time for

any Ku-lvlux outrage in that community ?

Answer. I am not able to state.
Question. You do not recollect any?
Answe)-. No; if any had been arrested, I don't remember it now.
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By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. Cau you state about what time that was ?

Answer. No; I am very deliciout in my memory of dates, A^ery much wantiug.
Question. Was it a year ago hist winter, in tlje early part of 1870 ?

Jnfiiver. When the outrage was committed ou the preacher, or when the arrest was
made ?

Question. When the arrest was made.
Answer. I think it has hardly beeu so long as that ; it seems to me that is putting it

lather far back ; I would not speak ])ositively as to the date, but it has- been compara-
tively of recent date; maybe it has been as long ago as that, but I do not think so.

By Mr. Pooi.

:

Question. You did understand that the military were sent there in consequence of that
outrage ?

Answer. That never was told ; that was our conjecture.

Question. They came there shortly afterward ? '

Answer. They did.

Question. There had been no arrest by the State authorities for any Ku-Klux outrage
up to that time ?

Ansivcr. Not that I know of ; if there had been any application for process against

any one in the county I never heard of it.

Question. This man was arrested by the military authorities of the United States,

taken into their custody, and confined in jail ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Questimi. Was that before Georgia was reconstructed and readmitted into the

Union ?

Answer. I think General Terry was there then.

Question. As the military conunander of that district ?

Answer. I think he was exercising military authority.

Question. Georgia, at that time, was under the reconstruction acts ?

Answei: Well, I reckon so. The truth is, we have been reconstructed so often down
there, one way and another, and thought we were in when we were not in, that it

would take some time for me to say.

Question. Was it before the last act admitting Georgia to representation ?

Answer. When Avas that act passed ?

By Mr. Buck :

Question. The act was passed in December, 1869.

Answer. I think it has beeu since then ; I certainly thought we were reconstructed
at the time.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. You are not certain of it yet ?

Ansiver. No, I am not.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Had Georgia beeu admitted to full representation in Congress at that
time ?

Answer. That is another question I could not answer directly. The most I could say
to you upon that question is, that my understanding was that at that time we were
fully reconstructed. But the act admitting our Representatives may not have been
passed

;
you put some in at one time, and then put them out again. My under-

standing was that we were reconstructed, and the laws and everything were progress-

ing like we were in the Union ; I thought so, but I might have been mistaken. We
had no military control down there, as a rule, at all, and I tJjink the militurj^had gone
away.

Question. Under the reconstruction acts you had a governor ?

Answer. O, yes ; I think we had different governors ; we had Judge Johnson a while ; I

do not know whether you call him a reconstruction man or not ; I think Johnson was
simply appointed.

Question. Did you not have a governor under the reconstruction acts?
Answer. I think we had one of some sort.

Question., Did you not have regular judges?
Answer. I think that part of tlie time we did not have so regular judges; it seems to

me that a part of the time we had a military governor, but I assure you that has been
80 long back, and there has beeu so much confusion about it all, I cannot tell.

Question. Then this organization of disguised men went to Judge Kirby and took him
from his house ?

Ansiver. They did ; that is, the judge told me so.

Question, And made him go with them to the jail and demand the release of the pris-

oner ?
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Ansivci: I think he made them go viith him; I think they told him they would give
him thirty minutes to release the prisoner, and if he did not do it, they' would hang
him.

Qucslion. What iiower had Judge Kirby over the imprisonment of that man ?

Ansicer. None upon the face of the habitable globe. He might have had power t.o

have granted a habeas coiyus ; speaking constitutionally, and as a lawyer, I think he
would have had, and could have ooni])elled them to have brought the i)risoner befoio
him; I mean as the laws and the constitution had been administered before the war.

Question. Did they demand of him to issue a writ of habeas corpus'l
Answer. I do not think that application was made; I think it was said that the

military would i)ay no attention to it.

Question. They told Judge Kii-by that they would give him a half an hour to obtain
the release of that man ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. How did they expect him to obtain his release?
Ansicer. Just as he tlid it, by application to the officer. Governor Bullock removed

him, and I am informed that he concluded, upon the whole, that he did not act in goort
faith; that it was all fudge; that the Ku-Klux would not have hung him. Well, that
was an experiment Kirby did not desire to make.

Question. Do you believe they would have hung him ?

Answer. I think so
; I think the scare had not got off him when he came to my house

to .see me. He told me that he never would go back to Chattooga in the world, that
he intended to sell every dollar's worth of i)roperty he had there; he declared that he
had nothing to do with the troops ; and that when Governor Bullock, or Terry, one of
them, told him they were going to .send the troops there, he begged them not to send
them, that he was perfectly capable of executing any process in the world he wanted
to. But they said they would send them, that "it was necessary to strike terror into
these fellows over there.

Question. Do you suppose the Ku-Klux would have made this display against the
circuit judge of your State, and against the military force of the United 'States, in be-
half of a man imprisoned, unless he was a member of their order?

Ansiver. That is a pretty hard question to answer. For instance, I put it to myself;
suppose they had seized one of our best citizens in Rome, and put him in jail ; I do not
know that there would not have been riot and bloodshed ; it would have been the
cause of great exasperation.

Question. What became of the man after he was released?
Answer. I was told he put for Texas.
Question. Has he ever come back ?

Answer. Before I left home I was told that he had come back.
Question. Had eome back there to live?
Answer: I was told that he had come back to stand any charge that might be made

against him ; I do not know that that is the truth.
Question. How long ago did this occur?
Answer. I have stated two or three times that I was not good at dates. I might tell

something by Judge Kirby's appointment, because he was a judge but a little while,
and he was removed, and Judge Harvey appointed ; and I am sure that Judge Harvey
has not been appointed over six months ; he has run but one set of courts, and is now
running the second set.

Question. Can you hx the date?
Anmcer. I cannot tell exactly; a little under or a little over a year.
Question. When you speak of the people of Georgia having control of their own

aflairs like other States have, what do you mean by that ; in what respect has not
Georgia the same control that other States have?

Ansicer. Well, so far as I now know, since we are in the Government, we will have,
unless you interfere again. We were in once or twice, that is, we thought we were in,
but the Government thought we were not in right, and we were put out again. When
Governor Bullock was elected the military were there; my remembrance is that they
had control of the ballot-boxes. I know the feeling of the democratic party was uni-
versal that General Gordon Ijeat him on a fair count anyhow. I will not say that the
military had general control of the ballot-boxes, but they had control of the places
where the election was held.

Question. That is hardly germane to my question ; I asked you in what respect you
had not control of your atiairs.

Ansicer. I say that the universal impression and feeling with our people was, that
even as it was Bullock was not elected by a fair count of the vote. I know Mr. Hill
asserted, on a public occasion, that General Gordon, in his opinion, was elected by from
ten to twenty thousand votes upon a fair count.

Question. That election was under the reconstruction act?
Aymcer. Yes, sir; and Bullock was declared elected.

9g •
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By Mr. Blair :

Question. And a great many white iieople, you among the number, were <lisfranchised ?

Answer. Of course we were.

By Mr. Pool :

Qitcslion. Since Georgia has been admitted into the Union, in what respect does

Georgia dilFer from other States ?

A7iswcr. We would stand now, if we were not interfered with by the General Gov-
ernment

Question. Not reconstructed over again ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; wc do not know but what the Government will reconstruct us

over again.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Are you in the same condition as other States when you have a governor

who was not elected by the people ?

Answer. In that respect we may be different fi'om other States.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Did not General Terry fix up your legislature ?

Anstver. You know what the history of that is.

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. Did not the democrats turn out some members simply because tiiey were
black men ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir, the democrats mainly, and some of the republicans also acted with
them ; they did not think they were eligible under the constitution. I think Governor
Brown said that constitution had been framed with reference to excluding them ; but

I will not swear that.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Has there been any grosser exercise of power and violence in the State

since the war than that exercised by Terry in Ku-KIuxiug the legislature?

Answer. 0, Heavens ! we thought that the highest exercise of arbitrary power ; that

was the feeling of our people, while Ave submitted to it. The truth was we neither

had the disposition nor the means to resist.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Do you not consider it a very great outrage, a very great crime, for men to

pretend to be Union soldiers and deceive that nineteen-year-old boy into going out

after the Ku-Klux, and as soon as they got him out to murder him ?

Ansiver. I condemned it in my conversation with this young man ; I told him it was
wrong, that the negro was a simple-minded, credulous creature, and that they ought
not to have done it ; that in my oiiinion I could not successfully defend him before a

jury, and he had better go away.
Question. Was it generally talked about in that community that the transaction had

been one of that character ?

Answer. I never understood it so fully until I understood it from this boy.

Question. Was it understood afterward"?

Answer. It was understood by all classes as an outrage.

Question. And the trick, on him was generally known and talked about in that com-
munity ?

Answer. It might have been, but I never heard it un^i«l I.heard it from this boy. I

suppose it was an unmitigated act of outrage, that they made him believe something,

•ind just went out there and shot him.
Question. Did that young man escape ?

Answer. He had never been arrested ; there was no escape about it.

Question. Had there ever been any effort made to arrest him?
Answer. If there was a warrant for him I did not know it.

Question. He ran away from that couuty?
Answer. I do not know whether you would call it a go or a run ; he went.
Question. Has he come back ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did he implicate any other parties?

Answer. I do not know that he mentioned another man. He was very mad and
cursed a great deal, and said that he was a great mind to go back and kill some of

the damned rascals that got him into it. t

Question. He did not call any other names?
Ansicer. He did not.

Question. Did anybody else leave that community in consequence of that crime?
Answer. Not that I know of. I was consulted a few days ago by the iiathers of two
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young men who were engaged iu Ku-Kluxing some negioes down about Thomas's mill,

in my coimtry, not fax from the river. But there was no violence done the negroes

that I heard of, except to scare them, talk large to them, and show them their weapons
and tell them what they could do and what they had done, that they had killed a
liundred negroes, or soruething of that sort. Their fathers came to consult me about

it. Governor Bullock had issued a proclamation offering a pretty heavy reward for

them, and they had run off. Yes, they told me they took away some arms the negroes

liad at the san^e time. They said it was a Christmas fi'olic.

Question. Did they run away?
4«siccr. Yes, sir ; they went over the Alabama line ; Governor Bullock had offered a

reward for all that class of men, and their fathers came to consult me about them.
Question. It was not in consequence of this outrage, where the negro was enticed off

and killed ?

Ansu-er. No, sir; not that I know of.

Question. You advised that young man that he had better leave?

Ansicer. I did. The object seemed to be to know about what I thought of his pros-

pects of acquittal ; he did not want to go. I think his idea was that if I thought I

could successfully defend him he would stand his trial, and if not he would leave.

Question. You thought it was a case of murder ?

Answer. I did.

Question. Of murder under aggravated circumstances ?

Answer. I did.

Questio7i. Did you say you purchased the railroad ticket for him, and helped him to

get off?

Answer. I purchased a ticket for him to New Orleans, and then gave him the balance
af the money his father sent to me. It cannot damage my client, or I should avail

myself of the rule that an attorney cannot be made to reveal the secrets cf his client

at all. But I v/ant to give you the benefit of all the knowledge I have, and as I do
Qot think it will damage him, I have not made any point upon it. Now, you know
that as a lawyer I am consulted in hundreds of cases. I never advised or laid any
plan for escape, when a man has been arrested, to take him out of jail. But in all

cases when men come to me before they are arrested, I think they axe entitled to my
judgment, and if they pay me my fee, I give them my judgment.

Question. AVas that an overt act of yoTirs to enable him to get away?
Answer. No efficient overt act. I would not have lent him money, but I could not

refuse to use the money his father let me have for him ; I would not have furnished

liim Avith a horse to get away on, or anything of that sort. But he came to me for my
advice, and I gave it to him honestly and faithfully ; I told him that he had better go
away and stay away. My advice to the fathers of those other boys was that they had
better not come back.

Question. Has the conduct of the negroes in Georgia been good, as a general thing?

How have they behaved themselves since the war?
Answer. They have behaved themselves better than I could have expected ; bettei

than I hoped for. I think the negro deserves great credit for the manner iu which he
has behaved himself.

Question. They are generally orderly, quiet, and submissive?
Answer. Wonderfully so. I found one of my own negroes the other day in distress;

she came to appeal to me, and it afforded me inlinite gratification to relieve her from
her troubles and diihculties. The negroes deserve great credit for their behavior, as

a rule.

Question. Is it not almost universal that they behave well?
Ansico'. Most generally so.

Question. There are exceptional cases of bad negroes

?

Ansxcer. Of course there are.

Question. But as a mass they behave remarkably well?
Answa: They do.

Question. Better than you expected?
Ansuer. Much better.

Question. Do they not, as a class, behave more orderly and better than the white
peojile ?

Answer. I cannot say that. You see the great body of our people are orderly, as

good a i)eople as there is on the face of the globe ; I do not care if they have been reb-

els ; that makes no difference ; they were honest in it. But we have an element of

whites that are a great deal of trouble, a great many young men ; some of them were
iu the war, and there they learned bad habits and bad traits of violence; they have
personal altercations among themselves, and stab and kill a great deal worse than
before the war.

Question. Ate not these acts of turbulence among the whites' more numerous than
among the negroes?

Answer. Well, this turbulence and these acts of organized violence are among the

whites ; I know of none among the negroes that I remember of.
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Qtit\sfio)i. Will yon tell ine, then, what dauger to society it was that this Ku-Klux
vras orgauizetl to stop ?

Aiisicer. I have told you already a half a dozeu times—different dangers of different

sorts ; one was the tendency of the two races to affiliate.

Qiicviio)!. You mean it was not for the purpose of putting down any organized vio-

lence on the part of the negroes against the whites ?

Answer. No.
Question. Nothing in the way of insurrection ?

Ansiver. No; l)ut then, again, the negro was sometimes impudent, and it was sup-

posed that he would be much more so than he was ; make the whites give way to h'^n.

This preacher came under that rule in that vray ; he seemed rather to he preaching

negro equality, and the right of the negro, backed by the Federal Government, to take

char"-e of all of us down there, and all that sort of thing, aud they would not stand

that."

QuesUon. Suppose a band of disguised negroes had gone to a white man's house, and
represented themselves as white Ku-Klux, and got that white man out Avith them, and
then had murdered him under that pretext.

Avsirer. It would have been a bad case.

Qucttion. Suppose the negroes had done so ?

Answer. It would have been a bad case.

Question. Suppose that some leading republican—some bad man among the republi-

cans you speak of—had permitted and assisted, or advised and assisted, in the escape of

the ue"-roes who had committed an outrage upon a white man ; what would the demo-
crats h'ave said about that republican ?

Ansiver. I do not think they would have said anythiug, if he had been a lawyer dis-

charging his functions.

Question. Might not the papers have abused him ?

AnsH-cr. Possibly they might; I do not say fhey would not. But as a professional

man I would have given the advice to a radical as well as to a democrat ; I make no
distinction on that gro.und.

Question. Would you have taken the risk of having done so if it had been a negro

who had been engaged in such an outrage as that?

Answer. Well, I do not know ; I defended a negro some time ago against the leading

men on the grand jury with more zeal and ability than I ever defended a white man in

my life. I thought he ought not to have been indicted ; there seemed to be a great

zeal to convict him, but I got the jury to acquit him in defiance of the leading men of

the crraud jury. I do not think I have made any difference between a radical or a
democrat iu my profession in the courts.

Question. I understand you in one of your answers to i;se about this language :
" If I

am asked if I am loyal to the Government, and I would say I was, I would not tell the

truth."
Answer. I said a great deal more than that.

Question. What do you mean by the word " loyal? "

Answer. AVell, there are two kinds of loyalty ; one is the loyalty of force, where a
man may be afraid of Ijayonets aud the power of his government, and, therfore, he may
support "that government and sustain it by his taxes, and even go to war if he is com-
pelled to do so, Avhile in his soul he might hate it, believing it to be despotism. In my
opinion, true loyalty can only exist in the affections of a man, and can only arise from

a conviction that the government blesses him, that its power is used for the protection

of his person and property. Such loyalty I had when the Avar commenced toward the.

Federal GoA'ernment ; I had it all througli the Avar, though I Avas in the confederate

cont-iress; I ncA^er saw the day Avheu I would not haA'o come back into the Union.

Mark me, I would not have come back excei)t as an equal State iu the Union ; I would
stand by my section. LIa'CS there a man on earth Avith soul so dead, »5t.c.?

Question. You say there are tAVo kinds of loyalty?

Answer. Yes ; there is a loyaltv of force, Avhich the British gOA-ernmeut gets from the

Irish.

Question. You mean a loyalty that submits to force without resisting it ?

Answer. Yes.

Question. There is another loyalty, from the heart?
Answer. Yes, sir; Avhere you loA'e the goA'crnment ou account of its blessings.

(Question. Which loyalty is it that you do not possess ?

Answer. The loyalty of the heart ; I have not affection for the acts of the GoA'ernment

;

I do not believe the measures of the Government are right ; I Avould alter them if. I

oould, by the ballot.

Question. You draw a distinction between the measures of the Government and the

GoA'criHiient itself?

Answei-. I do. I am very uuich in favor of republican government.
Question. This is not the only reimblican government on the globe.

Answer. I supx)ose you call France a r!.'i)ub]ic : Switzerland is a republic.
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Question. So is San Domingo.
Answer. Yes, after a fashion.

Question. You say you draw a distinction between the measures of the Government
and the Government itself?

Answer. Yes, I do.

Question. Have you the loyalty of the heart toward the Government itself, of which
you spoke.

Ansiver. I have not the loyalty I had before the war, and never shall have, unless 1

am allowed the rights of a citizen; I never shall love the Government unless I an.

allowed the rights of a citizen ; by the Constitution I am now deprived of them.
Question. Suppose your disabilities were removed, would you then have a loyalty oi

the heart toward the Government ?

Avewer. A great deal more than I now have, because I should feel that it was my
government, and now I do not feel that it is. It is yours, you who have the power

;

I cannot do anything at all. But then it would be our Government, and I would go to
work with you, and meet you on the stump and talk about alterations of the Constitu-
tion, &c.

Questio7i. If those amendments which the reconstruction policy of Congress has put
into the Constitution of the United States, involving equality of rights for colored
men, are all to stand as they are, would you prefer the Government of the United States,

or a separate government, under which separate government, of course, you could
remedy all that thing ?

Answer. By George ! that is a pretty hard question. I have been ijowerfully ox)posed
to the severance of the Government ; I think we would then have forty little petty
tyrants, as in Europe.

Question. Do you think the southern white people of your State, or your i^art of it—

I

am not speaking of yourself—do you think that those people love the Government
of the United States so much as not lo preier to iiave a confederate government or a
separate government in its place ?

Answer. I tell you there is a heap of them would prefer a separate government to
that state of things.

Question. Is that the prevailing sentiment ?

Answer. It would be, with the knowledge that there could be no change.
Question. That the three amendments of the Constitution are to stand 1

Ansxi:er. That is, that they could not control suftiage for themselves, that there should
be universal suftiage among the negroes, and disqualification of themselves for office ?

Question. Subject to the action of Congress?
Answer. They would not be satisfied to live under the Government in that way ; I

think they would live under it, but I would not bet on them if there was a fiiir chance
to throw it oft"; I would not bet on them in the event of a foreign war, and a serious
difficulty, and I am bound to say so. The Federal Government might have trouble,

and a heap of it.

Question. It would have trouble from the rear?
Answer. I think it would.
Question. You think the Federal Government is in danger by letting this reconstruction

policy stand f

Ansicer. It wouJd not be for a long time ; we have a hope, glimmering as it is, that
when all the exjcitement of the^war has passed off", when all the smoke has cleared oif,

so that the sober-minded men of the North can see things in then- true light, you will
rectify it. I belicA-e if the democratic new departure goes on, and the democrats em-
brace the negroes of the South and control them, jus I think they would, I think you
republicans would be wanting right straight to take the back track. I may be mistaken,
but I think you would say directly, '' We have made a mistake with these infernal ne-
groes which we have set free ; they now take up with our enemies, and they are not
entitled to suffrage." I may be mistaken in that, but if such a thing as that might not
happen, you may shoot me. I think if the democrats should set their minds to it they
could control the negro population just as employers do their under-strappers ; if they
should say, " You must go with me, or you cannot work on my plantation, you cannot
ride my horses ;

" not shoot him, not use any violence, but just influence him in that
way, I think that they could do it. I never said a word to a negro on my place in my
life about voting.

Question. You had reference to a foreign war, a matter in which the Government
should feel great interest ?

Ansxrer. It ought to, and ought to have a united people.
Question. Do you think there would be danger in that direction ?

Answer. There certainly would be danger ; if the people of the South had concluded
that this was the settled policy of the Government forever, that the two races were to
be equally entitled to rights, in some of the States the black race dominating the white
race, I think they would try to get out if they saw daylight.

Question. When there is an organized movement of such widespread dimensions as
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tliis Ku-Klnx, conii)oscil outirely (if democrats, does it uot strike you as probable that
that organization has some view to action in case there ^oukl be a collision between
this country and some foreign power ?

Ansiva\ I do not think that ever entered into their calculations.

Question. Would it not be a most efficient organization in that event ?

Auswer. It would, of course, wliei'evcr there was such an organization.
Qii^sfion. Does not the existence of such an organization greatly enhance the danger

to the Goverumejit in the event of war ?

Answer. It would.
Qnestion. Do you suppose those southern men who vrcre so earnestly engaged in tho

rebellion and inaugurated it l)clieved they were doing wrong vi'heu they did so ?

Answer. Some did, and some <lid not. I say they believed they were- doing wrong

;

let me qualify that. I think Mr. Yaueey, for instance, who was a man of intellect, and
whom I knew personally, and Mi. Rhett, those life-long si;cessionists, were the most
dangerous class of men in the South ami in the counny. But 1 believe they were
honest men, though very dangerous, and they would overturn the Government. I

knew Rhett well, and talked with him a great deal ; he tiilked very seriously. I do
uot know but that is revealing some of the secrets of the cimfederate congress, but uot
to hurt. Ho absolutely threatened, in the early stage of the revolution, to make South
Carolina secede again from the confederacy, showing that he is a revolutionist ; but he
was honest.

Question. I am not speaking of an exceptional ease like Mr. Yancey.
Ansicer. There were a whole class of politicians like him.
Qvestion. As a general thing, did the people believe they were right, that they were

justified in doing what they did f

Answer. I cannot say that I tell you that myState, on a fair vote of the people, was
.50,000 for the Union ; and they dared uot bring back the question of secession to tho
people of Georgia. As Mr. Yancey said, it was a plan laid to precii)itate the cotton
States into a revolution.

Question. Have they repented of it ?

Answer. The masses ?

. Question. No, the leading men who control Georgia ?

Answer. Well, some of them were very honest in that; they thought there was
danger. There were two classes of men ; there was Yaueey and Ins squad, who wanted
a separate government, and they just seized upon slavery as a means of inliuenciug the
peop]e. They had this grand scheme of conquering Mexico and Central America and
putting them on with the Southern States, and then importing African labor as soon
as southern sentiment would permit it, and so develop a cotton republic that, in their

opinion, would be the most powerful government in the world.
Question. After the war had commenced, after the State had gone out and seceded,

then was there a general feeling among the people there to go with their State?
Answer. Their was. But you did not let me get through. There was another class

of politicians, like Toombs and other men, v>"ho really thought the rights of the South
were in danger iji the Union ; but I think that as soon as they went into the war they
were imbued with the idea of a separate government.

Question. After the war connnenced the great body of the peo})7e believed they were
right in going with their State 1 »

Answer. They did.

Question. They fought the United States under thatrimpression?
Ansiva: Under that impression and force together. I ojjposed the infernal conscript

measures in the confederate congress. The people had quit lighting and wanted to

stop, and we hoped to break their plans and bring the States together iigain.

Question. Have those men who inaugurated this secession inovement, and those who
afterward followed them, repented of it as having been a crime ?

Answer. Not all of them. I speak of the prevailing common sentiment. I think the

masses have repented in sackcloth and ashes. " Common men !"' God bless you ! there

were 50,000 majority of Union men to start with. They were sorry they started ; they
were sorry the war went on; there never was an hour, if they could havi' helped them-
selves that they would not have done so. But they had uot the machinery of the gov-

ernment, and they were conscripted and made to light. I know that they wanted to

stay under the emblem of liberty—the Stars and Stripes.

Question. They were sorry all the time 1

Answer. Of course they were.
Question. There was no repentance on their part ?

Answer. As a matter of course.

Question. The people of Georgia, as is the case with the people of most of the Southeni
States, have generally been controlled by leaders ?

Answer. Yes, sir: my observation is that they are very much so in all States.

Question. Are they not very much under the control of leaders now ?

Answer. In Georgia ?
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Question. Yes, especially the democratic portion of tliem?
Aufiwer. I do not think there are men in Georgia with the same influence that Butler

and Wilson have in Massachusetts.
Quesiioii. Have they very mncli inllueuce?
Antiwcr. I doubt very much if they have ; however, they are not peculiar in being led

by leaders, in my opinion.

Quesiioii. Do you believe these secession leaders have repented of their acts ?

Answer. Very few of them.
Question. Are they not principally under disabilities now ?

Answer. Some, but the worst men among them have been pardoned by the Govern-
ment, and jjut at the head of the present radical government down there, and that
is the worst element of discontent among us. How can I stand it to see Brown, who
persecuted me all through the war, put at the head of the government, and with more
influence with General Grant than any other man in Georgia f How can I stand that ?

I think Mr. Lincoln had a strong cbmmon-sense view of the question, and, as ho talked
to me, he seemed to understand that there was an element at the South of which he
could have made a great loyal party, and which would have controlled this Govern-
ment for all time to come. But in your quarrel with Johnson you took up the negro
element and made a party out of that.

Question. You have said that you believed the removal of disabilities from those men
would have a wholesome eftect upon the afi'airs of the State of Georgia ?

Answer. I think it would.
Question. Are not the colored people in favor of that?
Answer. So far as I have observed, they are infinitely more generous than those old

grown-up fire-eaters who have been pardoned by the Government and continue to
rule us.

Question.. Does not that entitle the colored jjeople to very kind treatment from those
meu?
Answer. I will be swamjied if it does not ; and they have it from me.
Question. How, then, do yon justify the Ku-Islux?
Answer. Justify the Ku-Klux! Good Heavens! Just listen to him! Do I justify

them ?

Question. You say it was for a good purpose.
*

Ansicer. I say it is for a good purpose, and that they have acted wrongly in some
things. If at any time there is anything so bad that society cannot stand it, we can
get together in a moment and rectify it. For instance, if we have a riot among the
negroes, or anything of that sort, we can control them in a short time.

(Question. We had a little bit of an argument upon an ecclesiastical question a few
moments ago.
Answer. Yes.
Question. And you called uiion your knowledge of Scripture in instancing the iiarable

of the returning prodigal.
Answer. Yes.
The Chairman, (Mr. Poland.) " I think we had better leave the prodigal out ; I do

not think it is worth while to institute a i^arallel between the returning South and the
returning prodigal.
The Witness. Why, God bless you, I am perfectly willing he should talk about that,

for 1 think I know as much about that as lie does. The i^rodigal returned, and his
father fell on his neck and m^de much of him ; but if the old gentleman had collared
him and commenced kicking him, I think he would have been ready to peg out again.

Washington, D. C, July 14, 1871.

Hon. AUGUSTUS E. WEIGHT, (examination continued.)

Witness. There is one explanation I would like to make before my examination is

resumed. I observe that the Chronicle this morning reports me as having testified

yesterday that the Ku-Klux organization exjsted in every countv of the Stiite. That
is a great mistake. I did not so testify. I have no reason to bi?lieve that tiie organi-
zation exists except, as I remarked yesterdaj', in localities about in the State. There
are only a few places where I have any reason to believe that there are any organiza-
tions of that sort ; two or three, I think, wotild cover it, but in diirerent portions of
the State. ,

By Mr. Pool :

Question. In how many counties of the State do you think the organization dues
exist, from what you have heard, as well as fro;n your own personitl obs.nvation /
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Jnswer. I think, sir, from my own observation and from facts of which I may say I

Lave a pretty ^ood knowledge, tliat there are tliree counties where I tlunk there have
been organizations, and probably are now; that is, there are three h>calities where I

have known of these disguised men committing these depredations, and where I have
reason to believe the Ku Klux existed.

QucHtio)!. What counties are those to which you refer ?

Anmixr. One is the county of Chattooga. As I remarked before, I think the organ-
ization has existed in that and one or two adjoining counties along on the Alabama
line.

Question. How many counties do you embrace in that statement ?

Answer. I should include Floyd—only a small portion of the county along the line of
Chattooga County ; and in the county of Walker, also along the line, I thiuk there are
some men who have engaged in these operations in disguise. I think that those three
counties are all. I think there are some men in F^oyd and W^alker who operate with
the Chattooga men, and a good many from Alabama, over the line.

Question. Are those the only counties, so far as you know, in which the organization
exists ?

Answer. No, sir. There is the county of Polk right below us, due south from Floyd.
As I stated yesterday, a client ofmine came up to see me about one hundred disguised and
armed men who had sent him a note by a negro. He was a democrat. You asked mo if I

knew any democrat who has been Ku-Khixed. I think this gentleman votes the demo-
cratic ticket. In his case there was a family difficulty originating about a marriage. I

suppose from that fact there is an organization there. I never had any intimation of it •

until a few days ago. The week before last, I thiuk, the doctor was at my house and
staid all night. Then I was on a visit in a county on the other side of the State—on
the Savannah River, in the county of W^ilcox—th<} county in which Mr. Toombs's town
is situated. I was stopping at luy friend Colonel Thomas Barksdale's, twenty miles

from the village of Washington on the Savannah River. There were twenty -tivo

disguised men who rode by his house one morning about day-break. Those are the
places where, according to the reasons I have given, I think there were these local

organizations.
Question. They all came i^der your personal observation ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; to some extent. As to Polk County, I got my information from the
doctor, who showed me the note that had been sent to him by a negro.

Question. In what counties have you heard of this organization ojjerating ? •

Answer. I have heard of depredations in the city of Columbus. At that place. Ash-
burn, who was a pretty prominent man, was killed by disguised men. The manner of

his killing, however, rather led me to believe that there was nothing like an organiza-

tion. There seemed to be but few men engage<l in that atfair. I think they killed hiui

in the city of Columbus. The alfair hapi>eued, I believe, in LSoS. Ashburii was a
prominent politician. I forget whether he was a Southern man, or a Northern man
who had been South before the war. He had been an overseer of a plantation, and was
said then to be living in a state of adultery Avith.T) negro woman in Colnmbus, (I do not

know whether that was so,) and that he abandoned his family in deliance of public

sentiment. These are rumors or reports ; I do not know anything about their truth.

Question. In Avhat other counties have you heard of the organization existing.

Answer. In the county of Cherokee I have heard of riots and troubles, and, i think,

the whipping of a man whom I knew very well when I practiced law in that county

—

who was a desperate bad man—a gambler and a thief. Whether they whipped him
for his politics or not I do not know ; whether he was a radical or not, I do not know

;

hut I think I may say, from my own knowledge, that he was a wretchedly bad man. Ho
was whipped, and 1 was told run out of the county ; and I reckon it was so.

Question. Did you hear of colored men being whipped in that county ?

Answer. I am not sure. It seems to me that I heard not a great while ago of some
case where they whipped a negro.

Question. In what other county have you heard of the organization ?

Answer. Adkins, who I believe was a senator from Warren, was killed; but I am not
sure about his county. I did not know the man ; but he was a member of the legisla-

ture. I thiuk he was killed by disguised men, but only two or three of them.
Question. Did you hear of any whipping in that county?
Answer. No; there •may have been whippings there, but I think that was the only

thing. That county is distant from me a good long ways.
Quc.'^tiou. Do you recollect of any other counties where you have heard of these out-

rages being committed f

Answer. There was some killing done in the city of Savannah or about there. My
remembrance is not dehnite on that point. It seems to me that the atfair was rather in

th<! nature of a riot. There were some negroes killed there. I think the atfair was in

the nature of a riot aliout the i)olIs. I do not think the men were disguised.
Q:«s'iuii. Do you recollect any other county?
Answer. 1 do not recollect any other in that State. Across the line I doubt not there



GEORGIA. 137

are others that I have heard of, hut they have passed ont of my mind. In fact, I am
sure there were others.

Question. Was not a judge, who had been foreman of a grand-jury, killed in your
your State, or was that in Alabama 1

Answer. I do not remember the incident; it may have occurred; I would not say
whether it had or not.

Quesiiou. How about Sumter County ?

Ausiva-. Sumter County is very remote from the region in which I live. I think I

have heard some rumors of difficulties in Sumter, but I cannot" give you particulars
whether they were white men or negroes.

^Quef!iion. Did you ever hear of any of these outrages in Jackson County ?

Ansu-er. Well, sir, I am satistied I have heard of others, but I cannot undertake to
designate that county as one of them.

Question. Did you hear of any in Clarke?
Ansiver. I do not remember now of any other county; but I am sure I have heard of

some others.

Question. How about Oglethorpe ?

Answer. Was it in Oglethorjie or Washington County where they shaved Bryant's
mule's tail, and committed some depredations of that sort ? Those were disguised men,
I believe. He is a lawyer and was at court, and I was informed that they painted the
mule, shaved its tail, and committed some depredations of that kind.

Question. Did you bear of any whippings there ?

Ariswer. I do not think I did. Yes, these twenty-five disguised men that I saw at
Colonel Barksdale's, I was told, had whipped a negro.

Question. Have.you heard of any occurreuce of this kind in Morgan Couuty?
Ansiver. I cannot remember that I have ?

Question. Walton?
Ansicer. I canuot remember anything by the name of the county.
Question. Did you hear of a member of the legislature being whipped in that region

of country ? Did you hear of the case of Alfred Richardson, a colored member of the
legislature ?

Ansicer. If I did, it has passed from my mind. I have an indistinct recollection of
the name of Richardson.

Question. These counties to which you have referred are in diiierent localities, scat-
tered over the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they are diffused over the State.

Question. You said that the judges in your State were incompetent ?

Ansicer. No, sir; I did not say that. I said they were men who, as a rule, were not
much known as jtrofessional men before the war. A great many of them are men
whom I appreciate. We have, you know, a great many brethren at the bar who are
not very much gifted with information or genius, but still we appreciate them as
good sober kind of men.

<juestion. You have no special complaint against your judges? [Witness hesitates.]
Is it a fair bench in the main ?

Answer. I think it is a fair bench in honesty, but not in capacity.
Question. Is your supreme court a good bench in capacity ?

Answei: McCoy, who is a rej)ublican, is a man of 'capacity. So is Warner ; he is an
old and able judge. Lochraiu is an Irishman, and I have a poor opinion of his ca-
pacity. He belongs to what is .called the aristocracy—did before the war and still

does. He is a mau of social habits ; drinks a good deal. I do not think much of his
capacity ; and I do not think the democratic legislature will oontirm him.

Question. How many judges are there on the supreme bench ?

Answer. Three.
Question. Two of them are men of legal capacity ?

Ansicer. They are.

Question. Is your supreme court a court of appeals?
Ansicer. Well, you may call it a court of appeals. We take cases up by writ of error.

We do not appeal, technically speaking. We have cases that v»-e appeal from the lower
court to a higher, that they may be tried over again. But in the supreme court we
never try anything but a controversy of law.

Question. Then you can carry to the supreme court any question of law ?

Answer. Yes, sir; we cau carry up any case where we think the judge below has
erred in deciding the law.

Question. So that you may correct any errors of law committed by the circuit court
bench ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

_
Question. Do you think that Governor Bullock ever pardoned men except upon peti-

tions signed by respectable citizens and asking for the pardon ?

Answer. I do not say that at all. I presume there were petitions for the pardon of
every man who has been iiardoned, and probably those petitions were signed by some
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respectable men ; but that lie has pardoned a gi'eat many who ought not to have been
pardoned I am satislied. But I reckon all the jiardons have been granted upon peti-
joiis.

Question. Has there been a habit among respectable farmers of the country to ask
for the pardon of colored men that they might have them back on their farms to -svorlc ?

Ansircr. No, sir; I cannot say that there lias been any such habit.
Qiicsliou. Has not that frequently been the case when colored men were put in the

pouiteutiary for minor oU'enses /

Anmccr. Such cases may have occurred. They have not come under my observation.
I do not remember any case where a farmer appUed for a pardon in order to procure
the labor of a negro.

Question. You have no difficulty in convicting negroes who are charged with oftenses
before your courts f

Answer. Well, sir, I have sometimes thought that they were convicted a little toe
easily. I have felt grieved sometimes when I have seen black men convicted in cases
where I thought white men would not have been.

Question. You think, then, there is a disposition rather to convict the negroes than to
acquit them ?

Answer. I think a negro, if charged with crime, is more easily convicted than a white
man. I am afraid so, though there is more justice done to the negro now than injus-

tice, a great deal. I have sometimes defended colored men very successfully. 1 de-
fended one not long ago against the whole power of the grand-jury and acquitted him,

Question. You say you have not known any of these Ku-KIux to be convicted
except in the case referred to by IMr. Forsyth ?

Answer. No such case occurs to me. As I remarked yesterday, two who were tried in
my county were acquitted. I acted as their counsel. I do not remember any convic-
tion. The truth is, I do not remember any other trial.

Question. You say that the governor offered large rewards for the apprehension and
exposure of persons guilty of these outrages ?

Answer. I do .say that the rewards have been of unheard-of and unreasonable
amounts.

Question. In that class of cases ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. Were not his rewards principally for that class of cases?
Answer. Well, there were a good many for that class of otienses, but certainly not all^

by any means. There seemed to be a ijeculiar mania with the governor to oft'er a high
reward for a white man who killed a negro under any state of facts, even if he did it

in a light, an ordinary collision. Ho seemed to have a mania on that subject.
Question. Would not the fact that notwithstanding the great number of these Ku

Khix outrages in various parts of the State none had been prosecuted, be a very good
reason why the governor should oft'er rewards, and large rewards, in tliat class of cases ?

Answer. Well, if it were not for involving some friends of both sides politically, I

would tell what I know about a combination that was a very unholy one—against law
and justice and everything else—to bring in some of those fellows for whom rewards
had been ofiered, for purposes of speculation. But I do not want to tell that. The
rewards may have had the eftect of procuring the arrest of some men who would not
have been arrested otherwise ; but they have also had the efiect to introduce a system
of absolute gan!bliug in arrests to get rewards.

Question. As so many outrages had been committed by these Ku-Klux in diiferent
parts of the State, scattered in v.idely difi'erent localities, and as no one, so far as you
recollect, had been brought to trial except in one case in which you have mentioned,
was not that a good reason why the governor should ofter heavy rewards in that class

of offenses ?

Answer. You see the reward had reference to the arrest; and I do not know that
there has been any difiiculty in tlio arrest of these men. They have been arrested
without trouble, without rewards, so far as I have observed. Those in Floyd County
without any reward were arrested instantly by the citizens and brought up.

Question. They were the men Avhom you defended ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear of any trial except that one ?

Answer'. No, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear of any arrest, except in that case, for a Ku-Klux offense ?

Anstvei: There were the arrests in Floyd, and those over in Chattooga.
Question. That was in pursuance of a reward?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Except in those two case*-, has anybody been arrested in any part of the
State for offenses of this character?

Answer. Well, I do not recollect any more arrests now; they do not occur to me, but
I have never known of any more difficulty in making arrests for these offenses than
any other. There might be more difficulty in convicting, but there is no difficulty, I
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tliink, in arresting. I do not think there is any difficulty justifying the offering of

these rewards. If I am correctly informed, Governor Bullock has paid a single man
$6,000 for an arrest.

Question. You have reference to the case of Mr. Forsyth?
Answer. No, sir ; a totally dilierent man. I think there was six or seven thousand

dollars paid to the sheritf of Chattooga County, and Mr. Forsyth got a part of it. But
I have reference now to another case—the case of a man by the name of Murphy. I

think he has been paid $G,000 for arresting men. I was so informed by the sheriff.

Question. These outrages have been committed principally on colored men, have they
not?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And the fact that a colored man is moie apt to be convicted in your courts

than a white man—in other words, that justice is not evenly balanced between tht*

races
Answer. Well, that is a very delicate subject. I think the negro is a little more

easily convicted, but I do not think it amounts to anything like corruption. I think
it originates from tlie natural inequality that has existed between the races heretofore.

It is dithcult for a white man to bring himself up to regard the right of a negro with
the same sacreduess as that of a Avhite man ; which, I think, we ought to do. I have
occasionally felt mortiiied when I saw, as I thought, that the negro was more easily

convicted.
Question. Taking the two facts together, that the negro who commits an offense is

more easily convicted on account of the local prejudice against him, and the other fact,

that the great bulk of these outrages by the Ku-Klux (who have not been ai'rested)

have been committed upon negroes—do not those two facts taken together present a
case in which the executive arm ought to shield the colored man ? You comjjlained
that Governor Bullock seemed to favor the colored man.

Answer. I said he seemed to have a sort of mania on the subject of offering rewards
for the arrest of white men v.ho had killed negroes, no matter what Avas the nature oi

the occinxeuce.
Question. I ask whether the facts I have just mentioned do not i^resent a case in

which the executive arm ought to have been raised especially in defense of the colored
race ?

Answer. Well, my opinion is that the governor, as the executor of the law, ought to

be perfectly impartial, and ought to know neither white man nor black man. In my
opinion that would be his precise duty. I complained a little just now that sometimes
the white man does not do the black man all the justice that he ought. I do not think
that he ought to do him more than justice or that he ought to be more vigorous in ar-

resting a white man for killing a negro than in arresting a negro for killing a white
man. I do not think the governor can be justified in the enormous rewards he has
ottered and paid. My opinion is that it is a system of favoritism to pay particular men
the people's money. I do not think Governor Bullock a good governor. As I told you
yesterday, I think he is more defiant of public o^iinion in what he conceives to be an hon-
est, faithful administration of the State government than any man I ever knew to be in

power. I certainly have no personal prejudices against him, for he has done me nc
personal wrong in any way.

Question. He seems to be especially defiant of that public opinion which is antago-
nistic to the negro ?

•

Answer. Yes, sir; he is ceii;ainly very defiant of that.

Question. I will reverse the form of my cxuestiou. Suppose there had been great num-
bers of outrages committed by negroes upon white men, as great as have been committed
by the Ku-Klux upon negroes, and that none had been brought to justice or even
arrested ; and suppose there was a disposition in the community to convict white men
more readily than negroes, would you think the executive would be doing wrong to raise

his arm to shield the white man against that inequality ?

Answer. O, I do not think he does wrong to raise his arm to shield either the white
man or the negro; I think it is his solemn duty to j)rotect both. But it is one thing
to raise the executive arm properly according to law, and another thing to do it wrong-
fully. My idea is that he simply uses the treasury for the purposes of plunder, to give
the public Khouey to his favorites. I will not mention names, but I will state a case
Avhich is a direct answer to your inquiry. He offered not long ago a very large reward
for the perpetrators of a certain act of violence committed in the county of Floyd last

Christmas—a case ofKu-Kluxiug some negroes ; but there was no whipping or other actual
bodily violence done. The negroes were frightened by the exhibition of the Ku-Klux
uniforms and arms, and by their large talk. There was an ai^plication made to me to
know whether it would do to briug in two or three yoi;ng men who were lying out on
account of that difficulty, that those who brought them in might get the reward. There
was a combination of a democrat, a radical, and one whose politics I do not know, to
get the reward; and they had proposed to these young men to come in and deliver
themselves up, representing that they could not be convicted, that the proceedinga
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would not amount to anything, and that if they would come in and deliver themselves
up, the reward could be ol)taiued, and they would divide it up among themselves, and
these fellows were to get a part of it.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)
Question. As to these rewards which the governor has oliered, were they to be paid

except on conviction ?

Answer. I think they were for the appreliension of the offenders. That is my remem-
brance; but I will not positively so state, though I am pretty contideut.

Questio)!. It has been stated by other witnesses that the rewards were only to be
paid on conviction.

Answer. That can be settled, aiul I will have it settled. Biit my impression is that
the rewards were payable upon the api)r(>heusion of the offenders. They may possibly
have been payable on conviction, for 1 recollect it was said that the penalty would
not be heavy upon these men even if they were convicted—that they would be amply
couqiensated after the judgment of the court. In that case there was no killing—the
offense consisted only in the terror created in the minds of those colored people. The
punishment would have been, perhaps, a tine and a small imprisonment. I know it

was supposed that the young men would be amply compensated for coming in and
delivering themselves up.

By Mr. CocuRN

:

Question. In point of fact, did not offering the rewards have the effect to interest
democrats as well as republicans in arresting the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Well, not honestly and faithfully. I think that the Ku-Klux or men who
tinderstood the organization got a large j)art of these rewards. I think the Ku-Klux
and the radicals divided it. Why, in Chattooga County the solicitor general got seven
hundred dollars. He got it, as he says, as a lawyer's fee ; but the circumstances were
these : The jiromise was made to him that if he would go down and exert his influ-

ence with Governor Bullock to get the reward for certain parties, they would give him
80 much.

Question. He got that as a lawyer's fee ?

Answer. That was the view he took of it ; he thought that he had a right to take it;

he got a part, and I think a member of the Ku-Klux fraternity got a large part ; that
is my opinion.

Question. If one of these men who got this reward paid a part of it for a horse or a
house, would it not be just as fair to say that the man who sold the house or horse got
a part of the reward as to say that the solicitwr general got a jjart of the reward
in the case you mentioned ?

A)iswer. I do not know that he got a part of the reward ; but I think that he admits
that he got the money in the way I stated, for using his influence. Now, I think a
lawyer is justilied in defending in court the greatest horse-thief or other criminal that
ever lived; I would do so if he was able to pay me; but it is another thing to go to
the legislature or the governor, and on the strength of official iuiluence get them to

pay out the public money ; I hardly think that comes within the range of professional
duty ; but there may be a difference of opinion on that subject. I like Mr. Forsyth,
and think he is a very clever young man, as a rule.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. You said there were two or three young men charged with having gone in
disguise and perpetrated some sort of an outrage ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had the good men of the community undertaken to arrest them and bring
them in ?

Answer. Not that I know of; there never had been any application for their arrest,

so far as I heard, until the publication of this reward.
Question. There bad l)een nothing done to arrest them, and they were lying out ?

Answer. Nothing had been done that I know of. I do not know that they were lying
out. I rather think they were at home till the reward was offered, and then they ran
away.

Question. They were arrested ?

Answer. No, sir ; they were not arrested.
Question. Ought they not to have been arrested ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I reckon that any man who violates the law ought to be arrested
;

but unless somebody makes an ap[)licatiou for it

Question. The reward procured their arrest, did it not ?

Anstvcr. It has not yet. It procured this combination to have them come in and di-

vide the reward among themselves.
Question. Have they been tried ?

Answer. No ; they have not come in. I advised them not to come in. I told them
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the scheme was simply a plundering of the treasury, and I did not think any honest

man ought to participate in any such operation.

Question. Then, even the reward does not bring them in?
A)ifiwer. It did not bring them in in this case ; they have not come in.

Question. In such a state of things do you not think the governor ought to offer a re-

ward to induce somebody to act, if nobody will act without it ?

Answer. Well, " what is everybody's business is nobody's business." I suppose it is

as much my business to have these men arrested as anybody else's.

Question. I think so.

Answer. Now, if the negroes had made ajiplication in that case I suppose a warrant
would have issued, and the men would have been arrested or run out of the country.

Question. Is it not the practice of the Ku-Klux to threaten negroes whom they whip,
that if they give information of the matter and undertake to have them arrested, they
will come back and whip them again or do them some other damage ?

Answer. That may be the practice, but we have hundreds of cases where negroes
have had these men brought up. I am now defending a man charged with rape. The
woman did not hesitate to have him arrested; and he is a farmer of considerable

property.
Question. He committed a rape?
Answer. She swears that he did ; he says that he did not.

Question. It is not supposed that the rape was committed by any of the Ku-Klux?
Ansieer. O, no.

Question. The case has no connection with that organization ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. I am speaking of the Ku-Klus ; and I asked if it is not their habit to

threaten their victim that if he gives information against them they will visit him
again ?

Answer. It may be ; I do not know. I think it very probable they would make sucli

threats, but I do not know any case of that sort.

Question. Would not such threats deter the victims from coming forward to have the
offenders brought to justice ?

Answer. In some cases it would. AVith a man or woman of weak nervous tempera-
ment, that might be the effect ; on some it would have a contrary effect.

Question. Would not that be a reason why rewards should be offered in this specific

class of cases ?

Answa: Well, it might be, provided the rewards were reasonable in amount. Our
governors used to offer $100 for the apprehension of a thief, and perhaps $150 or $200
for a murderer. That was before the war They never went into the business in such
sums as $4,000, $5,000, $6,000, and $7,000.

Question . Did you ever hear of organized bands of disguised men in various portions
of your State before the war ?

y
Answer. Not often.

Question. You mentioned a case where a negro, charged with robbing a white man,
was pursued by the community and caught, and you had to intervene in order to iire-

Vent his being hanged before he had been put in jail.

Answer. That was last week, or week before last.

Question. Have you heard of any such rising u\} of the peoj)le to pursue any of the
Ku-Ivlux who have whipped negroes ?

Answer. No, sir, I never did ; but my opinion is that if it had been a white man who
robbed that fellow, the j)eople would have been after him with a sharp stick—as much
as they were after the negro. You see that case of robbery, as well as the murder,
was done in ojien day, within five miles of the city, and there was a good deal of ex-

asperation.
Question, Do you consider this Ku-Klux organization (of whose purposes you seemed

yesterday to think rather favorably) a reasonable remedy for the corruptions practiced
by Governor Bullock and other officers of the State government ?

Ansicer. I do not think that it affects that matter in any way. I do not think Gov-
ernor Bullock cares anything about the Ku-Klux ; I do not think he is afraid of them

;

therefore I cannot say that they have had any tendency to restrain him ; and I should
not think their tendencj- would be to keep him from indulging in these expenditui'es.

Question. I did not ask that question.
Ansiver. You asked me if I thought these organizations had any tendency to prevent

the corruptions of the State government ; I say that I do not think they have.
Question. I ask whether this organization is any reasonable remedy—such a remedy

as a reasonable man would adopt—for these corruptions ?

Ansiver. The remedy is not a suitable one.
Question. Is there any evil in that community for which this Ku-Klux organization

would bo a reasonable remedy ? If so, what is it ?

Aiiswcr. You put in that word "reasonable f
Question. Yes, sir; I mean any remedy which a man of reason and judgment would

adopt.
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Antiiccy. It certainly is not the remedy I would adopt; but there are cases -wbere I

on my ju<li;iuent, could but say tbat justice in the abstract had been done; luit that i.s

not ignite my ^v;ly of doing justice. I want to do justice according to organized law.
Justice is very frequently done by jxist taking a fellow i\p and liauging him; but I

want justice administered according to law and the principles of good government.
Qui><!ion. And you say that justice can be done in a case where the charge is against

a negro, for your juries rather lean to conviction.

Atificcr. In my ojiinion, justice can be done in the courts, as a rule ; and I think that
our people are improving in the ;idministration of justice to the negro. I think that
we will bring ourselves up to the point of administering justice to the negro equally
with the white man.

Question. Are not a large majority of your county officers in Georgia, magistrates,

and others, democrats?
An^iccr. In the lower part of Georgia the negroes are largely in the ascendency.
Quesiiun. I put the question as to the State at large.

Aiimver. You want me to state the average ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. I think the democrats have a majority of the county officers.

Question. In the whole State?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. How is it in your district, where these outrages by Ku-Klus have occurred?
Ansicer. Nearly all our officers are democrats, because that is a white region. Wo

are not in what was strictly called the " cotton belt."

Question. In that region where the outrages you have been detailing occuri'od, and
where the Ku-Klux organizations have been operating, you have nearly all the county
officers ?

Ansirer. Yes, sir; nearly all the subordinate officers. The republicans have the
judges, and we generally have the clerks, sheriffs, &c.

Question. The corruption and raaljiractice of the local officials have been assigned by
some witnesses as a reason for the Ku-Kluxiug in their localities. As I understand,
there is no complaint of corruption or malpractice on the jiart of your county officers ?

Answer. I do not remember any case of that sort.

Question. Nothing of the kind t

Answer. No, sir.

Question. I understood you to say that Mr. Blodgett and Mr. Burnett were put in
charge of the State railroad by Governor Bullock ; did you say that Mr. Burnett had
any control in the management of that road?

Ansiver. Burnett held some office down there that I never heard of l)efore. It may
have been an othce that existed according to law ; I never examined into it. Mr. Bur-
nett is a citizen of my town, and I asked what office he had, and in reply, some office

was mentioned which I had never heard of.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Was he not an agent on the road ?

Ansiver. It seems to me he was some sort of an agent, or assistant superintendent.
Some such position as that was' mentioned to me as the one which he tilled.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. "Mie manner in which yon stated the matter yesterday would seem to

infeiicate that Mr. Burnett had some power of independent action ; that he was not a
mere agent.

Answer. O, no; I did not mean to convey that impression. Blodgett was the
superintendent, and Burnett was a subordinate man to Blodgett. Blodgett was con-
sidered the superintendent ; and Burnett, I think, ranked next to him, according to
my understanding ; he did at least in salary, whether he did in power or not.

Question. Who is the attorney general of your State ?

Ansiver. I think my friend, Colonel Farrow, is the attorney general now.
Question. Is he a democi-at ?

Answer. He .was a republican; he ran for governor against Bullock, and was
defea.ted. •

Question. Did he run as a democratic candidate ?

Answer. No ; he ran as a republican candidate in the convention ; but Bullock beat
him. I do not know which party he acts with now. There was some difficulty

between him and Bullock. The re[)uljlican.s rather divided into two wings.
Question. Is he an honest, ujjright num ?

Answer. Well, there arc a good many people in Georgia who .would kill mc for saying
. BO, but it is my honest conviction that he is an honest man. He is my personal friend, <

and I believe him to be an honest man.
Question. A man of ability ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.
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Question. A good lawyer ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; a fair lawyer.
Quesiion. A luau of character ?

Aiisiuer. Yes, sir ; he suits me very well ; but he is very obuoxious now to a large
portiou of our people ; they think him a very bad man ; they lay a great many things
to his charge ; but I do not believe them, because I know him personally. I believe
he is a gentleman and a man of honor; and I know he will tight, for he fought a duel
lately. That is a good sign.

Question. What would be a good way to break up the corruptions in regard to these
railroad matters ? Could there not be a jiroceeding before your courts by way of infor-

mation ?

Answer. Yes ; they are bringing such j)roceedings before the courts every day.
Question. By information filed ?

Answer. By legal proceedings of one sort or another. Some are brought in one way
and some in another. For instance, there is a bill now jiending charging these frauds
in the lease of the road.

Question. Has the attorney general taken any action ?

Aiisicer. I do not know whether he takes anj" interest in that.

Question. Is it not his duty, if the State is being defrauded, to file some information,
and have the matter investigated ?

Answer. Well, it might be.

Question. From your statement I should presume the proof of fraud and corruption to
be very plain ?

Answer. I think it is.

Question. Why does the attorney general hold back and decline to act ? He has the
power, and it is part of his duty, is it not f

Answer. I am thinking how far it would be his duty ex officio to get up a thing of
that sort. I do not think it would come within the range of his duty, unless there was
some proceeding filed on the part of the State of Georgia by order of the governor or the
S^islature.

Question. Might not any of the citizens have information filed in the name of the
State ?

Answer. Well, I suppose they might ; but it might be set aside. I am thinking whether
it would or not. That is a legal question which I do not know exactly how to answer.
If" you are a lawyer, perhaps you are as capable of answering it as I am.

Question. I am not acquainted with the laws of Georgia ; I could answer it as regards
my own State.

Answer. I do not remember any statute on the subject, but, on general principles, I
am doubtful how far the State's attorney would be authorized, on the application of a
single individual, to file a bill to set aside a contract made between the State of Georgia,
of which the individual is a citizen, and other men who are defrauding the State. The
citizen has an interest as a tax-payer

;
yet I do not think a mere citizen could do it ; I

think it would require State action.
Question. I happen to know that it has been successfully done in two or three instances

in my own State without any statute.
Answer. I would not say it could not. I am not certain but that I could file a bill

myself, but I do not know that I could. How far it would be the duty of the State's
attorney to prosecute the case I am at this moment in doubt

;
perhaps a citizen would

be required to apply to an ordinary attorney, and to pay him a fee.

Question. As soon as a case goes into court in the name of the State, the attorney
general appears ex officio ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did I understand you to say that Governor Brown is making a million of
dollars a year on that raihoad?

Answer. I said yesterday that, according to his admission the other day, he ruade in
the month of March |il28,000 gross income ; and taking the ordinary running expenses
under the administration of the road before the war, when Dr. Lewis was superintend-
ent, the expenses then being a little under or over §30,000 a mouth. Brown could pay
into the State treasury the entire rental of the road, and leave him a clear margin of
nearly a million dollars a year—between 8'^00,000 and $900,000.

Question. Then I was not mistaken in supposing that according to your judgment he
is making a million dollars a year out of that road ?

Answer. In my opinion he will make this year—the first year—from half a million to
a million dollars, and as soon as he can get the thing a little regulated he will make a
million annually, clear profit.

Question. Yot himself"?

Answer. No, sir ; for the company.
Question. Do you mean defrauding the State out of that amount ?

Answer. I mean that, in my opinion, he will, in a year or two, after he gets matters
regulated, make a clear million per annum for the company, and that he will make
this year over half a mUUon.
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Qiic^iioi). Aud tl);it would be defrauding the State to that amount ?

Aiinwci: I think .so; I think the State ought to have it. Eut it did not get anything
under Blodgett's administration.

Question. Did 1 unch-r.stand you to say that Governor Brown was leagued with Bul-
lock in the frauds witli whicli you charged Bullock?
Amwcr. I said that was the general impression.
Qucaiion. Did you say that during the war Governor Brown was a bitter secessionist

—bitter against Union men ?

Answer. Governor Brown sent to the legislature a message, asking them to pass a
bill to confiscate the estates of Union men who had gone within the Yankee lines, as
we called it, aud to send off by violence their wives aud little children to be set down
over the line. I know that Union men generally regarded him as one of the most
inveterate and intense haters of the Union element in Georgia.

Qiiestion. I thought that the position of Goveruor Brown was adverse to the confed-
eracy for a long time?
Answer. I know that he and Davis had a deuce of a quarrel ; but I never understood

tliat he faltered in his lidelity to the confederate government. He was fierce against
Davis, because Davis, in his opinion, was weakening the cause of the rebellion.

Question. Did you say that the lease of the road made to Mr. Cameron, the Secretary
of the Interior, aud others whom you name, was in the interest of Governor Bullock,
and that they were now sustaining him ?

Ansiver. I said that the general opinion was that Governor Bullock was interested in

the railroad lease.

Question. You mean the lease to these gentlemen ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and I said further that they sustained his administration. The
only man against it that I know of was Alexander H. Stephens. He was originally in

the lease ; but as soon as he discovered that the State of Georgia had been swindled,
he wrote to the company that he should return his stock to the State.

Question. Was Mr. Ben Hill in it?

Answer. Yes, sir; he was in it.

Question. Does ho continue in it ? -

Ansxcer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is that, in your judgment, one of the symptoms he manifests of coming to

the republican party ?

Answer. That, with various other symptoms, which I think are unmistakable. He
wrote a very remarkable letter in which he seemed to have discovered new beauties
in rei)ublicanism—so much so that our papers took him to task ; anil he wrote an
explanatory letter which seemed to leave the matter in doubt. A correspondent of
the Tribune interviewed him the other day, and then he seemed to indicate that he
was going to head a new party soon in favor of the republicans. You know that old
Jacob said, ".Josei)h is not, aud now they take my son Benjamin." Well, the democracy
down in Georgia can, I think, say the same thing. Joseph is certainly already gone,
aud Beujanun seems likely to be taken away. How you republicans manage to get as
honest men as Hill has appeared to be, from his notes on the situation, I do not know

;

you must have some way of charming the fellows.

Question. I do not understand you to think that there was any honesty in that lease
transaction.

Answer. I do not.

Question. I understood you to say that there was an attempt to commit a Ku-Klux
outrage on the governor of the State.

Ariswer. I said I had heard a report that at one time, when Governor Bullock had
gone on to New York to attend to some of his financial arrangements, certain gentlemen
entered the railroad car at Augusta, expecting him at that time, (this is what I heard

;

I do not know whether it is true or not,) but that he did not come that way ; that he
came by Chattanooga when he did come. It is altogether possible that that story may
have been true.

Question. Have you any reason to doubt it?

Answer. Oh, yes ; there are hundreds of these rumors that I hear that are not true.

Question. The rumor that you heard was that a large number of disguised men came
upon the car?

Answer. No, sir ; not a large number, but a number of disguised men.
Question. They got upon the car?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Publicly ?

Answer. They just walked into the car, according to what we heard; they anticipated
the ai'rival of Governor Bullock on that train.

Question. Have you heard that statement denied?
Atiswer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you heard it said the thing did not occur?
Ansiver. It was denied in one of the cit- papers in Augusta, which stated that the»«

was no truth in it.
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Qiiesiion. Did it say there was uo trntli in the statement that the men had gone upon
the oars, or that there was uo truth iu tlie statement that it was their iutention to

attack the governor?
Answer. The paper stated that there was no truth in the story that any disguised

men came upon the car at all. It stated that no such thing had occurred ; that it was
a pure fabrication. I think that one of the city papers said that.

Question. Where did it occur !

Jitsiier. Augusta is where rumor said it occurred.
Question. Among the v.hite men of Georgia who are members of the democratic party

and opposed to the reconstruction acts of Congress, is there as much love and affection
toward the Government as there was in 1861 ?

Answer. I know there is not as umch loyalty toward the Government in the South
as there was before the war, for we were a very loyal people; the Union element was
very powerful there.

Question. Take the year 1861, when, as you said, there would have been 50,000 majority
against secession in your State. Is there as much affection now toward the Govern-
ment among the white men of Georgia as there was at that time ?

Mr. Blah:. In answering the question, Judge Wright, I wish you would distinguish
between the feeling iu regard to the Government and the feeling with reference to the
administration of the Government.
Witness. I am trying to take iu the whole point and bearing of the question. In

my opinion, in 1861, Georgia, on a fair vote-, would have given 50,000 against secession
if the question had been directly submitted. «

Question. Is there now among tljo white men of Georgia as much kind feeling toward
the Governm.ent as there was at tliat time ?

Ansicer. I want to do full justice to that question, and tell the precise trath upon it.

The difficulty is how to answer it so as to elicit the truth exactly. For instance, in
18G1, there was a powerful element iu favor of severing our connection with the Gov-
ernment. There is no such element at the South now. If there is a man at the South
now who thinks of resistance to any measures of the Government, I pledge you my
"\Vord I do not know him. The most violent man there does not, in my opinion, antici-
pate or desire anything of that sort.

Question. Is that because they see no hoxoe of resisting successfully now, as they did
hope to do in 1861 ?

Answer. Well, that is one cause.
Question. Is that the main cause ?

Answer. No, I do not thiuli it is.

Question. What is the main cause ?

Answer. I think that thousands of men who were very violent then have had their
feelings and judgments corrected by the disasters that have come iipou their section.

Question. When you say that they have had their judgments corrected by disasters, is

not that equivalent to saying that they see now uo hope of success '?

Answer. jS'o; a man may be sobered by adversity; there is uo question about that.
And I tell you that the mass of our j)eople are the poorest that the sun ever shone upon

;

and they ought to be the objects of the sympathy of every good heart on the face of
the earth. A great many of them who were formerly in wealth and affluence have not
now bread to eat. That is a fact within my knowledge. I meet men every day making
appeals for help. All that class of men are sobered by adversity. Our people did not
know what revolution meant. You see we had never been engaged in a war ; and with
mauy men it v\-as supposed to be a sort of pastime or frolic. But they now know what
it means ; and I tell you^t would take powerful moving causes to get up another revo-
lution down there—a good deal more than it Avonld to get up one in the North. You
have not experienced the horrors which our people have. As certain as you are
born, they would not listen much to a man who wanted to get up another revolution
down there. As to the disijosition to resist the authority of the Government, there is

none of that. I can say, with a full sense of niy responsibility in the statement, that
there is uo disposition to resist the authority of tlie Government. No man can move
one inch on the line of revolution in my State, and receive any countenance from the
people. They are sobered by adversity. They have suifered, it seems to me, as no
people ever did on- the face of the globe. At the present time there is not in the South
affection toward the Federal Government, from the reasons which I told you yesterday.
We have only felt the hand of jjower, as we think, unjustly and disastrously, to elevate
our former .slaves not only to equality witli us, but above us, to keep a large
portion of the intelligence and virtue of the community disfranchised, and to put the
negro, in that regard, not ouly equal Avith, but above the white race. It looks to us as
if there were a constant tendency on the iiart of the Government to have us ruled by
the negro race and the few whites who go with them. Our governments down there
up to this time have been bad and corrupt ; the treasury has been plundered. Scarcely
anything, we think, has been done rightly. The people are dissatisfied. They look upon
this state of things as the result of the reconstruction measures of Congress. Therefore,

10 G
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their affections (as would bo natural witli any people on the f;^ce of the earth) are not
what they Avere toward the Federal Governmeut before the war, aud they never will

become so by the use of force. Mr. Lincoln showed his <food sense when he said to me
that he intended to forgiv'c these ])eople, because republican government could only
bo maintained in that way. The affections of the people are not right. They never
can be until they t.ike a different view of the action of the Government, or until the
action of tlie Governnicnt is modilied or changed.

Qiu'slion. In wliat respect iiiodilLed or changed beyond the granting of general am-
nesty ? ,

Answer. Well, the primary tiling is general amnesty and the withdrawal of troops,

and letting "the peojile regulate for themselves their own affairs. In my State the
white man can maintain his power. Tlie white race will never bo satistied where the
negro has power and can dominate. I have no idea that in a hundred years the white
man will l)e satistied if the negro lias the power to dominate him. I do not think au
American would be satistied to be dominated by any foreign element—by the Irish, or

the Dutch, or any other foreign people ; and it is more offensive, of course, to be domi-
nated by the negro, because he has been a slave. In my State, if you will let us alone,

we can control tLie State government ; we will elect our governor, and I think wo shall

have an honest, faithful administration.
Question. Elect him by what sort of votes?
Answer. Democratic white votes and a few negroes. If the democratic party were

left to themselves they would, as I said yesterday, control the negro votes, just as the
votes of the mechanics, &c., are controlled in the North.

Question. You say that if let alone by the General Governmeut the democrats could
take charge of tlie State government "^

Ansioer. Yes, I think so.

Question. How could they take charge of it if the negroes continued to vote with the
republican party 1

Answer. Well, I say we would get some negro votes, and we could beat the other
side, by some ten or fifteen thousand at any rate, because we have that many more
white voters than the voters on the other side, counting the negroes.

Question. Is the Government preventing you from doing that?
Ansioer. No, sir, not now ; and, as I said yesterday, I want to run for governor next

fall a year ;. I want to win the race, (and I expect to do it if I run.) mainly on the re-

capture of the State road from Cameron and those other men from Pennsylvania and
elsewhere who have now got control of it.

Question. Do you think the organization of the Ku-Klux in the various counties of
^the State has no view in that direction ?

Answer. As I remarked yesterday—I may be mistaken—I have no idea that their

object is to control the ballot of the negro by force, because I do not think it necessary
to use violence to control the negro. In my opinion, we can control him just as we
want to, in the same way as the manufacturers in the North, who have large numbers
of dependants in one way or another, can control them. Where is the manufacturer
in the North who does not say to his subordinates, " You have got to vote with me; I

^
won't have men in my employ who vote against my interests ?"

By Mr. Blahi :

Question. Has the governor of your State the power to remove the judges?
Answer. We don't think he has; but that is a question. You know he removed

Kirby. I told him to hold on, for I said, "I'll be swamped if you can put him out of

the synagogue." But there was a discrepancy of opinion on that subject. If you will

read our constitution attentively, you will find that the question is somewhat doubt-
ful. However, the governor went on the principle that Kirby had not been continued

.

It is settled that he cannot turn out a judge -who has been confirmed. But the senate

had not acted on the appointment of Kirby ; therefore, in his case, the question is

doubtful. Now Lochrain, who was put on the bench by Bullock, has not been con-

firmed by the senate. At the time the governor appointed him he issued a sort of a

bulletin, (I hardly know what to call it,) stating that the appointment was temporary,

and subject to his disposal ; he intimated that he intended to appoint somebody else

finally.

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. There was one point in your testimony yesterday which I am not sure that

I understood correctly. What, in your opini(ni, is the general principle or provision of

the Constitution which was violated by the President in making arrests in Georgia by
military power ?

Answer. As I understand your question, it is by what provision of the Constitution

the President gets the pow(;r to arrest a citizen by military force, in time of peace.

Our understanding of the principles of th(j common law (it is my understanding at

least, and I think it is the general view) is, that in time of peace a man can only be
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arrested by civil process. We do uot understand that arrests can be made by the military

unless there is some resistance to the law ; and in the case under consideration there
"was no resistance to the law. I recognize the President's right, if there was any armed
resistance to the execution of legal i)rocess, to have interfered on application.

Question. That is the reason you hold such exercise of power to be dangerous?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Quesiion. Do not the democrats of Georgia, in p5int of fact, regard the adoption and
enforcement of a. })olicy of reconstruction by the President, without consulting Congress,
as very dangerous in a free government?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I do, and I think the democracy generally do. I think the President
ought to consult Congress in regard to any general act of reconstruction.

Quesiion. In point of fact, do not many persons there regard such an act as more arbi-

trary and dangerous than many arrests such as you mention? »

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; I should think it dangerous for the President to branch out on his

mere Avill to reconstruct <h"e South, Avithout saying anything to the national legisla-

ture; that is, provided we needed any reconstruction. There was a ditference of opin-
ion on that subject, you know. Some persons had the idea that we did not need any re-

construction, that we never had been out of the Union. There are hundreds of ques-
tions, ])olitical, civil, and every other sort, that arise in connection with that matter.

Question. Are you not aware of the existence, as a fact, of a wide-spread sentiment
ill the South that after the rebellion was -put down, the people who had aided in sup-
pressing it should have been consulted as to the settlement of public alfairs there ?

Answer. Well, I do not think there was such a sentiment.
Question. If, then, the people who had saved the Union and put down the rebellion

should not have been consulted in settling the policy of reconstruction, who should
have been consulted ? I wish to know the sentiment of your people on this point.

Ansrcer. I think the sentiment of the people is that Coagress had the power to recon-
struct them, provided they were ever out of the Union. I do not know what public
sentiment would have been on that subject. I as a Union man never thought we
were out. I denied the validity of the ordinance of secession, and so, I think, did the
Union party as a I'ule. I know that there was some descrepancy here among legisla-

tors on that subject. Some saiA we were out, and others said that we never had been
out. The peoi)le in the South, after the war was over, stood waiting to do anything
that the Federal Government said should be done. I think that many of them ex-
pected to be hanged. That is my candid conviction.

Question. Do uot a majority of the people there hold it to be neither safe nor proper
to allow the work of reconstruction to be done by the President alone, without con
suiting the people through Congress ?

Answer. These questions have never agitated the public mind.
Question. Are they not the questions that agitate most deeply the public mind? Con-

gress is charged constantly with an arbitrary exercise of jiower in reconstructing the
governments of the Southern States ; and the very ground of justification urged in many
cases for- existing tlisorders is that we should have restored those people to political

power at once without amending the Constitution, or in any way depriving them of any
right which they had formerly enjoyed. If I have understood your testimony, you
complain because j^our people did uot have all their political rights restored at once
after the rebellion. Did you uot urge as a ground of complaint that this had not been
done—that you and others in like condition had not been unconditionally restored to
all political rights and powers immediately upon the close of the civil war ?

Ansicer. Well, I expected to be myself, and I think the great body of my people did
;

and that opinion was formed from conversations with General Sherman and Mr.
Lincoln.

Question. I want you to answer as a question of fact whether a majority of the peo-
ple there do uot hold it to be neither safe nor f)roper to allow this question of recon-
struction to be settled by the President alone, without consulting the people through
Congress ?

Answer. 1 candidly believe that if public sentiment had been called out and expressed
upon the subject, after the war, it would have been that we had never been out of the
Union ; that we were still in the Union ; that we had been in a state of rebellion ; and
that those who had participated were liable to be punished, and those who had not
participated wei'e not liable in that way. I think that would have been the general
opinion ofmy people. There was, soon after the close of the war, an immense rush for
pardons, under the general impression that there would be confiscations or executions
for treason. At that time some men made fortunes

Question. You do not meet my question. It is whether the people there held it to be
a safe line of policy to allow the President to dictate the terms of reconstruction, with-
out consulting the jjeople ? In other words, did not the fieople down there feel it to be
better that this question should be settled by the people, through Congress, instead of
being left eutirelj' in the hands of the President of the United States?

Ansica: I do not think there is any public sentiment on the question whether Con-
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gress or tlie Presideut has the right to control recoustruction. I thiuk the peo^ile are
better satisfied with Congress's recoustruction than with the President's.

Question. Did the people there, as a matter of fact, jirefer the exercise of the one-
man Y)ower in the adjustment of the troubU^s caused by the rebellion, or did they pre-
fer that the legislative power of the nation should do that work ?

Answer. I think that under the view which the Government seems to take of recon-
struction, that we needed reconsti'uction, and must be reconstructed, the southern
people Avould prefer that Congress should do it ; would think it safer that Congress
should do it. I think the idea of one-man power is verj- abhorrent to the jieople of the
South. As sure as you are born, wo are reiiublicans down there in the sense of being
in favor of the people voting and ruling.

Question. Do you think the peo]tle down there supposed, when the war was over and
the rebellion suppressed, that nothing at all would be done, by constitutional amend-
ments or acts of legislation, to make the Government more safe, and prevent further
rebellion ?

Answer. O, uo; we expected that slavery would go up. At least I did, and I think
the masses of the people did.

Qnestion. Is it, then, any just ground of complaint that we have gone on and amended
the Constitution, and passed cert .in acts of legislation in relation to that very matter
of reconstruction ? In the opinion ofyour people, should we have left the Coastitutiou
as it was ?

Answer. Well, we down South would greatly prefer it as it was—greatly prefer it,

with the exception of the emancipation of the slaves. I do not think that one man in
a .thousand in the South would have slavery restored in any shape. But in regard to
everything else, I would prefer the Constitution the way it was. For instance, ou this
question of suffrage, we think that taking the control of it away from the States and
putting it in Congress struck «ut one of the most radical and fundamental principles
of our form of government.

Question. In point of fact, are those amendments which have been made subsequently
to the war, and as a result of the war, regarded by your xieoijle as tyrannical and des-
iwtic—made without right, and not upon a just basis ?

Ansiver. Well, they are not pleased with them. They think the effect upon the
people of the South is oppressive. As to the question of the riglit of making them, we
thiuk the people of this Government had a right to make any amendment ito the Con-
stitution that they saw prosier, according to the terms prescribed ; and if those
amendments have been made accortUug to the provisions of the Constitution, we say
the people had a right to make them.

Question. These measures are made the justification of all this outcropping of crime

—

these whippings and murders ?

Answer. They are a source of dissatisfaction.

Question. Now, if Ave had the right to adopt those measures, do you consider that
complaint as fair and reasonable ?

Answer. You might have a right to do a thing, and yet we might not be f)leased with
your doing it. For instance, we hold that the jieople of the United States have a right
to make any amendment to the Constitution that they see proper, x^rovided it be made
according to the provisions of that Constitution.

Question. Do I understand you to say that it is a fact that the prevailing sentiment
in the South is that there has been no forgiveness by the nation of the southern
people for their rebellion f

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think the prevailing sentiment is that the Government is bitter
toward them yet.

Question. Do not nyiuy persons consider that allowing the rebels, after the sui'reuder,

to go home, retain their property, enjoy the protection of the law, and live there sub-
ject'to no arrest, trial, or punishment, was clemency and kindness without a parallel
in the history of the woiidf

Answer. I never knew a case in the history of 'any nation where the whole body of
rel)els were put to death or their property confiscated.

Question. Did you ever know any case in the history of any nation where political
power, immediately after a rebellion, was put into the Lauds of the rebels "?

^Inswer. We do not think we have got it yet.

Question. Have you not universally the right of suffrage, and do not a large number
of you enjoy the right to hold office?

.Inswer. A portion of our people have the right to hold ofiQce.

Question. In addition to that, have you not had your property restored to you, have
you not enjoyed the protection of the law, and the retention of your social and civil

rights ?

Answer. What property was not destroyed by war we still have; most of it was de-
stroyed by the desolation of war.

Question. Then I understand that your i)eople do not regard any of these things as
acts of clemency and kindness ? .
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Anm-a: I think a portion of our leaders expected to suffer very much ;
but I think,

the greiit body of our people supposed that this nation, like other nations, would for-

give"the great body of the people and punish some of the leaders. I think the leaders,

from the way they cut off to Europe and other places, expected that the Government
of the United States would punish them severely ; and in that respect I think the Gov-
ernment may have acted with clemency. For instance, take th(; cases of such,meu as

Toombs and myself, if you please ; the "Government did not coutiscate our property.

Question. I was merely asking for the fact as to the general sentiment of the peoi^le.

Answer. Well, I think'the general sentiment of the people was that the masses would
be forgiven, of course; I think that was the general idea. A great many of them felt

in their hearts that they had never intended to rebel, in the proper sense of the term;
that they had been forced by theu' State governments into a rebellion which they
never did like.

Question. Do they not understand their present condition to be the result of great

clemency, kindness, and forbearance on the part of the men who restored the Union ?

Answer. In some respects, but not in all.

Question. In what resi)ects do they not so consider it ?

Answer. For instance, the act of the Government in continuing these disabilities

upon a large portion (as I remarked yesterday) of those whom we regard as our best

men is considered as an aet of hostility on the part of the Government. We feel

again that taking the negroes (especially in States where the white people are in the
minority) and giving them the control of the government did not originate in the
sound judgment and good sense of the North, but in feelings of anger, arising from the
revolution, which have not yet abated.

Question. Are there not thousands of people in that section of the country who be-

lieve it to have been the honest conviction of the majority of the republican party
that when the negroes were made free, their freedom should be accompanied with the
right of suffrage, not as a matter of spite toward the southern people, but as a safe-

guard to the rights of the negroes ?

Answer. I know that is the republican view ; the republicans say that they gave the
ballot to th(i negro for the purpose of his protection.

. Question. I ask whether a large iiortion of the 'southern people do not sincerely be-
lieve that the republican party thought it necessary to give suffrage to the negro for

his own protection, and for the general peace of society down there, among whites a."

well as blacks.

Answer. We do not think the republican party did so from that motive. We regard
it as having been done by way of penalty upon us as traitors. We think that the wis-
dom of the republican party at the North knows as well as we do that the negro race
is not capable of self-government ; and that especially in all those States where the
negroes dominate the whites, bad government is inevitable under such a system. Our
people think that the feeling of the republican party toward. us was about this : "It
don't make any difference how badly you are governed : you are a set of rebels any-
how ; we never took away your property as we might have done, and now we will let

the negro wool you."

Washingtox, D. C, July 14, 1871.

NEDON L. ANGIER sworn and examined.

The CiiAiKMAX, (Mr. Poland.) As this witness has been summoned at your request,
Mr. Beck, you will i)lease open the examination.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. State how long you have resided in Georgia, what official positions you have
held there, and your means of information as to the condition of that State and its

people.
Answer. I have resided in Georgia thirty-one years ; in Atlanta twenty-three. During

the rebellion, when secession was first agitated, my office was the head([uarters of the
Union Association of Atlanta. We were doing allVe could to prevent that fatal error,
as we thought it. When Georgia seceded, of course we had to play mum. As soon
after as I could arrange my business so as to secure some of my property, (having a
considerable family, I did not want to go away penniless,) I x>ass'ed through the lines,
and left the confederacy at great hazard, great expense, and great sacrifice of prop-
erty. It was in 186:5 that I Aveut north; audi remained at Boston, or near there,
until the close of the war. After the war terminated, I was urged to take the position
of collector of internal revenue at Augusta, Georgia. I never had thought of holding
an office; but I nuide application by request of my friends and was appointed. I went
to Georgia and took possession of the ofiice, in, I think, July or August, 1865. When I
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went tbciv tlic oilico was not ready ; I liad to arranoe things. They had been shipping?

•cotton olf without payi'ig any tax. I was ordered by the Government to colkct the

tax. 1 gave order.s tJuougli the papers that no cotton shoukl leave; until the tax was
tivst paid, and tliat railroads or steamboats carrying it oti' belbi-e the tax had been paid

would render themselves liable to confiscation. I went on board the steamboats, and
the captains seemed to give me all the facilities they could; and eveiythiug seemed to

go oil' ((uietly. We had no disturbance then, and no disposition on tlii! i)art of tho

people to resist any law. That was in Augusta. I became dissatislied with the office

and resigned. The truth was, I could not tind men as assistants who could take tlie

oath. l"wrote to the Secretary of the Treasury, Mr. McCulloch, and told him I could .

not get com]»etent men in that district to take the oath, and suggested that the require-

ment of the oath should be waived, so far at least as our department was concerned.

He made the proposition to the Senate, but it was rejected. I resigned my office, aud
went back to Atlanta. There was no resistance whatever to eulbrcing the tax on cot-

ton. I was then solicited to run for the convention. At lirst I did not wish to do so.

A Loyal League committee waited upon me; and I tiually consented to run, aud was
ele(;led.

Quentio». As a republican ?

AyiK'd-er. Yes, sir; and 1 served through the convention. They then wanted that I

should become treasurer of the State; T was elected by the general assembly to that

position, which I now bold.

Qiictitioii. When were you elected treasurer?

Answer. In lSti8—the Ist of August or the last of July.

Question. Yon have been treasurer ever since, and are so now f

jlnsiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Aud yon have been a republican all the time?
Aiisu-cr. Well, I have acted with the republican party all the time ; I have been in

favor of reconstruction; but since we have got things mixed up there financially, I

have been lighting on the line of honesty, to keep our State from liecoming bankrupt
;

and although called a radical republican all the time, I liave, in the selection of

officers taken the best men, whether republicans or democrats. Whoever I thought
was th<! most conscientious and capable man, I voted for. I became so much disgusted

with the manner in which our State machinery was running, that I could not always
sustain the men whom the republican party put up, for sometimes they put up most
iuconi]>(tent men. When they put up good men I voted for tlumi.

Question. What is your opinion as to the manner in which the laws are administered

in the State of Georgia ?

Ansner. Well, sir, tliey have been violated. There has been very little regard paid

to law. I am now speaking of our State laws.

Qiiesiion. In v\'hat way have they been disregarded?
Ansuur. I spL-alc with regard to the party in power there and the acts of the governor.

As the records will show, there has been very little attention paid to law. If you want
to knovv' th(^ points in which the law has been disregarded, I can show you in a few
miuutcs. At the close of the war there was cougiderable old bonded indebtedness of

Geoi'gia : and on the IJith of December, 1866, this provision, passed by the legislature,

was ap;)roved

:

" That his excellency, the governor, be and is hereby authorized to execute said

l)ouds prepared as aforesaid to the amount of .$600,000, and to issue the same upon such
ternui and in such manner as he may deem best for the interests of the State, in ex-

change for or redemption of said old bonds of the State, falling due in 1868, 1869, and
I'^TO.'^'

That was a provision for taking iip the old bonds falling duo in 1868, 1869, and 1870.

Those bonds have not yet been talcen up. About )til73,000 of those bonds are still out-

standing. The reason is that the governor in 1868 sold $265,000 of those 7 x)er cent,

mortgage bonds, and he used the proceeds for other purposes than the ledemption of

the old bonds. Fifty-five thousand dollars of the proceeds of those bonds he gave to

H.I. Kimball to finish an opera house called Kimball's Opera House, in the city of

Atlanta, although there was no approi)riatiou for that purpose at all. The general

assembly in 1868 refused to make any appropriation for that jjurpose. The governor
went on and sold these bouds. He drew drafts in the first place in favor of Kimball
lV)r $:^r),000. Some of them were drawn in blank; they did not say to whom tlie money
should be paid; but Kimball received the money, to be appli(;d to this Kimball's Opera
House, as it was called. The building was used for a State office. The city of Atlanta

had leased it for a certain number of years. When it was found that this $:3r),000 had,

been used in that way, the general assembly called on me to make a report. I Icuew

nothiug of the matter. The governor used this nu)ney and for months never reported

to me iis treasurer. I got a report from the bank. Finding out th(! amount that had
been used, the legislature appointed a committee to investigate the matter; aud that

connnittee icpovted that this was done without any authority of law aud in violation

of the expressed will of the general assembly. As soon as the general assembly ad-
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jonrued, Governor Bollock went immediately to New York and drew a draft for $20,000

niore on the P'ourth National Bank and paid it to Kimball, notwithstandiuj^ the posi-

tive and enii)batic action of the general assembly. The vote of the legislature on the
report that was adopted was one of censure and condemnation of his conduct.

I will now take up the next point to which I would call attention. The general

assembly passed an act authoriziug the governor to issue a certain number of bmids to

pay ofl' the members of the general assembly and other expenses of that body. The
expenses of the general assendjly up to the time they adjourned were not exceeding
$300,000—about "§250,000, I think; but I will put them at .$300,000. The governor
issued bonds under that act to the amount of $-.',000,000. He had my name engraved
upon them without any authority and sent them otf to New York without reporting

them to the treasury at all He ue\ er did report them until I ascertained and reported
them myself; then he made a feint of reporting them. He lirst undertook to make it

api)ear that he had the right to use my name, when the law showed plainly that he
had uo such right and that the bonds were illegal withuut my signature. On the 30th
of November last he wrote me a letter stating that he had ordered .S500,000 of those

bonds to be sent to the treasurer's olhce, canceled, from Clews ili: Co., New York, and
that the balance would be along in a few days, as I think he stated. That balance haa
never come yet. That makes a million and a half still outstanding.
Then there was an act passed authorizing the governor to issue gold bonds to meet

the bonded indelitedness and other expenses of the State. The general assembly at

that time had not determined to put off the time of meeting till Novemljer. They
really did not need any Ijouds for the purposes of last year ; they were legislating for

last year ; but for this year, the meeting of the general assembly having been put olF

till Novend)er, 1 suppose that considering all the expense and extravagance that there

has been there, the entire amount necessary might have been not exceeding §1,000,000

(if bonds. At farthest not more than that was needed of these gold bonds. The gov-
ernor liad §4,000.000 of those bonds engraved.
The constitution of Georgia sets apart the poll tax, the liquor tax, the tax on shows,

and some otlicr small special taxes for school purposes. Those taxes are appropriated
by the constitution for that purpose and no other. The last general assembly, upon
the recommendation of the governor, passed a resolution to take those funds and use
them for general purposes. I opposed it and would not pay out the funds for those
purposes. I got an order from the governor to pay a particular amount to each mem-
ber. I refused to do it on the ground that in the lirst place this fund was set apart
and appro])riated already. The law is that you cannot take funds appropriated to one
purpose and a]>ply them to another. The constitution already appropriated these

funds. The othti' ground of my refusal was that the legislature could not by resolu-

tion make an appropriation ; that it must be by bill, which must have its three several
readings. I got a notice from the liuance committee, who held a meeting on the sub-

ject. They seemed determined to have the funds anyhow, declaring that unless 1 gave
up those funds they would be taken from me and I should be removed from office. I

answered them very independently, stating that it was my desire to accommodate
them if I could do so legally, liut that under the circumstances I should not do it.

They did not take the funds at that time, but they weut to work and passed a bill,

a regular appropriation bill, appropriating those funds to general purposes—placing in

lieu of them, it is true, some bonds that the governor had before declared illegal.

Those bonds are in the treasury how. They took the funds ; after the passage of the
bill I paid them out. There are none of those funds now in the treasury. The fund
that has accrued since from poll tax and all other such sources is all Used ; there is

no school fund for the ediication of negroes or anybody else; it is all used up, though
we are ])aying a school conniiissioner and running all expenses. A very clever man
named Lewis, a northerner, was appointed by the governor as school commissioner.
He has an office and is running the expenses as if there were a school fund, but there
is none.
Another point in Avhich the State administration has violated the law is in the use of

State railroad funds for other purposes than railroads. The law is that the funds of
those roads shall be paid into the treasury of the State of Georgia at the eml of each
month, except so much as may be necessary for the expenses of the road. The gov-
ernor luis paid out large amounts directly from the receii)ts of the road, without the
money ever reaching the treasury ; and it has been paid for other than railroad pur-
poses. A short time ago he paid to a committee that he selected himself, without any
authority of law, to go to Kentucky to try to inlluence the general assembly there to
grant a charter for arailroad from Cincinnati to Chiiltanooga, both places outside of
the State of Georgia—the road not touching Georgia at any point—to pay this commit-
tee, for which there was no appropriation, and which was not authorized by any law,
the governor drew his warrant for $2,729.
Here is another point which I have put down—approving the election law. Tlio

new constitution of the State of Georgia requires that a person to be a voter musi in

the lirst ))lac(* reside in the State six months next preceding *the election, and thirty
days in the county. It i^rovides further that uo person shall vote who, if challenged,
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shall refuse to tiikc an oath, the form of which is <;iveu in the statute. The right of
challenge is also given, and it is provided that no person shall be permitted to register,

vote, oi"l)()ld oliiee unless he complies with certain requirements.

The election law on that subject provides:
"' But they shall have no power to refuse the ballot of anv male person of apparent

full age."

So that the person ofiering to vote cannot be required to swear that ho is twenty
cue years of age, though the constitution requires that he shall be of that age.

Section 8 of this law provides:
" They shall not permit, any person to challenge any vote."

The consiitution gives the right of challenging; but the election law^ does not.
" Shall not hinder or delaj^"

When a person is challenged it is natural to suppose that it takes some little time,

whicli may be called hiuderiug and delaying.

The managers take an oath not to permit any one to challenge, which is contrary to

the provision of the constitution securiug the right of challenging. The oath which
the managers take is :

" I Avill not permit any one to challenge, delay, or hinder any voter from the free and
speedy casting of his ballot."

Those are th(! ])oints violative of the constitution in the election law which Governor
Bullock approved.
Here is a small item—the paying of an inordinate sum for the printing of the con-

stitution of the State in x>amphlet form. I have here a copy of the pamphlet. I have
conversed with several printers as to what would have been the reasonable expense of
getting up that book. The pamphlet contains simply the constitution of Georgia

—

nothing else, except what is called an analysis. Some of these printers with whom I

have conversed, say ten cents a copy woukl be ample. Some say fifteen, and some say
twentj^ At the latter price ten thousand copies Avould cost ,$2,000. Most of them esti-

mate the expense not higher than §1,500. The governor drew his warrant for liil'.l,500

for the publication of that little book ; and I paid it out of the treasury.

The next point is paying the interest on the Alabama and Chattanooga Railroad
bonds, to which the State granted aid. The law on this subject provides:

'' In the event that any bond or bonds, so indorsed by the State as provided in the
first section of this act, or the interest thereon, shall not be i>aid by the said railroad
company at maturity, it shall be the duty of the governor, upon information thereof,

to seize and take possession of all the property of said railroad company."
The act then goes on to provide that the earnings of the railroad shall be apjjlied to

the extinguishment of such uni)aid bonds and interest. The govcriior pays no atten-
tion to that provision, but is paying the interest on those bonds.

Qttctiiion. Does the law which you have just cited require the seizure and sale of the
road in case of default?
Anstver. Yes, sir; it goes on and makes that provision.

QuesHon. Without seizing or attenqjting to sell the road, the governor goes on and
pays the interest ?

Answer. Yes, sir. He has a sort of sub-treasury in New York ; he has another in his
office, and he has sub-treasuries all around. I call them .sub-treasuries : they are.

unknown to the law. The law provides emphatically that no money shall be paid out
of the treasury without an apxiroxiriation and a wawaiit. He pays no morere.spect to
that provision than if there were no law*. He gets the money from New York, or from
the State road, or wherever he can pick it up from the sale of bonds, legally or other-
wise.
Another point is in regard to paying more clerks than the law authorizes. It author-

izes only one ; he has five or six clerks in his office.

The law also requires that no Avarrant shall be paid as a reward unless the reward
is published—that is, unless public notice of the reward is given in the papers.

By Mr. Blaik :

Question. You mean rewards offered for the apprehension of criminals?
Answer. Yes, sir. Tlie law on the subject is specific :

"The governor shall, in his discretion, offer, and cause to be paid, rewards for the
detection or apprehension of tlie perpi^trator of any felony committed within the State

;

btit no such- reward shall be paid to any officer who .shall arrest such ])erson in the reg-
ular discharge of his duty by virtue of process in his hands to be executed, nor to any
]icrson Avho has arrested the offender previous to tlie publication of the reward."
The governor paid to a Mi". Mo.ss ii?6,000. The circum,stances were these: The par-

ties some foui' y(!ars before had left and gone to Ncv.' Mexico. As I understand, they
had conunitted some crime in Cherokee County. Those who ai'c familiar with the cir-

cumstances say the men never would have come back or been heard of any more. This
reward was never ]uiblished ; it was simply written out in the executivt! office and put
in the secretary's oifice,.with orders not to publi.sh it for two weeks. The two weeks
expired. The secretary went to the executive office, and tliey told him to still with-
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hold it. Parties finally came with the proof that they had the prisoii<n-s. I believe

they went clear to New Mexico to hunt them up. I refused to pay the warrants. I

paid one for §2,000 before I knew the circumstances. They then pulled out two moi'e,

amounting to §4,000, and I thought it time to look into the matter. I found that the

reward had uot been published, and I refused to pay those warrants. Finally the legis-

lature passed a resolution compelling me to pay them, and I paid them. Those same
I)arties are now at liberty. They broke out (I do not know whether there was any
understanding or not) and $6,000 more is offered for them. The illegality in that case

was the payment of rewards which were never xiublished.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Have your school funds been misapproi)riated so that the schools in Geor-
gia cannot be run f

Aiiturcr. AVe have not any common-school fund there. It is all used up. There are

a few bonds there, but I do uot suppose they could bo negotiated.
Quesiioii. The machinery of the office alone is kept up?
Ansieer. That is all.

Question. Were there funds enough for your schools, if they had been properly used ?

Ansiver. The funds were uot large. I suppose the Avhole amount of those funds, if

we had them, would not be more than hve or six hundred thousand dollars.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. But are uot those taxes which you mentioned to be added?
Answer. It does not all amount to more than the sum 1 have just named.
Question. Auuually ? *

An>iwcr. Yes, sir ; those are annual taxes. The comptroller was required to separat
the taxes ; but since last August they have uot been separated at all ; they are all used
just as coiinuon funds.

Question. I understood you to say that j)rior to that time these taxes j)roduced five or
six hundred thousand dollars a year ^

Answer. No, sir; I did not mean to say that. I do not know what they did produce.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Give us all the information you have relative to the granting of pardons by
the governor, the general issuhig of proclamations oifering rewards, and the cost of
these various things.

Answer. I have here a statement of the jiardons granted by the governor. It is taken
directly from the pardon-book, by Mr. Hemphill, who is the agent of the Associated
Press at Atlanta, and the x^'oprietor of the Constitution, a uewspaj>er published there.

It appears by this statement that since August 2, 1868, the governor has acted on four
hundred and twenty-six applications for pardons. Of these, three hunched and twenty-
one cases, involving three hundred and fortj'-six oft'enses, were pardoned, as follows :

Murders pardoned 48 Horse-stealing 7
Murders comnmted 18 Bigamy G
Simple larcenies pardoned .t 76 Forgery '. 4
Other larcenies 14 Perjury 3
Assaults Avith intent to murder 20 Robbery . 8
Burglaries in the night 18 Fornication and adultery 7
Burglaries in the day 18 Seduction 1

Manslaughter 18 Incestuous adultery 1

Assaults 20 Arson 5
Assaults with intent to commit rape. .. 5 Misdemeanor 9
Homicide 1 Bastardy 1

Cheating and swindling 3 Rape 1

Stabbing 3 Compounding felony 1

As regards the finances of the State, it is impossible to give testimony i)recisely

without jjutting it in figures on paper. I have prepared a statement in that form,
complying, as I understand, with the instruction which I received from the circular of
the chairman of the committee, Mr. Scott. In this statement I have tried to present
as clearly as possible the details in regard to the management of the State finances,
and the contrast between different periods. This statement I certify to be correct.

The statement is as follows :

1857. Ordinary expenses of Georgia $275, 632 43
1858. do. do. do 304, 637 59
1859. do. do. do 369,6.53 53
1860. do. do. do 325,600 00

Total ordinary expenses of Georgia for four
years immediately i)receding the war 1, 275, 523 55
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1868. Less than .six months' ordinary expenses of Georgia $401, 8G5 03
18(59. One yt-ar's orcliuary expenses of Georgia 848, 298 2o
1870. One year's ordinary expenses of Georgia 924, 413 27

Total ordinary expenses of Georgia for less than two and a half
years by (jovernor Bullock 2, 174, 576 58

Subtract total ordinary expenses for four years under Govern-
ors Johnson and Brown 1,275,523 55

Leaves against Governor Bullock's administration for less

than two and a half years, more than Johnson and Brown
for four full years 899,0.53 03

In the above estimates the payments on account of public debt are taken out of both
accounts, also all ajipropriations to or for repairs of buildings. The payments on ac-

count of school fund do not enter into the account of either ; as, under Governor Bul-
lock's recommendation, the school fund has been taken and used for general purposes.
The payments on account of artificial limbs and schooling maimed soldiers, burial of
confederate dead, removing furniture, library, ohice iixtures, books aud papers, from
Milledgevillc to Atlanta, are all taken out. Also payments on account of convention
scrip. So each i^eriod stands fairly alike on ordinary expenses, which shows Governor
Bullock's administration, for less than two and a half years, to have been eight hun-
dred and ninety-nine thousand fifty-three dollars and three cents more than Governor
Joliiison's and Governor Brown's for four years.

With no deduction from the accounts as officially reported they stand thus :

18.57. Total amount paid out of State treasury S-jH, "89 90

1858. do do do do do 745,470 04
1859. do do do do do 874,4(55 92
1860. do do do do do 662,000 00

^
2,794,330 46

186?. Less than six months $i430,957 77
1869. Twelve months 1, 857, 825 98
1870. Twelvemonths 1,470,021 02

3, 758, 804 77
Deduct four years before the war 2,794, 33G, 46

Leaves an excess of Governor' Bullock for less than two and a half
years over four years 964, 468 31

Nine Imndred and sixty-four thousand four hundred and sixty-eight

dollars and thirty-one cents.

Total for extra legal services for 1855, 1856, 1857, 1858, 1859,

and 1860, (six years) 17,000 00
Governor Bullock, for extra legal services, for less than half

the time, has paid 36,600 OO
Rewards for fugitives, 1855, 1856, 1857, 1858, 1859, aud 1860,

(six years,) all charged to contingent fund 1, 400 00
Governor Bullock lias paid by warrants on the treasury,

(not charged to t he contingent fund) 51, 100 00
Less than half the time though thirty times as much.

Advertising i)roclamatious, 1855, 1850, 1857, 1858, 1859, and
1860, (six years,) 5, 000 00

Governor Bullock has paid for less than half the time, by
warrants on the State treasury 98, 300 00

Incidental expenses of executive department, 1856, 1857,

1858, 1859, 1860, 1866, aud 1867, (seven years.) Under
this head only twenty dollars is charged, but I have in-

cluded " small articles furuished executive department,"
and " articles furnished executive mansion," making in

all 2,188 76
Governor Bullock's " incidental expenses " for less than three

years 23, 800 00

The section of the appropriation bill, authorizing the governor to draw
warrants on the treasury for services or labor authorized by the gen-
eral assembly, for which no provision is made for compensation, has
never been used by any governor except Governor [Brown] ? and then
in amount about seven thousand dollars, while Governor Bullock has
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used it to the tuuouut of four liuudrod aud sixteen thousand six hun-
dred and twenty dollars and ninety cents $416, 620 9t

The anuniil general tax since Governor Bullock's administration has been about

$300,000 annually more than it was belbre the war. Still he has had engraved six

million (f;6,OOt),o6o) dollars new State bonds, while the rate of State taxation now is

over six tiuHjs as high as it was in 1860.

Taking last year as an average, the tax for this year, independent of the

rental of the Western aud Atlantic Railroad, will be $1, 280, 756 57

Rental of Western and Atlantic Railroad 300, 000 00

Ordinary expenses for 1871 $500, 000 00

(Which is considerably over the average before the war,

and more than in 1860.)

One-half rental of Western and Atlantic Railroad for school

purposes , 150,000 00

1.580,7.56 57

650,000 00

(This last amount, however, together with all the other funds set apart

by the new constitution specially for common-school purposes, aud to

be used for no other, the governor has used, aud is, using for ordinary
expenses,) leaves a surplus to meet iAie public debt of 1871 930, 756 57

Matured State bonds before 1870 $173, 000 00

Which should and would all have beeu hypothecated
with the 7 per cent, mortgage bonds issued specially for

that puri)ose, had not Governor Bullock, in violation of ex-

press statute, sold $265,000 and used a portion of the i)ro-

ceeds on the Kimball Opera House.
State bonds due in 1871 1.54,250 00

Interest due in 1871 427, 375 00

f
754,625 00

Leaves a surplus for 1871 176, 131 57

After paying all ])ast due" bonds and coupons.
Where the necessity ibr these six millions $6, 000, 000 00
* new State bonds Governor Bullock has had engraved, or any portion
of I hem ? With any regard for economy there should be a large sur-

plus in the State treasury. At the close of 1869, I honestly estimated
the surplus for 1870, after paying all liabilities, including the maturing
interest, at over four hundred thousand dollars, to be used as a sink-

ing fund.
These six millions of new State bonds are exclusive of the State aid to

railroads; for, independent of this amount, the governor has had en-

yiaved aud sent to him State gold bonds, purporting to be for addi-

tional State aid to the Brunswick and Albany Railroad Company 2,760,000 00
Add to this the amount the governor reported to Henry Clews & Com-

jtany the middle of March, as having received the indorsement of the
State, (how many more since 1 do not know, as the governor refuses

to answer) ._. - 5,923,000 00
The yu'evious bonded indebtedness, including all bonds issued before

1869 6,554,450 00

20,637,500 00
Deduct new currency bonds returned to State treasurer's office 500, 000 00

And we have present State liabilities 20, 137, 500 00

counting all the bonds engraved, legitimate and in use, the amount of interest on
which will be twice the amount of the annual general State tax.

But the evil and danger do not stop here. The goA^ernor approved bills granting
further State aid, or iudoisement, to railroads, to the amount of about thirty millions

(§30,000,000) more. And if I have beeu correctly informed, State indorsed bonds have
been issued by Governor Bullock before a mile of railroad was completed, or the lirst

cent of subscription paid. If this recklessness aud Avasto are not .sjieedily stopped, but
are followed up with new issues of bonds, the result is inevitable. The State will soon
bo absorbed, and the toiling farmers, with v/hat little they can gather up, will be forced
to tiee their homes for safety from the tax-gatherers.

N. L. ANGIER,
Treasurer of Georgia,
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Exppcthig tliat I sliould be asked in regard to Ku-Klux outrages, I have written
dowu all tliat I know on tliat subject ; and \, would like tiiis statement to go in sis my
testimony. Of course, niter 1 have read it, I am willing to answer any questious.

The statement is as follows :

I know nothing of what are called Ku Klux only from Madam Rumor aud news-
paper reports ; have never seen one. Think lawlessness has exhibited itself in some
sections of Georgia as it does at times in every State, and ju'obaljly always will. Can-
not say how far it has been political, T)ut believe it was in somt; sections, and that bad
men, bolh black and white, are now making use of the disguise lor iiersoual gain aud
personal revenge, and boys for mischief. Think it a wonder that people are as quiet
and peaceable as they are, with the corrupt rings and terrible phinderings, and over
three hundred pardons by the governor—a large portion for murder, in some cases
before a trial. There is nf) such thing as general disturbance and never has been.
Many negroes and some whites are acldicted to stealing and licciiliousness, and this

has caused disturbance and violence in some locations. If individual accounts are
true, there is a terrible condition of aftairs in certain neighborhoods. Thiuk these
jiictures are greatly overdrawn, as they have proven to be in most cases, and in some
entirely i'alse. Parties injured aud at interest are apt to give extravagant accounts,
aud with unprincipled men wishing to promote political and selfish ends, this is a cheap
and convenient way of making ijolitical capital and inducing large rewards for made-
up sham cases. Think our coiirts are sufficient to restrain lawlessness if the governor
will quit his wholesale pardoning. Am of opinion the rights of the negro are safer in

the hands of uj)right, intelligent white jurors, than negro jurors in the prtisent con-
dition of that race. There is with some a strong prejudice, and even hatred, agaiust
the negro, mostly from political rights conferred on him ; but a great portion of the
Avisest, best, and most substantial men, especially if they are politicians and have no
objection to holding office, are rather pleased that these rights have been conferred to
the extent of voting, as it makes more offices, and they will control the negro and
through him gain political and representative strength for the^outh. The South, in

general, admit the legal, binding force of the reconstruction acts and the new amend-
ments to the Constitution until changed legitimately, if changed at all ; claiming the
right of repeal or a judicial negative.

Question. Does the statement of figures which you have presented embrace the gen-
eral history of the outstanding bonds ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. In counection with my statement that I know nothiug about out-
rages, 1 will say that I had some knowledge of the seizing of illicit stills. A sc^uad of
three or four Federal soldiers Avould sometimes be sent olf to the mountains to arrest
parties engaged in illicit distilling, but no one was ever killed or maltreated. The
jieople did not Seem to bo very rebellious against these soldiers. They tried to secrete
their stills, but nobody was hurt. The soldiers brought the stills in, and frequently
the men along with them as prisoners. I never heard of any violence at all in con-
nection with these matters.

Question. What effect do you tbink the wholesale pardons to which you have referred

have had upon the administration of justice in your State ?

Answer. It was generally reported, I recollect, in Hancock County or the county ad-
joining, that a negro said that he had instructions from Governor Bullock, that if they
did such and such crimes they should be pardoned. Those pardons had a bad effect

upon the comnumity. Whether it was the truth or not, the general impression with
the colored people was that if they committed crime Governor Bullock would pardon
them. I was surprised myself when I saw the record of those pardons ; I did not
know that the pardons had reached one-tenth of the number that actually appears by
the records.

Question. You spoke of money having been paid illegally to this man Kimball ; state

"U'ho and what he is ?

Answer. He is a man who came to Atlanta, I suppose between three and four years
ago ; that was the iirst I ever saw of him. As to that opera house, my prediction has
been verified in one respect. I said to a great many members of Congress here that
that opera building would sell for $400,000, although it did not cost half that amount.
It has been sold to the State for $380,000 ; so that I only missed it by $20,000. I have no
question in my mind that Governor Bullock was interested with Kimball in the opera
house and 1 judge so from this fact : When they were trying to negotiate a lease with the
citizens. Governor Bullock took me into his private room at the National Hotel ; he
wanted to get my influence to pay $25,000 rent for the portion of the opera house
needed for State purposes. I told him that it was au outrageous rent ; that the city

was not able to pay it. He did not say positively that the State would pay it, but
intimated that he thought the thing could be arranged. We finally made the lease for

$6,000 when he wanted us to pay $23,000. Another circumstance on which I fimud my
,
ju<lgment is that ho paid $55,000 to Kimball without any appropriation, $20,000 of it

being paid after the general assembly had censured him severely. These facts satisfy

mc; that he was interested in the concern. The building -was finally sold for twice it.s

cost.
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Qncslion. Wlicrc is tlio residence of Kimball uow ?

Au^iivcr. He lives in Athuita.

Queslion. Does lie control some railroads?

Answer. It is reported that he has bonght out the BrunsAvielc and Albany Railroad,

two hundred and thirty-iive miles in length. Couaut or Clews, in Ne\Y York, ai'e in

some way mixed up in the aliair, I believe.

QuesUon. Has Kimball become a man of great reputed wealth ?

Avm-cr. I understood (I do not know that it is so) that he gave in his property

recently at sr)00,000. When he came thore, three or four years ago, he was reported to

be bankrupt for a very large amount. I do not know whether he was or not. He now
pretends to own a hotel which, with fm-niture and everything in it, I would presume
to be worth not less than !^600,000. Then he has bought this Brunswick road ; when
he pretended to buy it there had been issued to the road, I suppose, $200,000.

Question. Is he one of the lessees of the State road ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I think so; he and Bullock run together in everything. I simply

form my judgment from what I see ; I have never seen the contract, and know nothmg
about the matter except from outside appearances. I understand that he owns also a

majority of the stock of the bank there. He has taken stock in all the railroads. He
is president, I believe, of four of these new railroad schemes gotten up lately.

Question. The Chattanooga and Atlanta Railroad belongs to the State, and is known
as the State road f

Answer. Yes, sir.
•

Question. Give us, as briefly as yon can, a history of the management of that road for

the last few years.

Ansiver. The road, two or three years before the war, paid about 1450,000 net earn-

ings annually; sometimes it was over that, and sometimes a little under, I think.

Since the war the freight over that road has vastly increased. Furniture, hollow-ware,

agricultiu'al implements, and everything of that kind, now go over that road from the

West, being manufactured in Cincinnati. That freight used to go generally oyer other

roads. Thus the business of the I'oad is vastly increased. I understand that during most
of the business season eighteen freight trains a day have been running. Governor
Bullock is president of this road, ex officio. For the months of October, November, and
December, 1869, the road paid in nothing ; Mr. Foster Blodgett was then treasurer. In
January, 1870, he paid in ^25,000, and in February of the same year $20,000, making
$45,000! From that time up to the close of his administration, December 27, 1870, he

did not pay into the treasury one cent. Before I left, the treasurer of Georgia had paid

over $400,000 of outstanding debts against the road, and it was said there was still a

large amoiiut behind.
Question. About how much ?

Answer. I do not *ls:now ; I understood there were several hundred claims that had
not been passed upon.

Question. Was it believed that it would amount in all to $700,000 ?

Ansioer. It was reported by some of the officers of the road that it would amount to

that. That is simply a report ; I do not know that it is true.

Que^stion. What lias become of the money earned by the road?
Anstccr. Well, sir, that is the inquiry of the people generally ; they believe it has been

fraudulently used by the officers of that road. Nearly every man wlio had anything to

do with it came there poor ; Mr. Bullock, for one, never paid a cent of tax in Georgia
in his life, unless he paid it this year. I have looked at the records myself; and up to

last year, %^heu the investigation of the committee was made, he had never given in a
cent'of tax. He is now buying plantations and stocking them with iine English stock

;

he has the best of everything and lives verj' fast.

Qncslion. What is his salary ? •

Aiiswer. Only $4,000 a year—not a third of his family expenses ; I do not believe it is

one-sixtli. He remarked to a person that it would not feed his horses on oats. Every
one who has had anything to do with that road came there apparently poor ; and uow
they are all building new houses, and riding in iine carriages.

Question. In your opinion what ought that road under good honest management to

have paid the State ?

Answer. Mr. Jones, Avho was formerly treasurer of the State, and received the funds of
that road for eight years, stated to me that his last estimate, which was in 1867, was
$600,000 net earning's annually. Governor Brown, who was governor eight years, wag
in my office a little over a year ago, and stated to me that he knew the business of that

road'; that he had run it for eight years; that he knew what the rate of freight was
when he ran it, and what it was now; that he had plantations on the road and was
very familiar with its business ; and that the road could be made to pay, and ought to

pay at that time, $55,000 net earnings monthly. The estimate of Mr. Jones was $600,000
a year, which would be $50,000 a month.

(incslion. The road has since been leased to a party of gentlemen ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Who compose that party ?

Anm-er. Mi-. Caineroii, Mr. Delano, Mr. Thomas A. Scott, Mr. Kimball, Mr. Eichard
Peters, Mr. John P. King, Joe Brown, and others.

Question. Do Kimball and Joe Brown hold any more than one share each ?

Answer. I do not know anything about that ; they keep these things covered up.

Question. The governor is not ostensibly iu that lease "?

Ansu-cr. No, sir; if he is represented at all, I think it is in some fictit'jus way.
Quesiion. Has anj" effort been made to conceal the true state of the iodebleduess ami

liabilities of the State of Georgia?
Answer. Yes, sir. The law requires the treasurer to make reports of all bonded indebt-

edness—tlie amount of interest and bonds falling due. The treasurer is sworn to do
this. This thing had been covered up so much iu darkness by Governor Bullock, that

I wrote to Mr. Clews, requesting him to give me a statement of the bonds he had
received, the amount hypothecated, the amount sold, at what price, and what disposi-

tion had been made of the proceeds. My son presented the letter to Mr. Clews. Mr.
Clews immediately telegraphed to Governor Bullock, stating what I wanted. Governor
Bullock telegraphed to Mr. Clews to answer no questions at all, and stated that if I

wanted to Icnow such things I could learn them at his office. I wrote him a letter ask-

ing for that information ; but I got no answer. The daj^ I wrote the letter he was not
there ; but he got there before I left. I wrote a letter to his secretary, requesting a
statement iu relation to the bonds of some of the railroads. I got no answer before I

left, though the governor had returned and was in his office. The secretary, when my son
went up, said that he could not answer it, and that he would refer it to Governor Bul-
lock. I got a letter from my sou lately, stating that it has never been answered. The
attempt is to keep all that matter concealed.

Question. The attempt of the governor aud his frieuds Avho ought to give the infor-

mation ?

Answei: Yes, sir.

Question. They have it aud can give it, you think ?

Answer. Yes, sir, certainly. I have here the statement of the party who engraveil
those bonds, showing that the governor has had four million of gold bonds engraved

—

out-aud-out State bonds.

By the ChaiIijian, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. Did you reside in Georgia during the war ?

Anszver. I lived there until the last part of 1863. I weut out during that time once.

I felt as if everything was going to ruiu ; I wanted to save a little, and I passed thi'ough

the lines by the way of Memphis, carrying off what effects I could at great hazard. I

passed the videttes" and pickets, I don't know how ; but I did pass them without say-

ing anything to them. I came to this place. The way I got back ^as, that I was seut
back l)y the Government on the steamer that was running to City Point, on the James
River. I came on to see what arrangements I could make with the Government here.

I weut back and got my family out.

Question. You succeeded iu avoiding any comidicatiou with the rebellion ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. When were you elected treasurer of Georgia ?

Answer. In 18(53, on the reorganization of the State government.
Question. Is the treasurer of your State elected by the people or the legislature?

Answer. By the legislature.

Question. You came iu as treasurer at the same time Mr. Bullock came in as governor ?

Anstvcr. Yes, sir.

Question. Have yoa and Governor Bullock had a great deal of controversy aud diffi-

culty ?

Answer. None until he begau to use those funds of the State.

Question. Your controversies have all been iu relation to these official matters ?

Answer. As you ask me that question, I can state fully how our difficulty iirst com-
menced, if you would like to hear it.

Question. I do not know that it is important. But, in relation to all these matters of

which you have been testifying, you aud Governor Bullock have been iu controversy ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Has that controversy been very severe and bitter ?

Ansiver. It has.

Question. There is no frieudly feeliug betweeu you aud him ?

Answer. I do not speak to him. I think he would to me if I would let him.
Question. You consider him a bad man ?

Answer. Very.
Question. A corrupt m.au ?

Ansiver. Yes, very corrupt.
Question. A corrupt ofiQcer ?

Ansiver. I do.



GEORGIA. 159

Question. You alicl he have made a ^ood many publications on this subject in the
newspapers and by pamphlets ?

Answer. Yes, sii".

Question. Each of you has given to the public your version of these things in a great

variety of ways ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

QiicMion.^ lie does not admit what vou charge—that he has been guilty of corrup-
tion ?

"

'

Answer. He does not deny that he has done Avhat I have reported here. He would
not admit that anything he did was wrong.

Question. He does not admit that he has been guilty of any corruption in relation to

these tinancial matters?
Answer. I do not suppose he would admit it.

Question. He attempts, in a public "way, and in published documents, to justify all

that he has done, does he not ?

Answer. I do not think he answers these points as regards these funds which he has
used. He disclaims, of course, doing anything illegal.

Question. The answers that he has made are not satisfactory to you ?

Answer. Not at all.

Question. But he claims to have answered all these things in such a way as to show
that he has not been guilty of any malpractice, misfeasance, or corruption in office ?

Answer. I presume that he looks at it in that light.

Question. He so claims, does he not ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How did you come to appear here as a witness ?

Answer. I was summoned here.
Question. Had you any correspondence -with the committee, or any portion of it, before

you were summoned ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. With whom?
Ansicer. The chairman, Mr. Scott, sent me a circular, in the first j)lace.

Question. Asking you to give, officially, certain information ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; asking answers to certain cxuestions.

Question. You gave that iuformatiou ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. It Avas an official statemeu't so far as you could make it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you have any private correspondence with any member of the com-
mittee ?

Answer. I do not know that there was any private corresi^ondeuce. I received j'.

letter from Mr. Beck.
Mr. Beck. It was not a private letter

;
you can tell all there was in it.

Answer. I did not understand that it was private. It simply stated that I might
possibly be wanted as a witness, and that he would like me to post myself on the rail-

road matters and other subjects. It had no relation to politics or anything of that
kind.

By the Chairm.vx, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Did you answer Mr. Beck '?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is that the only correspondence that you have had with reference to your
attendance as a witness ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is all.

Question. You had no communication from Mr. Scott except the circular already
mentioned ?

Ansicer. That was all.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Was not my only communication to you a statement that you might be
called before the committee, and advising you to inform yourself about the manage-
ment of those railroads, and, I believe, also about the pardons ?

*

Answer. Yes, sir ; I tliink those were the two points.

By the CnAimiAX, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. You think that Governor Bullock has been extravagant in his expeudi-
tures

; that Avhere the money he has paid out has gone for the public service, the items
are extravagant ?

Answer. They have been, as a general thing ; sometimes ten, sometimes fifty times as
high as corresponding expenditures before the war. I think they are very extrava-
gant. I think they were intended to subsidize whatever they were applied to. I think
that was his purpose.
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Qiicslion. "Where he has paid, out niouey for any public service, you think lie has paid
a great <h'al too imieli—more than honest compensation ?

Aufiircr. Ves, sir ; that is my idea.

Question. And you think that a good deal of the public funds has been absorbed by
himself and his friends ; has not been exp(!nded for the ])ublic service at all ?

Ausivcr. Well, I can say nothing except in relation to tliat contingent fund which has
been aVisorbed, I do not know how, and those bonds ; I do not know what l^s become
of Ihr-m ; I am in the dark with reference to that njatter.

Qucttlion. As to that contingent fund, how nuich of it has really been paid out for

proper matters of })ublic service and public concern, you do not know ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. All you know is that the expenditure is large—larger than was formerly
made ?

Ansirer. Yes, sir.

Question. Would you not naturally have expected that the expenses of your State
would be very much larger now than they v.ere before the war ?

Answer. They probably would be somewhat larger, after what wo have gone through
with.

Question. Do you not know, as a matter of public information, that the expenses of

all the Northern States ai'C several times greater now than before the w'ar ?

Answer. I do not know how it is with tliem ; I suppose their expenses are greater.

Question. Do you not know liy public information that the expenses of the Northern
States are very much larger than they were before the war ?

AnsHxr. I suppose that some of them are. I get re]forts from the various States, but
1 have not compared them.

Question. You know that the changes in the currency and changes in prices ha^-e

tended to make everything vastly more expensive than before the war ?

A nswer. I believe that tamily expenses, &c., are a little more extravagant than they
were before the war.

Qiiestiou. Do you not know that wages and salaries of every kind have to be much
higher now than they were then ?

Answer. In some cases they are not. My salary is only ^2,000 a year. I do not live

on it however; I have other income. The salaries of the public officers of Georgia are
the same as they were before the war. The salaries of the governor's secretaries have
been increased, but the other salaries—the salaries of tin; governor, comptroller, treas-

Tirer, secretary of state, attorney general, and other officers-^are the same as before the
war.

Question. The first State bonds that were authorized by your legislature were some
bonds to take up the old State debt ?

Answer. No, sir ; not since Governor Bullock came in. There were some bonds issued
in 1866 to take up the old State debt. The first that Governor Bullock issued were in

186S.

Qucsiion. You read an act passed in 1866 authorizing the issue of 1600,000 of bonds.
Answer. Yes, sir ; those were to take up the old bonds.
Q7iesiion. When were those bonds issued?
Answer. At different times.

Question. W^ere all of the bonds authorized by the act issued?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they all issued before Governor Bullock came into office ?

Answer. Yes, sir; those and more too. He received $604,000.

Question. If those bonds were all issued before Governor Bullock came into office,

why have they anything to do with his administration ?

Ansu-er. They were not all used up. The bonds had not fallen due. They fell due iu

1S6S, 1889, and 1870.

Question. Do I understand you to say that Governor Bullock misapplied any of the
$600,000 of bonds authorized by the act of 1866 ?

Ansiver. Certainly he did ; he ajiplied them in opposition to the express provision of
la^v. The law expressly declares that they shall be used in hypothecating and taking
up the old bonds. He sold $265,000 of those bonds and a^jpropriated them to other pur-
poses—$55,Qi)0, 1 supxjose, to Kimball, and the balance to State purposes—I do not know
w-hat.

Question. Do you mean to say that any portion of the money raised by the sale of
those bonds was applied by him to anything not a legitimate State debt ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I do say so, most emphatically.
Question. How much of that money do you claim he used for some other purjioso than

to pay indebtedness of the State ?
'

^

Answer. I do not know of any more than the $55,000.
Questio)!. What was that jiaid for?

Answer. To Kimball, for the Kimball Opera House.
Question. You say that he sold $265,000 of those bonds. Did he sell them at par ?
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Ansirer. No; they brought 80, 91, aud (lifierent prices.

Question. So that he got something less tlian ,S2jr>,()00 in money ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir; something less; I forget the exact amount.

Question. What is the Kimball House, a hotel f

Answer. ^\), sir ; it is called the Kind)all Opera House : it is used as a State house now.

Qvestion. Some of this money was applicil toward payment for that building?

Ansicer. I suppose it was. The governor let Iheui have money, and lie held the bonds

;

I do not know where he got the money, except by the sale of th(! bonds.

Question. Did he let the parties have that money privately or as governor ?

Avswer. He let them have it as governor; he signed the checks as governor.

Question. It was understood that this building was being erected with a \ievr to its

being iised by the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was understood when it was built ?

Answer. Yi;s, sir.

Question. Aud the State, through Governor Bullock, advanced a certain amount to

Kimball ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. That building was subsequently sold to the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In the payment by the State for that building, was the money which had
been advanced by the State counted as part of the purchase-money ?

Answer. I believe the bill included it, but I have no knowledge of the transactions.

Question. Have you any reason to think that the money which you suppose came
from the sale of those bonds, and which was advanced to Kimball, was not accounted
for between him and the State when the building was settled for ?

Answer. I presume it was accounted for. I do not know how they could get around
it.

Question. Then the wrong, if there was any, on the part of Governor Bullock, in con-

nection with that matter, was in applying that money to a different obligation of the

State froin that which the law contemplated ?

Answer. It was not an obligation of the State at all. There was no obligation to pay
the $55,000.

Question. It was an obligation that the State contracted at some time ?

Answer. The State had not contracted at all, in any way. The building was leased

by the city of Atlanta for the use of the State for ten years. Governor Bullock paid

$55,000 to Kimball, to finish it, without any appropriation.
^

Question. As that time had the State no interest in it ?

Ansirer. No, sir. ^
Question. But the State did subsequently buy it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You do not claim that that purchase was unauthorized ?

Answer. I do^uot want to give the manipulations that were gone through.
Question. The State bought it by virtue of a legislative enactment ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And this sum of money which, as you suppose, Governor Bullock had ad-

vanced was accounted for as part of the purchase-money ?

Answer. I suppose so.

Question. Have you any reason to doubt that it was ?

Answer. Only from the general rascality going on there.

Question. Have j'ou any belief on the subject f

Answer. I have a belief that they swindle and plunder whenever they can.
Question. Have you any belief that, in the settlement for the price of that building

between the State aud Mr. Kimball, the mouey which Governor Bullock had advanced
on behalf of the State was not accounted for f

Ansicer. I cannot say but there might be some ground for suspicion ; for as treasurer
of the State I never saw any statement or account of the bonds, or the amount paid
for them ; they should have gone through the treasurer's hands and a registry should
have been kept of their being paid out. I never jiaid out any of those bonds.

Question. You have no evidence that in the settlement for the price of that building
the advance made by Governor Bullock was not accounted for ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Then the wrong committed by Governor Bullock, if he committed any with
reference to that matter, was in applying the money of the State to a purpose for
which the, bonds were not created ?

Answer. No ; here w\as the wrong : there was a trick, and I have no doubt the money
was put in lor that purpose. In the first place, the State of Georgia had nothing to do
with putting the buildin-)- in order for the general assembly ; that was an enterprise
of the city of Atlanta. When the city of Atlanta was putting it in preiiaratlou, GoAt-
ernor Bullock paid this money, although the general assembly had previously refused to

11 G
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authorize him to do 8o. After he hiut paid out IS.'ijOOO of the $55,000, two legislative

committees rciiorted that his action was illeoal, unauthorized by law; that ho had
acted in violation of law in doing it. Directly after the passage of that resolntiou, he

-went to New" York and paid $:iO^OOO more, when there was no contract wh:itever by
the State to do so. You have asked nie whether that money was not spent for pur-

poses of the State. My answer is that it was spent for purposes which the State had
nothing to do with at the time it was ])aid out.

(,>«r.v//oM. Eventually the State bought that building?
Jn-swer. Yes, sir.

(Juculion. And eventually the State recognized this advance of money that had beea
made as a proper one ; that is, it inured to the benefit of the State in the purchase,

though you say at the time Governor Bullock advanced the money he had no right to

do so f

Answer. Y^es, it appears that way ; and it is unnecessary for me to go through all

the manipulations with regard to those bonds. I am willing the transaction shall ap-

pear as fair as it can.

Question. Eventually the State had the benefit of that money which the Governor
advanced ?

Answer. I think that the money so advanced led to the State being swindled out of

1,000, and more too. That is, it forced the State to buy the building.

By Mr. Coijurn :

Question. What did the building cost the State ?

Aymcer. $380,000.

Question. Is it all paid for ?

Answer. I suppose it is.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Do you know what was the actual cost of constructing the building?
Answer. I do not, though I ought to, for I lost $1,000 by it ; it was first gotten up aa

an opera-house. I do not suppose that building cost Mr. Kimball more than §:200,000.

Question. You think, then, that the State paid too large a price for the building ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That purchase was made under an act of the legislature?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I wish to make some inquiries about the misapplication of the school fund.

As I understand, certain portions of your State revenue were, by your constitution,

required to be kept as a school fund for school i)urpose8 ?

Answer. Y'es, sir.

Question. Governor Bullock wanted to use those funds for some other purpose

?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you, as treasurer, refused to part with them, thinking it was a misappro-

priation of the money ?

Ansuier. Y'es, sir.

Question. For what did the governor waut to use those funds ?

Answer. General expenses of the State—his general expenses.

Question. As treasurer, you refused to respond to his drafts upon that money for

general State indebtedness?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You held that by your constitution that money was sequestered to that par-

ticular purpose ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The legislature passed an act authorizing the use of those funds for othei

purposes ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; it was to pay themselves, I recollect.

Question. After the legislature passed this act, the money was paid out ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And some bonds were placed in your hands as treasurer to replace the funds
taken out ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; some bonds which were issued in 1868, to pay off the expenses of the

general assembly. After they were issued Governor Bullock went on to New York

;

and the president of the Fourth National Bauk, in writing to me, said that the bonds
had not been sold, because from the governor's representations the Board of Trade
considered that tliey wei'e illegal.

Qnesiion. Those bonds have never been sold ?

Answer. No, sir; they are now in the treasury.

Question. They were issued for the puri)ose of paying the expenses of the legislature?

Answer. Yes, sir, in 1868.

. Question. And the legislature concluded to take the school fund to pay its own mem-
bers, and to put in the place of the school fund those bonds that were issued for the

purpose of x)aying the legislature?
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Answer. Yes, sir ; they put into the treasury, iu place of the school fund, bonds

which, from Governor Bullock's representations iu New York, were eonsideicd illegal.

Question. The result was that the school fuud got the State houds, and the legisla-

ture got the school funds?
Answer. Yes, sir ; and since then whatever comes into the treasury goes out as fast

as it comes in. There is no division made.
Question. Do you claim that iu that transaction of taking the school fund to pay the

legislature, and putting these other bonds in place of the school fund, there was any
corruption f lam not asking whether the proceeding was agreeable to law; but, in

your opiuion, did Goveruor liullock privately pocket anything?
Answer. I (lo not suppose he did.

Question. You say that he paid a certain sura to a committee that went to the Ken-
tucky legislature ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. There was a bill pending in the Kentucky legislature for a raikoad from
Cincinnati to meet your road f

Answer. Tt) extend to Chattanooga.
Question. Was it supposed or claLined that the railroad would add greatly to the

business revenues of your State road ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; it was presumed that it would, and I think it would do so largely.

Quesiion. And Goveruor Bullock took the responsibility of sending some men up
there to urge the passage of that bill ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you think that was contrary to law ?

Answer. I think he paid them five times as much as he should have done. He paid

them $2,700. I believe they took a clerk or a stenographer along to report their speeches.

The payment was far in excess of any previous payment for similar purposes.

Quistion. You think they were paid more than they ought to have been f

Answer. There was no appropriation. The governor had no right to pay them any-

thing.
Question. You do not suppose he pocketed anything in that transaction ?

Ansiver. O, I guess not ; it is rather too small a matter.

Question. You say that Governor Bullock paid too much for publishing the State con-

stitution ?

Answer. I think so, judging from what all the book-men have told me.

Question. Did the sum paid' include the payment of somebody for preparing the book
and the index?
Answer. I suppose it did. There Avas a bill passed authorizing a young man named

Conly, who is the State librarian, to prepare the book.

Question. How many copies were published?
Answer. Ten thousand, for which ;ipll,500was paid.

Question. That included the payment of somebody for preparing the book for publi-

cation and making the iudex ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; but I was told that it could have been published without any pay-

ment for preparing it ; and I have never heard the fair cost estimated at over $2,000.

Question. You think too much was paid for preparing*and publishing that book?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you think the governor pocketed anything in that transaction?

Answer. AVell, I should hate to say what I think about that.

Qwstion. You need not have any delicacy on my account.

Answer. Perhaps I am hardly in a condition to do Governor Bullock justice.

Question. Yon must make just so much or so little allowance for your prejudice as

you deem necessary.
Answer. I should hate to swear that I did not thiuk he had any interest in it.

Question. Who was the man who prepared this work for publication?
Answer. A particular friend of the governor.
Question. Who was he ?

Answer. His najne is Conly.
Question. Is he a lawyer ?

Answer. He claims to be. He is the State librarian. I never heard of his having
cases in court.

Question. Do you know how much of this sum was paid to him for his services, and
how much was paid for the printing of the book?

Answer. I only know what printers say the fair expense of the work would be.

Question. Do you know how much the printers of this work were in fact paid ?

Answer. No, sir, I do uot.

Question. But you think the whole sum paid for the publication of the work is more
than it ought to be ?

Answer. 1 judge so.

Question. The governor, you say, has paid the interest on some railroad bonds. Those
were bonds which the State guaranteed ?



164 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The railroad company fiiiletl to jiay the interest as it fell due ?

Answer. Yes. sir ; that is ^vllat I uuderstaud.
Question. Aud the State was bound by its obligation to pay it when the railroad com-

pany failed to pay it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How large an amount of those railroad bonds was outstanding?
Answer. That is one of the questions 1 asked Govt^rnor Bullock in the letter which I

wrote to liiin some three weeks ago, and 1 received no auswer.
Question. Whtni wore the bonds issued f

A)iswer. lu LSb'J ; they were never rei)orted to me at all.

Question. Were those bonds issued by the railroad companies themselves?
Answer. Yes, sir ; but they are indorsed by the State, aud we ought to know the

amount. The State made itself liable for so nnich per mile.

Question. Have you any reason to suppose that the State has guaranteed any more of
the bonds than the law authorized'?

Answer. As to that road, I have no reason to suppose any such thing.
Question. What amount of raihoad bonds ought to be outstanding m compliance with

the law ?

Answer. For the Alabama and Chattanooga road ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Ansiver That is what I do not know I say that that was one of the inquiries in the
letter which 1 addressed to Governor Bullock before I left.

Question. Do you know whether just so many bonds as the law authorized have beeu
issued "1

Answer. I know nothing about it.

Question. Whatamouut of bonds per mile was authorized to be issued?
Answer. I do uot k-now that.

Question. The law states that ?

Answer. I suppose so.

Question. As to the amount of those bonds authorized to be outstanding, it was the
duty of the State to pay them if the railroad company failed ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The law points out how they shall be paid.
Question. What you complaiu of is that the g(jvcrnor has not seized the railroad and

its property ?

Answer. I simply complain that ho has not complied with the law.
Question. When was this interest paid?
Answer. The notice appeared in the Tribune tliree or four weeks ago ; that was the

first I knew of it. It was a notice that they would be paid at the ofiiceof Mr. Clews,
the banker, in New York.

Question. That was a very recent transaction ?

Answe): Something over a month ago.
Question. And the governor has not yet seized the railroad?
Answer. 1 have not heard of it.

Question. And that is your complaint against him growing oxit of that transaction ?

Answer. The law says that dlit of the proceeds of the road after it has been seized
the interest shall be paid on the bonds.

Question. But the guarantee of the State upon the bonds is to pay immediately upou
the default of the company ?

Ansiver. No, sir. The law is that if the interest is not paid by the road, the governor
shall seize it and out of the proceeds of the road pay the interest.

Question. You thiuk that api)arently Governor Bullock has taken measures to pay the
interest before selling the road 1

Answer. 1 thiuk he has violated the law in paying the interest in any other way than
the law provides. I do not suppose he is cheating the State out of anything ; I do not
make that poiut at all ; but simply that he has violated the law.

Question. Do those railroad bonds appear in the statement which you have preseuted?
Answer. I suppose they are iiKluded in the amoijnt—five millions and something

—

which Governor Bullock reported to Clews & Co.
Question. Have you any idea about the amount of these railroad bonds—what they

should be ?

Answer. I suppose that the five millions embraced in that statement is no more than
the law allows.

Question. Do you suppose that this amount, .$5,923,000, is legitimate ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that it has gone through tlie forms of law. I do not suppose, how-
ever, that every requirement has Ijeen ci)mi)licd with.

Question. And you put it in this stateiueut as indebtedness of the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You complain tliat Governor Bullock is paying this interest before he
realizes it out of the sale of the i)roperty of the raikoad ?
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Jnswa'. I simply complain that lie has not complied with the law.
Question. That is the poiut iu which you say he has not complied with the law ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. There is no complaint that half the roads has not been made, as the law
provides ?

Ansucr. The Chattanooj^a road was .seized some time ago. It has been enjoined once
or twice. Finally Stanton has got possession of it.

By the Chairjian, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. As to the payment of rewards, you say that yonr constitution or statute
provides that nothing sh:;ll be i)aid as a reward where the reward has not been pub-
lished before the arrest is made ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you say that in one instance the governor paid a reward where the arrest

was made without any publication ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did not your legislature pass a special act authorizing that ?

Ansu^er. No, sir.

Question. Did you not say so in your testimony ?

Answer. No, sir ; I said the legislature passed a resolution (it did not say anything
about those rewards) that I should pay all Governor Bullock's bills which I had refused
to pay. It amounted to the same thing ; it embraced those warrants.

Question. You understood that that act or resolution pa.ssed by the legislature required
you to pay his warrant that was drawn to paj^ a rewai'd which had not been published
beiore the arrest ?

Answer. Well, there was a question about that, and I went to see General Terry.
Nobody appeared willing to take the responsibility about the matter. General
Terry finally gave me his opinion that I and my securities would be ijrotected if I

should pay it. As I got the consent of the military, I pai-tl it.

Question. As you construed the law, the act of the legislature justified you in pay-
ing it?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

• Question. Then there was no violation of law in that ?

Answer. No,. sir.

Question. It might have been improvident or improper, but it was not in violation
of law ?

Answer. Not at all.

Question. And in this case where the requisite legal authority did not exist, the leg-
islature stepped in and passed a law, upon which you paid the money ?

Answer. They passed a resolution that I should pay warrants for printing accounts,
and all other warrants issued by the governor and countersigned by the comptroller,
in accordance with law. The issue was, whether I was to pay all warrants that the
comptroller countersigned. General Terry said that I was, and I have been paying them
since. No nuitter what it is, I pay everything that comes.

'

Question. You mention only one instance where a reward'was paid, as you thought,
improperly ?

Answer. There was another where the governor paid $1,000.
Question. There were those two instances '!

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And your complaint of Governor Bullock, in this regard, is that there had
been no publication of the reward as required by law ?

Ansive^: The point is, that siich a practice opens a field for collusion
;
parties may

make an arrest and obtain a reward without giving anybody else the chance.
Question. We nnderstand the reason for such a provision; but the question is, how

extensive was the violation of it f Do you say that the governor has ottered very
many more rewards than have been usual heretofore ? ,

Answer. Well, I do not know. Looking through the old reports of our comptroller,
I have noticed that there have been a great many rewards oli'erefl ; but the highest
amount, I think, that has been paid was .$100. In one instance the amount may have
been $200.

Question. In what kind of cases has the governor generally oifered these rewards ?

Answer. All kinds of cases; some where the offense was violent usage; some assault
with intent to nmrder, &c.

Question. .Since Governor Bullock became governor, has there not been a great deal of
complaint about offenses committed by bands of disguised men in your State?

Answer. Not so much iu Georgia as iia other States. There have been a few localities
where there have been complaints.

Question. Have there not been complaints in many counties of the State ?
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Avn)C('): I do not know that I conld say that there have been in many ont of the one
hundred and thirty counties. There are Chatooga, Warren,. Floyd, Hancock, CUirke,
Cohnnbia. I do not suppose there have been conii)laints directly from more; than a dozen
or fifteen counties. There may have been more ; but my recollection is that throughout
the counties generally there is not much couiplaint.

Qiicntlon. It has l)een alleged, tiien, in the counties Avhich you name that armed dis-

guised bodies of men have gone out in the night and committed ofieuses?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That they sometimes whipped or otherwise abused people, and sometimes
took life?

Aiisiver. I do not recollect any now, but there may have been caseSj I will not say
there were not, where peojile have been killed by disguised men. I know there have
been a good many murders. Mr. Adkins was killed iu the daytime, and not by dis-

guised men.
Question, Have not these rewards in a large number of cases been for the apprehen-

sion and conviction of persons who were engaged iu these alleged acts of violence
committed by bodies of disgiiised men ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think his rewards read that way.
Question. Now, admitting it to be true that there were these combinations of dis-

guised men going alH)ut in the night, and committing violence, would you not say that
that furnished a very good reason for ofloring rewards ?

Ansuxr. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you not understand that this state of things furnished the occasion for

the principal part of the rewards which he has offered?

Answer. Well, I presume the governor would not oifer a reward unless there was
some offense ; but there is something very singular in connection with these rewards.
I will give you an instance, so that you can see whether there has been in all cases a
udcessity for them. There was a man who had been in Atlanta for six months, going
about the streets imblicly, and nobody undertook to arrest him. He was charged with
an olfense that took place down below Macon. The governor offered $1,000 reward for

his arrest. He was arrested, but was turned loose as soon as he was carried down to

where the crime was alleged to have taken jilace. Something had taken place, but
the oftense actually committed was notsufflcieut to justify his being held ; so that there
was no prosecution. The man had been at large before the offering of the reward, and
everybody knew exactly where he was.

Question. Did the governor know of that ?

Ansivei: I cannot swear to that. I have my opinion about it. The trouble with a
great portion of these large rewards is, that thei'e is a suspicion (I canu(jt say that I

know it to be well tbundeil) that there is a ''ring" formed. The amounts are. so large,

and so many men are quitting other business to act as detectives, that it is thought
there is some peculation and fraud in the matter. I cannot say that there is.

Question. Y'ou have shared in this suspicion, have yoji not ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I have; I think there is something wrong about the matter.
Question. In the case you have just mentioned, was the reward paid?
Answer. \''es, sir.

Question. Do you know that?
Answer. I jjaid it. You have iH'obably heard recently of the Fish murder ; it was not

done bj'^ Ku-Klux, and the parties have been arrested. One of Governor Bullock's aj)-

poiutees was an accessory in the murder, if he did not actually shoot the man. The
fee that used to be i)aid in cases of this kind—nnirder cases—where a lawyer was
called iu as assistant counsel, to ruake a speech, or something of that kind, was from lifty

to one hundred dollars ; but iu this case the governor has paid $>3,000 to three demo-
cratic lawyers.

Question. For aiding the solicitor in that case?
Answer. Y'es, sir; he paid $6,000 to one man as a detective in the case, making $9,000,

Question. The money paid to the lawyers was not as a reward, but for professionnJ

services f

Answer. Y'es, sir ; but the jeward of $6,000 has been paid since I left.

By Mr. Blaiu :

Question. Has the reward in that case been paid?
Answer. Yes, sir

;
$6,000 has been paid for services rendered in that case. So my son

Bends me word.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. To whom has it been paid ?

Answer. To a man named Murphy.
Question. As counsel ?

Answer. No; simply as a detective.
Question. W^as it paid as a reward ?
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Answer. I presume it is as a reward.
Question. Did the governor otfer a reward ?

Answer. I do not know that he did.' My son simply sends me a dispatch that the

governor liad paid Murphy 8vi,0U0 tor services in the Fish case. That is the way the
dispatch reads. This fellow Murphy is no lawyer—simply a detective.

Queniion. He arrested someL-ody ?

Answer. I suppose he assisted in arresting Fish.

Question. And Fish had murdered a num?
Answer. No, it was not Fish he arrested—it was somebody in Macon County.
Question. He arrested a mau avIio had committed a murder?
Answer. Yes, sir ; he did service in that way ; I do not say it was for the arrest.

Shortly before that the governor pnid this same mau .$5,000 in a case from Hancock
County, and the man arrested was turned loose. a few days afterward.

Question. With all these rewards, has he succeeded in arresting aud convicting any-
body concerned in these outrages committed by armed disguised bauds ?

Answer. They report some cases where parties have been convicted and put in the
penitentiary.

Question. Do you know of more than one case ?

Answer. I do not know of any except from report.

Question. It is said there were three men tried up in Chatooga County.
Answer. Yes, sir ; that was the case.

Question. Were they not convicted of robbery?
Answer. I think it was robbery and malicious mischief.

Question. Do you know of a single instance where anybody has been convicted or

even arrested for goi:'»g out with any of these armed bands and whipping, maltreating,
or killing any one ?

Answer. So far as I am concerned, I know nothing about armed bands except by
rumor.

Question. I am not asking about their existence, but whether anybody has been
arrested and convicted for any such act ?

Answer. I cannot say whether there has or not except the case you mentioned. There
may or may not ; I do not recollect.

Question. Did you learn the particulars about that case?
Answer. No, sir ; I hear so many cases, and there are so many contradictions after-

ward—rumor reporting first one way and then another—that it is impossible for a man
to remember.

Que-'ition. You have given us the number of Governor Bullock's pardons ; do you
know whether he ever pardoned a man except where there was a iJetitiou for the
pardon, signed by resx^ectable people ?

Answer. I do not know about that; I presume that there were petitious.

Question. And he acted upon representations that the men were deserving of par-
don ?

Answer. I presume he had such representations ; but I know nothing about it.

Questio)!. The ground upou which you express dissatisfaction with his conduct in
this respect, is that there were so many of these pardons ?

Ans^ver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know whether there was a single one of them that was an improper
pardon under the circumstances ?

Answer. It is a little singular that there should have been forty-eight pardons in

cases of direct charges of murder.
Question. You are arguing about the matter. I ask you whether you know a solitary

case where the governor granted a pardon which was not properly granted ?

Answer. In answer to that question, I will mention a case which Judge Warner
reported to me just before I left home. He said that a young man by the name of
Favers hired some negroes, and, in some talk or dispute with them in the held about
the settlement, he shot one of them dead. Governor Bullock granted a pardon in that
case. Judge Warner informed me that, according to the testimony, there was no resist-

ance on the part of the negro at all; he merely got into a controversy Avith the man,
and the man shot him dead.

Question. That was a white man ?

Answer. It was a white man who shot a negro.
Question. The man pardoned was a white man ?

Ansicer Yes, sir; he was pardoned fiu- killing a negro.
Question. You know nothing about the case ?

Answer. No. sir. I did not intend to mention that case, but you asked me if I knew
any case where a pardon was not properly granted, and I meutioned that. Mr. Hall,
the uncle of this young mau, told me subsequently that he was under such obligations
to Governor Bullock that he had to do whatever the governor wanted him to do. Hall
was chairman of the finance committee, and that remark was matle when 1 was com-
plaining of some action that had been taken; he ex^'lained it in that way.
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Quesfioii. Then yon put this and that together ?

Jinswcr. Yes, sir.

Qiu'slhm. Wlion was this pardon ?

Amwer. I think it was nearly a year uro.

QuenUon. What had this member of tlie iinance committee done that you thought
•wrong f

Anmvvr. There were a great many bills reported to -nhich I objected ; one in particu-

lar was this bill for raising revenue to pay ott" the members and other officers of the

general assembly. The objection in that ease was, that I could not pay anybody but
members of the general assembly. The civil list, judges, solicitors, &c., were included,

and I said I could not pay them.
Question. Why ? Because there were no funds f
Answer. Ueea'use there was no law. I had the funds ; but the law passed at the pre-

vious year, providing for the paying of the general assembly, said tliat all funds com-
ing into the treasury should be reserved for that purpose; so that I conld not touch a

cent, no matter where it came from, except to pay the general asseuil)ly. A consider-

able row was kicked up about it. In conversation on the matter with Jlr. Hall, the

chairman of the iinance committee, I said to him, " Here is your own bill." He looked

at it, and said, " Bullock drew that himself, and we passed it just as he sent it in." He
was making excuse's for the payment of the Kimball bills, «fec.

Question. When you upbraided him for his coarse as a member of the iinance cojn-

mittee, he said he was under obligations to Governor Bullock ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that is all you know about any connection between that circumstance

antl the i)ardou of his nephew ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You think that so many pardons would have a very bad effect ?

Anmver. I should think so ; I know it is the impression.

Question. Did they have a bad eft'ect ?

Ansncr. Well, there have been more murders in Georgia than there ought to be. I

presume it has had a bad effect ; it very naturally would, i

Question. Do you know of any case where one of these jiersons pardoned has since

committed an offense ?

Answer. I do not. The offenses are generally committed away from Atlanta.

Question. You do uot know of any such case 'I

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Your fear is that men would be more likely to commit crime on account of

the facility of getting pardons ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Not that these men who were set at liberty would commit crime again ?

Answer. Well, my idea would be that a man who was depraved enough to commit a
crime, and was then pardoned for it, would probably go and commit crime again.

Question. But you do uot know any instance where any one of the men pardoned has
since committed an offense ?

Ansiver. I do not recollect any.
Question. You have not heard of any?
Answer. I may, and I may not.

Question. You have no recollection of it ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. But you think that the tendency of granting pardons sp readily is, that
men are more likely to commit crime ?

Answer. I tliink so. I think the idea that the governor granted pardons so readily

would have a tendency to encourage people who are disposed to commit crime. It

was reported that in a difficulty w-hich took place in W^arreu County, where several

negroes were involved, in giving their testimony they said they had assurance from
Governor Bullock that if they committed such and such crimes they would be par-

doned. That was reported in the papers.

Question. Did these men testify in court that Governor Bullock had promised to par-

don them if they should commit particular offenses?

Answer. Tiie statement w^as that they had the assurance from Governor Bullock that

if they did such and such things, they would be pardoned. I will say honestly that I

do not think tliey ever received such assurances; but I think the idea was that Gov-
ernor Bullock was a great friend of the negro ; that they could do what they i)leased,

and that tliey would be pardoned for their offenses, because he had already pardoned a
great many.

Question. If I understood you correctly, you said in your testimouy-iu-chief that

some negro had said, or it had been reported that a negro had said, that he had Gov-
ernor Bullock's promise of pardon beforehand ?

Answa: Tlie testimony was published in the papers; and in that testimony there

was embodied the testimony of some negroes that they had such an assurance from
Governor Bullock.
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Question. Can yoii state -what that case -was?

Answer. It was a case in Wanvu County, or one of the adjoining counties. I think
it was Wanen County. It was over a year ago

Question. Can yon state upon what trial this evidence was given ?

Ansiver. No, sir; I cannot tell. It was a case in which there was a great deal of
excitement, and a great many ncgi'oes were arrested; and one and another were giv-
ing their excuses for doing so and so.

Question. Do you mean that they swore it as witnesses in court?
Ansteer. 'ihat is my impression now.
Question. And you think they testiiied that they had a promise from Governor Bul-

lock that if they couuuittcd olU'Uses of a certain character they would be pardoned ?

Ansiver. That is my recollection now—that that was the newspaper account of it.

Que.stion. What was the character of those offenses for which it was stated they
would be pardoned, if they committed them ?

Answer. I cannot say what the oli'cnse was in th.at case. There w'as a great deal of
excitement about it. A number of negroes were brought up, and an account of the
atfair was reported in the papers. 1 recollect reading in the jiapers that one negro
said that they had that assurance from Governor Bullock.

Question. Do j^ou believe Governor Bullock ever gave any such assurance as that?
Answer. I do not.

Question. Do you believe that he ever counseled or advised in any way the commis-
sion of any crime f

Answer. No, sir; however much you may think me prejudiced against him, I do not
believe he would do that. He has been accused of it, though. It has been charged
tliat he got up difficulties on purpose to make political capital; but I have my
doubts about it. It must be a very depraved man who would directly get up a row or
a fight invoh'ing the killing of people, for the sake of making political capital.

Question. I wish to put a few inquiries about these railroads. You say that formerly
the State derived considerable revenue from the State road; that after it went into
the hands of Mr. Blodgett as agent of the State

Answer. He took charge of it a^ superintendent the first of last year.
Question. And jjaid to the State for January, 1870, ^25,000, and for the month of Feb-

ruary $20,000 ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and afterward during his administration naid nothing at all.

Question. Do you understand that during the residue of the time it was in his hands
it earned nothing ?

Answer. I suppose he knows.
Question. Do you know ?

Answer. He asked for an appropriation of $500,000 to put the road in order, saying he
had nothing to do it with.

Question. Do you know whether or not he claims that tnere were no earnings by the
road after the time when he made his last return to the State ?

Answer. I have not seen his report.
Question. Has he made a report to anybody ?

Answer. No, sir; I think not.
Question. Has he been called on to make one ?

Answer. I do not know ; it is the governor's business to call on him.
Question. Has anything been done in the legislature about the matter; has the legis-

lature called on him ?

Answer. There has been no legislature in session since his term ended at the close of
last year.

Question Finally, it was decided to lease this road ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question, When was that lease made?
Answer. On the 27tb of December last.

Question. And it was leased to a number of persons whom you named ?

Answer. Yes; and some others whom I do not recollect.
Question. How long is that lease to run ?

Answer. I think the term of the lease is twenty years or one month, whichever the
lessees choose to have it.

Question. Its duration was made optional with them?
Answer. With them, not with the State. That is the way they interpret it, I think.
Question. They may surrender the road at any time within twenty years ?

Answer. I do not know that, that is the case; but that is the interpretation.
Question. Have you seen the lease ?

Answer. I have seen it ; but I do not think I have read it all.

Question. You are not able to state from the reading of the lease how it is on that
point?
Answa: No, sir; I am not.
Question. Do you understand it to be the received opinion that that is the meaning

of the lease ?
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Avswcr. I believe it is the general uiiflerstanding.

.Question. That it is a lease lor twenty years, but leaving the lessees the option of
surrendering the road whenever they ehoose f

Ansitrr. Tluit is the general understanding.
Question. What is the annual rent they are to pay ?

Ansiver. Three hundred thousand dollars.

Question. Was that lease made in pursuance of an act of the legislature ?

Jnsner. Yes, sir.

Qncfition. Was there any controversy about it in the legislature ?

Answer. There was some controversy. Some were in favor of selling the road, some
of leasing it, some of holding on to it as it was. But finallj', the bill passed to lease it.

Question. Did it pass by a nearly unanimous vote ?

Ansiver. I <lo not think it did, but by a majority.

Question. Was the matter made a party question at all ?

Ansiver. No, sir, not at all.

Question. There were men of both sides in favor of the lease, and men of both sides

opposed to it "?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. So that it was in no sense a party question ?

Answer. Not at all.

Question. You have written or telegraphed to the governor of the State that you
wanted information about those bonds ?

Aiiswer. Yes, sir.

Question. He sent word back to you in some form that if you desired information
about that matter you might apply at his office ?

Answer. No ; I wrote to Henry Clews for information ; and the governor telegraphed
to Clews that if I wanted information I could get it from his office. I addi'cssed a
letter to him at his office, requesting the information, but I did not get it.

Question. Was this a letter to the governor ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. His office is in the same building that I occupy. I never got any
answer to it. I put to him the same inquir.<'>< I liad addressed to Henry Clews in

relation to the amount of bonds. In the absence of that information I could not make
a report.

Question. W^io is Mr. Clews ?

Ansiver. He is a baukef in New York.
Question. The hrm is Henry Clews &. Co. ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. A resjjectable banking firm in New York City ?

Ansiver. Very.
Question. Men of standing, doing an extensive business?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. They have been the financial agents of your State in New York?
Answei: So far as the bonds are concerned, that is what I understand; but I have

had no business transactions whatever with them.
Question. You wrote to them to get information ?

Ansivei: I wrote to them to ascertain the number of bonds placed in their hands, how
many had been sold, how many hypothecated, together with the application of the
funds, and how many bought up. It was necessary for me in my othcial capacity to

have that information.
Question. Did they reply to you directing you to apply to the governor's office ?

Ansiver. No, sir; Governor Bullock replied to them, that if I wished the information
I could get it at his office. I apxilied at his office, and did not get it.

Question. Did you apply there i)ersonally ?

Ausiver. I wrote a letter addressed to him requesting the information.
Question. You did not go to his otitice ?

Answer. I never go to his office. My son goes there ; but I do not.

Question. You wrote a letter to him asking information which he dnl not give to you?
AnswiT. He did not give it. I wrote another letter about two weeks- ag(i in relation

to these Alabama and Chattanooga Raili'oad bonds and some others ; but I did not get
any answer to that.

Question. There is dissatisfaction, I su^jpose, in reference to these matters, not only
with yourself but many other people?

Answer. Great dissatisfaction—very great.

Question. A great manj' other peojjle think that Governor Bullock has not adminis-
tered the government fairly and honestly, but has misappropriated the puldic money?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; that is the general iinj)ression, and that is the reason the last elec-

tion went as it did ; because his course had made the party so odious there.

Question. A great many of his own party had become dissatisfied with him?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And therefore voted against the ])arty ?

Answer, Yes, sir; they thought he was at the head of it
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Question. Hiis tliis dissatisfaction been made tlie occasion of riot, or disturbance, or
• violence?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Nobody bas supposed that the remedj' for Governor Bullock's wrong-doing
consisted in committing violence or outrage?

Autiurr. Uo you mean violence on bis part or violence on tbe part of tbo people ?

Question. Violence on tbe part of anybody.
Anstcer. In resentment for bis action ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Ansivcr. Well, tbere bas been a very bitter feeling. I bavo received a great many
letters—some of them anonymous letters. But tbere bas been no violence offered to
Governor Bullock. He goes where be pleases, and is treated kindly.

Question. Has tbere been any violence oflered to anybody in consequence of Gov-
ernor Bullock's conduct ?

Answer. I do not know that there has.

Question. You never heard of such a thing?
Answer. I do not know that tbere has been.
QuiStio)t. You never beard it suggested that that thing could be remedied or made

any better by a resort to violence?
Answer. 1 have heard it remarked that it was a great wonder there was iiot violence

committed—a great wonder that the people endured patiently what they did endure.
Question. You mean it is a matter of surpristrAhat peoj'le have not taken him in hand

and in some way done violence to him ?

Answer. That is the point.

Question. Nobody has ever suggested that any proper remedy was to go out and whip
negroes ?

Ansieer. Not at all.

Question. You never heard that suggested by anybody?
Ansiver. No, sir. I don't know but that his conduct might lead indirectly to that.

In view of tbe contempt with which tbe jjeople have looked upon bis administration,
and the fact that they cannot get any redress for all this plundering which has been
carried on, I cannot say but that some evil-designed people might commit wrong.

—

might, Indian-like, take revenge bap-hazard.
Question. Did you ever hear of such a thing ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. You never heard anybody pretend such a thing ?

Answer. Yes, I have heard it pretended that ijrobably that might be one cause of the
outrages there were.

Question. But have you heard of any case where that was put forward as a reason ?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not know that I have.
Question. If any armed bands have gone around at night anywhere, taken people out

and whipped them, or committed other outrages upon them, do you believe it bad any-
thing to do with Governor Bullock's maladministration of your public affairs ?

Answer. I would not say that I think it bad not.

Question. Do you say that you think it has ?

Answer. I would not swear either way.
Question. If you do believe so silly a thing as that, I Avant to have you swear to it ?

Answer. I would have to think a while whether I would say that I think it or not.

Question. If you believe that any body of disguised men in your State have been
taking people out at night and whipping them, or otherwise maltreating them, ou
account of Governor Bullock's maladministration, I want to know it ?

Answer. I have heard it alleged as a reason, but whether I believe it is another ques-
tion.

Question. Is not that mere speculation ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; it is entirely.

Question. Do you believe any such thing ?

Anstcer. The feeling is so intense that I cannot say in what way there might be an
outlet to it.

Question. This intensity of feeling is against the men who have done tbe mischief, ia

it not ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; that is where it ought to be directed of course, and it is very cow-
ardly to apply it anywhere else.

Question. The people of your State have sense enough not to punish honest people
for what dishonest people do ?

Answer. There are some men of pretty strong prejudices tbere.
Question. Provided it is true that any of these armed disguised bands have gono

about and committed violence in tbe night time, do you believe that there is any sort
of connection between those things and Governor Bullock's maladministration of tbo
public funds of your State ?

Answer. Well, if I should state just what I think about it, I should say that not only
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the management of the public funds but other things may possibly have some influ-

ence that way. I will not say positively that 1 think such is the case; but it might '

possibly have some effect.

Question. Will you swear that in your belief it has ? [Witness hesitates.] Was it

ever prcitended by anybody who did any of these things that it was ou any such

gr.iund ?

Amwa: No, sir ; I never heard any such pretension at all ; I would not want to swear
positively that I believed the governor's maladministration had led people to go out

and whip negroes. My impression is that the reason negroes liave been whipped, if

they have been whipped at all, has been frequently that the negroes have not been

rightly trained morally. It is not their fanlt that they have the propensities they

have ; but they are very much addicted to stealing. I think they have bisen whipped
a good deal for stealing, and sometimes for living with white women, or for living

with girls without being married, and frequently for keeping a mulatto girl that some
wliite man wanted. AH these things, I think, have operated more than any direct

influence from Governor Bullock's maladmiuystration. But the opposition to the

negro probably originates more from giving him such enlarged political privileges as

he now has, and from seeing him voting and holding otiice at the same time that an
educated and intelligent white man, his former master, cannot do either. 'J'ho negro

is a legislator, and I think that has created a bitter feeling. I do not think the princi-

pal men of the community give their aid at all to these outrages. I think it is the

low characters who have done it, thinking that the better class will not interfere

with them. That is my impression.

Question. You think that giving political power to the negroes has really been the

root of the dithculty ?

Ansu-er. That, in connection with so many of the white people being disfranchised.

Question. Substantially your answer is that these outrages grow out of the objection

of the people to negro suft'rage ?

Answer. Their objection to negro suffrage, and the fact that many of them are not

entitled to the same privileges as the negro. If political privileges were extended to

all alike— if all had a fair and equal chance—I do not think the feeling would be
nearly so bitter.

Question. Do you think that is really at the root of the feeling which occasions the

acts against the colored people ?

Answer. I think it has a connection with it. There is a great deal of pilfering and
malicious conduct on the ]3art of the negroes.

By Mr. Blaik :

Question. Has not the pardoning of persons after their conviction something to do
•with it?

Answer. As I said before, I have no doubt that encourages them.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland : )-

Question. But do you believe that this excessive use of the pardoning power has

furnished any reason for acts of violence committed by white men upon colored men?
Answer. You see it does not make any diftcrence to Governor Bullock what may be

the politics of men convicted ; he pardons a democrat as quickly as anybody else.

Question. Then this pardoning by him has not had a j)olitical turn at all ?

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. Has he ever pardoned a Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I do not know ; I cannot tell ; I never saw a Ku-Klux .

Question. Has he ever pardoned a man who has been alleged to be a Ku-Klux?
Ansiver. I do not know anything about that.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. Do you believe that in all the cases where these bands of disguised men
liave gone out and committed acts of violence, it has been in consequence of some
allegation of crime or misconduct on the part of the persons subjected to this

violence ?

Answer. I am inclined to think that in the majority of cases that is so—that there is

Bome cause for it. In the first place there is an immense amount of stealing going on.

While I was at Summervillc six horses were stolen. A negro on the place adjoining

to me took a horse and bridle right out of the stable.

Question. The great ofieuse among the negroes when slaves was their pilfering?

Answer. Yes, sir ; it seems to be to a great extent a propensity with the negro.

Question. And you think that pilfering continues to some extent now ?

Answer. I know that I can hardly keep garden tools or chickens about my lot.

Question. Were you in favor of giving suffrage to the blacks ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; I was, under the circumstances. I was in favor of doing anything
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in the world that the conqneror wauted us to do, so that we mijiht get rid of tho

thiug qiiifkly, aud become a friendly family. If there were evils I was in favor of

correcting them afterward.
Quvslio7i. I m)ticcd that in the statement which you read in regard to tho Ku-Klux

there was an eloquent passage, the substance of which was that negro sutTrage was a

thing which many politicians favored because it enabled them thereby to get into

office.

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. You do not put yourself in that category ?

Answer. No, sir ; I never aspired to obtain their votes.

Question. I see that in that way you rather give negro suffrage a slur ?

Ansicer. No, sir ; I do not intend it.

Question. I think it bears that interpretation.

Answer. I do not think it does. It is rather a slur upon those who are looking to the

negro for support, rather than a slur upou the negro.

Question. You intended it to have the meaning which you now state?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. I have my doubts, thon^i, on the subject of negro suffrage. I was
for accepting all the terms which the Government wanted to impose ; but I very
earnestly have my doubts about the propriety of giving them suffrage—whether it was
a wise move or not. But I supported it at the time, and on this ground : that we were
a conquered people aud that it was l^seless for us to undertake to dictate terms to the
conqueror; that we had better accept his terms at once, and become a harmonious,
friendly lamily, postponing until afterward the discussion and correction of any evils

which might exist.

Question. Have the negroes generally been very quiet, peaceable, and well behaved ?

Answer. Yes, sir, in everything except this pilfering ; and I do not suppose they con-

sider that as actual trespassing. They have been acciistomed to think " what is my
master's is mine." So far as any violence is concerned, they are pretty peaceable and
are entitled to very great credit for their conduct.

Question. Do you believe it was necessary to have these armed organizations of men
about the State for the purpose of keeping the negroes quiet ?

Ansiver. No, not to keep the negroes quiet ; I do not believe it was.
Question. Do you believe there is any fiiir-minded man in your State who ever did

believe that these armed organizations of disguised men were necessary for the pur-
pose of keeping the negroes quiet?

Answer. Welt, I do not live where there are many colored people. Where the negroes
are as three to one of the white people, I do not know but it might have been thought
necessary to awe them.

Question. If it was necessary anywhere it would be necessary in the districts where
the negro population is most numerous ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are the counties in which the disorders have existed large negro districts?

Ansiver. Warren County is a large negro district ; but in Chattooga and Floyd there
are few negroes.

Question. In most of the counties that you have named the whites generally pre-

dominate over the'negroes?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. And in those counties it would be utter folly for the negroes to attemj)t any
rising or outbreak?
Answer. Yes, sir, I think so.

By Mv. Blair :

Question. Judge Poland asked you whether the exjjenses of all our State governments
have not increased largely over what they were in 1860 or before the war. Would not
such an increase%aturally be upon all the diffei'ent expenses of the government?
Answer. Certainly.
Question. It would not be confined to contingent funds, &c. ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. In your exposition, all the usual expenses of the government appear in

detail, do they not ?

Answer. Yes, sir, everything is there.
Question. This item of contingent expenses, which is so enormous, has increased much

more largely than any other?
Ansiver. Yes, sir, forty times as-much.

By Mr. CoBURN

:

Question. You say in yoirr written statement that "lawlessness has exhibited itself

in some sections of Georgia, as it does at times in every State, and probably always will."

Is there no peculiarity about this Ku-Klux lawlessness? Do you mean to say it is the
same character of lawlessness that is found in all other States ?
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Answer I presume it is different ; I hear, however, of murders in Indiana—as many as

we have had in Georgia; and bauds go about to commit crime ; I do not suppose they go
as Ku-Klux, but I suppose tliey go as organized bands of men.

Question. Do you pretend to say that there is nothing j)eculiar in these Ku-Klux
organizations ?

Ansivei: No, sir, I do not say any such thing. In my State I admit that these out-

rages are reported to exist, and that there is a terrible state of society, if we are to

believe those reports.

Question. In your statement, speaking of the existence of lawlessness, you say, " as

it does at times' in every State, and probably always will." The question is whether
you will stand by your statement and say there is nothing peculiar in the crimes com-
mitted in Georgia by the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. The point with me is that I never saw any Ku-Klux nor anj'body who has
been injured by them.

Question. But you have heard about them?
Answer. I have heard about them; and I suppose tha^ so far as they are disguised

men they are not like ordiuary comjjanies of men for the commission of crime. But
murders, rol»beries, rapes, &c., exist in every State.

Question. Do you mean to say that these crimes committed in Georgia are just like

ordinary crimes— murders, robberies, rapes, &c.?
Ansiver. I say that probably a great portion of them are; hut so far as th(! Ku-Klux

organization goes out in disguised bands, they are different. Most of the murders,
however, that have been committed in Georgia have not been committed l)y Ku-Klux.
I cannot remember anybody in Georgia who has been killed by a Ku-Khix Klan—by
any of these; bands that went out dressed in disguise.

Question. Have you not heard of very many crimes committed by these Ku-Klux?
Ansiver. Yes, sir"; but I have not heard of the first murder. It is only whippings

and
Question. I am not asking particularly as to murders ; I am inquiring as to any acts

of violence.
Answer. Yes, sir; I have heard of them.
Question. Have you not heard of a large number?
Anstoer. Yes. Not a very large number by Ku-Klux. Georgia is not like some States

in reference to which you have heard testimony. It is only in two or three localities

of Georgia that this has taken place.

Question. You mean so far as you have heard?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

'

Question. You say you believe these outrages have had apolitical character in some
sections. What party do you believe organizes these bauds, or to what party do they
belong ?

Answer. I think they belong mostly to the democrats. I think the negroes are

engaged in the thing sometimes. I think the fact of the existence of the organization

is made use of for the commission of violence and outrage in some cases, because the
parties can lay it on the democrats. The negroes and radicals are mixed up with it

in some cases. I infer so from report. I do not know anything about it but what I

read in tlie newspapers.
Question. You say in your statement that, in your opinion, "the rights of the negro

are safer in the hands of upright,- intelligent white jurors than negro jurors?"

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And then you say, " There is with some a strong prejudice, and even hatred,

against the negro, mostly from jxditical rights conferred on him." Now, do you think
it right or ])o]itic that the negro should not have any riglit to serve as a juror?

Anstver. 1 think that when the negro is intelligent—and the constitution of Georgia
requires jnrorsto be upright and intelligent—he has as good a right ^o serve on a jury
as anybody elK(>, whether white or black.

Question. You would not confine it, tlien, to color?

Answer. No sir. I think the negroes are better satisfied now with white juries there

than they would be with colored. I have no doubt of it.

Question. Do you think the passage of the hiw of Congress for the suppression of Ku-
Klux outrages is a source of irritation in Georgia?

Ansivei: I tliink it is in some localities. I think that anything that reflects upon the
people generally, implying that they are not disposed to comply with the law, is dis-

tasteful to tlie higli-minded inen wlio do not engage in or countenance these outrages.

I think any tiling of that kind has a tendency to sour the minds of the people.

Question. Does that irritate them anymore than a law against any other crime?
Have the people tliere any interest in the conunission of this particular class of crimes?

Anstver. The idea of the people is this: Tliey have their courts and tlieir judiciary

system; tliey liave the moral teachings of the pulpit; everything is having its duo
course and going along quietly, as we think ; and the impression is general that in

this interference by Congress the southern people are treated as if they were not capa-
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We of self-government—as if they were still traitors, vrhen really there is no feeling of
opposition to tlie Government.

Question. Do they not understand that this law is general, and applies to the whole
United States ?

Answo: Yes, I suppose it is general in its terms, bnt it is intended to be applicable
to only certain conuininitics. •

Question. It is applicable everywhere, unless in some localities there are peculiar
crimes. I have understood you as saying that tliere are no iicculiar crimes in Georgia.

Answer. I think the peoph' feel that their judiciary, their pulpits, their schools, their
moral teacliings generally, the interest they have in the peace and quiet of society,

should exempt them from any special legislation of that kind. It' any people ever felt

conquered, they do. Talk about lighting! There is no disposition among them to
fight.

Question. If those crimes are not punished by the State courts, do the people object
to their being punished by the General Government ?

Answe): If they could I'urRish no remedy for them themselves, they would not object

;

but there is no judge in Georgia who reports that he cannot enforce the law.
Question. Do you not understand that this law applies only to cases where the local

courts are not cflieient for the ])unishment of these crimes?
Answer. I was about to say that, of all the judges api:)ointed by Governor Bullock, I

do not recollect oue who does not report that the civil law is carried out without difiS-

culty. Judge Johnson, who was provisional governor under Andrew Johnson, and
who was appointed a judge by Governor Bullociv, (and wliom I would be glad to have
this conunittee summon,) told me tliat there was no trouble in the world in negroes
obtaining justice before the courts ; that white men in his court had condemned white
men where tlie charge was made by negroes.

Qjtestion. Is it your judgment, or is it the sentiment of the people, that it would be
better for the Government to overlook these Ku-Klux crimes and outrages for the
present—to pass them by, making no arrests and administering no punishment; or is

it best for the General Government to go on and punish them ?

Answer. 1 believe the State courts would take hold of them and punish them all.

They all report that they are competent to do so.

Question. Certain witnesses have testified that it would not be good i^olicy to prose-
cute these offenses ; that it will only make the disturbances worse.

Answer. 1 do not believe that.

Question. You tliink the General Government should go on and prosecute these
offenses ?

Answer. I think if there is a state of lawlessness and rebellion that the local Courts
cannot control, and the Government is informed of it, it is its duty, under any circum-
stances, to interfere for the restoration of peace and quiet; but all our judges and
grand juries report that the local courts are ample to deal with any disorders that
may exist.

Question. If tliat is the case, who is going to be hurt by the act of Congress?
Answer: You only aggravate the people by such legislation

;
you say to them, in effect,

" Your moral status is not such as qualities you for self-government, and therefore we
will make a bayonet government for you."

Question. Has anj' particular county or locality been named in the law ? Has any
particular communitv a right to complain as being the special object of that legisla-

tion ?

Answer. 1 do not say whether anybody has a right to complain or not. I think that
such legislation has a tendency to aggravate the people. The local courts are ample.
I have been in favor of reconstruction in every form in which it has been presented

;

I have been in favor of restoring peace and quiet as soon as possible ; and I believe,

honestly and sincerely, that the southern people would quickly settle this affair, if

every one were relieved of disabilities and allowed to act freely as an American citizen.

That is my honest, firm conviction. It is my impression that we shall have peace
much more quickly by conciliation than in any other way.

Washlngtox, D. C, July 14, 1871.

EDWARD C. ANDERSON sworn and examined.

The Chaiuman, (Mr. Poland.) As this witness has been called by the minority of
the committee, he will be first examined by some member of the minority.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. State where you reside and what positions you have held in your locality
for the last four years.
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Answer. I reside iii the citj^ of Savannah, iu the State of Georgia, and was maj'or of
that city iVoiii 1865 to 1869—fonr years.

Quc.'ition. Slate what is the condition of yonr portion of the State of Georgia as to the
maintcnanei^ of law and order ; the protection of life and property through the ordi-

nary tribunals; and what disturbances, if any, have inevented the execution of tiae

laws. '

A7isu-er. We have always regarded our portion of the State of George as law-abiding.
The laws arc fully enforced. The courts are ample for the maintenance of the law.
There have bciMi one or two disturbances there, not o'"a very niatei'ial character how-
ever. One of them occurred during the presidential election at one precinct in our
city. It was occasioned by the blocking of the polls by negroes. They took possession
of the polls about 4 o'clock in the morning, and at 7 o'clock, when the polls were
opened, tlie operatives of one of the railroads carue up for the ])urp()se of voting. They
came in a body, in order that they might deposit their ballots and return to their work.
On arriving at the polls they found, as I have stated, the polls blocked by the negroes.
An officer of police was called upon to open the poUsj in order that those "men
might deposit their ballots, and a force of about eight men, under a lieutenant, was
sent for that purpose. As they approached the precinct they were fired upon by the
negroes who held the precinct. A police officer was killed and two other officers

wounded. The firing was th(m returned, not however until the first man had been
killed. Another case occurred where a negro, by the name of Aaron Hurt, who voted
the democratic ticket, was taken by men of his own color, carried back oi the jail,

which is on the outskirts of the city, and there tarred and feathered. A third case was
that of a man named Aaron A. Bradley, a notorious disturber of the public peace.

There was a rivalry existing between tAVO factions of the republican party tJaere ; I

speak of the negroes. One of these factions was headed by an extremely intelligent

colored man. Bradley, iu returning one night from a political meeting, was seized by
the partisans of the other faction ; a bag, I think, was drawn o^'er his head. He was
put in an ambulance (they intended carrying him, it is said, to the rear of the city and
there doing him violence) when the city police came forward and arrested him. They
attempted to drive over the officer who was stopping the outrage, but he was a man of
a good deal of courage ; he maintained his position and sxnang his rattle

;
policemen

from the neighboring ward came and rescued Bradley from the hands of these people.
In other respects, SaA^annah and the district in which I live, the southern portion of
Georgia, has been very orderly.

Question. Do you speak of the congressional district ?

Answer. I embrace iu the statement the congressional district, containing, I think,
twenty-nine counties.

Question. The precinct where that riot occiirrcd was iu the city of Savannah ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; in the city of Savannah, at the court-house. There have been iso-

lated cases of disorder, but there have been no instancesof organized violence; and you
could hardly condenni the conduct of ourcomnmnity from isolated cas(^s any more than
you could cundeum the morals of Boston from the records of its ])olice court.

Question. Have there been any bands of disguised men, or Ku-Klux, so called, m any
portion of the congressional district in which Savannah is situated ?

Answer. I have never heard of any such organization, and, ha mayor of the city, I was
in full intercourse with the leading men of that district, and, in fact, of the surnmnding
counties outside of the district. It has never been intimated to me Unit there existed
any such organization, and I do not think it could possibly have existed without my
knowledge of the fact.

Question. How many counties are there in the district?

Ansioer. Tw§uty-niue, I think.
Question. You think Southern Georgia is Aree from anything of that sort ?

Answer. Entirely so.

Question. You not only do not know of any such organization, but you have never
heard of anything of the kind ?

Answer. Ihave lieard of the instances I have named, and isolated instances here and
there, springing up on the spur of the moment, but no organized disturbances of any
kmd.

Question. No men in disguise?
Answer. No men in disguise at all, excepting in the case of Bradley. It was reported

to me that those men were disguised, but they were known and were afterward
arraigned.

Question. There was no politics in that affair? The parties on both sides were repub-
licans ?

Answer. They were republicans on both sides.

Question. As mayor of the city, having knowledge of its general condition as to law-
lessness or the contrary, how would you say the city of Savannah compares with other
cities of the country as to the maintenance of law and order, the protection of life and
proijerty ?
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Ansiocr. Wo are regarded as one of the most law-abidiug cities iu the country. Wo
have a most admirable police organization there. We have, especially dainng the win-

ter months, a large element of "roughs," who come out there; but they very soon tiud

that the police rules are too stringent for them.
Qui'Miion. How is your city prospering?
Aiiswor. Our city is advancing rapidly. At the close of the war our population was

about twenty-two thousand. It is now about thirty thousand. Our comnierciaL jjro-

gress has been wonderful. The advance in real estate has been over 2,000 \k'V cent.

Our exports before the war did n(»t exceed, I think, about twenty to twenty-two mil-

lion dollars. Last year our exports anumuted to S.")^^,000,000 ; and this year they will

be $70,000,000. We have already sent out from Savannah 700,000 bales of cotton.

Questimi. How are northern men, connug to your State and settling among you, re-

ceived and treated ?

Answer. We receive northern men with the utmost kindness, and are anxious that

they shall come among us.

Que.siio)!. Are many coming?
Answer. Quite a number are coming and locating among our jieople to do business

;

they are opening commercial establishments, and are bringing a good deal of capital

there. Jlr. Kelley, a very wealthy njan from the North, has invested, I suppose, nearly

half a million of dollars there, and other northern men are buying property and build-

ing up the city.

(Question. You have no discordant elements growing out of the birth or former resi-

dence of men ?

Ansicer. None whatever. And so far as the negro population are concerned, we
have a very law-abiding, orderly set of negroes. The only disorganizing element wo
have consists of those who are called the "refugee negroes," who swarm iu from South
Caroliua and Florida They are received with distrust by the resident negroes, as they
come in between them and their liibor ; in other words, they underwork them.

Question. As stevedores, &c. ?

Answer. Stevedores and 'longshoremen.
Question. You manage even them tolerably well ?

Ansiver. Well, sir, we have a police who will manage anybody. Our police force is

iu thorough order and discipline, and very vigilant. The men are all well paid.

Quesiion. I observe in the papers that your city pays a very large proportion of the
tax of the State of Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The city of Savannah, with the county of Chatham, pays about
onc-lifth of the entire taxation of the State.

Question. You then have no hesitation in giving it as your opinion that all you need
is to be let alone to manage your own affairs?

Ansiver. If wc are let alone, we expect to become one of the largest cities on the

southern coast. Our progress has been very wonderful. Wo have been under demo-
cratic rule ever since the close of the Avar. We have never been interfered with to
any great extent, and our city has been very orderly.

Question. What do you mean when you speak of being "under democratic rule ?"

Answer. I mean to say the administration of the city has been in the hands of a
democratic mayor aud board of aldermen.

Question. You, of course, have a good many men under disabilities in your commu-
nity ?

Ansiver. Quite a number ; myself among them.
Question. What do you think would be the eftect upon your people of a general

removal of disabilities by the Government of the United States ?

Answe): I think it would tend more to bury past grievances and heal variances and
differences than anything that could be done. There is a sore feeling growing out of
the fact that some of the very best men we have there are under disabilities.

Question. Some have been relieved who you think had not as much claim as some
who still remain under disabilities ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; some have been relieved Avho iu our judgment were not as well
entitled to be relieved as others who are not relieved.

Question. How does yo*ur present taxation compare with the taxation four or five

years ago ?

Answer. The taxation before the war in the State of Georgia was about 6 cents on
every $100 ; at the present time it is 40 cents on $100.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Is that the State taxation ?
*

Answer. That is the State taxation.
Question. Docs it include the county taxation ?

Answer. Well, sir, we have auother tax—a county tax for local purposes. That is

another matter, it is very small ; it was levied formerly by the justices of the inferior

courts
; it is now levied by the ordinary at the instance of the grand jury. One tax

is, tor instance, for education.
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Qitfxtio)). We liuvc been inqnirinijj fronerally alumt tlio disposition of your i^eoplo
tdwai'il the (Toverniiient—their loyalty. Give us your idea about t-lio feoliugtjf the
jteople of Savannah toward the (ioveruuient and the present aduiinistratiou f

Aiimrer. You use the term "loyalty." That word, according to my couiprehensiou,
means devotion to the maintenance of law. In that respect our peo[»le are a law-
abiding ]ieoi)le. As to the sentiment of the pe()])le toward the Government of tli<'

Uniteii States, we iire not hostile to the Government, but wo have no earthly regard
for the administration of that Goverumeut as illustrated in tl'e })erson3 of those who
are its otidceliolders among us. As a iiih;, tiicy are men who at their own liomes can
hardly be entitled to nnicli consiileratiou. They seem in many instances to be the
refuse of creation. Coming down thei'e, they are nnconciliatory in demeanor, arro-
gant, exacting, and, as a general I'ule, ignorant. Of course there are cxce))tioual cases :

1 am speaking of the meu as a class. I think that if the G;)verunient were a little

more cautious in the selection of its agents, and would send among us gentlemen who
could mingle with the people and treat them with ordinary courtesy, there would be a
very much kinder feeling toward the Goverumeut than there is now.

(Jiictition. Is there any ditticulty in a<lmiuistering the laws in your courts?
Answer. None in the world. Wc have an ample system of courts. We have tlu-

superior court, the city court, the nuiyor's court, and they are in session very con-
stantly. They are quite ample for the wants of the cominunity.

Qiientioii. Can.justice be administered there, regardless of race, color, previous condi
tion, or polities'?

Answer. Beyond peradventure.
Question. You think that any man, of any politics, can express his political sentiments

there without being injured?
Answer. Anywhen;. Our juries are comx^osed of men from l)oth North and South.

'We have a large northern element there, and the men who come and settle among
ns are very highly respected.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. Y''ou have spoken in your testimony almost exclusively of Savannah and
your immediate section f

Answer. Y^es, sir.

Question. Are you familiar with the condition of things in other portions of the
: State ?

'

Answer. From personal intercourse I am not. I have been in upper Georgia, but
•only upon brief visits. I have never resided there.

Question. Has your section of the State the largest proportion of the colored people .'

Answer. O, yes. Upper Georgia is sparsely peopled with negroes.
Qucfiiion. Your part of th(! State has a A'cry large ])roportion of colored people ?

Answer. It has. We are in the agricultural region—the sea island and rice region.

(Juesiion. Do you hap])en to know the relative proportion of white and colored peo-
;ple in your congressional district?

Answer. I should say the proportions were three-fifths white and two-lifths black.

(Jucstiov. The whites preponderate?
Answer. Y'"es, sir.

Question. Have you a larger proportion of colored people in your congressional dis-

trict than in any other part of the State ?

Answer. 1 think that in some counties in the southwestern portion of Georgia tlir

2>reponderance is upon the side of the blacks.

Question. You have said that in Savannah, and the region about Savannah, you have
.never heard of any organizations of disguised men ? Have you heard of such things
in other parts of the State ?

Answer. As a State organization, never.

Question. I am not asking as to a State organization, but are there organizations in

'Other parts of the State ?

Answer. Not to my knowledge; I know of no organization in the State of Georgia.
Question. Have yon heard of such things as bands of ayned men going about in

•disguise ?

Answer. Since my arrival in Washington I have heard gentlemen say that in certain

•counties of Georgia then; had been seen men disguised ; but that they were loca'

.altogether, not general in tlieir organization.
• Question. I am not asking as to tlie extent of the organization, but whether such
things have appeared in some parts of the State ?

Answer. Only to the extent I mime.
(Question. The orgiUiizations. so far as you know and believe, are local organization.i ?

Answer. Of my own knowledge I do not know of any.
Question. 1 under.stand you .spiiak upon information entirely.

Answer. Simply from hearsay and conversation.
Question. You luive heard of such things in some other portion.s of the State?
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Ausu'cr. Only in one portion of tlic State.

Question. Wiiat portion is that?
Answer. In the vicinity of Ivomo. I think it was mentioned in conversation thr.t

there had been npon one occasion some men wlio had banded together, bnt not many.
Question. Did you learn what was done on that occasion by tliat band of men ?

Ansiccr. I heard of the release of a prisoner, who had been taken by the United States
forces, without warrant of law.

Question. That is the iuf^tancc to which yon refer ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that is the only one you have heard of?
An^<Hcr. Yes, sir; that is the only one I remember.
Question. Do you mean to say that that is the only one you have heard of in the

State ?

Answer. That is the only one I can call to my mind at this time. [Witness pauses.]
It is the only one. iipon reflection, that I remember at all to have heard of.

Question. Did you hear that Alfred Eichardson, a colored man who was a member cf
the, legislature from Clarke County, was visited by one of these bands?

Ayiswer. I did not.

Question. And you have heard of no instances in the State where these bands of men
have gone and taken out colored men and whipped them ?

Ansiver. I never have.

By Ml-. Pool :

Question. Are you a native of the State of Georgia?
Answer. Yes, sir; I was born there, and my father before me.
Question. To what party do you belong ?

Answa'. The democratic party.
Question. Have you held any public position in the State ?

Ansu-er. Only what I have named—the office of mayor of the city of Savannah.
Question. Were you iu the confederate array ?

Ansner. I was.
Question. What position did you hold there ?

Answer. I held the position of colonel.

Question. You mention three cases of disturbance in Savannah ; do you meau to say
that those cases occurred during the four years you were mayor?

Answer. They did.

Question. Are thej- the ouly cases of disturbance of the public iJcace that occurred
during that time ?

Answer. Those are the ouly material cases where there were any disguises attempte;!
in the execution of violence. There have been, as I said, other cases, but they were
isolated cases growing out of the spur of the moment.

Question. I observed that iu the three cases you named colored men were the promi-
nent actors ?

Ansicer. In each instance.
Question. There were certainly more than three cases of the commission of crime in

your city during the four years you were mayor!
Answer. Many more.
Question. Why did you single out those three cases ?

Answer. I singled them out because I was asked generally as to the cases of precon-
j.

certed violence.

Question. You think there were no cases of x^reconcerted violence except those three ?

Answer. None to my knowledge.
Question. You said a negro was tarred and feathered for voting the democratic

ticket ?

Answer. I did.

Question. Why do you think it was for voting the democratic ticket ?

Answer. It was so stated. He himself stated that he had been tarred and feathered
for that reason.

Que^stion. Was that on the day of election ?

Avsiver. No, it occurred after the election.
Question. Why do you think that was preconcerted ?

Ansicer. Well, it could not have been otherwise, because he was carried out by a baud
of men.

Question. Was there, during the period you speak of, no other case of crime in your
i-ity that was in that sense preconcerted ? Is not almost every crime preconcerted ?

Anstver. Not necessarily.
Question. I know that when two men get into a private difficulty, and fight upon

the corner of the street, thart may not be preconcerted ; l)ut have there beeu no burg-
laries iu your city ?

Answer. Yes, sir; many.
Question. Were there any that were not preconcerted ? »
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Ansiver. I was not in conference with tlie burglars, and cannot answer that question.
I take it for granted that burglars make preparations in advance for committing a
robbery.

Question. Were there any murders in your city during the period you speak of?
Answa: Yes, sir; there were two white men murdered on the To;id, and that likewise

was done by negroes ; that case had escaped my recollection. Those two men were
German gardeners, who were assailed and shot on th(i road.

Question. That was a preconcerted case, in your judgment?
Answer. Yes sir ; I think it was.
Question. Is that the only case of murder that occurred in Savannah during that

time ?

Answer. I do not remember any others. There may have been other murders there.

I recollect now there was a murder of a young man who was out gunning. He was
murdered by a negro, and the negro was arraigned, tried, and executed.

Question. Do you know of any crime committed by a white man in the city of Savan-
nah during the four years you were mayor?

• Answer. In what regard t

Question. You have given five instances of crimes committed by negroes. I ask, was
there any instance of a crime committed by a white man during the four years yon
were mayor of Savannah ?

Answer. Murder, or ordinary crimes?
Question. Murder or burglary—take those two ?

,

Answer. O, yes, sir ; there have been burglaries committed by white men.
Question. Have there been any murders committed by white men ?

Answer. No, I think not.

Question. Has the crime of arson been committed in your city or its subiirbs ?

Answer. There have been burnings there ; but there have been no convictions ; for we
never have been able to prove whcthei' those burnings were premeditated or accidental.

Question. Did you say that your congressional district embraces twenty-nine counties ?

Answer. I think it embraces twenty-nine counties.

Question. Does that include the city of Savannah ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; the county of Chatham, in which the city is situated, is one of the
counties.

Question. What is the population of Savannah ?

Answer. Thirty thousand.
Question. How many counties are there in the State of Georgia?
Answ^: It is hard to say. The legislature has been changing them so constantly of

late.

Question. Twenty-nino struck me as a very large number of counties for a congres-
sional district, and 1 thought you might be mistaken.

Answer. No, sir, I think not ; I think you will find that there are twenty-nine coun-
ties in the hrst congressional district.

Question. How many Representatives has Georgia in the House of Representatives of
the United States ?

Answer. Seven.
Question. Are not those counties very sparsely populated ?

Answer. Some of them are very sparsely i»opulated, and some of them are small.

Question. You said that real estate in the city of Savannah has advanced 2,000 per
ii cent.

Answer. That is the estimate.
Question. Do you mean to say that it has advanced that much upon the valuation

before the war ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; upon the valuation before the war and immediately after tne war.
The city has very largely increased in the extent of its buildings. Buildings are now
extending all over the south common, which was formerly waste land. The city is

being built up in every direction.

Question. You do not mean to say that any given piece of property is worth S,000 per
cent, more now than before the war?

Ansioer. I mean to say that property which before the war sold for two or three hun-
dred dollars, sells now for three or four thousand dollars.

Question. That would not be 2,000 per cent.

Answer. I give you the average. The estimate is that on the average real estate has
increased in value about 2,000 per cent. I mean, for instance, that any well-located lot

ia 2,000 per cent, more valuable now than it was before the war.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. When property doubles in value yon call that an increase of 100 per cent. ?

Anstvcr. Yes, sir.

By liie Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. You mean that property generally is worth now twentv times as much as

it was.
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Answer: Yes, sir.

By Mr. Pool :

QHestUm. You said that Savaiinali pays one-fiftli of the wliole taxation of the Stat<: ?

Ansu-tr. That is t>be estimate, as furnished to me by the receiver of tax returns.

Qxieation. Does Savannah own property amounting to one-fifth the value of all the
property of the State '?

Answer. O, no, sir ; I speak of the proi^erty of individuals. The city of Savannah
itself does not own a great deal of real estate ; a great deal of the real estate that
belonged to the city has been sold ; I am speaking of the taxable property in the city

of Savannah. The taxes assessed upon that property amount to onc-hfth of the entire

taxation of Georgia.

. By Mr. Bl.uk :

Question. I suppose a part of that is tax upon business ?

Answer. No ; 1 mean the tax levied by the State of Georgia as a general tax.

Question. Upon personal property as well as real estate ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; on real estate and personal property.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. You do not have reference to the tax levied upon professions ?

Answer. There is no State tax, so far as I know, levied upon professions.

Question. You say that the tax levied on real estate and personal jiroperty in the city
of Savannah is one-tifth of the whole taxation of the State of Georgia?
Answe): Yes, sir.

Question. That would imply that one-lifth of the whole property of the State is in

Savannah ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. It is a city of thirty thousand inhabitants?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What is the next city in size in the State ?

Ansiuer. Atlanta.
Qiiestion. Hov\-^iauy inhabitants has that?
Answer. The population of Atlanta is estimated at about twenty-two thousand.
Question. Did I understand you to say that you never heard it intimated until yoa

got to this city that there was such a thing as a Kti-Klux organization in the State of
Georgia ?

Answer. I do not know that I said that I had never heard of there being a Ku-Klux
organization in the State. I say that I never heard of any particular point where it

was alleged to exist. In the northern papers I had seen Georgia charged with having
Ku-Klux organizations; but I never knew where they were, and never heard of them
in our own State.

Question. Then you never heard of any outrage committed by them until you arrived
in this city ?

Answer. No, I never did. I never heard before my arrival here of the instance I

named to the chairman.
Question. You heard that since you arrived here ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are you in the habit of reading the newspapers ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I am.
Question. Have you never seen anything in the papers of either party about the Ku-

Klux in Georgia?
Answer. I have seen repeated notices in the northern papers of Ku-Klux in Georgia.
Question. I speak of State papers ?

Answer. Well, it is a rare thing to see anything of the kind mentioned in the State
papers that I read.

Question. Did you never hear of the killing of Judge Ashburn ?

Answer. No, sir ; I heard of the killing of a man named Adkins. Perhaps he is the
man to whom you have reference ?

Question. Was he a judge?
Answer. He was a member of the legislature.
Question. When did that case occur ?

Answer. Two or three years since.
Question. Was that done by disguised men ?

Answer. No, I think not. It was said to have been done by some parties with refer-
ence to his indecent apiiroaches to a woman.

Question. You never heard of the rescue of this prisoner, and the taking of Judge
Ktrby from his house until since you have been here?
Answer. Not until I came here

'

Question. Are you acquainted with any persons in the comity of Clarke ?

Answer. Not to my knowledge.
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Question. In the county of Jacksou?
Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Walton?
,

Answer. No, sir. It is proper for me to state that my acquaiutauco in the interior ol

Georgia is limited to the leading men of those counties. 1 was away from Georgia a
great many years of my life. I was a naval officer, and was out of the United States
for many years.

Question. You have been in the State since 1869 ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. I resigned from the Navy about ten years before the breaking out
of the Avar and have been living in Georgia since that time.

Question. What was your x)osition in the United States Navy ?

Ansivci: I was a lieutenant.

Question. Have you heard it charged by public speakers of either party that there

was an organization for the commission of crime ?

Answer. No, sir, never.
Qucslion. Have you attended any public meetings outside of your city ?

Answer. Not many.
Question. Have you been much outside of your city ?

Answer. Not in Georgia. I have been in Atlanta, and in southwestern Georgia, and
in some of the counties beyond xitlanta, but only for a short time.

Question. Do you know of any secret iiolitical oi'gauization of any kind in the city

of Savannah?
Answer. None Avhatever; there is no such thiug ; there could not be without my

knowledge of it ; for as mayor of the city I was head of the police force. We had
aa admirable detective force there, and it would have been impossible for a secret

organization of that kind to exist without my knowledge.
Question. Have you heard of any colored men being scourged in any of the tweuty-

itiue counties composing your congressional district f

Ansivcr. I have not.

Question. What is the politics of that district ?

Answer. Democratic.
Question. Have you heard of auy disturbances at public meetings ?^

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you, within the last eighteen months, ])eeii at Atlanta, the seat of

government of the State of Georgia 1

Answer. 1 have not', within the last eighteen months.
Question. I'ou have not been actively engaged in politics within the last eighteen

months ?

Answer. No, sir ; I have nothing to do with politics since my retirement from the
mayoralty.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. How do your people regard the management of your State government
as to honesty or dishonesty, economy or extravagance ?

Answer. We look upon the State government of Georgia as an iniquity to civiliza-

tion.

Question. Explain why.
Ansiver. On account of the general course pursued by the governor in his manage-

raeut of the huances of the State, his wasteful expenditure of the imblic money, and
his general administration as governor.

By the CuAiitMAN, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Has the alleged misconduct of the governor, his wasteful expenditure of the
public money, &c., caused any disturbance of the public peace "

Ansicer. Well, sir, it is a groat wonder that it has not don(^ so. I think the i^eople

have shown a great deal of fortitude under the administration of State affairs.

Question. I was asking whether, in fact, that c/Jininistratiou has created any disturb-

ance ?

Ansioer. It has not, so far as I know.
Question. There is dissatisfaction with it ?

Answer. Universal dissatisfaction all over Georgia.
Question. Do men on both sides disapprove of it ?

Answer. I think that the republican iiarty of Georgia hold Governor Bullock in aa

much contempt as the democrats do.

Washington. D. C, July 18, 1871.

HENRY LEWIS BENNING sworn and oxamin(>,d.

The Chairman, (Mr. Poland.) General Blair, as this witness has been summoued
at yoiu" request, you will please commence his examination.
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By Mr. Blair :

Question. State where you re.side.

Ansir-cr. In Columbus, Georgia.

Qnesiion. How long have you resided there?
AnsiKV. Siuco May, 1835.

Qucsiiov. What public positions have you held?
Ansiccr. I have been a lawyer from that time until now.
Qucstmi. Have you been a judge ?

Answci: Yes, sir ; I have held the office of judge. I was solicitor of the circuit for

part of two terms, a good many years ago. I was a judge of one of the courts of

Georgia for six years—^irom 1853 to 1859.

Question. Theobject of this committee is to ascertain the present condition of affains

in your State among others, esjtccially in regard to the security of life and property

uuS the execution of the law. (rotate what you know on that subject.

Answer. My practice is confined to my town ; I do not go on the circuit, but I prac-

tice in the supreme court. My personal acquaintance in the State, therefore, is not ex-

tensive. So far as my town and coimty are concerned, I am pretty well acquainted.

Our condition we look upon as good enough. The law is well administered ; there are

no extraordinary cases of violence of any sort, so far as I know, either in my district

or anywhere in the neighborhood of it.

Quesiion. Are there, according to information upon which you rely, any unlawful

combinations of disguised menlu your section of the State to violate the law and put
it at defiance ?

AnsH-er. I think not. There are no secret associations of any sort, so far as I know,
except what are called the Loyal League clubs, or Union clubs, which are composed
of republicans—chiefly freedmeu. I do not mean to say that they are illegal at all,

but they are secret ; they have their sessions at night.

Question. Have they been guilty of any violations of law, so far as you know ?

Ansuer. I think not, sir.

Question. You know of no other secret combinations in that section of your State ?

Ansiver. No, sir. So far as the Loyal Leagues are concerned, those who have no access

to them have formed their opinions'; and the general opinion is that they are for polit-

ical purposes—to force ^ the black vote to go unanimously one way. But we do not

know.
Question. Have there been any manifestations of hostility by the negroes to any per-

sons of their race who are disposed to vote the democratic ticket ?

Ansiver. Well, sir, we had a homicide in our town in 1868, which, I suppose, may
be considered as resulting from a feeling of that sort.

Question. Give us the iiarticulars of that homicide.
AnsKtr. In 1868 the democrati(; party, after the presidential nominations, I believe,

determined to have a ratification meeting and torchlight procession, with wagons,

banners, &c. ; I was not living in Columbus at that time, but I heard of it. They had
a pretty long procession, and, by some means, it was sto^jped ; there was a pause in it

for a short time, and while it was not going on, some shots were fired from the building-

occupied Ijy the United States revenue collector, iSIr. Jacques, and very soon it was
discovered that a man was killed. The police were there, "and the mayor himself, try-

ing to keep order. It was a democratic procession. The body was carried away, and a

coroner's inquest held as soon as they could get a jury. I attended the inquest ; I felt

a deep interest in learning the evidence. The testimony in the case was, that when
this pause took place in the procession, there was a crowd at the office of the collector,

and some firing took place from that crowd into the procession. Nobody knew who
fired the shots ; there was never any evidence to show that; the person who was hit

ran back, fell, and died ; he gave no account of himself. The testimony did not amount
to more than that as to how the killing took place, or who did it, except that the firing

took ijlaco from the collector's corner. There was a good deal of excitement conse-

([uent upon the affair, because the man killed was a frecdman, a negro, and it was
supposed that the democrats had killed him ; but upon further investigation it was
.found that he was a democrat himself, and had been riding upon a democratic wagon

—

one of those in the procession that had the banners. As soon as that Avas ascertained,

interest seemed to die away ; the other side took no further steps in the matter. It

Avas never ascertained who killed him ; he was a democrat, and was killed.

Question. Killed by firing outside of the procession?
Answer. Yes, sir; by firing from the sidewalk upon the procession when it stoppe<l,

and from the corner occupied by the collector of the district. It was generally sup-

l)osed it was done by the freedmeu of the opiwsite party; they were assembled there.

The grand jury could make nothing of it.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. In that connection, suppose you give us what was known or believed to bo
the history of the Ashburn killing, which occurred about the same time.
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Answer. Gcorgo Asl)bnrn was killed a little wliiLi before. Our community vas
startled cue niorniiig by hearing that Ashburn had been killed.

By Mr. Blaik :

Qttf.^lion. What jiosition did he hold ?

AiiHwer. Ashbiini before the war was a noted overseer; he was a man who had man-
aged large plantations with a number of negroes upon them, and with the njanagement
chielly in his own hands. He vras reputed to be a very severe overseer— brutal. When
the war eame on, I do not know whieh side he took ; in fact I never knew him person-

allv- After the v/ar was over hejoinetl in with the freedmen, and made himself their

especial friend—was ahead of almost every other white man in showing Ins devotion to

their interests. Ho quit his wife and took u]) with a negro woman in (Jolumbus, lived

with her as his wife (so said reputation) and at a public house at that ; I mean a house of

prostitution. He incited the negroes in various ways, and imbittered their feelings

against the whites ; insisted that tliey wen^ entitled, according to the phrase then used, to

'•forty acres oflandandamulc," and that they should have it. I dare say that yon have
seen in the newspapers that they claimed that on their lilieration. He did other tilings to

satisfy the negroes that ho was a great friend of theii's, and indeed to make himself

their leader. Ho became very obnoxious to the white i)eople, even those belonging to

his own jiarty. They had nothing to do with him. He lived by himself. One night

he was killed. A yjarty went to his house and killed him. Three or four shots were
tired; one of them took eliect in his head; h(^ was shot in the forehwul and killed.

There were a good many young men of Columbus arrested for that, and there was an
investigation before a military court at Atlanta. I forget who was the president

of the court. A good many days w(!re consumed in the investigation. Finally, how-
ever, the court was dissolved, I think, by an order of the President, on the admission

of Georgia, or the acceptance of the con.stitution of Georgia. That court came to no
conclusion ; there was no decision made by the military court. The prisoners were
discharged. So there has never been any (hsterminatiou of any sort as to who killed

him. The opinion in Columbus is, I think, that the purpose of- this i)ariy which went
to the place where he was boarding was to warn him off—to tell him that he must
leave there ; but he seized his pistol and commenced liriug at them, and they killed

him. It is not generally thought that they went there for th(; imrpose of killing him,

but merely to warn hint away from the place as a dangerous man—at least as a fomenter

of strife.
' There were rewards ofteretl for the })ai-ties who committed the murder.

Nobody, however, was ever indicted. The little testimony that was taken before the

military court showed that the parties were disguised men—some ten, twelve, orhfteen

—

I think about twelve.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Did not a man who was a comrade of his disappear aJjout the same time ?

Westtield, I believe, w^as his name.
Anm-er. Yes, sir; West field, or JMoorefield. It is believed by a good many that Ash-

burn was killed by his own party, for the reason that he had taken possession of the

colored vote ; and that this man was the agent in doing it.

Those are the only two cases I know of, except one that happened earlier, when the

place was occupied by United States troops. In 1865 or 18G6 they had a colored com-
pany there ; and one of the private.s—or it may have been a sergeant—was very defiant

and ofiensivo in his manners on the street. He would walli straight forward and strike

anybody that was in front of him; would shove ladies off the sidewalk. His conduct

was noticed a good deal, and borne with for a good while. A young man, however,

Jtiet him one day, and there was a collision ; they struck against each other, and some
struggling took place afterward. The young man pulled out his ])istol and sliot this

soldier in the arm. A good deal of blood flowed from it. He went to his cpiarters where

th(} company were, and aroused them. They shut the doors, opened some of the win-

dows, and commenced firing indiscriminately upon everybody that appeared. People

kept out of the way; but a gentleman named IMajor AVarner, living \\\) town, wanting

to know Avhat the'cause of the firing was, walked down in the neighliorhood of the

barracks, on the opposite side of the street. When they sav/ him, they fired upon him
and killed him ; that is, they mortally wounded him ; he died in a day or two. The
wound of the private was not a mortal wound; he got over it very soon; and the

man who wounded him ran to Texas and died of the yellow fever. There was no inquiry

made as to Avho .shot Major Warner. The mayor of the town urged again and again

njion the officers to have an investigation, but none was had. Major Warner was an
estimable citizen, and a quiet man. At the time he was shot he was merely walking
down the street.

Those three are the only cases of homicide that I know of in our town or in tho

neighborhood which may be said to have any political bearing at all. At the present

time wo are living very'harmoni^usly. The last of these homicides was in 18G8, more
than three years ago.
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Qnestion. Have you had no lioiuicides in Columbus for tlio last three years?

Anstixr. No, sir; the last was the ease of this man who was in the procession.

Question. How large a town is Columbus 1

Ansioa-. The city proper has about eight thousand population; the suburbs would
make four or five thousand more.

Question. The town lies on the western side of Georgia, rather south of the center of

the State ?

Ansuei: Yes, sir.

Questian. In speaking of your section of the State, .so far as your iuforuiatlou goes,

what region of country Avould you speak of?

Ansxver. East of Columbus, and soutli of it.

Question. How far according to your information does this condition of quiet and
order extend across the State?

Aiistfcr. More than half way across the State.

Question. And down to the southern line?

Anstcer. Yes, sir ; and above, to a considerable distance. We are in the midst of
W'hat is called the '' black belt."

Question. How many counties would you embrace in your statement, according to the
information you have ?

Ansircr. I should think thirty or Ibrty counties.

Question. In that region of country you say there is no such thing as Ku-Klux organ-
izations ?

Answer. I think not. I think there are no secret organizations of either party.

These Loyal Leagues I consider as rather going out.

Question. You say that in all that region of country of which Columbus is the center,

embracing thirty or forty counties, the law is administered reasonably well ?

Answer. O, yes.

Question. Judge Johnson is your judge?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. What kind of a judge is he?
Answer. He is a republican, but is an able lawyer and a good judge. We are favored

in that respect in our circuit. A great many of them do not seem to be able lawyers.
(Question. Do the grand juries administer the law faithfully?

Answer. O, yes.

Question. Can your people all vote as they please, regardless of their party proclivities ?

Answer. O, yes, sir. Our district is a republican district. The member elected to

the legislature from our district is Mr. Bigbee. He was judge of the circuit ; he was
elected by a majority of four or five hundred. One of the counties in our district is a
very heavy negro county ; it gives a majority of between two and three thousand
votes. Owing to the vote of that county he was elected. The election was quiet

everywhere.
Question. In that region of countrj-, men are not taken out and whipped by disguised

jtersons?

Answer. O, never.
Question. So that you will say for Western and Southern Georgia—the region round

about Columbus—that law and order prevail, and people are safe in theii- j)roperty and
lives?
Answer. I would say so with great confidence.

Question. Can citizens freely express their j)olitical opinions and vote as they choose-?

Answer. O, yes, sir.

Our town has a pretty good school system. Our public school law was not carried

into effect, for the reason that the legislature needed the school money for the purpose
of paying their own expenses, and they took last year for that purpose about $200,000
of the school fund. But our town itself suiiplied to the negro schools their share of
that money, and has been sustaining them.

Question. Out of the private resources of the town?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. After the State money had been misapplied or was exhausted?
Answer. Yes, sir; Avhen it was exhausted they supplied the money. They have

about three hundred pupils in the schools. There is a good school system. They have
been befriended too by New England people. There is a schooi-house with the name
of Governor Clallin of Massachusetts upon it; and I suppose the funds for the building
came chiefly from him and his friends. It is a very fine school indeed. They have for

teacher a graduate from Oberlin, Ohio, a black man, or j»erhaps a mulatto; I am not
acqiuiinted with him.

Question. Do your people, without regard to politics, take an interest in the education
of those people ?

Answer. 1 cannot say, without regard to politics; but those who take an Interest iu
education at all take Im interest in the education of the blacks as well as the whites.

A great many, you know, are indifferent about education. This man, Mitchell, from



18G CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

01)erliii, Oliio, had :i conversation Vvitli ono of our committee on the subject of general
(•(Incation a i'cw days before I left; so this genth'inan of the conunitteo tokl me.
INlitcliell said he was very much i)h'ased with th(! phu-e ; that it was a line school
and was doing very well, but he did not know whether they would allow him to keep
it, because it seems the white people want the positions of teachers for themselves.
The school-teachers from, the North, or those that may lie picked up there, want the
j)laces; and Mitchell said he would not be surprised if he should lose his i)lace. The
negroes have their pic-nics and their parties; and they use for their exhiintious the
same halls that thi? v>hite people do. There is uo discrimination, so far as 1 know, be-
tween white and black.

Question. Do thejf have political gatherings ?

Answer. O, yes, sir; whenever they please; they assemble in Temperance Hall just
as the white folks do, and the police are there to keep order.

Question. Have you experienced any trouble from the abuse of the jiardoning power
by the governor?

Ansicer. Well, sir, so far as our circuit is concerned, I do not remember a single case
in w^hich I think the executive has jiardoned improperly. I do not rememb(!r any case.

He commuted the sentence in a homicide case—a cajiital case ; but there was no poli-

tics in that. We have a great many cases against negroes in our town ; they are
chiefly burglaries and larcenies—small afifaii's. Crimiuals of that class 1111 our jails.

When they are brought to trial, they ai'e unitbrmly supplied with counsel by the court,

and are tried just like white criminals ; no differeixce is rruide.

Question. Are the counsel assigned by the court generally men of ability?

Answa: They are not the oldest counsel ; the younger counsel are generally assigned

;

but they do justice to the cases, and the punishments are not heavj'. The blacks are
sworn as witnesses, and testify like white peoxde.

By the Ciiair.man, (Mr. Pol.vnd :

)

Question. When was this case in which you say a colored man, who turned out to bo
a democrat, was shot ?

Answer. As well as I can rememl)er, it was when we ratified the nomination of Sey-
mour and Blair; I do not remember the mouth; it took i>lace in 1868.

Question. You mean in the summer of 1868?
Answer. It was a ratiiication procession, as well as I remember—a torch-light i^ro-

cessiou.

Question. You say it was never discovered who killed that man?
Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. And the supposition was that, if he was killed for anj- political reason it

was done by some republican, because he was a democrat?
Answer. Yes, sir.

(Question. And that was all there was of it ?

Answer. That is all.

Question. Nobody knows whether he was killed by a mere chance shot, or how it

happened ?

Answer. People only know that there Avas firing from Jaccjues's corner ; they had col-

lected there to see the pi'ocession goby; and the tiring came from that corner, but
from whose hand nobody knows.

Question. Whether it was a white man or a colored man nobody knows?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Whether the shot was fired by a republican or a democrat, nobody knows?
Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. When do you say Ashburn was killed ?

Answer. As well as I can remember, in the spring preceding the case I was just
S]ieaking of; it may have been in the early summer..

Question The spring or summer of 1868 ?

Answei: Yes, sir.

Question. Ashburn was a member of the legislature ?

Answer. I believe he was; but I really forget.
Question. Where was he killed?
ylnsicer. He was killed in Colund)us, in the house in which ho lived.

: Question. Was not the legislature in session at that time?
Answer. I forget ; but I rather think not.

Question. Was his residence in Columbus?
Avsiver. His wife lived in Macon, which is about the center of the State. He came

over to Columbus, and, to speak freely, took \^^ with this negro woman—lived with her,

as was generally understood, leaving his wife in Macon. He had not been a citizen of
Columbus before the war or during tlie war.

Question. You say he was a plantation overseer before the war. Where did he live ?

Answer. lb; had lived in Upson eoujity a part of tin; time. He had lived in South-
westtirn Georgia, but in what counties I am not able to tell.

Question. You say he had the reimtation of being a hard and severe overseer ?
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AHSiver. Yes, sir ; brutal.

Question. Did you ever hear anytliiug about that till after he was killed?

Answer. O, yes-, sir ; that was one of the thiugs that exasperated the people against

him.
Question. Was he elected to the legislature from Columbus ?

Answer. I do not think so. I do not think he was a member of the legislature at all;

but I forget as to that.

Question. Do you say it was an established fact that he was living in a state of adult-

ery with a colored woman?
\inswer. I cannot say it was an established fact ; it was the universal belief

Question. Were you jjresent at this examination before the military commission?
.Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you hear the evidence that was taken?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. All of it?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever see a little volume which has been iiublished, containing all

the evideuce that was taken ?

Ansicer. I think I have.
Question. Do you remember that Ashl>urn took lodgings at some hotel in Columbus

uud was turned away ; that they would not allow him to sit at the table with other

people ?

Answer. I do not know whether that is in the evidence or not ; but I remember
such a fact.

Question. Did not that appear in the testimony?
Answer. I cannot undertake to tell what was in that volume of testimony; but

1 think that that is the fact, that they would not let him stay at some hotel.

Question. Did it not appear that, in consequence of his being unable to I'emaiu at the

hotel, he took a room in the house of a colored woman?
Answer. I do not know what appeared in the book.
Question. Did not that appear upon the trial? Was it not proved that that was the

reason why he took a room in this colored woman's house—because they would not
allow him to remain in the hotel?
Answer. I do not remember. It may have been sworn to in the evidence.

Question. You say it has been suggested by some peoxile that he was killed by his

own political friends ?

Ansieer. Y«s, sir.

Question. Did anything of that sort appear upon the trial ?

Answer. Nothing that I remember now, exceiit the disappearance of this man Moore-
lield, or Westfield, who had some ciuarrel with him.

Que-stion. Ashburn was killed in the night, was he not?
Ansicer. Yep, sir ; about 1 o'clock.

Question. Did it not api>ear that a large number of men, in disguise, went to the
house where he was, called him out, and shot him?
Answer. No, sir. I think, according to the evidence, the number of the party might

have been from ten to hfteen ; but he was not called out. They broke into his room.
Question. Did they not call to him to come out, and upon his refusal to come out

break the door open, and then go in and shoot him?
Answer. I do not remember as to that. They broke into his room. I do not remem-

ber about their calling him out.

Question. If they broke into his room, it can hardly be true that they killed him in

self-defense.

,

Answer. Well, I do not mean to say that ; nobody knows how he was killed. I only
speak of what was the opinion in the place.

Question. Was he not shot all to pieces ? Were not a great number of shots in him ?

Answer. I think they did not tire more than three or four shots ; one took effect in

the forehead, and, I think, another in the thigh. There were some shot in the wall

—

one shot on the opposite side from where he probably was—which made people suppose
that ho had tired.

Question. Was it not a matter of the merest suspicion in the world that there were
any improper relations between him and this colored woman ?

Answer. No ; I think not.

Question. Do you remember whether it appeared upon that trial that his life had
repeatedly been threatened by men who were politically opposed to him ?

Answer. I do not think it did, but I do not remember.

By ilr. CoBi'KX

:

Question. You said that Ashburn fired some shots?
Answer. I said it was supposed he did.

Qufsiion. Did you not in the first i>art of your evidence make the statement squarely
that he shot first

'
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A)i.sirc): 0, no, sir ; I tlid not ; I do not know anything abont that; nobody docs. I
said it was suinioscd that ho lircd.

Qmstion. Vv'luit was the evidence that ho did?
Answer. Well, there was a shot on the oj>j)osite side of the wall from where he fell.

Question. Was there any evidence to show that he was there when that shot was
fired f

Answer. There was evidence that he drew a pistol.

Qudftion. Was any spectator of the scene sworn as a witness ?

Ausivcr. I think they found the pistol in his hand. •

Quesiioii. Was there any evidence to shovr that ho stood in that place and shot from
that point f

Answer. No, sir, none ; only the shot in the wall.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Were there not two colored women there in the house, both of whom were
witnesses ?

Answer. One colored woman and a white woman—a woman of the tov/u, named
Amanda Patterson.

Question. You say that your i^ractice as a lawyer is coutined entirely to your own
county ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and the supreme court.

Question. You say that, in your vicinity, you have never heard of any of these dis-

guised bands of men going about ?

Answer. Never.
Question. Have you heard anything of them in other parts of the State ?

Ansiver. I caunot say that I have. Since this examination has been going on, I have
been reading th(i evidence, and it recalled to my miud a case in Upper Georgia, in the
neighborhood, of Rome, where a man was taken out of jail ; but I do not remember
the facts sufficiently to say that I have an opiuion about them one way or another.

Question. Have you not seen in any of the public newspapers, witliin the last year
or two, any accounts of these disguised bands going about whipping and occasionally
killing peo])le ?

Answer. The only disguised people that I can remember now were those that killed

Ashburn.
Question. Have you not seen in the newspapers any statements about such things ?

Answer. I do not remember them. There was a senator killed in Warren County
last year, I think, but it was not by disguised men.

Question. What was his name ?

Answer. Adkins, I think. .

Question. He was shot by somebody as he was traveling along the road?
Answer. Yes, sir, as he was going home.
Question. Nobody knew who shot him ?

Answer. No, sir.

Qucilion. Did you hear of Alfred Richardson, a colored member of the legislature,

from Clarke County, being attacked ?

Answer. No, sir, I never heard of it. Clarke County is a distant jjart of the Staro
from where I live.

Question. Have you taken any pains to keep watch of the newspapers in respect to

these matters?
Ansiver. Not the least.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. You spoke of those colored troops in the barracks firing indiscriminately

into the crowd passing. How long did they continue that sort of outrage?
Ansiver. I suppcjso it was not continued very long. As I have told you, I did noc

live in the town; I live about two miles in the country.
Question. Do you suppose it was continued all day ?

Answer. O, no, sir; 1 think the collision took place about 2 or 3 o'clock in the
afternoon. This man ran np to the barracks and i-aised the negroes, and they very
soon cleared the street; nobody came along. This man who was killed lived some dis-

tance off. He did not know what the firing meant, and that was the reason he cam
along.

Question. Did the colored soldiers lire into the crowd passing the ba«aeks ?

Answer. The report was that they fired at every white person they saw.
Question. Was anybody hurt by the firing?

Answer. Nobody but this oue man, who was killed.

Question. Is it not rather strange that these men should have fired indiscriminately

at everybody passing, and yet hurt only oue person ?

Answer. There were very few jjassing. The people generally kept away from there.

Question. Do you suppose they tried to hurt anybody ?



GEORGIA. 189

Aimcer. I suppose so, from their shooting Warner.
(Question. But he "vvas the hist who went by ?

Answer. I do not know whether he was the last or not. I do not kne-"'^- when the

firing terminated or when it began. I suppose it continued an hour, or something

like that.

Question. Was anybody present besides Warner when he was shot ?

Armccr. I do not know whether there was or not ; I suppose not, but I do not know.
Question. If no one else was there, then he could not have been hurt when they were

shooting into the crowd? • »

Answer. There was no crowd to shoot into ; there was no crowd there.

Question. Did Warner do nothing to provoke them to tire upon him ?

Ansirer. Notliing in the world. He was "a very peaceable citizen—an unoffending

man.

By Mr. Cobukx :

Question. Have you traveled recently in the thirty or forty counties to which you
refer as having uo Ku-Klux in them ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do vou take newspapers from those counties?

Answer. Well,"^ I take them indirectly. I take the two newspapers that are published

in Columbus ; and they republivsh eveiy matter of news.
Question. You do not take th.e papers published in those cotmties ?

Answer. No, sir-; there are not many papers published in those' counties.

Question. Can you say that you have seen one man from every one of those counties

and talked to him wi»thin the last year?
Answer. O, uo, sir, I could not.

Question. As to the Loyal League, how extensively does that prevail, according to your

knowledge ?

Answer. My knowledge is very limited. My opinion is, though, from the best infor-

mation I can get, that it is eoniined chiefly to the large towns and the counties Avhich

have a very heavy black j)opulation.

Question. Do you belong to the League ?

Answer. O, no, .sir.

Question. Do you know where or when they meet ?

Answer. No, sir. They meet at night. I know nothing about them. The supposi-

tion is tbat it is an organization for the puipose of influencing votes.

Question. Do you know that of your own knowledge ?

Answer. I do not.

Question. You said that it was for the purpose of compelling voters by force, or some-

thing of that kind, to vote in a particular direction ; do you know that?

Answer. Well, I meant to influence voters. I do not think myself that they ever use

X)hysical force.

By the Cilvirman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. You said, I believe, that those Leagues seem to be dying out ?

Answer. I tliink so.

Question. Have you known of their holding any meeting since the presidential cam-
paign in 1868 ?

Answer. I cannot say that I have known it ; but they held them, according to univer-

sal belief, all through that campaign.
Question. Have any been held since that time ?

Ansicer. I think they did hold meetings when we were electing our members of the

legislature. We have three days for our elections in Georgia ; and on the tirst day the

black vote came in in a body, as you may say; the voters seemed to be organized,

and the matter was supposed to have been arranged in the League some nights before.

(Juestion. When was that?
Answer. Some time this year ; the members elected were for the coming legislature.

I think the election was in March, or perhaps April.

By Mr. COBURN

:

Question. Did not the Columbus newspapers come out in approval of the murder oi

Ashburu, saying his death left "one enemy less?"
Answa-. Well, I declare I do not know.
Question. Did you read the papers at that time ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; I take the Columbus papers.
Question. You do not know whether they approved of that murder or not?
Answer. I rather think they condemned it universally. That is my remembrance.
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Washixgtox. D. C, July 18, 1871.

lion. WM. W. PAINE sworn and exumini'd.

The CiiAJKMAN, (Mr. Poi>a>'I>.) General Bluir, as this witness has been called at

your reqnest, you will please open his examination.

By jNIr. Blaik :

Quculion. Wliere do yon resides ?

Ansu-cr. In Savannah, Georgia.

Quesiian. How long have you resided there ?

Ansn-er. Since the war.
Que4ion. What positions have you held- in Georgia, either before or since the war?
Ansicer. I have been a senator in the Georgia legislature.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Before the war ?

Atiswer. Yes, sir. Since the war I have been elected a member of Congress from the

fust congressional district of Georgia.

By IMr. BLAUi

:

Question. State, if yon please, the present condition of your State, especially that part

where you reside, with reference to the security of property and life and the execution

of the laws.
Answer. In the city of Savannah, and in the first congressional district, the laws are

Avell enforced, so far as I have had opportunity to observe. I went into a great many
counties during the canvass of last year, and I heard no complaint whatever. I know
that in the county of Chatham, in which Savannah is located, the law is enforced, and
enforced impartially. I know of no instance, nor have I heard of any, iu the first con-

gressional district, where the law has not been enforced.

Question. Is there any secret organization of disguised men for the jmrpose of violat-

ing the law ?

Answii: I do not think there is in the first congressional district. I have taken some
little pains to inquire about that. After 1 had been summoned here I saw several per-

sons from the interior. Thinking that this would be one of the questions I would be

asked, I inquired coucerning the matter ; and the persons of whom I inquired did not

believe there is any secret organization in the first congressional district. There may
be, but I honestly believe there is not, in the first congressional district, any such

organization.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. How many counties are there in your district?

Answer. Twenty-nine.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Is there, in your congressional district, any difficulty or danger in the ex-

pression of political opinions or the exercise of political and civil rights ?

Answer. I think not. I think that iu the first congressional district political opin-

ions, when not oli'ensively expressed, may be freely uttered. I know that I have heard

men expressing their opinions freely. But a person expressing his opinions officiously

and oflensively might, perhaps, raise some difficulty.

Question. Do you know whether there has been any violence exercised by the negroes

toward peof»le of their own color who express a desire to vote the democratic ticket?

Answer. At the first elections there wap ; but I think that is dying away. The
Union League did <^xercise an influence ; and the negroes were generally afraid to vote

any other than what was called the republican ticket. But I am speaking now prin-

cipally of Savannah, because I have been there on the days of the elections. I think

that this opposition which was at first manifested is dying av/ay to a great extent, and
that negroes can vote as they please. They generally do vote as they please. I do
not know whether you want my opinion about the negro as a voter.

Question. Give us your opinion about that.

Answer. I think that a large portion of the negro voters are. with a few exceptions,

what we call "fioaters;" like the lower jiart of the white population, they are easily

led and controlled. They have no fixed principle to govern them at all. If I may so

express myself, their afl'ection is more for the candidate, whoever he may be, than for

the party.
Question. They go rather upon personal considerations than upon general principles ?

Answer. They go mainly upon i)ersoual cousidei'ations. I think they have a sort of

general gratitude toward the republican party. They are impressed with the idea

that they arc indebted to that party for having given them their freedom; an<l they

feel a ki'ud of gratitude toward that ]iarty. Ijut as regards the masses of them, (there

lue certainly exceptions,) they will go for any one they like personally in iireference
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to one they do not like. I Avill give an illustration. Every one of the negroes of onr
family, except one, voted for me sis ;i ciindidate for Congress, and tliey were scattered

over differeut counties in the tirst congressional district. That one Avho vot(;d other-

wise told nie that he would have A^oted for me hut for his connection with the repnh-

lieau party ; that he was considered one of the leaders of the party, and could not vott
for me. I did not say a single ^ord to them in the way of persuading or asking them
to vote for me. I never asked a living man to vote for me. I have seen the uegroes
vote in the same way for others—upon personal considerations, from personal friend-

ship.

QiicsHon. You have not had in your part of the State any outrages hy what areknowD
as secret disguised organizations of men °1

Aiisucr. None that 1 know of; certainly none recently. There have been some out-

rages committed ; but 1 think they arose upon the spur of the moment—from some
sudden occasion and not from any preconcerted organization.

By the Chairjiax, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. I observe that in your answers about bodies of disguised men yen confine
your statements to your own congressional district ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I do not know anything personally outside of that district.

Question. Have there been newspaper and other rumors abovit bands of disguised
men in other parts of the State doing injury to people?

Answer. Yes, sir, I have read in the papers about those disguised men.
Question. Have yon any doubt that in some portions of the State there have been i

these organizations ? How far the organizations extended you of course do not know

;

but have there not apparently been such organizations of men in different parts of the
State ?

Answer. I do not know whether there have been organizations. I have heard of
bodies of men, ten, fifteen, or twenty, going to persons' houses and interrupting them,
and sometimes, perhaps, XJunishing them ; but my opinion is that they are not organ-
izations.

Question. Do not such proceedings show an organization to some extent ?

Answer. They may be organized; but I do not think they are permanent organiza-
tions ; they may be, however.

Question. Do you not understand that they wear a disguise, which is a kind of uni-
form ?

Answer. No, I never heard of it.

Question. Do you not iinderstaud that they wear some kind of prepared disguise; not
merely a disguise made by the derangement of their ordinary apparel?

Answer. Not that I know of.

Question. Do they not wear caps and gowns ?

Answer. Well, their faces may bo disguised.
Question. Have you not heard that they wear a peculiar gown or robe and high hat,

and make, altogether, a sort of unearthly figure f

Ansiver. No, 1 never have heard about their presenting themselves in that form.
There may be rumors of such things, but there is nothing that Avould make me, as a
sensible man, believe such a thing. I never have heaixl it in such a connection as to
make me believe it.

Question. Have you understood, from your information, that there was nothing more
of this disgirise than merely putting something before their faces, so that they could
n.t be seen? Has there not been something in the nature of uniform?

Answer. I never heard that there was.
*

Question. You have heard that they went disguised?
Answer. Yes, I ha%'e heard that. I have seen it in the papers, and have heard others

say so.

Question. From the information you have obtained, is it your idea that they merely
put on something to conceal their faces ?

Answer. I do not know what tlie Ku-Klux organization may be in the upper part of
Georgia, but I do not think it exists in the first congressional district.

Question. You have never heard of it there ?

Ansiver. Only in one county, or perhaps two counties, and then so vaguely that I do
not think the report is entitled to any credence at all. There was a case reported from
Wasiiington County—not in my district. There may have been two counties in Avhich
these Ku-Klux were said to exist. But my idea of these organizations is this : When
gin-houses are burned, or when a man loses a horse, when these things happen in a
neighborhood frecjuently, and it is thought that certain persons in the vicinity are the
guilty parties, some men gather together to ]}uuish the supposed offenders in some way
or other. It is in pursuance of the old plan, which has been followed for years back, of
enforcing order by what they call " regulators" or " lynch-law."

Question. Do you suppose that in any part of Georgia, if horses are stolen and other
oli'enses committed, there is any difficulty in prosecuting and punishing the offenders b^
regular legal process ?
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Avsiccr. There is no difficiilty, of course, -vvli ere tlie offenders are kuowu and legal

l)roof can be obtained ; but sometimes a eommnnity may be satistied that a person is

yuilty of an offense when there is no positive legal proof.

Questioii. And therefore it is safer to punish him Avithout proof?
Answer. I do not know about its being safer.

Question. That must be the idea. ^
Ansiver. Well, those things are done for the purpose of having such depredation."

stopped. I will mention a little circumstance that happened long before the war. In
the town in which I lived—not the city ofSavannah, )jut an interior town—a stranger
coming there on a visit lost several hundred dollars. Everj^body in town knew or
thought he knew who took that money. Everybody believed to a certainty that the
thief was a tridhig man who lived in the neighborhood. That night the young men of
the village (I had nothing to do with it myself) took this man out, Avhipped him, and
made him confess v.'here that money was ; they w^ent and got the money and returned
it to the man from whom it had been stolen. Now, this man could not have been con-
victed by strictly legal evidence. It was only known that this stranger had gone to
his house, and the character of the man was so well understood that every one was
satistied that if the money was stolen this man must have got it. Now, cases like

that might happen at the present time; and they would have nothing to do with the
Ku-Klux, if there is such an organized body. Those young men took this thing in band
on the spur of the moment. I have thought that a great many of these reported out-
rages originated in that way.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Were those young men, who recovered the money for the stranger, dis-

guised ?

A^iswer. O, no, sir. Some of them may have been disguised; but the man knew who
they were.

By the-CHAiRMAN, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. In reference to the voting of the colored people, you say that they generally
feel that they owe an obligation to the republican iKirty ?

Answer. There is that general feeling among them ; but, notwithstanding that, they
will vote for the person whom they like the best ; there is no doubt in the world about;

that.

Question. They have not education and experience enough in public affairs, I suppose,
to reason much aboirt jiolitics?

Answer. They know but very little about politics.

Question. But they do all know and feel that they owe their freedom to the republi-
can party ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. They feel that?
Ansiver. Yes, sir; but there are numbers of negroes in Savannah, and also in the inte-

rior, Avho attach themselves to the democratic party, who openly and above-board say
they arc democrats, and on the day of the election are as active as any men j'ou ever
saw^ in getting democratic votes.

Question. Is that generally because of their attachment to some democrat, or is it on
account, of any political information which they have '?

Answm: You may say that it arises in part from their opposition to certain classes on
the other side ; besides that, some of them like to go with those they call their •' old
masters. "

Question. That is, they are so situated that other reasons overcome this general feel-

ing of obligation and gratitude to the republican party ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and even that is dying out.

Question. They are forgetting their obligation to that partj^ ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Did you ever know any colored man to use any violence, by word or act,

towai'd a white man because that white man voted the democratic ticket ?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not think I did.

Question. Their operations seem to be confined to their own race?
Answer. Yes, sir ; their own race.

Question. Do the colored men electioneer with the white men and endeavor to per
suado them to vote the republican ticket ?

Answer. Tiicre may be isolated cases, but it is not done at all as a general th'ug.
Qtwslion. Have you over known any case where colored men have made any effort

to influence a white man's vote by any means?
Ansicer. Not personally.
Question. Any operations of theirs with reference to influencing votes aro confined

to men of their own color? ,.
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Answer. Yes, sir ; and that is dying away.
Question. Do you know how much public debt was incurred by the State of Georgia

for war purposes in aid of the rebellion ?

Answer. I really do not know. I was not in public life at that time.

Qiiesfioii. Can you give us an approximation '!

Answer. No ; I do not know that I can give even a guess. I have no doubt the

amount was very heavy.
Quesiiou. It was all required by the constitutional amendment to be set aside.

Answer. Yes, sir ; and also by the constitution of the State of Georgia. I do not

know that I have seen the amount stated ; if I have, I have forgotten.

Washington, D. C, July 20, 1871.

JOHN C. NORRIS sworn and examined.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pol-vkd :)

Question. Where do you live ?

Answer. At Atlanta, Georgia.
Question. Hoav long have you lived there?
Answer. I have beeu staying there since the 12th of March, 1869.

Question. Where did you live before that time ?

Ansiver. At Warrenton, Georgia.
Question. In what county ?

Answe7: In the county of Warren.
Question. How long had you lived in Warrenton?
Answer. About eighteen years.

Question. Are you a native of Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I was raised in that county.
Question. You have always lived in Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your business before the war?
Answer. Z\Iauufacturiug boots and shoes.

Question. x\.nd you carried on that business in Warrenton?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you carry on a business of considerable extent?
Answer. Well, right smart.
Question. What were you doing during the war?
Anstcer. I did a great many things during the war. I manufactured, though, during

the war.
Question. You carried on the same business ?

Answer. I carried on the same business during the war.
Question. Were you conected with the army on either side during the war ?

Answer. No, sir.> I manufactured and so on, and kejit out of the war ; at least I was
not in the field service at all, except at one time when they crowded me. I went to
Aiigusta and got into taking a position in a shoe factory in Augusta for only a short
timf?.

Question. That was government work ?

Answer. Yes, sir. During the time I was there I was ordered out to Savannah.
Question. But you did no military service during the war ?

Answer. No, sir. I was going to tell you that I was ordered to Savannah as one of
the local troops from Augusta at the time General Sherman was coming to Savannah.
But I left there in a few days, and never had any fighting.

(Jnesiion. After the war was over, did you go on with your business of manufacturing ?

Answer. I started it, but did not carry it on but a very little while. Having been
during the war opposed to secession, and opposed to the war, I found I could not carry
on my business.

Question. Did your course during the war render you uuxjopular and unacceptable to
the people there ?

Answer. Yes, sir; " obnoxious," they call it.

Question. What were your ijolitical antecedents ? What party did you belong to
before the war ?

Ansicer. I was a whig, before the war.
Question. After the war was over, and when efforts began to be made in regard to

reconstruction, what political side did you take ?

Answer. I then took the republican side. I was in favor of reconstruction.
Question. Were you elected to some office in your county ?

Answer. At the first election we had after the' war I wasdected sherifi"ofmy county.

13 G
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Question. When was that?
Aimccr. About April, 1868, I believe.

Qnesiion. How loii^ did you hold the office ef sheriff?

Ansurr. I held the office up to the 12th of JIarch, 1869.

Quesiion. Nearly a year?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Go on and state the history of affairs iu that comtnunitj' during the period
of time that you held the office of sheriff. State how you were treated iu the discharf^e

of your official duties aud the various transactions that took place there during that
time.

.Insu-er. When I was elected sheriff aud my commission was sent to me, I went to

some parties who, as I thought, looked at things the same as myself—parties who had
rather agreed if I was elected to stand on my bond; I proposed to them to go on my
bond.

Question. Your official bond as sheriff?

Ansircr. Yes, sir. To my astonishment, they stated to me that if I would come out
in a letter denouncing the administration and agree to go for Seymour aud Blair, they
would stand on my bond, otherAvise they could not. And the little jiapcr in my town
gave notice that any man who stood on my bond would be denouuced as a radical in

every way. To call a man a radical <lowu there in those times was worse than to call

him a horse-thief. I told them I did not feel disposed to do what they suggested.
Quesiion. Was there any objection to their becoming sureties on your bond iu con-

secjuence of your irresponsibility or Avant of character, or anything of that sort?

Answer. Nothing that I knew of, only the name of radical injured my character a
good deal. A man who is called a radical down there is not considered as having any
character at all.

Question. That was the evil which they found in you ?

Answei: Yes, sir. I always stood very well, as I thought, in my county; had been
trusted in everything iu which a man could be trusted.

Question. You succeeded in getting sureti(>s on your bond?
Answer. 1 succeeded in getting >Senator xVdkins, a very wealthy man there, to stand on

my bond.
Question. The same man who was afterward murdered ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir ; the same man who was murdered afterward. He had told me at

the start thati if I failed in getting sureties on my bond, he would stand for me;
Question. Did he live in your county ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; he was raised in that county.
Question. In the town of Warrenton ?

Answer. No, sir ; he lived about nine miles from the town.
Question. Go on with your narration.

A7iswer. I succeeded in getting Mr. Adkins as surety on my bond. At the first court

that we had afterward, General Toombs and Mr. Pottle, a lawyer in my town who has
always opposed me, attacked the securities on my bond as not being responsible for a
great amount of money that was then in the hand/3 of the old sheriff'—some hundred
thousand dollars, or more, I believe they stated.

Question. What had you to do with that ?

Answei: Nothing at all. They failed to set my bond aside before the court ; and I

then went on aud acted as sheriff for nearly a year—up to the 12th of March, 1869—the
time of the tragedy between Darden and Wallace. During that time and previous to

that time, I was threatened a great deal by this organization they called Ku-Klux in

that county—the K. K. Ks.
Question. Was that organization in existence in your county before you were elected

sheriff?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When did it first appear ?

Answer. The first notice I had of it was previous to the constitutional convention.
Question. When was that ?

Ansicer. I am not positive ; I am rather deficient as to dates ; but my recollection is

that it was in 1«()6.

Qttesiion. It appeared in your part of the country as early as that election ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and I recollect the thing that first called my attention so closely

to it was that after the election took place, Colonel Bryant, avIio now edits the Georgia
Heimblican, in Augusta, wrote me a letter asking me to give him a report as to the

<!l«c£ion, and so on. I wrote to him giving him what I saw during the election. I gave
him the facts that took place, and asked him not to make the facts known, saying that

I Avas satisfied there was some organization there, and it might prove fatal to me in some
way. Some time after that I saw the whole statement published in pamphlet form. A
gentleman came to me and handed it to me.

Question. You are satisfied that there was an organization in existence as far back as

the'Cilectiuu. of .delegates to the coustitutioKal couvention ?
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Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did it operate on that election ?

Ansicer. It did operate on that election.

Questio7i. How ?

Answer. Tbcy threatened those who voted.

Question. Did the organization appear in the form it has taken more recentlj- ? Were
there bands of disguised men goiug about at that time ?

Ansuer. Yes, sir ; they just commenced then. The first that turned out, they called

them, I believe, the dead meu that had come from the battle of Manassas.

Question. Did they wear a sort of ghostly disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they were disguised ; and some of them, I suppose, appeared ten

feet tall.

Question. On which political side was that organization ?

Aiisicer. On the democratic side. I never knew any republican to be connected with
it in any way.

Question. How did they operate ? What did they do ?

Answer. They seemed to have places to meet ; they would meet and go out in squads
of forty or fifty—may be a hundred. They were dressed in white at that time, and they

dressed their horses m white. They would ride over the country. At first they would
go to the houses of the most iufiuential negroes and take them out and pretend that

they were going to whip them, or kill them, or do something else to them ; and they
would frighten the negroes nearly to death. They would then turn them loose. This

is what they told me ; I never saw it.

Question. In those days did these men go to the extent of committing violence ; did

they do any killing in those days ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. At the start they did not kill auy ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did they whip any ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. They merely frightened people ?

Ansxeer. They merely' frightened them. The latter part of 1867 they commenced to

whip and kill." That was, I suppose, to try to control the election.

Question. Did they operate in the election when you were elected ?

Ansicei: O, yes, sir.

Question. What was their manner of operating then ?

Ansivcr. It was to whip principally ; and they killed a good many too. I believe

that on Saturday night previous to the election they turned out to the number of two
or three hundred, and whipped a good many of the negroes.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. How many did they whip ?

Ansivcr. I do not know the number ; a good many negroes came to me and told me of

the matter. I suppose some dozen or more must have been whipped.

By Mr. CoBURX

:

Question. In what year was that ?

Answer. In 1868, I "believe. That was the election in which I was elected sheriif ; I

think it was April, 1868.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. And there were some killed ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; some few were killed.

Question. And a great many whipped?
Answer. Yes, sir ; so they told me, and it was never disputed.
Question. After you entered upon your duties as sherifi", how did you get on ?

Answer. After I'had given my bond I was notified by parties who had been my friends

previous to the war, and I thought during the war, to some extent, that I had better

resign my office ; that there was an organization there that did not intend any radical

or " carpet-bagger," or anything of that sort, should hold office among them ; that I

had better resign my office, or I might be killed.

Question. Who gave you that notice ?

Answer. The man who came to me more than once was Judge Roberts. He talked
to me about it more than any one else.

Question. Did he live in that town?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he a prominent man ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he had been a prominent man.
Question. Was he a democrat ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir ; but he would not have been, I think, had it not been for the pres-

sure. I think he would have been a conservative man.
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Question. He said this to you in a spirit of fiieudliuess

?

Ansice): Yes, sir; as frieudly advice.

Question. As honest information of the trouble you might meet with?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you have any notice from this baud ?

Ansiicr. No, sir ; they never gave me any notice at all. Upon the information given
me by Roberts and others, believiug it to be true, I notified General Meade at Atlanta
of the facts, stating that I was satisfied of the existence of this organization, and ask-

ing him if he would not send a few troops down there ; that I was fearful I would lose

my life, or have to leave the county and give up my office. He sent one of his staff

officers down there, who had an iutcrview with me and with this Dr. Dardcu, who was
afterward taken out of jail and killed. I told this officer what I knew about this

organization and their operations; but he went back to Atlanta, and no troops were
sent. Shortly after that I was waylaid and shot.

Question. About what time was that?
Answer. As well as I can recollect, it was in October, 1868.

Question. State the particulars.

Answer. I had been out until between 10 and 11 o'clock at night, and was returning
home.

Question. Had you been out of town ?

Ansivcr. No, sir. I had been out in towu on some business connected with the office.

I had been trying to arrest a man whom I had a warrant for. I had gone by my office,

and when I went by I met there Dr. Darden, who was a friend of miue. We went in

thi; office and talked a while. He and I started home, he going one street and I the
other. Before I got to my house, when I was about one hundred and fifty yards from
it, there was a party waiting for me on the side of the street over the fence as I walked
up ; and when I was, I suppose, within filteen or twenty feet of them, they rose up and
shot mo from over the fence, or rather two from over the fence and one through the
fence. They wounded me severely in five places.

Question. Whereabouts in your person ?

Answci: They shot me through both legs, or both hips, and in my side ;' my left arm
was shot all to pieces.

Question. With what were their fire-arms loaded ?

Answer. They were loaded, as I thought, with buck-shot, duck-shot, and squirrel-

shot ; they were mixed.
Question. Large and small shot ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you now in your person a large number of those shot? ,

Ansiccr. From the calculation which I have made, and from what the physician who
attended me during my illness could count, and from what was cut out of me, I have
about four ounces remaining in my body now.

Question. Did the doctor cut out a good many shot ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Questimi. Did you see the men who fired upon you ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I saw them just as they shot me. As they rose up one of them
struck his gnu against the fence, and it attracted my tittention ; I stoxjped, and was
standing still when they shot me.

Question. Were they disguised ?

Answer. They had about a yard of black cambric tied over their faces in t^is way.
[Illustrating.]

Question. In a sort of bonnet fashion?
Answer. Yes, sir. When they shot me they ran, and one of them fell; and as hs did

so, he either pulled or knocked oft' this yard of cambric which I have now. I have
also a very fine iiistol which oue of them dropped.

Question. They fired at you with gnus ?

Ansroer. With double-barreled guns ; they did not use pistols.

Question. But one of them dropped a pistol and this mtisk?
Answer. Yes, sir. I could see their faces ; I was standing so near to them and look-

ing right at them when they fired. It was starlight. I could see the shape of them,
and could have told atIio they all were if they had had nothing on them.

Question. Did you think you knew them 1

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; being so close to them, and looking right straight at them when
they fired at me, the blaze of the gun showed me their faces, and I recognized two of
them.

Question. The disguise did not really cover the face ?

Ansicer. No, sir ; it did not really cover their faces.

Question. You thiuk you knew who these men were?
Answer. I would swear positively to tAvo of the men.
Question. Who were they ?

Answer. James T. or James 21. Cody, and Ed. S. Cody.
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Question. Were tliey brothers ?

Annver. Yes, sir.

Question. Living iu your towu ?

Angtccr. Yes, sir. The other was E. E. Cody.
Qiustion. "Who are these Codys ?

Ansicer. They are youug men who have beeu raised there. Their jiarents were very
wealthy before the war ; they were all iu good cireumstauces ; they are poor now.

Qncsiion. Had you had auy personal quarrel or ditificulty with these men?
Ansurr. I had with one of them at one time, directly after the war.
Question. Was it about politics or some matter of business ?

Ansu'er. About a matter of business.

Question. Was there so serious a quarrel that you suj)pose you were shot in conse-
quence of that ?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not think so at all. I think it was done by a regular order of

this Klan.
Question. You think it was for the siu of being a radical and a radical office-holder ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir ; I think it was for no other cause ; at least, if it had not been for

that, I am coniident I should never have been shot.

Question. After shooting you, they ran oft' and you went^home ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Dr. Darden and my wife met me and assisted in getting me home.
Question. You were confined to the house for some time?
Answer. I was laid up about three months.
Question. During the time you were coufmed to your house, did anything particular

occur which you wish to state ?

Answer. Nothing, only I accused, these men right away the saine night. As soon as
my wife and»Dr. Darden came to mo, my wife asked me if I was hurt much, and I told
her I thought I was mortally wounded. She asked me at the same time if I knew who
did it. I told her I knew two of the men, and I would tell her as soon as I got to the
house. We then went on to the house, and wTieu I got there I told her these three men
were the parties who shot me. A lawyer came the same night to see me at my house.
He was a friend of mine. I also told him about these i)arties, and asked him to write
out a warrant for their arrest immediately, (I did not think I would live till morning,)
and to send for a magistrate that I might make oath to these parties. He did not do
it ; he said it would not be safe. He said he could not do it ; and he advised me not to
do it, saying that probably I would be better by morning. The nest morning the
physicians, Dr. Darden and my family physician, came back to see me. They advised
me to resign my office right straight, saying that if I did not these men would kill me
sure; that they were then talking of coming to my house, taking me out, and killing

ine. I told them that I would not resign ; and I did not.

Question. Were auy j)roceedings instituted against these men ?

Answer. No, sir ; none at all.

Question. You say you were confined for some three months ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That took it into January f

Answer. O, no, sir; that took it to the 1st of March. I then went to Augusta, the
week before the difficulty between Wallace and Darden. I came up from Augusta the
night before the killing of Wallace.

Question. That was about the 1st of March, 1869 ?

Answer. It was on the 11th of March. I was not in town on the morning Wallace
was killed. I had gone into the country to arrest some parties. When I returned
about 12 o'clock, I was informed that Dr. Darden had killed Wallace.

Question. Who was Wallace ?

Answer. He was the editor of a newspaper and was captain of the Ku-Ivlux organi-
zation—was recognized as such ; they did not undertake to deny it at all.

Question. Living in your town ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And Dr. Darden lived there ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he a practicing physician there ?

Anstver. Y'es, sir ; he was a iiracticing physician He had been raised there. He was
a man about forty years old.

Question. Was Dr. Darden a republican ?

Answer. Yes, sir; at least he was in favor of reconstruction and everything of that
sort, the same as I was.

Question. You and he acted together politically ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Go on and state the circumstances iu reference to the affair between Darden
and Wallace.

Answer. When I got home, about 12 o'clock, I was informed of the killing of Wallace
;

and I saw a large crowd assembling at Martin's grocery ; that was a place where these
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puities f^oiiprally did their diinkiiig and wliero they met pretty often. I saw this crowd
iisscmblini;- there. That was in front of Dr. Darden's office—on the other side of the
Ktn'(>t. Smiio of them liad donble-barreled guns and some pistols. They seemed to

be (Irinlving a good deal and swearing that they would revenge the death of Wallace.
Que.ftion^ Whs there a large crowd ?

Jnsifcr. Yes, sir ; I supi)Ose there were lifty persons.

Question. They were persons who lived in your town ?

Answer. Some lived in the country and some in town.
Qite>itiO)i. They resided in your town and about there?
Aiisu-cr. Yes, sir ; I knew them pretty much all. I then went to Dr. Hubert, the ordi-

nary of the county—a man who w;is elected on the same ticket Avith myself, a man who
was a mason and a gentleman. I also went to Mr. Gibson, a young lawyer there, and
]SIr. Jones, another lawyer, and Mr. Wilder, clerk of the sujierior court—all masons. I

asked them as good citizens to go to Mr. Pottle, who was a lawyer there, and also a
mason

Question. Go back and state what tire quarrel was between Wallace and Dr. Darden

—

how the doctor came to kill Wallace.
Ansu-er. I cannot state that knowingly.
Question. State what your information is?

Auswer. This that I was going to state occuiTcd nnder my own observation ; but I

can state the other as it was told to me by parties whom I cannot cpiestion at all. The
iirst difficulty, as I was told, that occnrred between them, grew out of the masonic
lodge. Wallace, the man that Darden Ivilled, wanted to become a member of the
masonic order ; and owing to some little alnise that he had given Dr. Darden through
his paper about being a radical, he was fearful that jtrobably the doctor might black-
ball him, or something of that sort, and that he could not get into the lodge.

Question. Darden was a mason ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir. Wallace sent a gentlcynan who was in the printing office withliim
to Dr. Darden to know whether, if lie sent in his petition, the doctor would black-ball

him or not. I was told that this gentleman went back and told Wallace that Dr.
Darden said lie would not. He sent in his petition to the lodge ; and when the election

came off he was black-balled ; he received two black balls. So the parties told me
afterwards ; in fact, Wallace published that in his paper. He then said that he would
kill the man who did it. He seemed to have a list of those that were present at the
time he was black-balled in the lodge. He went around to all of those, and each one
gave him a certificate stating that they never black-balled him.

Question. The result was that he became satislied Dr. Darden was the man who
did it f

Answer. Yes, sir. He then published Dr. Darden in his paper as being a coward, .1

scoundrel, a iierjurer, and everything of that kind ; he attacked him as a mason, as a
gentleman, and everything else. Upon his making these declarations, the doctor, it

seems, loaded his gun and killed him on sight—shot him and killed him.
Q'te>:tion. Wallace had given out that when ho ascertained who the man was that

l)lack-balled him he would kill him ?

Ai(su'er. Yes, sir.

Question. And he had ascertained, or professed to have ascertained, that Darden was
the man ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and Darden shot him and killed him.
Question. Now resume your narrative where you stopped.
Ansu-er. As I was saying, I went to Dr. Hubert, Mr. Gibson, Mr. Jones, and Jlr.

Wilder, and told them that I was satisfied these parties were organizing for the pur-
pose of killiug Darden, and that I thought it was their duty as masons, and as gentle-

men, (Dr. Hubert being a public officer, as I myself was,) to try to intercede and pre-

vent the mob from killing him, or attempting to do so ; and as Mr. Pottle and I were
not friendly, and as I thought he had the proper iulluenco with that party, I thought
the best policy would be for them to go down and ask him to go and intercede and
stoj) the; mol).

Question. Mr Pottle was a leading democratic lawyer there ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Dr. Hubert promised me that he would go and see Pottle. He
went down ; I saw him coming from Pottle's house; what took place there I do not
know ; but Mr. Pottle never came out at all.

Question. You understood that he declined to do anything?
Answer. Yes, sir ; that was my understanding. I sent for him myself. He had seut

nie into the country with a warrant for the arrest of some parties for rape.

Question. That was the business on which you had been out that forenoon ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he was the prosecutor; and when I got in Avith the j)risoners, I

sent for him to come to the office. He refused to come, and sent me word by the
father of the girl who had been rajicd to turn the prisoners loose.

Question. To discharge them ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I told this man to tell him that I would not do that; that I had
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not the right, and that I would not do it anyhow unless the costs were paid for my
trouble. He went back to Mr. Pottle ; and when he came back he had the money to

pay me ; and my recollection now is that IMr. Pottle wrote me a note this next time tell-

ing me to turn them loose. I did turn them loose upon receiving the costs.

About 5 o'clock in the afternoon of the same day (the crowd by that time numbered
I suppose one hundred) this party at Martin's grocery sent a youug man to me, who
lived in Sparta, Hancock county—a youug man by the name of Sledge ; they sent him
to me for me to send the jail key; stating that if I would send the jail key and send
Dr. Darden word to give up his arms, surrender himself, and go to jail, they would let

the law take its course. I sent the key. I sent my little son to Dr. Darden to tell him
the message that these men had sent me, and that I would advise him to do as they
said. At the same time, I sent my wife to his house for his wife and children to come
to his office to go to jail with him. I was fearful they would kill him as soon as he
came out of his office. His wife and children came and went with him. As he came
out of his office some of them drew their pistols, and made for him, and I am coniideut
they would have killed him, but his wife and children hung around him so closely that
thej' were unable to shoot, without some danger of killing some of them ; and by that
means he got to the jail.

Question. The crowd took him to the jail?

Answer. Yes, sir, they took lum right on to the jail. They put him in the jail. The
man apjiearing and claiming to command the crowd was James M. or James T. Cody.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Were these men disguised ?

Answei: No, sir. This was in the day-time. They did not disguise themselves in the
day-time. He then put his armed crowd around the jail and claimed to be in command
of it. Mrs. Darden, the wife of Dr. Darden, came to my house and asked me if I would
go down and summon some good citizens to gnard the jail, to prevent this mob from
taking her husband and killing him. I told her I would. I went down and summoned
a number of the oldest citizens and Aveut down to take charge of the jail. This man
then commanding the jail forbid me to jjut a guard at the jail, and said that the man that
attempted to come near the jail would be killed. They then advised me to go home,
saying that my life would not be safe.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pol.^'D :)

Question. Your friends so advised you?
Answer. Yes, sir. I then went home. About dusk John Raley, the man who put

Darden in jail for this mob, came to my house and said that these men at the jail

wanted me to come down and search the prisoner ; that they thought he had a pistol,

and that they would not let his supper be given to him until I came down to search
him. I told him I would not go down to the jail at all. My opinion was that they
wanted to get me down there and lock me up, and then take me out and kill me at the
same time with Darden. I had good reasons for so belicATing. He then offered me the
jail key. I refused to take it and told him to take it and keep it till morning, or

carry it down and give it to the men and let them search Dr. Darden to their satis-

faction. He refused and left the jail key on the gate-post.
Question. At your gate ?

Answer. Yes, sir. John R. Speance was in company with him ; I forgot to state that.

Mr. Ealey returned to the jail, or went in that direction. John R. Speance went home.
He said he thought he understood it, and he went home.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. How did he understand it ?

Answer. I did not know. I suppose he understood it just as I did.

Question. How was that?
Answer. I understood that they wanted me to go to the jail in order that they might

lock me uj) and kill me at the same time as Darden. I thought from Speance's remarks
that he understood it the same way. Between 8 and 9 o'clock this party had organ-
ized and disguised themselves. Their uniform previous to that had been white robes,
and their horses were dressed in white always when they turned out, every time I had
seen them. That night, when they came to my house, thej' had on black masks and
were dressed in black.

By the Chl^virman, (Mr. Polaxd :)

Question. All of them ?

Answer. All of them were dressed in black; and they have been wearing black ever
since that time.

Question. You think they changed their uniform about that time ?

Answer. Yes, sir, for some cause or other.
Question. A band dressed in black disguise came to your house?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.
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Question. What did they -^vant Avith you?
Auswcr. They came there aud demanded the jail key. I heard them coming. I was

looking out and expecting them to come to my house. I went out the back way ; and
I told my wife to go to the door with a lamp in her hand. I was fearful thatwhen she
opened the door they might take her for me aud shoot and kill her. She did so. They
came up and demanded the jail key. By his voice I recognized the man demanding
the key as A. I. Hartley. My wife went out and spoke to him and called him by name.
I was near enough to hear them talk. She told him that he and the party he was with
ought to be ashamed of themselves ; that she was satisfied there was not a man in the
crowd that did not know her and me perfectly well, and that they ought to be ashamed
of themselves. This man, James M. Cody, then spoke to Hartley. I recognized his

voice and so did my wife aud my son ; we all recognized those two parties. Cody told

Hartley his mouth was always too big. Cody then cursed and abused my wife a good
deal, and said that they would come in and search the house anyhow. She begged him
not to do it, and said that I was not there aud the keys were not there ; that I had
gone and taken the keys with me ; that my children were sick, and that if they came
into the house with their masks on they would frighten them nearly to death. Hart-
ley then spoke and said they had a man who was not disguised and they would send
him in. He then called this man John Raley.

Question. The same man who In'ought the key ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and the same mau who put Dr. Darden in jail. He came up and
spoke to my wife ; he was a cousin of hers. He went into the house and searched it

from bottom to top ; came out and reported to the parties that ho could not find me.
or the keys ; that I was not there. Some party then fired a pistol—I don't know who'
did it or what for. The crowd then all went back to the jail. A short time after they
went to the jail I heard them pounding at the door.

Quesiion. How far was the jail from your house ?

Answer. I suppose one hundred yards would cover it. They commenced pounding at
the door of the jail, as if with sledge hammers or something of that kind, to break down
the door; they hammered there for a good long time without any success apparently

;

the door had been broken down once by some parties, and I had it well fixed ; I thought
it impossible for them to knock it dovrn ; but after pounding at it for a considerable
time they tore down a calaboose—a house used as a x)rison by the municipal authori-
ties, aud built a fire against the door ; the jail was built of rock, and the door was an
irou door ; they built a iire, aud as I judged when I (,'xamined afterwards, heated the
door red hot, burning out the wood that fastened the hinges of the door on the inside

;

this enabled them to shove the door in, and they shoved it in ; when they shoved the
door in, they started into the jail; Darden it seems had a pistol sure enough ; and he
told them that the first man who came near him he would shoot him. The cell door
Avas made of iron bars crossed

;
you could put your fist between the bars. They then

took the remiunder of the liouse that they had torn down aud built a tire right at the
cell door, and burned and smoked him until he surrendered, or at least told them that
if they would put the fire out he would give up. There is one thing I have skipped
over. There was a negro woman in jail Avho was crazy ; she had been put in there for

safe keeping. After the crowd pushed the door in, a gentleman by the name of Richard
A. Heath, who had formerly been sheriif of the county, ran into the jail. When they
were going to build this fire inside he thought it would set the jail on fire ; overhead
there were logs, and the steps of the jail Avei"e made of wood ; and he thought it Avould
set those steps on fire, aud set the log ceiling on fire

; he told them not to build the
fire until he could go up stairs and get this woman out ; he went in, took her out, and
sent her off ; I thiuk he first sent her to my house. The men then went on to build a
large fire right before the cell door, by Avhich they burned and smoked Dr. Darden until

he told them that if they would put the fire out he would surrender ; they put the fire

out ; but after it was put out, and he got fresh air, he Avould not surrender ; they then
built the fire again aud smoked and burned him that time until he was nearly dead,
from what some of them told me ; he then put his hand out and pushed his pistol out
through the grating of the door into the fire, and it Avent off; they then put the iii'e out
and took cold chisels and took the lock oft' the cell door, and took him out. They carried
him to his office and kept him thei'e for some hours, I Avas told, until the train came
doAvn from Atlanta; it came down about 1 or 2 o'clock in the morning; they made him
drink there, I believe, a quart of whiskj". Tliey then took him to the hotel Avhere the
remains of this mau Wallace were, and attempted for some purpose—I do not know
what—to go into the parlor where his corpse Avas ; the lady of the hotel locked the door
and kept them out. They then went back of the hotel on the edge of the town, right
alongside the railroad, and there, from Avhat my wife told me, (she saw Dr. Darden's
body tlic next morning after he was killed,) they must have stripped all the clothes off

of him and shot him to pieces ; I suppose from what they said that there were about
tliirty bullet holes in him ; they then jiut the clothes back on him again. From his

hips up he was almost filled with bullets ; one or two balls I believe went through his

head ; one went through his neck, apparently cutting the jugular veiu ; aud aU his breast
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\ras just filled -witli bullet holes. His clothes had no holes in them at all ; and it was
supijosed from that that they must have stripped him naked, shot him, and afterward
put his clothes on. I heard several persons mentiou the fact that the clothes did not
appear to have any bullet holes in them at all. His body lay there until next morning
about sum-ise, when some negroes working on the railroad carried him home to his

family.
Question. You left your house that night ; where did you go ?

Answer. I went to Augusta. I went to the house of Mr. Uattle, a friend of mine in

the country, aiul got a horse ; I was not able to walk much at that time : I got a horse
from his wife, (he was gone from home.) and rode out to the railroad, got on the cars

and went to Augusta to see General Sweeny, who was then there. I told him what
was going on and asked him for some troops.

Question. He was in command of some troops there ?

Answer. Yes, sir. He said he had no right to give them to me, and could not do so.

I then left and went to Atlanta. When I got to Atlanta I failed again to get troops.
General Euger was theu commanding the garrison, and General Terry was expected
on. I remained there until General Terry came. Just before General Terry came,
General Ruger sent some troops down ; and when General Terry came I went down
there myself.

Question. What was then done ?

Ansu-er. I then arrested these parties—this man Cody who commanded the iuob and
these parties who were surrounding the jail with arms.

Question. Were they arrested by you as sheriff, or by the military?
Answer. By me as sheriff.

Question. How many did you arrest ?

Answer. I think there were some eight of them. I have a copy of all the bonds in
my pocket.

Question. What was done with them after they were arrested ?

Answer. They were put under bonds by a magistrate there.

Question. They were charged with the murder of Darden?
Ansiver. Yes, sir. I believe the bond of one of them is for $1,000, and the others are

$5,000 and $10,000.
Question. Did they get bail?
Answei: Yes, sir ; they gave good bonds, all of them. They have never been tried.

By Jlr. CoBURX

:

Question. Give the names of the persons who were arrested.
Answer. B. H. Ivey, E. S. Codv, H. Martin, James M. Cody, (it is either James M. or

James T.) E. E. Cody, A. I. Hartley, and Church HUl.

By the Chaikjlvx, (Mr. Poland:)
Question. Those men were arrested and gave bonds for their appearance at court ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What has become of those cases ?

Answer. They have never been tried that I have ever known of.

Question. The parties were bound over for their apiiearance at the next ,term of the
court?

Ansieer. Well, I believe the bonds are, to appear before any court that might convene
for the purpose of trying their cases. My reason for getting the bond up that way was
that I thouglit there might probablj- be a military court to try them. 1 did not know
what General Terry might do with them.

Question. Has any iudictment ever been found against them, or any of them, by a
grand jury

?

Answer. No, sir ; none that I know of. If any of the cases haA^e ever been tried be-
fore a grand jury regularly, I do not know of it.

Question. Putting the parties under bonds is all that has ever been done on that
prosecution ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. They have never been proceeded against any further under that complaint ?

Answer. No, sir. The court has adjourned from time to time since that, so far as
know.

Question. Do you know that a term of the court has ever been held ?

Answer. No, sir. I understood at one time that Judge Gibson from Augusta came
out there to hold court, and probably held court oue day, or a piece of a day, for some
puri>ose ; and during that time they got true bills aga'inst me in that court for false
imprisonment—for arresting these same men and putting them in jail.

Question. They iudicted you instead of indicting them f

Ansiver. Yes, sir; they indicted me for false imprisonment, for Avhich there were war-
rants issued and sent to Atlanta. I was arrested by the sheriff of Fulton County on
these warrants ; and I gave bond for my appearance at the next term of the court in
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"Warren County. My lawyers went to Governor Bullock and asked bini for a pardon,
knowinj;- very well that if I went down there I Avould not be tried but killed—assassi-

nated; and Governor Bullock pardoned uie for the offense before 1 was found guilty.

Question. He pardoned you for tlie offense of arresting these men ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he had to do that to save my life, as I thought.
Question. What further Avas done?
Answer. I believe that winds up that case.

Question. Were there not some arrests made by the military ?

Ansiccr. Not in that case. I was the only party that arrested any of them.
Question. When tho soldiers arrived you went down and had these men arrested and

bound over. How long did you stay there at that time ?

Answer. About three months.
Question. Did troops remain there all that time?
Answer. Yes, sir; the troops remained there for over a year.

Question. Where did yon go when yon left?

Answer. I went back to Atlanta, and have been there since.

Question. You have not since been back to Warreuton to live ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. What became of your office as sheriff?

Ansirer. It was turned over to a man by the u.ame of Wright.
Question. Did you resign?
Answer. No, sir. W^right was appointed by General Terry, I believe, or by the court.

I do not know which.
Question. Because you had removed away ?

Answer. Yes, sir. When I went back there with the military I arrested a man by the
name of Martin.

Question. What for?

Answer. As being accessory to this murder. I was going to try him before a military
court.

Question. Was he the only one that was arrested ?

Answer. Yes, sir; at that time.
Question. You were going to try him before a militarj^ court ?

Aihsioer. Yes, sir. I applied to General Terry for the commission.
Question. Was a military court convened ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And Martin appeared before it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What became of that case ?

Answer. We went on with the investigation for four days.
Question. Taking testimony ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; taking testimony before that military commission.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Was this for the killing of Dr. Darden ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The commissioner was F. H. Terbett.

By the CiiAiiniAX, (Mr. Poland :) •

Question. Wafi he a military officer?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir. We carried on this investigation. I could not hire any lawyer.
Question. Was Martin put on trial, or Avas this a mere inA'estigation by the military f

Answer. Martin AA'as brought into court regularly. I supposed it Avas a trial to in-

vestigate his case as to whether he Avas guilty or not. I did not think it was a court
to pass sentence on him if he Avas guilty.

By Mr. Cobuen :

Question. It was merely a court of inquiry ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I suppose so ; it is the only military court I cvev had anything to do
with.

By the Citairmax, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. This military officer Avas iuA'estigating ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did anybody sit with him ?

Answer. He sat alone.

Question. It Avas merely an investigation?
Ansivcr. Yes, sir.

Question. Yon went on with this investigation for four days ?

Answer. Yes, sir. On the night of the fourth day, Terbett sent for me to go to his

tent : between 9 and 10 o'clock, after I had gone to bed, he sent a non-commissioned
officer to my house. I got up immediately and reported at his tent. .When I got there
he asked me if I wanted to ruin that Avhole peoi^le. That was the first question he
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asked me. I told him I did not nuderstaud liim. He said, that if the case T\-eut

auy further the whole people would be involved. I then lold him, "It is not my
intention to ruin the whole people at all ; it is my intention to prosecute the guilty,

and protect the innocent, so far as I can." I asked him what ho wanted to make a

proposition of that kind for. Ho then stated that Mr. Pottle, the lawyer for the

defense, and Mr. K. A. Heath, had just left; that they had been over there all the

evening.
Question. Who is Heath ?

Answer. He was the former sheriff". Terbett said that these gentlemen had stated to

him that if the case could be stopped where it was, they would surrender the five

men whom the evidence as taken down would convict ; that they would be willing to

surrender these five as guilty of the murder, if the cas'o could stop. I told him I was
unprepared to give him an 'answer, but that I did not think I could do anything of

that sort ; that the thing had passed out of my hands entirely ; but I told him I would
meet him next morning ut the court-room, and I would study about the matter during

the night. I met him next morning at the court-room, and he then insisted that I

should accept the proposition. He told me that two of these five men Avere two of the

men that shot me, and that the governor's proclamation offered a reward of $5,000

each for the conviction of auy of that party; that that would pay me.
Question. Had the governor offered a reward for these men who shot you ?

Aimver. No, sir; for the men who killed Dardeu. He had offered a reward of $5,000

each, which Avould be $25,000 for the five. Terbett said that that ought to be satis-

fiictory to me. I then told him that if Mr. Pottle would come into court, and, as their

lavrye'r, admit before witnesses the guilt of these fivemen under the evidence, and would
carry the evidence to Atlanta, and lay it before General Terry and Governor Bullock,

and they would approve the arrangement, it would give me satisfaction. He went
down and had an interview with INIr. PottJe, who had an office in the court-house.

Mr. Pottle and Mr. Swain, one of the witnesses, came into court. I then stated to

Mr. Pottle the proposition that Major Terbett had made to me, and asked him if it

was correct, and wliether he agreed to that proposition. He said he would. I then
told Major Terbett to adjourn the court until he could go to Atlanta ; that he must
leave for Atlanta that night. The court adjourned, and the proceedings stopped right

there. Then they arrested me, accusing me of being bribed. Some parties had given

me a note to pay me .$5,000 for damages which had "been done to me by shooting me
and driving me out of the covmty.

Question. Who gave you that note ?

jlnsirer. W. W. Swain, John R. Swain, and P. M. Hill.

Questiou. Were they three of the five men ?

Answer. No, sir ; they had nothing to do with it ; they were outside parties entirely.

The names of the five men were A. I. Hartley, James M. or James T. Cody, E. S. Cody,
Henry Ivey, and Church Hill.

Question. Those men were to be surrendered and turned over to the civil authorities.

What was to be done with them ?

Answer. I had them under bonds. As my understanding was, they were to be con-

sidered as found guilty.

Question. Biit what was to be done with them?
Ansiccr. They were to bo brought before the military court that I expected to follow

this investigation, or the civil court.

Question. They were to be surrendered to be tried by some court ?

Ansieer. Yes, sir; that was my understanding; that they were to bo brought before

the court under these bonds without any more trial, except the evidence then taken
down.

Question. Was it a part of the proi)osition that you were to bo paid $5,000 for the
injury which had been done you?

Answer. O, no.

By Mr. Bp:ck :

Question. Those five men were to confess their guilt ?

Answer. O, no ; they were to make no confession of guilt ; but this lawyer represent-
ing them

Question. He was to enter the ^ilea of guilty?
Ansu-ei\ Yes, sir, certainly.
Question. Upon the evidence already taken ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And nothing was to remain except to sentence them on that jilea of guilty ?

Answer. That is all.

Question. And procuring the plea of guilty was to secure you the reward?
Answer. They said that would give me the reward.
Question. The reward of $25,000 '?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Qiic-^tiou. And with that yon were satisfied?

Av^iver. I w:is only satisfied as au iudividual ; but, you see, I left it with General
Terry aud the goveruor.

By the Chaiuman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. The arrangement was to be approved by them ?

Answer. It" they did not ap[)rove of it, then they were to bring another company of
troops, aud the Statics attoruey. Colonel Farrow, was to prosecute the thing.

Question. You have said sdmcthing about a note for $5,000; what connection has
that with this transaction ?

Ansu-er. When I went down there, they offered me, before this thing occurred, a
bribe of $12,500.

Question. Before these proceedings were started ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; a bribe of $12,500 if I would leave the State, burn up all the in-

formation I had, and take an oath never to divulge any information to any one.
Question. Who offered vou that ?

Ansu-er. W. W. Swain offered $10,000 of it, aud H. E. Cody offered $2,500, in the way
of taking a house and lot which I had.

Question. He was to give yon $2,500 for your house and lot ?

Antu-er. Y'es, sir ; the whole thing was to amount to $12,500.

Qneslion. Cody was to take your house aud lot, and give you $2,500, aud Swain was
to pay you $10,000 '?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; they made me that proposition ; I told them I would not dy it.

Question. That was to stop everything ?

Answer. That was to stop everything, and I was to leave the State.

Question. That you refused to do ?

Ansuxr. Yes, sir. A day or two afterward, Swain came to me again, and told me
that if I would not swear out any more warrants against the jieople down there, he
would pay me $5,000 as damages for what had been done to me.

Question. For shooting you ?

J[)iS!fe»-. vFor the shooting, and for driving me away from my home, aud the injury
that had been done me otherwise.

Question. For your personal injury ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I told him that if he would give mo $5,000 for that, I would not
swear out any more warrants against any one except those I knew to be guilty ; that
the warrants I already had I would execute, and would execute all warrants and papers
put in my hands, if it was possible to do so. He agreed to give me the $5,000, aud he
gave me a note for it, signed by W. W. Swain, John R. Swaiu, and P. M. Hill.

Question. Who is W. W.Swain ?

Ansiver. He is a farmer down there, and a school-teacher—a pretty wealthy man.
Question. Was he a prominent man in the affair ?

Answer. He said he had nothing to do with it at all ; that he did not belong to the
organization, aud never had had anything to do with it.

Question. Was he in the crowd that killed Harden ?

Answer. He said he was not.

Question. Do you suppose he was?
Ansicer. I never had any evidence of it at all. I tried to find out, but never could

get any clue to anything he ever did. In fact, he furnished me with the best list of
witnesses I had against the. crowd, and that was what frightened them when they pro-

posed to turn over these five men as guilty, if I would not carry the case further.

Question. But the i)roposition was to settle with you for your private damages, and
he iiroposed to give you this note for $5,000 ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question You received that note?
Answer. Y'es, sir ; 1 have that note in my pocket now.
Question. Y'ou accepted the proposition that Pottle made you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Quesifion. And they were to go and see the governor?
Answer. Y"es, sir.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. How much is paid on that note?
Answer. It shows on the back of it how much is paid. I have it here and will refer

to it. I also have a copy published in a newspaper, which will show the same thing.

The note is in the handwriting of Mr. Swain, the same man who has been dealing
with me all tlie time, and the credits on it are in his handwriting. They have denied
this fact, and I have published the whole thing in this newspaper. The note does not
say " for damages." It says " for value received."

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pol.vnd:)

Question. It is in the ordinary form of a promissory note ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. These payments were made afterward?
Aumner. Yes, sir.

Question. You accepted this proposition of Pottle ?

Answer. I accepted it.

Quesiion. The investigation then stopped, and these five men were to go hefore some
court and plead gnilty of the offense, as you understood ?

Ajiswer. O, no, sir ; they were not to plead guilty. I never understood it that way.
I understood that they were to be guilty under the evidence as taken.

Question Did you understand that they were to go before some court and have a trial

to see whether they were guilty or not?
Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. You understood, then, substautially, that they were to j)lead guilty?
Answer. Well, that Mr. Pottle was to

Question. Plead guilty for them ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; that he was to go in court and state that these men, from this

trial, and from the evidence then taken down, were guilty of that murder. That was
my understanding.

Question. You did not understand that they were to go before some court and have a
trial ?

Answer, And be investigated again ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Thereupon this military court adjourned ?

A)tswer. It adjourned until Major Terbett could go to Atlanta and see General Terry
and Governor Bullock.

Question. See whether they approved the arrangement?
Answer. Yes, sir. If they did not approve it, there was to be no compromise.
Question. And you had already got this note for $.5,000 for your damages ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. You have already stated that the next step in the proceeding was to get up
a prosecution against you for bribery? »

Answer. Yes, su\
Question. How was that done?
Ans'wer. They arrested me.
Question Right off?

Ansiver. Eight off.

Question. Had this military oificer gone ?

Answer. No, sir. He never went to Atlanta at all.

Question. He was there, on the ground ?

Answer. Yes, su". I was then arrested by a military officer—by a lieutenant under
him.

Question. The prosecution against you for bribery was a military proceeding ?

Answer. Yes, sir, so far as I knew. I was arrested by a military officer.

Question. What bribery did they charge you with?
Ansicer. With having received this mouev.
Question. The $5,000 note ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question That was the bribery ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I made application then to be sent to Atlanta.
Question. On that charge ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I thought if I could get to Atlanta and go before a military com-
mission there, the whole thing would come before that military court. That was my
object in wanting to go to Atlanta.

Question. They sent you to Atlanta ?

Answer. Yes, sir, they sent me to Atlantaupon my request. I went to see my counsel
there, and told them how the thing was managed. They went to General Terry and
demanded the papers that had been taken down in this case, and upon that I was
turned loose.

Question. You were discharged?
Ansxccr. I was discharged, and I have never heard anything trom it since.
Question. Have there been any further proceedings against any of those men in any

form ?

Ansicer. None that I know of.

Question. Did these parties who gave you this note make, subsequently, some pay-
ments to you upon it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How much, and when ?

Answer. The note was given February 4, 1870. The payments indorsed upon it are as
follows

:

'' Received on the within, fifteen hundred and thirty dollars, this February 4th, 1870.

«w. w. s.
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" Received on the within, seven hundred dollars, February 15th, 1870.

"J. R. S.

" Received on the within, four hundred and fifty dollars, this February 19th, 1870.

" Received on the within note, five hundred and seventy dollars, this 28th of Febru-
ary, 1870.

"T.M.BROWN."

The date of the first indorsement must be a mistake ; I know the money was paid
some time afterward. The indorsement dated February 19, which has no signature,
is in the handwriting of P. M. Hill.

Question. These sums indorsed on the note were paid to you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qimstion. And the balance of the note is unpaid ?

Anstver. Yes, sir. There is more credit on the back of the note by $100 or so
than was paid. This money paid to me was deposited in Atlanta with some friends
of mine.

Question. They sent the money up to you ?

Ansivcr. I deposited it there afterward. I expected that their whole object was to
get me into a trap. I deposited this mouey ; and the gentleman I deposited it with
did not want me to give his name if it was not positively necessary.

Question. As fast as you received any money on this note you deposited it with this
gentleman

;
you did not use it?

Anstvei'. I got this gentleman to keep it, with an understanding about this affair, and
I did not use it.

Question. Do the signers of the note refuse to pay the amount that is still unpaid ?

Answer. Well, I got a letter from Mr. Swain, the only man who is responsible—W.
W. Swain—stating that he could not pay it ; that he had other creditors who had prior
claims, and that if I wanted the money I would have to go to the other parties; but
he did not state who the other parties were.

Question. The proceeding against those five men stopped right there, and you never
got the $25,000 reward ?

Anstver. No, sir; I am figuring now for that.
Question. Did you ever go back to Warrentou after you went t# Atlanta in charge oi

the military authorities ?

Ansicer. No, sir ; I dare not go back ; I would not consider my life safe fifteen minutes,
not only in the town, but anywhere in that section of country.

Question. Have you remaiued at Atlanta ever since that time?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know anything about the state of affairs in the county of Warren ^

Have you kept yourself posted in relation to things down there ?

Answer. Somewhat ; it is only by hearsay.
Question. Do you see people from that county frequently ?

Answer. Constantly.
Question. You endeavor to keep yourself informed in regard to the condition of things

there?
Answer. Pretty much ; and the information I receive is undenied ; and I suppose it

is true.

Question. What has become of this band of Ku-Klux down there ?

Answer. They seem to be there yet.

Question. They have kept up their operations ever since ?

Ansiver. Not so much so as they did, but a good deal.
Question. What have they done since that time ?

Ansiver. I cannot state anything so as to call any one's name. There was an excursion
train came up the road from Augusta, aud a good many from my county came up to

Atlanta, and spent two or three days. They told me there had been a good deal oJ

whipping going on among them down there.
Question. Recently ?

Anstver. Recently ; but I did not pay much attention to it at all.

Question. Has anybody been killed by this band since you came away ?

Ansivcr. About two months or more ago they killed a negro, right on the edge of mj
county—on the Hancock side of the Ogeechee River, which divides my county and
Hancock.

Question. Do you remember his name?
Answer. His name was Will Culver.
Question. Did you know him ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I knew him for years. I have heard a great many speak of this

matter, and 1 have never heard it denied that a large crowd of men went to his hous€
at night, took him out, and shot him to death.

Question. Do you know whether he had been charged with doing anything wrong ?

Answer. No, sir.
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Question. You never heard that be was ?

Atisiver. At least uot recently. Directly after the war there was a young raau in

Sparta, by the name of Steward, who seemed to have a difficulty about some of his

family.
Question. Do yon understand that this matter, which was some years ago, had any

connection with the killing of this man ?

Answer. I was going to tell you about the difficulty. Probably it may have had. I

know what this young man told me some time afterward. They had a difficulty in

some way about this colored man's family ; I forget what the difficulty was. It caused
words and a tight between this colored man and this white man, in which the colored

man cut him with a knife— citt him across the face a time or two, very severely. The
colored man then went off—left that county and went to Savannah. This young man
Steward told me time and again that if the colored man ever came into that county
any more he intended to kill him. About two months ago, or a little more—not long
ago, anyhow—the colored man, it seems, came back into that couuty. He stopped on
the river, in Hancock County. They found ho was down there, took him out, and killed

him ; some one did it—I do not know who. I saw the scars on this young man's face.

Question. You infer that this former difficulty may have had something to do with
the murder ?

Answer. I do uot know ; I know the young man told mo they intended to kill the
colored man if he came back there.

Question. There were persons there who were hostile to him ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Then again, about six weeks ago, on the same side of the river, in

Hancock County, on Mr. Dixon's plantation, they went and killed a negro by the name
of Wash Hull; I believe he used to belong to a man by the name of Hull. They took
him out and killed him. He was an ex-slave. He lived close to me; he was raised in

my county. I never heard any charge against Mm when he was a slave, or any other
time.

Question. You do not know what they killed him for ?

Answer. I have no idea at all.

Question. Do they keep up this system of whippings down there ?

Answer. Those persons who came up a week or so ago to Atlanta told me that they
were whipping a good many about through the country.

Question. Recently ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I did not ask them as to names, because I was a little vexed, and
told them the best thing they could do was to leave the country. They said they were
not able to leave.

Question. Have a good many of the colored people who live down in that county left ?

Answer. Yes, sir; a good many of them have been forced to go.

Question. Where did they go to?
Answer. A good many of them came to Atlanta ; I believe some have gone to Missis-

sippi, some to Louisiana.
Question. Have they left there in consequence of these disorders ?

Answer. They have left there in consequence of this trouble—nothing else in the
Avorld. There are a good many there now who if they were able to leave and could
leave safely would certainly do it. That is what they have told me.

Question. Did this band of disguised men kill any people in that countv while you
lived there f

AnswcT. O, yes, sir. As I stated, they killed Senator Adkins in the day-time—way-
laid and killed him ; shot him from ambush.

Question. Whether that was done by disguised men nobody knew ?

Answer. Ho was going along the road. After our legislature adjourned he was rather
dubious about going home ; I advised him not to do so ; I had heard parties say he
would be killed if he ever came there any more.

Question. What was the objection against him?
Answer. The objection against him was that he would "not vote to turn out the

negroes ; he voted for the negroes to stay in the legislature.
Question. He was senator from your county ?

Answa: Yes, sir; he always lived in that county.
Question. What sort of a man was he?
Answer. A very clever man.
Questio>i. Was he a man of respectability in every way ?

Answer. Yes. sir, every way ; he was a gentleman about your age.
Question. Was there any charge against him exce]Jt with reference to his political

coarse ?

Answer. Not a thing. He was raised of a very respectable family there, and was
quite a wealthy man before the war.

By Mr. CoBViix:

Question. State the circumstances of his attempt to go home.
Answer. When he was about to leave Atlanta, when the legislature adjourned, I ad-
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vised Lim not to go home ; I told him Avhat I had heard these people say; I "^as satis-

fied if he went there they would kill him.

By Mr. Bkck :

Question. The Adkins case has heen tried heforc the courts in Georgia ?

Answer. No, sir; I eau say iiositively it never has. Mr. Adkins went on, and when
he got to a jdace called Darien, ou the Georgia road, he got oft' the train. His wife
had a horse and buggy there. She met him at Augusta and came over with him.
They had taken the horse and buggy away— carried it off, and would not let him have
it to go home.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. Who had taken the horse and buggy ?

Answer. Some parties liad taken his horse and buggy.
Question. Away from the depot ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; this is what his wife and others told me. They would not let him
have his horse and buggy—carried it off. Sodk! of these parties there (they were
di'unk) threatened several times to shoot him. There was a freight train came alone
directly. He attempted to get on that train to go back to Augusta, and they would
not allow him to do it. After the train left, seeing there would be no chance for him
to get away any other way, he started afoot on the road, he and his wife together ; and
they went on, I suppose, liom what she told me, about a mile, or some such matter.
He then told her she had better go back and try to get his horse and buggy and come
ou and overtake him. She went back and he weuton. It took her a good while be-
fore they would let her have the horse and buggy, and by that time he had got within
about three miles of his home.

Question. Walking ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and she was about half a mile behind him, coming with the horse
and buggy, when she heard the guns lire that killed him. She said tho parties passed
her in the road, going on horseback, with their guns.

Question. Were they disguised ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. How many were there ?

Answer. She said there wen; only two.
Question. These men on horseback passed her ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. She did not know them ?

Ansu-er. O, yes, sir ; she knew them well.

Question. When she came up she found her husband dead ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; or at least nearly dead ; he died directly.

By Mr. Coburn:
Question. Did he make any statement as to who killed him, or anything of that sort?

Answer. He made statements ; but he was wavering in his mind. He made two or
three statements. He knew who shot him, but his miud had become so that

Question. His miud Avas wavering ?

Answer. Yes, sir, so that he made two or three statements as to that. He first said

that a man by the name of Adams shot him, and then he said that a man by the name
of Lambert did it. So his wife told me.

Question. Were these the men she met ?

'Anstca: Lambert was one of the men that passed her, and the other was a man by
the name of Sturgis.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. Were these men who came up on horseback among those who had been
troubling him ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they were among the men who had been bothering him at the
station.

Qiicstio)!. The supposition is that the two men who passed Mrs. Adkins were those
who kill(;d him ?

Answer. Yes, sir; she is satisfied of that.

Question. About what time was that?
Ansiver. I cannot tell exactly ; I think it was some time in the summer of 1869.

Question. Has anybody ever been jirosecuted for the killing of Mr. Adkins ?

Ansivei: No, sir.

Question. Has anybody ever been tried?
Answer. Nobody has ever been tried.

Question. While you lived in that county were there cases of killing by disguised
men?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who was killed?
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Ansu-er. There -was a party Trent out one night and attacked a familj- by the name of

Jetfers—colored people.

Question. How far from town ?

AnswLT. About four miles.

Question. About what time was that?
Jriswer. In 1869 ; in August or September, 1869, if I make no mistake ; but I am not

positive as to dates.

Question. What were the circumstances ?

. Anstrer. I only know a part as to what was stated.

Question. Give the account tliat you heard of the matter.

Ansim: The man Perry Jefl'ers, when ho came to my house next morning, told me
he had been notitied by a young man, a friend to him, that these Ku-Klux were going

to attack him, and he said he had gone out and got some guns and prepared himself

pretty well. He loaded these guns with buck-shot. Ho had some six or seven sous,

all pretty much grown. Sure enough, these parties did come and attack him, as this

young man had told him. Jcflers and his sons being up, on the lookout, when the

party came into the yard they fired into them' through,the cracks. They lived in a

log house. «

Question. They fired into the crowd of Ku-Klux ?

Anstccr. Yes, sir. They were all dressed in white. They killed a young man who
lived right close to me, by the name of Geisland, who had a very respectable father

—

as nice A man as there was in the county, I thought. They killed his son, and wounded
several others. The party went off. The next morning Jeffers came to my house, and
told me what had occurred ; that the Ku-Klux had attacked him, that he had had a fight

with them, and that he had hurt some of them; he said he thought from the way they

did that he hurt some of them. About the same time I heard that this youug man,

Geisland, had been killed, and other parties wounded. Jetfers and his family then

became very much alarmed. That night (which was Friday, to the best of my recol-

lection) these Ku-Klux came into town to hunt for this colored man and his boys.

Question. They had come into town ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir ; I had heard them talking in toAvn during the day, stating that the

last one would be killed—that they intended to kill them all. I put them in the jail;

I had nobody in jail.

Question. You put this colored man and his sons in jail?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I thought it would be a safe place for them; that probably it would
not be known where they were, and that they could not be got out probably, if it was
known. I put them in jail, and kept them there every night for a week ; and those

men never did find out that I had them in jail, so far as ever I knew, fhey were in

town every night after them, and could not find them ; so on the Sunday night follow-

ing, these Ku-Klux went back to the place where this colored man lived. He had a

sick son there—an invalid that had never been able to get about to do anything in his

life from childhood up.

Question. He was left there at home?
Answer. Yes, sir ; they could not carry him away, and his mother, a very old woman,

was left with him. These Ku-Klux could not find any of the rest of the family there

;

so they took this sick son, di-agged him out of his bed into the yard, and shot him to

death. They carried out everything in the house, and piled it on him, and set fire to

it, and burned his body up. They then took the bed-cord, and hung the old woman to

a shade tree in the yard.

Question. Till she died f

Ansu-er. No, sir. They left her hanging there ; and a white man living on the place

ran out and cut her loose, and got her into the house. He thought she was dead, as he

told me ; he did not expect her to live at all ; but the next morning when he got up he

found her not dead, but very much injured. She lived and is living now, so far as I

know. I saw her afterward, and she had the signs of this hanging upon her. I sent

the coroner out to hold an inquest on the dead body.

Question. The body of the son who was burned ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.
" Dr . Darden, who was afterward killed, was the i:»hysician who

went out. They got a jury and commenced the inquest; and he told me that they

would have proven the whole fact as to a good many parties who had killed and
burned this boy and hung the old lady, but a good many of the Ku-Klux were there—

not in disguise, but he knew they belonged to that organization. They told the

coroner that he had to stop the inquest ; that it had gone far enough ;
that it must be

closed up ; and the verdict vv'as that the man came to his death from the acts of some
unknown parties.

Question. You say that the father of this young man who belonged to the Ku-Klus
and was killed lived right close by you ?

• Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What did they do with the body of that young man ?

Ansicer. They buried him.

14 G
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Question. Did they have an inquest?
Answer. No, sir ; none that I over heard of.

Question. Was there a public funeral ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Did they dispose of the body iu some quiet and rather mysterious way?
Answer. They buried him at night. I never heard them say anvthiujr about the

bnruxl; they would not talk anything about it; very little was said about it.
Question. There was no public funeral ?

Ansiva: No, sir.

Question. You say that some were wounded in the attack on this colored man's
bouse

;
did you ever hear of any of the wounded men being seen ?

.Ansioer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who were the men who were wounded ?

Answer. This mau Jeffers, before they killed him, told mo that they wounded ayoung man l)y the name of Gunn, and two young men by the name of Mays.
Question. Did you hear of these men having received wounds iu some way ?
Answer. I saw them while .they were injured.
Question. W^hat accmint did they give of how they were hurt?
Answe7\ One of theui said he had^had the rheianatism for some time: various thin^a

like that were said. °

Question. They never declared publicly that they got their injuries in the way vou
supposed they did ?

jj
Anstvei: No, sir ; not at all.

Qiiestion. You say that Jeffers told you, before they killed him, of the woundiu"-
of these young men ; was he subsequently killed ?

'^

Answer. Yes, sir ; they killed the whole family except two.
Question. How was that done ?

Ansiver. I kept him in jail, as I stated, for about a week, and I then advised him to
go to South Carolina

; I told him they would be sure to kill him if he staid, and I ad-
vised him to go at night, and go through the by-ways, «fec., till he got to Augusta, then
to cross over and take the roads, but when he came to a plantation to "-o through the
fields. But a Bureau agent, R. C. Anthony, who was boarding at my house at thStime,
thought that was a bad plan

; he thought that the best planVould be for Jeffers to ffodown on the cars in the day-time. He said the Ku-Klux would not dare to take him off
the cars in the day-time. The colored mau concluded to go, with his sons, in the dav-
time. I told Mr. Anthony that he had better go with him out to Camak, the junction
with the mam road. We 'have a railroad running right by the town, but the junction
18 tour miles oft They took the cars at my place, and the Bureau agent went withthem and put thom on board the train at the junction, in charge of the conductor

Question. All of them ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. The conductor's name is Tom Turner. They then went on toward
Augusta; end when they got to Dealing, the same place where Senator Adkins got oft',
the crowd followed up and took them all off the train, with the; exception of the
youngest boy, who had got off the train to carry a trunk to the depot for a lady when
the tram stopped. They got the old man and five or six of his sons, and carried them
out to the woods and shot them in the day-time.

Question Were the men disguised ?

Answer. No, sir
; at least, parties who told me of the facts said thev were not dis-

guised. ''

Question. Has anybody been prosecuted for the killing of that whole family '
Answer. No, sir.

''

By Mr. ConuKX

:

Question. Were these men known there ?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. What was the cause of the hostility against this family?
Anstver. None that I ever knew of at the start.
Question. Did you know this colored family—the father and his sons ?
Anstver. Yes, sir ; I kuew them all.

Question. Were they respectable colored people ?
Answer. Yes, sir; as respectable colored people as you will find anywhere. The

old man was one of the most industrious men I ever saw. He was a good farmer andwas making money.
Question. Was there any charge against them ?
Anstver. No charge in the world.
Question. Was anything pretended against them ?
Anstver. No sir

;
nothing was pretended that I ever knew. The former owner of this

old man said he was as good a man as he had ever seen iu his life. When a slave he
never had any trouble with him at all.
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By l\Ir. CocuRN

:

Que^imi. How f:ir did these men live from Dealing ?

i;S;. 'lSdS:"!Sr;"i?£Jkilled them live about Bearing, or hack where the man

''°i,!irm?"om haek ; some got on the train at Camak, the junction
;
some at

auothei 1 lace on the road, and the balance of the crowd lived at Dearmg.

OuesUa, T]S'y St wind in some way that these colored people were coming

(«^tr Yes sii^ there were spies all the time following right along The old man,

Ccfs and the fother of the young man who was killed, went down on the cars at the
bcislaiKi, ^|ie i^y"^\";

, ,^ ^ narties who told me, that he intended to take a shot

at'hJ oldiS lie h.i? MsTuElf̂^^^^^^^^ gun with him, and he said he intended

to have one shot at the old rascal.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. Were there other persons killed in your county besides those you have

Aimver. Yes, sir ; a young man by the name of Jones

2S-?-/o l""a wMte man-told me that he was with the Ku-Klux on one occ^-

«io,i he 'said' theV foTced him to go ; that- he did not want to go
;
he said they went

and tookS a coTored man, whose'n^me he told me, who lived ^^^^ ^^.^^f^^;'^}']'^
houseriu Wa4n County, about nine miles from my town-he said they took out this

coToi'ed man and gave him nine hundred lashes with saddle-stirrups.

t:£:':-^^7^^^t -g^t ; they whipped him to death.

Question. What was that done for ?

Answer. This man said he knew no cause lor it.

. t:S;!:-^^X^SI^^^^ ti»t the co,o«<, m.u was ch»ged with.

t£r-^tS:^'SS:tTS:^^^!i^'^^^ --« of «.» parti.. « Ben

Springs there was a man killed ; I do not know his name.

Question. A colored man ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

S:r-lS7iS rjiStnSm S^. At Mr. Fowler's there was a colored

a1 1 ed ; I cannot cil his name ; and at Mr. Long's there was one killed.

Ouestion. Were they killed in the ifight-time by disguised bands ?

f»ScJ' Yes! sir ; they were all killed in the night-time by these parties.

By Mr. Coburn :

^Z^-'-l^ ^Ts to Ihfp'ping, there has been any amount of that in Warrenton.

There was a colored man killed by%allace-jnst before Darden kdled Wallace.

t^'-^^i] %^^^^\^S was a crowd tog^her, but he shot Ij^

himsef I do not think they were disguised; it was at night, though ;
I heard the

pSSoiJ'red. About Sree weeks ago there was a colored man killed m %A/arrenton by

a young man named Shirley.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Was he in disguise ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

By the ChaiemAjST, (Mr. Poland :)
.

Question. I am inquiring particularly as to cases of killing and whipping by dis-

^"i«."The one that was killed was a brother of the one that Wallace killed.

Question. For what were those two brothers killed?

Anstver. They were charged with being " very bad negcoes.

Question. Did you know them ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they lived within a mile oi me.

Oiwitinn What were thev charged with doing ? „ , t ^v
S»S 1 1 eVer knew of anythhig they did ; they said they were 'very bad negroes."

^SSn.'what does that mLn4hat they were a little smart
-f

-dependent

Answer. Yes, sir; that they were negroes who contended for their rights, and were

''tr/Si.''DtdVu ever hear them charged with any crime-stealing, or anything of

'""^Anmer. No, sir; I never heard them charged with anything at all; only they said

they were " bad negroes."

man
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Question. Have you stated tbc fair meauiug of that term " bail uogroes?"
Answo: They call tliem '• bail negroes'? when they cannot control them as they want

to. That is my understanding.
Quesiio7i. It docs not imply that they have committed crime ?

A7iswei*. No, sir.

Qnestion. You have described with considerable particularity what was done in your
county ; how was it in other counties Eiround you ; did tUiugs go on there in the same
way?
Answer. In iiretty much the same way.
Question. Were there the same organized bands of men going out whipping and kill-

ing?
Answer. Yes, sir—not the same men, but belonging to the same bands.
Question. An organization apparently of the same sort?
A^iswcr. Yes, sir ; of the same sort. I heard of their killing a good many down in

Glascock County—quite a number ; but I do not know anything in respect to that of
my own knowledge. I never heard it disputed at all.

Qnestion. From your information, are these organizations now in existence and in
full blast ?

Answa: It is my understanding that they arc.

Question. Is there anything of this kind up about Atlanta?
Answer. No, sir; things are quiet about Atlanta. We have as much law and order

in Atlanta as you have here.

Question. How is it in that county?
Ansiccr. It is all quiet in that county.
Question. The law is enforced ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. If people commit olienses are they punished ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they are punished, no matter who they are. Neither politics nor
anything else has anything to do with it.

Question. You say that a great many negroes have left Warren County and gone
away?
Answer. Yes, sir; and the adjoining counties.

Question. Do you suppose that is true of all that region ?

An^icer. That is the cause of the whole thing, I am satisfied. There are Columbia,
Wilkes, Taliaferro, Hancock, Glascock, Washington, and Jefierson Counties, with War-
ren right in the center. Those are where they have the most of this trouble.

Qnestion. The counties you have named all lie in about the same region ?

Answer. Right in that section of country.
Question. Does there seem to be any political flavor about all this ? To what party

do the people who are whipped and killed belong ? Against whom do the Ku-Klux
direct their efibrts ?

Answer. Against Union men— republicans—men who are in favor of the Government.
Question. Do they call them "radicals?"
Anstver. ,Yes, sir; they call them "radicals" down there.

Question. Does it appear to be universally the fact that the men whipped or killed
belong to the radical party ?

Ansteer. Yes, sir. They have had some few fights among themselves and killed a
few ; but I have never heard of a man being taken out and killed by this band of dis-

guised men who belonged to any party except the republican party—what they call

the "radicals" down there. But there have been others killed. Now, in the Adkins
case, parties connected with that murder have been killed; they have been killed'
among themselves ; three of the Adamses, I believe, have been killed.

Question. In feuds and fights among themselves ?

Atistver. Yes, sir.

Question. How many radicals belong to this Ku-Klux organization?
Ansiver. If there is one, I do not know it.

Question. Did you ever know one to belong to it?

Ansivei: No, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear of one ?

Answei: No, sir.

Question. How is this matter talked about ? What do the radicals think of this

organization ?

Ansiver. Well, I do not know hardly what they do think about it.

Ques'tion. How do they talk about it ?

Answer. They are thinking or hoping that the Government will do something for them.
Question. Do they think it is a political organizatiou ?'

Answer. Yes, sir. •

"'"'

Question. Arc they in favor of that organization ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; they want it stopped.
Question. Arc they all opposed to it ?
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Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do they denounce and sjieak against it ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir.

Question. How is it with the other side ?

Ansiver. They all say it is a good thing.

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. What do they think it is good for ?

Answa: They say it keeps the radicals out, and keeps the negroes under subjection,
and everything of that sort.

By the CH^viR:MA]sr, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. They entertain an entirely different opinion from the radicals in reference
to the worthiness of this order ?

Ansicer. O, yes, sir.

Question. From what you have seen and heard, and from the facts you have stated,
what is your idea as to the i:)urpose of this organization ?

Ansicer. Well, I can only speak for Georgia, but I suppose the case is the same in
the other States; I think their pui-pose is to control the State government and control
the negro laboi", the same as they dad under slavery.

Question. How is this Ku-Klux organization going to operate to enable them to do
that ?

Answer. Well, they will prevent voting ; they will prevent any republican from hold-
ing office. They say in my section of the country that no republican shall hold otHce :

that they will take charge of the polls, and all those who won't vote their way shall
not vote at all. That is their declaration. They w^aut to control the negro, just as
they once did. Whenever a negro does not obey as they want him to they will just
say to hira, " I will send the Ku-Klns to see you," and that night or some time soon
the Ku-Klux take him out aud whip him ; sometimes they whip him to death, and
sometimes they give him a very severe Avhipping aud tell him that that is a warning
to him ; that if he don't obey, they will iinish him the nest time they come.

Question. So far as you know, what is the feeling among the colored iieople in respect
to these Ku-Klus ?

Answei: Well, sir, the negroes want it stopped.
Question. Are they in mortal terror from the operations of this organization ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they want it stopped. They have more fear of it than they ever
had of anything during slave-times, so far as I ever saw.

Question. If an election were to be held now, while these organizations are operating,
do you believe that a great many of the colored iieople would be prevented from
voting ?

Answer. 1 do not believe that half of them could vote.
Question. You have named a great many cases where persons have been killed, and a

great many where they have been whij)ped. Has anybody been punished for all this ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Has anybody been prosecuted?
Answa: No one, that I know of. Nobody has been punished any more than what I

have done myself, as I have stated.
Question. Do you believe that in the State courts in those counties these men could

be tried aud punished?
Answer. No, sir ; I do not.

Question. Are people afi'aid to prosecute them ?

Answer. They are afraid to prosecute them.
Question. Are people afraid to testify against them ?

Anstcer. They are afraid to testify against them. I can say as truthfully as I can
say anything in the world, that a man cannot go there and testify against one of them
aud live twenty-four hours. I honestly believe that.

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. Is the effect of this organization, to prevent negroes trading freely in land
or other property ?

Anstcer. I cannot say that it is intended for that.

Q,ucstion. What is the effect of the organization in respect to negroes trading iu lands
or other property ?

Answer. People will not sell them anj^ land except in town. Some of them did buy
some little property about the edge of the town, but they have bought none -in the
country. People vv-ill not sell them any land to farm.

Question. What do they say or do in regard to that matter?
Answer. They say that the negroes shall not own any laud, and that they will not

sell them any.
Question. Is that carried out in practice ?

y Anstcer. Yes, sir ; they carry that right out.
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Qucntion. Do you know of auy negroes who have farms?
Ani^wer. No, sir; none at all. \
Question. What reason do i)eople give for that policy ?

Ansircr. They say that the negroes shall not own farms at all.

Qucstio)). How about schools ?

Answer. They had in my town a small school at one time. I do not know whether
they have had any school there for the last year. I never heard anything said about
the' school recently. The last I heard of the school was that they had whipped the
school teacher very severely, and that he had quit. I do uot know Avhether they have
had any school there since that.

{h!(!fito». State whether the negroes have been guilty of violating the rights of the
Avhites, or are hostile and aggressive toward the whites ?

Answer. Not so far as I have seen.

Question. What is their demeanor ?

Aiisicei: They are iierfectly humble and obedient—as much so as I ever saw them
during slave times.

QiiesHon. Statements have been made here that the negroes are dishonest; that they
steal pigs, chickens, &c. ; that they commit rapes and generally create disorder in the
country. State whether or uot that is the case in the district with which you are
acquainted.
Answer. I cannot speak of my own knowledge
Question. How is it in the community where you are acquainted?
Ansircr. I do not of my own knowledge know any case of stealing by the negroes to

any extent at all. While I was in office as sheriff I never had a warrant in my hands
to be executed against one of them for stealing.

Question. How is it as to rapes and other crimes f

Answer, I have never heard of a negro committing rape in my county.
Question. Is it safe for white women to travel from one place to another?
Ahsiver. Yes, sir; perfectly safe. I have heard of one or two cases where they said

a negro had connnitted a rape upon a white woman. One of the cases was in Jelfersou
County. That was when this organization was started. I believe it was in 186G.

There was a negro accused of raping a white girl. I never heard her name. They
said she was about sixteen years of age. They caught that negro, tied him to a stake,
and )iumed him in the day time before, I suppose, a thousand people.

By Mr. Pool :

Qi(estio7i. Did they burn him to death?
Answer: Yes, sir.

Question. When was that?
Answer. In 1866. They never had any trial, or proof, or anything of that sort, and

they never gave the name of this girl, so far as I ever knew.

By Mr. Coburn :

(Question. What was the reason they did not give the name of the girl?
Ausiver. They did not want her name to be known.
Qvestion. Did they examine her before any sort of tribunal, oificial or unofficial?

Answer. No, sir, not that I heard of; I do uot know that she told it. The parties
said that the negro had raped a certain girl, without giving any name.

Question. Where did that happen?
Answer. In Louisville, Jelfersou Coimty. A young man who lived in Atlanta told

me that he was standing by and saw the whole thigg done.
Question. What was his name ?

Answer. W. M. Neal.
Question. State whether any greater degree of outlawry exists among the negroes

than among the whites ?

Ansiver. Not near as much. The negroes are obedient and law-abidiug.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. When were you elected sheriff of that county?
Ansiver. I think it was in April, 1868.

Queslion. At the time Governor Bullock was elected ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you elected by the people ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. How many white votes did you get ?

Answer. It would be utterly impossible for me to answer that question.
Question. About how many <lo you think ?

Answer. I cannot tell about how many.
Question. Did you get a dozen?
Answer. No man could answer that question ; but I will come as near answering it

as I can. From the effort that was made by the most influential whites in the county,
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„„^,,,,+ r.f tliA plprtion aud from the number
„ml who were my bitter eMimes^Xd bou^bt up to vote ag»mt u,o ,md to vote

of iwgroes whom I was satisfied tbey bad bo^^^^

^",Sl1ri??tSVo'rb«,fflr1hS number of white vote. I could uot have beeu

dred.
. .

eS"-AS-dS.S •eleven hundred and some odd whites voted, aecording to

my JecoUectLn, and thirteen hundred and some odd negroes.

^Question. What ^vas your majority for shentt ?

^:::S:;n^:^S^.V^^^^ certam gentlemen refused to sign your bond when

^Z:::S.fi^ eomplam; I said they did not do it

Qu^tion. You told the'committee that they refused to do it?

ql^i^-wl^'iim under any obligation to signyour bond?

S^^rStS^stted' T?3£ft^reept rpr^'^^ou, as I thought it an unfair

°°§»,tlth?ruLt°of;Umeu who made the i,ropositiou,audstate the prop-

osition that was made. - , ,

Ansiver. The principal man was W. H. I'licher.

Question. Is he still living there ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

S:S-"hI i^thfonly man I went to in person. He went to see the two Mr. Well-

""(^Tfsiiow. state the proposition they made ^ yo"-
^ j ^^ ^^ite a letter

Answer. Dr. Pilcher stated tli^P™P«f'£°; ^S^rhe eoiSdvooI the bond, and that
declaring myself for Seymour and ^laii , he thougit he co^ua^^^^^ ,

^^^^

ESSHS~IS«ssMrtZ
^"S^Sr.lM tbSrmen who had promised you beforehand did afterwards go upon

your bond ?

f;X.. Why' did you go in the first f- to Doct.r^^^^^^^^^^^ andthe Wellborns, in-

^^^i^^mnrtLtt^rfcr^^^^^^
-^--^ -

golnX boni but they said that in
^Yo'l^l^^t a^ZTt^ men' you have men-

OwesiioH. Was it any special ground of complaint against tne men ^

tioned that they refused to go on your bond .

oomnlaiut.

5X^t^^S^ i^i^t K^SiS;/;^ ti^^Splur direct e.amina-

the reporter, as already given.] The chairman asked me
*; g^^«

^ ^. ^^ ^^^^ the

at that period, and the feeling of the Peoplcat tiat time ^^y object
^^^

statement I did in reply *« ^l^^V^^^-V^,?,,^,^^,*^'!,; J^^^^^^^
since I turned "radical," as they term it, denounce

'^\ll^/''^^X these t^o gentlemen
they looked upon me as being a gentleman IJ.Pilche^^

named Wellborn had rather intimated that it I
^f ^^l^^gS^ ^^^^ers were. I wanted,

and I wanted them to sign it, as they ^ere not so
^^.^-^ J^J^f^J^^^Sit^ I had al-

as far as possible, to go before the
V^J.^j^^^^l^^J^l^^^^^^^ gentlemen

;

^^^^:!^^^^^^^ 7ut\Tey were^denouncedTas I after-

a!ZZ. I had three houses and lots in the town of Warrenton.
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Question. Worth bow mucli ?

Aiisjwr. Not worth much ; I aux^pose the whole of them were worth probably a
conple of thousand dollars.

Quesiion. Had you any other property?
Ahswer. No, sir, except notes, accounts, &c.
Question. Your whole visible estate subject to execution in the connty was worth

abont|!2,000?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was the amount of your bond as sheriff?

Ansircr. Twenty thouaud dollars.

Question. You had the taxes of the county to collect as well as executions that came
into your hands ?

Answer. I did not have anything to do with collecting the taxes.
Qaestion. Who collected the taxes ? ^

Answer. The tax collector and receives*.

Question. Is that a separate office in Georgia from the office of sheriff?
Answer. Yes, sir ; there are two separate offices connected with the tax business.
Question. Y'ou gave your bond and entered upon the duties of your office ?

"

Anstver. I'es, sir.

Question. Who was the judge of your circuit?

Ansicer. Judge Garnett Andrews.
Question. A republican or a democrat?
Answer. A republican.
Question. A good judge or a bad one?
Aniver. Well, sir, he was a very good judge. He had been a judge there during the

war, and he made a very good judge. He is a very nice gentleman. Pie is a good
judge ; but like all the balance of the public officers, he could not do anything in these
matters.

Question. Who is the prosecuting attorney of your county?
Answer. Mr. Matthews-^—I cannot state his first name correctly—is our solicitor.

Question. Is he a democrat or a republican?
Ansiver. He is called a republican.

Question. Who is the clerk of your circuit court?
Ansim: R. M. Wilder.
Question- Is he a democrat or a republican ?

Answer. He was elected on the republican ticket. He has nothing to do with politics

at all. He is a quiet man.
Question. So that your judge, your prosecuting attorney, your clerk, and your sheriff

were all republicans ?

A7isivcr. Yea, sir ; all the officers in the county were elected on the same ticket with
myself.

Question. And these officers continued in office as long as you continued to hold the
office of sheriff? ,

Ansicer. Yes, sir. '

Question. And they were all elected as republicans at the same time you were elected ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they were elected on the republican ticket ; I did not say that they
were elected as republicans.

Question. Are they all republicans ?

Answer. I do not say that they are.

Question. Are they democrats?
Answer. I think they are.

Question. Which of them are democrats ?

Ansiver. All of them.
Question. Have they all turned since ?•

Answer, They were democrats then.
Question. Do you mean to say that all of these men deceived the jieople by pretend-

ing to be republicans, and were elected upon the republican ticket when they were in

fact democrats ?

Answer. 1 do not think they did.

Question. Did they profess to be democrats when they ran on the republican ticket ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. •

Question. Did they so aA^ow themselves ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did democrats run against them on the democratic ticket?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you think you were the only genuine republican eleated—the only,

man on either side who called himself a republican ?

Answer. The only man who stuck to it.

Question. Y'ou were the only man at that election who called himself a republican?
Ansicer. No, sir.
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Question. Did the judge call himself a republican at that time ?

Answer. He was not elected; our judges are appointed by the governor and ajiproved

bythe senate.
Question. Is the judge a republican still?

Answer. I think he is if he could speak the sentiments of his conscience.

Question. Did the prosecuting attorney, Mr. Matthews, run as a democrat on the re-

pubhcan ticket ?

Answer. He got his office in the same way as the judge.
Question. Was ho ai>pointed by the governor ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. You stated they were elected at thesan?«i3 time as yourself?

Ansxeer. I do not think f said they were elected. The judge is appointed by the gov-
ernor and approved by the senate, and so is the solicitor.

QueMion. And they are still repubUcans?
Answer. I cannot say as to their acts now. I can only say what I believe they would

be if they were allowed to speak their opinions freely.

Question. Is Mr. Wilder, the clerk, a republican or a democrat ?

Answer. He is a man who docs not deal in politics at all.

Question. Was he elected at the same time as yourself?

Answer. Yes, sir. He was nominated both by the rex)ublicans and the democrats the
last time, and was reelected to office.

Question. So that the machinery of your courts during all your term of service was
under the control of the republican party ?

Answer. I do not think the republican party had any control. These officers were,
as I said, republicans in feeling ; thej^ made no demonstrations at all ; they were just

moderate and honest men—men willing to abide by the law and sui)port the Govera-
ment. .

Question. Did you make any more demonstrations than they did ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. How many courts were held while you were in office ?

Answer. One.
Question. Only one ?

Answ'er. Yes, sir.

Question. When was that held ?

Ansicer. In October, 1868.

Question. Did any of those offenses of which you have spoken occur after you came
into office and before your court was held ?

Answer. Some of them.
Question. Which?
Answer. The one in particular which I can mention from a circumstance that I have

never forgotten, is the case of the negro who was whijjxied to death near Jameson
school-house. That occurred on Sunday night and the court met on Monday.

Question. That was done by disguised men f

Answer. Yes, sir ; for one of the party that was along told me they whipped the negro
to death.

Question. Was he a white man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When did he tell you that ; before the court was held ?

Answer. No, sir ; since. Another circumstance which I remember is, that some one
wrote me a letter (no name was signed to it) stating that this colored man had been
whipped to death, and telling me that I ought to bring the matter before the court.

The letter told me to notify Judge Andrews, (the writer of the letter seemed to know
him,) and to send the coroner down to hold an inquest. The letter gave mo the names
of some witnesses who would swear to the facts as to the parties that whipped the
negro to death. I went to the coroner and told him the circumstance. He did not go
down. I went to the solicitor, Mr. Matthews, when he came, and showed him the let-

ter ; I also showed it to the judge.
Question. Were any of those named in the letter summoned there ?

Ansiver. No, sir, none at all.

Question. Was the letter laid before the grand jury ?

Ansicer. I never heard anything more of it ; nothing was done about it.

Qusstion. Did you go before the grand jury and communicate the facts which had
come to yoiir knowledge, and lay before them the letter you had received ?

Answer. No, sir ; it was not my business.
Question. You were sherilf of the county; why was it not your business?
Answer. Because I could not be a witness; the facts had not come to my knowledge;

I had nothing but the reiiort.

Question. Could you not have laid the letter before the grand jury ?

Answer. That was none of my business ; it was the solicitor's business, or it was the

I

judge's business to order the solicitor to do it ; and it was his business to issue a siun-
mons for the parties whose names were given in the letter.
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Question. Yon did not do it yourself?
ATisiver. No, sir.

By Mr. CoBURN

:

Question. You gave the letter to the prosecuting attorney?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. When were you shot ?

Ansicer. In November, 1868, I think; I cannot Ido precise as to dates.

Question. When did you leave the county of Warren for the last time to remove to

Atlanta ?

Ansicer. I am not certain, but think it was June, 1870.

Question. More than a year ago ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you been hack in Warren County since ?

Answer. I have not.

Question. Have any of the cases of killing which you have mentioned occurred since

the 1st dav of January, 1870, or within the last eighteen months ? If so, which of
them ?

Answer. The case that I mentioned of a man killed on the Hancock side of the
Ogechee River

Question. I am speaking of the county of Warren. If any of the cases you have
mentioned as occurring in that county have happened since January, 1870, I want you
to state it.

Answer. I do not know that any case I have mentioned where any man was killed in

the county has occurred since I left there, except the one that was killed in Warrenton
about three weeks ago.

Question. That was a fight, I believe ; there were no disguised men concerned in that

case ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. That occurred in broad daylight ?

Answer. No, sir ; it was in the night.

Question. There was no disguise in that case?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. And the conflict was between two men only ?

Answer. There was no one concerned, I believe, except the two men; other parties

were standing looking on.

Question. Has there been any case of killing by disguised men in the county of
Warren since the 1st of January, 1870 ? K you know of any such case I want you
to state it, and if you do not know of any, I want you to say so.

Answer. As a matter of course I do not know, because I have not been there.

Question. Have you heard of any?
Answer. 1 cannot name a case now that I haye heard of positively. If the evi-

dence is to be read over to me, I may recollect something about that matter and insert it.

Question. State now what you know ; we want no iiatching up of the evidence after-

ward.
Answer. I do not recollect now having stated that I knew of any being killed there

within that period.

Question. So that the cases you have spoken of as occurring in the county of Warren,
occurred prior to January, 1870?

Ansiver. All the cases I have stated of men being killed occurred, according to my
present recollection, before that time.

Question. The case of the attack on yourself was in November, 1868 ?

Answe): Yes, sir.

Question. What was the date of the killing of Dr. Darden ?

Answer. That was in March, 1869 ; I recollect that distinctly.

Question. And of the other cases, some were as early as 1867, 1 believe ?

Ansiver. I do not think I have stated anj' case of killing in 1867 ; I do not recollect

now positively that I did.

Question. The shooting of yourself by the Codys—did you call that a Ku-Klux case?
Ansiver. I understood that they were disguised ; I looked upon it as a disguise.

Question. They had nothing over their faces, but merely something thrown over their

heads?
Answer. They had about a yard of cambric.
Question. Their faces were not covered with it ?

Answci: It was tied over their faces in a kind of bonnet fashion; and when they were
looking right straight at me, and when their guns fired, I could discover their faces by
the flash of their guus.

Question, Their faces were undisguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir; but their heads were muffled up with this cambric.
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Question. There were tlii-ee of those meu, you think?
Ansivcr. I saw three. There appeared to be a dozeu wheu they commenced running.

There were three who shot at me.
Qnesfwn. What quarrel had you had with them before that ? .

Answer. I had had previous to that some diflSculties with them.
.
Question. ^Yhat was the character of those dilficulties ?

Answtr. I had been attacked a time or two ; in fiict I was attacked by one of them
one day. I had an execution against one of them in my own right, and I went to have
that levied upon some property that ho had sold. He came out aud attacked and
abused me a good deal about it. I gave him a kick ; that was all ; he went off. He
was armed. They had attacked me several times and abused me for being a radical.

Question. The Codys had?
Ansicer. Yes, sir ; a whole crowd of them when they would be drunk. In fact they

attacked myself aud Senator Adkins in a show there ; and I thought they were going
to kill us both. There were some dozeu of them—they aud some other par-ties.

Queslioti. You never came to blows with any of them except the one you kicked ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Which one was it you kicked ?

Answer. That was a Cody ; but none of these I have named.
Question. And that was the extent of your quarrel with this Cody family, three of

whom you think shot you ?

Answer. Y'es. sir ; I never had any quarrel. I never quarreled with that man. He
abiised me a good deal and I kicked Iiim. I never passed anj- words with him.

Question. I believe you said that on the night wheu you were shot you had been out
iu the coiintry arresting somebody ?

Answer. No, sir ; I said I had been out iu town on duty connected with my office.

Question. Do you remember what duty you were doing that night ?

Answer. I cannot state it positively. But I know there was a man down there from
New Y'ork, on some business ; I cannot give his name, and I cannot state his business

;

but I know I was with him until between 10 aud 11 o'clock. Generally after going
home at night to my sujiper I did not go out again. I was afraid to go out at night.
Being engaged with this gentleman on that business, I had rather forgotten mj-self.

I am satisticd, since I have been shot, that those men had waylaid me several times ou
the same street, to shoot me. When out at uight I always went home iu company
with other parties, mostly with Mr. Wellborn, and that prevented me from being shot.
I am now satisfied of that because I had heard noises in that same locality. When I
was shot I had some j)arties go down, (Dr. Dardeu was one,) aud examine the ground,
aud he said it was tram^Dled a good deal ; he said that alongside the fence where they
shot, the ground looked as if peoj)le had been tramping about there for a considerable
time.

Question. Because of the trampled condition of the ground you came to the conclu-
siou that that was a jilace whe«e they had been in the habit of tryiug to waylay you?
Answer. Y'es, sir. I had heard a noise there before wheu I was going home in com-

I)auy with Mr. Wellborn aud other gentlemen that lived in my part of the town. I

am satisfied that those men had been waylaying me there before. On one uight iu
liarticular I heard a noise, aud 1 ^thought there were calves over in the lot. I went
next moruing to the gentleman who owned the lot, and told him that I thought I
heard some calves the night before in his patch, aud that he had better go and see to
it. He went and reported that there was no chance for calves or anything of that
kind to get in. I aiu satisfied now, iu my own miud, that these parties or some others
were waylaying me there at that time.

Question. You say that those meu who took Dr. Darden out of jail were disguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I saw them wheu they came to my house.
Question. Have you ever seen any disguised meu excej)t those who shot you, and

those who killed Dr. Dardeu ?

Answer. Y'es, sir.

Question. When aud where ?

Aiisu-er. I have seen them there iu the town.
Question. When ?

Answer. I have seen them there the latter part of 1867, aud in 1868, and up to the
time I left there in 1869.

Question.. What were they doing wheu you saw them ?

Answer. They seemed to be orgauiziug aud preparing to go into the country ; aud
generally wheu they left and went into the country I heard the next day of outrages,
whijjpings, &c., by some unknown parties.

Question. Were these disguised meu riding or walking ?

Answer. Eiding.
Question. Did you see them in the day-time or at night ?

Answer. Always at night.
Question. Did they come by your house or did you see them when you were out iu

the street ?
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Ansn-cr. They have come by my house and I have seen them in the street.

Question. In bands ?

Ansxvcr. Yes, sir.

Question. How many togetlier ?

Answer. Well, I liaA'e seen from twenty to fifty.

Question. In tlie streets of Warrentou ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Wlien did you last see such bands of men there ?

Answer. I tliink the last crowd I saw was in February, 1869—no, I am mistaken ; 1

believe the last that I saw that I can now call to my attention was on the night that
they went out to kill and burn the son of old Mr. Jeifers.

Queslion. When was that ?

. Ansiver. In 1868, I believe.

Queslion. The last you saw of them was about that time ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I believe that was the last I can recollect. I saw some men organ-
izing that night in town. Myself and another gentleman were together. I have seen
so much of these things and have been through so much that it is impossible for me
to state positively the times. That night myself and a gentleman by tlae name of Dr.
Walker, who married a cousin of my wife, were standing talking together. These
men came in, quite a number, into town. They were apparently organizing in a cer-

tain place. They were not disguised at that time. They came in and put their horses in
the livery stable. Ho and I stood and watched them for a time, and he said to me,
" Those men are up to something ; there is going to be something done, and I would
advise you to go home ; I don't believe it is safe for you to be out here." I told him I

did not tliink it was cither, and that I would go home. He said he would go home,
and I think he did. From where we were 1 had to go by the court-house ; and I

stopped in the court-house yard some time until these men had jiut on their masks and
got on tlieir horses and started in the country. I did not> see which way they were
going. The next morning I heard of this colored man being shot and burned.

Question. It was in March, 1869, that Wallace was killed by Darden ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir, I believe so.

Question. Was the killing of Wallace in ojien day?
Answer. Yes, sir; at 9 o'clock in the morning ; so they told me.
Question. You were at that time out in the country arresting some one ?

Ansicer, Yes, sir.

Question. In a rape case ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you ordered to go there by a Mr. Pottle, a lawyer of the town ?

Answer. Yes, sir; he was the prosecutor and the man who wrote out tho warrant for
the parties.

Question. When you came back you found that Wallace was killed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Wallace had threatened Darden ?

Ansrver. I understand so.

Question. But had coutined himself to publishing him in the paper?
Ansiver. Yes, sir ; he had published him in the paper.
Question. According to what you have heard was Wallace at tho time ho was killed

making any demonstration on Dr. Darden ?

Ansiver. None at all ; so parties told me ; he was walking along the street.

Question. Unarmed or armed ?

Ansiccr. Armed with a pistol; so tho gentleman told me who saw Darden when he
shot Wallace.

Question. He told you that Wallace had a pistol?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. He was making no attempt to use it?

Answer. None at all.

Question. Darden shot him with a double-barreled shot-gun ?

Ansivcv. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they on the same side of the street or on opposite sides?
Answer. On the same side of the street ; Darden's office was on the second floor, right

on the corner, and there were some steps that went up to it; it was a low Iniilding;

I suppose the platform that went into his office was about eight feet high from the
street; he was in his office when he saw Wallace coming on the street, right iu front
of his office; he walked out on that platform

Question. Eight feet above him?
Ansiver. Yes, sir; and shot him from thgrc; the first time h3 did not throw him, so

the gentleman told me, who was standing at the court-house, where he could see ; he
struck him somewhere about the shoulder ; and Wallace then put his hand to draw his
pistol; then Dr. Darden ran down the steiis, and shot him in the head.

Question. Wallace had made no effort to draw his instol till after ho was shot?
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Answer. This gentleman did not tell me be bad.
-, ^^ n i. -i ^. ^

qSS». Is it known tbat Wallace saw Darden before be received tbe first sbot ?

Answer Tins gentleman wbo told me said tbat Wallace could not belp seeing bim-

could not come along witbout seeing bim, because be came rigbt along in full view;

be said tbat lie saw tbem botb, and tbat Wallace was bound to see Darden-conld not

belp it ; I asked bim tbat question particiilaijy.

Oucsiion Darden was eigbt feet above Wallace, on tbe platform ? ^ , . „ . »

SScr Yes sir ; and Wallace was coming along-I suppose twenty feet m front of

bimXn iewas sbot ; in fact, the gentlemen told me wbere Wallace -as standing

Question. Wallace was sbot wbeu be was making no resistance and no attack, as you

understood ?

Ansicer. Not tbat I know of.
, -, •, , i i • x- o

Question. Was not tbat regarded by people there as a cold-blooded assassination?

Answer. I do not know bow they looked upon it at all.

Question. Did you not understand tbat everybody regarded it as an assassination,

without giving a man any chance at all ?

i[nsi(TJ-. I do not understand it tbat way. „ , . , ^. -.tt ti i

Question. How did tbe people regard tbe conduct of Darden in shooting Wallace under

*^2,LmrT°i?people tbat belonged to Wallace's Ku-KJux crowd (Wallace was captain

of the company there) looked upon it as an outrage-a wi Iful murder or assassmation

others did iot • numbers of others said that they did not blame Dr. Darden
;
tliat they

weiesntisbed' Wallace would have killed bim, and intended to kill him
;

I, myself,

would shoot vou or anybody else if I was satisfied that you bad said what I understood

That Walkce\ad said in regard to Darden, because I would expect you to kill me, and

I would kill you in self-defence ; tbat is my understanding. ^^ ^ ^, , ,

'^tion. /on would do that Without giving any show at aTWoth.^x^^^^^^

and without waiting for any demonstration to be ma;:Je ?
""^^

.i^tl Vexe Ku-Klux
Answer. I would not way'iay yon,but-l would 'jjieet you on the str'>^r,,.nd the writ

tbe first time I saw you.^ I think if a man is justifiable in anything, be ^i*-, ^^p^^ j^q^
anything of that kind.

'"'

nnon
Question. You belie,ye in redressing grievances without going through the forn.v»e

law?
Answer. I do wl jen a man makes a declaration of that kind ; but I believe in Tawancl

order.
Question. StVll you would go out and shoot a man on the street who had made a threat

against you°?
Ansica-. M man who bad threatened he would kill me ?

Question Yes, sir.

Answer- I certainly would ; and I think any man else would do it.

Question. You think that tbe conduct of Dr. Darden in killing Wallace in the way
you bay 13 described was entirely .justifiable ?

Answer. If the information I have received be true, it is, if anything in the world
would be justifiable ; and Wallace being known as a murderer himself would be a

bettei" reason for so doing, and the fact of bis being known to belong to tbat organiza-

tion. It was his own declaration that he commanded the company that went out and
killed and burned this negi'O. That was his own declaration.

Question. Made to whom? •

Answer. Made to ilr. Jones, the day before Dr. Darden killed Wallace. Mr. Jones

told me so in tbe presence of another gentleman.
Question. That night when, as you stated, the taking out and killing of Dr. Dardeu

occurred, you started to Atlanta ?

Ansicer. 'No, sir ; I went to Augusta that night.

Question. And you went from Augusta to Atlanta ?

Jinswer. Yes, sir.

Question. Alter you got to Atlanta you applied for soldiers and got them ? !

Aisiver. I got them before I went back, but it took some time to do it.

Qiestion. You took them with you?
An'iwer. No, sir ; they went down and I remained at Atlanta for some time afterward.
Question. They were at Warrenton when you got there ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and I took a guard of soldiers with me when I did go.

Qiestion. And sent some in advance ?

Aisica: Yes, sir.

Qiestion. And when-you got back you commenced arresting men ?

jnsrver. Yes, sir.
'

(ucstion. How many did you arrest ?

inswer. I cannot state positively. I think I arrested two or three, or four or five; I

do not know positively now, there have been so many ins and outs, and everythiiig
o:^that sort ; but I know I did arrest some and put them in jail.

Question. You arrested them by the aid of the soldiers ?
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Jnsn-er. I avrestod tliom myself, but I carried the soldiers with me.
Question. From ^vlioiu «lid you get the warrants for their arrest?

Answer. I think the wurrauts, when I went down the first time, were issued by Mr.
Smith, a notary ])iililic in Fulton County. I got the warrants in Atlanta before I went
down, and had them with me when I went.

Question. They were issued by a notary public?
Ansu'er. Yes, sir.

'Question. Why did you not have them issued by your own judges or justices ?

Answer. They were not convenient, and the other answers the same purpose in onr

State.
Question. Tliose warrants were issued in Atlanta ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Upon your affidavit ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Where are your aifidavits and warrants now ? WTiat officer has them ?

Answer. I cannot tell you.
Question. Did the notary public give the warrants to you to execute ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did the authority of the notary public in Atlanta to issue warrants for

arresting people, reach all over the State ?

A)isiver. F(n- those crimes.
Question. For the crime of murder or any other crime ?

Answer. Not "any other crime." I say for those crimes.

Question. For the crime of nnirder ?

Answei: Yes, sir; that is my imderstauding of the law.
Question. The law of Georgia or the law of the United States ?

An^^wer.^ TA\? i3'J£ Pf.i^.lQ.i'P'^'^'

«>-ot on their horsTs" "^5"p"lJ^ic^9f fi county, under the law of Georgia, issue his war-

"•oing. The
»

"^^i^i'^^^' anywhere and !5>>^iud it to any pac of "oilje State?
^

Question.
'

''
^""' ^^-^^^ ^'^ ^^^^ understantliug. In other wo'I^-ds I will answer it in this

Jjj,
^x a murder was committed, and I knew the fact, aui.l wanted to take out a

^rant and prosecute the parties, then wherever I might find a^ notary j)ublic or jus-
ice of the ]ieace, or any officer in our State authorized to issue wa. vrants, I could go to

ijiui aud demand a warrant, by giving tlie name of the party thVat committed the
crime, the name of the party killed or injured, and the county that n!' was done in. I

could swear out a warrant and give it to an officer aud have the pari;' v arrested any-
where in the State. The jiarty can then go before any of these officers r.ji any county
in the State, and, if it is a bailable case, give bond for his appearance befo. fe the court
having jurisdiction to tiy the case in the county where the crime was ^committed.
That is our law.

Question. The only warrant you had was the warrant issued by the notary public in

Atlanta ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. AVith that you went down and arrested the men?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. To whom did you return what you had done, before what officer? [A

ness hesitates.] To whom did you make a return of the arrests you had made ? \
Avsicer. I made no return at all, except on the warrant. The return is always maa

upon the warrant. ''

Question. To whom did you make that retiu'n ?

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)
" ''-

Question. Before whom did you bring the men ?

Ansiver. I made the return on the warrant, that I had arrested so and so, and datei! i it.

By Mr. Beck:

Question. Before whom did you return those men ?

Answer. I think that I returned them before Mr. Gibson, a notary public inW arren .

County, where the crime Avas committed.
Question. That is your recollection ?

Answer. Some of the parties, when I arrested them, I carried before Gibson abad he
attested their bonds. Some of the parties sued out writs oihdbeas corpus. Writs of tf^abcas

corpus in my State always come before the ordinary process. Some parties give L^^ouds
before the ordinary and some before the notary public in the county.

Question. You think you returned all these warrants before a man named Gibst m, a
notary public—you returned the warrants with the returns upon them to him, stasiting

"What you had done with the men ?
, j

Answer. No, sir, these men were brought before him.
Question. By you ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and he approved the amounts of their bonds. As for the warrar its,-
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I conltl uot say who has tlicm. According to tlio best of my recollection, tliey ^Yere

left -vvitb my papers in my office.

Question. Did you return them to IVIr. Gibson ?

Ansicei: No, sir ; Mr. Gibson had nothing to do with them.
Question. Who had ?

Aii.mrr. Tlic warrants belonged to me or to the sheriff's office.

Question. And the returns are made on the warrant of arrest ?

j\nswei: Yes, sir.

Question. Did you not take the warrant with the return to some officer to deliver it

with the prisoners ?

Anstver. No, sir.

Question. You kept it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You think you kejit the warrant in this case yourself?
Auswer. Yes, sir.

Question. How did you get these men before the military?
Answir. I never got but one before the military.

Question. Who was he?
Answer. A man named Martin. After all this trouble that occurred with these par-

ties—when I had got all the information, as I thought, that would convict the parties
of the killing of Dr. Darden, I went to Atlanta and saw General Terry. When I

arrested certain parties, I had then my plan all laid, if General Terry would suspend
the writ of habeas corpus in their cases upon my application. He told me to go back
and make the arrest; ho did not say ho would or would not do what I requested him;
he told me when I made the arrest to report the case. I went back and in about a
week I made the attempt to arrest these parties. I only got one of them. That was
Martin. I informed General Terry that I had arrested a man by the name of Martin,
charged with aiding in the murder of Dr. Darden and with being a jail-breaker in that
murder, stating that I was satisfied that two-thirds of that community were Ku-Klus
and that no justice could be had in the civil court, and I asked him to suspend the writ
of habeas corjyus. As soon as I had arrested the man, Mr. Pottle served a writ upon me.
I refused to acknowledge it till I could hear from General Terry. General Terry, upon
my statement and application, granted the commissioner authority to investigate the
matter.

Question. And suspended the writ oi habeas corpus?
Answa: That suspended it—bringing it before the military commissioner suspended it.

Question. He sent you an officer to try the man ?

Answer. He appointed an officer who was in command of the post there to investigate
the matter.

Question. General Terry sent you a military officer, and authorized him to investi-

gate it?

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. Did General Terry authorize this officer to try the case?
Ansieer. He authorized him to investigate it.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. And you refused to obej-the writ of habeas corpus that Pottle had sued out?
Answer. Yes, sir, until I could hear from General Terry.
Question. After you heard from General Terry you still continued to refuse, and took

the man before the military officer ?

Answa: That put an end to it, you know.
Question. Do you mean that Terry's appointing a military commission put an end to

Pottle's right to have the writ sued out ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And Pottle's writ fell ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. We then, in place of bringing the man before the ordinary of the
county, brought him before this military officer.

Question. Give the date of that transaction, as near as you can.
Ansiver. I think it was the last of May or the first of June, 1870. I canuot state

positively.

Question. Do you know by what authority General Terry was suspending writs 6f
habeas corpus and making arrests and authorizing his military officers to investigate
cases ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; I think I do.
Question. Let ns hear it.

Ansiver. It was an act of Congress giving him that power.
Question. An act of Congress passed when—in December, 1869?
Answer. It was passed in December, 1869, I think.
Question. It was by virtue of that act of Congress passed in December, 1869, that
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General Terry assumed the right to try men by military commission in the State of

Georgia?
Aimvtr. That is my understanding. My understanding is that Congress, by an act,

appointed General Terry one of the military commanders in the South, and a separate

clause in that act gave him jurisdiction as to Georgia, to suspend the writ of habeas

corpus if necessary, and to try any of this Ku-Klnx organization for murder by a
military court. I think it gave him the right not only to investigate, but if he saw
proper ,to have a regular military court, and try, convict, and execute. That is my
understanding of the law. I don't think General Terry ever had any disposition to

use the power that Congress gave him in that particular. That is my notion.

Question. You would, I suppose, be very much astonished, after the course of things

in Georgia, if you were to ascertain the fact that Congress never gave him any such
authority to susi)end the writ of habeas corpus, or anything of that kind ?

Answer. Well, I do not know; I have read the acts of Congress, as I thought, pretty

well ; and say now that that was my understanding—that he had the right.

Question. That was the practice down there at any rate ?

Ansive): No, sir ; they did not practice it. I say General Terry never showed any
disposition to exercise that authority which I understand was given to him.

Question. The investigation of Martin's case was commenced before the military

officer ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. How long did that investigation continue ? •

Anstver. Four days.
Question. Who swore the witnesses ?

Ansiver. The military officer.

Question. Who examined them in behalf of the United States ?

Answer. I did.

Question. Who was the counsel for the defense ?

Ansiver. Mr. E. H. Pottle.

Question. Who acted as marshal or sheriff in bringing up the witnesses ?

Ansiver. I did ; I had it done.
Question. By officers of your own ?

Answer. I sent my guard ; I had a guatd ; and I usually sent them out with the

summonses.
Question. When you speak of a guard do you mean you sent your soldiers to bring up

the witnesses f

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. The military officer heard the case ; and you called the witnesses and ex-

amined them for the prosecution ?

Ansiver. A military officer took down the evidence ; and Mr. Pottle had a clerk of his

own to take down the evidence on his side.

Question. After the investigation proceeded four days what was done ?

Answer. We then compromised.
Question. In what way ?

Ansiver. I have the whole of that compromise in a newspaper here—every word
sworn to.

Question. State the substance of that compromise.
Ansiver. On the night of the fourth day's trial this officer sent a non-commissioned

officer to my house, asking me to report to his tent. I had gone to bed, being very
tired. I got up, though, and reijorted to his tent, which was about half a mile distant,

as quickly as I could. When I got there he asked me if I wanted to ruin that whole
people. I think that was the first question he asked me.

Question. Was that the non-commissioned officer?

Ansiver. No, sir ; this was the officer who was investigating the matter.

By Mr. Cobukn :

Question. What was his name?
Answer. Terbett, or Tarbett.

Question. What was liis rank ?

Answer. Captain of Company F, Eighteenth Infantry.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Who was the ordinary of that county at that time ?

Answer. Dr. Hubert. When Major Torbett asked me whether I wanted to ruin that

whole people, I told him I did not. He told me that Mr. Pottle, the lawyer who was
defending Martin, had been there with Mr. Heath, a former sheritf, and they had stated

to him that tliey would give up the live men whom the evidence as then taken would
convict; that they would not defend them any further if the case could stop; that

they did not want the case to go any further. I told him that I was not prepared to

agree to any such thing; but I would see him next morning. Next morning I met
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him at the court-room ; and he still insisted that I should accept the proposition. He
f^avc me the reasons why he thought I ought to accept it. One of them was, that two
of these live men were men that were engaged in shooting me

;
that by consenting to

this arrangement I would make that matter all right. Another reason he gave was,

that under the governor's proclamation, olleriL!g'$5,U00 reward for each of these parties,

I would get that under the compromise, for their conviction ; and ho thought that

that ought to satisfy me.
Quentiou. That was 625,000 altogether ?

Atisuer. Yes, sir ; I told him that it would satisfy me as an individual to convict

those live meu, and more especially the two that shot me. I then told him that if

they would agree to a propositiou I v.ould make, I would accept the proposition. I

then stated what I had concluded. That was, that if he would open the court, and
Mr. Pottle, their attorney, would, before witnesses, admit that under the evidence then

taken down these parties were guilty of the murder, (I understood that to mean that

he would go before any court, military or civil, or any other that might convene

—

the parties were then under bonds,) if he would state that under the evidence, and
under the compromise he had made with me, these parties were guilty of that crime,

and these bondsmen would bring them before any court that might convene, either

military or civil, or the bondsmen be held iesponsible—and they were all responsible

Question. In other words. Pottle was to enter a plea of guilty, whereby you would be
entitled to that $2.5,000 reward f

Answet: Well, that was a question which came up under the proclamation offering

the reward. There was not a decision by any of that party that I was entitled to the

$25,000. Nor was it a compronuse on that part at all.

Question. But your object Avas to have such an order entered as would enable you to

get that $25,000 f

Answer. To try to get it.

Question. To claim it by virtue of having obtained a conviction?
Answer. For convicting these parties.

Question. And you regarded the entry by Pottle of their guilt as being a conviction

of them, so that nothing remained to be "done but to enter up judgment before some
court on that admission ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; I* thought that would hold good.

Question. You thought you would get your $25,000 ; and that was your consideration

in making the compromise, so far as you were individually concerned?
. Armcer. I will not say that that was my object ; that was not ray object.

Question. That was a pretty important consideration in the transaction ?

Ansiver. Well, it mayhave'been an incident; but I do not say that it was my object;

I would not do a thing of that sort.

Question. But you expected to get the reward ?

Ansiver. If I was entitled to it.

Question. And you thought that that arrangement entitled yoii to it?

Ansiver. I did not know whether it would or not ; it has not entitled me to it yet.

Question. Did you not believe it would .?

Ansiver. Well, I thought there was a doubt, and a considerable doubt.

Question. But the object you had in view was to put yourself in a position where you
would be likely to get it ?

Answer. Well, 1 thought there was a doubt whether I would get it. In our State

there is a great question whether an officer would be allowed the reward in any case.

I had that in view ; I knew all that ; I knew what the law was ; aud, therefore, I

could not say that it was for that reason I accepted the compromise.
Question. You said a little while ago that you were still trying to get it.

Ansiver. I am making some move to get it if I am entitled to it.

Question. What move are you making in that direction?
Answer. If the law entitles me to it, then I want it as a matter of course, just like

you would want your salary for your services. If the law does not entitle me to it, I

make no claim at all.

Question. What efforts are you making in the direction of getting it?

Answer. I am trying to bring these parties before the court for their conviction ; and
then, if I am entitled upon tbat conviction under the law, I will ask for the reward ; if

I am not, I will never say a word about it ; I will do it as my duty.
Question. You say that that comx)romise was entered into ?

Answer. I do say so.

Question. Why was it not carried out?
Answer. I cannot answer that question ; I have my ideas.

Question. Give us your opinion as to why it wf.s not carried out.

Anstver. It is merely a supposition ; I have nothing to base it upon, only my own
ideas.

Question. Give us your idea.

15 G
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Anfiwer. My idea •was that this officer had hecn manipulated by this man Pottle, who
-was delVndiii;^- those parties, and by that Ku-Klux orjranization.

Qitivtion. ^^llat do you mean by the word "manipulated?"
Answer. Well, ''manipulated" means not to give full facts.

Qiiestion. Do you mean to say that you think ho had been paid ?

Answer. I would not say that ho was paid or that he was not. I would just as soon
believe that he was as that he was not.

Qiiestio)!. r.ut you think he was "manipulated; " we will use that word.
Answer. 1 think ho was rather manipulated from carrying out what a man ought to

carry out under the circumstances.
Question. By means of money 1

Answer. I do not know whether it was by means of money, or whether it was by
other inlluences that were brought to bear uppn him ; I could not say. Probably there

was a good deal of all of it mixed together; it is not for me to say; I cannot say
truthfully.

Question. That compromise fell ?

Answer. That compromise was never carried out. If the officer had in good faith

carried out the compromise, if he had reported these facts to General Terry, as he prom-
ised me to do when he adjourned the court (the court never broke up ; he simply
adjourned the court till he could go to Atlanta)—if he had gone there and laid these

facts before General Terrj^, that wliole thing would have been a success ; these parties

would have been found guilty, and a great deal of trouble in that country would have
stopped. I am satisfied of that.

Question. Did you go to Atlanta yourself immediately afterward ?

Answer. I was sent to Atlanta.

Question. By whom ?

Answer. I cannot tell you, I was sent there under arrest ; a United States officer

carried me there under arrest.

Question. How long after that compromise were you arrested ?

Ansiva: A very short while afterward ; I cannot state positively.

Question. About how long ?
''

Ansiver. Inside of twenty-four hours, I suppose.
Question. You were arrested the same day, or the next day ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. On what charge ?

Answer. I never saw any warrant or anything.
Question. You know what the charge was, I presume?
Ansiver. The officer who arrested me said they had accused me of being bribed. I

never saw any warrant or any papers of any kind.

Question. You were sent to Atlanta under a military guard ?

Answer. An officer went, and I believe he had three men with him.
Question. You were sent there on a charge of bribery?
Ansiver. Yes, sir. I was sent to Atlanta by my own request.

Question. You were arrested for bribery ?

Answer. 1 was arrested ; and when the officer arrested me he told me that that was
the charge.

Question. Were you arrested for anything else ?

Answci: They never told me anything else.

Question. Have you never been arrested for anything else ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What else ? ^
Atiswer. I was arrested for false imprisonment.
Question. When was that arrest made ?

Answer. Since this compromise.
Question. How long after the compromise ?

Answei: Directly afterward.
Question. Were you arrested for false imprisonment while you were still under arrest

for receiving bribes ?

Ansiva: No, sir ; I had been turned loose. They did- not keep me under arrest but
about twenty -four hours.

Question. When you got to Atlanta, when; did you go?
Answer. To the McPherson Barracks. They carried mo out one evening, and turned

me loose the next morning.
Question. Did you have a hearing before any officer ? <

Ansiver. No, sir; none at all.

Question. Did you know why you were discharged ?

Aiiswer. No, sir. I employed some lawyers to carry out this compromise, and to

defend me on the charge of bribery. All went to nothing—I never knew how.
Question. Who were the lawyeis you employed? /

Answer. Gartrell and Stephens.
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Question. Are they lawyers iu Atlanta now ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they never report to you what they ]ia|S done to get you clear ?

Ansivci: They just told uie the thing had come to an end.

Question. Is that all they said ?

Ansjccr. Yes, sir.

Qiuistion. They never told you any of the i)articnlars?

Answer. They never told nie any of the particulars.

Question. Did they not tell you any of the proceedings they had taken in order to

defend you, more than tlie simple fact that they had got you clear ?

Answer. They never told me they had got mo clear.

Question. What did they tell you ?

Answer. They just told me to make myself easy ; that there would be no more trouble
about it.

Question, pid they say whether they had applied to a military or a civil tribunal to

get you clear 1

Answer. No, sir; I never asked them. I just paid them a fee.

Question. What fee did you pay them ?

Ansiver. One thousand dollars.

Question. That was the whole of it ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; that was to defend me, and to carry out this compromise.
Question. Did you pay this $1,000 before you were released or afterward ?

Ansicer. Afterward. '

Question. The same day ?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not think it was the same day.
Question. How long afterward ?

Answer'. I cannot say positively ; it was not a great while.
Question. When was it they told you the thing was at an end ?

Anstccr. I think it was about the same time, within a day or so.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. You spoke of paying $1,000 to get you clear and to carry out the compromise.
Was that for both services ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. #
By Mr. Beck :

Question. You paid that money to those lawyers within a day or two of the time you
"were taken to Atlanta ?

Ansicer. It was within a day or two after I had been released.

Question. Did you see your lawyers on the day of your release ?

Answe)'. I think I did.

Question. What did they say to you on the day of your release? Was it then that
they told you it was all over ?

Answer. I cannot say positively whether it was then or not; it was within two or

three days anyhow.
Question. Y'ou do not know to this day whether they applied to a civil or a military

court, or what means they used to get you clear ? All you know is that they told you
it was all over, and you gave them the $1,000°?

Ansicer. Well, they went to General Terry ; that is what they told me. What took
place between them and General Terry I do not know anything about. That was
none of my business, as I thought. I employed them, and I thought they were capable

;

they knew everything that occurred. I simply employed them as I would emx^loy any
lawyer, and gave my case over to them, and simply waited their action.

Question. Were you under arrest when you employed them ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir.

Question. What did you employ them to do ? •

Aiiswer. I employed them to defend me against the charge of bribery, provided tbere
was any charge. I did not know that there was any charge ; I had never seen any
warrant.

Question. What else did you employ them to do at that same time ; I mean the time
when you were under arrest ?

Anstver. My understanding was that if I was prosecuted in the covu'ts, either civil or
military, upon the charge of bribery, they were to defend me. That was my under-
standing ; and I agreed to -pay so much.

Question. How much ?

Answer. One thousand dollars ; and I gave them all the facts that had occurred. I

gave them this compromise ; and in the defense ofthe prosecution for bribery, if there was
any, they were to use aU the facts that I have stated here. That was my uuderstand-
ng with them.
Question. You think you have now stated substantially the terms on which you em-

/
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ployed ibera, -what they agreed to do, and what you agreed to pay ? If there was any-
thing further embraced in the contract, state it.

Answer. I think I have stated all, according to my understanding.
Question. They were to get you clear, and were to use all the iacts with which you

furnished them relative to that compifemise, in any matter that might come up against
you?

Ansircr. "ies, sir.

Qncsilon. And next morning you were released ; and in a day or two you i)aid them
this fee of SI ,000?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it after your release on that occasion that you were arrested for false

imprisonment ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How long after ?

Answer. I think it was inside of a month—somewhere thereabout.
Question. Was that arrest made in Atlanta 'I

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was after you had left Warren County for the last time ?

A7isu-er. Yes, sir.

Question. You left Warren County in March or April of last year?
Answer. May or Juno, I think I said; I am not positive, though, about dates.
Question. About a year ago ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When you were arrested for false imprisonment, was the process served on
you by a military or a civil officer ?

Ansieer. By a civil ofiQcer.

Question. Before whom was the warrant for false imprisonment sued out ; in what
form did this arrest for false imprisonment come?

Ansicer. I had the warrants in my possession for a long time.
Question. You mean the warrants against you for false imprisonment ?

Ansicer. I had them all in my own possession for a long time. In my State tiie wit-
nesses go before the grand jury and make affidavit.

I^ the Chairman, (Mr. Poland:)

Question. And upon that proceeding the grand jury find true bills ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir, The judge alone can issue the warrants.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Then you were indicted for false imprisonment by a grand jury of Warren
County ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Before Judge Andrews ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. With Mr. Matthews prosecuting?
Answer. I suppose^so

; I do not know whether he prosecuted or not ; sometimes he
appointed a lawyer to act for him ; I do not think he ever goes down there ; he ap-
points a solicitor in that county to act; he won't go down there himself.

Question. At any rate, you were indicted by a grand jury of Judge Andrews's court?
Answer. It was in his court; I am not certain whether Judge Andrews was presiding,

or Judge Gibson, from Augusta: but it was in that court. I understood that Judge
Gibson had been down there to hold court.

Question. Is Judge Gibson an appointee of Governor Bullock?
Answer. Yes, sir; they all get their offices the same way.
Question. You were arrested in Atlanta ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you give bond for your appearance?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Has the case been tried?
Answer. No, su'.

Question. Is it still pending ?

Answe)'. Well, there is a pardon in the case.

Question. You were pardoned by Governor Bullock in advance of trial ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Would you not have had a right, under the laws of Georgia, to remove that
trial from the county of Warren to any other county of the State where there was no
difficulty or danger?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do not the laws of Georgia allow a change of venue where the defendant
makes it appear that he cannot get justice in the county Where the offense was com-
mitted, or is not safe in going there personally?
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Anmcer. He can remove the case into an adjoininff connty in the same judge's juris-

diction ; he cannot go any further. 4
Question. Provided the same objection applies to the adjoining county, can he not

skip that county ?

Answer. No, sir ; I think not. That is my recollfectiou of the law.
Question. So you applied to Governor Bullock and were pardoned ?

Ansucr. I never applied to him at all.

Question. Who did a^jply to him for you?
Answer. I suppose my lawyers did, or somebody else ; I never did.

Question. Who were your lawyers ?

Answer. Gartrell and Stevens, as I have already said.

Question. I observe that one of these newspapers which you have here alludes to
charges of perjury which have been made against you '?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not think anything of that sort is alluded to there.

Question. I observe this clause : "The day was, in ante bellurn times, when the name
of ' Chap. Norris' was a sesame of respectability and welcome in his native county of
Warren. Now it is coupled with charges of perjury and bribery."

Answer. They charged me with that in their journal ; it wasno charge before agrand
juiy. It is not connected at all with this thing.

Question. Then you have been charged in the journals of yoiir county with perjury?
Answer. Yes, sir ; I have been charged with everything—with stealing, murder, and

everything in the world that a man could think about.
Question. Have you indeed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The journals of your county have charged you, then, with perjury as well
as other crimes ?

Ansiver. They have charged me with everything. They have charged General Grant
with perjury, and stealing, and everything else.

.Question. It is terrible to associate you with Greneral Grant.
Answer. They charge everybody that is opposed to I hem with these crimes.
Question. Do you state it as a tact that everybody who opiJoses them in politics is

charged with bribery and murder'?
Ansiver. Not everybody.
Question. Did you not say so just no>^*?

Answer. I do not know that I did. When I say " everybody " I mean those in that
section.

Question. Then I understand you to say that every republican in that section of coun-
try is charged by his political opponents with perjury, bribery, murder, and like oi"-

fenses ?

Answer. Yes, sir; in this* paper published in that town, you will find a communicn
tion showing how thej'^ make charges of that kind. When I say they charge " every-
body," I mean everybody that they know ; I do not mean everybody.

Question. How did you come to get possession of that note for $5,000, and when ; did
you get it on the day it bears date—February 4, 1870 ?

Answer. Well, just before that they agreed to pay me that much money and did not
do it ; and then they agreed to give me that note.

Question. Was that after you had gone down there with the soldiers and commenced
making arrests ?

Answtr. I cannot say whether these parties were under arrest at that time or not ; I

cannot answer that question positively ; it was some time thereabout.
Question. I want you to state the history of that note, which, with its indorsements,

is in the following form

:

" W.iEiiEN CouxTY, Georgia,
" February 4, 1870.

" One day after date, we, or either of lis, i^romise to pay J. C. Norris, sheriff of said
county, five thousand dollars, for value received.

" W. W. SWAIN.
" P. M. HILL.
"JOHN R.SWAIN.

" Indorsements :

" Received on the within fifteen hundred and thirty dollars, this February 4, 187C.

"W. W. S.
" Received on the within seven hundred dollars, February 15, 1870. J. R. S.
" Received on the within four hundred and fifty dollars, this February 19, 1870.
" Received on the within note five hundred and seventy dollars, this 28th February,

1870.

"T.M.BROWN.'
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Wlien did you receive that uotc, for what consideration, and under what circum-
stances ?

J,

Answer. I received it on the day of its date.

. Quesiion. Under what contract ?

Answei: For injuries done my person, my family, and my projicrty.

Quention. By wliora ?

Ansiver. By these parties I named—the Codys, who shot me, and tho Ku-Klux gen-
erally.

Question. Were any of the men who signed that note concerned in committing tho
injuries upon you ?

Ansiver. No,^ir. If they were, I never had any reason to tliink it.

Question. How did they come to give you that note f State all the circumstances

—

why these particular men came to give you that note?
Answer. I will state it as correctly as I can. Th(!y gave it to meas a comjiromise for

injuries done my person, my property, and my family.
Question. Had any of these men done any of these injuries?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. liow did they come to give it to you ?

Answer. They did it, I suppose, for the parties who had injured me by shooting and so
on ; they did it as agents or something of that kind. I cannot answer your question
any plainer than that.

Question. At the time tho note was given, was no reason assigned by them why they
should give you tho note in their individual names?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Why were you styled in the body of the note "sheriff of Warren County ?"

Ansiver. Mr. Swain wrote the note himself, and signed it. I never asked him that
question.

Question. Did ho say anything to you as to the reason why he signed it, and why the
other two gentlemen signed it ?

Answei: He told me he thought, as I had been run from my homo for a year, and
received the injuries I had, it was justice to me that that people should remunerate
me some for those injuries ; and he said that the people were willing to do it. That was
the transaction, and those parties paid the money that appears by the indorsement.

Question. T. M. Brown, who signs one of the indorsements, does not appear to bo either

the owner of the note or one of the makers of it ?

Answer. Well, he came to me, and said that he wanted to pay a certain amount of
money on the note which I had for injuiies given me. I handed him the note, and he
put the credit on it in his own handwriting and handed me the money.

By the Ciiairmax, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. That was to show who paid the money ?

Answer. Yes, sir, to show who iiaid the money. I wanted everything to show for

itself.

By Mr. Bkck :

Question. You said you made a deposit of the money received upon the note ?

Aiiswer. Yes sir.

Question. Where, with whom, and for what purpose did you do that?
Answer. I do not want to state the party's name positively, if you will excuse me. I

can give you all the facts, and why I did it, and all about it. I was looking forward
and thinking that those parties, with all their ingenuity, were trying to do me all tho
harm they possibly could ; and I did not know bat they would attempt to bring me
up at some time upon charges t)f bribery or anything else ; and I simply wanted
to keep that money to show for itself, and this note to sliow for itself; and I deposited
the money with that view, and with parties who were not allowed to use one dollar of
it, but to hold it till any time when I might call for it for any emergency that might
come up.

Question. State the names of the parties you deposited it with.
Ansiver. I dt>posited it with Gordon, Willis & Co., bankers, at Atlanta.
Question. Did you make the deposits as each payment was received?
Answer. No, sir; I deposited all the money with them at one time.

Question. When did you make that deposit ; was it before your arrest by tho mili-

tary authorities, or afterward ?

Anstver. A good while before ; I made it some time before that compromise.
Question. Did you explain to those bankers the reason why you deposited the money ?

Answer. It is my understanding that I did.

Question. Did you make a special deiiosit, to be held differently from any other money
that you had there?

Answer. I did.

Quesiion. For a given purpose. If so, for what purpose ?
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Answer.,! went first with the money to James's hank in Atlanta, and tried to deiiosit

the money tliere on these stipuhited terms.
Qiifisiion. Wliat stipulated terms"?
Attsircr. Tbat I wanted the money held upon a special deposit, and not used for any

purpose; that it might be called for at any time. I stated that from circumstances
connected with the money I did not want it used for any purpose at all. I do not know
all the statements I made to them ; but they refused to take the money at that bank.
I then went down to see Mr. Willis, a friend of mine, and, as my recollection serves
me, gave him to understand the surroundings of this money, and he agreed to take it

upon special deposit ; the money was placed in a large envelope, sealed iip l>y myself,
aud my name written upon the back, with a statement of the amount"; and he gave
me a certiticate for the n'loney on a special deposit.

Question. Did you explain to him anything about this note or its payments, or did
you do nothing more than just make a si>ecial deposit of that money 1

Ansicer. I said more to him than simply asking him to take the money. I gave him
to understand the reason why I wanted to make this special deijosit.

Question. jLy\A you give him the history of the Swain note ?

Answer. I will not say that I meaitioned the note to him, but he understood my pur-
pose.

Question. Did he understand that you had a special reason for keeping the money as
a si^ecial deposit ?

Answer. Yes, he understood my purpose.
Question. You are not i>repared to sav that you told Mr. Willis anything about the

note ?

Ansiver. When I was preparing the statement which is published in the paper which
I have here, I went to him and asked him if he would allow me to use his name as the
one I had deposited this money with, and to state the understanding upon which it

was deposited. He told me that he did not want me to do so ; that he did not want
his name to come out in connection with it. He said it would not amount to anything

;

that it would not do me or him any good ; that there was no necessity for it ; and ho
asked me not to do it. So I left that out.

Question. The killing of Mr. Adkins was not doije by disguised men at all ?

Ansicer. I never said that it was, or that it was not.
Question. What is your information—that it was or was not ?

Answer. I said he Avas shot, as I supposed, from ambush. I do not know whether the
men were disguised or not—that is, I do not know whether there was a mask on their
faces or not.

Question. Was it not supposed that the two men on horseback, who galloped past his
wife while she Avas in the buggy, were the men who killed him ?

Answer. His wife thouglit so.

Question. Do you believe that ?

Ansn-er. I think they were the parties.

Question. What makes you think they were in ambush. Why may it not have been a
case of open violence without ambush, if they were on the highway with their guns ?

Ansiver. I have heard from parties who went and examined the ground, and from hia
wife, that they saw the signs where these parties had secreted themselves, probably in
a blind behind a fence, or behind a tree, and as the old man came along and got close
to them they shot him.

Question. Those men on horseback were behind him, going in the same direction ?

•Answer. Yes, sir, they Avere going in the same direction when his wife saw them. That
is what she told me.

Question. Is it supposed that they rode past him and then hid themselves, or that
they shot him when they OA'crtook him ?

Answer: I think that the roads forked, and that thej- headed him. That Avas the
understanding of these persons who made the ll'xamiuatiou ; I think they saAv the
tracks of the horses. I gi\-e this merely as the statement of his Avife and the others.

Question. What was your majority when you were elected sheritf ?

Answer. I think about 600.

Question. What was the whole vote at that election ?

Answer. About 1,100 whites and 1,300 negroes.
Question. That was a prettj* full \'ote for that county ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I sec by the census that your county has only 10,000 people ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir, that was a full election.
Question. Have there been any elections there since ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I believe there was one last October.
Question. Do you recollect what Avas the vote then '?

Answer. 1 do not. I was told ij; was about half \A'hat it was before.
Question. That was the election for members of Congress ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Quffitioii. Has there been.no State election receutly?
Ausicer. They elected members of the legislature and county officers at the same

time.
Que.'ition. What proportion of the property in Warren County is o\Yued by the white

people, as compared with the blacka f

Answer. Tiie whites own it all. I think that some of the blacks own a few little lots

in the town ; but if they own a foot of land in the county I do not know it.

Questio)!. Ls there any superabundance of labor there, or does it require all the labor
that can be obtained to work those lands?

Answer. They had plenty of labor, but their cruelty, througli this Ku-Klux organiza-
tion, has run out a gieat deal of it.

Question. They needed all the labor they had ?

Answer. They needed all they had at the start; they would have been better oli if

they had kept it and used it properly.

Question. The white people own all the land, and they need all the labor ?

Aiisiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Yet you think they are running off their own labor ?

Answer. They are running it oti".

Question. Does not that make them suffer considerably for want of it ?

Answer.'' It does make a good many of them. There are a good many there this year
who cannot get any labor at all, I understand.

Question. Still they run it off, you think, just because they can do SR? *'
~"-—

-

Answer. Yes, sir; I talked with theui upon this subject myself, and told them that^
they would ruin the country; that their laud would not be wortli ten cents an acre if .^

they ran all the negroes out, and I asked them what they wanted to do it for. They
said they intended to use the negro as a negro, or they would not use him at all.

Question. Did some of the leading men tell you that? '—-_
Answer. Y'es, sir.

Question. Who ?

Answer. I have heard Judge J. M. Roberts speak of it. He is an old gentleman
there—a great friend of mine in days gone by.

Question. Name any others of the leading men whom you have heard make such a
remark.

Answer. It is a mighty hard matter for a man to go to work and give the names of
parties. I have heard Judge Roberts speak of it frequently.

Question. Is he a democrat ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I think I have heard William Rickctson say the same thing. I

think I could give the names of a good many more.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Poland :)

Question. In regard to the killing of Dr. Darden, j^ou ax>plied to General Terry, and
he sent this ofticer to investigate the matter ?

Anstver. The ofScer was already there ; he was commanding the post at,Warrenton.
Question. General Terry authorized him to investigate this affair '!

Answer. Yes, sir ; that was what I supposed ; he went at it on my application.
Question. You seem to understand that his issuing that order was of itself a sus-

pension of the writ of habeas corpus ?

Answer. No, sir ; not necessarily.

Question. Do you understand that General Terry ever made any order suspending the
writ of habeas corpus ?

Answer. Not necessarily.

Question. Do you understand that he did ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not know that he did.

Question. You do not understand that he made any direct order suspending the writ
of habeas corpus in that county ? t

Answer. No, sir ; I never understood myself to say so.

Question. Tliere was a writ of habeas corpus prayed out before the ordinary ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; there had been several writs served on me.
Question. In the case of this man, Martin, did they pray out a writ of habeas corpus f

Did the ordinary issue a writ of habeas corjyus in Martin's case ?

Answer. I do not know positively that he did.

QueMion. Do you know whether he did or not ? *

Answer. I cannot state that he did or that he did not ; my memory does not serve me
positively about that.

Question. You cannot say whether a writ o£ habeas corpus was got out in favor of Mar-
tin or not ?

Answer. I cannot ; but they came to me for that i)urpose, I think.
Question. Came to you and talked about it ?

Answer. Yes, sir. If they did sue out a writ oi habeas corpus in that particular case, I

think that the thing was understood. When this writ was served on mo, or when they
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talked of serving it on me—I will not say that they did serve it on me—I think I told
them I was going to make an application to General Terry, and that tliey shonld wait un-
til I heard from General Terry beibre they sued out the writ ; or, if they had sued it out,

to hold it, and wait till I heard from him, and that if he did not grant the investiga-
tiou, then I would acknowledge the writ and-bring out the i)risoner before Dr. Hubert
or any other officer.

Question. Whether they did, in point of fact, get a writ of habeas corpus you do not
recollect ?

Answer. I do noib recollect positively.

Question. Yon do not know that General Terry ever issued any order suspending the
writ of habeas corjms in that county, at any time ?

Answer. No, sir; I never saw it.

Question. Did you ever hear of any sucli order ?

Anstver. No, sir. Mr. Pottle, in his attacks upon me, charged that the writ of habeas
corpushaA been suspended ; but it never was my understanding.

Question. You never knew of any order suspending the writ of habeas corpus ?

Answer: I never had any.
Question. You never heard of any ?

Answer. No, sir—nothmg but what he said about it.

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. Are you a practicing lawyer?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. You have never studied law ?

Ansicer. No, sir ; not to make it a profession.

Question. Yon do not pi'etend to have a knowledge of the law ?

Aiisicer. No, sir ; not a legal knowledge of it.

Question. You were interrogated considerably as to whether any murders have taken
place in Warren County since 1870. I want to know whether the reign of terror was
not complete before that time—whether any more murders were necessary to get the
poor negroes under subordination ?

Ansiver.I think there had been plenty to get them under all the subordination that
anybody might want.

Question. They were not entirely free from terror in that county at the beginning of
1870 ?

Ansivcr. They were not.

Question. In what condition were they at the beginning of 1870, as to intimidation
or fear of the Kn-Klux ?

Ansiver. They were in great dread of them.
Question. Have they been relieved of that dread or terror since that time ?

Aiis^vei: I think not, up to this time. I think they are in dread every night of their
lives from that organization.

By Mr. Pool :

Question. Have there been any whippings in that region lately ?

Answer. The negroes who came up to Atlanta a couple of weeks ago told me that
there had been a good deal of whipping ; but I did not ask them any questions about
it ; they said they were fixing to get away as soon as they could.

Question. You understood them to say there had been a good many whippings lately ?

* Ansivo: Yes, sir ; this year.

Washington, D. C, July 24, 1871.

Hon. JOHN H. CHRISTY sworn and examined.

The Chairman, (Mr. Pool.) This witness having been called at the instance of the
minority, Mr. Blair or Mr. Beck will please begin his examination.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Tell the committee where you reside, and how long you have resided
there.

Answer. I reside in Athens, Clarke County, Georgia, and have resided there about
twenty-sis years, there and in the vicinity. I have a little farm just out of town,
where I am sometimes ; hut I have been in the county for twenty-six years.

Question. What public positions have you held or asjiired to in the State of Georgia
during that time ? I ask you that question in order that when you answer we may
understand exactly your status there, and the means of information you possess.

Answer. I have held very few public positions, and I do not know that I have ever
aspired to any, I was twice elected to Congress from my district. I was a member
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of the State convention that formed the new constitution in 1865, under President
Johnson's reconstruction.

Question. When were you elected to Congress?
An»wer. I was tirst elected in 1865, and I was again elected at the military election in

1S68 ; those were the two first elections after the war.
Qiicsiioii. Have you a pretty general acquaintance in that portion of Georgia, espe-

cially in the congressional district of whicli Clarke County forms a part?
Answer. I have a very general acquaintance in that district ; I do not know but

what I know everj- man in it of any |>r()ni!ui'nce, and a great many others. I have
attended the courts in my circuit and in adjoining circuits, and I have a consideralde

acquaintance in some of the other congressional districts in other parts of the Sta'e.

I have lived in the State a long time, and the town where I live is the seat of the

State University, and j)eoplo come tliere frohi all parts of the State, especially on
commencement occasions; in that way I have become acquainted with many of the

prominent men of the State. Besides that I have myself traveled over a great deal of

the State.

Question. Have you ever canvassed your congressional district as a politician?

Answer. No, sir'; I liave not." On one occasion, when I was a candidate, I wa-s

a member of the State convention, and the election occurred a day or two after I

returned from Milledgeville. On the other occasion when I was a candidate I was
afflicted with bronchitis, so that I could not address the people, and I did not go away
from home.

Question. We desire particularly to know the present condition of your people as to

law and order ; whether or not the laws can be enforced there, and whether life and
property are secure; whether there have been any operations by disguised men, or any
outrages committed by them. Go on and tell all about it, without being specially

interrogated.
Answer. From all the information I have, from ray own observation and from infor-

mation from other sources, I think that portion of the State of Georgia, at least, is as

quiet and orderly as it ever has been since I have lived in the State. After 1 received

my summons here I saw a judicial ofHcer who happened to meet me in my town. 1 had
DO statistics to refer to, and no data of that sort, but I inquired of him about it, and
obtained his opinion.

Qucsiion. Who Avas he ?

Ansiver. The Hon. Mr. Jackson, the ordinary of our county. The court-houso is not

in otir town, but seven miles from our town. Ho tells me that he is satisfied the laws

are now enft)rced a.s well as they ever were, and that there are no more violations of

law now than durinu; the same period before the war. He gave that as his opinion to

me last Tuesday or Wednesday. I have the same opinion myself from liaving visited

the courts generally. Judge Davis, the judge of onr circuit—it is not a circuit of but
three counties as that colored man swore to here ; he did not know any better; it is a

large circuit—Judge Davis is a republican, and a very upriglit and good man. He is of

the same opinion that lam, and I have talked with him frequently about it, that there

is no more difficulty in enforcing the law there than wo have always had. If a man
violates the law he escapes if he can. The difficulty we have labored under is

that these criminals are pardoned after the courts convict them, and sometimes

before they are brought to trial. This leads to some acts of violence, although I have
denounced them as acts of violence through my newspaper. But parties have palliated

them, saying that they were done because they knew the parties would finally escape

;

that if brought into the courts and convicted they would be pardoned.

Question. You have a right to speak of matters upon information upon which yon
can rely. We do not in this committee limit witnesses to their own personal knowledge,

but they can give such information as they rely upon ; in other words, hearsay. State

any acts of lawlessness, and the causes of them, about which you know or have relia-

ble information.
An.'iwer. I can give you a few occurrences that have happened in our own county

;

they are what we may call specimens of the lawlessness wo have in the State generally.

So far as I know, the first act of lawlessness I remember after the war was the killing

of a negro. Nobody knew who did it, but suspicion rested upon a confederate .soldier

from Kentucky who was stopping there in onr county. Finding out that suspicion

rested upon liim he left. When the superior court came on there was a true bill found

against him ; I was foreman of the grand jury myself. Of course the testimony before

the grand jury was all ex parte. Some time afterward, perhaps a year or two, ho camo
back into that county, was apprehended, brought to trial, and was acquitted. In the

trial, both sides were heard. The evidence, what there was of it, was entirely circum-

stantial ; nobody saw him commit the act ; there was no direct proof against him, and
lie was acquitted. That was the first violation of law of any magnitude that I remem-
ber after the war. The next occurrence I recollect was this : a confederate soldier, born

and raised in our town, a very popular young man, beloved by the whole community.
Lad a quarrel with an agent of the Freedmen's Bureau on election day. A day or two
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afterward he got drunk, got excited with liquor aud went to the office of the Bureau
Agent and provoked a quarrel witli liini and got shot

;
got Ijis thigh broken. The

father and brothers and kinfolk of this young man assured Major Knox, the agent of
the Freeduien's Bureau, (he is in this city now,) that he should not be troubled for it,

and he was not troubled. I mention that to show the law-abiding character of our
citizens. If anything could luive provoked them to violate the law that would have
done it, because the agents of the Freeduien's Bureau were at that time very obnoxious
to our people. I do not remember any llagraut violation of the law until that Rich-
ardson case came up.

Qiusiion. Alfred Richardson ?

Aii.'<tccr. Yes, sir ; the man who testified before you ; I have read his testimony.
Quesiio)!. He is a colored representative in the State legislature, from your county ?

Answtr. lie is one of them. There are two colored representatives from our county.
Question. State the facts in that case as you understand them.
Answer. I do not know about the case personally^ but I will state what I understand

to be the facts of the case. A freedman had lost a heifer, a beef as ho called it, and the
white men in the neighborhood, his employers and others, knew that he could not pur-
chase another, aiid they advised him to get some white men to help him recover the
heifer. Those white men disguised theuiselves and went up to Watkinsville, our
county seat, aud went to the house of a notorious negro there ; he is named Watson, I
think. The negroes take up all kinds of names and change them about every sis
months. They went to the house of this man Watson, who it was supposed had the
cow in his possession, or knew where it was. One report is that they tlireatened to
whip him, another is that they actually did whip him, to make him tell where the cow
was. While; that was going on, Avhether tliey were whipping or merely frightening
him, Alfred Richardson, who lived in another part of the village, too far off to hear the
man's cries, if he made any. had found out in some way wh&t was going on ; he gathered
up a number of negroes and went there and attacked those men, tired on them, and one
was shot in the eye. They left precipitately, skedaddled, not knowing how many there
were attacking them. Richardson and his crowd followed them out of town ; and
after they got out of town they turned on him and shot him in the leg with small shot.
Some weeks afterwards the same party, it was supposed, went to Watkinsville, and
went to Richardson's house and attacked him, and on that occasion he killed one of
them named Ponder. This man Ponder did not belong in oiu' county ; it was believed
that the party of men were from Greene County; it was in Greene County that the
heifer Avas stolen. I do not think the citizens in our county did it at all. There was
no politics in the thing; when they came there the first time they were not searching
for Richardson's house, for all there knew Richardson's house as well as the house of
this other negro. Richardson's house has become a noted place

;
people have been iu

the habit of pointing it out as one of the objects of interest about the town. It was so
remarkable a thing that we should have two thick-headed negroes to represent ns in
the legislatlire, that the house he lived iu was quite a show. The statement of Rich-
ardson, that they were beating this negro to make him tell where Richaidson lived, is

absurd ; everybody knew where he lived who knew anything about Watkinsville.
Question. Was it ever claimed, until Richardson made his statement here, that that

body of men were after him at the time of their first difficulty ?

^wsice?-. I never heard of their being after him at all.

Question. It was the cow thief they were after ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear the statement by anybody, white or black, that they
were inquiring at that time for Richardson's hoxise?
Answer. Never in the world. The first I ever heard of that was in Richardson's tes-

timony. They were moved by sympathy for the negro ; they knew the negro was i^oor,
and they wanted to recover his cow for him. They also wanted to break up this
thieving, for they had lost property themselves, aud thought it had gone iu the same
direction. I do not know myself who those people were.

Qu-e-siion. You have stated that your ^pinion is that Richardson fired the first shot,
at the time these diaguised men were punishing this cow thief, Watson ?

Answer. l''es, sir.

Question. I want you now to tell me from whom you heard it, and what means those
men had of knowing ?

Ansivcr. i heard it from various citizens of Watkinsville ; I do not remember how
many of them. Dr. M. S. Durham was one, Mr. Robert L. Harris was another; they
are very reliable men, and men who would sutler martyrdom for the truth, if any men
would. ' .

Question. Do you remember any others?
Answer. I do not remember their names ; numbers talked to me about it ; it was com-

mon talk for two or throe days. I cannot remember the others to swear to them, but
almost everybody I saw from Watkinsville spoke about it, and they were staid and
respectable citizens. I am publishing a newspaper, and I always try to got facts from
reliable sources.
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Question. You regarded your information on that subject full and reliable?
Ansiccr. As reliable as I could get.

Question. There was an attack on Richardson made that night?
Annwer. They did not shoot at him until after they were in full retreat, and had left

the jdace; he and his squad followed them out of the village. It was supposed that
these parties did not know th(; strength of the squad that was after them, and they
left the village. They finally fired on him and he was hit.

Question. Richardson fired first?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it regarded by the people there that tlie attack on Richardson, when
his house was attacked, was made because of his attack on those jiarties, when they
were after the cow thief?

Answer. Yes, sir ; that was the supposition.
Question. He was a member of the legislature from your county?
Anstver. Yes, sir ; one of them.
Question. How far are republicans protected in your region of country in the casting

of their votes ?

Answer. They cast them just the same as other people, when they please and without
any fear of intimidation. There has been no effort made to influence the colored i)eo-

ple in our county, and the consequence is that they have elected their members of the
legislature. There has been no attempt to influence them in our county, even by per-
suasion. There have been two or three negroes in our town who have voted the demo-
cratic ticket ; they have been threatened by negroes there that if they dared vote the
democratic ticket they would kill them. They did attack a negro that voted the open
democratic ticket; a negro attacked him in the street shortly after he voted, and he
whipped the negro that attacked him. They let him alone after that ; they thought
him an unsafe customer. He is there in the community yet, but he has lost caste with
the other negroes by voting the democratic ticket.

Question. It is said that it has become so unsafe for negroes who are republicans to
remain there that they are leaving the country, because of the bad treatment that they
receive; that they are so much intimidated that they dare not either express their sen-
timents or vote them ; what do you know on that subject ?

Answer. I do not think it is true. Lazy negroes, who do not want to work in the
country on the plantations, come into town and make a precarious living by working
on the streets and hiring out from time to time, and by stealuig at nights. Such negroes
very frequently come in and say they have been driven off by the Ku-Klux. I have a
negro now in my employ, from Oglethorpe, who said he was driven out by the Ku-
Klux. Before he had been in my employ two weeks, he was arrcjsted by an officer from
that county for stabbing a negro ; I paid a lawyer and had him released ; I made a
compromise so that he might be released.

Question. When they come to town they generally say they have been driven off by
the Ku-Klux?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. This man in your employ said he had been driven oif by the Ku-Klux ?

Ansicer. He did not tell that to me ; he told my little boys that he was afraid to stay
in Oglethorpe on account of the Ku-Klux.

Question. You compromised the case of stabbing on account of which he had run off?

Answer. I compromised the case and he is living with me to-day. He is a better
negro than the average of them, but he will lie.

Qtiestion. Have you been much annoyed in your country by larcenies committed by
colored people ?

Answer, A great deal. There is an old negro in Watkinsvillc, the very place where
Kichardson says there is so much trouble, who told some white gentlemen the other
day that he did not believe the Ku-Klux existed at all, but if it did, he wished it would
be brought there, and that he would give $20 to sustain it, because he could not now
raise any chickens or pigs. Mr. Robert L. Harris told me that before this difficulty

occurred it was so bad that his family could not attend church at night ; he lived a
little way from town ; that armed negroes patrolled the road, and undertook to halt
everybody that passed along and make them tell their business; that they were kick-
ing up a great many rustics all over the county ; but since this party came into town
they had been rather quiet ; the orderly negroes were very glad they came in upon
them ; there have been only those two visits at Watkinsvillc, that I know of. I have
heard from time to time of parties being whipped at night by disguised men, par-

ties who Avere living in a state of fornication and adultery; I have heard of a few
cases of that sort. I have no idea that there ever has been any organization in the
State of Georgia known as Ku-Klux, or any other sort of secret organization, except
the Loyal League, since the surrender.

Question. As far as you know, did these bands of disguised men ever punish any-
body in the county for his politics ?

Answer. I know of no man having been punished for his politics; I kuow of no at-
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tempt to interfere with any one on account of his politics, except the time when the
attempt was made to whip old Tom for voting the democratic ticket. Sometimes
iiiischievons boys who want to have some fan go on a masquerading fit>lic to scare the
negroes, but they do not interrupt them, do not hurt them in any way ; but that is what
political capital is made out of; stones are exaggerated, and it keeps up tbeimpressiou
among the negroes tbat there is really a Ku-Klux organization ; the boys do not molest
them, but merely scare them ; and tbat is a rare occurrence ; I have heard of some cases

of that sort, just such cases as that. And I have heard of cases where parties have
taken the law into their own hands, for tbe punishment of those living in fornication

and adultery, in open violation of the law ; such things as those have given rise to all

these Ku-Klux stories, in our part of the State. I do not believe there is any Ku-IGux
organization in auj' part of the State.

Question. What counties do you embrace in your statement?
Answer. The twenty-one counties of tbe sixth congressional district, and a number

of the counties of tbe third and fifth congressional districts, the counties lying in the
neighborhoodjof our districts; our county is in the lower corner of tbe sixth district

;

and I am consequently acquainted in the third and lifth congressional districts.

Question. Are you a newspa|ier man and a politician, and thus thrown in contact
Avith a large number of the people in your section of the country ?

Anmrcr. Yes, sir.

Question. Are you acquainted with them ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You know the condition of your country very well ?

Answer. I think I travel over it more than any man in it, unless it is the judge of our
superior court and his solicitor.

QucMion. Are the judges of your courts republicans?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is that the information you have from them, that the country is peaceable
and orderly ?

Answer. I have it from the judge of our circuit; I do not remember talking with
other judges; perhaps I did with Judge Andrews, of the northern circuit, adjoining
ours ; I.think I did ; I know our judge, Judge Davis, very well ; he lives in the adjoin-
ing county. <

Question. Do yon know of any interruptions of gentlemen who have undertaken to
make republican speeches in your section of the country?

Ansicer. No, sir; I do not remember any interruption of that sort, recently. Before
the presidential election Mr. Akerman, who is now the Attorney General of the United
States, had his hoi'se shaved in Washington, Wilcox County. I do not know that he
was making republican speeches then ; but he told me the wiuter afterwards about his
horse being shaved, and said that he thought it was done by some mischievous boys.

Que-siion. What is the etiect upon the feeling of security of life and property in your
region of country, of the frequent j)ardons of which you have spoken as having been
granted by your governor?
Answer. As I stated a while ago, the direct effect is to cause some good citizens—other-

wise good men—to countenance acts of violence sometimes, because, they say, that it

is the only way in which you can punish criminals. I do not know that these men
indulge in these practices themselves, but they try to palliate them, and say that the
boys are not to blame so much after all, because they know that if the parties are tried
in the courts and convicted the governor will pardon them.

Qui'stion. Ha5 he pardoned many offenders in your region of country?
Answer. Not in our immediate region—not a great many. • He pardoned one man in

Banks County, above us, for murdering a negi'o ; he was not brought to trial at all.

He has not jjardoued many in our own county. He pardoned two parties who were
accused of murder, who were never brought to trial ; but he did that at the solicitations
of many of our best citizens. I do not know why he granted the pardon in the Banks
County case. There was one case I wanted to mention to you. I undertook to give
the instances of violations of law in our county, and mentioned all the cases but one ; I

am reminded of that case by reading the testimony of Eichardson. He speaks of a
man whom he called Haycock, and holds out the idea that the Ku-Klux Avere after
him. Now, that was an outrage by negroes; three negroes whipped a man by the
name of Acock ; two of the negroes escaped, one was apprehended and brought to trial.

He confessed that they were hired by a white man, who paid them to go and whip
Acock ; they beat him nearly to death. The negroes take this thing in hand them-
selves sometimes ; they have got the trick ; they learn anything th.nt white men do
that is mean; they disguise themselves sometimes. They had no animosity against
Acoclc himself; but they were tools, for a very small consideration, to go and whip him.

By Sir. Blair :

Question. Who was Acock ?

Answer. He ia a j^lain, country farmer, an inoffensive man, as far as I know. But
this neighbor of his had a fallLug out with him, and being afraid himself to attempt to
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chastise Acock, lie hired negroes to do it. I know of other cases of that sort—not of
my personal knowledge, but from reliable information—where negroes have gone out
and done these things, ilr. Pottle told me of a case in Hancock County where there
were twelve, or Hfteen, or eighteen negroes—I do not remember the number, bat a
considerable number of them—who had disguised themselves for the jjurpose of killiTig

a whiter man. There was a loose plauk in the lluor of the room where ho and his wile
were, and ^hc raised tlie ])lank and got him to get under it. When the negroes came
in the- houjie, not lindiug him they thought he had made his escape; they insulted her,

blustered around a while, and then left. They were tried in the Hancock court, con-
victed, and sentenced to the penitentiary, and pardoned by the governor. That
account 1 got from Mr. Pottle as I was on ray way here ; he lives in Warren County
but the case occurred in Hancock County.

By the CHAiiniAX, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. Did you say that you edited a newspaper ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. A democratic newspaper?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Qnc^Uon. I find the following in the testimony of Mr. Richardson:
"We followed them to the forks of the road, about three hundred yards from where

we met them. They all stopped and got over into the iield, taking the old man with
them. I ran up, and looked first u^i oue road and then the other, to see which way
they had goile. I could not see anybody for a long time ; a cloud had got over the
moon. Alter a while 1 saw oue fellow slipping alongside the fence. He had a pistol

in his hand, as if to Shoot me. When I saw him doing that, I took my pistol, and shot
at hun. When I shot at him there were three or four men who shot me from through
the fence. I did not see them."

It thus appears by the testimony of Alfred Richardson that he himself states that he
fired the first shot.

Answer. 1 have always understood that he stated so ; I have never heard him make
the statement himself.

Qaa:ilioH. Is it substantially as he states it, so far as you know ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir. I had not heard all the particulars when I was at home." I read
his testimony this morning, and I found in it a great many things I never heard before.

He was present and kuew all that happened. 1 do not know how much of his state-

ment is true.

Question. Were any of the men whom you heard make a statement about it i)resent

there, and did they see itf

Answer. No, sir. There were some young men. who, it occurred to me, might have
had some hand in it, and I asked them about it, but they said they knew nothing about
it personally ; that they had talked with Alfred Richardson, but they did not know the
parties who were in disguise.

Question. W^hat is the character of Alfred Richardson?
Answer. 1 am not able to answer that satisfactorily ; I barely know him by sight,

though he has been representing me for some time in the legislature. I never saw Lim
until since this occurrence ; he came into my oftlce one day, when he came to Athens

;

he was there for a few minutes ; that was the only time I ever saw him.
Question. Do you know the reputatiou he bears in the community ?

Answer. 1 do not know anything in the world about him ; I have heard nothing
against him or for him. I know as little about him as I possibly can know about any
plantation negro, except that he was in my office at oue time, and I told him he was
safe in Athens.

Question. You say his house was a notorious place ?

Answer. I say it was a noted place, merely because he was a colored representative
in the legislature ; I said that was what gave it its notoriety.

Question. Y'ou say the parties who came to his liouse were from Greene County ?

Answer. I say it was generally supposed that they were the neighbors of the freed-

man who had lost his cow.
Question. Did tliey shoot him that night in his house ?

Answer. He says they did ; I do not know anything about the con-ectness of his state-

ment.
Question. Was it generally understood in the community that they fired at him ?

Answer. I do not know about that ; I do not know that I overheard that.

Question. Did you ever hear it contradicted that he was shot that night ?

Answer. I do not know that I ever heard it contradicted or asserted. I heard that he
shot Ponder ; that was common talk ; I do not remember whether I heard that he was
wounded or not.

Question. Y'ou say that ho killed a man ?

Ansrcer. So he says, and I was told by respectable citizens in the neighborhood that
they have no doubt it was so. Ponder has not been seen since.

Question. Has there been any prosecution against Richardson for killing that man ?
j



GEORGIA. 239

A7iswcr. No, sir, uot at all ; wo have had tio coiires since then.

Question. You have magistrates aud justiees of the peace ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was a case of homicide?
Answer. The general opinion of the community is that it was justiflahle, for he was

attacked in his own house.

Question. If these parties were from Greene County why should they know Richard-

son's house ?

Answer. Greene County is very near Watkinsville ; they live very little further from
Watkinsville than I do, aud thi; Greene Couuty people frequently come there.

Question. Ai'e the negroes.in the majority in your county ?

Ansu-er. No, sir, except on election days ; they are always in the majority then, for

they colonize largely.

Question. How large a majority ?

Ansicir. They vote sometimes one hundred aud fifty majority there.

Question. What is the statement of the census returns of your county ?

Answer. I have uot examined the censtfs returns, but I think the whites outnumber
the blacks. .

•

Question. To what extent?
Ansiper. I do not know.
Question. How is it in the adjoining counties?
Ansirer. In some counties the whites are more numerous, and in some the blacks are.

In Oglethorpe and Greene Counties the blacks outnumber the whites ; in Walton, Jack-
son, and Madison Counties the whites outnumber the blacks.

Question. Have you not heard of a great many outrages committed by disguised men
in the counties around you ?

Answer. I remarked a while ago that I had heard of several cases of whipping, where
whites aud blacks were cohabiting together ; I do not remember any whipping for any
other cause. I have heard of cases in Walton and Morgan and Clarke Counties—whites
and blacks were both whipped—where it was done for cohabitation between the dif-

ferent races.

Question. You have heard of no cases except for that offense?

Ans^cer. I do not remember of any others. I heard of an old man named Fambrough,
a white man, who was whipped. I do not remember why he was whipped, or how.

Question. You have uot heard of any persons being whipped who were charged with
stealing, except the man Watson you have named?
Answer. I do not remember any.
Question. Have there been any barns burned in your county?
Ansuwr. There have been cotton-gins burned. That is the sort of burnings we have.

We do uot have any barn-burning with us ; they burn uj) the crop of cotton in the
gin-house.

Question. How many cases of that sort have you heard ?

Answer. I do not remember; pei'haps three or four in the last three or four years.

There may have been more than that, but I do uot recollect. These things sometimes
occur by accident when it is thought to be the work of an incendiary. I do uot know
that they were incendiary burnings, but wo were uot able to convict anybody for them.

Question. You say that boys go out in disguise and visit the negroes?
Answer. I say that it is saicf that they go out and meet them sometimes on the road

aud scare them.
Question. Do they not go to their houses ?

Answer. They may sometimes, but they do not attempt to punish them in any way.
Question. Does uoit that produce a state of intimidation and fear on the part of negroes ?

'Answer. To a certain extent it does. The negroes are very superstitious ; they say
the Ku-Klux are the spirits of confederate soldiers. I have talked with negroes some-
times who say they leave holes in the ground like the seventeen-year locusts ; that they
can see where they come up out of the ground. The negroes are very superstitious

;

they are very much afraid if they see anything white in the night.

Question. Do not the Ku-Klux tell the negroes that story about the spirits of the con-

federate dead ?

Amwefi'. I do not know about the Ku-Klux ; the boys who disguise themselves humor
that joke, of course.

Question. Do you suppose those negroes really believe anything of that kind ?

Ansiver. I do not know whether they believe it or not ; they pretend to. They are

very superstitious, as I know; for I have been raised among them, and have lived

among them all my life.

Question. How is it that the negroes, who are so very near in a majority in your
county, submit so quietly to boys going about in this way, and now aud then whipping
them ?

Aiisiver. The boys do not whip them.
QueJiiion. Well, how do they submit to the men who do whip them?
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Answer. They cannot 'u-ell help submitting. Where a crowd of a dozen men go and
liiul a man and woman in bed together, they can whip them very easily.

Queslion. Why do they not retaliate?

Answer. I do. not know; the white men might as well retaliate as the negroes. I

have said thafc 1 have heard of three or lour cases of persons living in fornication or

adultery where they have l)een visited in that way. I was asked to state the outrages
that had occurred, and I stated where parties undertook to take the pirnishment of
criminals in their own hands.

Qiic^ion. You say the governor has not given any occasion for that, for ho has issued

no iiardous in your section of the State"?

Answer. I do not say he has issued none ; I know of some he has issued.

Question. Have any been improperly issued in your section of the State ?

Answer. I am not the judge of that. I will say, however, that I think one was—the
man in Banks County, who was not tried at all. I never heard of any palliating cir-

cumstance in that case. Perhaps the governor thought he had good reason for grant-
ing a pardon. I know the man very well.

Question. How far is Banks County from you?
Answer. It is thirty-two miles from the court-house. I go there frequently.
Question. Have any white men been convicted for committing any of these acts in

disguise ?

Anmoer. I do not remember any case that has come to trial.

Question. Have any been arrested ?

Answer. I do not know of any that have been arrested ; they do not know who they
are. I have myself talked with the solicitor about it, and urged him to have them
arrested, if possible.

^

Qiiestion. You say you have heard of two cases where negroes disguised themselves?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question, in both of those cases the negroes were arrested?

Ansiver. In one case one negro was arrested, and in the other case the whole number
were arrested.

Question. And the whole number were convicted ?

Answer. I understood Mr. Pottle to say that they were all convicted ; they did not
go to the penitentiary, for they were pardoned.

V, Question. How is it that the two cases where the negroes were disguised were promptly
met by the authorities, and none of the cases in which white men did the same thing
have been prosecuted ?

Ansiver. I have only one way to aGcount for it, and that is only supposition on my
part: I presume they recognized the negroes, and did not recognize the white men.
Richardson himself told me that he did not know the men Avho were after him ; I asked
him very particularly about it Avhen he was in my office ; I was very anxious to have
them prosecuted, out of consideration for the good name of our country. I denounced
them very bitterly in my paper ; I am opposed to everything of the sort, and I want
to sec them prosecuted. So far as I know, our good citizens, law-abiding citizens, are
all opposed to all acts of violence, and have always been. We have ever been a law-
abiding cbmnniuity, yet the laws have been violated ever since I knew the countj^.

Before the Avar I knew the case of one man there who killed his father, of another
man who killed his wife ; but there was no Ku-Klux in that.

Question. Did you know in your county of men in disguise going about before the
war as they have since ?

Ansiver. In some rare instances.

Question. Before the war ?

Answei'. Yes, sir ; there have been instances all over the Southern and Western States,

as there used to be in California, where men set themselves up as regulators when they
desired to get rid of obnoxious persons in the neighborhood. I have heard of disguised
parties running off people in that way ever since I could recollect.

Question. Did you hear of any such case in the State of Georgia?
Answer. Yes, sir. .

Question. Of a band of men disguising themselves ?

Answer. I do not know that they did, but I presume they did ; I have heard of it. I
have known them to go and stone the houses of parties, and run them off in that way.

Question. Were they in disguise ?

Ansiver. I do not know whether they were disguised or not ; I never knew the parties.

Question. I was speaking of these manifestations by bands of disguised men visiting
people's houses and punishing them for petty crimes.

^Inswer. I do not know that they were disguised before the war; I do not remember
whether it was stated they were disguised or not.

Question. Have you not heard that these bands have been operating within the last

twelve months in various parts of the State of Georgia?
Ansiver. I have heard more of it here in Washington City than I ever heard anywhere

else. When I was here upward of two years ago I heard a great deal of it. It is much
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like sickness in different sections of the country. I have traveled in different parts of
the State, and have asked iu a neighborhood if there was any fever iu that neighbor-
hood. The answer would be: "O, no, no fever here; but if you go down here about
twenty miles almost everybody there dies of fever." And when you get down twenty
miles furtlier, they tell you there is no fever there, but you will find it tweutj' miles
beyond that. So it is in tliis case. I heard here in Washington a great deal of it dur-
ing the winter I spent here.

Question. Have you not heard of it in Georgia ?

Aiiswcr. I have heard of some cases, as I have told you.
Qucniion. Have you not been thrown into intercourse and communication svith a great

many people from different parts of the State of Georgia ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. Have they not rejiorted these thiugs as occurring in different jiarts of the
State ?

Answer. Some report that there are outrages ; others say that they are greatlj' mag-
nified. I met Mr. Kiel, representative from Warren County, and a- republican. More
outrages, so-called, were said to have been committed in Warren County than in any
other county iu the State. It is the county where Chap Norris lives, a man who has
had a great deal to do with fomenting mischief there, it is believed. I asked Niel about
it, and he told me that the cases had been A'ery greatly magnified; he stated that not
one-tenth of the cases that had been reported from Warren County were correct. I

have heard of many cases of that sort.

Question. You have heard similar reports from other States, have you not?
Ansiccr. Yes, sir; I fcave heard that Tennessee was full of the Ku-Ivlux.
Question. You have heard of it in Alabama?
Ansicer. I do not remember so particularly about Alabama, but I have heard a great

deal about the Ku-Klus in Tennessee. Tennessee adjoins my district.

Question. Have you ever conversed with any man who said that he belonged to an
organizatiou of that sort ?

Ansiver. Never in the world. I have seen some boys, some young men—bad young
men—who I tliought would perhaps belong to it, if there was any such organization at
all. I have asked them about it. but they have denied it. I never saw a man on the lace

of the habitable globe who admitted or said that he belonged to any such organization.
Question. Did you ever hear any man with whom you talked say that he belonged to

any organization at all ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; I have talked with men who might have belonged to it, but they
never admitted it to me. They kuow that I am opposed to it, and they would be very
clear of admitting it to me, even if they did belong to it.

-
' By Mr. CoBurn :

Question. Have you ever seen Governor Bullock's proclamations in relation to these
crimes committed by disguised men in Georgia ?

Answer. I ]iublished his proclamations iu my paper.
Question. Did he not recite a large number of outrages committed by disguised men?
Answer. He recited a number of them. I do not kuow that it was a large number ; he

recited several, somg in otir county. This Richardson affair was one ; and he recited

some that occuiTcd about Eome, and some in other places.

Question. Stating the names of the persons who had been outraged, the deeds com-
mitted by these disguised men, and the places where they were said to have been com-
mitted ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. In view of that, are yott prepared to say that there is no difliculty in en-
forcing the law in Georgia?

Ansu'er. I have not said any such thing.
Question. I understood you to say that.

Ajiswer, I did not say there was no difficulty ; I said there was no more difficulty

now than before the war. Scoundrels who break the law will always escape if they
can.

Question. Was there difficulty in enforcing the law before the war ?

Answei-. There is much difficulty in enforcing the law everywhere that I ever heard
of.

Question. Is it not a matter of fact that th« crimes committed by these disguised men
are more difficult of prosecution and conviction than crimes that were committed
before the war ?

Answer. I think so, because you cannot find out who they are. Before the war you
generally got some clue to the persons who committed the crimes. That has been the
trouble in our county.

Question. Is not that the reason why Governor Bullock offered large rewards for the
apprehension of these criminals ?

Answer. I sup])ose that was one reason.

16 G
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Qnesii^H. Una anybody been taken up nndcr this offer of reward ?

Aiisivcr. Under this particular ofter you refer to ? I do not know. I think somo
wore taken up in the ueighborhood of Rome.

Question. About what was the date of that procLamation ?

Answer. I do not remember the exact date
;
probably about February or March ; I

think it was about that time of the year. I rather think some of the parties were
arrested u]) about Rome. Nobody has been arrested under that proclamation in our

county. I think that the parties committing the deeds in our couuty, from the informa-

tion 1 could get, resided in Greene County; that is the general impression.

Question. You mentioned a great difficulty in relation to some crimes occasioned by
the great number of pardons by the governor. Do you kuow^ cf any instance in which
any man pardoned by the governor has coumiitted another crime?

Ansiccr. Afterward ?

Question. Yes.

Answer. No, sir, I do not. I only know of the three pardons that I mentioned, one in

Banks Couuty, aud.two in our own couuty. I have not heard of those parties committing
crime since.

Question. Have you any reason to believe that the pardons granted by Governor

Bullock have operated to encourage disguised men to go around and perpetrate out-

rages ?

Answer. That is the general impression, that they do it because when parties havo

l)een convicted they could not be punished, owing to the executive pardons.

Question. Has auybody ever been convicted for committing crimes as disguised

men ? /

Answer. No, sir. But they have been convicted for theft and various other crimes, and
pardoned wit-hout puuishnieut ; that was the kind I referred to. There may have been

some convicted for committing crimes as disguised men, but I <lo not know of any case.

Question. Now, in relation to the petty crimes that are committed. Why do not the

people, as a matter of fact and policy, resort to the courts for the puuishmeat of those

crimes ?

Ansicer. They do generally resort to the courts, and have always done so, as a general

thing. There have been some exceptional cases, as I told ycu, where disguised men
undertook to punish parties ; but, as a general thing, they resort to the courts.

Question. Do you know any reason why those men who came in search of this alleged

cow-thief at Watkinsville did not take out legal process ?

Answer. I do not.

Question. Was there any obstruction in the way of their doing so?

Answer. I do not know any reason at all. I am not posted about that. I do not

know what was their reasou.

Question. You say that in cases of adultery, and for open violations of law, persons

are whipped by these disguised men ?

Answer. I have heard of some few cases of that sort that I have mentioned. I do

not remember any other cases.

Question. How are these things regarded in that community ; are they approved or

disapproved ?

Answer. What ; adulterers and fornicators? •

Question. No ; punishment in this way of persons who commit open violations of law.

Answer. It depends a great deal upon circumstances. I have no doubt that the people

who live in the ueighborhood where a man and woman are living together in open
violation of law are very glad when they get whipped and run oti'. If they are not

living right under my nose, if I live out of the way of it, I would say that the law
should not be violated at all, that it should he respected.

Question. Suppose that other violations of law, theft and other irregularities, aside

from adultery, are punished by men in disguise, is there any reprobation of acts of that

kind, if the commission of the crime is clearly established?

Answer. Yes, sir. Our people are opjiosed to everything in the shape of mob violence;

I speak of most of the people generally. They are just as much opposed to it as peo-

ple in New England, New Y^ork, Ohio, Missouri, or any other State.

Question. There h:^s been testimony here going to show that these disguised men are

in some degree the successors of what were called patrols in slave times ; that they do
dutiesof that kind. During the time of slavery petty offenses were not punished by
law ; but the patrols punished them sumjiiarily,"^ giving the offenders so many lashes ?

Answer. Patrols did not punish petty offenses ; "but they would not allow negroes to

be out where they could commit petty offenses after 9 o'clock at night, unless they had
a pass. The master of the negro could give him a pass, so that he could stay out all f ho

year round if he wanted to, and the patrol could not interrupt him. But the negro

who was disposed to thieving could not get a pass to be out after 9 o'clock. They did

not undertake to punish a negro for petty crimes, but for being out after that hour

without a pass. That Avas the extent of the punishment by the patrol. And men
generally through the country subjecl to military duty were subject also to patrol

duty.
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By the Chairman, (Mr. Poor,:)

Question. That was provided by law /

Answer. It was provided by law.

By Mr. Cobuen:
Question. Asa general thing, how do the colored people behave ia that county?
Answer. As a general thing they behave better than I had any idea they wonld. As

to working, they do better than I thought they would, a great many of them. There
are some of them who gather about the towns and tell these cock-and-bull stories

about being run off by the Ku-Klux. The truth is, they come to town because they do not
want to work. Generally the negroes work better than I supposed they would. A
great many of them acquire property. I suppose there are from sixty to seveuty-tive
in my town who have houses and lots. They are industrious negroes, and are en-
couraged and protected by the white people, who sell them lots cheap. They are in-

clined to become property-holders.
Question. Are they aggressive or insulting toward the whites ?

Answer. They have a great deal of human nature about them. If a white man will

put himself on a level with the negroes, if he will play marbles with them, play with
them, scuffle with them, and all that, they become very insulting and very aggressive
toward him. But if a white man treats them as a gentleman should, with humanity
and iioliteness, they areas polite a people as I ever saw. I have had no difficulty at all

with the freedmeu since slavery was abolished ; they treat me with great politeness,

and I treat them with great i)oliteness myself. I believe everybody who treats them in

that way will have u(#trouble with them ; I will do them the justice to say that.

Question. How long have these disguised men been oj)erating in that country ?

Answer. It is irregular; the thing has occurred but seldom. The lirst case I think I

heard of was that of old man Fambrough. I do not remember the particulars of that
case, and I do not remember exactly when it occurred ; I suppose it occurred about
two years ago, but I am not certain as to dates ; I think it was probably t^o years ago.
This is not an organization, not a regular thing, and I am afraid I have made a wrong
impression on your mind. You sjieak of these disguised bands as though they were
something regular and organized. Kow, I do not want to convey that impression,
because 1 do not believe it at all. They are not epidemic ; there are a few sporadic
cases.

Question. Did not the proclamation of the governor of the State, the statements in
the newspapers, and the published evidence of witnesses in various States, create the
impression on your mind that there is some sort of organization ?

Ansicer. Ko, sir ; the very fact that they tell these cock-and-bull stories does not create
that impression at all.

Question. Do you call the proclamation of the governor, the evidence of witnesses,
and the statements i>ublished in the newsjjapers cock-and-bull stories ?

Anstver. No, sir, I do not ; but see how easy it is to get up a proclamation
Question. We do not want to reason about it ; I want your opinion.
Ansu-er. My opinion is that there is no such thing at all. And I know that Alf. Rich-

ardson, or anybody else, can go to the governor and tell him a story, and get him to
issue a proclauuition.

Question. Do j^ou believe all these stories in the newspapers and the proclamation of
the governor are cock-and-bull stories ?

Anstver. No, sir ; some of them I believe are true.

Question. Do you not believe that there is an organization of disguised men existing
in various parts of the State ?

Answer. I have said that I have no knowledge of any such organization anywhere,
and I do not believe there is such an organization in Georgia. I have been told that
there is such an organization in Tennessee ; I have heard it repeated over and over

;

but I have no means of knowing whether that is so or not ; and I have no idea there is

any such organization in Georgia.
Question. Is it not possible that it might exist there and you not know it?

Ansicer. That is possible ; I will admit the possibility of that. But I do not believe
it exists; I think if it existed it would have leaked out in some way, so that some
friend of mine would have found out something about it, and told me something about
it. Still it is a possible thing that the thing might have existed.

Question. In order to test exactly your meaning in this matter, I will ask you what
you would call an organization ; what do you mean by an organization ? I will see
whether we understand each other about that.
Answer. By an organization I mean a lot of men banded together for a speciiic

purpose, who are regularly in the habit of meeting, and who carry out their purposes
and objects continuously. I do not consider it an organization if a lot of men hajipeu
to meet at the cross-roads somewhere and propose to go down to Jones's, or some other
place, and do some mischief; if they do not meet again, I do not call that an organiza-
tion.
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QucfiCion. Suppose tin; incu have disguises, and upon notice g^ven to tliem tliey can
lie readily got together ; and suppose that in pursuance of those meetings they go and
punish eohaed men iin- petty crimes, and punish other citizens for offenses ; and sup-

pose that in addititin to that certain members of a certain political party are found to

be the ones punished by them, and that they themselves are found to belong to the

opposite political party, would yon i-cgard that as an organization ?

Ansivcr. 0, yes; if it was a regular tiling like that, I should consider it an organiza-

tion.

Quesiion. Have you ever heard of any women or children being whipped by these

men ?

Answer. I never heard of it until I read Richardson's testimony this morning.
Question. Not in any part of Georgia ?

Answer. I do not recollect a single case of that kind, of women or children

whipped by disguised men. I have heard of negro women being whipped sometimes
for being slovens, and I have heard of their being whipped where they were living in

adultery ; in those cases women were involved.

Quesiion. Does the punishing of people by these disguised men have any effect upon
the colored people of th.at country at all ?

Ansu-er. I stated a while ago that I thought that colored people, being very super-

stitious, were afraid <jf them.
Question. Do you think that it is nothing but a superstitions fear?

Ansiver. I think that is the chief fear they liave, because I do not think any negroes
who behave themselves have been troubled by them.

Question. Do you not suppose they fear personal violence ? •
Aiistver. I do not think they do, unless it is some negroes who have been violating the

law in some way, and that is a matter that they know themselves; it is only a guess

on my part.

Question. BUive you heard of the negroes themselves expressing any opinion about
this ?

*

Ansiver. I have talked with some of them, and tliey call them ghosts.

Question. Did you ever know of any negro who thought he was in personal danger
from these disguised men ?

Ansieer. I have talked with one, Richardson.
Question. Have you talked with any others ?

Ansicer. No, sir; not any who said they were afraid of personal violence from them.
Quesiion. Are you willing to swear tliat it is a su])erstitiou8 fear on the part of the

colored people?
Ansu-er. No, sir, not that ; but I will swear that I think so.

Question. You think they are influenced by nothing but a superstitious fear ?

Ansu'er. As a general thing. I have no doubt that after Richardson attacked them
and they attacked him, he was afraid they would come a second time.

Quesiion. Do you think these negroes believe that ghosts take whips in their hands
and inflict stripes upon them ?

Ansiver. No, sir, I do not believe they do.

Question. Do you suppose they believe the horses and mules they are astride of are

ghosts ?

Answer. Well, sir, they swear that they have seen mules ten feet higb and with ears

six feet long
;
you can judge yourself about that.

Quesiion. And that leads you to believe that the negroes thiyk they arc ghosts ?

Ansiver. That, and the fact that numbers of gentlemen have told me that they have
talked with negroes who said the same thing; and I have talked with some negroes
about it.

Question. How many negroes say that they have seen mules ten feet high?
Answer. I do not know. A man told me that some negro women on his idace told him

that they had seen some Ku-Klux, and they were on mules that were ten feet high.

Question. This is no matter of joke
;
you are on oath now.

Answer. I only state to you what was told me.
Question. Do you believe the majority of the negroes believe any such thing ?

Answer. I do not believe anything about it. I am telling you that a man told ine

that his negro women told him so.

Quesiion. I want to know the general state of mind of the negroes?
Ansicer. 1 talk very little with the negroes.

Question. Then how are you willing to swear to that ?

Answer. I have said that I am willing to swear that those I have talked to believed

they were confederate ghosts.

Quesiion. Are yoti willing to swear that that is the general state of mind on the iiart

of the negroes ?

Anstver. No, sir; I only referred to the few cases of those I liave talked with; and
other people have told me the same thing. That has made the impression upon my
mind that the negroes had a superstitious fear with regard to it.
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By Mr. Buckley:
Question. I uuderstand yon to state to the committee that a baud of meu went fi:om

Greene County to Watkiu8villo to punish this ue^ro
Anm-ir. I do not want to be understood that they did go from that county, but that

was the general impression.

Question. What was the object of these meu disguising themselves?
Answer. I take it for granted that it was to avoid detection and prosecution in the

courts.

Question. It was to avoid identificatiou and prosecution and not for the purpose of

takiug advantage of any superstitions fear that exists on the part of the colored people ?

Austvci: No, sir ; those men who want to commit acts of violence on colored people

probably do not want to take advantage of their superstition. I said that it was the

boys, who want to have fun with them, who take advantage of their sui)erstition.

Question. The men who disguise themselves do it for the purpose of avoiding detec-

tion?
A7isivcr. I suppose so.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool:)

Question. Do negroes sit upon juries iu the counties around you?
Anstvcr. No, sir; they do not sit upon juries iu our State. The new State constitu-

tion, the constitution of 18G8, i)rovides that juries shall be composed of^I do not
remember the exact language of the constitution—that they shall be comi^osed of the
best men iu the county, of the most intelligent meu, and something else.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Of intelligent and discreet men?
A7isive): Something of that sort. I suppose that language was adopted for the pur-

pose of keeping the negroes oif juries, although it does not say so in so many words.

The presiding judge and certain county officers draw the jiirors, as I sup])ose they do
in other States. It is made their duty to take the most intelligent and discreet meu
for jurors, and that, as a general thing, excludes negroes. I do not know that any
negroes have served upon juries iu that State; they have not served in our own
county, or iu the counties of our circuit.

By the Chaiejlvn, (Mr. Pool :

)

Question. Have you not some negroes who are as intelligent as some white men who
serve on juries?

Answer. I think we have some negroes as intelligent as some white men.
Question. As some white men who servo on juries ?

Answer. There may be rare cases of that sort. Our petit juries have been greatly

improved under this new constitution, because they are men of the class who were
formerly on grand j uries.

Question. Have you ever seen any of these men in disguise?

^»(Sit'e>-. No, sir; I have never seen anything of the kind.

Question. Have you ever seen any man in disguise in your county within the last

eighteen months ?

Answer. No ; not under any circumstances whatever that I remember, unless it was
a son of mine who was trying to scare his little sister one night.

Question. What did he put on ?

Answer. He put on his mother's dress, or something of that sort ; it was a family
concern. I do not suj)pose you want to hear that, but as I am under oath I men-
tioned it.

Question. How old is your son ?

Ansxver. Some seventeen or eighteen years old.

Question. Have you seen any disguises that these meu are in the habit of Avearing?
Answer. No, sir ; I have not. I have understood that there was some clothing on

exhibition iu Atlanta—some clothing that some youug men wore at a masquerade
ball—and they stuffed some northern meu there with the idea that the}' were Ku-Klux
disguises. The only disguises that I have heard of are those mentioued by my friend

Richardson, who said that they found some iu Clarke County in a shuck-pen.
Question. Have you heard any democrats iu conversation with you, or in conversa-

tion of which you have heard, speak on this subject of bauds of disguised men?
Answer. I have heard a great many speak about it.

Question. Did they say that they thought it would have the effect of keei)ing the
negroes from voting ?

Answer. I never heard that said. They said they thought it would have a bad effect

on the Northern mind, and they regretted it, because it could be used to make j)olitical

capital of; that was was the general expression I heard.
Question. You never heard any one say that it was likely to affect the negroes iu

their voting, or keep them away from the iioUs?



246 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Ansiver. I do not reniomber to have heard any one say so.

Question. Did you ever bear auy one express a wish that tlic organization mifjht

have such an effect?

Ansiver. I do not recollect of hearing anybody express any such an opinion.

Question. Have you heard rcpulilicansor colored men say that it produced that effect ?

Answer. I think I heard Mr. Akerman say that it kept them from voting in his county

;

I think he told me so ; I do not remember any other instance and I am not sure that
lie said so.

Question. Do yon mean the attorney general of the United States ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; I think I heard him say so. I do not know that it was these dis-

guised men that kept them from voting ; 1 think he said that they were intimidated
from voting in some way.

Question. Did you ever hear any colored man or republican say so in your county ?

Answer. No, sir. There is no intimidation in mj^ county; they do not fail to vote,

and they vote more than they are entitled to.

Question. You think it is boys who put on these disguises?
Ansiver. I have heard of a few isolated cases where they have done so ; not as a

general thing. It is a. matternot worthy of mention, but I was under oath, and told

to state all that I knew or had heard about it.

(Question. Do you know any of the boys who ever did it ?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not.

Question. You cannot call the names of any of the boys ?

Ansiver. No, sir, I cannot.
Question. Then bow can you tell whether it was boys or grown men ?

Ansiver. I cannot tell ; I only stated that I had heard these things; I do not know it

of my personal knowledge.
Question. Did you hear the men Avho told you so call the names of any of the boys?
Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. They did not intimate what boys did so ?

Ansiver. I do not renicinlier that they did ; if so, I do not have any recollection of it.

It was a matter of so little consequence that I never charged my mind with it.

Question. You mean that it was treated lightly in that way ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; where they did it just for amusement.
Question. Do republicans and colorecl men treat it in that light manner?
Ansiver. Yes, sir ; if they knew it was boys doing it just for amusement they would

not care for it at all.

Question. Then the colored men and republicans do not believe it is boys ?

Ansiver. 1 do not know what they believe about it.

Question. Did you ever hear them make light of it by saying it was boys who did it ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not know that I ever heard them talk about it. We have but
six or eight white republicans in our county, and I could not hear much from them
about it ; and I do not associate with the negroes. I hear very little talk from repub-
licans about home, right in our own county.

Question. Have you any idea that the body of the negroes believe it is nothing but
boys going around for sport ?

Answer. I do not know what they believe.

Question. Do you think so ?

Ansiver. I cannot think anything about it, because I have no information on the sub-
ject. As I have said here, several times, the two or three negroes who have talked with
me about it said that they thought it was the ghosts of confederate soldiers, and one
said that he saw the holes that they came up out of, like locust holes.

Question. Do democrats speak of it lightly as the sport of boys'^
Ansiver. They sjioke of some cases Avhere the boys in some instances had put sheets

about them and scared the negroes whom they saw on the road. I do not know that I

could call to mind more than one or two cases of that sort, and I could not locate those
cases. ,

Question. While the democrats speak of it in that light waj^, as the work of boys,
the negroes consider it the ghosts of confederate dead ?

Ansiver. I do not talk to negroes generally ; I do not hear them talk much about
such things as that.

Question. Do you not think there have been at least twenty men scourged in your
county within the last eighteen months by men in disguise?

Ansiver. I have no idea there has been any such thing ; I have not heard of it. I get
more information about these things in Washington than I get at home. I have men-
tioned all the cases that I now rememl)er. I may have heard of some other cases that
have escaped my recollection. I understand that by my oath hero I am required t(j)

tell all that I know, and that I have heard about it, and, therefore, I have told little,

frivolous things that may seem ridiculous, and if 1 had consulted my own taste I

would not have mention(!d them ; but I thought that under the o))ligation.s of my oath
it was necessary for me to tell these things.
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Question. Do yon uot believe from tlic best of your information, from all you have heard,

that there axe not only in many parts of Georgia, as you have stated, but in other

States, bands of disonised men who frequently do intlict scourgiugs at night ?

Answer. I have heard, and I have read in the newspapers, of some cases of that sort

in other States; and I have heard from various sources of some cases of that sort in

our own State; I will not say thnt there are frequent occurrences of that sort in any
one county. But if you gather up all that have occurred in the one hundred and
thirty-two counties in the State for the last twelve mouths, and string them along as

the governor did in his proclamation, it might appear like there was a great deal of

disol-der in the country ; and if that was to occur every week there wonld be. I have
no doubt, from reading the newspapers, that they have more cases of disorder in the

city of New York in one week than we have had in Georgia for a year.

Question. They have a great many prosecutions in court' in New York?
Aiisicei: Yes, sir ; but they have a great many cases where the criminals escape.

Question. How do you account for the fact that these men always escape who are in

disguise ?

Answer. Because they are disguised; I have said so once.

Question. Could not men in New York hide their crimes by disguising themselves as

well as they do in Georgia ?

Answer. I should suppose they could.

Question. Why do they not do it there as well as in Georgia?
Answei: I do not know why they do not.

Question. Can you account for its being done in Georgia, excej)t that it has the

approbation of the public scTitiment of the community?
Answer. I cannot believe that it has. I have talked with leading men there, and I

do not Hud any of them that will tell me they approve of it ; I do not know of a re-

spectable man who says he approves of these things. I have heard some respectable

men say that since these visits at Watkinsville the negroes have quit patrolling tlio

road, and there was not so much stealing there as there was. But I have never heard
them speak in terms of approval of any acts of violence that have been committed.

Question. Persons who are disposed to commit crimes are generally sharp enough to

know how to escape detection ?

Answer. I should suppose so.

Question. Have you any theory in your own mind why it is that it is so prevalent in

the Southern States that are under the reconstruction acts, for men to go in disguise

and commit crimes, and almost without exception to escape prosecution, while that is

not resorted to in other States ?

Answer. I do not know ; I have never thought about that ; it is a new question to

me, and I have no theory about it. It strikes me that it is a good plan to avoid detec-

tion.

Question. You have not heard of bands of disguised men being prevalent in the other

States ?

Answer. I do not remember having heard of it, but they may be there. There is no
particular reason to make any great fuss over them if they are there ; but in the South
everything that has been done has been magnified, and caricatured, and exaggerated

;

that has been the general rule at least.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. As to your juries; how are they selected? Are they selected under your
law by your judges, sheriifs, and other officials ?

Answer. Yes, sir; the judge, the sheriff, Ihe^jlerk, and the ordinary, I believe, are the

ofificials to select the jury ; the ordinary is a judge of one of our courts.

Question. Is it not the fact that in a very largo nxunber of your counties yon have
republican officials ?

Answei: Yes, sir.

Question. And in very many instances those juries are selected by officials who are

themselves I'epublicans ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Yet, so far as you know, they always select white men for jurors under
their construction of the law 1

Ansicer. They do in our portion of the State; I do not know of any colored jurors in

oiir portion of 'the State. Of course, a negro can serve on a jury in our State if you
find one as intelligent and discreet, and more so, or at least equally as much so as the

white men.
Question. They are not kept off the juries on any jiartisan ground?
Answer. NO, sir, not on any iiartisan ground.
Question. The republican officials themselves, as well as the other officials, keep them

off?

Answer. Certainly. Mr. Akerman, as I believe, had this provision incorporated in

our constitution for the purpose of improving our jury system generally.
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Question. You were asked if negroes exercised tlie right of suflrage freely, or whether
they were iutiniidatcd. Is it not the fact that with only eiglit or "ten white republi-
cans in your county, and with most if not quite as many whites as blacks in the
county, the colored men have succeeded in electing two colored men from your
county as representatives in your legislature ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they have twice succeeded in that.

Question. Does not that indicate that they have voted their full strength ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they have voted their full strength ; and, as I said a while ago,
they have voted more than their full strength in our county ; they have imported
voters from adjoining counties.

Question. So that in your county they have not been kept from voting?
Answer, In our county no negro has been kept from voting the republican ticket,

hut democratic negroes have been kept from voting ; they were afraid to vote against
their race generally, because they have been threatened if they did so.

Washington, D. C, July 24, 1871.

Hon. THOMAS HARDEMAN sworn and examined.

The Chaikman, (Mr. Pool.) As this witness has been called by the minority of the
committee, they will please commence his examination.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Where do you reside, and how long have you resided there?
Aiiswer. I reside in Macon, Georgia, and have resided there since 1832.

Question. What public or oflicial positions, if any, have you ever held in the State of
Georgia ?

Answer. I represented my county some seven or eight years iu the senate and house
of representatives in the State legislature, and I have served one term in the Congress
of the United States ; I was for four years speaker of the house of representatives of
our State legislature.

Question. Are you now practicing law ?

Answer. No, sir ; I was admitted to the bar and employed to defend a man, but they
sent him to the penitentiary, and I quit.

Question. What are you doing now ?

Answer. I am engaged in the commission and storage business.
Question. What means of information have you iu relation to the condition of affairs

in your part of the State of Georgia !

Answer. From the nature of my business, I am thrown in daily contact with people
from iifteen or twenty counties in Middle Georgia.

Question. Macon is about the center of the State?
Answer. Yes, sir; it is the geographical center.

Question. The special object of this committee is to ascertain how far life and prop-
erty are secure in the State of Georgia ; what is the general condition of your people

;

whether the laws are enforced
;
if not, why they ai'e not ; and what causes have led to

any trbubles that may exist there. Go on now and give us a general history of the
condition of your people there, without being specially interrogated on particular
points.

Answer. Our people, I reckon, are as quiet as any people in the Union. We have no
trouble at all ; iu fact, I have never seen but one little disturbance in our city, and
that was a slight one, and was soon quelfcd.

Question. Are the laws administered in your courts with fairness ?

Answer. We think so.

Question. Who is your circuit judge ?

Answer. Judge C. B. Cole.
Question. What is his politics?

Answer. I do not know ; he is a gentleman who has never taken any active stand in
politics.

Question. How was he appointed ?

Answer. He was appointed by Governor Bullock-
Question. Who is your attorney ?

Answer. A gentleman by the name of Crocker, from an adjoining county; after he
was appointed he removed to my town.

Question. He also was appointed by Governor Bullock?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are they supposed to be gentlemen who are republican iu their proclivities
at least ?

Answer. Judge Cole was at one time nominated by the republican party to represent
them in a convention; but he was then judge, and declined to have anything to do
with politics. He has been judge on our circuit for several years.
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Question. Have you had much lawlessness iu the way of disguised m iuterferiug

with people iu your region of'Georgia ? If so, state what it was.
Ajisicer. I have never heard of a case there in luy life.

Question. You think there are no organizations of that sort iu your section ?

Answer. Not to my knowledge ; I have never heard of them.
Question. Can men of all political parties vote their sentiments without intimidation

or feTir of Ijeiug interrupted ?

Ansiver. They have been doing it all the time.

Question. Does your acquaintance extend over a number of counties in central
Georgia ?

• Answer. Yes, sir ; I expect I know as many people in central Georgia as any man in it.

Question. I will cxjilaiu to yotithat you are not limited to what you know personally,
but you have a right t(j state anything in regard to which you have reliable iulbrmation

;

what you know pervsonally, as well as what you know from others. You will, there-
fore, have much latitude in speaking of these things.

Answer. I heard Judge Cole, the judge of our circuit, say that he had as quiet a time
ou his circuit as he ever had before the war.

Question. What counties are embraced iu his judicial circuit?
Answer. Bibb, Crawford, Houston, Twiggs, and, I think, Doolj", but I am not certain

about that.

Question. Your own acquaintance extends considerably beyond the limits of that cir-

cuit?
Ansiver. Yes, sir; my business being that of a warehouse-man, a receiver and storer

of cotton, I am thrown in contact with peoi^le in all that cotton belt, embracing some
twenty or thirty counties.

Question. Your information is that iu all those counties your people are quiet ?

Answer. I never have heard of but one case of violence within my knowledge, and
that was away down in the lower portion of the cotton belt, as we call it ; that was
the killing of a circus-man down there.

Question. In your portion of Georgia, you have no organized bands of men going
about committing lawless acts ?

Answer. I have never heard of one iu mj' life.

Question. White and black men vote the republican ticket just as they please?
Answer. The difficulty I spoke of just now was in reference to a black man voting

the democratic ticket.

Question. I believe it is pretty generally the case that when a black man votes the
democratic ticket his race regard him as abandoning their position ?

Answer. They did not so much at this last election ; they did at the first election.

There were no challenges allowed at all under the State law ; everybody voted that
wanted to, aiul they were three days voting.

Question. What is the size of Macon, Georgia ?

A7iswer. Macon and its suburbs contain about fifteen thousand inhabitants.
Question. How many does tl»e city of Macon contain ?

Answer. The city proper, I sax)pose, contains about twelve thousand.
Question. You arc in the center of a denselj- populated belt of Georgia?
Answer. Houston County is the second or the third largest county in population that

we have in the State, with the exception of a little* county called Dougherty.
Question. The counties you spoke of are in this central belt?
Answer. They run down as far as Lee County ; w'e have a great deal of trade from

Doughertj-, BaJier, Randolph, Early, and that region.
Question. And in the course of your business you are thrown in contact with a largo

number of men from all parts of that section of Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; every day during the winter.
Queslion. And they rej)resent everything ordeily and quiet ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Washington, D. C, July 25, 1871.

ANDREW D. EOCKAFELLOW sworn and examined.

By the Cilurman, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. Where do you reside?
Ansiver. In Atlanta, Georgia.
Question. What has been your business there ?

Answer. At first I was in the revenue service ; afterward I was connected with the
Western iVtlantic Railroad, and served upon that raih'oad until other buainess called
me to Washington.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. The Western Atlantic is known as the State road ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Qnestion. From -what point does it run, and to what point ?

Ansiver. From Atlanta to Chattanooga.

By the Chairmax, (Mr. Pool :)

Qtiestiori. State anything you know in regard to the preservation of hiw and order in

that locality.

Answer. I can say, to the best of my knowledge, that within the city of Atlanta notiiing

has occurred that would cause any great excitement ; but I know of persons who have
been what is popularly known as Ku-Kluxed in the counties of Morgan and Greene.
I have the names of gentlemen whom I saw shortly after they had been persecuted.

One of the names I have here is that of Mr. Monday Floyd, residing at Madison, iu

Morgan County. This gentleman was elected to the legislature, served during the
last term of the legislature, and Avas also, I believe, a candidate at the last election.

His house was approached and shot into, and he was taken out : but that evening, I

believe, they let him go without doing him any injury. But two or three evenings
afterward he was again assailed. He then Hed, and came to Atlanta, and has been
residing there ever since. He has been stopping with a gentleman named Mr. Jloore

—

has been staying there ever since that time. He occasionally goes home, but only stays

a day or two.
Question. Was this attack on him committed by a band of men in disguise ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. How many were present ?

Answer. I believe he said two persons came and rapped at the door. He opened it.

One of them entered and asked whether Mr. Floyd was in. He said he was, and that
he was the gentleman. This man seized him by the collar and pulled him outside the
door. In the scuffle Mr. Floyd got away, and went back into the house. Those i)ar-

ties left, but in an hoiir or two they shot into the house. I believe there was no jier-

son hurt at the time—at least he was not. In three or four days after that they came
again.

Question. How many?
Answer. I do not know the number. Hearing of their being in the neighborhood,

Mr. Floyd fled to the woods, and came to Atlanta, where he has been staying oft" and
on ever since.

Question. Have you any idea how many were in the crowd that came the second
time ? •

Ansicer. I have not. He did not know how many there were.
Question. Were there more than two ?

Ansiver. He said there was a party of them ; he saw them riding; he could not sec

distinctly, as it was dark, being about 9 o'clock.

Question. Did he see more than two the tirst night ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; he saw four. Two came inside, and the others were outside of the
door. He saw four of them.

Question. When did this occur?
Answer. I presume it occurred sometime in the month of December, 1870. That was

about the time the election was held in Georgia.
Question. What did they do to him the second night?
Ansicer. That was a few days uftfer the first.

Question. What was done to him that night?
Answer. He heard of them ; there was a gentleman came to his door and told him

they were in the vicinity, and he thought they were coming in that direction. They
had been down to his house when he was not there, and when he came back his wife
told him that they were inquiring for him. When he hear^l of this he left, and staid
with a friend, and the next day he went to Atlanta.

Question. Did they go to his house that night?
Answei: They did.

Question. What did they do when they got there?
Answer. He not being there, they left. The next case is that of Mr. Alfred Richard-

son. As that gentleman has been, I believe, before the committee, I do not know
whether it Avill be necessary for me to say anything about his case. But I saw his

wounds, which were received, as he said, from these organized bands. As soon as he
was able to move he came to Atlanta.

Question. How was he wounded?
Ansiver. As he claimed, he was shot. He was in the house, and the balls passed

through the Iniilding. He was inside Avhen they shot him.
Question. Where did the balls strike ?

Ansiver. I believe one struck him in the side or hip, and another in the leg, as near
as I can recollect. He described the wounds to me when he came to Atlanta, which
was as soon as ho was able to move.

Question. Do vou know the character of Mr. Richardson ; is he a man of good char-

acter?
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Ansiver. Yes, sir; be is a man of good character, so far as I know. I saw liim iu the

legislature at Atlanta, and I never saw him drunk or in bad company.
Question. Do you know what character he bears in the community iu which he lives?

Answo: I do not, as I am not personally acquainted with any person residing close

by him. In fact, I never made it my business to inquire, as I had no occasion to do so.

When I saw him he always conducted himself as a gentleman, and I never had any
occasion to inquire into his character.

QucsUon. What other case do you know of?
Answa: I havo a memorandum of the case of Abraham Colby. Tliis gentleman resides

in Greene County ; be is now a member of the legislature ; was elected at the last elec-

tion, and was a member before. I know that this gentleman was compelled to leave his

home, and is now residing in Atlanta. I saw him just before I came to Washington.

By Mr. Blaik :

Quasfion. Where is his home ?

Anstrcr. In Greene County. He represents that county.

By the Chaieman, (Mr. Pool :)

Qtiestion. Why did he leave his home?
Ansicer. The reason he gave me was that he was threatened and had to leave.

Questian. Threatened by whom?
Ansu-a: By persons known as these organized bands around the neighborhood. As

he told me, there was a note left at his house asking him to leave. I know him per-

sonally. He is a very stout gentleman, and, of course, could not get very far if any
person came after him ; so he took due notice and left. He is now residing in Atlanta.
He and the gentleman I before referred to, Mr. Floyd, are both living in one house.
Occasionally Mr. Floyd goes k) Madison, but he does not remain tJiere more than two
or three days at a time. I know these gentlemen personally, having had some busi-

ness with them.
Question. You do not know whether Mr. Colby has ever been attacked ?

Answer. No, sir: he has never been injured iu any way. As I have stated, he is a
heavy, stout gentleman, and could not get along very well if attacked ; so he took due
notice and left. That is the statement he gives to me.

Question. Do you know of any other case f

Answer. No ; I have not the names of any other persons who I know have been in-

jured or outraged in any way.
Question. How far do you live from the counties iu which these cases occurred?
Answer. I live in Atlanta; I could not say just the distance, not being very well

acquaiuted with the counties.
Question. One hundred miles ?

Answer. I presume it is. Yon can tell by looking at the vaa]) what the distance is.

I never inquired particularly where those counties are located. These cases are from
!Morgan County and Greene County. Mr. Colby is from Greene County, and Mr. Floyd
lives in Madison, Morgan County, or, rather, that is where he claims he cannot now
live.

Question. Have yon seen and conversed with persons from other parts of the State ?

Ansicer. I believe I have conversed with almost every member of the legislature—

I

dare say with every member of the legislature of both parties, democratic and repub-
lican. I am personally acquainted with almost all of them.

Question. From what you have learned ujion such authority as you jilace confidence
in, what is the condition of things in the other x^arts of Georgia? State whether there
is any disorder, and whetfier there are any combinations of men to violate the law.

Answer. I think this only applies to different sections of the State ; I do not think
these organizations exist all over the State. As for Fulton County, I do not know
that there has ever been anything of that kind committed there.

Question. Is Atlanta in Fulton County ?

Ansieer. Yes, sir. I never knevr of any of these Ku-Klux organizations ever commit-
ting outrages there. Of course, persons have occasionally been killed in that county,
but I do not think it was done by disguised bands.

Question. Have you information from others as to the state of affairs in other parts
of the State?
Answer. My information from there is that such organizations did exist, and I be-

lieve they do uow.
Question. In many counties ?

Answer. Iu the region particularly known as the " Black Belt." In that region I

believe they prevail more than iu any other portion of the State.
Question. How large a region of country is that ?

Answer. I cannot just say.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Is not Macon about the center of that belt ?
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Anftnrr. Yop, sir; dowu about there. For instance, here is Macon, ["illiistratiug by
the map.] and Mitchell, Bullock, Burke, and those counties down there are among
those I refer to. •

By Mr. Buckley :

Question. Does that " Black Belt" extend across the State ?

Aiisurr. No, sir ;
not altogether. I am speaking now of Burke County. I know that

Buch organizations exist there. A friend of mine now in the city, from there, who was
a member of the legislature, so informed me.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Does that include Savannah, Chatham County ?

Answer. No, sir; I know nothing of anything of that kind about there.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Is Columbus in it ?

Ansiver. Well, it runs up about there.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. Name the counties where you have heard of such things ?

Answer. [Referring to map.] Here is Macon, Webster, Randolph, Baker. It is

along from Muscogee County down to Sumter, Calhoun, and Chattahoochee. That is

the section where I know those persons to live, from whom I have heard these things.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Have you heard of any outrages in Chattahoochee County ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; I have heard of some there, and about Milledgeville—about the
jails there.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool:)

Question. Have you been present and witnessed any elections in the State of Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I was present at the last election. I was at the polls during the
three days of the election, from morning to night, witli the exception of the time they
had me arrested.

Question. Was the election conducted fairly ?

Answer. No, sir ; by no means.
Question. Was any intimidation used ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. State anything you know in regard to that.

Ansiver. Well, sir, I was present at the three days' elections held in Atlanta, at the
court-house of Fulton County.

Question. When?
Ansiver. In December, 1S70—the 20th, 21st, and 22d of December, if I am not

mistaken. The first day the election went ail right. Every person was allowed to

go up and vote freely. There was no intimidation, and no person interfering. The
second day, about 12 o'clock, the door was blockaded by the police.

Question. What door?
Ansiver. I.will describe that. The ballot-box was in the council-chamber, and wo

had to pass >n a door in order to vote. There was a hall running clear through, and
another running the opposite direction; one running east and west, and the other
north and south. In the southwest corner was the coimcil-chamber, where the ballot-

box was. We passed in at the east entrance, and when wo got about luilf-way in the
hall, the door went into the council-chamber. By that door we had to pass into the
council -chamber, and up to a rack, where the managers were with the ballot-bos.

After that we passed out at the other side of the council-chamber. We could pass out
at either the south or the north door of the building. The first entrance into the court-

house was occupied by the police.

By Mr. Coburn :

Question. How wide was the entrance to the hall?
Answer. About five feet wide, and the width of the hall was between five and eight

feet.

Question. How large was the council-chamber?
Answer. I judge it was about twenty-five feet by thirty, very ncai'ly square. The

police on the first day had charge of the door I have described ; but nothing was done
to interfere with voting. All persons, black and white, and I presume both republi-
cans and democrats, could go and vote. The first day things were very quiet, aiul there
was every prospect of a fair election. The second day, about 12 o'clock, intimidation
commenced. As soon as colored men came iip to vote they were shoved back. The
police would take them by the breast and pusli them back. We had to go up four steps
to get to the hall, and the police stood on the stairway. Whenever there was a crowd
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the colored mea were shoved off the stairway. If a niau was standing there who was
supposed to vote tlie democratic ticket, he could pass in ; if a white man came Tip, no
matter whether he was going to vote the democratic or republican ticket, he could pass
in ; \)ut colored men could not. That was kept up on that day, I presume, two or three
hours. It ce;'.scd in the afternoon, and then all were allowed to pass in. The next
morning, being the third day, as soon as the polls were ox)ened they would not allow
any person in; the polls were choked np ; the police took possession of the door, and
would not allow any jiersou, either black or white, to enter. Excitement prevailed,

and men complained that they could not vote. The United States marshal was sent
for. He immediately sent up a detachment of soldiers, about forty. They came, and
stacked their arms at a church close by. The United States marshal said that the polls

would have to be ojiened and men allowed the privilege of voting. For half an hour
everything was all right ; the entrance was opened and men passed in. By that time
the democratic party began hauling men up in wagons, hacks, and everything of that
kind. They had an exj)ress-wag()n, with four horses, which was bringing men up.
When these soldiers were brought there they were drawn up in line in front of the
main entrance to the ballot-box. When colored men wanted to go up to vote, the
United States marshal said, " Gentlemen, you will have to clear this entrance." When
the soldiers were first brought up these policemen and some leading citizens (I have
the name of a gentleman wlio I can say was the leader of this operation; he Avas elected

to the legislature from Fulton County) went up as the soldiers came in, and got in the
door. They took off their caps and began to yell, " Three cheers for I3ull Run," and
" Hurrah for Manassas," and then they added a " tiger," as they called it. They would
shout in this way to the soldiers wlio were standing there. The United States marshal
went and asked them to clear the entrance. They stood back and let him pass in.

After ho passed through the door it was blockaded just as badly as ever. They said,
'• Let the men get in two ranks and everybody may pass in." All the voters then there,

black and white, arranged themselves in two ranks, extending nearly half a square,
and commenced Aoting, and things went on peaceably for half an hour.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. Who said, "Hurrah for Bull Euuf
Answer. The iiolicemeu stationed at the door—the city policemen. There were a

great many special police appointed that day by the mayor to preserve order.

Question. AVere they in the interest of either party ?

Answer. Those iiolicemen were working in the interest of the democratic party ; they
were all democrats; that was done in the interest of the democratic party. Those sol-

diers were withdrawn and taken down to the church, where they were before. Tlien
certain gentlemen, wanting to influence these soldiers, sent them boxes of cigars. I

tried to learu the names of the persons who sent them, but I was not able. But boxes
of cigars were sent to the soldiers, and also a basket of cakes. These the officer did
not admit. He said that their rations would be there if they staid there long enough
to require any. The cigars w^ere passed arotmd, and the soldiers began to get opjiosed

to going up to the court-house. Wlieu they were called upon to go up some of them
began to curse. Of course they could not resist, as there was an officer in command, a
first lieutenant. They were taken u}) again.

Question. Why were they taken up again ?

Ansxocr. Men could uot vote; it was a1)Solutely necessary to take up the soldiers.

No person could pass in luiless he voted the democratic ticket. They had then shut
down on even white men going in if they were known to be republicans. Persons
who they knew would vote the democratic ticket were allowed to pass in. The repub-
lican managers seeing this, of course sent down for the soldiers ; the soldiers were
agaiu brought up iu line. We again formed the voters iu two ranks, in order to get
the crowd away from the door ; hardly any person could get up there on account of the
crowd. To the best of my knowledge, there were three or four hundred persons wait-
ing to vote, both black and white. There v^^as a guard at each side of the first en-
trance, a guard midway of the hall, one at each side of the hall, and two at the door
where voters had to pass into the council-chamber ; these guards remained there about
twenty-five minutes, and then persons were allowed to pass in and vote. The police

were rearing around outside ; they said that this could not be ; that the mayor had sent
them to keep order, and they were going to do it. Tlie democratic managers all began
to rear. They said, " This is a free country, and we don't require a guard when we are
holding an election." They demanded of the United States marshal that those guards
should be removed. After some quarreling the United States marshal removed the
guards and took the soldiers again to the church, where they stacked arms. It was
not twenty-five minutes after that before the thing was just as bad as ever, the crowd
coming there to vote and nobody allowed to go in.

Question. Who prevented them from going in ?

Answer. These policemen—democrats. The democrats were coming up in wagons,
hacks, ;fnd carriages as fast as they could. • The managers had made a rule that no person
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should pass in the rear door to vote. But when the democrats came np—merchants of
the city, aristocrats—they would not take their turn and go in with the colored men
to vote, but were allowed to pass around the other way, come in at the hack door, g,nd

l>ass right up to vote, when they had been there only live minutes ; whereas, if a man
was known to vote the republican ticlcet, he had to squeeze in and take liis chances
with the colored men, stayinj; there an hour or two before he could get his vote in. A
wagon would be driven rigiit up to the back door, and some twenty or thirty men
would jump oif and pass in the back way. There Avas a guard of police stationed
there. There was a railing across, and the regulation was that no person should bo
allowed to crawl underneath that railing. But when these men would come up they
Avould stoop down, pass underneatli, and go in, while there were colored num waiting
in crowds at the otlier door. All the tinu^ that men were coming in at this back way
and voting, they would not allow the colored men to come in. Toward the last the
crowd of colored men and others saw these men jjassing in and called outi, " They are
passing in the back way." For a while the police would shut down on some twenty-
tive or thirty and would compel them to go around; and then again it would be as bad
as ever. I can take an oath that, to the best of my kuowledge, between three and four

hundred persons, both black and white, did not get an opportunity to vote ; whereas, if

thiugs had Ttcen done peaceably and fairly, every man that was there could have voted.

There was nothing to hinder it ; there was ample time, if there had not been so much
time lost in these confusions and contests. That Avas their object.

Question. You mean three or four hundred persons of all parties ?

Answer. Of all parties. I suppose that some democrats as well as others did not get
to vote, because they may have been among those who were waiting their chances.

Those Avho understood the dodge and got in the othqr side Avere able to A^ote, of course.

But I can take my oath that, to the best, of my knoAvledge, between three and four

hundred persons at that one poll did not get a chance to A'ote. There Avas another
poll at West End. I have here the name of a gentleman Avho was at the head of all

this. He was a captain in the confederate army—Captain Harry Jackson. He is now
u member of the Georgia legislature ; Avill take his seat at the next meeting of the legis-

lature.

QHcstioii. Was he elected at that election ?

Answer. Yes, sir. To shoAV hoAV these thiugswork, I will mention that the other day
Colonel Benjamin Green, from Dalton, Georgia, avIio is stopping over in Cari'oll Koav,

Ko. 12, learning that I was in the city, sent Avord through a friend of mine that he
would like to see me. Not knowing the gentleman or his business I called on him,
taking a letter of introduction from my friend. We had quite a long couA'crsatiou.

After he found out my business and what course I had pursued at the last election, it

ended in his ordering me out of his room, saying that he did not have any use for any
such persons. I was giving a description of the diflerent tickets voted at the last elec-

tion. Said he, " Did you vote the ticket Avith Blodgett's photograi)h on f I said I

did. He said, " I Avant you to leave my room."

Mr. Blair. We do not want to hear such stuff as this.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool:)

Question. The committee desires only to hear from you such things as bear upon the
condition of affairs in the State of Georgia. Do you know anything else connected
with the main subject about Avhich you have been speaking?

Ansicer. No, sir. I do not knoAv anything else, that Avould benelit the conmiittee any.
So far as I am concerned, I have never been molested myself. I Avas active in the last

election.

Question. Have you knoAvledge of any rioting in the streets of Atlanta?
Answer. Yes, sir. W^e did haA^e a riot at the last muincipal election. There Avas a

gentleman arrested on a charge that he had Aoted illegally. I Avas then residing in
the Fourth Ward of Atlanta. I Avas at the i^olls, right opposite the guard-house.

By Mr Blaiu:

Question. When did this occur ?

Answer-. The election Avas held in November, if I am not mistaken; I think it Avas

just before the election for members of Congress and members of the general assembly;
I thinlc a Aveek or tAvo before.

Question. A municipal election?

Anstvcr. Yes, sir. There was a riot on that occasion ; the colored men and some of the
whites came there to take the man Avho had been arrested ; the lieutenant of police
said to me, " We are going to haA^e a riot ; they have arrested a man, and some parties
are going to attemjjt to take him." I saw them coming down there Avith axes, picks,
and shovels; I suppose they rau with Avhatever they liappened to bo Avorkiug with;
some had planes and hatchets.
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By thv3 Chairman, (Mi-. Pool:)

Question. You mean the colored lueu?
Answer. Yas, sjir ; colored and white; I went over aud .asked what was wroug; the

lieutenaut of police said, " They have arrested a mau up here, and these men have
come to take him out ; we may have a riot ; but you can stop this thing." When they
first came there, there were, I presume, three hundred pei'sons in the crowd, and the
number was steadily increasing ; I spoke to them and asked them what they wanted

;

they said, '' They have arrested one of oui' men for voting illegally, as they say." I said,
" You had better stand back and let us have a fair chance ; if this man has been arrested,

we will bail him out." General Gartrell, myself, :uid others were ready to bail him
out. General Gartrell said to me, " You had better keep those men back; things will be
serious." I told them to go on the other side of the road and remain there till we heard
what was the troable ; they all went back from the guard-house and staid on the
other side of the road ; we went to the lieutenant and asked whether the mau could be
bailed out: ho said he thought so, birt he would send to the mayor; the mayor
said that he could be bailed out ; General Gartrell and Mr. Snyder, a candidate for council,

otiered to go on his bond. After the policemen fonnd that there were men ready to go
on his bond, they would not give him up. There was a white mau heading this riot;

I do not know his name. The lieutenant pointed to him and said, " There is the mau
who is heading this riot." Said I, "You had better not do .anything now; things will

be serious here ; there are too many stones right about here." Right near there were
ruins of buildings, and almost every person had a piece of brick in his hand. I said,

'•I think we can stop this without serious difficulty." I and other republicans kept
telling the crowd to go back, and we Avould get this man out. I suppose we were par-
leying with them for half an hour. After that one of the lieutenants came up and
said, "There is the man who is heading this riot, and we are going to arrest him." I

said, "If you attempt to arrest that mau there is going to be trouble, and I don't pro-

pose to have anything to do with it." Just as I said that, the policemen went for that
man, and the crowd commeuced upon the police with clubs and stones, and they com-
menced firing pistol-shots. I ran into the guard-house. The bullets were then coming
through. It was a brick building, which had been used at one time as a market-house,
and there were large doors, and the bullets were coming in where I was standing.
Finding I was in danger there, I went into the office and sat dowu under a table, to

keep from being hit by the bullets. There was only one other person there besides
myself. When I looked around I saw a gentleman standing there with a pistol out.

He said to me, "Here is another radical sou of a bitch, and I am going to slioot him."
He was about half tight. One of the policemen stepped up and said, "No, you won't

;

that man has done more to keep this riot down than any other person." " Well," said
the man, "that don't make any diii'erence ; he is a damned radical." The policeman
said, " We are for peace ; we waut a peaceable election." This policeman was a demo-
crat, but he protected me. The gentleman followed me round, and said he was going
to shoot me. The policeman said to him, " If you don't behave yourself, I will lock
you up." He still continued to say that I was a damned radical, and that he was going
to shoot me. The policemau finally took him to the guard-house, and kept him there
till everybody had gone away. The next day I saw the gentleman, and he apologized
for what he had done ; he said he had been tight.

I know of no person dying from the effects of wounds received in that riot, but there
were seven or eight meu wounded. The policemen tried to take the mau whom they
saw leading the riot ; the other men began to pitch into them with clubs and sticks,

and they fired. The rioters then fled. I think some seven or eight were wounded ; I

know of three or four who were shot in difi:erent places.

Question. You mean some of the rioters?

Ansu-er. Some innocent men were shot. One genflemau standing away off looking on
was shot in the knee. He had nothing to do with the riot. I don't think any of the
rioters were .shot. Those who were shot were innocent persous standing close by. This
gentleman who was shot in the knee was driving a hack ; he left the hack standing up
the street and came dowu to see what was wroug. He was standing a square oft" when
a ball hit him in the knee. His name is Brown.

By Mr. CoBURX

:

Question. What did you say was the nature of the notice received bj" these meu who
had to leave their homes—the man who left Greene County and the other who left

Morgan County ?

Ansieer. Mr. Colby, the man who left Greene County, received a uotice that he must
leave ; that he could not live there.

Question. What was the notice to the man in Morgan County?
Answer. He received a similar notice. He did not leave the couuty altogether. He

goes home occasionally, but does not remain there permanently. He lives with Mr.
Colby, in Atlanta.

Question. What are the politics of those men ?
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Anmcer. They arc ropnhlicans ; tliey were elected on the republicau ticket. Mr.
Colby was reelected a member of the legislature at the last election by the republicans

;

Mr. Floyd was a member before.
, .

Question. Yon said that at the election in Atlanta, which yon have described, men
were prevented from voting ? Did anybody of any politics complain of being jire-

vented from voting ? If so, what were the politics of the men who tlms complained ?

Anfnver. They were republicans.

Question. Did you hear any democrats complain ?

Answer. No, sir, I did not. They did not complain. Although I knew some of them
who could not vote, they did not say anything.

Question. How many persons do you think were prevented from voting?
Ansicei: To the best of my knowledge, between three and four hundred. Among

them, I presume, were some democrats. I saw the crowd that was standing there
;

they tried three or four times to get in their votes and could not. Every person was
trying to take his chances the best he could, but, in fact, there was no chance at all.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Were you at the polls during the entire election ?

Answer. I might have been absent two or three hours a day.
Question. What were you doing there all that time ?

Answer. I was issuing out tickets and seeing that men were voting the republican
ticket, the best 1 could.

Question. During the three days ?

Answer. Yes, sir. As I say, during two or three hours each day I was off on other
business—to see that certain men were brought in to vote. The first day I was there
the greater part of the day.

Question. There Avas no disturbance at all then ?

Ansiver. The first day the election went on very well ; wo make no complaint of the
first day. Had it gone on the other days as well as on the first day we woukl have been
very well satisfied. I must say the first day's election was as well managed as an elec-

tion could be anywhere.
Question. Were there other polls in the city ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; not in Atlanta. There is a small village outside called West End
;

there was a poll there. There was no poll in the city except at the conrt-house, and,
in fact, there was only one ballot-box. Voters passed in at one door and out at another.

Question. Who ap})ointed the election ofiicers ?

Answer. Governor Bullock. They were such gentlemen as Roderick Badger, Denni-
son Hammon, J. W. Mills, and other gentlemen whose names I cannot recollect now.

Question. They were republicans ?

Answer. This Roderick Badger was a colored man and was supposed to be a repub-
lican. Mills was a white man and was supposed to be a republican. I made a mistake
in what I just now said about the manner of appointing these officers. The governor
appointed three and the ordinary two. The governor appointed Badger, INlills, and
another gentlemau, whose name I cannot recollect. The ordinary appointed Doctor
Alexander and another gentlemau whose name I do not remember.

Question. You say you were in attendance at the polls through the entire election ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; the greater part of the time.
Question. You say that the jioUs at the time you complain of were not closed to every

person— some persons were allowed to go up ?

Answer. The polls were not closed; but this entrance of which I speak was closed.
The colored men were not allowed to go around the other way. As soon as the colored
men began to go around there, they shut down on any person going through that way
and all had to go in the other entrance. But at this entrance from the north, when the
colored men did not know of it, the white people were allowed to go in. They did not
stop a white republican if he went around and wanted to go in that way. But a col-

ored man could not pass in at that entrance.
Question. Were you at both the entrances?
Ansiver. I passed in at one entrance and around to the other. I stood watching the

proceedings to see who went in there. I saw men coming in express wagons and car-
riages. Some of them were merchants. I knew their politics; I knew all about them.
Those gentlemen would come to the back door in carriages, Arc, and would come in.

Some of them with whom I was acquainted I would speak to. I said to souu; of them,
"You cannot get inhere

;
you will have to ];)ass arouud the other way." Captain Jack-

son, who took a prominent position there, would say, "Oh, yes, he can come in ;
*' and

then he would wink to the police to let that gentleman pass under the railing and to
the door. I saw Captain Jacksou taking a position there. I took a jiositiou there
myself awhile to see who were coming in there. I found them to be all his friends. I
went around and got three or four colored men to go up there and try to go in. When
they got to the railing they were not allowed to go through ; they were told they must
pass arouud the other way. That brought up a difficulty between me and this other
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gentleman. I said to the captain, "Why is it that some men can pass under the ra ilin<r
hero while others cannot ?" He said, " These gcnthunea are in a hnrrv." I saw nei^
Bons getting up around me, and I just mado up my mind I had better keep quiet ; so I
Old. It was not a very good place for mo to speak in.

QiCestioH. What was the nuijority at that poll ?

Ansiver. I have it here in figures ; but I would not like to give it as evidence because
I cannot give it exactly.

Qiieslion. Give your recollection of the result.
Answer. General Young's majority was four or five thousand in the district.
Question. I am speaking of that particular poll.
Answer. Well, I canujt say exactly.
Question. Do you not know what the majority at that poll was ?
Arisner. I do not recollect.
Question. Was it large ?

An.s^vcr. Yes, sir; quite a large majority
; but the majority for the legislature was not

so large as for congressman. I think it was only two or three hundred to the best ofmy recollection.

Question. When did you go to Georgia to live ?
Answer. I have been" living at Atlanta about a year. I have resided in the State

sixteen or eighteen months.
Question. You were not a voter at the last election ?
Answer. Yes, sir; I was a voter. I voted at the last election.
Qiccstion. How long had you then resided in the State?
Answer. Eight mouths. It requires six months residence in t-he State to vote ; I

believe that under tlie law of Georgia, six mouths residence entitles a person to vote.
ijnestwn. Where did you go from when you went to Geor"-ia?
Answer. From Pennsylvania.

°

quesiion. Yon say you were employed upon the State road under Jlr. Blodgett?
Answer. Yes, sir.

'^

Question. How long were you in his employ ?

Ansu-er. Between three and four months.
^i>«es;io«. In what capacity?
Answer. 1 was in the freight department.
Qncstion. How Avas the business of the road during the time you were employed there?
Ansicer. It was pretty good

; but in the fall of the year it is generally better.
Question. Was it very good ?

" o j

Ansicer. Yes, sir; very good.
Question. Was it good as compared with fonner years?
Answer. O, yes, sir; just as good, I believe.
Question. Just as good as it was in previous years?
Answer. Yes, sir

; I paid some attention to it ; and I think it was.
Question. Are you still employed upon that road?
Anstver. No, sir; I am not eniployed upon the road at present. I came here on some

Dusmess, and 1 now expect as soon as the cars are in operation to serve as a mail agent.
Question. \ou expect to get appointed as a mail agent?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. On what road ?

wa^"of ChStamTo?^'^^
^^'^ *^^^^ ^^'^ '^^^^' ^"'^"Siiig going through to New Orleans by

Question. Then yon are here looking out for a mail ao-ency?
Answer. I have other business while I am here. ThS first business I had was as an

applicant, among others, for the postmastership of Atlanta, Georgia.

By Mr. Beck:
Qiwsiion. Where were you when you were first employed by Mr. Blod<rett?
Anmcer. I was in Atlanta.

ir j j o

Question. How long had you been there ?
Aiiswer. About four or five months.
Question. What had you been doing before that time?
Amwer. Belore that time I was partially engaged with the revenue: and after that

I was engaged with a gentleman in a patent right known as a flour cooler. I believethe gentleman is trorn Minneseta.
Question. In what way were you engaged in the revenue ?
Aimcer. I was only temporarily employed by General Kryzyanoski.
Question. In what way '1

Answer. As a detective.
Question. Were you a detective in the revenue service ?
Answer. les, sir.

Question. What were your special duties as detective?
Answei: I wixs employed by him to go into a certain section of country to see about

17 G
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distilling peach whisky—iicach brandy as they call it. It toijk up my time about two
"Weeks, 1 presume.

Question. You were what is commonly known as a spy ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Que.'ilion. To pretend to be one thing and in fact to be another ?

Answer. No, sir; that was the only thing I went for. I was directed to visit two or

three places and see what they were doing.

Question. That was your iirst appearance in Georgia?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Wliat is your age ?
'*•

Answer. Twenty-live.
Question. What had you been doing in Pennsylvania belbre you left there?
Answer. 1 was engaged in the grocery business.

Question. In what ea])acity ?

Answer. I carried on business myself.

Qu'Stion. Wliere f

Answer. In Lancaster, Pennsylvania.
Question. How long had you been at that ?

Answer. Two years, I presume.
Question. Why did you quit that business and go to Georgia?
Answci\ I quit that a year or two before I went to Georgia, on account of not being

able to get a store at rhe same rent I had got one for before.

Question. And your first employment in Georgia was as a detective in the revenue
Berviee ?

Answer. Let me say that I went to Georgia with an uuderstaudiug for another posi-

tion. There was a gentleman nauied 13rady whose position I was to take.

Question. As what f

Ansieer. I beheve he was serving as a clerk iu the fourth district imder Mr. Atkins.

Question. In the revenue department ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I fouud t here was some difficulty between him and Mr. Atkins, and
so I dul not })r<>ss the uuitter. I expected then to go into business ; and I waited two
or three weeks to see how things were. I was disappointed in some money matters,

and was not able at that tune to go into business ; so I was employed at whatever I

could find for the time being.

Question. Did you detect anybody during your service in the revenue department ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. After that what did you go into ?

Answer. 1 was acting as an agent for Mr. Wells, from Michigan or Minnesota. He
had a Hour cotiler ho was introducing." I was acting as agent for him for two or three
mouths, up to the time 1 was employed by Mr. Blodgett.

Question. Mr. Blodgett employed you about what time?
Answer. I suppose about the 1st of October, 1870.

Question. Aud you were kept in his employ till when?
Ansiver. I was kept until the road was leased to the lessees who now have it in

possession.

Question. Were you located at Atlanta all the tinui as freight agent?
Ansiver. No, sir; as clerk in the freight dejjartment.
Question. Did you get your euiployment through Governor Bullock or through Mr.

Blodgcstt bimself ?

Answer. Igot it through Mr. Burnett, the candidate for Congress.
Question. Were you at that time taknig an active part in politics ?

Answer. 1 was, and always had been ever since I was fifteen years old.

Question. You commenced oa Georgia politics as soon as you got there?
Ansiver. Yes, sir ; as soon as the time came I did.

Question. Before Mr. Blodgett had employed you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And INIr. Burnett, who was a candidate for Congress, used his influence with
Mr. Blodgett to get you a i)lace?

Answer. I presume he did ; it was given to me anyhow.
Questioit. Is it your opinion that Mr. Burnett got you the position ?

Answer. I suppose he got me the position.

Question. Because of your activity for him as a candidate ?

Anmver. No, sir ; 1 do not think h(! got it lor me on any such pretension as /hat ; I

think he got it becanso he was a particular friend of mine before he was a candidate.
Question. Had you known him Ijoiore you went to Georgia?
Answer. No, sir; I got ac(puiinted witli him shortly after I went there.

Question. Do you remember what was the ground of that i>articular friendship la

that short time ?

Answer. Well, I had very good letters, which I showed him, from reliable parties.

Sometimes wo take more liking to one ijerson than another ; aud I suppose that was
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the way in this case. I took a particular liking to him, ami I presume it was the

same way with him.
Question. Wlieii did the election take place ?

^liinuer. In December, 1870.

Question. While you were still in the euiploy of Blodgett ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say that the rei)ublicau tickets had Blodgett's picture on them?
Ansucr. Yes, sir: they had, oue day.

Question. Wliy was IJiodgett's picture figuring on the tickets? Do you remember?
Anstvtr. Well, he was not a candidate tor any office.

Question. That is the leasoii 1 ask why his i)icture was put on the tickets.

Answer. I ])iesumo it was done to make hini popular.

Question. WIkui he was not a candidate lor any olhce, can you understand why he
should be made prominent in that way, and his picture put on the ballots?

Answer. 1 can give my ideas on that question, but I cannot give them as evidence.

Question. I want your intbimation about that; you probably know as much about
this as about those outrages reported to you by men who came from other couuties to

Atlanta.
Answer. One obJ(-ct, I ])resuine. was to make him popular—to call eveiy person's

attention to Mr. i>lodgett, so that in case he should become a candidate for anything
every person would know who Colonel JJlodgett was.

Question. Who had that done?
Answer. I presume it was done by the State central committee ; they were the parties

who furnished the tickets, I believe, though I knew nothing about that myself.

Question. After the road was leased you were deprived of your place as a clerk in the
freight department ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What did yon then go at?
Answer. Shortly after that 1 was an applicant for the position of postmaster; and

shortly after that 1 came to Washington. 1 have been here now very nearly three

months.
Question. You were summoned by this committee while you were ni Washington?
Answer. Yes, sir; I was summoned while here.

Question. Did you come and ask to be summoned?
Answer. No, sir; I did not ask to be summoned. I was talking to a gentleman, tell-

ing what I kiuiw, and I suppose- he had me summoned.
Question. You l)ecame an ait])licaut lor tlie position of postmaster?
Answer. Yes, sir; on the recommendations 1 have here in my hand.
Question. Did you become an applicant immediately after the election ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Immediately alter the leasing of the road ?

Ansicer. No, sir; I had been an applicant for some time.

Question. What business had yon been employed in ?

Ansiver. I had not been engaged in any business; I was not expecting to go into any,

as I expected to come to Washington as soon as I got through with matters pertaining
to the position of jiostmaster. 1 did not, in fact, have any time to go into anything
else.

Question. And you have been prosecuting yotir application until the jiresent time ?

Answei: Until about a month or two ago.

Question. Somebody else got the a])p()iutmeut?

Answer. No, sir ; the same i)erson has it now.
Question. You have not succeeded in trying to get him out ?

Answer. No, sir ; I have not.

Question. Is the present incumbent a republican or a democrat?
Answer. I cannot tell you. I would not like to vouch for him either way .

Question. By whom was he appointed ?

Answer. By tin; President.
Question. You have not succeeded in removing him up to this time ?

Answer. I have not, but I i-xpect to, some time.
Question. And yon expect to get in yourself?
Answer. No, sir ; I do not.

Question. Then your eti'ort is a failure, so far as your own appointment is concerned?
An^iver. If I could have got it for myself last winter, I would have taken it ; now I

do not want it.

Question. What position do you want now ?

Answer. I don't know that 1 want anything particular; anything that I can make a
living at.

Question. Are you making application to the President for anything?
Answer. No, sir; I have made no application for anything but postmaster. I have

been olfered a position on this mail route, and 1 expect to take it.



260 CONDITION • OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Questiou. Yoii expect to be iiuiil aj^eut 7

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qiu'fition. On what route ?

AiiKiccr. From here to New Orleans by way of Clinttaiiooga.

Qtdsliun. Then yon have abandoned your citizensliip in Georgia?
Auawcr. No, sir f I have uot. My family is still in Atlanta. 1 do not expect to aban-

don my citizenship there. According to what I know now, I exjjcct to rcoido there aa

long as I liv(v

Qmsiion. Were you arrested during the election of which yon have spoken?
Answer. Yes, sir.

(Jiic'itio)i. 15y whom ?

Aittiwer. By the managers of the election, I ])resume.

Quvntion. Who were they ; the men you have named ?

Answer. Some of them.
(Question. A majority of them were republicans; were they not?
Answer. No; I don't think they were. Three of them were apjjointed by the gov-

ernor, but one of those has since been elected mayor. I don't iciiow whether ho is a
republican or not ; he may be. I did not vote for him, and of course I do not think he
is a republican.
Question. Three out of the live were Governor Bullock's appointees ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The other two were appointed by the mayor of Atlanta?
Answer No, sir; hy the ordinary.

Question. The probate judge, as we would call him in other States?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Those men arrested you ?

Answer. No, sir; they ordered me arrested.

Question. How long were you kept under arrest ?

Ansiver. Two or tbi'eo hours, I presume.
Que.stion. What were you arrested for f

Answer. I did not know what they were arresting me for at the time. I was after-

ward released. I went to the managers and asked them what they had arrested mo
for. I said, "I would like to know the cause of my arrest." One of the judges said

careles.sly, "Well, make it something; let it go; charge him with attempting to vote
men illegally ; " and he made out the warrant and sent it ui> to the acting United
States commissioner. I gave bond in the sum of .$500. The object was to keep mo
from working at the election on that (hty, as the jndgo afterward told me. Two or

three days alterward I said to tbe judge, "Do you still entertain the opinion that I

vas attempting to vote men illegally f" He said, " O, no; you know what that Tvas

for; that is all right ; it is all over now."
Question. Was he one of the republican judges?
Answer. No, sir ; a democrat—Dr. Alexander.
Question. Did the republican jndges unite in the order for your arrest?

Answer. I do uot know, sir ; I tUd not hear. Dr. Alexander is the man in whose
name the warrant was taken out.

Question. Was that the third day of the election ?

Answer. The second day.
Question. During the tirst day had uot the colored men in Atlanta voted twice as

many votes as the white men ?

Answer. I do not know whether I can say the colored men ; .but I must say the re-

publicans were greatly ahead the fust day. Everything was going along nicely.

Question. Had they not formed themselves in line and taken possession of the polls?

Answer. No, sir. Men could go there and vote and would uot have to wait. This
was the case until afternoon or evening. I suppose I vott'd about 4 o'clock. There
was a crowd when I came up to vote ; there were a gooU many democrats there.

They Avere coming away from their business and coming to vote. They would shove
men clear out to the other side of the house ; I suppose it was not that they were try-

ing to keep other men from voting, but they wanted to vote themselves.

(Question. Whom would they shove ?

' Answer. Every person.

Question. Did not the republicans vote twice as many the first day as the democrats
got a chance to vote?

Ansirer. I cannot say that.

Question. They voted largely more?
Answer. They voted some more than the democrats.
Question. What is the population of Atlanta?
Ansiver. I ])resume it is between twenty and twenty-two thousand.
Question. Which race has the majority, the whites or the blacks ?

Answer. I think the^whites have.
Qucslion. Largely 1
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Answer. Not largc]j-.

Question. In the city of Atlanta what number of Avhite repablican voters had j-ou ?

Ansictr. I am not able to Ktate that exactly.

Qiu'siioji. How close can yon come to it ?

Anawcr. Well. I am not prepaied to give an estimate.
Question. Had yon live hundred ?

Answer. I would not like to say that.

Question. Had yon a hundred ? ,
Answer. Yes, sir, we had a hundred ; I will say that.
Question. Do you think you had many more than a hnndred?
Answer. We may have had more than a hundred.
Question. Was not that very nearly the limit of yonr white republican voters in At-

lanta?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. About what u-ould they number 1

Answa: 1 will say about two hundred.
Question. And yet during the lirst day the republican ticket was largely ahead ?

Answer. I cannot saj' largelj' ; we were some ahead.
Question. Ou the second day you were still ahead at night ?

Answer. I think we were some ahead the second day—no, I think about 4 o'clock we
began to lose.

Question. And on the third day how did the vote stand ?

Answer. I do not know how it stood ; I know we were out.
Question. About how many?
Answer. We were beaten from two to three hundred on almost every ticket.

Question. The average was about two or three hundred ?

Answer. I tliink so, to the best of my knowledge.
Que'ition. You have nevei- been jiersoually disturbed or insulted there in any way ?

Ansiva: No, sir; I can say that I have never been disturbed.
Question. Yet you have been an active politician from the time j'ou went there?
Answer. I have been an active iiolitician and I have never been disturbed. I have

had threats made to me by persons.
Question. You commenced to be active in politics as soon as you got into the State ?

Answer. Two or three months afterward.
Qiustion. And from that time ou you were exceedingly active ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; as much so as any person.
Question. And you did this without any molestation ?

Answer. I have never been molested myself. I give credit where credit is due.
Question. And you became, in about a year after you had been there, an a^iplicant for

l>ostmaster of a city of twenty-odd thousand inhabitants ?

Answer. Yes,-sir.

Question. And you got into the revenue service immediately?
Answer. Yes, sir ; that Avas partially understood when I left Pennsylvania.
Question. You got to be, in a few mouths, oue of the employes of the State road

owned by the State of Georgia?
Answer. Yes, sir; I was employed there.

Ques'.ion. And you became an extremely active politician—as active as anybody—

a

decided republican ?

Answer. I claim to be.

Question. You attended the polls all the time ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You were not a candidate yourself?
Ans^wer. I was not a candidate, and I don't know that I ever expected to be.
Question. And you were pushing up the colored men on every occasion?
A7tswer. No, sir : every man, colored or white, that I could get to vote.
Question. And all this was done without any tlisturbance to yourself?
Answer. I have had thi'eats made to me ; but I have never been disturbed.
Question. The portion of the State where you hear of most disturbances is in the

Black Ijelt ?

Ansieer. Yes, sir.

Question. Of which, you say, Macon is the center '!

Answer. No, sir. I do not suppose it is the center; I would say Columbus and down
in Muscogee.

Question. Columbus and Macon are both prominent cities in the Black Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And those are the points where you think there has been the most disturb-
ance?

Answer. No, sir, not in Columbus.
Question. But in that belt of country ?

Answer. Yes, sir.



262 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Qiicatiau. Can you tell us of a human being whom you haye heard of as being whipped
or killed withintho last two year.s within one hundred miles of Columbus ?

A)isnrr. Perhaps I can if you will let me have that map.
Question. Tai\e the map and give; us inlormation of any man whom you have hoard

of as ))eing kiUed in that region since ISCiD.

Aiisim: [Examining the map.] 1 am looking for a place where a gentleman I knew
was killed ; but I am not positive as to the place ; I will let it go for what it is worth.

Qiieslion. You cannot name any sudti case ?

Anmcer. I have heard ; but I have no right to give testimony of what is simply

hearsay.
Qiiciilion. Yes, I am asking you now to state what you have heard. AVho have you

beard wa.s killed withiu two years past, within one hundred miles of Coiunilnis ?

Anfiircr. The gentleman to whom I refer was a member of the senate ; 1 am trying to

think of his name; perhaps I can think of it in a minute. He was a member of tho

Georgia senate f

QiiCfiiou. Do you mean Ashburn ?

Ausicer. 1 have heard of him, of course; but that is not the gentleman I refer to.

• Queslion. That case was in IfiOS; and I am asking you about the last two years.

Answer. Well, I think the case of this gentleman occurred in 1837.

(Question. Of course there were killings in 18137 and 18138; I am asking you about the

last two years.

Answer. Well, then, I have nothing to say ; I find I cannot say positively.

Question. Have you heard of any person either whipped or killed within tho last two
years in Savannali, or in any of tiie twenty-nine counties which compose that congres-

sional district ?

Answer. I will testify as to those gentlemen whose names I have mentioned ; but
those are tho only ones I can state positively—the only ones I can testify to on oath.

I could mention other things on hearsay.

Queslion. Then you confine your statement to the cases of Abraham Colby, Monday
Floyd, and Alfred" Richardson—the three you have spoken of?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know of any case of Ku-Kluxing anywhere in the neighborhood oi

Macon, within the last two years ?

Answer. I will only testify as to the countiesof Morgan, Greene, and Clarke, in which
occurred the cases of the gentlemen I have referred to.

Question. As to the "Black Belt," you do not propose to testify particularly ?

Answer. I will testify to nothing from my personal knowledge.
Question. Give us a case you have heard of.

Answer. I have heard that spoken of as a pretty rough place ; that I can testify to;

and I believe it is so.

Question. 1 would like yon to mention any case which you know of, by hearsay or

otherwise, in that belt of country.
Answer. If I had made myself familiar with that section of country

Question. If you can give any such case, give it ; and if you cannot, say so.

^j/sji'cr. I will say that I cannot.

Question. Monday Floyd was not injured, I believe?

Answer. He was not injured that I know of; ho told mo that ho was not.

Question. Al)raham Colby was not injured ; lie left on notice?

Answer. He left on notice ; the description of the notice I am not able to say ; ho did

not show me the notice.

Question. Those two men are living in Atlanta, claiming that they are afraid to go
home for fear of personal injury ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Your own personal knowledge extends no further than to Atlanta and
Fulton County ?

Answer. 1 can state what those gentlemen told mo ; and from other information I

have the best reason to believe their statements are true.

By the Ciiaihman, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. You were asked if you could give tho names of any parties wlio had been

injured in certain sections of the State. Have you heard of cases where the names have
escaped you ?

Answer. 1 have heard persons' names mentioned, and I have seen cases r(>ferred to in

the papers; but it would not be fair to say on oath who those parties were and to what
county they belonged, as I did not have any occasion at that time to take any partic-

ular notice.

Question. But you have beard of cases of whippings where you have not now a recol-

lection of the names of tho parties ?

Ansieer. Yes, sir. If I could refresh my memory and refer to documents, I think I

could testify better on that point.
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Question. We have no objection to your refreshing yonr memory, if you have the
documents with you.

Answer. I have not them with me.
Qucsiion. IIiivo you beard of any cases of whippings, without any regard to names ?

Answer I have.
Qucslion. In that " E\ack Belt?"
Answer. That aud other portions of the State.

QnesUon. Have the cases of whippings you have heard of been numerous ?

Answer. I ])resume tbey have not been nirmerous. I Iiave heard of three or four
cases, to the best of my Ivuowledge.

Question. Cases of persons whipped by parties in disguise?
Answer. Supposed to be, according to the information given to me.
Question. Have you heard of these disguised men riding about in different portions

of Georgia ?

Ansjvcr. I have.
Question. Within the last twelve months ?

Ansieer Yes, sir, within the last twelve months.
Quesiion. In many portions of the State?
Answer. No, sir. I can say this: I saw a note, which was left with Mr. Burnett, at a

hotel in some village in Floyd County, 1 believe, where he was going to make a speech.
That was just before the election. He got there one evening, went to bed, and I

believe he says about 12 o'clock there c.ime a rap at his door, and lie was told that
fionu; gentlemen v.anted to see bini. Ho says he heard the bugle blowing, and heard
the noise of persons outside. He w"eut to the; window, raised the curtain, and saw, ho
says, as many as eight or ten per.-ons, mottnted on horses. He looked out and said to

his friend, '" There are the Kn-Klux." They sent for him to come down. He went down-
stairs, stood on the porch, and asked them to come tliere, and take their caps off and
show their faces. lV)ne of them spoke, hut they blew their horns, and rode otf. The
letter that was left for him he had. I believe Governor Bullock is now in possession
of that letter. I believe Mr. Burnett told me, when he was here, that he gave it to
the governor.

Question. What was the purport of that letter?

Answer. I did not read it, but he told me it was that he should leave the place by 8
o'clock the next morning ; that if he did not, some person would wait on him.

Qucstioyt. You are allowed to state here what you have heard from other people, if

yon have reason to believe it to be true.

Answer. I have the best reason to believe this was t^ue, because I saw the letter.

I did not read it. Mr. Burnett had it in his hand when he was telling me, and he read
to mo the words, " You will have to leave at 8 o'clock to-morrow nioruiug," or words
to that effect. I had no curiosity to -read th'e letter. •

Question. Did Mr. Richardson and Mr. Floyd tell you they knew of men being
whipped L*.- Kn-Klux?
Answer. They said tbey knew of men being whipped.
Question. How many—one or more?
Anstver. They did not say the number ; they said they knew of persons being

whipped.
Question. In their locality ?

Answer. I cannot speak as to the cottnty where it occurred. I have had conversa-
tions witl) them time and again about these things. I was an active i)olitician, but
was never molested myself I v>-as anxious to know something about these matters.

Question. Did you hear of any cases of whipping by disguised men ?

A)istetr. I did hear of them.
Question. From other persons besides Floyd and Richardson ?

Answer. Well, I have heard it spoken of generally. I would get up in the morning
sometimes and read the cases in the jiapers, and I would hear other persons say such
aud such a case occitrred in certain sections of tlie State; aud they would ask me if I
noticed so and so in the papers abotit such a person being waited on at his house.

Quesiion. Have these cases been frequent?
Answer. They were during the last election—more so just about election time than at

any other time.
Questio)!. Have they been frequent in different parts of the State ?

Ansicer. Ditferent parts of the State.
Question. Have they been more frequent in that " Black Belt" than elsewhere ?

Answer. There and in those counties where the gentlemen live that I have been
speaking of. It appears to be pretty bad in Greene County, according to what they
say.

Question. You say you heard that this Black Belt was a rough place ?

Ansieer. Yes, sir.

Question. Rough in what respect?
Answer. Rough in regard to these organizations— tho organization known as Ku-

Klux, &c., and for persons who were active in politics.
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Question. Active, bow; as democrats?
Ansica: No, sir; Avhen I say active in politics I mean as republicans. I never beard

of a case yet -wbere any person molested or abused by tbe Ku-Klux, belonged to tbe
democratic party. Those who have been Ku-Klnxeil have always been republicans.
When we bear ol' any i)erson lieing hurt, and in(|U)ie as to his politics, it is said he is a
republican, or has been a candidate tor such and such an oflice.

By i.Ir. Bixic

:

Qucstioi). Give us the date when you went to Georgia.
Answer. I went to Atlanta in ilay ol"last J'ear, it I recollect right.
Question. A year ago last May .'

Answer. Yes, sir.
^

Qncslion. You went directly from Pennsylvania to Atlanta ?

Answer. Yes, sir. 1 bad been at Dalton before, and came back and went home, and
tbeu went to Atlanta.

QtiesUon. "Your first residence in the State as a citizen was at Atlanta in May, 1870 ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; the last of April or beginning of May.

By Mr. Blaiu :

Question. The election took i)lace in December, 1870 ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Biick :

Question. Does it not require a year's residence in your State before a man can vote ?

Answer. No, sir; only six months. There were plenty of people who would have
deprived me of my vot« if they could have done so. When you look at the constitutioa
YOU will tind that I am correct. If I had not bad the right to vote I should not have
attempted to. I do not approve of any person voting when be has not the right to vote,
whether he votes the republican or the democratic ticket.

Washington, D.. C., Jul;/ 26, 1871.

AMBROSE R. W^RIGHT sworn and examined.

Tbe CiiAirvMAN, (Mr.. Pool.) Some member of tbe minoritj^ of the committee will
examine this witness first.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. State your place of residence, and your profession.
Answer. I live in Augusta, Georgia; I am a lawyer by profession, and I edit a news-

paper, the Chronicle and Sentinel.

Question. Tell the committee bow long you have resided in the State of Georgia, and
what public positions you have held there.

A)iswer, I was born within forty miles of wbere I now live, in tbe county of JeQerson

—

an adjoining county. I have been there thirty-live or forty years; I have never held
any public oftice. 1 was an elector on the Fillmore ticket in 185G, and on tbe Bell and
Everet ticket in 1860, and 1 was defeated in both elections.

Question. Have you (juite a general knowledge of tbe peoi^le and of tbe condition
of things in your region of country?

Answer. I think 1 know tbe people of Georgia well, mbro particularly in tbe eastern
portion, that portion embraced in the liftb congTessional district in wbicb I live, lying
along the Savaunah River.

Q)icsiio)i. Y'ou have had a great deal of intercoui'so with tbe people in your sectiou of
tbe State?

Answer. I am very familiar with the people in tbat section of the State. I have
practiced in ten of the counties in tbat district; I am regularly, twice a year, in each,

county. The people trade in the county where I live, and I know them very well; I

know the peoi)le generally. I have canvassed tbe State, and know all tbe people of
the State very well.

Queslion. We are endeavoring to ascertain bow far outrages arc being committed in
tbe State of Georgia ; what is the general condition of your people as a law-abiding
people or otherwise ; how far life and property are secure; and if, from any cause, they
are not secure, what is tbat cause. State tbe general condition of the people in your
country in regard to law and order, as fully as you can, without being jjarticularly

interrogated.
Answer. Well, sir, the condition of affairs in Geor<>ia is good. Tbe laws, so far as I

know, and my information is very general, are enforced bj' the courts; tJiere is less

crime there now, and there has been less for the last twelve or eighteen months, per-
haps, than for any other time within tbe last ten or tifteen years. There is a general
disposition among the people to attend to their own business, to try and rebuild their
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fortunes ^hicli were broken down by the war. Iramediafely after the war society was
very mncU rtisorgauized. Just after the ckise of the war tlie negroes were educated
to regard the wliiles of the; South as their enemies, and made to believe (hat southern
native wiiites would put tliein back into slaveiy if they could. Wa had no courts; our
judicial sysrem was ilestroyed ; we had notiung there bur military goverumcait. The
negroes, \\ ho had just been euiaucipated, were very lawless, t hiuking they would be sup-
ported by a class oi men who had come down there to teach them—a class that we call

carpet-baggers; and tliere v/asa great deal of criuu) at that t iuxj. Siiice then, however

—

well, since l8G8-^there has been a very marked and decided improvenunit in the con-
dition of affairs there. I think to-day G(u)rgia is as jK^aceable and as hxw-al)iding a
Slate as there is, perhaiis, in the Union. I hear (X'casioually of an isolated case of
violation of the law, but wherever it occurs the parties are prosecuted and convicted.

Question. Tell us how the judges, the attorneys, and prosecuting ofliccrs throughout
the State are ayipointed, and what is the ])oiiiics generally of the men who arc in
power over yon in judicial offices.

Answer. Under the constitution of 1868 the appointment of judicial officers was
vested in the governor, by and with the consent and advice of the senate. The gov-
ernor has appointed the three judges who ccmstituto our supremo court ; he has ap-
jwiuted twenty circuit judges, and twputy solicitors-general, as we call them, one lor
each judicial circuit.

Question. Prosecuting attorneys?
Answer. Yes, sir. We have an attorney-general of the State, and officers we call

solicitors-general, one for each judicial circuit ; they are appointed by the governor.
Then we have a district court system ; there ought to be Ibrty-four of these courts j

one for each senatorial district in the State. I think some districts were exempted ki
the organization of these courts, so that there are but twenty and some odd of those
district courts. The governor appoints the judges of those district courts, and the dis-
trict attorney and prosecuting othcer. Under our old system wo had for each militia
district iu the State two justices of the peace, elected by the people. The State was
divided into counties, and the counties were subdivided iuto militia districts, and there
are something over a thousand militia districts in the State. Under the new consti-
tution the people are permitted to elect one justice of the peace iu each militia dis-
trict, and the governor appoints a notary public, with the powers of a justice of the
peace, for each militia district. The whole judicial system, therefore, is in the hands
of the governor, and every officer in the State connected with the jucAciary has been
appointed by Governor Bullock.

Question. And they have generally been his political friends ?

Answer. I presume so; so tar as I know they arc. I believe, though, in- one or two
circuits, in two of the twenty circuit courts, the judges that he has appointed are nom-
inally tlemocrats.

Question. Something h^s been said l)y divers witnesses, speaking of Georgia affairs,

about your juries not being, perhaps, cQuiposed of the right sort of men. How are
your juries selected ?

Answer. Well, under the old law, before the adoption of this new constitntion, our
juries were selected from the list of tax-payers, by the clerk and sheriti" of the county
and the judges of the inferior courts. The inferior courts were abolished, and under the
new system, each judge of a judicial circuit appoints three jury commissioners, who,
with the clerk of the superior court and the ordinary of the county, are I'lie jury com-
missioners, who are required to select from the most worthy and intelligent citizens of
the county such names as they deem best htted to go iuto the jury-box. These three
persons selected in each county by the judge of the circuit, and the ordinary and clerk
of the county, are the jury commissioners.

Question. So that practically in your State the republican party, through their offi-

cials, have the selection of the juries/
Answer. Why, cert-iiuly, yes.

Question. Grand juries as well as petit juries?
Ansu-er. Grand juries as well as petit juries. The present officers, the ordinaries and

clerks of our courts, were elected iu 18u8, at the hist election under the constitutiou,
when the State went for the republican party, or they so counted. We said Uullock
was never elected, and we think so still. But in the different counties the ordinaries
and clerks were elected at that election, and were generally republicans, and they are
yet in oftice. All three commissioners iu each countj' have been appointed by repub-
lican judges.

Question. And they have the right to select your juries?
Ansicer. Tliey select just such names as they please, and no one else has any authority

over it at all.

By Jlr. Buviii

:

Question. They could put the names of negroes iu the jury-boxes ?

Answer. They have done that in the county iu which 1 live. There were one hun-
dred and forty-odd names of negroes on the jury-list, so I saw it stated publicly; and
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I believe the names of two hundred and some odd -u-hite persons. I have seen negroes
on rtie jiiiy there. I remember one jury that had three negroes on it, though generally
they are not on tlie juries. I think tliat in the eounty in which Augusta is situated,
in Chatham County, in which Savannah is situated, in Bibb County, and perhaps in

Atlanta, the commissioners have pnt negroes upon tlie Jury-list; I think they are about
all tlie counties where the commissioners have pnt any negroes upon the jury-list.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. In the larger cities yon have more intelligent negroes ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The constitutional provision is that jurors shall bo selected from
the most worthy and intelligent men of tlie community. Wlieu you get out into tho
country districts the most worthy and intelligent men are among the whites, and there
ar<! a l.-irge number of white peo[)le v\'hose names are not put in the jury-boxes.

Question. Because, in the opinion of the officer, they have not the qualifications
re(piired by the constitution ?

Avsirer. Because they do not possess the qualifications required by the constitution.
In f^ome of the counties perhaps one-half, and in others perha[)s one-third, of the
white people are not ])at in tlie jury-boxes.

Qiusiion. Is the eounty of Warren in your congressional district?

J)iswa: It is, and 1 practice law in that county. The county-seat of Warren is about
fifty miles from where I reside.

Qncstio)!. We have had before us a witness, who was at one time the sheriff of that
county, and he gave us a number of eases of outrages committed fiiere. The witness
nametl was J. C. Norris.

Ausivcr. I know him very well, and I have known him twenty years. He was a
shoemaker in Warreiiton before the war.

Question. He spoke ]iarticularly of Dr. Darden. I want you. to give us the facts rela-

tive to the killing of Dr. Darden, the causes that led to it, his political status, and all

you iiiiow about it.

Answer. I think it has been three years since Dr. Darden was killed ; if I am not
mistaken, it v.'as in 18G8. That was not a political difficulty at all ; the facts of that
case are about these

Question. Was not Dr. Darden a republican?
Answer. No, sir ; Dr. Darden was a democrat.
Question. Was Wallace an editor?
Ansiver. Yes, sir; an editor of the newspaper there.

Question. What means have yon of knowing that Dr. Darden was a democrat ?

Answer. I knew him well ; I have his own word for it. I was in correspondence
with him just before his death; he was a subscriber to my paper.

Quet^tion. If Mr. Norris spoke of him as a leading republican he was very much mis-
taken ?

Answer. I cannot suppose that Mr. Norris would have said that Dr. Darden was a
leading republican.

Question. If he did say so he was mistaken?
Anstver. O, most decidedly he was.
Question. Go on with your statement of the case.

Answer. That was noi a political difficulty ; there was no jiolitics in it at all ; they
were both of the same party. As I understand the focts, Dr. Darden had applied to
join a Masonic lodge in that town, of which Wallace was a member, a little over a
year previous to the killing, and had been rejected ; two black balls had been thrown
against him. He waited until a year had passed; I believe, b}^ the rules of that fra-

ternity, a person has to wait a year after rejection; I am not familiar with it. At
least, ho waited until some of his Iriends, and conspicuously Dr. Neeson, informed him
that the opposition to him on the ]iart of those two members who had black-balled
him before had been overcome ; they disclosed to him that Wallace was one ; the other
name lias escaped my mind, I cannot recollect it. But they represented to him that
both liad withdrawn their oppo.sition, and that if he would renew his application he
Avould lie admitted. The application was renewed, and with the same result as in the
case of the (uiginal ai)plication ; he received two black balls.

Question. Dr. Darden was again black-balled ?

Answer. His second ajiplication received the same result, two black balls.

Question. I want to call your attention to this to see if yon may not bo mistaken.
My recollection is that Mr. Norris testified before us that Wallace had applied to tho
loilge for admissu)!!, and tliat he had been black-balled, as he believed, by Dr. Darden

;

that therenpou he swore that he would kill Darden for black-balling him. That is not
true, is it ?

Answer. Ithink Norris is mistaken. v

Question. It was Darden who was black-balled and not Wallace ?

ylnswer. That is my recollection. And then Darden became very violent, supposing
be had reason to be, iiaving been assured that tliis o))position to him had been with-
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drawn. He thought he had been exposed by the duplicity of Wallace, to having his

name again rejected ; he thought he had been outraged, and he was very indignant
und very abusive. Wallace edited a little paper in town, and there was some corre-

spondence between them on the subject, and a very bitter feeling was gotten up on
account of the i-ejection of Dr. Darden, and his conception of the bad treatment )ie

had received from the hands of Wallace and this other gentleman. That went on for

some time, and the controversy was very acrimonious and very bitter. Finally Dr.

Darden shot Wallace.
Qttestion. State the circumstances of that, because we have had stjme controversy

about the circumstances connected with that killing, and we want to know them as

you understand them.
Anfsivcr. The lacts as I understand them are these : that early in the morning, as Wal-

lace was staudnig on his stoop, at his office door, Darwin walked down the street

apparently in search of him, with a double-barreled gun in his hand; that before Wal-
lace saw him or knew of his presence, Darden iired on him, and then tired the second
time, killing him. It was a cold-blooded assassination, and so considered by the peo-

ple there.

Question. Was it generally believed by the people to be an assassination?
Answer. Yes, sir ; a cold-blooded, premeditated assassination.
Question. The shot was iired without Wallace seeing him ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. There had been that provocation which I have stated to you, tha/t

feeling of Darden that he had received an outrage at the hands of Wallace.
Question. Consequent upon that killing, what was the condition of the people there;

what was their feeling about itf

Ansu-cr. The people were very much outraged. It is a very peaceable community,
and the people were very much outraged. Darden was put in jail for his protection,

but that night some people there went and took him out of jail and killed him, to give
it to you in few words.

Question. Was there any partictilar attemjDt made that night to kill Norris?
Answer. None that I ever heard of.

Question. Did you ever hear of disguised men going to his house, aud hunting for

him that night, in order to murder him ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. There was no rumor of that sort in town afterward that you know of?
Answer. Subsequently to that Norris reported that he had been attacked at his house,

and had been shot at. ^

Question. I am speaking of the night when Dr. Darden was killed.

Answer. Not then ; it was subsequent to that.

Question. On the night that Dr. Darden was killed, was any attack made on Mr.
Norris ?

Ansivcr. I never heard of it. I think I should have heard of it if that had been the
case.

Question. There was no rumor existing of such a fiict ?

Ansu'er. No, sir. I know of no reason why they should have wanted to injure Chap
Norris, at that time ; I knew of no bad feeling against him.

Question. You say that so far as you have heard, there was no rumor even that such
a thing was attempted upon him the night that Dr. Darden was taken out of jail ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Norris himself was shot at ; what do you know about that ?

Answer. Nothing, except the rumor at the time. I think Norris was struck; I think
he was shot with small shot ; that is my recollection. The perpetrators of that act
have never been discovered, so far as I know ; he has been very active in attempting
to ferret them out.

Questio)t. He was also maltreated by some men of the name of Cody?
Answer. Yes, sir. He charged two of the young Codys with being of the party that

shot him. Cody was arrested in June, I think—May or June in 1868—by the military
authorities, and carried to Atlanta aud put in prison there. He was tried there, and
the ostensible offense for which ho was arrested was, I tbink, the shooting of a soldier.

I think he was charged with shooting one of the garrison there. He was tried by a
military court and was acquitted; but it was generally believed that Norris had made
a pretext of the charge against him for shooting a soldier, and this arrest was really
because of the difhculty on the part of Norris, who said that Cody was of the party
that shot him, though he was not tried for that offense. He was kept iu prison there,

I think, for four or five weeks.
Question. What is the general character of Norris in your community?
Answer. Well, before tlie war. Chap was a pretty good boot-maker ; he lived in the

town, aud made shoes for the jieople. I remember that on one occasion there was a
case in court, iu which he was a material witness, and his credibility was attacked
and successfully attacked by the leading citizens there, who swore that they would
not believe him on his oath. He has never been a man of any standing or resijecta-

bility there whatever.
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Qiu'sfion. \Va3 Iio successfully impcaclied. as a niau not to be bclicvctl on oath, even
belbro tho war ?

Jiifiwcr. Yes, sir; this case occurred before 1 he war, or perhaps about tho beginning
of tho war— no, I think it was as far hack as 187)8 or 1809. lie has been considered
latlier a worthless sort of chariieter about town.

QiiCHtion. Is that his general character now ?

Aiimrcr. O, yes.

Qitculioii. That he is a man not worthy of belief on his oath ?

Answer I do not think you would liud a dozen meu in Ins county who would say
they would believe him on his oath. I do not say that because of the fact that he
belongs to the re])ubliean party; I think that was the case before the war.

Qiirstioii. Do yon know anything about the history of a note that Norris holds, eigucd
by Swayne, Kill, and others?

Aiinwcr. riwain, Ivey, and Hill are the three parties who signed tho note. I know
this; some time subsequent to the killing of Darden, and the killing of Adkins, State
senator from that county, Chap Norris went down to Warrei> on with a squad of
militia—I think a whole company—for the purpose of making the arrest of parties
Avhom ho charged with killing Darden, the parties he charged with killing Adkins,
and the parties he charged with shooting himself. The Codys had been carried to
Atlant.i and kept in coiiiinement there a long time, and had to ])ay very heavy
lawyers' fees to get out. These parties. Hill, Ivcy, and Swain, and a number of others,
were those he designated he was going to arrest. He intimated to them or told them,
I don't know which, that for a certain sum they would not be prosecuted. Some of
their friends came to Augusta to consult with me as to the propriety of buying Noiris
olT. I advised positively against it, because I thought I knew Norris was a man who was
powerless, that he would do them no harm, lor no one would believe him. But they
became afraid that he had at least tho power to arrest them, and would take them to
Atlanta and pnt them in the sweat-boxes, and they concluded to buy his peace, and
jravo him tliat note in consideration tliat they were not to be arrested.

Question. Did those men themselves who gave yon that note consult yon about it?

Answer. No, sir; I think it was a mutual friend of these men who came dowu to sefl

me. I think I saw Mr. Ivey subsequently—I am sure I did—and I gave him a pretty
severe rasi)iug for having gone contrary to the advice of his friends in the matter.
This was the excuse they gave for it.

Quisiion. You think the men who gave the note were the parties he Avas about to
arj-est i? j

Answer. Y'es, sir ; he had designated them and some two or tliree others, as those lie

was going to arrest, and this note was given to avoid the arrest. They regarded tho
arrest as being in itself a very severe punishment—the being taken off by the military
and carried away from their families, and put in cells at Atlanta.

Qucsiion. Mr. Norris was very emphatic belbre us in saying he had no reason to sup-
l>ose that any of the three men on that live-thousand dollar note given to him were
in any way implicated in those transactions. Y'ou think ho did certainly threaten
them with arrest?

Answer. 1 can see no reason why they should have given the note, except for that.
They sent to mo in Augusta, and consulted with other friends as to what course They
should i)ursue, whether they should give the note to Norris and avoid being arrested.
I have no hesitation in saying that the note was given for that i)urpose.

Qnestion. I wish you would give us also, so far as you know t-hem, the facts in tho
Adkin's case, and the date of that case?

Answer. I cannot bo precise as to dates. It was long subsequent to the killing of
Darden, and if I mistake not, it was in 18(39, the early part of tho year. I saw Mr.
Adkins tho day before he was killed ; he was on his way from Washington, where ho
said he had been, and was then returning-'home. ]''roin the best intbrniation I can get
in regard to the killing of Adkins, I think ho was killed by the relatives of a young
lady t(j whom he had ollered a gross insult. I was at the Columbia court in March,
1869, I think, just preceding the killing of Adkins. Adkins lived on the line of Co-
lumbia and Warren. While at the Columbia court a letter was submitted to me, iu
the haiulwriting of Adkins, addressed to a reputable and respectable woman in tho
county of Columbia, immediately upon the line. It wassubmitted to me by the frienda
of the lady, who were veiy much incensed at it, and who were disposed to take per-
sonal vengeance on him. I advised against that course.

Question. Was that letter one making dishonorable proposals?
Anstver. Yes, sir; and it made reference to dishonorable intercourse between them

previously. She had been staying at his house, so th'' letter stated, and that I beliovo
was ihe fact; she had been on a visit to his wife and daughter. He made somo vaguo
allusions in the letter to sonusthing that had transpired between tihem while she was
at his house, and insisted upon illicinj intercourse with her.

Question. That, letter came into tho possession of her friends?
Ansiver. O, yes, sir; a distant relative of hers submitted it to me, and I think it was
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sho-^N'u to several other gentlemen, leading members of the bar there, anil their advice
was taken ; and all concurred in giving the same advice that I did, at least I know
two gentlemen did, that Ihcy ought not to notice it. It was but a short time after

that, I thinlv tho lir.st time he was seen there, that he was killed.

Oiicsiion. lie was believed to be killed on that accoimt, by the friends of this young
ladV?

jiistrer. Yes, sir; I believe two of them who were suspected, have both been killed

since, have met violent deaths. 'J'])cy were Avorthless, desperate men, bad men iu the
comnnniity.

Qiieslion- There was no ])olitics in that case?
Answer. If there was any jiolitics, it was this : Mr. Adkius was very odious to them

there, on account of his affiliation with the negroes ; his social equality with the
negroes. Perhaps that may have inlluenccd these parties to take the law into their

own liands, knowing that he was under the ban of good society there; to that extent
politics was in it, but not further. Doubtless it is true that if he had been a man of
high position in societj' there, considered a reputable man, they would not have killed

him.
QHcMion. "Was there ever a time in Georgia when the brothers and friends of a re-spect-

able girl, who had received a letter of that sort, would not have killed the writer of it;

at least, in the majority of cases ?

Atisiror. Yes, sir ; I think that is tme of the people of the South. They are very jeal-

ous in their protection of the character of their female relatives.

Qucsdov. And whatever other causes may have led to his death, that cause at any
time would have been considered a snfhcieut excuse by a large portion of your people
there f

Ansira: Yes. sir ; I think so.

Question. Will you now tell us whether, in your practice in the courts, any unjust or

improper discriminations were made against negroes, because of their race, color, and
previous condition ; or whether they get fair justice when they are tried before youi
judicial tribunals ? Give us any facts you may, as a lawyer, know on this subject.

A)im-er. Well, sir ; I have thought and still think, that there has been a mawkish
sensiltlKty on the part .of your people, down there, in asserting the rights of the negro;
they have gone further, in the protection of the rights of the negro, in a number of cases,

than I think they were justified in doing. They seem to have been afraid that they
would not do the negro justice, and they have leaned over the other way. I have
noticed this in their trials in civil cases, in cases between them and whites ; also, iu

piosecutions of petty oft'ences, iu which the juries have invariably, whenever they
could get any evidence at all to acquit, acquitted them. I know that it has been
charged that a white man cannot be ))uuisheti in that State, and in that district, for the
killing of a negro. I know that is false. I know of two white men who very recently
have been convicted of the killing of negroes; one I prosecuted myself, and he was
convicted of manslaughter. There had been a true bill for murder, but the evidence
did not show a case of murder, and the verdict was for manslaughter. Although I pros-

ecuted the case, I thought that tliat verdict was sustained by the evidence, that he was
guilty of maushiughter. Tiie judge of the circuit gave him tho extreme penalty of the
law, imprisonment in the penitentiary. Tho other was an indictment for murder also

;

the evidence showed it to be a case of murder. There were some iialliating circum-
stances, but tho jury found him guilty of murder, and he is sentenced to be hung on
the lirst day of September. And let me state that while these trials were going on
there, in that veiy comity of Washington, where these two nien were indicted, tried,

and convicted, one for murder and one for manslaughter, twelve white citizens of that
county were arrested, charged with an assault and battery on a negro, carried to Savan-
nah, one hundred and thirty miles away, under the Ku-Klux law ; and they were kept
down there in tho military barracks or prison for several days, tried before the United
States couHiii sioner. General Swayne, and a carjiet- bagger of the name of Lee, and after

full investigation, those twelve white men were acquitted.
Question. Thej' were taken from the county of Washington ?

Ansrver. They were taken from the county of Washington, were the assault and bat-

tery was alleged to have been committed. They were tried the very same week that
these cases ot murder were tried in the State courts.

Question. Was there any reason why they could not have been tried at home, and
punished, if found guilty "f

Ansicer. None whatever ; and I have no doubt that if they had been tried in Wash-
ington, and there had been sufBcieut evidence to convict them, they would have been
convicted. I know of another case in that county, and that is a county in which it is

reported there have been a number of Ku-Klux cases. We could hear of them only
thiough the newspapers. I remember a remarkable instance there : There was a young
man of the name of Flournoy, a very worthy young man, very much beloved, a mem-
ber of the legislature, and one of the few in the legislature of 1868 who came out with-
out the smell of fire on his garments ; he was considered an honest man, although ho
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had been in the Georifia leyislatare of 1S68. A negro was indicted for an assault with.
intent to innrdcr; young Flonrnoy was the hiwyer wlio defended liim ; the negro was\
acquitted, and Flonrnoy took the negro on his plantation, two miles from the village, V

to work out for him his fee, as the negro had expressed some gratitude for his services. J

He was tried in March, and in June he shot Mr. Flouruoy. The peoi)lo were very nnicu
ontrag(Ml, and it was with great difiiculty that the populace were prevented from
lynching him on the spot ; but the leading people prevented it, and he was put in jail

and took his triai. The evidence did not show a case of murder, and he was convicted
of manslaughter. I know of another case, a case which occurred in Ihirke County: A
negro v,:;s charged with the killing of a man by the name of Adkins Lewis, a very
resi)ectable and worthy gentleman. ]Mr. Lewis was most brutally murdered in a field.

The evidence showed that the negro had procured a long, eleven-inch saw-iile the even-
ing before, had taken it to a grindstone and ground off both edges of it, making a dag-
ger of it, and had put a handle to it ; that he carried it into the iield with him the next
morning; and tliat when Mr. Lewis came into the Iield, he attacked him and cut him
in twenty-three dilferent places with that murderous weapon. There were two colored
men indicted for that offense. The negro who was charged with actually committing
the murder was convicted ; the negro wlio was charged with being guilty in the second
degree, with having helped to sharpen the knife, and who was present when the act was
committed, was defended by myself, and acquitted. The weight of the evidence rather
showed that he was not a participant in the crime, and he was acquitted. I could go
on and give a number of just such cases as that, which have occurred in my practice
there, to show you that, so far as that portion of the State is concerned where my
practice extends, the negro is just as fully protected by the laws as a white man—just
as fully, and, indeed, a little more so.

Qiiesiioii. Have you had changes made in your law reducing the grade of offenses ?

Avswer. Yes, sir; and I ought to have spoken of that.

Question. What has been the effect of that upon your people ?

Ausirir. Since the war, all our grades of larceny, and there are several hundred spe-
cies of larceny, have been reduced from felony to misdemeanor, and the punishment
to a fine or imprisonment, or both, at the discretion of the court. Before the war all

these cases of larceny were punishable by imprisonment in the penitentiary, but our
people thought we could not build a penitentiary large enough to hold all these oifinid-

ers against the law. I suppose that was one reason why they reductjd the punish-
ment. All of the grades of arson and burglary, except burglary and arson in the
uighi-time, Iiave been reduced. One of the grades of rape, " attempt to commit rap(!,"

has been reduced. For several hundred offenses in our State the grade has been re-

duced from felony to misdemeanor, and the punishment from imprisonment in the
penitentiary to tine or imprisonment in the county jail, either or both, in the discretion
of the judge.

Qiiedio)!. That you think was done principally to prevent the severer punishment
falling 111)011 the negro race particularly f

Junwcr. I think the motives that influenced the legislature were that the negro had
just bwn emancipated, that during the existence of slavery these little thefts and
larcenies were punished by their owners, and that the negroes were perhaps not aware
of the enormity of those offenses under the law. It was therefore in tender consider-
ation of the negro himself that these offenses were mitigated.

Qne»tion. Is it a fact that in negro communities you have a great deal of that sort of
stealing ?

Ansuer. Yes, sir ; chicken stealing ; hog stealing ; cow stealing, the stealing of
clothes and money—stealing of all sorts. There is no end to the variety of larcenies
committed. Previous to emancipation all these petty larcenies were punished by the
owner of the slaves and never referred to the courts.

Queaiiov. There was also a great deal of pilfering in slavery times?
Anim-er. Yes, sir. I do not think that since the war there has been more of it than

before. We hear more of it in the courts, because, as I have just stated, before the war the
courts did not take cognizance of those things. I think the negroes, as a class, have
been behaving remarkaljly well, and are still behaving remarkably well. There are a
few turbulent characters, particularly about cities and large towns, that ai'e bad men,
but there are bad white men, too. lint, as a class, the negroes have behaved remark-
ably well, in my opinion.

(fiu'hiion. Asa general rule, how have your white ])eople treated the negroes in your
,
region of Georgia; what has been their general treatment of them ?

Aiiau-er. The treatment of the negro lias been improving. Just after the close of the
war tlie white peoi)le were very much irritated, and I think there was a veiy general
disposition, not perhaps a general disposition, but a disposition among the people to

rather overreach the negroes in making trades with them, and for labor. That was
attempted i)rincipally by selling them goods and siii)plies at enormous i)rices. Tfkat

has been done away with generally ; but, in regard to labor and money transactions
with them, I occasionally hear of an isolated case here and there, but it amounts to

little or nothing in the aggregate. The negroes seem to be contented ; more contented
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now tbun I have ever known tbem. There is a better condition of feeliuj^ between tlio

races there now than there has been liefbre, since the war.
Qucsiion. A great deal has been said about negroes being obliged to go to the towns

and villages lor protection from the peoi)le in the more sparsely settled portions of the
country. Do you need their labor in the country ?

Answer. Yes; we have no other labor than theirs. Instead of running off the labor,

it is the interest of the planters and of the men in the country to keep the labor tliero

and n)ake it contented. And they endeavor to do so. They put up school-houses, I'ur-

nish them with their little supi)l:es at moderate prices>^givo tlieui stock, a cow and
calf, for instance ; let them raise pigs and poultry, and send what tiiey raise to market
for them. They encourage them all they can to stay on the plantation and work tlieir

crops. But there is a class of restless negroes who run into the towns and try to li%'e

without work. Their idea is that they can live there, set up a little trading place, or
thieve and get something, or do .something else. Two years ago there was a consider-

able number of negroes who had gathered about the larger towns ; I know that in the
town where I lived there were a great many of them ; but that is not the case so much
now. The tendency this year has been for the negroes in the towns to go into the
country.

Queslion. The class of negroes who flock to the towns freqiiently give excuses of cue
sort and another; say they are afraid of the Ku-Klux or something else ? ,

Auswcr. Yes, sir ; they were applied to frequently by gentlemen who wanted their
labor in the country, and they stated they were afraid to go, while the truth was that
they preferred to live in town, and live by stealing and maiauding.

Question. And by trading ?

ADSiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Trading generally with country negroes ?

Jnsicer. Yes, sir ; I think there are but a few of them there now doing that.

Question. It was regarded by your people that many of these excuses made by them
were lying pretexts ?

Auswcr. I am sure^here could have been no reason for their coming into town other
than I liave given Q[_know it was for the interest of the planters to keep them in the
country ; and I know they made efforts to keep them there ; offered inducements to

them to remain there^
Question. A great deal has been said about Ku-Klux organizations being got up to

control the negro vote, to make them vote the democratic ticket. I want to know
something about the voting there by the races ; whether there has been any inter-

ference of that sort with the negroes. By the way, just there state whether democratic
negroes have been free to vote.

Answer. I have never seen any attempt on the part of the whites to intimidate the
negroes. I know, from personal observation, that negroes were intimidated by their
own race from voting the democratic ticket; I know that was markedly the case at
the last election. I witnessed it, where negroes were threatened with the severest
punishment for voting the democratic ticket ; they were set upon by their own race
whenever suspected of having voted the democratic ballot. In the town in which I

live the election managers who were appointed by the governor, and were of the re-

publican partj', had a ballot-box for the negroes, and one for the whites. A negro
could not vote at the colored box, as they call it, if he voted the democratic ticket

;

it would have been worth his life to have made the attempt. The only way in which
they could vote the democratic ticket, was by being smuggled in among the white
people and allowed to vote at the white box, and protected by the whites while going
in and coming out from the place of voting. As a matter of course the negroes do not
understand this election business ; when they first went into the election, they had an
idea that by voting they would get something ; it was an indefiuite idea in their minds,
1 presume, but they thought that they would be benetited by this thing of voting.
They were very jealous of their rights to vote, so much so that they armed tliemselves,

and went armed to the polls. At the last election, in a county adjoining the one in

which I live, in Columbia County, a crowd of about three hundred negroes armed
themselves with ])istols and shot gnus, and Joe Brown pikes, and had their regular
officers, and marched down to the place of voting with a thorough military organiza-
tion ; I do not think the negroes knew any better. However, they were met at the
outskirts of the village, and talked to by some of the leading citizens, and they stacked
their arras there and dispersed, and there was no difficulty. The whites determined
they should not ccme into town with guns in their hands.

Question. What do you call a Joe Brown pike?
Answer. At the beginning of the war the people of the State were scarce of arms.

Joe Brown, in his zeal to arm the State troops, had the penitentiary convicts and other
liersons engaged in making pikes with which to arm the confederate soldiers. Thesef
pikes were about six or seven feet long, an inch and a lialf or two inches thick, made
of ash, hickory, or some tough wood, and mounted on the end with a piece of steel or
iron about fourteen or fifteen incites long, somewhat in the shape of a pruuing-hook.
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Tlionsamls of tlinse pikes were nuulc; some of tlicm got out after the ^var, and were
(listrihiitfd among tbo people. I Lave some of them iu my ofiicc uo^^, as relics of Joo
Brown's eaj^erness to get into the fray.

Qiieotion. When these negroes were first given the right to vote, -nhat class of men
took possession of them ?

Jii.strcr. Tiiey were taken possession of hy a class of men who went down there con-

nected in some way with the Freedmen's Bureau; they swarmed all over the country.

The white people were sore, intensely sore, at the results of the war, at losing their

Blav<!s, and they shrank back and had nothing to say to the negroes. That course of

conduct on their part enabled these men to go on and obtain the confidence of the

negroes; they made tlie negroes believe that unless they banded themselves together

and stood np for their rights, the white people would put them back into slavery. But
the reign of that class of peoj)le iu our State is over—past and gone. These men canio

there and fastened themselves upon every cimnuuuity, and when the election for mem-
bers of the legislature came on they were themselves elected. I can give you an
instance right there, within a stone's throw of where I live, of a man liy the name of

Captain Richardson, who went down there in the Bureau. He; lived in Augusta, and
was elected a member of the legislature from the county of Hancock, way np in the

interior of the State; he perhaps never was iu that county in his life. There was a

man by the name of .J. Mason Rice, who came out in the Bureau, and lived in Augusta

;

he was elected a representative of the county of Columbia. A man of the name of

Sherman came down there, not in the Bureau, but as a developer. lie bought a piece

of laud near Augusta, and worked it for a while, and then had to give it uj). He ran

for the place of senator in thti district composed of Wilkes, Jackson, and Columbia.
Wilkes is the county iu which Toombs lives. This man ran lor senator, and was elected

there. There was Rice, elected as a nieni))er from Columbia County, and never was in

it; Richardson was elected as a member from Hancock County, and he never was iu

that county ; and Sherman was elected as senator from Wilkes, Lincoln, and Columbia
Counties, and, so far as I know, he has never been in either one of them. A man by
the nairu- of Claiborn, a Baltimore negro, came down to Augusta with the Bureau, and
was elected a member of the legislature Irom Burke County. He served until a few
months before the close of the legislature, Avheu he was killed by a negro in the capital.

Question. Does your law require the representative to live in the county he claims to

rejjresent if

Answer. Yes, sir; but the republicans had a majority there, and they permitted any
one to take his seat who had the returns ; and when they really did not get a majority

of the votes, Mr. Hurlburt, who was the head ujan of the registration, fixed up the

votes, cooked them up for them, and they were admitted. We were entirely i)owerles8

there.

Question. That class of men control the votes of the colored people?
Answer. Implicitly.

.. Question. Was any such thing as promises of land and otlier property ever made to

[ the negro ? v

I
Answer. The negroes said so. Up to the latter part of 1868 the negroes believed thatY

I
by voting they woe going to get a division of the laud and stock of the country,

j]

These carpet-baggers would go down there and actually sell stakes to them. That is

almost tco iujpiobable for belief; but these rascals would go down there and sell'

painted stakes to these negroes, and tell them that all they hail to do was to put down
the stakes on their owners' iainis, and forty acres of land would be theirs after election.

You could see them all over the country. The negroes said they gave a dollar apiece

for those stakes. They were very ignorant, or they would not have believed such

i \ things ; but they did believe it, and, I have no doubt, implicitly.

Question. That belief has passed away ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And the scepter has departed from them?
r Ansiver. Yes, sir ; the colored people understand this thing now ; the negroes and the

/whites are in thorough understanding with each other. The negroes vote now with
their old owners; they did seat the last election. Their owners would lix up their

/ teams and wagons, haul them to the place of election, and supply them with tickets to

/ vote. The negroes are now tired of the carpet-baggers.

Question. In your region of country were there any riots or disturbances at the last

election which prevented free voting to any extent?
Answer. I heard of but one in the State. I believe there was some difiiculty in

Savannah, but of that I am not certain. In Columbia County, the county of which I

have been speaking, when those two or tliree hundred armed negroes went up there,

there h;ul been just previous a little difiiculty in regard to the managers of the election,

s Mr. Akerman went down there and fixed up the election bill for us. Under the old

[laws of the State elections were held at the county seat of each county, and at the

. different precincts in the county ; from three to six precincts iu each county. Under
the new law all voting was required to be done at the county seats, and instead of one
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day for voting -^e had three days for voting. The managers of the election were
selected bj- tlie govi-rnor, three vi' thcui, and two managers were selected by tin- ordi-

naries of eaeli cminty. The organization of each county was generally in the luuids of

the persons, as I have just stated, who were elected in 1868, and were repuljlicans.

The ordinaries had the appointment of two managers of elections, and the governor had
the appointment of three. The managers thus appointed had to be cunlirmed by the

senate; and wherever the ordinaries nominated democrats they were not contirmed.

I remember that in the county where 1 live the ordinary appointed one republican aiid

one democrat. There had been three republicans appointed by the governor. The
senate refused to confirm the democrat appointed by the ordinary, but confirmed the

republicau. In Columbia County boih the appointees of the ordinary were deuiocrats,

and the senate refused to coufirm them. It was generally the case that where the

ordinary appointed democrats there was no confirmation, -which left the ballot entirely

in the control of the three men appointed by the governor. In Columbia County he
appointed three managers; one was a geutleman well known there, raised iu the
county, a very clever man, a republican, and a man who had been in the tax assessor's

office,'iu some way. Another was a white man of whom nobody had heard before. He
was a carpet-bagger whom they had brought in there from some place, and he has not

been seen there since. The other was a negro, named Robert E. Lee. Now, nobody
Lad heard of a negro named Robert E. Lee, but they found a man named Robert Lee.

Question. A colored man?
Anstier. Yes, sir; and rather than have the election defeated, (the law required that

a majority of the managers should conduct the elections.) they i)ersuaded this negro
man to qualify. After the election had been going on for some time, another colored

man was brought up by Sherman, whom I have spoken of, and he insisted that he was
the man who had been appointed by the governor. There was no riot there, but it

was while that disturbance was going ou, as to which was the Robert Lee appointed
by the governor, that this crowd of armed negroes came uj) ; but there were no blows
struck. The white men went out there and told the negroes what wrong they were
doing, and they put down their arms and left them there.

Question. I have a little curiosity to know which Robert Lee held the election?

Ansucr. The county fellow stuck to the place; he had been sworn in, and he kept
the other fellow out.

QneHtiou. Were you, iu your business, in frequent communication with Atlanta?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you hear of any serious wrongs being done at the polls there, of a
large number of persons being excluded from voting there, at Atlanta 1

Answer. Ko, sir; I believe ou the first day, perhaps, there was some collision between
individuals outside of the polling places, iu the town ; but nothing more than there

always is in the South at elections. I believe there was a difficulty in Savannah, but
the particulars of that I have forgotten. I think that is the only place where there

was any serious difficulty, that I remember.
Question. Mr. Rockafellow was here yesterday and stated a great deal about serious

troubles at Atlanta, where he was, and said that four or five hundred men were not
allowed to vote. I mention that name to call your attention to the case ?

Answer. Well, this Rockafellow is a stranger there; he is a carpet-bagger, and has
been down there but a little while. He first went to Savannah, and I think aspired to

a place iu the custom house there ; he maneuvered there a while, but did not get it.

He went to Macon and tried to get into office there, and failed ; and then he went on
to Atlanta, and has made a dead set to get Mr. Dunning, the postmaster there, out of

office. That man Rockafellow was denounced three or four mouths ago by the Atlanta
Era, the leading republicau paper in the State, in the most unmeasured terms.

Question. Did not the Atlanta Era, the republican paper there, in a number of its

issues, denoimce him as a man wholly unworthy of a position of any sort?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think so. I take the Era, but I did not think him worthy of

notice, and was surprised that the Era should waste its time upon such a character.

Question. It did keep up a fire upon him?
Answer. It did, sharply, for some time.

Question. The Era is an acknowledged republican paper?
Answer. Yes, sir ; the organ of Governor Bullock, and published at the capital of the

State.

Question. Rockafellow failed to get the postmaster removed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And he now claims to have a mail agency promised him from Washington,
by the way of Chattanooga and New Orleans?

Answer. I do not know about that.

Question. Do you believe he would be a good man to get up Ku-Klux outrages along
that road if he gets that position ?

Answer. From what the republicans say of him, I should suppose that be would be a

good man for that purpose.

18 G
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Qticstioti. Under your election laws, as now arranged, would a inajority of the
appointees of the governor, and of tliose appointed by the ordinaries, subject to cou-
firniation by tlie Senate, and generally uncontirined unless they belong to the republi-
can party, always be republicans

;
and would it bo possible for the democrats to exer-

cise any frauds in the counting of votes or the receiving of them ?

Answer. The law authorizes these managers to take the ballot-boxes homo with
them at night, for the three nights they have charge of them.

Question. And these managers are republicans, a majority of them?
Answer. Tliey are obliged to be, because the governor appoints three of the five

managers of t^lie county, and they constitute a majority. If the ordinaries should
appoint their full numljer of democrats, and they were confirmed, there would only be
two in a county, leaving tins appointees of the governor in the majority. In the town
where I live, with four or live thousand voters, there were four nuwiagers of electious
there, and they wero all four republicans. TJie first night they proposed that one of
the republican managers should take the ballot-box homo with him, wliile another
republican manager put the key in his pocket. The democrats said that could not be
done. There was no riot, but there was a determination shown that the ballot should
be protected. Finally, it was agreed between the candidates on either side that a
member from each i)arty should bo selected to sit up with the box all night, and that
was done. Each party designated a man to stay with the managers of elections, so
careful were we that there should be no frauds. We were satislied that if there was a
fair election we could carry the State ; and we were determined, if we could prevent
it, that there should be no ballots thrown out. AVe had nothing to gain hy having
ballots thrown out, it was not necessary, as wo thought, to resort to frauds, eveu if we
had been disposed to do it, because we were conlident that wo would carry the State.

Quvsiion. And you had not the power even if you had been so disposed ?

Ansicer. No ; they had the power themselves.
Question. There have been cases stated before us of women as well as men who have

been whipped. Have you heard of any of that class of cases, and, if so, will you state
"uiiy that is done ?

Answer. 1 have heard of some.
Question. What is the trouble in those cases ?

Answer. It grow out of the fact that the governor commenced a series of pardons

;

and it was generally believed that if you tried a man and convicted him, let the evi-

deuce^be however strong, the governor wotild pardon him. He has pardoned a number
of murderers, and a number of persons who have been convicted of manslaughter,
and rape, and arson, and innumerable cases of larceny. I remember an instance in

which it is alleged that a woman and a man were whipped. A negro was living in

adultery with a white woman, on the line of Burke and Scriven Counties. It was an
open and notorious case of adultery ; it outraged the community very much, and they
were botharrested and prosecuted. The neighbors employed counsel to prosecute them.
They gave mo a fee, and I prosecuted them, and the negro was tried and convicted;
the evidence was clear. The punishment for such a crinu', has been reduced ; ho was
sentenced to thirty days imprisonment, and to a fine of $50, by a judge appointed by
Governor Bullock, a republican. In loss than two weeks Governor Bullock had par-
doned him out, and he was back again living in adultery with that wonum.

Question. Your peoi^lo have not yet quite got up to the point of admitting that mis-
cegenation is a desirable thing?

Ansiver. No, sir. Another cause is this : Governor Bullock has appointed a number of
very inefficient prosecuting officers, and persons who have really been guilty have
escaped through the inefficiency of the prosecuting officers. There was a notable case
in Burke at the last term of the court, where a white man was indicted for living iu
a state of adultery with a negro woman, after abandoning his wife. It shocked the
coumiuuity, and the grand jury made a special presentment of the case. By the inef-

ficiency of the prosecuting attorney both escaped punishment. Since the term of the
court, and I believe about ten days afterward, somebody went to the house and gave
them a good thrashing, and gave them notice that they must quit that sort of thing.

Question. Generally where women are interfered with iu that way, it grows out of
that soft of intercourse ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; both parties are whipped ; they would whip white and black the
same. I know a number of cases in which Governor Bullock has pardoned persons;
and that was one of the causes why these cases of lynch law have occurred; that was
the main cause. The governor had pardoned out so many criminals that the people
felt that it was no use trying to convict a person charged with crime, because lie would
be pardoned, and they thought the better plan was to inflict exemplary punishment
themselves. I have no doubt that has been the main cause of that thing. The com-
munity have now set themselves against Ihat thing, and it is better. I know a number
of cases Governor Bullock has pardoned. He pardoned a man in Elbert County, a
man by the nam« of Cody, who had killed a man. His father employed able counsel,

Mr. Toombs, to defend him thinking he would have to be tried, for he had secreted
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himself and committed that murder, but he went up to Atlanta and saw Goveruor
Bullock; when he came back he stated to his friends that he had not made all his
arrangements, but that he was going back to complete them. He again went to Atlanta
and in a few days he came back with a pardon frohi Governor Bullock.

'

QuesiioH. Before trial ?

A7isurr. Yes, sir.

Question. Is it supposed that money can influence the obtaining of pardons?
Answer. O, yes, sir. I do not say that is so, but that is the opinion. I will give an-

other case
:
a man by the name of Reese was tried by a military commission in 1865 or

lt6G, just afterthe close of the war; and there were two others of the name of Brown.
I was associated in the deiense of Reese. This occurred in Taliaferro County, just
upon the line of Wilkes—no, it was in Wilkes, near the line. They were brought to
Augusta, and tried before the military commission. I appeared for Reese in thift trial
there. The eftbrt then made was to get the venue changed, to get the case tried in
Wilkes, which we succeeded in doing. I did not attend that trial, but Reese was then
tried, convicted, sentenced, and pardoned by Mr. President Johnson. Not more than
eighteen months or a year siuce he killed a man in Crawtordsville, Taliaferro County;
It was a cold-blooded murder. He was tried and convicted, sentenced to he huu"- on
the fourth day of next month. He is a bad man. He is believed to belong to a clan
of assassins and robbers who have infested that section of the State, exteuding from
the Savannah River, opposite the Abbeville district of South Carolina, across the
State to the Chattahoochee. There have been some murders committed there, and the
supposition is that there are some twelve or fifteen wild, reckless wretches in that clan.
The day before I left he received a respite from the governor until October, and he and
his friends say that he will be pardoned. He seems to be confident of it.

Question. Upon what did they base their calculations for getting a pardon, in vour
opinion f

« o i > j

Answer. They based their opinion upon raising the amount necessary to get their
pardon through.

Question. He bas succeeded already in getting a respite?
Answer. Yes, sir; it reached there the day before I left home.
Question. And he is contident that if he can raise the money he will get a pardon ?
Answer. That is their confidence ; they may be mistaken.
Question. All those things combined render the people desperate ; they feel that ius-

tice cannot be done ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is, rapes, murders, larcenies, aggravating crimes, and things
of that kind. In one county, the fall before last, there were over fifteen gin-houses
burned. Well, it was a general thing ; it was not confined to that particular county.
Houses would be burned, gin-houses and valuable property would be destroyed, and
people felt insecure

;
people felt that they must, and in a number of cases they did—

I :^ay " a number," in several cases—take the law in their own hands, yast as they
would have done before the war, or at any other time, or as any other people would
have done. They felt this insecurity from the pardons of the governor. I remember
a case of rape, tried at the last January term of the Richmond superior court, in
which a negro was charged with attempting to commit a rape upon a white woman.
The evidence was very clear, and he was convicted ; but he received from the judge
the very lowest penalty prescribed by the law.

Question. Have you had serious discontents in the State of Georgia, growiu"- out of
the management of your railroad affairs ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. Give us, as briefly as you can, a statement of that management.
Answer. The people there feel hopeless in relation to our public debt. The last legis-

lature and Governor Bullock have involved them in such a heavy debt, that it will be
impossible for the people ever to pay it. Our taxes have not been materially increased,
and perhaps we are in that respect better off than nianv of the Southern States; but
Ave have been involved in debt by the issue of millions of State bonds, which will have
to be paid or repudiated. The State road, which before the war was a source of income,
and indeed paid the ordinary expenses of the State government, has been so managed
that we have lost the entire revenue of that State road, under the administration of
Governor Bullock. We have not only lost the revenue from it, but, under Biodgett's
administration of it, we have got in debt for more than !$700,000 for about fourteen
mouths that he had it. The gross earnings of the road were from $120,000 to $135,000
a mouth. He made two payments into the treasury, one of $25,000 and one of $-20,000;
and he has received on an average about $125,000 a month of gross earnings. The
State has been run into debt upward of $700,000 in that piece of property alone.

Question. Did he do it by improving and repairing it?
Answer. Ko, sir; according to his own report to" the legislature, and the report of

Bullock to the legislature at the last session, the road was represented to be in a
wretched condition, and that it would take hundreds of thousands of dollars to put it
in good condition again. The road was in good condition when he got it. It was
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destroyed during the war, and we incurred a debt of over $800,000, for which we issued
bonds, after the close of the war, for the reconstruction and recirinipnient of tiiat road.
It was then under the nianagenient of Campbell Wallace and Hurlhurt, up to the
time it went into the hands of Blodgett. When Blodgett got it, it was in good condi-
tion, but he has ])aid only §45,000 in the treasury, the average gross earnings of the
road being slti:),OUO a month ; and he has left it §700,000 in debt; and Governor Bul-
lock has asked an appropriation of §r)00,000 to put it in running condition again. The
people tliink strange of that management, and are very restless under it.

Qitcstion. About the general, tixpenditures for the executive dej)artmeuts, what do
you know about them ?

Answer. They have been enormous, unprecedented.
QucNtioii. Have you any information about the document he has sent ns here in reply

to our letter to him ; do you know what that document has cost the State?
Ansiver. I have read that letter; that letter has been printed very generally through-

out the Northern States, and in our own State, and, it is said, at a cost to the iieople of
Georgia of §8,000.

Question. Paid for as an advertisement in the jiapers ?

Answer. Paid for as an advertisenjent.
Question. His answer to our request for information ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. It is about the handsomest document we have received. You say it is said
that the State paid $8,000 for it f

Answer. It is said that is the amount of cost of publishing that answer; not for
printing that pamphlet, but for publishing it in the uewsp;r[)ers.

Question. For advertising it ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I am a newspaper editor myself, and I received a letter from a
gentleman who I knew to be the private secretary of Governor Bullock, (he did not
write to me as such,) inclosing a copy of Governor Bullock's letter to you, instructing
me to publish it in the Chronicle and Sentinel and to send the bill to him. I knew
lie had no money to pay for it, but I knew I would get the pay, and I published it.

Then the governor has ottered rewards, issued proclamations offering rewards; and
the expenses growing out of the publishing of those i)roclamations offering rewards
have l)een enormous. 1 think there are ninety-odd newspapers in the State of Geor-
gia, aiul I thnik he published those proclamations iu nearly all of them ; I can recol-
lect but lour or live that did not publish his reward proclamations. They were what
printers call " fat ;

" and were made to occupy as much space as possible, so as to
make the charge as great as possible for publishing them ; they were spread out. A
reward that would properly occupy a scpiare, if the advertising had been done by an
individual, was made to till live, six, seven, or eight squares, and paid for as such. I
will give an instance of his advertising. The api)ointmcnt of district judges and
solicitors, twenty-one or twenty-two in number; the advertising of these appoint-
ments by the executive was never done previous to the Bullock administi;ation, except
in one paper at the capital, and then published iu that paper but two or three times,
once a week. I think there were twenty-two district attorneys and tweut.y-two district

judges appointed. The notice of their appointment tilled up one whqle side of the
Atlanta Era, leaded. It was published iu S(!veral issues of the i)aper. It was said, by
a statement from the treasurer's books, that the bill of the Atlanta Era was upward of
$3,000 for publishing that alone. Enormous amounts have been expended, with a
view, apparently, to subsidize the press, and to some extent it has succeeded.

Question. Democratic lawyers, I believe, frequently come in for fees?
Answer. Yes, sir ; they come in for fat fees. We have a State's attorney, attorney gen-

eral, as he is called, with district attorneys and prosecuting attorneys in each district.

A man by the name of Fish was killed, in the Macon district, I believe it was ; killed
in Macon County at least. Governor Bullock gave two democratic lawyers §1,000 each
to go down and prosecute the man who was charged with the punder of Fish.

Question. Have you any idea of the total amount of the State debt and liabilities at
this time ?

Answer. No, sir, and no one else ; because, I suppose, they have no check or other
means of iuforujation. The law requires that when the bonds of the State are issued
they shall be signed by the governor and treasurer, and th'at the treasurer shall keep
a reguUir bond-book. Up to the administration of Bullock we knew every bond that
had been issued, when it was issut;d, where it was issued, and the amount. But, since
the last session of the legislature especially, Bullock has issued these bonds without
any reference to the treasurer at all, and the treasurer has no record of them at all.

It is said that a number of these bonds have the treasurer's name to them; that Bid-
lock hail some of them lithographed in New York, and the name of the treasurer i)ut

on them. I do not kuow what the State debt is; but it is thought to be about live or
six millions of dollars, since the last session of the legislature, that these bonds have
been issued for.

Question. You mean it has been increased that amount since then ?
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Answer. Yes, sir. The prospective iudebtedness of the State is immense ; I mean by
that, the indebtedness vrhich the last legislature has incurred by the indorsement 'of

railroad bonds. If these railroad bonds are called for by these railroads, and are issued,

it will incjease our indebtedness between thirty and htty millions of dolhxrs. They
gave to quite a number of the railroads the indorsement of the State for from twelve
to fifteen thousand dollars a mile. I believe there are but two of the roads that have
as yet called upon the governor for the indorsement of bonds, but they are all en-

titled to them when they organize and go to work.
Question. The legislature that you had after your re-reconstruction was made repub-

lican, was it not ?

Answer. Yes, sir; it was very decidedly republican in fhe senate, immensely so; I

think there were eleven, perhaps twelve, democrats out of forty-four senators.

Question. How does it stand now, or how did it stand in your last legislature ; was it

the same senate ?

Ansicer. No, sir; the term of one-half pf the senators expired, and we elected twenty-
two senators at the last election. The senate, as it will stand upon its organization,
will be from twenty-eight to thirty democrats, and the balance republican. In the
twenty-two senatorial districts we elected all democrats but three, I believe.

Question. That legislature has not yet met?
Answer. It was to have met, by law, last January ; but, just before they adjourned,

the last legislature postponed the meeting of the next legislature imtil next Novem-
ber, in order to give them a year longer in their operations upon the treasury.

Question. So that ail the legislation w-hich has taken place up to this time has been
by a republican legislature ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; all of it

Question. Was not its republican strength very considerably increased by the action
of General Terry and Governor Bullock, under pretense of authority given them by
Congress ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they put in men and turned out men. I was there as a member of
the democratic executive conmiittee, and employed counsel, and assisted in raising
money to employ counsel, to re]iresent those cases that were bi'ought up before General
Terry's connnissioncrs. General Eugcr, I believe, was the chairman of the board to

examine into the qualifications of the members of the legislature, and a very clever

gentleman he was, too. I3ut it was a very extraordinary spectacle to see a superin-
tendent of railroad transportation presiding over the session of the house of represen-
tatives.

Question. What is his name?
Answer. He is known as " Fattj' Harris ;" I believe his initials arc A. L. He is known

as "Fatty Harris," but I am not acquainted with him.
Question. How was that managed ?

Answer. That board made an examination into the qualifications of the members oJ

the legislature. They would turn out men who they said were disqualified under the

fourteenth amendment. If a man had been a road commissioner or a notary public
before the war, they would turn Iwm out. A notary public at that time had no authority
in Georgia as a justice of the peace ; he was not an oflicer, except to attest papers ; to

that extent he was a judicial oflicer. Wherever they charged a man with holding an
oftice before the war, they turned him out, and in one case they actually put a man in

the place of a dead man, who had served up to the dissolution of the last senate. A
man by the name of McCutcheon was elected over a man by the name of Henry by a
very large majority. McCutcheon served in the legislature until he took sick and died.

When we went through the last throe of reconstruction under General Terry, Henry
presented himself there and was admitted by the military board to take the seat in
place of McCutcheon, although he was the defeated candidate.

By Mr. Bl^ur :

Question. And he served?
Answer. Yes, sir, and he is serving yet. The member elected in his district drew the

long term of four years.* I have no idea that the democratic senate at the next session
will allow Henry to retain his seat.

Question. If they do not, thej' will be reconstructed again?
Answer. I expect we will have to go through with another reconstruction.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. How many men who had been defeated in the elections were put in place
of those turned out ? Were the minority men, the defeated men, put in when the men
who were elected were declared disqualified ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you remember about how many?
Ansicer. I cannot give you the number, a considerable number.
Question, As many as sixteen ?
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Aiisu-cr. Prohably more, perhaps as many as twenty ; it has escaped me now. I did
know the nuiiiber, Ijut it has passed out of my uiiii(L

Qiicauon. Ijy tliat profess the lower lioiise was made republican?
Aiisirci: Tlie lower house was made decidedly republicau.

Question. And the senate was very largely so '?

A)i)iwcr. Yes, sir.

Question. That is the legislature which has indorsed these railroad bonds?
Answer. Yes, sir, .and given the governor authority to issue these bonds without the

check of the treasurer or any one else upon that issue.

Question. Did any of you in Georgia ever liud out by what authority of Congress all

that was done? Was there Any act of Congress that ever authorized Harris to take
his seat, »te. ?

Answer. We looked in vain to find that authority. We found it was imxiossiblo to
contest and argue the case with General Terry ; he had bayonets at his command.
But we employed counsel and argncxl the matter before General Kuger. We contested
the authority, but we were powerless.

Question. They still would do it ?

Answer. They said they had the authority, and I presume they thought so.

Question. Was there any authority except the military orders of the President? You
saw them, I presume?

Answer. There was no authority except the orders of the President to General Terry.
Question. 'Jhey did not even pretend that Congress had given them the authority ?

Answer. Ithiuknot.
Question. Was it not regarded by all, republicans and democrats—I mean those who

were lawyers—as just a case of executive usurpation by the President and his mili-

tary ofiicers ?

Answer. We considered it a military usurpation, and contested it as far as we could
by argument, but it amounted to nothing.

Question. It was by that sort of usurpation of authority that that legislature was
made up that has passed the laws which are now taxing you to death ?

Answer. Yl'S, sir.

Question. I believe that a large number of your people are still under disabilities, and
cannot hold oflice ?

Answer. Yes, sir; the very best people in the State are disqualified from holding office

under the fourteenth amendment to the Constitution.
Question. You have had a great many special cases relieved ?

Answer. A few ; I do not think there have been a great many from that State. Those
that were necessary to hold office under republican administration there have had
their disabilities removed. Outside of that I think there are very few who have had
their disabilities removed.

Question. I think Governor Bullock is still resisting all demands of that sort, for in
his letter to us he speaks of the " hypocritical howls for universal amnesty."

Ansicer. My impression is this, from a careful consideration of affairs there, if that
ban %vas taken from our people there, we would have no cause of complaint, and there
would bo none there.

Question. Governor Bullock himself, I believe, who is now holding a high official

position, was a great deal involved in the difficulties of the war?
Answer. Governor Bullock was the lirst soldier that I ever saw engaged in the war,

or among the lirst. He was in the first squad of soldiers who volunteered in Joe
Brown's company to capture the arsenal, in possession of Captain Arnold Elzey and
Lieutenant Long. The arsenal was near Augusta, upon the sand hills overhanging the
town. Bullock was one of Joe Brown's army that went up there early In January,
and captured the arsenal. Bullock was an officer under the couiederate government;
I think his office was that of superintendent of telegraphic lines, or telegraphic commu-
nication, throughout the South, and he had the rank of colonel.. He was a good south-
erner during the war.

Question. There is no particular reason why he should have the right to be governor
there, and your old nam(!sake, A. R. Wright, of Rome, be disqualified ? You know
Judge Wright, I presume ?

Answer. 1 know Judge Wright ; he was opposed to the war ; I think he was 9 Union
man ; I see no reason why he should be disfranchised and Governor Bullock not.

Qvestion. In other words, a discrimination of that sort has been made to operate
injuriously to your people, and your idea is that a universal removal of disabilities

would restore order to a great extent ?

Answer. I believe it would cntindy restore it; that there would be no reason to com-
plain. We are doing very well in Georgia, both black and white, so far as our material
interests are concerned. We iuive recuperated wouderfully ; our taxation is pros-
pective ; our tax last year and this has not been materially increased ; we have notlelt
the burden yet. Our prosj)ects are good; our people are contented, except that they
feel a great wrong has been done to a most worthy class of our citizens. They cannot
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see why sncli men as Governor Joliii son, whoTras a Union man, a candidate on the ticket

«ith iir. Douglass for tlie Vict'-Pi-esideney, a moderate man, {ihonld be prevented from
holding- oiKce. He was not in the war; he opi)0.sed it, though hi' subNeqnently took
office in the Confederate Government. The people cannot see why he should be ostra-

cized, and such a man as Foster Blodgett elected to the Senate of the United States
from Georgia, who was a captain of a military company, gotten up expressly for the
confederate service, who was active in getting it accepted, and who was among the
first to go into the service ; a man of bad character before and during and since the war.
I could give you a number of cases throughout the State, wliere that class of niim have
come to the top, and better men are kept down, under operation of this fourteenth
amendment—men who were alwajs truer to the Union than Foster Blodgett. It is a
very sore thing with our people ; we cannot send our best men to the legislature. If

we had the power of filling our jndiciary we would have to select men w'jose disabili-

ties Congress would remove, oi' pick up incompetent men. I suppose Georgia is cursed
to-day with a more inefficient Judiciary than any other State in the Union. 1 do not
know that they are corrupt, but thej^ are inefficient, because we have been prevented
from taking the first-rate legal talent we have there to fill the places on our bench. We
feel that every day we see incompetent men in office. If we elect men to the legisla-

ture, we are obliged to take young men—inexperienced men—who have not been in

office before. And the legislature which will meet in iSioveinl>er is composed largely of
very young men, and necessarily so. At the very time when we need the talent and
experience of our best men, we have been deprived of them. Those of ixs who are not
tliscpialified by the fourteenth amendment feel it just as strongly as those who are, I

presume; I know I entertain that feeling myself, and I am not disqualified.

Question. It has been said of Georgia, I believe—I know it has been said of other
States—that republicans are not free in speaking their sentiments ; how is that ?

Answer. I do not know as to other States.

Question. I think it has been said of Georgia; how is it in your State?
AnsuxT. 1 do not know that there is any difiiculty about that. I know that at the

last election one of the republican candidates for Congress was a negro, who ran against
a vei-y clever white man ; and then there was a gentleman by the name of Fannin,
who ran against General Dubose ; the one ran for the short term and tin* other one for

the long term. I heard of no difficulty with regard to them. I have heard a number
of republican speakers speak at the city hall in Augusta to large crowds, black and
white. I have known of no instance where there has been any attempt to j)reveut

them from speaking, not only publicly, but privately. Some of the best men we have
in the State are republicans, but they ai"e very few, and they are ostracized by their own
party. There are Joshua Hill, Thomas Peter Saft'old, and Albert Foster, men of prom-
inence, of character, of ability, and of respectability ; they have not lost the respect
of their fellow-citizens. Isliam Fannin, the assessor in my district, aufl Mr. Jcnirdan,
senator from the county of .Jasper, are as respectable men as any men I know. I coiild

go all over the State and give these instances, but they are not in good standing with
the party down there. They were honest and denounced the stealings of the Bullock-
Blodgett ring ; they are not thieves, and have no association with them.

Question. 'I'ell us how it is with the men who come from the other States, from the
Nojth, who take their chances «,mong your people, who have invested their money,
and who make their living like the balance of you—not office-hunting carpet-baggers;
how are they treated ?

Answer. Just as well as we know how. I believe that before the war the southern
people were iiroverbial for their hospitality. We have prided ourselves upon that, and
we try to keep it up still. Strangers who come among us and bring their money there
are treated as well as in any other State.

Question. There is no difference made on account of politics?

Answer. No, sir. A gentleman came down there by the name of Fisher; he is said to

be a radical in his views ; he has gone to work there, has brought money there, bought
mills and gone to work, and is met as a gentleman by gentlemen. In ^Morgan County,
I think, quite a number of iarmers, twenty-five or thirty, have gone there and settled,

and they are received socially by the people of that county. There are, ]ierhai)S,

more in that county than in any other of this class, but you can find some in all jjarts

of the State. There is one man, a Mr. True, who was in the Union Army, and who is

a prominent officer in our Agricultural Society. He has been of great benefit to our
people. He is a thorough-going, energetic man; he is a republican in his political

views, but not offensively so to his neighbors.

By Mr. CoBURN

:

Question. I believe you have stated that you are an editor of a paiier?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What sort of a paper ?

Ansiver. What are its politics?
Question. Yes.

An&ucr. It is democratic, and I think a very good i>ai>er.
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Question. I uiulorstood you to say you had a very geueral acquaintance over the State

of Geor<i;ia?

Answer. Yes, sir, I have ; althon<!;h not in oflice, I have been a sort of pnhlic man.
Qiteslion. Have yon been watching tlie reports of these Ku-Klnx outrages °]

Answer. Yes, sir; I have been compelled to investigate them, from my position as

editor of tlie paper.

Qncslion. Have you ever denounced Iheni in your paper?
'Answer. I have.
Question. Have you ever approved them in your paper ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear or know of any outrages in Jefferson County ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. By tlie Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I heard of that. I am glad you mentioned it, for I was born iu

that county, and lived their up to 1860. About the first Ku-Klux ease I heard there
was Avhere a b.'ind of negroes went to the house of a man by the name of Ferguson,
took him from his bed at uight, ft-om the side of his wife, carried him into the woods,
stri[)i)ed liim, ])nt hiin across a log, and strapjied him.

(Jitenlion. Did you ever hear of any other case?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What other?
Answer. I have heard of two or three other cases there. There was a very aggravated

case that occurred there last summer, I think, about a year ago, in which the negroes
armed themselves, to the number of one luuidred or more, went to the county town on
Sunday morning, and demauded of the jailer the key of the jail, went to the jail and
opriu'd it, and delivered two or three prisoners who were there undergoing sentence of

the court That crowd of negroes was headed by a colored man of the name of Cudjoe
Fye. I knew the boy very well ; he grew up in the same town I did. He said he had
authority from headquarters to require all negroes in the county to appear there on
that day, and deliver those men from jail. They did deliver them; the people were
powerless to prevent it, and the prisoners were turned loose. I remember that case.

Question. Were those negroes disguised?
Answer. No, sir, they were not disguised.

Question. Were those disguised iu the ih-st case you meutioued ?

Answer. I do not remember as to that.

Question. Well, I asked you about the Ku-Klux and Ku-Klux outrages, and you have
mentioned these two cases.

Answer. I do not know what you mean by Ku-Klux outrages.

Question. Have you heard instances of disguised men going about and perpetrating
crimes in Jefferson County?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I heard, and I have no doubt it is true, that a man by the name of
Creech, who lived upon the line of Emanuel County, where there were very few negroes,

was taken from his house at uight by some parties. I have never heard whether they
were disguised or not ; he was taken out of his house and murdered, and thrown iuto

Williamson Swamp Creek; there is no doubt about the fact of his having been mur-
dered.

Question. When was that?
Answer. It was about the time ol the Cudjoe Fye riot, say a year ago, perhaps more;

I do not recollect how long. That man Creech was said to have been a very bad man
in the community.

Question. Who was Creech?
Answer. I am telling you now who he was.
Question. Was he a black man or a white man?
Answer, lie was a white man, a North Carolinian, who had come down tliere several

years before the war. I knew him ; he overseed for a neighbor of mine betV)ro the war.
He set up a grocery, and was carrying on an illicit trade with the negroes of Jefferson

County, lie had a whisky shop, and was alleged to have been engaged in buying and
receiving stolen goods; whether that was true or not I do not know. It was thought
that was the reason of his being killed. There was no politics iu it, so far as I know.

Question. IJecanse he was trading with the negroes?
Answer. Yes, sir, illicitly; he hacl a bad house; one considered a curse to the commu-

nity.

(iluestion. What were those men in jail for, who were delivered by these hundred
uegroes 1

^Insu-er. For various petty larcenies. The court had met and they had been tried,

and I think three of them had been sentenced to iiiii)ris(mment for perhaps from thirty

to sixty days. 1 do not remember the particular olVenses.

Question. Have you heard of any other outrages in your county ?

Answer. In that county?
Question. Yes.



GEORGIA. 281

Answer. I do not exactly understand you when you say " Ku-Klux ;" I do not know
anytliiiig about Ku-Klux.

Questtov. Have you never heard of the Ku-Klux Klan?
Ansicer. Every one of these outrages now are spoken of commonly as Ku-Klus.
Question. Give me your definition of Ku-Klux.
Avsiicr. My uui-lerstandiuo- is that it is synonymous with lynch law.
Question. Whether by disguised men or not ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When I allude to it, I allude to outrages by disguised men.
Ansiccr. Well, I i;nderstand you now. I know of no other cases in that county by

disguised men.
Question. Did you ever hear of any persons being taken out of jail in Louisville?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Since that?
Answer. I believe it was since that.

Question. How many?
Ansicer. I believe four or five ; I do not remember.
Question. Did you ever hear of uiue persons being taken out of jail within six

months ?

Answer. That, and the jail delivery I have spoken of; I do not know of any others
that occurred. I do not know how many there were delivered.

Question. What did you hear about that ?

Answer. I heard that tliey went there ; I do not remember whether they were dis-

guised or not, and took out some prisoners who had been tried and convicted, or I
think some liad been.

Question. What did they do with them ?

Answer. One was killed, and I think they cut off an car of one.

Question. Did you hear they cut oft' the ears of all but one?
Answer. That may have been ; I saw one negro who had had his cut off.

Question. Did yoir not hear that they cut oft' the ears of the others?
Answer. I do not remember.
Question. Did you not hear that ?

Answer. I told you I did not remember it.

Question. When v.as that

?

Answer. I think that was last fall.

Question. Was it not last February?
Anstcer. It was of much more recent date than the other delivery

;
perhaps it was

February.
• Question. Who did that ?

A-nsu'er. I do not know.
Question. Were they white men or black men ?

Ansicer. I do not know.
Question. What did report say about it ?

Ansicer. It was reported that in that case they were disguised men who went to
the jail.

Question. W^as it reported that they were white men or black men ?

Answer. I do not know that I ever heard as to that. I know this, that the judge of
that circuit went down there and opened a special court for the investigation of that
case, organized the grand jury, and kept the court open two or three days. He gave
them a very earnest and a very able charge in relation to that ease. I think his court
was held there within a very few weeks, perhaps a few days, after the occurrence took
place. He gave the whole jiower of the court to the grand jury to send for witnesses.
He investigated it very thoroughly, so he told me, and I believe he is a very truthful
man, and an appointee of Governor Bullock.

Question. Who is that judge?
Answer. Judge Twiggs, of the middle district.

Question. Is he an able judge ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is he a republican or a democrat ?

Answer. He is said to be both ; I do not know which he is.

Question. Speaking of judges, how many democrats have been appointed by Gov-
ernor Bullock as judges in your State ?

Answer. Judge Twiggs is claimed to be a democrat ; Judge Schley is claimed by his
friends to be a democrat ; Judge Cole's friends claim that he is a democrat ; Judge
Robinson's friends claim that he is a democrat. I do not know that I remember any
others.

Question. All the rest of the judges in the State are republicans ?

Ansicer. I think so; but I am not so certain about the extreme southwestern portion
of the State. Perhaps Judge Alexander there is a democrat.

Question. Now, to go back to the subject of the jail-dcliverj'. How many men did
you hear were connected with taking these last i^risoners from jail ?
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Ansjca: Do you refer to the occurrence in February ?

Question. Yes.

Anaivcr. I do not remember that I heard any particular number ; there was said to be
quite <a number of tlieni. Judge Twiggs inibrmed me that heaiid tlie grand jury were
very active in atteni])ting to discover tliem. and failed. Ho held the court oi^on there
for several days for tliat purpose.

Qucation. Tliere was uobodj- arrested for that offense ?

Answer. I think not ; I think tlie investigation entirely failed.

Question. Entirely failed to get anybody at all "?

Answer. Failed in getting the testimony against any one.
Question. Failed to implicate anybody ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you heard of any outrages near a place called Dearing ?

Answer. Not by disguised persons. I know tliat a Mr. Cody was killed there, and a
man by the name of Kitchen Adams was killed there. It was a broil between white
people ; there was no politics in it.

Question. Have you not heard that six or seven men were taken from the cars at
Dearing, who were on their way from Warren County, a year or so ago, and killed by
the men who followed them ?

Anstcer. No, sir, and I do not believe it.

Question. You have not heard that six or seven men, or any number of men, were
taken from the cars and killed there ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not think it has occurred there ; I know Dearing very well. It

is upon the line of the Georgia Raili'oad, about forty miles from Augusta ; and if such
a thing had occurred there, I think I would have heard of it.

Question. Now, in relation to the killing of Dr. Darden, you said, as I understood you,

that Norris was not attacked that night ?

Answer. I did not say so ; I said that I had never heard of his being attacked that
night, and I do not believe he was, or I would have heard of it.

Question. Were you there that night ?

Answer. I was not.

Question. Did you inquire particularly about that ?

Answer. I talked freely with my friends about it.

Question. When ?

Ansicer. lumiediately after the killing.

Question. Were you over there?
Answer. No, sir, I was not.

Question. With whom did you talk ?

Anstv(r. I talked with Shields, Smith, Pottle and Heath, that I remember. I was
very earnest in my endeavor to ascertain the facts in that case.

Question. Did you talk about that point as to whether Norris was attacked ?

Answer. I think not ; but I presume, if ho had been attacked, that in talking about
the difiScnlties there that night that matter would have been spoken of.

Question. Your testimony is based upon that presumption ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir, that I never heai'd of it.

Question. What was reported as to the description of the men who killed Darden, aa

to their dress ?

Ansicer. I do not remember of hearing anything about that.

Question. Was nothing said about these men being disguised ?

Ansicer. I think not.

Question. And you say you heard a full account of it ?

Answer. I saw and talked fully and freely with those gentlemen about that night.

Question. And nothing was said about their being disguised?

Ansicer. I do not remember that anything was said about it. My impression is that

they were not disguised ; that is the impression on my mind.
Question. What was the report to you that these men did when they went there ; how

did they kill Dr. Darden ?

Answer. They took him out of the jail. They attempted, I believe, first to force the
jail door open, and my recollection is that Darden had a pistol, and stood upon his de-

fense. They were afraid he might kill one of them, and they then put fire to the door

of the jail to smoke him out or burn him out. He then surrendered, and they brought
him out of jail. He asked permission to communicate with his wife, and my recollec-

tion is that they furnished him with writing materials, and let him write a note to his

wife. They then took him from the jail about three or four hundred yards to a railroad

embankment, and there shot him to death with bullets.

Question. Do you remember how it was that ho came to be put in jail?

Answer. That morning ?

Question. Yes.

Ansicer. No, sir, I do not remember anything special about that, except it was a mat-
ter for the i)rotection of Dr. Darden himself that he was put in the jail.
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Question. Was there any pledge or promise given by these men that they would pro-
tect him and take care of him in jail—these verj' men who killed himf

Anaiccr. I do not know wlio killed him,
Qitestiou. Did anybody promise to take care of him ?

Answer. I never heard of tliat.

Question, lint you say it was understood that he was put in jail in order to be pro-
tected '?

Ansicer. That is the impression on my mind now. It has been some three years or
more since then. My imi)ressi()ii is he was put in there for protection from the popu-
lace ; 1 may be niistalien as to that.

Question. Something has been stated about some persons giving a note to Mr. Norris,
to buy his peace ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you, or not, understand that to be a note given to Sir. Norris as com-
pensation for injuries done to him when he was shot ?

Answer. No, sir, no.

Question. -Nothing was said about that?
Answer. Nothing at all. I was not preseut at any of those negotiations ; I only say

that I was consulted with by parties who came to me and stated that the proposition
from Norris was that if those jtarties would pay him so much they would not be arrested
for the killing of Uarden.

Question. Do you not know that Norris was shot and severely injured in that town ?

Answer. There is no doubt he was shot ; with Ijtid shot, I think, small shot.
Question. And yon say nothing was said about this note being given to him as com-

pensation for damages to his person 'i

Answer. Not one word.
Question. Did you talk to these men who gave the note ?

Answer. Not until after the note was given ; I talked with one of them afterward.
Question. Did they allege that as the consideration ?

Anstccr. Their friends did.

Question. Did they say that?
Answer. I say I never talked with but one of them, and that was merely to chide

bim ibr giving that note.
Question. Did he say that ?

Answer. Nothing was said on the subject by him.
Question. Do you know that a large amount of that note has been paid ?

Answer. Onlj' from Chap Norris's statement. He puljlished a communication in the
Georgia Republican, of Augusta, Georgia, on last Saturday week, in which he gave a
copy of the note, with some credits upon it. I think the credits amount to abbut $3,000.
That is his statement ; I know nothing about it.

Question. In your conversation with tliese men about the note did they say it was
for the killing of Darden they were to be arrested ?

Answer. They said that the proposition was that if they would pay Chap Norris so
much they would not be arrested and taken to Atlanta to be tried for the killing of
Darden ; they were buying their peace from a charge of that sort.

Question. Who was the mau Who said that ?

Answer. How said that?
Question. Who told you that?
Answer. The frieud who came to me in Augusta and sj)oke to me upon the subject.
Question. Who was that?
Answer. My impression is that it was Colonel Pottle.
Question. Did anybody else say that to you?
Ansicer. I think that Mr. Heath was also one who spoke to me on the subject.
Question. As to the death of Senator Adkins, you said that you understood or believed

he was killed because he insulted a lady ?

yj »(*((•((-. I said that was the impression there.
Question. Did any one tell you that?
Answer. I have heard that common remark. I could not designate any particular

man who told me.
Question. Did you not know that he was opposed violently as a partisan?
Answer. O, yes; very decidedly.
Question. Do you think that the fact that ho was an active republican had nothing

to do with his being killed?
Answer. I said, when being examined by Mr. Beck, that I thought the fact that he

was in bad odor, was considered a disreputable mau, had perhaps had some influence
over the minds of those who perpetrated the deed, taken in connection with the oii'ense

he had committed ; and I think so still. In other Avords, I think if Adkins had been a
man in good position in society they would not have gone to the extent they did, or in
the way they did.

Question. That is not an answer to my question. Do you say that his position as a
republican had nothing to do with his beiug killed?
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Ansiccr. I cannot say that it did.

Qucsiloti. Ytiu say that he was a man in bad odor?
Aufiiccr. I mt'an by that his open, notorious affiliation and association witli negroes.

Eei)ny)licans, generally, in Georgia do not do that thing. Mr. Joshua Hill, and other

gentlemen I have spoken of, do not do it. They are willing to give the negro all his

rights, but they do not mingle with the negro sociality, as Mr. Adkins was said to do.

Question. When you talk about mingling socially with the colori'd race, wh;vt do you
moan by that I I would like to have that dehned. What is it you mean by mingling
sociallywith the negroes?

Jitstccr. In my State I am pretty sure it would be considered a social mingling w^hero

a negro sits down at the table and breaks bread wiph you, or meets you upon social

equality in your parlor as a white person would.
Question. Suppose a man begets negro children, is that mingling socially with them ?

Jnsiver. I do not think so ; 1 do not know of any such case.

Question. Do you think that would injure a man greatly there?

Answer. No, sir; I do not think it would; I do not think the crime of adultery
injures a man in any country a great deal; while it ruins the woman it is strange that
th(; man stands it.

Question. Is it not the fact that a great many prominent men in that country have
mingled socially with the colored people to that extent ?

Ansivcr. I do not believe it is true that they have done anj'^ such thing; that is not
the result of my observations there.

Qutsiion. Do you say there are no prominent men iu that country, of influence and
standing, who have mingled socially with the negro race that far? *

Answer. If you mean by mingling socially with the colored race committing adultery
and fornication with them

Question. Yes, sir; I ask what is the reputation of such men? I am not asking as to

what are the facts.

Answer. I will answer as to reputation ; I do not know of a single case of the char-
acter you speak of, of a man in high social position, in a prominent position there, who
has been charged particularly with thafoffense.

Question. I will then limit it still more; I will say men of influence and prominence
in society.

Answer. I have heard of some men ; I do not know it. But let me tell you in relation

to this—we have a law iu Georgia which prohibits even the intermarriage of a negro
and a white person ; makes it a felony ; and it is made a felony for an officer to per-

form the marriage ceremony. We are trying to preserve, at least as far as the law of

the land is concerned, the purity of the blood of both races. We fail sometimes, and
I presume that is the case the world over. I have never been anywhere in my life

where a man did not commit fornication if there was a subject for him to do it upon.
Question. In relation to another characteristic of the negroes and facts connected with

them—as to this subject of pilfering and stealing. I want to know whether there is

not less pilfering and stealing by them now than bef^o the war, while they were iu

slavery.
Answer. I cannot say as to that. There isthis difficulty about it : before the war we

never heard of this pilfering; it was coulined to the plantations. Apparently, there is

more of it now than before the war, but really, I do not believe there is as much ; that
is my candid opinion about it, though the courts show a terrible number of cases

—

more than before the war. I think that, however, is because these petty olienses before
the war were jjunished by the owners of the slaves. I do not believe there is any more
crime committed by negroes now in Georgia than before the war.

Question. Is it not the fact that there is as strong a disposition there now to punish
negroes summarily as before the war; and is not that disposition carried out ?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not believe it. I know of a number of cases where negroes
have not been punished by the courts because of the excessive expense it would put
the county to to prosecute them ; I have been consulted about cases that have been
winked at. I do not think there is any disposition among the people you mean to
thrash them as before the war ?

Question. Yes.

Answer. I do not think that disposition exists there.

Question. Now, what is the treatment of the negroes by the whites
;
you state that

they put up school-houses for them, furnished them with supplies, let them have
stock, &c. ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Tell me at whose expense those school-houses are put up.
Answer. At the expense of the owners of the plantation.
Question. How many instances do ypu know of that kind?
Answer. The instances are not very numerous; our people have had to be schooled a

little an this question; they were very sore at the emancipation of their slaves.

j
Question. I only wanted to know whether it was a general thing at all, this putting

up school-bi'^-'uj. &c., for the colored people.
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Jnmrr. T do not pretend to say that it is a general rule ; I give it as an instance of
tlie in'ogress of our people, in that respect. I will tell you further, that in the county
whole I live over twelve hundred colored pupils arc educated there by the white peo-

ple alone.
Question. Do the negroes show a desire to go to school?
Anstrer. Yes, sir ; or they do when it is new to them. But upon plantations the com-

plaiut now is that you cannot keep them at it. Last year the negroes had a hard time
as well as the ])lanters ; although the crops were abundaut the prices were not remu-
nerative, and they liad to work Very hard to make their support; and they could not
spare their children ln)m the lields to go to school.

Quesimi. Do many of the negroes learn to read and write ?

Aitsircr. Yes, sir; and there is a great disposition on the part of the old people to

learn to read. I have noticed that among my family servants, elderly })eople, men and
women, desire to learn to read. And the better classes of white people show a disi)osi-

tion to liave them educated.
Qucf<tio)i. You spoke something of not being aware of any negroes having been in-

timidated from voting the republican ticket ?

xlHsfcc/-. I said I lieard there was some difficulty in Savannah ; I do not know whether
it amounted to an intimidation or not.

Qitetiiiott. Do you know many negroes who attempted to vote the democratic
ticket ?

Answer. I am not a street politician ; I do not drag up men to the polls, and therefore
my personal knowledge is limited.

(Jtusllon. You spoke of intimidation of negroes who wanted to vote the democratic
ticket ?

Aiiaiccr. I saw it myself.
Qucstioif. Were there any great number?
Au-sirer. It was admitted by Mr. Bryant, who ran there, that we got three hundred

and ijfty negro votes at the last election, in the county in which^ live ; the negro vote
in that county is about two thousand.

(Juestio)i. I understood you to say that the negroes do not understand this thing of
j)olitics.

Answer. I said that they did not understand it for the first two or three years ; but I

said there had been a marked improvement on the part of the nejjroes.

Qucslwn. Did they not know that the republicans were their friends and were those
who had lieed them, and that the democrats were opposed to their being freed?

Ansiver. No, sir, they do not know any such thing.
Question. They did not know that ?

Answer. No, sir, and they do not know it to-day.
Question. V\'as not that the fact ?

Answer. I am not aware of that being the fact ; I do not know that to be the fact.

Question. Were jiot the democrats in favor of retaining the negroes in slavery ?

Answer. 1 believe all the white men in the South were in favor of retaiuiug them in
slavery. I suppose you mean by " democrats, " the white people of the South ; or do
you mean the democrats of the United States ?

Question. I mean democrats.
Answer. O, as 1 understand it, there were about as many democrats engaged in free-

ing the negroes as there were republicans. I do not know what was the relative
strength of the two parties in the army. I know some noticeable instances of demo-
crats who were engaged in the war.

Question. Do you not suppose that the negroes understood very well, from the very
first year of the rebellion, that their freedom was to be the result of the war if the
Government succeeded, and that they were made free by the republicans?
Answer. No, sir. The negroes believed the Yankees made them free ; they called

them Yankees, and they say that they owe their liberty tojihe Yankees.
Question. Yankee democrats or Yankee republicans?
Answer. I never heard them say as to that.

Question. I am inquiring as to the fact.

Ansiver. I cannot answer you. When I have heard any expression of opinion among
them, the negroes say that the Yankees did it. I think that is about as far as they are
capable of understanding thi; matter. They call all from the North, all who were in

the Union army, Yankees. They did believe, and I think they were honest in the con-
viction, that if the white people in the South, the democratic party, got into power,
they would be put back into slavery. That, I believe, was one of the main influences
that controlled their vote against the white people in the first two or three electious.

They did believe that, and some of them believe it now.
Question. Do you thiuk that at the close of the war the disposition of the negroes

was to confide in tlie democracy of the South, aufl that it took any considerable exer-
tion on the part of the carpet-baggers to get tliem to go with them ?

Answer. I tJiink the negroes were very grateful to the Yankees ; but I believe they
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vronld have lived, and after a few weeks or months they did live, vrith their old tuas-
teis. I (h) not believe they have at any time lost conlideuce in the integrity of their
old owners.

Qnc^ilioii. Do yon think it took any great exertion on the part of the carpet-baggers
to drag them into the republiean party?
Answer. I do not think so ; I think it was the most natnral thing in the world.
Qiiention. Was it the fact that the proniise of laud and mules and other things to tho

negroes made them vote the republiean ticket ?

.diifiircr. I lliink so ; connected with the fact that they h)okcd upon the Yankees as
tln'ir deliverers; and they were taught to bcdieve that if the white people got posses-
sion of the Government they would be put back into slavery. All these motives con-
trolled their actions, according to the amount of intelligence the negroes had. And a
great number of negroes were very ignorant. If you have never lived in the South
you can have no conception of it; they .are verj' credulous; that is a characteristic of
their race.

Qnesdoii. You spoke something about the whipping of women ?

Aiiaiccr. I think I have known but one instance, and I have given that; I do not
think I can remember any other.

(Jitcstiou. Do you think that grew out of the jiardons granted by the governor?
Answer. O, no, sir. As I said to you, that grew out of the fact that the parties had

been tried in court, and through the inelliciency of the prosecuting attorney they had
got off. There had been a pardon in that same neighborhood, just previous to that, of
a negro wln) had been convicted of adultery with a white woman. I presume that
had some influence with tho parties.

Question. That was a single instance ?

Answer. That is all I can recollect now ; there may have been other cases, but I do
not remember any others.

Question. Is it tlie f^ct, do you testify to it as a fact, that these i)ardons of Governor
Bullock have caused the commission of these crimes by disguised *men who go about
the country at night?
Answer. I have never testitied that that was the cause; I said that was one cause. I

believe it still, and I repeat it ; I believe that the indiscriminate pardon by Governor
Bullock of persons convicted of crime lias tended more than any other one thing to
j)roduce and foster these sporadic cases of violence throughout all parts of the State

;

I believe that, though I may be mistaken.
Question. What good woukl the whipping of negroes by disguised men do to correct

an evil of that kind ?

Ansicer. They do not jiropose to correct the evil of the pardoning iiower; they pro-
pose to punish crimes, as I understand it. But I know nothing of their organization,
if they have one.

Qucsiiuji. Has the bad management in regard to railroads in Georgia caused the com-
mission of these crimes or the organization of the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I suppose not ; but I suppose that is one cause of tho general feeling of dis-
content there with the republican jtarty ; not with all tho republican party, for they
look upon that as an extreme wing of that party ; a wing that we call the radicals; that
begets uneasiness, and a want of conlideuce in the State government, and to that
extent it may cause the acts of violence in these cases. I presume it does enter as an
element into their action ; to what extent I cannot say.

Question. You say that is one cause of whipping these men ?

Answer. I have not said it w-as one cause ; I have said that I believe it was an ele-

ment which entered iuto the action of those men ; I think it the most natural thing in
the world, this want of conlidcnce in the Government; I may be mistaken.

Question. You have referred to the fact that certain persons labor under disabilities

by reason of tho fourteenth article of amendments to the Constitution of the United
States. Is it the fact that4hese whip[)ings and these outrages come from that cause,
that these disguised men baud togcjther for that reason ?

Answer. I have not said that. 1 say it is the fact that the intelligence and experience
and virtue of the State are disfranchised, and that fact causes a feeling of opi)osition

to and a want of confidence in the Governuient. The people say that here is this man,
and that man, and the other man, whom they have conlideuce in, who has ex])erienco
and ability of the kind necessaiy for law making; and then they say, here is his negro,
who was a slave, and who cannot read or write; and yet he is a member of the legis-

lature, and makes the laws for us, while the other men cannot hold seats in the legis-

latui'c ; that begets a want of conlideuce, and to that extent I have no doubt it enters
as an element into all these outrages. I do not believe it produces them ; I have no
idea it does, because that would not bo the XH'oper mode, as any one can see, of redres-
sing that sort of evil.

^

By the Ciiaiumax, (Mr. Pool:)"

Qneslion. You live in the city of Augusta?
Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Do yon know of any ontra^res committed by disguised men in that city ?

Atisivcr. I uover liavo beard of one.

Question. Do yon know of any committed in the connty in wbicb that city is sitnatedf
Answer. I do not ; I cannot recollect of any just now, and I do not tbink tbat there

has been any in that connty by disguised men.
Question. Do you know of any association of men, secret in its character in any

respect, for political purposes?
Anstcer. None whatever.
Question. You know none of any character?
Answer. No, sir. I used to -belong to a secret political organization myself, but it

died out a loug time ago ; I was a know-nothing ; but I think there are none of those
left down there. I think there is nothing of the sort down there of a political character.

Question. Do you know of any political organization of any sort connected with any
of the outrages alleged to have been committed in Georgia?

Answer. No, sir, I do not.

Question. Have you ever conversed with any gentleman of any party who intimated
to you that ho belonged to any secret political organization ?

Anstcer. I have never done it. I may have conversed with gentlemen who may have
intended to intimate such a thing to me, but I was not aware of it, if they did. I know
nothing of any such organization.

Question. In speaking with those gentlemen in Jetferson and in other places where
some of these outrages have been committed, did they intimate to you that it was in
consequence of any preconcerted plan ?

Ansicer. O, no, sir.

Question. They did not admit to you that they had any camps or meetings ?

Answer. 0, no ; I never heard of that in my life.

Question. You have heard of nothing of that kind ?

Answer. I do not think it exists ; I know it does not in the section of the State where
I live, unless it is kept exceedingly secret.

Question. Have you heard of a great many colored men being whipped by bands of
disguised men in different localities of the State ?

Ansicer. I have not. There have been some disturbances up about Rome, said to
have been committed by disguised men. But Rome is in the extreme northwestern
portion of the State, upon the Alabama line, and I am in the southeastern portion of
the State, on the Carolina line. I suppose I am three hundred miles from Rome, and
really I am less acquainted there than with any other portion of the State.

Question. Have you heard anything about such things in the county of Clarke?
Ansiver. Nothing, except Avhat I have seen in the testimony of Richardson.
Question. Is that a county in your circuit ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; it is an adjoining county ; I do not practice in that county, and it

is not in the congressional district iu which I live.

Question. Is the county of Oglethorpe in your district ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you heard of any disguised persons going about at night in that
county committing outrages upon the negroes ?

Answer. I have never heard of one there. I think that perhaps Oglethorpe, Wilkes,
and Morgan are about as free from reports of that sort as any counties in that portion
of the State ; that is my recollection of them.

Question. In regard to how many counties of the State have you heard rejiorts of
that sort ?

Answei: The county of Floyd, and what has been stated by witnesses in regard to
Chattooga. I have heard statements of that sort in regard to Warren, Jeiferson,
Washington, and Columbia ; I do not know that I have ever heard of any in Talia-
ferro. You mean whippings of negroes ?

Question. I mean whippings of negroes by bands of disguised men.
Answer. I do not know that I have heard of them iu the other counties; I do not

know of a single case ; I do not recollect one in which negroes have been whipped.
The outrage in Jeii'ersou County, of which I have spoken, was in regard to the de-
livery from jail of negroes who had whipped a white man.

Question. Have you not heard decent men of your party express the opinion that the
operations of these disguised men would aft'ect the vote at elections ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. You have never heard any such expression of opinion?
Answer. No, sir ; I have never heard it.

Question. You have never heard it was for the purpose of ati'ecting the vote ?

Ansicer. No, sir ; not until I saw it stated in the evidence of some gentlemen who
have been before you, from another part of the State.

Question. Did you never hear it stated that the purpose was to ^keep the negroes iu
order ; in due submission to the whites ?

Answer. 1 have heard, as reasons given by those who palliate the conduct of parties
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•who liad committed ofFonses against tbo nogrnes, that the law did not protect them in

their proiu'ity. and that they were forced to do this thing; not by any secret organ-
ization, for I do not know that anything of the sort has existed in my jiart of the State;

and in(U'e(l I do not believe it does, with the exception I have si)okeu of to-day. I

belie', e the two men who were convicted in Washington court the other day for murder
belonged to a band of outlaws. I believe that the man who has been re])rieved by
Bullock is anotlier of that baud of outlaws. From the best information I can get,

that band numbers about fifteen men, and they operate over Georgia from opposite
Abbeville, South Carolina, across the State; they have committed depredations just

aloug that liue.

Questmi. Have you heard that they went disguised?
Avsicci: I think sometimes they were disguised ; when they committed the mtrrder

for which they were tried they were not disguised; but 1 tlunk I have heard that
they had sometimes been disguised. It was supposed that a part of this gang went
down not far from the county seat of Columbia ; the case was re])orted to me. But
they were not disguised then ; they went there and gave notice to a man's laborers

that they should leave his place. They are a reckless, daring set. Tlie man followed
them the next day, and tracked them through Liucoln County and across the river.

He was satisfied who they were, though not knowing their names ; he thought the
Oxfords belonged to the party.

Question. We heard before the war of bands organizing for the fjurpose 6f committing
crimes.

Answer. I think they are such a band, though not so extensive, as Murrill's band was
some years ago.

Question. These things to which I am calling special attention, and which are usually

understood by the term " Ku-Klux outrages," where men baud tlieniselves together and
go in disguise and commit outrages upon colored ])ersous and others, such as scourgings,

giving them notice to quit, driving them out of the community
Ansti-er. I do not remember such cases as that. There was a case reported about a

negro who was elected ordinary of Lincoln County. I knew him very well. He could
not read or write. The office of ordinary is an important one. It has charge of the
probate of wills, of assessments and disbursements of county taxes. After this negro
got his commission he went to the acting ordinary, and said to him, " Massa Frank, I

have been elected ; I don't want the office
;
you attend to it, and I Avill attend to my

boat." It was reported that the negro had ham driven from his office. The truth is,

he virtually holds the commissiou, but he holds it for the benefit of a lame man who
has been ordinary for a number of years, and who has been kind to him.

Question. I find that in these cases where there were only two or three persons pres-

ent the coirrts have taken hold of them ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know a case wliere men have been taken hold of by the courts who
went vt'ith a baud of disguised persons ?

Ansxctr. I do not know, except the instance I have given; and I know that Judge
Twiggs was very energetic in that case.

Question. They have been arrested ?

Ansioei: No, sir. The difiScuIty is that if there is any secret organization, where men
band themselves together and conmiit crimes, they take precautions to conceal it ; and
the difficulty is not in punishing them, but in discovering them. If you could discover

them anywhere in that section of the State where I live, they would be imnishcd.
Question. If they do not prove alibis, or something else i?

Ansiver. If they prove that they were innocent, or not guiltv, they would not be
convicted.

Question. It does not follow that a discovery would secure conviction ?

Ansiver. O, no. I mean that if they were discovered, and there was jiroof of their

guilt sufficient to sustain conviction, they would be convicted.
Question. Did you never hear it said that Mr. Wallace, who was killed in the Darden

afl'air, was a chief of a Klan of that sort ?

Answer. No, sir ; I remember Wallace well. He was a very gallant fellow, the very
soul of honor. A rash, intemperate man, an excitable man, and I think dangerous when
aroused. I think he was an honoraltle man in every particular.

/ Question. You never heard it charged that he was a chief of what is commonly
called the Ku-Klux organization?

^

Answer. No, sir.

Que^^tion. Tliere have been frequent nmrders in Georgia ; have you ever l)efore heard
of a rising of the people to punish a murderer, as they did in the Darden case ?

Answer. I do not remember. I remember a case that occurred in Missouri ; I had an
unch; that was killed there by a negro many years ago, and the negro was taken and
burned openly.

Question. Was not Mr. Darden a man of respectable standing ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and a very clever gentleman, as far as I know.
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Question. Was tliere any special atrocity attaclied to tlie murder by bim above tbat
of others ?

Answer, O, yes ; it was looked upon as a cold-blooded assassination, a creeping np
and ebootiuji a man -witbout bis knowing about it. If Darden bad met Wallace on tbe
street, after tbe crim inatiou and recrimination tbat bad passed between tbem, and they
had actually drawn and fought, and Wallace bad fallen, there would have been no
trouble iu that case, for Dardeu was altogether as respectable and well thought of in

that community as Wallace ; he had family connections there, and Wallace bad not.

Question. Do you thiuk that extraordinary turning out of the i^eople, their applying
fire to the jail in order to get it open so that they could get the man, had no connection
witb Wallace being a member of tbe Klan who came there to reveuge bis death ?

Ansn-er. I never heard anj- such thing intimated before.

Question. You said that two white men bad been convicted for murdering negroes in
your State.

Answer. I said within my own knowledge.
Question. Will you give us some of the circumstances attending those murders ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Well, take the first case.

Ansicer. That was a case in which the party was convicted for manslaughter. The
facts were these : a mau had been to a railroad station, driving a wagon, and had
become intoxicated. That was in the last of July, 18G8. He became very drunk, and
started homer They met a negro on the road who had a water-melon, and he got down,
and applied to the negro to buy it. Some words ensued—the witnesses did not hear
the words—and a scuffle followed. He got the water-melon from the negro aud returned
to the wagon, and was about to put it iu the wagon, when the negro caught him by
the arm and, as one witness stated, said to him, " No white scoundrel shall treat me in
this way," and jerked the white man from the wagon. The white man pushed him
down, and as he raised himself aud made a charge again, he drew a pistol from bis

pocket, or from his belt, aud struck the negro on the head ; tbe blow was so heavy that
it killed the negro.

Question. He did not shoot him ?

Answer. No, sir; and the idea of the jury was that as be had the jiistol, and it was
loaded, and be did not attempt to shoot the negro with it, it showed that be did not
have any idea of committing murder.

Question. What was the other case ?

Answer. I did not hear the development of tbe testimony ; I left before it was finished.

The judge, Who was a friend of miue, told me about it. He said the evidence showed
that it was a cold-blooded murder. Tbe negro was living on the plantation of a man
by the name of Brantley. He had had a difficulty with the brother-in-law of the
accused, and some rough words passed between them. It came to the ears of tbe
accused, and be became very much enraged, and weut to the cabin where the negro
was, commenced an altercation with.him, and drew a pistol and shot him through the
head.

Question. What was the standing of these white men in that community ?

Ansu-er. Very bad; they were believed to be of this gang of men who were com-
mitting outrages across tbat belt of country.

Question. Were they men of pro])erty ?

A7isiver. They had some means, aud they were ably defended. One of tbem married
a lady in Burke County who had some property. The one who was convicted of
murder bad a bill for murder agaiust him in Hancock County, another in Washingtou
County, and another in another county. It is said that that fellow, James Oxford, has
killed thirteen men ; it is said tbat he has boasted of it. He is an outlaw.

Question. Supiiose a negro should be killed by a man of respectability, standing, and
influence in your community ; do you thiuk there would be any difficulty in convict-
ing bim for it ?

Answer. I think there would be ; I think it would be difficult to convict a man anj'-

where that I know of, under our law, who has standing aud influence, backed by
TOouey ; it is a very difficult thing to do. I have tried it a number of times, and I

have generally failed, when there was no politics in it and no question of race in it.

Question. You think it would be more difficult to convict him of the murder of a
negro thau it would be to convict bim of the murder of a white man ?

Answer. I think it would hardly be so now ; it might have been some time ago, but
I think the prejudice is dying out in our State.

Question. You spoke of the election in the city of Augusta, as I understood you,
where there were two places of polling, one for tbe colored people and the other for
white men. And you say that at the colored poll no negro could safely vote the
democratic ticket ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; I think so. I, myself, heard terrible denunciations of them ; negroes,
with bludgeons iu their hands, were standing at the gate through which they went to
the ijolling place, swearing vengeance against any damned negro who wotild vote the
democratic ticket, swearing that they should not live in that town.

19 G
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Quesiion. Do j-ou suppose a negro could have voted the republican ticket at tlie

.

white box?
Ansicej'. No ; if it had been known. I think they -would have told him to go to the

place provided for his rnce ; but republicans did vote at the -white box.
Question. They allowed negroes to vote the democratic ticket there ?

Ansicei: Yes, sir; because they -were preveuted by their own race from voting at
their own box. If republicans had driven ofi' republicans from their box, -which is not
probable, they Avould have been permitted to vote at the other box. But republican
tickets by ncgToes would have been rejected at the -white box u])on the ground that
they had a place -v\'here they could vote -without molestation. Democratic negroe*
-were allo-wed to vote at the -white box because, altliough they had a place provided for

them, they were not permitted to vote the democratic ticket there.

Quesiion. You said something about Mr. Hurlburt. Do you mean to say that he was
guilty of fraud in the manipulation of the ballot-boxes?

Ansiver. I mean to say that is the general opinion throughout the State ; I have
charged it in my paper, aud I think I have had some evidence of it. It has been
charged generally throughout the State, and Sir. Hurlburt has kept very quiet about
it. There is no sensible man iu Georgi;i, who does not believe that General Gordou was
elected by seven or eight thousand majority, while Bullock was counted iu by about
that much. We may be mistaken, but that is our belief about it.

Question. We have had it iu evidence here that there were some stakes sold to
negroes, aud they were told that that would entitle them to land in one instauce. I
observed that you state that " they " sold the stakes to negroes. Have you heard of it

in moi'e than one instance ?

Answer. I have heard of it in more than ten or twenty places. I do not know
whether it is true or not. I saw one stake iu one county that a gentleman said had
been planted by a negro in his field ; it was very fancifully gotten up.

Question. In what county was that?
Answer. In Burke County.
Question. Do you know anything about them in any other counties"?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; in Jefferson, Washington, and other counties. I think there were
very few parties engaged in that disreputable business ; only some carpet-baggers just
going Through, who did that to make some money out of the negroes. I state it merely
to show the extent of the credulity of the negroes; and I think there were quite a
number of cases of that kind.

Quesiion. You said something about two negroes, one named Robert E. Lee and on©
named Robert Lee. Was Robert Lee a negro who voted the democratic ticket ?

Answer. I do not know how he voted ; he was a native of the county aud under the
influence of white men, and, I presume, he voted the democratic ticket.

Qmstion. Robert E. Lee was a republican ?

Answer. I do not know what he was; I cannot say as to that. He was carried up
there from Augusta by Sherman ; nobody in the county ever knew him or heard of
him before. I suppose, from his surroundings, that he was a republican.

Question. Yon are under the impression that Robert Lee was a democrat ?

Ansiver. I think so, from the fact that he was iu good hands.
Question. You mean by "good hands" that he was controlled by democrats?
Ansxccr. Yes, sir.

Question. You say they undertook to take Robert E. Lee up there?
Ansiver. I understood the commission was to Robert Lee.
Question. You say that Robert E. Lee was appointed ?

Ansiver. I say that Mr. Sherman took liim up there and said he was the man. Tliey
had found a man named Robert Lee, and he had been acting for about an hour, when
another man came ui) aud represented that he was the one who had been commis-
sioned.

Question. Had there been any search for Robert E. Lee ?

Answer. I think not.

Question. Do you think there is any doubt that Robert E. Lee was the man intended to
bo appointed ?

Answer. I have very little doubt that he was the man.
Question. Do you suppose that the white men who had got Robert Lee there had that

belief?
Answer, do not snpp ose they had any belief of that sort ; they were conscientious

in desiring to have a man there inorderthat theelection mightgoon. Theysaw that the
two commissioners appointed by the ordinary had not been confirmed ; there were two
there who had been appointed by the governor, and they wanted a third man in order
to inake a majority of the board, so that the election might go on. I think they were
conscientious in having Lee sworn in; I do not know whether, after the other man
came up, Ihey were satisfied ho was the right man or not.

Question. Who made the ai)pointment of Robert Lee ?

Answer. The governor, subject to contirmation by the senate.
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Question. Did it not strike tbe people as strange that the governor should appoint
one single democratic negro ?

Jnewer. I do not know that the negro was a democrat; I cannot assume that he was.
Question. You say you were under the impression that he was ?

Answer. I am under the impression from his surroundings that he voted the demo-
cratic ticket that day.

Qitesiion. How many democratic negroes are there in that county?
Anstiwr. I suppose that at an election to-morrow
Question. I mean at that time.

Ansiver. There were some negroes who were democrats.'

Question. Has there not beeu a contention between negroes aiid planters there ; some
of them, at least, in regard to their contracts about their portions of the crops, their

wages, &c. ?

Answer. Xoue that ever came under my observation ; I have heard that there was a
difficulty in getting negroes to uuderstand in the division of the crops what was their

share, and frequently they have to call in a mutual friend to exphiiu it to the negroes.
A negro thinks that one-tenth is more than one-third, and it would be difficult to mak«
him believe otherwise

;
you would have to get very strong proof to make him believe

that one-tenth is not more than one-third. The difficulty in making these settlements
grows out of the fact that the negroes do not understand these things ; and they think,
too, that the white man will cheat him ; they look upon the white man as having cheated
them all their lives. That is the trouble with them ; I have had that difficulty myself; I

have planted on shares with negroes.
Question. Have you heard of any serious difficulty on that account ?

Answer. No, sir ; I have heard white men express a gi-eat deal of impatience at the
conduct of the negroes for not understanding their contracts.

Question. \Yhen these misunderstandings occur in regard to settlements, do the
whites allow the negro to stand up for his rights and insist upon them ?

Answer. Yes, sir; the negro will stand up and talk for his rights for five cents, as
strongly as any white man would. They do not do it oftensively. and they will not per-
mit a white man to do it offensively.

Question. You think there is no diflerence ?

Ansiver. I think it is quite likely a white man would take a little more from a white
man than he would from a negro ; I think it natural that he would ; but a negro is not
prevented from asserting his rights in a x>roper way, and as strongly and persistently

as he chooses.

Question. You think there is no more disposition to take any thing Irom a negro in
tJiose cases than iu any other case ?

Answer. I think not.

Question. You spoke of a man being convicted of a rape, and the judge gave the
lowest punishment which the law allowed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who was that ?

Answer. Judge Gibson ; appointed by Governor Bullock.
Question. Is he a native of Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and was a colonel in the confederate service, in my brigade, for a
long time, and was wounded and captured at Gettysburg.

Question. Is he a good lawyer ?

Answer. Well, sir, I do not like to s^ieak disparagingly of those in authority, but I
would say he was not a good lawyer.

Question. Is he a man of character, honesty, aud good sense ?

Answer. He had that before the war and during the war.
Question. Do you know of any act of his since then by which he should forfeit that

character, other than his becoming a republican ?

Answer. I know of no act ; I would dislike very much to speak of rumors which I
have heard of him ; I prefer not to do it.

Question. You think the judge acted improxjerly iu making that ijunishmeut as light
as he did ?

Ansiccr. I cannot say that ; it was a matter of discretion on his part ; I only gave it

as an instance to show that negroes are not severely punished. I do not know if I had
been on the bench myself that I would not have given him the same punishmeut. I
do not mean to say that anything was done wrongly in that case; I only referred to
that to show that negroes are not punished extremely.

Question. That did not go to show that there was any difficulty in xiunishing a negro
properly who had committed a crime ?

Answer. No, sir ; I only gave it as au instance to show that there is no disposition on
the part of our people to deal extremely with the negroes.

Question. V»'hat was there about that case that mitigated it; was the .woman of bad
character ?

Answer. Xo, sir; she was a woman of good character.
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Question. There must liave been some mitigating circumstance ?

Ansicir. I do not know what it] was ; she was a woman of low position in society,

and such a proceeding would not have been so great a shock to her, jjorhaps, as to one
of higher refincnicnt.

Qncstion. It really was not a rape, but simply an attempt to commit a rape ?

J)hiH-cr. It was an attempt ; I think that such things as that ought to have some
weight in inflicting i>unishment for crime ; the shock of such a thing would not have
been so great as for one of higher refinement.

Queslion. Wliy do you think it cost the State $8,000 to publish this letter of Governor
Bullock's to this committee ?

Ansiver. I do not know that it did cost the State a cent.

Question. You said pretty broadly that it did.

Ansiver. I stated that was the rumor ; I don't know vrhat it cost. You have asked
mo about what I have heard; this is the first court I have ever been in where hearsay
testimony was taken; but it seems to me I have been upon that line i^retty generally
to-day.

Question. Have you ever been upon a grand jury ?

Answer. I liaver never been ; I have been a lawyer all my life.

Question. Well, as a lawyer, you know that where they are not trj'iug a man they
take different testimony.

Answer. I onlj' stated that I heard it cost §8,000 ; I do not know that it cost a cent,
but I believe it did.

Question. And you believe that it was paid out of the State treasury?
Answer. 1 do.

Question. Why?
Ansn-er. Because he lias paid just such jobs out of the State treasury. I gave one

instance—one jol).

Question. Wliat was that?
Answer. A publication of the notices of apj)ointment of district judges and district

attorneys, and the publication of pardons.
Question. Is not that all legitimate?
Answer. If you send an advertisement to me that occupies a square, and I make it

occupy twenty squares, that would not be proper.
Question. That is not a wrong charge, but an overcharge ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. It was proper to pay for that publication of the list of pardons and the
appointments of the judges ?

Answer. Yes, sir; in one pajier.

Question. Is tliere anything connected with this letter of Governor Bullock to Sen-
ator Scott that should require that much expense in its printing ?

Answer. I suppose Bullock regards that as a great State paper. He takes high, Jef-
fersonian ground in that letter ; betakes a great deal of pride, I think, in letting people
know what be has said in that letter.

Question. It is not connected with his official duties ?

Answer. I am aware of that ; but you had addressed him officially, and he has replied
officially. Ho was protecting the general character of the State, defending it against
the movements of this committee. I have no doubt he asj)ires to occuj)y a position
similar to that of Governor Troup in the Cherokee-matter.

Question. He wants to follow tiae example of Governor Troup, and improve upon it ?

Ansiver. I think so.

Question. You really do not know whether he is paying for this publication out of
the State money or not ?

Answer. I do not.

Question. You say he sent it to you for i^ublication in your paper ?

Answer. No, sir; but a gentleman whom I know to bo his private secretary sent it

to me.
Question. Did he send it to you as his private secretary ?

Answer. No, sir ; but the letter was written upon i)aper with executive letter-heads.
Question. He did not send it to you officially ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. He told you to send the account to him ?

Answer. Yes, sir. If it had been signed officially, perhaps I would not have pub-
lished it.

Question. If it had been signed officially, the account would have had to be sent to
another officer of the government ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; Bullock has broken up that system.
Question. Did you publish any of his proclamations ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. You think the newspapers that did publish them made them occuiiy too
much space ?
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Anstcer. Yes, sir.

Question. They were general proclamations iu regard to crimes committed by dis-

guised men ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Let me tell you of one proclamation oiferlng $5,000 for a man -who

Lad committed an ofl'ense against a negro in Hancock County. There never had been
any warrant issued, or any attemi^t made to arrest him. The negro and the white man
Lad had a fight, and Bullock offered this immense reward for this arrest. The man had
never fled ; the warrant was issued, and he came up and had his examination before the

magistrate, or rather gave bond to appear in court ; I believe he gave bond for §500,

and he and the negro settled the case in an hour alterwards.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Did anybody get the reward ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. AVho got it ?

Anstver. It was supposed the man got a good part of it and divided it with the negro.

There was another case of $5,000 reward offered for the arrest of some persons who went
in disguise iu Chattooga. The sheriff of that county, whose duty it was to make the
arrest, had the information iu his hands upon which to make it. But through his

friends—I beUeve the solicitor was connected with it—he had this large reward offered.

And the sheriff, with the information all the time, arrested the imrties, drew the
reward, and divided it with the solicitor.

Question. \Yho was that solicitor ?

Answer. His name was Forsyth.

By the CiiAiriMAX, (Mr. Pool:)

Question. You spoke of a man by the name of Fish, who was killed ; how was that ?

Answer. Fish was a lawyer of position and character, a gentleman, a republican, and
an honest man. He was appointed district judge. A man by the name of Arnold was
an applicant for the same appointment, a pronounced radical, and belonged to the
Blodgett faction. Fish, who received the appointment, was a gentleman, a lawyer iu

good standing, and of great experience, had been a lawyer for twenty-odd j-ears ; he
was highly connected in the State. Arnold was embittered at his rejection and the
appointment of Fish. Fish, as a lawyer, had brought a libel of divorce against a man
by the name of Holsenbake, had brought a libel for the wife of Holsenbake. Holsen-
bake's wife was said to have been a very attractive and fascinating woman. There was
some talk of an improper intimacy between her and Fish, her attorney. And Arnold
got Holsenbake to kill Fish on account of that ; that was the case.

Question. That was a private difficulty f

Anstcer. Altogether.
Question. It had no connection with any bands of disguised men ?

Ansu-er. None at all. That was the case where I said Governor Bullock employed
two democratic lawyers to prosecute, to each of whom he gave .$1,000.

Question. Do you know what was the amount of debt contracted by the State at the
close of the rebellion, generally denominated the war debt f

Anstcer. I cannot say how much was the State issue of treasury notes by Governor
Brown ; but I think it was from four to six millions of dollars.

Question. Do you mean altogether ?

Anstcer. All the debt contracted during the war.
Question. You spoke of State issue.

Anstcer. There were two and a half or three millions issued on two different occa-

sions, making, perhaps, six or eight millions of dollars altogether. That debt has all

been reiJudiated.
Question. Did they issue bonds of the State ?

Anstcer. They issued treasury notes, as they were called—State-issue notes.

Question. Did you not state that they also issued a circulating medium ?

Anstcer. That is what 1 am speaking of.

(Question. Were not regular bonds iirst issued, with coupons 1

Answer. I do not think thera were ; I was not in the State during the war, but my
impression is there were none issued. There was a very considerable addition to our
funded debt just after the war for the purpose of supporting the poor and destitute in
the upper xiart of the State. Both armies had been operating in Cherokee Georgia, in
ciir State, and there was a famine among the people there. The State axiproijriated a
large amount, and Governor Jenkifis expended it.

Question. That was after the war ?

Answer. Yes, sir. We spent several hundred thousand dollars to keep the people
from starving that year.

Question. You spoke rather sharply of General Terry's action in regard to the legisla-

ture.

Anstca: I did not intend to speak so ; I tried to bear in mind not to speak evil of
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those in authority. I differed in opinion with General Terry as to his power as a mili-

tary commander there.

Question. Was any man turned out of the legislature unless obnoxious to the provis-

ions of the reconstruction acts imposing disabilities ?

Ansiccr. I do not know of any one wlio was turned out without some excuse of that

sort; they trumped up something; they had an accusation against every one.

Qucsiio)). The men claim that they were charged wrongfully ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir ; and we think we proved it.

Question. They said they did not bold offices ?

Ansuer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you think your x)roof was disregarded ?

Answer. I do. If you want my opinion further, I believe it was disregarded with a
view to control that branch of the legislature ; the senate was safe for the radicals. I

do not think General Terry was engaged in that disreputable conduct, but I think
other parties were.

Question. You were engaged actively in defending the right of those men to their

Beats ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I was a member of the executive committee ; and I employed
counsel, and acted with them in the case.

Question. Can you name any man who was turned out of his seat because he was
Baid to have held an office before the war, when he did not hold it ?

Answer. I think that Mr. Welbourn had no office before the war.
Question. What office did they allege that he had held ?

Ansivcr. That he had held the office of librarian ; we had no such office in the
State.

Questioji. Was not that a matter susceptible of proof?
Answer. We thought so. We had Governor Brown as a witness ; he was librarian

under Governor Brown.
Question. Was he librarian ?

Answer. He had charge of the library ; but there was no such office known to O'or

statutes as librarian ; there was no commission issued for such an office.

. Question. There was no dispute as to the fact

Anstver. That he had charge of the library?
Question. You did not disi^ute the fact that he discharged the duties of librarian ?

Ansiva: That he had charge of the library under appointment of Governor Brown.
Question. You contended that, as a matter of law, that was not au office ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; it was not au office at all.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. He did not take any oath ?

Answer. No, sir ; and he had no particular api)oiutment ; he was just in the employ
of the governor, who put him in to-day and could turn him out to-morrow. That was
the governor's own statement before this board.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool:)

Question, It was simply a legal question ?

Answer. Yes, sir; aud I thought I knew just about as much about the law as those

gentlemen who were sitting there as majors and colonels; that I ought to know as

much about it as they did, for their lives had been devoted to another branch of the
service, and mine to the legal profession.

Question. Can you give us au instance of any case where a man was turned out upon
the allegation that ho held a position which he really did not hold ?

Answer. They were all charged with holding an othce ; we denied the foct that they
held au office. I remember the case of Mi". Anderson, notably rather a strong case; he
was a notary public.

Question. Nobody disputed the fact that he had been a notary jiublic ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Your dispute was only as to the matter of law ; that it was not such an
office as was contemplated under the reconstruction acts ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was that the ground of dispute in every case ?

Answer. I think so. I remember another case where a man had been a butcher; he
was turned out.

Question. Why was he turned out ?

Answer. Because they said, being a but,cher, he had given aid aud comfort to the
rebellion. His butcher-pen had been seized, aud after it was seized the evidence was
that he had cut the throats of the bullocks, or had it done, rather than let the soldiers

go in there and do it.

Question. He had held an office ?

Answer. I think not ; I do not remember that he had held any office.



GEORGIA. 295

Question. lu bis case tlie effort was to show that he had giveu aid aud comfort to the

rehellion ?

Answer, Yes, sir.

Question. Did it not require two facts to be show^, that an office had been held, and
that aid and comfort had been given to the rebellion ?

Ansiccr. T think so.

Qneslion. It was not alleged that the trade of butcher was an office?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Your complaint of General Terry and those decisions is that he held cer-

-tain positions as making a man amenable to that disfranchisement which you thought
in law were not such as were intended by the law to make a man amenable to disfrau-

chissment ?

Ansiccr. That was one objection ; we said he had no business in the matter at all.

Question. Suppose he had authority, that was the complaint ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. As to his having the authority, that is a diiSerent and distinct question ?

Answer. I believe it is usual for a partj' to call in question the jurisdiction of the
court, if such a question can be raised.

Question. That was a distinct issue ?

Answer. Yes, sir. •

Question. There is another branch of that, and perhaps you stated it a little more
broadly than you intended when you stated that it was regarded by republicans and
democrats as an executive usurxiation ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you mean it was generally regarded so by both parties 1

Answer. I do not wish to be so understood
;
perhaps I should have qualified it in this

-way, it was generally regarded so by the democrats, aud the lea(Jiug republicans of

ithe State also regarded it so ; in other words, all rej)ublicaus outside of the BuUock-
•Blodgett ring.

Question. They regarded it as an executive usurpation ?

Ansieer. Yes, sir. I had conversations with some of them while the thing was going
on, and I talked freely with them about it. I would like to be iiuderstood ; there are

iSome republicans in Georgia who are very offensive to us, and they are men who
^belong to what is called the Bullock faction. Those men are not regarded as reputable
fcharacters, thej^ are not received socially by good people. But there are others like

Judge Andrews, Judge Warner, Mr. Hill, Mr. Foster, and a number of other gentlemen,
leading men, who are so received.

Question. Tiiere is a Bryant faction also ? •

Answa: I do not know ; Bryant is a carpet-bagger, but I think he sides with the
respectable ])ortion of the republican party.

Question. There is still a subdivision, led by Senator Hill?
Answer. No, sir ; I think Hill cooperates in his views with the better portion of the

republican party. I think Bryant does so also, because he thought he could make
more out of it.

Question. Bryant aud Hill belong to the same faction ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What do you mean by saying that if general amnesty were adopted there
would be no further cause of complaint regarding these Ku-Klux outrages in Georgia ?

Answer. I did not intend to say that, and I do not think I said it. I said this: that
;if this disfranchisement were taken off" our people, there would be no further complaint
/against the Government. They do complain of the Government now ; they say the
(Government has placed them in a terrible condition there ; has taken away from them
the talent and experience of the country, aud has turned them adrift at the mercy of
carpet-baggers aud scalawags. I do believe if the disfranchisement under the four-
teenth amendment were lifted from our peoiile you would hear of no more trouble of
any sort.

Question. None of these outrages ?

Answer. I suppose there would be these sporadic cases ; but you would never hear of
any complaints against the Government—none of that bitterness expressed that you
occasionally hear expressed there. I have no doubt it is generally felt, but it is only
occasionally expressed. I feel it very intensely myself, though I do not express it, for
it does not operate upon me particularly. I think the Government is doing itself wrong.

Question. It does not strike you, because you did not happen to hold an office before
the war ?

Answer. That is the fact. As far as I am individually concerned, if I had ambition,
it would be to my benefit, for it would cut off" competition. But I do not want to live
where there is no competition, where talent is proscribed.
\Quesiion. It would cut off" co mpetition with members of your own party ?

uLnswer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have there been many men relieved from disabilities in your State ?
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Answer. I tLiuk not. I have seen tlie list, and I think it amounts to two or three
hunclred.

Question. Have there been general applications to Congress for relief?

Ansifcr. I think not.

Question. Do yon know whether Congress ever refused to relieve those who applied ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Quesiion. Has any hill been rejected for relieving people in Georgia from disabilities ?

Answer. I do not know whether the bill was rejected or not ; but I have a case in
mind now, a friend of mine, whose name was hero in a general bill. After his appli-
cation was sent, aud pending the bill, he unfortunately wrote a letter which did not
please Governor Bullock, and his name was taken out of the bill that was passed.

Question. Do you know of any other case where a man was rejected who had made
ajiplication to Congress ?

Ansiver. I do not kuow that I can recollect any other.

Question. Has Judge Wright ever made ai^plication for relief ?

Ansiver, I cannot say as to him.
Question. You sjjoke of Governor Johnson's case as a hard case ; has he asked to be

relieved ?

Anstver. I do not know that he has. I have talked a little with Governor Johnson,
but I never heard him say.

Question. There have been a great many people from your State relieved upon appli-
cation ?

Answer. Not a great many, considering the number of those there who are disfran-
chised. I suppose there have been two or three hundred relieved.

Question. Why have they not applied to Congress for relief?

Ansiver. I cannot say. I suppose, though, that a number of them thought it was no
use to apply, as they did not belong to the party who had the majority here, and who
could control the matter.

Question. You know of no one who has applied and been rejected, except the one case
you mentioned ?

Atisiver. I cannot say about that.

Question. That gentleman, you say, wrote a letter that displeased Governor Bullock ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; aud it looked to us very hard that the displeasure of Bullock should
control Congress.

Question. Do you recollect the contents of the letter ?

Ansiver. No, sir; although I published it. It was not abusive of anybody; I think
it was more defining his position. I think he rather insisted in the letter that, strictly,.

and according to his views of the case, he was not disqualified.

Question. Was he a republican ?

Ansiver. No, sir; he was a personal friend, I think, of Governor Bullock up to that
time. I know he had been his counsel in a railroad case there; ho was a lawyer.

Question. Why did those negroes in Jefferson County take the men out of jail when
they were sentenced for only thirty days' imprisonment ?

Answer. I said that some of them might have been sentenced for sixty or ninety
days.

Question. "Whj did they go there ?

Answer. I do not know. Cudjoe Fye said that he had orders from headquarters at
Atlanta to go there and release them ; he gave his notices in writing, so I heard it

said.

Question. You say that in that county a band of disguised men did afterward take
some negroes out of the jail, killed one and cut the ears oft' the others ?

Ansiver. One of the negroes was killed, and my recollection is, that an ear was cut
off" one of them. I do not kuow whether that party was disguised or not.

Question. Were those negroes sentenced ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. For what ?

Ansiver. I think the negro Avho was killed had been accused of burning a gin-house,
with its contents ; the other negroes, I think, Avere confined for less oflenses.

Question. For larcenies ?

Answer. Yes, sir; something of that sort.

Question. Was it not given by the negroes as a reason for releasing those prisonera
that there was reason to apprehend that they would be taken out of jail and dealt with
summarily ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have negroes been repeatedly confined in jail there under heavy charges,
and sent from there to the penitentiary ?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not think so. Perhaps, with a single exception, that was about
the gravest charge made. A number of negroes had been in jail for minor oftenses, and
liad served their time out without being molested.

Question. You cannot give any special reason for this release in those cases?
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Answer. I cannot.
Question. How many were released ?

Answer. I cannot tell
;
quite a number—five or six or eight.

Questton. You heard no reason given ? \
• Answer. I saw the notice of Cudjoe Fye that he was acting under orders from head-

quarters at Atlanta.
Question. I mean the reason why such orders were issued?

Ansiver. No, sir; and I do not believe he had any such orders.

Qmsfion. ^Yas any reason alleged for it ?

Anstcer. Only that.

(Jitestion. That was not a reason.

Answer. The reason given by the negroes—some of them were tried and convicted,

but we thought it would be cruel to prosecute the whole body of deluded negroes

—

they said they appeared in obedience to orders that they thought were authoritative.

Cudjoe Fye was not convicted for inciting insurrection, as he ought to have been ; he
was convicted for a less grade of offense, and sentenced to the penitentiary for tlireo

or four years.

Question. Those negroes who turned the prisoners out of jail -^ere prosecuted in court,

and some convicted and x^unished ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What became of the prisoners themselves ?

Answer. I do not know that the prisoners were ever rearrested. I think that the

community thought that as they had been discharged they had better let them go
along.

Question. Tell me whether the white men who last year, or this year, whichever it was,

took those negroes out of jail and killed one and cut the ears otf the others, were ever

prosecuted ?

Answer. Judge Twiggs held a court there for three days, gave a strong charge to the

grand jury, put the whole force of the coiinty at their disposal, and exercised great

diligence in attempting to find out who were the parties ; but they utterly failed.

Question. Was he a republican ?

Answer. Xo, sir; he is said to be a democrat.
Question. He went to the county and held a jury there iu session for three days ?

Ajiswer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that jury, in the three days' session, found no evidence by which they
could identify any jiersou iu the crowd that took those negroes out of jail and killed

one and cut the ears otf the others ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. But when the negroes took some out, and did nothing to the prisoners,

they were convicted ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they weut there in the day-time ; the citizens had a parley with
them at the edge of the town, and they had another parley at the jail before they went
in ; there was no trouble about identifying tbem.

Question. How many men went to the jail at the time the negro was killed and they
cut the ears off the others ?

Answer. I do not remember ; I have an indistinct idea that there was quite a number.
Question. Was it at night ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. Is it not a little remarkable that such an outrage could be committed right

in the body of the town by a number of persons, and nobody identified them at all ?

Answer. No, sir; the jail there is situated upon the outskirts of the town, and I

should suppose that at night a party could go there where the jail was situated, open
it, and take anybody out without it being known whether they were disguised or not.

Question. Was there any circumstantial evidence in the case?
Answer. They v>ere tracked for some ten or twelve miles, into another county, and

then all trace of them was lost. I think the impression there was that it was a party
of persons from another county.

Question. Why should a partj' of persons come from another county into that county ?

Answer. I do not know, and I do not know that that Avas so; that is only the im-
pression on the part of some jieople.

Question. You say there is no organization of Ku-Klux or disguised men in that
county ?

Ansicer. I think not.

Question. You have heard that the custom of the Ku-Klux is to send to another
county for persons to do Avhat they want done ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You have never heard of that ?

Answer. No, sir; I only know what I have heard here about that; I have heard more
here about it than I ever heard anywhere else. I give you that instance, and another
instance, where the parties were tracked over into Lincoln County.

k.
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Question. Does it not seem a little remarkable that Tsbile the citizens of that county
wonkl not take those jiersous out of jail, a hand of men should come from another

county and do it ?

Ansivcr. It would seem so, rather remarkable. I do not «ay that it is so, or that.

I

believe it. I cannot myseK see why strangers should go and interfere with the busi-

ness of the people there.

Question. You say they were tracked into another county in two cases?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; some were tracked for a distance, and then all traces of them were
lost.

Question. Suppose it to be the fact that they had come from an adjoining county,

would not that raise the suspicion in your mind that there was an organization in

each couuty that understood each other?
Ansivcr. No, sir ; I do not see there is any connection with that. Indeed, I do not

believe there is any such organization in that iiart of the State, except the band I

have ab-eady spoken of, that sort of Murrill gang. Most of this class of outrages you
have heard of, these murders, were committed .by jiarties in that gang, I think.

Question. The jury was in session tln'ee days?
Ansiver. I think so.

Question. luvestigating the murder of one man, under the circumstances detailed by
you, and the cutting off of the ears of several others ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you think three days' time adequate for such an investigation ?

Answer. I was not there, and I cannot say. The judge who was there thought so.

I thought ho showed a commendable zeal while the thing was fresh, and strained a
rather doubtful power in opening the court there. I thought he was entitled to credit

for that ; and he thought that time was sufficient.

Question. Did they examine many witnesses ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. They were in session three days ?

Answer. I think for three days only; the court was to be in session soon. They were
left charged with that investigation' during the vacation. Under our system, when a
jury is charged with any subject, when the court adjourns, they are stiU the grand
inquest of the county.

Question. Have you heard of any school-houses being burned in any county in your
circuit ?

Ansivei'. No, sir ; I have heard of but one school-house burned in the State, I believe,

and that was up in Floyd or Chattooga County. It was burned upon the plantation

of an old man who used to be a member of the legislature before the war; I knew
him very well—Mr. Shropshire. I heard that the reason was that it was put up right

in the face of and in close contiguity to a white school-house.

Question. You have heard of none'being burned in the circuit where you practice?

Ansiver. No, sir ; but I know of a number put up by white men for the benefit of

negroes.
Question. You speak of twelve hundred negroes being educated at one time ?

Ansiver. In one county.
Question. Which county?
Ansiver. Richmond.
Question. And by the white people alone ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; the negroes do not pay auy tax there, not even a capitation tax.

Question. Do you mean by voluntary contribution ?

Answer. By a contribution laid by the i^eople themselves.
Question. By the commissioners ?

Answer. By the ordinary, upon the recommendation of the grand jury. Strange to

say, in concocting that very extensive education bill, they left out the power to levy

taxes for the support of schools. We had to go back upon the old system. In Rich-

mond Couuty we paid $17,000 upou the recommendation of a grand jury of white men.
As the law had failed to provide even for building school-houses and for educating our

children, the grand jury, in their session of four weeks ago, in June, recommended to

the ordinary to levy a tax sufficient to raise $17,000.

Question. To establish free schools ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. The ordinary reported the number of scholars attending the schools

;

and my impression is that there were over twelve hundred negro children attending

school.
Question. Does the State fund apply to free schools ?

Answer. I am glad you mentioned that. Under the constitution of 1863, one-half of

the revenue derived from the State road was perpetually set apart for an education

ffund; the whisky tax, the tax on shows and circuses, were set apart for that fund.

?rhat tax was collected and paid into the treasury, and was lying there last fall when
^he legislature met. That republican legislature took that money out of the hands of

jfcljje.treasurer, and.expendeditiipou them8elyje.siQj)_ayiihemselyes, abp.ut the time.thejr
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svere going away. Tbey tben required that the governor should issue bonds and placo

them in the hands of the treasurer in the place of that school fund they had appro-
priated for their own purposes. But there was no provision made for negotiating
those bonds, and there was no chance for the children of the State to get the benefit

of them. The childi-en of the State were really robbed by that legislature of the fund
which had been set apart for their education.

Question. Had there been any free schools established under the State fund ?

Answer. We have not got the State fund; the legislature got it.

(Juestion. They had been established before that time?
Answer. We had a general system there, but it was a very peculiar one. Each county

had charge of the education of its own children ; each county established its own sys-

tem, and the people taxed themselves for the support of the schools. I think that
under the old system the State contributed just as much as the county did. But there
was no general system of education for the State ; each county had its own peculiar
system.

Question. Is that carried out in this county of Eichmoud ; does the State contribute
as much as the county levies for that liurjiose ?

Answer. The State has not contributed since the war. After the adoption of the
present constitution that system went by the board ; and we cannot get the money
from the State, for the legislature has spent it. We do not even get the whisky tax,

the tax on licenses, shows, jugglers, and all that. We have got, in addition to what
we tax ourselves, $2,000 from the Peabody fund, which has been of great assistance

to us. There is a very general disposition to educate all classes, and a very general
determination to educate them in separate schools.

Question. What are the subjects of taxation?
Answer. It is an ad valorem tax laid upon all property, and a special tax in towns.
Question. It is not couiined to real estate ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Do they tax cows, pigs, &c. ?

Anstca: Yes, sir ; they tax anything yoii have.
Question. Do they tax these things in the hands of negroes as well as in the hands of

white men ?

Answer. Yes, sir; but the negroes do nofr give them in. It was in our State so that
a negro could not vote without paying a capitation or poll tax : but the last legisla-

ture repealed that, because none of them ever did pay any poll-tax.

Question. Did you say that no negro in the county of Kichmond gives in his prop-
erty ?

Ansu-er. I say that in the county of Richmond there are over three thousand colored
voters ; and I say that there never was five hundred of them who i)aid their poll-tax
even.

Question. You- say that in this assessment they do not give in their cows, pigs, &c. ?

Answer. No, sir ; they have none in town, or, if they have, they do not give them in,

I tell you that the negroes do not pay taxes.
Question. If the tax is levied upon all i^roperty
Answer. If you are taxing property, how do you know where George Washington,

Napoleon Bonaparte, Oliver Cromwell, and such i^ersons are ? It is like catching the
Ku-Klux

;
you cannot find them. I suppose that in Augusta there are a few negroes

who are worth projierty. A negro man the other day there received a $3,000 legacy
from his former master ; and he may pay a tax on that ; but I say that the great body of
the negroes do not pay any tax.

Question. Is it not the duty of the assessor to go around and find the property and
assess it '?

. Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Does he not do that Avith regard to the property of negroes as well as the
property of white men ?

Answer. No, sir. Our tax system is very loose. I never had a man come to my place in
my life to tax my property. We have no one to assess our property, but we give it in.

ourselves.

By Mr. Coeuex:
Question. To whom ?

Ansicer. To the receiver of the tax returns ; he gives notice that he will be in his office

at such a time, and will receive the returns. If he suspects you have not given in a
correct valuation, or has reason to 'believe so, he may then inquire about it.

By the CHAiEJiAj^r, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. Suppose that a man does not give in any property at all ?

Answer. Then, if it is known that he has property, I suppose he would assess a
double tax, as they did upon Bullock.

Question. Why do they not do thatrto.the;negroes?
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Ansiver. We have au exemption law in Georgia, liut I believe tliat does not apply to
taxation ; but the negroes have very little property.

Question. You say
Ansivcr. I say this : that we have had republican tax-collectors, and they have

fi.\ilod to collect any tax from the negroes ; whether they have done their duty or not
I will not undertake to saj^

Question. So that, when you say these twelve hundred negroea were educated by the
white ])eople alone

Anaivcr. I say the $17,000 which we voted the other day was voted by the white meu
alone ; and that that $17,000, every dollar of it, would he collected from white people

;

tbere may be two or three hundred dollars collected from the negroes.
Question. Was it put in the^lirection levying the tax that it "should be paid by the

white people ?

Answer. No, sir ; there was no discrimination of that sort. I did not understand
you before. The white people are willing to have the negroes educated.

Question. It was a general public tax laid ui^on the ^iroperty of the county ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Buckley :

Question. When was this system inaugurated of indorsing railro;uI bonds bv the
State ?

Ansicer. Since the war.
Question. How soon after the close of the war ?

Anstver. I think that in 186G there was a road that had been completed for sixty or
seventy miles, called the Macon and Brunswick Railroad ; and I think the State under
some very strict provisions indorsed bonds for that road, to the amount of $10,000 a
mile. I think that was the only road Avhose bonds the State indorsed until 1868, 1869,
and 1870.

Question. The policy inaugurated since 1868 has been rather a continuance of the-
policy established in 1886 ?

Answer. No, sir ; there was no policy established then ; that was an isolated case.
The road had been built for a niiuiber of miles ; it was aljout to fail ; it was considered
a work of general improvement to the State, rather a trunk line. I know that a num-
ber of railroads were obliged to fail or obtain aid from the State. The policy of the
State before had been to take stock in a road. The State owns $1,100,000 of stock in
the Savannah and Gulf Railroad, which was contemplated to run from Savannah td
Thomasville; that was called the main trunk ; and the State took that much stock in
it to build it to a point called Initial Point, from which point it was supposed private
enterprise Avould build roads radiating from it; that was the former policy of the
State.

Question. Still the policy of granting State aid to railroads is not new in your State ?

Ansiver. Not especially, but it is the indorsement of the bonds of particular roads.
Question. How is the State protected "? You said the prospective indebtedness of the

State was very large by reason of its indorsement of these bonds?
Answer. They have a first mortgage on the property of the road. Then there is a

stipulation that the State shall subscribe only as much stock as has been subscribed by
individuals; that is a stipulation alwaj'S in their charters, and a stipulation which is

violated every day, and against which the State cannot protect itself. And in regard
to a number of the roads, the bonds of which the State has indorsed, the amount is

more than sufBcieut to complete and equip the road.
Question. What is the indorsement j)er mile?

*

Answer. From $12,000 to $15,000 ;
generally $15,000 to the mile. "

Question. Can your roads be built and equipped for that ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; in the sections of the State where most of these roads are loOated

;

some of them cannot.
Question. Was your judiciary elective before the war?
Ansiver. It was elective before the war; but during the war it was given to the gov-

ernor, Governor Brown being the governor, and that system was found not to be satis-

factory. Immediately upon the close of the war it was given back again to the iieople
by the convention of 1865.

Question. So that the policy of appointing the judges by the governor, subject to
confirmation by the senate, is not an altogether new policy ?

Answer. It has been tried before and abandoned.
Question. You say that Governor Bidlock has the appointment of these diflereut

judges ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that ho has appointed six democratic judges?
Anstver. I mentioned the names of six who I supposed were democrats; I supi)oso

about that number of democrats have been appointed. I stated that before the war
the election of two thousand justices of the peace, who have vast power as committing
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officers, -was not taken from the people ; they were elected by the people ; but under
•Governor Bullock's administrattou lie appoints one in each militia district in tho
State.

Question. Do yon know that the convention which framed the constitution under
which you now live was influenced to some extent to take away this elective power
from the peojile by reason of the fact that there was such a large number of persons
added to the voting population ?

Amicer. On the contrary, I should suppose the very opposite would have been the
influence with them, for there were neoroes in the convention, and they constituted a
very large element in it; the negroes and carpet-baggers had a majority there.

Question. Speaking of carpet-baggers, Avill you detine what you iiieau by that term?
I should like to know what you mean.
Answer. I will give yon any assistance I can on that point. I mean a man who goes

down in the South to make his fortune by politics, to stir up strife between the races,
and try to get office as governor and judge, member of the legislature and senator;
men who go there with politics as a trade ; low peo]de at home, without reputation
or standing at home, who go there hoping that in the upheaval of society they may
make something by it.

Question. Suppose that a gentleman, having been born in the ^tate of New York,
had left it before the war and settled in a Southern State ; shortly after his settlement
there the war came on, and he left his adopted State during the war ; as soon as the
war was over he returned, and was elected a member of Congress uuder tho recon-
struction acts, came to the House of Eepresentatives, and was enabled to take the
test oath and be sworn in. Would you call such a man as that a carpet-bagger ?

Answer. I should think not ; if he returned to his residence, from which he had been
"

driven by the results of the wjir, I see no reason why he should be called a carpet-
bagger.

Question. Suppose a man settled there in 13C5, purchased property, made it his home
long before colored men had the right to vote, before the reconstruction acts passed;
suppose that having settled there he was afterward elected to the position of member
of the legislature, or to any other position, would you call him a carpet-bagger ?

Ansieer. I do not think the election of a man to any office makes him a carxset-bagger.
Question. And his politics does not make him a carpet-bagger?
Anstver. No, sir ; we have men in Georgia who have not been there a year, who are

not carpet-baggers, and who are republicans.
Question. For instance, in my own State our present governor was born in Scotland,

and under our old constitution he was disqualified from holding office because of his
(foreign birth

;
under our new constitution he has been made eligible to be elected as

governor, and he has been elected governor of our State. You would not call him a
carpet-bagger ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You say in reference to the voting of colored men, that they sometimes ex-
pected that they would get something when they voted ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I do not understand exactly what you meau by that.
Anstver. I will explain it again. I stated that just after the war, when voting was a

new thing to the n^^gro, he was very ignorant, and was made to believe by the carpet-
baggers that by voting the republican ticket he would get a great many things.

Question. Did you ever hear a republican speaker, or any person holding any position
in the republican party, promise anything of that kind to the colored race ?

Answer. I never attended a republican meeting but two or three times, and in those
meetings I heard the negroes told by white and black speakers that if the body of the
people South, the democrats, got into power, they would put them back into slavery.

Question. It is the other branch of your statement I want to inquire about. Did you
ever hear anything promised to the negroes 1

Ansiver. No, sir ; I never did ; but I have heard negroes say time and time again that
they were jiromised.

Question. But you never heard anybody make any such promise to them ?
Answer. No, sii- ; I have not had any dealings with people of that kind ; but I know

a number of negroes who said promises were made to them, and I believe thev told
the truth.

''

Question. In regard to the painted stakes of which you have spoken : you said, in
speaking of the persons that sold them, that " thev" sold'them. To whom did vou refer
by " they ?"

"

Answer. I meant the parties who carried them there and dealt them out to the
negoes—the carpet-baggers.

Question. Do you know of a certainty that they were carpet-baggers ?
Answer. I have not been speaking of my own knowledge at all ; I said that this was

the statement.
Question. Have you reason to believe it ?
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Answer. I have reason to believe it ; I have seen a stake that had the ear-marks of a
stake; and I have liad the statement from negroes in different counties that it was
done, and I beheve it.

Question. In speaking of the burning of gin-houses, what cause do you assign for that
burning?
Answer. I cannot tell you. It troubled me very much ; I had occasion to give a great

deal of attention to that subject, and I never could account for it. That there was
some system about it was apparent from the frequency of the occurrences.

Question. In what season of the year were they burned ?

Answer. In the fall. You know that a gin-house where the ginnery runs is some-
what extra-hazardous, as insurance gentlemen call it ; there is danger from friction in
running the gins.

Question. You know of some instances where they were burned in that way ?

Ansivcr. Yes, air; not in all cases; some were Jjurned where there was no running ot
the gin during the day.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. Do not some of them take fire from spontaneous combustion ?

,
Ansivcr. In some cases that might have been. But there is not so much of that

burning of gins now.

By Mr. Buckley :

Question. Do you not think that grew out of the demoralization which followed the
war?

Answer. 1 regarded it as growing out of the deviltry taught to the negroes by the
carpet-baggers.

Question. You think they taught them to burn gin-houses ?

Answer. If they did not teach them that, they taught them to hate the white men
there.

Question. In regard to this subject of disabilities, how many men are under disabili-
ties in Georgia ?

Answer. I gave a great deal of attention to that in 1868 ; I took the figures and care-
fully studied the matter. According to the coustrnction iiut upon the act of Congress
by General Terry there are twenty-six thousand or twenty-seven thousand in the State

;

but according to the construction put upon that act by myself, and I believe by the
Committee on the Judiciary in the Senate here, there are oidy aboiit fifteen thousand
or sixteen thousand. That, however, is but a mere matter of calculation, because we
have no registry of offices which is acessible^; it can only be apjjroximated by refer-
ence to the" different grades of officers, the number of them, and an estimate of the
probable mortality among office-holders.

Question. You spoke of young men being in the legislature ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you think the State will lose anything by the introduction of young
men into its legislature ?

Ansiver. I trust not, except through their want of experience.
Question. In 1860, you had experience and intelligence and skill ?

Answer. We had.
Question. And it was that intelligence, and experience, and skill that took the State

out of the Union ?

Answer. I presume it was the intelligence of the legislature of 1860 that took the State
out ; and I presume to-day that intelligence would say it was one of the grandest blun-
ders they ever committed ; but I never heard of but one man so intelligent and so learned
that he never made a mistake ; we have one in Georgia who says he never did make a
mistake.

By the CiL\inMAN, (Mr. Pool:)

Question. I find that Governor Bullock in his letter to this committee says :

" In this State, a constitution was framed and adopted in 1865, under the authority of
President Johnson's proclamation, w hich disfranchised ninety-five thousandmale citizens
over twenty-one years of age. This was democratic."
Answer. Well, Governor Bullock does not exactly understand the force of the language

put in his mouth by his attorney general ; nobody was disfranchised, but there were
-ninety-five thousand adult negroes in the State who had never been allowed to vote;
they had never been enfranchised.

>Question. That is what he means?
.Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I observe that he says

:

"Under the authority of an act of Congress, a constitution was framed in 1867 and
.1868, by delegates elected by the people, and ratified by the votes of a majority of the
'people, whereby every male citizen twenty-one years of age, of sound mind and not
•.convicted of crime, is authorized to vote and hold office. There is not a word or a line
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in that constitution -wliich disfranchises or disqualifies any citizen of this State from
the exercise of any political privilege."

J nsivoi: So far as I know, there is no disfranchisement in that constitution. The only
disfranchisement our j)eople labor under is that imposed by the fourteenth amendment
to the Constitution of the United States.

By Mr. Bi^vir :

Question, Were they disfranchised in the election upon that constitution ?

Ansiver. They were disfranchised then.

By Mr. BucivXEY :

Question. Under the reconstruction policy of President Johnson, there were some ten
classes, were there not, who were obliged to apply for pardon ?

Ansiver. I think there were twenty ; some ten or twenty classes.

Question. Were not persons who were embraced in any one of those classes and had
not obtained pardons, were they not disfranchised?

Answer. I think some of them were allowed to vote.
Question. Is it not possible that Governor Bullock may have referred to those classes

who were not pardoned ?

Ansiver. O, no, not ninety-five thousand ; we had only about one hundred thousand
voters in the State ; he refers to the negroes. •

"

By the Ciiairmax, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. There has been a great deal of complaint concerning the election of carpet-
baggers to oflice iu the State ; that Governor Bullock has appointed carpet-baggers to
office ?

Ansiver. I do not remember as to that ; there have been a number of them.
Question, There has been a great deal of complaint against him in the newspapers

about it ; the governor iu this letter gives the number of carpet-baggers that have been
put into office.

Answer. A number of them very important officers ; one justice of the supreme court
would perhaps come under your definition of carpet-bagger, not under mine; he was
born in Massachusetts, and is a very clever man—Judge McCoy ; another judge. Judge
Warner, was born in the same State, I think ; I think Mr. Trumbull read law in his
oiSce ; they are not carpet-baggers, perhaps ; they are gentlemen, learned lawyers.

Question. They are comx^etent judges ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. After your complaint about carpet-baggers, I was somewhat struck by a
passage iu Governor Bullock's recent letter, which I will read to you. He said

:

" In this State there is, so far as I know, not more than a dozen men in office, (and
those of an unimportant character,) either elected by the people or appointed by me,
who were not either natives of the South or resident citizens here before and during
the war."
You would not call men carpet-baggers who were resident there before the war, and

durmg the war ?

Answer. No, sir ; I am not prepared to say that I know of more than a dozen that he
has appointed to office.

Question. He says appointed, or elected by the people.
Answer. I do not know that I know of any more than that number, appointed or

elected ; I do not pretend to say that is true, but I could not perhaps mention more.
Question. That would not be the cause of any very great complaint on the carpet-

bagger question?
Answer. No, sir; we have not complained of the carpet-bagger question; wo have

got rid of them now.
Question. The governor says in his recent letter :

" The officers appointed by the governor are three judges ofthe supreme court, twenty
ludges of the superior courts, one attorney-general, twenty solicitors-general. State
school commissioner, superintendent, treasurer and auditor of the State railroad, sis
trustees of the public institutions, &c. In this number there -^as but one gentleman
who was not either a native of the South or a citizen of Georgia before and during the
Avar. The one referred to was eminently fitted for the position to which he was
appointed, and, as a man of worth and good character, is not surpassed by any in the
State."

Ansiver. I intended to say, and I think I have said, that I never heard any charge of
fraud or corruption against our judiciary. The statement there made that they are
men of respectability and social standing is true. The objection is that there is a
want of competence on their part; they are not competent to fulfill the duties of their
positions ; the people, or a part of them, have no confidence in them.

Question. That statement of Governor Bullock is substantially true, then ?

Ansiver. I think so, so far as I know. I cannot recall, without some trouble, a half a
dozen names of carpet-baggers who are in office under the State government now. As
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I have told you, we have got rkl of those ; we have cleaned them out ; we have settled

with them ; we have no trouble down there now with them. And if you will just let

tis alone, let us go along and pay our debts, get a little money, and take off this dis-

franchisement, we will after a while learn to forget that there has been a war.

By Mr. Beck :

Qnestion. I find that by the act of the legislature of Georgia of 1SG9, among other

things, the following property is exempt from taxation

:

"AH plantation and mechanical tools, and all household and kitchen furniture, not

above the value of three hundred dollars, not held for sale or as merchandise.

"AH poultry, and two himdred dollars in value of other i^ropertj', besides the special

exemptions, but which latter do not obtain in favor of non-residents.

"All annual crops and provisions, all lire-arms, and all munitions, and all wearing

apparel not held as merchandise."

[ ask whether that amount of property, thus exempt from taxation, docs not cover

all the property owned by largely more than nine-tenths of your colored population?

Aimcer. Yes, sir; more than ninety-nine hundredths of them.

Washington, D. C, July 27, 1871.

JOHN B. GORDON sworn and examined.

The Chairiman, (Mr. Pool.) Mr. Beck, as this witness has been called at your re

•quest, you will please open his examination.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. State yonr place of residence.

Answer. Atlanta, Georgia.

Question. How long have you resided in Georgia ?

Answer. I was born and raised there.

Question. You have always lived there ?

Answer. I have always lived in the State, with the exception of one or two years ; I

was educated there ; I have listed in Atlanta since 1867; I practiced law prior to the

•war. /-,.».
Question. "What public positions, if auy, have you held in the State of Georgia?

Akswer. I never have luid an office of any description.

Question. Y''ou ran for governor once ?

Answer. I was a candidate for governor in the spring of 13G3.

Question. Where did you reside immediately after the close of the war?
Answer. I removed to Brunswick, which is on the coast, a little south of Savannah

;

it is one of the most important sea-ports in our State.

Question. You lived there several years ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I lived there about two years—until the latter part of 18G7.

Question. And then you returned to Atlanta?
Answer. Y'es, sir ; I returned to my home in Atlanta ; I was down at Brunswick, en-

gaged in the lumber business ; I had some saw-mills, &c., there, and was looking after

my interests down there.

Question. The object we had in calling you as a witness was to get from you, if pos-

sible, a general view of the condition of the State of Georgia, to ascertain whether

property and life are protected there, Avhether any crimes have been committed by
disguised men. From your general knowledge of affairs in that State, we desire you to

tell us whatever will enable' the committee tx» understand fully the condition of affairs

in Georgia, with reference to these matters. In answering the question, you are not

limited to your own personal knowledge, but you have a right to tell auything you

may have heard from such sources as you believe.

Answer. If it is worth anything to the committee I will give a statement as to the

condition of affairs on the coast. Directly after the war I went with my family to Bruns-

wick to eugage in the lumber business. On my arrival there I found the place occu-

pied, as were a number of i^laces along the coast, by negro troops. lu that portion of

'Georgia, all along the belt of sea-coast, for probably a hundred miles from the coast

and up nearly to the middle portion of the State, the negroes, as a rule, largely out-

number the whites in every county. That is particularly so in the belt of country

bordering on the Atlantic, embraciug the Sea Islands. I suppose that in the county in

which Brunswick is situated—Glynn County—the negroes umst out number the whites,

at a guess, eight or ten to one. I would say that without knowing the precise statis-

tics. The diiTproportion of population between the blacks and whites is very great.

When I reached Brunswick I found there was a very bad state of feeling between those

negro troops and the citizens. I paid very little attention to the matter, but in walk-

ing the streets at times I found that these troops were insulting toward those whom
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tbey had heard were in the army. In passing by them in the street you Tvonld hear
such remarks as this: "There is a damned rebel." Meeting you on the side-walk
they Avould, without being absolutely violent, get you off the side-walk; they would
refuse to divide it with you. These things attracted my attention. I was acquainted
with some citizens there, and, on one occasion, soon after my arrival, some of them
came to me and said that an old gentleman, living just out of the city, had been
robbed. On inquiry I found that this old gentleman bad been stopped on the road and
robbed by these troops, and had been treated very badly ; had not been personally
injured, but very grossly insulted. He had been told that if he dared to oppose them
they would take his life—" pin him u}) to a pine tree," or something of that sort was
the language. They had also, directly after my arrival, taken a young man from the
town, carried him into the woods, and laid him down, Avith a negro on each side, and
had drawn a knife across his throat three or four times, telling bim that they intended
to take his life. After tantalizing him in that way for some time they turned him loose.

Such things of course created a good deal of feeling in the little town of Brunswick,
which is now called a city ; and especiallj' did thej' excite the population very much,
because of the immense number of negroes in the immediate vicimity of Brunswick on
the islands around. The negro population generally became very obnoxious. They
obtruded themselves everywhere they could. There was not only apprehension but
decided alarm among the people, so much so that I was asked, not only by the people
of that town, but ofDarien,Georgia, and along the coast vshere these negroes were, to go to
Savannah immediately and apply to General Brenham to have the negro troops removed.
On my arrival, I found General Grant was just starting to Brunswick on his tour through
the South. I applied to him, and submitted affidavits, as well as told him what I had
personally seen. After hearing the testimony, he said to me, "Well, I think there is

no danger of bloodshed." I replied that onr i)eople were doing all they tonld ; they
were forbearing any violence ; they were suffering the indignities offered them rather
than create a difficulty; but ttiat while we were observing our parole, and were
determined to keep the peace and abide by the laws, things had come to such a pass
that they might soon be beyond endurance, and that very certainly there would be
bloodshed unless these negro troops were removed ; I doubted whether even that would,
check the hostile demonstrations of the negro population, although I thought it would
go very far toward it. On further consideration. General Grant did order General
Brenham to remove the negro troops from that point. I traveled with General Grant
through Georgia for about three days, and on parting witb him in Atlanta, on the third
day, when we were speaking about matters in Georgia, he expressed general satisfaction
with the state of things, and consented, before we parted, that all the negro troops
should be removed from the State. That was carried out ; and as soon as the white
troops occupied the camps which the negroes had occupied we had very little more
trouble. I mention this with a view to show that at that time there was the very
kindest feeling in Georgia, on the part of the white race, toward the negroes who had
just been emancipated, and that a great deal of forbearance was exercised toward
feem.
There is another fact I will mention in that connection. Immediately after these

occurrences of which I have spoken, an application was made to the citizens of Bruns-
wick—myself among the number—to aid the negroes iu building a school-house and
a church. I owned some mills, and contributed very largely myself, in the way of lum-
ber, toward the building of both the church and the school-house. This was in 1865
or 1886—very soon after the war—either in the fall of 1865 or during the winter of
18G5-'66. In answer to a communication from the trustees of the negro school, inquiring
as to my opinions about the education of the negro, I wrote a letter encouraging them,
and promising the aid of our people. And that letter, by the way, was used as a cam-
paign document in my behalf when I was afterward canvassing Georgia for governor.
The letter had been preserved by those negroes, and was published at that time to our
people. It was an answer to a communication from the negro trustees of this school,
which the whiles mainly had built, the negroes contributing only such small amounts
as they were able to contribute. In that letter I urged upon them to educate their
people, and pledged the cooperation of the whites in that direction. I urged the
importance of friendly relations between the two races, reciting the fact that we were
compelled to live together in the same country ; that our interests were identical, that
we were taxed alike, «&c. I strove as far as I could to cultivate tlie kindly relation
which I believed to be so highly desirable. Notwithstanding that fact, there was a
great deal of disturbance on different plantations, and a good deal of plundering ; eo
much so that even the agents of the Freedmen's Bureau had to interfere. I would
particularly mention a case which occurred on my own plantation, (I was planting rice
at the time,) when the negroes drove the overseer away, threatening his life, on account
of some orders he had given about the jiarticular way the rice was to be cultivated.
They wanted to cultivate it in their own style. There was no violence at all on his
part. There were some lifty-odd negroes on this place, and their violence was so great
(they threatened with hoes and implements of that sort, as well as guns) that the

20 G
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Freedmen's Enroau agont had to interfere, aud the coinruandor of the troo])s there had
to take soldiers out to (^uell this difficulty. That was about the state of thiugs wheu
I left the coast.

Those uegroos upon th6 coast are very ditferent from the negroes in Middle and Upper
Georgia ; they are almost an entirely difi'erent race of people. They are excessively

ignorant. The intelligence of the negro in the middle and upper counties of Georgia
J8 very much the same as the intelligence of the negro here or anywhere over> the
country. But in the southern portion of the State, where thei'e is a large negro belt,

as we call it, the negroes have absolutely a language of their own. If a negro from
Washington were to talk with a negro from Atlanta, or the upper portion of Georgia,

their language wotild be the same ; they would use about the same words to express the
same ideas. But it is not so on the coast. If a negro were transported from this city

to the coast of Georgia, he would not understand at all a great deal that many of the
negroes of that coast would say. Their old masters, who grew up with them, do under-
stand their language ; but it is a peculiar language. It is difi'erent from the language
of the negroes in any other portion of our State, or any other portion of the South,

except along the Atlantic belt.

Quesiion. Is that class of negroes still there ?

Answer. They are there now, and in very large numbers, upon the Sea Islands and
upon the rice plantations.

Quesiion. They areas ignorant, I presume, as they were at first?

Aiiswer. Quite so. They have also a peculiar religion. I have attended what they
call their r<'ligions meetings ; and thoy have what they call "shouting." They say,
" We are going to have a shouting to-night." If you staid outside when that shouting
was going on, it would remind you very much of the accounts that we read of tho

worship of the howling dervises. They sing, shout, take hold of hands, and go round
dancing and jumping until one faints; then he is considered as '' having religion."

That is the style of worship not only in that ))ortion of Georgia, but it is now extending
.up the State. I had a large plantation in Dougherty County, Georgia, Avhich I sold

last fall. On that ])lantation three years ago tlicrc? was no such religion as this known.
The negroes belonged to various churches ; mainly the Baptist and Methodist. Those
were the mostpopular churches among the negroes of Georgia. But now this particnliar

,religion which they call " shouting," has beeu imported up there, and ingrafted uj>ou

.their style of worship. It is exten'ding higher up in the State, and is gradually getting

ipossession of all the negroes there. To carry on these exercises, they will sit up all

night long, and sometimes many nights in succession ; so that it is a source of very
great annoyance to the planter who (Icpends on their labor for his crojjs. I do not want
to say that it is a general thing in the State. It is a general thing on the coast, and is

being introduced into the counties in Southwest Georgia, the cotton-growing counties

of the State. Before I sold tho plantation I have just spokeu of, this style of worship
had been inaugurated on that plantation.

Question. Do they think the Spirit strikes them when they fall down in that way ?

Anstvcr. They say they are " happy ;
" they are taken to one side, and the exercise is

continued until another and another is exhausted aud laid aside as " hajipy" men or

women. That is their stylo of religion which they call "shouting. "

Question. In other words, they are extremely ignorant and superstitious ?

Ansu-er. They are very ignorant. They are entirely different from the negroes from
the middle section of the State upward. The latter are much more intelligent than
thoGe along the sea-coast.

Quesiion. They are more in contact with the white people ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; the races are more equally divided. On the coast, where the

planter staid in the winter time only, the negroes scarcely ever saw a white person
;

but in tlie upper part of the State, where I was raised, the negro children and the

white children have been in the habit of playing together. My companions, when I

was being raised, were tho negro boys that my father owned. We played marbles,

rode oxen, went fishing, and broke colts together; a part of my j'un Avas to play with
those coloxed boys. The negro girls—those who were raised aljout the house— were
raised very much as the white family was raised. They were raised in the family, and,

of course, the intelligence of the family was extended, in some measure, to the negroes.

The plantations there were nothing like so large as those cm the coast. The white
people lived on their plantations all the year round. The negroes mingled with them,
and grew up into a very difi'erent class of people^ from those on the coast.

Question. As to those negroes along the black belt, whom you have described aa

having their own peculiar language and religious superstitions, with what sort of in-

telligence do they seem to exercise the right of suffrage f How are tliey controlled

and managed '!

Answer. Well, sir, they had just begun voting when I left there ; they were at that

time, and are still, so far as my knowledge of the State extends— I know it is triu; of a

large ])ortion of the State—controlled almost entirely by the Ijcagno organizations.

The negroes were introduced very early into what they called the Union Leagues ; and
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they were controlled by those Leagues. Thoy seemed to be under the impression that

by voting they were to ac(iuire some sort of' property, and were influenced mainly by
ideas of that sort, which had been instilled into them by these people who had gone
there among them. I, however, know less about the particular influence brought to

bear now, in that part of the State, with regard to voting, than in any other part, be-

cause I have been in that portion of the State less since they have been voting. When I

left there they had just commenced voting. But they were then, as they are

now generally throughout the State, under the control of men who have, gone
in our midst since the war—men who, I am sorry to say, are, as a general rule,

without any character at home, so far as we have been able to learn ; men who,
as a rule, were not in the army ; for I want to say very distinctly that our people
have not entertained animosity and bitterness toward the troops, the men who
were in the army : our feeliugs are directed toward these camp-followers and men
who have come in our midst since the war—men without character and without intel-

ligence, except a certain sort of shrewdness by which they have been enabled to im-
pose themselves upon the negro and acquire gain, some of them very much gain, out
of the pittances they were able to got out of the negro one way and another. Some
of them have gotten into office from counties where they never were but once or twice
during the whole canvass. In some cases they have gone into a county only a fqw
days before the election ; their names have been sent to the League, and their election
has beeu fixed Tip in advance. I know of one or two members of the legislature who
never resided at all in the counties from which they were sent, except a few days be-
fore the election. My own impression, from what I have seen in Georgia, is that the
negroes, left free from this influence, would have been exceedingly peaceable. The
very kindliest relations exist between the old masters and their former servants. I

could give from my own personal knowledge instances of the very tenderest expres-
sions of kindness and enthusiastic demonstrations of love on the part of the negroes
for their old masters. In one case a body servant of mine came a long distance to see

me ; alter having been captured by the Federal Army in Georgia, and staying with tbem
for months, he came back to me just before the surrender, and told me he preferred to

serve me rather than have his freedom, if he must be separated from me, thougb he
wanted his freedom. His wife was mj wife's chambermaid. She wanted to go with
me to Brunswick. She had been raised by my wife, and had beeu raised very much as
my wife was. I had paid an enormous jnice for her husltaud after my marriage, so as
to have him with his wife. I had been offered twenty-five hundred dollars for him,
which I had declined.to take. I would not have sold him at all, any more than I would
have sold my brother. These two negroes were auxious to go with us to Brunswick,
but I had but little money and was unable to take them. On my return to that por-
tion of Georgia two years afterward, I walked from my father's house a mile before
breakfast to their little cabin to see them. When I got to the door, the woman was
sitting at the breakfast-table. As I opened the door she was in the act of drinking
coffee from a saucer. In her excitement at seeing me, she let the saucer fall upou the
•floor, sprang to me, gathered me in her arms, and sank at my feet crying " Massa John,
I never knew who my friends were before."

I give that case sim]>ly as a sample of thousands within my knowledge. It illustrates

the general feeling of the negroes after the war toward their old masters. But the state of
feeling is very difl'erent now, though even now there is not a great deal of animosity.
I can give you an incident which occurred very recently. As a delegate to an educa-
tional convention in Alabama, I was invited to make a speech. General Clanton made an
address before me, advocating the education of the negro population at the bauds of
our people, by direct taxation, putting the whites and blacks in that respect ujion the
same footing. I followed General Clanton, indorsing the same idea. The convention,
without a single dissenting vote, indorsed our ideas. We were afterward waited
upon by a committee of colored people, who expressed their appreciation of our views.
Our people would never have had any conflict of any sort with the negroes but for the
introduction of this disturbing element—a class of men whose object seemed to be to
stir up strife among the people, and to create animosity ; and they did succeed to some
extent in creating it ; there is no question about that. They did win the colored race
away from the white I'ace in a very great measure. I believe that if you would relieve
our State (I am now speaking particularly of Georgia) of these meu who liave come
there since the v.ar, who have no property or interest there, except what they can get
out of the negroes, there would be the utmost cordiality between the two races in that
State, and there would be no conflict. There could not be conflict, because the interests
of the races are identical. Our yieople have no interest in driving these negroes out of
the country. Their interest is directly the reverse. We want them there. We oppose
their being carried away, even to Mississippi.' We try to keep out men who would
come there to hire them and take them where they say they will jiay them more. In
the Southern Cultivator, the leading .agricultural journal of Georgia, you will find
article after article, from the first planters of the State, opposing the introduction of
white laborers Horn abroad, on the ground that the negro is the proper laborer for our
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State ; that we imderstaiul biui and lie nndtn'ntands us. One rrentlemau, whom I will

mention particularly as contrihutinji sncli articles, is considered the ehiet'of the itlaut-.

ers in Georgia—ilr. Dixon, of Hancoelc. Article after article appears from hid pen,

taking that ground; and there an; nund)ers(if people in Georgia who agree with him.
I believe a very large portion do. We want to cultivate kindlj' relations with the

negroes. It is our interest to do so; and besides, (though the thing may not be easily

understood by some,) there is some heart in the matter on our part ; tliere is no question

about that. I can say for myself with great emphasis and great honesty, and appeal
to my God as my witness, that I never entertained toward the negro race anything
but the very kindliest feelings.

I will state a fact which I think will be borne out by every honest man in Georgia

—

that the negro to-day, before a jury of southern men in Georgia, has as fair a chance of
justice as a white man, if not a better chance. I ))elieve this as firmly as that I am
sitting in this chair. I have known instances where negroes on trial for crime have
escaped at the hands of white juries where white men would have been convicted.

Our juries in such cases i)ut their action on this ground: "We are afraid we will be
misunderstood on this question. And besides that, allowance must be made for the
peculiar circumstances of the negro, and the inilnences to which he has been exposed
since the war." It is upon this ground that jurors in Georgia are inclined to favor
negroes rather than otherwise. And I believe that to be a true sanaple of the feeling

between the two races in that State.

Question. What do you know of any combinations in Georgia, known as Ku-Klux, or

by any other name, who have been violating law ?

Answer. I do not know anything about any Ku-Klux organization, as the papers talk
about it. I have never heard oi anything of that sort except in the papers and by
general report; but I do know that an organization difl exist in Georgia at one
time. I know that in 1868—I think that was the time— I was approached and asked
to attach myseltto a secret organization in Georgia. I was approached by some of the
very best citizens of the State—some of the most peaceable, law-abiding men, men of
large property, who had large interests in the State. The object of this organization
was explained to me at the time by these parties ; and I want to say that I approved
of it most heartily. • I would approve again of a similar organization, under the same
state of circumstances.

Question. Tell us all about what that organization was.
Ansioer. The organization was simply this—nothing more and nothing less : it" was

an organization, a brotherhood of the property-holders, the peaceable, law-abiding citi-

zens of the State, for self-protection. The instinct of self-protection prompted that
organization ; the sense of insecurity and danger, particularly in those neighborhoods
where the negro population largely i)redoininated. The reasons which led to this organ-
ization were three or four. The first and main reason was the organization of the

Union League, as they called it, abor.t which we knew nothing more than this: that
the negroes wotikl desert the plantations, and go off at nig]ir in large numbers ; and ou
being asked where they had been, would re])ly, sometiims, "W^e have been to the
muster;" sometimes, " We have been to the lodge ;" sometimes, " We have been to the
meeting." These things were observed for a great length of time. We knew that the
"carpet-baggers," as the people of Georgia called these men who came ft'om a distance
and had no interest at all with us ; who were unknown to us entirely- ; wlio from all we
could learn about them did not have any very exalted position at their homes—these
men were organizing the colored people. We knew that Ijeyond all question. We
knew of certain instances where great crime had ))een conmiitted ; where overseers had
been driven from plantations, and the negroes had asserted their right to hold the
property for their own benefit. Apprehension took p(jssession of the entire public
mind of the State. Men were in many instances afraid to go away from their homes
and leave their wives and children, for fear of outrage. Rapes were already
being committed iu the country. There was this general organization of the
black race ou the one hand, and an entire disorganizaticm of the white race on the
other hand. AVo were afraid to have a ])nblic organization; because we supposed it

would be construed at once, by the authorities at Washington, as an organization
antagonistic to the Governujent of the United States. It was thei'eforo necessary, in

order to protect our fiimilies from outrag*; and preservf- our own lives, to have some-
thing that we could regard .-is a brotherhood—a combination of the best inen of the

country, to act purely in self-defense, to repel the attack in case we should be attacked
by these people. That was the whole object of jhis organization. I never heard of any
disguises connected wilh it; we had none, very certainly. This organization, I think,

extended nearly all over tln^ State. It was, as I say, an organization i)urely for self-

defense. It had no more politics iu it than the orgaTiization of the Masons. I never
heard the idea of politics suggesteil in connection with it.

Question. Did it have anj- antagonism toward either the State or the Federal Gov-
ernment ?

Answe): None on earth—not a particle. On the contrary, it was purely a peace police
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organization, and I do know of some instances where it did prevent bloodshed on a

large scale. I know of one case in Albany, Georgia, where, but for the iustrumentality

of this organization, there would have been, beyond all doubt, a conflict, growing out

of a personal difficulty betwecu a^ black man and a white man. The two races gathered

on each side, but this organization quelled the trouble easily and restored peace, with-

out any violence to anybody and without a particle of difficulty with either the black

race or the white. They stopi)ed one just as much as they did the other. This society

was purely a police organization to keep the peace, to prevent disturbances in our

State. That was the motive that actuated me in going into it, and that was the whole
object of the organization, as explained to me by these persons who approached me. I

approved of the object. ,

Question. You had no riding about at nights ?

A7isjcer. None on earth. I have no doubt that such things have occurred in Georgia.

It is notoriously stated—I have no personal knowledge of anything of the kind, but I

have reason to believe it^—that disguised parties have committed outrages in Georgia;
but we have discovered in some cases that these disguised parties did not belong to

any particular party. We have demonstrated that beyond all question in some cases,

by' bringing to trial and conviction parties who belonged, for instance, to the radical

party, who had in disguise committed outrages in the State. There is not a good man
in Georgia who does not deplore that thing just as much as any radical deplores it.

When I use the term '• radical," I do not mean to reflect upon the republican party gen-
erally; but in our State a republican is a very difl'erent sort of a man from a republi-

can generally in the Northern States. In our State republicanism means nothing in

the world biit creating distm'bance, riot, and animosity, and fllching and plundering.

That is what it means in our State—nothing else ; there is no politics in it. In the

North the thing is very different. There men can difiter in j)olitics, and yet have the

kindliest relations ; in Georgia we cannot do it unless we are willing to countenance
all sorts of outrages iipon our people. There are genteel republicans in Georgia, who
are just as safe as any one else ; who travel all over the State ; who occupy high i)osi-

tions, and are never insulted in the street, the cars, or anywhere else. If there is any
oi'ganization in Georgia for the purpose of putting down republicanism there, why
does it not attack the leaders of that party ? It strikes me as the very highest com-
mentary upon the law-abiding spirit of the i)eople of Georgia that such men as I could

name—men in high position who have plundered our people by the million—still live

and are countenanced on the streets, have no insults ottered to them. The truth is

simply this: that individuals in Georgia of all parties and all colors have, I suppose,

committed outrage; but such affairs have been purely personal, just as they are when
they occur anywhere else in the United States. I do not believe any more crimes have
been committed in Georgia than in any other community of the same number anywhere
else in the country. That is my honest conviction. I do not believe that any crime
has ever been committed by this organization of which I have spoken, and of which I

was a member. I believe it was purely a peace police—a law-abiding concern. That
was its whole object, and it never would have existed but for the apprehension in the

minds of our people of a conflict in which wo would have had no sympathy and no
protection. We apprehended that the sympathy of the entire Government would be
against us ; and nothing in the world but the instinct of self-protection prompted that
organization. We felt that we must at any cost protect ourselves, our homes, oui"

wives and children from outrage. We would have preferred death rather than to have
submitted to what we supposed was coming upon us. At this time I do not Ijelieve

any such organization exists, or has existed for a long time. I have not heard of it for

two years, I am certain.

Question. Why did it cease to exist ; why did it pass away ?

Answei: Well, sir, it just dissolved because the courts became generally established
;

and though the courts were in the hands of the opposite party, our people believed they
were trying to do justice ; that a general protection was extended over us. Our people
thought we could get justice at the hands of these judges ; though they were of the
opposite party, and though negroes were on the juries, we were satisfied that in the
existing condition of things wo were safe. Since Governor Bullock's election I have
not heard anything of that organization. I am not sure that it did not pass away AAith

his election. It certainly has not existed since within my knowledge ; and I think I

would have kpown it if it had. I think that my position would have brought it to my
knowledge, if any such organization had existed for several years past. As I have
stated, the only reason it has passed away is, I think, because the people felt safe.

Courts were established and police regulations were generally instituted.

You must remember that we were in a state of anarchy there for a long time. We
had no law but drum-head courts-martial. Our peoiile were entirely powerless to do
anything. We always felt that if the Federal troops were kept in our midst we would
be protected. I want to state that with great emphasis. Our people have always felt

that if the white troops of the Federal Armj- could have been stationed in our midst in

those negro belts we would have been safe. But the troops were perhaps two hundred
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miles away ; and before tbey could have been bronglit to our relief tbe whole neigh-
borhood uiijilit have been slaughtered. Wc tlien believed that such a thing might
occur on almost any night. Such was the condition of things in Georgia at that tijne.

I do not believe that it exists now, or has existed for two years. To my certain knowl-
edge tliis organization never did exist as a political organization. I do not know what
may have l)een the case elsewhere ; but very certainly there was no jwlitics in this

thing in Georgia, so far as I had anything to do with it ; and I think that the organi-

zation was of the same character all over the State—probably over the South wherever
it existed. We never called it Ku-Klux, and therefore I do not know anything about
Ku-Khix.

Qitcstion. In this connection, while you are speaking of the courts and the juries, and
their disposition to punish crime and do justice to l)lack and white alike, give us any
information you may have as to the organization of the courts, the political opinion!*

of your judges, prosecuting attorneys, &c., their power over the juries, and in general,

the character of your judicial administration.

Answer. The governor of the State is a republican—a Northern man. His xiower to

make appointments extends down even to justices of the peace. He appoints all

judg(?s, solicitors, and justices of the peace, all the officers who administer justice in the

State. I believe they are all appointees of th(; governor.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. How is it as to jury commissioners?
Arifnccr. The jury commissioners are not appointed by the governor according to my

recollection ; but the juries are drawn indiscriminately in onr State from black and
white. A great majority of the judges in the State are republicans. I think that
wherever a republican could be obtained, (it was sometimes very difficult,) a repub-
lican was appointed. While these judges were not such men as fully satisfied the
citizens of Georgia ; while they were not such men as they would like to have seen
appointed ; not such men as usually have held judicial positions in Georgia, yet the
jx-ople were reconciled to them. And I tjiink they are sustaining the courts, and have
ever since their organization. I think that most of our judges, probably all of them,
would concur in this statement.

By Mr. Becic :

Question. Your juries are selected by officials who are generally republican ?

Answer. Yes, sir; both our grand and petit juries. Our juries are drawn from both
races.

Question. Wherever crime can be detected and such proof made as would authorize

a fair court in convicting, you think conviction follows ?

Answer. I think there is no doubt about it. I think the conviction of those whose
guilt can bo legally proved is just as certain in Georgia as in New York, Jlaryland,

ipeuusylvania, or anywhere else. I think this fact must be patent to every one who
has at all observed the progress of things in Georgia. We have had a great many
pardons. That is a matter about wiiich I speak with some delicacy and in regard to

which I do not care to be questioned ; but no doubt it has i)roduced a feeling of

insecurity in the State ; and I think it probable that some inexcusable crimes have
been committed in conseqireuce of the j)ractice w:hich has prevailed in this respect.

In some cases, parties who have notoriously violated the law have been turned loose

upon the comnuTuity. Some things have been done that ought not to have been done.

I do not know of any case where life has been taken. I do not know positively of any-
body having been whipped, though I have no question it has been doue. I think there

were probably some whippings about Augusta. But the cases out of which tli<'y arose

were very outrageous. One case was where a party had been convicted of adultery

and turned loose directly afterward. Another case was where a.iiarty had been living

in open adultery, and through the negligence of the State's attorney was set at liberty,

and returned to the old habit. The moral sense of the comnumity was outraged, and
the parties were whipped. I do not know who whipped them. But there is no dispo-

sition in Georgia to 1)reak any law. Tht; disposition is quite the reverse. There is a
general feeling in favor of abiding l)y any sort of law, good or bad. That is tke inten-

tion of onr people—to obey even bad laws, until they can be rectified.

Question. Give us a bird's-eye view of the election law of Georgia ; how the elections

are managed and controlled ; what parties have tlie i)ower to count your ballots, &c.,

and speak particularly about the last election in Atlanta ; its fairness or unfairness, as

we have had before us a gentleman named Eockafeliow, who has undertaken to give

us some information on that point.

Answer. The election law of Georgia is a general law passed by the last legislature,

under which our people felt so discouraged immediately after it was passed that

the general feeling was not to attempt to do anything in the State at all. Wo
believed it was passed with the intention of carrying the State for the republican

party. For instance, one of t»he provisions of tlio law was that there should be no
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challenging for any cause -wliatevcr. Oar people believed that, as there were in the

State a vast number of ignorant yonng negroes from sixteen to twenty-one years, who
did not know their age at all, and who could be imposed on by those i)eople who were
trying- to get them to vote through the Leagues, there was no sort of protection for the

ballot-box in that direction. In the next phice, a negro in many cas(;s could not be

identified. A mass of negroes in one place are in appearance very much like a mass of

negroes elsewhere. For instance, if you were to meet a negro in the street, unless

you had a personal acquaintance with him, you might not distinguish him from another

negro whom you might nu'.et at the next corner. It is well known that negroes are

harder to identify than white men. The idea of not allowing challenges at the polls was
very disconraging to our people. Many ofthem said, " It is no use to attempt to do any-

thing at the election ; avo may just as well let the other party have it their own way
;

they will import negroes fron'i other States, and from one county to another, during the

three days of the election; and it is idle for us to attempt to do anything." Another
•provision of the law was that no one except an officer in charge of the election should

go within thirty feet of the polls, except those who went to vote. Another provision

was, that the governor should appoint for each voting place three commissioners, and
that the ordinaries of the county, who Avere almost entirely republicans, should

appoint two others; the result Avas that when democrats Avere nominated by the

ordinaries, they were not confirmed by the senate. There were some exceptions to this

rule ; but for some cause or other the democratic nominees for commissioners did not

appear upon the official list of commissioners for the State. Even if the ordinaries

in every instance had nominated democrats, and the nominees had been confirmed by
the senate, the republicans AvouhV still have had a majority of the commissioners; for

tiie governor appointed three out of CA^ery five ; but in many instances the officers named
by the ordinaries were republicans ; sometimes, as I have said, when they were demo-
crats, they were not confirmed by the senate, but republicans Avould be put in their

places. Under this state of circumstances, the apprehension in Georgia was, that if we
should undertake to do anything at the election, Ave would simply Avaste our etibrts,

Avithout being able to accomplish anything, and would only feel a sense of outrage in

rhe end. Hence there was a general disposition in favor of letting the thing pass

without effort.

Question. Was not the precinct system also broken up?
Jjiswer. The precinct system Avas broken up. In a large majority of counties the

votes were all to be polled at the court-house. There may have been a few exceptions

in some of tbe counties, but in a large majority of the counties the A'oting was to be
done at the county seat. Our people felt that that was very antagonistic to their

interests, for the reason that it Avas very important \hat Avhite men Avho lived remote
from the county seat should be at home at the particular season when the election was
to be held, as it was about the time of the Christmas holidays, and at such times there

is a general disorganization of everything. . About the end of the year there is a general

breaking up aud roaming of the negroes OA^er the country. At that time there is no
work being done ; and it is a time when most of the white people feel that they cannot A^ery

Avell go away from home. In A'iew of all these difficulties, the Avhite people felt that it

was hardly worth their while to attempt to do anything. That was the feeling inmie-

diately after the law Avas passed. There was, however, a reaction : and they deter-

mined to make an honest effort to try to keep outside of the limits prescribed around
the polls, but to endeavor to prevent by argument, solicitation, and protest with the

republican leaders in the particular counties any gross Anolation of the general law of

the State, to prevent in that Avay any man from voting who Avas not twenty-one years

of age, or who was not a citizen of "the State or a citizen of the county in which he
offered to vote. In Atlanta, Avhere I Avas, the contest during the first day of the elec-

tion did not wax Avarm at all. The Avhites felt discouraged, and they remained away
from the i)olls almost entirely. In Atlanta the first day was given up pretty much to

the blacks. The second day the whites began to go the polls ; and I think they Avere

mainly carried.there by the infornuition that Avas disseminated all oA'er the town, that

Foster Clodgett, who had charge at that time of the State road, and whose son was a
candidate for the legislature in that county, contrary, as the people thought, to all law,

(for he was not a citizen of the county, as we th(mght and still think.) was bringing in

train-loads of negroes from other counties to A'ote in Atlanta. A number of the negroes

were arrested, as the law provided might be done. The law provided that arrests

might be made after the A'oting had been done. It made illegal A-oting a penitentiar\'

offense ; but it did not proAide proper means for preventing the vote being cast, nor did it

take the illegal vote out of the count. A man might cast an illegal A'ote, but could after-

ward be made to suffer for it. Fifty or sixty of these negroes from different counties Avere

arrested in Atlanta, but it did no good. Then the whites began to crowd to the polls, and
the contest was for the balance of the time A\ho should get to the polls. On the first day,

I think, there Avas some little conllict somewhere in the city—A'ery slight, and not at

the polls nor about the election, I think. It Avas a contest between some few whiter

and some few blacks—a difficulty Avhich the. police stopped without any trouble. There
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was no sort of difricult-y between the two ruces at tlio polls; I do not think there was
even a listicuti' contest, or even a harsh word between tlui two races. I do not
believe that sneh an election, with such a jam of people as there was at the polls there,
could have becjn conducted in any city of the North without bloodshed. There was
not a solitary tight between the whites and the blacks, thongii there was a light between
several whites. There was no sort of intimidation, so far as I was able to discover,
practiced toward the black people. There was, as I say, a. push and a rush to get at
the polls ; in that way there was a contest, but there was no violence used ; it was
simply a jamming in of men anxious to get to the polls. I think it very likely that a
great many negroes and a great many wliites did not get to vx)te. I know of whites
who did not vote on account of the (iifflculty of getting to the .polls. With a votiii"-
population of more than four thousand, it was impossible for everybody to get to Vote
under such circumstances.

Question. You think your voting population is between, four and five thousand ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; it is above lour thousand ; I think it api^roaches five thousand.
Question. What proportion do the blacks bear to the whites in the county of Fulton ?

Answer. The whites have a considerable majority. I suppose the white population
must have a majority of four or five hundred in tlie county.

Question. How many white republicans do you supxjose there are in the city and
county ?

Answer. There are none there of any consequence, except those connected with the State
government and the State road. The employes ou the State road were republicans
before it passed into the hands' of the lessees, and a good many of them have been re-
tained. I give simply my opinion ; but I do not sfippose that in the whole county
there are more than from fifty to seventy-five white republicans. There may possibly
be one hundred, but I do not think there are.

Question. And you think there is a democratic majority in the county of some four
hundred ?

Answer. We were entitled to the county, and could have carried it without difiScuIty
if every negro and every white republican had voted against us.

Question. The majority given by the county for local candidates was only two hun-
dred and fifty ?

Answer. Y'es, sir ; two hundred odd ; and there were beyond question great num*
bors of illegal votes polled by negroes from other counties. A large number of negroes
were arrested ; Init after a while the white people quit arresting, and determined to
crowd to the polls and try to get their votes in.

Question. Were many of the men arrested there citizens, beyond all question, of other
counties i

Anstver. O, yes, sir ; there is no question at all about that.
Question. The election there was, you think, as ftiir as it could be with such a crowd

of voters ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I believe Mr. Simon Cameron said that it was as fair as any election
he had ever seen in Peunsylvauia. He was in Atlanta at the time, and some of ihe
democrats went around to the Kimball House and carried him up to the polls to see the
election going on. Ho laughed at the scramble, but said he thought it was just about
like elections were conducted in Philadelphia. That was his reply to these gentle-
]uen who wanted him to see for himself how the thing was conducted, and what
amount of violence there was. There was no violence at all. If there was a drop of
blood shed in the whole city during that election I do not know it, unless it was by
the police knocking somebody down before the election came on.

Question. You have s])oken of your State road. In that conne^-tion I would lilce you
to state how far the official management of your State government and its finances
has been the cause of dissatisfaction among the people, and what are the facts in re-

gard to tlftit matter.
Answer. Well, as I said a while ago, I Avas the candidate opposed to the present

incumbent for the ofiice of governor; and I <lo not want to speak very much about
him. I will sinqjly mention the general fact, demonstrated by the treasurer of the
State, that a large number of bonds have been imposed upon our people without any
authority of law, as we believe, or rather in direct conflict with the statute, which
provides (I have s<'en the provision myself, and it is very easy to refer to it) that
every bond of the State shall receive the signature of the State treasurer, and be
recorded by him. The bonds of which I speak were not recorded, and did not receive
the signature of the treasurer. His signature was lithographed upon them. That fact
of itself created a very great degree of dissatisfaction in our State, and a great deal
of bitterness toward the particular party responsible for it. But the point that was
more potent than any other, and about which I can sx)eak without any sort of indeli-

cacy, was the management of the Slate road under the governor's apiiointecs. When
the road passed out of the hands of Mr. Wallace, the former superintendent, it was,
according to my recollection, geuerallj' paying into tlie treasury from .'ji5,U00 to §4(),U00

per month.
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Question. That road, I believe, "was the great reliance of tlio State to kee]i iip its

filUlDCOS 'I

Answei: Yes, sir. I was comiug to that. The income from this road before the war
had relieved our people fi'om tax entirely, or very nearly so. My recollection is that we
had no State tax for the support of the government of Georgia at all ; that the State
road supported the government. It was on that ground that the citizens would never
part with it. It is a grand trunk line, a most important raih-oad route, and ought to
be beyond all question the best paying road in the State, if not in the South. It ex-
tends from Atlanta to Chattanooga. At Chattanooga it connects with the Mem])his
and Charleston ro.ad, extending to Memphis, Tennessee ; the Nashville and Chatta-
nooga Railroad, extending to Nashville, and connecting with Louisville and Cnicinnati

;

the East Tennessee and Georgia Railroad, extending to Knoxville, and connecting witli
this city and the North generally ; and there are one or two other branches that con-
nect with it. At Atlanta this State road feeds the main Georgia road leading from At-
lanta to Augusta, and to the sea-coast, Charleston, around to North Carolina, and so
on. At Atlanta also it connects, via Macon, with a road leading to Savannah and the,
coast, and down to Southwest Georgia and the great cotton belt of our State, to Co-
lumbus, Georgia, and over into Southeast Alabama. It connects, on the other hand, with
the road leading from Atlanta to West Point, Georgia, and on to ilontgomery, Missis-
sippi, &c. This road is the grand trunk connecting these various lines, none of these
roads having any other feeder. It carries everything that goes over any of those roads
through Georgia to the sea-coast, or from the sea-coast, through upper Georgia, toward
the West. As to the Tennessee rpads I am not able to speak ; but in some of the Georgia
roads I am interested, and I can speak of them. The West Point road has paid a divi-
dend regularly of 8 per cent.

Que^tioit. Has it not reequipped itself and done that ?

Ansuer. Yes, sir; a large portion of it was destroyed by General Sherman, and the
X'oad has had to be reequipped.

By Mr. Buckley :

Quesfioti. You mean the road from Atlanta to West Point ?

Amiver. Yes, sir. The West Point road we call it, extending from Atlanta to West
Point, and couimnnicating with Montgomery and Meridian, Mississippi, &c. It has
reequipped itself, and has paid regularly, I believe, 4 per cent, semi-aiinually. The
Georgia road has done the same thing. The superintendent told nie it had earned 10
per cent., and had a large surplus besides the dividend which had been regularly
declared. That road was almost entirely destroyed. The Macon and AYesteru road
has increased its stock very largely, and its dividends have been enormous, certainly
more than 12 per cent. I think on the original stock of the company the dividend
has been more than 20 per cent. That is my impression ; I do not state it as a positive '

fact. But the dividends have been large on all of these roads. On the Central road,
extending from Jilacon to Savannah, the dividends have bee.n so large that the slock
is largely above ])ar. The stock of all these roads is at par or above par ; the stock of
none, I believe, is under par.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Every one of these roads was broken up during the war ?

Auswer. All of them except the Macon auci Western road, which was broken up to
some extent. The others were broken up very badly; torn all to pieces ; destroyed al-
most entirely.

Question. From one end to the other?
Answer. Yes, sir. The State road, which feeds these roads, was, when the republican

party took possession of it, paying into the treasury handsomely, and equipping itself
also. I observed when riding over it, as I was going- to New York, just before that party
came into power, that it was the best road I saw between Atlanta and the Pennsyl-
vania Central

;
decidedly the best. It was in maguiticent order and finely equip])ed.

It had rebuilt itself, besides paying money into the tre.asury. It was in that condition
when the republican party took i)ossession of it. When it was leased, in January last,
it had failed all the time to pay any money into the treasury, Avith the excei)tio'n of a
brief period. Besides that, the road was utterly worn down ; it was probably the worst
worn road in our State ; one ofthe worst in the South. The engines were worn ; the track
was almost impassable—dangerous to ride over. It^iad carried during the administra-
tion of that party more freight, I Ijelieve, than had ever been carried over it in the same
time during any other period of its existence. The gross receipts of the road had been
more

;
the expenditures had been very much less, because the road had not been kept

up—had not been resupplied with engines, cars, &c., as had been usual previously, at
least to some extent. The party that had managed this road had absorbed its entire
income, (which properly belonged to the State,) with the exception of a very small sum
paid when they first went into power, and had left upon it a debt of more than half a
million of dollars—I think three-quarters of a million. I do not know that it is yet
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known wiiat the extent of that indebtedness is. I have been out of the State mainly
for the last tliree or four mouths, but I think that some time ago tlie accounts of debts

already in amounted to half a million of dollars. So that several millions of dollars

must beyond all question have gone into the pockets of these people.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Who are " these people ?"

Ansicer. I mean the republican government of Georgia. I do not know whether the
* governor got any of it. I do not accuse him of that j but the managers of the road got
this money, and did .something with it.

Question. Who are the managers ?

Ansiver. Foster Blodgett was the superintendent. His son was a conductor upon the
road. Harris, who organized the legislature of Georgia, was master of transportation

;

and I believe he held some other office—I forget what they called it—superintendent
of the track, or something of that kind. Foster Blodgett's son has bought and is

, buying a considerable amount of pro])erty ip Georgia. If he had any propcMty wlicn
he came there, nobody knew it. It is perfectly patent to every man in the .State that
in the management of this road millions of dollars liave been taken from the State,

because millions of dollars have gone into the treasury of the State road with the A'ery

smallest sums expended. Besides, there is this immense indebtedness resting upon the
road.

Question. A man by the name of Kimliall seems to have .sprung up into importance
in your State. Who is he ; and'how has he been niauaging f

Ansiver. Knnball came to Georgia from the West, just after having gone through
bankruptcy, as wa.^ generally reported and believed in Georgia. '

Question. How long ago ?

Ansiver. He cauie there I think about the time of the last governor's election. I will

not be precise upon that point; it was about that time; it may have been a few
months previous or directly afterwards. It was probably during the election or a little

previous.
Question. Was he not a New York man ?

Answer. I think he was originally from New York ; but he came to our State from
some of the Western States, according to my understanding ; I think from Iowa or

Minnesota or .somewhere out there. The general impression and public rumor was that
lie had just gone through bankruptcy. Of eonrsu I have no means of kiuswing that
to be the fact ; Viut it was the general rumor all over our cojintry. At the time he
came into our State there was being built iii the heart of Atlanta, by a joint stock
company, a building called the Opera House. The com[)any had failed to complete it.

They had not broken up, but t^ey had exhausted their mo;iey ; and the stockholders
' were not paying in any more ; the work was stopped. ]\Ir. Kitnball bid it olF at public
outcry for, I think", ;>!0,00U. That is my rcicollection. He immediately went to work
upon it and finished it. Public rumor says, and I believe the treasurer so states the

fact, that he borrowed a considerable amount of money from the governor to tiuish

it. It was tinished and sold to the State, by legislative enactment, for $400,000.

That is my recollection of the amount, though I will not state it positively. The
impression is that the building did not cost more tiian half what the legislature

paid for it, and that the mouey of the State did a great deal to build it. Since
then Mr. Kimball has built a magnificent hotel—the Kimball House—which must
have cost from |:!00,000 to .$500,000. That, however, is under mortgage to northern
parties for a considerable amount of money. These things have created a great deal
of talk in our State. As Mr. Kimball was one of this party that were intimate with
the governor, and as the governor had furnished money to finish that house, and as Mr.
Foster Blodgett and he were connected all through iu one way or another, the general
opinion in Georgia is that the mouey of the State road built a part of that house, and
a great deal of it. That is the genei'al feeling; I do not give my opinion upon that
subject; I give you tin- geueral feeling iu Georgia upon the tpiestion.

Question. Mr. Kimball is en(> of the lessees of the road?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And principal manager of another ro;ul—the Albany and Brunswick rail-

road ?

Answer. Yes, sir. He is president of three or four roads in Georgia, now. He is, I

think, the largest stockholder in the Albany and Brunswick road.
Question. Without asking youi own opinion u[)ou the question I willinquire whether it

is not the general belief of the people of Georgia that the governor is interested in

pretty much all these schemes?
Answer. Well, sir, there is a belief of that sort.

Question. In other words, great discontent has grown up in your State out of what is

believed by the peojile to be the general plundering of the State by the government?
Answer. Yes, sir, I think that is the prime source of dissatisfaction now iu our State.

I think it absorbs more of the thoughts of the people and annoys them more than any-
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thing else. This magnificent piece of property, the State road, -which they harl built,

and -^'hich had been to them a source of so much pride, has been ahuost plucked out of
their bands. Hence a very large number of the citizens of Georgia are quite recon-

ciled to the present lease of the road, though it pays only $25,000 a month. They are
very glad that the State should get that. In this view, a great many of our people are
quite satisfied with that lease. They think it is better to get that than to get nothing,
as they would, if the recent method of management on the road had been continued.
Under that management, as they believed, the road would have Ikhmi utterly destroyed.

Question. Has your legislature been making large grants and donations in aid of rail-

roads ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. Nearly every road that has been chartered in our State has received
State aid, as thev call it, by the State indorsing the bonds of the road, to the amount of
from 112,000 to $1(),000 per mile.

Question. Was this done by a rejrablican legislature ?

Answer. Yos, sir; the legislature that did this was largely republican. We have had
no legislatitro since that oue.

Question. All the legislation which has been enacted within the last two or three
years, in Georgia, has been enacted by a republican legislature?

Answer. Entirely so.

Question. Was it not a legislature made republican, not by the people, but by the
interference of the Federal Government ?

Answer. It was a legislature elected partly by the people. It would have been dem-
ocratic, but for the interference of General Terry and the military authorities of the
State, under the last " rc-reconstrnction" act, as we call it in Georgia. '

Question. That re-reconstrnction converted a democratic legislature into a republican
legislature ?

Answer. Yes, sir. We had elected a majority of democrats ; but a large number of
them were tried by military commission, and turned out, mainly on the ground that
they were not eligible' under the fourteenth amendment of the Constitution. Some
of them were eligible under that amendment and were turned out wrongfully.

Question. Were they tried in any court ?

Answer. No, sir; they were tried by the military, under the orders of General Terry.
Question. Were those military officers clothed with any judicial authority, under the

Constittition of the United States f

Answer. None at all.

Question. Members duly elected were turned out, and minority men, who had been
defeated at the polls, were put in, by order of those military authorities ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and the most ol)noxious thing we had, during the whole progress
of this reorganization of the legislature, was the bringing in of that man Harris.

Question. Who was he ?
•

Answer. He was utterly unknown to our people, except that he was what we called
a " carpet-bagger." He was a man who had come to our State after the war, with no
interest there. He belonged to this party connected with the State road. He was one
of the officials of that road, not a member of the legislature at all. This man, who
had no official connection whatever with the government of the State of Georgia, was
brought in there, and put over the house of representatives ; he took the chair and
refused to allow men to be sworn in whom he sn.spected to be ineligible—men who
were willing to take the oatli and risk the consequences. He said. " You shall not be
sworn in, until you go before the military commission." The law of Congress, it will
be remembered, provided that any man who presented himself might be sworn in, but
that he might be tried afterward for perjury, if anybody saw fit to prosecute him.
There were numbers of democrats who were willing to take the oath that they were
eligible, and risk a trial ; in other words, they were willing to swear that they had not
taken an oath to support the Constitution of the United States and afterward jtartici-

jjated in the rebellion. They were denied the opportunity by this man Harris.
Question. These men were willing to risk even a military trial on that question ?

Answer. They were willing to risk any sort of a trial on it ; but they Avere denied by
Harris the privilege of taking the oath. Though he was utterly without lawful
authority, he usurj)ed the most unprecedented power. Without any authority from the
house, he would adjourn it when he chose. He would declare the house adjourned
from one hour to another, to suit his convenience. There was never a more arbitrary
and outrageous procedure than the conduct of this man Harris. •

Question. Who put him there ?

Answer. General Terry, I believe ; I am not positive now about that ; he was put
there either by G(meral Terry or by the goveruor.

Question. Is it not a' fact that through the manipulations of Terry and Bullock, oue or
both, by means of this man Harris and others, a legislature which as elected was demo-
cratic, was converted into a rex)ublican legislature ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.



316 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Question. Atul this legislature, created iu that way, lias taxed your people in every
conceivable form ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know what the debt of the State is now ?

Answer. No, sir; nobody knows what it is. We know that it has probably been
trebled by our iireseut State aduunistration.

Mr. liLAiii. If I were iu the place of the i^eoplo of Georgia, I would let those who
made the debt pay it.

Answer. 1 am very willing to say here and elsewhere that the feeling of the people
of Georgia is very distinctly this : tliat but for the odiuni and possible damage which
would be brought upon the credit of tlie State, not one dollar of tliose bonds would bo
paid; there is no sort of question abuut that; but the people,! think, will pay the
debt rather than damage the credit of the State. I know that the general feeling at
t4ie North is that our people are hostile tmvard the Government of the United States.
Upon that ]»oint I wish to testify, and hence I have introduced it ; I want to state what
I know upon that subject. Commanding as I did, Jackson's corps of the confederate
army, for some time before the surrender, and at the time of the surrender one wing of
that army, I know very well that if the programme which our people saw set on foot
at Appomattox Court-House had been carried out—if our people had been met in the
spirit which we believe existed there among the officers and soldiers, from General
Grant down—we would have had no disturbance in the South, and we would long since
have had a very different state of things iu this country. I believe that as firmly as I
believe in ujy own existence. I know it was generally felt that there was shown
toward the officers and men who surrendered at Appomattox Court-House a degree; of
courtesj^ and even deference which was surprising and gratifying, and which produced at
the tmie a very fineeffect. I wantto say, moreover, that the alienation of our people from
the Government—an alienation which, resulting from the war, continued to some ex-
tent immediately after the war—has been increased since that time, by the course which
our people believe has been wrongfully pursued toward them. Whether right or wrong,
it is the impression of the southern mind—it is the conviction of n)y own mind, in
which I am [lerfectly sincei'e and honest—that we have not been met iu the proper
spirit. We, iu Georgia, do not believe that we have been allowed proper credit for
our honesty of purpose. We believe that if our people had been trusted, as we thought
wo ought to have been trusted—ifwe had been treated in the spirit wliicli, as we thought,
was mauifesteil on the Federal side at Appomattox Court-Iiouse—a spirit which implied
that thtire had l)eeu a coullict of theories, an honest ditference of opinion as to our
rights under the General Government—a difference npon which the South had adopted
one construction, and the North another, both parties having vindicated their sincerity
upon the held in a contest, which, now tliat it had been fought out, was to be forgot-
ten—if this had been the spirit in which we had been treated, the alienation would
have been cured. There is no question about that.

But to say to our people, " You are unworthy to vote
;
you cannot hold office : we

are unwilling to trust you; you are not honest men; your former slaves are better fit-

led to administer the laws than you are "—tliis sort of dealing with us has emphatic-
ally alienated our peoj^le. The burning of Atlanta and all the devastation through

'

Georgia never created a tithe of the animosity that has been created by this sort of
treatment of our people. Not that we wanted offices ; that is not the point at all,

though our people feel that it is an outrage to say that the best men in our midst shall
not hold office. The feeling is that you have denied that we are worthy of trust ; that
we are men of honor; that we will abide by our plighted faith. Wo feel a senseof
Avrong as honorable men. We do not think we h;ive done anything in the dark. We
think that when we tried to go out, we did it boldly, fairly and squarely, staking our
lives upon the issue. We thought we were riglit. I am one who thought so at the
time ; I thought I liad a perfect right to do as I did. I am not going into that (luestiou
except to say that our people were conscientious in what they did. They were con-
scientious when they took the obligation at Appomattox and elsewhere at the time of
surrender. They felt that as honest men they ought to be trusted, and that there
ought to Jiave been an end of tlie thing. Wo lia'd fought the contest out ; we had Won
defeated ; and we thought that ought to be the last of it. That was the way wo felt

at the South. By the course that has been pursued toward us since the suri-euder we
have been disappointed, and the feeling of alienation among our people has in this
way bo(;n increased more than by any other one fact. In addition to that we in Georgia
think that some of the most grievous outi'ages have been inflicted upon our people by
the military authorities sustained by the Government.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Has not the fact to which you have referred, that men like Bullock, HaiTJs,
and others whom you denominate " political carpet-baggers" should have come among
you and phmdered your people for their own private profit, the government getting
no benefit from their exactions—has not this fact added very much to the state of
feeling 'I
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Answer. Immensely. I am satisfied that our people would have beeu better recon-
ciled to all tbis plundering if it bad gone to relieving them from general taxation : if

the government bad got the benefit of it, it would have beeu a nuich less serious mat-
ter; but these people have plundered us without doing us any good. In Georgia the
remark is often made that Kimball is a clever fellow, because whatever money he has
made he has kept among us. The same feeling would exist toward these other fellows
who have gotten our money, if we had obtained any benefit in any way, either by the
general reduction of the taxes of the government, or bj' the building up of the State.
But as a general thing these people have gotten ?>he money, and have used it for tlieir

owqjprivate ends. It is this sort of plundering, committed by public othcers to fill

their own pockets, that has so incensed our people. Such things are very hard to bear;
and I think wo have behaved very handsomely under the circujnstauces ; I think we
have behaved as scarcely any other people on earth would behave in the same situa-
tion. We have not killed anybody hardly ; some fellows have been killed—I do not
knovr who killed them ; I know that the organization of which I spoke had noth-
ing to do with it ; I know that some of them were killed by their own party, quite as
many, I think, as were killed by our party. Some of their party have been convicted.
None o£ our party have been convicted, though they have been tried by military
commissions, where certainly there ought to have been a fair chance so far as the
Government was concerned. Men of the radical party have been convicted by radical
courts, for taking the lives of radicals ; so that there is no question about their guilt.

Question. The killing of Ashburu has been alluded to once or twice by witnesses be-
fore the committee. State what you know about the circumstances of that case.

Answer. I do not know anything about the killing of Ashburn, except that he was
killed by parties in Columbus, and that the general feeling in Columbus is that he was
killed by members of his own party, in which there was a division at that time. This
I give simply as public rumor ; the public rumor is that there had been a split in his
party, among some negroes and others ; that there was a great deal of bitteraess be-
tween The two factious ; and the general belief was that Ashburn's life was taken by
members of his own party. Certain young men were arrested in Columbus for the
murder.

Question. Who were they?
Ansiver. Well, there was young Grimes—a son of Dr. Grimes ; there was Dr. Kirk-

sey ; there was also a young man named Chipley, whose father lives in Kentucky ; and a
young man l)y the name of Dawson.

Question. They were respectable young men?
Ansicer. There were no better families in our State. Those arrested were among the

very best young men in the city of Columbus. Some, whom I had known myself
all their lives, were perfectly quiet and inotfensive ; they were boys. Young Grimes is

a sort of family connection of my wife's, and I had reason to know him. He is more
liivc a girl than a man, and the same may be said of one of the other young men.
Those two I happened to know very intimately, having known them pretty much all

their lives. The others are young men of first-rate reputation—none better in our
State. They were arrested in Columbus, by the military, without any charges at all.

Question. How were they treated ?

Ansicer. They were carried to Atlanta iinder guard. There was a plank inclosure
built for them as a prison. This house was only a single thickness of planks ; it was
out in the open field, under the sun, where there was no shade. Cells were laid oif
v.-liich, from what I can learn, were certainly not over six feet by eight. Dr. Kirksey,
who is a huge man, told me himself, after he was released, that in lying on his back in
his cell his shoulders touched on each side of the cell. I believe that he is a truthful
man ; I know that is his reputation, and I believe he told me the truth. My wife went
there once or twice, at first, with a great many other ladies residing in the town, to
carry the prisoners some delicacies ; for a long time the prisoners were denied the priv-
ilege of receiving anything of that sort sent by the citizens : finally that rigidity w^as
relaxed, and they were allowed to receive articles of food and delicacies. On one oc-
casion when my wife went to visit the prisoners her nerves were so much shocked by
what she saw of the treatment of those young men that it made her sick, and I had
to forbid her going there any more ; she was obliged to come away leaning on the arm
of a Federal officer. She came near fainting by merely looking kt the spectacle ; she
told me that those young men, when she saw them, were panting for bn-ath ; they made
the guards throw buckets of water on them to keej) them from sufibcatiug iu those
cells.

Question. It was hot weather at that time ?

Answer. Excessively hot ; it was during the very hottest portion of the summer and
one of the hottest seasons 'we ever had.

Question. It was in June, 1868, I believe?
Ansicer. Yes, sir. Those young men were so debilitated when released from their

confinement that some of them were unable to walk without support, though they were
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vigorous -when ])nt- in there. They came very near losiug their lives ; the doctors
thought that one or two of them would die afterward. They were finally tried by a
military commission. They were taken out once at the earnest solicitation of some
friends ; 1 do not know whom. We made every effort in the world to have them
released. We oflered to give bail for them to any amount that could be named. The
citizens of Atlanta would have pledged the entire property of the city, if necessaiy, to

bail thein out. But bail was refused. Finally they were let out into the barracks,

where there were better quarters furnished for them. They remained out a short time,

when a detective, or perhaps more than one, was sent to Atlanta, and then they were
put back into the cells a second time. The detective ordetectives made every etfo»t in

various ways to draw something out of them in the form of a confession, but failed to

do so. The young men were finally tried by a military commission and acquitted. One
party professed to turn State's evidence against them. He professed to have been in

the crowd that killed Ashburn ; but his evidence was utterly broken down by his stating

a fact that was a physical impossibility. He stated that he was present on the o(!casion

of this killing. He was asked whether he was as i)ositive about that as he was about
the balance of his testimony. He said he was. They then prov^ed that from where
he was the day before, it would have been perfectly impossible for him to have reached
the scene of the occurrence at the time of the killing. That was the turning point in

the evidence. The prosecution failed to establish any case at all, and the prisoners

were discharged. It certainly was not an unfair trial so far as the Government was
concerned, because the trial was conducted by a military commission, and all the
advantage was on the side of the Government.

Question. Were not the witnesses subjected to a great deal of torture in order to extort
evidence against the prisoners ?

Ansivei: O, yes, sir. A negro who was arrested in Savannah was, it was publicly
stated, (it has never been contradicted, and I have no doubt at all about the truth of

the statement.) put into a sweat-box at Fort Pulaski, was taken out morning after

morning and placed in front of a cannon and told that his head would be blown off

in five minutes if he did not tell what he knew about the matter. His invariable reply
was, '"Massa, I don't know anything about it." That process was repeated with him
morning after morning. This was the public statement of the newspapers at the time,
and it never was contradicted. Of course 1 was not present, and I only give what was
the general rumor.

Question, 'fhis was done under General Meade?
Aiistve): Yes, sir.

Question. That was the military style of confining prisoners and getting evidence ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The young men were arrested without any charges being preferred.
They did not know for a great while what they were in custody for. They had no idea
what was the charge, except from general rumor.

Question. Georgia has had to undergo a great deal of reconstruction and re-recon-

struction—civil, military, pecuniary, and o.therwi8e ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

As an illustration of the feeling between the two races in Georgia, I will say
that the negroes there now can build a church or a school-house anywhere in the
State by subscriptions from the whites. I will guarantee that they can now laise

more money among onr people, poor as they are, to build a church than they could
raise anywhere in the North, among' the same number of people with the same amount
of means.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. What class of the citizens of Georgia are affected by the disabilities imposed
by the fourteenth amendment ?

Answer. The very best men in our State. It is very hard to find a first-class man
who is not affected by them. There are some few (I include myself among the good
people of Georgia) who are not affected by those disal)ilitics. I never held an office

befoio the war, and I believe General Wright never did. But I believe that we are
among the very few. There are very few men in the State, who have any sort of promi-
nence, who were not affected by the fourteenth amendment, imposing disabilities. I

never was a candidate for any office in my life, until the last election.

Question. Does not the disability provision exclude from office the great mass of the
intelligence of the State ?

Answer. It embraces all the leading, educated gentlemen of our State. A vcrj' large
majority of the intellect of Georgia is disfranchised.

Question. Is it, or is it not, a matter of complaint and discontent to the entire people
of the State, that they should thus lie dt?pri\ed of the services of their best men ?

Answer. (), yes, sir. They feel it to be a very gi-eat wrong. It comes very nearly
home to us in our State legislation. We want our good men in the legislature, and we
cannot get them there. Our legislatures are notoriously weak on account of the dis-

franchisement of our best men. Our legislators are probably as good as the young
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men of any country conld be; but their youth and inexperience deprives them of that
efficiency which older and more experienced men would have. The fact that we cannot
put our good men in the legishiture, creates a vast deal of dissatisfaction. The dis-

franchiseiiieiit of our best and moat intelligent citizens is one of the j)riiiie sources of
dissatisfaction in our State. As I said a while ago, the feeling of alienation toward
the Government has been vastly increased by this disfranchisement. We feel that it

is a great wrong upon us, not only in the light in which I spoke of it a while ago, but
in depriving the State of the services of those men in making aud administering the
laws.

Qtiesiion. In your representation in Congress, as well as in the State government, it

deprives j^ou of the services of your ablest hien ?

Answer. Certainly.
Question. Do you think that the eflect of general amnesty would be salutary ?

Answer. I am satisiied it would have a very quieting effect upou the people; it would
go a great ways toward stopping the complaints against the Government.

Question. Aud the hard feeling f

Answer. And the hard feeling and bitterness. It would go a great ways in that
direction.

By the the Chairman, (Mr. Pool:)

Question. Did I understand you to say tliat you were in favor of secession in 1861 ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I advocated secession then.
Question. I did not understand distinctly what you stated in regard to your connec-

tion with the confederate army. What was your position in that army ?

Answer. I began as a captain. Before the surrendei", I commanded .Jackson's corps,
the second corps of the army ; aud at the surrender, I commanded one wiug of the
army.

Question. You were the democratic candidate for governor at the last election against
Governor Bullock?
Answer. Yes, sir.

"
*

Question. Speaking about the coast region of Georgia, you spoke of the colored troops
having been removed from tliere ; at what time were they removed?

Answer. My recollection is that it was in. 1866 ; but I am not very positive as to the
date.

Question. White troops were sent in place of the negro troops ?

Answer. Yes, sir, white troops were sent at once by General Grant's order.
Question. Did the condition of things improve ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir, very much. It was a grea,t relief.

Question. You spoke of the peculiar language spoken by the ignorant negroes on the
coast. What is the cause of that peculiarity ?

Answer. I think their present dialect is a relic of the African speech. It is very pe-
culiar. It is not found in every negro on the coast, but it belongs to a large majority
of the rice-plantation and Sea-Island negroes. The bulk of them have this peculiar
style of talking. If you were to hear it you might understand some words, but many
you would not.

Question. Is the difference in the manner of pronouncing the words, or in the words
themselves ?

Answer. It is in the words themselves, and also in the manner of pronouncing them.
Question. Why is it that the peculiarity exists there more than in other parts of the

State ?

Answer. Simply because, in other parts of the State the negroes have come much
more in contact with the whites, aud have in that way been taught. These negroes
on the coast liave very rarely come in contact with the whites.

Question. I think you said that the proportion of negroes to the white ix'ople in that
locality was as ten to one ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; that is my impression.
Question. You spoke of the forbearance of the whites during the occupaucy of that

locality by the colored troops ; what did you meau ?

Answer. I meant forbearance under the outrages and insolence of the negroes—the
insults which were offered to our people on the streets. The spirit exhibited by the
black troops extended itself to the other negroes. There was, at that time, a determi-
nation in Georgia not to allow any conflict between the races.

(Question. You mean there was such forbearance as to prevent difficulties between
man and man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know whether the Union Leagues have been disbanded since 1868 ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not. I know that at the last election the negroes were marched
up to the polls in long files like soldiers ; in some localities, not in every county.

Question. Yorr have not heard of any Union Leagues assembling there within'the last
two or three vears ?



320 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.
^

Answer. I do not think I have ; I am not informed at all npon the question of the ex-

istence of those Leagn(%s ;
bnt I have not heard anything of that kind. There has been

no public talk about it one way or the other, either about disbanding them or continu-

ing them.
\>uc8iio>t. You spoke of the relations betvreen the negroes and their former masters.

Is there not a class of whites "who were non-slaveholders—I mean white pec >le of a
rather low order—who feel a great deal of animosity towards the negroes because the
negroes have been raised to something of a level with themselves ?

Answer. Well, sir, I do not think they recognize the fact that th(; negroes arc raised

on a level with them.
Question. I mean aiiproaching it or tendirig in that direction ?

Ansicer. I think I can answer so as to give an idea of what is the state of things. I

think there is more of that feeling of antagonism toward the negro among the labor-

ing class of whites than there is among the better class.

Question. You mean than there is aniong the old slaveholders ?

Answer. Yes, sir, and jiroperty holders.

Question. Is there not an antagonism toward the colored people on the part of those
whites who were not slaveholders and do not own much property ?

Answer. I do not think that you Avould disco%er any more antagonism between those
two classes than you woultl IJnd among competing laborers anywliere. I have been
npon the great plantations there where white and black laborers are employed to-

gether. I have had white and black domestics at the same time in my own house.

Question. Do yon a])prehend any danger of collision or trouble between the races

being produced by that class of men?
Answer. O, no. We have no sort of apprehension in Georgia as to any collision be-

tween the races. I think the time for apprehending anything of that sort has passed.

Everything there now is as quiet and peaceable as it is anywhere in the world. I be-

lieve' there co;ild scarcely have been held, in any other State of the Union, such an
election as we had the last time—an election with so little turbulence and disturbance,

when there was so much real or inuiginary cause for excitement among the people.

Nor has there been any disorder of any account since. We are perfectly quiet in

Georgia. I have never seen the State more peaceable in my life than it is now, and
has been for a long time.

Question. Have the negroes, as a general thing, behaved well since the war ?

Answer. They have behaved so well that the remark is not uncommon in Georgia,

that no race on earth, relieved from servitude under such circumstances as they were,
would have behaved so well.

Question. How did they behave during the war, when the white men went off to fight

and left them at home ?

Answer. Well, sir, I had occasion to refer just now to a little speech which I made at

Montgomery, Alabama, when General Clanton also spoke. He and I both struck on
that train of thought. I went so far as to say that the citizens of the South owed it

to the negroes to educate them. One of the things which I mentioned, and which
General Clanton also mentioned, was the behavior of the negroes during the war; the
fact that when almost the entire white male i)opulation, old enough to bear arms,was in the
army, and large plantations were left to bi^ managed by the women and children, not
a single insurrection had occurred, not a life had been taken ; and that, too, when the
Federal armies were marching through the country with freedom, as was understood,
upon their banners.

Question. Scarcely an outrage occurred on the part of the negroes, at that time?
Ansicer. Scarcely an outrage. When I made that speech at ISIontgomery, I may say,

witlnmt intending to compliment myself, that, when I referred to the handsome beha-
vior of the negro during our absence in the army, and his protection of our families

at that time, my remarks were heartily responded to, and with a great deal of feeling

by every man in the convention.
Question. Do you mean that the colored men responded to them?
Ansicer. No, sir. I mean the white men in that convention.
Question. Were colored men present ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. They came afterward and thanked me for what I had said. There
is that same feeling, I am satisfied, among our entire people. If yon could get at the
heart of every man in Georgia you would find that he appreciates that fact very
heartily.

Question. Those negroes were almost all of them pretty well aware that the contest

was to decide whether they should be freemen or slaves ?

Answer. O, yes, sir. I told my slaves of it at the beginning of the war. I think the
negroes generally understood that if the South should be wliii)ped freedom would be
the result. I notified my slaves of it early in the war. I think it was in 18G3.

Question. This White Brotherhood Association, of which you .spoke, was founded upon
the apprehension that there would be a change in the conduct of the colored people?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. It was founded upon the facts which existed just then—that the



GEORGIA. 321

negroes were being incited throngliont the South to antagonism anrl violence
; that

they were being united as a race, wliose interests they were tauglit to believe v.erc in

direct contlict with those of the white men at the South, and the idea was being im-

planted in their minds that the lands really belonged to them. The organization of

which I spoke was founded on the apprehension that by sueli teachings the negroes

might be instigated to violence ; not that the negro, left to hiuiself, would ever cause

trouble. As 1 said very distinctly a while ago, I believe that all this disturbance has

been created there by the cftbrts which have been made to array the negroes against

the whites. I believe that now if you will remove from our State all but the bona fide

]>eople of Georgia, there will be the kindliest feeling between the two races. In fact, I

may say I know it. It is not merely a belief.

Question. Did you call this association the White Brotherhood ?

Ansrver. No, sir, I designated it as a brotherhood to give an idea of what it was. It

had no such title. I really do not know that it had any title. If it had, the fact has

passed out of my mind.
Question.' It was founded upon an apprehension that the causes to which you have

referred would produce a change in the conduct of the negro ?

Ansicer. It was founded upon an apprehension that the carpet-baggers (I do not
mean to use that term in any offensive sense—it is a way we have of designating men
who have no permanent, suiistantial interest in our community) -were attempting to

organize these negroes in antagonism to us, and might succeed in doing so, and in pro-

ducing conflict. The apprehension was foiinded upon the idea that whatever change
might occur in the feelings of the negroes would occur as the result of this foreign in-

terference.

Question. The main ground of apprehension was the organization of the Union Leagues,

was it not ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; but the matter did not stop with politics. Probably the political

idea may have been in the ascendant, but in ordt'r to unite the negroes for their pur-

poses these men stimulated them to feelings of bitterness toward^the white citizen.s.

This was the talk to the negroes. They told us so. Why, sir, my own carriage driver

told me, in so many words, " I want to vote the democratic ticket ; I want to vote like

you vote; but I am afraid to vote that way." Said I, "Why are you afraid ?" Said he,
" My own color say that they will handle me if I do." He talked so nmch about the matter
that my wife interceded for him, and told me to relieve the negro Ijy telling hiu) to go
and vote the ticket which the otiier negroes w.mted him to, to relieve him from all

apprehension that I might dislike it if he voted that way. I made no elibrt to control

him. He did not vote at all. Others have told me the same thing. Any amount of

testimony could be produced on that point.

Question. How extensive was this white organization which was formed at that time?
Answer. I have no means of knowing. 1 know that it embraced some of the best

men in the State. I think it pervaded the entire State. I do not know whether it

extended to other States or not ; my impression is that it did.

Question. Did those that you knew as members of this association all belong to one
council?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. They had diiferent councils ?

Answer. I do not know exactlj^ what you mean by " councils." They had some sort of

means of controlling the organization in the different localities. There were certain

men who were selected to keeji the peace in certain neighborhoods.
Question. To control certain localities?

Answer. Yes, sir; but there was never any effort, within my knowledge, to nse the

organization for any political purpose, or to connect it with politics at all. And while

I am not going to state what my positi(m was in that particular organization, I will

say that I certainly would have known if there had been any such effort or purpose.

Question. Did they have officers in the different localities—I mean head men ?

Answer. Yes, sir. It was one of those otbcers who, with his men, stopped the riot

that I spoke of; and I think there were a good many other cases of that kind.

Question. What were those officials in the different localities called ?

Answer. 1 do not remember what they were called—cliiefs, or something of that sort,

I tliiuk.

Question. You do not know what the association "was called ?

Aiisifvr. No, sir ; I do not, though I ought to know. The truth is that I never was
atone of the gatherings in my life, if they had any gatherings. I hear of gatherings,

but I d(i not know anything about that sort of thing. I was approached as an indi-

vidual by certain gentlemen, aiul told that such an oi-ganieation existed, and that its

purposes were such as I liave iudicated, and I was asked to unite with them. I told

"them I certainly would ; that they could connnand my services on that line wheuever
tuey wauled tiu-m. That is the last and the only thing I ever heard about it, except
in the few cases I have mentioned where it was necessary to stop riot ; and that was

21 G
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(lone witlioat tlio shedding of blood or the use of weapons, just by the united effort of
a body of men ^\ ho conhl be r.8ed for that ]tnr]>ose.

Qucniion. Were there more otiieers than one, in couunand of one camj) ?

Answer. Tliere was not more than one oliieer in a eounty, I reelvon.

QitedHon. Was there anytliinjf like a ehief in a cougiessioual district, commauding
more than one camp ?

Answer. Yes, I think so.

Question. So that in case of an emergency two or three camps might be thrown
together ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I think so. I think, liowever, that they were mainly county organ-
izations.

Question. Was there a chief of the whole order in the State ?

Answer. Well, sir, such a thing was talked about ; I do not know that the organiza-
tion was ever i)erfected. Such a thing was talked about for the imrpose of keeping
down any general movement on the part of the negroes ; but I do not think it was
found necessarj'. We had no lodges, councils, nor anything of that sort.

Question. Was tliere a central authority that had general sui)ervisiou over the organ-
ization in the diflerent localities ?

Anstver. That is the thing I am speaking of. We talked about it in Georgia, but I

do not think we ever perfected any such thing. There may liavc been a chief for the
congressional district, but that I do not know about. The; truth is, I know very little

about the matter further than what I ]}ave just stated, that there was an understand-
ing of the kind designated among certain men. It would be said, for instance, to some
"one man, '• If a disturbance occurs in your neighborhood, yon ought to take couti'ol

of this filing." Everybody uuderstood that it was to be that sort of an organization.
We had no drilling, no companies, or anything of that sort. There was some one
party to look to, so as to unite the efforts of the best men of the country in stopping
any violence that might be started in any particular neighborhood. For instance, the
apprehension was that the negroes on one plantation might take the life of the owner
of the plantation, and incite the negroes of another plantation ; and the object was to

have enough white men to stop such a movement before it spread over the couuty, and
to have some definite authority who would have moral power—I meau conceded
power—to call upou the citizens to suppress such a thing.

Question. When you had no general controlling head in the State, was there not
danger that in some localities the organization niiglit be turned to purposes foreign
from its original purpose, and unlawful^

Ansu-er. Ithink not. Only the very best men in the State had anything to do with
it, so tar as I knew. For the reason that you suggest, in order that there might be
some general control, a head was talked about; but my recollection is that iu that
respect the organization was never perfected.

Question. Can you give us tJie names of some men Avho would be likely to know
more about the organization than you do ; some men who have been in their councils ?

Answer. No, sir; I would not feel at liberty to do that, though I do not think they
would object ill the least.

Question. Why, then, do you not feel at liberty to do it ?

Answer. I will tell you. My opinion is that nobody knows anything more about it

than I do ; 1 think I know all about it.

Question. Unt you have not been in any of their meetings?
Answer. I do not thiidc they have had any uiet'tings. We did not have any organi-

zation like the Loyal League, meeting and counseling together. W^e had but one
purpose to subserve, and that was to protect the safety of our x>eople. And the appre-
hended occasion never arose ; the danger passed away ; the alarm and apprehension
were gradually dispelled. As with most of the evils oythis life, we found that we had
anticipated a great deal more than ever occurred.

Question. Was there any obligation which the members took?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it in the nature of an oath?
Answer. I do not think it was an oath; I think it was a pledge, tantamount to an

oath.
Question. I mean was the obligation in the form of an oath—"You do solemnly

swear," or anything of that kind '!

Answer. Yes, sir; I think it was.
Question. Of course it would not be an oath unless some otllcer administered it.

Answer. I think there was souiethiug of that sort.

Question. Do you recollect the purport of that oath ?

Answer. I have no recollection of it at all, except that it was to the effect that wo
would nniti; as a band of brothers to protect; each other from violence and aggression

on till' part of the negro.
ihtrstion. You took the obligation yourself?
Answer. Yes, sir ; I took it to whatever extent it was given to anybody. It could
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not be regarded as au oatli ; it was a moral pledge. But I regarded it jnst as mncli as

ail oath.

(Jucstion. It was iu tlie form of au oatb ; of course it would Lave required an ofBcer to

administer an oath.

Answer. I do not think it was given in the form of au oath. I do not know that they

ever said, " You solemnly swear," or anything of that kind. I do not rememher how
that was. There was nothing written about it, no publication—no special form, I

reckon, at all. I was approached by two gentlemen, who told me they wanted to get

up some such thing.

Qiiesiioii. Can you not give us in general the purport of the obligation ?

Answer. It was simply that we wo;; kl be faithful to each other in defending each
other and our families, "and that we would obey, when called upon, the orders of the

party that we selected, whoever he was. *

Question. As chief

'

Ansiver. Yes, sir. I mean legitimate ordei-s, such, as aiding to put down insurrection

or violence.

Qnesiion. Was anything said about the radical party, or the republican party ?

Ansicer. No. sir ; not a word.
Qnesiion. Was this an association of white men exclusively ?

,insifcr. I think it was; I never knew a negro to be connected with it.

<jHcsiion. Did you ever know a white republican to be in it ?

Answer. No, sir; you ctmld not have found any iu our State.

Question. Do you mean that no white republicans could be found in your State?
Answer. Noue that we wo^ld have considered—you must not rpiestiou me too closely

ou this XJoint—none tliat we would have regarded as our equals.

Question. You would not have taken them into the organization?
Ansiccr. We would not liave taken tlieni into any organization—the particular men

there iu our State. Tliere are some few republicans iu Georgia that I do not think
would have been objected to. But the object was to get true men. I think the organ-
ization was mainly coutined to the soldiers of the army, men who had shown them-
selves plucky and ready to meet any emergency, and who were accustomed to com-
mand.

Question. Where did that organization originate?
Answer. I have no idea in the world—not the remotest.

Question. Who carried it to the State of Georgia?
Answer. I have no idea about tliat either. It was there before I knew anything

about it. I have not the remotest idea who brought it there. I was talking the other
day to a fri(;nd of mine, one of the most ]iromiuent men iu the State. We were com-
paring notes iu regard to tliis matter: and he stated that he had been approached in

precisely the same way that I was. He is one of the best and most pious men in the
State—a Christian gentleman—a high-toned man iu every respect. I have no doubt
that every man iu the State whom I know to have been connected with this organ-
ization would be quite willing for me to give his name ; but I do not feel like doing
it. Of those that I know there is no one who would hesitate to tell you all he knows
about it.

Question. Y''ou reside in the city of Atlanta?
Answer. Yes, sir, just out of the city; my office is in town.
Question. Do you know of no gentleman whose name you would feel at liberty to

give, who was connected with the order iu some locality away from the city ?

Answer. No, sir ; I would rather not.

Question. The organization might not be the same thing out in the country that it

was just about Atlanta?
Answer. I reckon that it was. I had communication with persons all about ; I have

talked with them since, and I did during tlie existence of the thing. This disturbance
which I have told you occurred ou one occrsion was not in Atlanta ; it was in Soutli-

west Georgia. There was, I will state, a political oi-ganizatiou in Georgia ; but it was
not a secret organization ; it was au organization such as you have here or anywhere
else; we had an organization of democrats in the State—a regular party organization.

'

We selected certain men, whose business it was in certain district;^ or counties to bring
up all the democrats and get them to the polls. That was a political organization

;

but there was no secret about it. We had our county committees, our district com
mittees, and our State committee ; we were veiy thoroughly organized as a party ; an<l

there were particular men iu particular districts who were to hunt up every democrat
in the county and see that he got to the polls. The organization was very efHcieut
indeed.

Question. Was it composed of the same men that belonged to the other?
Answer. No, sir; O, no ; it was entirely distinct; it had nothing to do witli it. Some of

the same men may have belonged to both; but a great many who belonged to one did
not belong to the other. The two organizations had no sort of connection at all. As to

the men who were members of this organization that was formed for the protection of
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our ooiiiniiiuity. I know Init one or two -who approached me in roganl to the matter; I
have no reason to believe that there were a great many others connected with it.

(^hiesthn. Did they have signs of recognition ?

Aiisn-cr. I think they did at first ; hnt I tliink that passed away in a very short time.

I never have recognized anybody l)y any sign.

Question. Did you have passwords ?

Ansicer. I do not know about that; I do not think they did ; I think there were
some sort of signs, and that those signs were iu+euded to get these parties together

;

tiiey were intended for use in case of the occurrence of this violence which was appre-
hended.

[Tiie Chairman (Mr. Pool) submitted to the committee the question whether the
witness shouhl be reipiired to give the names of other persons whom he knew to have
brlougcd to the organization; and the connuitteo decided that the question should be
answered.]

Tlie Witness. I.think you "will find that these men know just the same thing that
I know—no more, and no less. I will mention the name of a, gentleman who I think
can give you as much information as anybody else in our State, General A. H. Col-
quitte.

(^)i(cniion. What is his address ?

Aumrcr. He is a large planter in Southwest Georgia, but his address is Atlanta. I

have no hesitation iu saying that his testimony ujion this point would be precisely
what mine is; for I talked with him just before I left Atlanta. I would also give the
name of General G. T. Anderson. His address is also Atlanta. Those are al)out the
only ones I can speak of positively. General Anderson is a/Middle Georgia man. Both
gentlemen ar^, in Atlanta at this time.

Question. Can vou not give us the names of some gentlemeu in other localities of the
State f

Ani<n-er. These gentlemen are from different localities. General Anderson lives iu

Atlanta; but he is a railroad man, and knows every portion of the State. His home
before he came to Atlanta was in the middle part of the State, below Atlanta. Gen-
eral Colquitte is one of our largest i)lanters in Southwestern Georgia. His home at
present is Atlanta.

Question. Can you give us the name of any prominent member of the association iu

the Savannah district"?

Autiircr. No, sir, I do not know any there, unless General A. R. Lawtou could tell

you something about it. I think he could, if anybody could iu that section.

Question. Do you know any of the county or district chiefs ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do you know anybody who would probably' know about the operations in
and about .Jefferson County?

Answer. I think General Wright would know more than anybody else; but I do not
know that General Wright knows anything about it.

Question. He said he did not.

Answer. I do not know that he did have any knowledge of it at all. The fact is that,

in uiy judgment, the organization was a v^ery temporary thing; I do not think it

existed any length of time at all; I do not think it was ever even pei'fected. I have
given you just the intention of the thing as I iinderstood it. I never heard anything
more about it after that until I talked with General Colquitte, just before leaving
Atlanta to come here. He had not heard anything about if for a hmg time. It was
simply understood among the members of this organization that if the necessity
should arise, we would unite to put down disturbance, and that we would extend the
organization if required. But things took a change right away. The elections passed
off, and quiet was maintained all over the State without any difficulty.

Queslioii. Do you think this organization was not used in the election at all ?

Answer. Not at all. 1 think 1 can say, with great emphasis, that it was not. The
truth is, there was no organization about elections.

Question. You gave as a reason why the organization was secret that you did not
want to seem to be opposing the United States Government ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Yon did not mean to intimate that there was in the organization any oppo-
sition to the United States Government ?

Answer. Not at all ; on the contrary, the organization was in entire accoril with
what we believed to be tlui s])irit of tile white soldiers of the United States, to main-
tain the peace, aud keep down any collision of races, anything that wouhl tend to

]>roduce a war of races. That organization would not have hesitated a moment to
liave united with the United States troops at any time iu quelling disorder. That is

the, feeling we had. We would have sent for the United States troops if we had not
been strong enough. The presence of the military at elections, where they were not
sent to interfere with ilie freedom of the ballot, but simply to keep the peace, was al-

ways welcomed by our peoj)le, aud I think the military now iu the State would testify
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tbat the citizens have acted in entire accord vrith them all the time. Tliere were a
lew cases where military men were partisans, and interfered improperly in elections,

Avhich created a- ^reat deal of feeling and bitterness ; bnt in a large majority of cases
the troops behaved well, and the people were very glad to have tUem in their midst,
under tlie circumstances.

(fhiestion. Why do yon tliink this organization does not now exist in some localities

in Georgia ?

Answer. I think I wonld know it if it did ; I think I would have heard of it. I have
heard of no such thing anywhere in the State for a long time past. I am satisfied tliat

if anything of the sort were continued, I would have heard something about it.

And that is General Colquitte's feeling.

Qiusfhii. If there was no general head, why should th:3 local organizations report
to you ?

Answei: I think I would have heard of the organization if it continued to exist. I
am travelling all over the State all the time. My soldiers are scattered all over the
State; and there is no one of them who would hesitate to tell me anything of the sort.

As I have said, the organization was confined mainly to the soldiers, so far as I knew.
It would have l>een almost an impossibility for the organization to have existed recently
without my knowledge.

Question. But it did exist for some length of time?
Answer: Yes, sir; it existed in the way I tell you—without having any organization

that I ever lieard of or knew anything about. It was just this quiet understanding,
without any programme further than to keep the peace and preserve order in the State.
I want it distinctly understood that this organization was intended, by peaceable
means, not by violence, to prevent a collision of the races. We did not want to have
in our State a war of races—to have our property and our lives destroyed. We feared
the peril to our women and children. We felt that we must have some means of
bringing to bear in an emergency a sufficient moral force in any particular neighbor-
hood (just as was done in the instance I have spoken of) to suppress anything of that
sort by the power of influence and of numbers, and, in case of absolute necessity, by
actual force.

Ouesiion. During the time that the organization did continue, did you have any talk
with your soldiers in the dili'erent localities of the State in regard to it? Did they
mention to you its existence, and talk to you about it?

A)tswer. The same gentleman who posted me uu the subject
Question. I mean the piivate soldiers of j'our command.
Answer. No, sir ; I do not think they did. I do not think it ever assumed any definite

^hape. I do not think the organization in our State, as generally reputed to exist,

amounted to anything like what has been represented in the newspapers.
Question. You do not think it went so far as the newspapers have said ?

Answer. No, sir ; I know it could not jiossibly have done so in our State without my
knowing something about it.

Question. You say that the organization was for the purpose of xireventing a rising on
the part of the colored i)eople against the whites—a collision of the races ?

Answer. It was intended as a police I'egulation.

Question. Was there any understanding that there were to be manifestations to
intimidate the colored people and make them afraid of it in order to keep them down?

Answer. O, no, sir; not b^ any means. On the contrary, the very men whom I knew
anything about as connected with it were the very best friends the colored race had,
and would do more for them than others—would give them more mony to help them

;

they were men who had been among the kindest masters to the negroes.
Question. You meau when they behaved themselves?
Ansiver. Yes, sir; and they will do more now to keep up good feeling in the State

than any men that I know.
Question. Are you sure that in some distant localities (you say that the organization

extended nearly, if not quite, all over the State) it was not abused to the extent of an
effort t6 produce a state of intimidation on the part of the colored people as prepara-
tory to keeping them from making any manifestation against the wbites ?

Answer. I cannot si>eak positively upon that subject, but I do not believe it was. I
have no knowledge that it was. I cannot say emphatically and positively that it was
not, but I do not know of any case of the sort in the State. I never heard of any such
case. I think it is very likely that in some jjarticular and individual instances there
may have been some intimidation, but I do not think that the intimidation came from
this source at all; nor do I think that any intimidation of that kind which did exist
;was comparable in any degree to the intimidation used by the other side upon the
negroes to force them to vote the republican ticket.

Question. You think the organization was composed principally of soldiers of the
army ?

Answer. I think so; it was, so far as I know.
Question. Were they armed ?
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Answer. Xo, sir; O, no.

Question. Was there ever any niovenieut made to have the organization armed ?

Ansicer. Xo, sir, I never hoard ofsucli a thing.

Question. You spoke of one oceasion upon which there was a difficulty between a
wliite man and a negro, which was likely to grow into some serious collision, wheu
this organization stepj)ed forward and quelled it ?

Ansuer. Yes, sir.

Qucslion. In what locality was that ?

Ansn-cr. At Albany, Georgia, I think.

Question. In what mauncr was that done?
Answer. I think it was done just by the moral power of the people.
Question. Do you mean that it was done by a single man or several men T

Answer. I think it was done by a number of men. I was not present. General
Colquitte will be more able to tell you particularly about that. There were no harsh
measures taken.

Question. Do you recollect whether arms were used on that occasion ?

Ansioer. I do not think there were. My recoUeetion is that the United States troops
present cooperated. Without knowing that anybody present belonged to any organi-
zation, the United States troops, I think, cooperated in preventing a collision. The
testimony witli reference to that I have from individuals who were present on the
occasion, and it was generally understood in our State at the time. I was not present
myself.

Question. Do you know of any operations of this order, anything which any iiart of

the organization did in any portion of the State ?

Answer. Xo, sir, I do not.

Question. Did they ever take any active step of any kind?
Ansioer. X^ot within my knowledge. I cannot say that they did not in other locali-

ties. I do not know of their doing anything ; I do not know that they did not. I have
not heard of anything except the particular case that I have spoken of.

Questio7i. Do you think that the organization has produced any good effect in the
State of Georgia ?

Ansioer. I do not know that it has done anything one way or the other; I do not
think it has produced any eflect at all, good or bad.

Question. Have you not heard of bauds of disguised men riding about in localities,

intimidating the colored people and sometimes taking them fi'om their houses and
whipping them ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I have heard of such cases; but I do not know anything of them
I have heard of such things in the State, but I cannot specify any locality where such
a thing is even reported to have occurred. The truth is I have been out of the State a
great deal during the past year—ever since last August ; and I think the main portion

of these reports relate to matters whicli are said to have occurred since. That is my
recollection. I have, as I have already said, heard of disguised men. The only case

that I know of where parties were ca))tnred in disguise was a case in Chatooga County,
where the parties turned out to be republicans.

Question. State the circumstances of that case.

Answer. I do not know enough about it to state any particulars, except that on re-

turning to my hon\e in Atlanta I merely heard it on the street—and I believe it is

notorioiisly true—that these jiarties were not only captured in disguise, lint that they
had been tried by tlie courts for some dex)redatii)us, (I do not even know wliat tlu; de[>-

redations were,) and convicted. My recollection is that a reward was oll'ered by the

governor, and that two of these parties were captured in disguise. I do not know how
many belonged to the party. My recollection is that the reward was paid for their

capture. There was a good deal of talk about Ku-Klux being in Chatooga County,
and a reward was olfered ; I do not know whether it was for the capture of the Ku-
Klux generally or for the captnre of parties who had connnitted some x»articu]ar depre-

dation ; but tlie offer of this reward I believe resulted in the cajjture of thfS(! disguised

men. I only know about the matter from what I heard upon the street on my return

to Atlanta ; I never iuA-^estigated it at all.

By Mr. Buckley :

Question. Are you quite sure that those two men were disguised ?

Answer. I say that is the report on the streets ; and I think it is true ; I have no
doul)t about it mystdf, though I did not see them in disguise—never saw the nusn and
never knew their names. The information is as public and current at my home as in-

formation of any other occurrences that take place in the courts. For instance, when
yon hear that a man lias been arraigned and convicted, you take it for granted that

the report is true without seeing the man himself. It is currently reported on the

streets „that these two men were captured in disguise, and were known to be repnb-,

licaus
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By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. Was that in tlie district in which Mr. Forsyth is the prosecuting officer ?

Jns2ver. I do not know Mr. Forsyth at all. I know also very little about the organ-
ization of my State iu regard to those 2)articular things. Rome is in that district.

Judge Wright is from that district.

(jHestio)i. Governor Bullock states in a recent publication that of all the State officer.s

elected by the people or appointed by himself there are not more than a dozen men
holding olhces (and those oitices iniimportant) who are not either natives of the State
or residents of the State before the war and during the war?

Answi): I presume that is true.

Question. You think that is true?
Answer. Yes, sir. There are a great many offices in Georgia, and it would he very

hard to lind enough of these men to till the offices.

Question. You mean enough of the carpet-baggers ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Verj- few of them were lawyers, and therefore they could not be
judges ; they did not know anything aljout law, and could not be justices of the peace.

I want to say for Governor Bullock that I think, so far as he could consistently with
what he may have construed to be his party obligations, ho has appointed very good
judges. As I have already said, our p('0]>le are reconciled to the judiciary that we
have. The law is now administeicd there, I think, as well as it is anywhere in the,

country. It is the stealing of the ])nl)lic money that is now princij)ally complained of.

Question. You spoke of not being able to challenge voters at the l)allot-box; there is

no law against challenging a man when he goes to the registrar to be registered ?

Answer. I think not ; but the registration is entirely in the hands of one party ; and
in the lirst election under the reconstruction laws the registration was the means of
debarring from the exercise of sutYrage a vast number of men who ought to have voted.
There was no appeal at all; the registrars had i^ower to strike off names by the whole-
sale, and they did it.

Question. Did you mean to saj' that registered voters have the right to vote unchal-
lenged on the day of election ?

Ansieer. Yes, sir ; I believe that is true ; hut the trouble is that you cannot chal-

lenge men who are not registered
;
you cannot challenge anybody at the polls, no mat-

ter where he comes from. You might imjiort a man from Africa and take him to tlie

polls, and he could not be prevented from voting, even though not registered. Tlie

election officers do not stop to examine the registration lists ; they let every man vote
Avho wants to vote.

(^)uestioii. Does the law authorize the voting of any man Avho is not registered ?

An.m'er. The law forbids the challenge of any man's vote; but you can prosecute
afterward a man who votes without being registered.

Question. For voting ?

Answer. For voting ; but you cannot prevent his voting. For instance, I can go into
any county of that State on the day of election, and, if 1 am willing to risk a prosecu-
tion, I may vote for a county officer, although I am no resident of the county. No-
body can jirevent me from voting, excejjt those who manage the polls.

Qucstio)^. Is it not their duty to iirevent any man voting who is not on the registra-

tion books ?

Answer. I sui>pose it is; but they do not do it.

Question. Yon mean to say, then, that if a man votes without being registered he
violates the law and renders himself liable to prosecution ?

Ansivcr. Y"es, sir.

Question. A man might violate the law in any other way, if he chose to take the
chance of prosecution f

Answer. Of course ; but that does not save the election at all. So far as the election
is c(juc('rned, it is too late to prosecute a man after his vote is received and counted,
though you may jtunish him personally.

Question. Are not the names of those voting taken down as they vote?
Answer. Yes, sir. There are plenty of illegal votes now on the records.

Question. That record of those actually voting would furnish a very good means of
contestijig an election, as you would have a list of the registered voters and also a list

of all who actually voted ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; but we have carried the State notwithstanding that ; and we do
not care anything about challenging when we have got a large majority of the legis-

lature.

Question. In case of necessity you might contest in that way ?

Ansn-er. We might contest if there were any hope of accomplishing anything; ])ut

witli the whole power of the State gdverument against us, it would not do any good to

contest. Our people have been discouraged about that sort of thing. AVe have tried

it pretty heartily. We had a case where a party was put in an office by changing the
votes after they had all been counted, and the lists made out and sent to the officer
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appointod to receive them ; the vote was changed OQ affidavits of parties that they had
not iuteuded to vote iu a particular way.

Question. You assume that your political adversaries would violate law, and fairness,

and every thinj;- else ?

Jntiwc): Well, we have pretty strong evidence of that fact.

Qiieslion. Doubtless some would; but do you think the rule is universal?
Answer. 0, no, sir; I do not think there would be a wholesale refusal to hear us; I

mean to say, however, that we would institute prosecutions under very decided disad-

vantages.
Question. Is there no legal machinery by which yon could have a hearing ?

Answer, O, yes, I think so. As I have told you, there were quite a number of
negroes arrested iu the city of Atlanta for having voted illegally ; but when we had
carried the election nobody cared anytliiug about that matter. If we had not carried

the county, the contest would have been made beyond all question.
Question, And the mode of conducting the election as prescribed by law gives you a

facility in the contest by prmidiug lists of registered voters, and also lists of those
who actually voted, so that you cau compare the two lists ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; that is true.

Question. There is no law against objecting to the registration of a man when he
goes aud offers to be registered ?

Answer. No, sir ; but the registration is going on for months ; and nobody can stand
there during all that time to keep men from registering iuipi'opcrly. The registration

was going on for a year or two years. In fact it commenced b.jfoie Governor Bullock
was elected; and it has been going on ever since. Hence the registration list is never
Avatched at all.

Question. Are not the registration lists open for the inspection of the public ?

Answer, 0, yes, sir.

Question. They are ptiblic records ?

A^iswer. Yes, sir.

Question. If you should find upon the registration lists the name of a man not enti-

tled to register, could you not make ai complaint to the registrars 'I

Answer. We tried that in the lirst election, but we never succeeded.
Question. You had a right to do that 1

Answer, Yes, sir ; we liad a right to apply to the registrars ; but the registrars who
registered the principal part of the voters in Georgia, were men who paid no regard at

all to law. I will say that very em])hatically. They strnck otf men at their mere
discretion ; and there was no appeal to any superior authority.

Question, I am not speaking as to tlm person nel of tho registering officers; but simply
inquiring whether the law enabled you to bring the case before them?

Answer. Yes, sir; we have the right to go to the registrar .and say, "You have taken
my name off, or put this man's on, when you ought not to have done so."

Question. And you may bring evidence before him to show tliat he has erred ?

Answer. Yes, .sir, of course ; but the difficulty was that it did no good.
Question. You mean to say that the registrars did not act according to law, and

according to honesty ?

Ansiver. That is the iioint.

Question. The trouble is not in the law itself?

Answer. No, sir. Tiie law for the registration in Georgia was different from the
election law.

Question. Your election law provides that no registered voters shall be challenged?
Answer. Tlie law is that there shall l>e no challenging ;» whether a man be registered

or not, you cannot challenge him. You cannot say to the election otlicers, "This man
is not registered, and therefore must not vote." Under that law it is an offense to

challenge.
Question. Was not the provision of that law that there should be no challenge of

an "electoi?" Was not the word "elector" used ?

Atiswer. I am not positive about that.

By Mr. Blah: :

Question. That is not the case with the Alabama law.
Answer. I do not think it is the i)rovJsion of the law of Georgia.
Question. Was it not the conviction of many }>erson3 in Georgia that that law was

passed \\ itli the purpose of carrying the election by fraud?
Answer. That was the universal conviction.

Question. Was it not understood tliat the Attorney General of the United States

went down there and volunteered to frame this law ?

Answer. It is believed tliat the draught of the law was furnished by him; that is the
general impression in the State of Georgia.

Question. He was there at the time ?

.Answer. He came there aud made a speech to the legislature of Georgia— a very bitter
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Bpeech, as ^ve thought, aniT very unnecessary. It was a speech calculated to do a vast
deal of harm in Georgia. Almost everybody deplored it, I think—sensible republicans
as well as democrats.

Question. I will read two sections of the election law of Georgia, and you can seo
whether they correspond with your recollection :

"Section?. In addition to the duties now prescribed by law for the inaDagera of
elections, it shall be the duty of said managers to preserve order at and nearthe polls;
bnt they shall have no power to refuse ballots of any male person of apparent full age,
a resident of the county, who has not pre\iously voted at the said election.

" Section 8. They shall not permit any person to challenge any vote, or liinder or
delay, or interfere with auy other person in the free and speedy casting of his ballot."

Answer. Tbat is the precise provision I referred to a while ago, as having discouraged
our jieople. They believed that it in fact ojiened the polls to anybody from any quarter
of the globe to come there and vote, without regard to his (lualificatious ; that there
was no power to prevent the voting of any person Avho might otit'er his l)allot.

Question. Was it not the general conviction that this law was passed by your legisla-
ture with the purpose of carrjing the State by fraud ?

Answer. That conviction was so general at tirst that it entirely discouraged our peo-
ple, so that they felt there was no use in uuikiug any effort to carry the State. That
was the feeling all over our State immediately after the passage of the law ; and it

took a vast deal of ellbrt on the part of a lew energetic men to get our jjeople to make
any eflFort at all.

By the CuAiim.tN', (Mr. Pool:)

Question. But notwithstanding that, you did succeed in carrying the State ?

Answer. O, yes, we carried it very handsomely, and we did it by electioneering with
the negroes beforehand.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. And von succeeded when the republicans had all the election ofBcers in
the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; all of them. "VVTiy, sir, there are a large number of negroes in
Georgia who, in spite of all the influences brought to bear upon them, vote the demo-
cratic ticket. We have in our State democratic clubs composed of negroes. In some
places they are strong enough to maintain their position in that way.

Question. Against the violence of the other side ?

Answer. Yes, sir, against the violence of the other side. Negroes, in some localities,

have regular democratic clubs. I think there is a very large one in Savannah. A vast
deal of electioneering in our State was done by young men who took buggies, carriages,
and wagons, went all over the county getting negroes, and brought them to the polls,

and voted them.

By Mr. Buckley :

Question. Those colored democratic voters voted without any difficulty in your last
election, did they not ?

Answer. O, yes, sir
;
but some, as I said, refused to vote on account of what was said.

Question. You never knew of any actual violence committed upon negroes voting or
wishing to vote the democratic ticket ? You knew of nothing more than threats ?

Ansiver. Xo, sir, I have never known any actual violence ; I have heard of instances of
the sort.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool:)
Question. Suppose a man should have challenged another, alleging that though regis-

tered he was not in fact a qualified voter; would there have been any ^jenalty for "the
challenge ?

Answer. Yes, sir; a direct penalty; the man making the challenge would havo
.suflered the consequence of a violation of the law, and I think the i^enalty is line and
!im])risonment.

Question. My attention has been called to the fact that there is no penalty provided
'in the law for challenging.

Answer. I think you will find there is a penalty. Any challenge is a violation of the
law. I apprehend that if I had gone to the polls and challenged a negro's vote, I
would have been arrested, prosecuted, fined, and imprisoned. I believe I would have
been charged with a nusdemeanor in violating the election law ; thatthe courts would
have sustained the charge and convicted me of a crime. I have uo sort of doubt of
that.

Question. Have you known auj voters to be challenged in the State of tieorgia since
the passage of that law ?

Answer. None at all.



330 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Qiirstin)). Practically, then, tbore is no right of challenging votes on the day of the
election ?

.

Juswcr. Tlu-re is none so far as I know; and Itlunk there is none.
Question. What was tlic war deht of the States of Georgia at the close of the war ?

Ansurr. I cannot tell yon ; I have not looked into the statistics on that subject.
That war debt was all rejindiated.

Question. It was not repudiated by your people ?

Jusive): O, yes, it was.
Question. It was reiiudiated by an amendment to the Constitution of the United

States.

Answer. It was repudiated by our i)eople in convention, under Andrew Johnson's
administration.

Question. That was done under the instructions of the Government ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I think we would have paid it if left to ourselves, or at least tried

to do so.

Question. The odinra of refusing to pay it was not on your shoulders?
Answer. Not at all.

Question. The command not to pay it came from a superior power ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You spoke of the turning of a number of men out of the Georgia legislature
xipou an allegation that, after taking an oath before the war to support the Constitu-
tion of the United States, they had been implicated in one way or another in the rebel-
lion. Were not colored men turned out of that legislature simply because they were
colored men ?

Afiswer. Not otit of that legislature. They were turned out of the first legislature,

which was elected at the same time as Governor Bullock. I believe tiiat was the main
ground urged for reconstructing us. They yvcvo turned out on tlie ground assumed l)y

the recognized leader of the republican party in Georgia, Gov(n'nor Brown, who
throughout hi.s canvass gave the opinion that they were not entitled, under the consti-

tution of Georgia, to hold offices. It was upon the constitutional ground solely that
they were turned out—not because they were colored men. The dcnioci-ats in the
legislature were strong enough to exclude the negroes, who were upon trial, from the
right of voting upon their own cases. Their right, under the constitutiijnal provision,

to hold seats was tried, and they were declared not qualified to act as members. Tiuit

view was sustained, as I have said, by Governor Brown, the loader of the republican
party. That legislature was sul)sequently reconstructed. The imly legislature that we
have elected since is the present legislature, which has not yet assembled.

Question. General Terry proceeded to j)urge that legislature ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question, The democrats first purged it of the negroes ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And afterward General Terry purged it of those who, before the war, had
sworn to support the Constitution, and who had been engaged in the rebellion ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. So that there were two j)rocesses of purging the legislature—one by the
democrats, and the other by General Terry ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In the first process of purging, the colored men were put oitt by the demo-
crats ; and they did not allow the colored men who were elected to vote on that ques-
tion ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; they were on trial. In Congress I believe a man cannot vote upon
his own case when the question of his right to a seat is on trial.

Question. Did they try them all at a time ?

Answer. They tried the general question as to whether negroes were entitled to hold
office.

Question. Did they not make a smglo case iu the first jilace uxion the right of one
member?

Answer. I do not now i-emember about that ; I was not in the State at the time.
Question. Was there any other nmde of doing it except by trying the question upon

the case of the first colored man whose name was called?
Answer. 1 think that was the method—that one uuin was put tipon trial. The gen-

eral result was that the question was decided that all negroes were ineligible to oliice.

Question. The first case decided the question as to all the others If

Answer. Yes, sir.

Quffitio)!. Now, upon that first case they did not allow the other colored men wlio
Lad been elected to vote ?

Answer. 1 <lo not know as to that. You are asking me to suppose a case which I do
mot know existed at all. I was not in the State while the trial was iu progress.

Question. I ask yon as a lawyer whether there was any mode known to the law by
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which such a question coiild be tried before the legislature save the one I have
indicated ?

Answer. No, sir ; not if one member only was on trial. But I think you will find,

upon examination of the records, that all the negroes were put on trial for their scats

at one time. The question was simply whether a certain class of men were entitled to

hold their seats under the constitution of Georgia.
Qitcsiio)). The legislature decided that colored men could not hold their seats in that

body, and turned them all out ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they seat white men in their places ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. The minority candidates ?

Ansu'er. They seated the mtni who were entitled, under the constitution, to the seats.
Uuder the constitution of Georgia, whenever an ineligible person receives the largest
number of votes, the next highest candidate, if eligible, takes the oflSce.

Question. Is that the law of Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question, A case was stated here yesterday—I think, perhaps, by Judge "Wright

—

where a man was seated in the senate to till the place of another who haddied ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think I remember such a case.

Question. From the manner in which that case was stated it looked like rather a
flagrant case of usurpation. If tlie senatcu- who had died was not eligible, would the
minority candidate have been entitled to the seat ?

Answer. I think that if the senator who died was not eligible the other man was
entitled to his seat.

Question. The fact that the first man had died would make no difference as to the
title of the second man ?

Answer. I think not. But I think it would be too lato to adjudicate his case after
his death, if ho had been duly installed.

Question. But this case was passed upon by General Terry at the time he did the
purging.

Mr. Blair. Not till after the death of the senator.
The CiiAiiiMAX, (Mr. Fool. ) But it was done by General Terry at the time of the sec-

ond purging.
Witness. I think that such a case would come under the provision of our law,

which provides for a new election in the case of the death of a member. I think the
supreme court would so decide. As you have put this question to mo as a lawyer I
wish to saj-, that though I commenced the practice of law when I was quite young

—

fifteen years ago—I have not iiracticed for some years past, and I cannot undertake to
give more than my general idea upon such a question. I do not pretend to be a law-
yer now. My impression is that in case of the death of a party who has held the seat,

the sniireme court of the State would decide that the provision for cases of death would
be applicable ; that it would be too late then to adjudicate the question of the eligibility
of the deceased person. I only give that as my impression.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. Y"ou mean to say that the right of a minority candidate, which, of course,
would be an alisolute right, would be divested by the death of the majoritj^ candidate,
even though the latter was ineligible.

Answer. I think so, under the law, if the majority candidate had been installed, and
had died before any decision upon the question of his eligibilty.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Under the constitution of your State, who is the judge of the qualifications
and elections of members of the legislature ?

Answer. The legislature itself. But they were not allowed to judge in this case.
That is where the usurpation really was. That is the gist of the whole question.

Question. What authority had General Terry to interpose his judgment in the matter ?

Answer. We thought he had no authority at all, even under the reconstruction law.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. The question as to the authority of General Terry is a separate question

;

but admitting him to have possessed the power which he assumed, had he not authority
to go ahead and i^urge the legislature according to law ?

(

Answer. Of course.
Question. Whether General Terry wrongfully assumed jurisdiction is a separate and

distinct question which has nothing tu do with this particular case, any more than any
other which n;ight arise with reference to the quaiilications of members.

.inswcr. I think that even the legislature itself could not have gone behind the fact
of the man's death. If he Was sworn iu as a member, and died before the question of
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bis eligibility liad been determined, then I think that the provision of law with refer-
euce to supplying the places of members who die Avonid have been the potent one.

Question. Were you ever a member of a legislative body ?

Anmver. Never.
Qucalion. Is not the ordinary practice in legislative bodies that the man who holds

the certilicate is lirst sworn in, and the contest between him and his competitor is
determined afterwards ?

Answer. I believe it is.

Question. Would the death of the sitting member, before the contest Avas decided
divest the legal title of the contestant, supposing his title to be a good one ?

'

Answer. I should say it Avould under the provision of our law (it'is very distinct) for
supplying the places of deceased members. I think tbe burden of proof would be all
on the other side. The sitting member is to be considered as the riglitful member
unless, in a contest to which he is a party, he is shoAvu not to be entitled ; and as he
cannot be a party after his death the question cannot be adjudicated at al'. That is
the point I make.

Question. Is there any express statute of your State upon that particular question f
Answer. No, sir; I think not.
Question. You are only stating your' general judgment of the law ?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did I understand you to say that there is now great feeling a"ainst the
Government of the United States in consequence of the usurpations w-hicdi, as you
clami, were put upon your people by General Terry?
Answer. No, sir

;
I did not pu-t it in that light. I said there was no oppositiou to the

Government of the United States at all; but that the alienation—I think that is the
word I used—that the alienation from the Government has been increased. There was
of course, alienation during the Avar and after the war. I think that alienation has
been increased by the course of the Government of the United States towards the
South.

Question. And the course of General Terry?
Ansiver. W^hen I say " the Government," I mean, of course, all the departments of the

Government.

By Mr. Blair :

Question. Do you not make a distinction between the Government itself and its
administration?
Answer. I refer to the party in power. As to the Government of the United States,

as we understand, there is no feeling of hostility against it. lu other words, there is
no disposition to get away, and to have nothing to do Avith the Government.

By the CriAiRJiAN, (Mr. Pool :)

Question. You do not pretend to say that the people of Georgia would not have pre-
ferred to have established the confederate government?

Answer. Not by any means ; they Avould have preferred it very much.
Question. They would prefer it now if it Avere possible ?

Ansiver. I think they Avould. I am. satisfied they would, in view of what they con-
ceive to be the Avrougs that have since been done them. And that is Avhat I meant to
say, that that feeling has been intensified.

Question. You mean the feeling of preference for the confederate government ?
Ansiver. Yes, sir; it has been intensified by the course of the administration toward

the people of Georgia. I want to be distinctly understood on that point. There is, of
course, no anticipation of anythiug of that sort ; we have sense enough to understand
that thing is all over.

Question. Judge Wright analyzed the question by distinguishing betAveen tAvo kinda
of loyalty

:
one, the loyalty of obedience to force which cannot be overcome : and the

other, loyalty of the heart.
Ansiver: Well, I do not think the people of Georgia could be induced to take any

violent course toAvards the Government. I believe they are laAv-abidiug, and are
willing to submit to and recognize the authority of the government. But I think that
AA'hatever of affection for the Government, in virtue of old associations, was left in
them after the war, could have been cultivated by a different course from that Avhich
was adopted, whereas that feeling has been diminished by the course Avhich has been
pursued toAvards them. That is the distinction 1 AVant to make.

Question. According to some of the testimony before us, your i>eop]e thought that the
Government of the United States observed very bad faith in '-espect to tJae surrender
at Appomattox

; that it did not carry out what were understood to be the terms of
that surrender ?

Answer. On that point I want to say that the people of the South appreciate, I think,
very fully and very justly the conduct of General Grant in protecting, so far as ho
>could, the soldiers Avho surrendered there, when there was all this talk about punishing
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for " treason,".«&c.; but I thiuk that the bad faith was in this: The conduct of tlie

Federal army, officers and soldiers, from General Grant down, at Appomattox Court-
House, led our people to feel that a liberal, generous, magnanimous policy would be
pursued toward them. They felt that they were at liberty to construe that conduct
into a pledge, as it were ; aud as the sort of ])olicy which that conduct apparently
pledged has not been pursued towards ns—as the policy has been one of distrust in-

stead of liberality aud maguauinuiity, our people feel that the faith which was
pledged to them has been viohited—not so uuich in letter as in spirit, if I may make
that distinction. We do not claim that we had any written pledge from General
Grant and his army, any further than that we should not be disturbed, so long as we
obeyed the laws.

Question. The supposed pledge was a deduction from the kind manifestations on tho
part of General Grant and his army ?

Annwer. It was a deduction from the manner in which the wtfcle surrender was con-
ducted, the spirit of the correspondence and the general impression conveyed by the
counniinicatious between the otlicers of the two armies.

By Mr. Blair : -

Onesiion. Do you not think that you were "disturbed" when you were deprived of
political rights 1

Answer. That is the point I was coming to. We felt there was a moral obligation
arising from the circumstances I was stating; we had no written pledge except that
contained in our paroles; and we think that that written pledge itself has been broken
in the fact that we have been deprived of rights which we had inherited—which l)e-

longed to us as citizens of the country. In that particidar our peo})le feel that tho
Government has not kejjt faith witli us. We have been disfranchised.

By the Chaihman, (Mr. Poor. : )

Question. Do you refer to the right to hold ofSce, v.hich is ^low taken away by the
fourteenth amendment of the Constitution of the United States f

Answei: Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bi^air :

Question. Aud the right to vote, which was taken av^^ay by the reconstrtiction act ?

Ans^vcr. Yes, sir. But as to the right to vote that has been tixed by the constitution
of Georgia.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool:)

Question. The right to vote is not denied by the Constitution of the United States ?

Answer. Bat many of us are denied by that Constitution the right to hold office.

Question. Did the spirit of kindness manifested by General Grant, his otlicers and
meu, have any iutlueuce in inducing your surrender; or was that kindness shown to
yon after your surrender was effected ?

Ansicer. It was shown by the correspondence itself before the surrender and also

after the surrender. The greater impression was made after the surrender.
Question. Had it anything to do with producing the sureuder ?

AnsuH-r. O, yes; that correspondence liad a great deal to do with the siurender. I

think that a large proportion of General Lee's army would have cut its way out, or
been captured or killed, but for the manner in which General Grant wrote to General
Lee. I think that but for the manner in which the correspondence was conducted by
General Grant, General Lee would not have snrrendered. He might have been cap-
tured ; but we would certainly have had more fighting. On this subject I speak of
what I know. It was my fortune to be present at the last council of war, the night
before our suirender. General Grant's correspondence was submitted to us and we
discussed it. In that correspondence he said, " I askuothingexcept that the army lay
down their arms and return to their homes." We snpposi-d that that was to 'he an end
of the matter ; that there would be no further conilict or bitterness stirred up and no
further discriminations against ns.

Question. You do not supjjose that any further fighting would have been of any
avail f

Answer. Well, sir, I think it proljable that I could have gone through with my com-
mand ; I had made a pretty good conunencement.

Question. Would it have been of any avail to the cause?
Ansiver. No, sir; we would have lost the cause in the end without doubt. I think

that if General Grant had deuumded an unconditional surrender on that occasion,
there would have been some heavy lighting ; and I think we would have got out. But
I do not think it wouhl have auiouuted to anything ultin)ately. We would have gone
to the mountains and piolyably fought a year or to two longer.

Question. Von ilo not think you w(udd have refused to surrender simply for the sake
of securiu"- to men who are now under disabilities the ri"ht to hold office ?
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Jnswer. O, uo, sir; tliose questions of course liad notbiug to do witli it. We uever
auticipiiteil that any man would bo denied tliat riglit. •

Qtitniloii. You probably reeoUect the eUect produced upon the southern people by the
declaration of President Johnson that "treason was to bo made odious and traitors
punished /"

Annwer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was there any apprehension that there would be executions for treason ?

Anawer. Y'es, sir; tliere was an apprehension of that sort. We did not believe wo
could ever be convicted of treason before the courts of the country ; I do not think a
man in the South believed that. There was a fear that some of us miplit be hanged,
but Ave never believed tbat l)efor(5 any legiliniate court of the country on a fair,

honest trial for treason, we could bo convicted under the Constitution of the United
States.

Question. Y'ou mean a court of law ?

Ansiva: Y'es, sir.

Question. But there was an ai)prehension that there would be executions?
Answer. O, yes ; very serious a[>prehension.
Question. Did not the southern people feel very considerably relieved when it was

found the Governuient would not go to that extent ?

Answer. O, yes, sir ; we never had any sort of apprehension of a conviction for trea-
son by a court of justice. We did not believe that the act of secession was treason. I
do not believe it now. I do not expect ever to believe it. I never expect to advocate
anj' more secession ; I have given that up ; but I do not believe it was treason.

Question. You did not believe it was treason when you originally advocated it ?

Ansiver. No, sir; audi do not believe it to-day; I never expect to believe it.

Question. Was there not an apprehension among the southern peojile that there
"would be some conliscatiou of lamled i)roperty '1

Answer. Yes, sir. But all that a])prehension arose, mark you, when Andrew Johnson
commenced his course. •

Question. And there was a very great feeling of relief when it was found that that
was not going to be resorted to by the Government?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Cobukx :

Question. In the tirst part of your testimonj' you spoke of certain troops having
robl ed an old man. and threatened to "pin hijn to a pine tree." Do you state that as
having been done by the authority of the commanding officers "?

Ansicer. No, sir ; I have no idea that it was. I meant that it was the act of indi-

vidual soldiers—those negroes of whom I was speaking. I mentioned that in explana-
tion of the feeling that was stirred up between the two races.

Quesiion. Did you testily as to the number of negroes ou the Georgia coast ?

Aiisicer. No, sir; I did not, except as to the proportion of the negroes to th3 white
population in that region.

Question. How many of these ignorant coast negroes do you think there are ?

Answer. I do not know how mauy. I

Question. Have you any idea how mauy thousands ?

Anstver. No, sir; I have not. I have no conception.
Question. In another part of your testimony you said, I believe, that the negroes would

have been i)eaceable, but for the interference on the part of certain white men t

Ans2cer. Yes, sir.

Question. I beli(ive you also said that there was great kindness and love between the
negroes who had been slaves ai^d their former masters"^
Answer. Y\\s, sir.

Question. Did you say that was a general rule ?

Answer. Y'es, sir.

Question. And the feeling continued after the war ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. But you say there is a diiferent feeling now ?

Answer. O, no, sir ; I do not mean to say that there is any bitterness towards the
negro in our State. I have givcJi instances of great kindness towards him.

Question. Alter the negroes had been enslaved, and whi)>ped, and punished, and never
paid for their labor by their masters—after this had been for years the condition of
themselves and their ancestors—do >,()U think that when they became free there was,
in spite of all this, a feeling of love, and kindness, and coiilideuce on their part, to-

wards those men who had held them in slavery ?

Answer. I know there vv'as.

Question. Then in viiiw of those facts, do you think there was any ground for reasou-
,able apprehension ou the part of the whites that the negroes would tlo violence to

them after the war was over ?

* Answer. None in the world, if the negroes had been left to themselves. But there
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was a great deal of apprehension excited, because these ignorant people were excited

and deluded by those who professed to be their friends, and who used, iu order

to inHuence them injuriously, the fact that they had been a part of the forces that had
given the negroes their freedom. In that respect there was a great deal of ground lor

ap]>rehenfeion.

(Jiastio)i. Is it not reasonable to suppos'^ that there was very much more danger from
the negroes during the war, when the white men were away from their homes engaged
iu the army, than there ever was at any time afterward ?

Aiiswn: O, no.

Question. You think there was no danger during the war, when the mass of the white
meu were away and their families were left at the mercj* of the negroes f

Jiisiccr. Xobody felt any apprehension at that time.

Qiieslion. Why was not apprehension felt then?
Aiisu-ir. Simply because we knew that the negroes and the whites felt kindly toward

each other ; that the negroes were attached to their homes and their masters. The
cruelty which was reported as being indicted ou the negro during his slavery never
existed, except in rare instances. Tlie negroes, as a general thing, w^re always better

fed, l)etter clothed, and more kindly treated, in my judgment, than any other laboring
population iu the world. I think that this fiict was the secret of the feeling between
the negroes and their old masters. There were individual instances where men did
behave very cruelly toward their negroes, as there are individual instances where
meu have behaved cruelly toward their white employes. But these were individual

cases; and the law provided for tlieir punishment.
Question. Do you think the negroes, as a general rule, did not object to being held in

slavery?
Anmer. I think there never was a time wheu they would not have been glad to be

free.

Qnesiion. Do you not believe that they considered the deprivation of their freedom
as tbe most serious wrong that couUl be put u]ion them by any human being?
Answer. O, no, sir. I have talked to them about that iu my speeches since the war.

In canvassiug since the war I have addressed crowds of negroes from the stiunp, and
have carried them with me on this subject. So far from their being embittered toward
us on account of their former enslavement, I have reasoned with them, and have had
them agree with me en masse iipon this point: that the southern white man was not
responsible for the enslavement of the negro ; that the negro was not brought to the

South by any act of the southern white man ; that he was imposed upon us, as in tlio

case of Virginia, in the teeth of the southeru man's protest. And I have said to them,
" Wheu our money had been paid for you and your ancestors, the act of these northern
people was to take you away from us without returning to us our money." I have
illustrated the matter to them in a homely way, by asking them whether it would be
right that a horse they had bought, shoulil, while he was well treated antl serving them
faithfnllj^, be taken away from them. That illustration, together with the point that

we Avere not responsible for the introduction of the negro among us, was sufficient to

satisfy the negroes with whom I talked. They had sense enough to see the force of my
argument, and they see it now.

Question. Do you think that thought made them happy during their condition of

slavery ?

Answer. Xot at all. They did not think anything about it. They were happy
bec;iuse they v.ere treated kindly ; and I only meant to show that the negro uevtr
harbored the ill-will which it has l)een supposed he Avould naturally feel toward those

who held hinj in shivery. If the negroes while slaves were whipped and cuh'ed, fed on
cotton seed, and neglected and abused in every way, why did tiiey not kill our families

during the war, or when the Fed<'ral armies were marching through our midst, why did

They not follow those armies? We never had any apprehension from the conduct of

The negroes until unscrupulous men came among them and tried to stir up strife. But
Jor such men we never would have had any trouble with the negro, and would not
liave any now. We can get along forever with the negro, loving him, and having him
love us, if you will just take away thes(! " carpet-baggers."

Question. Aiti you willing to swear that if the negroes difi'er from you in politics, if

they take strong republican grounds in opposition to the democrats, you can get along
peaceably with them in Georgia ?

Answer. I am willing to swear until I am gray that the negroes and the white people
can live together iu Georgia peaceably and happily if they are not interfered with.

Question. In spite of political ditiereuces, such as divide the republican and the dem-
ocratic i)arty ?

Answer. The political diiferences would not exist under the circumstances which I

suppose. The negroes would be largely democratic if you would let them alone. I

have spoken from the same platform as republican speakers to the negro i)opulation
;

I have said to them, " The tobacco you chew, the food you eat, is taxed just as much
in proportion as mine is taxed." Not ten days ago a negro who voted against me for
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goveruor, said to nie in Atlanta, "I voted against you for governor; but I am now
begiuning to liave some, property' in the State ; I have bought a little liouse ; and I am
now going to vote ^vitl^ the people that have the property." That is the feeling in the
State. The negroes arc getting to feel that their labor is a part of the property of the
State. I do know that the people of Georgia will vote the negro population whenever
we are left to ourselves.

Qtfcsiion. Is it not your ground that if all the white men who arc rejuiblicans were
driven away, and if the negroes would all agree jiolitically with the democrats, you
could have yieaee in Georgia ?

Answer. We certainly can if the negroes vote the democratic ticket, and we can if

they vote the republican ticket. I venture to saj' that on my plantation there were
not at the last election three of the fifty negroes who voted the democratic ticket; yet
I could go there and sleep on that plantation, with no white person there but myself.
They would gather around me and talk until 12 o'clock at night if I would stay up
with them.

Question. Does that induce you to believe that they would vote the democratic ticket ?

JnsH-er. No, sir; I think they would vote that ticket as the effect of the arguments
which have been used upon them.

Question. Yon said something about the negroes not being subjected to anything like

terrorism. Have you not heard of a great many outrages iu the last election, which to

a great extent prevented negroes from voting ?

Jnsht)'. No, sir. I do not know that such cases haA'C not occurred, but I say I have
never heard of any.

Question. I would like to call your attention to a few facts. Did you ever know of a
place called Appling Court-House, Columbia County?
Answer. Yes, sir.

(Question. Did you ever hear of any white democrats there, with knives and other
weapons, driving away negroes from the iiolls when they were attempting to vote at

the last election f

^l)/.SH'cr. I never heard of it ; it may have occurred.
Question. You were running for governor at that time ?

Answer. No, sir; not at the last election.

Question. When did you run for governor ?

Answer. When Governor Bullock was elected, two years ago.
Question. Did you never hear of any colored men being run away from the polls at

that place by the use of dogs ?

Ansicer. No, sir. I reckon that never occurred ; I never heard of it. The location is

in General Wright's neighborhood, a long way from Atlanta. It may have occurred
;

I do not know.
Question. Are you acquainted in Burke County?
Answer. Only very slightly ; that is still further off.

Question. Do you know whether any negroes were run off from the polls iu Burke
County at the last election ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; I do not know that I ever heard of any.
(Question. You never heard that more than twenty-live negroes iu one gang were run

off and not allowed to vote ?

Answer. No, sir; I never heard of it.

Question. Did you ever hear that the republicans were intimidated so that on the
second day of that election a large number of them staid away from the polls ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Or after the second day?
Answer. No, sir ; I never heard the particulars about the election in that portion of

the State.

Question. Did you ever hear of men being shot at the election in Columbia County f

Answer. No, sir.

(Juestiou. Y(m did not hear of negroes being intimidated by shots lired at them atth«
court-house, and driven away from the election ?

Anstver. I never heard of it ; it may have occurred.
Question. Did you ever hear of white men beating colored men at that election, iu

Colundiia County ?

Answer. I do not think I ever did. I have heard geucral rumors about disturbances
in that part of the State. I do not know whether they were at the election or some
other time.

Question. Did you ever hear of a crowd getting around the polls at that election iu

Columbia County so that the republicans could not get up to vote?
Answer. I never heard anything about the election there, in any shape or form.
Question. Y'ou have heard of Sparta, Hancock Couuty ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear anything about disturbances at elections there ?

Aiistvcr. Not at elections; I have heard of disturbances.
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Question. At the last electiou ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear of officers of the election beiug arrested and taken away
from the polls, and not allowed to hold an election ?

Avsivei: Yes, sir ; I heard something of that. They were arrested, I believe, at the

instance of Mr. Stephens, and were tried, I think.

Question. Did you hear'that some fifteen hundred colored republicans were not allowed

to vote at that election ?

Ansiver. No, sir; I did not hear it.

Question. Did you hear that the democrats were armed there with more than one hun-
dred guns, and intimidated the negroes ?

Ans}uei: No, sir; I did not hear anything about the matter, except what I have
stated—that Judge Stephens had the managers of the election arrested for fiaud. That
is all I ever heard about it.

Question. Did you hear that they were not allowed to go back and hold the election,

but were taken away ?

Ausicer. No, sir ; I never heard anything about that.

Question. Did you ever hear of a place called Louisville, Jefferson County ?

Ansivei: Yes, sir.

Question. Did you hear of any disturbances at the election there, by which men in

large numbers were not allowed to vote ?

Ansiver. No, sir; and I do not believe it, either.

Question. Would you believe it upon the sworn evidence of witnesses ?

Ansiver. It would depend upou what sort of witnesses they were ; if they were reliable

men I would believe it.

Question. If they were black men would you believe it?

Answer. Some black men I would believe and some I would not.

Question. What is the presumption in regard to black men telling the truth or not ?

Answer. The presumption is that if a black man is not interested in any way in the
matter in question, he will tell the truth.

Question. Is it the presumption that if he is interested he will swear to a lie?

Ansiver. No; I do not know that that presumption prevails at all; I would believe

moie readily a white man than a negro, if the white man were the more intelligent;

but I would believe an intelligent negro, of good character, more readily than I would
a white uuiii who bore a bad character. The weight of testimony depends altogether on
the character of the individual testifying. I think, as a rule, negroes are less scrupulous

in giving testimony, because they are more ignorant; I do not think they are worse as

a class than anybody else.

Question. Areyou acquainted in Washington, Wilkes County ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

QueMion. Did you hear of a riot which occurred there immediately before th« election,

and of intimidation of negroes so that they were in large numbers prevented from
voting ?

Answer. No, sir.

QueMion. Did you hear that they were prevented in any number from voting ?

Answer. No, sir ; the impression I had in regard to Wilkes was that the negroes did
vote, and voted the democratic ticket ; I think that Wilkes County polled as heavy a
vote at that election as usual.

Question. Did you never hear that a large number of negroes were intimidated from
voting the republican ticket ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you not hear that there was a man killed there and another wounded?
Answer. No, sir; I never heard of anything of the sort.

Question. You have not heard of a man by the name of Harris being killed, and two
men, whose names were Eatlift'e and Washington, being wounded, at the depot a day or

two before the election ?

Answer. No, sir ; it is probable it may have occurred without my knowledge ; I never
heard anything about it. As I said a while ago, I have been, since the election for gov-
ernor, a good deal out of the State. In addition to what occurred within my own knowl-
edge, I have merely the general impression that the election was very fair ; I think
Governor Bullock stated that it was as fair an election as ever occurred in Georgia.

Question. Do you or do you not say that the colored people ot Georgia are capable of
self-government, and ou^ht to have the right of suffrage ?

Answer. Well, sir, I would not take away the right of suffrage from them ; if I had
my way, I would favor a qualified sufi'rage for the negro.

Question. Would you allow those ignorant negroes on the coast to vote?
Answer. No, sir ; I would nut.

Question. How many would you exclude; what sort of a test would you apply?
Ansiver. I would have a test of some sort as to intelligence.

Question. What test would you ajtply to them 'i

22 G
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Ansioer. 1 would not require them to read ; but I would require as a test a certain
amount of intelligence ; I hardly know how I would get at a standard ; I have never
thought on that subject.

Question. Yon have been testifying to-day in relation to the ignorance of those coast
negroes.

Ansucr. I say very emphatically that I would exclude those people.
Question. Yon could not exclude them by a geographical line ? '

J nswer. No, sir.

Question. What test would you applj^ ?

Ansiver. I would require them to have a certain amount of intelligence, which should
be decided in some way ; I would not favor reading as a test, because if you required
that, yon would exclude nearly all the negroes of Georgia, and a great many white men.

Question. Would you favor a property qualification ?

Ansiver. No, sir; I do not think I would ; but I would test their intelligence in some
way or other ; there might be an examining board, or something of that kind.

Question. Is there any better test of intelligence than reading and writing?
Ansiccr. No, sir; and I would very certainly bring them up to that position in time,

but I would not require reading and writing as a qualilication at present. Indeed, I
do not know that I would vote at present to change the election law in Georgia at all.

When I speak of requiring some sort of qualification, I mean I would have it take efiect

some time in the future. I have never thought until this mornihg as to what kind of

a test should be required, and therefore I am not prepared to give a precise answer ou
that point ; but I can say that I would not vote to disfranchise the negroes in Georgia
as a class.

Question. You seemed a while ago to have made up your mind that it was very bad
policy to allow those ignorant negroes to vote.

Answer. No, sir ; when I was speaking of those negroes on the coast I w\a8 not think-

ing of that ; I was simply showing the danger which might arise by allowing such a set

of people to be deluded and incited to mischief. My testimony ou that point had no
reference to voting at all.

Question. Do you or do you not regard the admission of those negroes to suffrage as

a good thing, and one proper to bo done?
Answer. Well, sir, I would not have permitted them to vote if I had had the say-so

about it ; I would have opposed it. I would not, however, exclude them now that
they have got the right.

^ues/ioH."Would you apply the same test to white men as to negroes ?

Anstoer. I w^ould have any law of Georgia on this subject apply equally to both races.

My general impression—this is only a theory of my own—is that voting is too general
in this entire country. That is my conviction ; I never expect, however, to advocate
any law to carry out this general idea.

Question. What qualification would yon require ?

Answer. I do not know; I have not thought particularly about the question; but I

think that republican government would be safer with fewer voters. I have that gen-

eral idea, that it would be better to do something—I do not know what. It would
require a great deal of thought and deliberation to determine that question.

Question. You said something about jurors. Do you say that, as a general rule, whites

and blacks serve together ou juries in Georgia ?

Ansiver. O, yes, sir.

Question. Do you know that to be a fact?

Answer. I have seen blacks and whites on juries together.

Question. How often?

Answer. I have never seen any juries often.

Question. Where did you ever see a black man on a jury ?

Aiiswer. I think I have seen them on juries in Atlanta.

Question. Are you sure of it ?

Anstver. No, sir ; I am not.

Question. Do you not know it is the general practice in Georgia not to imt colored

men on juries, on the ground that they do not come up to the test of intelligence and
capacity required by the law ?

"

Answer. I do not know what is the general practice there; I have v^ry little knowl-

edge on that point, because I do not now practice law, and have not for ten or fifteen

years.

Question. You said something about rapes having been committed upon white women
by negroes. Do you mean to say that there are a large number of such rapes?

Answer. 0, no, sir ; but one case of rape by a negro uj)on a white woman was enough
to alarm the; whole people of the State.

Qurslion. Did you ever hear how the man was punished who committed that rape oi

which you spoke ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you never hear that he was caught and burned alive ?
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Anmcer. No, sir ; I cannot even put my finger on the specific case. I was speaking
simply of the general feeling in the State ; I was accounting for the feeling of insecurity
which we had

;
I was giving the impressions which were upon the minds of our people.

I was not at that time trying to give specific facts.

Question. Eid I understand you as saying that republicanism in Georgia consisfu in
dishonesty, the creation of disturbance, and the commission of villainies of every sort?
Answer. I did not say that ; I said these "carpet-baggers" did that.
Question. Are the " carpet-baggers" alone guilty of dishouesty and villainy and polit-

ical scoundrelism ?

Answer. O, no ; I expect there are a great many thieves belonging to the democrats.
I spoke of the general administration as one of robbery.

Question. You limit your testimony to that statement? Yon do not say that repub-
licanism in Georgiameaus*dishonesty, the creation of disturbances, and the perpetration

' of villainy? '

Answer. I said that the "caiiiet-baggers" created disturbances in Georgia, but I said
at the same time that there were some republicans in Georgia who opposed that as
much as anybody.

Question. What disturbances have the " carjiet-baggers " ever created ?

Answer. They arrayed the two races against each other ; the efiect of their teachino-s
did that.

Question. Do you believe that the negroes would not have voted the republican ticket
but for those men ?

Answer. I do.

Que.s{ion. Do you say that they were so ignorant as not to know who had liberated
them ?

Answer. I say that when the white men returned home from the army and told them
that they were free—that while they had not wanted them to be free, they would sus-
tain them in their freedom—the negroes believed them to be honest, because they had
never found them anything else.

Question. Did not the negroes know that they were free before the white men came
back from the army after the surrender and told them of their freedom ?

Ansim: A large number did not, and hardly knew it when they were told.
Question. Do you suppose there are any of them there that do not know it yet?
Answer. No, sir ; I suppose that every negro child in America knows now that he is

free, if he is old enougli to know anything.
Question. You think, then, they did not find it out for certain until you told them ?
Ansiver. A great many did not.
Question. What proportiou do you think found it out?

. Answer. I should suppose probably a third of the negroes in the State—it may be
not that mauy.

Question. Do you not know it to be a fact that ninety-nine out of every hundred of
the negroes in this country are, in political feelings and principles, essentially republi-
cans, and will never, under present circumstances, knowingly or willingly vote the
democratic ticket ?

Answer. No, sir; I believe that exactly the reverse is true. The carpet-bag"-ers told'
them that if the democrats got in power they would put the negroes back into^lavery •

that is one way in which disturbance has beet created. They told them, on the other
hand, that if the republicans were put in power, they would give them forty acres of
laud.

Question. Did many of them believe that ?

Answer. Lots of them believed it.

Question. Did you ever hear any carpet-bagger say that ?

Ansioer. No, sir
; but the uegroes have said that they did tell them that. Four hun-

dred out of every five hundred negroes will tell you that they were promised something
of that sort.

^ r ^

Quesfion. Do you think that the belief in that promise still retains the colored men
in the republican ranks ?

Ansim: No, sir
;
I think that the bitterness inculcated by the carpet-baggers retains

them. ' -I oo

Question. Did that promise create any bitterness against the democrats ?
Answer. Certainly it did.
Question. Would it not be natural for the negroes to be bitter against the men who

made that promise and failed to keep it ?

Ansicer. I say that is one reason why we are now voting the negroes in Georgia.
They are now falhng away rapidly from the republicans on account of violated prom-
ises.

'

'Question. How many have yoii voted?
_
Answer. We have voted a great many ; in some counties we have voted a lar^e ma-

jority ot them. In Houston, where I think there are twenty-three hundred neoroes,
we voted, I believe, nearly two thousand of them when I was a candidate.

"
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Question. How many of them were compelled to vote the democratic ticket, by iu-

timidation ?

Ansivcr. None, I think. They were x)urchase(l by bacon and snch things as that.

Question. They were hired to vote the democratic ticket 1

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; a great many of thcui wore hired, if you call that hiring. I am
speaking of the election when I was a candidate.

Question. Do you think that most of the negroes can be hired to vote the democratic
ticket ?

Answer. A great many of them can be hired ; and I know a great many white men
who can be bought in the same way.

Question. Do yon not think it is easier to buy up black men than white men to vote
he democratic ticket ?

Ansiver. O, yes ; I do. It is much easier to buy up an ignorant man than an intelli-

gent man. I do not think the intelligent negro is more easily bought than the white
man.

Question. You stated that the alienation between the whites and the negroes baa
been increased since the war. I want to know in what respect it has been increased?

Ansiver. I told you it was increased by these men of whom I spoke.
Question. How ?

Answer. By telling the negroes that the democrats wanted to put them back into.'

slavery. 'J'hese carpet-baggers would say to the negroes, " We freed you in spite ofthe
armies and power of these southern men, who, if they get you in their power again,
will iiut you back into slavery." That is one way in which it was done. Again, the
negroes would be talked to in this way :

" Here is a man living in a fine bouse ; he has
large tracts of land

;
you have worked for him

;
your sweat has given him this prop-

erty."
Question. Do you not think that the negroes understood very well that if the south-

ern confederacy had succeeded they would have been kept in slavery °l

Ansiver. There is no doubt about that ; we tell them that every day. I have told
them that a hundred times on the stump.

Question. And they believed that you were in favor of keeping them in slavery ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; luit I have told them at the same time, " Now that you are free, I

will defend you in your frec^dom as long as anybody." I say that to-day the people of
Georgia would not vote the negro back into slavery, even if the United States Govern-
ment were not in existence.

Question. I )o the negroes feel grateful to the white democrats in that country for

freeing them ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; they do not ; but they feel grateful for the kindness that was shown
them before they were free, and the kindness which lias been shown them since. I

venture to say that according to the amount of property in the comnmuity the negroes
can raise more money in Georgia to build a school-house or a church than they can
anywhere else in this country.

Question. Have you good churches for negroes ?

Ansiver. A great many.
Question. How many negro churches are there in Atlanta?
Answer. A number of them—three or four, I think. Each denomination, probably,

has a church. •
Question. What is the size of these churches ?

Answer. They are about as large as any other churches. They are not so fine, of
course, as the white churches.

Question. About how much would the best negro churches cost?
Ansiver. I have no idea ; I suppose from eight hundred to two thousand dollars,

though that is only a matter of judgment. I am not a builder, and I cannot estimate
Much things. But they are very comfortable houses. I helped to build one in Decatur;
I subscribed to it just before I left ; I subscribed first to pay I'or the land. I live at the
little town of Decatur, just outside of Atlanta ; and I believe the white people of
that settlement paid for the land entirely. I was then applied to for a subscription
for the church building, to which I and almost everybody else in that community con-
tributed.

Question. You testified in relation to a certain organization which you said was for

the purpose of self-defense. Did you or did you not intend to say that, in the absence
of troops, whole neigliborhoods might have been slaughtered?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; it could have been done, I think.
Question. What neighborhood?
Ansiver. Anywhere in the negro belt of Georgia.
Question. Do you think that was a possibility in view of the disposition evinced by

the negroes ?

Ansiver. It was possible if they had the disposition ; I am talking about the physical
possibility.

Question. Are you willing to swear that the negroes in any portion of Georgia were

\
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so ruthless and cruel that they would have risen up and slaughtered whole ueighbor-

hoods of white people ?

Answer. I know, as I have stated again and as'.ain, that they would not do anything

of the kind if they were not instigated by bad white people. But there was uo telling

what an ignorant population could bo made to do by men who were perfectly unscru-

pulous. That was the apprehension.
Question. Please sx^ecify the neighborhoods iu Georgia where the negroes could have

been so instigated by white men.
Answn: I would say the whole of Southwest Georgia, to begin with—every county

from Macon down.
Qiicslioii. What class of barbarities could they have been made to perpetrate at the

instigation of the carpet-baggei's ?

Answer. I do not think they could be made to perpetrate any now, for I think they
have grown into better sense.

Question i You said that they could have been, at some time.

Answer. I said the apprehension was that they might be instigated to this thing. I

never believed tJiat the negro, left to himself, had auy disposition of that sort. On the
contrary, I have stated from the beginning to the end of my testimony, and I will

state it now again, that the negro iu Georgia, if left to himself, would have had the
most kindly feelings toward his old master, from the day he was emancipated to the
present time. And that kind feeling will continue forever, if these bad men are re-

moved from them.
Question. I understood you to give it as your opinion that whole neighborhoods

might have been slaughtered but for the troops.

Answer. I say still that it was a physical possibility ; and it was a moral possibility,

in view of the instigations of these bad men ; and nothing in the world but the kindly
feeling these negroes entertained for their old masters prevented that sort of thing.

If the sort of teachings given to these iieople in Georgia had been carried out to their

legitimate results, the negroes would have slaughtered whole neighborhoods.
Question. What prevented these teachings from being carried out to their legitimate

results ?

Answer. The kindly relations that existed between the two races, and the forbearance
of the white men.

Question. In view of what you have just said, are you willing to say that there was
auy reasonable ground for apprehension on the part of the white people ?

Amncer. I say there was reasonable ground for apprehension. There is reasonable
ground lor apprehension in one of these factories at the North, if a man goes there
who has been instrumental in doing avast deal of good to a poor class of jjeople, and
if he uudertakes to use for improper purposes his influence over them, aud to instigate

them to acts of violence by citing the fact that they have been badly treated. In that
way people of that class may be excited to do a vast deal of harm to any neighbor-
hood ; and I do not think any sensible man would ever take auy other view.

Question. Yon say that uxjon that ax)X)reheusiou of danger this organization was
founded ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I do.

Question. In what year was it founded ?

Answer. I do not know ; I think it was in 1867 or 1863, or along there ; it may have
been iu 1866.

Question. Did I understand you to say that it prevailed over the whole State ?

Answer. No, sir ; I supjiosed it did ; I did not know whether it did or not.

Question. What office did you hold in it, if any ?

Ansicer. I did not hold any otlice. I was spoken to in regai'd to holding an office,

but I never held any. The organization never was perfected, as I have already stated.

Qnesiion. In regard to holding what office were you spoken to ?

Answer. I do not kirow that it is necessary to answer that question unless you insist

upon it.

Question. I insist upon an answer.
Answer. I was sjiokeu to as the chief of the State. I said very emphatically that

upon that line I could be called on if it was necessary. But the organization never
wan iierfected, and I never heard anything more about it after that time.

_ Qaestion. How did that organization propose to punish offenders ?

Answer. I never heard anything about any jmnishment at all.

Question. What did you i^roxiose to do—to act on the defensive ?

Ansiver. Do you mean iu resisting aggression?
Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. Entirely so.

Q'ueilion. Suppose the T)lack men had committed an outrage on the white people,
what did you propose to do ?

Answer. We had uo programme or definite line of policy, esce[>t for defense.
' Question. Did you not j)ropose to do something with offenders or violators of law ?
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Ansiver. It was not with iudividuals we were dealiDg- ; what wc appreheuded was a

general uprising of the negroes, and a collision of the two races. We had no pro-

g!i-ainnie whatever with refereDce to individuals. I never heard of any such thing.

Question. Do you know of any men who organized in hands of any numher ?

Anstver. No, sir ; I do not ; I never made any inquiry. The occasion I have mentioned

is the only time I was ever approached on the subject. I never heard anything more
about it liutil I talked with General Colquitte the other day.

Qitvution. Have you given all the names you can in connection with this organization ?

Answer. I have given the names of all those who know anything al>out it, I think.

Question. I would like to have the names of some other persons in different counties.

Do you know whether Mr. Toombs belongs to it ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. Mr. Stephens ?

Aiwit^er. I do not think so.

Question. Mr. Du Bose ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. Do you know whether Judge Wright belongs to it?

Answer. I do not know ; I suppose he would tell you. I never heard of him iu con-

nection with it. I do not know that General Colquitte belongs to it ; but I inferred

froui the conversation I had with him that he knew just about what I knew in regard

to it. That was the reason why I gave you his name.
Question. When you surrendered, did you not think you had been guilty of rebellion

and treason ?

Answer. No, sir ; I never had any such idea.

Question. Did you not think that you were amenable to the law ?

Answer. No, sir; not a bit of it.

Question. As a matter of fact, did not the people of the South understand that they

had been guilty of rebellion and treason, and were amenable to the law ?

Ansivcr. No, sir.

Question. That was not the impression on the public mind of the South?
Ansiver. Not a bit of it. I do not believe there was an iutelligent man in the South

who believed then, or believes to-day, that he was guilty of treason, or anything that

smacked of treason.

Question. Do you say they had no apprehension of being punished ?

Answer. Not until after the programme was set up here to punish them.
Question. As a fact, do you not think that the people down there regarded their im-

munity from trial and punishment, the restoration of their property, and their protec-

tion under the law, as manifestations of great clemency on the part of the Government
to men who had been lighting four years to destroy it ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; T do not think so. As I said a while ago, there was a feeling of relief

when it was decided that the Government would not proceed as was indicated at one

time by President Johnson. But I want to say that the people of the South, while

they acquiesced entirely in the abolition of slavery, and while they would not restore

:t to-day—(not one man iu a hundred, or live hundred, or a thousand, as I believe, would
vote for its restoration)—while that is true, they have felt that there was a marked
distiuction between the position of this Goverumeut in freeing the negroes and turning

them loose upon the country and the position of Napoleon Bonaparte when he refused

to tmn loose the serfs of Russia in order to gain conquest. They thought, if the negroes

were to be free, it would have been better to have adopted a programme of gradual

emancipation. In that they would have acquiesced readilj^.

Question. You said somethiug about the treatment extended to the rebel soldiers at

Appomattox. As a fact, was there not surprise on their part that they were treated so

well by our forces ?

Answer. O, yes^ sir ; I stated that.

Question. Had there not beeu a general impression through the South that these

northern soldiers were a cruel, ruthless, and unprincipled set of fellows, who would
perpetrate all sorts of outrages ?

Ansiver. I do not think there was any such impression with regard to the soldiery as a

class ; there Avas a feeling that there were men who followed the army, and who were

not by any means the highest type of soldiers, who would be guilty of all sorts of

violence. Those were the men in regard to whom apprehension was felt. But the

southern people never apprehended any great violence at the hands of the army.
Question. In view of all these facts, are you not ready to say to-day that there was

a very serious misapprehension in the minds of the southern jjeople as to the charac-

ter, intentions, and wishes of those who stood by the Union ?

Answer. Misapprehension in what respect?
Question. As to their supposed desire to injure and destroy the i)eople of the South-

Answer. During the continuance of the war there was a feeling of that sort. There
was a vast deal of bitterness ; ami I apprehend it existed on both sides. There camliot
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be a great war without much bitterness on both sides. The misstatements and mis-

apprehensions naturally arising on the part of both armies, create antagonism.

Question. Was there not an agreeable surprise in that respect on the part of the sol-

diers who surrendered '

Ansirer. That fact does not need to be drawn out by cross-examination. I stated

emphatically in my direct testimony that we were agreeably siu-prised.

Question. Was the feeling anything more than that of agreeable surprise ?

Answer. I have said in a dozen public speeches, which are on record, that the course

of the Federal Army toward the confederates was not only magnanimous and gener-

ous, but even deferential.

Question. That being the case, you say as a matter of fact that there was in the con-

ditions of surrender an understanding, either expressed or implied, that the soldiers of

the rebel army should go home, and that they and all the southern people should be
restored at once to all civil and political rights, the; same as if uo war had taken place ?

Answer. We did not hinge our belief on that fact alone.

Question. Were yon deceived by the kind and gentlemanly treatment extended to

you by the Union "soldiers? Were you, by their conduct, led to do anything that you
would not otherwise have done?
Answer. I do not understand the question.

Question. Do you and your people think that the Government has been guilty of per-

fidy and bad faith ?

Ansiver. The Army was not.

Question. Was the Government ?

Answer. I will tell yoii what we think about that. We think that if the soldiers on
both sides had been' allowed to settle this ditticulty, there would be good feeling in

this country to-day. We think it is the men who were not in the army who have in-

stigated the l)ad faith.

Question. On what do you base that belief?

Anstcer. On the measures prosecuted against us since the war—disfranchisement, &c.
Question. What reason have you to believe that the soldiers of the Union do not ap-

prove the measures of reconstruction ?

Answer. 1 think it is possible that many of them do ; but our belief is, that those who
do approve of that sort of thing have been led to take a different course from what
they naturally would ; that their sentiments have been perverted since they left the
army. That is the feeling now in the South. It may be a mistake. The other day, in

a speech at Memphis, Tennessee, when there were on the stand a large nuiubor of con-

federate soldiers, and a number of the first men in the country, I declared that if the
sentiments of the Federal Army had been as potential at home in peace as had been
their arms in war, we would long since have seen the end of this trouble. I believe

that to-day ; and I do not want to believe anything else. I believe that if it had not
been for men who were not in the army at all, we would long since have gotten rid of
this troub]e in the country, and there would have been none of the present bitterness

and alienation.

Question. As a citizen of this free American republic, are you willing to affirm the
proposition that the armies that may have been arrayed against each other in civil

strife should settle all questions of policy arising out of the war; or -do you think
that it is better to settle such questions by legislation ?

An,swer. I am not speaking of the propriety of such a mode of settlement in general

;

I am only illustrating what 1 understand to be the sentiment of the Army as contrasted
with that of the men who were not in the Army.

Question. You make that the basis aud groundwork of this disaffection toward the
Government I

Answer. I do most assuredly ; but I say that if the parties who had the right under
the Constitution to settle these questions had j)ursued the liberal line which was indi-

cated to us at Appomattox Court-House, we would have long since have ceased to

have any trouble, turmoil, or turbulence in this country. That is the conviction of

our people to-day.
Question. Do you believe that if that had been done your people would generally

have joined the republican party or accorded with the action of that party ?

Ansiuer. No, sir ; I do not.

Question. What do you mean, then, by saying that you would have peace and har-
mony ?

Ansicer. I believe that if the South had been restored to the Union, her State gov-
ernments recognized, her people, left enfranchised as they were, we would have had
none of the ill feeling that now exists.

Question. Do you say that, because of those things, these outrages are now perpetrated
upon negroes °i

Answo: No, sir; that matter has nothing to do with the outrages ; I have never said

anything of the sort. I do not know anything about any outrages ; I am talking about
the feeliiig that is entertained.
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Quesiioii. I want to know liow these feelings wliich yon speak of as having been
created are evinced.

Ansuwr. There is no evincing of them ; I am simply talking abont the feelings en-

tertained among our people. They are not evinced at all. Onr people are a law-
a.bidiug people ; and while they maj' not like the way things are going on, they are

not going to try to set them right by violence.

Question. You e]ieak of yonr people as a law-abiding people ; have you heard of any
oatrages in your State by disguised men ?

Ansivcr. I have heard of them ; but I do not know anything about them.
Qtiesfion. Do you believe that they have been committed in large numbers recently?

Ansxcer. I liave no doubt at all that outrages have been conmiitted Ity disguised men
;

I believe the fact as I would believe anything else from piiblic report.

Question. Do you, then, continue to say, as you have said heretofore in your testimony,

that everything is pea(!eable and lovely in Georgia ?

Answer. I say that there are as few disturbances in Georgia as in any State of the
.Union.

Question. Suppose that in a single State there should be within a year as many as

twenty-five cases of outrages perpetrated upon citizens. by disguised men, with no-

body punished for the oltenses, and no legal means taken to punish the offenders

;

woiild you say that such a State would be in a condition of order and quietude ?

A^iswer. I expect there have been live hundred outrages in New York in the same
time.

Question. By disguised men ?

Answer. I do not know whether there have been any disguised men there ; but I

have no doubt that disguised men would be punished as quickly in Georgia as any-
v/here in the woild, if they could be captured. And I do not believe that any such
offences in. our State have gone unpunished by any connivance of our people.

Question. You are swearing to a state of law and order and peace in Georgia
Answer. I am emphatically.
Question. And I call your attention to the proclamation of Governor Bullock, in which

he cites twenty-five cases of some of the most outrageous and diabolical crimes, and
offers rewards for the arrest of the criminals. I want to know whether, in view of
that fact, you are willing to say under oath that there is in Georgia a state of order

and good administration of law f

Answer. In the first place, I do not believe that one-halfof those alleged outrages were
perpetrated ; and of those that w^ere committed I believe a large proportion were per-

petrated by members of Governor Bullock's own party. I state a fact which I believe

a« firmly as I do my own existence, when I say that a very large proportion of the out-

rages committed in Georgia have been committed by that party for the sole purpose of

making a political advertisement.
Question. Do you refer to outrages perpetrated by disguised men ?

Answer. I do. I believe that a large proportion of them have been perpetrated by
disguised men for tlie purpose of making political capital at Washington : I have no
more doubt about it than I have of anything in the world. I know the senti-

ments of my people, and I know that they are as much opposed to any outrages of that

sort as any people in your State or anywhere else. Any man—I do not care who he is,

I do not care how olieusive he or his sentiments may be to our people, or how bit-

terly he may have denounced our people—can travel in every nook and corner in the

State of Georgia with as perfect safety as you can travel from here to New York.
'

Question. On w^hom have these outrages been perpetrated as a general thing ? Have
they not usually been perjierated on colored men f

Answex. In some instances they have. In some cases colored men have perpetrated
them upon colored num.

Question. Have they not been perpetrated upon republicans ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and by republicans too.

Question. In how many instances by republicans ?

Ansicer. I do not know ; I only know of some cases of that kind. I believe that the
case in Colmnl)us was perpetrated by republicans.

Question. Do you believe the same as to any other case ?

Answer. I think that the killing of Adkins was perpetrated by parties who had no
political animosities at all against the man ; I mean nothing of that kind was the mov-
ing cause ; I do not know whether it may not have luid some iniluence in the matter.
But I believe the moving cause of his death was purely a xiersonal matter ; a matter of
general report down there in that neighborhood.

By Mr. Buckley :

Question. You spoke generally of the plantations upon the coast, the negroes there,

and their excessive ignorance. I wish to ask you whether there is any si)ecial cause
lor that excessive iiiuorance ?
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Answer. I think it arises from the fact that they have heen brought up with sccircf ly

any contact with tlie whites, as very few whites lived at all upon those plantations.
Qjiestion. Those rice plantations were regarded as iinhealthy and malarions ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir. As to the peculiar dialect of those negroes, I think it is a remnant
of their old harharism.

Question. And you think it clings to them because they have not had it rubbed off,

as it were, by contact with the whites ?

JnswiT. Yes, sir.

Qiicsiion. Ai-e there any schools in that section of the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they are improving in that respect. One of the first schools in that
section was built with lumber from my mills.

Quesfioii. You spoke of the kindly feeling existing between the races during the war.
What change took place between the relations of the races immediately after the close

of the war, and before the reconstruction acts were passed ?

Anstver. The change was a gradual one. At tirst the old relations did not seem to be~
disturbed. Iii a great many places the oid hands continued to work irpou the planta-
tions, as many do up to this day. When the negroes began to realize the fact of their
freedom, there was a change, a disposition to migrate about, to go from one State to
another. In that way there was a good deal of disturbance of the labor of the country,
but no disturbance of the peace.

Question. They behaved very well for the first year and a half or two years after tl

war?
Answer. Yes, sir ; they behaved first-rate ; their conduct was generally commended

by our people. They did not work very well. There was a disposition to hunt and
use firearms, and all that sort of thing ; but it did not amount to a very great deal.
They have been improving, I think. They have been improving in labor. Certainly
they improved up to the introduction of this element I have been speaking of.

Qucsfton. About what time did that disturbing element appear in its greatest force f

Answer. I think not until the elections came on. I do not think that it manifested
itself until the elections took place for our convention. My recollection is that the
election for the convention took place in 1867, and the meeting of the convention
in 1868.

Question. That was about the time that the disturbing element seemed to exert its

greatest force ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. About what time did the Leagues appear in your State ?

Answer. Prior to that, I think—a little before those first elections. I have no posi-
tive knowledge, mark you, on that subject ; I only give the general impression.

Question. You think, however, that it was after the passage of the reconstruction
act of March 2, 1867 ?

Answer. I reckon it was ; I rather think so. I am not clear on that point.
Question. You think the Leagues disappeared about two years ago ?

Answer. I have not heard auy thing about them since.

Question. About what time did the organization of which you have spoken as designed
for defensive purposes make its appearance ?

Answer. It was subsequent to the appearance of the Leagues, and subsequent to the
beginning of the elections; I think it was in 1868.

Question. What disturbing effect did the expulsion of the negroes from the legislature
have upon the relation of the two races in Georgia ?

Answer. I think it had an injurious effect.

Question. Upon both races?
Answer. Well, I think it made a bad impression on the negroes at the time; but it

has since been explained as being in accordance with the position taken by the leading
republicans in the State. The'question was a constitutional one entirely. I think
its effect was altogether temporary, and did not amount to anything serious.

Question. Do you think that the negroes looked upon that at first as a deprivation of
a right ?

Answer. I think they did.

Question. And therefore it would have a tendency to array them somewhat against
the white element ?

Ansiver. There is no doubt about that.
Question. You have contrasted the policy of the Government in its military action

with the action of Congress in the reconstruction policy. How did your people regard
the reconstruction acts ? Did they look upon them as hostile toward them—as evincing
a disposition on the part of the Government to debase the southern people and deprive
them of tbeir rights?
Answer. Well, I may say, with all candor, that they did construe the fourteenth

amendment as an eftort to humiliate them. That was the impression in the South, and
that was really the cause of more feeling than anything else. They thought it was au
effort to humiliate men who ought to be regarded as honorable.
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Question. I speak more particulaily of the recoustruction policy, which confen-ed
Butl'rageupon the negro. How did your iieople re<^ard that? •

Anstccr. Tiiay were very innch opposed to it. They thought it bad policy to admit
the negroes at once to the exercise of suffrage,

Queiilion. In speaking of the qualifications of voters, you said that if the question
had been left to you, you would not have conferred suftrage upon the blacks at that
time?

Ansica: No, sir.

Question. Would you have made color a disqualification at that time?
Ansicir. I would most certainly. Not ou account of color, but on account of the col-

ored voters' want of qualification.

Question. You would have limited the disqualification to the colored people, or would
you have included the whites ?

Answer. I would have limited it at that time to the colored people, because the whites
were already enfranchised. I would not have disfranchised any of the white race

;

but I would not liave iutroduced the black race at that time to the exercise of suffrage.

Question. What effect had the reconstruction acts upon the negro mind in your
State ?

Ansivei'. I think they inclined the negroes favorably toward the republican party.
Question. TJie negroes looked upon those acts with favor?
Answer. Yes, sir; I think that as a class they did.

Question. And the white people rather looked upon them with disfavor?
Answer. A great many of the negroes did not care a picayune about voting for a

long time.
Question. But in general they looked upon what was known as the Sherman bill with

favor ?

Anstver. Yes, sir; though I do not think they knew much about it.

Question. And the white people looked upon the measure with disfavor ?

Answer. That is true.

Question. Do you not think that right there was a cause of alienation and bad feeling

to some extent between the races ?

Answer. I think that had something to do with it; but I do not think it was com-
parable to the direct efforts of which I have spoken.

Question. Without; that condition of things, do you think the disturbing element of
which you spoke would have had the effect complained of, considering the comparative
fewness of those '•' carpet-baggers" in your State, who, I suppose, did not number more
than a thousand or two thousand ?

Answer. Well, I ought to have said a while ago that I include in this disturbing
element not only the "carpet-baggers," but some of our own people; I ought to have
added that.

Question. In view of the condition of things we have just been considering—the fact

that the white people generally opposed the recoustruction acts, while the colored
people accepted them with favor—do you think it wbuld have been possible for any
small body of northern men. or others, to have created all the disturbance of which
you speak ?

Answer. Not all. I think thej' could have created a great deal of it.

Question. But in view of the action of Congress, you think they had more power to

operate ?

Answer. There is no question about that.

Question. I have uoticiid that in your testimony you seem to attribiite, as others have
done, the largest amount of this disturbing influence to a few men. They must have
been very potent to have created all the disturbance which you attribute to them.

Ansiver. They are.

Question. But you think the necessary condition existed in the acts of the Govern-
ment, which acts you were opposing ?

Answer. Precisely. ' Those men exercised an additional potency from the fact that we
had opposed the emancipation of the slaves, and that they belonged to the party Which
had emancipated them.

Question. Did not the fact that you opposed the voting of the negroes have a great
deal to do with it ?

Answei: O, yes ; a great deal. The distinction I draw is that these efforts consisted,

not in legitimate arguments to convince the judgmeut of the negroes, but such teach-
ings as were calculated to instill into their miuds hatred of the white race. We do not
complain of an appeal to the negroes' sense ; for we have all discussed political ques-
tions witli them throughout the State, in public assemblages. What we complain of
is the styh- of appeal which has been made to the negro, and the evident creation iu

his mind or heart of animosity. We did not oliject to arguments designed to convince
the negro's judgment.

Question. How many men in your State do you think are disqualified from holding
office by the fourteenth amendment ?
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Answer. There is an immense uumber; I cannot make an estimate; I sLould say-

there would be fifteen or twenty thousand—twenty thousand, I reckon ; that is merely
a guess, of course.

Question. Do not the republicans of your State generally favor the removal of disa-

bilities ?

Answer. All of them do, so far as I know ; I do not know of anybody in the State

who opposes such a measure. Without knowing from actual conversation the opin-

ions of leading republicaus in the State, with the exception of a few with whom I have
conversed, (Governor Brown among others,) my impression is that all the member's of
that party are in favor of the removal of disabilities.

Question. You spoke of the receipts of the State road. I wish to inquire whether
those receipts have not beeu diuiinished very much recently by the fact that very im-
portant competing lines have been opened within the last two years 1

Answer. No, sir; I think not.

Question. What would be the effect, upon the State road, of the opening of the road
from Cleveland to Dalton, Eome, and Selma, tapping the other road at Daltou f

Answer. That road has only recently been completed.
Question. It has been in operation nearly a year.

Ansioer. That will reduce the travel on the State road very considerably ; but it will

have very little effect upon the freights, from which are derived the heaviest receipts

of the road. The principal receipts of the road are on freights from the West ; and these
have been exceedingly large during the administration ef the republican party in

Georgia.
Question. But have not your freights to a great extent passed through Atlanta and

down into Alabama ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; but you must recollect that this party has been in power since 1868

;

and the road of which you speak was only comj^leted last year, so that it has had no
effect upon the general receipts of the road, except within the last few mouths.

Question. There has been some testimony in regard to the election at which you were
a candidate. Is it j^our opinion that that was a fair election ?

Answer. No, sir ; 1 do not think it was. I think the election was fairer than the reg-

istration which preceded the election. I think tlie election in the main was as fair as
elections usually are. I do not think any elections are perfectly fair. I never saw an
election where there was not buying of votes. I believe that is done everywhere iu

this country.
Question. Do you think that by a fair count you were really elected by sis or eight

thousand majority ?

Answer. Well, sir, that is a matter of some delicacy with me, and you must pardon
me for not speaking upon it specificallj'. I will say that some votes were changed
after the election returns were made out.

Question. What do you think in regard to the fairness of the count?
Answer. The count was entirely in their hands ; we knew nothing about it.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. As Mr. Buckley has asked you a question iu regard to whether in your
opinion you were fairly elected, I thiuk I must insist that the question be answered.
It seems to me a perfectly proper question.
Answer. Well, in my opinion, I was elected by the fair votes of the State.
Question. By how much majoritj^?

Answer. I thiuk by several thousand.
Question. Do you think that in counting out the votes, you were deprived of six or

eight thousand votes ?

Answe): I think I was deprived of a great many votes before the returns were sent
to Atlanta at all ; I know of a large number of cases where I was deprived of votes iu

that way. There was an effort made to have the thing corrected iu various counties

—

nearly every county of the State ; but nothing could be accomplished. We could not.
get at the votes; the ballot-boxes were entirely in the hands of the other party, and
were kept by them. We had, I believe, evidence from their own managers of the bal-
lot-boxes that numbers of votes were taken out after the election was over and either
changed or destroyed by the managers of the election. I think we had testimony to
that effect iu Savannah. In one case—and I remember an effort was made to have
the thing corrected—a number of votes were changed after the votes were counted,
the returns made out, and I believe sent to Atlanta.

By Mr. Bucklky :

Question. Who made out the returns at the capital ?

Answer. The returns iu the diiierent counties were made out by commissioners in
the counties, and were sent to Mr. Hurlburt, at the capital, who was the general
manipulator of that sort of thing.

Quvston. Do you think Mr. Hurlburt manipulated the returns?



348 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES. ^

Answer. I hope you will not press that qnestiou. I feel free, however, to speak of
the returns from the counties. I was about to mention one particular case (and there
were many similar cases) where the county had gone for me and the other clemocratic
candidates, and the votes were allowed to be changed after they had all been counted,
upon the aflidavit of parties tliat their votes were intended for the other candidate. I

went to the authorities and said, '"I can get fifty thousand votes of that sort very
quickly. If you are going to change the votes actually cast on the strength of at'Ii-

davits taken afterward, I can go and buy up any number of votes all over the coun-
try."

Question. Did you not think it worth while to contest the result of the election ?

Ansivei: I did not, because (I hardly expect people to believe me when I say so) I did
not want the office, though I did contest the matter to some little extent. I did not
think the effort would have amounted to anything, nor did our people think so.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Reference has been made in your testimony to the fact of the legislature of
Georgia being twice manipulated, once, as it is charged, by the democrats in excluding
the negroes, and the second time by General Terry. I desire to ask you whether or
not mauy of the leading republican Jawj-ers of the State did not construe your code to
exclude the colored mau from oiifice ?

Answer. The question depended upon the provision of the constitution in adopting
the code ; both were construed in this matter ; and Governor Brown, who is now the
chief justice of Georgia, and who is considered one of the best lawyers we ever had,
took the position emphatically all over the State that the negroes could not hold
office ; and I believe that the best lawyers of his party agreed wivh him.

By Mr. Buckley :

Question. Was that qirestion submitted to him and his court ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was it not subsequently submitted ?

Ansiver. I believe it was; but Governor Brown in his canvass, which was prior to

any action of the legislature, and prior to any judicial decision, took that ground.

By Mr. Beck :

Question. Do you remember whether or not some of the republicans in the legislature

agreed with the democrats iu the view that negroes were not eligible to hold office, and
80 voted ?

Answer. O, yes.

Question. Some of the leading republican members construed the law in that way ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you remember that the legislature of Georgia passed, immediately after

the decision oft hat question, the following resolution ?

"Whereas it is believed that a judicial decision of the question of the colored man's
right to hold office in Georgia under the constitution now ia force would restore the
State to her proper position in the Union, and give quiet throughout the State ; and
whereas said question is one which the courts of the State can properly take cogni-

zance of; and whereas we, the representatives of the peo^ile of Georgia, are unwilling
that any effort should be spared on our part to bring about a state of peace and hai>-

piness to the people and a settlement of that important question,
" Be it therefore resolved hi/ the senate and houst of representatives of Georgia in genei'al

assembly convened, That a case, involving the right of the colored man to hold office,

shall, as soon as the same can be properly brought before the supreme court of the
State, be heard and determined by said court ; and we believe that the people of the
State will, as they have heretofore always done, in good faith abide the decision of the
highest judicial tribunal of the State whenever so declared."

Answer. That resolution was introduced by a democratic member and passed by the
democrats.

Question. Was it not vetoed by Governor Bullock ?

Answer. It was vetoed by the governor.
Question. Was it not also shown there that General Grant himself had instructed Mr.

Tift, then a member of Congress from Georgia, to send the following dispatch ?

" In conversation with General Grant, I learn that he thinks it will be best to pass a
joint resolution, referring the right of colored citizens to hold office to the courts, and
adjourn."

Answer. That telegram from Mr. Tift was shown me in Atlanta.
Question. Was it not in part in General Grant's haudwriting?
Ansive^: I do not know about that. I believe I was one of the parties it was sent to.

Question. When the question was tried by the supremo court, the majority of the
court, two out of three, decided that the negroes were entitled to hold office ?

Answe}-. Yes, sir.



GEORGIA. 349

Quesiion. Had uot your governor power to call the legislature together at any time
after that decision, in order that the colored members might take their seats ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Quesiion. And did he not decline to do so ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

QueMon. He applied to Congress instead, for more reconstruction ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Quesiion. And there your difficulties began in regard to General Terry ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You speak of the complaints and disaffection which have grown out of the
acts of the Government of the United States

;
you mean the Government as adiwin-

istered by the republican party ?

Ansiver. That is what I mean ; I mean the administration.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Pool:)

Question. Did your supreme court ever decide finally that colored men were entitled
to hold office ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that decision was made, two judges affirming the right of the col-

ored man, and one denying it. So that it was a debatable question ; there is no doubt
about that. It was a question upon whicli political parties were not arrayed. In
each party there were diiiereut opinions on the subject. This decision of the court
was the result of an honest effort to obtain an authoritative construction of the law.

Question. The question is settled now ?

Answer. O, yes, sir; there is no longer any question about it, and no disturbance.
The democrats themselves introduced into the legislature the resolution to bring the
question before the supreme court, and passed that resolution, which was after st ai'd

vetoed by the governor.
Questio7i. What was Governor Bullock's majority ?

Answer. I think it was seven or eight thousand.
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M. V. BRAND sworn aud esamiued.

By the Chairman, (Mr. Maynard:)
Question. Will you please state your age, nativity, residence, and occupation ?

Answer. 1 am about tliirty-lbur years of age ; I was born in Walton County, in this
State, and now live in Gwinnett County, and I am the sheriff of that county.

Question. How long have you been sheriff of Gwinnett County ?

Answer. I was elected sheriff about the 24th of last December; my commission doca
not date back quite that far. I was deputy sheriff for a year before that time.

Question. State whether you kuow of any acts of lawlessness or violence attributed
to organizations or bauds of disguised men.

Answer. I supjiose you want from me a statement of what I have seen myself; I can
not state that 1 know any at all, of my own knowledge.

Question. Do you know of any injury or mischief being done that is attributed to
such an organization ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I know of some mistreating of peoide, and such as that. We lost
our court-house on the night of tlie lOfcli of September last, I think, and all our records
were burned up. There was a party of men there about 11 o'clock at night. I heard
them when they started off' on horseback, shooting their iiistols. I live not far from
the court-house. And in a few minutes after they started oft' the court-house was on
fire, and of course we supposed that some of that party must have set it on fire. We
do not kuow these things, though ; we have never run it down to that poiut.

Question. You say the court-house was burned ?

Answer. Yes, sir; the court-house aud all the records were burned iip, except a few
old books of the ordinary. Wo did not get a book or paper out of the clerk's office ; not
a i^aper.

Question. How many persons were there ?

Answm: On horseback?
Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. There were tracks of six horses, that we saw.
Question. Have any efforts been made to ferret out the perpetrators?
Answer. Very little. About the time the court-house was burued down I summoned

a party of men to be ready at daylight to go with me and follow these men. The court
was to sit that morning, and my object in starting early was to get upon the tracks of
these men before they were obliterated by people coming to town. I could get hnt
one man to go with me. I arrested some of tl^e parties afterwards, hut they were
turned loose on halx'as corpus. They could not tell whether they were guilty or not.
About the end of the tracks I found three men and their horses. I could not track
them a7iy farther than that. Before that they had split ; three took the left-hand road,
and three the right-hand ; aud 1 kept on the' right-hand track. I got a party of men
to go round after the others, and they said they tracked them awhile and got back into
the same road where I was. I fonnd three men and three horses. They looked as if

they had been ridden pretty hard, for one of the shoes of the horses was off", and there
were frash holes in the hoof. The men were badly scared, so they acknowledged to me;
they said tlicy had been playing cards, and thought I was after them for that crime.

Question. Did you find any disguises?
Answer. No, sir; I did not hunt for any that morning. I had but one man with me,

aud there were three of these men, and a neighbor with them, who made four. I did
not make any search because I was not strong enough.

Question. Did you ever find any disguises f

Answer. Only some horse-covers; and I did not find Ihem myself. They were at Mr.
Spencer's house the same night they burned the court-house, and ordered him to come
out of doors, but he would not go. That night v.heu they split off they went off' in a
hurry, and he found two covers in the morning. And a man of the name of Fowler,
wlu) lives on tlie road going by Mr. Spencer's, found a horse-cover.

Question. What was the character of those covers?
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Answer. Nothing but wliito homespun, just made sort of to fit tbe horse.
Question. You spoke of persons having been mistreated or injured ?

Answer. Yes, sir; a great many in our county, that is, bhu'k people, not many whites.
I am engaged also in selling some groceries, and I liave a clerk at my house. 1 reckon
I had better tell yon that, so that you can understand how it is. There were some parties
in our town indicted for card-jjlaying, and my clerk and a man by the name of Bates,
and a man of the name of Williams, were witnesses against them. They all got letters,

signed by this Klan, ordering tliem -to leave the State at once, or they would meet with
severe consequences. I forget the name the letters were signed by; I think, though,
it was "Fourth division." They have their divisions, and these folks down there belon;?
to the fourth division.

Question. How long has this organization, known as the Ku-Klux, been reputed to
be in existence in your region or neighborhood f

Answer. Well, sir, last year; and I reckon there was a little of it done the year
before ; the most of it has been done last year and this year ; the worst ]iart of it this
year. They get worse all the time, get stronger. I had a man summoned here yester-
day, but he was dismissed by the district attorney, through a mistake, I reckon. The
reason I sumuioued him is this: they have a way of swearing their members in ; they
have two graves, or two caves, or sometiiing of that kind, and in those caves they
have coffins—regular coffins. They meet there on the river, on a hilly place ; there are
two of these places, about six miles apart ; one of them is just about on the line of
the county, whether in Walton County or Gwinnett County I do not know. One is in
Gwinnett County, I know, and you can tell from the marks of the horses about there
that a great many meet there at night. The opinion of the people is, that a great
many are sworn in over these coffins. I had a juau summoned here who went aqd
examined the caves, and the coffins, and who saw them himself; I have never seen
them myself; he was dismissed by mistake, I suppose. A great many others have
done the same thing as well as he; they had him here and intended to use him as a
witness before this committee.

Question. You spoke of their growing worse of late. What do you mean by that ?

Answer. They get more of them ; they ride more. About the time our court-house
was burned we heard of their riding almost every night in the week, going over the
county and mistreating people, some whites.

Question. How, mistreating people "?

Answer. Whipping them.
Question. How many persons have been whipped ?

Answer. I cannot tell you how manj^ ; several black ones. I do not know whether
any wliites have been whipped or not; a great many have been threatened, have re-
ceived notices to leave. I do not remember right now if any whites in our county have
been mistreated. Mr. Holliday, a white man, has been mistreated a time or two by
them. He lives just over the line, bul a part of his property is in our county. Mr.
Spencer has been tureatened by them a great many times ; he has seen them, and they
have threatened to burn his house up and burn him up too if he did not move olf and hush
talking. He is a justice of the peace, and no fault can be found with him, except that
they do uot like him ; may be for his politics, or something of that sort ; his neighbors
cannot find any fault with him ; he is a nice man, *

Question. How is it with the people who have been mistreated? Do they belong to
both political parties, or only to one f

Answer. They generally belong to one.
Question. Which one ?

Answer. The republican party generally ; I have never heard of a so-called democrat
being mistreated by them ; I do not think I have. I hear flying reports every day that
I shall be taken out and hung.

Question. How do those reports get to you ?

Ansiuer. I could never get them started at the foundation ; they come around in some
kind of style through the country; I cannot run them down, though I have tried to
see where they started, but I never could find out. We used to have a signal corjjs, as
we -call it, here during the war; and we down there call this the signal corps; there
are a great many in our town who favor this Klan, and they keep all the Klaus below
us posted about everything. They get to know everything that is going, and we call

them the signal corps.
Question. You say there are a great many there who favor the Klan?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What reason have you for saying that ?

Ansu-er. Because they get so mad with everybody who has anything to do with try-
ing to break it down. They are mad enough to cut my throat now because I am au
officer trying to break down this thing.

Question. Do they justify the Klan ?

Answer. Yes, sir. As long as I have gone so far I will give you the name of one now.
There is a preacher and lawyer there—James P. Simmons; we liked to have had a very
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bad difficulty over it. He accused uie of runuiui,' down the Ku-Klux. He said thcKu-
Klux were lietter Ihau any man wlio ]iassed the law or died to execute the law—luean-

iug the Ku-Klux l)ill of Congress. That got me mad, and I sjjoke pretty short, I reck-

on ; and I said he was one of the sort who were in favor of hurning the court-house.

That made him mad, of course. He denied it, aud we had some few words. He is a
large landholder, and worth a great deal of money.

Question. Do these persons deny the existence of the Klan, or do they say that they
think it is a good thing ?

Answer. They say that they think it is a good thing. I do do not know that they deny
or acknowledge that there are any Ku-Klux ; I do not remember whether they say there

are or not. This man Simmons, that night when he and I were quarreling, said that
the Ku-Klux were a good thing. I told him he was in favor of burning the court-house.

He said the Ku-Klux were hojiester men than any men who i^assed the Ku-Klux law, or

tried to caiTy out the law, or tried to arrest the Ku-Klux. Well, that struck me di-

rectly, for I have been at that a little. His son is the man who sued out the writ of ha-

heas corpus and turned loose the parties that I arrested. There is not a bit of doubt
that there is a big Klan in that county. Reports say that they number from three to

live hundred ; but that is only report aud hearsay. There is no chance to get at it ex-
actly.

Question. Are there any persons there who are recognized as the leaders—as persons
at the head of this organization there ?

Answer. Yes, sir. We have two or three of their captains bound over under bonds
now. Bills of indictment have been found against them in the circuit court.

Question. What is the character aud general standing in society of those men ?

Answer. Generallj' bad ; most of them bad. We bound one over here day before yes-

terday in a $3,000 bond. He was considered a very nice man three years ago. He had
a store then ; but he got to drinking aud carousing and running with this crowd, until

he has broken hiuiself down, and has no property now. He drinks hard, aud is consid-

ered a low-down man by the people who know him.
Question. You have spoken of the political character of the people injured by the Ku-

Klux. What is the ijolitical character of those who are either themselves Ku-Klux or

are friendly to them ?

Ansiver. They say they are democrats ; that is what the Ku-Klux say. When they
abuse anybody they claim all the time to be themselves democrats.

Question. Are there any newspapers published in your county?
Answer. Yes, sir ; there is oue. It comes down pretty hard on us because we tried

.

to arrest these parties.

Question. Is is a republican or a democratic paper ?

Answer. It calls itself democratic. There were eleven men arrested at one time, oue
of whom was a Mr. Allen, whose father had some property. Mr. Peoples, the editor of
this paper, went on with a great long editorial about the law-abiding citizens of the
county being arrested, put in jail, and not allowed to have council. But he called uo
uames except Bony Allen ; the man's name is Bonaparte.

Question. Do you know any reason why the Ku-KIux order should want the court-
house and records to be burned ?

Answer. No, sir ; there is no reason except in counection with these letters. They
found they could not run off the witnesses for the State, and the only chance to keep
off the prosecution was to burn the records, and stave it off for a while.

Question. Were prosecutions peudiiigf
Answer. Yes, sir; several of them—a dozen, I reckon, were under bonds. You see,

these letters from the Ku-Klux named these witnesses for the State. I think you can
see the letters ; they are here in the hands of the marshal. They named the particular
witnesses in this case, and that was the last chance for them to keep off the bill of
indictment.

Question. You say you overtook three parties at the time the court-house was burned.
Were any bills or proceedings pending against them, or their friends ?

Answer. There was no bill against those three parties. Two of them would have
been ready iu about ten or lifteen days to start for Texas. The other is an illicit dis-

tiller all the time ; always on the wrong track ; always doing something wrong. One
of the men has been passing as a pretty clever citizen.

Question. How old persons were they ?

Ansiver. Mr. Hamilton, the oldest, is about thirty; Mr. Patrick is about twenty-
eight ; and Mr. Reynolds is about twenty-two years old.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What is the population of your county?
Ansioer. Well, I think we vote about 2,000 ; that is about our voting strength ; there

may be a little more than that. Our people have not turned out and voted since the
war as they used to.

Question. What is the proportion of colored and white population ?
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Ansiver. I suppose there are five whites to one colored. We used to have right smart
colored, but thej* have about run them all out.

Qncslion. What is the political complexion of the county?
A nnwcr. Democrat i c.

Quest ioiu You say you were elected sheriff of the county?
Answer. Yes, sir ;* but I took both sides of the question ; they all voted for me. I am

one of that sort that does not belong to any party ; I get as many votes on one side as

on the other.

Question. Did I understand yon correctly as saying that you had no personal knowl-
edge of any of these matters/but that they were brought to you by rumor and report

only?
Atiswer. That is the way.
Question. Have you any personal knowledge of these societies yourself, or of the

membership of any individual in them ?

Ausiccr. I hardly understand the question, and I hardly know how to answer it. I

have never seen any of these parties in disguise—never in my life—not one of them.
Qucition. You have spoken of the destmiction of your court-house. Have you any-

thing more than mere suspicion to base your opinion on, as to who set it on fire?

Anstva: Nothing, except these parties being there that night, and leaving there

about the time the court-house was set on fire. And then these letters, too, written to

the State witnesses.
Question. That was to deter witnesses from appearing against men indicted for

playing cards?
Ansioer. Yes, sir ; the idea was to run them off.

Question. These letters were written to intimidate those witnesses?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That fact and the presence of these men on horseback at that time, are the

only grounds you have for supposing that those men destroyed that building ?

Answer. That is all.

Question. Axe your courts regularly held there ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; we have two courts regularly, and sometimes three.

Question. Do you serve process through the county ?

Ansicfy): Yes, sir.

Question. You are called upon to summon witnesses and to arrest ijarties ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

'Qu/istion. Have you had any difficulty in doing that ?

Ansieer. As it happens, I have a deputy sheriff living in this district, down where
this partj' runs, and he runs with them. I do not go down there ; he serves all down
there.

Question. Have you ever had any obstruction in serving the jirocesses of the court.

or in arresting men ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have any of these parties who were bound over been tried yet ?

Answer. No, sir ; not in this court.

Question. You speak of cases at the present term of the court ?

Answer. Yes,- sir.

Question. They have been arrested and are held under hail for trial ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I and the marshal have arrested them. We arrested them in the
night-time ; we could not find them except at night.

Question. Were you deputy marshal there ?

Answei: No, sir ; Mr. Smyth said he would appoint me, but I refused to take it. The
State law will not allow an officer of the United States to hold a commission of this

Stat<>. After I found that out I refused to take the place of deputy marshal, because
I would have to resign my place as sheriff".

Question. Are there anj^ difficulties in obtaining convictions in your courts in cases

of breach of the peace or disorder of any kind ?

Answer. No, sir ; we have a well organized county.
Question. You have fair juries?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you have any difficulty in convicting a man when there is reasonable
ground for it ?

Ansiver. None in the world that ever I have seen.

By the Chairman : •

Qncstion. Have any proceedings been instituted in your court against anybody for

destroying the court-house ?

Answer. No, sir. Our court should have met on the Monday morning after the court-

house was burned on Sunday night. The court met and then adjourned. It meets
again in December next. Sejitember and March are our regular courts.

23 G
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By Mr. Bayard :

Question. When was the court-house burued ?^
Autuvcr. On tlic 10th of September.
Qncstiov. Last month ?

Aimcer. Yes, sir; just a late thing.

By the Chairman :

Qucsiio7i. In regard to these whippings you sjioke of, how long since the last one oc-
curred that you liave heard of, or had any information about?

Aiim-cr. ^^'ell, it has been two months, I reckon, since they have done much whipping.
Tliat is all rumor with me, though ; the witnesses themselves are here and can give
you a better understanding about it than I can ; I do not remember exactly the
dates.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. Have any arrests been made for these whippings and for other violations of
law by the Ku-Klux ?

Atiswer. No, sir. The civil authorities seem inclined not to touch them at all. Well,
I am nnder oath liere, and I would like to give a little statement of what happened in

the upper part of the county some time ago. We have two districts ; one is as bad as
the other. In the one known as Cain's district hardly a mouth ago they had a church
on Sunday there ; and a party that they accused ot belonging to this Ku-Klux got up
a row in the church there about the preaching, and got to shooting pistols about, and
broke up the church. And the preacher did not preach at all ; he had to quit and go
home. A justice of the peace who was present saw that happen, and he issued war-
rants and placed them in the hands of the bailitf; he could not get the baililf to execute
the warrants at all. I think he told me that he handed the subpcenas over to the par-
ties that he wanted to be subpoenaed, and they just tore them up, and did not pay
4ny attention to them at all.

Question. What denomination was holding a meeting there ?

Ansiver. I think it was the Methodists.
Question. W^as it an ordinary church service on Sunday ?

Anstver. Yes, sir. They have churches there once a mouth, I believe. Mr. Tirams is

justice of the peace there. He has been notified time and time again to leave the county
or he would be killed. He would be a mighty good witness here if you had time to

get him here. I have a certified cojiy of his statement saying that he could not enforce
»the law there.

By the Chairman :

Question. Have you that co^iy with you?
Anstca: Yes, sir; here it is :

" State of Georgia, Gwinnett County :

"September 23, 1871, m2d district, a. M.
" I, W. P. A. Timms, as justice of the peace for said district, do hereby certify that,

from threats made by disguised men, or persons going about doing depredations.
I would not be safe in the administration of the law in protection of peace and good
order toward the citizens of the county.

"W. P. A. TIUMS, Justice of the Peace."

I have one from the other justice of the peace of that district and one from the post-
master, a justice of the next district also. It is about the same tiling. They are not
got up in very good style, but you can tell the meaning of them. This man JStr. Spen-
cer is also postmaster. He is here in town to-day, probably. He has been subpojuaed.
He says he has to resign ; that he cannot hold any longer.

Question. Do you say he is in town ?

Ansiver. I think he is here by this time. I looked for him by the 10-o'clock train to-
' day, but I have not seen him yet.

Question. These papers were handed to you as sheriff of the county, I understand ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; handed to me by the justice of the peace. They are all going to re-
• sign and quit; they cannot do anything; they told me so themselves.

[The two papers last referred to by the witness are as follows

:

" September 23, 1871.

*'State of Georgia, Gwinnett County :

*' I, Andrew Hays, a notary public of the 562d district G. M. of said county, do cer-

tify that, from the threats made by>lisguisod men going about doing depredations on
the citizens of my county, I would not be safe in the administration of the civil law.

"ANDREW HAYS, Notary Public"

f
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" State of Georgia, Gicinnett County:
" I, J. W. Spencer, notary public and ex-officio justice of tlie peace of tlie 444th dis-

trict G. M. of said county, certify that, from threats made and the condition of this
county generally, I do not consider myself and property safe from bands of disguistd
parties riding of nights in various sections, doing mischief, in the discharge of my duty
as a peace officer. 1 am also postmaster at Cain's post-ofhce, both of which offices I
shall resign if times docs not quiet down and said depredations cease.

'' This September 23, 1871.
" J. W. SPENCER,

"Notary rnhlic and ex-officio Justice of the Peace."

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. You were not present at the time of this difficulty in the church ?

An»wci\ No, sir.

Question. It occurred in the day-time?
Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it among the people gathered there as part of the congregation ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. It was a local quarrel among themselves ?

Answer. Yes, sir; two young men were drinking and got up a quarrel, and got to
shooting and broke up the church.

Question. That caused the disturbance ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You do not know what caused the quarrel between those two voun"-
men /

Answer. I did not hear the justice of the peace say.
Question. It was a iiersonal quarrel f

Answer. It seemed to be, from w^hat Mr. Timms said to me.
Question. Have you any warrants in your hands issued for the arrest of those parties ?

Answer. No, sir ; they generally place their w^arrants in the hands of the bailiti'. The
judge of the court places his warrants in my hands.

Question. Is it your duty to serve warrants issued by a justice of the peace ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they are directed to the sherifls of the State, like bench-warrants.
Question. Have you ever been prevented from executing any warrants^
Answer. No, sir; I have always made arrests when I went to do it; I have never

failed yet.

Question. Can you generally serve your processes; do you have any doubt uiwn the
subject ?

Answer. There is a party in the lower part of the county there who, if they knew I
was going there by myself, alone, to serve a warrant, would not let me hold a person
even if I arrested him.

Question. Have you ever tried it and been prevented ?

Answer. No, sir ; I have never been hindered at all.

Question. Have your deputies been hindered?
Answer. Well, the dejiuty does not do much arresting ; I cannot get him to o much

;

he sort of leans on the other side.

Question. I am asking this question: If you give him a process to execute would he
execute it ?

Answer. I suppose so.

Question. Have you ever had any case where he refused, or was unable to do so ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. In whose handwriting is this statement purporting to be made by Mr.
Hays ?

Anstcer. I think it is Mr. Timms's.
Qtiestion. He wrote his own statement and that of Mr. Hays.^
Ansiver. Yes, sir; I think so.

Question. Did he sign Mr. Hays's name ?

•Answer. It looks all like ^lr. Timms's writing ; he did not tell me that he did it, but
it looks like his hand.

By the Chairman :

Question. Have you had any talk with Mr. Hays about this matter ?

Answer. No, sir ; Mr. Timms handed both of these to me.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Both of these papers are in Mr. Timms's handwriting?
Answer. It looks so.

Question. Signatures and all ?

Answei: It looks so ; I am well acquainted with Mr. Timms ; I do not know Mr. Hays
very well.
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Qucfitioii. Tiiiinis is tln> only man you saw pcrsoiiiilly ou the subject of these papers?
Answer. I saw Mr. Sjieneer.

Qiivstio)!. Did Mr. Spencer hand yon that paper f

Anmccr. No, sir; he sent it by Mr. Tiuuns ; but I saw him tlie day before, and he said

he would send it or fetch it.

Atlanta, Geougia, October 20, 1871.

HENRY LOWTHEE, (cohm>d,) sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Qiieslion. State your age, where you were born, and where you now live.

Annwcr. I will be forty-one years oUl ou the 4tli day of next February; I was born
in Newton County, but live in Wilkinson County when I am at home.

Question. Have you been in jail recently f

Aimwer. Well, yes, I have been in jail.

Question. In what county, and upon what charge ?

Answer. I was in jail in Wilkinson County ; and the charge was that I had a com-
pany of men to take a colored man out and kill him.

Question. Were you ever tried on that charge °!

Answer. No, sir; I never was tried.

Question. How long ago was it that you were put in jail?

Answer. 1 was put in jail on the 2d clay of September last.

Question. By whom ?

Answer. Do you mean who arrested me ?

Question. Yes.

Answer. The parties were Mr. Peacock, the bailiff at that time, Mr. Bruuer, Mr. Hvman,
Mr. Gilbert, and Mr. Rutland.

Question. Did these x>ai'ties get out a warrant against you ?

Answer. No, sir; it was a colored man who got the warrant out and had me arrested.

By Mr Bayard :

Question. What was his name ?
*

Anszver. Rack Bell.

By the Chairman :

Question. Go on now, and state anything that haj)pened to j^ou after you were put in

jail.

Ansiccr. I was put in jail Saturday evening ; my son was put in there with me.
They said they had a warrant for him, but they did not have any. They arrested him
twelve miles from home. When they got to the jail-house and locked the door and
started out, my son said to me: " Father, they are not after me, they are after you.
To-morrow I am going to ask Captain Thomas to turn uie out of jail." Sure enough,
he did so. I asked him to turn me out, for I was in there for nothing. He said I could
not get out without a trial. I said, " Captain, I want a trial." He said, " If you want
one you nuist have it; but to-day is Sunday, and if you Avill take my advice you will

l>ut it oft' until to-morrow. Monday morning I will take you out early and give you a
fair trial." Monday morning came ; they went around and arrested about sixteen per-
sons; about six of them were engaged in a company to protect me. We liad a com-
pany to protect me after they first went to my house. They arrested about eight more
besides them, and brought them to town ; they carried the-m to tlie court-house and
examined about half of them. The.y did not take me out of jail at all. It was nbout
2 o'clock in the day when they got through with them. They dealt with them all,

cither by making them pay |2 70 costs, or giving bonds for appearance at court. Of
course they gave the $2 70. My son, a grown young man, was up there. He said,
" Father, Raclv Bell says he is satisfied you did not have this company of men to take
him out and kill him. They say it is left with him whether you get out of jail or not."

I said, " Tell Rack Bell to come here to the jail." He came ; and 1 said to him, " What
does this mean ? We have ate together and slept together, and we liave heiptsd each
other. It' is with you whether I get out of jail or not." Ho said, "Captain Eli Cum-
mins and Lewis Peacock say you cannot get out of jail." I said, "Tell Captain Cum-
mins to come here." A gentleman came with him by the name of Beaman. Captain
Cunnuins sat down and talked with me about an hour, but there was nothing lie said
that I thought had any substance in it, only when he went to leave he said, " Harry,
are you willing to give up your stones to save your life?" I sat there for a moment, and
then I lold him, " Yes." Said he, "If they come for you will you make fight V I said
" No." He said, " No fuss whatever?" I said, " No." That was about an hour by hud.

I lay 1 ight down then and went to sleep, and did not v» ake up until 2 o'clock iu ilm
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morning. Then I saw one Ku-Klux in jail with a light. I raised up, and he caught
my arm and tokl me to come out. I came out and looked around, and the whole town
was covered with them.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Covered with what?
Answer. Kii-Klnx. There were supposed to be one hundred and eighty of them.

When they first took nie out they tied me and carried me off from the jail-house about
a hundred yards; they then divided into four parties, aud about twenty of them car-

ried me off into a swamp about two miles. Well, within a hundred yards of the
swamp they all stopped aud called numbers, began with number one, aud went up as

high ;)s number ten. When they got to number ten they went for a ro[)e, and I was
satisfied they were going to hang me. I begged for my life. They told mo if thej^lid

not kill me I would shoot into the Ku-Klux again. I told them I had not .done it.

They asked me who it was ; I told them who I heard it was, but I did not know. One
of them who was standing by told the other who was talking to me to hush up aud
ask no questions, because he knew more about it than I did. They went on then into

the swamp, and came to a halt again, aud stood there and talked awhile. There were
eight men walking with me—one hold of each arm, three in front of me with guns,

and three right behind me. After some conversation, just before they were ordered to

nuirch, or something was said, cverj' man cocked his gun and looked right at me. I

thought they were going to shoot me, and leave me right there. The moon was shining
bright, and I could see them. I was satisfied they were going to kill me, and I did not
care much then. They asked me whether I preferred to be altered or to be killed. I

said I preferred to be altered. After laying me down and getting through they said:

"Now, as soon as you can get to a doctor go to one; you kufiw the doctors in this

country, and as soon as you are able to leave do it, or we will kill you next time." I

asked how long it would take to get well, aud they said five or six weeks. I was naked
and bleeding very much. It was two miles and a quarter to a doctor's. The first

man's house I got to was the jailer's. I called him u^) and asked him to go to the
jail-house and get my clothes. He said he could not go; I said, " You nuist ; I arn

naked and nearly froze to death." That was about 3 o'clock in the night. He had a
light in the house, and there was a party of men standing in the door. I told him I

wanted him to come out and give me some attention. He said he could not come. I

conld hardly walk then. I went on about ten steps further and I met the jailer's son-
in-law. I asked him to go and get my clothes;' and he said, "No," and told me to go
np and lie down. I went right on aud got up to a store; there were a great many
iiicn sitting along on the store piazza; I knew some of them, but I did not look at

them much. They asked me what I wanted ; I said I wanted a doctor. They told me
to go on and lie down. I had then to stop aud hold on to the side of the house to keep
from falling. I staid there a few minutes, aud then went on to a doctor's house, about
a quarter of a mile, and called him aloud twice. Ho did not answer me. The next
thing I knew I was lying on the sidewalk iu the street—seemed to have just waked np
out of a sleep. I thouglit to myself, " Did I he down here and go to sleep ?" I wanted
some water; I liadto go about a quarter of a mile to get some water; I was getting short
of breath, but the water helped ]ue considerably. I went to a house about fifty yards
further. I called to a colored woman to wake my wife up ; she was in town. I hap-
pened to find my son there, and he went back for a doctor. When he got there the
doctor answered the first time he called him. The reason he did not answer uig was
that he was oft' on this raid. I asked the doctor where he was when I was at his house,

and he said he was asleep. I said, "1 was at your house." The men kept, coming in

aud saying to me that I did not get to the doctor's house, and I said that I did. After
two or three times I took the hint, aud said nothing more about that. But I told my
eon the next morning to go there and see if there was not a large puddle of blood at

the gate. They would not let him go. But some colored women came to see me and told

rue that the blood was all over town ; at the doctor's gate, aud everywhere else. It was
running a sti'eam all the time I was trying to find the doctor, and I thought'l Avould
bleed to death. My sou tended me until I got so I could travel. Doctor Cummins came
there to my house on Tuesday evening, between sunset and dark, and said, " I am told you
say the reason I did not come to you was that I was out on the raid with the Ku-Klux." I

said, "I did not say so." He said, "Thatis what I heard;" and he seemed to be mad about
it. He said, " I am a practicing physician, and am liable to be called at night, and must
go; I was in my horse-lot then." He talked a long while, and theu he said he was iu

his stable. He kept talking, and after awhile he said he was in his drug-store. So I

never knew where he Avas. He said the reason he was hiding about so was he was
afraid of the Ku-Klux. In a day or two he came to the house aud said, " The white
people have got up a story here, aud say I am the man who castrated you ; now, this

talk must stop." I said, " Doctor, I can't helj) it ; I don't know who did it ; I didn't
start the story." He said it had to be stopped ; and then he began to tell me where he
was; that the Ku-Klux came in, aud he went right oft' to hide. In a few ilays his
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biothor, Captain Cniuuiins, canje in and said, " Harry, I am told yon make a threat of
Avliat you arc jioin,!;- to do when yon get well." I said, " What can I do?" He shook
his luiad. I said, " Do tho people believe it ?" He said, " Yes, some of the most respon-
sible people in town do believe it." I said, "I am very sorry." I then said, "Do you
think the Ku-KIux will bother me any more?" He said, '•If this talk dies out, 1 do
not thiidc they will pester yon any more." I had been in the hons(^ about seventeen
days; I was not able to walk, but I was inioasy; they came to me so many times that

I l)efian to be nneasy, and I lei't ther(\ ,Tust Iielbre I left they sent old man Bush and
Mr. Hutiicld to me to know if I would stay here and t'ui'ii state's evidence ajrainst theui.

I said, " I am in a close place; the Ku-Klux have ordered me to leave; but I reckon I

will try and stay." When I got so I could travel—I believe I lay there twenty-one
days— I think it was the 22d of^ September, I left there. Now. I want you to understand
that there was a num by the nam(^ of Lavender, who got np a com[»any of men after

they came to my house on a Monday night. I had run away. They told my wife to

tell me that they would give me live days to leave in.

By the Ciiaihman :

Question. When was that ?

J )isii-er. That was the iirst time they came for me. They hunted about and went into

the back room for me. They had only matches for lights. They thought they had
found me, and they said: ''Here he is." Every one pitched in there, aiul said: "Kill
him! kill him!" but it was only a sack of salt they saw. They said :

" Maybe he is

out in the weeds here." I was there, and as soon as they said that I moved off farther.

The colored man who got up a company to protect me was named Bose Lavender. On
Tuesday I began to gather up some money to leave there. Bose heard -of their being
at my house on Monday night, and told my wife to tell me not to b(> run off bj' them

;

that ho would get up a company of men and protect me until he died. Sure enough,
when I got home he had the men. It rained very hard that night; I went to sleep;

they staid there until about 3 o'clock, I suppose. When they started off they told me to

be satisfied ; that on Wednesday night they would meet there again. On Wednesday
I decided I would not have them meet at my house, because I knew some of them
would shoot, and there would be firing, and 1 did not want to expose my family. I

told them they had better go off' and lie on the roadside a little way from the house.

Ou Thursday night they were to do the same thing. I went to bis house ; he had taken
one gun, and said ho was going oft' to have some sleep, and that I shoTild take anotlier

gun aud take one of the boys and go up in the woods. Instead of that he went to Mr.
Holder's house and told him I had a company of colored men to shoot Ku-Klux, aud
that they could go and arrest us all. Friday he went to town aud told Captain Cum-
mins about it. They wauted to get hold of him, aud Captain Cummins sent to Bose
Lavender, and Lavender told him that I had the company. I told them when they
arrested me that Bose Lavender was the man who got np the company ; that he was
the man to arrest, and not me. Ou Monday evening they sent for him, and he wa.s

gone. He left Sunday morning, when he heard they had me in jail. He came back
again, and Monday morning went to give himself up to an ofticer ; but theofiicer told

him he had no authority to arrest him. The ofticer told Captain Cununins, who sent

for Lavender to come in town. Bose canu'. there at a little before sundown Monday
evening, and talk(;d with Captain Cummins, who asked him if he had not been at At-
lanta. He said, "No ;

" that he had gone away, because he was scared.
Question. Was Lavender a white or a colored man?
Answer. He is a colored man, though he is very near white.
Question. Has anything been done to him ?

Anstca: No, sir. You see after I told them to go for him he Avas gone. Then the
Ku-Klux went out and watched for him over night, but they they did not find him.
Sunday night he came back, and Mondaj^ he gave himself up; but they had no warrant
to arrest him. He talked to Captain Ciunmins. Captain Cummins is said to l)e the
commander of the Ku-Klux company there. In tallcing, Bose said :

" Captain Cum-
mins, Rack Bell tells me that he has sworn to-day that 1 told him that Henry had got
up a crowd of men to take him out and kill him. That is as damned a lie as ever was
told ; I will swear I never told him so." Cununins jumped up, Bose said, as mad as

he could be, and Avalked about awhile, and scratched his head. Bose said, " So i'ar as
the case is concerned I would pay the costs of the men you collected costs of last Mon-
day : but I will have nothing to do with Henry's costs." Captain Cununins said,
" Come back to-morrow and settle up these things." He came ou by the hou.se I was
living in and said, " I say, this is no idace for me here ; I will swear what Captain
Cummins wants me to do, but I will not do it.'' He went oft' that night ; the Ku-Klus;
went out there; every night for a Aveek and watched for him.

Question. That was after they had taken you out into tho swamp ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who came to you in jail ?

Answer. Eli Cumiuins.
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Question. Is he said to he tho head of tlio Ku-Kliix ?

Answer. Yes, sir; this colorod in;iii, Bell, noes with them himself. He named tliree

names, Captain Cummins, Doctor Simmons, and Jim Shinholster, as being with them,
and said they were going to kill me.

Qiicstio)!. Was that before they had you arrested ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qiieslion. When they eame to your house the tirst time how many were there ?

Aiisu^r. There were about twenty.
Question. What rea.son did they give for wanting to get hold of you?
Ansivcr. They did not give any reason, though I know the reason.

Question. What reason do you think they had?
Ansiver. They said that no such man as me should live there, wJiite or black. They

said they were going to kill out all the leading re]iul)lieau men, both whit<> and black.

They said I had taken too great a stand against them in the republican party. I worked
for my money and carried on a shop. They all got broke and did not pay me, and I

sued them. They have been working at me ever since I have been free. I had too
miich money.

Question. How long since you have been free?
Answer. I was freed when the balance were.
Question. Were you a slave originally?

Answer. Yes, sir; I then made money very fast ; I would get from four to five dollars

a dny.
Question. Who were the men who castrated you in the swamp?
AnsiciT. I could not swear to that myself, only from what I have heard ; they blind-

folded me.
Question. Could you tell by their voices, or anything of that kind?
Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Did you know any of the men who were along?
Ansicer. Yes, sir ; I knew three of them. I knew the two who had me by the arms,

and one who was walkiiig in front of me with his gun. There were three I would
swear to. One of them I would as lief swear against my brother as him. He was a
man I thought a heap of. I did not think he would be in such a iilace. He is a nice
young man.

Question. Of what politics wete the men Avho had you then 1

Answer. They were democrats; everybody there is a democrat, pretty near.
Question. Do you know of any other persons in your neighborhood who had been in-

jured in any way by the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they killed the sheriif there—Mr. Mat Deason.
Question. How long ago was that ?

Answer. About the 27th of August, I think ; about three days before they arrested
me. They killed him and a colored woman at the same time.

Question. How did they kill them ?

Answer. 1 do not know how. There were five bullet-holes in his forehead, but no
bullet went into his brains. The back of his head was mashed in with a club ; so they
told me.

Question. You say a black woman was killed at the same time ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; he had a black woman for his wife. He was a sheriif elected by
the republican party.

By ]\Ir. Bayard :

Question. Was he a white man ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they did not intend to kill* him; but he sent them word he would
kill them if they bothered him.

By the Chairman :

Question. Have any other persons been injured there ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; on the 1st day of September a colored man named George Meadows
was killed, and Joel Dease, a white man, was shot three weeks ago last Saturday.
Boston Fulward, a colored man, was shot two months ago ; and they whipped a great
many around there.

Question. How many have they whipped?
Answr;r. They whipped John A. Lavender, Fred. Dease, Henry Winn, and John

Winn, .md Lije Dease, and' they also broke his jaw-bone with a sfick; so they said.

And they whipped his mother, a very old lady ; I do not know her name. He was
some fifty years old himself, and she was a very old lady. They whipped Bill Brigan.
The way they did him was, they tied him down on a log and took a buggy-trace to liim,

and whipped one of his seed entii'ely out and the other very nearly out. Before I

came away Doctor Smith said he thought he could save one of them.
Question. How long ago was that ?

Answe)'. About the last of July, I think, or the 1st of August ; I am not sure which.
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They shot Andrew Guidon; he said he knew live of the party, and told me who thoy
were.

Question. Do you recollect any other persons who have been injured by them ? •

Amwcr. That was all right around me there.

Question. Were all these cases within the last few months?
Answer. Yes, sir ; thej^ have all bben done from about the middle of July.
Question. Was anything of the sort done before that time ?

Answer. Last fall a year ago a couple of young men were hung by the Ku-Klux.
You only ^Yant what was donfj in that county f

Question. State what you know, within your own knowledge, what was done within
your range of information.
Anmcer. A white man was castrated in an adjoining county near me.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What was his name ?

Answer. His name was Register ; I do not know his given name.

By the Ciiaikman :

Question. How far ofi' was that from you ?

Answer. About fifteen miles, I reckon. They whipped Jerry Lowther very nearly to

death ; when I left there he was going about on crutches ; they had whipped him six
weeks before.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. When these men first came to your house were they disguised?
Answer. Yes, sii'.

Question. Can you describe the disguise ?

Answer. I did not see them myself, for I left there. My wife and son said some of

them had on something thin over their faces—some black oil-cloth ; they said they
knew some of them ; they had a piece of oil-cloth with a hole in it to put their head
through, and it came down almost to their knees.

Question. Did they go there on horseback ?

Atiswer. Yes, sir ; I had a mighty severe dog, and he barked and waked me up ; he
jumped over the fence and went outside ; directly he came back into the yard, and I

knew there was something there; I then went to the door, and some of them were
within five steps of the door, some on horses; I left the door open and went right on
out.

Question. When they came to you in the jail, were they disguised?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they disguised in a similar way ?

Answer. I do not know how they were who were off from me ; one of the men had on
a disguise that looked like a gray beard ; two of them had long black beards—those
that I knew ; I knew each man who had hold of my arms, and one that walked right

before me.
Question. What kind of clothes had they on ?

Answer. They had on their evei y-day clothes, and a little liiece of oil-cloth that hung
down from their shoulders almost to their knees.

Question. You say you knew three of those men ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who were they ?

Answer. One was Bob llymau, another Henry Hyman, and the other Andrew Porter.

Question. Was Porter the young man who had been your friend ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and I knew he was there against his will.

Question. Do you remember how Porter was disguised?
Answer. He had on this long gray beard.

Question. Were those men, so far as you knew them, all democrats?
Answer, Yes, sir; no other man belongs to tliat party only democrats.
Question. Did you ever know a republican that went with them ?

Answer. No, sir ; I knew^ men who called themselves republicans, who would join
them and go with them.

Question. What do you mean by "called themselves republicans?"
Ansivcr. They once had been republicans, but had turned over to be democrats.
Question. Have»you known a man who was well understood to be a republican to

belong to the Ku-Klux ? ,.

Ansiver. No, sir ; there were republicans there who held ofQce, who resigned because
they threatened to kill those who did not join them. Some of them resigned, and some
turned over to the democrats.

Question. When the Ku-Klux came into the town and took you from the jail, was it

A light or a dark night ?

Answer. It was a bright night ; the moon was shining very bright.
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Question. How many people live ligbt in the town ?

Answer. Not a great many.
Question. It is a village ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; a little village ; there is not a great deal of business done there ; I

know every man there.

Question. What is the name of the village ? , .

Answer. Irviugton.
Question. Do you suppose there are two or three hundred people who live in the vil-

lage ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Are there a hundred?
Answer. I suppose there are a hundred ; do you mean male and female ?

Question. Yes ; the entire population.
Answer. I suppose there are about one hundred and twenty-five.
Question. About what time of the night did they come to you iu the jail?

Anstver. I was told it was about 2 o'clock.

Question. Were there any peojde out then who saw them come and go?
Answer. Doctor Cummins said he was out, and I think he was out, too. I know that

this doctor I tirst went to saw them ; and Mr. Arkington and Mr. Chambers saw them,
because they were sitting out there wiiciu I came back from the swamp ; and there
were other men there, but I did not notice who they were ; I did not pay attention to
who they were.

Question. Had you undressed when you went to bed that night in the jail ?

Answer. I had on nothing but my shirt, pantaloons, and drawers; no vest, or socks,
or hat.

Question. Did they take you off in that condition ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You spoke of being naked when you returned from the swamp ; were you
entirely naked ?

Anstver. No, sir; I had on what I started with, shirt and drawers and pantaloons.
Question. Do yon think it was Doctor Cummins who castrated you '?

Answer. No, sir; I thought it was he from circumstances; but now I have found out
better. A young man from there has told me who it was ; he says he knows the whole
party ; he told me he belonged to it.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Who is the sheriff of Wilkinson County?
Answer. They do not have any sherilf ; the sheriff was killed about three days before

that.

Question. WTio is in charge of the jail-house ?

Answer. Mr. Lewis Peacock was bailiff; he had charge of it.

Question. Was Lewis Peacock there when these people took you away that night ?

Answer. I do not think so. I looked around when they led me out of the jail-house
to see if I could see him or Captain Cummins there, but T could not see either one of
them, though he must have given them the keys. After they took me out and locked
the doors I looked back, and I heard that they put the keys in the post-otfice.

Question. You do not know where they put the keys ?

Answer. No, sir; I know this Mr. Peacock has two sous who belong to this party.
Question. Have you made any complaint of this ?

Answer. I went before a magistrate at Macon.
Question. Has your case been brought before the United States court ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. It is not before the grand jury here ? •

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Where have you lodged your complaint?
Answer. In Macon, before Mr. Fitzpatrick. I came up there and staid ten days. I

wrote a letter back to my wife, and the Ku-Klux got hold of the letter and read it

and found out where I was. Five of them came up there and staid a week, hunting
for me ; and I left there.

Question. To what officer of the law have you applied ?

Ansicer. To Mr. Fitzpatrick.
.

Questio7i. What is he?
Ansuwr. He is a magistrate.
Question. Have any arrests been made, or writs sued out iu your case ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Have you made any affidavits about it?
Anstver. Only before Mr. Fitzpatrick.
Question. Do you know whether he has jurisdiction to have these people arrested?
Answo: I think not, for this reason : Captain Cummins came up there (for he had

heard of it) and wanted to know who they were, as he had heard that his name waa
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among them. Mr. Fitzpatiick said it was. Captain Cumniings said, "When are you
going- to arrest nief" Mr. Fitzpatrick said, ''That is not my business; I cannot Veil

when you will be arrested."

Qucslion. What are the ages of the three men you swear to as being concerned in

this ontr.'ige upoii yourself/ ,
Ausirrr. 1 think Henry. Ilyman and Bob Hynian are thirty-five or forty years old

;

Porter I do not think is more than twenty-five ytuirs old; I have known hini from a
boy. I have been living right among them for fourteen years.

Question. What is their occupation '?

Answa: Andrew Porter is clerk of the court; and the two Hymans are merchnndis-
iug there.

Qncation. flow many colored nxm are there in that county?
Answer. I do not know how many ; there are not a great many now, because very

nearly all have left thei'e. I do not know how strong they are in that county.
Question. Do yon not know the vote there?
AnsuHT. I do not ; 1 did hear, but I disremember now.
Question. When did you come to Atlanta ?

Answer. I came here last Monday was two weeks ago.
Question. Have you made any complaint to anybody here of this great wrong upon

you?
A^isiver. I have told some gentleman who stays up here ; I forget his name. He

took a list of those names.
Question. Have you been to'Mr. Pope about it ?

Answer. I sat down and talked a little with him ; and he told me to stay until the com-
mittee came here.

Question. Did you tell him what had been done to you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That j ou had been castrated by a band of disguised men ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How long ago did you tell him that?
A7i8icer. It was last week, I think.
Question. You did not go before the grand jury ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You had not been examined by anj^body until you came hero before this
committee ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did Judge Pope tell you to remain and tell your story to the committee ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. He is district attorney here for the United States ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he is the gentleman who told me to" remain here until this commit-
tee met here.

Question. Had there ever been any tomplaint against you for anything wrong before
this thing ? Had you been charged with any oft'ense?

Ansiver. Nothing particularly.

Question. I meau any ofl'ense against the law, any breach of the peace, any violence,
any insult to any white woman, or anything of that kind ?

Answer. No, sir ; I never insulted any white woujan.
Question. I asked you if there had been any charge made against you ?

Anstvcr. They did not make any particular charge against me, only they said that no
6uch man as me should live there, white or black. They said I was getting to have too
much inlluence in the republican party there.

Qucstjon. There was no other com])laiut made .against you ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; something else was said, but it was not so.

Question. What was the charge?
Answer. They .said I was going to see a white lady there; but I knew it was not

so. That is what I heard a few days before that, that they were after me for. Bnt I

knew that could not have been it, because I did not go to see her. And over and
aljove that, there are a great many men who go to see white women, and they do not
disturb them. I had a family, and I did not go to see this woman ; I tended her land.

Question. Was that woman related to any of these people ?

AnsiCiT. No, sir.

Question. Was she a woman of good or bad character?
Answer. Of bad character.
Question. You say the sheriff was killed iu August, and a colored woman was killei

at the same time ?

Answer. They just caught her, tied a bar of iron to her, and threw her iu the
creek.

Question. Were they in bed together at the time ?

Anstver. No, sir ; they were just fixing to go to bed.
Question. Was ho a white man ?

P
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.Uiswer. Yes, sir ; thcv had been livinjrtojiethera long time, and ho had five ehildren by
'-^ • he had been liviiij;- with her since before the war. He had a wliite woman for a

. but she was deranged, and was occasionally at home and occasionally at the asy-

. , , He took up with this black woman, I tlmik, about twelve years ago.

Question. The black womad was not married to him f

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Where was his own wife ?

AiiSH-er. I think she was at home when they were killed.

Question. At the same house ?

Ansiccr. No, sir; she did not stay there, but off about two miles.

Qifcstion. They killed the black woman ?

Ansu-ei: They drowned her; after they killed him they tied a heavy bar of iron to

each one and threw them both into the same liole of water.

By the Chairman :

Question. You say they had been living together before the war?
A»su-er. They had been living together I think about twelve years ; they had five

children, and two of them were dead.

By Mr. Bayaud :

Question. By what party was Deasou elected to the office of sheriff"?

Auswei: By the republican party.

By Mr. Lajs^sing :
^

Question. Was he a native of Georgia ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

By the Chairman :

Question. Do I understand you to say that when they came to your house they made
a charge against you of going to see a white woman ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You heard that talked of afterward ?

Answer. After they came the first uiglit, one man told me that was what they came
to me for.

Question. Yoti say it was a groundless charge ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I had not been going to see the woman ; I tended some laud right

at the house ; they Jiad a little piece of land there, and I tended it for them.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 20, 1871.

JOHN L. COLEY sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. Please state your residence, occupation, age, and nativity.

Answer. I was born in South Carolina in 1821 ; so my parents tell me. I now live

in Haralson County, Georgia, and my occupation is that of a farmer.

Question. Have you been interrupted or in any way injured by any organized par-

ties of disguised men ?

Ansiver. I have, some.
Question. State the circumstances, time, place, and manner of that occurrence.

Anstcer. On the 25th day of February last there came to my dwelling a band of men;
I did not notice the particular hour, but my wife informed me that it was between 10

and 11 o'clock. She had laid down, but had not gone to sleep. I had worked all day
pretty hard, and had laid down and gone to sleep earlier, and was sound asleej) when
the n'len came up to my house. They came up in haste. You know how the thing is ;

a man can hear, and rmderstand, and know something, when he is not really good
wide awake, and yet he is awake enough to know that there is something about.

They approached my dwelling, apparently in haste, stepping very strangely and hardly

upon the ground ; and with strange voices they hallooed out, " Open your door, old

man ; open your door quick, old man." I was very sound asleep, and of course I waked
np in a sort of fright, hearing the hasty words of unknown voices, and a quantity of

men walking. I got up and opened the door, according to their direction. I opened
the door on the south side of my dwelling; it was an old-fashioned, poor man's cabin,

and the d<!<)r was pinned with a pin, like old times. When I pulled out the pin with

my right hand, and kept hold of the door with my left hand, I brought it back the

wultli of my elbow to look out to see if I could see any one. As I bent myself to look

out, two men seized me by the left arm, and tried to jerk me out of dooi's. They
jerked me so hasty that they got the door up against the point of my right shoulder,
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or my breast, whiohpvcr Tvay yon choose to talce it. It bronglit the door up and closed
it. My wife was standing by, and, being a person of ready mind, she took the pin ont
of my band and piinied the door. In the scutfle I had got pnshed aronnd sideways
toAvards the wall of the honse. It was a log wall sealed with a sealing-board, and the
board was split. Somebody stabbed at nie through 1he'*cnickof the board; whether
it was with a sjiear, dir'-:, or a knife, oi'.a pistol barrel, or whatever i-t was I could not
tell, from the fact that I jnst saw it come throngli and go back again. Ibit the fire

shone on it, and showed that it was metal of some kind. It cut a hole in my Avaistcoat,

Avluch I liad i)nt on. I had on my waistcoat, and drawers, and shirt. It did not take
entrance into the skin or through the shirt. By this time I became sort of roused, and
called for an ax, intending to try and defend myself. The ax was not produced to me;
and while that was going on a gun was run in right by the side of the chimney, tlirongh
another large crack, which had not been sealed up, but which had beeu left to let the
light in. A double-barreled shot-gun was run in there, and presented directly at me,
not more than live or six feet from me. The fellow swore that if I did not open the
door he would shoot my " God damned livt^r out;" that was the expression, just that
way. Well, that brought to my mind the thonglit of a gun. There were thrive guns
in the house, two of my own, and one that belonged to my wife's grandson, my step-
grandson. All three guns were in the house, and I called for one. The gun was
handed to me. but I do not know who did it ; so it was, somebody presented nui a gnu,
and I took hold of it, and set the trigger, and presented the gun so that I thought I

could shoot thrcnigh the crack at that man who had the double-barreled gun directed
at me. I told him to take his gun and go away from there, or I would shoot him dead.
He left from that place and went around the chiumey, threatening to shoot tin; young
man who gave me the guti ; that is", he says he gave it to me; I do not know who gave
it to me. And there was an order from some one at the back of the chimney to break
down the doors. They went to break down the doors, and in the tumult sonie one got
by the side of the chimney, and said, '' Open your door or I'll burn your house." He
lit a match and held it in a crack to fire the house. The match faih'd, and he lit a
second one, and held it in the crack. Ho lit a third one, and held it there. I saw th'J

place by the shine of the light, and it brought to my mind the notion that I could,

pei'haps, shoot him tlirongh that crack. I got my gun in position to shoot through the
crack, and was holding it ready to just touch the trigger when he fired the next
match. While I was standing in that position, they broke down the north door, and
four men ran into the house. Two seized me, and two seized the gun. Of coarse I

bad a tight grip on it, and, as yon might expect, I was not willing to give it nj) in such
a case. They ran out of doors with me, and as soon as they cleared the wall fairly, I

looked up and saw a quautity of men; I do not know how many exactly. I saw tliey

were generally disguised, so far as I could see. When I saw that, I said to them :

" Gentlemen, I am not afraid of you
;
you are Kn-Klux. I understand you now. Pre-

vious to this time I had not understood ; I did not know tliat you were Ku-Klnx ; I

know now what you are. I am not afraid of you, if you are the Ku-Kiux." One said,
" We are your friends ; we are not going to hurt you." They led me off some thirty
or forty steps from the house, to the yard gate, in my stocking-feet, with my waist-

coat, and drawers, ami shirt on, and bare-headed. They said, " Was there not another
man in the house?" I said, " Yes." "Who was it ?" said they. I sai<l, "It was my
wife's grandson." They said, " We don't want to hurt you or him either. We are

your friends. Wo only want to talk to you. Let's go back to the house." They
turned right around and went back to the house. They held me by the arms all the

while, for fear, I suppose, that I would make fight or do something. I said, "Gentle-
men, let me put on my clothes. I hate to be going about this way." Tliey let me put
on my pants and coat. They went with me. I went in the house, and called for my
step-grandson. I could not get him up; could not find liiin; he went into the loft.

They all hunted for him, but they could not find him ; he made his escape Through the
housetop and got away. They said, " Now, old man, you must get him up." I caught
up a torch, and I went aroniul with them and searched the honse, hut not very partic-

Tilarly, and could not find him. I called to him with all the faithfulness a man could
do, and with the honest expectation that he would answer me, but he did not. They
said, " Well, come on." I said, " Let me get my hat." They said, "No."

Question. Can you not state more ^ilat they did, and less what they said ?

Answer. Very well
;
you simply want to understand the abuse they gave me ?

Question. Yes ; tell what they did to you, and what led np to it.

Answer. That is what I am endeavoring to do. I thought I would give the whole
catalogue of it. I did not find my hat ; they had ransacked the honse in such a way
in search of him that things were pretty badly torn up. My wife was scared almost to

death, and also this young man's wife. This young man's wife jnst sank right down

;

it was enough to cause anybody to sink down. But I was not excited, exce])t at first;

then I thought I was in safe hands, from the fact that I cons idered that I had done
nothing to be Ku-Klused for.
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By Mr. Scofikld :

Queslion. Did you thid your step-grandson ?

Answa: No, sir ; tbey said, " Come on," and took me and led me ont bare-headed, and
took me outside of the gate. I did not understand anything about Avhat they took me
outside there for. Wlien they took uie out there were thirteen came into the house that

I counted ; aud I conchided that there were as many more out "wliere the horses were as

were in the house, though some of tlie same ones in the liouse might have gone out there.

At that phice thei'e were two men I noticed in particuhir, wlio Avere liohling horses;

one of them was a man who lived in sight of me, as I thought. I went up as close to

him as I am to this gentleman here, and looked him right in the face. He began to

turn slowly from me. He was an old man who had often in church led me up to the
pulpit and said, " Wo exi^ect to have use for you to-day." I fouiul him there holding-

horses, and another one that I thought I knew as good as I could any man. They did
not like to have me look at them very long ; and the other men ran me back some
fifteen steps. But I thought I was satisfied as to who they were.

By the Chairm.vn :

Qucstioyu What were their names ?

Ausirer. I think one was Enoch Branham, and the other was Dolph Beacham. of

Haralson County. They ran back with me a shoi't space, and ordered the horses away.
The men begau to mount their horses aud ])ass away. As they did that I pulled up to

look at their horses, these men still having hold of me. I passed the first pair of horses,

right in between the horses, and looked as sharp as 1 could to recognize the horses, but
I could not. They ordered the horses away, and stopj)ed me again ixntil the horses had
jiassed away. They took me about seventy-five yards, and put a rope ai^onud my neck,
and I begau to be suspicious that they would abuse me, as all "of you would have been.

They said they would not do it, but I began to be suspicious. They took me to the
west end of my plantation, to an old road at a liranch, aud there they stopped me and
whipped me. They started from that place and passed a few stejis down that road in a
west direction, in the direction of Alabama. They said to me, " What about this diffi-

culty that took place between Jim Branham and Tom Martin, aud this t'other fel-

low f' referring to this step-grandson of mine. I told them the truth about it, and the
course that I had jjursued during the .difficulty, aud that I endeavored to <iUHsh it.

Question. I do not know that that has any connection with the matter we are inquir-

ing about.
Answer. I think it is connected with it in this way : they asked about the difficulty,

aud I said I had nothing in it, except to keep it down, which I can prove by George
W. Lester, Greensides, Castle, Brown, and Hill ; and that I called for help to take away
the knife from this step-grandson when Brown had a hand-spike striking at him. I

called for help, and his father-in-law came, and we took the knife away. I said to the
crowd, " Gentlemen, stay with me, and do not let this diihculty go any further." We got
it sort of squashed there. The foremost ran about thirty or forty steps, and turned
round aud cursed the crowd, aud swore that he would bring the Ku-Klux on aud have
us every one killed. That was Thursday. Friday aud Saturday passed away, and
Saturday night they came. When they came, as I told you, they carried me away and
abused me. I just told them this story as I tell it to you. They said, "All right ; that
is enough ;" aud led me on a few steps fiirther. They then said, " You stole two of this

old man's hogs." Just before they left the house they struck me two licks with their

fists. I said, " What man's hogs f" They said, " Branham's." I said, "If he will say
so, and swear to it, I will pay for the hogs." They said, " We say so ; we come from
the moon. We are dead men, aud come from the moon, and we have been taking cogniz-
auce of your conduct below here for many years." I said, "All right, gentlemen ; if you
Lave, aud will give me my just deserts, I will be satisfied." They said, " What about
the shooting done at this old man's dogs ?" I said, " I know nothing about it." They
went ou, and I said, " Here is Joe Eowan, just ahead of us, that 1 cau prove it by."
They cursed Eowan, and said he stole horses. They took me ou to Jim Hill's, where I

expected to make the proof that I was au innocent man. When I got there I could
not find Jim Hill ; he was not at home, or, if there, he was in a disguise, so that I coiild

not tell him ; I could not find him. When they first struck me and whipped me, a i:i;iu

came up and spoke whose voice I thought I knew as well as the mau who had a gun
through the crack. The one at the crack was Burgess Daniel. Before they whipped
me, there was a man appeared %%-ith his whip to whip me, aud another said, " I waut
to do it." I thought I understood his voice, aud I think so yet.

* ^i(fs/<t>n. Who is he? /

Answer. Henry Wimpey, I think was the man, and I think so yet. While iu the
house there was a circumstance that induced me to believe I knew the man there by
his hand and his coat-sleeve ; whether a man could know another iu that way or not,
I am not certain.

Question. You say you went to Hill's and found that he was away?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.
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QiieMion. Did the Ku-KInx do anytbiii.t; more to yon?
Answer. Yes, sir; they went to tlie door with nie and tLoy called this way: "Here,

old man, <;et up ; we want you." lint tlie old man did not get nj) ; or, if he did, he did
not makt^ himself known. Being fully satisii^'d that I could make llie proof by thati

man that I was innocent of the charge, I myself put my hand against Ihe door and
pushed it. It seemed to be just ch)sed together: hardly a chair against it. The door
was hastily pushed back, and said I, "Come in; if he is there abed and asleep I v/ill

wake him," for I had such confidences in him. I could not find liim to malui the evi-

dence. I then proposed to go to Martin IJrowu's, the next house below. They would
not suffer me to do it; they said, " You can't make proof; w*e are not going to be rnu-
niug round with you. Didn't yon sell Joe Rowan a pistol?" I said, " No." They said,

'•Didn't some of your folks do it?" I said, "Yes, my %vife's grandson sold him one
sometime ago." They said, "All right; come out here." They took me out by the
side of the road and to a shade tree, where they hanged me nj) by the neck, x)ulled me
np clear from the earth. The last I knew about myself or my actions I was trying to

hold on to the rope. When I came to, to know anything, I was not holding on to the
rope, but was standing upon the ground Avith my hands by my side. How long I had
been there I could not say, because they deadened me to that extent that I did not
kuow^ anything. I felt something pass from my neck way down to my extremities,

like, sometimes, when you hit your elbow. Said I, " Gentlemen, I am dying, and I

shall never see my friends nor family again." They led me forward in the direction of
the big road, and said, "Now, old mau, if you have any more arrangements to make,
make them

;
your time is not long here. Are you not a radical ?" " A radical?" said

I, as if I did not know what thej' meant. " Yes," said they, " a radical. How do you
vote ?" I told them. They said, " If you have any arrangements to make, make them
quick." I said, "I have nothing; if you are going to execute me take me away from
the house, and suffer me to make a prayer." They said, " Go on." I knelt down in

the big road, and I tried to pray to my Maker for them, that peace might come, and
that these things might pass away. They stood there with their six-shooters over my
head ; I 8U]jposed that they would kill me, as scouts diil men during the war, as I had
heard. I got through, and said, "Amen." As I got up they fastened on to my arTiis

again and led me down thirty or forty steps back in the direction of home. In the

edge of the woods by the side of the big road they halted me, and turned me round
square, front to the road. I saw the man with the shrub come up again. I said,
" Gentlemen, how many are you going to give me now ?" They said, " make him pull

his coat oft'." They commenced hitting me, and I commenced counting; I counted
" one, two, three," and so on, until they gave me six licks. It hurt desperately. I

said, " Lord, have mercy on me ;" for I saw that those people had no mercy, and there
was no one to apply to for relief but the Lord. They gave me the six licks over my
shoulder, and across my back they gave me four, and 1 then said, " Ten." The com-
mander said, " Stop ! halt!" They then set another jtersou to whip me across the legs,

but how many licks he gave me I do not know. I reasonably supjiose that, first and
last, in the three vs'hippings they gave me that night, the very shortest was seventy-
five licks ; but it is only .supposition.

Question. Where did they leave you ?

Ansivcr. The commander, as it seemed to be, led me from that place to aboirt the
middle of the road, holding rae by the arm, and looking me in the face with .'ill the im-
pudence in the world. Said he, " Don't j'ou think you can find a home away from here ?"

I said, " I think I can if I have to leave." When tliey were putting the rope al>out my
neck, one of them said, " Old man, this ought to have been done for you lifty years
ago." I admitted that that was the case if I deserved it at all. He said. " Don't you
think you can find a home away from here ? " I said, " I am sure I could if I had lived

otherwheres, and had never been treated this way." He said, " You must go." I said,

"I cannot doit." He said, "If you don't do it we will kill you." I said, " I would
rather die than do it, frou\ the fact that my name will be assailed, and I will be
called a bad man, while I have not done anything to go for." I said, " I cannot go

;

this is my place ; I have earned it with my hands," holding out my hands, " and I can-

not leave it." He said, " We will kill you if you don't." I said, " How long before I

must go?" He said, " Do you think you will go ? " I said, " Of course, rather than
die, any mau would go ; how long ? " He said, " Fifteen days." I said, " Gentlemen, I

cannot get away iu that time ; I cannot do up my business and leave iu that time."

He said, " You have it to do ; now, if you don't go we will kill you anyhow : and if you
lell what we have done to you, or said to yon, we will kill you." Now, gentlemen, will

you admit the expression that I have been informed by another mau who that com-|
juander was, not knowing bim myself? That man himself was not iu disguise. '

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What is his name?
Answer. I was informed by another ma;?;, who professed to have got knowledge of him,

that his ii.ame was Joseph Burrows, of Cleburne County, Alabama; 1 think I would
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know the man if I should see him. He told me to nin. I could not, and said so. Said

lie. " nun," and fired a pistol right near me. Another man said, " Don't yon hit him."'

Said he again, " Kun," and I went three steps, in a sort of slow trot like tliis, [moving

across the room.] Ho tired a second pistol, and I left and went back to my dwelling.

By the Chairman :

Qiie>>tion. Have you been disturbed since that time ?

J»s(rcr. I have not staid at my house; I stayed there eighteen days in ihe day-time,

but at night I went into the Avo'ods and hid myself. I think that, about Friday night,

two or three weeks after that time, I will not be positive when, this same (.rowd, as I

su]>posed, came up there. But I was absent, of course, and my wife would not stay

there either, but she had gone to her mother's. They just tore down the doors and set

them o])eu. There were the horses' tracks there. I thought I knew two men by their

talk. I thought I knew Johu Gilpiu and Jim Branham, the son-in-law of Hancock
Branham.

Question. Do they all live in Haralson County?
Answer. No, sir ; the son-in-law lives in Polk County.
Question. You say this man Branham had invited you to the pulpit at different times ?.

Ansiva: Yes, sir.

. Question. Are you a preacher or clergyman ?

Answer. I was licensed.

Question. Of what denomination ?

Ansicer. What we call the Congregatioualist Methodists. I have my license in my
pocket.

Question. Where have you been since that time ? You say you staid about there some
three weeks.
Answer. I went about sixteen or eighteen or twenty miles from there, and about

five miles from the county seat.

Question. You say they asked you about being a radical. Had you Toted the radical

ticket ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. So far as you know these men, were they republicans or democrats ?

' Answei: Some of them, I think, were in the republican party, and some were what
they call democrats.

Question. Some that were in the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Yes, sir, as I suppose.
Question. Some that were along that night?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Ho^ were these Branhams ?

Answer. They have voted the republican ticket, but they liad ceased to vote for some
years. I heard them talk very little about politics any way, showing that they were
not acting much any way as to that thing. They were quite still, as far as I knew.
This man, Gilpin, I am right certain, is the man who broke down the door that night,

from the way he spoke. He talked with my wife, and she is fully satistied it was John
Gilpin.

Q^uestion. WTaat reason had they for making this attack upon you, more than you
Lave stated ?

Answer. None in the world that I can tell. This man Gilpin came up I could
tell it if I am permitted.

Question. Well, go on.

Answer. There came up a storm ; and there is a kind of common path that goes
through my land. They have got to driving through with a wagon occasionally, and
they have made it a road, but I do not think there ever was any order for it. But I did
uothinder any body going through. A storm came up and filled the road full of logs

in a little bottom. The settknnent notified me verbally to open the road. I had no
right to open it more than anybody else. But Mr. Branham's sou told me to open the

road ; I said, •' It is none of my business, but if anybody will help me, I will help do it."

He came up and said he was ready to help open the road. I took hold, and my \\"»f.;"s

grandson took hold ; this man Lester that I spoke about, and his sou took hold, and we
opened it, straighter than it was before. This man Gilpin, being a contentious, stub-

born man, came up, and he and his brother-in-law notified me to open the road. I told

them it was ojieu. They said, " It will not do at all; we are going to have the old way
open." I said, '• It is not necessary ; this is better than the other way." They said,
" We will have it open any way ;

you may as well go along and open it." I went along
dowu where they commenced cutting timber, and I said, " Y'ou can't use that here,''

and made an effort to get them to stop it. They said, " No ; we are going to have it

here." I said, '' No, you shall not do it."

Question. Tell us the facts, what was done on that occasion which led you to suppose
that that had anything to do with the treatment you received ?
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A>i>)wci: I only supposed it ^va8 tliat finuljjo ; they liad not done me any harm before.

Qiicsiion. Do yon suppose he l)ronght the rest of thcni there?
Answer. No, sir. > I learned liy another nnin that Jim Bianham went, as he threat-

eneil, forthwith and made re]iort to the Kn-Klnx, and tlie Kn-Klnx luoujiht the hand
there. I am also told that they hronght William Sides, Charles Sides, and Bob Sides.

Quesiiov. Who told you this?

Ansiixr. Daniel Dodson is the man who made the report to me.

Atlanta, Georgia, Octoler 20, 1871.

JOHN D. POPE sworn and examined

:

The Cn All! MAN. As yon desiied to have this witness summoned, Mr. Bayard, you
will please begin his examination.

Mr. Bayard. I have no objection to examining him ; but I took it for granted that

the committee would desire to examine a man in his position.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What is your official position ?

Answer. I am the United States attorney for Georgia.
Question. How long have you held that position ?

Answer. About a year; I cannot tell precisely now.
Question. Were you a practicing lawyer before that time ?

Aiisioer. I was.
Qnestion. For how long ?

Atisiver. Fiom the year 1860.

Question. Are you a native of the State of Georgia?
Answer. Yes, sir; I was born within tifteen or twenty miles of this city.

Question. Have you been engaged in making examinations in this city in relation to
outrages upon individuals by bands of disguised men ?

Ansu'cr. No further than my official duty made it necessary.

Question. Have you presented any indictment at the present term of the court to the
grand jury ?

AnsH-er. I have.
Question. What number of indictments have been found ?

Ansircr. I think indictments are now pending against thirty person§, found at this

last term. Some of the indictments embraced several names. There are not thirty

separate indictments, but there are bills against thirty or thirty-one persons.

Question. What is the general character of the alleged offenses for which indictments
have been found 1

Answer. These are not all the bills fovmd at this term, but they are the bills found
under what is called the enforcement act.

Question. There are no others affecting the peace of the county or State?
Anstcer. No, sir.

Question. Are those indictments that you speak of for acts of violence against per-

sons and property ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. They have been found under the late law of Congress ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you cognizant of the case of Henry Lowther, the colored man who
was castrated ?

Answer. I know nothing about it except his story.

Question. Did he state the circumstances to you '?

Answer. He did. But lie is not a resident of the northern district, and therefore he
did not go before the jury. He lives in the southern district, and I did not take him
bef(fre the grand jury.

Question. Why not?
Answo: Because he lives in the southern distsict.

Question. The qiiestion of local jurisdiction i^revented you from taking cognizance
of it?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. In the course of your business here have you found any obstruction in the
processes of your courts in respect to summoning witnesses aud making arrests?

Answer. I can answer that question only from information. I remaiu here, and pro-

cess is sent out to different ])ortions of the State.

Question. What have you found to be the case ?

Answer. It has been reported to me that in one place, in one portion of this district,

there has been a disposition to prevent people from coming here as witnesses. There
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was a l)ill foiuul against one man, chargiue; liini witli preventing witnesses from coming
here, with threatening them if they came. The mau was acquitted.

Question. He was tried ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; but I did not have all the testimony which I had afterward.
Question. Have you any dithculty in procuring convictions upou reasonable, proper

testimony ?

Answer. I think the jury of this court lias been governed by the law as given iu

charge by the court. I know nothing to the cnntrarj-.

Question. What is the condition of your coniinunity for peace and good order?
Answer. I must speak iu regard to the country where I visit. I do not go iu many

portions of the northern district. I attend court here and in Savaimali. And then I

have my private practice, which is mostly conliued to this county. I think this neigh-
borhood is as peaceable as almost any place you could find. None of the cases uncler.

the enforceuieut act arise in this county, and 1 believe very few iu any county near
this place. Perhaps three or four in the uext county. The most of them are from tifty

to a huudred uiiles off.

Question. When will these cases come up for trial ?

Anstver. In March, lb72.

Question. Have parties been arrested under these indictments ?

Ansicer, No, sir ; some of them had previously been arrested under commissioners'
warrants.

Question. And held to bail ?

Ansicer. A few of them had been.
Question. Are they all now under bail? ,

^»s7t'er. They are not. Some of them have not been arrested at all; the majority
of them have not been.

Question. Warrants have been issued for their arrest?
Ansivei: Not yet ;. the bills were tound in the court only yesterday evening.
Question. Have you, in the discharge of your duties as district attoruey, failed to

procure convictions where the testimony has reasonably warrauted convictions, in your
opinion ? ,

Answer. Well, I should say I have not failed iu an unusual manner.
Question. Do you practice as a lawyer in other courts besides the United States

courts ?

Answer. I do.

Question. Is there a general obedience to the laws throughout the community where
you practice ?

Answer. Well, there is what ^e consider here a reasonable obedience; of course
there are many violations of law.

Question. As there are anywhere else ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I have not practiced in any of the remote counties.
Question. I am speakiug of the counties in which you have practiced.
Answer. 1 have answered that question. I think there are the usual number of vio-

lations of law.
Question. Are you aware of any combinations to resist the execution of the laws of

the United States ?

Answei'. I could only speak from hearsay.
Question. Have you any olhciai knowledge of it?

Answer. If I have any it is the reports brought to me in my official character. I have
not had any re^iort of resistance to the process of this court, except in one locality iu
the northern district of Georgia. I have reason to believe that there is a section—

a

county or a part of a county—where witnesses canuot easily be obtained.
Question. In a portion of one couuty ?

Answer. It may be in portions of two counties; I do not know how much territory
that embraced.

Question. Is your knowledge of any combiuations to obstruct the execution of the
law contined to the facts you have stated ; is that all the information you have upou
the subject?

Ansicer. I think it is.

Question. In the case of Henry Lowther, the facts of which you have heard, would
there be any dilliculty, if that case had been within your district, to arrest and bring
to trial the men whom he charges with having committed that offense ?

Answer. I do not thiuk that, upon the testimony of that one man, I could convict
them in any court ; I do not know what other witnesses could be found.

Question. I am asliing about arresting them and briugiug them to trial ?

Ansicer. You know we must first call a grand jury, which will find a bill. My experi-
ence has been that upon the testimony of one man of his social position, in a case of
that kind, a grand jury would hardly find a bill.

Question. Unless corroborated by other dircumstances and facts?

24 a
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Answer. Yes, sir; iiono of those bills fomid licrc iiuder the euforeeineut act, I thiuk,
have beL'ii ibiiiid upon tlie tostiuiouy of oik; witness.

Question. Suppose that this man was sustained hy other witnesses as to the maiu
portions of his story ; would there then be any diflieulty in bringing the ])arties to trial,

uiider the i)res(!nt laws of the United States, before this district court, if he had lived
in your district instead of the adjoining district?

Answer. If he had lived in this district, and I had had other witnesses to identify
the parties who committed the offense—then; is the difticulty, the identification of the
].artie8. The jury would not doubt that the outrage had been committed ; and if I

had had witnesses to identify the parties, of course they could have b(!en brought to

trial.

Question. Do yon believe, further, that if there was reasonable corroborative proof of
this offense the offenders could be convicted iind ])nnislu^d in your courts"?

Ansiver. I think they might if the jiroof was undoubted. In a case like that it

would require good proof, strong proof, to produce conviction ; for the reason that the
men who were charged with it are men of inlinence, and fre(iuently thewituesses are
not-. I do not think that this one man's testimony could convict them.

Question. Alone and unassisted by other witnesses ?

Ansicer. I think not. If there was undoubted proof I think the jnrj^ would find a
verdict.

Question. In your opinion, from your experience of juries summoned here, do the grand
and petit juries form a fair tribunal for the trial of offenses of this kind, both in jus-
tice to the public and to the defendants 1

Ansice): I have never brought a case to trial before a jury of this court. But my
opinion is that in this court there would be a reasonable prosiject of a fair trial ; 1 have
no reason to donbt that.

Question. Yon have no reason to doubt that justice would be done ?

Ansicer. No, sir; if satisfactory proof could l)e made. Very liequently there may be
cases where the parties ought to be convicted, and there may not be proot sufficient to

convict them.
QiKistion. Would you, as a iirosecuting officer, ask a jury to convict a man without

competent proof?
Anstcei: 1 never do so unless I make a mistake.
Question. If the yiroof in this case was what you would consider as reasonably com-

petent proof, you would expect a conviction ?

Anitwei'. Yes, sir.

Question. My object in asking these questions is to ascertain whether, in j'our opinion,
there would be a failure to obtain justice before your e<iiirts ?

Ansiocr. I will tell the truth, as near as I can; I have to hesitate somewhat in my
answers, for the jjurpose of reflecting. In all counties, wherever a man in humble
position makes a charge against a man of standing there is some difficulty in obtaining
a conviction ; it would require stronger proof than it would if the position of theparties
were reversed ; I suppose that would be tine in any coinnmnity. If this case of Low-
therwereto come up, we woidd have to have very fnll proof of the identity of the
parties to produce conviction. I do not know that that is not true ofany couunnnity.
I think a great many men get oft' in this country that are guilty, but I supi)ose that is

the case in all countries.

Question. Have you any reason to suppose there is more evasion of justice here than
elsewhere ?

Answei-. No, sir ; whenever a man is tried, the court says to the jury that if there is

any doul)t the man should be acquitted.
Qmstion. That is the universal rule wherever the common law is recognized?
Ansivei: Yes, sir.

Question. Have you any knowledge of the case in Bartow County, within the last two
months, of the trial and conviction of two white men for the murder of a negro ?

Answer. I heard of the trial, I think ; but I do not think I ever heard what was the
result of it.

Question. And that they have been sentenced to the penitentiary for life ?

Ansiver. It is very likely that result has taken place. I have heard of the trial, but
I have not been in that county. I would say that the juries we have here are as good
as the average. Of course my experience is conlined to this State.

Question. Do I itnderstand you to say, in speaking of the relative positions of the
parties, that in this case a ditffculty of conviction wonld arise any farther than, where,
men of known position and character in the community Avere charged with heinous
crimes, that their good character would require stronger proofs to overbalance the pre-
sumption of innocence?

Answer. Well, my opinion is that in regard to the offenses under the enforcement act,

on account of public opinion, more proof wonld be required in order toin'oduce couvio-
tiou than would be required in other cases.
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Question.' That not only would the character of the parties have its influence, but the

nature of the eases would have some influence?

Athswcr. I think I have observed that, so far as my investigations have gone.

Qxcsiion. These indictments obtained at the present term are the first which you have

sent up under the new law ?

Ansurr. Yes, sir.

Qiiestion. Had you any difliculty in having true bills found in those cases ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. No more than in other cases ?

Answer. Well, I hardly know how to answer that question. I introduced my testi-

mony to the jury, and then retired. There is no difliculty in any case, so iar as my
connection with the prosecution is concerned, further than that they ignored some of

the bills where there was considerable proof. I do not know that it was on account of

the nature of the offense charged. They found a reasonable number of bills, I think.

Question. And without any difficulty?

Aiisiccr. Without any difliculty that I know of.

Queviion. Do you believe there is a disposition throughout your community to obey

the law and execute its provisions ?

Answer. I think there is with a great majority of the people.

Question. I presume there is a lawless portion in every community ?

Ansicer. I suppose so.

Question. Do you think it is larger in this community than in other communities,

npon the average f

Answer. I do not know what the proportion is in other communities. I should think

there was not much more here than in other communities ; though I do not know about

that.
Question. 1 ask you, as a prosecuting oflicei-, a member of the bar, and a citizen

of the State, whether you consider that life and property are reasonably secure under
the laws of Georgia and the laws of the United States as they now exist f

Answer. In most sections of the State I would say that they were. I think, however,

that there is nor as much security in some places as in others ; I infer that from re-

port.

Question. Be kind enough to designate those points to which you refer.

Answer. Well, these indictments are against parties in Haralson, Gwinnett, Walton,
and Floyd Counties. I would not say that in all of those counties there was a great

deal of insecurity ; I do not kuow about that. You know, a bill might be fl)und upon
oue isolate(f*fict. I have not heard of many acts of violence in Walton or Floyd Coun-
ties. *

Question. Although you are unable to include the whole of the counties named by you
in the charge of being in an insecure condition, do you include the rest of the State aa

being secure ?

Answer. Do you mean, do I say that the rest of the State is quiet, and that life and
property are secure ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Answer. I cannot answer, except from rumor, because a great portion of the State-

1

have not been in for years.

Question. Then, so far as your knowledge and information extends, what do you say ?

Answer. The information I obtained from certain localities is conflicting; I do not

know what the truth is, not having been to those counties. I hear some men make one

statement and others deny it ; I do not know what the truth is.

Question. Our object is— it is mine, certainly, and I believe it is the object of this sub-

committee—to ascertain the condition of afl'airs in the several States, in Georgia among
others. As you are an officer of the United States, a gentleman of position, a member of

one of the learned professions, a practicing lawyer, to whom from your position most of

these circumstances would necessarily be made known, I have thought that you would
be enabled to give us an opinion founded upon knowledge of the facts relative to this

subject. For that reason I have asked these questions of yon, having suggested that

you should be called before the committee.
Ansiver. I can give you an opinion, but I cannot swear to facts outside of my own

knowledge, which is confined to certain localities. My opinion is that nearly all of

the State is peaceable and orderly, but not all of it.

Question. Do you believe the evils that exist are within the remedy of the State laws
and authorities f

Ansuxr. To a certain extent they are. I do not think any evil is entirely within the

control of State and Federal courts here or anywhere else. I think they can only keep
crime down, not extinguish it.

Question. Do you consider the laws and authorities of this State are sufficient to

remedy the evils which you say exist in certain portions of it?

Ansrver. In some degree they are.

Question. Are they so in the average degree of human legislation ?
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Avswcr. I am not iireiiarecl to say tbat they aro not ; I do not know that tbey aro

not. I have my doubts as to some localities in the State, to be candid with you,
speaking now t'lom the information I have derived from others. I think, however,
tbat in nearly all the counties the State laws and the State courts will be sufficient to

preserve order.

Queiition. And to punish offenses?

Answer. Yes, sir ; anil to protect life and property.

Question. Do you know John L. Coley f

Answer. Yes, sir ; be was before the grand jury.

Question. Were iudictuients found agaiust any one upon his testimony ?
'

Answer. Yes, sir; combined with other testimony, bills were found agaiust ten men.
Question. Relating to the outrage iuHicted upon bis person '?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Under those indictments those parties will be brought to trial ?

Answer. If they can be arrested.

Question. Do you anticipate any difficulty at all in bringing them to trial?

Ansiver. You know that men sometimes attempt to avoid arrest.

Question. Do yon anticipate any difficulty, except in that way?
Ansiver. O no, sir.

Question. Their only means of avoiding arrest is to escape ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the Ciiairmax :

Question. Do you know whether the marshal has found it necessary to call in military

aid to assist him in making arrests ?

Answer. I tbiidv he has.

Question. Do you know whether he has been obliged to make arrests clandestinely,

so to speak, or whether he can go in open day and arrest men ?

Anstcer. Sometimes they go in the night. I think they told me that, in some places,

they wonld not be safe without some force with them.

By Mr. Bayaed :

Question. Is that in cases growing out of a violation of the internal revenue laws iu

distilling cases?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Those are the cases you refer to ?

Answer. Yes, sir. We have not sent out warrants in these last cases.

By the Chairmax :

Question. Have you seen any disposition, either in the State tribunals or iu your own
court, to treat these prosecutions under the enforcement act as political iu their char-r

acter ?

Answer: Some people regard them as political in their character; others do not.

Question. Has there been any greater hesitation in finding bills or bringing in verdicts

iu those cases than in ordinary criminal cases?
Answer. None of those cases have been tried.

Question. Has there been any attempt to bring any of the so-called Ku-Klus cases

before the State tribunals ?

Answer. I have heard of some.
Question. Have you ever known a case for any of these injuries, or personal violence,

by what are popularly called the Ku-Klux, to be successfully prosecuted to conviction
and pufiishment ?

Ansiver. I have heardiihat some were, but I do not know.
Question. In what counties?
Answer. In Chattooga County, I think. I do not know whether the case in Bartow

County is of tbat character or not ; I do not know anything about it.

Question. Wliat information have you of the existence and operations of this secret

organization called the Ku-Klnx?
Answer. I know nothing except from hearsay. I have heard witnesses here testify

on the subject before the grand jury, but their testimony has been conlined to particu-

lar acts, w^hich they witnessed, by bands of men. The extent of the organization, if

there is such a one, tbey do not pi'etend to know. They have only testitied to what
facts they are personally cognizant of.

Question. You have been living here all your life, as I understand?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How long ago did you lirst liear of the existence of what is known as the
Ku-Klux organization ?

Ansiver. 1 do not remember to have heard of it before the year 18G8.

Qucfition. In how large a portion of the State is that organization popularly supposed
to exist ?

Answer. I do not know.
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Qiicsthii. From all the information yon have obtained, from all the means you have
of forming an opinion about it, what do you suppose yourself is the extent of the

' organization f

Adswc): From the statement of witnesses that have been here
Qntstion. I do not confine my question to that, but I refer to every means of informa-

tion which you have.
Answer. Well, nearly all that I know is from these witnesses. I have had witnesses

here from the greater portion of the northern district—I mean from a considerable por-

tion of it. I attach more impottance to what they testify than I do to any mere rumors
.that I hear outside. I have examined witnesses from several counties in the northern
district. From their testimony I have no donljt that in those countieij there have Ijeen

bands of disguised men. The extent of the organization I know nothing of, neither
do they. The^y testify to those bands coming on them at ditierent times, and to what
they have done.

Question. Is there such a general similarity in their operations as to justifj" the belief

in a community of purpose on their part, the belief that these different bands arc parts
of one whole organization ; in other words, that the Ku-Klux organization is one or-

ganization, which manifests itself at different jioints?

Ansh'cr. I have no means of forming any reliable opinion as to whether it is a general
organization or not. All I have heard is in regard to particular acts done in certain
places.

Queslion. What has been the tone of the press in this State in regard to the Ku-Klux
organization ?

. Answer. I think the press of the State now is almost universal in its condemnation
of it.

Question. Has it been so all the time?
Answer. There have been very few exceptions, jf any.
Question. Has there been any denial of the existence of the organization ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Queslion. What iiortiou of the press has denied the existence of the organization?
Answer. Well, nearly all the press in this State is democratic.
Question. Does any j^ortion of your press still deny the existence of this organiza-

tion ?

Answer. I think so ; I have not read a, great deal upon that point in the newspapers
;

I have not seen that question discussed, as to whether it was a general organization or

not. I do not myself know of any general organization.
Que.stion. I do not supj)ose that you know, from personal knowledge, of anj' organiza-

tion of the kind ?

Answer. No, sir ; only so far as I have ascertained what they have done in certain
places.

Question. The complaints which have come to your official knowledge have been
principally from the four counties you have named ?

Answer. Complaints have come from other counties, but no bills have been found.
Question. What other counties?
Answer. From .Jackson and White Counties.
Question. Are the comunssioners throughout this district pretty much appointed ?

Answer. United States commissioners ?

Question. Yes.
Answer. No, sir.

Question. How many are there ?

Answer. I can think of but four now; three here and one at Dalton, perhaps.
There may be others, but I have had no occasion to inform myself upon that point.

Question. Has there been nnich resistance to the internal revenue laws ?

Answer. In many of the rural sections there is a great disposition to evade the rev-
enue laws. I think there are in the ueighbt^rhood of two hundred and fifty indictments
now pending here against parties in this district for violations of the revenue laws,
nearly all for illicit distilling.

Question. To what portions of the district do those indictments relate ?

Answer. Mainly to the northern portion, but some to all parts. There is a great dis-

position among the country people m North Georgia to distill, without leave or license.

It is an old habit, and they are not inclined to break it off.

Question. You have been asked in regard to this case of Lowther. Have you matle
a sufficient examination of the case to be able to state whether the account which he
gives is reliable or otherwise ?

Answer. I have no means of testing the truth of his report.
Question. You were not acquainted with him until you saw him here ?

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. Lansestg :

Question. I understood you to say that there were a number of complaints before
your late grand jury upon which bills were not found ?
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%

Jnsu-cr. Yes, sir.

Question. About liow many ?

Answer. Do you mcau agaiust Low many persous?
Question. Yes.

Ansicer. I cannot remember precisely ; I suppose from thirty to fifty.

Question. You sav there are portions of the State where perfect order does not pre-
rail ?

Answer. Yes, sii\

Qnestion. Do you understand that those disorders are what arc generally understood
as Ku-Klux disorders f

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; I refer to that class of disorders.
Questio7t. Next after violations of revenue laws, have you had any such number of

complaints in relation to other matters as you have had for cases of jiersoual violence,
or what are poiiularly known as Ka-Klux outrages ?

Answer. No, sir ; indictments upon other grounds are not very numerous.
Question. And the evidence in those cases shows that those acts are committed by

bodies of men apparently acting in concert '/

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bayakd :

'
'

Question. In the cases of those violations of the peace which are known as Ku-Klux
operations or outrages, have you been able to trace any political character in them, or
are they anything more than the usual disturbances which occur in communities?
Answer. In White and Habersham Counties, if there is anj'^ orgauization, I am in-

clined to think tliat it is for the protection of distillers, and for th(! purpose of making
war upon everybody who tries to bring them to justice. In Haralson County, where a
number of bijls have been found, they have had considerable political excitement.
They have had recently there an election for a member of the lower house, on account
of a tie in the regular election. I do not know whether it was on account of political

excitement there or not that they have made these visits to people's houses and whij)ped
them.

Question. Do you remember the case of Mr. Coley ?

Answer. 1 do not know what they whipped him for.

By Mr. Scofield :

Qiif,stion. So far as you know, are the perpetrators of these outrages members of one
political party and the victims members of the other?
Answer. I think that the majority of those who have been assaulted have claimed to

be members of the republican party.
Question. Did you ever hear of a democrat being assaulted by the Kn-Klnx?
Answer. There was one mau before the jury Avho said he was assaulted, and he claimed

to be neutral.
Question. For what was he assaulted ?

Answer. He said it was because they had alarmed some of the freedmen that he had
hired and were about to break up his farming operations, and he had been using some
pretty sti'oug language in regard to them.

Question. They had been whipping his men ?

Answer. I do not know that they whipped them; they had alarmed them.
Question. He had been condemning the Ku-Klux, and said that ho was neutral in

politics ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I did not ask very many Avitnesses what their politics were. The
most of those who have been whipped were negroes ; but several white men have beeu
beaten.

Question. Yonr information in regard to the matter is very limited. Either nothing
of the sort has occurred about you, or you have very little knowledge of it ?

Answer. Nothing of the kind has taken place near this city. These occiUTences take
place in the thinly-settled portions of the State. Haralson County is sixty miles from
here.; White County is farther ofi'; .Jackson County is forty miles otf; and I suppose
that Walton County is still farther distant. I have no means of knowing personally
many of these things. I am telling you what I have learned here from the witnesses
brought from those sections.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Were you a judge of a State court before you were appointed to the posi-

tion of United States district attorney ?

Answer. I was judge of the superior court of this circuit, the circuit inchiding At-
lanta, previous to the 3d of July, 1870, when I resigned. After Mr. Akerm.an was made
Attorney General I was appointed to the office of United States district attorney.



GEORGIA—SUB-COMMITTEE. 375

Atlanta, Georgia, October 21, 1871.

MAEY BROWN (colored) sworn and exaiiiincd.

By "the Chairman :

^''SiSS'S;. When did you come from that connty here?

Amiccr. I came down on Wednesday niornuig last.

QuesHon. For what did you come down here?

Avsu-er. To give evidence agamst the Kn-lUux.

fs/;o«. What evidence did yon come to give m regard to them .

jSm" I came to give evidence of how they treated me.

Queslion. Tell ns all about it.
c„„,-,„^ mornin.' the 21st of May; it was be-

not done anything; I have "^t ^^^^^ '^^^''^l' ?.Jiier where 1 was; she told tliem

be scared." They took my moth«;^outfiis, aid a^^^^^^
^^^^^._„ gj,,,

I ^as i. the lumse They ^id : ^
Mahe ^V^^\^ ^^.^^.rlu^ tell her to hu.h,

asked them "\\hat toi .'

f
aui noi ,,ti i c i

^^^ ^^ ^^ , j^^^^_

for I wanted to hear what
f^^W whT, ed W n tor blj thev beat him with very

band) «-^«tr'7>-^
''"V."o.e L an7 of^ t ese c^^^^^^^ 1^'ere. There were a

large cane-poles, as laige as any oi ii e
^^^^^^^^^ ^^^^j, j^^^

eonple of new hoes sitting n the
>f './";,; ""^^^ ^4" the last one they took

head. They then put a chain around his
"^f•./ J/",^i:, t-clothes. They said :

out of the house. They just dragged me
^'^'^^'^^^'If.M'l Tell us ail

"What is that you are going ^^own to Atlanta to
^
swar au

^^^ ^^^j^ ^^

about it; what men are those you s"v?
f^^^^ 'j^

„ ^-J^^J^.i.id, "We are not
about forty of you

;
give me

t^^^fJ^^^J^^^/^^on " I said, "Ihope von will not
going to hold on at al

; -«/- ITi^^.o' ,o k^ow wheth^^^ They
kill me ; spare my lite." Me saui, i uu "oy

, . ^ ,^(, about
threw m'e down on my face, stripped my S^l^^^'^^^^^^P.^J.^^.f L u^^^^^ said, "Now toll

twenty-five licks before they let me up The^,/hen jeike n e i ,

^ ^.^ ^^^^^

us who are those you are gomg to swear against.
J-

said, i w .v ^ j

know I was going to swear ^ «V7^r';' J,Se it " sLid I "Prove it; that is all

"You can't prove it." They «aKl,;;We can p ove it.

^^..-^J ^^^^^^nike'toseeyou."
you have got to do." They said. We can piov e it ^^^^ ^' ^ ^. Coleman Alley ; he
There was one fellow there, a,^l"f "f^S'^^^^^^VamVsa^^^^^ " cTn't dispute my word; a

ran up and struck me on the head with a Pf^^ol' ™; ,^'^^'^g .^ ,, rtbetold you more than
white woman told me all about

y^^^W^-'^^^f^^^^^^ Palmer 'come up and said, "Now,
I know, then." Two fellows, Isaac O i^^'^^-'^^^l.^^

f^^ be n it "I said, " No difference, I

Mary, just tell us what you know, and y^, ^^^«^ "
J^^^^^i led now. I am going to tell th<.

thank you ; I do not care tori have been hi ee-thud^^
^^^^^.^

truth if I am shot down the nextnnnute.
-^i^f^,^^^^^^' ^,,u

H^^^^^^^ They said, "Wheio
downtheriver?" I told them t was Bailey bnntb and F^^^^^^ -

^.^.^^. ^,,

were they going f I told them that I ^\^
/«*^,^^;"i\V^^f^,iekH plaguing a girl

get some cotton from a neighbor-woman, and pist as 1 ^^^^'^ 'j ^^f,^ ,,°t ^^^,^

fiviug with me about some ^l.ark blaek-boy ^^_^' ^ *«1^^^\'4/ f^^^'^Jld hear the women-
than^t down in my chair till I heard b^^^^^^^^

,„a said Mr.
folks l^"^l-"«- ,^^-*

Ydid^not tell^L^^^^^^^
-^t'l they came round

Cason was killed. But 1 am noi leii au^^ ^ iipiT-d T was iro ng to swear it.

They said they came-to whip me about ^^^at; that they heard^^
^^^^^

Question. Did they whip you any more that "^S^t
on me ; I could

Insrcer. Yes, sir; they cut me
^jll^^cl A^eTtlf' ^otl^^^^^^^ "- everything

not sit up for about three weeks alter that
,f^".^.''^,'^.^^

»^^^^ After they got done
1 had on they stripped off; fshook with

^^^11^''^^^^''^^^^^^ up
with me Oakes and two boys, Albert HendcTson an '^^\ -^ J^^^il tl, .

with a rope. They had a chain around ™y. ,°<^,?^.' ^^'\^^ ,^ euo„..b ; don't do that

;

choked me so that I fainted.
_
Some of t^^^^^^^f.^^V

Bojs that s eno^^
^^ ^^^^^

.

that's over the law." They jerked me up
^^ \!TffkUl hex rbit now." Another

to myself again One of them Baul, • I ^vonld
l^^^^^J'' ^^^^^ .^ tUem said, " If

said, "O, no; she hasn't done anything, lets ""^'^yy ^^ , ^j^,. |3„t i allowed
I had known she had not done anything more

I;i«"^;\"^i\°;^^5,^o™'/ Then, on the
she had done something." The other one said, That is all we know.
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fifth Sunday of October, a year ago, Bailey Smith, Frank Ilcniderson, Tom Oake.s,
Albert Heiulersou, and Henry Henderson came on by Mrs. Henderson's, and lour of us

—

the girl living with me, my husband, myself, and another person— were standing there,
a little apart. Mrs. Henderson said, " Do you know, Mary, where those men are
going?" I said, " No, I don't; I am sick now, and I want to trade and go home." She
kept on asking me. I said, "Where are they going?" She said, '"They are going to
kill Casou." I said, " They are not ; I an* going to Cason's in a few nninitcs." She
»j;iid, *' Don't go there; you will be killed." I said, "Why?" She said, " Because we
don't want any persons down to-day." In a short haste of time, about a quarter of an
hour, these men came on. Isaac Oakes came with his coat about his shoulders. He
beckoned to Mrs. Henderson to come to him, and said, " How long have the boys been
gone ?" She said, " Not more than out of sight." He says, "I don't want them to do
that shooting to-day." When she came back I said. " Where is Isaac going f She
said. "They don't want the boys to kill Cason to-day;" and then she told nie to go
round the house and draw some beer ; and I went round there. Her telling ni6 that
these men were going to kill that man, I suppose she got afraid I would tell the
iolks of it, and she told Mr. Oakes that I was going to swear about those men. She
said that it would be a very good idea to go and give nie a light good whipping, or
scare me away from the place; that I ought to have a clear whi])))ing. She told me
what she told them, and said that it was because she was afraid 1 would tell it. .

Question. That is what they whi])ped you for?
AiisH'cr. That is all. You can ask the whole county, and they will tell you that is all

they had against me. My meeting the two men on Wednesday evening was the first

start of it.

Question. W^ere those t^yo men supposed to have killed this Mr. Casou ?

Anmvcv. Mr. Cason was a white nuiu and a revenue officer, and they were supposed to

have killed him.
Question. You had seen these two men?
Answer. They were not colored ; they were as white as you are ; but they had their

faces blacked and hair tangled. The reason I knew Smith was that I worked for him
the day before that. He said he wanted his party to Ku-Klux. me away, for I was the
only evidence against them.

Question. Were the people who whipped you disguised ?

Answa: Some of them were.
Question. How were they disguised ?

Answer. One of their faces fell olf in the yard, and I allowed to fetch it here, but I

came off' without it. There was a little strip of cloth, about seven or eight inches wide,
over their face, and they would raise it up to spit, so that I saw them. Some of them
fell off". Coleman Alley did not have on anything. Isaac Oake's face fell off", and we
picked it up the next morning.

Question. What did they whip your husband for?
Anstcer. Not anything, except because they could not make him vote the democratic

ticket. I suppose that is all they had against him.
Question. This was last May ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; the 21st of last May.
Question. How many blows did they strike you in all?

Ansicer. I reckon they gave me betwixt seventy and eighty licks.

Question. With what did they strike you?
Answer. With hickory switches; thej' were as large as my thumb, and all the cane

part they wore out. We found them the next morning; the ends of the switches were
all frazzled ; I saw that before they struck me.

Question. How many switches did you find ?

AnswcT. We found five hickories up by the fence, where they had dropped them ill

order to get on their horses.
,

Question. You say they stripped you entirely ?

Anstcer. They had me there about the yard as naked as I was born. «

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. How many were thei'e in all that visited you ?

Answer. I do not know ; I heard that there were forty came to our house that night;
hut, you know, I did not know all of them.

By the Chairman :

Question. Were they riding or walking?
Anstver. Most of them walked ; a portion were riding ; some rode double, behind each

other.
Question. Were the horses disguised ?

Ansivcr. Two of the horses had blankets thrown over them. There was the worst
earryings on there that ever you saw.

Question. Were any others whijjped there besides your husband and yourself?
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Ansu-n: Tlioy gave the girl tlint was staying with me five licks.

Question. Did they do anything to your motlier?
Answer. Yes, sir; the rest they made shpw their nakedness; they did not strip there,

but they made them show their nakedness. Well, it was theterriblest caiTyiugouyou
ever saw ; they bad a powerful show

;
you never heard the like.

Question. Did they do anything improjjer to the girl except to give her five licks?

Answer. They made her show ; I do not know that they did anything else but the
five licks.

Question. Do you know of any other 'persons in the neighborhood that have been
whipped ?

Answer. They came down to Mr. Meadows's, an old black man by the name of Uncle
.left' Meadows; they took him out and hanged him ; his daughter followed on, and they
told her to go back, but she would not; she gathered up a fence-rail and knocked one
of them down ; they asked him afterwards what ailed him ; he said he just got drunk,
and some fellow gave him a lick; he would not own that the girl struck him at all,

but she gave him an awful lick on the temple.
Question. When was that ?

Ansicei: Along in Febriiary.

Question. Before they whipped you ?
*

Answer. Yes, sir; I never took any ])articular notice of the time; I cannot tell ex-
actly ; they went to several neighbors' houses that night ; tliey came to my house
twice ; the first time they came they came on Tuesday night. I had left my two little

children there, eleven years and seven years old, and had told them I would be back
that night. I went to the gold mine to get some money that was owed me. I staid at
mj- sister's that night, and I said to her that I had dreamed that the house was afire.

I went home the next day, and when I got about two miles from home I met the chil-

dren, and they said :
" Ma, I thought the Ku-Klux had got you." They told a dread-

ful tale; but they did not frighten the children, and I allowed if it did not frighten
them it should not frighten me. I asked the children who they knew of them ; they
said that Mr. Alley made up a light before they came to the house.

Queslion. Was that before they canu; and whipped you ?

Answer. Yes, sir. They told the little boy to tell me to be sure and leave in ten days.
Some of the neighbors said that I had better not leave, that they were only trying to

scare me ofl:' because I knew something; but I felt very uneasy when night oame.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Have you been examined before the grand jury ?

Ansteer. No, sir ; I came up here, but I did not tell them anything at all.

Question. You have not made any statement of these facts anywhere else.

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. This is the first time you have stated your case ?

Ansirer. For about nine weeks after they cdme last time I did not see the inside of
my house; I did not get a chance to make any crop. There were five that had navy
revolvers alf around my head, and said, " Speak, and tell the truth, or we will shoot
you down." I said: " I do not intend to tell anything but the truth."

By Mr. Yoorhees :

Question. Do you live at home now ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir.

Q^wstion. Are you going back home now ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are you afraid ?

Ansicer. I am afraid ; but there are soldiers camj^ed about a half a mile from my
house.

Question. Were they camped there last spring ?

Answer. No, sir; they have lately come there.

Question. How far do you live from here?
Answer. It generally takes from eight to nine days, to go and come with a wagon ; I

Lave heard Them say how far it was, but I do not recollect. After the Yankees come
they had a suspicion, and threatened me ; they got an old black lady to tell me that if

I eame down to Atlanta and told all their names they would kill me. I am afraid
about going out any now.

Bj' the Chairman :

Question. How long since the Yankees, as you call them, come there?
Ansice)\ They have been there about six weeks—may be seven. ,
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Atlanta, Geougia, OctoTx')- 21, 1K71.

OLIVER T. LYON sworn and cxaniincd.

The Chairman. This witness having been called at your instance, Mr. Bayard, you
will coniniuience his examiuaticu.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What is your ago? '

Answer. I am about thirty years of age.

Question. Where are you from ?

Ansunr. I was from Marj'land, originally.

Question. What is your present occupation f

Answer. 1 am a railroad contractor.

Question. How long have you been in Georgia ?

Answer: Since the spring of 18G6.

Question. Wiiat was j'our occupation during the war?
Answer. I was an officer in the United States Army.
Question. In what regiment ?

Answer. In the second Maryland raiment.
Question. Did you continue in the Army during the war?
Ansiver. I was in the Army for three years and four months.
Question. Did j'ou come to Georgia at the close of the war ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I engaged in planting here in 1865, but I did not come myself until
the spring of 1866.

Question. What have you been engaged in chiefly since you cjime to this State?
Ansiver. Chielly in planting, and in railroad business.

Question. Has that led you to travel a great deal through the State ?

Answer. I have driven through the State, from north to south, three times, and I

have seen a great deal of the people of the State ?

Question. lias the fact that you were an officer in the United States Army been well
known to the jtcople here?

Ansicer. I think it is universally known to those who knownic. Sometimes I meet a
man who did not know it at ihe time, I could tell that from his remarks ; but some one
would very soon tell it, or I would tell him myself, as occasion would offer.

Question. May I ask you what are your political affiliations?

Answer. I was a Union man, and I have always voted the republican ticket.

.

Question. Did you vote for the present President of the United States ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. After you came to Georgia, did you or not exercise any political function
in the way of registration here ?

Answer. For the tirst year or two politics were scarcely mentioned here. Then I

was appointed superintendent of registra,tion to assist in tlie numagiug of elections in
three counties at two different elections, one for the convention and one for State
officers.

Question. What were the names of those counties ?

Answer. Colquitt, Thomas, and Brooks Counties.
Question. Who appointed you ?

Ansu-er. Mr. Hurl but.

Question'. Were you appointed under a republican administration ?

Answo: Yes, sir.

Question. Did you witness those elections?
Answer. Yes, sir.

. Question. Describe the conduct of those elections Tinder your supervision ?

Ansiver. We made our appointments at each district for the citizens, black and white,
to meet us for the purpose of registration. We got into a buggy and drove to each pre-
cinct, and occupied one, two, or three days, as was necessary, in registering the names
of those eligible. We questioned them as wo were directecl to do by the superintend-
ent of registration, and those that were . eligible we registered, and those who were
not, we would not register.

Question. Did you supervise the elections.when they came on ?

Answer. Yes, sir. When the election came on I received the ballots for the conven-
tion, and also for State officers ; we had two elections.

Question. Did you regulate those elections yourself?
Ansiver. I managed the last election myself as president of the board of registra-

tion ; in the first election I was one of the registrars.

Question. Were the elections fair and orderly ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How did you regulate them ?

Ansiver. It was in a court-house ; I saw that there was a disposition for the whites
and blacks to keep apart ; and just so long as that pleased botli parties I allowed it to
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T .^,.1,1 ,1r^t rnn ill the whites and all tlic blacks at one time, so I took some of

?or half an hour, and then wave them off and rnn the %vhites lor a half an houi. Ihe

^^iSr^e :^S^-l^^?^^eS:ii;^?S^ietl. and peaceably hy the

people f

Q"«.^lli were placed npon a dead level of eqnality as to time and chance of

voting?
Answer. Level to the minute.

QMesiiojf. Did the blacks vote freely?

^wsuw. Jnst as freely as the whites.

Questiou. Was there any inteiiereuce with them at alH

QS'i.^Vafthereafreeand orderly election at the last election, when General

^ill^ThateteLion was held in the different pr I was sick at that time;

T lv,d the chills There was an order issued something about negroes being requied

o"^; 4- aVolS before they voted, but tbat was abolished.^ I be i^ve^-ew^^

i.oition in the mornino- not to allow negroes to vote unless they had poJcl then taxes.

O^STtwo frLndJof mine told them that would not do ;
that they must be flowed to

vote The managers then allowed them to vote, and they voted freely. In t lie aftei-

Bo'm I drove ovefthree miles to cast my vote for Grant ; I was one oi three white men

in the district who voted for Grant.

Question. Is that a republican district ?

Ansu-er. I think we had a majority there.

niii'ttimi Is there a larije negro population in those counties '
.

Si^S I think there is a white majority in that district, but in that county there is

a larStenubUcan mSority. The other counties that I had managed lor our party be-

fore lent'^Jem^^^^^^^^^ I^"* *^- republicans assured me that if I had been

there to have managed it I could have carried it the other way.

OuSion That was because of your personal influence m the county^

SScer Yes sir ; I knew everybody, and mingled with them very treely.

gSS;. Your o^vn political sentiments were weU known and.pubhcly avowed?

Answer. Everybody knows them.
_ i^^„,^„f ?

Question. What number of men have you m your employment /

Answer I mav sav I have about three hundred.

Omstm hTvc yon been in the habit of employing large numbers of men ?

iTsS- I have controlled more freedmen, I reckon, than any other man in the State,

'%'LSr Fi-om your experience with the people of Georgia, is there safety to person

and property in the State under the laws ol the State ? ,

Ansxver I am not a lawyer, and I never heard a case tried m my life. But 1 have

had nrdificiiTty eUher in regard to my person or my property since I have been here,

tifo^ Have you yourself ever beVn molested or insulted smce you have been ru

'*'^Jr;' lla^riifd^^oJ'wt'lS^^^^^^^^^

-welM do nSt know that I should say that. I have seen others of the same political

«pntinipnts o-ettiuo: into more difliculties than I have.
. ^ ,-, ^ ^ 4.i,„

qZ^^I. Have Ion met with kindness, courtesy, and justice, from the people of the

^^Anmer When I first came here I was looked upon as a Yankee, and you know that

loose Yankeefwere a new thing.down here. I was a single man when I came here,

iTso'S^tVwalsmifething I did not attempt to enter, - ^ -^
^i';-^^;-^,; .S'lnS

I did not come here seeking society ;
however, m course ot t me I

,^f^^;^^\^«^^^'^^^^
the best families ; and I married in Georgia. In iact my whole business connection,

nearly, has been with those who belong to the democratic party.

Question. Have you maintained your political athhations '.

Answer. Yes, sir ; no man has any doubt about my pohtics.

Question. They are well known!

olZ7on'^Skye'the facts that you were a United States soldier and officer, and a pro-

nounced member of the republfcan party, interfered with your business relations, or

with your personal comfort and happiness in this State i
, j ,

,

Answer. I think not, for I have not seen any time since I have been here that 1 couitt
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not get any amount of work to do ', and the most of the work I have had has been
from men of democratic opinions.

Question. I will now ask you whether citizens from the Northern States coming down
here, men of lair character and of honest occupation, have not a fair chance, and are
not welcomed by the people of the State ?

A nsive): It has seemed to mo that, if anything, they have a better chance. I can
take a citizen from any section of the North, and, if he has the means to carry on any
business, he can get along prosperously, and ho would be welcomed by all to whom I
introduced him. I do not mingle with any but the right kind of people. There are
other classes, but I have never had any business with them.

Question. I am speaking now of the citizens of Georgia as a class ?

Answer. I think there would be no trouble with them whatever.
Question. Y(m have lived in Maryland, and I suppose you have been a great deal in

the State of Delaware ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I have been there a great deal.

Question. Are person and property as secure to-day in Georgia as th.ey are in the
States of the North, in your opinion ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir; in my opinion they are. Take these negroes, for instance: in
many instances they are not able to employ lawyers. My partner is a very strong
rebel, as we used to call them. The other day they arrested one of our negroids, when
we were about leaving CuthViert, for assault and battery on another negro. My part-
ner went in himself and told them that he did not reckon they would treai. a white
man thus and so, and that if the negro was not cleared, tliey would b(* dealt with. I
have learned stiice that they had a trial, and the negro was cleared. That was a mat-
ter between two negroes. In some cases negroes are not able to protect themselves,
because they have not the means to get assistance.

Question. That is a case where it results from the poverty incidental to their condi-
tion of life ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is not that the case everywhere ?

Answer. I reckon it is ; but I never heard a case tried in my life.

Question. Then the only cases of failure to obtain justice are whereaman is too poor
to emploj^ counsel ?

Answer. That is what I think. I feel no ways uneasy on account of my property,
because I could afford to employ counsel. And I should employ to-day a democrat. A.
T. Mclntyre, of the first congressional district, is the one I would employ, for the rea-
son

Question. Did you vote for him ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Does he know that you did not ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. A man can have his own political opinions, and not be injured by them in

his business and social relations ?

Answei: I think so. At the time I was registering I would decline to register the
master, and would register his slaves, and they would go off ami vote against him. I

did a great many things that ought to have made me very obnoxious to the people

;

and I showed straight out why I did them. Postmaster General Creswell, who was
from my town in Maryland, told my father that anything he could do for in*?, or for any
of us down here, he would do with pleasure. I tliought from that that he only wanted
an excuse to give me the office of postmaster at Savannah. My partner wanted to get
me in that position. They got up a petition in the district, and had it signed by all the
merchants, for n:y appointment. The commission merchants of Savannah also got uj)

a petition, and had it signed in my behalf. Judge Fleming drew up a petition and
had the entire bar of Savannah sign it. I knew that ^Ir. Creswell did not doubt
my politics at all, for I had gone home from the army and stood at the polls iu order to

help elect him to Congress. Mr. Hiirlbut wrote a letter, which was tjie only rei)ubli-

can recommendation I had, for I thought Creswell wouldn't want any from that side

of the house. Mr. Hurlbut wrote a very complimentary letter, and Judge Alexander
recommended me very highly, stating that I was a strong republican, that I had iden-
tified myself with the country, and had attended to my business. I sent those j)apers

on, and expected to get the appointment, but I was disappointed in it. I just sent Mr.
Creswell word that 1 would rather have mj^ recommendations that I had sent him, and
maintain my political sentiments, than to receive the aiipointment without such rec-

ommendations. I think that is the best evidence of how a northern man can come
here and be treated, if he is the right kind of a man.

Questioii. He can hold his own political sentiments firmly, and yet receive kind treat-

ment from the people ?

Answer. I have done so. I am as good a republican to-day as I ever was, and I expect
to remain go. I am only sorry that we have not had more men who are able to pursue
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that course, for we then should have had the State of Georgia to-day just where we
want it.

Question. You mean by " we," the republicans ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The trouble with us has been that young men, asd old men too, who
had no business qualitications, and who could make a living only by i)olitics, would
take hold of those things without any interest in the State, and get into otiice ; many
of them would do things that I would be ashamed to admit that a friend or acquaint-

ance of mine had done. 1 went on the bond of a friend of i:dne in Tliomasville ; I

indorsed for him, but lie skedaddled, and I will have to pay the amount of his bond.

Question. Who is he ?

Answer. His name is Kobbius.
Question. ^Yhere did he come from 1

Answer. From Connecticut, I think.

By Mr. Vookiiees :

Question. Where did he go?
Answer. I think he went to Florida.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. He was a defaulter?
Ansicer. Yes, sir; he was postmaster there.

Question. He was a political adventurer ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; he dressed better than I did.

Question. When a man comes here for the ordinary purposes of citizenship, settles iu

the State, aud becomes a member of the community, ho has no difficulty in getting
along, whatever his political opinions may be?
Answer. That has been my experience.
Question. Do you believe that is the case with others?
Answer. I do.

Question. If he comes here as a mere political adventurer, without having any busi-

ness interests common with the people, he is obnoxious to them?
Answer. I do not want him to come Iiere myself.

Question. And that is the feeling of the people?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. They do not object to those who come here intending to become members
of the community, and to live here as other people do?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Having employed a great number of negroes, I will ask you if you have
known of many cases of oppression of them by the white race?

Ansiver. Well, no, sir ; not personally.

Question. Do you know more cases of the kind here than occur in other States?

Ansiver. I do not know anything about it in other States, only what I read, and I

pay no attention to that.

Question. Do you believe that, as a rule, to-day iu Georgia a man can have justice

done him as to his personal rights, and his rights of jiroperty, irrespective of color or

political views ?

Answer. I do ; at least, that has been my experience.

Question. Do you believe the laws of Georgia aje ample to i^rotect a man, and are

sufficiently well executed to do so ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

By the Chairman :

Question. When did you come to this State?
A^iswer. In the spring of 1866.

Question. When was it you held the elections in the counties you have named?
Answer. I think I commenced the registration in the spring of 1887, and I believe the

election for the convention was held the same spring, and that the election for State

officers was held that fall.

Question. You say the elections in those counties were fak elections ?

An.swer. They were fair.

Question. Everybody who was entitled to vote had an opportunity to vote his real

sentiments ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I was sworn to do that, aud I handled every haUot in two of the

counties myself.
Question. You are satisfied that was done ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. 1 understand you to say that the elections in those counties in 1868 resulted

differently from the election held the year previous.
Answer. Yes, sir, in two of the counties it did.

Question. In 1888 you say the elections were held in the different iirecincts?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.
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Question. Where did you vote as cue of the three -white men who voted for General
Grant ?

Ansiccr. At Boston, in Thomas County.
Question. Yon say you were an api)licant for the postniastership of Savannah ?

Ansucr. Yes, sir.

Question. And yon procured recommendations and credentials ahaost entirely from
democratic and rebel sources ?

Anstver. Yes, sir, almost entirely.

Question. You did not obtain anything to indicate the wishes of the republicans"?
Ansivcr. No, sir, nothing whatever. I viewed it in this way: Tlie business of the

post-office was almost entire! j' in the hands of the white people ; the colored people got
very few letters.

Question. Were there other republican ajiijlicants besides yourself?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was a republican appointed?
Answer. I think tliat Mr. Creswell appointed a colored man of the name of Sims,

but General Grant would not approve of it, and appointed a young man of the name
of Clift.

Question. Was he a republican?
Answer. Yes, sir; I never met him but once. I merely sent my papers to Washing-

ton ; I did not go there myself.
Question. Do you know who recommended his appointment ?

Ansu-ir. 1 presume his brother did ; I do not know.
Question. Yon say you were on the bonds of the postmaster at Thomasville?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When was he appointed ?

Answer. About three years ago, in the fall of 1868, I think.
Question. He became a defaulter, and you are held liable ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Where are you living now ?

Answer. I am living about forty miles south of here.
Question. Is that where you married ?

Anstver. No, sir ; I married a Savannah lady, but I married in Brooks County.
Question. Was the lady you married of a republican or a democratic family ?

Answer. She was of a very strong democratic family.
Question. Had they been rebels '!

Answer. Yes, sir
;
of the bitterest kind. We never went near her father's house until

within the last month or so.

Question. Are there, in the part of the State where you live, any organizations com-
monly known as the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I have no idea; I do not know anything about that.
Question. You have never seen any ?

Answer. I never have.
Question. Have you any reason to believe or to suspect that there are such organiza-

tions there ?

Answer. No, sir; I have not. I believe this about the people of Georgia: they are
very different from our people in Maryland. I bulieve, from conversat ions I have heard
here, that in regard to anybody* republican 'or democrat, if ho did not do right, I
could, myself, to-day, get up a number of men to help make him do right, or to pun-
ish him for having done wrong.

Question. Why would they do that ; because they think it is right to do so?
Answa: I do not know why they would do it. I do not know that ever has been

done, or that it will be done ; but in talking with my iiartner, for instance, we talk
very freely

;.
he knows my polities and I know Ids. He will say, "I can get fifty men

to go and make f bat IVllow do thus and so," regardless of politics.

Question. Would tljcy put disguises on their faces and their horses on such occasions?
Answer, No, sir ; w(! never have had anything like that with us.

Question. Do you think it is a peculiarity of the people of Georgia to take women out
of their houses and Avhij) them ?

Anstver. I have neve.r known anything of the kind done ; I do not think it is a pecu-
liarity of the people of Georgia.

Question. Or to compel women to expose their persons publicly to men ?

Answer. No, sir; that is all new to me.
Question. Yon never hav« heard of anything of the kind.
Anstver. No, sir; never.
Question. Do you know whether there are, in any part of the State, any organizations

known as Kn-Klnx 1

Answer. I do not know a thing about it at all.

Question. You have never heard anything about it ?

Anstver. I have heard my partner say that he knew if there was anything of the kind
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in our section he would know it; but be did not know anything about sucb an organ-
ization.

Qncsfion. Have you been in the neighborhood of Rome, Georgia ?

Answir. I lived there one year when I lirst came liere.

Question. When was that i

Answer. I engaged in planting there in the fall of 1865 and quit in 1866.

Question. Have you been there since ?

Ansiver. Only once since; some two months ago, at an agricultural convention.
Question. Do j'ou know whether there has been any Ku-Klux manifestation in that

region ?

Ansiver. Not at all ; when I was there politics were scarcely mentioned. I believe I

did get into two or three pretty warm discussions with a few of them sometimes.
Question. That was in 186G ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Quesiio)t. How long were you there the last time?
Avsu'er Only a few days—two or three days.
Question. Have you been in the country down below Milledgeville °!

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do you know anything about the state of things in the counties of White,
Warren, &c.f
Answer. No, sir ; I do not know anj'thing about Middle Georgia, only in driving

through it.

Question. You say yoii.live near this place?
Answer. Yes, sir ; I live about forty miles south from here, at Griffin.

Question. You acted under the military authority of General Hurlbut in making the
registrations and holding the elections, of which you have sx)oken ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. He was then in command of this military district?

Anstcei: Yes, sir. We had soldiers with ns at the last election—fonr, tive, or six—

I

forget how many. I never had occasion to call on them. The citizens had some fight

among themselves about a horse-trade, and I told the soldiers to go and arrest one of
them ; and they brought him in for a time. During that time I had several men come
to me and tell me that I risked too much in going about at night, as I do, by myself,

in any place and everj^ place, and that I ought to be careful. I never hesitated to go
to any jjlace at any hour of the night since 1 have been in the State.

By Mr. Bayard :

Qwesfion. And you have not been molested?
Ansiver. No, sir ; not at all.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. After telling ns of your extensive knowledge of the State and the people
here, I do not know whether I understand you correctly as giving it as your opinion,
that there is no such secret organization as is understood by the term Ku-Klux.

Answer. I say I know nothing whatever about it.

Question. I do not ask your knowledge. You have given opinions about the habits
of the peo]rlc, and the condition of quiet and good order of the State. I am now ask-
ing you if you also give it as your ojjinion that there is no such organization in the
State as the one spoken of?

Answfr. Well, I would only have to make up my opinion from what I hear.
Question. You have been asked thnt question'; do you intend to say that it is your

opinion that there is no such organization in the State ? •

Answer. That is rather a diflicult question for me to answer. I have no knowledge
of such an organization.

Question. 1 am not asking your knowledge at all ; I am asking about whiit idea you
design to convey in your answers to the inquiries put to you. You have ini'ormed us
of your knowledge of the people of the State. You haA'e said that you have traveled
everywhere over the State ; that you have business connections with a great many
men ; that you are familiar with the structure of society here ; and you have given us
your opinion resulting from that knowledge. Now. do you mean to give us also your
opinion that there is no such organization in the State as is ciumonly known by the
tenn Ku-Klux?

Avsicer. What I wish to have inferred from all I have said, and what I thiidf should
be inferred from what I have said is, that person and prop'erty are safe in Georgia.

Question. I know you have given us that opinion. Do you also give it as your
opinion that there are no Ku-IClux in this State ?

Answer. There are none to my knowledge, or that I have any idea of whatever.
Question. Your opinion is that there are none in the State ?

Answer. That is my opinion from mingling with the people, and from the informa-
tion 1 can get. 1 do believe they would have told me if there had been any.
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Question. Yon believe there are no parties who go out at night in disguise ana com-
mit outrages upon any portion of the peophi?

Ansurr. Not in those sections whei'e I am acquainted, for I have driven in every
direction, day and night.

Qin'siio)!. I am asking you now more about your belief, as you have been giving us
your ojjinions upon many things. Is it your belief that no such outrages are com-
mitted in the State by men who ride about at night in disguise?

Ansicer. I cannot answer that, because there are certain sections of the State that I

know as little about as I do about Alabama or Louisiana; you might as well ask me
about Alabama.

Question. I am asking you for your opinion from the infonuation you have. You
have given us a statement of your extensive knowledge of the people of Georgia; of
your travels in the State ; of your business relations here

;
you have stated your facil-

ities of information about this State and this peojtle
;
you have given Us your opinions

based upon that information. Now, do I Tinderstand you also to give as your opinion,
that there are no such outrages committed upon citizens of Georgia as those I hav^
referred to, by men who ride about at night in disguise ?

Ansicer. It is my opinion that there are none wherever I am acquainted.
Question. Then you believe that the statements which have been made to us by wit-

nesses here yesterday and this morning are fictions ?

Answer. I do not know anything about them at all. I have been over a very wide
extent of country in this State ; a sparsely populated region compared with Middle
Georgia. I drove through ithe State throe times to look at the country. From Rome
I drove down in an ambulance in the fall of 1886, clear to the Florida line and then
back again ; and then I moved my entire force there, mules, wagons, and everything
else.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What is the name of the defaulting postmaster at Thomasville ?

Answer. I think his name is Charles Robbius.
Question. You say he has gone to Florida ?

Answer. I have nuderstood so ; I left the matter with the sheriff of the county, who
is also on his bond; he is a democrat. I was notified the other day that I would have
to pay it.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. He was appointed before General Grant came in?
Answer. I think it was three years ago this fall.

By Mr. Voorhbes :

Question. You have not heard of his getting any other appointment in Florida?
Answer. No, sir. But at the same time he was postmaster he was also assistant

assessor of internal revenue.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. You recollect, I suppose, that at that period a large portion of the execu-
tive appointments were very equivocal in politics; you could hardly tell to which
party they belonged; men were sometimes selected under Johnson's administration
who professed themselves to some to be republicans, and to others to l)e democrats?

Answer. Yes, sir; I am postmaster myself at Boston, Thomas County. When I went
there we had no post-ofiSce, and there was no onti there who could take the iron-clad
oath but myself; I did it and turned the business over to a gentleman there. It is a
small place.

By Mr. Lansing :

Qnestion. You say you pay no attention to what you read in the newspapers ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not.

Question. Therefore, in expressing your opinion as to the existence of any Ku-Klux
organization in this State, that opinion is based upon your own jiersonal observation
entirely ?

Ansicer. Upon my own personal knowledge, and my acquaintance with the people.

Question. Do you attach any importance to what you see in the newspapers in relation

to the quotations of prices of stocks and products ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I believe them if they are official.

Question. Have you not seen in the newspapers repeated accounts of outrages in the
State of Georgia ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Of what are called Ku-Klux outrages?
Answa: Yes, sir.

QMcstion, And you ignore those accounts?
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Jiisivcr. They would not deter me, as a repnlilican, from moving Avitli all my force

to-day to either of those counties.

(Jucstioii. This is the question I put to you : Do yon ignore entirely all those accounts

in the formation of the opinion which you luive expressed here ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; I pay no attention to them.
Question. Will you answer this question, if you consider it a fair one, and I liope it

will not be considered a repetition. Including what you have seen ycjurself, what you
have seen in the newspapers, and what you havo heard from tolerably credible men,
do you now say that you do not believe that there is or has been any Ku-Klux orgafi-

izatiou in any part of the State of Georgia ?

Anifwc): No, sir ; I do not say that, because, as I have said, I do not know anytliing

about certain portions of tlie State.

Question. I am speaking of your opinion, not of your knowledge. Taking into con-

sideration all these sources of information, do yon saynow that you do not believe

Jusu-cr. I have never made up any opinion on that snljject; I have disregarded all

thpse accounts, as I told you, and I havo paid no attention to them.
Question. You say that in the business you liave liero you. employ democratic coun-

sel. What is your reason for that, for I thought you intimated there was a reason f

Answer. The reason is, the ability of the man.
Question. Because there is no competent republican lawyer in the State ?

Ansu-cr. No, sir ; not because of that, but because Lwould not like to malco a dis-

tinction on account of politics in regard to a lawyer. I would not employ' one whose
politics would sway him either way, if I knew it.

Question. Do you mean to say you would not like to employ a counsel whose politics

would be obnoxious to the courts and juries of this State?
Answer. I do not say that.

Question. Is it not a reason w'hy you emploj* democratic counsel, independent of his

ability, that he can address hims'eff to the court with more poAver in consideration of
his politics ?

Answer. In consideration of his ability and his justice ; I would give him tlie prefer-

ence for that.
*

Question. You leave out of consideration his politics entirely ?

Ansicer. I do.

By Mr. Voorhees :

Question. Is it not true that, taking the United States courts and the courts of this

State, members of the republican party are on the bench ?

Answer. I believe that is so in most of the districts, though I know but few of the

judges in this State. I know Judge Alexander in our district.

Question. Is he a republican?
Answer. I do not know.
Question. Can any man go upon the bencli and hold a judgeship in this State who

was engaged in tlie rebellion, unless his disabilities havo been removed by a two-third

vote of Congress ?

Ansieer. I think not.

Question. He has to take the iron-elad oath ?

Answer. That I do not know.
Question. Unless he has been relieved of his disabilities ?

Answer. I am very well acquainted with our judge who was appointed by Governor
Bullock ; he did not take any part in the rebellion, but I think he is a democrat.

Question. Perhaps he has grown in grace since he was appointed f

Answer. No, sir; I do not think he misled Governor Bullock, or auy one else. We
were dissatished with his appointment politically, but personally 1 like him.

Question. How are the judges in this State appointed ?

Answer. Tliey are appointed by the governor and confirmed by the senate, I think.

It has now been two or three years since I have had anything to do with iiolitics, or

have thought of it, for I have been very busy.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. How came you hero as a witness ?

Answer. I did not know that you gentlemen were here until some one mentioned to

me last night that you had con'ie in. I said then that I would introduce myself to

Senator Bayard, as'l came from ^Maryland and he from Delaware ;
but I had no idea

of coming here as a witness.
Question. It was a general conversation between us that led to your being called as

a witness ?

Answer. Entirely so.

Question. What you have stated here upon your general examination is stated for

the first time to any one ?

Ansicer. Entirely'so. I have said pretty nearly the same thiug.s North that I have
said here.

25 G -

'
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Atlanta, Georgia, October 21, 1871.

!MARY NEAL (colored) sworn and cxauiinod.

By the Chairman :

Question. St.ite how old you are, Avhere you were born, and \Yhere you now live.

Aiistnr. 1 do not know exactly how old I am ; I was born in Banks County; and I

now live in White County.
JJuention. When did you come here to Atlanta?
J)i.surr. I came here last Wednesday.
QncNtion. What did you come here for ?

JiiNivcr. Tlu;y brouglit me here to swear against the Ku-Klux.
(Jiicstinii. Well, go on and tell us what you came here to say.

Aiiswcr. They brought me here to say whether I knew anything about them.
Qucslioii. Tell us what you know about them.
Antucci: I know Charles Potts; I saw him; and I heard of Mr. Stoball's two boys

—

Tom and Albert—and Albert Henderson autl Heniy Henderson.
QKcstion. Where did you see them ?

Aitb-wcr. They came to our house at the time with the Ku-Klux. I did not see them
;

I heard afterward they were there.

Question. When did they come there ?

Annwcr. Along in the scoring. '

Question. What did they do when they came there ?

Answer. They whipped'lSIary and Joe, and struck me four licks.

Queslion. Is Mary Brown your sister?

Ansnrr. No, sir. I was staying there.

Question. With what did they strike you ?

Answer. With a hickory withe.

Question. Did they do anything else to you ?

Ansiver. They made me pull oil my drawers what I had on.

Question. Who made you do thjit ?

Ahswc): Mr. Oakes.
Question. Did they do anything else ?

Answer. No, sir; only told me the next morning to go home, and not- stay there at

Mary Brown's. They never did anything more to me.
Question. Where did they strike you ?

Answer. Struck me in the face once, and struck four times across the legs.

Question. \Yas that after you had taken your di'awers oif, or before ?

Answer. After I had takeu my drawers off.

Question. Did you see them whip anyliody else ?

Answer. I saw them whip Mary and Joe.

Question. What did they whip Joe with ?

Answer. With a lishing-pole and a barrel-hooi).

Question. What did they whip Mary Avith ?

Answer. With a hickory Avithe.

Question. Did they do anything to her mother ?

Answer. No, sir; only made her lay down and pull up her clothes; that is all they

did to her.

Question. Was that out of doors, or in the house ?

Ansiver. It was out of doors.

Question. How long were they there ?

Answer. 1 reckon about an hour.

Question. How many of them do you suppose there were there ?

Answer. I could not couut them all ; they scattered every which way.

Atlanta, Georgia, Ocioher 21, 1871.

CAROLINE BENSON (colored) sworu aud examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. State your age, where you were born, aud where you now live.

Atiswer. I was iorty-eight years old on the 15th of July ; I was born in North Caro-

lina ; and I now live in White County, in this State.

Question. Are you any kin to.Mary Neal ?

Answer. Not any at all ; she is living with us.

Question. Are you the mother of Mary Brown ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir.

Question. State what you know in regard to a party of people coming to your house,

if such was the fact ; tell us when it was, and who came there.
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Aimrcr. It was on the 20th of Miiy, I think : some I knew and some I did not know,
because I had not lived down there Ion:;' ; I knew two in particular, Isaac Oakes and
Coleman Alley ; I.knew those two men.

(Jucsiioti. How many of them were there in all?

Aii-frrer. As near as I can ^utss and recollect, I think there were about thirty-five ap-
peared in the yard, in s:j;ht : there were some that did not cmiie in siuht. but 1 could
catch olinqjses of them in the dark, ^h: Oakes and Mr. AUey were the two men who
took my daughter out and beat her : they took her about ten steps from the door, and
stri])ped her; then there were two Hendersons, Henry Hender.son and Albert Ileuder-
eon, who stepped up l)ehind her with a ]iistol, and asked her who she met down the
river; she told theiu it was ]yir. Smith and Mr. Hancock. TIk.'v said, ''How did they
do when you met them ?" 8lie sai<l, "They stei^.ped over .sohie four corn-rows froiu uic."

They said, "Were they black ?"' Slie said, '• Yes, they were;" and she said slio had not
been home long enoujih to take her seat when she heard two guns tiicd, and next
morning report came that Mr. Cason was killed. She recollected these men that came
out of a batteau ; it was not more than half a mile from my house where Mr. Casoa
lived : she saw some of them a whili^ before that.

Qiiistioii. Did she tell these men that \\ lien they were there that night?
Ansircr. Yes. sir; they connncncod whi))ping Uer, and told her to tell. She said, "I

can't talk, with all of you talking to me and beating me; quit whip))ing me. and I can
talk, and one talk at a time, and I will talk to you." They went oft", and Mr. Palmer
questioned her ; he is a lawyer in the city of Cleveland. He took her by the right liaud
and Mr. Oakes by the left ; while they were talking, a gentleman stepped up and s.i.id,

"She has told the trutli ; doirt strike her another lick." They asked her who killed
Mr. Cason, and she said, " 'Mi: Smith and ]Mr. Hancock.'" Some men came U]) and said,
" She has told the truth ; let her go." They then tore her clothes off; they did not pull
them oft', but just jiljbeted them otf, like paper ; I heard them when they cam.e u.p.

We hail been looking for them about three weeks before that, but they did not come.
That was on Saturday night, the 20th of May ; they just came charging np like a party
of cavalry; they scared me very much, sure enough. They hoUeied out, "Open the
door." 1 was frightened so I could not get u}) ; they knocked both doors open, and I

got up and made a light as quick as I could ; when I had the light made up they took
hold of me. I said, "What are yon going to do f They said, "AVc are going to kill

all the free niggers as far as we go." I said, " I have not done anything.'- They took
ujy youngest son, my baby, the next youngest to Mary Brown ; they brought all of ns
out; they went back and got my son-in-law, .Joe Brown, and commenced ku9ckiug him
and beating him ; they had big sticks, fifteen or twenty feet long; they wore out along
fishing-pole on him. They had him down, and luit a chain on his neck, ant^ dragged
him about a great fieal. Joe said, '-J ain't done anything, gentlemen ; what are you\
abusing me for f" They said, " We will kill you, God damn you

;
you shall not live!

here a bit." He said, " I have bought my land, and got my warrantee title to it ; why!
should I be abused in this way T' They said, " We will give you ten days to leavej
and then, God damn yon, we will burn your house down over you if you don't leave.']

Qui-'^iioii. Did they ilo anything to you that night' . I

J ».*«•( r. They had a show of us all there ; they had ns all lying in the road, Mary
Brown, Mary Neal, and my next yoimgest daughter. They had us all stripped there,

and laughed and made great sjiort. Some of them just squealed the same as if they
were stable horses just brought out. You never saw such ill-behaved men. They
knocked around as long as they wanted to, and then they said, " Now you just go away
from here."

Qtie>iiioii. Did they give any reason why they wanted your son-in-law to go away ?

Answer. They just said he shotild not live there.

QkcsUoh. Why?
Aiisuey. I could not find out exactly. I think it was just this : When he boTight

this plantation there was a white man wanted it ; but Joe paid the money to a widow
woman who only wanted the money, and Joe had it, and the other man did not.

Question. How much did he pay for it ?

Ansirer. He paid $120 for his part ; two of Uiem went in together—he and another
black man named Jim Dover ; they two went in together and bought the land.

Qiiesfion. Is Cleveland the county seat of White County ?

Ansicer. Y'es, sir.

Question. How far did you live from Cleveland?
Answer. Between seven and eight miles. I believe they generally call it seven miles.
Question. Y'ou spoke of a lawyer liy the name of Palmer. Had he had anything to do

with defending the men charged with killing Cason ?

Answer. I do not knt)W anything about that. Justabout two weeks I met Mr. Alley
on Chattahoochee bridge; I was going to the store; he said, "Good morning; are you
running away?" I said, " No, I am going to the city." He said, "We Avero not after
you; we were after Joe Brown and Mary Brown." I would not question liim ; I was
afraid ; I was by myself and did not know what he would do. W^heu I got back I told
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my old mail Avhat jNIr. Alley said to me ; I tliinlv all tbis was about Mr. Casou's dcatli

;

becaufse tbt-y thougbt Mary knew soinctbing about it, and tbey v.auted to try and get

iier out of tbc way ; :i wbite woiuau told me tbat was wbat we were Ku-Kluxed t'ox..

Qiicafio)). Do you recollect to bave beard auytbiug said by anybody tbere tbat uigbt

about tbeir being sent tbere? ,

Ansivcr. Mr. Oakes aud Mr. Alley said tbey bad been sent for a long time to come and
do tbat : tbat tbey bad bad orders from Goveriior Bullock to come and do it ; I stood

off aud listened g()od, and saw all tbat was done, because I wanted to see it.

Qiicsllon. Do you kuow any otber iieople wbo bave beeu wbipped or abused by Ku-
Klux in tbe cotintj" ?

A)if!i(cr. I do not kuow particularly. I did bear of some black ones on Mossy Creek
tbat tbey went in on tbat same uigbt and wbipped a black woman aud a black mau
pretty uigh to deatb.

By Mr. Voorhees :

Qitcsiion. Have you beeu before tbe grand jury bere ?

J)isivcr. Yes, sir.

Qmstion. Have you given tbe names of tbese meu to tbe grand jury ?

Avswcr. I'gave only tbe names of Mr. Oakes aud Mr. Alley.

Question. "\Vby did you uot give all tbe uames f

Answer. I was afraid tbey would botber me aud curse me.
QiKstio)!. Wbo would botber you f

Aii-^iccr. Tbese otber men.
Qncstio)!. Tbe men in tbe ueigbborbood?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Is tbat tbe reason Avby you did not give tbeir uames?
Ansiver. Yes, sir. Tbey said tbat "if we came dowu Ikuc aud swore against tliem they

would kill us.

Question. Wby did yon uot give tbe uames of tbe balance of tbem ?

Answer. I tbougbt if I could get tbem iu you would catcb tbe balance.

Qucstiou. Y'ou should bave given to tbe grand jury all tbe names of tbe men wbo act

in that waj'.

*Ansicer. I thought if you got them you would catcb the balance.

^Qiteslion. Did you kuow^tbe names of all tbe rest ?

Answer. I kuew Henry Henderson and Albert Henderson ; Mr. Stoball's two boys I

did uot know ; I knew Mr. Palmer, and Mr. Potts, and Mr. Frank Comer ; then there

was auotbSr gentleman on tbe otber side of the river tbere, Mr. Miles Meadows.
Question. Were there any more ?

Answer. Y'es, sir ; there were some more that I cannot recollect tbe names of.

Question. You did not tell the grand jury of these names ?

Ansicer. One of our witnesses bad said I had better just say so many aud not be
bothered about it.

Question. Were you uot asked about tbe others ?

Answer. I only spoke of those two, because they led iu it.

Question. You wanted to let up on the others?

Answer. No, sir; uot that; I wanted to have you get those two, because they led iu it.

Question. Y'ou did uot want to puuish any of the rest ?

Ansiver. I wanted to puuish all tbe rest.

Question. How could they be punished if you did uot tell about them ?

Answer. They were the ones that got tbe rest into it.

Question. Did any one tell you not to give iu those names?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you talk with the prosecuting attorney about it?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Was he in the grand-jury room when yon were examined?
Answer. I do not know ; I reckon he was.
Question. Did you tell the grand jury vou did uot know any more than those two

men?
Ansiver. I said I knew those two particiTlarly. There were some there with false faces,

and some uot; some did not get off their horse-s, aud others just staid about there.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 21, 1871.

RACHEL ARNOLD (colored) sworn aud examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. State your age, where you were born, and where you now live.

Answer. I do not know exactly how old I am. I think I am somewhere from twenty-
tjvo to twenty-five years old ; 1 was born in White County, aud I live there now.
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Question. Wbeu did yon come to Atlanta ?

AttNwcr. I came last Wednesday uiniuing.

Que'iiion. Tell us what you kuow, if anything, of any doings of the Ku-Ivlux.
Ansiver. Whou they came to my sister's they did not whip me any, but they whipped

my brother-in-law.
Qucslion. You are a sister of Mary Brown ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

QKCfilton. And your mother has just been examined here ?

Antiicci: Yes, sir.

Qncxtton. Were you there ou the uight these people came to their house?
A)isicer. Yes, sir.

Question. "What time did thej^ come ?

Jnsurr. It was not a great while to clay ; daylight was breaking when they left;

I had been but a few weeks there when they came there ; it is not my regular home.
Question. Did they do anything to you ?

Answer. They never hit me; they only just pulled me out of my bed and carried us
all out in the yard.

Question. Did you sec the others whipped ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir.

Question. How many blows do you suppose they struck your sister ?

Answer. I did not see all; they carried her away from me, on one side; they had her
in one place and me in another.

Question. Did slie cry out and scream while thej' were whipping her ?

Answer. Yes, sir; some.
Question. Did you see her after she had been whipped ?

Answer. Y'es, sir.

Question. Did she have any marks of the whipping about her ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

(jucstion. How long did she carry them ?

Answer. She went away ou Tuesday, aud I did not see her for five months, until she
came here.

Question. Was she dressed when they whipped her ?

Answer. No, sir ; they tore her clothes oft" and made her lie down in the yard. Two
men stood on her, one on her head, and the other on her feet; aud then they wliipped
her while they were standing ou hex*.

Question. Where did the man stand who whipped her ?

Answer. He stood off sort of one side.

Question. How manj' blows did he strike her while she was in that condition?
Answer. I do not know how many ; a great many.
Question. Was she naked when they whipped her?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they interfere with your clothes at all ?

Ansivcr. Not any more than they made us all lay down, children and all, aud show
ourselves.

'

Question. Vfcvc the men who stood on your sister and the man who whipped her dis-

guised ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you know them ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you know any of the men who were there ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I knew one.
Question. Who was he ?

Answer. His name was Frank Comer.
Question. How did you happen to know him ?

Answer, I saw his face. Pie just had a small piece of cloth over his face, with a
string in it, like a veil. He stoo^icd down to spit, and I saw his face ; I knew him very
well ; he lives in Cleveland.

Question. What does he do there?
Answer. He is clerk for his father in a store.

Question. Have you heard the names of other parties who were there ?

Answer. I heard my folks talk about some others.

'Question. I did not ask you to give their names, but I ask you if those persons lived
in that immediate neighborhood, t)r off at some distance?

Answer. They lived some distance from there.

Question. Were any present from the immediate neighborhood around you ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think so. I am not very much acquainted where my folks live
;

I do not stay there at all.

Question. You happened to be there then ?

Answer. The man I had been staying with had moved to South Carolina, aud I had
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just gone borne on a visit. I had ouly .staid there a couple of weeks whcu this took
place, aud then I went away again.

By Mr. YooRnEES

:

Qmstioi). "Wliat day of the week did this take place ?

^liifin-n: I do not remember.
(Jur.stioii. \Vhere did your sister, Mary Brown, go the next Tuesday ?

Anfiico: I think she went down to Dahlonega.
Question. How long did you stay theri^ ?

Ansiver. I had been there about two Avceks when this took place.
Question. How long did you stay there after that ?

Answer. I left wlien my sister did.

Question. How i'ar is it to the place where your sister went ?

A)isn-cr. About iifteen miles.

Question. How did she get tl)ere ?

Answer. She walked, I reckon ; she went away from home walking.

Atlvnta, Georgia, October 2\, 1871.

SARAH McCOY sworn aud examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. Will you state what is your age, where you were bom, and where you now
live?

Anstver. I am going on seventeen years of age ; I was born iu Cherokee County ; and
I now live in Cass County.

Question. When did you come to Atlanta ?

Ansiver. On Monday last.

Question. With whom are you now living?
Answer. With my father.

Question. Yon are unmarried ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; I am not married.
Question. Do you know of any interruption or disturbance of your father by people

that are called Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. State what it was, when it took place, and all aboTit it.

Answer. In 1870 they burned my father out in Cherokee County, and swore that
they would kill him if he ever came back to that county.

Cluestion. Wlio did that ?

Answer. AYillis Hurd, Byrd Covington, Jim Jones, Jerry Elroy, Jack Covington, Dick
Covington, William Edwards and his sons, Tobe Owens, Jack Owens, Bill Pitts, Law-
son Pirts, Alfred Pitts, Bill Hurd, Reuben Hill, John Waters, and some others, whose
names I cannot think of just now.

Question. At A\hat time did they come to your father's house?
Answer. About an hour in the night.
Question. Wt'i'c Jon iu bed ?

Answer. I Avas not.

Question. Just tell us what they did when they got there.
Answer. I was sitting by the fire when they came in. They knocked at the door, a

very heavy knock. I asked who was there, and did not receive any answer at all. I
rose to my feet, and started for the door. By that time the door was bursted in, and
they came iu shooting, and cursing and swearing. Willis Hurd aud Byrd Covingtou
laid hold of a Avoman that father had hired to stay with us Avhile ho was gone. They
could not get her out of the house, and then Jeriy Elroy laid hold of her, and they
took her out. My sister was in bed, sick; a man jerked her out of the bed. I did
not know him, but my sisster says she knew him. One went to father's bed to see if he
was there, but he was not there. They jerked the bed-clothes off the bed, and tore
them all to pieces, and swore that if father ever came back there they would kill him,
because he is a Union man. They then drove ns out of doors into the'yard, and would
not give us a shawl or a bonnet to ])ut on. They did so much I hardly know what they
did do; some <li(l one thing, aud .some did another.

Qucsiion. Did they burn the house ?

Answer. Yes, sir, they burned up uiy father's house, and killed my father's mule aud
one of his cows.

Quesiion. When Avas that done ?

Ansiver. In February, 1870.

Question. Was the house burned, aud were those animals killed the night you have
been speaking of?
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Answer. Xo, sir; the lior.so ^^ns^nvnc(l that ])ij;lit, lint the auimals were not killed

plumb dead then; they Avere shot, and died in a tew days.

Question. Where Avere you NYhen tlu- house was set on tire ?

Ansica: I Avas staudinji' in the yard.

Q7(csiioii. Did you see them set lire to the house ?

Ansicer. Yes. sir.

QuisUo». "Who did tliat ?

Austvcr. John Hard and .lini .lones.

Qiicstio)!. Wliere did they kindle the fire?

Ansucr. One ot them kindled a lire right in the middle of the lloor. Father nad a

large chest, a little grain higher, I reckon, than this table, in which ho used to keep
his money. They burt-ted that open with a hatchet, and, after they got done looking
through it, they built a tire in it.

(Jnesiion. Did they take anything away that your lather had ?

Ansivcr. I saw them x>nt in their pockets little things out of fatlier's chest. We do
not know whether they took his money or not.

Qucsiion. Did yotir father have any money in the chest?
Ansictr. Yes, sir ; and I reckon they took it, or we would have found ]iart of it.

(iiicstio)i. Did you stay there in the yard until the house was burned down f

Answer. Kot until it was burned phunb down ; they kept us there until about two
hours before day. It was very cold, raining and snowing, and the rain froze as it fell.

(Jiieslio)i. At what time did these men go away?
A)iswer. I do not know ; thej' drove us away before they left.

(Question. Were they on horseback or on foot ?

Answer. They were on foot.

Question. Were they disguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; some had their faces all black, and some had large white rags
sewed on their clothing.

Qnestio)!. Did they give any reason why they did this ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they said father should not live in tliat courttry, because he was a,

Union man. He was trving to collect his father's estate, and thev said he never should
do it.

Question. Who spoke about your father being a Union man ?

Answer. Dick Covington.
Question. Were those men you have named as being in the crowd Union men, or are

they what are known in our coitntry as rebels ?

Answer. I do not known what they were. There was another one named Willian:

McCoy ; ho is akin to me.
Question. Did you stay in the neighborhood, or did you go away from there ?

Answer. My father was in Cartersville the night the house was burned. The next
morning we started to go to him, and came down near Kingston, whe^e I had a brother
living, and when we got there we found father there.

Question. Have you been back in Cherokee County since?
Answer. Yes, sir, but not to live. I have a great many relatives there, and I have

been back there to see them.
Question. Has your father or any of his family been disturbed since that time?
Ansiver. No, sir, not very bad ; not that I know of.

Question. Was any violence of any kind done any of the family there that night ?

Ansieer'. They jerked my sister, who was sick, out of bed, and put her out of the
Louse, and made her stay out there ; that is all the abuse that we got, exceiit that
tliey cursed us.

Qucsiion. Did she have any clothing on ?

^Inswer. She got on her dress and her shoes, that was all.

Question. How was it about your clothes ; did you save your clothes?
Answer. No, sir, never a thing in the world, only what we had ou.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What is your i:ither's name?
Answer. James McCoy.
Question. Where is he now ?

Answer. He is here somewhere.
Question. What was the disguise those men had on?
Ansiver. Some of their faces were blacked all over, and some just partly blacked.
Question. How did you know them all ?

Answer. We had been raised right there with them.
Question. Had you any trouble in recognizing them ?

Answer. \^'ell, we did not know them when we tirst saw them, but we did after we
stood there so long with them.

Question. You had no difficulty in identifying them?
Answer. No, sir.
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Question. You are quite certain they- were the people you liavc named here?
Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. They ^Yere your near neighbors?
J:isiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. People livini;- about you there?
Ansuri: Yes, sir.

Question. Did your father make any comidaint about this to a court?
Ansiver. Yes. sir.

Question. What was done?
Answer. Notliing is done yet, except that they have one man.
Question. Who arrested him ?

Answer. Jlr. Black.
Question. What did they do Avith him?
Answer. They have l)ini here in jail.

Question. What is his name?
Answer. John Waters.
Question. How long- has he been in jail?

Answer. I cannot tell ; but he has not been in but a few days.
Question. He was arrested lately ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; right lately.

Question. Were you examined before the grand jury in this building?
Ansicer. No, sir, not yet; we are down here on that business now.

' Question. Why have not the rest been arrested?
Answer. None of the balance have been arrested yet.

Question. You say this was iu February, 1870 ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Where did your father go when his house was burned?
Answer. He moved into Cass County.
Question. How far oft?

Answer. Twenty-live miles everybody calls it.

Question. What is your father's occupation?
Ansicer. He is a farmer.
Question. Was there a farm attached to the house you lived in?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How much land?
Answer. One hundred and sixty acres, I think ; but I do not kuow exactly.
Question. Do you saj' he was busy in collecting his father's estate?
Answer. Yes, sir.

^

Question. How long since his father had died?
Answer. I believe he died before I was born.
Question. Was he suing people for debts ?

Answer. Ho had not sued them yet.

Question. When they came to your house, did any of them say they were comniit-
\ting this outrage on his property because he wanted to make them jiay the debts they
)wed ?

Answer. They said that was Avhat they were going to burn him up for ; and that they
intended to watch Pine-Log Mountain, and if he ever came over that mountain again
they would kill him.

Question. That was what they did that for ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; and because he was a Union man.
Question. They said that that night ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Had your father claims against any of these men ?

Ansiver. I do not knovr exactly how it is mixed uj). I think they had sold the place
they were to collect the money out of, and the one that owned the land was there that
night.

Question. Had there been a quarrel between your father and him about it ?

Ansiver. Never a cross word ; only the matter of selling the land.

Question. One of the men whose land had been sold was one of the men who came
there ?

Answer. The laud never has been sold yet.

Question. Your father was going to collect the debt from that land ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How msny were in your father's family that night?
Ansiver. There were none of his family there at home, except me and my sister ; and

we had a woman who was hired to stay with us until father came back.
Question. Who was she ?

Ansiver. Mrs. Grogau.
Question. Where does she live?
Answer. She was only a neighbor to us in Cass.
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Question. Had she always lived with you ?

Answer. Xo, .sir; only staid tliere Avliilc he was away.
Question. When did your mother die?
Answer. I do uot know what year it was uow. She has buen dead fourteen or fifteen

years.

Atlanta, Geougia, Ocioher 21, 1871.

REBECCA McCOY sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. State your age, where you were horu, and where you now live.

Answer. I am about twenty j^ears old; I was born in Cherokee Countj^, and I uow
live in Cass Couuty.

Question. Were you at home when some peo^ile came to your father's house and de-

stroyed it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When was that ?

Answer. It was the 7tli night of February, last year, in 1870.

Questiot. Tell us all you know about that.

Answer. They came in about au hour iu the night. Tbey came up to the door and
knocked. My sister and Mrs. Grogan (pa hired her to stay with us until he came
back) were there in the house. They knocked at the door, and then bursted it iu, and
came in shooting, and cursing, and swearing v.diat tbey would do. I was sick, and had'
laid down early that night. They jerked me out of bed, and then lau to pa's bed. He
Avas not there ; and thej* tore uji all the bed-clotb.es. They took Mrs. Grogan out of
the house. Jerry Elroy, Byrd Covington, and Willis Hnrd took her oft" into the yard.
Theu they told us to go out of the house or they would burn us up iu it. We got out,
aud they would uot allow us to go back. I got my bonnet and shawl, and they took
them away from mo aud flung them back into the house. My sister went to go
into the door to get her bonnet ; as she did so, she trod on a gun lying at the door,

and she picked it up aud shot right auiong the men who were in the house, as they
were plundering about through the house. One of them threw up his arms, and they
carried him out. They broke open iia's big chest, where he kept his money, aud put
fire in it. «

Qucsdon. How long did you stay there?
Answer. They kept us in the road aud in the yard together I do not know how long

exactly ; as my sister shot the gun, they drove us out of the yard into tlie big road. It

was about au hour iu the night when they first came in ; and theu we staid in the
yard and in the big road until about an hour before day. It was a powerful bad night,
that night. It was snowing and raining, aud it froze as it rained ; I never have been
well since that night.

Question. You had nothing on j'our heads to protect you ?

Answer. Not a thing.
Question. Did you know any of these parties ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What reason did they give for destroying your father's property ?

Answer. I only heard that it was because he had been trying to collect some money
on his father's estate, and they swore that night that they would kill him before he
should collect it ; that is all I ever knew. I never knew of his having au enemy iu
the settlement, or in the country about there.

Question. That is all the reason you heard given that night ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. There were only you three women-folks in the house ?

Answer. There was nobody there but just us three alone. Pa had gone to Carters-
ville that morning. One of my brothers bad killed a black man in Cass County, and
pa had started down there to have the committing trial tluit morning. Squire Jim
Harbin came to our house that morning, and tolil pa that he had word they were
coming in on him.

Question. You sjioke about their shooting when they^ first came into the house. What
did they shoot ?

^
Answer. Pistols.

Question. How many shots were fired ?

Answer. I could not tell you ; they just shot all the time they staid there—as long as
we staid there. They drove us away from home ; we wanted to go to a neighbor's
house right close by, but they would not let us go there, but drove us to another place:

Question. How did they drive you ?
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Answer. Just tcild ns that if we did not <xo ilicy would shoot us, kill us right there.
Quenlion. Did you save any of your stulf in tlic house ?

Answer. Not a thing in the world, only what we had on.

By Mr. Bayard :

Qnrfilion. When your sister ]>icked up that gun and shot, did she hit anyhody ?

Anainr. I do not know; but wheu she shot, oneof them Hungup his hauds this way,
[throwing uj) her hands.]

(,)nestiun. She lired right into the crowd ?

Ansircf. Yes, sir ; and two men took hold of him, and took him out of doors; ami
then they drove ns out of the house.

Question. Who threw up his hauds when she iired the gun ?

Answer. I don't know who it was.
Question. Do you think she hit him ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and there was a man in the settlement, not far off, who died the
Friday afterward, and they said that ho froze to death.

Question. Do you believe she liit that man ?

Answer. Yes,-sir ; so wo were told.

Question. Was the weather cold that night?
Answer. Yes, sir; powerful cold.

QHestion. Wlien did he die ? •

Answer. That was on Tuesday night, and he died Friday.
Question. How far did he live from there ?

Ansiver. I do not know exactly.
Question. You said something about one of your bi'others going to the squire
Ansicer. I said one of them had killed a black man.
Question. How long before that ?

Answer. It has been now about two years since he killed him ; ho was quite a small
boy, only about lifteen years old. The black man, who was a powerful big man, un-
dertook to hit him with a stick, and my l)rother stuck a little knife into him, and he died.

' Question. And your father was going to his trial that day ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That hap]iened in Cass County?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was your brother tried ?

Ansirer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he cleared ?

Answei'. Yes, sir.

Question. They said he committed the act in self-defense ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who is this lady who was staying in the house with you ?

Ansu-er. Mrs. Grogan
;
pa had hired her to stay with us until he came back home.

Question. W^hendid she come into the house?
Answer. She came there on Tuesday night, before the house was burned up on Mon-

day night.
Question. W^here does she live now ?

Answer. In Cass County.
Question. IIow far from you ?

Ansu-er. But a little ways.
Question. Has she lived with you since that time ?

Answer. She staid with us after we were burned out ; we all staid together; what
she had Avas burned tip too.

Question. This was a year ago last February ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you recognize the people who were there ?

Answer. I kuew some of them ; I did not know all.

Question. Did you recognize all those you saw ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; I did not know all I saw.
Question. What kind of dress did they have on ?

Answer. They all had their faces blacked, either all over or in spots, and white cloths
sewed all over their coats, in si)ots.

Question. Did you recognize them easily ?

Ansiver. I had been raised there with them.
Question. Were they people who were living .about you ?

Answer. Yes, sir; some of them had their hats turned wrong sfde out, and tied down
under their chins.

Question. They said the reason for their acting so was to keep your father from col-
lecting the money that was due his father's estate ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; that was all the cause I heard, and they said that a Union maa
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BhouM not live in that county. And they wonld say, "Company Q, hurrah for old

Tennessee, by God."

By Mr. Yoorhees :

Qncstion. Was your father the only Union man in that neighborhood ?

Answer. No, sir; there \rere some more up in there.

Qucsiion. How many Union men were there ?
•

Answer. I cannot tell you.

Question. Can you give us some of their names?
Answer. I do not know whether I could tell you any one or not.

Question. You cannot give the names of some of them ?

Answer. I do not think I could. I believe they said BiU Edwards was a Union man,

hut I will not be certain whether he is or not.

Quesiion. Were there any negroes there ?

Answer. None around where we lived ; I do not know but one family of negroes m
all that country about there.

• Atlanta, Georgia, Octohcr 21, 1871.

JAMES McCOY sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. Will you state your age, where you were born, where you now live, and

what is your occupation ? „ . , , ^ t , •

Ansiver. I was lifty-niue years old on the 31st day of August last
; 1 was bom in

South Carolina, and'l live in Cherokee County when I am at home ; 1 don't live any-

where iust now ; I am a farmer.
, , . „ ,

Quesiion. We have just examined your daughters about the burning of your house

and property. Will you tell us what you know about it f
_ -, ^i i

Answer. I will tell you the best I can. I was not present when it was done, though

I wish to God I had been. It was done last February was a year ago. In the Decem-

ber previous to that I had a sou, a boy, who was working with old daddy Crawlord,

down near Cassville. A nigger feUow swiped him with a stick, and the boy out with

his knife, and about the time he received the second lick he stuck it into the nigger.

He dropped his work and came home. I had not been at work much myself
;
I had

been chillino- for something like two years, and came near going under; my boys had

brouo-ht me 'home to stay! This boy got into the difficulty on the 11th ot December.

When he came home and told me about it. I sent down to know how the matter was,

about twenty-three or twenty-four miles off. Word came back to me that the nigger

was dead. My boy then w.anted to gooff; I said, "No, stand right here until they

come for you : you shall not desert your country for that ; if you are guilty of anything

wroD"-, you must suffer ; if not, you will go clear." There was only one man who saw

the curcumstance ; so he told me. I saw the man in some four or five weeks, near

Christmas time, and asked him about it. He told me about the same as the boy had

said. I said. "Yes, now the first thing you know, here will come a reward from Gov-

ernor Bullock for you, and you had ))etter see what hands you can fall into. Sure

enou<rh, about the last of January or the first of February a couple of men came down

here to Atlanta. I told mv sou that they came down here to get a reward tor him.

They arrested my bov, and carried him down to Cartersville. I saw General Waford,

aud'o-ot him to defend my boy. I came down with the witness and got a committing

trialf I came home Sunday evening. The next morniug Squire Harbin, a neighbor of

mine, came to me and said, " The boys are going to Ku-Klux you." I said to him, ' lou

can tell them that I know notliing about the ' ku ' part, but if they will wait until 1

get back I will ' kluk' with them ;" that is the way I answered him. That night they

ran in and burned me up. I had only one mule, and they shot him three different times
;

so my family told me. I never got home. I did not intend to go back until court was

over"; when I was able to go back I did not have auytliiug under heavens leit. 1 had

some eight or ten dollars in my pocket, for I had to pay my expenses.

Question. How long were you away?
. Answer. I never got back until about the first of June. I was taken sick and did not

get back, and I had nothing to go to. They said they wefe going to take my lite, and

when I did go back they waylaid mo and were going to shoot me. I got word ol it,

and did not go to the place.
^

Question. Do you know the parties that your family told you came there and biu'ned

the house ?
, n • i • i,*

Answer. Yes, sir ; I know about aU of them, for the children have been raised right

there.

Qucsiion. Which side were you" on during the war ?
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Jnsicfr. I was always a Union man, just as I am uow. ^
(Jaestioii. Had yon been an ontsjiokcn Union iwau ?

Ansirn: Yos, sir ; I never kept it a secret anywhere.
QiHNlion. What had these men been who bnrned your property ?

Aniiirer. They were what wc call rebs, and that class of people who laid ont and.
played the game of snatch, a great many of them, during the war. I was not with
them, but they were of that uame at any rate. I was not in that county during the
war. I saw they would conscript my son, and I had him detailed to work iii the factory,
and I kept him out of the war on that ground, for I had nothing to fight for iu the
war.

Question. Have threats beeu made against you since your house was burned '

Answer. Yes, sir, pretty frequently. We had an election in this State in December for
three days. I went to Canton to see about a piece of land my son has. They had been
informed tkat it had been returned as wihl laud, and would be sold for taxes ; and I
went to Canton to see about it. As I went to go into the house, there was a pretty
emart crowd arouud the door, and one of the parties who was there grabbed my riglit

arm, and said :
" Come here, I want to talk with you awhile."' I loolced up aiul saw

who it was, and I said, " I have no chat for you." He said, " By God, I waut to talk
with you." I said, " I am on other business, and will not talk with you now." My
sou is not educated, and I went to look over the papers. As I returned, this same fel-

low was standing there, and grabbed me again, and said, " Now come out here, you
have got to talk with me." We Avent out to the edge of the crowd, and he droppi'd
down on a parcel of brick. I tliought he might give me a pounce on the side of the
head ; so I watched him. He said, " I understand you accuse mo of robljiug and burn-
ing your house." I said, " No, sir, I was uot there ; but my family say you were there."
He said, " It was nobody but Jack Burton ;" and then he said, " Are you going to pros-
ecute it ?" I said, " I am, if we ever get a jury in this county." He said, "jjy God, I
will i)ut you out of the way if you do." I said, " When I get you fast, you will have no
chance." He said, " By God, some of the rest of the boys"will do it."

'

I just riz right
up and thought I would shoot his head off. I knew he had threatened my lil'e before,
and it was pretty tough. I riz up to do it, and my sou stepped iu and turned me away,
and I did not do it. If I had, I never would have got teu steps from that place. One
of them came iip to me, and I said, " How are you, John ?" but he turned right away.

Question. What was the reason you had uot prosecuted those men?
Answer. 1 should have had them taken iip, but I have been sick the biggest part of

iny time since, and I Avas destitute of money, and I liad a family to support. 1 heard
frequently that they boasted that I had nothing to law them with. I had some little

money for one of my sous, but it was all gone. I only had but §345, and )pr28 was for

my son, which I was holding for him. I had a good watch, a splendid watch. They
got it all when they burned the house. I had about eleven and a half dollars in silver

money, in old coin. They did uot leave me a tiling under heavens, only what I had
on. A gentleman came to me the other day, (it was just before court sat here,) and told
me that he heard a couple say -what they were goiug to do with me. He said that they
wore going to take me out and beat me just as long as they wanted to, and then, when
I came to again, they would cut my throat. I know those men as well as 1 know any-
body.

Question. Do you know anything about Ku-Khix operations in your country ?

Answer. It is a common word out there, if a man gets a little umbrage against an-
other, to say, "By God, I will Ku-Kluk you ;" that is a common thing. That is as com-
mon as it is to go to breakfast or to dinner. I have never been at home to stay there
since, for my life is threatened.

Question. Has there been any change since the law of Congress was passed?
Anstber. Yes, sir; that word has ceased since then. In Bartow County tiiey tried

three of the boys of that profession there, and they penitentiaried them for life. I

went up home some time last summer, when I got able to go. I had nothing to ride,

and had to walk. 1 went to Squire Harbin, with the intention to get warrants and
have them arrested, for they had threatened mo so often. I said, " Squire, if I under-
take this job I have iu view, will you rule the people f ' He knew Avhat I meant ; I

meant could he suppress any outrage they would get up ? He said, " I will send you to

Canton, and that will give you a better chance to get out of the way." I took it for

granted from that that I was not safe there. Squire Jones, who lives in the same dis-

trict, some four or five miles off from him, sent me word some time ago that I could uot
get justice there ; that I w(^ild not be safe to go in there and bring an action.

Question. You saj' that Squire Harbin told you at one time that they wei'e going to

Ku-Klux you ; how did he know that ?

Answer. That is where I am at a loss. I did not think of anything, or care much for

anything tlieu, only my boy ; I was iu trouble about my boy then. I did not ask
Squire Harbin how he knew that; I wish to God I had, but I did not. Of course if ho
had not heard of it and knew who it was, he could not have told me the boys were
coming.
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n„^of;m, Who is reoarded as the head of the Kn-Khix in that cmiutry ?

f , w"l haVe hea?d t reported about, but I cannot qualify to it ou oath
;
bat I have

hefS St I'eportid that a gentleouu. by the uame of Pope rales the shebaug there.

^;;"S"'0^ E^^S^En^^'not lar Iron. Canton, bet^veen Canton and ^.ere I live^

Tl^v vi;Ttedlv canie over to mv family there, (so my family told me.) and saul they

T1, V -d to tale mv life before I eould eolleet a little n.oney that was comu.g to me

f, , m - f?tl.e 's estate. A gentleman there had bought a pieee ot laud, and had ue^ er

ve V i 1 fo
•

t Thev threw it up to the tamily that I had been trying to collect some

monev and thev said that, "God damn him," they allowed to kill hnn before he col-

etM it I Seiit collected it vet, for I have been a little sort ol dubious about

^au^ there aiStivi'o collect it. 'l do not fear them exactly, but they cou d pop

fSv at me Sm the bushes when I could not help myself. I have not long to hvc

anyhow, but I would hate to be killed by such lellows as they are.

Bv Mr. Bayaiid : -,..,,
Oue^^tioii. You have spoken of this party as being men who lay out during the war?

4)isive): Well, a good portion of the war I am told they dul.

Oi(esf)O)!. Are' thev disreputable meu in that community i

SS? Well, during the last year, or a portion of the year, before they kept liquor

up in there
Question. Up where ?

J H.siw. Up in those hills. .,,..,1 ,

Question. Do yon mean distilling liquor illicitly \

QHeS.^They'are engaged in distilling liquor against the law, and they supposed

yon reported ou them ?

^Son.'^Dicfthey do this injury to yon because of that, or was it because of your

collectiuo- the money due on vonr father's estate ?
t j. • i + i

T»sm^ I think the money was the principal cause, for the very man I tried to col-

lect the money out of was one of the parties there, and one of his sons has toted hi.s

ffun reneatedlv since to shoot me.
. ^^ ^^ oVS You said that, among the neighbors up there, it was common talk for a man

who disliked another to say that he would Kn-Klus hnn ?

Aufiu-cr. That was a common word.

Question. Was that said to men iu joke or in earnest i

Ansu-er. That was a common word where I have been staying nut* tho.se men were

ti-itd.and since they were sentenced to the penitentiary for lite you hardly ever hear

that spoken of.

Question. What had those men done ?
, , , ^ , , , i

Ansim- Two of them had killed a negro. The negro had been stabbed by one man,

and then two or three men ran in upon him that night to shoot him, lor the purpose

of getting clear of the law.

Question. There were three white men ?
, xi i „„.Kf

Answer. There were four ; but the principal one they say they never have caught.

Question. They caught the other three ]

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. And they ti-ied them ?
, ^ . -^ x- /i

• „ i;f^
Ansu-er. Yes, sir ; and- sentenced them to the Georgia penitentiary duuug lite.

Question. And they are in jail now ?

Ansiver. O, bless you, yes.

()t(es/io». Were they Ku-Klux men?
Ansieer. They were so-called.

Question. They killed a black man ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.
, . . . j^, -^ j.- ^

Question. And thev are suffering now for their ciime m the penuentiary I

Ansu-er. They are now on the Cartersville and Van T\ ert road at hard work. One ot

them had been that evening out on a kind of a bust-up ;
his liquor had all giveu out,

and as he went to get some more, or perhaps had got it, on his way back he met these

men goiug to do the mischief. He gave them a dram, and then sat down m the load

and waitc^d until they came back. He was not within thj,ee hundi-ed yards of wheie

the mischief was done, yet he was convicted for life.

By the Chaieman :

Question. That was in Bartow County ?
„ , , , ^

,

i „f
Ansu-er. Yes, sk ; and since they have been tried for that you do not Lear so much ot

Ku-Klux.
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By Mr. Bayard :

Qucsiion. Wfieii pcoi)!^ would say to each other, " I will Kn-Klnx you " was it said
jocularly or in dead earucstV

'

Ansn-a: It has proved very frequently tliat they did Ku-Khix. Some* parties mi<dit
Lave spoken it just to be speaking, but very freqiicutly, I think, it was in earnest.

"

Qtic-sliov. Was that said M^hen men had personal disputes about auythiu<«- mouev or
anything- else ?

oj j

Answer. Yes, sir. My son lived up there close l)y me, and one of these parties Dick
Coviugtou, told my son tliat they would Ku-Klux him. Mv son replied back •' Go
ahead,"' if they wanted to do it. Dick said lie would be damned if he was afraid to
do it, and, sure enough, lie was one of the crowd that did do it.

Question. What does this Covington do ?

Answer. He gets his living by cultivating the earth.
Question. You kuow the names of the men who were alleged to have burned vour

house down ?
"'

An§wer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are those men near neighbors to you ?

Ansicer. A great many of them live right around there ; the farthest off is a man by
the name of Mnllins, who lived in Pickens County.

Question. Have you come down here to prosecute these men before the United States
court ?

Answer. I have been working to do it, if I can do it. But I am destitute of funds and
everything else, and I do not know how I shall succeed. I went to Judge Parrott tokuow if I could get my cause removed from Cherokee County, because it would be out
oi the question for any man to get .justice done him there who did not belon"- to this
klan. Judge Parrott's reply was, " I think you can take it to the Federal court ; " ami
that is this court.

Question. And that is why you came here ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I have been here frequently, and every dollar I have made I have
spent in trying to get this matter up here.

Question. I hope you will succeed in bringing them to justice.
Answer. That is all I want.
Question. Were there any other cases of conviction of these fellows in anv other

county ?

Answer. Of this same klan ?

Question. Yes.
Answer. Not that I know of.

Question. When was that conviction of the three men in Bartow County ?
Answer. I think it was the hrst week of this last August. It was but'just a day or

two before court sat that I asked Judge Parrott about what I have just now stated to
you.

By the Chairman :

Question. How far is Bartow County from Cherokee County ?

Answer. It is an adjoining county.
Question. Are the people who burned your house of wealth and property ?
Ansicer. Some are and some ain't ; some are like me; they have not got anythiuf, I

was a poor man, bad off, but I had enough to live on and be comfortable ; I had some
few dollars.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. How many were concerned in it ?

Answer. From the best iu formation I could get there were a great many of them ; but
I do not think they all went for the purpose of destroying what I had. I think, by wliat
1 can understand, that some went to preserve my life. 1 went last Saturday morniu"-
and levied upon one ot the parties, and he is here in this place now, if he has not broken
away. He acknowledged to a great many names, and I have got them down fast. But
I understand to-day that he says he Avas out of his head and crazy when he said it

Question. How do you know that a portion of the men went there to prevent violence
to you j)ersonally ?

Answer. Only according to reports.
Question. It is reported that some men personally friendly to you were there?
Answe): If they went to preserve my life they were.
Question. Knowing those men, you kuow who thev are ; do you recognize aniono-

those men any whom you believe to have friendly fe elings toward you ?
"

Answer. Let me tell you before I go any further. There was an old gentleman lived
about a quarter of a mile from me, on another lot of land

; the line runs between us
At the time they drove my family out they wanted to go there, but they would not let
L,hem 1 hey wanted to go to another place, and the y would not let them go there. They
kept them there in the cold pretty much all night. Since that night this old man has
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told me that bo \vent there -with bis pistol, atul tbat if there was aiiythiup,- liice rioting

or lighting, he would be damued if he had uot shot at them. But he would uot tell mo
the names, for he was afraid. •

Question. About bow mauy people do you think were present at the destruetitm of

your property ?

Answer. Tliis fellow Hurd told my neighbor tbat he bad a hundred men to mob mo
Riiy time he could catch me there over Pine Log jSIonutaiu. This man whom 1 have got
arrested says the woods were full of them.

Qiicstlo)!. It is because there was so many that you Itelieve you could not get a fair

trial in the county ?

Answer. Why, bless you, I know I could not, for the former sberitt of tbat county was
one of the men concerned. He came to arrest my son when the reward came out, and
I met him at the dour and told him that he should not do it.

Question. How large a reward was oti'ered "1

Answer. Two hundred and bfty dollars.

Question. By whom ?

Answer. By Governor Bullock.
Question. Had your son made any attempt to conceal himself?
Answer. 'No, sir, none at all.

Question. What was the necessity of olferiug a reward, tlieu?

Answer. 'VVby, as I have said, a couple of men came down here, and when they returned
there was the reward.

Question. Who were those men ?

Answer. Edwards was one, and Hurd was another. Mr. INIoore, who is ordinary at
Canton, dropped a letter over to Edwards, to take the boy and jutt him in the hills for

awhile, and then they would have a greater reward. And the next thing there was a
reward of $7.'30 come out.

By Mr. Voorhees :

Question. Was that reward x>aid?

Answer. It was to be.

By INIi-. Bayard : '

Question. It was to be paid u^ion conviction : and the boy was cleared ?

Answer. Yes, gir.

Question. No attempt was made to arrest your boy until this reward was offered ?

Answer. No, sir ; he v>'ar, there all the time, just frolicking about and going to parties.

Question. There was no ditliculty in finding him 1

Answer. No, sir.

Question. What offices, if any, did those two men hold who came down hero and got
the reward offered?
Answer. No office at all.

Question. They were citizens there ?

Answer. Mr. Moore, who lives at Canton, is ordinary for Cherokee County— so I am
told. He is a big dog there, as big a dog as shakes his tail in the streets. He sent a
line to Edwards to arrest the boy and put him out in the hills, and then he would,
return back to Governor Bullock and have the reward raised. I can produce a man
who knows all about that.

Question. Did these men attempt to procure a conviction of j^our sou ?

Answer. Why, God bless you, this man Edwards came to me to get me to turn the
boy over to him and let him turn him over to the sheriff. Old man Hurd came to me
and said, " If you have any confidence in anybody, make a friend of him and let L.m
take the boy and yoir will get some of the reward." I said, " Why, this is mj^ boy that
you are talking about."

By Mr. Vooriiees :

Question. You say you were a Union man during the war ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you get along jiretty well up there ?

Answer. I did not live Tip there.

Question. Where did you live?

Ansica'. In Bahlwin County, in this State. I had my children to work in the factory,

and in that way I kept my oldest son out of the service.

Question. You are a pretty out-spoken man.
Answer. I always speak my sentiments just right plumb square.
Question. You are uot afraid to do that?
Answer. I am not afraid of any one man, if I am heeled just as well as he is.

Question. You went to Cherokee County, where there were some Union people ?

Answer. They are very scattering; like people in the Western country—thin-settled.

Question. Then there are not many rebels or Union men there ?

Answer. It is a rebel county.
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Qucsiiov. Thoro are a niajority of rebels there ?

,/»*•)(•(';•. Yes, sir; two to one.

(Juesiio)i. There are S(jiue colored people there J

Answer. Yes, sir. Goveruor Brown has got his negroes there ; he rules the conuty.
Question. Are there a great many republicans there now?
Annwcr. Sinee they accused him of going North and selling himself he does not do so

well, but he is gaining ground again smartly. No mistake al)out that ; I am a Joe
Brown man. 1 am ; I do not care avIio knows it.

CJne-stlon. Wan Governor Brown thought much of in the rebellion ?

Answer. Y'es, sir; and I heard not a cry against Governor Brown until he went
North.

Question. Did not a great many people in Cherokee County go v.itli him for the
republicans and vote for General Grant /

Answer. There are not many Grant men up there.

<2ucslwn. Yon said that Brown ruled the county ?

Aihsicrr. Until that time, I say.

Qitesiion. You say the rebels are about two to one ?

Answer. I expect there are more, according to the way they used to count at the bal-

lot-boxes.

Question. About one-third are Union ?

Answer. That would be so. I know there used to be a large majoritj^ there. '

Question. How are they in Cass County ?

Answer. I do not knov,- how things run there, because since the destruction of my
property I hardly ever go to elections.

'^Question, Did you own the farm you live on?
Answer. It belonged to my sons. I said they carried me there to sec if I could get

up a little. I have not been clear of ekilling for a week at a time for about three years>

By the Chairmax :

Question. It was not your property that was destroyed, then ?

Answer. It was my household stutf that was burned up.

By Mr. Vookiiees :

Question. Does Governor Brown live in that county ?

Answer. He has a plantation there, but he lives here now.
Question. Would they Ku-Klux him up Hiere ?

Answer. He has a brother there, a mighty line man
; I have heard of their being

about him.

Atlanta, Geohgia, Oeioler 21, 1S71.

CAROLINE SMITH (colored) sworn and examined.

By the CnAiiniAX

:

Question. State your age, where you were born, and where yon now live.

Answer. I expect lam about thirty-live years old, I was horn in Walton County,
but raised from tlirr^^ years old up to nine in Gwinnett ; I now live in Walton County.

Question. When did you come to Atlanta?
Ansiver. I think we have been here over two weeks; I think last Monday was two

weeks ago. I left home on Thursday b(>fore the second Sunday in October.
Question. WJiat did you leave home for?

Ansiver. The Ku-Klux came there.

Question. Tell us all about that.

Answer. They came to my house on Thursday niglit, and took ns out and whijjped
us ; that is about all that it was.

Question. Who came there?
Answer. I do not know but two of them, ]Mr. Felker and Mr. Rich.
Question. Wlua-e do they live .'

^Inswer. In Walton. Mr. Felker keeps store there, and Mr, Rich lives on'ilr. Jor-
dan's land.

Question. How many were there?
Answer. A great many of them, twenty-five or thirty, perhaps more; but ten of

them whipped me.
Question. When was that ?

Answer. In the night.

Question. At what time?
Answei: Late in the night; I do not know what ti\ne, I sat up very late that night,

for they had been there once before, and we never laid down early in the night all of
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us ; some of us sat up the better part of the night. I Tvas pretty nigh asleep wheu 1

heard them coming.
Question. Did they come on foot or on horsehacli ?

Answer. They came to the lionse on foot, but they hitched their horses alongside the

big road not more than a (quarter off.

Question. How were they dressed ?

' Answer. They had on pants, like anybody else, but they were put on their body like

they make children's clothes. They had on some kind of false-face. Mr. Eich wa^ the

llrst man who struck me, and Mr. Felker was the head man of them when they came
there tixe first time and last time. They caught my hnsband and beat him as nuich as

they wanted to, and then they came in and said, " Make up a light." I made up a

light, and then Mr. Rich came' to me and said, '• Who is this?" I said, " Caroline."

He said, " H'm, h'm, come out of here." I went out, and they made me get down on
my knees. He said, "Who is in the other house?" I said, *' Sarah Ann." Felker

says to some of them, "Fetch her out here." Felker then said, "' Talic off this," point-

ing to my dress, " and fasten it around you." They then made me fasten it to my
waist. He whipped me some, and then he made me take my body off', which I wore
under my dress. He gave me fifty more, and then said, " Go and get some water, and
don't let's hear any big talk frorn you, and don't sass any white ladies." I said, " I

don't do that."

Question. How many blows did they strike you?
Answer. They hit me fifty ; they had so many men, and they hit me so many licks

apiece ; they all hit me live licks apiece.

Question. With what ?

Answer. With hickories. They did not whip me with a stick ; they whipped me
with a hickory.

Question. How long ago was this?

Answer. It has been ever since the Thursday night before the second Sunday in Oc-

tober. I left home on Sunday night afterwards; I came away in the night.

Question. Who was this Sarah Ann ?

Answer. She was my sister-iu-law, who lived with us.

Question. What did they do to her?
Ansu-er. They beat her,' and kicked her in her back, and she has not got over it yet.

They hit her on the head with a pistol, and they made her strip.

Question. What do you mean by that ?

Anstcer. They made her pull her clothes up, like they did me.
Question. Did they pull your clothes entirely off, or only down to the waist?

Answer. Down to the waist.

Question. Did they whip your husband the same night ?

Ansivci'. Yes, sir.

Question. With what?
Anstver. They beat him with rocks and pistols and sticks, and then they whipi^ed him

with hickories.

Question. How many blows did they strike him ?

Answei: I do not know. I was on the bed, and had not got up, and Lwas peeping
out of a crack. I never said a word, and did not get up until they came in and told

me to get up and make a light.

Question. Did they give Sarah Ann as many blows as they did you?
Answer. They struck her about forty blows, and they beat her with a pistol, and hit

her.

Question. Who told them how many licks to give?
Answe)-. Mr. Felker is the man w^ho told them the first time when tlioy came there.

Every one ran but me and three little children ; I staid in the house, and all the rest

got away. Felker was the man who told them how many licks to put on me. When
it came "his time he struck me but three licks, and struck me very light. Mr. Rich
then took the stick and struck me ; and Mr. Felker then said, " Don't strike her hard."

Question. Did they whip you the first time they came there?
Answer. They gave me twelve licks. I said that I wanted to put my shoes on, for I

was very sick. He saw I was scared in a manner to death, and he made me sit dov/u.

I sat a while, and then he made me get up and stand up. He was shaking his list at

me all the time. He then made me go back and sit down, and there asked me ques-

tions. He made me sit down three times, and made me get down on my knees, and
then they whipped me ; but they did not make me put oft' my dress, for I told them I
was sick.

Question. WTienwas the first time?
Ansivcr. On the 19th day of March.
Questioit. What did they tell you they were doing it for?

Answer. Nothing, only one of them said, "I don't want to hear any big talk." 1 lie-

first time they did not say what they did it for ; the last time they said, " We don't

want to hear any big talk ; and don't sass any white ladies." I said, " No, I oiily attend

26 G
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to rcy own business." After tlicy had whipped all throe of ns Folkor looked in and
said," Do you know anyof nsf" I said, -'No, L don't." He said, "Do y(^u snspieion

who we are? " I said, "No."' I told tlieni a lie, for I knew them wfdl enough, but 1

knew they would kill nie if I said I did. Said he, "Are yon going to watch us when
wc go to leave ? " I said, " No, sir ; I am not." He said, " I will leave two or three of

these wild men to watch you, to see if you watch us; shut the doors, and don't opei^

them." I shut the doors, and I did not open them then.

Qiic.'iiiov. Did they give any reason why thoy whijjped your husl)and ?

Aiisiccr. He said to them, " Just Jiold on a- minute, if you please ; what are you whip-
ping me for?" They said, "Never mind that, so wo whip you." That is all the satis-

faction they gave him.
Qnci^tion. 'What did they whip Sarah Ann for ?

Atisttrr. They told her pretty nmch about the same they did me. Tliey never said

anything particularly as to what they did it for ; only just told me not to have any big

talk, or sass any white ladies.

Question. Do you know of any other colored people or white people who have been
whipped besides your own folks?

Answer. Do you mean that same night?
Question. Any night.

Ansicer. 1 know a heap that they whipped the first time, but I cannot think of all

of them now.
Question. Were they whipping peojjle between the two times they came to see you?
Answer. They rode once a night every week.
Question. Did they always whip some one ?

Answer. Not every time ; sometimes they would get out of the way, and sometimes
they would catch them. They caught a girl a few weeks before they came to our

!muse, within a half a mile of us, and whipped her ; then they whipjied Abraham
Smith's wife in March. They made a scattcrment of the darkies Avhen they cami-

througb there the first time. After that we were all scared and uneasy, and watching
for them. I talked with Mr. Moore about it ; he said, " If you will stay here and work
ray land, you shall not be pestered any more." My husband went otf, but I sent for

him and told him what Mr. jNloore said, and got him back. And just as wc got our

crop done, and had pulled all the upland fodder, and were going over the cotton the

tirst time, then they came. We then had to leave auyhov,' ; I could not stand it any
longer.

Question. What became of your crop?
Answer. It is there now, and they are gathering it.

Question. Was Mr. Moore friendly to the Ku-Klnx ; do yon suppose he wanted
them to treat you in this way "?

Answer. Well, I could say, but then I do not know it. I hate to say anything about
a man without I kuowed it. He says that he was in favor of it before W(! came over

there, and after we came over there and he came here, and it stood as it did, he said he
was not in favor of it. He told me this : that he did not know what they did it for,

for there was nothing wrong about Caroline, and he liked them as well as ho did any
colored people. I said : "Mr. Moore, Mr. Willis Gilbert is a man who owned a heap of

.darkies in slavery times, and he has lots on his plantation, and ho says no Ku-Klux can
come on his premises without he says so; and he is a man of good understanding."

Mr. Moore did not say anything more to me.
Question. You saj" they made a general scattering of the darkies in March ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What reason did they give for that ?

Answer. They said we should'not have any schools; and that white people should
not countenance us, and they intended to whip the last one ; that is what they said.

Question. Why did they not want you to have schools ?

Answer. Schools ! They would not let us have schools. They went to a colored man
there, whose son had been teaching school, and they took every book they had and th rev.'-

them into the lire ; and they said they would just dare any other nigger to have a book in

his house. We allowed last fall that we would have a .school-house in every district

:

and the colored men started them. But the Ku-Klux said the^' would whip every man
Avho sent a scholar there. There is a school-house there, but no scholars. The colored

people dare not dress up themselves and lix np, like they thought anything of themselves,

for fear they would whip us. I have been humble and obedient to them, a heaji more
so than I was to my master, who raised me ; and that is the way they servo us.

By Mr. Bayakd :

Question. What had these disguised men been doing that thej- were afraid of Ix.iug

found our ? What did they suppose you would tell on them ?

Answer. Just going about whipping ns black ones.

Question. They thought you knew of what they had done in that way ?

Ansicer. They knew I knew it. They asked mc if I knew who they were.
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Question. Had these meu who committed this cruelty on yon been jterpetratiug any
violation of law that they were aliaid you would expose them for?

An>iwer. Nothiu}?, only whipping us.

i^rteaiion. When they asked you if you knew anything, they referred to their whip-
ping you ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Qu€s1io)i. That is all the reason you know for their attack on you ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; that is all I know of.

(Juesilio)i. They did not accuse you of anything else ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Were any of these men engaged in making spirits, running stills ? Yea
are safe to answer here.

Answer. Well, they were.
Question. Was that the businesH they were afraid of having discovered ?

Answ(r. That was one portion of it, I reckon.
Question. Had the revenue officers been there hunting them up ?

Answer. They had not when I came I'lom there. They had made their brags that
revenue officers were afraid to come there ; they said they had the men to keep them
out.

Question. Was it their fear that you would report them about that, that caused this
violence to you ?

Answer. They charged me to say nothing about what was going on. I said, " It is

none of my business."' They said that if anybody came and asked me if I knew where
any of that thing was going on, not to tell it.

QueMion. Did they charge you with having told those people of what was going on ?

Answer. No, sir ; they knew I had never told that. This thing was going on right
close to our house. Then tuoy have a cave, a little further over, where they used to
go and disguise themselves. They would ask me if I had any whisky. I said, " No, I

have not got any." They said, " Don't you know where there is any ?" I said, " I don't
know." They were trying me to see if I would tell. They searched all about in my
slab drawer and in my pockets, but could not hud any. They reached up and took a
gun there was there, and broke it m two, and threw it in the fire. They said, " We
don't allow you to have any such thing as this here."

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. You said that making Avhisky was one of the things they wanted to find
out if yoii had told about ?

Answer. I reckon so, by their asking me those questions.
Question. What else besides that ?

Answer. Nothing else, except that they charged me not to tell about their coming to
my house.

QueMion. Not tell that they had been there to yoiir house ?

Anstver. Yes, sir, Ku-Klnxing ns ; not to tell that.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 21, 1871.

THOMAS M. DEENNON sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. State your age ; where you were born ; where you now live, and what is

your occupation.
. Ansiver. I was born in 1829, in Morgan County, Georgia ; I now live in Floyd County;
my occupation is blacksmithing and wagon-making.

Question. In what part of Floyd County do you live ?

Ansucr. I live three miles west of Rome.
Question. Have you in your neighborhood any of those people that are commonly

called Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Well, sir, there have been some there in the neighborhood that are called
Ku-KIux.

Question. Have any of them ever come to your house ?

Ansuer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was said by them, and what took place the;'e?

An,swer. They came there last January, I think, and about as well as I could count
them there were about twenty odd ; I could not count them all. They were disguised
so that I could not see their faces; they had something over their laces, hanging
down. Before they got to the house, they commenced calling, "Old man, old man, get
up : there is going to come a raiu." I told them, *' Put on your oil-cloths, then ;" for
I knew they were Ku-Klux from the way they were talking, and from what I had
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lieard of them. They said llH>y had no oil-cloths; that they wore Just from the moon.
Well, they rode aioniid my house, and told me that if I did not i^ct up and open the
door, they would break it down. I said, " Wait until I am dressed." They said, "No,
i'u isn't worth while to dress, for you will have to pull your elothes off again." I said

that would make no difiterence, I would put them on. I got up and opened the door

;

I saw that they were standing all around both doors of my house. When I went to

the door, they eonnueueed groaning. They then asked me what my utime was. I said

to them, " It ain't Avorth while for uu', to tell you my name
;
yon know it." They then

said to me, in a jnetty tierce manner, " How do we l^now it ? Tell it iu a minute." I

told tliem that Drennon was my name. Then they all hallooed out, or pretty much
all of them, " Drennon." They then asked me if I did not cook a radical or a negro
harbacue down in Rome. I told them that I cooked a barbacue down there that some
of the people called radical, and some called republican. They groaned again when I

told them that, .and asked me what I did it for. I told them I did it because I was
hired. Thou they asked me what sort of ticket I voted. I told them I voted a white
ticket. They then said, " You are a radical." Says I, "No, I reckou I am as far from
being a radical as you are." One of them said, "No, you ain't." About that time
some of the others spoke to them, and told them to hush ; and then they said, "Let's
go," and all started off' from the house. That is about all they said to me at that time.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. How many were there?
Answer. Somewhere about twenty, I think.

Question. W^ere they disguised ?

Answer. O, yes, sir ; all disguised.

Qxiesiion. Were they on horseback ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. At what time of the night was this; was it early or late?

Ansu-er. It was pretty late. They went on by my house, going on down ; that was
the night they whipped ai^ old fellow by the name of Jourdau Ware, a freedman, who
lived, about three-quarters of a mile below me. I did not see them whip him, but he
came up to my house the next morning, and said they had abused him pretty smart.
They went on into Rome the same night, rode across the bridge ; at least, that is what
was reported ; I did not see them.

Question. Was the whipi^iug of this negro man the only thing they did that you
heard reported ?

Answer. No, sir ; there was oue shot down about a nnle and a half from town, and
probably they whipped some more of them ; I am not positive about their whipping
any more, but I think I heard that they whipped some. I kuow that they shot one ;

that was talked of.

By the Chairman :

Question. Did you hear them use any threatening language about Major Hargrove ?

Answer. Not that crowd, I did not.

Question. You told them you voted a white ticket ?

Answer. I said that I voted a white ticket ; that was the answer I gave them.
Question. What did they understand by that ?

Answer. I do uot know.

By Mr. Scoii'iELD

:

Question. You meant it to be somewhat equivocal ?

Answer. I just meant that 1 voted apiece of white paper; that is, that my ticket

"vras on white paper.
Question. Had you voted the republican ticket ?

Answer. No, sir, I had uot. I would have done it if it bad uot been for certain things.

By the Chairman :

Question. What were those things ?

Answer. To tell you the truth about it, I was afraid to do it.

Question. You are a republican iu sentiment, as I understand?
Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. That was the election last fall ?

Anstcer. Well, it was not far from Christmas ; I do not know whether it Avas before

or after ; it was v/hen Mr. Hargrove and Mr. Burnett ran for the legislature.

Question. How long was it after the election that they came to your house ?

Ansu-er. Well, I declare, I do not know how long it was; I thiidc it was somewhere
along between the middle and the last of January. I do uot recollect what time the

election came off; I think, though, it was along about the last of December, I reckou,

or in November.
Question. Do you know whether others of the republicans were afraid to vote their

ticket at that election ?
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Answer. I beaid that Mr. Josei)h Keniii was. He did not tell nie so, Lut others did

They said he was iutimidated, so that he did not vote as he would have done other-

wise.
QuesUon. Did you vote the democi'atic ticket ?

Anstoer. Well, yes, sir, I did.

Question. What did you hear about Major Hargrove Leiug threateDcd ?

Answer. I just heard that there was talk going about geuerally in Rome, I do not
now recollect who it was, that the Ku-Klux would be on him about the time they got
their dinner ready.

QucsUon. That is, at the time of the barbacue ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. Miijor Hargrove hired mo to cook the barbacue for him.
Question. Do you kuow anything about au old man of the name of Antony, at Mr.

Bryant's ?

Answer. I know an old freedmau of that name ; he is at Captain John Turner's now,
but he has been at Mr. Bryant's. I could not say that I positively know what was
done to him, but I have the report from good authority. It was said that the Ku-Klux
came in and whipped him and others at a terrible rate, and took off a very fine rifle

and shot gun, both together, of the negro's.

Question. His property '!

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. You said something about the scourging of Jourdan Ware; what was there
about that case ?

Answer. He came up to my place the next morning ; he had promised to work for my
neighbor, Mr. Angle, the next morning. He came up and told him that he could not work
lor him, for the Ku-Klux had beat him up the night before. His head was all bloody,
and he had it tied up. He said they gave him a terrible beating.

Question. Do you know anything about a man named Joe Kennedy ?

Ansiver. Joe Kennedy f It seems to me that was the name of a freednian that was
shot.

Question. Where was that ?

Answer. Between my house and Rome, about a mile and a half from Rome. I think
Joe Kennedy was the name of the man who was shot.

Question. Was that the same night they came to your house?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they kill him or only wound him ?

Ansiver. I do not think it killed him, but I do not know what their intention was.
Question. Did they molest his wife ?

Answer. I do not recollect ; I am not positive about that.

Question. Do you know whether they did any other injury to Ware except to beat
him?
Answer. I think they took off his gun ; that was the report.

Question. Do you know what reason they assigned for these beatings and shootings?
Answer. Well, I declare, I do not know what their reasons were for them, I did hear

a rumor about over the settlement there that he had had some slight talk to a gentle-
man's wife, a white lady, and called her " sis," or "wife," or something of that sort,

one day when she was passing along the road. I heard somebody say that they allowed
that probably that was it, but then nobody knew for certain.

Question. How old is Jourdan Ware?
Answer. I suppose forty-five or fifty ; may be older.

Question. Before your election last fall were any notices posted around and served
upon the jieople, or any of them, with reference to voting?

Answer. Well, sir, I do not recollect that I saw any, and I do not recollect whether I

heard of any or not.

Question. How long since you first heard of the Ku-Klux riding around over the
country ?

Ansiver. In that part of the country ?

Que-siion. Yes.
Ansicer. Well, I have heard of them for the last eighteen months.
Question. In what numbers do they assemble ?

Answer. Those are all that I ever saw ; I do not know any others. I have heard
people say that there have been very large mimbers of them assembled together, but
those are all I ever saw.

Question. Did you know any of those men?
Answer. O, no, sir ; no more than I would know one of the rounds of these chairs

if it was covered up in a sack. They had their faces covered over, and a great pocket
of a concern coming down in front.

Question. Were their horses disguised ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Did you know any of their horses ?

Answa: I did not ; it was in the dark. Well, there was a white or gray mule there,
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.111(1 then there were difteront colored horses ; but I could uot tell whoso they wore, for
they kept moving round about.

(Question. You could uot judge, then, Avhether they were j)eople who lived in your
neighborhood, or were straugers from a distance?

Answer. I could not tell. If you could see Mr. Bryant, he could give iuformatiou
about that old Antony negro.

By Mr. Scofikld :

Question. You said that when they went away from your liouse " that was all they
did at that time." I sujjposed that you were going to tell about what they did at some
bubsequent time.

Ansxve): That was all the time I ever saw them or heard anything from them partic-
ularly on my account.

Question. Have you known of their riding about during the last summer or this fall /

Are they still raiding through your locality ?

Answer. Well, 1 heard just last week that Mr. Bryant and Mr. Captain John Turner
had gone to get the gun they took away from Antony ; they found the gun, but the
man who owned it at that time was not there. Tliey left it until the man siiould come
hack. It is reported now that a baud of disguised men came there and took away tlio

guii. Mr. Prescott had the gun in charge, tliough he said he bought it.

Question. You have not heard of any whippings recently ?

Ansiver. Well, I do not believe I liave. It was up in Chattooga that they killed old
man Foster's ferryman ; they killed him last spring. They said he was a mighty good
okl servant.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Did you ever hold any office ?

Anstver. I never held any office.

Question. 1 understand you to say that those men surrounded your house, with thi^
groaning, &c., some time last January?

Avswer. I think it was in January I will not be positive.
Question. And excepting that time, you have uot yourself had any personal knowl-

edge of these things f

Answer. No, sir.

Question. All that you have stated otherwise is gathered from mere rumors about the
neighborhood?

Answer. Ye^, sir.

Question. You spoke about some threat to interfere with the dinner or barbecue ?

Answer. Yet, sir ; I heard them talking about it.

Question. Was there any interference with the barbecue?
Answer. None in the world, only after I had got done with the barbecue some men

came in, and one said, " It is time these damned barbecues were leaving."
Question. Was he disguised ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Was there any interference with the barbecue by the Ku-Klnx ?

Ansieer. No, sir.

Question. The threat came to nothing?
Answer. No, sir, but I looked for it.

Question. The barbecue was held and passed oE peaceably ?

Ansu'e)'. Yes, sir. There Avas no disturbance at all, but I looked for it.

Question. You spoke of a man being shot on the night these people came to your
house ; how do you know that ?

Answer. I say that was the general talk.

Question. You have no personal knowledge of it ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you know that man yourself ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Did you ever see him ?

Ansiva\ Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know that he is dead ?

Ansrver. No, sir.

Question. If he is dead, do you know Avho killed him ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. When you state what happened at your house, you have stated all of your
personal knowledge ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The rest is mere rumor ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you sinnmoned before the grand jury in regard to this business ?

Answer. Which business?
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Qtiesfion. The matters j-ouhave been spcakiug of here.

Jnsiccr. I was sumnioiied by the marshal.
Quctition. Were you summoued to testiiV to the matters voii have been speaking of

here ?

Annivcr. I suppose so; it was in behalf of the United States

Question. And in regard to these matters you have been speaking of here ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Atlanta, Georgia, Ootoher 21, 1371.

TILDA WALTHALL (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. State your age, where you were born, and where you now live.

Answer. I am twenty-one years old; I do not know where I was born, but I live in

Haralson County.
Question. When did you come here from Haralson County?
Answer. I do not recollect now what day it was; a few days ago.
Question. Are you a married woman ?

Ansicer. They killed my husband.
Question. Who killed h'im ?

Answer. The Ku-Klux.
Question. When, and where ?

Answer. It was in Haralson County, in May.
Question. Toll us all about it, and who they were.
Ansieer. I do not know but two of them.
Question. Who were they ?

Ansiver. Old man Monroe and Ben, his son.

Question. How many of them were there?
Answer. I do not kuoAV how many there were.
Question. Did you see the crowd ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they riding ? ^
Answer. They were riding, but they left their horses.
Question. W^erethey disguised?
Answer. They were disguised.

Question. How?
Answer. They had on great big gowns, and great big, long sleeves, wide sleeves.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. Were their faces covered?
Ansiver. Some were, and some were not.

By the Chairman :

Question. Now, tell us all that they did.

Ansicer. They came and hallooed to open the door; my husband got up and got out
of the house; he cra^vled in under the house. Then they came around and went into
the garden and pulled off a jilank, and he was lying there ; and they shot him.

Question. Do you know who shot him?
Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. How many shots did they fire at him?
Answer. They never fired but once.

Question. Did that shot kill him ?

Answer. He lived until the next night about dusk, when ho died. They beat him
after they shot him. The report was, that they said they gave him three hundi-ed.

Question. With what?
Answer. With sticks.

Qustion. Did they beat him with his clothes on, or did they take them otf ?

Answer. His clothes wx'ro off or jmlled up. He did not have on anything but his
drawers and shirt, and they pulled his drawers down and his shirt up.

Question. Did they beat him on the naked flesh ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was that in the night-time ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. At what time of the night?
Answer. Well, when they left, chickens were crowing for day.
Que^stion. Did they give any reason for treating him in that way ?

Answer. No, sir, they did not say.
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Question. Did yonr linsbnnd say before lie died whether ho knew any of them or not ?

Aiisirci: No, sir; lie never said a word about them; nary word.
Question. Was ho able to talk much ?

Answer. He did not say much.
Question. Where have yon been livlu.a; ?

Ansu-er. On old man Wyatt Williams's land.

Question. Do you know of anybody else who was interfered with by the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. There, are some more up on tlie mountain, about six miles from us, that were
interfered with.

By Mr. Bayakd :

Question. You stated that old man Monroe and his son Ben were there ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; Duncan Monroe.
Question. Did you know him and recognize him ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What had he against your husband ?

Answer. Lord knows ; I don't.

Question. What w%as your husband's name?
Anstcer. John Walthall.
Question. Did ho know anything those people were afraid he would tell ?

Ansu-er. If ho did, I did not know it ; I had not been married very long.

Question. How many of those people were there 1

Ansicer. I do not know how many there were.
Question. How many did you see ?

Ansirer. I do not know how many ; I did not couut them ; I could not give any idea

of how many there were.
,

Question. Did you know the faces ofany of those who were in disguise ?

Anstva: No, sir.

Question. Had they anything on their horses ?

Anstver. Wo did not see them ; they were tied up the road a piece from us.

Question. You have no idea what made them commit this act ?

Answer. No, sir ; I could not give any- idea at all.

By Mr. Scoi- ield :

Question. Was there anybody else in the house but yourself and husband?
Answer. Nobody there but me and my hnsbaud ; they pulled two men up there out

of their houses up to my house to keep them from going off; they wore Jasjicr Carter

and Charles Little ; they whipped them.
Question. Were they colored men ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they whip them at your house ?

Answa: No, sir ; they took them away from their houses.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. How did you know that ?

Answer. Jasper said so.

Question. You did not see them whip them ?

Answer. No, sir ; I only saw his back that he was whipped.

By the Chairman :

Question. Was his back much hurt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 2\, 1871,

HESTER .GOGGIN (colored) sworn and examined.
'

By the Chairman :

Question. How old are you, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

Ansxeer. I am about sixteen years old ; I do not know where I was born ; I live in

Haralson County.
Question. Do you know anything about the killing of John Walthall?
Ansicer. I was not up there when they shot him.
Question. Where were you that night ?

Ansxoer. I was at Charley Little's house.
Question. Did you see anybody go along by there that night ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they came right by there ; that was the first place they stopped.

Question. Who were they ?

Anstver. There were three I kuowed ; old man Monroe and two sous.
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Queslion. How many were tliere altogether ?

Answer. About fifteen or twenty.
Question. What did they do at Charley Little's?

A7imnr. They came in and took hiui out: two staid in the house and made mo and
two more girls get up aud kindle a liglit. They asked us if we had any giiu there,

aud we said no. They looked behind tlie door, and said that if they found any gun
they would kill us ; they found none, and stepped out of doors and told us to show them
where Jasper Carter aud John Walthall lived; we showed them, and they Avent on

;

they camo on baclv, aud then whipped us.

Question. Did they whip you ?

Anstver. Yes. sir.

Question. Who whipped you?
Answer. Neil Monroe, Ben was the other, and old mau Monroe were all I knowcd.
Question. Did the others whip you ?

Answa: Yes, sir.

Question. How much did they whip you ?

Answer. They gave me about teu or thirteen licks.

Question. Wi'tli what ?

Ansicer. It looked to me like a hickory withe ; I do not know what it was.
Question. Did they whip you over your clothes?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Why did they whip you ?

Ansirer. They said to make us stay at home; and we were already at home.
Question. Did they whip anybody else besides you ?

Ansivcr, Yes, sir, Charley Little's wife.

Question. Had slae any children?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. How old werei they ?

Answer. There was one about seven, and another thirteen or fourteen.

Question. Were they there ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they trouble the children at all ?

Answer. They never interfered with the smallest one.

QueMion. How much did they whip Charley Little's wife ?

Answer. The gave her two or three licks, and snatched her across the bed.
Question. Did they whip anybodj' else there ?

Answei: No, sir.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. Where was Charley Little himself?
Ansiver. They took him u^i to John Walthall's house.
Qiiestion. What mouth was that ?

Ansicer. I do not know what month th.at was.
Question. Was it in the summer or in the spring?
Ansiver. It was in warm weather.
Question. Did Charley Little come back?
Ansiver. Yes, sir, after they went ofi'.

Question. Was it daylight when he got back ?

Ansiver. No, sir, it was not daylight.
Question. Did they whip him ?

Answer. No, sir, they never touched him.

By Ml-. L.AJs'siXG

:

Question. Did you ever hear what they shot John Walthall for ?

Ansiver. No, sir, I never heard.
Question. Did you hear Charley Little say ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Was he there at Walthall's when they shot him?
Answer. Yes, sir, he was there.
Question. Did you learn what they took him up to Walthall's for f

Ansiver. No, sir.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. Is Charley Little here ?

Answer. Yes, sir. ^
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Atl.\nta, Geokglv, October 21, 1871.

EENA LITTLE (colored) sworn and examined.

B.y the Ciiaiuman :

.Question. IIow old are yon, where were you Lorn, and where do you now live?

Ansiver. I do not know how old I am. I was bom in Haralson county, and live

there now.
Question. Do you recollect the uight when John Walthall was killed?

Ansivo: Yes, sir.

Question. Where were you that night ?

Ansu-er. I was at home.
Question. Where was that ?

Av.nvcr. Down on the Tallapoosa River.
Question. Are you married, or a single woman ?

Anstiier. I am single.

Question. What kin are you to Charley Little ?

Answer. Ho is my step-father.

Question. Did any one come to your house that night ?

Ansiecr. Yes, sir.

Question. Who were they ?

Answer. Ben Monroe, and Neil Monroe, and old man Monroe.
Question. Was anybody else there ?

Answer. Yes, sir; a whole crowd of them ; but I did not know who they were.
Question. Why did you not know the others 1

Answer. They were strangers.

Question. What did they do at your house?
Ajiswcr. They whipped me, and my sister, and my aunt.
Question. How much did they whip you ?

ytns2ver. I reckon they gave me about forty or fifty licks.

Question. What did they whip you with ?

Ansicer. With some kind of whip ; I do not know what it was.
Question. Did they whip you as they were going on to John Walthall's house, or as

they were coming back?
Answer. As they were coming back, after they had done shot him.
Question. What reason did they give for whipping you ?

Answer. They never said what they whipped us for
;
just whipped us and told us to

stay at home, and ayo were already at home.
Question. Did they whip you over your clothes ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. Did you hear any reason given for shooting Walthall ?

Ansiver. No, sir; I never heard what they shot him for. •

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. Were the men disguised who came to your house?
A7iswer. Some of them were, and some were not.

Question. Did the Monroes have auything on ?

Answer. Old man Jlonroe, the first time they came into the house, had something on
his face; but the last time he came in he did not have anything on his face.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 21, 1871.

LETITIA LITTLE (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chaiuman :

Question. How old are you, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

Answer. I do not know ho.w old I am, or where I was born ; I live down at Williams's

Mills, in Haralson County.
Question. Vv^here were yoti at the time that John Walthall was shot ?

Answer. I was doAvn in my ma's house.
Question. Whose house is that ?

Answer. It is one of Mr. Williams's houses.
Question. Who is your mother ?

Answer. Jane Little.

Question. Did any i^arties come to your house that night?
^Insiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they say what they came for?

Answer. They said they came there to kill uncle John Walthall.
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Question. Who said tliat ?

jUiswer. Tlie Kii-Klnx said so.

Question. Did you know auy of tbem?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Que.'ition. Which ouos?
Answer. Ben. Mouroe and Neil Monroe.
QiieMion. Did they say what they were goiujr to kill him for ?

Anmcer. No, sir.

Question. Did they trouble you in auy way ?

An.siver. They whipped us.

Question. Did they whip you f

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. When was that ; as they wore goiug, or when they were coming back ?

Ansiver. When they came back.
Question. How many blows did they strike j'ou ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. Why did they whip you?
Answer. They just whipped us and told us to stay at home.

By Mr. Lansixg :

Question. Were you goiug to auy school at that time ?

Answer. No. sir.

Question. Did' they say where you had beeu that they complained of?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you told us all they said '?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bayaud :

Question. You do not know how old you are, or where you were born ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you know what you meant when you swore on that Bible?
Answer. On the Bible?
Question. When that gentleman put the oath to you did you know what be meant ?

Answer. Put the oath ?

Question. Do you know what an oath is ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Do j'ou know what that gentleman meant when he said something when
you first came into the room ?

Answer. No, sir.

By the Chairmax :

Question. Do you know what swearing to tell the truth is 1

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Suppose after you are sworn to tell the truth you should tell a lie ; what
would be done to you f

Answer. I do not know.

Atlanta, Georgia, Octohcr 21, 1871.

MxVRIA CARTER (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. How old are you, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

Answer. I will be twenty-eight years old on the 4th day of next March ; I was bom
in South Carolina ; and I live in Haralsou County now.

Question. Are you married or single ?

Answer. I am married.
Question. What is your husband's name ?

Answer. Jasper Carter.
Quesiioti. Where were you on the night that John Walthall was shot ?

Answer. In my house, next to his house ; not more than one hundred yards from hid

house.
Question. Did any persons come to your house that night ?

Answer. Yes, sir, lots of them ; I expect about forty or fifty of them.
Question. What did they do at your house ?

Answer. They just came there and called; we did not get up when they first called.

We heard them talking as they got over the fence. They came hollering and knocking
at the door, and they scared my husband so bad he could not speak when they first

came. I answered them. They hollered, '"Open the^ door." I said, '• Yes, sir-.'' They
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wore at the other door, aiul they vsaid, "Kindle a liijht." My hjisbaiid went to Idndle a
light, and they busted both doors open and ran in—two iu one door and two iu the
other. I heard the others coming on behind them, jumping over tlie fence in tlieyard.

One put liis gnn down to him and said, "Is this Jolm Walthall''" Tliey had been
hunting him a long time. They had gone to my brother-in-law's Ininting lum, and had
uhipped one of my sisters-in-law powerfully and two more men on account of him.
They said they ^^ere going to kill him wlien they got hold of lura. They asked my hus-

hand if he was John Walthall. He was so scare(l he could not say anyi lung. I said,

"No." I never got up at all. They asked where he was, and we tohl th(Mn he was np
to the next house. They jerked my husband up arid said that he liad to go up there. I

lieard them up there hollering " Open the door," and I heard them break the door down
While they were talking about our house, just before tliey brolve open our door, I heard
a chair fall over in John Walthall's house. He raised a plank then and tried to get un-
der the house. A parcel of them ran ahead and l)roke the door down and jerked his

Avife out of the bed. I did not sec them, fori was afraid to go out of doors. They
knocked his wife about powerfully. I heard tliem cursing her. She connuenced hol-

lering, and I heard some of them say, "God damn her, shoot iier." They struck her over

the head with a pistol. The house looked next morning as if somebody had been kill-

ing hogs there. Some of them said, "Fetch alight here, quick;" and some of them
said to her, " Hold a light." They said she held it, and they put their guns down on him
and shot him. I heard him holler, and some of them said, "Pull him out, pull him
out." W' hen they pulled him out the hole was too small, and I heard them jerk a plank
part oft' the house and I heard it lly back. At that time four men came iu my house
and drew a gun on me ; I was sitting in my bed and the baby was yelling. They asked,

"Where is John Walthall?" I said, " Up yondc^r." They said, " Who lives here?" 1

said, "Jasper Carter." They said, "Where is John W^althall?" I said, "Them folks

have got him." They said,
"'What folks ? " I said, " Them folks up there." They came

in and out ail the time. I heard John holler Avhen they commenced whipping him,

They said, " Don't holler, or we'll kill you in a minute." I undertook to try and count,

but they scared me so bad that I stopped counting; but I think they hit him about
three hundred licks after they shot him. J heard them clear down to our house ask

him if he felt like sleeping with some more white women; and they said, " You steal,

too, God danm you." John said, "No, sir." They said, " Hush your mouth, God damn
your eyes, you do steal." I lieard them talking, but th.at was all I heard plain. They
beat him powerfully. She said they made her put lier arms around his neck and tlien

they whipped them both together. 1 saw where they struck her head with a pistol

and bumped her head against the house, and the blood is there yet. They asked me
where my husband's gnu was; I said ho had no gun, and they said I was a damned liar.

One of tiiein had a sort of gown on, and he put his gun in my fiice and I pushed it np.

The other said, " Don't you shoot her." He then Avent aud looked in a trunk among
the things. I allowed they were hunting for a ]ustol. My husband had had one, but

he sold it. Another said, " Let's go away from here." They brought in old Uncle

Charlie and sat him down there. They had a light at the time, aud I got to see some
of them good. I kncAV tAvo of them, but the others I could not tell. There Avas a very

large light in the house, aud they w(!nt to the lire and I saw tliem. Tiiey came there

at aboiit 12 o'clock and staid the're until 1. They went on back to old Uncle Charley's

theu, to Avhip his girls and his Avife. They did not Avhip her any to hurt her at all.

They jabbed me on the head Avith a gun, and I heard the trigger pop. It scared me
aud I throwed my hand up. He put^it back again, aud I pushed it away again.

Question. Hoav old Avas your baby ?

Answer. Not quite three Aveeks old.

Question. You were still in bed ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir ; I never got up at all.

Question. Did they interrupt yoii,r husband in any way ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they whipped him mightily ; I do not know how much. They took

him aAvay up the road, over a quarter, I expect. I saAv the blood running down
when he came back. Old Uncle Charley Avas in there. They did not carry him back
home. They said, " Old man, you don't steal." He said, " No." They sat him down
and said to him, "You just stay here." Just as my husband got back to one door and
stepped iu, three men came in the other door. They left a man at John's house Avhile

they Avere ripping around. As they came back by the house they said, " By God, good-

bye, hallelujah !" I Avas seared nearly to death,' and my husband tried to k(>ep it hid

from me. 1 asked him if he had been Avhipped niucli. He .said, "No." I saAV his

clothes Averc bloody, and the next morning they stuck to him, and his shoulder was
almost like jelly.

Question. Did" you know this man who drew his gun oa you ?

Ansioer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who was he?
Anstper. Mr. Finch.
Question. Where does ho live ?
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Aimver. I reckon about three miles off. I was satisfied I knew liim and Mr. Booker.

QiicsUou. Were they considered men of standing and property in that conntry ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; Mr. Finch is married into a pretty well-off family. He is a good

liver, but ho is not well off himself.

Question. How is it with ilr. Booker '

Ansiver. 1 do not know so much about him. He is not very well off.

Question. How with the Monroes ?

Ansivci: They are pretty well-off folks, about as well off as there are in Haralson.

They have a mill.

By Mr. Bayai;d :

Question. You said they had been lookiug a loug time for John Walthall?
Ansiver. \'"es, sir.

Question. Had they been charging John with sleeping with white women?
Aiiswer. Yes, sir ; and the people where he staid had charged him with it. He had

been charged with it ever siuce the second year after I came to Haralson. I have been
there four years this coming Christmas.

Question.^ That was the cause of their going after him and making this disturbance ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; that was it. AVe all knew he was warned to leave them long before

he was married. His wife did not know anything about it. When he tirst came there

he was staying among some Avhite women down there.

Question. Do you mean living with them and sleeping with them ?

Ansicei: He was staying in the house where they were.

Question. White women?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they women of bad character ?

A7iswer. Yas, sir ; worst khid.

Question. What were their names?
Answer. They were named Keyes.
Question. How many were there ?

Answer. There were four sisters of them, and one of them was old man Martin's wife.

Question. Were they low white people ? .

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had John lived with them for a long while ?

Answer. Y'es, sir. They had threatened him and been there after him. They had
gone there several times' to run them off. My house was not very far from them, and
1 heard them down there throwing rocks.

Question. Was it well known among you that John had been living with these low
white women ?

Answer. I'es, sir.

Question. Did he keep it up after he was married ?

Answer. No, sir ; he quit before he was married. I heard that a white woman said

he came along there several times last year and said he could not get rid of them to

save his life.

Question. Did John go with any other white women ?

Aiiswer. No, sir ; not that I know of.

Question. Was he accused by the Ku-Klux of going with any of them ?

Answer. They did not tell him right down their names. I heard them say, " Do you
feel like sleeping with any more white women ?" and I knew who they were.

By the Chairman :

Question. These women, you say, were a low-down class of persons? •

Answer. Y\^s, sir ; not counted at all.

Question. Did white men associate with them ?

Answer. It was said they did.

Question, Did respectable white men go there ?

Answer. Some of them did. Mr. Stokes did before he went to Texas, and several of

the others around there. I do not know many men in Georgia any way; I have
not been about much. I have heard a heap of names of those who used to go there. I

came by there one night, and I saw three men there myself.
Question. Y''ou say John Walthall had been going there a good while ?

Aiiswer. Yes, sir ; that is what they say.

Question. How long had he quit before they killed him ?

Answer. A year before last, a while before Christmas. He was still staying at old man
Martin's. ' I staid last year close to Carroll, and when I came back he had quit.

Question. Did ho go with them any more after ho married?
Answer. No, sir; he staid with his wife all the time. He lived next to me.
Question. How loug had he been married before he was killed ?

Answer. They married six weeks before Christmas, and he was killed on the 22d of
April.
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Question. Did they cliarsrp roiir Inishanil with j;'niii<)- after any white womeu? Xi
Answer. No, -sir; I never heard them say anytliiiii:; to hiiii at alh The next nioruinj:;

j

I asived liini what they whipped luni lor. He said lliey told liini that he stole corn Iroui J

old man Monioi'. He staid at Monioe'na year and a luill'—so 1 was told; I do not know. I

I'eople said Ihat Monroe never paid him anythin^i;-.

(Question. How long hcl'ore this was he living at old man Monroe's?
Answer. We have heen married four years, and it was before we Avere married. 1

think it was the second year alYer he was free.

(Question. Were any of these men along that night who had been going to see thesi;

low women ?

Ansicir. I do not know; I heard that Mr. Mnrphy's .sister .said that he was in the

crowd that night—his little sister—and I know he used to go there.

Question. Is he one of tho,se who have gone to Texas?
Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Yon know that becanse someT)ody told yon so?

Answer. Yes, sir; that ninch. I do not know it myself; I heard some one else say it.

Atlanta, Ge:orgi.\, Octohcr 21,187 1.

ELIZABETH HOLLIDAY sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. Where do you live ; where were you born, amV^^hat is your age ?

AnsiL'cr. Hive in Jackson County, where I was born; I was thirty-eight years old

the 5th oflast IMay.

Question. Are you married?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Will yon state to the committee whether you or your husband have had
any knowledge any way of tho.se i)eople that are called Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. State all that you know about it; if they came to your house, and what
they said and did.

Answer. They came to our house ; my husbaud saw them coming into the gate ; he
knew their business.

Question. When was that ?

Answer. It was on the 25th or the 26th of July last, about 11 o'clock at night.

Question. How many were there in all of them ?

Answer. Twenty-five or thirty; maybe more; there was considerable of a crowd.

Question. Were they riding or walking ?

Answer. They were walking when they came to our house, but they hitched their

horses about a quarter of a mile otf.

Question. Were they disguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What kind of disguise did they have on 1

Answer. It looked to me like black oil-cloth over their faces, which came down over

their arms. As they entered the gate Mr. Holliday saw them ; they had not hollered

or made any noise. He shot at them, and when he shot they let into shooting. I

reckon they shot fifteen or twenty times. From that one of them hollered to come on.

They went" to the kitchen and broke down the door and v^'ent in there. There were
some black folks there, and they made them get up a light. They took an ax and cut

down the door into the dining-room where there was a little negro boy staying. As
they went to enter in there Mr. Holliday struck at them with his gun, and the little

negro boy said he saw two fall in the door-way ; and then he got scared and covered up
his face, and did not see how they got away. One of them said to the others, " I'vo

got him, boys;" and he [Mr. HollitlayJ said he reckoned half a dozen, maybe more,

covered him then. He had a large "knife which he took out of his pocket, and while
he was opening it one of them struck him with a pistol. He said he just luigged one
with hi.s left arm, and let into him with his knife, and he hollered, "Help
me, boys, he is killing me." He let him go, and they covered him again,

and he let into another one. He imder.stood the voice of one. They said, " Stand
back, boys, let's shoot him." He says ho reckoned they shot some eight or tcu

times at" him ; that the bullets were Hying all around him. There was another
room next to the bed-room I was sleeeping in, and I think they shot some ten or

a dozen times into that room. He [Mr. Holliday] said he thought it was best

for him to get out from among them, and he went out of the back door. They
pretended to look up-stairs, but I do not think that they ever got tlieir heads up there;
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they appeared to be the ^vo^st fria;litened folks yon ever saw. They fired at bim as

he went out of the door, and th<; shots striujk the facing of the door. From that they
rnmniaged over the honse ; one talked to nie, and while he was talking the others took
a drill-SAvord and a pistol which Mr. Holliday had there, and threw some band-boxes
down and broke them to pieces. I do not think they staid in the honse more than a
minnte after lie left. .Some vama back to the kitchen in a hurry. I asked the lirth^

negro boy what they came back for; he said they came back there for a pistol. I

allowed it was some of them which ho [Mr. Holliday] knocked down.
Question. How many shots were fired altogether by your husband and by the

others ?

Answer. Perhaps twenty-five or thirty.

Qucntion Do you know whether anybody was injured by the shooting ?

Ansirer. The i-eport was that two ofthem were shot down at the gate ; that he killed

two at the gate; that he knocked two dead with his gun, and cut two of them all to

pieces with his knife. He says he did that.

Question. Was your husband hurt ?

Answer. Only Inuised over his eye and a little gash in his forehead, and a cut across
the joint of his linger, a right smart gash.

Question. Did you know any of the people that came there ?

Ansiver. I think I can swear to one of them safely ; to Jim Finch.
Question. AYhere does he live?
Answer. About two miles from us.

Question. Is he a man of any substance and character in the community
Answer. His father has a splendid plantation ; he is a young man.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. How old is he ?

Answer. Some 23 or 24 years ; maybe 25.

By the Chairman :

Question. Did they give any reason why they came to yoav house ?

Answer. Not jtarticnlarly. It was reported that some of them said it was not any of
the settlement folks. But the way they came into the house and acted, I knew it was
the settlement folks. Tiiey took a drill-sword and pistols, and they knew where they
were just as well as I did.

Question. You think they had been in the house before ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. ^Vhy did they come there, do you suppose ?

Answer. I will tell you what I believe made them come. He [Mr. Holliday] was
opposed to Kn-Kluxing. He had three plantations to attend to. The lower plantation
was a splendid plantation, and the negroes on that plantation had heard that the Ku-
Klux threatened them, and they got afraid to stay there. They never staid in their
Iiouses Avhile they were on the plantation. One dug a hole and staid in it all night,
and the rest laid out. He [Mr. Holliday] talked pretty liarsh about it, and said that
lie did not want them to pester his hands; that if they did anything wrong, let them
abide by the law. They ran his hands otf, and that threw a. parcel of hands for me to
wait on, whihj my little child was sick, and it died while I had them to take care of.

Ho [Mr. Holliday] read the Ku-Klux law to one of his neighbor's sous.

Question. Do yoii think he was one of the Ku-Klnx ?

Answd'. Yes, sir. I am sorry to have it to say that I live in such a settlement. Mr.
Holliday is a hard-working man, and is doing well down there.

Question. How does he vote ?

Answer. He votes the democratic ticket. They accused him of being a radical, and
all that sort of thing. One Saturday night, when he was away, one of my neighbors
came there and said he wanted to see Mr. Holliday. I said ho was not there, and a.sked
him if he would let me know what ho wanted to see him for. He said that a peison
told him that if Mr. Holliday would write some papers and stick them up in a public
jilace the Kn-Klux v.ould not pester him any more ; if he would not do that there
would come a crowd of a hundred men on him. He said there would be a crowd to
watch that house that night, and that they had watched it the Saturday night before.
There was only myself and three little children and a little colored boy there at the
time.

Question. Who charged your husband with being a radical ?

Answer. I could hear it through the settlement. These Finch boys have sometimes
said " Just like Bob Holliday, a radical." McElhanuon's sons are the finest boys in the
whole settlement or country, and they said that the Finches cursed them for coming to
our house.

Question. Is it understood that there are a greajt many Ku-Klux in Jackson ?

Aiisiver. Yes, sir ; it is thought by a heap of fol^s that over half of them are Ku-Klux

;

I would not be surprised if it was so.
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Qitcsflon. Who is tlic head man anionfj; them ?

Ansiver. I do not know. There is a cave dug in au old field where they hide their

clothes; and there is another, a few miles from there; and then, I heard that there

^ra^ a trencli in tlie woods about as lonji; as this room, with a eoi'liu in it
; and the

oi)inion of folks is that that is where they eome to join. I did hear tliat the neighbors
were going to w^atch, but I never have hcsard whether it has been done or not.

Qtiention. Do the people there approve of the doings of the Ku-Klux /

Anawer. I hardly ever hear them say anything against it, or about it any way. 1

thought they were afraid to say anything.
Question. Did you ever know who it was that got hurt that night by your husband"?
A7isiccr. I heard of one young man being hurt, and he told them that a mule threw

him and hurt him.
Question. He did not say he had been at your house ?

Answer. O, no ; he would not say that. If he had got killed they never wonld have
let on that he had got hurt there.

Question. Has anybody ever prosecuted your husband for what he did that night ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Where is your husband ?

Ansicer. Somewhere here in this city, I think.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Had you ever seen any of t-hese men yourself, except on the occasion when
they attacked your house ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. All that you know about it yon derived from rumor in the neighborhood,
except what you saw that night ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. About these caves of which you have sijoken, how far are they from your
liouse ?

Answer. One of them is a quarter, and the other, I reckon, some two miles farther.

Question. Did you ever see any of these things yourself?

Atisiver. No, sir.

Question. Did your husband ever visit them ?

Answer. I think he has.

Question. Have you been before the grand jury since you came here ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. This business has been taken up by the court ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Whom did you charge with this oft'ense against you ; whom docs your hus-
band charge with it?

Ansiver. He says he would swear to Jim Finch, and he has told me of several others.

Question. Has he told the grand jui-y of it '/

Answer. Yes, sir ; and I have thought it mighty strange the way that jury has acted.

Question. Were you able to identify any of these men 't

Answer. Yes, sir, one,

Question. Who was he ?

Answer. Jim Finch.
Question. How did you identify him ?

Answei: By his make and shape, and the manner of his Aoice. Can you not tell any-
body's make you are used to ?

Question. You believe he was there ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I do.

Question. Why did your husband read that law to a neighbor's son ?

Answer. Because ot the way they were going on.

Question. Did he think the neighbor's son was engaged in it ?

Ansiver. I should not be sui'prised if he did,

Queslton. He read this law to caution him ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was that before or after the attack on your house ?

Ansiver. It was afterwards.
Question. Have you had any attack upon your house since the time to wbicli you

refer?
Answer. No, sir ; it was reported that they watched the house.

Question. I want to know what you know yourself. You have had no attack on your
property since then ?

Aiiswer. No, sir.

Question. You said your husband was a democrat ?

Ansivo: Yes, sir,

Question. Is he an outspoken democrat ?

Answer. I reckon.
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Question. Does he vote the democratic ticket ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; and he spoke out free.

By tlie Chairman :

Qnesiion. Was he a Union man or a rebel during the war ?

Ansicer. Ho was a Union man ; and wo believe that many of them got a spite againsn

him until this day for that. He had a mill, and his mill exempted him from service iu

the army ; and they had a spite against him for that. He came to this place twice, and
they gave him permission to return home. I have always thought they had a grudge
against him about that. There is no use talking about folks in this world ; they envy
that man, and have talked scandalously about him. He is a prosperous man, and gets

along well in the world, and has worked hard for it.

By Mr. Bay.vijd :

Question. You think they envy his j)rosperity ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that makes them feel badly toward him?
Answer. That is it partly.

Question. Mr. Finch was all the one of that crowd that you knew ?

Ansu-ei: He is all the one I can swear to safely. There is one there which Mr. Skiles

took up, and I went to see him. There was one man there whose false-face fell off,

and I looked at him the hardest lever did in my life, but I could not make him out.

From the way Mr. Skiles described to me the man that he took up, I am certain it

must be the same man. •

By the Chairman^:

Question. Do you think you could recognize that man now ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I told Mr. Skiles that if he would place him in the same position,

in the night, with a light, I would know him. He described the man to me as near as

I could describe him myself ; and he is a man by the name of Kenuedj-.

Atlanta, Georgia, Octoher 21, 1871.

J. R. HOLLIDAY sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. What is your age ; where were you born ; where do you now live ; and
what is your occupation ?

Answer. I am forty-one years of age ; I was born in Jackson County, and I now live

there ; my f(imier occupation was millwrighting ; now I am a farmer and a millwright
both.

Question. Mrs. Holliday has given us an account of the attack made upon you last

summer ; will you give us your account of it ?

Ansiver. In the early part of the spring, either in Aiiril or May, those parties com-
menced to interfere with some of my hands on my lower plantation. 1 have three
plantations. I was attending to my mills at that time. My hands came to me and
told me that they were afraid to stay on the plantation. I asked them why, and they
told me that they had discovered some disguised men about there. I told them that
they should not be afraid ; that I would protect them ; they said they were very much
alarmed ; that there had beeu^ome threats made, and they were afraid to stay there

;

and asked me what they should do. 1 told them I would protect them the best I could,

and if those j)arties interfered with them I would raise them with the law; that no
man had any prerogative to go upon my plantation and interfere with them, unless
they had' done something against the law ; and that I would pi'otect them at all haz-
ards. Shortly after that I found that a portion of my hands there had made some little

hiding places in which to stay at night ; for a number of wild boys in my settlement,
who had always i^rofessed friendship to me, had gone down there and commenced to

annoy those colored men. I met those boys and talked to them about it. I said to them,
"I am very much hurt at your uudertaking to scare my hands and to interfere with,

them without letting me know it. If those hands had done anything wrong you should
have let me know it. I don't want you to do so any more, and if you do anything con-
trary to the laws of the country I will get you punished for it." It is a general under-
standing through the country there that some of the frecdmen have been whipped and
scared off'. I said to these wild boys :

" You see, some of my hands have run away.
Now, I have always treated you friendly, but if any of you do this I intend to lift him
with the law." It looked ever after that as if they had a grudge at me. I saw it even
in the custom at my mill, in the treatment I received, and in all sorts of lies that could be
raised upon a man, and which were calculated to interrupt his relations even with his
wife and with her folks, and between my folks and me. Finally this thing went on until

27 a
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one uij:;lit about oleveu o'clock I was informed they Avere conspiring togetlier. Prince

McEiliannon sent me word that they were conspiring together, and that I had better keep
my eyes skinned that uiglit. I sent off and got a gallon of spirits to treat my hands with

:

I moved from my wife's room into another bed-room. There were four rooms on that

floor of the house—a cook-room, dining-room, and bed-room, and one Avhcre I and' my
wife sleep. Abont eleven .o'clock I lieard my dog barlv. I will say that I had heard
threats all the year ; but I thought they did it to aggravate mo because I opposed the

Ku-Klux party, and showed them the law, and told them that it was injurious to oixr

State for them to act that way, and that it would fetch our State into trouble, that it

was a bad thing and a dangerous thing. I explained the v/hole law to them, but it

looked like it aggravated them. At eleven o'clock that night I heard my dog bark.

I peeped out of the Avindow, and I saw some disguised men coming in my gate. They
were not ten steps off, and i^robably tliere were betwixt twenty and thirty of them. I

shot right into the i)ile of them. I had nothing but duck shot in the gun. My pistol

was on the mantlepiece. I had a drill-sword that belonged to my brother. Ho Avas

captain of that district during the confederate Avar. When I shot, a portion of them
dispersed. Some rushed one way and some another. This man Jim Finch jcame rally-

ina: the crowd. He Avas about three parts drunk, and ran into the cook-room, hollering

"Come on, boys." I did not knoAv which door tl)ey would come in at. I Aveut to the

back room, where my Avifc slept, and I saw, through the crack of the door, some par-

ties Avhom I kncAV and Avhom I recognized. One of them says, "Let's run in here

;

they are fighting in the cook-room." I saAV that the whole crowd Avas going to gather

there, and I went to the door of the dining-room. One of them had an ax in a belt

around him. This felloAv .Jim Finch ordered the door to be cut down. I Avas standing

by the side of the door with a gun, and as they came in I knocked down some two or

three men, or three or four of them. Then it seems as if I struck a little too high and
hit the top of the door, for I broke my gun. I Avas in my shirt-sleeves, and bareheaded
and barefooted. I then got out this knife, [taking from his pocket a large knife.]

While I Avas getting it out, they ran in and covered me all OA^cr, and struck my head
AA'ith a pistol. Then they cut me on this knuckle, [pointing to it.] The lirst man I

cut I stuck my knife right in here, [putting his iinger over the region of the heart.]

The other man I cut a little higher than that, I do not know exactly Avhere; and the

third one I cut I do not know how. We fought, there until the crowd Avas pretty much
dispersed out of the room. I Avhipped them en tirely out of that room. The reason I Avas

saved Avas this : I had a colored man there, Avho was Aan-y much scared. ' He got a
light, aud as ho was coming in behind them Avith the light, I could see them, and they

could not see me. One of them said "Take care boys; let me shoot him." That Avas

after I had pretty much wliipped the crowd out with my knife. Then tAvo of thsse

fellows foUoAved me, shooting at me. Wo fought clear from the dining-room all

through the bed-room, aud into my Avife's bed-roou), and they shot into the facings of

the door. They Avere so scared that that is the Avay, I think, that kept them from kill-

ing me. I then unbolted the back-room door and Aveut out, for I saw the"i'e was no
sense in my fighting men with my knife Avhen they all had pistols. I went out into

the orchard and lay doAvn there a minute, to see which Avay the crowd Avere going. I

thought I would go over the hill and get a double-barreled gun, and meet them at

their homes aud kill them ; but I found that the road v/as ijicketed. I recognized a
portion of the men.

Question. State the names of as many as you think you recognized.

AnswSr. I recognized Jim Finch ; I recognized Nolan Lay, who is a man I could

prove got the sword. They talked to my wife during this time, and Avhile Finch was^

talking to her they were plundering around ; they took the sword and the pistol off

the mantlepiece. My Avife took my trunk up on, the'bed and covered it Avith the

counterpane.
Question. Did you recognize any of the others ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I recognized Richardson Lay, Jack Haney, and Parks Whitehead.
I recognized* Parks Whitehead after I had shot at them, and before they gathered in

the house. A portiou of them carried off" the wounded. I think I recognized Green
Martin; Matt Finch I struck Avith the butt of my gun Avheu he opened the door. I

tliink I recognized Franklin Martin, as a picket, the next morning about daylight.

Question, Did you, the next morning, see any sign of any injury having been done by
your cutting or shooting ?

Answer. I looked, but I saw nothing but bullet-holes, and some blood on my knife.

I was mad, and fretted and pestered in such a manner that I did not take nuich time

to look. There was a little blood on my forehead. A great many parties came iu, and
there was a great deal of confusion and excitement.

Question. What was your course during the Avar ?

Answer. I opposed secession in toio. During the time of it, I staid at home and at-

tended to my mills myself. I attended to all the wants of the people, even to tho

wives of the soldiers, and took care of my old mother, who had no protector Avhatever

there. I built water-Avheels for factories, «!cc.
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(Question. What has been yoiir political course since the war ?

Anstccr. As a general thing I have taken no iiolitical stand, no more than I have
opposed fighting against the Govei'niuent. As a general thing I have spoken against
any set of people being lawless, or doing anything contrary to the Government. I said
that the best thing that the people could do was to behave themselves ; that the Gov-
ernment would give them all their rights if they would only behave themselves, and
show themselves a loyal people, and not a rebellious i^eople.

Quesfivn. You have taken no active part in politics since the close of the war?
Jnsiccr. No, sir. I do not think I have voted but once since then, because I did not

think there was much use in voting, the way they were going on, and from what I
could see of the general feeling of the people. And, more than that, I did not think
the Government would find nnich use spending money here, unless we have the right
kind of men to try these cases before them.

Question. How long have these people been in your county ?

Jhsico: From the best of my knowledge, they have originated there siuce last April.
My hands were the first to tell me about them. I was very much astonished here day
before yesterday to learn how far they had carried this thing in other counties, and to
find out the conspiracj- in Jackson County and other counties, and to learn that they
had put up a large sum of money to bribe this thing through. My honest opinion, on
oath, is that there is a large amount of money to defeat me in this thing; that is my
honest opinion.

Quesiioii. Who is understood to be at the head of this Ku-Klux order in your county ?

Answer. That is pretty hard to say. There are several men who take "a very active
part in it. We- found a cave on a plantation where they hide their disguises. As a
general thing, they dig a hole somewhere in the ground at the head of "a gully, and
cover it over with boards or pine-tops to hide their disguises. We found two caves of
that description within two miles of our house.

Question. Was there any evidence of many people being there ?

Answer. The last cave I looked at, about a mile and a half or two miles above me,
looked like they had hitched a great many horses there.

Question. Has anybody else be«n molested by them in the county exceirt yourself and
your hands ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; several people, Avhite and black, have been ordered not to talk
about the Ku-Klux ; they have been told that if they did not stop it, they would be
whipped the next time they came.

Question. Do you know whether any have been whipped?
Ansiver. I do not think there has been any Avhite man whipped, but several freedmen

have been whipped. The first was Mitchell Eeed, about a half a mile from my house

;

they whipped him in a terrible manner.
Question. Did you see him after he was whipped?
Anstcer. Yes, sir ; he passed my house the next morning. I asked some of my hands

what was the matter with him, and they said the Ku-Kiux had been whipping him.
His wife told me that she had to put his shirt in soak.

Question. Do you know what they alleged against him?
Ansiver. Yes, sir ; I think I do. From the best information I could get, they had had

a little difficulty at a corn-shucking. A drunken party got up a wrestle, and two or
three of them got on this colored man, and gouged him. He complained of them, and
they said they would gather up a crowd and whip him.

Question. Are there any persons in your county who ox^euly and publicly justify the
Ku-Klux?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. What sort of people are they?
Answer. They are men of very common standing and talent; these Martins justify

them.
Question. Upon what ground?
Answer. I cannot tell what reason, no more than they seem to think it is honor, or

duty, or their jirinciple, or what not. One thing, they do not express themselves very
plainly to me, because they know we would not agree.

Question. What do they claim to be the object of the Ku-Klux?
Answer. As much as 1 can learn, it is to keep the negroes down. So far as I can

understand, they claim this to be a second law there in this way : betwixt a man and
his wife, or a man and his tenants, or a man and his fellow. I have asked them many
times what they have to gain by such a thiug; what they thought they could make
by it, or what good they thought they could do ; and if they did not think the State of
Georgia was capable of governing itself.

Question. Have 5^011 any freedmen's schools in yourcottnty?
Answer. Only Sunday-schools, and those men 'who suffer them on their plantations

are A'ilitied. Since this fight that I have had, they have told it around through the
whole country, in order to vilify and degrade me in the worst manner, that I had got
np a parcel of negroes to kiU out that set. After I heard that, I told them plainly that I
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could Avliip that i>arty myself; that I had doue it once, and I did not want any negroes

to help iiic lijjht them.
QticM'ton. Has there been any trouble about negroes voting in your county ?

Ansicer. I do not know anything but rascality; they will swindle a negro out of hia

\ote, and lie to him. These very men who run them down at night and whip them will,

on election day, come up to them and treat them, and try to get their friendship in the

best manner thev can.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. As the matter of politics has been brought into this examination, I will ask
you how you voted at the last election.

Ansiccr. I was asked that question the other day before the grand jury. I disremem-
ber now ; I could not tell you to save my life. As regards politics, I stand with the

man I regard as the soundest man.
Question. Did you vote the democratic ticket ?

Ansicei: I do not know. I have always been a democrat until lately; but if this is

what they call democracy in the South, I am done with it. I have always been a demo-
crat. My parents are democrats.

Question. And your votes have been in that direction ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. There has been no election, I believe, since this attack on you ?

Answer. I will tell you what sort of a man I am. Since 1851 I have made between
fifty thousand and sixty thousand dollars by my own hard licks ; I have ground and
sawed in the nights away vmtil midnight.

Question. I thmk every man should be protected in the free exercise of his opinions
;

I only want to know if yoa have been an avowed democrat until this attack on you.

A)iswer. Yes, sir ; but I opposed secession, and I have opposed Ku-Kluxiug to the bit-

ter end.
Question. Was there any attack upon your hands by these disguised men before this

attack on you ?

Answer. No, sir ; no more than I found that they had a grudge at them, and went
down there to commence to devil and fool with them. They knew that the negroes
were very easily scared with Ku-Klux. I just took it for granted that probably they
would run my hands off, in order to get the land themselves.

Question. They frightened them, but they did not in fact make any attack on them 1

Answer. No, sir ; they frightened them, but did not actually attack them.
Question. Has there been any disturbance in your neighborhood since this attack ou

your house ?

Ansivcr. No, sir ; for I think I have jiretty well cured them.
Question. Have you really any information of a reliable character, enough to enable

you to form an opinion, as to the extent of this baud, and who were the members of it?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I will tell yon how I formed my opinion—from what I have heard
of the depredations committed in Lawreuceville, and of the conspiracy in Jackson
County. The first I heard of them Avas of their consiiiriug at Jack Haney's. John
Reynolds was seen at Jack Haney's, and about fifteen horses were hitched inside the

lot'

Question. I mean, can you state what are the numbers of the organization ?

Answer. I cannot tell you about the numbers.
Question. Can you tell us what class of poj)ulatiou you think take i)art in these law-

less bauds ?

A7iswer. Well, sir, they are pretty loose. But I found men helping to got those fel-

lows off, and doing all they could for them, that I thought were my best friends.

Question. I am speaking of those who are in the baud.
Answer. Well, some are of pretty good standing, but a great many of them arc of a

low-down class ofmen, who do not care what they do. Then there are men in it that
you and I would not think would have anything to do Avith any such thing

;
yet they

tolerate it. I believe it is because of dissatisfaction about the freedom of the negroes;
I cannot see anything else. They seem to want to torment and horrify the negroes.

Question. Are these men who do that men who need the labor of the negroes?
Answer. I do not know but what they do. I have studied about this thing a great

deal. I have seen one class of people who, in my judgment, are disposed to run e^iery

negro out of the country, in order that they themselves might obtain good wages from
men of property, and who would like to get the land which these freedmen rent ; then
there is another class of people who have the old rebellious spirit in them still, who are
still dissatisfied about the negroes, and would be glad to aggravate the negro and'run
him off ; yet, if the uegro is in their employ, they will protect him, unless they have any
difficulty with him, and then he is reported to the Ku-Klux. If they have any diffi-

culty with a negro, he is reported to the Kn-Klux. I saw that, just about the time they
got done laying by their crops, the Ku-Klux would be brought in upon them, and they
would be run off, so that they could take their crops.
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Qttcsiiou. They xindertake to regulate things without law ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qucstloii. Do you know any cases of this kind within your own personal knowledge ?

A»sirc): Yes, sir; there was a case just below me. Sampson Reed had a son, named
Charles, who, after they had whipped Mitchell Reed, his brother, had made some threats
that thej^ would not abuse him at all. I told the negro that they would ruin him or
kill him. I said to him, " Don't you let that boy stay here until you get the crop laid
by." When it was about douo—that is, the crop laid by—he said that he was going to
Atlanta the next week. He came to*Atlanta that week, and they came to him the very
next week.

Question. Where did you lodge your complaint of the attack on you?
Slnmrcr. I came first to see Governor Bullock, but he was gone to New York. I then

went before tlie scentary, (I do not remember his name.) and then before the attorney.
Quegtioii. What attorney?
Ansxpa: Mr. Pope.
Question. Have you been before the grand jury !

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qncsiion. Are the witnesses all here with you?
Ausiccr. I have nearly forty witnesses here, both black and white.
Question. The case, then, is brought to the attention of the court?
Ansiver. Yes, sir; only about a quarter of my witnesses have been examined.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. No bill has been found ?

Answer. No, sir; although the evidence was so point-blank. Finch w^s sworn to
point-blank by those meu ; so they said to me.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Who is James Finch? *

Answer. He is a young man who lives about two miles from me. Then there is

auother thing : directly after this fight a portion of these parties got up a subscription
to stop this thing.

Question. What do you mean by that?
Answer. While I was here, they drew up a subscription, or a certificate, or whatever

it may be termed, and notified the people to come in and sign it and stop it.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. To stop these Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. A sort of agreement of peace?
Answer. Yes, sir. ^

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Do you think those people who got that up were concerned in this attack
on you?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir ; they all met at the barbecue.
Question. What was the efiect of that ?

Ansu-er. It was to devise means to get out of it.

Question. How many people signed that paper ?

Answer. Some twenty-five or thirty or forty ; it was published in the Watchman, of
Athens. ^

Question. How long ago was it?

Answer. Some time in August ; my father-in-law put his name to it, hut he was very
sorry that he did put his name to it, and has apologized for it now since it has become
such a barefaced thing.

Question. The paper i^roposed that these outrages should cease in that district, and
that all should be quiet ?

Answe)-. Yes, sir.

Question. And that paper was signed by thirty or forty people?
Anstcer. Yes, sir.

Questioti. Did they indicate that they belonged to the party who were engaged in
this affair?

Ansiver. Well, sir, if they had power to stop it by signing a paper, they had i)owerto
stop it before. From the names of the parties signed, I should think pretty much all

of the men were there ; and then, some of them had the impudence to send me word
that they wanted to talk with me. I sent them word that at one time I had. thought
they were gentlemen, but that now I did not want to speak to them.



422 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. You Lave spoken of Snuday-scliools iu your couuty. Have yon beard of
any iuterru])tion or disturbauce of those schools ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not think tliey have disturbed Sunday-schools ; but those uieu
speak very liberally of any man who suffers a Sunday-school on bis land.

Qucsiion. You uieau, speak freely against them?
Answer. Yes, sir ; and I do not tliink they are in favor of free schools.

Question. Yon say those who are susi)ected of l)eiug Ku-Klux ari; oi>pt)sed to these
Sunday-schools "?

Answer. Yes, sir; the people geuei-ally si)cak disrespectfully of any man u'he has had
a negro Sunday-school on his iilace.

By the Chairman :

Question. You spoke of a fund being raised as a bribe. What reason have you far

thinking so ?

Answer. The reason is simply this: There were several witnesses before the grand
jury day before yesterday who swore point-blank to these men. They told Major
Skiles they would have these i)ersons out, if it took a hundred thousand dollar bond.

By Mr. BaYAHD

:

Qriestion. Whom do you mean by "they?"
Answer. That Avas a Methodist preacher, who proposed to preach at my wife's grand-

father's funeral on that day ; and iu place of that, lie came to my house that morning
and asked Captain Skiles how large a bond it would take to bond these men out.

Question. You mean the amount of bail that would be required ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Then they came here from Athens, and boasted to me as soon as I

got here that they had Ben Hill here to defend them.

By Mr. Lansing :
•

Question. You say this man was a Methodist preacher. Wliich branch of the Meth-
odist Church ?

Answer. A Reform Methodist ; my wife belongs to that church, too. He did not
speak to me respectfully at all ; looked very coutemittibly at me.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Do you mean that they would give bail to the amount of a hundred thou-
sand dollars ?

Answer. Yes, sir. That, and what I saw of Judge Pope and others, led me to believe
. The first time I talked with Judge Pope about this thing, he named to mo a

justice of the ])eace, and Judge Davis, and the solicitor general, and asked if they
could not do tluis and so. He turned his head up, and I did not believe, from his coun-
tenance, that he intended to do anything Avhatever, and that is my honest opinion.

Says I : ''Do you think that a justice of the peace, or Judge Davis, could do anything
with thirty or forty men, with probably Ku-Klux upon the jury ? I am astonished. You
can tell Governor Bullock that I would not give a farce for the laws of the State of
Georgia for the protection of the people. What could they do down there without
any protection, and probably the jury half Ku-Klux?" I had a case in the Jefferson

court, and they followed me the whole court week to see if I was going before the

grand jury. I believe a portion of the grand jury was composed of them. I knew
I might as Avell tell my whole plan publicly as to go before that grand jury. I

thought I would wait and see if the grand jury Avould do anything. I had a
cousin on that jury, and several particular friends. I had ou a brace of pistols, and I

told them to tell the grand jury to fine me ten dollars for wearing those ])istols, for I

am opposed to all those things myself. I asked, " What are you going to do with that

light at my house?" They said, "We don't want to know anything about that."

After the .court was over, I saw them call up some little adultery cases and fornication

cases, but they did not x>rove any of them. In a few days after that they went to

Lawrenceville, and directly I heard that the court-house was burned down there.

Then Judge Davis adjourned the court, and gave it up to the United States authorities.

I call myself a ])eaceable citizen of Georgia, and I have waited for the State of Georgia
to do right in this thing. T then came here and sued out these warrants.

Question. Before the United States commissioner?
Answer. Y'es, sir.

Question. And these parties were arrested ?

Anmveu: Yes, sir.

Question. What followed that ?

Answer. The grand jury released them.
Question. Did th(;y give bail to appear at court ?

Answer. I do not think they gave any bail. The commissioner issued warrants and
they brought the parties up, but they never examined half of the witnesses. I .sworo
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lll:^t Matt Fincli was there, and that I strnck him -with a gun. >I do not believe they
wanted to do auythinc;, and that is why I tliink they were bribed.

Question. "What do yon think was the object of that bribery ?

Ansivcr. I think that the v.'hole of this Kn-Klux party wanted to keep the military
out of this country. They saw it was going to run into tlie military, and I think they
paid Ben Hill hep„vy fees, and that he greased the balance of them. Ben Hill said to

ine, " Now, Holliday, wo will guarantee that this thing shall not exist in the settlement
any more, if von will say yon will never sue out another Avarrant." I siiid I would not
do that. Said I, " I think this thing never should exist, and if it does, it will ruin our
State. They came on me for a tight, but there are other i^arties inti^restcMl now besi(U's

me; the Government is iighting this thing. I cannot step between you and the Gov-
ernment, and you cannot step between me and the Government." He ofiV'rod to pledge
himself that there should be no more of this thing. That is why I believe, from all the
testimony, that there was bribery. They did not carryall the evidence hefore the jury.

Question. You have spoken of Judge Pope; do you mean by your stateUient here that
money has been raised which you think has ali'ected the action of that officer?

Answer. I do, for I cannot think anything else ; it is either for that or for tlio love of
peace that these men

Question. Do you know Judge Caldwell?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you state your case to him ?

Answer. Yes, sir, he came to my house and examined the bullet-holes.

Question. Do yon embrace him in the same suspicion ?

Answer. Captain Skiles I do not suspect as being bribed in any manner. They must
say either that we swore to lies or else that was the reason.

Question. You base that ox>inion upon the fact that the )>ills before the grand jury
were ignored .'

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That is your ground for saying that there was bribery ?

Ansicer. Y'^es, sir ; for the testimony was so positive.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. From what portion of the State are the members of this grand jury drawn ?

Ansiver. That I cannot say.

Question. They are drawn from very many counties?
Answer. I suppose so.

Question. They are drawn from what is called the northern district of Georgia f
Aoiswer. I think so.

Question. In justice to yourself, I desire to put one or two questions. Is it not very
possible that, without anj'^ improper interference of anybody with the United States
ofidcers doingor attempting to do their entire duty, this grand jury might refuse to
grant this bill, as some of them represented the localities where these acts occuri'ed,
even though they had before them the clearest evidence ?

Answer. That is so. ••

Qu<istion. The United States officers, the officials, Mr. Hill, and all the others, might
be entirely honest, entirely correct in their action, and yet a jury di-awu from these
very localities might be so strong against finding a bill that they would ignore one
against the clearest testimony?
Answer. The jury may have done the whole thing.
Question. Is it not possible that your judgment in respect to these men just now is

vrarped, immediately after your great disappointment in failing to have the grand jury
find this bill?

Answer. I do not think it is warped in regard to the evidence.
Question. You were much disappointed because the bill was not found ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. May you not be doing injustice to Mr. Hill and Mr. Pope ?

Answer. I do not think so.

Question. You do not design to ?

Ansurr. I do not design to.

Question. Is it not possible that you may have done so?
Aiiswer. No, sir ; I do not think I have done any injustice toward those parties ; it is

a mere matter of opinion ; I have never before been before a grand jury ; I have always
been at work for my living; I know but very little about the law, just what I read
in the papers.

By the Chairman :

Question. Y'ou have rrferred to some affair at Lawrenceville, in which you thought
the Ku-Klnx of Jackson Connty were concerned ; what was that ?

J)iswer. From the best information I could get, those parties that conspired together
all through Jackson, Walton, and Gwinnett, were the men who burned the court-house,
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By Jlr. Lansing :

Qitoition. You liavc spoken of Simday-scliooLs in your couuty. Have you heard of
auy iuterrui)tiou or disturbance of those schools ?

Answer. No, sir: I do not think they have disturbed Sunday-schools; but those uieu
speak very liberally of any man who suffers a Sunday-school on his land.

Question. You mean, speak freely against them?
Answer. Yes, sir ; and I do not thinlc they are in favor of free schools.

Question. You say those "svho are susi)ectcd of l)eiug Ku-Klux ar(^ opp/jsed to these
Sunday-schools '?

Answer. Yes, sir; the people generally speak disrespectfully of auy man vrhe has had
a negro Sunday-school on his i)lace.

By the CnAiRMAN

:

Question. You spoke of a fund being raised as a bribe. What reasou have you for

thinking so ?

A)iswer. The reason is siraplythis: There were several witnesses before the grand
jury day before yesterday who swore point-blank to these men. They told Major
Skiles they would have these persons out, if it took a hundred thousand dollar bond.

By Mr. Bayahd :

Question. Whom do you mean by "they?"
Answer. That Avas a Methodist preacher, who proposed to preach at my wife's grand-

father's funeral on that day ; and in place of that, he came to my house that moruing
and asked Captain Skiles how large a bond it Avould take to bond these men out.

Question. You mean the amount of bail that would be required?
Answer. Yes, sir. Then they came here from Athens, and boasted to me as soon as I

got here that they had Ben Hill here to defend them.

By ]Mr. Lansing :
•

Question. You say this man was a Methodist preacher. Which branch of the Meth-
odist Church ?

Answer. A Reform Methodist ; my wife belongs to that church, too. He did not
speak to me respectfully at all ; looked very contemptiblj' at me.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Do you mean that they would give bail to the aniouut of a hundred thou-
sand dollars ?

Answer. Yes, sir. That, and what I saw of Judge Pope and others, led me to believe
. The first time I talked with Judge Poi>e about this thing, he named to mo a

justice of the ])eace, and Judge Davis, and the solicitor general, and asked if they
could not do tlms and so. He turned his head up, and I did not believe, from his cotiu-

teuance, that he intended to do anything Avhatever, and that is my honest opinion.

Says I :
'' Do you think that a justice of the peace, or Judge Davis, could do anything

with thirty or forty men, with probably Ku-Klux upon the jury ? I am astonished. You
can tell GoA-ernor Bullock that I Avould not give a farce for the laws of the State of
Georgia for the protection of the people. What could they do down there without
any protection, and probably the jury half Ku-Klux ?" I had a case in the Jefferson

court, and they folloAved me the whole court Aveek to see if I Avas going before the
grand jury. I believe a portion of the grand jury Avas composed of them. I kncAv
I might as Avell tell my whole i)lan i>ublicly as to go before that grand jury. I

thought I would wait and see if the grand jury Avould do anything. I had a
cousin on that jury, and se\'eral particular friends. I had on a brace of pistols, and I

told them to tell the grand jurj^ to fine me ten dollars for wearing these pistols, for I

am opposed to all those things myself I asked, " What are you going to do Avith that

light at my house ? " They said, " We don't want to knoAv anything about that."

After the .court was over, I saAV them call up some little adultery cases and fornication

cases, biit they did not prove any of them. In a few days after that they Aveut to

LaAvrenceville, and directly I heard that the court-house Avas burned down there.

Then Judge Davis adjourned the court, and gaAC it up to the United States authorities.

I call myself a peaceable citizen of Georgia, and I haA'e waited for the State of Georgia
to do right in this thing. T then came here and sued out these Avarrants.

Question. Before the United States commissioner?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. And these parties were arrested ?

Anmve): Yes, sir.

Question. What folloAved that ?

Ansiver. Tlie grand jury released them.
Question. Did they giAe bail to appear at court

?

Answer. I do not think they gave any bail. The commissioner issued warrants and
they brought the parties up, but they never examined half of the witnesses. I SAvoro
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that Matt Fiiicli was there, and that I struck him -with a gun. J do not believe they
wanted to do anything, and that is why I think they were bribed.

Question. "What do you think was the object of that bribery ?

Ansu-cr. I think that the v.hole of this Ku-Khix party wanted to keep the militarj-

out of this country. They saw it was going to run into the military, and I thiiik they
paid Ben Hill heavy fees, and that he greased the balance of theui. Ben Hill said to

nie, "Now, HoUiday, we will guarantee that this thing shall not exist in the settlement
auy more, ifyou will say yoxi will never sue out another warrant." I said I would not
do that. Said I, " I think this thing never should exist, and if it does, it will ruin our
State. They came on me for a light, but there are other parties interested now besides
me; the Government is fighting this thing. I cannot step between j-ou and the Gov-
ernment, and you cannot step between me and the Government." Ho offered to jjiedge

himself- that there should be no more of this thing. That is why I believe, from all the
testimony, that there was bribery. They did not carry all the evidence ijcfore the jury.

Question. You have spoken of Judge Pope; do you mean by your statement here that
money has been raised which you think has aliected the action of that officer ?

Ansiccr. I do, for I cannot think anything else; it is either for that or for the love of
peace that these men

Question. Do you know Judge Caldwell?
Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you state your case to him ?

Ansvcer. Yes, sir, he came to my house and examined the bullet-holes.

Question. Do you embrace him in the same suspicion ?

Ansuer. Captain Skiles I do not suspect as beiug bribed in any manner. They nmst
say either that we swore to lies or else that was the reason.

Question. You base that opinion upou the fact that the bills before the grand jury
were iguored ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. That is your ground for saying tliat there was bribery?
Ansicer. Y''es, sir ; for the testimony was so positive.

By Mr. L.vxsixG

:

Question. From what portion of the State are themembersof this grand jury drawn ?

Ansicer. That I cannot say.

Question. They arc drawn from very many counties?
Answer. I suppose so.

Question. They are drawn from what is culled the northern district of Georgia?
Ansiccr. I think so.

Question. In justice to yourself, I desire to put one or two questions. Is it not very
possible that, without any improper interference of anybody with the United States
officers doing or attempting to do their entire duty, this grand jury juight refuse to
grant this bill, as some of them represented the localities where these acts occurred,
even though they had before them the clearest evidence?

Ansicer. That is so. *
Question. The United States officers, the officials, Mr. Hill, and all the others, might

be entirely honest, entirely correct in their action, and yet a jury di-awn from these
very localities might be so strong against finding a bill that they would ignore one
against the clearest testimony ?

Ansicer. The jury may have done the whole thing.
Question. Is it not possible that your judgment in respect to these men just now is

warped, immediately after your great disappointment in failing to have the grand jury
find this bill ? .

Ansiccr. I do not think it is warped in regard to the evidence.
Question, You were much disappointed because the bill was not found?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

'^'Question. May you not be doing injustice to Mr. Hill and Mr. Pope ?

Answer. I do not think so.

Question. Yon do not design to ?

Answer. I do not design to.

Question. Is it not possible that you may have done so ?

Ansicer. No, sir ; I do not think I have done any injustice toward those parties ; it is

a mere matter of opinion ; I have never before been before a grand jury ; I have always
been at work for my living; I know but very little about the law, just what I read
in the papers.

By the Chairman :

Question. You have rderred to some affair at Lawrenceville, in which you thought
the Ku-Klux of Jackson County were concerned; what was that?

Ansicer. From the best information I could get, those parties that conspired together
all through Jackson, Walton, and Gwinnett, were the men who burned the court-house,
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and were connected -with the crowd in mj' settlement ; a,nd that the same men who
Avere at- Jack Haney's composed part of the crowd tliat burned the court-house.

Question. The court-house Avas burned since the attack on j'ou '?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bayard:

Question, Do you know how many men were concerned in burning that court-house ?

Answer. I do not.

Question. Have you any personal knowledge of the transaction?
Answer. Only from hearsay. Major Skilesgave me more information than any one else.

He told me that ho had captui'ed a man who is here in jirison, whose jaw-bone was
broken, and whose arm was broken, and he thought he had captured one of the men I

had hurt iu the tight that night.

By Mr. Scofikld :

Question. What did he take him for ?

Answer. For burning the court-house.
Question. And ho supposed that he was one of the same men who attacked you, from

the fact that he found his jaw-bone'broken and his arm broken ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I have known this young man, Reynolds, ever since he was a boy
They ca|)tured him, hut he ran away.

Question. The marshal arrested him under United States jirocess ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many were arrested ?

Answer. I think some eleven or more.
Question. Have there been new warrants sued out against them ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. You do not know the condition of the suit against them now ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Who is Captain Skiles ?

Answer. He is a United States detective; so I understand.

Atlanta, Georgia, Octoher 23, 1871.

MARY RAY sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. What is your age, where do you live, and where were you born ?

Answer. I am going on fifty-six years of age ; I was born iu Jackson County, and I

now live there.

Question. How far do you live from Mr. Holliday's ?

Answer. I reckon it is about two miles.

Question. Do you know the time when the Ku-Klux went to his house ?

Ansiver. I recollect when it was, but I do not know what day or night it was.
Question. Did you see them ?

Answer. Some persons who were disguised came to our house the same night.
Question. How many ?

Answer. I did not count them, but I reckon there were probably eighteen or twenty.
Question. Were they walking or riding?
Answer. They were riding.

Question. Wliat did they do at your house?
Ansiver. They came there and hollered three times, but I never said anything, nor

did my son, until they hollered the third time. They told liim to get up and open the
door, and to tell them the way out of there. He oi)ened the door, and they asked who
lived there. He said, " Willis Ray." They said, " Is he here ?" He said, " No ; ho has
started to Russell Harris's." They said, "Are you sure you are telling the truth?"
He said, " I try to tell nothing but the truth." They said to some one, " Go around to

the other door and liiudle up a light." Ho said, " Mother, is there any piece of light-

wood on the hearth? I think I burned up the last before I laid down." And then he
said, " 0, never mind, I can get oft" this board." They said, " Never mind ; we'll take
your word for it. Tell Willis Ray that wo are friends to him, but from this night he
must liold his tongue and not talk about us, or we will hang him as high as Haman."

Question. Who did you understand them to mean by " us ?"

Answer. I thought Davy Hancock was there to the best of my knowledge ; that was
the o?dy one I knew. He hollered three times. But I do not know who the one was
Avho did the talking.

Question. Who did you understand he meant by " us," when he said that Willis
should " not talk about us ?"
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A-nsH-er. I allowed it was the disgnised men.
QiHslion. Had they been riding about through the country before that time ?

Jntiwer. Yes, sir ; some good while before that.

Qtietition. How long before ?

Aitnircr. I do not know how long I heard of tihem, but I never saw them until then.

Question. Had they been doing a great deal of mischief?
Answer. I had heard of some, but to say that I know it, I do not know it.

Question. Had your husband been opposed to them ?

Answer. Yes, sir, he is opposed to them, and had said some little against them cue
way or another. He had done nobody any harm, but he was against them.

Atl.\nta, Georgia, Octoler 23, 1871.

Eev. J. H. CALDWELL sworn and examined.

The Chairman. As this witness has been called at your instance, ili\ Bayard, you
will please begin his examination.

By Mr. Bayard:
^

Question. Where do you reside?
Answer. My residence is in La Grange, Troup County, Georgia.
Question. Are you a native of Georgia ?

Answer. I am a native of South Carolina, but I was brought up in Georgia.
Question. What oftices have you held at different jjeriods of your life in the State of

Georgia, and what othce do you now hold?
Answer. 1 was elected a member of the constitutional convention that assembled in

this State and framed our present constitution.
Question. In what year?
Answer. I was elected in the autumn of 1867. Then, in the spring of 1868, at our

general election, I was elected a member of the house of representatives of the State
legislature. My present official position is that of judge of the district court in the
thirty-seventh senatorial district.

Question. In these A'arious offices which you have mentioned, with what political

party have you been acting ?

Ansiver. The republican party.
Question. Are you at this time a member of that party, and acting with it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you been employed by the Attorney General of the United States,

Mr. Akerman, in the investigation of the alleged Ku-Klux outrages in this section of
country ?

Answer. Y"es, sir.

Question. State when you were employed, and what you have done under instructions.

Answer. I was employed in the month of July last ; my commission or instructions

—

I suppose it may be called commission—was dated after the 20th of July, and I left

home on the 28tli of July, with the view of having a consultation here with the district

attorney, and attending to the matters whereon I Avas instructed in the commission.
I have continued in that duty until this time ; the instructions were intended to be
carried out luitil the 1st of November, and the time is nearly out.

Question. That was under special instructions from the Attorney General?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. State what was the character of your duties.

A)iswer. To assist in arranging the proofs ; and to visit such localities where I might
have reason to believe some offenses had been committed, and to examine witnesses.

Question. In that way have you investigated the testimony of witnesses summoned
before the United States grand jury at the late term?
Ansica: Some of them, not all. Those that I jDcrsonally examined I gave a list of to

the district attorney.
Question. Have you examined all those you believed to be material in the case ?

Answer. All that I had an opportunity of examining.
Question. You came hero for that express purpose ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. I have generally remained here in this place ; but I have some-
times gone out into the State.

Question. Have you also investigated circumstances by visiting the scenes of these
alleged disorders ?

Answer. In one instance.
Question. What case was that ?

Anstver, That was the case of a man of the name of Holliday, in Jackson County.
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Question. Was it the case of the man who has been summoned before this committee,
and wlio was also examined before the grand jnry ?

Ansicer. I suppose it is the same ; ho was examined before the grand jury.

Question. In rehition to an attack upon himself and his property?
A7tsuiC7'. Yes, sir.

•Question. Did yon examine Henry Lowther, a negro upon whose person an outrage
had been perpetrated ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I examined him in this place.

Question. Was the alleged cause of that outrage upon him his connection with a
white woman ?

Ansn-cr. I drew that out from him finally ; that was not the cause he alleged at first

;

and he denied all the waj' through that that was the cause of the treatment he received

;

but he admitted that he had had such connection.
Question. He iinally confessed to you that he had had connection with that white

woman ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir ; he did.

Question. Did he state to you that that was the cause of the umbrage of those people
against him ?

AnsKcr. He did so state. Be said that he thought the cause was his political opinions.

I rather questioned that, and told him I thought that that statement would hardly be
received, for it was a very unusual thing to proceed to that kind of punishment fur

political opinions. After assuring him that he would not be compelled to criminate
himself before the court, he confessed that he had had connection with that white
woman.

Question. There has been a great deal said in regard to bands of disguised men com-
monly ]-:nowu as Ku-Klux. Will you state to this committee what is the result of your
invest!gation.iii regard to that matter?

Ansxvcr. The result of my investigation is, that I am convinced there are in different

localities in the State of Georgia bands of lawless men Avho have committed outrages.

That is, I judge so from the testimony, not from my personal knowledge.
Question. Do you believe there is any organization among those bands; that is, any

concert of action at all, or are they merely local in their character?
xinswcr. I think they are local.

Question. From the result of your examinations you do not believe that there is any
organization among thftse bauds?
Answer. I think they are organized merely in the different localities; I do not think

there is any general organization ; at least I have not discovered any such thing iu

my investigations.

Question. Do you know the purpose or object of those bands?
Afiswer. So for as I can judge from the testimony elicited iu the different interviews

I have had with witnesses in the different cases, the objects seemed to be various in dif-

fei'ent localities.

Question. Have you been able to discover any political significance in those organi-

zations?
Answer. Not a trace of it, except in one instance, taking the testimony of the party

himself.
Question. They have been devoid of iiolitical significance?

Answer. In every instance which I have examined, so far as I have had any investi-

gation of witnesses.
Question. In your jurisdiction yoa have administration of the criminal laws ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you consider that there is a reasonable protection for person and prop-

erty under the laws of Georgia for people of all classes and colors ?

Answei'. Within my jurisdiction there certainly is ; I can state that with confidence
from my i)ersonal knowledge.

Question. What counties are embraced within your jurisdiction ?

Answei: The three counties of Troup, Heard, and Carroll, which counties compose
the thirty-seventh judicial district.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. In what part of the State are those counties ?

Ansicer. In the western part of, the State, along the Alabama line.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. I observe, by reference to the map, that in going from Atlanta to your district I

yon pass through a number of counties. You have stated as a matter of fact that there
^

is security of person and property in the counties of your district under the laws of/

the State of Georgia. I will ask you if, to the best of your knowledge, that is also the^

condition of aftairs in other parts of the State ?
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Answer. Where I am i)erso]ially acquainted it is ; that is, principally iu the third
congressional district.

Question. Who is the jiresent member of Congress from that district?

Ansiccr. Judge Bigby.
Question. How many counties are there in that district?

Answer. There are now sixteen counties, including a new county made b> the last-

legislature. Carroll County is the one furthest north, and the district extends down to
Muscogee County, and then into the interior of the State some distance.

Question. Being a citizen of that district, will you state whether your remark as to,

the security of person and property under the laws of Georgia applies to that entire
district?

Answer. It does, so far as my observation has extended.
Question. How long have you lived there?
Ansiver. 1 have lived there for the last six or seven years.

Question. How many years have you lived iu the State of Georgia?
Ansicer. Ever since I was three years old.

By Mr. Vookhees :

Question. You said you were born iu the State of South Carolina ?

Answei: Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bavaed :

Question. Will you jdease state what is your age at the present time ?

Anstver. I am fifty-one years of age. Since I have been in this city the last time, I
have heard for the tirst time of any lawlessness in that district ; I have heard since I
left home of some lawless acts iu Heard County ; I do not know as to the correctness
of those accounts ; I got my iuformation from the district attorney, who said that there
were persons here now who complained of some lawless acts in that county.

Question. The point of my question was, whether you believe, being j^ourself a mag-
istrate in that district, that there is amj)le protection there for person and property
under the laws of Georgia ?

An-m-er. There is ; I can state that with entire confidence.
Question. You have been acting with the republican party in this State since its or-

ganization ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I assisted in the organization of that party in this State.
Question. Have your political opinions been o^oenly pronounced and well known by

your fellow-citizens ?

Answer. I have canvassed about ten counties of the third congressional district sev-
eral times since the fall of 1867. The first time was when the convention was called,

required under the reconstruction acts of Congress. Then in the following spring I
canvassed a large portion of that district, in the interest of the new constitution and
for its ratification. Then, in the autumn of that year, I canvassed it for the presiden-
tial election. Then, again, last autumn I canvassed it at the time of the general elec-

tion.

Question. In your canvasses did you frequently and publicly address the citizeus of
Georgia ?

Ansicer. Very often; large assemblies of the people, white and colored.
Question. Did you openly proclaim your party views ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; very emphatically and very earnestly.
Qitestion. Did you assail the views of your political opponents?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you do so with the freedom that characterized such discussions prior to
the war?
Answa: Yes, sir ; and with as much personal safety as I ever discussed political ciues-

tions in the State. I discussed questions with democrats in different portions of the
State, and those discussions were carried on with as much courtesy on the x^artof the
disputants, and with no more signs of disorder or attempt at violence, than might have
happened at any time—than you would have seen often before the war.

Question. Havmg been an active and prominent member of the republican party of •

this State, will you say whether you have ever been insulted or deterred from the frank
expressions of your opinions in this State ?

Answer. I have never been deterred by any demonstration. I saw at one time, a
little beforehand, what appeared to me to be a demonstration, which I disregarded

;

Tud when I came to make my speech there was nothing of it. I have also been
hreatened by little missives sent to me privately through the post-office, which I also
isregardcd ; I went forward and made my speeches without any molestation whatever.
i to insults, there has been a great deal of abuse ; that, of course, is allowed among
'litical partisans.

By Mr. Voorhees :

hiesiion. Every politician gets that, I believe ?
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Ansicer. Yes, sir ; and I receive my share of it.

By Mr. Bavakd :

Question. Do you receive more here than is the case North ?

Answer. I thiuk the state of feeliut; here has hcen a httle sharjier tliau vith you iu
the North

;
perhaps the bitterness has been inteusilied by circumstances. I think

there has been a great deal of very uuliind bitter feeling. I do not say that it is con-
fined to one party. I have myself been the victim of it; that is, I have suffered the
odium of it.

Question. In other words, the condition of political feeling here has been somewhat
excited ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think more so than at the North,
Question. Has the excitement ever reached a point where it would deter a full and

frank expression of opinion ?

Answer. I have not experienced anything of the kind, and I think I have expressed
my sentiments as boldly, and have attacked the measures, doctrines, and policy of the
democratic party as boldly as any other speaker in the State.

Question. Wliat is the feeling of the i:)eople of your State toward citizens coming
from the North and settling among you, if they come here and identify themselves
with the interests of your State ; are they not kindly received and fully protected ?

Answer. I thiuk they are, as far as I know. So far as any cases have come within
my observation, that is true. Those who participate in political movements are not
liked so much. Those of us who are natives suffer from this bitter feeling, this intense
hostility to our party measures.

Question. Does that ijrevent a man from being perfectly secure in the expression of
his opinions and in the enjoymei>^, of life, person, and property ?

Answer. So tar as my observation has extended, it does not. I have heard in the
other counties of cases, and have read in the papers of circumstances. But I suppose
you want me to speak of my personal experience.

Question. That is allwhicii would be justified, I suppose.
Ansirer. I have heard of instances of different character, but they have not come

within ray personal knowledge. I suppose your question had reference to mj^ public
addresses, to my making speeches, and to what occurred at those times. There is one
little circumstance that I forgot to mention. There never was any violence attempted
to me personally but once. That was not on the occasion of a public s])eech, but was
at the polls, at a time when there was a great deal of excitement. It mattered very
little, though. There was an editor of a paper who had been very violent against me.
I think he was drinking at the time. He came up behind me where I was standing.
I went up to put in my vote for the Grant electoral ticket, and while standing at the
polls—the doors of the court-house were closed, and the voters came up and handed
their tickets in to some one who stood at the door

—

and just as I had put mine in, I

felt some one lay hands on me from behind; and the next moment I was whii-led from
the court-house down the steps. I did not fall, but I lof)ked around and discovered
the editor of this paper. From the character of the crowd assembled there, I thought
there were persons present giving him encouragement ; I thought they had weapons,
but I saw none. I came to the conclusion that if I made any resistance it might en-
danger my life; that it would be better for me to retire quietly, which I did, after

looking the man sternly iu the face. I looked upon it as a cowardly act, as did the
comnmnity. He never has apologized for it ; I never have spoken to him, nor has he
to me.

Question. You say he was intoxicated at the time ?

Ansiver. That was the excuse offered by his party friends, who felt that he had done
wrong.

Question. His party friends denounced the act?
Answer. I so understood. Some of them expressed to me the opinion that he had

done wrong, and was drunk at the time.
Question. That is the only instance of jiersonal rndeness to you?
Ansicer. The only attempt I have ever met with during the four times I have can-

"vassed that district.

Question. Have your elections here been reasonably orderly ?

Answer. Not very orderly at the presidential election ; some disorder, but no great
deal of violence. Perhaps there were some few colored jieople struck over the head
and bruised, and others deterred and frightened. I witnessed none of those things,
but some of them came to me, and I saw one or two who had l)cen cut and bruised.
Such things are apt to occur at any time in jieriods of political excitement. I have
often seen similar things before the war.

Question. They are what are called political rows on election day?
Answer. Yes, sir. I thiuk they are intensified by opposition to negroes voting.
Question. They did vote freely ?

Answer. Yes, sir, where they were qualified to vote.
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Question. Were they iu the majority in your district ?

Ansrvcr. Iu my couuty iind iu the congressional district there is a large majority of
colored voters. Some of the counties have white majorities, but most of them have
colored majorities.

Question. The colored majority prevailed ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I think my majority over my opponent was something over four
hundred.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. The member of Congress from your district is a republican?
Answer. He ran as a republican, but professed to be a democrat at the time the con-

stitution Avas ratilied. But he ran for Congress as a republican, and was elected as
such.

By the Chairman :

Question. Elected by republicans against a democratic oijponeut?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Do you know any case of the arrest, trial, and conviction, in courts of jus-

tice iu your State, of persons who have been guilty of these outrages commonly called
Ku-Klux outrages—outrages by disguised men upou others?

Answer. I do not know of any of my own knowledge; I have heard that some were
arrested and tried in Bartow Couuty. Cass County Avas the original name of that
county. I have heard that some were sentenced iu that county to the State's prison,

but I do not know the fact.

Question. You have no personal knowledge of these facts?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do you know the name of the judge before whom they were alleged to

haA'e beeu tried and convicted ?

Answer. I think it was before Judge Parrott.
Question. Is he a republican ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. One of GoA-ernor Bullock's appointees ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know Avhether Bartow County, iu which that trial took place, is or

is not largely democratic ?

Answer. I think it is a largely democratic county; they elect democratic members of
the legislature.

Question. Is it in that county where this conviction and sentence have taken place ?

Answer. I have been so informed. I have heard of no other instance anywhere iu
the State of the conviction of i)ersons who are known as Ku-Klux, who are called Ku-
Ivlus.

By the Ch.\.irman:

Question. I understand you to say that in the discharge of your duty of preparing
cases for the use of the district attorney, you have remained in this city pretty much
all the time ?

Answer. I haA^e been here a great deal of the time. I have traveled out of it.

Question. I believe you spoke of being in Jackson County ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you at the house of Mr. HoUiday ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you confer with him or his family ?

Ausiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they show you the locality of the transaction there ?

Answer. Mrs. Holliday did ; Mr. Holliday Avas not at home.
Question. Did you see the mai'ks of bullets on the house ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I saw signs of pistol-bullets on the walls of the building.

Question. How many did you see ?

Answer. I counted ten. Mrs. Holliday told me there were others which I did not
see ; some up stairs, but I did not go up to see them.

Question. Did you see any marks on the doors ?

Answer. She told me there were some, but I did not see them. The most she pointed
out to me Avere in the walls of the building. It was getting late in the day, Avas some-
what dark, and I could not see them very well.

Question. How long were you there?
Answer. I Avas at the house but a few minutes, long enough to get her statement. It

was getting late, and I Avas a stranger in the placfe, and did not knoAV where to go. I
hurried the investigation at the house.
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Qncsiion. How long did you remain in the county ?

Aiisicer. I was there on Monday, aud renuiined at tlio house of Mr. Hunter that night.
During the next day I examined some witnesses—Mr. J, R. Holliday, the person who
was attacked ; liis brother, Mr. Frank Holliday, and some four colored persons.

Question. Did you see some resolutions that were adopted there afterward ?

Answer. No, sir ; I did not see them. You mean some that were published in the
papers ?

QiirsHon. 1 understand that "they were jjublished in the newspapers and were adopted
at a ])nblic meeting.

Jnsurr. I never saw them. I do not know that I ever heard of them before.

Qnestion. Do you know whether any propositions were made on behalf of the parties
accused that if Mr. Holliday would abandon the prosecution they would suspend any
further operations'?

Ansiver. I think there was something said to me about that matter by Mr. Holliday;
I do not think I took it down in the testimony as material.

Qui^stion. Did you ever converse with Mr. Hill on the subject ?

. Answer. No, sir.

Qiiesiion. Was he here during the session of the court ?

Answer. Do yon mean Mr. B. H. Hill ?

Qucsl'wn. Yes, sir.

Answer. I luiderstood so.

Question. Was he understood to be employed by the defense?
Answer. I heard that he was.
Question. While you were down in that county, what did you hear in regard to the

operations of the Ku-Klus ?

Answer. I heard that there was an organization in that neighborhood composed of
from thirty to iifty persons; the highest number mentioned to me did not exceed lifty,

and the lowest was not less than thirty.

Question. Do vou mean that that was the largest number ever seen abroad at one
time?

Ansicer. That w^as the opinion of the two Hollidays and their friends, that they did

'

not exceed from thirty to fifty; that they were confined in their operations to what is

known as Chandler's military district, and perhaps to a portion only of that district,

say to an area of four or five miles square.
Question. As far as you liave observed their operations, have their victims belonged

to one political party more than to another ?

Answer. Most of those I have examined belonged to the republican party. Mr.
Holliday told me that he did not participate in politics at all ; but his brother-iu-law,
Mr. Hunter, told me that Holliday was a democrat.

Question. You have spoken of this case of the mutilation of Henry Lowther. You
say that he admitted to yovi that he had sexual intercourse with a white woman ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did he state vfhen that occurred ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he told the time when it took place ; I have not the dates with me,
but I think I can remember them. He stated that on Monday evening, the 2 1st of
August, a party of disguised persons came to his house the first time ; that is, they
came up, but he escaped through the back door, and hid himself in the weeds some
little distance from the house. They entered his dwelling, it being dark within, and
one of them stTimbled against a sack of salt ; taking it to be him, he cried out, '' Here
he is; kill him, kill him!" They then lighted matches, aud discovered their mistake.
They told his wife that they would give him five days to leave the county—that was on
the occasion of their iirst visit to him. A colored man in the neighborhood, whose
n;mie I <lo not now remember, (it is in my notes,) told him not to leave ; that he would
gather up a crowd of men and guard him and stand by him until he died ; that was his
language. Some six or seven persons armed themselves, and went into the woods and
lay that night, aud also the next night. Ou the tliird night the man who proposed to
guard him with these armed men abandoned him, and informed other parties against
liim, and said that he was there with an armed force to fight the Ku-Klux. Upon that,

orders were issued for his arrest, and he and his sou were arrested and put in jail.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What was the offense alleged against him for which he was arrested ?

Answer. He did not state that definitely ; I think it was for arming persons. I can-
Dot recollect distinctly ; I have the notes of the whole case, stated to the district

attorney.
Question. Was it an offense cognizable by the laws ofyour State?
Ansiver. Let me think for a moment, and see if I can state what it was. [After a

pause.] I think it was that he had armell these men, and made threats against another
negro. I think the other negro had him arrested. That is my impression. I would
rather be accurate about it ; and to bo so, I must refer to my notes.
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By Mr. Lansing :

Question. You have undoubtedly got it right now?
Answer. Yes, sir, I think it is so. It was on the fourth of September that he was

taken from the jail and treated in the manner described here. On the Sunday follow-
ing their hrst visit to his house, a white woman (he gave me the name) followed him into
the woods, when ho had this illicit commerce with her.

By the Chairman :

Question. That was after they visited his house the first time ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did he say who the white woman was '?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he gave her name.
Question. I don't care about her name. What was her character ?

Answer. I did not inquire anything about her character. Of course I inferred, from
what he said, that she was a very bad character.

Question. Was she a common woman, that other persons, white and black, visited?
Answer. I did not put those questions to him. But, of course, the inference I drew

was that she was a very bad, abandoned character, from the circumstance that she
voluntarily followed him into the woods, and, as I suppose from his language, solicited
him to have intercourse with her.

Question. She was one of those low-down tramps which are scattered about the
country ?

Ansieer. I have uo doubt of it.

Question. That was after the first visit of these disguised men to him ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Of course I do not look upon that as justifying their lawlessness.
Question. Do you believe that was the reason for their conduct?
Answer. I think, from all the circumstances, that that was the reason ; for I do not

believe that, anywhere in the land, any body of men, unless they are a band of very
low and vile creatures, would iuilict such pauishmeut for a i)olitical ollense.

Question. Why did they go to his house the first time?
A7tsiver. That I cauuot answer.
Question. Why did they serve notice on him to leave?
Answer. I cannot tell.

• Question. Then your opinion is formed from the fact that you cannot suppose any-
body would inflict such a punishment for a political otiense?
Answer. I never heard of such a thing.
Mr. VoRHEES. You might ask why they did not inflict that ininishmeut the first

time they went there.

The CHAiRMj\jir. They did not catch him ; but they notified him to leave in five

days.
The Witness. I would like to state that my instructions from Mr. Akermau were

to inquire into and obtain all the facts, or the most probable facts, in each case. My
business has been to obtain facts ; and with me it makes no difference wliat the case
may be. If there is a lawlessness, I wish to see that lawlessness suppressed.

By the Chairman :

Question. Have you heard of any white man being castrated for visiting low-down
characters?

Answer. No, sir; I never heard of such a thing, I think. I cannot now remember
that I have ever heard of such an instance.

Question. You have heard of no white person being castrated for visiting that
woman ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Will you name again the counties which compose your judicial district?
Answer. Troup, Heard, and Carroll Counties.
Question. Are there any Ku-Klus organizations in that district?

AnsiixT. I never have heard of anj'—that is, since the first organization and incipi-

ency of this movement in the State. I was in Columbus in the spring of 1868, about
the time that they killed Ashburn. There was an organization there that did that
work in Columbus. I was with Ashburn at the meeting held there on Saturday, and
delivered the address to some thousands of people. On Monday night Ashburn was
killed. I remained on the spot and gathered up all the facts I could in regard to if

and they were xiublished in the New York Tribune the succeeding week. 1 also gave
an account of some of their emblems and some of theii' insignia that they had sfut in.

One of them represented Mr. Ashburn lying in his coffin ; his name was on it, and it

also had the emblems of death, with a warning that he should die.

Question. Where was that paper found ?

Answer. It was shown to me by the assessor of internal revenue, Mr. Webster.
Question. Where did he get it ?

Anstver. I think it was suspended at the door of his office.
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Question. Was that l)efore Asbburii was killed ?

Ansinr. He showed it to me the Saturday before lie was killed.

Question. As you have referred to that case, will you state as succinctly as you can
all the circumslauces that occurred 1

By Jlr. Bayard :

Question. What was the date of that occurreuce ?

A)tsw(r. It was at the close of March, 1868—either on the 30th or 31st of the month.
I think it v>as ou the lirst or second day of April tliat I wrote this account for the pa-

per. At this distance of time, and after so many CTcnts have happened, 1 should dis-

like to trust my memory in a recital of the circumstances. But the abiding impjessiou
upon my mind is this: that Ashbuni was visited by some thirty or forty persons at the
house where he was staying, in Columbus ;

some of them I umlerstood were disguised,

and some not disguised. He was killed in his room that night, between midnight and
day.

By the Chairman :

Question. Who was Ashburn, and what had he been during the war?
Answer. He was a Union man during the war, and I think that at one time he retired

within the Federal lines. He returned after the war a very ardent Uiriou man, arecou-
structionist and a republican. He was a man that I never considered had a well-

balanced mind; I thought he was Highty and enthusiastic. He was certainly a very
earnest advocate of republican doctrines, and worked very haul for the restoration of
the State to the Union. I thiidv Mr. Ashburn was devoted to the Union and to the
principles of the republican party,. We served together in the constitutional conven-
tion.

Question. Have you any doubt of that being what cost him his life ?

Ansieer. 1 have none whatever ;'I have never heard any doubt exi)ressed by any one
that he was killed fur his political course.

Question. And by an organization known as the Ku-Klux?
Answer. I would like to say a little more in regard to that. Just at that time it had

come to light. I was in Atlanta here, and the lirst notice I ever saw of the existence

of an organization of that character was in an Atlanta paper. It seemed to be envel-

oped in great mystery, and the pajier spoke of it in very mysterious language. I did

not know what it was, whether a political organization or not. I saw these accounts
in the newspapers. Shortly after the close ol our convention I went ou to hold this

public meeting in" Columbus, where a great number of x>eople were assembled, mostly
colored people. I v/as called upon to deliver a speech on that occasion. These
insignia of the order were shown to me by Mr. Webster before I made my speech. I

remember a little incident, rather anmsing, in connection with it. He mentioned to

me something which I used in my speech. He said that there were some bones sus-

pended either at the door of his office or ou the palings before his residence, which
were claimed by this mysterious order to be the bones of confederate dead who had
arisen from their graves to avenge the wrongs of their country. I ascertained that

they were old turtle-bones ; and 1 remarked jocosely to the people that they ought to

change the initials of their order from K. K. K. to O. T. B., meaning old turtle-bones.

I treated the matter as a huge jest intended to operate upon the superstitions of the

negroes, and to deter them from voting.- But from the time of Ashburn's death I felt

that it was a reality. I think, from so'ine notice circulated around through the town
of Lagrange the following week, that there was an incipient movement ot that sort in

that place. I examined one of the letters I saw, and found a letter C u^jou a cofiin,

which I did not know but might mean me. I sent out word lor a meeting, aiul made
a speech to white and colored peoi)le, and said I was not afraid of being Ku-Kluxed. I

told them very plainly what I thought would be the consequences of such a proceed-

ing. If there has ever been an organization from that day to the i)reseut moment in

Troup County I do not know it ; I have never found it out. I think if they had any
intention of the kind that they abandoned it.

Qufstion. You say you were here in Atlanta when the existence of the order was first

brought to your notice ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you see any prominent person here at that time, from a neighboring

State, vjho had been imblicly rumored to be a prominent officer in the order f

Answer. Yes, sir; I remember seeing several here. You use the expression "a
neighboring State." I saw one in particular about that time here.

Question. To whom do you refer ?

Ansivcr. To General Forrest. I was introduced to him near the close of the consti-

tutional convention ; I do not remember the ijarticnlar time.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. About what time ?

Ansviei: The convention closed its labors on the 11th of March, 1863.
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By the Chairman :

Question. How long was it before Asliburu was killed did yon see General Forrest

here ?

Answer. The convention closed its labors on the 11th of March, 1868, and Ashburu
was killed, as I have already stated, in the last days of March, on the 30th or 31st.

Question. Had you heard anything of the Ku-Klux organization before the time that

General Forrest was here ?

Ansu-er. I never heard of it until after he was here. The liieces I read in the i^apers

were copied from Nash-s-ille papers. I wish to be tlistinctly understood that while I

state this I do not mean to insinuate at all that General Forrest had anything to do
with it, for I dd not know that.

By Mr. Bayaed :

Question. I am glad you have the candor to state that. /

Answer. I state it because I have no facts upon which to base such a thing.

By the Chairman :

Question. Did you understand what his business here at that time was?
Answer. I think I heard that he was here in connection with some insurance busi-

ness.

Question. Have you seen him here since that time ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You say these paragraphs appeared in the papers about the time he was
here ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that they were copied from Tennessee papers?
Answer. The first that I saw were copied from a Tennessee paper.

Question. Do you know whether it is understood that the Ku-Klux organization

originated in Tennessee ?

Answer. I have heard the opinion expressed by individuals that such was the case :

I cannot remember who, but quite a number. You understand I am not now stating

facts; I am only answering your question. I only state rumors and hearsay, and not
facts within my knowledge ; only what has been told me from time to time.
' Question. Do you know whether at the beginning of the operations of this order—of

their public manifestations—they claimed to be the returned confederate dead?
Answer. I can only judge from pieces that I saw in the papers, and the mystery that

was thrown over the whole thing by the editorial allusions to it. The attempt at

mystery was of course intended to mystify, and to give it the appearance of something
supernatural. It was intended evidently to operate ixpon the superstitious fears of the

negroes. They are a very superstitious race, as you know, and I suppose it was in-

tended to operate upon them ; to get up ghost stories aud frighten them; something
like that.

Question. I understood you to say that you prepared an account of the circumsta,nces

attending the death of Asliburn, which was jjublished in the New York Tribune ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was that account true ? •

Ansicer. That account was the information T received on the spot ; it embraced the

facts that were communicated to me in relation to the matter. Of course everything
then was in a state of confusion and excitement. Subsequently, comparing the state-

ments contained in the article with the evidence deduced before the military commis-
sion that attempted to try certain persons, (although I mentioned no names in my
communication,) the facts in the communication were generally in accord with the

e^vidence brought out before the military commission.
Question. Have you a copy of that article?

Answer. I have it at home, I think ; not here.

Question. Will you furnish us with a copy of it when you go home ?

Answer. I will do so if I can find it. [See page 451.]

Question. That contained the result of the best examination yoti were able to make
at the time.

Answer. That was a very unsatisfactory examination, because of the tumult and con-

fusion that existed then. There was a kind of panic in the city at the time ; it was a

very startling event. I went about the examination very carefully, and inquired

mostly among the leading men ; among republicans, not those of the opposite party.'

I got their views and expressions and put them upon paper and sent them to the New
Y'ork Tribune. At that time I regarded it as one of the purposes of this mysterious

organization, of which I had read so miicii in the papers. A few days before the Col-

uinbas papers had several articles in reference to this organization.

Question. Commending it or condemning it ?

Answer. I do not remember whether they were of a commendatory character or not:

they spoke of it in a mysterious manner. 'lu accordance with the idea I have already

28 G
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Nortli to this State. I hold in my hand what purports to be a copy of some resolutions

adopted by a mass meeting of German citizens, and -whicli are published in the Daily
New Era of this city, on the 18th of this mouth. One of the resolutions is as follows :

" W hereas those present sincerely l)elieve it to be the true opinion of the Germans
in Georgia, that although many improvements are necessary, yet the general condition
of the State is qiiiet and orderly, life and property of those who do not meddle too
much Avith politics is as safe as in any other State of the Union. The emigrant has
nothing to fear, but on the contrary is welcome and finds assistance."

Is that your idea of the matter ?

Answer. Yes, sir, that is about my idea.

Question. You have spoken of the press of this State. What has been the tone of the
press in regard to the Ku-Klux order ?

Ansiver. I do not think that, as a general thing, the press has dealt with this question
as plainly and pointedly as it should ; it has not pointed out the evils of this thing.

Question. Has there been any difiereuce in the tone of the papers of either political

party ?

Ansiver. The reiiublican papers have uniformly denounced the organization.

Question. How has it been with the democratic papers ?

Answer. Well, so far as I have read the democratic papers, in the case of a great many
of them, there seems to be, if not an ignoring of the question, a dealing with the ques-
tion not with that frankness and fullness which I would like to see. That is, they have
not come out openly and squarely and denounced these things.

Question. Take the tone of the democratic press from 1868 to the present time, would
it be understood as sanctioning and conniving at their operations, or condemning and
denouncing them ? Would the men who are themselves concerned in these operations
understand that the democratic jiapers were hostile to tlsem, or would they understand
that they were winking at their operations, and were willing to let them go on ?

Ansiver. That is a very difficult c[uestion to answer ; but still I will give you my
opinion upon it. My opinion is that the democratic papers, as a general thing, through-
out the State have not, as openly and jiointedly as they should have done, expressed
their opposition to this organization. Possibly from their omission to do so some law-
less persons may have been encouraged to proceed in that course.

Question. Whenevfer these outrages have been brought to light have the democratic
papers been understood as denouncing the outrages, or as seeking to bring opprobrium
uiiou the memory of the victims ? Which has been their course ?

Answer. I have understood that to be the case frequently ; I cannot say that it has
been in all instances, but in some instances I have noticed that that has been the
case.

Question. With what political x>arty is the paper published in this city called the
Daily Constitution identified ?

Answer. With the democratic party.

Question. It i)urports to be the official organ of the city and county ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you recognize in this copy of that paper (handing witness a paper) a,

copy of the issue of last Friday morning, the morning this committee arrived here? If

so, will you please state to the committee if you find in it an article headed " North Car-
olina," referring to the late trials of the so-called Ku-Klus in the State ?

Answer. This is a copy of that paper of that morning.
[The following is the article referred to :

" North Carolina.—The wholesale Ku-Klux arrests in North Carolina and the quick
illegal convictions are the specimen work of the radical presidential campaign in the
South. North Carolina first. South Carolina next. Perhaps Georgia the next.

"Arrests without warrant, imprisonments without bail, trials without law, condemna-
tions without evidence, and punishment without justice, are the terrible schedules jiut

upon innocent men by the loyal.
" Juries selected for their jiolitical bias, and iiicked by the court officers to convict,

are so sacred that even a legal challenge is refused by the judge who sits only to sen-

tence, who assumes the role of the prosecutor, and who degrades the ermine for party.
" Yet this radical party that commits this sort of infamy has its friends South.

Shame upon it and them.
" Even the New York Sun makes this remonstrance against such outrage.
"

' With violent partisans as prosecuting officers, a packed jury, and a hostile court

against them, it is no wonder that these men were convicted l)y dozens. They may
all have received only their just deserts in the end ; but no one can j)ret«nd that the
manner of their conviction was anything but a mockery of justice and an outrage on
judicial propriety.'"]

My opinion has been asked several times in regard to the present state of feeling

throughout my district. I have thought of one or two facts in that connection.
Question. We will first get through with this subject, if you please.
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Answer. As the testimony I am now giving will be printed, I desire that 11 shall do
justice to me and my section.

Question. Is there a j)aper published in this city called the Atlanta Daily Sun ?

An-%wer. Yes, sii".

Question. What is the political character of that paper ?

Jnsu-cr. It is a democratic paper.
Question. I wish you Avoiild look at this copy (handing the witness a copy of the Sun,)

and say if you recognize it as a copy of the issue of Saturday morning last.

Answer. Yes, sir, it is.

The Chairman. I will ask to have incorporated here the following articles from
that paper

:

"What they are after.—The Ku-Klux committee are here, to be a terror to the
legislature, soon to assemble ; to frighten and prevent that body from impeaching
Bullock ; to save Foster Blodgett from pimishment by the courts for embezzlement,
and secure him a seat iu the United States Senate, and help to secure Grant's election
next time liy bayonet influence, as before."

"The Ku-Ivlux Committee.—A sub-committee of the joint congressional Ku-Klux
committee reached this city earlj^ yesterday morning. It consists of Horace ]\Iaynard,

of Tennessee, chairman ; G. W. Scofield, of Pennsylvania ; W. E. Lansing, of New York

;

D. W. Voorhees, of Indiana, and Thos. F. Bayard, of Delaware. The last two are demo-
crats and the others radicals.

"This committee met yesterday, soon after arrival, and examined several witnesses,

some of whom were negroes. District Attorney John D. Pope was also examined.
The radical element of the committee have not, thus far-, found much comfort, and we
presume will not. Of course their object is to maiuifacture capital for the radicals to
operate upon, which can't be ^und iu this community."

The W^iTNESS. I do not wish to be responsible for the opinions in those articles ; but
I recognize this as a cojiy of the Daily Sun of last Saturday morning.

By the Ch^urman :

Question. You can now proceed with what you were going to state.

Answer. I believe Senator Bayard asked me whether impartial justice could now be
administered in the State, or sotuething like that. I want the i^eople ofmy district to
know Hiy opinions upon this subject, as it is a matter about which there will be a
great deal of feeling, and I would rather give facts than opinions. To sustain the
view I have already expressed that throughout my district the law can be adminis-
tered, and that impartially, between the two races, I will mention these two facts:

My court has jurisdiction over all offenses and misdemeaiK)rs below the grade of felony,

felony being a crime punishable by death or imprisonment iu the State penitentiary.

I first tried a negro for violating one of our laws, the charge being that he enticed
away, or hired, from another person a man employed by him, which, under our law,
is a misdemeanor. He was found guilty by a juiy, and was fined. In an adjoining
county, that is, in Heard County, at the last term of my court, one of the wealthiest
citizens of that county, a white man, a man of influence, was arraigned and tried for

the same kind of offense, and he was found guilty by a jury and punished. So you see
there was no difference in those two cases.

Question. What was the punishment inflicted upon those two?
Answer. I fined the negro $20, or sentenced him to imprisoumeut for thirty days; he

paid the fine. In the case of the white man, notice having been filed of a certiorari,

the case will not be determined until I come round again ; he has consented to let the
cei'tiorari go and submit to the fine.

Question. He has not been punished yet ?

Answer. No, sir ; but will be. There was another case in our county of a man of
wealth, who last winter was cut very severely by a negro, dangerously cut ; it was
thought at one time that he was fatally injured. My attention was first called to

the case by an article in a paper, iu which it was stated that the man was killed.

That negro was tried before the superior court of that county, and was acquitted on
the ground that the first assault was made upon him, and that ho acted in self-defense.

I can state in general terms that in all cases that have come before me, and iu all that
I have seen tried within the last two years in my county, or in my whole section, I

have seen no difference whatever in the administration of the laws. Democratic law-
yers make such appeals as this to the jury : To let no consideration as to' the former
condition of the negro, his i)ast condition of servitude, have any weight upon their

minds in giving their verdicts. I do not know whether my section is exce^jtional in

that respect, but these are facts that I know, and which have come within my knowl-
edge. I wanted to give the facts I knew, and not to let my testimony rest merely
upon an expression of opinion, founded upon what I had heard from others.

Question. Have there ever come up any issues between Union men and rebels before
your court ?

, Answer. No, sir.
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By Mr. Bayakd :

Question. Have you any rebels in the State of Georgia?
Ansiver. Do yovi'mean that are now rebels ?

Question. Yes, sir.

Answei: No, sir ; unless it is these Ku-Klus that are I'esisting the laws of the country.
Question. You have none as a chxss of your citizens?

Ansicer. No, sir. I think it is time that word should be disused, because the people
are not disjiosed to rebel against the Government, so far as I am able to see.

By the CiLiiRM.vN:

Question. You have some "who were Union men during the war?
Ansive7\ Yes, sir.

j

Question. And you have somp who were rebels during the war? I

Answer. Yes, sir.
'

I

Question. When I used the terms "Uuion men" and " rebels " I meant those who
|

were Union men and rebels during the war.
I

Answer, 1 understand you. We had very few Union men in Georgia during the
war.

Question. Were there any down in your part of Georgia?
Anstoer. During the war I lived two years in Savannah ; I was there when the war

broke out ; I kuew but two Union men in that city.

Question. W^ho were they ?

Answei: One was Dr. F. T. Willis ; the other I cannot now mention the name of. Is

it necessary that these names should be put down ?

By Mr. L.VA"srN'G

:

Question. If it will be any odium to them they can be left out.
Answer. It will be no odium to them ; they are Mends of mine, and I do not know

that they would like me to use their names.

By the Chairmajj :

Question. Do you recognize this paper? (handing the witness a paper.)
Answer. Yes, sir, I recognize it ; I wrote that letter.

Question. The statements contained in the letter are true ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. You now reiterate those statements ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

[The letter is as follows

:

"Gainsville, Georgia, August 4, 1871.

" Sir : Being a judge of oue of the district courts of this State, and also the member
of the national republican committee for this State, I have had opportunities of com-
munication with a number of gentlemen iu different parts of Georgia, who are able to
give important information in regard to the lawlessness into which the committee of
which you are the chairman are making inquiries ; and, in my judgment, the following
persons would be able to make correct statements before your committee, if summoned
to do so. They are all rexuiblicans, and most of them have been sufferers by reason of
the aforesaid lawlessness. They are all men of established character and influence in

their sections. A number of democrats from their sections have already testilied, and
it is due to the republicans that their side of the question should be suitably repre-
sented : Kev. H. W. Caldwell, Gainsville, Georgia ; Hon. Wesley Shropshire; Dirttowu,
Chattooga County, Georgia; Hon. F. A. Kirby, Summerville, Chattooga County,
Georgia; Benjamin Branuer, (at same place;) Colonel John A. Wimpey, Dahlonega,
Georgia ; Wm. H. Webb, Kome, Georgia.
" I am persuaded that the investigations which your committee are pursuing have

already had a happy influence upon this section, and if continued until the real truth
should be disclosed to the view of the public they will ultimately result iu the com-
plete suppression of the disorders which have disgraced so many portions of the
South.

" Very resijectfully,

"J. H. CALDWELL.
"Hon. John Scott,

" Chairman Joint Committee, 4'C.

"P. S.—My post-offlce and house are La Grange, Georgia."]

Question. I desire to ask you, as you are now here, in regard to the names which you
have given in this letter, whether you still think they are the names of credible, trust-
worthy persons.

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; I can indorse all of them that I know. I was requested at the time
to write that letter. There were circumstances at that time which led me to believe
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that those persons should appear before the committee, and then I proposed that they
should go to Washington.

Question. I find hero the name of Rev. H. W. CaldTrell, of Gainsville, Georgia.
Answer. He is a brother of mine, a minister of the Methodisf Episcopal Church. Ho

was very badly treated last year at one of his churches. I thought he had better go
before the committee, for he could state a great many facts to the committee. But, you
know, these things rebound against the witnesses.

Question. What have you to say in regard to Hon. Wesley Shropshire, of Dirt Town,
Chattooga County, Georgia ?

Jvsicer. He is a man of good character and standing ; ho was a member of the con-
stitutional convention, and stands well in his county.

Question. Do you know whether he has been a sufi'ercr in any way ?

Answer. I do not know myself; I think thcj' visited his house not to inflict any in-

jury upon him ; his name was given to me.
Question. What have you to say with regard to Hon. F. A. Kirby, of Summervillc,

Chattooga County ?

Ansivcr. He was a judge of that circuit at one time.
Question. I find the name here of Benjamin Branner, of the same jilace.

Ansioer. I do not know him personally.
Question. You give also the name of Colonel John A. Wimpcy, of Dahlonega, Georgia.
Answer. I know him very well ; he is a lawyer and a man of good standing ; he ran

for Congress once ; there have been some things said about Mr. Wimpey which I do
not wish to repeat here, for they are past ; I judge him to bo a gentleman of reliability.

Question. He has been in politics, and was a candidate for Congress?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. You also give the name of William H. Webb, of Rome, Georgia.
Ansiver. I understand he is a man of very fair character ; I do not kuow him person-

ally.

Question. My object in introducing this letter was to invite your attention to the
closing portion of it, that yon might explain it a little more fully than you have done
in the letter. You say, "I am persuaded that the investigations which j^onr committee
are pursuing have already had a happy influence upon this section." Will you now
give your reasons for that opinion, and auj facts upon which it is based ?

Anstcer. I am not able to state facts
;
you can draw inferences, raid many times from

circumstances, without being able to give any j)ositive facts to substantiate them. As
I have already stated, I know nothing personally of the doings of this oiganization

;

but at that time I heard of less of these visits which they made to individuals than for-

merly ; and I supposed it might be the result of the investigations of the committee
;

that those investigations had begun to operate upon them, and to convince them of
the impropriety of pursuing that course. Since then, however, there have been fresh

cases that might modify that view.
Question. Let me ask you whether the protection and security of colored men, and

that class of individuals usually called radicals, does not depend a great deal more
upon the protection aflbrded by the Federal Government than it does upon the sense
of justice and fair dealing on the jiart of their opponents?

Anstver. I will answer that question in this way : I have noticed a j)rogressive change,

a great deal of improvement, within the last four years, in jiopular sentiment and in

the feelings of the people. I have experienced it myself; I see a decided change. The
peojile are kindlier in their feelings, not only to me, but to republicans generally, and
to the colored population. There is now a better feeling existing between the two
races than I have noticed before since the war. I think it grows out of conviction, not
of fear. The protection of the Federal Government has not come to most people in

any form that would make itself felt as a present power and potent influence. I

attribute these changes that are going on to conviction, and to a view of the necessity

of adapting themselves to the changed condition and circumstances in this country.

That is about my idea of the present condition of things and the cause for the change.
Question. You go on and say, "And if continued [that is, the investigation] until the

real truth shall be disclosed to the view of the public, they will ultimately result in

the complete suppression of the disorders which have disgraced so many portions of

the South." What was your meaning in that paragraph, of " real truth?"
Answer. The real facts, because i knew your investigation would be printed by

Congress, and that they would arrive at a tolerably satisfactory knowledge of the real

cause of these disturbances and of the guilty parties.

Question. Did you suppose at that time, or had you supposed previously, that the
real truth in regard to these acts of violence and lawlessness was not known to the
American people ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I do not think it has been exhibited publicly ; I do not think tho
papers of either side have exhibited all the truth in regard to this matter; I think the
effort on the part of some of the republican papers has been too nu;chto endeavor U>

develop a political significance in connection with these things. I wish those things
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to be forgotten. If there is lawlessness of any kind, no matter from what cause, let it

lie put down, suppressed, and jiunished. I am very well satisfied that these organiza-
tions do not exist there for political purposes ; at least I trace other designs in con-
nection with them. To ascertain the real truth was to ascertain that as much as
•anything else.

Questwn. Have you over heard of any republicans who were members of the Ku-Klux
order ?

Answer. No, sir; not in this State; I never have lieard of any.
Question. You spoke of men who had been convicted in Bartow County. Do you

know whether they were understood to belong to the Ku-Klux organization, or were
they parties outside of that organization?

Anstcer. I think I have seen it stated in the New Era, published here, that they were
members of the Ku-Klux organization.

Question. Have you any knowledge of it yourself?
Answer: No, sir ; I have no knowledge of it at all.

Question. To what disorders did you refer in the latter jiart of your letter ?

Ansiver. I referred to those in North Carolina that were brought to light by the in-

vestigation of the committee. I have read the volume of evidence which was taken
by the committee of the Senate in regard to that State. And knowing that these
things are reported to exist in other j)laces, I supposed that the same methods pursued
there would develop a similar state of facts in regard to other localities where such
things are alleged to exist.

Question. So far as your investigations have gone, in how many portions of this

State have vou heard of this lawlessness and violence to which you referred in your
letter? "'

.

Ansiver. I perhaps had better refer to the counties by name where I have heard of

the existence of such things.
Question. Name the counties in this congressional district where you have heard of

such acts of lawlessness.
Answer. I have heard of them in Haralson, Floyd, Chattooga, Whitfield, and Mur-

ray Counties ; I do not know that I have heard of them in any others.

Question. What is j'our information us to the character of the election last fall in

those counties ?

Ansiver. I have no information about it.

Question. You did not include Bartow County in the list of counties you have named.
Answei: There are persons alleged to have been sentenced in Bartow County, but I

never heard of any organization in Bartow County, except in that connection.
Question. Have you heard of any lawlessness or violence in the congressional district

adjoining Tennessee ?

Ansiver. I have heard of some in Gwinnett, Jackson, White, and Habersham Coun-
ties ; I believe those arc all.

Question. Have you heard of any in the Augusta congressional district ?

Ansivei: Yes, sir
;
perhaps there has been moi'e in that section of the State than in

other parts. I have heard of some in Columbia, Greene, Jackson, Morgan, Warren,
and Washington Counties. I have heard some other counties named, but I cannot
recollect any facts in connection with them. Those are all the counties in which I

can say with any positiveuess that I have heard that such organizations existed.

By Mr. Lanslng :

Question. Y'ou say that these Ku-Klux organizations have no political significance or
purpose. How then do you account for the fact that no republicans belong to them,
and that all their victims are democrats ?

Answer. Did you understand me to say that they have no iiolitical significance ?

Question. That is what I understood. But you can answer the question as I have
put it.

Answer. I did not mean to say in the broad sense that everywhere there was
no political significance in these organizations. I meant to confine that remark merely
to the cases I have examined. I think I stated, substantially, that in the cases I have
examined, with the exception of one perhaps, I could trace no political significance.

Question. You stated that Holliday's brother-in-law told you that liolliday was a
democrat ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he a Union man during the war '?

Ansiver. I do not think that was a question we had up at all. Young Holliday was,
for he told me so himfjelf. I do not remember whether the other one said anything
about it or not; if he did, I have not put it down in my notes.

Question. Have you understood, from any source, that the Mr. Holliday in question
was a staunch Union man during the war ?

Ansiver. I do not remember whether or not that fact was stated to me in regard to

Mr. J. R. Holliday ; but I know Mr. Frank Holliday told me so.
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Question. Is he bis son ? •

Ansiver. No, sir; his brother. I think very likely, though, he may have stated so.

Question. If these organizations are not in any locality for political purposes, is it not

a little remarkable that no republicans belong to them, and that none of their victims
are democrats?

Ansiver. I never heard of any republican belonging to them.
Question. If they are not for political purposes, for what jjurposes are they?
Ansutr. I can best answer that question by giving a synopsis of the cases I have

examined.
Question. I do not ask that ; I ask for what other j)urposes than political are such

orgauizatious established ?

Answer. I examined a white man the other day by the name of Trotter ; he said
Question. I do not ask you to give your conversations with these men ; state the result

of your observations.
Answer. He said he was solicited to join one organization for the purpose of resisting

the collection of the revenue. He was asked to join it for the pui*pose of administering
the oath to the members.

Question. Eight there, now, is it not singular that in those localities no republicans
belong to these organizations', which are formed for that purpose, and that none of
their victims are democrats?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; it has occurred to me as a significant fact that no republicans are
attached to these organizations.

Question. You can now go on with your answer if you wish.
Ansiver. Mr. J. E. HoUiday said that he knew of no political significance connected

with the attack on him.
Question. Eight there, did you not understand that they were either frightening or

persuading his negroes to leave his plantation, and he told them to stay there and he
would protect them ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; that was the statement he made to me.
Question. Are there any other cases you desire to give ?

Ansiver. In Whitfield County James Nance, a white man, was visited by the Ku-
Klux and threatened ; or, if not threatened, was told that he must cease to meddle
with other people's business. I think that was the language used. He will i^robably

be before the committee.
Question. Was he a republican ?

Answer. I was informed that he was a democrat ; I think he is. He was visited,

as he thinks, because he was called upon to testify before a coroner's jury in regard to
' a negro who was killed and thrown into the river.

Question. And these warnings were to deter him from appearing there to testify ?

Answer. So he thought ; to deter him from undertaking to testify in such cases. My
understanding from his neighbors was that- he was a democrat.

By the Chatrjiax :

Question. And that they called meddling with other people's business ?

Answer. Yes, sii*. Mitchell Reed, a colored man, of Jackson County, had a difiiculty

at a corn-shucking, as our country i^eople call it, and he and a white man had a tussle,

which began in good humor. The white man, however, fell out with him, got mad
with him, and cursed him. The colored man thinks the white man raised the crowd
that visited him and whipped him. That grew out of a frolic.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. What did you understand he was?
Answer. I did not understand anything about his politics.

Question. You did not learn anything about that ?

Ansiver. He is one of the men that was supposed to have been in the crowd that
visited Mr. Holliday.

Question. The Ku-Klux in that case interfered in a private quarrel ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Morgan Reed, the father of Mitchell Reed, was visited and struck
twice on the head with a pistol, and also struck with a stick, for no reason that he
could assign, only that they had called at his house and asked where his son Charles
was.

Question. Did you understand what his politics was ?

Answer. Well, he is a colored man ; and I sux^pose he is a republican ; I guess he is.

Question. And his son also ?

Answer. I supj)ose so.

Question. How long is your list of cases ?

Answer. There are several others. Here is the case of Michael Davis ; that seems to

be the only case that to my mind is political. He is in the southern district, and was
whipped because he wanted an olfice ; that was his statement to me. He was a candi-

date for the office of justice of the peace, and he says they whipped hitn because he
ran for justice of the peace.
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Question. As a repuljlican ?

Answer. He did not say he rau as a rcpublieau, but I inferred that. I asked him as
to liis qualificatioDs, whether ho couhl riiad or write, and he said " No." I said to him,
" Well, you are not qualified to ruu for ofiSce." Of course that did not justify them.

Qtiesiion. He was to run against a democrat ?

Ansicer. I suppose so, but he did not say so. He only said that he rau for justice of
the peace.

Question. My object in putting the questiou to you as I did was this : I thought that,
perhaps, you would say they were organized for the ])urpose of enforcing the laws and
suijpressiug crimes, where they are not formed for political purposes. Do you mean to

say that ?

Answei'. No, sir ; I do not mean to justify or to say there is anything lawful in their
movement at all. I say they are entirely lawless, and should be i)ut down. In these
cases in only one instance have I been able to trace any political signilicauce. My
opinion is a different thing.

Question. AVliat is your opinion ?

Answer. I believe that in some places they exist for political purposes.
Question. By " some places" do you mean in most of the places? •

Anstver. I think it is demonstrated in the testimony token in regard to North Car-
olina

Question. Do you mean in most places ?

Ansivcr. I have no facts upon which I can base an opinion, except the testimony taken
by the committee and what T have read in the papers. I think that in some localities

they exist for political purposes. But that is only my imj)ression, based upon what I

have read.
Question. From what you have read, and from like sources of information, is it your

opinion that these organizations exist through several or most of the Southern States ?

Ansu-C7'. I think they do, yes, sh". But in Georgia they exist only in certain localities

;

so I believe from facts that have come to my knowledge.

By Mr, Bayard :

Question. Have you any means of information in regard to other States except hear-
say and reports?
Answer. No, sir ; that is all.

By the Chairman :

Question. I will ask you whether the organization has not within itself an inquisi-

torial and a judicial function, by which it inquires iuto offenses against itself and •

against its ideas and notions of things ; and that it passes judgment in its secret con-
claves and sends out these roving bauds to execute that judgment upon its victims?

Ansivcr. I have never kuown any facts within Georgia that would lead me to that
conclusion ; but I judge from the testimony taken by the committee in regard to North
Carolina that such is the c'ase.

Question. Have you been able to get inside the organization in your investigation so
far?

Answer. No, sir; I have found no person that belonged to it ; I have never seen one,
and I have never seen one of their disguises.

Question. You have seen no person who professed to belong to it ?

Answer. No, sir. On my way to Mr. HoUiday's house I saw a com^iany of young men,
but they were not disguised. From the descrix>tion I gave of them and the place where
I saw them, Mr. HoUiday said that he supposed they belonged to that company. If
they were not members of the organization I do not know that I ever saw one that I

could say I knew was a member of the organization. And I cannot say I knew they
were members of it.

By Mr. Voorhees :

Question. I imderstood you to say that you thought there was a "disposition on the
part of the republican press of the South to attribute to i)olitical causes all, or nearly
all, of the crimes that are committed, whatever may be their origin?
Answer. I think there is too much of that tendency.
Question. Is that not also true to a great extent of the republican press of the North,

60 far as your observation has extended ?

Ansiver. I think so. I tliink those points have been strained, both North and South,
beyond what the truth and the facts would justify.

Question. If the Ku-Klux is purely a iiolitical organization for hostile purposes and
practices to the members of the republican party, is it not singular that you, as a promi-
nent and active leader of that party, holding office and employment under both State
and Federal administrations, have never been visited or molested by them ?

Answer. That is so ; for there is no man in the South who has exposed himself more
to their malignity than I have. I feel that it is due to myself and to the people of my
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State tbat I should make a statement of facts in that counuectiou, if you will allow
me to do so.

Question. Go on and make whatever statements you please.
Answer. I have given you my opinions of these things as founded upon hearsay, and

what I have read in the papers, and from the investigation of the committee ; I have
said that in many places I believed these organizations existed for political iiurjioses,

but when I come to my iiersoual experience and my own observation of things, then I
am astonished, for if these organizations exist here exclusively for political purposes it

is astonishing to me that they had not availed themselves of the many opportunities
they have had to victimize me. I do not suppose the democracy have been more
irritated by the addresses of any man in this country than of myself. I have in all my
luiblic appeals to the people in my district used every argument to induce the people
to abandon the democracy and adopt the doctrines of republicanism.

Question. You are at this time a straight-out, earnest supporter of General Grant's
administration ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir, and I have been all the time.
Question. And you have been employed on this special business by the Attorney

General of the United States ?

Ansicer. I'es, sir.

Question. And you have found out but one case of political outrage by these Ku-
Klux ?

Answer. That is all I have ascertained from my investigation. I do not believe, and
I cannot believe, that the maltreatment of Henry Lowthcr was owing to his politics

;

I am constrained to attribute it to another cause.
Question. In that connection, let me ask you in connection with this mass of hearsay-

evidence that we have beeu flooded with here, whether you have ever heard of the case
of the young man in Clarke County, Illinois, who, within the last year, was assaulted
in the woods in open day by three undisguised men, and robbed, stripped, and cas-
trated, and that the parties were never arrested or punished ?

Answer. I do not think I ever heard of that case.
Question. Have you ever heard of the circumstances of the rape and murder of two

little girls in Indianapolis whose bodies were found mutilated and outraged in the canal,
within the last two years, and for which no arrests, or convictions, or punishments
ever took jilace ? '

Answer. I do not remember that case. I know that I have read in the papers ac-
counts of a great many outrages that have taken place in the North similar to those
that have occurred here.

Question. Have you heard of the circumstances of the rape and murder of a Miss
Pardonner, at Attica, Indiana, within the last four mouths, and that the grand jury of
the county in which it took x)lace have since met and adjourned without discovering
the criminal or criminals, and without finding any indictment for the double and hor-
rible offense ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you heard of the hanging of two men until they were dead on a
bridge over Lost Eiver, in Orange County, Indiana, at night, by a crowd, within the
last ten months, and for which no arrests were ever made or punishment inflicted ?

Answer. I do not remember such a case. I read of a great many of these things in
the papers that pass out of my memory. No doubt I have read of instances of that
kind, for I read the papers, perhaps, as extensively as any one in this country.

Question. Georgia has a popvUation of about 1,200,000. Do you think she has a greater
average of crimes at this time than other States of the Union of a similar population ?

You are a man of reading and general information, and heuce I ask for your ox)iniou.
Atiswer. No, sir.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. Have you ever been molested yourself?
Ansxoer. No, sir; I have never been.
Question. Are you not afraid you will be in consequence of the testimony you have

given here to-day ?

Answer. No, sir ; not in the least.

Question. I should suppose you would be.
Ansiver. I may be abused a little, but I do not apprehend that I shall be in any danger.

I wish to state one thing in regard to that question of fear and intimidation. I want
the committee to get at the real truth of this case, as I stated in my letter.

Question. You do not think they will molest you on account of"the testimony you
have given here ?

Answei: No, sir ; I do not fear anything of the kind.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Was it well known through the country here that you were the Tribune
corresiJondent denouncing the Ashburu affair ?
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Ansivcr. Yes, sir. I tbiuk the paper came to Columbus, and I think the Colnmbus
papers copied it.

Qiic^fion. Was yonr name signed to it. or were your initials signed to it?

Ahsivc): No, sir; I signed it as the presiding elder of the district. I received from
Columbus one of those missives which they send out to republicans, addressed to me
as presiding elder, warning me of danger.

Question. Was that Ashburn case not noised about all over the North and the country
everywhere ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you not know that it formed the staple of a vast number of congres-
sional speeches on the republican side ?

Ansiccr. I think the topic was frequently alluded to.

Question. It was well known at the time ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. And that occurrence, in regard to which the chairman has examined you,
took place three years and eight months ago ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir, something like that. I will state that I went to Columbus after I re-

ceived this warning, to which I attached no value ; I carried it with me to the Chicago
convention and showed it to parties there, and I left it there with the secretary of the
convenfion. On my return during the canvass in the fall I was invited to speak again
at Columbus, and I spoke there again to a large assemblage of people ; I lodged there
with the postmaster, and in the evening I went out and took tea in a triend's house at
some distance from his residence ; and I went alone and unattended. I had a little

tlock there over which I presided, the pastor of the church having become alarmed
and having lied. During the next day, which was the Sabbath, 1 went around the
suburbs visiting this little flock of mine.

Question. You met with no injury whatever?
Ansxver. I met with no injury at all ; not an insult, or an unkind word.
Question. Was not Ashburu's case made the subject of vigilant militarj"- inquiry by

General Meade ?

Answe): Yes, sir ; until he dropped it and released the prisoners.
Question. Did he not arrest men all over the country under that charge?
Ansive7: Yes, sir ; he arrested several parties in Columbus, and jjrobably one or two

in another county. I do not know about all over the country.
Question. Did he not make arrests wherever any suspicion fell?

Answer. He made a good many arrests ; I cannot answer so broadly as that.

Question. Did not he arrest whoever he saw fit to arrest in this ma,tter ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was a military commission organized to try those men ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. For how long a period did they pursue their investigation ?

Ansiver. I cannot remember how long ; it began before we had a legislature elected

and organized at the fLi'st election under the constitution ; and as soon as the State was
admitted under the reconstruction acts General Meade turned over the matter to the
civil authorities, and then abandoned the investigation as being no longer within his

jurisdiction.

Question. At the time that outrage was committed the State was under martial Ijiw ?

Answer. It was under military rule.

Question. Did they ever discover the murderer of Ashburn ?

Answer. That I cannot say.

Question. Did not General Meade make a report of his entire j)roceedings to the De-
partment at Washington?

Answer. I never read his report.

Question. Did he make one ?

Ansiver. I presume he did ; I never read it : the investigation was not completed, and
I should suppose he could come to no conclusion until he did complete it.

Question. A letter has been shown you which you wrote to Senator Scott j what was
your object in writing that letter ?

Ansiver. It was to get some republicans before the committee at Washington ; it was
supi)osed there was an undue proportion of democrats who had been before that com-
mittee ; it was reported to me that there were persons in that section of the community
on the other side who should be permitted to make their statements also before the
committee.

Question. Was it intended that there should bo political statements in the testimony
before the committee ? ,

Answer. It was intended that the true state of facts as they existed should bo brought
out, whether they had connection with political matters or not ; that was my object in

writing that letter.

Question. Was your object in writing the letter to insist upon a fair and honest inves-

tigation ?
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Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Is not that your motive uow ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and that is my instruction from the attorney general.
Question. And you are acting upon those instructions?
Aitsicer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you consider that you are faithfully carrying those instructions into
execution ?

Answer. I am sworn to do so.

Question. You have been asked in regard to thfcse bands of disguised men. If I under-
stood you correctly, you said that while they are local bauds of lawless meu, you did
not believe there was any organization of those bauds throughout the State of Geor-
gia.

Answer. I do not believe the organization is general—that is to say, that it stretches
from county to county, or that there is a general head over it ; I see no evidence of
that in Georgia.

Question. I will ask you whether you have any means of knowing the political senti-
ments of the parties who compose these bands ; I understood you to say that you did
not know any one who belouged to it ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Then is not your oijinion of the political sentiments of those who compose
those bands merely a matter of inference ?

Ansiva: Only from what I have read in the papers and what I have heard from per-
sons in difterent parts of the State, not from my own knowledge.

Question. Have you derived any information to the effect that these bands are gotten
up to protect illicit distillers of spirits ?

Anstcer. I think it is very likely that in some places they are got uj) for that piir-

pose.
Question. Do you know whether the persons engaged in distilling spirits illicitly are

confined to one political party ?

Answer. I think not; I think those of both parties jiarticipate in illicit distilling.

Question. Do you not suppose that in proportion to their numbers in the State, as
many of the one party as of the other are engaged in illicit distilling?

Answer. I cannot state.

Question. Have you any reason to suppose that it is confined to one party ?

Ansiver. 1 have not ; I have heard that in the upper part of the State both parties
are engaged in it. The statement I made a little while ago, that I believed in some
parties they are organized to protect illicit distillers, is founded upon the statement of

Mr. Trotter, who was solicited to enter an organization of that sort for that purpose.
Question. How many witnesses were before the United States grand jury here at this

last term in regard to illicit distilling ?

Ansicer. I do not know ; I have not had any cases of that kind before me.
Question. Do you not know, or are you not informed, that in the State of Georgia

there is a class of men who are anxious to procure the military interference of the
United States with the internal affairs of this State?

Answer. I do not think I have heard any one recently express a wish for that thing.
I have heard it stated by several—and I think the remark has not been confined to one
party, but has been made by democrats and republicans—that the State would be put
under military rule. I have generally answered them by saying that I knew of no
state of facts existing in any portion of Georgia to justify putting the State under
military rule until the courts had had a fair chauce to deal with these cases.

Question. Is there a class of men in your State, members of the minority here politi-

cally, who are continually threatening the employment of military foi'ce against their
' political opponents ?

Answer. I do not remember uow of any such threats made lately.

Question. You have no information to that effect ?

Ajistver. No, sir.

Question. Have the press upon the republican side never made such intimations ?

Ansioei: I do not think I have ever seen any such threats in those papers.

Question. Is it the habit of the republicans of this State to stigmatize the democrats
as rebels, at the present time, in speakirfg of them ?

Answer. I do not think it is the habit, but they do so occasionally.

Question. Is it not considered a matter of reproach when it is done ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; I think it is offensive to a democrat to use that expression: I do
not hear it often used. Well, I heard the democrats themselves, when referring to the
past, speak of themselves as rebels.

Question. I am speaking of the present time.
Answer. At the present time I do not think that word is used very much ; I do not

hear it often.

Question. But if used^ it would be oftensive ?

Answer. It would be, if used by republicans in connection with politics ; and I think
justly so.
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Question. Would you not consider it stigmatizing your opponents to speak of them in

that way ?

Ansivcr. I would ; and I do not use the term now. '

QucsiioH. You luive spoken of an attempt to intimidate voters, and of the hanging
of bones over a man's door, with the statement that they were the bones of confeder-

ate dead.
Amiver. That was in the beginning of this matter.

Question. That was the only use of bones in that way that you know of?
Jnswcr. I do not remember of ever hearing of their using them at any other time.

Question. Were not those bones paljiably the bones of a turtle ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they told me so.

Qiteslion. You say Mr. Holliday, when he came here, made his complaint before the
grand jury ?

Ansicer. I did not see him until after he had been before the grand jmy.
Question. You had examined him beforehand ?

Answer. I had been to his county before.

Question. Was he not in a condition of high mental excitement ?

Ansiver. When I saw him the other day, or when I saw him at Jackson, do you
mean?
^Question. At any time, when he spoke on this subject ?

Ansuw7\ I thought so ; he was very intensely excited, as I thought he should be.

Question. Did he state to you the fact that he killed two men, whom he identified ?

Ansivcr. He spoke of having killed one man.
Question. Did he identify that man ?

Answer. He spoke of it as rumor.
Question. Did he give the name of the person he killed ?

Ansiver. Y'es, sir; he gave the name of the man reported to him as having been
killed.

Question. Was that man here in the court-house ?

A7iswer. I do not know.
Question. Do you not know that he was here in Atlanta since that time ?

Ansivcr. I do not.

Question. Do you not know that Mr. Holliday was informed that he was mistaken in

the matter ?

Answer. No, sir.

•Question. How many men were brought here under his complaint?
Ansiver. I do not know ; I did not see the names.
Question. Do you recollect about the number ?

Answer. I think he told me eight or ten.

Question. Were they brought to this city in handcuifs ?

Answer. I do not know ; I think the marshals generally handcufif their prisoners

when they bring them here; they do when they bring men up for illicit distilling. A
man here told mo that he himself was brought here in handcuffs, but he had nothing
to do with it, and was detained as a witness. I have heard of their being handcuffed,

but I never saw any.
Question. Is it the usual practice to handcuff illicit distillers when they are

arrested ?

Answer. That may be the practice of the marshals in this State. Our officers, when
they arrest jiersous for offenses against the State laws, sometimes handcuff them, and
sometimes not.

Question. Do they do so in cases of misdemeanor ?

Answer. Well, the negro whom I saw, that was tried and acquitted for cutting a
white man, was chained, and tied to a Avagon and carried to jail.

Question. He was acquitted ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was the character of the jury that acquitted him ?

Answer. The constitution requires that jurors shall be drawn by the judge of the

court, and shall be selected from intelligent and upright citizens of the State.

Question. Were they all white men on that jury ?

Answer. I think they were ; we have had no negroes in the jury-box where I have
been.

Question. Who defended him ?

Ansiver. I think a couple of lawyers from my town. I think the district attorney

for my court defended this man in the superior court.

Question. Do you know what political party those gentlemen belonged to ?

Answer. I have never heard Mr. Whittaker express himself; I do not think ho is a
republican, and yet I have never heard him say to what party he belonged.

Question. How about the other gentleman who defended the negro ?

Answer. I do not now remember who the other counsel was.
Question. Were they men of eminence and ability ?
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Answer. Yes, sir ; Mr. Whitfakor is a mau of very good ability ; be is a young law-

yer ; a promising lawyer ; and is a good district attorney.

Question. You bave been asked in regard to tbe public press of tbis State. Can you
produce an article by a democratic paper in tins State encouraging tbe conimission of

any of tbese outrages ?

Answer. No, sir ; I bave never seen any tbat came out in direct terms and encouraged
them.

Question. You say you are a general reader of tbe newspapers of tbe day ?

Answer. I read tbem, I reckon, as mucb as any person of my position.

Question. And you keej) yourself posted in regard to tbe condition of tbe affairs of tbe

day?
An.swer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you not read in tbe democratic papers of tbis State denunciations of

tbese crimes, and expressions of a desire to see tbem suppressed ?

Ansicer. I do not now remember an instance. I will not say tbat tbere bas not been
one, or tbat I bave not read it ; but I cannot, at present, call to mind an instance in

point.

Question. Can you call to mind an instance of tbe kind in tbe other papers ?

Answer. No, sir ; I can only say tbat tbe other papers have discountenanced and
denounced them as outrages.

Question. Do you meanto say tbat the democratic papers bave not denounced and
discoiuitenanced these outrages ?

Answer. No, sii- ; I do not say tbat none of them have done so. I only say that I can-
not just at tbis time remember an instance of the kind. I will state very confidently

that I do not think they bave denounced tbem as much as they ought to have done.

Question. Can you at tbis time state an instance where a republican iDaper has point-

edly denounced tbem ?

Answer. I cannot remember a particular instance ; but I know it to be the fact gen-
erally that they do denounce tbem.

Question. Do'you consider that they denounce them more than the other papers do ?

Answer Yes, sir ; but the particular remarks they made I do not now remember
; I

know it has been done, and that it is their habit to do so, and I do not think it is the
habit of the democratic paiiers to do so.

Question. You have been asked about the intimidation of voters at elections. I under-
stood you to say that there would be general representations made that if parties voted
tbe republican ticket evil results would follow from it.

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Tbat has been the style of argument adopted to keep them from voting ?

Answer. Yes, sir. But I added that in some instances they would be told—I am
speaking now in reference to tbe presidential election more particularly—that tbere

were probable threats of discbarge from service ; so tbe voters would tell me. I never
heard any one intimidated at all in that way. Tbe only attempt at anything of that
kind that Iknpw of personally was tbe attack made upon me under the circumstances
I have already narrated.

Question. Were there any associations through your State known as Union Leagues?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they very general among the colored j)eople ?

Answer. I think that at one time they were pretty general.

Question. Did that organization extend throughout the entire State?
Ansiver. I think so.

Question. Were tbere any local county organizations ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they merge themselves into a central organization?
Ansivcr. Yes, sir ; a grand lodge, or a grand council, of the State.

Question. Was tbat Union League an oath-bound society ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. None were admitted to its conferences but those who were republicans ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did that Union League embrace tbe male colored population of the State

generally ?

Answer. Only a portion of it ; I do not think it embraced a majority of the colored

population.
Question. Did not tbe negro population chiefly compose tbat organization so far as

numbers were concerned ?

Answer. I think that at first it began with tbe whites ; and then they extended it to

the blacks, and took them in. I think tbe first organization was in tbe upper part of

the State, almost exclusively among the whites, though I am not certain about that

fact.

Question. Did not tbe preponderance of numbers soon become in favor of the negroes ?

Answer. I think so, because there were more negroes than whites tbat participated

in reconstruction.
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Question. Is there not in this State a vabt prcponderauce of uegro republicans over
•white republicans ?

Answer. In my part of the State I believe only thirty-one whites voted for me at the
time I was elected a member of the legislati'ire.

Question. How many blacks voted for you ?

Answer. Some 1,600 or more.
Question. What was your majority?
Ansn-er. It was four hundred and something.
Question. Have you ever been aware of any intimidation of colored people towards

each other ?
'

Answer. No, sir; I never know of any intei'fercncc by them. I cannot say I have
heard of that here in Georgia, but I have read of it in North Carolina, as developed by
the investigation of the committee.

Question. You have heard of such intimidations by the colored jieople as you have
heard of these Ku-Klux outrages ?

A7iswer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was the information to the effect that the negro political organizations
intimidated their fellows from voting contrary to their wishes ?

Ansicer. I inferred that from the few cases mentioned in the book I have referred to
;

but I have never heard of anything of the kind in Geoi'gia. They may use their influ-

ence; I do not know but what they may use words indicating wounded feeling, (u-

something like that, with one another, for they are a very sensitive jieople. But I

have no information upon that point at all. I do not say but what there have been
such cases, but they have not come within my knowledge, and I have not heard of
them.

By Mr. Voorhees:
Question. Do you think a northern man would incur any risk of danger to himself

or to his property by moving to any part of Georgia, at this time, if he became a law-
abiding citizen, and endeavored to make a living by honest means ?

Answer. I do not believe he would incur any danger, and I believe the people would
be very willing to accept him anywhere.

Question. Is it not the general desire of the people of Georgia, so far as you know, to
encourage the immigration of industrious and law-abiding peojile into their midst?

Ansiver. I think it is.

Question. Without regard to their political opinions ?

Answer. I do not think they reganl their political opinions so much in that respect.

I do not think they care so much about their political opinions when they come in for

the purpose of merchandising or farming. I think it irritates them very much when
they engage in politics, ojienly and actively, as a general thing.

Question. What is the general feeling of the people in regard to the removal of disa-

bilities, so far as you know ?

Answer. I think the most of the people desire a removal of political disabilities.

Question. I will ask you, as ranch for information as anything else, because you bear
that relation to the administration which entitles your opinions to consideration, what
is your opinion as to the effect of a general measure of amnesty ?

Answer. I do not know that it would jireduce any effect, at this time, to change the
state of feeling. I do not know that it would tend to make the state of feeling

toward the Government better than it is. I do not mean to say that there is a hostile

feeling toward the Federal Government on the jiart of any one, or any number of

individuals.
Question. Do you mean that the time has gone by when such a measure would have

any great importance ?

Answer. I took the position myself in the very first address I delivered in our con-
stitutional convention, that, while I supported the reconstruction measures, I regarded
it as a great blunder to disqualify any man from voting. I think it has been the occa-

sion of more bitterness in politics than anything else. I think if the ballot had been
left within the reach of all we would have had an easier path to reconstruction, and
would have escaped very many troubles which we have had. Therefore, I have been
a constant friend of universal amnesty.

Question. Do yon, at this time, regard the condition of Georgia, generally speaking,
as one of prosperity, and of hoiiefulness for the future ?

Ans^ver. Yes, sir.

Question. There is a genei'al exhibition of industry throughout the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Towns are being built up, &c. ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; some of them are improving more rapidly, I think, than they did
before the war.

. Question. Has not Atlanta been of almost unexampled growth since the war ?

Answer. Yes, sir, amazing. I have wondered at its remarkable growth.



GEORGIA—SUB-COMMITTEE. 449

Question. Is it not the ji;eneral disposition of your people to engage in the pursuits of
peace and industry, and to build up the State, and promote tlieirown fortunes?

Ansiver. That is the great object wherever I have been and have had any intereourso
with the people.

By the Chairman :

Quesiion. I undei'stand you to say that you think the prosiierity of this State is

greater now than it was before the war ?

Ansicer. I spoke of some towns that were growing up more rapidly, I thought, than
before the Avar. I did not speak of it so generallj' as your question would indicate.

Question. The tendency is in that direction ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and we have some villages where I think the improvement has
been very marked and decided.

Question. It has been so for two or three years ?

Ansica: Yes, sir; for the last two years especially.

Question. I understood you to say that you entertained the opinion that it was un-
Vise, at least, if not wrong, for the Government to have punished any of the leading
and prominent rebels ?

Ansnrr. It was my con\'iction from the outset that it was a great blunder ; and the
more I have looked at it and reflected upon it, the more I am convinced of it. I know
it was the cause of the deepest hostility of feeling amongst ,the people. I think it was
the greatest blunder Congress made in the reconstruction acts to disfranchise and dis-
qualify from holding office any class of people.

Quesiion. Do you think it would have been a better policy to have placed the affairs

of the government of this State in the hands of those men who were the leaders of
the rebellion 7

Answer. I think it would have been better to have placed the ballot in the hands of
all, and then to have allowed the pco^ile to elect whom they pleased. ,

Question. Do you think it would have been better to have put the government of the
State into the hands "of those leaders who took the State into the rebellion than into
the hands of those men who professed to be friends of the Government?
Answer. No, sir; but I do not see any connection between that thought and the idea .

which I expressed.
Question. I am merely asking your opinion.
Anstver. No, sir ; I have always opposed that. I wanted the government to go into

the hands of the men who were devoted to the interests of the Government.
Question, ifo you not suppose that if the course you have indicated had been taken,

if every man had been allowed to vote, and any man to be elected who could get a
majority or a plurality of votes, the government of the State would have substan-
tiallj' gone back into the same hands that held it at the outbreak of the rebellion ?

Ansiver. When I look at the result of our elections for the last year or two, I think
that is very likely; but then I am convinced tliat there have been other causes that
have operated to produce those results here. It is possible such might have been the
result ; but there has been, in this State, a majority of republicans, and, in my opinion,
had a proper course been adopted, the State would have held its own at this time aa
a republican State.

Question. Under what was called the Johnson administration, was not the govem-
raent of the State practically under the control of the same men who carried it into
the rebellion in 1861 ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir. I think so ; it was practically under their control.

Question. Does that not bring the matter back to my first question, whether, every-
thing considered, it was better that the government of the State should be in their
hands, or that it should be put into the hands of men who were the friends of the Gov-
ernment ?

Ajiswer. It is better it should be put into the hands of the friends of the Government.
I think I have not said anything that would make an opposite impression.

Quesiion. You have been asked with reference to the trial, before a commission or-

ganized by General Meade, of the murderers of ]\Ir. Ashburn. I understood you to say
that that commission dissolved before it had completed its labors, or had come to any
result ; that it was dissolved by the organization of civil government here ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. V/ere the men under arrest turned over to the civil government to be dealt
with?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Has there been any trial or investigation in any solitary instance of any of
the men who were charged with that murder?

Answer. If there has been, I have never heard of it.

Question. Why did the attorney general, Mr. Akerman, retain you te i^rocure testi-

mony and bring it here to the district attorney ?

Answer. Because in his judgment, as expressed in my instructions from him, there

29 G
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are many ^eak and timid persons who either do not knovr bow to get their own cases

before tlio courts, or who arc afraid to make the eflbrt ; therefore, it was deemed proper
to scicet some persons who wouhl not be afraid to go into any locality and hunt them
np and place in their bands the means of getting their cases before the courts, or of
getting the facts from them.

Question. Are there any laws in the State of Georgia against taking men from their

houses and maltreating them, and mutilating them ; against Avbipping tiiem ; against

taking women out and throwing them upon the ground and compelling them to expose
their nakedness ?

Answer. O, yes, sir ; that is all against the laws of the State.

Question. Is there any law against taking them out and holding them down on the

ground, Avith one man standing upon tlieir head and another upon their feet, and beat-

ing them while in that condition ?

Answer. Yes, sir; we have laws against all such things.

Question. Why was it necessary to employ persons to search out those cases, and
bring them here before the Federal grand jury ? Why not have left them to the State

tribunals in the several localities ?

Ansivcr. I suppose it was because the parties were afraid to bring those matters to

the attention of the authorities iu their counties. I am informed that is the case in

some counties.

Question. Now, I desire tp ask you, and I want you to consider the responsibility ol

your answer
Ansicer. I should do that, go where I may.
Question. Are you not satisfied that in the vast majority of these cases it would be

utterly impossible to jjrocure a proper administration of justice in the localities where
these offenses are shown to have been committed f

Anstcer. You ask me about a fact ; I do not know anything about it.

.
Question. I asked you if that was your opinion.

Answer. I could not form an opinion only upon the representations those parties

make to me. Taking those representations as correct I think' that is the case to a
great extent. But I do say, as I have before asserted, that so far as my knowledge is

. concerned of the facts within my section of the State, any of these parties could go
before the courts of the State and have their trial.

Question. I understand you to say that in your part of the State there are none of

these organized bands of men going about and committing outrages ?

Answer. Well, I have stated that "since I have been hero I have heard, through the

district attorney, that there have been some whippings recently in one oi tlieir coun-

ties. Those cases come within the jurisdiction of my court ; and I believe there is not

a case of that sort iu my county but what the parties can go into my court and obtain

justice. Tlie democratic lawyers will take their cases and advocate them, and the jury

will give a verdict of guilty against the parties, if the evidence is sufficient to justify

such a verdict.

Question. That has not yet been done ?

Ansivcr. There has been no such case before me. I think my court is the very place

for those persons to come to. If they will come into my court I am perfectly satisfied,

from the state of feeling existing in Heard County, and the trials that have already-

taken place, that they can obtain justice fi-om a jury of that county.

Question. I hope that will prove to be the case.

Answer. I judge so fi-om the facts.

By Mr. Voorhees :

Question. Do you know any class of men, or any political party in the State of

Georgia, who v/ould, in your opinion, if they could, restore the institution of slavery ?

Answer. I do not, and I don't believe there is any.

Question. So f;ir as four knowledge extends, is the general feeling of the white people

of Georgia kind or unkind to the negroes in their midst ?

Anstver. It is as kind now as I ever knew it in my life. They are very kind now,
irore so, I think, than they were just after the war, for then they were irritated.

By the Chairman :

\
Question. Do you mean to say that is the case all over the State?

Answer. As far as my knowledge extends ; that is all I can say.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. Do you know any class of men who would claim from a democratic national

administration, if one should bo elected, compensation for their emancipated slaves?

Ansuier. I have never heard any one express any expectation of such a thing.

Question. Do you believe there is such a class of men in Georgia ?

Answm: As would demand it ?

Question. Who would claim remuneration for their emancipated slares.
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Ansivei: I could not possibly expres^ a belief about a thing I have never heard of.

(Jucstion. You have uevcr heard the subject discussed!
Answer. No, sir, never.
Question. What is your opinion on the subject^?
Answer. I do not think any such class exists here ; I cannot tell you, because the

question has never been discussed before uie. It is ja bare possibility that there may
be some who would look for such a thing.

By Mr. Vookhees :

Question. Do you know anybody in the republican party who would ask for some-
thing that did not belong toMm '?

Ansiccr. 1 do uot-

[See page 433.]

La Grange, Georgia, Ocfohvr 30, 1871.

Sir : I send you, as requested, ray article to the Xew York Tribune in relation to the
Ashburu nninler; also the tabular analysis of election returns of the presidential elec-
tion, 1868, prepared by me for the republican executive committee, to which I referred
in my testimony before your committee.

Eespectfully,

J. 11. CALDWELL.
Hon. Horace Mayxard,

Chairman, <f-c.

ASSASSINATION OF THE HON. G. W. ASHBUEN IN COLUMBUS, GEORGIA.

To the Editor of The Trihunc.

Sir : As presiding elder of the La Grange district, Georgia Mission Conference of the
Methodist Episcopal Church, I came to this place last Friday to hold my quarterly
meeting. On Saturday, the 29th instant, 1 attended a mass rei^ublican meeting in the
court-house square. The meeting was largely attended, addressed by several speakers,
and conducted in an admirable spirit. Last night I was present at Temperance Hall
and heard the Rev. II. M. Turuer (a colored delegate to tlie late convention) speak.
Mr. Ashburn came in while he was speaking, sat quietly till the close, and then left. It

was about 2 o'clock the same night when a messenger called at the house where I Avas
lodging, and announced that Mr. Ashburu had been murdered in his room. I have
spent the whole day iu trying to gather up all the particulars of this atrocious murder.
The following facts were stated to me by a Union man who was on the jury of inquest:

Between 12 and 1 o'clock last night a crowd of persons, estimated at from thirty to
forty in number, went to the house where Mr. Ashburn lodged, surrounded the build-
ing, broke open the rear and front doors, and murdered him in his room. Ho received
three fatal shots, one in the head between the eyes, one just below and to the
rear of the hip, and another one iu the mouth, which ranged upward. His
clothing had from ten to fourteen bullet-holes in them. Five persons entered
his room and did the murderous deed ; the rest were in other parts of the
house and yard. The crowd remaiued from ten to fifteen minutes, during
which time no policeman made his appearaucs. As the murderous crew were dis-

persing, however, some policemen made their appearance on the opposite side of the
street. They could give no account of the affair when examined. This deed was per^
petrated on one of the principal streets, in the most public jiart of the city, and not
far from the house. All the assassins wore masks, and were well-dressed,
showing that they were of the " better class " of the citizens of Columbus. They are
evidently members of the new secret political order called the " Ku-Klux Klan.'" This
" Klan " seems to have organized here within the last week or two. It is now aboTit a
month since the first notice appeared iu the papers of its existence in Tennessee.
Within the last week these cabalistic letters and signs have been marked on the doors
and walls throughout the city. Placards have been posted up at the doors of Union
men, containing their mystic letters and signs, with skidls, cofiius, skeletons, cross-

bones, deadlj' weapons, and written sentences breathing out most terrible threateuings
against them. They were warned that their time was short ; that their days were
numbered ; that they must ^irepare for sudden and awful death. Tliey were reminded
that the time had come when the blood of the confederate dead would be required at
their hands ; that the spirits of the slain were swarming through the atmosphere,
and calling for vengeance. Secret assassinations were hinted at iu various ways. No
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less tliau three of tlieso mysterious placards were hung up at the door of the assessor

of internal revenue, ilr. Joseph Webster. Ou one of them he was warned to prepare
for sudden death. One of them contained a coffin, with Ashhurn's name written near
it, and the picture of a skeleton lying in it. Among other things a bundle of bones
was hung up at Mr. Webster's door. Several Union men had received anonymous mis-
sives warning them that they must jtrepare to die. For several days before the horrible

tragedy one of the city papers, The Columbus Sun, had contained a number of notices

of tho'"Iv. K. K." and predicted some sudden and dreadful event. On Slarch 24 that
])apor contained no less than three dilferent accounts of the " Klan." The first was an
account of its origin and design, and Avas copied from The Nashville Banner. It justi-

fies the organization, and plainly shows the design to be to i-esist what it calls " Radi-
calism in Tennessee," and opposed to an organized system of public law—a systematic,

organized secret force. The second article is a leading editorial. The editor justifies

the organization and says that it is " large and powerful, and conducted upon such a
system as to defy detection." In the third article he speaks of it as "startling devel-

opments," and says " something awful has come to town." After naming several prom-
inent Union men, ho says, "The Ku-Klux Klan has arrived, and ivoe io the de-

generate." " Something terrible floats on the breeze, and in the dim silences are

heard solemn whispers, dire imprecations against the talse ones who have proved
recreant to their faith and country. Strange mocking anomalies now fill the air.

Look out!" On the 27th, three days before Ashburn was assassinated, The Sun
contained another article, headed "Mysterious and Awful Portents." Again, the
editor gives notice to "radicals" and "scallawags" of some terrible doom, and
adds the warning^, " Let traitors beware ! " These are only a few of the many hints
and vague warnings, mingled with threats of vengeance against traitors, (as he calls

Union men,) which the editor of The Sun put forth time and again during the week
preceding the assassination. How can an unprejudiced reader resist the conviction
that he knew beforehand what was going to happen ?

The speakers ou Saturday, like The Tribune ofsome days before, had treated the mys-
terious Ku-Klux as a huge joke, as a mere scheme to frighten the ignorant and super-
stitious blacks faud whites too) in order either to control their votes at the election,

or keep them away from the polls. The whole thing, with all its pretended mystery,
was ridiculed. The bones hung up at Mr. Webster's door were discovered to bo turtle's

bones, and the blacks laughed heartily when the discovery was announced to them
by one of the speakers. The miserable wretches who thus attempted to trifle with and
make light of the bones of their slaughtered braves (for they iiretended to bring up the
bones of the confederate dead) were made a spectacle of contempt even in the ej^es of
negToes. The blacks were also amused at the suggestion that the s^iirits of the con-
fedei'ate slain were called fox'th by the grim Ku-Klux to revenge themselves upon the
white Union men of the South. But in the report of the proceedings of the meeting in

The Sun of the following morning (29th iust.) there were vague hints that it was not
all meant to scare people. The conclusion to which The Tribune of the 24th inst. came,
that there is a " far more serious matter in it," is now verified beyond the shadow of a
doubt. Had nothing else occurred, the editorials of The Sun and other democratic
papers in Georgia are enough to show that mischief of some sort was meant by this

mysterious Klan.
The sudden, horrible, cowardly, and brutal murder of Colonel Ashburn, by this infa-

mous band, shows that their j)urpose is murder. They are bent upon midnight assas-

sinations of the darkest, bloodiest, and most diabolical character. Union men all over
the city now feel that their lives are every moment in danger. Tliey do not know at

what hour of the night they may bo massacred in their beds. Think of from thirty

to forty armed assassins breaking in after midnight to murder one helpless man ! It is

enough to make the stoutest heart quail. Yet the pajjers taunt the Union men with
fear and cowai'dice. The Union men could stand it better than their poor wives and
little ones. Tlieir very hearts are chilled with horror, and they are suliering an agony
of dread which no words can express.

Tuesday morning, April 1.—The above was written at the house of a devoted Union
man, a minister of the Methodist Episcopal Church. His wife was weeping nearly all

day, and she spent a sleepless night. The Rev. Mr. P. has been in the city since last

October. He withdrew from the Methodist Episcopal Church South more than two
years ago, and united with our Methodist Episcopal Church, and is stationed here as a
missionary of that church. After his arrival ho was met by one of the pastors of the
Methodist Episcopal Church South, in this city, who, for no other cause, told him to

his face that he regarded him (the Rev. Mr. P.) as his enemy. Last night a number of
colored men, alarmed for the safety of all loyal white men, were armed, and kept watch
around his premises. This Christian family, in this Christian city, was guarded by
negroes to j)rotect their lives against midnight assassins. Are we repeating the days of
the French revolution ? Whither are we drifting, that peaceable, quiet, God-fearing
men cannot enjoy or express an opinion of their own without danger of persecution
and personal violence ? Read the account (in this morning's Sun) of the assassination.
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See bow prejutTiccd, bow iiartial, bow full of batred to tbe murdered man it is. It

invents a pure, malicious fiction, an altercation between Turner and Ashburn, at Temper-
ance IlaH, on Monday niglit, at tlio close of Turner's speccli. I was present during
tbe wliole time, beiird every word that Avas said, and no disagreement took ]ilace; not
a word was spoken amiss by citlier Turner or Asbburn. This is Just like tiie rumors
that were put afloat yesterday. One wius tbat tbe Federal soldiers had killed Asbburn,
and another that bis own ^'radical" clique bad done it. I bad speiit several days in

intimate conversation with the Union men of the city, and know that they were all

on tbe kindest terms with Ashburn. Later in the day, they had it tbat the negroes
bad killed bim. All this is to cover up and confuse the whole affair, just as they did
iu tbe New Orleans, Mem])bis, and Mobile riots. Ibit every one in Columbus knows
for what purpose tlviso vile insinuations are put out. See bow The Sun abuses and
traduces tbe character of ]ioor Asbburn, even while bi.s mangled corpse lies before tbe
very eyes of tbe editor. Ye people of America, do ye not understaud all this ?

Do you not see that in this same spirit the opi)ositi(m of the democratic press of tbe
South is continually abusing, traducing, and slandering all Union men, and endeavor-
ing to sjlencc, if they cannot drive out of the country, every mau who is an active pro-
moter of reconstruction ? Look at the scandalous, abusive, and scurrilous article which
appeared in the New York World, in its special correspondence from Atlanta, dated
March 18, in which it deliberately slanders more than half the members of the late con-
vention. Vrhere is our civilization? It is impossible to describe the miseries wbicb
the despised, slandered, persecuted, l^'uiou men of tbe South have to endure. I have
sometimes beard them crj" out in an agony bordering oii despxiir, " How long, O Lord,
how long!"
As for Colonel Asbbui'u, be falls a martyr to liberty—a mart,yr to Southern loyalty.

He was one among the very few men in Georgia wlio openly resisted the secession
mania all tbrougb the war. He avowed bis loyalty to the Federal Union, and fought
to maintain it. For this be was most cordijilly detested by all tbe Southern braves, (?)

who only showed their courage by pens that were dipped in galL Tiiis was t]ie bead
and front of bis offending. After the war be returned home the ardent friend and
sujiporter of I'econstructJon in its various phases, as they successively appeared, until
their culmination in the calling of the late constitutional convention, of wbicb he was
a member from tbe county of Muscogee. He was distinguished more for his patriotism
than for learning, eloquence, or intellectual greatness ; but be was known throughout
the Union as an uncompromising repiiblican. He bad his faults, like other men ; was
sometimes harsh, and advocatosl extreme mea.sures, and did not always temper bis
views und measures with prudence. But in the convention be seemed to soften down
very much ; spoke of bis opponents in terms of kindness, and advocated the most liberal

and' generous policy toward tbe enemies of reconstruction. For a time it seemed that
his course Avould soften the temper of bis political enemies; and while in the conven-
tion one of them came in at a time when be was making a speech in favor of enfran-
chising all the whites, and, expressing surprise xit bis liberal ideas, complimented hii.i

highly. But this veiy mildness seemed to react and stimulate the hatred of bis foes,

wiio were determined on opposing any constitution tbe convention might frame. They
seemed to be enraged because there were not features in the constitution which would
enable tbem to defeat it. He returned to Columbus some two weeks ago, and contin-
ued to act in the same subdued and conciliatory spirit to tbe moment of bis death. Ho
bad done nothing to provoke tbe murderous revenge of bis enemies. They murdered
bim purely for bis political opinions and bis active support of recoustruction. They
had no other reason to bate bim. As be lived a })atriot, be died like a hero. He had
a i^istol in bis band when assailed, but seeing that be was overpowered and would
certainly he killed, refused to shed any blood; but be boldly confronted bis assailants,

and received bis fatal wound in front. Herxaic man! Yet some of the papei's have had
tbe meanness, in tbe face of this dauntlessuess, to brand bim with cowardice. One of
tbe assassins bad the indescribaldo baseness tcTslip up behind and shoot bim from tbe
rear. Another, after be bad fallen, and was dead or dying, stooped down and, under
a table, shot bim in the foot.

This terrible deed should convince tbe people of this nation that tbe lives of Union
men are not yet secure in Georgia. There cannot be a doubt iiow that there is an
extensive organisation of bad men, supporters of tbe " lost cause," who are svrorn to
gratify their revengeful hatred by midnight assa&sinations. This mysterious Klau is

applauded by the papers ; their vague bints of terrible deeds are copied and com.uicntcd
on without a word of censure, but with evident approval and encouragement. The
infamous character of the Ku-Klux Klau should be known, and tbe American people
should lose no time in seeking its suppression.,

Truly yours,
S. Y, Z.

COLLTMBUSj Ajoril 1, 1868.
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Rooms ExEcuxn-E Committee,
Uniox Republican Pakty of Geoijgia,

Atlanta, Georgia, Xovcmbcr 10, 1368.

Hon. W. E. Chandler, Secretary of iltc yaiional BcpiiMican Executive Committee :

Dear Siu: I have made out a complete tabular aualysis of tlie official returns of
the presidential election in Georgia, which I herewith forward to you. The one huu-
dred and thirty-two counties are divided into twelve sections, of eleven counties to

each section. The counties are not talvcn promiscuously, as appears to be the case at

the iirst glance at the tables, but are tabulated according to a certain order—the A'ote

for General Grant being made the basis of classification, and the sections run in order,

from the lowest to the highest A-ote cast for him, beginning, as you see, from the first

table with the eleven counties that gave him nothing. These figures have been ques-
lioued very closely in every point of view, and their uniform testimony is the same.
Figures do not lie when properly interrogated, aud these tell their own tale of the
fraud, violence, and terrorism by which Georgia, witli a clear majority of at least

twenty thousand republican voters, lias been managed in such a way as to give a dem-
ocrr.tic majority of more than 46,000

!

These dift'erent sections are arranged into three different gronps, eacli comprising
forty-four counties—just one-third of the Avhole number in the State. Questioned iu
this way, they still tell their story of outrage aud wrong, which numerous letters from
all parts of the State confirm.

1. The first section of eleven counties contains 7,823 registered voters, with a white
majority of only 705. They polled in April last, at the election for governor, 4,891 : on
3d November, for President, 4,116. Gordon's majority over Bullock was 919, and Sey-
mour's over Graut 4,116—the whole of the vote i^olled iu November.

Is it not strange that in these eleven counties, with 3,5.^)9 colored voters, there was
not one man, white or colored, to cast a vote for General Grant f It does not appear
that a single coloiiod man voted in this whole section. The vote iu November was less

by 775 than in April.

2. The second table contains 10,727 registered voters—the colored majority being
853. They polled iu April, 8,118, and in November, 5,584—2,534 less thau in April.

They gave Grant only 87 votes! Three of the counties (Camden, Columbia, and Ran-
dolph) gave him ouly one vote each; and one (Chattahoochee) gave liim only three!

The result here is the more remarlcable, as Colulnbia gave Bullock 1,222 votes. It does
not appear that colored persons were allowed tp vote in any of these counties. Just
think ! Here are (in sections 1 and 2) tweuty-two counties which gave Grant only 87
votes, which gave to Bullock nearly three thousand.

3. The whole number registered in the 3d section is 13,222. The colored have a
majority of 694. These counties i^olled, in April, 9,417, and in November, 6,637. Gor-
don's majority was 2,345, and Seymour's 6,139! Graut got only 498 votes!
Here, then, are thirty-three counties with a voting population of 31,772, aud a colored

majority of 842, and yet these counties ouly gave Grant 575 votes. Can any one cxplaiu
these figures so as to show that colored men were allowed freely to exercise their right
to vote i

4. The fourth section has a total registration of 11,343, and a colored majority of 863.

They polled 8,824 iu April, aud only 7,177 in November. Bullock's majoritj' was 1,748,
aud Seymour's 5,029! Grant got 1,094.

These foiu" tables make up the first group of forty-four counties. Let us scan their
aggregates. The whole registration is 43,105—the colored majority 1,615. They polled
iu April 30,750, and in November only 23,.506. Gordon's majority was only 2,196, while
Seymour's, with 7,244 less polled thau in A^iril, has a majority of 20,18f5! G^i'ant got
only 1,659 iu the whole group of forty-four counties!
These figures plainly show where the terrorism prevailed to the greatest extent.

Tliis grou]) embraces Columbia, where, with 1,854 colored voters, Grant got only one
vote. It includes Mitchell, where the Camilla riot occurred, and Stewart, where Dr.
Blount, a staunch republican, was driven from his home. These figures teach that few
colored men throughout this group of counties were allowed to vote.

5. The fifth section embraces 14,344 registered voters, with a white majority of 1,926.

They polled in April, 11,390, aud in November, 9,635. Bullock's majority was 194, and
Sej-mour's 5,893. Notwithstanding the poll was less by 1,655 than it was in April, there
was a democratic gain of 5,699. Still these eleven counties did more for Grant thau
all the forty-four preceding—they gave him 1,871 votes. The lai'go white majority iu
this section accounts for it. There were more white republicans iu these counties, and
th(?y not only voted themselves, but they gave moral sujiport to the blacks in their
attempt to vote.

6. The sixth table contains 16,070 registered voters, with a white majority of 1,760.

They polled in April, 12,517, and in November, 10,735. Gordon's majority was only 275,

while Seymour's amounted to 5,267, with a smaller poll by 1,782 than iu April. But
these counties added nearly fifty per cent, to Grant's veto over the preceding section^
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This shoTYS that the causes which began to operate in the preceding section became
more successful in this. Grant got 2,734.

7. The whole registration of this table is 13,570, with a white majority of 7,10G.
They polled in April, 10,157, and in November, 10,7c:'3—a number nearly etjual to tlio

white vote. Gordon's majoritj^ was 1,805, and Seymour's 3,543, They gave Grant
3,620. Why did this eleven give Grant more than half as many as he got in the i)re-

cediug sixty-six counties'? Most of these counties are in the " White Belt"—only cmo
of them having a colored majority. The white republicans were firmer and bolder,
and the blacks less intimidated.

8. The eighth section has a registered vote of 14,148, and a white majority of 4,9G6.

These counties polled in April, 10,532, and in November, 11,832. Notwithstanding the
large majority of white voters, Gordon's majority was only 2G6, Avhile Seymour's was
proportionately less than in some of the earlier divisions where there were colored ma-
jorities. His majority was 3,062—General Grant got 4,385 yotes.

This completes the second group of forty-four counties, and the fidJowing are the
aggregate results : Registration, 57,098 ; white majority, 15,702. Polled in April, 44,506

;

in November, 42,985—less than in April, by 1,611. Gordon's majority was 2^452, and
Seymour's, 17,765. It is evident that the white republicans throughout this group
had a desperate struggle; but they met the enemy manfully, and gave him the best
fight they could. In most of the counties the white element predominates. But in
some of them there are large colored majorities. They were in those sections, however,
where they were not allowed to vote, to any large extent. This accounts for the largo
majority for Seymour in this group. Such, at any rate, is the iindeuiable testimony of
the figures. How can they be explained upon any other hypothesis ? How is it that
Seymour's majority diminishes proportionally wherever there are large white majorities
in any of the foregoing sections ?

The theory which these figures support is, that from some cause, or by some means,
the colored people did not vote. The question to be answered now by any one who
denies coercion is, why the colored vote is not developed in this group as it is in the
following one.

9. The registration for this section is 20,217 ; the white majority, 4,361 ;
polled in

April, 16,230, and in November, 17,824. Gordon's majority was only 348, and Seymours
4,052. Grant got 8,766 votes.

10. The tenth table gives 23,108 voters, with a colored majority of 3,224. Polled in
April 19,907, and in November 21,028. Bullock's majority was 3,005, and Seymour's
2,054. Grant received 9,487 votes. This range of counties appears to have had more
fairness in the election than any of the preceding. But there was a great falling off

from the large republican majority in A])ril. The various causes which operated to
deter freedmen from voting, still operated, but with diminished force. It is manifest
that the white republicans exerted more influence, and displayed more firmness and
boldness than in any of the foregoing divisions.

11. This section has 28,113 voters, with a colored majority of 10,215. They polled
24,195 in April, and 27,348 in November. Bullock's majority was 5,657. Grant's 700

—

the only section that gave him a majority. But how far belo'iV Bullock's! The causes
enumerated in section 10 were at work here with increased vigor and success. Lead-
ing white republicans were more numerous, and they strengthened and encouraged the
colored men in their efforts to vote.

12. This last table of the series contains several counties which were either omitted
in their proper places or returns from them came in after the tables were conmienced.
One of them (Towns) still remains blank. The whole number of voters 29,002. Col-
ored majority 1,796. Polled in April 24,457—in November 26,723. Bullock's majority
2,489. .Seymour's 2,883. Perhaps colored men who fled from the jiolls in Savannah
when the disturbance occurred would have overcome this majority of Seymour had
they remained and voted.
This completes the third and last group of forty-four counties. The summing up is

as follows :

Eegistered voters 100,440 ; colored majority, 10,874
;

polled in April 83,604—in
November 92,923; Bullock's majority 10,986; Seymour's 8,289. The entire vote for
General Grant in this group is 42,317—about three-fourths of his entire vote in the
State. All the larger cities and most of the populous counties where there ai'e large
colored majorities are in this group. There are many leadiug white republicans who
have exerted their influence and given moral support to the humbler class of voters.

But notwithstanding all this, there was a democratic gain of 19,275. This resulted
from rejected colored voters for non-payment of taxes, and other party manipulations
of the democrats. This group embraces Chatham County, where the vote for Gordon
was only 2,762, and that for Seymour 4,643, and yet the vote for Grant was 2,316, and it

is said several thousand blacks left the jiolls without voting after the diEQculty com-
menced. How Seymoiu" could have got so large a majority is a mjsterj to all but the
managers.
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GKAijr) KESULT.

There-aro 102,411 white, and 98,507 colored registered voters in Geor£ria-200Q1QThere were polled at the April election 159,883, and in NovembS /not coifwSn^County) 159,414. This is less by 469 than was polled in Ipril ^
counting lowns

A material element in this result cannot be definitely ascertained. I allude to thewhites who were disfranchised at the election in April, ;md who were entitled to vnt^m November The number is variously estimated it ftom 8,000 tr2o!o§Saidthev^n!

The great bulk of the vote for Grant was in the cities and towns where there was
Se SiJubtcar'

'^"^ ^" '^*^ '^'^""*"^ ''-''''' '"^''^ ''''' ^«^^-S and Sd-wirkTng
Seymour's entire vote is nearly equal to the white registered vote of the State Thedemocrats were most thoroughly organized all over'the State They were a's well

twf f r •'''™-T°/^"*r^"''''"^"^^
moved with perfect concert and^re^X'ftv If

li^ nf\,f''^
r '^

*.i

'"'''^'
?
'^"'^ ^*" S«"^"g '-111 tl^o white vote of the SUte wUh aview of supporting their pretensions of a " white man's government " ami arrangedall their plans for that end, they succeeded most admirably! ButThese figures tell !utthe tale. Let them explain them. If any one denies that there weSfmudviolencPintimidation, coercing of colored voters, stuffing of ballot-boxes Ld subshtnt it^rirS'licau ballots with democrats, let them explain these

^j^^^'^^^'^^'^^^^'^'^stit^tingrcpub.

Yours, truly, °

,, ,
JOHN H, CALDWELL,

Member National Ee^uUimn Executive Committee.

a:n-altsis.

TiKST GROur—Table I.

Counties.
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Table in.

457

Counties.

Colquitt . .

.

Emanuel...
Dooly
Baker
Elbert
Talbot
Quitman...
Worth
Milton
Schley
Stewart

Total

Eegistered voters.

White.

173
500
884
357
837
822
307
332
652
380
925

6,250

Colored.

15
257
708

1, 053
885

1, 256
401
103
71

501

1, .533

6,003

Vote for governor.

Bullock.

42
166
467
255
221

1,057
6

84
97

389
752

3, 536

Gordon.

61
205
740
840
760
7.58

3.56

248
509
374
940

Vote for Presidenfi

Grant.

Table IV.

Clinch
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ANALTSIS—Continued.

Table VII.

Counties.

Eegistered voters.

White. Colored.

Vote for governor.

Bullock. Gordon

Vote for Pfesident.

Grant. Soymour.

Murray
Polk
Cherokee .

.

Forsvtli
Heard
Liunpkin .

.

Dawson . .

.

Gordon
Hall
Taylor
Tei-reU . . .

.

Total

8S7

1,515
1, 050

78!)

704
572

1,.340

1, 21D
649
CC4

10, 338

118
387
21C
152
402
123
02

184
507
800

350
337
309
330
435
270
301
328
430
530
332

509
COl
693
580
444
365
151
787
554
575
852

3,282 4,024 6,131

333
319
339
305
334
308
310
327
327
345
302

3,020

Table VIII.

Calhoun ...

Clay
Crawford .

.

Gwinnett ..

Gilmer .

Pan n in
Henry
Laurens ...

Pickens
Walton . . .

.

Walker....

Total

303
471
501

1,033
921
709

1,000
098
747

1,024
1,304

9,;

704
455
702
341
24

125
012
040
15

6^3
230

431
319
514
505
374
344
014
510
381
632
509

371
438
535
830
228
129
780
380
212

5,399

391
351
373
388
400
421
420
407
420
382
420

Third Group—Table IX.
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Table XT.

Counties.

Morgan
Baliiwin ...

Lee
Houston . .

.

Decatur . .

.

Clark
Greene
Thomas
Muscogee .

.

Dougherty

.

Burke

Eegistered voters.

White. Colored,

630
()6G

408
1,015
1, Of)!

955

1, 002
758

1,1'!5

487
802

Total

.

8, 949 10, 104

Vote for governor.

Bullock. Gordon,

1,229
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Question. To ^Tbat did tliey refer?

Atiswcr. It Av;vs because be and liis wife did not agree well, so it was said in the
neishboi-hood. Ho was pretty bad to driuk.

(jiicHtio>i. He was at your house that night ?

Aiisivcr. Yes, sir.

Question. AVliat did he say ?

Answa: He said right smart, but I cannot now recollect particularly what he did
say.

Qucsiion. Did they say anything to your husband ?

Answer. Yes, sir, they said some few words to him. They did not give him any
threats, though.

Question. Did they say anything to Booth about his knowing who it was that sent
that notice to hiin ?

Answer. Yes, sir, they did. Tbey said they understood he had said it was not the
Ku-Klux company that put up those orders, that he had accused some of his devilish
neighbor boys. They asked him whether ho said tbat or not. He held up his right
hand, and said that he Avould suffer that to bo severed from his body if he said any
such thing.

Qucsiion. It was reported that they were going to treat him in this manner, and bad
threatened him, because he and his wife did not get along well together?
Answer. Yes, sir ; because he was drinking and laying off from home rather late at

night, later tlian they seemed to think he ought to,

"Question. And they were going to whip his wife?
Answer. Tbey said so.

Question. Wby?
Answer. Because ho and she did not get along well together ; they quarreled right

smart, I suppose.
Question. What sort of people were Booth and his wife ?

Answer. I do not know. I never heard anything against them. I do not reckon tbey
axe the smartest kind of people. Tbey are not very smart. That is all that can be said
against them. They do not barm anybody, that I know of.

Question. Do you know how Mr, Booth voted in the last election ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not.

Question. So far as you understand, the Booths are harmless and inoffensive, and not
very smart people?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Were you before the grand jury here ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir.

Question. In what cases ?

Answer. I was asked some questions before the grand jury that I have not been asked
here.

By the Chairman :

Question. What did they ask you ?

Answer. They wanted to know if I recognized anybody. I said I recognized only
one, Jack Finch, and I judged about him from the position be sat on bis horse.

Question. You were brought here to testify as to this man Finch, whom you supposed
you saw then ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I took it to he him from the way he sat on his horse ; that was the
only reason.

Atlanta, Georgu, October 23, 1871.

F. M, HOLLIDAY sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. How old are you ; where were you born ; where do you now live, and what
is your occuxiatiou ?

Answer. I am about thirty-five years of age ; I was born and raised in Jackson
County, in this State, and I live there when I am at home ; farming has been my
occupation all my life.

Question. State to the committee what you know about the operations of people called
Ku-Klus, in your county.
Answer. There has been a great deal of disturbance there among the citizens, both

black and white ; they seem to have a particular spite against the few individuals who
will not take an active baud, and particularly at a brother of mine and a few others.

In the first place, they took a stand against my brother for bis principles on account of
his speaking against the Ku-Klux, Tben again ho was not in favor of secession, and
has always spoken against that. Ho tried to prevail on them not to run off his bands,
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and said that lie did not want to injure them, that he -n-onld rather they -^ould let his
hands alone without being made to do it, hut if they did run them off he would panish
them if he could.

Question. What do you know about their having molested him in any way?
Answa: Well, sii-, I suppose they went there, from the signs I have seen, and that

they went in on him at tlio hour of midnight and shot his house full of holes, and
tried to mob him. Since then they have burned uj) his mill-house and projierty.

Question. When was that?
Ansncv. That was on Saturday; I have not seen it myself, but his miller told me so.

They have burued up his mill-house, and cotton-mill, and gin-house, and all the cottou
he had in there, and a portion of my cotton.

Question. You have that information from the miller?
Question. Where were you when you heard this ?

Answer. Within about three or four miles of Athens.
Question. How far from your house ?

Answer. About eight miles.

Question. Where were you going ?

Ansicer. I was going to a relative of mine on some little business.
Question. Why did you come here ?

Answer. To report the circumstances to my brother and his friends, and to see what
had become of him, I was told that it was reported down there that ho had started
for this place, but had been arrested at Gainesville ; and that it was stated that if he
did come on here he never should get back. More than that, three of those men, Stewart
McElhannon, Thomas McElhannou, and Pendcrgrast, told the miller that he had better
go away from there or he would bo killed, and his property burned up.

Question. How much property in value was destroyed?
Answer. Between $8,000 and $10,000 worth, I should think. It was as good a mer-

chant-mill as any man could get up. Then there was a cotton-gin, with a number one
iron screw, some three or four bales of cottou, some wheat that belonged to a brother-
in-law of mine, some lumber, some mechanical tools, and one thing or another.

Question. How did these threats against your brother come to your knowledge ?

Answer. I was there one day at the mill, and a couple of young men by the name of
Jim Harvey and Green Martin came down there and attacked him about something he
should have said about the Ku-Klux. He said, " I don't deny it ; I sent you word not
to interfere with my hands, and if you did I would put the law on you ; if you run my
hands off I will hurt you

;
just let them alone and I will not interfere with you." And

they have been at him ever since.

Question. Have you ever seen these disguised men yourself?
Ansiver. I have not seen them in disguise, but I have heard of them all the time.
Question. Through what extent of country have you heard of them ?

Answer. From the Mulberry Eiver clean on out into Gwinnett, between hero and
Jackson.

Question. How many miles ?

Answer. I can hear of them for some forty or fifty miles.

Question. Have you any idea, or opinion, or knowledge, as to the number of men who
belong to that organization ?

Answer. I cannot say; but from what I can learn from citizens around me, I suppose
there are some thirty or forty, may be more, right in that settlement. I have under-
stood, from a friend of mine, that there are either 9,000 or 19,000 Ku-Klux in Georgia.
This came from a friend of mine on the Saturday before I left. It was overheard at a
Ku-Klux meeting.

Question. Did some of your people meet together and pass resolutions, directly after

your brother's house was attacked, which were published in the newspaper at Athens?
Ansicer. Yes, sir; they met and had a barbecue, from what I heard ; it was common

talk ; and they were going to raise a petition, and get as many to sign it as they could,

to imt down Ku-Kluxing.
Question. Have you a copy of the paper that has those proceedings in it ?

Ansiver. I have not, but I can get one. I think old J. J. Flournoy has it.

Question. State any other doings of theirs, any violations of law that they have been
guilty of that have come to your knowledge.
Answer. From what I have heard I suppose they have been tearing up the neighbors

about there, threatening hands at work for certain men. They threatened the hands
of brother and drove them oft' last week ; they all quit early Saturday morning.

Question. How long have these Ku-Klux operations been going on in your county ?

Anstcer. They have been going on in my settlement ever since last August was twelve
months.

Question. What was the first sign of them which you saw?
Ansiver. A parcel of youngsters got along on the road, these Finches, and Hewitts,

and Harveys, and Collinses, and got into a dispute there and got into a little fight-

Shortly after that Ku-Kluxing commenced right in the settlement among the hands,,
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and tlio party nm off and \\'ent to Athens. That ^va.s the fust attack. Then from that

they took (oordering -white men, civilized pe()i)le, at the dead hour of midnight, and
telling them Avhat to do or they wouhl take them out and hickory them.

Qucfition. How often have you heard of tlieir riding at night ?

Jnswcr. Tcni or fifteen tijncs or more ; as a general thing, once in every two weeks.

Also, in the hist twelve or fourteen months th<'y have been putting up notices that

they intend to' make a visit at a certain time, and they always come within a day or

two of the time when they had uotilied them they would come.

By Mr. Bayakd :

Qifcsfion. Yon never saw any of these people yourself ? *

Answer. I have never seen them in disguise.

Question. All you have stated here is based upon rumor ?

Answer. It is just what I have learned.

Qncsthn. The destruction of your brothers property was reported to you ?

Answer. Yes, sir; by the miller.

Question. Where is he ?

Answer. He is now^ iu brother's own house, in possession of it while my brother is in

Atlanta.
Question. ITow^ far from your brother's house was his mill ?

Answer. Just about a quarter.

Question. He merely informed you of the destruction of the mill by fire ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; and he said t ought to see something nbout it.

Question. Have you seen your brother since he arrived iu Atlanta ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Has he said where ho has been since ho came here ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are you aware that lie has been miles from town here, walking about

among the people of the country ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Your brother is safe and well ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Nobody has disturbed him ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; but it was said ho never should go back there any more.

Question. Ho is perfectly well and safe now ?

Answer. YcSjSir.

By the Chairman :

Question. It was reported to the man who was living at his house, that your brother

had been arrested and had not got hero ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; or that if he had got here he never would be allowed to come back.

Question. There was no truth in those reports ?

Anstcer. No, sir.

Question. You spoke about your brother's course on the subject of secession. What
was your course during the war ?

Anstrer. I voted the Union ticket, but they forced me out by the- conscript law, and
I staid iu the service tw^elve mouths and a little better. I bought my way out, and
then they arrested me and put me right in again. They swept me out and left me just

like a freedman at the end of the war. I had only a little piece of land of about twenty
acres or so.

Question. How have you been voting since the war ?

AnsiL-er. Just as I did before the war, the ITnion ticket; and I expect to continue to

do so if they kill me for it. I said in camp that my father fought for the Government,
and built up a government better than any corrupt set of people could do it afterward.

Question. Yet you were compelled to fight against the flag of your country ?

Ansive): Yes, sir ; but I never was in favor of secession.

Question. You know of nothing else iu connection with this matter ?

Ansivcr. Nothing of much importance that I can recollect at this time.

Atlanta, Georgia, Octoher 23, 1871.

SARAH ANN STURTEVANT (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. State your age, where you were born, and where you now live.

Ayisiver. I expect I am about twenty-five or thirty years old ; I was born in Walton
County ; and I live in that county now.

*

^

Question. Are you married ?
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Answer. No, sir.

Question. At what place are you living ?

Answer. I am living on tlao j)laco wliero old Mr. Reeves used to live ; tlie same place
"where Charley Smith lives.

Question. Aio there any fjcoplo iu the county called Ku-Klux ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you. ever seen them?
Answer. Yes, sir ; I saw nine at our house at the time they whipped me, my brother,

and sister.

Question. When was that ?

Ansiver. It has been five weeks ago—going on six weeks now.
Question. Were they riding or walking when they came there ?

Ansicer. They walked up to our house, but they had horses hitched over on the road,
in an old field.

Question. Did they have on common clothes, or were they in disguise ?

Ansiver. They were disguised.
Question. How were they disguised ?

Answer. They had just common breeches, buttoned just as little boys wear them, and
disguises over their faces—some red and some black.

Question. What did they do ?

Ansxcer. They gave me forty licks with a hickory, and kicked me once iu the head,
and hit me on the back of the head with a pistol. "

Question. What did they do when they first came?
Ansiver. When they first came into the yard tliey came to the door, and Charley

Smith ran out, and they caught him. They told him to staud, and lie told them ho
would stand. They commenced beating him in the back with rocks aud pistols and
kicking him. Ho inquired what ho had done, and they said it Avas no matter what ho
had done ; that they had been going for him for a long time, and liad caught him uow,
aud were going to pay him up. They then commenced beating him with a hickory.

Question. Who is he ?

Answer. He is my brother.
Question. Is he older or younger than you ?

Answer. Ho is older—the oldest child mother has got.

Question. How came they to attack you ? Just go on and tell us what they did.

Answer. I asked them what they whii^ped me for, and they said they had not heard
I had done anything, but they wanted to give me a little shillala for fear I would
sauce white women.

Question. Did they whip you over your clothes ?

Answer. No, sir ; they stripped them off, and fastened them around my waist.

Question. Did they whip you standing up ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; they made me sit down on the ground.
Question. What did they whip you with ?

Answer. With hickories. Ouo of them had a wagon-whip, and he whipped me with
the stag ; he would not whip me with the whip part.

Question. How many of them struck you ?

Answer. There were nine of them, aud all struck me.
Question. How many'licks apiece did they give you ?

Answe)'. They gave me five licks apiece.

Question. How many struck you with tho whip ?

Ansiver. Just one. They all had hickories but one. The one that hit me the first

lick had a whij), and he hit me once aud walked off, and then the others whipped mo
with a stick all the time.

Question. Did they hurt you much ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they break tho skin ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What did they do after they got through whipping you ?

Anstver. They asked us if we were going to watch them. We said, " No." They
said they would leave two or three wild men to see if we would watch them.

Question. Did they whip any others except you and your brother ?

Answer. They whipped my brother's wife.

Question. How much did they whip her ?

Aiiswer. They gave her fifty licks.

Question. Did they whip her over her clothes ?

Answer. No, sir ; they made her strip them off.

Question. Did tho same men whij) her that whii^ped you ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Whom did they whip first ?

Answei: They whipped her first.

Question. What reason did they give for whipping any of you ?
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Ansiccr. They never gave any at all ; never said what they wMppcd us for.

Question. What time was this, iu the day-time or uight ?

Ansiccr. In the night.

Question. What time of night ?

Answer. Betwixt V and 10 o'clock.

Question. Had you gone to bed ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Qnesiion. How did they get in the lionsc ?

Answer. They came there once before along in March, and my brother got away.
They left word with his wife that when they came again he had better stand, for if ho
were betwixt hell and heaven they would get him ; and if they got him they would
make mince-meat of him; that if they got him they would hang him up on the tirst

limb along the road, and no one would know who did it. And wo have been expect-
ing them ever since.

Question. Did you open the door ?

Answer. My brother opened the door to get away from them; but they were all

around the house, and fastened on him.
Question. How many came there the first time in March ?

Answer. There were nine or ten in the yard ; I do not know how many were out witli

the horses.

Question. Did they do anything that time ?

lAnswcr. Yes, sir ; they gave mo three licks, and gave my brother's wife three licks.

They ran me off, and I sat oat iu an old field about an hour.

Question. Did they hit yoii as you were running, or did they hold you ?

Answer. They made me stand, and said that if I ran they would shoot me down.
Question. Did they make you take off your clothes the first time ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Where is your sister-in-law now ?

Answer. She is down in the city. They let her off here to-day because she was sick,

and she did not come.
Question. What is her name ?

Amwer. Caroline Smith.
Question. How many came to your house the last time ?

Answer. I saw nine.

Question. And all of them wiiipped you ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; all but one.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. Did they attack anybody else that night in your neighborhood ?

Answer. Yes, sir, Rat Stales; aud there was another gentleman, but I do not know
what he calls his name.

Question. What did they do to them ?
_,

Answer. They whipped them. '

Question. Were they colored people ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was that all they did that night that you know of?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By the Chairmax:
Question. Did you know any of them ?

Answer. I knew two of them.
Question. What are their names ?

Answer. Mr. Samuel Rich and Mr. William Felker. Mr. Rich hit me the first lick.

Question. Where is your brother I

Answer. He is down staiis, I think.

By Mr. Scofield:

Question. Did you ever see them come by the house any other night ?

Answer. No, sir. Mr. Felker had my daughter hired there, and he had been drinking,
and swore that ho would whip me or my daughter, one, or burn my house over my
head.

By Mr. Bayard:
Question. What had Mr. Rich against you ?

Anstver. Nothing at all that I knew of.

Question. Had they been doing anything they were afraid you would tell of?
Answer. I reckon they had.
Question. What was it ?

Anstcer. They had been carrying on some distilling there. . ,
Question. Making whisky ?

inswer. Yes, sir.
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Question. They thought that you kuew it ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. And they "were afraid you would inform on them ?

Answer. I reckon they thought I Avould report them.
Question. Abd that was why they whipped you, to keep you from telling ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I reckon. Thej^ never said, but I allowed that was it.

Question. IIow many of them were engaged in the cfistilling business do you think ?

Ansu-ei: I do not know but three.

Question. Had they men engaged to run otf the whisky for them?
Ansiver. I do not know whether they had or not.

Question. How far away from your house was that still ?

Answer. About a mile.

Quesiion. ^Yas it in the woods ?

Ansicer. It was in a field, but it was down under the hill.

Quevlion. Was it in a cave ?

Answer. There was a" cave there, so they say; I never saw the cave.
Question. Did you see the still ?

Answer. Yes, sii'.

Question. Did you see them making whisky ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they know you saw it ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I had to go there to get meal away along in March.
Question. They were using corn-meal to make whisky of?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever report them ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Were you brought before the grand jury here?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you give your testimony before them ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you report against them for whipping, or for distilling?

Ansicer. For whipping.
Question. Were you asked anything about distilling ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. It was not on that account you were summoned ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You were summoned at this term of the court ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Atlanta, Georgia, Oetoher 23, 1371.

LETTY MILLS (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairma:s" :

Question. What is your age, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

Answer. I am going on thirty years old. I was born in W^alton County, about four-
teen miles from Decatur. I was living in Walton County, but the Ku-Klnx^-au us up
here.

Question. The Ku-Klux ran you away from Walton ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. When was that?
Ansicer. On the 19th of INIarch.

Question. Tell us all about that.

Answer. They broke in on us one night when we were abed. I heard them and waked
Gus, my husband, and told him that I knew there were Ku-Klux cooling. He said
they were not, but some one going turkey-hunting ; I said they were Ku-Klux. After
awhile they knocked at the door and told us twice to open the door. Gus made a boy
we had hired get up and open the door and let them in. Felker came in and told the
boy Tobe to strike a light. He struck a match and lit the light- wood, and made a
light. He told Tobe to pull off his clothes, and he made Gus get up and pull off his

clothes. Then he came back and told me to strip otf. He made us get down on our
knees and he gave us a good beating. He made Gus stretch out on the floor, and he
gave him a good beating. He went around and struck us on the head with a pistol,

and I never have been right in my head again. My little girl began to cry, and lie

went to her and told her that if she did not' hush he would mash her.

Question. How old was your girl ?

Ansicer. Four years old.

30 G
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QiieMion. Had yon any cliildren younger than that?
Juswer. I liavc one going on two years now and a baby.
Qucfiiion ^Mlc^e was the baby ?

Anstver. It was lying in the bed ; it never waked.
Question. Was it in the house that they whipped you ?

Answer. Yes, sir, they eauie in and shut the; door, live of them.
Question. You say they told yt\\\ to eoiue out ?

Answer. Well, we were in a rtMiin, and ilr. Felker stood by the door and made us
come out one by one, and pull olf our clothes ; ;iud then he stood at th<> door of the

house to prevent us from going out. I never oU'ered to do it, but 1 reckon they thought
we would do so.

Question. Did they make you strip off your clothes ?

Answer. They made nic pull oif down to tlie waist, and they made the men-folks
Btrip off their shirts and then pull down their breeches.

Question. What did they do to your husband ?

Answer. They made him go down on his knees, and then they made him stretch out

on tho tloor.

Question. How old was the boy you had hired ?

Answer. He was about sixteen, ii young strip of a boy we had hired to help us Avork.

Question. How many blows did they give you ?

Ayiswtr. There were four of them whipped us ; I did not know any but Mr. Felker;
when he gave orders they would move, aud I knew he was the head one in the Ku-
Kluxing business.

QueMion. How many blows apiece did they give you ?

Answer. They whipped us all around with hickories, I do not know how many licks,

and then they struck us with pistols.

Question. Did they give you live blows, or fifty blows ?

Answer. I never paid any attention to the number of licks; as quick as one would
get done beating another would tall in and beat us.

By Jlr. SCOFIELD

:

Question. Did they have on any disguise?
Answer. Y'es, sir ; all of them had on white dresses but Mr. Felker ; ho had on a dis-

guise, but his clothes were the same he h.id on all day ; for I had been to his store, and
I knew his voice and his clothes, but I was afraid to say anything.

By the Chairman :

Question. Did he have a store ?

Ans^her. Yes, sir ; he had a store where we traded.

Question. How far did you. live from his store ?

Answer. I can hardly tell you how tar ; about two hundred yards, I reckon.

Question. What did he say he was whipping you that way for?

Answer. He never said, or, if he did, I did not hear it.

Question. Do you know what he whipped you for ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was your husband owing him anything ?

Ansiver. Y>s, sir. He had been over to the store that evening and carried over some-
pigs. Mr. Felker was distilling ; Gus carried him the pigs, and asked for a bos to

carry ,the pigs to the still-house.

Question. Had your husband been making a crop there ?

Answer. He was breaking up ground there, fixing to plant cotton and corn.

Question. Did they say auythiug to you about leaving and gouig away from there ?

Answer. No, sir, 1 believe not ; they did not to me.

y Question. Did they to your husband ?

! Ansivcr. He says they told him to stay right there on the farm, and not say anything

('about the v.iiippiug ; lor if he did, swinging would lie his portion next.

/ Question. How could they have said it to him without your hearing it ?

1 Answer. After they had got done whipping him they carried him out and made him
let down the fence for them to go out ; aud they told him to keep still. He was gone
about an hour before he got back.

Question. Where is your husband ?

Ansiccr. In Atlanta.
Question. What is his name?
Answer. Gus Mills.

Question. Do you know of any other people they disturbed ?

Ansu-er. Yas, sir ; they whipped lots there that night before they got to our house

;

when they got through with us day was breaking, aud they left us.

Question. What others did they whip ?

Answei: They whipped this woman that came in here ; they whipped Jack Beuafield.

Question. How far did you live from Sarah Ann Sturtevant ?
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Ansicer. About two miles, I reckon.
Question. Had there ever been any clifficnlty between you and Mr. Felker ?

Anstver. No, sir.

Question. There has been no disturbance of any kind?
Answei: No, sir ; we never had any such thing with the white folks ; we always had

what wo wanted at his store.

Question. How long atter they came to your house did you stay there ?

Answer. I staid there four weeks ; Gus came away as soon as day, right away.
Question. Did any of them come to see you after he was gone ?

Answer. No, sir ; I moved out of the house there.

Question. Have you seen Felker, from that day to this?

AnswiT. Yes, sir, I saw him here the other day ; they had him up here.

Question. Did you have any talk with him ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Did you speak to him in Walton, before you left there ?

Answer; No, sir; I never said anything to him any way.

By Ml-. Bayard :

Question. You say you recognized William Felker ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he disguised ?

Answer. He just had his face disguised.

Question. He keeps a store there in the neighborhood ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Is he distilling liquor ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; he was all the time.
Question. Was he afraid of the revenue ofQcers ?

Answer. 1 never heard him say ; he was distilling all the time.

Question. Was he distilling without a license?

Answer. I do not know whether he had a license or not.

Question. Was his still in a secret place ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he afraid you would inform on him ?

Answer. I suppose he came around to see if I expressed my opinion about what I

would do.

Question. You say you saw him here ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you summoned before the grand jury as a witness to testify ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it about his still that you testified?

Answei: I did not, but Gus did.

Question. Were you examined as a witness about this whipping which you have
described?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know Judge Caldwell ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Do you know Mr. Pope, the district attorney ?

Answer. No, sir.

Questioyi. You do not know who examined you ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You only went before the grand jury and made a statement there?
Answer. That is all.

Question. Did you tell the grand jury what you have told us ?

Answer. All but the distilling.

Question. Was Mr. Felker arrested ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; and they brought him up here.

Question. Did you see him brought uj) ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you see him when he first came here ?

An,'«iver. Yes, sir.

Question, Was he hand-cuffed?
Ansiver. No, sir ; not when I saw the bailiff march him up in the court-house.

Question. How many men did you see there ?

Answer. Five.
Qitestion. Did you ever see any disguised men except at that time?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. That was the only time you ever saw any? ,

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And all the rest that you have told us is mere talk in your neighborhood ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.
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By the Cii.urman :

Quesiioit. What made you think they were Ku-Klux when you heard them coming
up ?

Answer. Well, there had been so much talk of Ku-Klux about there that I had bec^n

expecting them. We had heard of their going about so much that I said they would
come down on us next.

QueMion. How long had they been going about through the country?
Anmver. Last year and year before I heard of them.
Question. What did you hear of their doing ?

Answer. I heard of their shaking hands with people, and then leaving their hands
in folks's hands; I heard of tiieir drinking water, and of their going in and telling

about their bursting out of tombs and rising from the dead. I kept feeling afraid all

the time of the Kn-Klux. Every noise I would hear in the night, after they had be-
gan to get near, I would fear they were coming in on us.

Question. Did you ever hear of their whipping before ?

Anstver. Yes, sir ; and killing, too.

Question. Your husband is here ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You have told us all you know abo#t this ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Atlanta, Georgia, Ocioher 23, 1871.

AUGUSTUS MILLS (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. How old are you, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

AnsH^cr. I was thirty- three years old on the 10th day of last March; I was born in

Gwinnett County ; I have been living in Walton County for five years and better.

Question. W^hen did you leave Walton County ?

Aiiswa: On the 20th of last March.
Question. Why did you leave there ?

Ansiver. The Ku-Klux ran afoul of me on the 19th, and I left on the 20th.
Question. Tell us about their coming on you, what they did, at what time it was, and

whether they were disguised ; and if so, how.
Answer. They came on me, well, you may say it was on the 20tb, tor it was in the

morning, about 4 o'clock. I was a^eep when they came there, and my wife awakened
me and said, "Wake up, Gus, there is somebody around the house." I said, "No, I

reckon not," just that way. She said, " Yes, there is." That got me waked, and I

heard them. I said, "Theyai-e some of our settlement boys going turkey-hunting."
She said, " No, they are Ku-Klux." I said, "No, I reckon not." As I said that they
hollered, " Open the door." I said, "Who's there?" They said, "Never mind; ojieu

the door." I said to Tobe, (Tobe is a boy I had hired,) "Tobe, get up and open
the door." He got up and opened the door, but when he opened the door they bulged
right in—five ofthem—and ordered him to make a light. They did not have any matches
and he went to kindle up a fire in the fire-place, and they lit on him. Then William
Felker bulged to the door with his pistol in his hand, and ordered mo to lie still until

the light was kindled. When the light was kindled up, he said, "Now, get up." I

told him that I had been sick, that I had been chilling. He said, "Get up ; we will
cure you of chills

;
you never will have any more." I got up and went out into the

room. He went back then and ordered my wife to get up. IJe made us all get down
and pull oft' our clothes ; and then ho whipiied us. He gave me between twenty-five
and thirty licks, as near as I can recollect; I did not count them. He gave my wife
pretty near that much, and he gave Tobe about the same. And he struck us t>ver the
head with a pistol. My little girl cried, and he di'ew his pistol over her, and told her
if she did not hush he would smash her.

Question. How many children had you ?

Answer. Four.
Question. Were they all there ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How old were they ?

Answer. One was six years, and one was four years old, and one was two years old
;

and then the other is a little better than a year old now ; it was not a year old then,
though.

Question. Was your wife suckling it at the time ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. At the time she was whii)ped ?
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An steer. Yes, sir.

Question. Mter they had ^vhipped yoii, what did they do then ?

Answer. They told me to shut the door wheu they started out of the house. Another
one said, "No; come and h't us out of the phintation." I had my shirt off—only my
drawers on—and I said, "Let me put my shirt on, if you please." They said, "Never
mind your shirt; come on." I had my shirt in my hand as I started, and I put it on as

I went alon<;. I went out where they had hitched their horses, ahont seventy-five

yards from the house. I let down a gap, and let them out of the plantation. They
told me to go back to a little lane wo passed through, and when I got there to hollo.

I did so, and then I went back to ray house, and put on my clothes. It was i)retty

nearly day-light then ; it was light enough for me to see the horses, and to know one
of them. I then went to Jack Beuafield's, and he and I went to track the horses; and
we tracked Felker'.s maro right to th« stable-door.

Question. You knew his horse /

Ansioer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you know the others ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. Did you know most of the horses in the neighborhood round about there ?

Answer. I knew a great many of them around there.

Question. Did yon know all the people there ?

Answer. I knew a great many of them ; but I only knew "William Felker of those
that came in on me.

Question. Did you suppose that the rest of them were people from the neighborhood,
or that they were strangers ?

Answer. Some of them had come from some distance off. One of them, I think, was
his clerk ; but I cannot say positively as to that.

Question. How many were there, all told, when you got out to where the horses were ?

Ansicer. There were five.

Question. Were there only five ?

Ansioer. That was all I saw ; and that was the same number I let out of the jjlan-

tation.

Question. Were there five horses ?

Answer. Yes, sir. They asked me if I knew anything about any distilling going on
;

they questioned me powerfully about distilling. I told them it seemed to me that Wil-
liam Felker was running a still.

Question. What did they say then ?

Anstcer. They asked me if there was a chance for them to find it ; and I told them
that I did not kno^Y ; that they might find it if they would hunt for it. They asked
me if Felker kept whisky about his store, and I told them that I had drank some there,

but I did not know that he kept it there often.

Question. When did you leave there ?

Ansicer. I left there on the 20th of March.
Question. How long after you had let them out of the plantation ?

Ansicer. I left that evening.
Question. Were you much injured by the whipping? •

Ansicer. I was whipped pretty bad ; I have got some scars on me now that I will tote

to my grave.
^

Question. How had you voted in the election ?

Answer. I voted the radical ticket ?

Question. Was Felker a radical, too ?

Answer. I cannot tell you that ; I never heard him talk about whether he was or not.

Question. Had you always voted the radical ticket ?

Answer. That was all the sort ever I voted.

Question. Do you know of their molesting anybody else besides you?
Answer. Yes, sir ; there are some here that the same crowd troubled ; so they

told me.
Question. How long had you heard of the Ku-Klux before that time ?

Ansicer. We had heard some talk of them some time before that ; but, at the same
time, I was not thinking of their running in on us.

Question. What had they been doing before that time ?

Answer. They had been whipping some below us there.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Did you see any of them before they came in on you ?

Answer. No, sir ; those were the first I ever saw.
Question. And they were the only ones you ever saw ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Those five ?

Answer. They were the only ones.

Question. You say they asked you about distilling ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Have you been before tlio grautl jury as a witness ?

Answei: Yes, sir.

Question. Against William Felker?
Ansivei: Yes, sir\

Question. Did you testify about his distilling?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And about bis whipping you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Those are the two charges against him ; the one that he kept a stiU and
made whisky, and the other that lie whipped people ?

Answer. I reported him when I first came to Atlanta.

Question. Did you inform on him right away, as soon as you got there ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. To whom did you go ?

Answer. To Mr. Bullock.

Question. To the governor ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you state to him about the distilling ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir, and about his whipping me.
Question. How long had you known about this illicit distilling before they came to

your house ?

Answer. Some time.

Question. How far from your house was this still ?

Answer. About two miles.

Question. Was it in a secret place ?

A^iswer. Yes, sir.
'

Question. Had you ever informed on him before about the distilling business ?

Ansiver. 1 had passed by there.

Question. Had you ever told anybody about it ?

Answer. No, sir, not there I had not ; I told when I came to Atlanta.
Question. You reported on him as soon as you came here ?

Answer: Yes, sir.

Question. Did they whip you because they feared you would report or had reported

them?
Answer. Well, they did not tell me what they whipped me for.

Question. Did they ask you about distilling?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. I understood you to say they asked you.

Ansiver. That was when they made me go from my house to let them out of the plan-

tation.

Question. That was on the same night when they whipped you ?

Ansiver. Yes, sii- ; but it was after they had whipped me.
Question. You have not seen them since ?

Answer. No, sir.

By the Chairman :

Questii^. Have you seen Mr. Felker since ?

Answer. I saw him here the other day.

Question. Have they done anything with him, or have they let him go?
Answer. I understood they had let him go.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Was he arrested ?

Answer. I suppose he was ; he passed by me here a week ago, and would not look at

me.
Question. Where do you live now ?

Ansiver. Here, in Atlanta.

Question. Have you been working here ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir, all the time I was able; I have been sick some.
Question. You know that Felker was arrested and brought up here by the marshal?
Answer. I understood he was.
Question. Do you know anything about whether he has been, discharged or not ?

Ansiver. I cannot tell about that.



GEORGIA—SUB-COMMITTEE. 471

Atlanta, Geohgia, Octohcr 23, 1871.

CHAELES LITTLE (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chaiem^v^^ :

Question. What is your age, where were you born, and where do you live ?

Austen: I am between sixty and seventy years old ; I was born in Jackson County,
and I now live in Haralson County, above Buchanan, on tlie Tallapoosa River.

Qucsiiou. Do yon know anything about the killing of John Wall-ball /

Auswcr. Yes, sir; I was right there.

Question. Tell these gentlemen all about it.

Anstce}-. Well, when a man inquires of me for the truth I will tell it as sure as I am
living, because I have got to die, and I belong to the church at that ; 1 will not tell a
lie for mortal man. They came to my honse tlrst. I could not hear, Ijut my wife
heard them, and she said, "Charley, somebody says, 'Get up and o])en tlu; door.'"
There are two doors to the house. I got up and kindled a light, or I got a splinter and
commenced Idndling up a light, when one of them saitl to me, witli his head down to
me, '• You damned old son of a bitch," and put a double-barreled shot-gun against my
head, and said, " Come along ; I can make you hear and see, too." I said, " I am not
going to run away ; I will go 'long with you." He said, " Where is John Walthall f
I said, " I expect he is at home." He said, " Come on." Then they carried me over
tWQ fences, and rather hurt me, but I thought I would put up with it, if they did not
do any more than that. They went by C;uter's, and both doors were thrown down,
and his wife was sitting u]) in the middle of the bed ; that astonished me. I went up
to John's ; and they beat John's wife over the head, jerking her about. She said, " I

don't know where my husband is." They said, " You don't f ' and jerked her, and said,
'•Tell where lie is." She said, '' I don't know where he is." At last a man said, " He
is under the floor." There was a little gardeu at the corner of the house. I was stand-
ing outside of the garden, looking through the i)aling. They shot him under the house
just right down with a riile ; then they jerked him out from under the honse. The men
that held me said, " Come, let's go around." I did not want to see any more, because
I did not know what they would do with me. He hollered, " O, Lord ! O, Lord !"'

Massa, it made me have awful feelings to see a man murdering a man that way. The
man had a Ave or six-shooter, I do not know which, and I saw the wheel turn by the
light. Then one or two more came in with a whip, or something, and they beat him.
Alter a while they said something to each other. But they talked so, and had such
things on, that no mortal man could tell who they were ; it scared me pretty nigh to
death.

Question. What did they have on?
Answer. God knows what it was ; something like a feather, and over the face there

was something, so you could not tell who they were. They then took me by the arm
and carried me through the garden, an<l sto])ped at a house, and said to me, " You go
in there." I went in and they said, " You sit down there ;

" they told me that twice.
I sat there, and while I was sitting there, somebody jabbed against the side of the
house. I did not know what they meant. After a while I went to my house ; my wife
Avas crying; I said, "What have they been doing down here?" She touched me with
her elbow, and said, " Hush," and she never told me until morning. Then she said,

"Look at my shoulder; see how they beat me." Well, I did not know what to say ; I

said, " W^e have to take it ; we cannot help ourselves any way." They beat both of
her daughters, my step-daughters, though they go by my name ; they beat both of
them, and another one with them. We said nothing; I was even afeared to go away
to the fields from my wife. I was in dread in the helds, and I am to this day ; that is

only the truth.

Question. How many were there in the crowd?
Answer. I saw six to my certain knowledge, and there were two who ran, but I do

not know v>'hat made them run.

Question. Did that leave only four ?

Ansii'cr. That left six ; there were eight in the iirst place.

Question. Were they riding or walking?
Answer. They were all walking ; I suppose their horses were out somewhere. When

they came to the house they came afoot, through the lot. 1 did not know who they
were or where they were from.

Question. Did you know any of them ?

Answer. No, sir ; I could not tell a thing about them, only just the beating and shoot-

ing ; that is all I can say.

Question. Did they whip your wife?
Answer. Yes, sir ; I started from home, and she said, " If you are going to leave homo

I will leave the house." She was in the family-way.
Question. How far gone was she ?

Answer: This was done last spring, and she had a child on the 8th day of September.
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They did tliis along about when you first commence plowing over the corn, and she had
a baby on the 8th of September past.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Had you ever seen any of these disguised men before?
Anfiu-cr. No, sir, not that I know of before that night. That is the first time I saw

fhem ; I liad heard talk of them.
Qucstio)). Have you ever seen them since ?

Ansivei: Have I seen other men disguised since ?

Qucsfio)!. Yes.
Atiswer. No, sir.

Question. That was the only time you ever saw them disguised ?

Ansieer. Yes, sir; the first and the last.

Question. You say there were eight altogether ?

Ansieer. Yes, sir; there must have been ciglit ; I am certain of six.

Question. How long had you known John Walthall ?

Answe): I heard talk of John Walthall a long time ; I was no great ways acquainted
witli the man

;
just passing and rijpassing.

Question. Did you know anything about John Walthall's having run after any white
woman in your neighborhood ?

Anstver. No, sir ; I do not know anything more of that than the dead.
Qmstion. Had you been told of it ?

Answer. I heard folks talk ; it might have been so and it might not.
Question. You heard folks talking about it ?

Ansioer. I heard such talk ; that'was all.

Question. You did not know anything about it yourself?
Ans^ve7\ No, sir; my old massa always told me that what you hear other folks say

never put that down for granted.
Question. But you had been informed that John Walthall had been running after some

white woman ?

Answer. Oh, yes, sir; they said that, but I cannot say he did it.

Question. Was that the report that was about there ''.

Answer. So they say; that was all; I cannot say, because I do not know anything
about it. I am that kind of man that what I hear, if it is not about me, I never pay
any attention to it.

Question, How long have you been deaf?
Anstver. My mother was that way before me, and all the children too.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 23, 1S71.

JASPER CARTER (colored) sworn and examined

:

By the Chairman :

Question. How old are yon, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

Answer. I am going on twenty-five years old ; I was born in Carroll County, and I
now live in Haralson County, at Mr. Wyatt Williams's place, about five miles from
Buchanan.

Question. Do you recollect about John Walthall being killed?
Anstuer. Yes, sir ; I do.
Question. Tell us what you know about that, and who did it.

Answer. It was done on a Monday night, along in corn-planting time. I do not know
exactly what night or what day of the mouth it was.

Question. Was it last corn-planting time ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they all came to my house first, and knocked the doors down, and
came in, and hollered to me to kindle ux) a light. I got up to kindle up a light, but,
before I could get to the fire-place, they laiocked both doors down, and came in with
pistols and guns, and drawed them on each side of me. One had one right at my head.
They struck me above the eye with a jiistol ; the scar is here yet. They asked me if I

was John Walthall. I said, " No, sir." They said, " Where is he ?" I said, " Up to
the other house," which was about fifty yards oif. They said I had to go with them up
there. One had hold of my arm, one had hohl of my clothes, and another had hold of
my shirt. We went up there. John Walthall, when he heard thcnu knocking the
doors down at my house, raised up a plank, went under the house, ainiiug to get out at
the back end of the house. But he got under the house, and got fastened there. They
ran around the house and knocked his doors down, went in there, jcnked his Avife out
of bed, and beat, and knocked, and stamped her about on the fioor, and beat her over
the head with guns and pistols. There is a great scar on the back of lier head half as

big as the palm of my hand. She was scared ; she did not know he had got out of
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bed until they came there ; she did not know Tvhere he wa^. Thcj' had a great big

light, and were looking about in the house ; thej- jerked up a plank, and happened to

get a glimpse of his shirt, or Something white. They ran out into the gardeu, and
jerked up a plank there, and one of them had a little rille, and ran it down close to

him, and shot him through the small part of the back. After they shot him they pulled

him out and hit him three hundred liclcs, and made her hug him ; and then they beat

them both ; they beat their heads together. They beat them with a great big stick,

and with their lists.

Question. Did they beat them while he was standing up or lying down ?

Jnsivcr. He was just sitting up. They shot him, and then they dragged him out fi'om

under the house. They would stand on each side of him, and one of lliem would
knock him nearly over, and the man on the other side would knock hiiu back.

Question. What did they knock him with ?

Answer. With their iists and with sticks.

Question. That was out of doors '?

Answer. Yes, sir ; right at the hind end of the house.
Question. How had his Avife got out there ?

Answer. They made her take a light and carry it out there ; and then some of them
held the light, and made her hug him, and then they beat them both. They had a
great big hght out there

;
you could see to pick up a pin out there.

Question. Did they leave them both there ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they beat them both there, Icnocked, and kicked, and stamped them
about just as long as they wanted to, and then went oft' and left them there.

Question. Was anybody else in the house but John Walthall and his wife ?

Answer. No, sir; they 'were just newly married, and lived off by themselves.

Question. How long had they been married ?

Answer. Not more than three months, I reckon.

Question. Had they been married the Christmas before ?

Answer. They were married Christmas, and that was corn-planting time.

Question. What did they do with you ?

Answer. After they beat him and shot him, and beat her and him as much as they

wanted to, they took me, I reckon, about a quarter from the house, and whipped me.

They made so much fuss at the house that I heard them say, as they went on, that they

were afraid to whip me at the house, and made me go on about a quarter from the

house. One stood on my head, and the others beat me. After they had all done beating

me as much as they wanted to, one of them made some of the rest go and stand on my
head, and let him beat me.

Question. How did they stand on your head ?

Answer. They had me laying right plumb down on my face.

Question. Along on the ground?
Anstver. Yes, sir; just stretched out flat on the ground.
Question. And the man stood on your head I

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they whip you over your clothes?

Answer. They just took and pulled my shirt out from under my pants, and then

pulled my pants down and beat me. There are welts on my back now, if I make no
mistake, as big as your finger, and as black as a man's hat.

Question. How many blows did they strike you ?

Answer. They hit me one hundred and fifty.

Question. Did you know any of them?
Answer. I knowed some of them.
Question. Who stood on your head ?

Answer. William Finch.
Question. How many blows did he strike you ?

Answer. He struck me twenty-five licks.

Question. Why did they stand on your head ?

Answer. I do not know
;
just for meanness; that is all I could find out.

Question. Were you trying to break away ?

Answer. No, sir ; I was perfectly still, and never tried to get away, because I knowed
I was overpowered, and had no chance to get away.

Question. How many were there, all told ?

Answer. There were about twenty-six of them.
Question. Were they on foot or on horseback ?

Answer. They were all mounted.
Question. Ho'w many did you know ?

Ansu-er. I never knowed but sis ; they never carried me to their horses ; they carried

me within just about one hundred yards of their horses.

Question, Who were the six that you knew ?

Answer. W^illiam Finch, Jack Lester, iSIr. Booker, Mr. Eiddle, Mr. Murphy, and Mr.

Monroe.
Question. Did they live in the neighborhood?
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Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How was it about the others tbat you did not know ?

An.'<wcr. I do not know where tliey lived at. There were some who came there, and
when this man was shot they said, "What did you let them shoot for'/" I do not
think they knew they were going to shoot hiui, for some of them said, "I didn't know
they were going to shoot until the gun was tired." Then some of them broke and
went off, and did not come back any more. When they caiTicd me away from the
house to whip mo, I saw them standing in the road this side of where the horses \yere.

Question. Do you suppose they all lived in the neighborhood there ?

Ansiccr. I think they all lived around there in the neighborhood.
Quesiioit. Did they leave you where they whipped you ?

A7iswer. Yes, sir; right there.

Question. So far as you know, what did they w'hip you for?
Answer. I do not know anything, only just this : this man that I lived with a year

and a half told me that he would give uie money enough to buy me a horse when he
went to Rome. lie would not i)ay mo anything at all ; 1 never got anything from him.
1 lived with him a year and six months, and th(m I just got mad and quit. After I
quit there, I kept hearing that the first thing I knowed the Ku-lClux would be after
me. I said, " What for?" They said, "Because you Avouldn't work on there like you
set in to." I said, " I worked on and didn't get any pay from him, and I quit." That
was all I could find out.

Question. Have you ever been paid anything ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you asked him for it ?

Answei: Yes, sir.

Question. What did he say?
A)iswer. He said that he did not owe me anything, because I would not work on.

Last year I never hired to him but for six months, and he wanted me to work for a
year.

Question. And because you did not work for a year he claimed that there was nothing
due you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know what they beat Walthall's wife for?
Answer. No, sir ; I could not find out wluit they beat her for. I talked to old master

about it. He said he raised her from a little bit of a girl, and he never knew anything
against her in his life, and nobodj^ could fetch up anything against her of harm.

Question. Do you know what they attacked John Walthall for?
Ansiver. No, sir ; well, only this that I heard them say that night. They said that

night that he was always running after women, and ayked him when he thought he
would sleep with another white woman. He told them that night that he never slept
with any. They said, "God damn you, you are a liar;" and then they just knocked
him plumb over nearly, and then the man on the other side would knock him back
again. His head was beat all to pieces nearly.

Question. How long did he live ?

Answer. That w^as 10 or 11 o'clock on Monday night, and he lived until Tuesday
night about sundown.

Question. Was any attempt ever made to find out who had done this, or to punish
them in any way ?

Ansioer. No, sir.

Question. Nobody was ever taken up or tried for it ?

Ansioer. No, sir ; his wife's master said that he would have it done, but he never had
it done.

Qiiestion. Were the men you saw there and knew men of property ?

Answer. Some are, and some are not ; some of them are well off.

Question. How had you and John voted in the election ?

Answer. We voted the Union ticket.

Question. AVhat ticket had these men voted that yon saw there ?

Answer. They all voted another ticket altogether ; they voted right the other way.

.

Question. How long was this after the election of last fall?

Ansioer. Well, I do not know for certain ; I like to tell the truth about it, but I do
not know for certain how long it was after the election. I know it was not a great
while after the election.

Question. Had you and John both voted at the elections ?

Answer. Tes, sir.

Question. And had old Uncle Chai'ley who was examined here ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; all had voted.
Question. What did you do when they left you, after they had whipped you?
Answer. I staid there uutil they all got off, and then I got back to the house and got

some camphor and salt and water, or my wife did, and washed my back iu it.

Question. How long before you got well, so as to be about again ?
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Ansivei: It was over a week before I did a bit of work for Mr. Williams.
Question. How long before Walthall's wife got well ?

Answer. It was two mouths before she got well.
Question. Where does she live now ?

Answer. She lives at Mr. Williams's mill, right there, as far as from here to the
bridge, [referring to a bridge over the railroad, close to the bnilding iu which the com-
mittee were sitting,] or a little farther, from where it was doue.

By Mr. Bay.uid :

Question. Tilda WalthaU was the wife of John Walthall ?

Answer. Yes, sii'.

Question. Do you know Kena Little ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And Letty Little 1

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Mary Carter is your wife ?

Ansivei: Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know one they call old Uncle Charley?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know Hester Goggiu ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know that they have all been examined here before this committee
about these things ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question, Have you been before the grand jury here ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. You were summoned to testify before them?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you testify there to all that you have testified to here ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. «

Question. You saw old Uucle Charley Little the same night that they beat you ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he and I were standing right together.
Question. How many men did you say were there disguised and engaged in this busi-

ness ?
*

Answer. I think there were twenty-five anyhow, if not more.
Question. Did you count them ?

Answer. No, sir ; I just saw them in big droves ; when this shooting was doue some
ran off.

Question. Had you ever seen any of these disguised men before ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I saw some at the mill that very evening.
Question. How long before this was doue ?

Answer. On Monday evening, and this shooting and whipping was done on the same
night.

Question. You saw them that same day ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I saw them at the miU.
Question. How many did you see at the mill ?

Ansiver. There were three at the mill ; and those three I saw that day at the mill
were with the crowd that night.

Question. When did you hire oiit—at Christmas time, or about the first of the
.year ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
just directly after Christmas.

Question. WJiat is the custom—to hire hands for the year or the season ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is it to hire them from one New Year to another ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. With whom did you hire for the last year ? You say you quit iu the mid-
dle of the crop.
Answer. I quit when the crop was laid by.

Question. What was the condition of the crop then ?

Anstvei\ They were all laid by.

Question. What were the crops ?

Answer. Just corn ; I never planted any cotton.
Question. Was the corn gathered in July ?

Answei'. No, sir; I did not stay there to gather the crop. The firsi year I worked
all the year.

Question. You went away about the 1st of July ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And your employer wanted you to stay until the 1st of January follow-
ing?
Answer. Yes, sir. I only set in until the crop was laid by, and then I was to quit,
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for I wanted to go to school some ; there was a school going on close hy. But they
said that if I went to scliool they were going to hang me.

Qticiitio)!. Who told you that ?

Ansiccr. Mr. IMonroe.

Question. IIow long had you known Jolni Walthall ?

Answer. I do not know for certain how many years. I have been knowing him a
great many years. I knew him a right smart while before I was grown.

Question. Had you heard about John running after some white women in the neigh-
borhood ?

Ansivcr. I had not heard anything about it until then.

Question. Had you not heard him accused of that?
Answer. I had hoard him accused of it ; but the reason I thought they accused him

was this : He worked with Monroe's son-in-law. One day when ho was working
with him he said he did not put in lull time. I never heard anybody say anything
about running after women only Monroe and his son-in-law ; I never heard anybody
accuse him of any such thing. Mr. Williams said ho worked with liim, and he never
found anything amiss in him. I was telling him about what I heard them say that
uight* when they came there.

By the Chaikman :

Question. I understand from your testimony that last year you worked with Monroe
until July ?

Answer. Yes, sir, the last year I worked with him ; I worked with him a year and
a half.

Question. And he paid you nothing ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. And you then left Mm to go to school ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. What did he say about your going to school?
Answer. He said that if I went oft" to school with the other negroes, the first thing I

knew the Ku-Klux would have me. I never went.
Question. You did not go to school ?

Answer. No, sir ; I was afeared.

Question. Did the Ku-Klux disturb those who did go to school ?

Ansioer. Some of them they have.
Question. How ?

Answer. They got after my brother; I know that. They took him off and told him
to stay at liome, and not go any more, and to serve the master and mistress, afid to do
everything that white people told him to do ; that he was not free yet, and should not
vote for such and such a man. Ho had been working some for Mr. Wyatt Williams

;

they talked about that.

Question. How many colored people weut to school ?

Answer. I do not know ; there was a great many. There were only two families that
did go that they bothered ; they were two brothers, and another man named Joe Ray

;

they beat him, and whipped his wife and daughter.
Question. You never have heard anybody make any comijlaiut against Walthall, ex-

ceiit this Monroe and his son-in-law ?

Answer. No, sir. ,

Question. And they fell out with him something about his working there ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you ever hear anybody make any complaint against Walthall's wife ?

Answer. No, sir ; I never did hear anybody say anything at all against her. I talked
with her old master who raised her, and he said he never heard anything amiss of her
at all ; that he raised her himself, and knew her, and nobody coidd fetch up a thing
against her.

Question. Did they molest your family ?

Answer. They struck my wife on the head with a pistol or gun, and they kicked her
and tried to make her tell whether I had a pistol or not the night they came there.

Question. Was any one of these men you si>eak of being there a justice of the peace ?

Ansioer. No, sir ; I do not think he was.
Question. You say some of them are men of a great deal of property ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And some of them are very trifling characters ?

Answer. Yes, sir. Some of them are tolerably well oft"; one has got a mill and right

«mart of property ; some of them are not much better oil" than I am, and I call myself
powerful low down.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Are you sure you recognized these men through their disguises ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Qiiesiion. How did you recoornize them?
Answer. I will tell you. When this iiiau was shot there was a great big Ifght out

there, and they raised up their veils from their faces to see where this man was shot

By the Chairman :

Quesiton. So that you could see their faces ?

Atiswir. Tbat gave me a good chance to see their faces.
Quesiion. Were they people you have always known ?

Answer. I have known them a long time. And my brother-in-law followed four of
them home there not long ago. They said they would come after me again if I did not
leave Mr. Wyatt Williams's.

Question. Who is your brother-in-law ?

Jnsicn: James Battle. They went after my brother, and he broke and ran off into
the woods. They told my sister to call him back, and she .said she hollered; and he
said that if they had more business with him than he had with them, they could come
out there. He ran along into a little patch of woods, and then stopped.

Question. How long have you heard of Ku-Klux in that i)art of the country ?

Answer. They commenced along last year.
Question. What have they been doing?
Answer. Whipping and slashing people there. I never heard of their killing any-

body, until they came along andJcilled this man. They have just got the people about
there so that half of them are afraid to stay in their houses. I have not staid in my
house one night, as I ought to, since corn-planting, more than I am there nov.

Question. Where do you stay ?

Anstcer. I stay out in the woods.
Question. Do you go about in the day-time ?

Answer. I go on and do my work in the day-time, and on Sunday I knock about. If
I get a chance to get home and get something to cat before dark,! do it ; if not, I go
into the woods without it and go to sleep. As for my wife and children, I do not know
how they are getting on ; I cannot tell anything about it.

Question. How many colored people are in that condition ?

Answer. A great many of them ; my brother, for one, George Carter ; my brother-in-
law ; and another colored man there, Joe Kay ; they are just afraid to staj- in their
houses when night comes.

Atlanta, Georgia, October- 23, 1871.

TODDY KINNEY (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. State your age, residence, and where you were born.
Answer. I will soon be twenty-five years old ; twenty-live on the 12th of March next.

I was born in Jackson County, and I live there now.
QHestion. When did you come from there?
Answer. I started awaj' from there yesterday morning was a week ago.
Question. What do you know about anv people in the count3T that are called Ku-

Klux f

Answer. Well, sir, I do not know much about them ; I have seen some that they call

Ku-Klux ; I do not know whether they were Ku-Klux or not.
Question. Tell us what you saw and heard about them.
Answci: Vv^hat I saw was this : The evening they went to Mr. Holliday's I saw Jim

Finch go down to Mr. Martin's plantation and get his boys and go off with them at
night. I was up there the next morning again, and Mr. Martin told me not to tell

anybody that Jim Finch came and got his boys to go off with him.
Question. Did you see them go o&l
Answer. Yes, sir ; I was right there when they went off.

Question. Were they riding or Avalking? <^

Answer. They were on horseback when they went off.

Question. Were they disguised ?

Answer. No, sir ; they were not disguised when I saw them.
Question. What time was it they went off"?

Answer. Well, just about dark.
Question. Did you hear them say where they were going ?

Answer. No, sir ; I never heard them say where they were going.
Question. Why did Mr. Martin want you to say nothing about it?

Answer. He never said what was the reason that he did not want me to tell it, and I

never asked the reason.
Question. When did you see the Martin boys again ?

Answer. The next day, about 9 or 10 o'clock.
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Question. How for do you live from Ilolliday's ?

Answer. About a quarter of a mile.

Question. Have you ever seen any of these people called Ku-Klux riding about over
the conntry ?

Answer. No, sir; I never saw any disguised men riding about over the country.
Question. Did you ever see the places where it is said they meet ?

Answer. No, sir ; I never saw any.
Question. Is there anything else you know about this matter ?

Answer. No^ sir.
«

By Mr. Bayard:
Question. Were you before the grand jury as a witness in Mr. Holliday's case?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you examined, before the grand jury ?•

Anstver. Yes, sir.
*

Question. You testified against these men who attacked his house?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By the Ciiairmax :

Question. What coat is that you have got on ?

Answer. It is Mr. Holliday's—one I got from him.
Question. Which Holliday?
Anstver, Bob Holliday.
Question. Is that a coat which he had when he was in the confederate army ?

Anstver. I reckon it is; I never saw him wear it, and I do not know when he got it.

Atlanta, Georgia, Octoier 23, 1871.

JOHN C. CALHOUN (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Cil«rman :

Question. What is your age, where were you born, and where do^you now live?

Anstver. I am twenty years old about now ; I was born in Virginia; and I now live

in Jackson County.
Question. When did you come from'Virginia ?

Anstver. A year before the war broke out.

Question. When did you come here from Jackson County?
Anstver. Yesterday w^as a week ago I started from there.

Question. What do you know, if anything, about i^eople there that are called Ku-
laux?

Answer. I know some of them. They came around where I was living last winter,

sixteen of them did, and I knowed three of them.
Question. Who were they ?

Anstver. Jim Finch, and Jack Haney, and Jack Finch.
Question. Were they walking or riding ?

Anstvei: They came to my house walking; they hitched their horses off a piece from
the house, maybe a quarter of a mile, and maybe not that far.

Question. W^ere they disguised ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. How were they disguised ?

Anstver. They had on white aprons, or sheets, or something with sleeves to it, and
belts around tliem.

Question. Did they have anything over their faces ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they have any arms ?

Anstver. They had pistols.

Question. Go on and tell us all that they did.

Anstver. They took me out and whipped me.
Question. How did they get into your house ?

Anstver. They jnst came running and knocked the door open ; they up with a chunk
just as they got to the door and knocked it open.

Question, Were you living there by yourself?
Anstver. 1 was living in the house with another man aii^l his wife.

Question, What was his name ?

Anstvei: Harrison Flannigan.
Question,- Tell us all about what they said and did.

Anstver, That was Tuesday night.

Question. Did they whip anybody else but you ?
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Answer. Not that night; they took him off, too, but he got away.
Question. Did they take you off?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. How far?

Answer. Maybe ouo hundred yards, maybe not quite that far.

Question. How many blows did they strike you ?

Avsiccr. 'Every one of them whipped me but one; I couhl not tell how many licks

they gave me.
Question. What did they whip you with?
Ansirer. With pine tops and piiie switches ; it looked like they took pine tops and

trimmed 1;liem up, and some of them did not trim them up.

Question. Did they make you strip off" your clothes?
Answer. They made me strip.

Question. Did they whip you standing up or lying do.wn?
Answer. Standing up.
Question. After they got through whipping you, what then ?

Answer. They told me to go on back to the house and behave myself.

Question. What did thcj" say they whipped you for ?

Answer. They asked me' if I and'a boy did not fall out on the road, and I said "Yes."

I commenced telling them what it was about, and they said they knew all about it.

Quesiioit. Was it a black boy or a white boy that you had a falling out with ?

Answer. It was a white boy ; one of the same ones that were along when they

whipped me.
Question. What was it about ?

Answer. There was a woman, last August was a year ago, going down the road with

some peaches, and I went on fooling with her. When I came back he cursefl me, and
said I had better be at my work. There was another black fellow there, and I said

to him, " Do you allow that ?" I said it was none of his business, and then this Jack
Haney struck at me with a hoe.

Question. W^hat did you do?
Ansiver. I was just sitting on a hoe when he struck at me, and I threw up my hoe and

turned it off.

Question. What else was done ?

Answer. That was all that was done. Another said, " Don't you do that any more."

He said, " Do you take it up ?" He said, " No." They just dropped it then.

Question. How old is Mr. Haney ?

Ansiver. I do not know ; he was a married man.
Question. Was that what they whipped you for ?

Answer. They did not say that was what it was for, but they asked me if I had a fall-

ing out with a boy.
Question. Was Haney the boy ?

Answer. No, sir ; he was not the boy. Jack Haney took it up ; he is a young man
now.

Question. W^hat did they take Flannigan off for ?

Answer. He was the one that told them not to hit me any more. Next evening after

that they raised a fuss on the road again. Mv. Haney asked Flannigan was he the same
man he was yesterday evening. And then they commenced on him again, and knocked
him dead.

^'»es<Jon. Did they kill him?
Answer. They killed him for a while. Then he put it in a court of justice in Jeffer-

son, and then they came on him.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Tell us about this fuss on the road last August ; who was the woman you
had the fuss about ?

Answer. Her name was Ars Hinter.

Question. Was she a white Avoman or a black woman? ^
Aiiswe)-. She was a black woman.
Question. You say you were fooling with her?
Answer. She just came along, and I walked up the road with her. This young fel-

low just cursed me, and said I had better be back there at my work.

Question. Who was he?
Answer. Jack Finch.
Question. Is he a white boy ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Is he as old as you are ?

Answer. I do not know ; he is a young man now.
Question. Is he as old as you are ?

Ansicer. He may be older or younger. \

Question. Did you come to blows?
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Ansiver. I never offered to bit him.
Question. Tliere were only some ^vords between you ?

Answer. Just wbat I have told you.

Qiiestmi. He ordered you nob to fool, but to work ?

AnsuT): We were working in the road.

Question. Were j'ou working for hiui ?

Answer. No, sir ; he never had anything more to do with me than I had with him.
He was on the road as I was.

Qucslion. Was he a laboring man ?

Answer. Yes, sir
;
just as I was.

Question. After that you had a fuss in the field ? *

Ansiver. No, sir ; they were working ou the road.

Question. And this other man took it up ?

Answer. Jack Haney took it up for Jack Finch, and then this other man told him not
to hit me any more.

Question. Were these men all working, as you were, for wages?
Answer. They were not getting anything ; they were only working on the State road.
Question. Each man did so much to keep n^ the public road f

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you understand the nature of an oath : what is meant when you axe
sworn on that Bible ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; I reckon I do.

Question. What do you understand by it ?

Answer. I swore to tell the truth and nothing else.

Question. Suppose you do not tell the truth?
Ansiver. Well, I am going to tell the truth and nothing else.

Question. You think the whipping these men gave you was on accouut of the fuss
you had with this young fellow on the road?

Answer. Yes, sir ; 1 could not take it to be for anything else but that; they asked me
if I had had a falling out with the boy.

By the Chairman :

Question. Did they ask you that before or after they had whipped you ?

Answer. That was while they were whipping me.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. You say this young fellow was there when you Averc whipped, the one you
had the fuss with !

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. He was one of the disguised men ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Atlaxta, Georgia, Octoler 23, 1871.

HARRISON FLANNIGAN (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. What is your age, where were you boi'u, and where do you now live ?

Answer. I am about twenty-five years old ; I was born in Jackson County, and now
live there.

Question. When did yon come here from Jackson County ?

Ansiver. I started yesterday was a week ago.
Question. Do you know anything about any people in that county they call Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I know two or three of them.
Question. How many ©f them did you ever see?
Ansiver. About eighteen came to my house one night.
Question. When was that ?

Ansiver. It was the next month after Christmas ; about the last of the month after

Christmas.
Question. What did they do ?

Answer, They came there and carried me out ; l)ut I got loose from them. They car-

ried me otf from the house I reckon about one hundred and fifty yards. I got loose

from them, and they shot at me eight or ten times. They left word that 1 had to
go away fiom there. I moved off to Athens and staid a while, and then came back
again.

Question. How did they get hold of you ; where were you ?

Answer. I was in the house ; they just knocked the door down and came in.

Question. Who were with you in the house ?



GEORGIA SUB-COMMITTEE. 481

Answer. My wife "^iis with me, ami a fellow that lived with me, who set in to make
a crop with me.

Quistkin. Who was that?
Jnsiccr. John Calhoun they ca)l him ; the same feJlow that was in here a little bit

ago.
Question. Did you have any children?
Answer. Yes, sir ; four. .

Question. How old were they?
Ansuer. The oldest is about five ye^rs old now.
Question. What is tiie age of the yovingest 'I

Ansicer. The youngest is not more than eight months old.

Question. It was very young at that time'/

Ansiccr. It was not born at that time.
Question. Did they interfere with your wife in any way ?

Answer. No, sir; except she took ou right smart when they carried me oat; and one
of them went back and shot a pistol over her head, and said that if she did not hush
he would kill her.

Question. Did they tell you what they took you out for 7

Answer. No, six'. They asked me if I ever danced any, and I said, " I used to dance."
They said, " By God, you will dance to-night, and there will be no tune i)layed." One
of them said. " You ouglit to have a shovel to bury him ;" and I thought it was death
anyhow. Two of them were leading me, and one let me loose after I crossed the fence,

and I slung awaj* from the other one, and they shot at me. I fell, and one of them
said, "By God, we have killed him;" but they did not touch me.

Question. Did they interfere with j'ou after that ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; not since.

Question. How long were you at Athens?
Anstver. About a month, and then I came back and set into farming again.
Question. Was anything done with these men for disturbing you ?

Ansieer. No, sir.

Question. Why did you not go before the court about it?

I Ansicer. I just thought it would make the thing worse if I staid in the settlement,
and I wanted to stay there and make a crop. I thought if they did not bother me
again I would not bother them.

Question. Do you know what they had against you that they were disturbing you
for?

Ansicer. There was a little fuss took place on the road last August was a year ago.

They rather knocked some black fellows about, and some of us took it up and told

them they should not do that. From that they said they allowed to whip us all for/it.

One of them and I had a few words on the road like this evening, and next evening he
walked up to me—that is, Jack Hauey—and asked if I was the same man I was yester-

day evening. I said, " Yes, of course." He struck at me with his hoe, and as I caught
it a man by the name of Jim Collins Icnoeked me down. I questioned some people
around there as to what they thought best, and they said " Put it in law." I went to
Jetierson, and thej' said they would Ku-Klux me ; that I should not go into court. The
trial was to come off in February. I came on to court, and they never bothered me.
When I got to court they came to me and wanted to make it up, and said that each
man would just pay his costs and just drop it. But they worked it around some way
or other and swindled me, so that 1 had all the costs to pay. I understood afterward
that they stated that it did them as much good to have me j>ay all the costs as if they
had whipiied me.

Question. "Were those men who came to your house disguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

^ Question. How were they disguised ?

Answer. Some of them had dough-faces on their faces, and white sheets on ; and
some had blankets around them ; and some had paper faces on their faces.

Question. Did you know any of them ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; three of them.
Question. Who were they ?

Answer, Jim Collins, Jack Haney, and Jim Finch.
Question. Were the rest strangers to you, or were they so disguised that you could

not tell who they were ?

Answer. I could not see them all good ; those were the ones that had hold of me. Col-
lins had a paper face on his face, and it dropped oif when he had hold of me, and he
struck me over the head with a pistol to keep me from looking at him. When I got
loose from him I cut across through the field and saw Jack Haney and Jim Finch
when they came home.

Question. How long since you first heard of the Ku-Klux in that county ?

Answer. Well, I heard of them about there for three or four years, but I never sa'v*

any until this time, but after last Christmas I heard a great deal of talk about them
Question. What were they said to be doing ?
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Answer. They said they allowed to whip black and white, aud make them stay in
their iilact^s ; that if a black man voted eoiitrary to the man ho was woikiuj;- for, tliey

would wliip iiiiii or run him oft'; tliey were ()[)])()sed to his votini; any kind of a ticket

l)ut the democratic ticket, and they said that if we did not just do so and so we should
not work their land, or something of the kind.

Question. How did you want to vote,?

Ansicer. We wanted to vote the radical ticket.

Question. This fuss, as I understand you to say, occurred along in August, but they
did not come to you till after Christmas. Why did they not come to yon before f

Answer. I lived with a mau by the same of Jfftiu Seay; there were about fifteen or
twenty of us on the plantation. The way he told me of it was this : he got a deaf and
(liunb letter

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Got what '? •

Ansjver. He got a deaf and duml) letter—one with no man's name signed to it—order-

ing him to turu a parcel of us off the pkmtation, or they would punish him for it.

He turned off several of us; our time was not up until Christmas, anj' how. As quick
as ho turned us off aud we scattered about they ran in upon us; they were rather
afraid to come in on us when we were on the plantation together, twenty-five of us.

By the Chairman :

Question. W^hat do you mean by running in on you ?

Answer. Whipped us.

Question. How many did they whip besides you?
Ansiver. They never whipped me ; I got away ; they whipped Calhoun.
Question. Was there a Dr. Watson there*
Answer. Yes, sir ; he rented a part of the land, and I lived with him this year.,

Question. Have they disturbed you since that time ?

AnM'er. No, sir; not since I went back there.

Question. What did Dr. Watson tell you that he thought would be safe ?

Ansiccr. When I came from Athens to Jelferson I did not have the money to pay the
lawyer's fee, aud I asked Dr. Watson to pay it. He said he would pay it if I would
come there aud live with him. I asked him if I would be troubled, and lie said that he
did not know ; that he would feel around and see. I went back to town, and in a week
or so he came and said that he aid i:ot think they would trouble me until I got in my
crop, but perha])S they would then.

Question. Have you gathered your crop yet?
Ansiver. No, sir; I was uot done pulling fodder when I came hero.

Question. Are you not afraid to go back? ^

Answer. I am sort of afraid of it.

Question. What are you goiug to do?
Answer. I am going to start back if they kill me before I get there.

Question. How much did that law matter cost you, in lawyer's fees and all?

Answer. Forty-one dollars, about as near as I can remember.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Have you been before the grand jury here ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you make your complaint there just as you have made it here?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Vookhees :

Question. IIow long has it been since you had this trouble with these men ?

Ansiver. It was last August was a year ago.
Question. Have you continued to live in the neighborhood ever since?
Answer. Yes, sir ; until they ran in on me and threatened me, and then I moved out.

Question. You never have-had but oue trouble with them ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. That was last August a year ago.?

Answer. Tliat was when I had the difficulty in the road.
Question. When did they run in on you ?

Answer. It was the next month after Christmas.
Question. Along in January?
Ansuer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you stay there in the neighborhood after that ?

Answer. No, sir ; I moved into Athens.
Question. How far off was that ?

Answer. It was fifteen miles.

Question. Are you living iu Athens now ?

Answer. No, sir; I came back on the plantation.
Question. To the jjlace where you had been troubled?
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Aiisiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Wlieu did yon go bacli there ?

Ansiccr. Tlie last of February.
Question. Aud you have been living at the old place since last February?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you seen the men that whipped you since that time?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. They have not molested you since ?

Sinsicer. No, sir.

Question. Have they threatened you any ?

Answer. I have heard that they threatened me.
Question. They have not said anything to your face?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do they kuo-w that you know them as the men that whijiped you?
Answer. Yes, sir, I reckon they do.
Question. Have they ever said anything to you about it ?

Ai)swer. Mr. Collins did. He said to me that he was not along that night; that I
need not think hard of him, because ho was not along.

Question. He wanted to clear himself in your mind ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. You have made a crop there this summer?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are you a married man ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you had your family there with you?
Anszcer. Yes, sir ; they are there now".

Question. You have got along peaceably until now ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you are going back there to live this winter?
Answer. I am going back there to gather my crop, aud then I allow to leave there.
Question. Where are you goiug then ?

^
Ansiver. I think I shall come up to Atlanta.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. You said Dr. Watson lent you money to employ a lawyer ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; we did not employ any lawyer. They said that each man would
pay his costs, and just stop it and not let it go to trial.

Question. Is Mr. Watson a good friend to you, and kind to you?
Attsivcr. Yes, sir.

Question. Do yoti trust him ?

Ansu'cr. Yes, sir.

Question. Does he attend your family when sick?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Aud he is kind to you?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Vookheks :

Question. What ticket does he vote ?

Ansiver. He votes the democratic ticket, I think ; he said to me when I went to Jef-
feTson to vote that we could vote for whoever we damned pleased; just that way; he
did not persuade anybody to vote his way, and they could all vote tor whoever they
please ; that was what he said.

Question. Those men who worked on the road when you had the fuss, were they men
who worked for a living as you did?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.
•

Question. They were common men in that community ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that was the class of men who came to your house that night to molest
you?

Ansive)'. Yes, sir.

Atlanta, Geohgl^, Oetoher 24, 1871.

JOHN M. CHUECH sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. How old are you, where were born, aud where do you now live ?

Answer. I am forty-nine years old ; I was born in Habersham County, and now live

there.



484 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Question. When did yon come from Habersham Couuty ?

Answer. I left their a week ago yesterday evening.

(Jnestion. Will you state whether, in your opiuioii, there is an orgniiization iu that
county known as the Ku-Klux, and what reason have you for thinking so ?

Answer. In my o])inion there is in that county an organization known as the Ku-
Klux. My reason for believing it is that I have been credibly informed of their riding

in disguise in various parts of that couuty.
Question. For how long a time?
Answer. The only laid I have heard of in that county was a short time ago.

'

Question. How long since you fust heard of the oiierations of this klauf
Answer. In that county, do you mean f

Question. Yes. \

Answer. I heard of it immediately after it took place ; it was within a few miles, of

where I live; it has probably been two months since the thing took place.

Question. Did you ever hear of any Ku-Klux in the county before that time?
Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. What was done on that occasion ?

A7isiver. There was a yard fence torn down.
Question. Was there anything else done ?

Answer. I do not know whether there was any person threatened. The gentleman
that was injured left the place and went oft" down on the railroad.

Question. Who is he?
Answer. His name is Popham.
Question. AVhat had they against him?
Answer. I do not know.
Question. What is the feeling iu that county towards Union men and negroes?
Answer. The feeling in that county against Union njcu and negroes is about the

same, and it Is pretty bad against either and both, bad euongh.
Question. What congressional district is that in ?

Answer. It isiu the sixth congressional district.

Quoetion. Who represents that district iu Congress ?

Answer. Mr. Price.

Question. Are there many republicans in that county ?

Answer. There have been as many republicans— at least, the county gave a majority
in favor of the ratihcatiou of the present constitution; but they have been falling off

ever since. They have been intimidated until thej' will not come out at elections, and
thej^ make a very poor show now. I hardly know Avhat to call the utimber.

Question. How have they been intimidated f

Ansteer. By abuse and threats.

Question. Who have made those threats ?

Ansicer. They have been made by the leaders of the democratic part j-.

Question. What sort of threats were made ?

Answer. Generally threats hj^ve been made for thorn to leave. My life has been
threatened on more than one occasion. And then the abuse is thrown in their faces of
" nigger equality," and all such stuft" as that. In my estimation it does not amount to
much.

Question. Has there been any republican speech made iu your county lately?
Answer. None since Colonel Farrow, of this place, made a speech iu the presidential

contest.
Question. Why not ?

Ansiver. Mr. Wimpy came there while he was a candidate for Congress, and they
hissed at him ; aud I advised him not to attempt to speak, as I was well acquainted
Avith the feelings of the people. He declined to sxieak ; and I am sure there would have
been difticulty if he had attempted it.

Question. Do you know any cases of violence in the county, such as killing or whip-
ping ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many?
Answer. There have been five or six cases of violence by shooting, and some other

shooting that did not take effect. Dave Starrett was publicly shot and killed in the
streets of Claikesville.

Question. When was that?
Answer. It was soon after the surrender; I do not remember how long it has been

since then ; it was maybe a year after the surrender. Lew McMillan was shot in
the streets of Clarkesviile ; he is the next man I remember being shot. And last year
a man came there who called himself Mr. Barney, from some county below here. Ho
shot Isaac Payne in town, right before everybody ; and he shot Jeff. Starrett boldly,
before everybody. And there was another boy shot there last summer, on a Sunday
morning in broad daylight.

Question. Were those jiersons white or black who were shot ?
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Jnsiver. They were all black men and boys ^^•ho were shot.

Question. Has anybody been punished for these shootings ?

Answer. No, sir; nobody has been punished, and nobody has been attempted to bo
prosecuted, except this man Barney. Tlie court was in session a week after ho shot

these negroes, and the grand jury got a bill against him. A warrant was put in the

hands of the sheriff. Barney and the sheriff were both in town, and Barney went
among the citizens of tlie town getting money to defend himself and to helii get awaj-.

Question. Could the sheriff have arrested liim without danger?
" Ansiccr. I think ho was afraid there would bo a shooting affair if he attempted to

arrest him, and I think there might have been.

Question. He was not arrested ?

Ansurr. He was not arrested; he went off.

Question. Do you think the sheriff was in sympathy with him, or was he afraid to

discharge his duty ?

Answer. Well, sir, I think the sheriff was in symjiathy with him.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. And was afraid of him also ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir ; afraid also.

By the Chairman :

Question. No one has been brought to trial or punished for any of these killin,gs?

Answer. No, sir. At the time of this last shooting affair on Sunday morning, the
young man was walking out to church. As it appears, there were some boys waiting
for him, and one of them stepping off the fence, says, " I'll shoot you," and shot him in

the breast, the ball entering near the heart, and it is there yet.

Question. Did he shoot him dead?
Answer. No, sir; he is living. One of the parties died. Young Mr. "White himself

has been shot there.

Question. How long ago has it been?
Ansicer. Last June a year ago, I think.

Question. Do you know the reason for shooting him or any of the rest of them?
Answer. Well, I do not. In regard to the lirst one I spoke of, I thiidi they said he

was drinking and cutting np some there, or had been during the day.

Question. Have you known of any x>ersons in your county having been whipped?
Ansiocr. Yes, sir; a white man was taken out of his bed by some ruffians about the

village there. They strij^ped him, tied him, and whipped him nearly to death. I

believe they carried him back to the village, about four miles from his residence, and
whipped him once or twice on the way. There was no prosecution for that.

Q"es/)OH. What was his name ?

Answer. I did not know him. He staid there but a short time, and then went off.

They told him that if he ever appeared in court against them they would kill him, and
he took it for granted that he had better go.

Question. Was he a citizen thei'e ?

Answer. I do not think he had been raised there ; he had not been there long ; I

never got acquainted with him.
Question. Was he a northern man ?

Ansu-er. I do not know where he was from ; I never had any acquaintance with him.

Question. Do you know of any others having been whipped?
Answer. There is an old negro in the village there by tlie name of Charles Dease, a

respectable man. I knew of one incident of which the old man spoke to me. He is a

man of truth and veracity, and has as good a character as any man. He said

these fellows went intb his store one night and demanded goods. He asked them t<)

pay for them, and they knocked him down and kicked him, and then told liim that if

he went to law they would kill him. He asked me what he should do, and I told him
he could do his pleasure. He thought he would be killed if he did anything

;
and did

not do anything. There was another outrage on an old negro, who slept in the store,

and was a trusty negro, and had some friends about the village. Two ruffians went
into his house at night and kicked him out of doors because he would not give them
something to eat. He attempted to punish them in court, but he made a complete

failure, although his evidence was direct. Tlie negroes have cpiit asking for their legal

rights in the courts in our section
;
you could not get one to do it.

Question. Would they get their rights if they did ask for them?
Ansiver. Well, sir, I doubt it very much. I do not think they would. I do not think

the civil law could be enforced there in their favf)r.

Question. How would it be with a white republican, say a common poor man ?

Atmver.- It would be about the same thing. The republicans keep their mouths shut,

or when they speak they whisper in a little squad. They keep at home, and refuse to

vote on account of this very thing. Our county at the beginning v>'as Union by a

majority ; but things have been managed in such a way that the people have become
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intiinidatcd, until tlicy will not come out and take part in the elections. There are

only a i'vyv there that let the people know, auywhere and. everywhere, what they are

jiolitically.

Question. Those men who were injured were Union men and republicans?

Answer. Those negroes

?

Question. Yes; those that were shot, and whipped, and beaten?
Ansu-cr. Yes, sir; they were all rejjublicans, I suppose. I know that Dease and Star-

rett are. This last I mentioned is a boy who' is not old enough to vote. •

Question. What was the politics ol" the X)artie8 who were understood to have inflicted

those injiuies upon them?
Answer. Democrats, every one of them.
Question. Had any of them been in the rebel army ?

Answer. Well, the one in this last shooting affair was a boy, who is not old enough
to vote or to bo in the army. All the rest, I suppose, had been in the rebel army ; no,

I think it was generally understood that the boy who killed Starrott was too young
to have been in the army.

By Mr. Bayakd :

Question. Do you hold any ofifico in the county ?

Ansiver. I am acting there now as notary public in the town district.

Question. Have you ever held any office there before ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What office?

Answer. I was chairman of the board of registration in that senatorial district ; that is,

for that county and two other counties. And I took the census there last summer for

that county ; and I have been sheriff of that county and deputy shcrilf.

Question. W^hat was the term of office ?

Answer. The term is two years.

Question. When were you sheriff ?

Answer. It was about from 1847 to 1851.

Question. You have not held that office lately ?

Ansiver. No, sir. W^heu the registration was going on I registered the votes in that

senatorial district ; aud I took the United States census in that county last year.

Question. You have always been acting with the republican party in that district ?

Answer. Since the surrender I have favored reconstruction, Avithout any variation,

from the beginning. I have acceded to all the propositions for reconstruction. I was
for the Unioii before the war as long as I dared to speak, and I was in favor of the

Union during the war ; and as soon as I dared to speak in favor of the Union after

the Avar I did so.

Question. Have you been before the grand jury here in this city ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Were you summoned to appear before them ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. With whom have you iirepared this memorandum to which you have been
referring since yon have been here in Atlanta?

Answer. I prepared this right hero to refresh my memory. I do not know what the

court had me summoned here for ; my subpcena Avas United States against

Question. Did you ever yourself see any baud of men in disguise?

Answer. I haxo never seen any man in disguise.

Question. HaA'e you any knowledge, except by rumor, of the existence of any such
band ?

Answer. I have none, except from information from those who have conversed Avith

them, or Avho say they haA'e.

Question. Have you ever been personally disturbed by any of those men ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You have never been disturbed in your person or property by them ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Have you ever been assailed in your person or property by lawless men in

your OAvn county since the f)assage of the reconstruction measures ?

Answer. I haA'e.

Question. State the case.

Answer. I Avas personally assailed on almost every occasion when I appeared in x)ublic

during the tinie of reconstruction.

Question, State the method of assault—what Avas actually done to you.

Answer. I Avas not actually assaulted, but I saved myself by keeping out of the way,
and by calling the sheriff to my aid. On one occasion a man pi'epared himself, as a
friend Avho saAV the thing take place afterward informed me, Avith a rock as big as a
man's head, and Avaylaid me in the street that niglit.

Question. Who Avas that man ?

Answer. I Avould prefer not to tell his name.
Question. Does he liA'c iu that town ?
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Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Was it on accomit of a, iieisoual grudge agaiust you ?

Anstner. No, sir; it was political.

Question. Was lie acting for himself or Nvith others?

Answer. Ho was put forward as a tool.

Question. He was actiug by himself at that time ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You spoke of i)ersons who "were shot after the surrender?

Answer. Yes, sir.

<?Hes/(OH. That -was in 1865?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

'

Question. By whom was Starrett killed?

Ansiver. I do not know.
Question. You do not Icnow by whom he was killed?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you know the man who was killed ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. But you did not know who killed him ?

Answa: No, sir.

Question. Who was the next man killed ?

Answer. There was no other man killed.

Question. Only one man killed since the surrender?-
Answer. But one that I can think of now ; I have mentioned no one else.

Question. You have been living there since the surrender, have beeu actiug as notary

public, and you took the census there ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I think there have been other murders in that county, but I cannot
specify the circumstances.

Question. Can yon state the case ?

Answer. I know there was a murder, and it was before the grand jurj

.

Question. Was the person tried ?

Answer. I think so.

Question. Do yon recollect the result ?

Answer. I think the murder was justified.

Question. On the gionnd of self-defense

?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir. I do not think that was an outrage; it was an affray between two
negroes, and it raised no excitement.

Question. The killing was justified?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who is Mr. Barney? •

Ansiver. I do not know him.
Question. What did you say he had done?
Answer. That he saitl he had killed some negroes. '

Question. Did he say that to you ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. How do you know it?

Ansirer. From hearsay.
Question. Then you state upon hearsay that Barney killed some negroes ?

Ansiver. I did not say he killed any negroes.

Question. Yon have stated all you "have said about that mrai uj)on rumor ?

Answer. Yes, sir, upon rumor.
Question. State the date when yovi heard those rumors ?

Answer. Some of my family saw this Payne shot.

Question. By Barney ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who is he ?

Answer. He was a stranger there; he came from another county.
Question. And he went off after shooting those people i

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And he was indicted by the grand jury?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Aud the sheriff^ faDed to arrest him ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who is the sheriff?

Answer. Mr. A. J. Nix.
Question How do you know the sheriff failed to arrest him because he wished to

fail?

Answer. I did not say I knew that.

Question. Did you not say to the chairman that you believed he favored his escape ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I said I believed that.

Question. Do you know that fact ?
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Atiswer. I do not know it ; I did not say so.

Qttcsiioii. Do yon moi-e than suspect it?

Axtiivcr. I liL'lievi! it, from the fact tliat lie belonged to the party ordinarily railing

out against tlie negroes and the republicans.
Question. That is the only reason you have for believing this man failed in his duty?
Answer. Tliere is another reason; he did not arrest him when ho coxdd have done it;

I should have done it.

Qnesliou. Was that the sheriff -who protected you?
Ansivcr. No, sir.

Question. What is the date of this failure to arrest that man?
Ansicei: Probably eighteen months ago.

Question. I understood you that all these acts of violence that you have now stated
^ere committed openly, by single men?

Answer. Yes, sir; there was no masking, and no necessity for masking to shoot a
Mcgroin that county.

Question. That is your ojiinion ?

Answer. I know it from what I have seen.

Question. Who is the judge of that district ?

Answer. Judge Davis.
Question. What is his full name?
Answer. I do not remember.
Question. Do you live in that county ?

^

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You are chairman of the board of education ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you not say you were?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. You were a notary j)ublic ?

Answf^: Yes, sir.

Question. But you do not know the name of the judge of that district ?

Answer. I do not at this time recollect his given name.
Question. Where does ho live ?

;

Answer. 1 believe he lives in Walton.
J|^

Question. Is ho not an appointee of Governor Bullock?
Answer. Yes, sir. He did his whole duty, and the grand jury also did theirs ; they

got a bill right away.
Question. Who was the prosecuting of3Bcer ?

Answer. I hardly know whether it was brought before the grand jury by the prose-
cuting officer ; the case went before the grand jnry, and it might have gone there iu

the shape of an indictment or a presentment.
Question. Have you attended the courts where any trials have taken place for law-

lessness or disorder ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Give the dates.

Answer. Well, year before last I was acting, as I am now, as notary public, and I

constituted one member of a county criminal court that was organized by the lirst

legislature under reconstruction. Tliere were two negroes brought before me during
that year—that is, the year before last—charged with stealing, and they were both
convicted, and I sentenced them both to the chain-gang.

Question. Can you give any other cases ?

Ansiver. That is all.

Question. Then, iu the case of which you are speaking, the negroes were convicted?
Answe)'. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you been present in court when any parties charged with whipping
or other lawlessness have been brought before the court ?

Anstcer. They never have been brought before the court there.
Question. They have never been brought before the court ?

Ansiver. Never, excex)t the one I told you of.

Question. Which one?
Answer. I do not know that I gave that negro's name. His name was Adam some-

thing. Two men went at night and requested him to give them supper. I think I

did not tell all the circumstances of that case.

By the Ciiaikman :

Question. Go on and give them now.
Answer. These men went there and ordered the old man to give them something to

eat. He said he had nothing tit for them to eat. They then kicked liim out of doors,

threw his furniture out, and abused him pretty considerably. His fritauLs in town
carried the case before the grand jury of what then existed as a district court iu our
State.
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By ^Ir. BvYARD

:

Question. V\'as it befdre Judge Davis?
Answet: It was not tbat kind of a court ; it vras a county court.

Question. Wliat was the date of that 1

Jnsifcr. In 1868. He failed to get a bill then, and he tried the second time and got

a bill. "When the case came before the court for trial it was all thrown out of court,

and nothing done.
Question. How thrown out of court?
Ansu-er. It was uoU prossed, or dismissed from some defect.

Question. From some defect in the indictment?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. The indictment was quashed as a defective indictment ?

Answer. Yes, sir; or it w.is noil j>i-os>icd.

Question. Do you know the fact of which you speak ?

Answer. I asked one of the members of the grand jury.

Question. You say a bill was found by the grand jury ?

Ansiecr. Yes, sir.

Question. And that bill was subsequently quashed or it in some waj" failed before the
court ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know wliether that indictment failed for some defect or imjier-

fection in it ?

Ansive): That was my understanding ; the records of the court will show that.

Question. Is that one of those cases whicli you characterize as outrages in your
county, Avhich led you to think there is no justice there ?

Ansiccr. Well, it is one of the cases I mentioned ; it surely was f.n outrage.

Question. You believe that the quashing of an indictment for an imperfection in it

was an outrage. Were those two men disguised at all who assaulted the old man and
subsequently were indicted in the case you mentioned ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. They were just two ruffians, I think you termed them, who entered his

cabin ?

Anstccr. Yes, sir, and I term them ruffians yet.

Question. Do you know of a case in your county in which an attack has been made,
and the parties have been brought before the court, in which there has been a failure

of justice ? I mean now any case of physical injury ; if so, state the case.

Ansicer. That is the only case that has been brought into our court.

Question. Then there has been no failure, because no case has yet been brought into

court ; is that the truth ?

Answer. Well, the cases have not been brought.
Question. Therefore there has been no failure, because there were no cases brought

;

is that the truth ?

Answer. I do not know the cause of it ; that may be the cause, or it may not.

Question. Is, then, what you have stated a mere opinion upon this subject f

Ansiver. It is my opinion from the circumstances of the case, being well acc[uaiuted

with the circumstances.
Question. Have you stated all the facts upon which your opinion is based ?

Ansiver. I do not remember any other particular facts.

Question. What is the other tribunal with criminal jurisdiction in your county?
Answer. There is no other tribunal with criminal jurisdiction but the superior court.

Question. Is Judge Davis the judge of that court?
Ansiver. Not at this time. There has been
Question. What has there been?
Answer. I told you that there was a county criminal court.

Question. Who compose that court?
A7iswer. Judge Sutton was the judge at the time of this outrage against the old negro

man, when they got a bill before the grand jury.

Question. The grand jury found a bill?

Ansiver. Yes, sir, at the second trial.

Question. And then the indictment was quashed ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. How are you elected to your office of notary public ?

Ansiver. I was appointed by Governor Bullock.

By the CriAiRM^VN

:

Question. You have been asked repeatedly, in connection with these cases of outrage
upon Adam, how the case went out of court. Do you wish to be understood as saying
that the indictment was quashed, or was it noil prossed, or was there some other mode
in which the case never came to trial?

Ansiver. 1 never examined the regord ; I do not know what was the alleged defect iu
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tbe indictmcut. I thiulc there was some kind of defect. It was cither noil pro^fsed or
quashed iu some way, or got out of court for souie cause ; I never inquired particularly
into it.

Question. During all the time since the war has there been a single instance in your
county in which a white man has been tried and punished for an injury done a colored
man?

Answer. Not one. And, iu fact, since that case of Adam there has not been a negro
who has attempted to seek redress in a court.

Quesiion. Why?
Answer. Because lie knows he cannot get it. There were all those cases of shooting

by Barney. Isaac Payne was shot down and rendered unable to attend to business.

Ilis fiiend Starrett went to ,a justice of the pence in the district an<l asked for a war-
rant. After the warrant had been drawn up by an attorney there, I think by Judge
Sutton, he asked the justice of the peace to sigii it. The justice of the peace cursed
him, and drove him away without doing it ; so I was iiiformed. And then Barney shot
Jelf Starrett for asking for that wai'rant.

By Mr. Bayakd :

Question. Barney was a stranger in the county ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and he shot at two or three others.

By the Ciiaieman :

Question. You siioke of stating these things upon information. Do you regard that
information as reliable, and as true?
Answer. I beli<ive it to bo true.

Question. Did I understand that you were an old sheriff in that county ?

Answer. Yes, sir; from 1847 to 1851, 1 think.

Question. You s})oke of a party attempting an injury upon you, and said that you did
not wish to give his name ; why not ?

Ansiver. I do not Avant to get up these old broils. I have been trying to act as
consistently as I could. I have not had any political jowers with any person during
that time.

Question. Do you know of any criminal offense, the perpetrators of which you would
be unwilling to name even here to us ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I know of a murder. I do not know positively who did it ; bat I

would not like to say who I think did it.

Question. Why not?
Answer. Because I think it would endanger my life there if I should do so. From

my knowledge of public sentiment there I know that it could not bo prosecuted to a
final result.

Question. Do you believe it would be possible to bring the supposed offender to trial

in your county, and have a fair and impartial trial ?

Answer. I have no idea of it ; I have no idea that he would be held in jail there at all

or punished by any means.
Question. Was that murder one of the cases you have mentioned ?

Ansiuer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. You say that you do not know that the person committed tlie act ?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not know it.

Question. Do you consider that you have a right to charge a man with murder ujion

mere suspicion ? -

Ansiver. 1 have not done it, and I do not intend to do it. That is just what I am
talking about. I have refused to do it.

Question. I ask you if you conscientiously believe that you have a I'ight to cluirgc a
fellow-man with murder upon mere suspicion, and without knowledge of the facts ?

Ansiver, Well, sir, I have a right
*

Question. Answer my question, if you can ?

Answer. I do not think it is a fair question, or put in a fiiir way.
Question. You have been asked by the chairman whether you know any criminal

offense, the perpetrators of which you would be unwilling to name even here to us, and
you answered that you did.

Ansiver. The facts in the case are these : Everybody knew that that negro was shot

dead ; he was seen after he was shot, and they took his body and buried it. I had no
doubt that nmny of the citizens of the village know who did it ; they have talked about
it. I have heard rumoi's, not a few, aliout it. Tlio person who is suspected of com-
mitting that murder ran away and staid away. The circumstances of the case justify

me in coming to the conclusion that he was the man avIio comnutted that murder.
Question. Have you any knowledge yourself of the facts?
Answer. I hav(^ said tiom the beginning that 1 have not.

Question. Then 1 ask you if you conscientiously believe that you have a right to
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charge a fellow-mau with murder upon mere sxispiciou, and without knowledge of the
facts f

Ansivcr. I conscientiously believe that I am justilied in coming to the conclusion
that I have arrived at from the circumstances with regard to tlie guilt of that person.

Question. And you do it without any personal knowledge of the facts?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. You have made no charges, and you have named no person ?

Answer. No, sir, I have made no charges, and named no person.

By the Ciiaikmax :

Question. Do you think you would be safe iu making statements here that would
tend to implicate that party ?

Answer. I do not know whether you intend to publish this testimony or not. I could
not make anymore perfect charge before a court than just what I have stated here,
that, from the circumstances, I have a right to arrive at the conclusion that a certain
person is guilty of that offense.

Question. Do you know whether the Avitnesses who have come or who are to come
before this conmuttee are watched, and whether there have been any threats made
against any of tlu!m, and whether anj- persons have been afraid to testify before this
committee from fear that thej' would be punished for telling what tlu^y knew ?

Answer. No, sir. I was abused as I was coming dowu here myself, for appearing be-
fore this committee. I was questioned pretty considerably, and I was asked for my
subpcena, that it might be looked at, and I showed it.

Question. By whom was that ?

Ansicer. I do not know the men's names ; they were strangers to me iu the cars as I
came along. They were very abusive of the Governm.ent of the United States, of the
revenue laws, and of the prosecutions of these Ku-Klus, and of illicit distillers.

Question. I will ask you whether these disguised bands went to this man's house and
caused him to leave your county ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir ; that is iu the neighborhood above me. I do not know, as I stated
at the start, whether they made any threats or not. At any rate, he left immediately
afterwards, and went up the railroad with his familj-.

Question. And ho has not been back there since ?

Answc)i. Not that I know of.

Question. How long ago was that ?

Answa: Probably a month.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Are there illicit stills iu that neighborhood of country ?

Answer. There have been.
Question. Was this man driven away on account of his connection with them?
Answer. I do not think he was charged with that ; I do not know that he was.
Question, Do you know anything about the number of persons engaged in that

business?
Answer. I do not know, of my own knowledge ; a dozen, probably.
Question. It was all rumor ?

Ansive)\ It was all rumor, reliable rumor; it was close to me, in an adjoining
district.

Question. You spoke of threats and abuse directed to you while on your way here ?

Ansive)'. Not personally towards me.
Question. They esxiressed a general dissatisfaction with this examination, and with

regard to the prosecutions of Ku-Klux and distillers ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. A man questioned me iu what 1 call rather an unfriendly way, and
seemed to be indignant. He questioned me as to whether I was going to attend a
military court or a civil court ; what I was going to do, and what I knew about these
things.

Question. And he asked to look at your sub]3cena ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was the character of the acts they did towards you ?

Answei: Yes, sir.

Question. They weie strangers to you?
Answer. Yes, sir ; and I did not inquire their names. *

Question. This was on a railway train ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. This is what yon spoke of as abuse ?

Ansive)'. It was abuse of the Government that I spoke of there. One of the men jaid
that he would bushAvhack as long as he had breath in his body ; and that if the Ku-
Klux would kill a few of these damned Yankees, he thought they would quit trying to
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enforce the revenue law in repjard to (listilling. He said that if they were to imprison
him or to handcuff him, ho wouhl light them until he died, and so on, rather in a gas-
ing way.

Qucs't'io)t. This was a stranger to you,^on the railroad train ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. A man whom you never saw hefore, and liave not seen since ?

Answer. I never saw him before or since.

By the CiiAinMAN :

j

Question. How did he find out that yoTi were coming here as a witness ?

Answer. One came from Gainsvillc with me. The iirst question was. whether there
were any prisoners with me. There were some, soldiers along, and I reckon they sup-
posed that there were som(^ ]nisouers, and that'maybe I was one. I said tliere Avas no
prisoner on the train that I Icnew of. That is the way the conversation came up.

Question. Do you know whether the men who during the war were engaged in rebel-

lion against the Government, and were trying to overthrow it and break it dosvn, have
the same feeling of hostility to it now that they had then ?

Ansicer. Do you mean those I am acquainted with ?

Question. Yes.
Answer. I know that the spirit of rcdjellion in our county is just as high as it ever

was ; I have no doubt of it. My opportunity has been good to enable mo to know the
sentiment of the people in that section, and I know it as well as any man in Northern
Georgia. I heard them express this sentiment several times, in regard to the lire in
Chicago, that they were glad of it.

Question. Do you suppose you could recruit any soldiers in your county to go into war
against the Government ?

Answer. Well, I think there are many there that might be recruited if they thought
there was a prospect of success, or any hope of it.

By ]Mr. Bayard :

Question. Have you known of any such attempt?
Anstccr. No, sir.

Question. Will you please give the names of the individuals who expressed joy over
the disaster at Chicago ?

Ansivcr. Well, it has been done sometimes by strangers in this place.

Question. We want the names, for it is a fearful charge. I think, when you speak of
the peojile, you ought to exclude those who did not say such a thing from those who
did. I want to get at the bad men of your connnnuity, and I do not v/ant the innocent
to suffer with the guilty, I want the names of the men who made that fiendish re-

mark, and I want you to state where it was done.
Answer. I do not want to do it.

Question. I think you should do it, in order that those who made that remarlc should
be held up to the public detestation. Were those men known to you personally ?

Answer. I know some of their names. Can you punish them ?

Question. That is not the question
;
you can only punish them by the public scorn

and detestation.

Answer. I think if that is so they would punish themselves, if there was any man
who detests them, for they spoke it publicly.

Question. I think when you have made that charge you ought to specify the people,
certainly their numbers, who, among your fellow-citizens, made such a remark.

Ansiver. I have no objection to giving the numbers ; I do not think I ought to give
the names, aiul I do not think you ought to require me to do it. You know that I live

here, and what is the use of recjuiring me to do tliat?

Question. How many men do you know personally who said such a thing ?

Ansiver. I know two in this town who said that since I came here.

Question. Any in your neighborhood?
Ansiver. I have npver heard any other.

Question. You say that two of them are men that you know ?

Answer. Two that I remember now.
Question. Are they all that you know Avho said this ?

Answer. I think I have heard another, but I do not remember his name ; I will not
he positive about that, and if I did hear him, I do not think I am acquainted with him.
I remember at this time of two persons whom I do know.
• Question. Then j'our charge of that kind comes down to the fact that two men in

Atlanta, since you have been here, have made such a statement in your presence ?

Answjcr. Yes, sir.

Question. That is all you meant by the charge you made ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And those names you prefer not to give ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I prefer not to give them.
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Question. You do not think it vrould be safe for you to charge a man -witli anything
of that kind 1

Aiisicer. I am not afraid of one man, not generally, but I dislike fioul'le, I loveiieace.

These men would not deny it to me ; I am imvo of that.

By the Ciiaikjiax :

Question. Were those declarations made publicly ?

Ansxver. Cue was made in a dwelling-house, wh(m there was no other gcntleuian

present, but there were some ladies present. The other was luado iu a store, when, I

believe, there was no other person present at all but myself.

Atlanta, Georgia, Ocioiir 24, 1871.

HENRY C. TROTTER sworu and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. How old are you, where were you boru, and where do you no\Y live ?

Answer. I was twenty-tive years old on the 6th of last June ; I was boru iu Haber-
sham County, and I now live there.

Question. What is your political association at the present time?
Answer. I am a democat.
Question. Do you hold auy office in that county ?

Answer. Now i

Question. Yes.

Ansiver. No. sir.

Question. Have you ever held any at any time ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I Avas notary public at one time of the 1021st militia district, in

Habersham County.
Question. I wish you would state to the committee whether any propositions have

been made to you to get up a secret organization in your county ; if so, state by whom,
"when it was, and all about it.

Answer. I cannot state the exact time, but some' three persons came to me for the
purpose of getting me to administer an oath iu a secret organization for the purpose of
putting down the revenue law.

Question. Did they bring yon the form of oath 1

Answer. No, sir, they did not.

Question. Did they show it to you, or tell you what the oath was?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. To whom did they want you to administer the oath?
Answer. Mr. Albert Henderson, Mr. Henry Henderson, and Mr. Thomas Oakes wanted

me to administer the oath to them, and to Mr. Hill and Mr. W. Bailey Smith.
Question. Dul they tell you the form of oath they wanted you to administer?
Answer. No, sir ; they wanted me to administer stich an oath as would form a so-

ciety ; they were to have signs and secrets, and to have an oath that would make them
stick to each other.

Question. A society to prevent the execution of the revenue laws?
Answer. Yes, Sir.

Question. How long ago was that ?

Answer. I think it was iu 1865; no, I am mistaken iu that ; I think it was in 1867.

Question. Have there been any disguised parties riding about iu your county ?

Ansiver. 1 suppose so, but I have never seen them.
Question. How long since you first heard of them?
Ansiver. I think it has been about three months.
Question. What did they do?
Ansiver. Tliey have been shooting about, and whipping some negroes ; they shot at

Mr. Holcombe.
Question. How many negroes have you heard of their whipping ?

Answer. Only three iu that county, I believe.

Question. In what portion of the county was that?
Answer. This Avas in White, in the Blue Creek district.

Question. Hovr far from where you live ?

Answer. About two miles and a quarter.

Question. How many persons w^ere understood to be riding about together ?

Ansiver. I suppose about seventy-tive.

Question. Did you nuderstand how they were disguised?
Answer. I understood that they just had a jjlain dress on, and somethiug over their

faces.

Question. False faces ?
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Ansicer. Yes, sir; and I nuderstoodtbat most of the horses were covered.
Question. "Were they goiug about iu the day-time or iu the night ?

AnsiL'cr. In ibe iii^ht.
' "^

Question. Do you kuow the reaso-u why they Avere shooting and whippiuo- iu that
way? "

Answer. No, sir, not iiarticilhirly.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. You say that some young men, whose names tou have given, came to you
to administer some oath ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. You are a notary public ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. The form of that oath you do not recollect ?

Answer. No, sir
; they wanted mo to draw up the form.

Question. And you declined to do it I

Ansiver. I first agreed to do it under certain circumstances, and thou I reconsidered
the thing and did not do it.

_
Question. AVerc those men engaged, or did they propose to engage, in illicit distill-

ing ?
O O 7

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. This was a kind of combination on their part to evade the law?
Answer. Yes, sir.

,

Question. That was what you spoke of ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was in 1867 ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you known anything of it, of your own knowledge, since that time ?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you yourself ever see any of these bands of disguised men ?
Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. And what information you have regarding them is merely country rumor,
nothing stronger than that?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. And do you have the same information, based upon the same kind of
knowledge, that these bands are still engaged in the distilling business ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You have spoken of negroes being whipped in the adioiuing county of
White?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you any knowledge of the fact that they were accused of reportin"-
these men to the revenue officers ?

'^

Answer. I have not.

Question. You do not know that that was the reason for theiB.beiu"- whipped?
Answer. I do not.

°

Question. In regard to the three men being whipped ; is not that mere matter of
rumor, so far as your knowledge is concerned ?

Ansiver. What I understood they whipped those negroes about was that they had
told that they knew something about who killed Mr. Cason, v.ho had been United
States marshal up there ; I suppose they told out that they knew one or two persons

;

that they had met them returning in disguise, and I suppose that is what those men
whipped them for.

Question. Those negroes were charging certain parties there with having been con-
nected with a murder, and it was supposed the whippings were on account of their
having made that charge ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know of any such case in your county?
' Answer. No, sir.

;

Question. How long have you lived in Habersham County ?
' Answer. All my life until last year.
' Question. You were brought up and raised there, and you know all the people ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are you generally acquainted through the county ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is there generally a peaceful and friendly condition of feeling among the '

people in the county ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is there peace and good order there ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Are men safe in their homes and in their houses and property ?
Answer. Yes, sir; in Habersham they are.
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Question. Do you believe, and would yoii licre state upon vour oatli, that protectiou
is given to people, both white and black, by the laws there, generally ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Suppose a black man, or a man of any politics, had a wrong done him, an
outrage iullicted upon him, or his property taken Iroii^ hiui, would he have a good
chance to obtain justic(! before tiie juries of that county?
Answn: Well, sir, I do not believe he would.
Question. State the reason why.
Answer. There was a parcel of men down there about Clarkesville, and I have under-

stood at certain times that they could not get justice down there. I have known one
or two cases tried before the superior court there when the i)rosecutors could not get
justice.

Question. "\M3at was the case?
Answer. The case of Hamp Cason and Jlr. Lossing.
Question. IIow long ago was that?
Ansiccr. That was in 1865. \
Question. Six years ago, just after the surrender?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. "Well, now, within the last year, in regard to the present time, I will ask
ypu whether, if a man is injured in his person and property and comes into court for
justice, he^au reasonably hojie to obtain it there?

Ansicer. I do not think he could, from what I can hear the people say there ; I only
hear them talk. It just occurs to my mind that they could not get justice under cer-
tain circumstances.

Question. Have you .known any cases in court of failure to get justice other than
those you have mentioned?
Answer. Not that I recollect of now.
Question. Have you known a case where a man has been injured in person and prop-

erty within the last two years, and the case was brought before the courts, and there
was an aljsolute, plain failure to obtain justice in that case ?

Answer. I do not know any.
Question. Who is the judge of your district ?

Ansieer. Judge Davis.
' Question. What is his full name?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. Is he an appointee of Governor Bullock ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. AVho is your sheriif there ?

Answer. I do not think there is any sheriff there. There have been some two or three
elected who have fixiled to give security, and I think the coroner is acting sheriff now.

Question. What is the political complexion of the county ?

Answer. I believe it is mostly democratic.
Question. Were those sheriffs who failed to give security democratic ?

Answer. Yes, sir. *
Question. Who is coroner and acts as sheriff?

Aiiswcr. Mr. Jack Nix.
Question. Is he a fair man and a good citizen ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Does he do his duty and execute all process ?

Answer. I think he failed in the case of Mr. Barney. There was one Mr. Barney, who
came up there and killed several negroes around there.

Question. How long ago?
Answer. I do not know exactly how long ago that was. At that time I had not been

about Clarkesville, and I did not understand those things. I only suppose they did
not take hiui up, as they ought to. They got a warrant out against him, but the
sheriff let him slip, by some means or other.

Question. IIow long ago was that ?

Answer. To the best of my recollection, I think it was about 18G9.
Question. Who was Barney?
Answer'. I did not know him.
Question. Was he a stranger in the county ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he a violent, lawless man who shot these black people ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. And when they got out writs you think the sheriff let him slip off in some
way, and he got away ?

Answer. Yes, sii\

Question. Has he ever returned since ?

Ansiver. No, sir.
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Quesiion. Does the law authorize tlie governor of your State to offer rewards for

murderers ?

Answer. I have not seen it.

Question. You have not seen any reward?
Ansicer. I have not. ^ «

Quesiion. Do you know whether Barney left the State?
Answer. I do not know.
Quesiion. Did lie commit these acts by himself ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I suppose he did.

Question. Where does Judge Davis live ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. Would he have jurisdiction in that county?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Of such offenses as maltreating people, whijiping them, or injuring them?
Answer. Yes, sir; I think he has.

Question: W^ho is the prosecuting officer, the district attorney, or solicitor?

Answer. He is a man by the name of Marler.
Question. Where does he live ?

Answer. I did know, but I have forgotten now.
Question. Does he live in your county ?

Answer. He does not. $ .

Question. Who is his deputy in your county?
Ansiver. I do not know.
Question. Do you know the population of your county ?

Answer. No, sir.

Quesiion. You do not know how many people there are in it ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do yoii know the proportion of black people and white people?
Ayiswer. No, sir.

Quesiion. Do you know anything about the number of votes polled at the election ?
" Ansiver. No, sir. I am a farmer by j)rofession, and do not know anything about those
things.

Question. Do you, of your own knowledge, know of any combination of any kind, at
this time, to resist the laws of the United States ?

Ansicer. No, sir, not of my own knowledge.
Question. Do you know of anything like an organization which is hostile to the Gov-

ernment of the United States in your district ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

By the Cilvikmax :

Question. I understand you to say, in reply to questions which have been asked you,
that you do not think a negro man, or a republican, would be likely to get justice in

the courts of your county ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. •

Question. With reference to this man Barney, this stranger who came there, do you
know whether the people round about Clarkesville made up a purse of money to help
him get off"?

Answer. 1 suppose they did ; it is not within my own knowledge.
Question. Have you heard it so reported ?

Amsiver. Yes, sir.

Atlanta, Geougia, Ocloler 24, 1871.

G. B. HOLCOMBE sworn and examined.

By the Chaikm^vn :

Question. What is your age, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

Answer. I Avas forty-six years old last May; I was born in that portion of Habersham
County now White County, and I now live in White County.

Quesiion. When did you come here ?

Answer. I went home on Saturday, and then came back here yesterday morning.
Question, Will you state if you know anything about an organization of peo^jlegen-

erally called Ku-ivlux ?

Answer. W^ell, sir, I saw some I took to l)e they ; they were disguised men ; they came
to my house one night last spring, and left notice for me that if 1 wanted to live long
and to die happy not to attend the United States court ; that they had understood I

was going to attend the United States court, and that if I wanted to live long and die

happy, not to go.
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Question. They left that notice for you ?

Aimwer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you see theiu wheu they came?
Aiiswcy. Yes, sir.

Qttestioti. Ho\v many were there ?

Answer. There were sixteen.

Questio7). Were they riding or walking ?

Answer. They were riding.

Qtiesfion. Did yuTi know any of them ?

, Arnswer. I thought I knew a portion of them.

^ Question. Will you state the names of those you thought you knew, if you have no
ohjectiou ?

Answer. I think I knew two of the Alleys, Henry and James, and Mr. Isaac Oakes
by liis voice ; those are all I could identify.

Question. Did they give you this notice in writing ?

Answtr. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you have any conversation with them ?

Answer. No, sir ; I did not speak to them. My mother is a midwife; and when
s<miebody hollered I paid no particular attention to it, as they used to call her up at all

times of night. She went out and talked to them. My wife, hearing them talking so
long, got up, looked out of the window and saw them. She told me and my brother,
ami I got up and looked out of tiie window and saAV them.

Question. Is that the only time you ever saw them ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; the only time I ever saw them ; I have heard of them frec^ueutly.

Question. Have you ever been nmlested in any way by them ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I attended the court, and thej'^ waylaid mo and shot me ; they
killed a good horse from under me, and shot me through the leg as I returned from
court.

Question. When was that ?

Answer. I think it was last May.
Question. Where was the shooting done ?

Answer. It was done in White County, near where I live, about a mile and a half or
two miles from where I live.

Question. In a public road?
Answer. It was in a setttement road, when I left the public road and turned off to

go home ; it was not more than two or three hundred yards from where I (juit the
public road that I was shot.

Question. Did you see the party who shot you ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was it in the day-time or in the night-time ?

Ansiver. It was in the fall of evening, just before night
;
probably an hour or three-

quarters of an hour before sundown.
Question. What sort of weapon were you shot with?
Answer. I think from the bullet that it was an army gun. The bullet went through

my leg and through my horse to the skin on the otliler side. They cut it out ; it was
an ounce bullet.

Question. How long since you have heard of these disguised bands of men in your
part of the country;

Answer. I heard of them in our neighborhood along the latter part of last winter
;

that was the first I heard of them ; along in March, may be, I lieard of them in other
places ; I do not know whether it was so or not.

Question. Have they been going about through t)a.e settlement and over the country
since that time ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir; they made some raids, I suppose ; I never saw them. I have just

heard of their whipping negroes in our own county and abusing white people. They
whipped some white men in our countj- ; they whipped a fellov.- of the name of Silas

Hutchens, so the report .is; he got a true bill against them; I was in the court at the
time ; they ran him offfrom my county, and I have understood he is in Clay County,
North Carolina.

Question. Have any of these iiarties been brought to trial and punished for this mis
conduct ?

Answer. We have tried them in our county, had them returned by the grand jury,

but our courts, I do not think, will do anything with them.
Question. Nothing has been done yet ?

Answer. No, sir ; "from what I can learn it is not worth while to try ; the leading mer
there say that we cannot prosecute a suit if any one of us was murdered who was op-

posed to them ; that they are linked from shore to shore ; lawyer Palmer, of Cleveland
told my brother-in-law so; that they intended to carry out anything they undertook.

Question. Who is your brother-in-law ?

Ansiver. Daniel H. McCuUom.

32 G '
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Question. Is lawyer Palmer unilerstood to belong to it ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is the geueral untleistaudiug iu our county.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What is Lis full name ?

Anstver. We call him Duke Palmer ; he signs himself M. K. Palmer.

By the Chairma:n :

Question. How came he to have this talk Avith him ?

Ansiver. They ran in on my brother-in-law because- he helped to arrest some pai'-

ties who had been engaged in illicit distilling. He said it was no use to contend
against them ; that they would carry out everything they undertook ; that we were
too few men opposed to them, and that they were linked from shore to shore, and there
was no use contending against them ; tlip^t he had prophesied their shooting me, their
killing of Mr. Cason, the deputy marshal, and that he and his son, McCullom, would be
killed shortly; that they need not contend against them, or try to.

Quoition. What are your political aftiliations ?

Answer. I have always been a democrat ; I was a secessionist and a rebel soldier, but
I renounced democracy when they tried to run it by the Ku-Kluk organization, and I
am no more a democrat when it comes to that.

Question. Is that the same way with your brother-in-law ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I know him to be one of the strongest kind of democrats.
Question. And you disapprove this lawlessness and violence '

Answer. Yes, sir ; I do.

Question. And you have tried to do what you could to put it down ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. You said something about the killing of Mr. Cason; tell uswliat you know
.about that.

Answer. They kMlod him on the 9th day of last November ; I did not see the i)artie8

who did it, but I understood they were men in disguise; and a negro who has been
abused very badly, Mary Brown, says she saw them in disguise on the road to kill him.
And the threats made before satisfied me thirti they did kill him; one of the band has
run away and gone to Texas, who said he v/ould have to leave, but he would make
Cason leave before he did.

Question. You are satisfied that Cason was killed ?

Ansiver. I know he was killed; he was a close neighbor, and they shot him through
the head.

Question. Have there been any arrests made, or any body tried or punished for killing
Cason ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did the coroner hold an inquest?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What did the jury find ?

Answer. That it was a murder by they did not know whom.
Question. What was Cason doing ; who was he f

Ansiva: Ho was a neighbor of mine and a farmer ; he was appointed deputy marshal
by the marshal here to arrest some parties ; he undertook to arrest them at Cleveland,
and they would not obey his orders ; he summoned men to help him arrest this man
Smith, who ran away and went to Texas, and who is supposed to be the man who killed
him.

Question. He was not killed when he tried to make the arrest ?

Answer. No, sir ; he was bushwhacked some short time afterwards ; ho tried to make
the arrest on Saturday before he was killed on Weduesdaj' ; I believe it was Wednes-
day, but I will not be positive.

Question. What is the feeling in your county toward black people, and toward white
people who are called radicals ?

Answer. Well, I do not believe that the democratic party has good feeling toward
them ; I do not know that they prohibit them from voting.

(Question. Do you think they could get justice iu your courts ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; 1 do not think they could.

Question. Has any attempt been made to arrest and punish anybody for the killing of
Cliijon, or for any of the whippings of which you have heard ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; no attempt I have ever heard of.

Qnesiion. Have you any knowledge, or any reason to bciieve who were the iiarties

that shot him ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I am pretty well satisfied it was the Ku-Klnx band. They left

another notice with a tenant I had on my sister's farm, that I had been shot once, and
that if I did not leave they would shoot ray damned heart out ; that thej' had given
me notice before, and they intended to carry it out. I thmk it was a man of the mime
of Brock who shot me ; he was a stranger who came iu there and got into the Ku-Klux
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party ; fiom bis actions afterwards, I am satisfied it was his doing. He came to where
I and Palmer were talking ; came up and asked if we were talking secrets ; be put a
hand on each of our shoulders, and sort of tried to get the run of our conversdtion.

Question. Where was ho from ?

Ansicer. I think he was from North Carolina ; I understood so. I understood that a
man named Keuimer, who went into the Klan one night, said that Brock understood
that I had said that I knew who shot me ; and that he had called u])on the liand and
was told that it would not do to attack me, as I was well fitted up with shooting-irons,

and had neighbors there, and it might cost the lives of a dozen men.
QiieMion. Where is Brock now ?

Ansiccr. I do not know; the last I heard of him he was up in Eabun dodging me;
afraid I would arrest him, I suppose.

Question. With whom did they leave this notice?
Answer. With a tenant on my sister's place.

Question. Was it left by disguised men ?

Ansirer. Yes, sir, I suppose so; I did not see them, but that is my understanding.
Question. Where is this man Kenimer ?

Answer. I suppose he has testified before this committee ; he was here last Saturday.
Question. Have you had anj' talk with this man Kenimer ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What did he say ?

Ansicer. He said it was a matter of confidence with him ; I believe that was his lan-
guage ; that he was in it, but did not want to be called on ; that whenever there Wiis
no other chance he would tell. He said he was afraid to testify to what he let on to
me, and did not want to have to. He told his step-brother that Brock went to the
baud, or called upon them after they met, disguised, for assistance to go and take me
out and kill me ; he said I knew who shot me, and would kill him as soon as I got
well.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What is the name of the judge of your county who has jurisdiction of such
criminal offenses as were inflicted ux^on you ?

Answer. I believe it is Charles Davis.
Question. What is the population of your county. White County ?

Answer. I do not know exactly ; I never charged my memorj' with it. It votes some
four or five hundred strong, perhaps six hundred ; it is a small county.

Question. Is there or not a great deal of illicit distilling going on in that neighbor-
hood f

Ansrver. Yes, sir, there was, but I think it is stopped now.
Question. When you were waylaid and your horse shot under you last spring, was it

complained that you had reported against illicit distillers ?

Ansirer. No, sir ; I reckon not.

Question. Had you been summoned as a witness ?

Anstcer. I was a witness against a party who was charged with trying to prohibit

witnesses from attending the United States court and testifying against distillers.

Question. The person was charged with intimidating witnesses against distillers "?

Answer. Yes, sir

Question. And you were called to prove that ?

A7iswer. Yes, sir.

Question. And it grew out of that feeling ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. And you were waylaid in daylight, your horse killed under you, and you
shot through the leg ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir.

Question. You have stated that yon had reason to believe that that was done by a
stranger named Brock ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. From where did he come?
Answer. The report was that he came from North Carolina. He came there and took

up with the men I was witness against. I was notified by my neighbors that he was
there for no good, that they expected he was brought in there to do some of us a
private injury, they did not know what.

Question. That he was a stranger, brought v\here he would not be known, to do an
injury, and then go off ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did he go away after you'were hurt ?

Atiswer. I have heard of him up in the edge of Eabun, up in the mountains.
Question. He went right away after you were shot?
Answer. He remained some time afterward with Alley and Oakes, who were uuder-

Btood to be leaders of the Ku-Klux band.
Question. Is that band organized to protect distillers?
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Answer. I siipposo that is partly their object; and then to ruu off luen whose in'op-
erty they waut, for that is said to be part of their business. Whenever they want a
man's property they jnst give him notice to k\ive ; that is the case many times.

Question. Have you any neighbors who would arm in your defense ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And assist yov; in putting down those men ?

Ansu'o: Yes, siv.

Xtucstion. Is there not under the laws of your State the right of removing causes to
other counties ?

Ansicer. No, sir, I think not. We went to a lawyer to see if we could not remove a

case.- They got after McCullom's son ; they ran a mob on him at Cleveland. He know
he could not law with them there, for they were all considered of the Ku-Klux baud.
He went to Lawyer Sutton, of Clarkesville, to know if he could not remove the case to
Habersham, where he could get justice, and the lawyer said he doubted whether ho
could.

Qnesiion. Is there not a law of this State that permits a change of venue ?

Answer. Not that I know of. Where a grand jury could not be made up the case can
be removed ; but if a jury will qualify, if they will swear that they had no bias or preju-
dice for or against, it cannot be done ; it is obliged to bo tried in the county where it is

committed.
Question. That is your understanding of the law ?

A nsiver. That is the advice we got from Lawyer Sutton, who is considered a good j udge
of the law.

Question. A man of repute and ability?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. You spoke of the murder of Mr. Cason, deputy marshal. Was he employed
in ferreting out these illicit distillers ?

Ansu-er. Not that I know of.

Question. Why was he killed ?

Ansiver. He was a deputy marshal, appointed, I sux^posc, by the marshal of the United
States to arrest some parties there. He undertook to arrest them, and they threatened
Ms life ; and I know they killed him.

Question. Who is understood to have killed him ?

Answer. A fellow by the name of Bailey Smith, who ran away, and is in Smith County,
Texas.

Question. Was he from White County ?

Answer. He was from Habersham, just over the river.

Question. Did he shoot him at night ?

Answer. lu. the evening. Mary Brown saj^s she saw Bailey Smith and a man by the'

name of Hancock ; so she described him ; slie says she did not know Hancock. She says
she saw them in disguise on the trail toward Casou's.

Question. And after the murder of Cason this man Smith ran away to Texas ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; I understood that he did, and that he is in Smith County, Texas. I

have a neighbor girl there who married a man who went to Texas. Her husband died,

and she came back ; and she says that she saw Smith there.

Question. I understood you to say that you were a staunch democrat, as was also your
brother-in-law?

Ansiver. Y''es, sir; I was a democrat until I understood they undertook to ruu the ma-
chine by the Ku-Klux band. If that be true, I am no more a democrat.

By the Ciiaiijman :

Question. Is it understood that the Ku-Klux belong to the democratic party?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you understand that any reimblicaus belong to it?

Answei: No, sir.

By Mr. L.vnsing :

Question. You say that the Ku-Klux are organized partly to protect distillers ; what
else are they organized for ?

Ansicei'. I understand that they aim to run the democratic ]5arty by it, to carry their

elections by it. My brother-in-law told me that his brother told him that they tried to

recruit him into the Ku-Klux band, and told him that in that way they could overthrow
Bullock's administration whenever they could get strong enough. It is the understand-
ing that that is their iutention.

By Mr. Bayaki) :

Question. Have you j^ourself any knowledge of who ai-e members of this band in your
county ?

Answer. Sixteen are all I ever saw. I understand that some estimate them at sev-

enty-five, and some at forty, and along there. I do not know how many there are; I

never saw but sixteen of them.
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Atlaxta, Gkokgia, October 24, 1871.

JOE BRO\VN (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairmax :

Question. What is your age, where were you born, and where do yon now live ?

Answer. I was born in the year 1830, in Old Virginia. I do not know what day I was
Lorn, but old mistress always told me to say that I was born in the year '30 ; I live now
in White County.

Question. In what part of Vii-ginia were you born ?

Answer. I do not know what part I was born in. I was a year and six months old
wlien my old mistress bought me and m_y mother.

Question. When did yon leave White Connty ?

Answer. I started from White County on Monday a week ago.
Question. Did you come here to attend coirrt as a witness ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What do you know about any people in your countrv that are called Ku-
Klus?
Answer. Well, I know this Oakes's son ; Big William they call bim. We would have

sworn to more, but then I thought they would ci'oss-question me so that I had better
swear to only the two of them, William Oakes and George Canton ; he was in dis-

guise.

Qu-estion. Have you seen any Ku-Klux that you did not know who they were ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many?
Answer. Well, sir, I saw four I knew ; two of them were in disguise.
Question. Were any along that you did not know ?

Ansioer. Yes, sir ; a great many.
Question. How many ?

Answer. I do not know ; I heard after that that they said there were some fifty-odd
of them ; but then those four were all I knew.

Question. When did you see them ?

Answer. Do you mean the follvs that abused me ?

Question. Yes.
Answer. It was on Saturday night, betwixt midnight and day.
Question. How long ago was it f

Answer. It was done about the time that we went to work over the corn the first

time ; I do not know what month it was.
Question. Where was it tliat you saw them?
Answer. I saw them in my yard ; they had a big fire built up in my y*rd, and had

me and my wife stripped.
Qutstion. Tell us all about it.

Ansiver. This George Canton was in disguise, and Mr. Alley was in disguise.
Question. How was it with the rest of them?
Answer. The rest of them were disguised.
Question. What sort of disguise did they have-on?
Answer. They looked like false-faces, with little red dots on them : and some of them

had on white oil-cloth coats, and some looked like they had on calico.

Question. W^ere they riding or walking ?

Answer. A good many of them were riding, and a heap were walking?
Question. Were their horses disguised ?

Answer. They had the horses covered oyer, and they had faces on themselves.
Question. You say they came to your house ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Tell us all they did there.

Ansiver. I was in my bed asleep, and when I came to myself, as I struck the floor,

they said, " Boys, surround the house." They surrounded the house, and knocked both
doors down, and jabbed the cracks out, and presented pistols, and made us make up a
light. They said, " Are there any going away ?" We said, " No." They then com-
menced calling for Mary Brown, and went searching for her. I could not have told
where she was to save my life, for when I went to bed they were sitting up, all of
them. They were scared to death, almost, anyhow, for they had been looking for them.
They tried to make me tell where she was, but I could not have tfW them, for I left

them all sitting up. They said, " You were all here at dark, and we'll kill you if yon
don't tell." This George Canton seemed to beg them not to kill me, as I was begging
for my life. They kept searching about : Jlr. Alley and ]\ir. Oakes went in and jjulled

my wife out of bed, and pulled little Mary out. They had got into bed, around behind
the old man ; he was sitting up in bed. They ordered us to take a fire into the yard,
and-make up a big light ; that Avas the way I come to know them. I woujd not have
known one of themii' they had not made nji a biglight.

Question. What did they do ?
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. Answer. They just stripped me stark nalsod, and fell to beating- ns. They got a great
l)ig trace-cbaiu, and swung me up iVonitbe ground, and swung her up until sbefHiuted

;

and they beat us all over the yard with great big stieks.

Question. They stripped you stark naked and whipped you .'

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. With what ?

Answer. With sticks. Tliey had n liielcory tishing-pole tliat had been trimmed, very
loug and large. The river is ])retty wide there, and the old man had got a jiarcel of
fishing-poles to fish with, anil they gatliered them and heat us with them.

Question. Did they whip you standing, or did they throw you down ?

Ansjver. They"tried to throw me down, and tried to keep my head down, so that I

flbould not know any of them ; but I did know sonic of them ; I did not kuow them all.

Question. IIow many Itlows did they strilie you !

Answer. Well, they wore out three fishing-poles ou me.
Question, Did they whip your wife?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Who were they inquiring for ?

Answer. They tried to make me and her tell where George McCuUom was, and said
if they could just come across liim he was certain gone up, that they allowed to kill

him.
Question. What did they do with the chain ?

Ansiver. They took the chain and fetched it ai'ound our necks, and swung us up from
the ground. They first called for a rope, andsaid they were going to hang us.

Question. What kind of a chain was it ?

Answer. It was a trace-chain.

Question. How did they swing her up ?

Ansiver. Two of them caught hold of it aud brought it over, and then lifted her off

the ground, and let her down again.

Question. Did they lift you off the ground in tliat way 1

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was your wife stripped ?

Answer. Yes, sir. They made all the women show their nakedness ; they made them
lie down, and they jabbed them with sticks, and made them show their nakedness;
aud they made the little children sliow their nakedness.

Question. How many children had you ?

Answer. Two boys and one little girl. There were two little boys, bnt they did not
get up—the littlest ones. They made my mother-in-law, and my sister-in-law, and my
wife, and two little girls lie down and show their nalcedness.

Question. Did they do any mischief to the chihlren '?

Answer. They jabbed them with a stick, aikl went to playing with their backsides
"with a iiiece of tishing-pole.

Question. How old are those children ?

Ansu-er. I do not exactly kuow; I cannot exactly tell, point-blank how old these
were, but I should say that Augustus would be going on eight or nine or ten years
old; Alfred is a good big plow-boy; has been plowing now for two summers.

Question. Were those children in the house ?

Answer. They were in bed.
Question. Were thoj^ pulled out of bed "?

Answer. No, sir ; they were made to get up out of bed ; they pulled my wife out of
bed.

Question. How long had you been looking for the Kir-Klux to come there ?

Ansiver. Well, they came on the children when they were by themselves. They
thought they would catch me and my wife there, but we were not there.

Questi4)n. How long before was that ?

Ansiver. I cannot exactly tell, point-blank, the time, but, I allow it was pretty well
ou to three weeks, or almost a mouth, as near as I can remember it, before they came
ou us any more.

Question. Have they done anything to you, or molested you in any way, siuce ?

Answer. No, sir ; I was afeared to go back; I staid ten miles from home until the
troops came for me and fetched me home. Aud they had been away from home all

summer, afeared to go home.
Question. Who?

.

Answer. My wife and little Mary ; but they sent for them to come home. I was
afeared to go home.

Question. Have yon heard that they liave been going about this summer?
Answer. Yes, sir; they went to George McCullom's and Mr. Freeman's, but they did

not catch them.
Question. What reason did they give for treating you in this way ?

Aiiswcr. My wife saw two men disguised as they came across below our house aud
ap by the house. They made out they were black men, aud spoke to my wife to see if
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she knew tliem. She kuew tins Bailey Suiitli, but I forget wbetlier slie knew the
other one or not. They went on np toward Mr. Oason's with their guns.

Quesiion. Did they tell you that was what they were beating you lor ?

Answer. No, sir ; they told it since.

Question. What did they say that night about it ?

Answer. They said to my wife, '-What is that you are going to swear ?" She declared
she never had said anything about what she was going to swear. They sairt they had
heard wo had talked about it, and they wanted to rui\ us out of the State, to keep us
from being witnesses about it. They asked me what I knew about it, and I said I know
only what my wife told uie; that I was away Avhoa Mr. Cason was killed. They said I
was a liar, and I said I was not. That is what they l)eat and abused my wife about,
on account of this Bailey Smith. They thought if they ran us off or killed us, there
would be no witnesses against them about killing Mr. Cason.

Question. How many persons were there altogether that night ?

Answer. I heard after that that they said there wei-e sixty and some odd of them,
but I did not know more than four of them, and I swore to two of them.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Have you been before the grand jury in this city?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Is this the same case in which Mary Brown, Mary Neal, Caroline Benson,
and Rachel Arnold were called?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. They were all witnesses with yon ou this matter ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Have they all been examined before this committee in regard to this same
case of whipping?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say this man Bailey Smith was supposed to have shot Mr. Cason ?

Answer. On the same day he was disguised Mr. Cason was killed.

Question. And they thought your wife would testify against him ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. Ho came up to fool lier and pass himself off as a black man, and
she said, '' Bailey Smith, I know you." That is the way he knew my wife knew him,
aTid he told his klau to come back ou us and run me and her out of there.

Question. Bailey Smith is supposed to have killed Mr. Cason?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know where Bailey Smith went?
AnsH-cr. They said he went—I do not know whether I can think of the name of

the place or not.

Question. Did he run off to Texas ?

Answer. I believe that is the name of the iilace. He was in Texas, and he wrote
back to his friends that my wife would be the strongest evidence against him, and
that he wanted his friends to run me and my wife out of the State, and then ho could
come home.

Question. Thtft was the cause of this outrage upon you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had Bailey Smith and his band of men been concerned there in distilling?

Answer. Yes, sir; all of them were in the distilling. That is what they killed Mr.
Cason for, because he was trying to take them up for it.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 24, 1S71.

Lieutenant F. B. TAYLOR sworn and examined.

By the Chairmax:
Question. What is your age, where were you born, and what is your present position'
Answer. lam twenty-six years old; I was born in the State of New York, and I aia

now a lieutenant in the United States Army.
Question. Where are you stationed?
Ansiver. At present I am stationed in White County, Georgia.
Question. How long have you been in White County ?

Answer. About seventy days.
Question. How long have you been in Georgia?
Answer. Since April, 1869.

Question. In what part of the State ?

Answer. In the middle, northern, and southwestern parts of Georgia.
Question. Our object is to ascertain how far life ami property are i)rotected or not

protected in this State ; how far the laws for their protection are or are not enforced,
and any causes that may operate to prevent a citizen from enjoying his civil and polit-^
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ical rijflits, inclii'lini;; his psr.sonal safety ami the security of his prop.n-tv. With this
general statemeut of onr object, I wish you would go on and tell us what you know,
from your resideuee in this State, bearing upon that, subject.

Answer. I have never been brought into any couiiectiou with the civil authorities
until this i)reseut fall. I was ordered up into White County to protect some witnesses
for the United States district court. Tlicy liad been threatened up there by different

parties, and some of them had been hrcnl upon. Mj' instructions were to take camp
near the Imuses of certain witnesses and i)rotect them. On arriving tliere I saw men
who had been sliot, and I saw the blinds where tlie assassins had concealed themselves.
I saw certain documents served upon witnesses, telling them that they must leave the
county or sufl'er death. The husband of tlie widow on whoso xdantation I am now
camjied was killed in his own door-yard last October. Ho was deputy riiin-shal in
Northern Georgia. The perpetrators of that murder liave never been brought to jus-

tice; no elTort bj' the civil authorities up there lias ever been made to bring tliem to
justice. For a long time they could gaiu no clew to who did kill this deputy
marshal, until accidentally they learned that a negro woman had seen two men going
in disguise, blackened to look like negroes, in the direction of tliis de])uty marshal's
house. When she heard that the marshal, Mr. Cason, was killed, she spolie of the circum-
stance, and expressed woiuler why white men should be disguised that way, with guns on
their shoulders. She mentioned it first to her mother, and afterward to one or two white
citizens. Not long afterward she received a notice that she must st ip talking about
the circumstance of Cason's death; that if not, she would have to leave the couutry.
She continued to speak about it whenever spoken to, until in May she was I'aided upon
and whipped. It was just tlie same with several other witnesses who had some idea
who were the parties that killed Cason. They were notified that they must stop talk-

ing about the matter or they would have to leave the country. Two or three of those
witnesses I brought down here, to appear before the district court. In regard to how
civil affairs are aduiinistered up there, you can have some idea of it from a little cir-

immstance that hajipened just before I went up there. Two men got into a quai'rel

;

one called the other a damned radical, and they got into svjme sort of a fisticuff fight.

The man that had been called a radical was jiut in jail. Fortunately, his nncle, one of
the wealthy men up there, w;is able to give bond in five hundred dollars, and have him
released. He went home with his father, and that night a band of Ku-Klux raided on
his father and demanded tliat his son should coine out. Fortunately, he had not
stopped there over night. Feeling that his life woTild not be secure in that couutry,
he left, and went down into Hall County to work on the Air-Line Railroad. His name
was West, and while dovv n tliere ho was arrested on some trumpejd-up charge, as being
the man for whom the governor of the State had offered a reward for killing some man
in Franklin County. It was proved that he was not the man, and he was released, or
rather ordered to lie released, but they still held him on a charge of assault with intent
to kill this man who had called him a radical. They have held him ever since in Hall
County jail, for three months, refusing bail for him. A week or so before I came down
to Atlanta, his father came to me and asked me if I could not furnish some assistance
in the matter ; he said that ho could not get his son bailed or In'ought before the court,

and he feared they would Ku-Klux him when they brought him up for trial in Wliite
County. I told him my instructions from the department commander were to protect
life and property whenever I became cognizant that any felony was intciKhul; if he
could show me that his son's life w^as.in danger, I would lu'otect him ; that if lie was
afraid his son could not come up to the county court in safety, I would send a guard
along, or go myself and see that he was not injured, although I could not take him out
of the hands of the civil authorities. The court will sit next Monday, and I am very
anxious to get back, for the young man's life has been threatened.

Question. What has he done that should provoke this hostility to him ?

Answer. His father is notary public ; he received the appointment from Governor
Bullock. He ran on the opposition ticket, or the republican ticket, there last fall, for

justice of the peace, and was beaten. Governor Bullock appointed him notary public,

ex-ofiicio justice of the peace. They are down on the old man, and the son has to bear
the brunt of their hostility.

Question. What do you understand was the particular transaction out of Avhich this

charge against hira grew ?

Answer. It was his trouldo with a man over a political discussion. The man called

Jaim a damned radical and struck him, and he struck back. There was no testimony
brought out to show that any deadly weapons had been used. Anyhow, he was con-
fined on a charge for a misdemeanor and bailed on a five hundred dollar bond. When
the grand jury sat thej" failed to indict him, and he was released. In Hall County
they trumped up.a charge of a.ssault with intent to kill, and ho is now held on that

• charge.
Question. The offense was not committed in Hall County ?

Answer. No, sir; but he was arrested there and confined there. His father has made
'Beveral attempts to have him brought back to White County. The sheriff has declined
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to do anything in the matter, and the oi'dinary of White Connty has declined to issue
an order to have him bron;;ht back to that county.

Question. How did they j^et a precept for his couunitmcnt tojail in Hall County ?

AvsiLxr. I do not know. I advised his lather to go to the ordinary of White County
and demand that his sou be brought back to that county : that the ordinary should
issue some legal paper, and serve it upon the slierilf, counnandiug him to go to Hall
County and bring his son back ; but he has been umible to eli'ect it. I also told him I
believed he could get him released l)y a writ of habeas corpus. Butthat was refused by
the ordinary of Hall County ; so Jlr. West told me.

Question. He was examined before a committing magistrate, and held under a bond
of $."iOO to answer to a misdemeanor, and when the grand jiuy met they failed to lind a
bill against him ?

Anm-cr. Yes, sir. He then went to Hall Connty under the advice that his life was
not safe in White County, and there he was taken up on a charge of assault with intent
to kill. It was all for the same offense iu White Couutj\

Question. So far as you have observed up there, do you think that the colored people
and those who are called radicals would stand an equal chance in the courts to obtain
justice ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not.

Question. What is the feeling toward them on the part of a large portion of the com-
munity ?

Answer. It is very bitter. I am led to believe it is from the fact that the only lead-
ing lawyer in White County has made some remarks upholding the Ku-Klux. His
brother is ordinary of the county, and whenever any case is brought before him, like
this case of Mr. West and another case of Mr. McCullom, they have used the law against
them as strongly as they could, demanding the greatest amount of bail and making
the ofiense appear as flagrant as possible. Mr. Holcombe, a witness who was here, says
he overheard Mr. Palmer, the leading lawyer I speak of, speaking of the Ku-Klux there
and saying they were linked from shore to shore, and the Government might drive
them from one place and they would rise up in another. I never heard him make any
such remark.

Question. Speaking of the Ku-Klux, what is your knowledge and reliable information
about the organization up there ?

Answer. I have never seen any of them iu that county, although one of my men cap-
tured what he supposed was the gown of one. We could not iiositively tell that it was
one ; it was a black garment, which Avas hid away iu the garret of a house where we
were searching for one who was supposed to belong to the Ku-Klux. We linally cap-
tured him in the garret, with two revolvers by his side, which is pretty good evidence
that he is a lawless man. The garment was a long \)lack cambric dress ; it may have
been a vromau's riding-habit and may have been a Ku-Klux gown ; we could net tell.

There are plenty of witnesses there who have seen the Ku-Iviux at night. Tliey have
made no raid since I have been up there. I can produce two reliable witnesses Avho
were called out and who saw them, thirty or forty strong, in the road ; they were dis-

guised and their horses were disguised. They continued to ride there until the Union
people organized themselves into night companies, as they called them ; and when
they heard that the Ku-Klux were going to make a raid, they would iiost themselves
along the roads in different places, with the object of firing upon the gang as they
passed by. The gang heard of that, and were afraid to go out, and have stopped it.

Question. How long ago was that done?
Answer. The first Ku-Klux raid that I have heard of was in March last; and in March,

April, and May, those three months, there were some twelve or thirteen dilfereut raids
made by them.

Question. How long since the Union men have combined to guard the roads ?

Answer. I think it was along in July that they organized the comi)anj', and since that
time they have not raided at all.

Question. Have there been any collisions between the Union people and the Ku-Klux ?

Ansteer. Yes, sir, one slight atiair. They raided on Jlr. McCullom oue night, and his

sou and himself heard them coming, and thcj' went out to meet them. They were
both armed with old-fashioned muskets, heavily charged witli buck-shot. They secreted
themselves behind trees, and when the party came within range of them they fired.

But it was dark, and the range was too long, and no one was killed ; although the
effect of the fire is evident in the marks ujjou the fences. The raidcs took refuge under
the fence ami fired upon McCullom and his sou, who had to flee. They ran away down
here and sought protection, and that was the occasion of my going up there to protect
them. They were members of that night company ; and they told me that they organ-
ized it on the strength of the passage of the enforcement act of Congress, which gave
anybody the right to fire into armed bodies parading iu disguise.

Question. Have you information of the existence of this orgii;i:zatiou in other parts
of the State '

Answer. Yes, sir, I have seen them myself in the night ; been right amoiig them.
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Question. Where ?

Ansicer. In Decatur, Alabama, in July, 18G8. Attlje time I was seeing a friend off on
the train; and a company of them came down to the depot in black ma.slcs and black
gowns. They marched abont the depot and back and forth into town, and rode right

aronud me two or three times. I was in undress uniform, as I am now ; l)nt they made
no demonstration against me. They marched as soldiers do, and seemed to have some
kind of drill and organization.

Question. They were systematic in tiieir movements ?

A}isH-cr. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. How many of them were there ?

Answei: There were some twenty, I think.

By the Chairman :

Question. From your j)rofessional experience you could tell whether they had drilled

or not ?

Answer. Yes, sir; thej' could not have marched so well without drill and organiza-

tion. That was the only time I ever saw them in disguise. But in 18G8 they made
no attempt at secrecy.

Question. Have you had reliable information of their existence in other parts ot this

State since yon have been in the State ?

Answsr. I have the very best evidence of their existence in southwestern Georgia;
that is, the testimony of black men who have dragged themselves into our camp and
.showed three or four bullet-holes in their backs, aud the scars where they had been
beaten. They must have been shot and beaten by somebody, and they said it was by
the Ku-Klux.

Question. When was that ?

Answer. I was stationed there during the months of July and August, 1870.

Question. How many instances of violence of that sort came under your observation ?

Answer. I could not tell the exact number now, although I knew of some six or seven
different men who came into the camp and claimed that they had been maltreated. One
man, particularly, dragged himself into cauip with four bullet-holes in his body,

another with one, another badly cut, and another badly whipped. In those cases the
commander of the x)ost made a report, which was forwarded to the headquarters of

the department at Atlanta ; nothing was heard of them any more. We left there the

first of September.
Question. Do you know whether the civil authorities down there ever took any notice

of those transactions ?

Answer. No, sir; they did not. Major Kellogg had occasion to go and see the ordi-

nary and sheriif of the couutj', to investigate cases where men had been confined and
kept in filthy dungeons without anything to eat for four or five days at a time ; the

sheriff would go oft' and leave them there. He endeavored to get the ordinary .and

the sheriff" to take some action in the premises, and they would not take hold of the

case at all. I was sent to investigate one case of outrage upon a freedman named
Brown, who came into camp one morning, and said that he had been attacked by a
man for whom he was cropping on shares. He said that the man had attacked him
with a knife, had cut him, and had threatened his life ; that the man wanted to drive him
off the plantation ; that he had been croppiug for the mnn on shares, and had got in

about fifty or eighty acres of corn and cotton. This was about July, when the crop

was ready to lay bj-, as they call it—that is, when they got through hoeing it. The
man wanted to drive him off then, so that he might not have his share of the crop. I

went to see the man for whom he was cropping, a Mr. Stubbs. I went to the house,

and dismounted at the door. It was a large, wealthy residence. An elderly lady came
to the door, and I asked her if Mr. Stubbs was at home. She did not reply, aud I re-

peated my inquiries, when she said, " No," very sharply. I had dismounted, in the

meantime, and was in the act of hitching my horse at the hitchiug-post in front of the

door. She ordered me not to hitch my hoi'se in the yard. I said, " This is a hitching-

post; I want to wait until Mr. Stubbs returns, and 1 will hitch my liors(>, if you have
no objection." She said she did not want me or my animal in sight. I said, " Madam,
perhaps you don't know who I am ; I am sent here to investigate some trouble between
Brown and Mr. Stubbs." She said she knew very well who I was ; that I was a mis-

erable seeker for nigger votes. She opened on me pretty sharply. I retreated, and
sat down near the fence. ISlr. Stubbs then came from a field near by, and I went up
and introduced myself to him. His manner led me to believe that I could not expect

any very satisfactory interview with him ; he was very short and ngly in his manner.
Aiiyhow, he invited me to the house, and said that he Avonld show me the contract

between himsedf and the freedman. Brown. I sat on the porch, and he brought out

the contract aud showed it to me. Stubbs had drawn it up himself, as the party of

the first part. By the i)rovisions of the contract Brown was made to do whatever
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StuLbs ordered him to do. under peualfy of forfeiting bis sbarc of tbecrop : and Stnbbs
uas to be the sole arbiter in all disagreements arising under the eontract. I reproacbed
bim with bis injustice in drawing up a contract so unjust to the freednian and so ]iar-

tial to biniself. He laughed, ami seemed to tbink it was a good thing. I told him
that if be bad any caitse of complaint against Drown he should snl)n:it it to the civil

authorities of the cottnty, and the coiut wonld ap])<)int an arbiter to decide l)etweeu
them. He said he would do as he was a mind to about it, and ditl not w ish for, and
svotild not take, any advice from the military. I called up my hojse and went
away, and my jiarting words were, that if he valued bis liberty he nuist let Brown
alone, and allow him to linish the cultivation of thecrop. He said be would bi.' damned
if he wonld take any of my advices; that the military bad nothing to do with his af-

fairs, and I might go back and tell IMajor Kellogg so. I told jNIajor Kellogg, and he
ordered me *o take a squad of men and bring liini do^s'u to camp, which I did that
night. He was very bumble then, and said ho. did not intend any insult to me or to
the major, aud was sorry that I had misconstrned what be said. The major then gave
him the privilege of appointing one arbitrator, the darkey the junvilege of appointing
another, and those two were to appoint a third, to decide upon what share of the crop
Stubbs should pay to Brown. That was done, and the crop was parceled out lietweeu
them. But just a day or two before we left we received notice from the wife of BroAvu
that he bad I)een arrested aud incarcerated iu jail for theft, on a charge made by this

man Stubbs. and he lay there in jail when we left. I would like to mention a circum-
stance iu eonneetiou with my visit to Stubbs. While sitting on the piazza of the house
ami talking with him, his manner was very insulting, indeed. I had as much as I

could do to control my temper, and pass over in silence his innuendoes about the Yan-
kees aud damned blue-coats. There were two young men on the porch with bim who
bad come out when he came up on the porch. I could see from the appearance of their

clothes that they bad revolvers on their hips. Suddenly glancing towards a side door
I saw the form of a man peering around therd, and from his manner I believetl

he was watching me. Once or twice afterwards, as I looked cautiously, I saw that a,

man was concealed there, and I perceived some polished metallic substance iu his

bands, which I recognized to be a gun-barrel. I then became aware that he was posted
there and covered -me, so as to riddle me with shot npou the vsligbtcst warning. I was
confirmed in my opinion by seeing that he changed bis position so as to still cover me
when I descended from the porch to the ground. JNIajor Kellogg questioned Brown about
this circumstance, and he said there was a third man iu the hottse. Stubbs denied the
whole thing, and said that no oue had arms at all.

Question. Where were you stationed at that time?
Ansicer. At Fort Valley.
Quesiion. How long were you stationed there ?

Ansicer. For two mouths ; during Jitly aud August, 1870.

Quesiion. In what county is that '1

Answa: In Houston County.
Quesiion. Where did yoit go from there ?

Anstvcr. I came back to Atlanta.
Quesiion. How many troops had you down in Houston County?
Answer. One small company of about forty men.
Quesiion. What was the feeling of the people towards them ?

Answer. The people we went there to protect, or the people who made application

for the troops, could not do too much for us. Those who had no use for us, as the saying
is, let us severely aloue. The cause of our goiug down theie was the application of
Mr. Griffin, a member of the legislature fi'om that county, whose life, as he said, had
been threateued ; and the lives of several freedmen who worked for him had been
threatened Ijecause they voted the radical ticket. That was Mr. Griffiu's story; I do
not know anything about it further than that. He treated us very kindly, and so did

one or two others. We had no interconrse with the citizens outside of those few indi-

viduals. A few days before we left there, ISIajor Kellogg was served with a Ku-Klnx
notice, threatening the lives of all of us if we did not leave. That notice, of course,

might have been left by anybody ; I do not know whether it was an authentic docu-
ment or not.

Question. Did you have any other transactions with the citizens, excepting this one
with Stulibs, and the transaction when you went to see the ordinary and sheriff about
jieople being contined in the jail ?

Answer. Major Kellogg had one or two that he investigated himself; cases of darkies

who had been shot and came into camp and reported it.

Quesiion. How w^ere yoti soldiers received in White County, where you are now ?

Aiiswei'. The same as in Houston County ; the people we go there to protect cannot
do too much for us, and the others have nothing to do with us at all. They are very

civil to my face, but we hear of their cursing us ; I do not know whether that is true

or not.

Question. From what you have seen, and from your intercourse with the peoiile, are
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you satisfied, that tlieir wisb for protoction was sincere and well founded ; that they
were really apprehensive that, us things were, they wonld he in danger ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and I think they are in danger now ; I think their lives would not
be worth a cent if the troops were not there. There have bepn three men killed or
shot in the county in less than a year; and as they all belonged to the Union party, it

shows that the nmrders are being couniiitted from sonic motive othir than that of per-

sonal diiiicnlty. I am very cautious in going about tip there, and I am cautious in

regard to my men, not to expose them singly to any unnecessary danger. I feel conti-

deut that no one would attack us in any force, but it is possible that some reckless
men might bushwhack, or shoot one of the men if he was out alone. I sent one man
on duty one afternoon to serve a subpoena. Ho got lost in the woods, and did not get
liatk in camp by night-fall. I sent two men out to hunt him uj), and as they did not
return, I mounted a horse and went to look for them, and was out all night long. Th.e

man was found in the morning, having- lost his way.
Quesiioit. Suppose the authority of the United States in all its forms, military and.

civil, was withdrav.n from the State, and the people here were left to work out their
own purposes and plans, do you suppose the colored men, and those white men called
radicals, would be secure in their persons and property allover the State ?

Answer. Shall I give you my opinion ?

Question. Yes.

Ansiccr. My opinion is that they would not be.

Question. In how large a portion of the State do you suiipose they would bo secure ?

Answer. Simply in the larger cities. Wherever I have been in the rural districts, it

has been about an even thing between the old rebel element and the ex-Union element.
It is my opinion that if the troops were withdrawn, the rebel element would drive out
the whole Union element, and force them to lea\'e the country. It is not the politics

of to-day Avhere I am, in White County ; that is not at the bottom of it. They still

keep up the old feeling between the secession and the Union element. All those parties
who are in danger now were Union men during the war; several of them crossed the
lines, and some were in the Union Army. The other party consists of the strong rebel
element that predominated tliere during the war. They do not aim to get in politics

up there at all. This one case of Mr. West, where he was called a radical, is the only
case where I have heard of politics being brought into the matter at all. It is the old.

war feud still kept up.
Question. The hatred of the rebel element towards the Union element ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir ; there are a few exceptions to it ; while some of the ex-rebels have
gone over to the Union side, they are brought under the ban just the same as the
old Union men.

Qncstio)/. So far as your observation has extended, which is the most aggressive and
violent in temper and conduct, the rebel clement or the Union element ?

Answer. The rebel element ; they haA'o every advantage on their side as a rule ; they
are the wealthier class, they control the lands, and property, and arms; they have
every advantage in their favor.

Question. Are they generally well armed ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they have no lack of weapons.
Question. What style of weapons do you find that they have ?

Answer. Colt's revolvers and rifles are the most favored fire-arms^ with them. But
both sides are well armed.

Question. Are the rifles of the modern style, or are they of the old-fashioned stand-
ard ?

Answer. Mostly the old sporting rifle. ]\Iany of them have tlioso cap and ball mus-
kets that they have bought in the cities.

Question. So far as the execution of process from the Federal courts is concerned, is

there any difficulty about it ?

Answer. Do you mean serving warrants ?

Question. Yes, and making arrests.

Answer. Yes, sir, there is. There is this difficulty about it : we have to hunt the men
at night, and catch them in their beds, or else they run from us like deer. We cannot
often serve a subpoena in the day time.

Quesiio)). Do you think (hat, anywhere up in that country, any one man, for instance
a marshal, or any of his deputies, would be safe with a eapias, as ib is called—a process
for arrest—and in attempting to execute it upon anybody excepting a ) adicaf ?

Answer. No, sir. I do not think he would be allowed to arrest any one and take him
out of the county. I do not think I myself would be allowed to do so with one or two
men. Speaking of processes of the United States cf)urt, we have been quite unfortu-
nate up there in making several arrests and bringing persons down here. The court
failing to find true bills against them, those same itarties have gone back, and are

making their brags that the Yankees arrested them and could not do anything with them.
Of course they talk still worse, and act still worse, on that account. I do not know
the reason why they did not find true bills against them. I brought down two ijer-
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sous liere as -vvitnesses against tbeiu, who -were not called, and wliose testimony -u-onld

have convicted them. My evidence v.'onld have been point blank against tliein.

By Mr. Lansixg :

Question. You say that these failures to indict have made matters worse in White
County?

Aiifm-cr. Yes, sir, a great deal worse. It is very desirable when we arrest men,
and bring forward sufficient evidence against them, that they should be iiulicted. I

brought two persons at this time, and I had myself x)ut down on the iiresentmeut
against them ; but I was not called, and they have gone back scot free.

Question.. And now you hear, a matter of boast and exultation up there, that j'ou

were unable to do anything agaiust them iu Atlanta '?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Your name was on the list of witnesses?
Answer. Yes, sir; I saw it put on myself; I was particular to have it done.
Question. And you were not called /

Answer. No, sii'.

Question. How many were on that list ?

Answer. Three—myself and two others.

Question. Were botli of the others called?
Ansicer. Oue of them was ; but that one knew the least of any of us.

Question. Aud those men have not been rearrested?
Answer. No, sir ; they have gone back, and now brag that the Yankees havt; failed to

indict them.

By the Ciiairjiax :

Qucstio)i. With what were they charged ?
'

Answer. Those two that I have spoken ofwere charged with illicit distilling. I brought
down a witness against the Ku-Klux, a negro woman who was whipped, Mary Brown.
She was a very important witness. She recognized oue man positively, when they
were both here. She was presented to the grand jury, but was not called, for the rea-

son that she had her face bound up for the tooth-ache. I asked her why she was not
called, aud she said she did not know. Her mother said she was asked what was the

matter with her, aud she told the man that she had the tooth-ache ; and the man said

that she could not go before the jury. But she could talk as well as I can now.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. The hostility of the Ku-Klux was against those who gave evidence agaiust

the distillers ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; or against those who are witnesses in the United States court.

Question. Agaiust anybody who gives any evidence in regard to offenses against the
law?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you known of any Unionists, as you designate the loyal men there,

being suspected of belonging to the Ku-Klnx ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. What class is it that are supposed, and generally believed there, to consti-

tute and make up the Ku-Klux ?

Ansicer. The illicit distillers are believed to bo at the bottom of it; I believe so my-
self. And with them is the old rebel element.

By Mr. Bayaed :

Question. Speaking of this matter of distilling, is it pretty largely carried on there

illietly?

A)iswer. Very largely.

Question. Do you mean that the persons who are engaged in it are all of oue political

party ?

Answer. No, sir; I would not make that assertion, because we brought down here,

not long ago, two men who had been in the Uuion Army, who were charged with run-

ning illicit stills. They protested against being arrested, said they had been good
Union men, had fought for the Union, aud did not see wh^hey should not be allowed

to make a little whisky.
9«cs/io7i. For the Union?
Ansice)'. I suppose so.

Question. That is a matter in which all parties are engaged ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. I uuderstand you to say that, in great part, this Ku-Klux organization was
intended to protect these people from arrest for illicit distilling ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. It being for that purpose, to afford a protection which is to be extended to

persons of all parties, would you say that there was any politics iu this organization?
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Answer. I will explain why I tbink illicit distilliug is at tbc bottom of tho Kii-Klux
organization iu White County. Abont two years ago, when they lirst began to make
whisky illicitly np there in ajiy quantity, a man came clown here and inlormed on two
parties. Major Sinytli made out warrants against those parties and jdaecd them in

the hands of ^Ir. Cason, his deputy ; ho held the warrants against tliein. Well, four
or live illicit distillers up there made threats that he had better not attempt tii make
the arrests, (I am myself holding warrants against the same parties,) or, if he did, ho
would be killed. It seems that he did not dare to make the arrests, and Major Si yth
had to send a special marshal from here, who arrested them ; but they got away from
him, and are still at large. Those warrants were again jdaced in the hands of Mr.
Cason to execute, but while holding them he was killed. The only oflenso alleged
against him is that he held the warrants against these men.
"Question. It is a combination to protect these distillers in great part ?

Anmccr. Yes, sir; one of the most inlhiential men in that county, Mr. Satterfield, ran
a distillery quite openly, and said that ho could run it and make all the whisky he
wanted. He had also been elected a justice of the peace. He continued to make his

whisky until I went np there, when he went away. Although I have a warraut for

him, I could not catch him; he has run off to Alabama; his oliice is vacant, and his

plantation unoccupied. We captured his two sous and broke up his still-house.

Question. Your knowledge of these bauds of Ku-Klux, I understand, is froui hearsay.
Have you anj' personal knowledge of them, exceiit as you have stated ; I mean of the
people who compose the bands?

Anstcer. No, sir; I could not lay my hand on any particular man up there and say
he belonged to the Klan. I wish that I could, for I v.-ould arrest him if I could. But
I know there are lawless nieu there, for I have seen a Vv'oman who has been whipped,
and I have Sfen men who have been shot. I have seen where Cason was shot, and I

saw the blind that those men got in when they shot him.
Question. I believe you were asked a question as to whether the members of these

bands were m^en who took sides in politics at this daj', and I understood you to say in

reidy that you thought they were not ?

Answer. I do think so. <

Question. I will ask you if the distillation of spirits there is one of the radical causes
for the formation of these l)ands, and whether that distillation is conducted by Union
soldiers, who say that from their past services they have a right to eugage iu distilling ?

Ansiva: We have found only two of them.
Question. There is no politics in distilling ; and these bauds you say are organized to

protect those engaged in distilling ; then, upon what ground do you say that one party
or another embraces the greater proportion of those belonging to these bands f

Answer. Well, this mau Satterlield, a justice of the i)eace there, owned a still, and,
as I heard, he frequently made threats that tlu-y had organized the Ku-Klux there in

White County on purpose to prevent the breaking up of the still. And one part of
the oath or obligation was to drive out and wage war against the United States reve-

nue officers who should come up there to break np the distilling.

Question. That was a common purpose of the parties engaged in distilling?

Answer. Yes, sir; with the exception of those two men who belonged to the Union
Army, and nobody asserts that they ever did belong to the Ku-Klux.

Question. What number of troops had Major Kellogg iu Houston County ?

Answer. xVbout forty ; a small company.
,

Question. How many have you in White County under your charge ?

Answer. I think I have iifteen there.

Question, You have been up there, you say, for seventy days?
Ansicer. About that length of time.
Question. You have been iu Georgia since 18G9 ?

Ansive)\ Yes, sir.

Question. During that time has there ever been an assault made upon one of your
men when in uniform 'i

Answer. I cannot now think of any personal violence ever having been otlered them,
but they have frequently been cursed and insulted.

Question. By low, drunken men ?

Ansiver. I do not know whether they were drunken men or not. My men have fre-

quently come to me and made comidaint that certain citizens iu White County bad
threatened their lives. When oue of the men was sent for the mail, he was pitched
into by oue or two, aud cursed as a damued Yankee. After that I sent tho men out
armed.

Question. No direct attack was made upon them ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. And none upon yourself, except the tirade of the old woman at the time
you visited the man Stubbs ; at no other time have you had any personal disrespect

shown youV
Answer. No, sir.
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Question. You have heard of disrespectful reiuailcs made iu your absence?
Ansicei: Yes, sir.

Question. AVhen was this case of Stubbs iuvestigated by you ?

Answer. Some time iu August, 1870.

Question. I understood you to say that a bhick man made comphiint to Major Kellogg
of some wrong done him iu dividing the crops, and that Major Kellogg seat you to in-

vestigate it, and you did so, in the manner you have stated !

Answer. Yes, su\

QtKstion. And upon the failure of Stubbs to respond properly, and to satisfy you that
justice woukl be done this black man, you reported hiui to Major Kellogg, and he sent

you -with a file of men to arrest Stubbs and take him to camp 1

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You had no civil process at that time ?

Ansicer. Georgia was under a sort of martial law at that time.

Question. Iu IftTO ?

Answe): Yes, sir.

Question. In what month ?

Aiisiver. I think it was in the month of August; possibly it was the last of July.

Georgia was then a military district.

Question. Georgia was still uuder martial law? ,

Answer. Not exactly uuder martial law, but General Terry had the control of afi'airs

to a great extent.
Question. He had supreme control of the State?
Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. And he deputed to you officers what authority he desired you to exei'cise?

Answer. Yes, sir. The orders of Major Kellogg gave me the right to arrest any
parties.

Question. Was it your custom, and was it the intention of the authority given you
that you were to interfere iu cases of private contract between farmers and their hands
if you believed injustice had been done ?

Ansicer. That is the way I understood. the orders.

Question. And you disiiosed of the cases as you thought consistent with justice and
equity?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. As I stated, Mr. Griftin, a member of the legislature from that

county, came to General Terry aud told him that the civil authorities had declined to

do their duty any longer, andthat colored men could not get justice done them. It

•was on that representation that we were sent down there.

Question. This wss an instance of your interference iu cases of that kind uuder the

orders of your superior officer ?

Answer. Yea, sir; this w.as the second arrest that we made; the first was of the
sheriff or ordinary of the county, I have now forgotten which, who was arrested aud
Bent up to General Terry.

Question. Was that on account of the same matter of private difierence ?

Answer. No, sir; it was because he had refused to carry out the pro))er laws iu some
cases between blacks and whites. General Terry had the right to suspend a man from
office and to appoint another iu his place.

Question. Or to depute to his officers throughout the State—to yourself and others

—

the right and power to investigate and determine dilfereuces between farmers aud their

hands ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and everything we did down there had to be reported to him in

writing. •

Question. Entirely without reference to the civil authorities in that section ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir.

Question. How long did those orders continue?
Answer. We were there ouly two mouths. When we left, there were no troops at all

there.

Question. You are now up iu White County ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. You spoke of some person that you arrested there, and of some garb that

you found in the garret of a house?
Aihswer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who was that person?
Answer. A person that the marshal had a warrant for, for ilring upon a United States

witness with a revolver.

Question. You were aetiug in aid of the civil authorities in making that arrest?

Ansicer. Of the United States authorities
;
yes, sir.

Question. Were they in pursuit of him with a warrant ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you found him ?
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Atistrcr. Yos, sir: in an upper room of a house, \vith the door locked, and witli two
revolvers on bis jjerson.

Qucstio». Wliose house .'

Answer. lu his own house.

Quesiion. And you found in that house the garb you have spoken of?
Ansiver. No, sir ; we found that in his father's housed
Question: You supposinl that garb to be the uniform of a Ku-Klux ?

Answer. No, sir; I did not pay much attention to it. I thought it could have been
something else as well as that. There was a possibility that it was used for that j)ur-

pose, yet I would not assert that it was a Kn-Klux' garb.
Qncslion. Have; you seen any Ku-Klux in Georgia f

Answer. No, sir ; only in Alabama.
Question. And that was in 1868 ?

Anstvn: Yes, sir.

Question. Was the garb they wore there the same that you saw here ?

Ansrcer. Well, the garb we found was a sort of black cambric gown.
Quesiion. You have spoken of the difliculty of making arrests, and of the necessity of

making the arrests at night ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I need not ask you whether an arrest at night is not more dangerous to the
person who makes it than an arrest in the day-time ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; if the party to be arrested intends to resist.

Question. Do you not mean by difficulty in making arrests that it was an evasion of
the arrest, and not any forcible resistance ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Quesiion. The parties got out of your way?
Answe): Yes, sir; lay out, as they call it.

Question. That constitutes the difficulty in making arrests

?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; I have never had auy opposition to arrest made to me personally.
One or two ofScers of my regiment have lieen resisted.

Question. They are in this State ?

Answer. No, sir ; they are not. One is in South Carolina. Ho was sent up into one
of the northern counties in this State and arrested a man, and about three hundred of
the citizens forced him to give him up.

Quesiion. What was the alleged ofleuse ?

Answer. jMurder. It was in 1870, during the time that General Terry was adminis-
tering affairs here.

Quesiion. That was during the period of military law ?

Answer. No, sir ; the writ of habeas eorpus was not suspended. I do not know exactly
what the condition of affairs was, but Gimeral Terry was aljove Governor Bullock.

Question. It was during that time tliat the murder v>-as committed, and resistance to
the arrest was made ?

Answer. Yes, sir. The officer told me of the circumstances of \\w case ; he said that
he had twenty men given him to proceed up in Chattooga County and arrest this man
and bring him to Atlanta. He arrested him, and came into the town of Sunnnerville,
where he had to stop over night. He was twenty miles from the railroad, Aud had to

march to the railroad the next morning. During that night some three Imndred Ku-
Klux, as he claims, gathered together, and their leader came to him in disguise and
demanded that he should release this person. All his comm.Tud will testify tliat tliose

disguised men were circulating around among them. One man in particular will

tell you that one of the disguised men came up to him and asked if he knew who he
was. The man said " No ;" and then the disguised man said, "I am ," giving some
name, " from the battle-field ot Shiloh." The lieutenant was forced to give the man
up. He was court-martialed for it, and came very near being put out of the service.

Question. That case was reported to General Terry?
Ansii'er. Yes, sir; and General Terry believed he should have held the man at all

hazards. I know of another case, where an officer was attacked by a band of men
who attempted to release his prisoners. He fought them, however, and repulsed them,
losing two of his horses, and brought away his prisoners. He was Lieutenant Sum-
merhayes, of the Eighth Infantry.

Question. What was the name of the other officer who you say was resisted ?

Answer. His name was Lieutenant Hyer.
Question. Was Lieutenant Sununerhayt'S attacked by an inferior body to that which

attacked Lieutenant Hyer?
Answer. He had an inferior force to that of Lieutenant Hyer.
Question. You spoke of a man being confined in prison in Hall County, and gave it

as an instance of the ill-feeling and injustice existing in White County. It was tlie

case where a difliculty arose between two men, and one called the other a damned
radical, and Ijlows followed. I understood you also to say that it was the only case to
your knowledge in which politics of the present day seemed to have auy part at all ?
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.inswcr. Yes, sir.

QueMion. Yoii say that man was arrested itnder a Avarrant in Hall County, charged
with an assault with intent to kill ! 1

Amiver. Yes, sir.

Question. That is a felony ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

(lucsiion. And you say that he was imprisoned in default of bail :

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you any knowledge of any attempt to release him tipou bail, except
what his father told you 1

Answer. No, sir. >

.Question. You were not present in Hall County, and did not examine the record, and
you know nothing of the affidavit that preceded the warrant for his arrest ?

Ansii-er. No, sir.

Question. All yon know of the case is what his father told you ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. I think I stated that his father came to my camp and asked me to
protect his son trom the Ku-Klux.

Question. Does not the writ oihaheas corpus now run in Georgia'/
Answer. I think it is in force.

Question. Do you know, therefore, any cause why a man may not now procure a writ
of habeas corpus if he chooses to apply for it properly, and to the proper i)erson ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I do. Uji in the country where lawyers deal with men of very
limited education they can come sharj) tricks upon them, and deprive them of many
rights to which they are entitled. Mr. West told me that after his son Avas bailed on
this first charge of assault and battery he swore out a warrant against his antagonist,
and had him arrested on a similar charge, and they tried the case before two of the
justices, one of them this man Satterfield, who has since run away for illicit distilling,

and another by the name of Eoberts. The man last arrested, whose name is Jackson,
employed a Mr. Palmer to defend him. West was called on the stand to give his testi-

mony. He stated all the circumstances of the case, the time, and all that. He had
scarcely given his testimony when thedefendant's lawyer jumped up and moved that
the case be thrown out of court, as the witness had not given any locality.

Question. Had not proved where the assault was committed?
Ansicer. Yes, sir ; aud the case was thrown right out of court at once, without allow-

ing him* any chance to make the statement, as he could have done.

Question. You came from New York ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have yon attended the trial of cases in the court of quarter sessions where
similar cases were tried ?

Answer. I have been engaged in cases before juries.

Question. Are you a member of the bar ?

Answo: No, sir.

Question. You were concerned as a party or as a witness ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I am speaking of cases tried before courts duly organized. ».

Answer. I understand you.
Question. Have you not constantly known of men guilty of ofifenses escaping because

of some defect in the proof; is it not a'common thing for that to be done ?

Ansu-er. Not to my knowledge.
Question. Then your experience as a criminal lawyer is very limited ?

Answer. It is very limited; I am not a lawyer at all.

By Mr. Scofteld :

Question. Suppose that West had been the defendant ; would there have been any
such sharp trick played?
Answer. His father claims not.

By ilr. Bayaed :

Question. It was the act of a lawyer endeavoring to get his client clear ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. '

Question. By this sharp trick, as you call it, he claimed that his opponent had not

proved the case, because he had not proved the locum i?t quo, where the assault and bat-

tery had been committed ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Are there not gentlemen of the bar here in Atlanta and in the adjoining

portion of the State who are eminent men, and who do their duty by any persons who
employ them ?

Ansu'cr. I think there are, although I have no intercourse with them.
Question. As it is not necessary to employ a lawyer in any particular county, why is

33 G
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it that a writ oi hahcas corjjus could, uot Lave been obtained ; is tiiere any obstacle iu
tl" e "way ?

Answer. There is no legal obstacle that I know of.

Questioti. Was there any attempt made to obtain it ?

Answer. His lather told me so.

Question. What was the attempt ?

Anstccr. His father said that he employed a lawyer, and feed him, to get out a writ
of habeas corjms, and the ordinary declined to issue it because Mr. West was a resident
of another county ; that was the only reason in the world which he gave. I told Mr.
West that I did not believe it was a valid reason.

QMstlon. Was this ordinary the only person in the State to whom the application
for a writ of habeas corpus could be made ? Could not any justice of the supreme court
have issued that writ in this city, or in any part of the State ?

Ansiver. 1 think so.

Question. And no attemiit was made to get anybody else to issue a writ of habeas

corpus ?

Answer. No, sir ; not up to the time I left there. I advised Mr. West to do so', and
told him there was no valid reason at all why it should not be issued.

Question. And you want to go back there and escort that young man to the place of
trial?

Answer. I would like to be there to save his life.

Question. Is it the practice of the military in this State to maintain that supervision
over the public peace ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; I have the order of General Terry to that effect.

Question. Not limited, to any iiarticular case ?

Ansiva: No, sir. It says that by the common law every citizen is to use his utmost
endeavors to prevent the commission of felonious assaults or felonious destruction of
life and property ; and it goes on to say that the word " citizen" must mean any one
of the people ; and if a citizen becomes a soldier he is not thereby relieved from his

obligations as a citizen ; and, therefore, a soldier is as much under that obligation of
the citizen as if be did not wear a uniform. And he further enjoins upon all officers

to use their utmost endeavors to i)revent any felonious destruction of life and iiroj)-

erty.

Question. Under that order is it the practice of the military in this State to become
the conservators of the peace in the various counties ; and do they, ui^on appjicatiou
of individuals, undertake to guard and protect them ?.

Ansuwr. That has been my experience.
Question. Then you would detail troops to protect any one who signified to you that

he needed protection ?

Ansiver. K he made it apparent to me that he was iu danger ; it is left to my discre-

tion, and I would be very cautious about it.

Question. You would detail troops to go to any part of the county to escort any man
to and fro ?

Ansicer. I have already had to do it in White County, in the case of two of the wit-
nesses before the United States court. They were arrested on warrants, sworn out in

W^hite County, for assault. They made it apparent to the marshal that their lives

would be in danger if they went up there Avithout j^rotection, and the marshal asked
me to furnish a guard for them, which I did. The marshal wanted ten men, as he feared
there would be a great deal of trouble. With that number of men I thought I had
better go along myself, and I did so ; but nothing transpired.

Question. Against whom had these men been testifying ?

Ansiver. Against parties who fired upon them in Cleveland a few months before.

They were originally Avitnesses against distillers up there, and their lives had been
threatened. They were told that if they came to Atlanta they would be killed, and at

one term of the court they did not dare come down here.

Question, AVas the case of Mr. Holcombe one of those cases ?

Answer. Ho was not one of those parties.

Question. In how many parts of Georgia are there troops now 1

Answer. There are posts at Atlanta and at Savannah ; I do not know whether there
are any more; there are a great many detachments scattered about through the
State.

Question. Are troops detached and detailed to go to any part of the State, wherever
they are required, from the barracks at Atlanta and Savannah ?

Ansivei: Tliat has been the custom.
Question. In any of those cases where they have gone out have you found that there

lias been any forcible resistance to them, since General Terry has abated his rule ?

Ansicci'. The only case I have heard of was that of Lieutenant Hyer.
Question. That was while General Terry was commander of the State ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And commanded the State of his own will ?
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Ansiccr. You must mean, then, since last January ?

Question. Yes.

Answer. I have no recollection now of any case.

Question. They go to dilicreut parts of the State ?

Answer. I amordeied to White County at the request of the marshal ; I do not know
upon what grounds General Terry orders the military to other parts of the State.

Ey the Chairman :

Question. There has been no open resistance ?

Ansiver. None that I have heard of.

Question. Suppose the marshal or a single deputy were to go by himself to make
arrests, would there be any danger ?

Ansivcr. He says he would not risk his life. The deputy marshal intends to go up in

White County next week, and he requests uie to send a guard to him at Gainesville.

By Mr. Bayakd :

Question. You spoke of the formation of night companies to jiieket the roads when
they thought this Ku-Klux baud were about to make raids ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. How long have those companies been in existence ?

Answer. Those parties said they organized them some time in June or July last.

Question. Are they widely spread?
Answer. I have heard of them in only that one county.
Question. Do you know the extent of the organization there ?

AnsiDer. I have seen some twelve or fifteen men who said they were members of it,

and that they broke ui>, by their organization, the raiding of the Ku-Klux.
Question. Have they pretty effectually broken it up by means of this counter organiza-

tion?
Answer. I think they have effectually stopped their going about at night.

Question. You do not know how many compose that organization ?

Anstver. I have heard only twelve or fifteen say they belonged to it ; I think that is

' about the extent of it.

By the Cii-iiEM.vA^

:

Question. You spoke of the i)eoxile in that county being divided into the old Union
and old rebel element ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. As a general rule, how do the old Union iieojile act now, with which iioliti-

cal party ; the republican or democratic ?

Anstver I hardly know ; I have not troubled myself even to inquire of them about it.

I have heard politics mentioned there so little that I do not know how the x^eople do
stand.

Question. Y'ou do not hear the words " republican " and " democrat " up there ?

Anstver. Not a bit of it.

Question. It is " rebel " and " Union ?
"

Anstver. It seems so.

By Mr. Lansixg :

Question. Where was the murder committed for which Lieutenant Ilyer made the

arrest ?

Anstver. Some fifteen or twenty miles from Summerville, in Chattooga County.
Question. Do you know the circumstances of it ?

Anstver. I do not.

By Mr. Bayaed :

Question. That was in 1870 ?

Ansiver. In March, 1870,

Question. During the existence of martial law in this State under General Terry?
Anstver. I do not think there was martial law.
Question. Was it whUe General Terry was the military ruler here ?

Answer. It was while Georgia was a military district.

Atlanta, Georgia, Ootoher 24, 1871.

CHARLES HENDEICKS (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. What is your age, where were you born, and where do you noY?' live ?
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Avsircr. I am about forty-two years old ; I was born in Butts County, tliis State; and
I now ILve in the city of Atlanta.

Question. How lono; have you been living in Atlanta ?

Answer. I was living here all during the war and until year before last, when I
went up into Gwinnett County, and bought a piece of land near Pinckneyville dis-

trict.

Qucsiion. IIow long did you live in Gwinnett County ?

Ansircr. I lived there three years.

Question. When did you leave there and come back to Atlanta ?

Answer. I left there last year, during the time of the State election ; in November, I

think.
Question. Had you anything to do with that election ?

Ans7ra: I had.
Question. In what capacity?
Ausioer. I was one of the comraittee of election, to superintend it. I have my com-

mission in my pocket, and here it is. [Handing the chairman a paper, as follows

:

'^ExECUTivK Department, State of Georgia,
" Atlanta, Georgia, December 8, 1870.

" Chas. Kendrix, [Hendricks,] Esq.,
" Norcross, Gicinnett County.

" Sir : I am instructed by his excellency the governor to inform you that, in pursu-
ance of your appointment by him, you were, on the 1st day of December, 1870, con-
lirmed, by the honorable the Senate, as a manager, to hold the election at the precinct
established at Norcross, in the county of Gwinnett.

" Respeclfullv vours, '
•

[SEAL.]
^

"H. C. COESON,
" Secretary Executive Department."']

V^hicstion. I notice that this paper is dated the 8th 6f December; I suppose the elec-

'

tion was held in December ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir ; that is right.

Question. Did you fmd anv people up there in Gwinnett Countv that thev called
Kn-Klux?

- "

\
Answer. I did.

Question. Tell us what you know about them.
Answer. They came to my house ; they first called me out
Question. Before you go on, state when that was ; whether it was before the election

or after.

Ansiver. It was two weeks before the election.

Question. After this commission was given you ?

Answer. Yes, sir; just exactly two weeks before the election.

Question. Did they know you had the commission ?

Ansivc^'. Yes, sir ; it was published, and they knew it.

Question. How many of them came ?

Answer. I never saw but two of them I knew, "Wilson and Edmunds.
Question. How many were there in the crowd ?

Ansicer. I could not tell exactly ; several of them ; I had such a hard scuffle with
them ; my wife ran out and hollered, and they ran off.

Question. Was it in the day time or at night ?

Answer. At night.
Question. Were they disguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they riding or walking

?

Ansicer. They were walking.
Question. Go on and tell us all about it.

Answer. They called me out, and I started to the door. I knew Wilson's voice,
because I was well acquainted with him. My wife told me not to open the door until
I made up a light. I was living in what we call a log-cabin in our part of the country

;

I looked through a crack and saw him. I made up a light, and then went and got
into bed and lay right down. I did not think they would break open the door. They
found I had laid down, and they broke open the door and came in. Edmunds said that he
was going to shoot me right down. My .wife just got up and ran out of doors and hol-
lered. I begged them not to shoot mo. I said : " Now, Mr. Wilson, don't you shoot
mo ; I have done nothing in the world to you ; don't you do it ; I know you and Mr.
Edmunds both." He came to the conclusion that he would carry me into the woods
and hang me. lie said to Edmunds, " Let's carry him out and hang him, and then
shoot him." I put on my pants, that lay there, and he came to the conclusion that I

Avas going out willingly. They had their pistols in their hands, and I gathered both
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their hands and tried to get their pistols away. I tusseled Trith them until I got to the
door, and then I broke and ran, and they shot me.

Question. Where were yon hit ?

Ansice7: In the thick part ofruy thigh; the ball went into my bowels ; Doctor Profit,

of this city, took it ont. The gentleman I was working for at the time happened to bo
up on Monday morning ; it was done on Snnday night. I was there framing a railroad
bridge ; I am a carpenter. He came ni> Monday morning and had me sent right to

town, and I have been here ever since. I had a little difficulty once before that with
Wilson, at the time of the governoi-'s election. I went up to vote, and he just walked
up right behind mo and knocked mo down with a stick. I got up, and the 'squire of
the district told him that he had better behave himself. I started on home ; I did not
live far from the court-house—about half a mile. The 'squ.ire called me back and told
me that I should have a chance. I started back, and Wilson came up to mo and cut
my coat with his knife. I believe, though, it was made .up amongst a party of them
there because I took a part in the election ; I am satisfied it was.

Question. Who is Wilson ?

Ansicn: His name is Hiram Wilson.
Question. Where does he live ?

Answer. He lives right there in the saiuc district of Piuckney ville
;
you may say at

Xorcross.
Question. A\Tiat'is his standing in the community ?

Ansiver. He has not a very good' recommendation ; he is what we call a drunkard
;

he has got pretty low down principles.

Question. Has he much property ?

Answer. I think he has but very little property ; he had a right smart piece of laud,
a very good property ; a piece that Norcross is now built on. He owned that, and sold
it to Mr. Thrasher. I do not know what he ha? in money, but I think he has now
hbont four or five acres of land.

Question. How old a man is he ?

Ansiver. Not very old ; I reckon about thirty-five, to the best of my judgment.
Question. Did he own slaves before the war ?

A nstcer. He did not.

Question. Did his family own slaves ?

Ansu-er. Not that I know of.

Question. Was he in the rebel army ?

Ansicer, I think in'obably he was. I never knew anything about him until I went
up there. Dr. Parks was a member of the legislature, and I was building a house for

liim. I took an active part in trying to teach the colored ijeople of that district what
to do, and they just concluded that 1 should not live there.

Question. Had you had any personal difficulty with Wilson except on election day ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Had anything ever passed between you and him before he knocked you
down at the jjolls ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. This paper which you have handed me, j'oitr commission, seems to be
stained, is it with blood ?

Ansiver. No, sir, it is not a blood-stain ; I think it came o& my purse.
Question. VLow long were you in recovering from the efiecfc of the shooting ?

Ansicer. The whole of last summer. I was i^retty badly shot; I was not able to do
anything the whole of last summer.

Question. Ave you as well now as before you were shot ?

Answer. I am not entirely well ; I have spasms from it sometimes ; I had one to-day
u]) here in the room.

Question. How seriously does it interfere with your labor as a carpenter ?

Answer. Sometimes I have them up ou top of a house where I am at work. Finally,

I have got so that I cannot go on top of a house much, becatise I am afraid to risk it. If

I am on the ground I can, ijrobably, make out very well. The parties I work with
know that I have them.

Question. Has any attempt been made to bring these men to trial and punishment in

the courts there ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I came here and had a warrant taken out for them, and had them
before the court at Lawrenceville. He claimed that he was not ready for trial, and
they put oE his trial ; I went up there this last term of the court and they biu'ued up
the court-house and all the documents. John Thrasher, George Jones, Abel Greer, and
old man Tom Jones, went his bond for $1,000 ; three of them went Edmunds's security

for a thousand dollars ; and Edmunds ran away and left his security.

Question. Where is the other man f .

Answer. He is up there.

Question. Is he under bond now ?

Answe)'. Yes, sir ; bat they have burned up all the documents and everything of that
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sort, and it seems to me that I would have a great deal of trouble up there to get at

the right of it ; aud I thought I would try before this committee and see what they
could th) with it.

Question. Did you go before the grand jury ?

A7isn-cr. I did.

Quesiiov. What did they do ?

Ansira: They fouud a true bill against him.
Question. HoV long ago did you iirst hear of the Ku-Klux up there ?

Answer. Well, sir, they have beeu up there for three years ; I have not been iu the
county for more than three years ; 1 married my wife here, but her father lives up
there ; she wanted to live close by her father, aud I went up there. I thought I would
buy me a piece of land and settle myself iu the country, and uot have so much renting,

to do ; but I could not stay there ; it is uo use to me now.
Question, Have you sold your laud ?

Answer. No, sir.

(Question. When you went up there did you find that the Ku-Klus were in the county ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. AVhat have they beeu doing ?

Ansiver. They have beeu disturbing both white and black ; whipping some, robbing
them, taking what little money and other things they had, and so on.

Question. You say they shot you ; did they do anything more to you, or did they then
go off '!

Answer. They went off ; it was not very far to my father-in-law's; my wife made
such a fuss that they ran off; there were some other parties there, but I could not get
a chance to see them, and cannot swear to them ; I could not tell exactly how many
there were ; I suppose they were afraid to stay any longer ; my father-in-law knows
every man in the settlement.

Question. So far as you know, state whether those who are Ku-Klux belong to cue
political party ; and, if so, which party it is.

Answer. I think they belong to one political party ; I think it is a collusion amongst
them ; I think they belong to the democratic party ; that is my opinion about it.

Question. To what political ijarty do the men that they whip and abuse belong ?

Answer. They are all republicans that I ever knew anything about ; all I ever heard
about in our part of the State that they abused were of republican principles. I never
knew a man interfered with yet but what was a republican ; I do uot think you will
find iu your examination here that any man has been interfered with but what is a
republican.

By Mr. Bayaed :

Question. Was this outrage upon you committed after the election was held ?

Anstecr. I was shot before the election.

Question. What is the population of that county ?

Answer. I could not tell exactly what it is now, but it is pretty strong.

Question. How many people are there in the county, I mean ?

Answa: I know what you mean ; I could not tell exactly how many people or how
many voters there were there ; but then they are right strong ; I have no idea how
many.

Question. How many votes were polled on both sides at that election ?

Answer. I cannot tell you ; after I was shot I came down here.

Question. Were you not the superintendent of that election in 1870 ?

Answer. I was uot able to be there ; I do uot know how many voters there were.
Question. You did not suj)erintend the election on account of the injuries inflicted

upon you ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You do not know the population of Gwinnett County ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. You do not know how many colored peopjc there are iu it ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Or how many white people there are in it '!

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. You do not kuow how many votes were polled by each class ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. How many superintendents of election were there in the county ; one for
. each district ?

Answer. There are three for each district. This says, " You are coufirmed as a mana-
ger to hold the election at the precinct established at Norcross."

Question. Were there any other managers at that precinct ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. How many ?

Answer. Twn.
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Question. Who were they ?

Anstver. One was Mr. Boyce, and I do not recollect now who the other oue was.
Question. Were either of those others colored men ?

Aiisicm-. I was the only colored man among them.
Question. Were the othermen of the same politics as yourself?
Ansiccr. Meshach Boyce was.
Question. You say that this man Hiram Wilson was a pretty low fellow, and given to

drinking ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. He had assailed you in 1868 at the governor's election ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many came to your house and attacked you at the time you were
shot?
Answer. I could not tell exactly how many came there.
Question. How many did you see ?

Ansiver. I saw two, and then there were some out of doors ; I had a scuffle inside of
the house, and my wife ran out of the house screaming and hollering.

Question. You did not see those who were outside ?

Anstver. No, sii\
,

Question. You merely supposed there were some there ?

Answer. I was satisfied there were some there.
Question. You did not see them ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Were Wilsou and Edmunds disguised /

Aiiswer. Yes, sir.

Question. How ?

Anstver. Wilson had on his wife's dress. My wife is well acquainted with them, and
she knew that he had on his wife's dress, and an oil-cloth patch over his face, and Ms
face blacked up. Edmunds had on a kind ofshawl and something over his face ; I could
not tell exactly what it was.

Question. How did you recognize Wilson ?

Ansiver. By his height and voice and by his teeth ; they are all knocked out in front.

Question. You had no difficulty in recognizing him ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. You are certain it was he ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was there an indictment found by the grand j ury of Gwinnett County ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was that indictment burned u]} in the court-house?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. The lii'st time the case came up for trial there was a continuance ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Why?
Answer. He said he had not his witnesses there.

Question. The second time the case was to come up the court-house was destroyed?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was there any other indictment ?

Ansv:er. No, sir.

Question. That is stiU. pending !

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. When will it be tried ?

Answer. I do not know ; as soon as ever they get a court-house, I suj)pose.

Question. You mean some place to hold court in ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who is the gentleman who prosecutes cases in that county ?

Ansiver. Mr. Marler.
Question. 'Who is the judge ?

Ansiver. I know his name, but I cannot call it to recollection now.
Question, Are both the solicitor and the judge appointed by Governor Bullock ?

Answer. I think they are elected.

Question. Do you think the judge is elected?
Answer. Yes, sir, by the civil authorities, and the solicitor, too.

Question. Do you speak from inquiry and knowledge upon this subject ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; but I think they jh^e not appointed by the governor. I do not
exactly know whether they are or not, but I am of the opinion they are not.

Question. Your case is still pending in that coimty ?

Answei: Yes, sir.

Question. What was the charge against this man ; shooting with intent to commit
murder ?

Answer. Yes, sir.



520 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Question. That was the olfeuso he was indicted for ?

Anstcer. Yes, sir.

By the Chauui^vx :

Question. I nnderstood you to say that you had boen before the grand jury of the
Federal coiirt here ; I was uiistakeu in that, was I ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Atlanta, Georgia, Octoler 24, 1871.

MARTHA HENDRICKS (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chaxriman :

Question. What is your age, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

Answer. I will be twenty-eight years old next Malch; I was born in Gwinnett
County, but I now live in Atlanta.

Question. When were you married ?

Ansicer. I have been married going on four years since I married my present husband.
I disremember what time in the year it was, but I was married in IVIilledgeville.

Question. Did you go to live in Gwinnett Coimty after you were married ?

Answer. Y'es, sir. We staid in JVIilledgeville three months, and then we went to
Gwinnett County, and my husband bought some land there. We were living there
until about this time last year, when he was shot.

Question. Tell us what you know about his being shot.
Ansioer. They came there on Sunday night. We were in bed. They called him

three times; Mr. Wilson said, "Hendricks," three times. I did not know whether he
was awake or not. I was awake, for my baby was fretting, and I was attending to
my baby. I said, "Mr. Hendricks, somebody is calling you." He said, "Who is that?"
I said, "I don't know who it is." They called him again, and ho said, " Who is that ?"

They said, "A friend; get up and come out ; it isn't any one who has come to hurt
you." I said, "Mr. Hendricks, you make up a light before you go to the door to any-
body ; make up a good light." He made up a light, and as soon as he made a light
Sam Edmunds bursted the door down, and came right in. He walked right across
the floor, and then came back. At that time I had got out of bed, with my baby in
my arms. Mi\ Edmunds took me by the right arm, and held me, and told my husband
that if he moved he would shoot his damned head off. Mr. Wilson came in and took
an ax there was there and threw it out of doors, and then came back and said, "Hen-
dricks, where is the money you have drawn?" He said, "I haven't drawn any
money." Mr. Wilson said, "You are a damned liar." My husband said, "I haven't
any money; I spent all I had in provisions Saturday night." He said, "I am going to
hang you ; my business to-night is to break your damned neck." Mr. Wilson had me
by the neck, and Edmunds by the arm. He let me loose. As I went around one
^ihoved the door to. My little girl jumped out of bed and said, " Ma, who is it ?" Mr.
Wilson turned around, and as he did so his bonnet fell off his head. Mr. Wilson had
on his wife's dress. .1 knew him, and called him by his name. I said to my husband,
" Charley, Wilson has thrown your ax out of doors, and you have nothing to defend
yourself with." I knew Wilson and Edmunds both. Wilson first tried to change his
voice, and then came right out. I ran out of doors to go to my father's, who lived a
half a mile from there. When my litttle girl came out behind me she said, "Ma, I see
another man come out there." "VVhen I got down to my father's I said to Mrs. Grogan,
"Where is Mr. Grogan f" She said, "I don't know where he is; what do you want
with him ? " I said, "' I want him to go back with me ; I want to see if Mr. Wilson and
Mr. Edmunds have killed Charley." She said, "I don't know where he is." My father
said, "You stay here, and I will go and get Mr. Fields and Mr. Kemp to go up there
and see whether they have killed him or not." At that time I heard four pistols fired,

and he said, "I expect he is killed." I said, "I am afraid to stay in the house, and I
will go up to Mrs. Grogau's and stay." I went up there and sat down by the fire.

!Mrs. Grogan said, "You have come down hero and scared us nearly all to death; go
down to your father's." I said, "He has locked the door, and I know I cannot get in."

She said, "Go on and see." I went on, but I could not get in. I came back and said,
"Mrs. Grogan, it is cold ; please let me come in and sit down by the fire until father gets
Ijack." She said to a little boy, " Get up, Charley, and let her in." She said to me,
"Who do you think it was that shot Hendricks?" I said, "I have no right to think
anything about it ; it was Mr. Wilson and Mr. Edmunds." She said, " You think it is

Edmunds ?" I said, "I wUl swear to it." At that time her little grandson said, "Aunt
Martha, uncle Hiram (that is Mr. Wilson's name) and Mr. Edmunds were lip here
to-night, an hour and a half ago, and called papa out, and he went off with them."
The chUd did not more than get through telling when Mr. Grogan came up on the
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piazza. Mis. Groguu rau out there and whispered something to him, and ho then CUme
in. Mrs. Grogan says, "Martha has scared us to death to-night." He said, "How?"
She said, " She came in here and said that some men had gone up there and kiEed
Hendricks." He said, " Hendricks is not killed ; he got away from them." Now, how
should he know that if he was not there ? Mrs. Grogau tried to make the child hush,
but he said three times that his pa went off with them. We all went back there, but
could not find my husband. I came back down to my father's and staid that night.
The next morning we tried to find him, but could not find him. There was a traveler
who staid all night with Mrs. Grogan. He said to me, "Aunty, have you found your
huebaudf " I said, "Xo; we cannot find him." He said, "I could have been in the
fuss last night, if I would ; but I don't interfere with anybody that does npt trouble
me." In about a half an hour Mr. Grogau sent me word that Charley was at Norcross,
badly wounded. I went right on there; it was 12 o'clock when I got down there.
His boss told me that ho ^Vas goinf? to send Charley to Atlanta, where he could have
])rotection. He got ^im on the train, and sent him to Atlanta Monday evening. Mr.
Profit attended him about two months before he was able to walk about or do any-
thing,

Question. How far did you live from Norcross?
Ansicer. About two miles and a half.

Question. How far from Mrs. Grogan's ?

Ansivei: She lived about a half a mile from where my husband had, bought him some
land.

Question. Did your husband's land join the laud owned by Mr. Grogau ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; it ran right down there.

Question. Had there been any difiiculty in any way between your husband and Mr.
Grogan ?

Ansiuer. None at all. Year before last, I think, when there was an election, my hus-
band went up to vote, and this same Mr. Wilson tried to kill him ; he stepped up ta

• him and cut through his coat and shirt.

Question. Had Mi". Grogan ever bad any difficulty with your husband ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; he never had any fuss that I know of with Mr. Grogan.
Question. Was Mi". Grogan of the same kind of politics with your husband ?

Answer: No, sir.

Question. When you went to Mrs. Grogan's why did she not want yon to go into the
house ?

Ansicer. 1 do not know.
Question. What reason did she give ?

Answer. She said she was sleepy and wanted to go to sleej? ; that was all.

Question. Where was your little baby all this while ?

Ansiver. I had it in my arms.
Question. How old was it ?

Answer. It was going on two years old at that time : my little gnl was eleven vears
old.

Question. Had you any other children ?

Ansicer. I had one more, a little boy eight years old ; but he did not live with me.
Question. You had none younger than the one you then had in your arms ?

Answer. No, sir. ,

Question. How many persons did you see there that night?
Answei: I did not see any one but Mr. Wilson and Mr. Edmunds ; my little girl said

that she saw a man, as she came out of the door, dart behind the house : I was so es-
cited that I did not do anything when I got out of doors but to run and scream until I
got to my father's ; I met Mr. Wilson the next morning and told him that he had done
it, and he did not deny it ; he says now that if my husband ever comes back into that
settlement again he will kill him.

Question. What has he, or any of them, against your husband ?

Answer. I do not know. My husband was appointed by Governor Bullock as one of
the managers of election ; my father has told me since this occurred that he heard sev-
eral of them say that no negro should be a manager of elec"tion up there; that they
wotdd kill him first ; that is all I know thej^ had against him, and I did not know that
until after he was shot.

By Jlr. Bayaed :

Question. Who said that ?

Answer. Mr. Wilson for one.

Question. The one who hurt yoru* husband ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. He is now under indictment for this ofiense ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

By the Chaikman :

Question. Did any others say it besides Jlr. Wilson ?
,
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Ansu'cr. When ijay busbaucl was so sick in the svimnicr they liad it reported up there
that he was dead ; Mr. Grogan said it was a fine thing lie was dead ; that if ho was to
go up there ho could i\ot live long.

Question. Did yon hear him say that ?

Answer. No, sir; my brother-in-law hoard him say it; I never have spoken to him
>incc he had that affray.

Atlakta, Geokgia, Ociober 24, 1871.

Ji\JMES ATKINS sworn and examined.

The CiiAiRM^usr : This witness having been called at yor.r instaij^e, Mr. Bayard, you
will i)lease begin his examination.

By Mr. Bayaed :

Question. I have asked that you should be summoned here, understanding that yon
are a United States officer.

Answer. I am collector of internal revenue for the fourth district in this State, and
have been since September, 1865.

Question. Are you a native of Georgia ?

Answe): Yes, sir ; I was born about forty miles from this place, in Henry County.
Question. Our object is to ascertain the condition of your people here so far as relates

to their peace and good order. I therefore will ask you what is the condition of the
society of Georgia, so far as the same is known to you, for good order and security for

person and proijerty lander the laws.
Answer. Well, that is a pretty broad sort of a question.
Question. I do not know how to introduce the subject differently.

Ansiver. Generally, our community here is pretty jieaceable, but there are a great
many outrages in different parts of the State, as reported to me. I have never wit-
nessed any outrage, except here in the city ; I have witnessed tights, such as will occur
in any place. I was myself an eye-witness to one or two homicides that took place
where the parties were afterwards tried and acquitted.

Question. Have the offenses to which you have referred as having been committed
here differed in their character from ordinary offenses of that kind in cities, from
ordinary breaches of the peace ?

Anstcer. I jiresumo not. I suppose you have reference to whether there was any
combination of men ; there was nothing of that sort.

Question. There were personal collisions between individuals?
Answer. Entirely so

;
growing out of quarrels that I knew nothing about.

Question. You lived in Georgia before the war ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are there now, in yonr opinion, any more breaches of the peace than there
were before the war ?

Answer. I think there are considerable more, from public report, and from information
that is brought to me, that I have no reason to doubt. We were a very peaceable com-
munity before the war ; we hardly ever had any difficulty except at public gatherings,
when men would occasionally get into a light. But there is now a general state of
lawlessness here th.at is considerably in advance of anything we knew before the war.

Question. Is not that natural to the condition of a iieople coming out of such a war ''

Answer. I think it is very likely.

Question. Do you believe that, in the community where you reside, there is equality

of justice in your courts of law ?

Ansicer. Well, that is a pretty hard question for me to answer. I think our judges
administer the law as justly as it is possible to be done. I think our juries are proba-
bly influenced more by the feelings that have grown out of the war than they used to

be. I think those feelings enter into almost everything that is done aiid said in our
community. I think they look at everything very much in the light of their preju-

dices and the feelings growing out of the war. Their fefelings towards the negro are

unquestionably changed from what they were in former times. The feeling of the old

master towards his slave was very different from that which he now hafe toward the
freedman.

Question. There is an absence of that sense of protection that existed under the old

system ?

Answer. I think so, to a very great extent. I would express my idea about in this

way : neither knows exactly how to do, or to act towards the other ; they have not
adjusted themselves to their new relations. The white man feels a little unkind towards
the negro, and inclined to think that the negro is a little ready to steal and rob ; at the
same time the negro has something of a corresponding feeling towards the white man.
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That, I tbiuk, is natural between the two," and its influence operates very largely upon
our jiu'ies in the cases of trials between the whites and the blacks. It operates'in onr
chiu-ch relations, our social relations, iu fact, in aU the relations of life.

Question. Are you not aware that in the northern States of this country the difference
of opinion in respect to the war has broken up society a great deal there ?

Aniiiccr. I have spent some time in the North and have seen that to sopae extent. I
take it for granted that a war, especially a war between sections and peoples like ours,
calls forth the deepest feelings of the human heart ; and wherever men diller upon that
subject they are apt to get along badly and feel unkindly towards each other. In fact,
I do not know of a single instance of a feeling ofwarm friendship existing between those
of different politics. I see that some of the best friends I used to have now differ with
rue, and we do not associate much w'ith each other ; we live more upon our past friend-
ship. I do not think it is possible to disguise the f^ict that there is a feeling here akin
to the feeling men entertain when they are iu hostility one to another. They feel that
the cause is not yet forgotten, and every one arrayed on the one side feels a corresjiond-
ing hostility to those on the other side. • -

Question. Do you think that the feeling is nrutual ?

AnsKcr. To a large extent, I think, it is. Probably, I might add, that there is a feel-
ing of distrust on both sides to a very large extent, so far as my observation goes, and
I have had a pretty considerable opportunity for observation, in this community at
least.

Question. Yon said that the new relations of these parties have not yet adjusted
themselves. Do you believe that a basis of adjustment is gradually being arrived at
and that matters are improving ?

Ansiccr. I think so, and I hope so ; but it is slowly, very slowly. Since 1865 I have
watched with painful interest, but the progress is exceedingly slow, though progress
has been made unquestionably. You can see that from the newspapers that we have
here, and from the remarks of our public men. And the talk which I hear from time
to time between private individuals, indicates to my mind that men are progressing
m this matter.

Question. They are moving in the direction of an amicable adjustment of their differ-

ences ?

Ansirer. Yes, sir. To illustrate what I mean I will give this example : In 1865, when
our legislature met, called here the " Johnson legislature," there was a constitutional
amendment before it, and I urged my friends to take that amendment as the best
means of settling the difficulty, and that was the general reijublicau view of the ques-
tion. It is in-obably not more than right that I should state that my politics are those
of the rc^iublican party. The course I advised was not adopted, but since then the
men who then argued against it have said that they ought to have adopted it.

By the Chairman :

Question. To which amendment do you refer ?

Answer. To the one submitted to the first legislature after the war.

By Mr. Bay^vrd :

Question. To what is known as the thirteenth amendment ?

Ansu-er. Y'es, sir.

Question. Did they not adopt that amendment ?

Atmcer. They did, but under duress, so to speak. If they did not refuse at first to
adopt it, all the indications were strong that they would refuse to do so ; in fact there
was no doubt that they would refuse to j^ass the thirteenth amendment. But causes
transi)ired that required them to adopt it, or they did adopt it, but they did so under pro-
test, and were opposed to it all the time. As I remember, the thirteenth amendment
gives freedom to the negroes. They thought then and arg-ued that if the Government
of the United States were of the mind to deprive them of their property in slaves, well
and gbod, they could do so, but it did not become them to meet them half-way unless
they were compelled to ; that was the argument they then made. But now some of
them say that the amendment ought to have been adopted willingly. Then there is

another advance in the progress of things. For instance, the negroes ride on the street-

cars here without attracting any particular attention ; I do not think that would have
been tolerated at all in 1865 or 1866; I do not think it would have been in 1868, even.
Now, intercourse with them generally is more upon the common level of man with
man than it was formerly.

Question. You think that the passions which were generated by the war are gradu-
ally subsiding ?

Ansiver. I think so ; but I confess they are! not doing so as rapidly as I would like tc
see them. But I think it would be impossible to keep the passions of men up to that
pitch where they were at the close of the war ; I do not think human nature is capable
of it, notwithstanding all the contests of party and politics through which the coun-
try has passed.
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Question. Has not the materiiil prosperity of your Srafo been very w ouderfully de-
veloped within the hisfc lew years ; take this town for instance?
Answer. Yes, sir ; take this town, and I woukl say that it has, bnt in the conntry

pjenerally I do not think it has. I think that in 1866 the prices of Umd were higher
than ever since, but the productions of the country are gradually increasing

;
growing

better every year. I think farms are better cultivated now than they were immedi-
ately after the war. You must remember that everything was in a very sad state of
derangement immediately after the war. It Avas then a rare thing to see a wagon come
into this town draw]i by a horse or a mule, unless by a very inferior specimen of those
animals ; they used calves, and bullocks, and heifers ; that was the condition of things
around here for forty miles. In place of that, wo now import a large number of mules,
and we make good crops of corn and cotton. I cannot say that there has been a de-
velopment; we have attained somewhat of our former standard in our grain and cotton
ci'ops.

Question. Do you mean that you have recovered somewhat from the effects of the
war, but have not come up to your condition before the war ?

Ansiuer. Not altogether ; we do not raise as miach, I think. Our cotton- crop is

smaller, but that might be accounted for in a great many ways besides the derange-
ment of our industrial interests. For instance, before the war, a negro woman counted
about as good as a man as a hoe hand in the cultivation of cotton, and as two-thirds
of a man after the hoeing was over. That may account for the falling off of the cotton
crop, as the negro women do not now eugage so mu'-h in its cultivation as they did
before the war. But the grain crop is short, and the f-vms arc not in as good condition
as they were formerly. The great difficulty is to find hands that are williug to do any-
thing more than to cultivate the soil; they are not willing to keep up the fences and
to keep the farms in order. The wliite men do not do it themselves, and they complain
That there are no laborers who will now work as they did before the war.

Question. They will not work as efficiently now ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Is there not a general disposition on the part of the white people of your
State to bend their energies to the improvement of their State 1

Answer. 1 think so, as a general thing. There is a large class of wortliless men here,
as I suppose there are in every community. There is this defect : men cling too much
to the old idea of large farms, and to the employment of a large number of laborers,
instead of encouraging the laboring class to become themselves land-owners. I think
they stand in their own light, and that the development of the country is thereby
retarded. I think that feeling grows very much out of opposition to the negroes.
They want them to be and remain laborers to a very large extejit. IMy fatlier was a
slave-owner before the war, and owned a large tract of land after the war. « As soon
as the war closed, or in 1865 or 1866, he built a school-house, and employed a colored
man to teach. His neighbors, as respectable men as I know, burned the school-house,
so that he had to abandon the project of having colored schools. The proof was very
{.'onclusive, to my mind, as to Avho burned it. They were men whom I had been taught
from my infancy to have as high, respect for as any men I laiew ; some of them were
old men. I advised my father to make no difficulty about it, tiiough I was satisfied it

was done by our neighbors, whom 1 had always esteemed and respected.
Question. When was that ?

Ansiver. It was in 1865 or 1806 ; I know it was not later than 1SS6, because my father
died in the latter part of that year. My impression is that it was in the fall of 1865,
or the winter of 1865-'66. I have known a gi'eat many cases of that sort ; wherever
men were disposed to encourage negroes to educate themselves, or anything of that
sort, why, it was not thought to be cjuite prudent. In fact, I hav^e carried on the farm
myself to a considerable disadvantage. I apprehended that it was not a good thing to
establish negro schools there under present circumstances, and my first plan was to
put the negroes upon the farm, and to advise with'them, and to run the farm in that
way. Upon conversing with men of experience and observation in whom I had con-
fidence, I thought that plan was not well, so I employed a white man to take charge of
them. I do not think that feeling is now as rife as it was, though. I can'not say "that
the negroes are quite so keen for education as they were. The discom-agements they
Lave met Avith have caused them, to some extent, to abandon the idea of getting an
education. In justice I would say, that in that very neighborhood where this school-
house was burnt, a negro has since been engaged in teaching school there.

Question. That is an evidence of the better feeling you speak about ''!

Ayisiver. Yes, sir; I hear a great many reports su'ch as you and I and other gentlemen
can find in the newspapers, and some of them I believe to be true. I have a memo-
randum here of a report from one of my deputies. I have forty-six counties in my
district, in the northern part of this State ; there may be one or two more counties
which were made by the last' legislature ; the original district comprised forty-six
counties. One of my deputies reported to me that this state of facts was reported to
him while he was on the ground in the county of Chattooga, five miles from Tryou
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Factory, aucl six miles from Suuiuierville, the county seat : A baud of uieu, supposecl
to number about fifty, from the appearance of them, visited the house of one Amos S.
Alexander, of Chattooji-a County, and took some liquors ho had on hand, and drank
freely of them ; they abused nobody there ; he was absent from home, but his brother,
Jacksou Alexander, was there. Jackson Alexander states that two weeks before that
time, (that is, two weeks before the 29th of September last,) they visited his house
and shot through his door. Both of the Alexanders, and a man of the name of Foster,
say that in the latter part of September, a man in that county, by the name of Eobb,
Avas visited and severely whipped, and was then told that if he undertook to prosecute
them he would never live to carry the prosecution through. This report was made to
me as such reports are frequently made. I made a nole of it as being a matter that
might be of consequence.

Qucslhn. In collecting the United States internal revenue, was your chief diflficulty,

if you had any, in collecting the tax upon distilled spirits?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir ; well, I do not know that there was a great deal of diflQculty in col-
lecting the tax so far as tliat is concerned. There are a great many illicit distilleries

which I cannot find, and the ditScidty is in finding the siJiiits, not so much in collect-
ing the tax.

Question. The difficulty arises from the number of those distilling without a license?
Answer. Yes, sir ; they tMstill upon the sly, and hide out.

Qiitntion. Were those cases in Chattooga County, of which you have made mention,
in a region where that sort of thiug^oes on ?

Answer. No, sir, not much so. That is in a better part of the community. Those
IJarties alleged that they were visited because they had furnished some evidence to
some men I had sent out there, showing where there were illicit distilleries. I sent
out two men for the purpose of hunting up distilleries. They were called inspectors
then, but they wei'e really detectives. Passing through there, these men gave valuable
information of the whereabouts of distillers, and who they were. The parties who
visited these uien stated that that was their reason for doing so.

Question. They retaliated upon them in that way ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Then I understand you to say, that so far as the collection of the United
States revenue is concerned, you have no moie trouble than there is in other districts ?

Answer, ^^^len the tax is assessed, poverty constitutes the principal difficulty I meet
with in collecting it. I have really had no difficulty with any of my officers, except
in one instance, and that was in regard to an illicit distillery. One of my deputies got
into a difficulty with a man in the upper part of the county, and killed* him. He at-
tempted to arrest him, and the man resisted, and it resulted in his killing the man.

Question. Where was that, and when ?

Answer, I cannot give the date precisely, but I think it was about two years ago.
The name of the deputy was W. B. Whitmore, who was afterward tried in the State
court and acquitted. There was nothing remarkable in that. It was one of those
things that might happen at any time, where an officer attempted to discharge his
duty, and thereby got into a difficulty.

Question. I understand you to say that that one case is the only one in which resist-

ance has been ofiered to your officers ?

Answer. The only case of direct resistance. I will also state that in Cherokee County
a man who gave valuable information to one of my deputies had his house burned.

Question. Was that connected with the matter of illicit distilling ?

Anstver. Yes, sir ; it was in a community where a great many were engaged in distilling.

I think the burning was done by distillers whose distilleries had been broken up
through the information given by the man.

Question. Are you aware of auy opposition in this State to the laws of the United
States ? I do not mean of individuals, but an organized opposition to the laws of the
United States.

Answer. No, sii- ; not to my knowledge.
Question. Do you believe the processes of the courts can be efficiently and safely exe

cuted throughout this State ?

Ansicer. I think that in most cases they can. I have very strong convictions on the
subject of an organization that would on some grounds resist the law. I think the
evidence is conclusive to my mind of the existence of an organization for some pur-
pose here, as conclusive as it is that the city of Chicago was burned some time ago.

Question. State your knowledge upon that subject.
Ansiver. I have no personal knowledge of it. I live in this city, and do business

here, and of course have not been out a great deal, but I hear frequent reports of law-
less acts committed in difi'erent parts of the State. For instance, one was brought to
me to-day, and is a fair example, the case of Eobbins, in Jackson County. Quite a

number of cases of that sort have been brought to my knowledge from difi'erent parte
of the State. They agree iso much in their general character as to satisfy me that
there must be a combination for political purposes. It may be a combination barely
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for wantonuess and Itiwlcssnoss, Imt luy opiuiou is that tliere is n Ku-Klux organiza- ,

tion iu this State, as it is popularly linown. I am led to that conclusiou from the char-

acter of the Yictiins attacked, probably, more than from any oth(;r circumstance. For
instance, the ease of old man Ashburu, in Columbus

Question. That was in 1865 ?

Anstver. No, sir, it was in 1868. Then there was the case of a man by the name of
Ayer ; then the case of a man by the name of Adkins, iu Warren County, who was a
senator iu the State legislature ; then there was a negro killed in Soutliwestern Georgia,

I cannot call his name now, but he was a well-known negro here. I might mention a
number of cases, all of a particular class so far as politics is concerned, of men who
were killed. I think it origin,ate3 in the feeling which a certain class of white men
liave, that if negroes are permitted to enjoy uninterruptedly their right of voting—of
citizenship—it must finally result in degrading that class of white men. I think it is

done mostly by a class of men who feci that the elevation of the negro must be the
degradation of themselves. I do not think it obtains among the better class of citi-

zens, for a man of good sense must know that the elevation of any one cannot degrade
him if he does nothing to effect his own degradation.

Question. Has not that feeling been very much aggravated by a set of low political

adventurers, who have come here to profit by this enfranchisement of the negro ?

Anstver. It is very likely that may have had something to do with it, but I am satis-

fied it grows out of a combination of causes. It strikes me there is more imjjortance

attached to this matter of " political adventurers," as they are termed, than is really

due to them, from the fact that the carpet-baggers, as they are commonly called, are

not so numerous as one might supi30se. They are veiy active, but are not so numerous.
I think we have in our legislature only about seven pure, unadulterated carpet-baggers.

Question. Seven who answer the description I have given ?

Anstver. Yes, sir. It has become very much iu vogue to call any man a carpet-bag-

ger who came here from the North. Jndge Polk, who has lived here for forty years, is

called a carpet-bagger for that reason. 1 could name a dozen men who have lived here
and have raised families here, men who were never known as carpet-baggers until

this feeling got up, and their past history was examined into. In that way a great

deal of this reputation concerning carpet-baggers has grown in importance.
Question. So far as yiou know the feeling of the people of this State, I wiU ask, if a

citizen of a northern State came down, here, and identified himself with the interests

of the State, incorporated himself with the citizens of the State, would his chances for

success and happiness be equally good with those of others ?

Anstver. Not unless he ignored politics. I think they might be if he ignored politics.

Question. What do you mean by that ?

Anstvei: I mean if he took no part in politics, or if he was on the side of the demo-
cratic party.

Question. What would be the effect if he held his own views independently ?

Anstver. You are aware that in excited political times it is very hard for a man simply

to hold his own views and nothing more. He is pressed for a statement of his views,

to be outspoken, and whenever lie does that they ban him, leave him alone ; there is

no question about that ; I do not think I can be deceived upon that point. I have
known men who came here, and for a while kept themselves quiet, and afterward de-

clared their political sentiments, and at once the feeling toward them was different. It

is not so bitter now as before, but there is a gi-eat deal of it now.
Question. You believe that feeling is ameliorating as the causes of excitement disap-

pear?
Anstver. Yes, sir ; I should bfe ashamed to own our people as fellow-countrymen if I

could believe otherwise. I am a southern man born, but ray wife is a lady of northern

birth, and I have had some opportunity of observing the effect of these things. During
the campaign I requested her to visit the houses of none but those who visited her. I

found that during the high political excitement she had no visitors. Since then people

visit her, and seem, in a great measure, to have forgotten the asperities that grew out

of the contest. It is due to me to say that I was a candidate for ofdce, and I was, per-

haps, in a position that might have repelled others who would have visited nie under
different circumstances.

Question. Did you canvass your district ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you express your sentiments with the same openness that you express

them now ? t

Anstver. Yes, sir. '

Question. Did you, as candidates generally do, assail the measures of your opponents ?

Anstver. Yes, sir. I do not claim any particular virtues on that account ; I gave them
the best I could.

Question. Were you assailed in any way ; I do not mean by papers or iu argument,
hut did you meet with auy personal injury or interference ?

Answer. None whatever, except in a single instance, and that I attributed to the



GEORGIA—SUB-COJLMITTEE. 527

drunkenness of the crowd who disturhetl me when speaking on one occasion. On that
occasion force was met by force.

Question. It was a i)olitical row ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you not consider that a man here, either a candidate or not a candidate
for ofiQce, can canvass the State freely diuing an election and express hia opinions openly
without auy personal danger ?

Ansicer. I think a man witli a certain amount of prominence and a certain amount of
dignity can do it. But I am satisfied that a negro, or a white man who is very active
and talks with negroes on the subject of politics, would not be entirely safe. A negro,
(I remember hig name now,) a Mr. Walker, a man of fair intelligence, and of fair prin-
ciples, a zealous politician, Avent to southwestern Georgia to talk with tho negroes
there. He went to see them on their plantations, as men will do when they are can-
vassing, for the purpose of instructing them and talking with them. The result was
that he was killed. i

Question. When you say "he visited them on their plantations," you mean on the
plantations where they were employed ?

Ansiver. Certainly. I think that a man of character and prominence, who had a great
many determined friends, friends who would hunt down those who did him violence or
injiuy, I thiuk they would hesitate long before they would kill such a man.

Question. Would you yourself hesitate at any time to embark in a i)olitical canvass
and express your opinions freely ?

Ansiver. I have been almost all over the State.

Question. And you have met with no injury to yourself?
Answer. No, sir ; but I have been told of other men who have met v/ith difficulty. I

canvassed in the southern part of the State, audi canvassed every county in the seventh
congressional district, which extends from here to the Tennessee line.

Question. Have you any knowledge, in regard to the prosecution of offenses in your
courts of law, as to whether men can obtain justice.ordinarily in your courts ?

Ansicer. I do not think that our officials are delinquent in their duties at all ; I have
no evidence that they are. I think, however, that the feelings which pervade the com-
munity will influence a jury. When any great movement agitates the public mind
the jurors partake of it, as other men dofand are influenced by it, more or less. I
think the piiblic mind is somewhat diseased on the subject of negTO equality. I think,
if you could be here and observe it calmly and deliberately, you, or auy other Senator,
must come to that conclusion. That feeling, I think, extends to our juries.

Question. There is a feeling of antagonism to softie extent ; the white race do not
consider the negroes their equals, and do not like the proposition to make them so ?

.

' Answer. No, sir.

, Question. You will not find that feeling confined to Georgia.
Answer. I think very likely that may be the case.

Question. I will ask you whether, in view of the general condition of affairs here, as
you have stated it, you consider that the State of Georgia and her ]Deople will work
themselves out of thefr i>resent difticulties and embarrassments 1

Answer. 1 do not know that I fully understand even the tendency of things in regard
to the progress of a people out of dijBficiflties of this kind. My notion is that any race
of peoi^le that is not entirely worn out, and has not become effeminate, will work
itself out of all difficulties. I think our iDcople wiE do the same thing, but it will cer-
tainly take, at the rate we are now progressing, a considerable time for us to work
ourselves out, whether we ever do it or not. As I have considered, fi'om reading of
similar contests in other countries, we have a difficulty here which other countries
never have had. No other country has had a contest of races marked by color. What our
experience will be in working out of that difficulty I cannot tell.

Question. That is an element of great difficulty ?

Answei: Yes, sir, of exceeding great difficulty. We meet it everywhere. I confess I
meet it in our own community, and in our own party.

Question. You mean the republican party ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; there is more or less of that feeling there. Men do not feel entirely
in favor of the equality of the negro, though they may profess to do so ; they do not
feel with the negro exactly as they do with the white man. I know I have that same
feeling myself, and I witness it on the part of others. How far that will prevent us
from getting out of our difficulties I cannot tell.

Question. It is an element of great difficulty ?

Ansic&): It is ; and I have thought of it a great deal, because it is a practical difficulty
which meets you on every hand.

Question. Is the solution of this problem to be benefited in any way by coercive legis-
lation on the part of the Federal Government to cure the evils that now exist in your
midst?

Answer. I will state to you the process through which my mind went upon the sub-
ject of the Freedmen's Bureau. At first I was very much averse to the Freedmen's
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Bureau. I thought it was a bad piece of machiucry, and calculated to do a great deal
of wroug. My feelings and political convictions were the same then as now. But now,
from close observation, I am satisfied that the Freedmen's Bureau did a great deal of
good ; that is to say, it brought men face to face with the difficulties that surrounded
them, and made them solve them in a manner they never would otherwise have
adopted. I have witnessed that in the improvement of the feeling of the whole com-
munity, which has been revolutionized on the subject of the emiiloyment of laborers

and the treatment of laborers, and mainly through the instrumentality of the Freed-
men's Bureau. At first I thought it was a great evil—an unmitigated evil. I am sat-

isfied now that it did a great deal of good, whether it did harm or not. Perhaps it did
harm also, because there is always some evil in everything. But whether it is wisest
and best for the Government, with the strong hand, to reach down into these States
and correct these evils, or leave them to correct themselves, I confess is a problem
about which my mind hesitates. When I witness the state of things that exists in
some portions of this State, I sometimes think it would probably be better that it

should be corrected by the strong hand. The truth about it is, as I understand the
situation in some counties, the better class of men are overawed, and are really power-
less ; they are made really to foster the very things they despise and would put down.

Question. Is that without reference to party politics ?

Answer. I spoke of the white people. They are suiierior to the negroes in intelligence

and wealth, and possibly in everything that gives tone to public opinion. The public
opinion of white men is just as distinct and separate from negro public opinion as if

they were entirely distinct communities. White public opinion does not affect negro
public opinion, and negro public opinion does not affect the whites, except perhaps to
exasperate them.

Question. Aud of the two, of course the whites will rule ?

Ansiver. Of course ; intelligence always rules in any community, I suppose.
Question. Your hopes of the future in this State are based upon the gradual amelior-

ation of the relations between the two races ?

Answer. Aud the good sense ofmy fellow-citizens.

Question. The good sense of the race to which you belong ?

Atiswer. Yes, sir. •

Question. Now, must there not be an improvement of kindly feeling, an improve-
ment of the relations between the two races ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Is that kindly feeling more apt to* grow spontaneously than from com-
pulsion ?

Ansiver. Spontaneously, I suppose. I will tell you what my convictions are, and
they are very decided. Unquestionably, the first thing to be done is to educate,
the ignorant of both classes. AVe have as ignorant white men as negroes, and
they are just as unreasonable as negroes; in fact, more so, because they arrogate to
themselves an importance to which they are not entitled, because of the race to which
they belong. With the negro that is not the case. I think the best thing for the
country is to educate all classes as thoroughly as possible.

Question. Is not that to be a matter of your own internal evolution ?

Ansiver. I think so.

Question. Do you not depend entirely for that upon the action of the people of your
own State ?

Answer. Unquestionably we do. *

Question. Must you not so depend, from the nature of things?
Answer. I think so ; but I would welcome a helping hand from any quarter, no mat-

ter what, for that is our great want.
Question. As to the ruling sentiment in your State, is there not, among all the re-

spectable men in the State, the same horror in regard to cruelty toward the black
race, and to outrages upon them, that there would be in any other community ?

Answer. I think not, altogether. If you will pardon me, I think the question betrays
a want of understanding on that subject. I do not think the white men here look
upon the negro as he is looked upon in some of tlie other States. When he was a slave
they looked upon him as a chattel ; they did not pretend to disguise that fact. Now
they look upon him as something worse than a chattel—more like a bad animal, that
they must fear. The feeling crops out in a great many ways, showing that they look
upon him as something different from what they before considered him. Before, they
considered him as a gentle animal that they would take care of for his services ; at
least that was my feeling, and my father had that feeling, and I think it was the feel-

ing generally among the people where I was raised. Now, in place of that kindly
feeling of the master, there is a feeling of bitterness—a feeling that the negro is a sort
of instinctive enemy of ours. And I do not think that feeling leaves the mind in a con-
dition to treat him as kindly as a white man would be treated under similar circum-
stances. For instance, a gentleman in this city with whom I was talking a couple of
weeks ago on the subject of our country generally, and particularlj'^ of our servants,
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said that we never could get :ilon£j in the condition \vc -were in until wu could have
our servanrs kept in snbonlination and made to feel a proper Ijumility before us. I
replied to liiui that I had none of that feeling; that I did not want any man to feel
humble belore me; all I wanted of a man was that he shonld do Iiis duty and treat
me respectfully, and I would treat iiim so. I do not tliiuk that iu my heart I feel that
I could reasonably ask of a fellow being to be humble before me.

Qin-slioii. You do not ask for servility f

Jiitiinr. No, sir; all I ask of a man is to recognize our relation.s and to perform his
part well. l\Iy iViend said that he felt dilierently ; that he desired a servant^hould bo
l)und)le, just as the negroes were iu times of slavery. That was his language. I was
little astonished to hear him say so. That very same week I entered into conversa-.
tion with on(! of our.jurors. He \%-as telling me of his practice in South Carolina, how'
he had threatened negroes, had bull.'-ragged them, to use his own expression. He did
not seem to think he was betraying anything extraordinary ; but I do not think ho
wanld talk to a white man so. I think uuiuy of our people are inclined to ill-treat a
uegio more than they would a white man. I do not think there is any question about
that.

Question. Then, after all, you believe that the perturbations in society here are caused
by a want of adjustment between the races ?

A):sinr. Yes, sir.

Question. That \s the foundation of your troubles.
AusHcr. 1 do not think there is any doubt about it.

Question. The question of the proposed equality of the negroes is a soro one?
Jnhirer. Yes, sir; and then they take the questio:! of equality iu its broadest sense.

If you talk about equality, they at once conclude that you must take the negro into
your parlor or into ycmr bed—everywhere that you would take your wif(!. They seem
to be diseased upon that subject. They do not seem to consider that he is merely to be
equal before the law, but take it, I suppose designedly, to mean i-quality in the broad-
est sense; and henco they stir themselves up and lash themselves into a fury about.it.

Qucition. You think there is a nusapi)reheusiou about the matter ?
* •

Jnsivei: I think so, in reference to that thing. It has taken the direction of party-
politics. It is. a very unfortunate thing to have mixed up in politics; but it is there,
and I do not see exactly how it nmst be worked out. I think wo must meet it the best
wa.v we can, according to the light before us ; that we must light it -out among our-
selves. \

Question. Ynn say " fight it out ;" you mean iu a controvertial sense ?

Answer. Certainly; I mean a conflict of ideas.

Question. The lu'groes are witnesses in court, the same as white men ?

Ansieer. Yes, sii\

Question. In regard to voting generally through the State, do they exercise the right
of suilVage as white men do ?

Answer. I think they exercise it very much as white men do. The same thing pre-
vails here that I suppose prevails elsewhere; those who are active in politics manage
to influence all thej- can to the best of their ability. It is unfortunately true that the
negroes are very ignorant, and areeasilj- influenced, and there is a great deal of influence
exercised over them. There are a great mau^' negroes who do not really vote the wa.v
the.y desire to; some are bought up, some are over persuaded, some are forced ami bul-
lied into voting diirerentl.y from what they desire ; I have no question about that at
all, for I have seen some instances of it. There are not a great many negroes who are
actually forced to vote as the.y otherwise would not, but I have knowu instances ot
that kind. Hive here, in Atlanta; I have witnessed elections hero; w^e have a police
here; we have an enlightened public sentiment here, and it is not to be presumed that
we would sit down and peruut any great outrages of that sort. I have not seen elec-

tions elsewhere than here.

Question. Are you not aware that the negioes as a race in this State vote with one
political party?

Answer. Well, they did so iu 18G8, hut in 1870 they did not do so to the same extent.
From some cause or other, in fact, a large portion of the negroes did not vote at all;

some voted the democratic ticket, whereas they formerly voted the republican ticket.

As to those who did not vote at all, we supposed the.y wijre influenced by a great many
circumstances. The complexion of the vote would indicate that the.y did not vote.

Question. Is there a feeling of soreness on the part of a portion of the white people of
Georgia, growing out of the disfranchisement of a number of their citizens?

Answer. I think so.

Question. Does that feeling tend to increase this animosity of which you have
spoken ?

Answer. I think it does, to some extent.
Question. Do ycm believe that a measure of general amnest.v, of the removal of disa-

bilities by Congress, would tend to lessen that unkind feeling of which you have
BX>oken f

34 G
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Ansivcr. I think it -would, to some extent
;
probably not entirely, but I think it would

have a tendency in that direction.

Question. Woiild such a measure he a wise and salutary measure for Georgia?
Ansrvcr. I think so. Of course, I cannot tell certainly. I reason from within, and

partly from observation of facts.

Qncsiion. Since the war have you acted consistently in aid of the republican party ?

Auswer. I have.
Queslion. You are now an office-holder under a republican administration?

Ansive^. Yes, sir.

Question. With a number of dciraties under you?
Answer. Yes, sir.

By the Chairman :

Question. You have spoken of the feeling of antagonism, distrust, and dissatisfaction

between the colored and white people. Does either political party attempt to avail

itself of that feeliug to accomplish its party purposes; and if so, which party?
Answer. I am inclined to think that both do to some extent ; I apprehend so. From

mj observation in politics I think that men are not particular about the means they
use, especially wheUj the race is close ; and I think both parties use that feeling to

some extent.

Question. In what way do they use it ?

Answer. Well, if I understand the purport and drift of your question, I will answer
you in this way : For instance, the democrats, who represent the body of the white peo-

ple, will endeavor to rally all the white men to the support of their interests by crying

out " negro equality," and by using all the current epithets of the day in order to make
the white men feel that there is an intention to make the negroes in every respect

equal with them. They are told that the man who will talk with the negroes upon
politics, and who will vote with the negroes, does not feel himself any better than a

negro. Probably that illustrates the matter. On the other hand, the republicans will

call up everything that is calcnlated to amuse the opposition of the negroes to their

old masters ; they will intimate pretty strongly that their old masters would make
slaves of them again if they had the chance; or, if they could not do that, they will

come as near to it as they can. I think those tricks are resorted to by both parties,

and that the feelings that ai-e known to exist in tils' breasts of the two races are ap-

peTiled to in that way.
Question. The democrats, as a whole, appeal to the prejudice against the colored

race ?

Ansicer. I think so, nnquestionaldy.
Question. The republicans ai)peal to the apprehensions of the colored race in regard

to that portion of the white people who are represented as being their enemies ?

Ansicer. Such is my observation.

Question. You have expressed some opinion with regard to a class of political adven-
turers ; I believe that was the expression used in the question put to you

;
perhaps

you called them carpet-baggers. I find in a Nashville, TeuuAsee, paper, an article pur-

porting to have been copied from a Savanuah, Georgia, correspondent. Perhaps I had
betterread the article to you, as I wish to call your attention to it particularly. It is

as follows

:

" As to the carpet-bag members of the convention which framed the reconstruction

constitution of Georgia, they were thirteen in number, while the whole membership of

that body was one hundred and seventy-iive, of whom thirty were colored men. Of
these thirteen carpet-baggers, eleven were and are consistent members of Cliristian

churches, and only two of the thirteen were given to profanity, intemperance, or the
keeping of low company ; the other eleven were recognized as good citizens, of unex-
ceptional habits, and abilities in every case lair, and in several brilliant. TJiese thir-

teen carpet-baggers numbered among them more total abstainers from the use of intox-

icating drinks than did the entire remainder of the convention.

"The legislature of Georgia elected in 1868 has been sharply criticised as grossly

corrupt. Of its two hundred and fourteen members but seven liave become residents

of the State since the war, and six of those seven ' carjiet-baggcrs' are moral and
religious men. Yet we have often heard it charged that this (as is alleged) corrupt

legislature is controlled by ' carpet-baggers.' And the lobby by which the legislature

is infested contains but one prominent carpet-bagger, and that one, sathciently noto-

rious, has never, so far as is known to the writer, voted the republican ticket, or in

any way contributed to its success. Not one of the State officers (unless, indeed, we
fxcept the State superintendent of education, who is an appointee of the governor) is

a carpet-bagger. Of the members of the Fortieth Congress elected in Georgia, two
were carpet-baggers; both Christian men and doing honor to the churches withw'hich
they were connected by an upright life aud a steadfast regard for the rights of others.

In the Forty-first aud Forty-second Congresses no carpet-bagger from Georgia held -

seat. As for county offices, not ten of them in the whole State are or have been fill
^

t'S,
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by the class in question ; and from the judiciary they are expressly esclnded by the
terms of the State constitution, which requires a residence of live years as a qualifi-

cation for judges and State's attorneys or solicitors. I niiglit .add tHat cari)et-baggers
and negroes together have never numbered one-sixth of the legislature of Georgia."
That purports to be a statement of facts founded upon statistics.

A)tsiccr. I •will just remark, before you ask me any question in regard to this extract,
that a while since, I stated that tliere were but seven ])ure unadulterarcd carpet-bag-
gers in the legislature of this State. I made that statement entirely from memory ; I

do not think 1 have looked at the matter since the campaign of 18'o8. Probably this

correspondent spoke with the record before him.
Question. I have submitted this statement to you, as I intend to do to other intel-

ligent gentlemen.
Ansxnr. I have made this explanation, because otherwise my testimony might seem

to conflict with the statements of other gentlemen.
Question. I will ask you if you have any correction to make in reference to this

statement ?

Answer. I think this statement is generally correct; without referring to items,- my
general impression !s that it is about correct.

Question. In the administration of justice in this State, do thencgroes have any share
under the system which is established here?

Answer. No, sir, I think none whatever. However, I will state this, that there was
a colored judge appointed at Savannah, but I do not think he has ever sat in that
capacity. I know of no colored jurors since the adoption of our present constitution,

though theiemay have been such. I think the rule is that negroes are not accustomed
to sit on our juries. The constitution requires that jurors shall be intelligent men,
and by the construction placed upon that requirement, negroes are generally excluded
from juries.

Question. You have been asked substantially whether in your opinion the restoration
of a desirable state of society here would be fostered by interference on the part of the
Federal Government. Please state whether yon think such interference is necessary
in any part of your State in the present condition of things, for the protection of any
portion of your people in their lives and their property.

Answer. I should not advise it at the present time. The time has been when I

thought it would have lieen entirely advisable ; but at the present time, so far as my
knowledge extends, I cannot see any absolute necessity for it.

Question. Then you would not recommend any provision by which such offenses

might be examined into or prosecuted in the Federal courts ?

Ansu'cr. Yes, sir; I would recommend that. In my answer to your question I was
thinking of a proclamation of martial law, such as has just taken place in South Caro-
lina. I do think it would have a very happy efiect if these dfi'enses could be punished
by the Federal courts or by any court. And as it is almost impossible to have that
done in the local courts, I cannot see any practical means for punishing them except in

the Federal courts.

Question. So far as declaring martial law is concerned, that can be done by State
authority?
Answer. That is what I had in my mind.

By Ml". Bayard:
Question. Do I understand you to say that since 1865 there have been times when the

direct interference of the Federal Government would have been advisable?
Answer. Yes, sir; in the counties of Warren and Columbia, at the time that Adkius

and'Ayer were killed, and when other outrages were committed. At that time I should
have thought it was wise and proper to have adopted such a course.

Question. But you would not consider it wise or proper at this time, with the present
amelioration of feeling?

Answer. I do not want a proclamation of martial law ; I think that should be resort-

ed to only in the last extremity.
Question. ^Vas not your State under martial law when the first outrages were com-

mitted ?

Austccr. Do you mean under the reconstruction law ?

Question. Was it not under the coutrol of General Terry until 1871 1

Answer. I do not understand that to be martial law ; we were then governed by civil

law just as we arehiow.
Question. Was not General Terry aiithorized to interfere as he pleased with con-

tracts between man and man ?

Answer. Perhaps he was ; but T do not think he exercised any such authority.

Question. Did not his subordinate ofdcers exercise it?

Answer. In a few instances, jierhaps ; but the instances were rare.

Question. Had he not authority of his own will to interfere in cases of private con-

''^tact, and make arrests whenever he desired ?
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jinsircr. Do yon mean under the law of Congress placing liim hero, luulcr which ho
waH appointed ?

<)iic.'itio)i. 1 ask you as to tho fact; I ask you wlictlier the will of General Terry in
that respect was not ex(ucised in tlio question of the settlement of privaic contracts
whenever ho desired, and also whether lus did makj arrests whenever he ))lea«ed.

Jnsnxr. Oiu' understanding was that all the authority he had was derived from tho
laws passed by Congress. While I v.as never called upon to constrne those laws criti-

cally, I do know that it is a. fact that he rarely interfered in tho construction of con-
tracts. I had fre(]uent occasion to converse with him in regard to those things, and I

do not think ho ever interfered with matters of that sort. Ho did sometimes remove
olilcers; ho removed tho predecessor of our present governor.

By the CiiAin:\iAN

:

Qucslioii. Do yon recognize a distinctiou hetweeu martial law and tho administration
of civil law by martial authority?
Jnsica: I certainly do.

By Mr. Bay.\i;d :

Question. Do you call it civil law when the commanding general can send an ofiQcor

to investigate a case, and upon that inv<>sligation can order the arrest of a citizen and
his transportation to his camp, and can direct his compulsory submission to any docrco
that otlicer may mako in regard to a private contract?

Ansircr. It is jjrobable

Qucsihii. Do yon call that civil law ?

Ansiirr. No. sir.

Question. What do yon call it?

Ansircr. The exercise of military authority under tho authority of law.
Qurslioii. What law is it that gives a man authority to be judgo and jury in a case of

that kind ?

Anstver. I think ho had tho ri^ht inider tho reconstniction law.

Ati^axta, Geouglv, Octoto" 24^1871.

HANNAH FLOUENOY (colored) sworn and examined.

By tho CiiAiiniAN

:

Qucsiion. What is your age, where Ayere you born, and where do you now live?
Aiistvn: I am thirtj'-on« years old ; I was born in Eatouton, Georgia, and I now live

in this city, since they run mo from Columbus.
Question. Wlien were you lun from Cohunbns?
Aiisnxr. At the time Mr. George Ashburn v.as killed.'

Question. Were yon in Columbus when ho v.as killed ?

Ansim: I was right there, in tho house.
Question. Were you present at the time ho was killed ?

Ansiar. Yes, sir.

Question. State what you know in regard to that.

A1ISWC7: When they came xo the door, they knocked, and called for Amanda Patterson.
I let them knock two or three times before I answered them; I knew it was something
strange for anybody to come to my door at that time of tho night. I asked*who wa^s

there, and they said, '• Mary Dillenhast." I said, "I know nothing about you." She
said, '' 1 must see Amanda." Isaid, " Yon cannot seoher; she'is in bed." They knocked
again, and I said, " You had better go away from that door; the police will bo around
directly and put yon in tho guard-house; it is no lime of night for anybody to bo out
in this way." They said, '•Damn tho guard," and knocked again, and said, " If you
don't open the door, wo will knock itilown." I said, " Knock it down ; I will not open
it." Tliey broke in the luinel of the dooi-, and then reached in and unlocked tin; door,

and canio in. I looked through a little glass there, and saw them in the room lighting
candles and fingering their pistols. I went into Mr. Ashburu's room, ami said, "Lord,
Mr. Ashburn, the room is full of men ; Ihey are disgni-sed, and showing their i)istols."

He said, " Let them come." Isaid, " What shall I do?" He said, "Yon go out and
take caro of yourself, and the Lord will take cure of me." A whiie girl got up, and
said, "Don't nhoot in here; there is nobcMly here but me and Hannali." Something
struck me, and I said, " What does that mean ?" I then v.ent into Mr. Ashburn's room,
and he got up and ])Ut on his coat, and lighted his candle and walked up and down tho
llo(n' three times, with his i)istol in his hand. He said, "Go out, and take caro of your-
self; the Lord will take caro of me." I turned into tho room, and just ;is I was coming
out, a Mr. Georgo Betts and Mr. Sergeant Marshall boltCd right in and commenced
shooting. I wont into tho room and looked at the men. They wore disguised, but I
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knew a, groat 7iiany of llieni Ity their appearauce. I was very innch excited. The hoys
said, " Hoist the window and {;<) out, or tllcy will murder yon." I got into tlie niiddlo
of the room wIkmsi they were Hliootina; Mr. Aslibnin. One of the boys said, " Let lis in;

where is Ilaimah?" Anothersaid, " Don't shoot Hannah; she could not help herself."

That i-i all that saved me. I went down stairs and knocked at the door, and then they
hollered, "They have killed Mr. Ashhurn ; don't leave him." 1 wentdown to the court-
house, and if Captain Mills had put out his men when I first went down there, 1 o
would have caught every one of them. An ollicer there said, '"What do you wait
them to go out to-night for? tliey might be shot down." I said, "I am liable lo l.o

shot down." For eight weelcs I had to work there, and I was aiVaid to stay in the
house at night. I staid, there one night in thci i)iazza of Mr. William Smith, with a
doubk-bi'.rre! shot-gun in my lap. I staid there in that place eight weeks, until I was
brought up her(i. They had lli(>m all up here in court, but tliey did nothing with them.

(Jiastioii. How many of them did they have here-?

Jiiifiircr. Alioiit thirty.

(Jnculioii. How many of theui did you know?
Avsurr. I knew Jlr. Chijtley, Doctor Kirksey, Sergeant JIarshall, James I'arber, (he

is ill Columbus now.) and they sent George IJettsoif somewhere. He and Mr. Sergeant
Marshall turned State's evidence. The reason Mr. Ashbuni was boarding at my house
was this : He left here on Wednesday, from the convention, for Columlius. They found
out what time the convention was going to adjourn here, and they went aroiiii<l to all

the boarding-houses and got them to jiiomise not to take him. He winit to the hotel
there, and he was told by the man there ««hat he could not stay there unless he took
his meals in his room. He said that he would do so that night, Jis it was late. The
next morning he went out to look np a boarding-house, and he walked all day, and
came to my lionsc about 3 or 4 o'clock. He said, " Hannah, can you feed me?" 1 said,
" I can cook, but I cannot give you a ]i]ace to sjeep." Ho said h-j had been to every
boarding-house in the jilace, and could get no chance to stay. I said, "You are a re-

publican, and I am willing to die for you. lam a republican, tooth and toe-nail." I

took Mr. Ashburn through the; house, v.hich contained live rooms. Colored peoph^
rented three of them, and a v.hite girl had one. I said, " I will buy a stove, and put
yon in here." He said, •' No, I do not want to bo so close to the street, for there will

be too much noise," I then said, " Amat;da and I will sleep here in this room, and you
can have her room." I furnished the sheets and pillow-slips for Mr. Ashburn, and
she furnished th.e other bedding. It was as nice a bed as anybody had. They came
that night and killed him, as 1 have told you. He was to go the next day, he and Mr.
Caldwell, to Hamilton, and make a speech. When they came in, they had fixed with
this girl to come in and murder him. After he came there, I had the gate locked every
night, and made the boy bring me the key. The white people next to my house had a
very severe dog, and nobody could go up and down the alley aftcv night but what the
dog would bark ; but that night it seemed that they put the <log up. I said to Amanda,
" Lizzie and the others must have a great deal of company to-night, for they are pass^
ing through the gate." I asked the boy if he locked the gate, au(l he said that ho would
sit here till 1 o'clock. At that time these men came around. Jlr. Ashburn coukl not
get out ot the house, for it was surrounded. There must have been a great many of
them. There were two large rooms, and they got up on my bed and played with the
flag that we had marching with on Saturday. Elder Tjirner made a speech at the hall

that night, and Mr. Ashburn went to it. I know these white people were saying that
if he ever came back they would kill him, or run him out of the place. Generally, I

would go to bed directly after supper, and then, when all the rest had gone to bed, I

would get up and sit up all night, and take a nap during the day. I always left Mr. Ash-
burn to come in, and left the door open. Now, this white girl had been paid andlixed np
to do this thing. One evening she said she liad money enough to buy me. I said,

"Not now. I used to be for sale, but I aui not now ; if you have so much money you
had better pay your board."

Qucsliou. Were the people that had the dog republicans ?

JiisKo: No, sir; the strongest kind of democrats. Every word they would hear mo
say after Mr. Ashburn was killed, they would go and tell it, and when I would start off

of an evening to some friend's house to see them, they would report it.

Qucniion. You say that Mr. Ashburn was going the next day to Hamilton to make a
epeech ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was that known ?

Ansuxr. Yes, sir. There were about fifteen gentlemen from this place came down on
the train. I said to Mr. Ashburn, "Israel saw General Forrest in town ; there must be
a big spree among the democrats."

Question. Was Gemsral Forrest there the night Mr. Ashburn was killed ?

Answer. Yes, sir; there were a great many big men down there.

Question. When was that ?

Anstce}: That was done three years ago last April, I think. He was murdered the
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last night in March, or the first day of April ; the second day of April he was carried
to Macon to be bnried.

{tiiention. Whore was his home at that time?
Jn-swer. He was making it then in Columbus, but his home was in Macon priuci-

P'lUy.
Question. He was engaged in a canvass at tliat time ?

j-li)swcr. Yes, sir; ho went from the convention here.

Question. What time did you leave Columbus and (;ome up here ?

Ansivci: I left there in June.
Qucfition. Have you been back there sisice to live ?

Answer. No, sir; they say I shall not go back. I have lost everything I had there. I
cannot get a letter or anything of the kind.

Question. Are you afraid to go back there?
Ans^()e7•. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you leave your property down there ?

^Inswer. Yes, sir; all my propeity and my bedding.
Question. What business were you engaged in there ?

Aiitiiver. Washing and cooking for anybody that wanted me to<lo it. I was working
honorably for my living. I took Mr. Ashbnrn in, for I thought it right to take him in.

They turned him out of doors everywhere else. Ho was a republican, and I thought*
if I turned him out as well as the balance of them, I would bo as mean as everybody
else.

Question. Yon say he walked around all day to find a boarding-house?
Anstvcr. Yes, sir.

Question. And you say that people had gone around before he came there, to prevent
his being received as a boarder at any place ?

Ansivo: Yes, sir.

Qjiestion. What did the proprietor of the hotel say to him?
Answer. He said he might stay there if he would take his meals in his room. Then,

after that, he wrote to him and sard that twenty-tive of his boarders had told him that
if that "nigger-protecting rascal ate his meals there they would leave," and that he
would rather lose Mr. Asliburu's board than theirs. Ho was owing me thirty dollars'
before ho went to the convention. He said to me, "I suppose you want some'money."
I said, " You go on to Hamilton. If you come back you can pay mcj if you don't, I can
collect money for my wa.shiug and pay my house-rent. You had better keep your
money, for if you go there without money you may get into trouble, as you did before."
It was said in Columbus that I had more republicans on my place than any other negro
in Columbus. Mr. Brown told me so. I went to him to assist me, and he said, " No,
Hannah, yon were respected until you took that infamous rascal into your house." I
said, "Mr. Brown, if I find you in a mud-hole I will help you out, democrat as you
are." He said, " We have no use for republicans." I said, "You never heard o£ a
republican killing a democrat ; they would not be so low."

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. You say this was in April, 1868 f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Three years and eight months ago ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. General Meade was iu command here at that time?
Ansu'er. Yes, sir.

Question. He examined into this matter?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. He arrested various people ?

Answei: Y'es, sir.

Question. Did you go befoi-e General Meade?
Ausiver. I was here, but they said I should not go before him,.for I would hang them

all.

Question. Did you go before him?
Ansiver. No, sir; I wanted to go, but they would not let me.
Question. Did General Meade know that you had testimony that would bo important

in the case ?

Answer. I do not know whether ho knew it or not. I gave my testimony to Major
Smyth and Mr. Whiteley.

Question. Is Major Smyth United States marshal now?
Atiswer. I do not know.
Question. Do you know his first name ?

Ansivei: I do not.
Question. He was a United States officer?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Y'ou told him all you have told us now ?
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Answer. Yes, sir.

Qiicsiion. Aud he knew Avbat yoii could testify to ?

Avswer. Yes, sir.

Question. This -was the case that General Jleade had a "veat many people arrested
for i

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And they tried it three years aud six nio;iths ago ?

Anstver. Yes, sir. They put them uuder bonds, but they never did auythiug about it.

Question. You do not know anything about what report General Meade made of this
case ?

Ansicer. No, sir; uo more than I know that all were under arrest; and last year I
think Major Hughes carried the i)apers down to Andersouvillo to court, aud General
Grant said they should be turned back to him again.

Question. Do you mean the President of the United States ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; he said to turn the papers back to him. I had a letter which was
sent to Sir. Ashburn by the Ku-Klux, with his coliin all dr^iwed on it, and I gavo it to
Major Hughes.

Question. Was that sent to him while he was at your house?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say that General Forrest was at Columbus on the very night that Mr.
Ashburn was killed ?

Answer. That is what I heard, and I went and told Mr. Ashburn.
Question. Do you know General Forrest '?

Answer. I never saw him in my life.

Question. You saw a great many strange people there, aud told Mr. Ashburn that
General Forrest was there, though you do uot know him ?

Answer. Yes, sir. .

Question. You do not know whether he was there or not ?

Answer. No more than what I heard. But I heard people speaking about him a great
deal on the mountains, last year and this year while I was up there working, and they
said that ho was the head of the Ku-Klux.

Atlanta, Geohgia, October 24, 1871.

BETTY KINNEY (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. What is your age, where were you borti, and Avhere do you now live ?

Ausiper. I was twenty-live years old last March ; I was born in Jackson County, aud
I live in Jackson County now.

Question. Ave you the wife of Toddy Kinney?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you recollect the time an attack was made by the Ku-Klux on Mr. Jobu
Holliday's house ?

Ansicei: It was Bob Holliday; I work on his place.

Question. How far did you liv^ from his house ?

Answer. I reckon about half a mile.

Question. Did you see any of the people that are called Ku-Klux ?

Ansiver. I do not know whether they were called Ku-Klux or not, but they were talk-

ing about what they had done to Mr. Holliday.
Question. What did they say ?

Answer. One of them said if he could get his hand on him that night he would never
go to the mill again. Another said, they would get him again. I went down through
the old field, and they were setting in the fence corner on some old broom-straw. I did
not see them until I got almost outo them, within ten steps of them. I squatted down
aud looked to see who they were. I did not stop long, for I knew if they went tq the
house and tried to kill him, they would kill me for eaves-dropping. I walked otf, and I

expect they do not know till this day that I was there.

Question. State all you heard them say.

Ansicer. 1 hardly know what they did say. Jack Haney was telliug about that night
when Mr. Holliday run. George Haney said that he knew no reason why Bob Holliday
should come to the fence and see him. He said, " How did they come to think it was
him ?" He said, '' Because he was bare-footed." That was what Jack Haney was tell-

ing Richard Lee. I did not stand there much to listen to them.
Question. Jack Haney said that George Haney had this talk?
Ansicer. Yes, sir ; that George told him so.

Question. He saicl that George was there that night watching him?
Answer. Yes, sir ; that Holliday camo within shooting distance and then run.
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Question. Did Jack Haiu-y say he bad been tbero ?

Anfiu'cr. He did not Kay In* bad been there for ligbt certain, but that if be bad pnt
llis lianda on iiini that ni_!;bt bo would ne\'er bavo gone to (lie mill any more, for bo
would have l;illi'd bini.

(JiuHtioii. Did you uiidi>rstaud that liicbard Leo bad been there ?

Aitfuccr. lie said that be idlowed to get his bands on him, and if be, did bo would kill

him. I allowed iroin that that be bad nocni there.

Question. Did you know those two juen f

Amnva: Yes, sir; and always did know them ; I Vt'as raised in tho settlement with
them.

Question. About what time of the day did you sec them ?

Jiiswcr. About 2 o'clock.

Quoiiion. On what day ?

Ansitxr. They got after him on Monday, and that was the next Sunday following.
Qm'Jition. Did you ever see any of them going about disguised?
Ansivcr No, sir. liichard.Lee was talking over what Pendergrast said. He said that

if be should shoot Bob lloUiday bo reckoued ho could bit him and that bo believed Alt',

did hit him.
Quesiion. Have you beard of any mischief being done thero^inco by the Ku-Klux?
Ansiccr. No, sir, I have not. It was before that that they got after Undo Sampson.
Qiu'slion. How long before?
Answer. About two wcieks, I reckon.
Question. What ditl they do to him ?

Ansicer. They knocked him over the h«ad, and kicked bis son in the side.

Question. Wliere was that?
Answer. That was in the Chandler district.

Question. Was it at his bouse '!

Answer. Yi'S, sir.

Question. Did you understand who did that?
Ansiver. I did not bear them say who it was, only that Miltou Whitehead was iu it.

Question. Did they say bow many were along ?

Answer. No, sir; 1 did not question them auything about it. I was afraid to talk
about such ])eople.

Quesiion. D.id you hear about anything else that they did ?

Answer. They went to Uncle Simon's house and whipped him.
Question. When was that?
Answer. That w'as along in the fall.

Question. Who did they whip lirst, the father or son ?

Answer. They whipped bis son ; they never got after his father irntil after they laid
by tho crop. His son wag lixing to plant when they got after him ; they whipped him
and ran him oil' up hero iu the mountain.

By Mr Bayai:d:

Question. Did you see anything of these things youi-self ?

Answer. What they did to these folks ?

Question, Yes.

Answer. It is only what I beard people say.

Question. How far were you standing from those men when you heard them talking?
Answer. About ten steps.

Question. Ditl you stay tbero long?
Answer. I stopped about ten or twelve steps from them, and then stepped back be-

hind a pine bush.
Question. How long were yon there behind tho bush ?

Answer. I did not stay there any time before I left.

Question. You went right otf ?

Answer. Yes, sir; I went through Bob Lane's cabin and sat on the fence, and after
awhile they got up and went oil'.

Question. When you saw these mep they were about ten steps off from you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And you stepped back from them and got behind a i)ino bush?
Answer. Yes sir.

Question. Did you then move right off?

Answer. No. sir; I stood there about a minute. •
Question. That was all tho time you had to listen ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; I saw Mr. Holliday and told him of it, and he asked who it was,
and I told him who it was.
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Atlanta, Georgia, October 25, 1871.

JOHN O. PERKY sworn aiul oxaraineil.

By tho Chairman :

Question. How old arc yon, -whore were yon born, and where, do yon now live ?

Answer. I was forty-six years old the 3l.st of last March. My family live in Gwin-
nett Oonnty. and I was born an<l raised in that eonnty.

QiiV'Siioii. What is the eonnty seat of Gwiun«Jtt Connty ?

Answer. Lawrenceville.
Qitislion. Has the coint-house been bnrned there recently ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. xVbont what time ?

Answer. It was done on Snnday uight before conrt; I think the conrt was on the
second Monday in iSeptember last.

Question. Do yon know anything about tho parties who wei-e concerned in bnrniug
it?

Answer. I do not.
'''

Quisfion. Is there sneh an organization of people in yonr connty as are coimnonly
callec] Kn-Klnx ?

Answer. I do not know that there is.

Qujjstiou. Have yon ever seen any of them 1

Answer. I saw some men, bnt whether they were organized or not I do not know.
Question. When »lid yon see them ?

Answer. Aliont the ii7th of Jnly, if I am not mistaken.
Question. Where did you see them ?

Answer. At my honse. •

Qucition. Was it in the day-time or in the night?
Answer. It was in the night.
Question. How many of them came there ?

Answer. I conld not tell yon how many there were. I do not think I saw more than
abont four men. There were more in the house, but I did not see them.

Question. Tell dll they did when they came there ?

Answer. I cau just tell you how it was. In the night, I suppose about midnight, the
first thing I knew some one laid hold of my arm.. I was asleep, but any man knows
that he can recollect some things before he is right wide awake. 1 thought I heard
horses' feet, but I thought it was my horse. I said, ''Who is that." A colored man
said, " It is me, Rufe.". I said, " What are you doing here?" He said, " Tiie Ku-Klnx
are after me." At that time I was barely awake. I rose up, aiul I heard i)eople in

the other .part of the house. It was a double house. He sai<l, " W"hat shall I do ?" I

had heard of these things, and I said to him, "Slip under tho bed, and I will protect
yon." I rose up and turned to the door, and I discovered some one. I halted them,
and said, " If you do not stand I will shoot you." Some of the crowd si)oko and said,

•'Fall hack." At that time some of the party struck a match and I saw them. They
looked like negroes, or persons who had something black on them. The match went
out, or they threw it down, and then they seized me. Two or three of them took hold
of me and took me out of the door. As 1 went out of the door the negro ran out and
they broke after him, all bnt one man. One man had hold of my arm. I took hold of
bini, and sent him away. There was a Ijee-gum in the yard and I threw him over
that, loose frouj me. When I did that I left him, ior I saw that the negro was gone.
There were two negroes there, one that was under tho bed and one who went out
after I did. I saw him as he came out. Tiiere were four men I saw, and three of them
took after him. One had hold of me and I threw him loose from me, and then I dodged
around the smoke-house. He took after me after ho got up, but he did not catch mo.
I heard nun-e in the honse. I do not know many.

Quest ton. Where did yon go?
Ansicer. I went abont a half a mile to a neighbor's honse, living on my land, to got a

gnn and go back. I had no weapon in my house at all, not even a pocket knife. Ho
bad no gun ; he had let his father have it. I wanted him to go back with me, but he
would not do it. I staid there a while, and heard the noise of horses going off, and iu

about an hour I went back to my house and there was no one there. I then went
over to where my son lived and got a pistol that he had.

Question. Was there anybody else about the house besides yourself and those two
colored men? •

Answer. Y\>s, sir; my wife, children, and mv fiithcr. They said they loft as soon aa

I left.

Question. That is, that theKu-Klux left?

Answer. Yes, sir; my family said so.

Question. Did they tell you how many of them they saw ?

Answer. They could not tell ; it was a tolerably dark night, tho moon did not shine.

Question. Did they seem to have any idea how many there were of them ?
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Answer. They said tlicy thought there were some ten or fifteen of them; they said
nothing to any of the family.

Question. How did they get into the house ?

Ansiccr. Tliey just opened the door; the kitchen door was not fastened, only pushed
to; it was a double-log house, and they iiushed the door open and justcaiuo right
through.

Question. Did the colored man come back that the three took after ?

Answer. He came back after a little, after I did the next morning ; he and the other
one got together by some means, and went down into the swamp.

Question. Did the Ku-Klux catch them ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do you know, or do you have auj' reason to believe, who any of them
were ?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not; if I had, I should have tried to have done something with
them ; I could form no reason why they should come ; I did not think I had enemies
enough to do it.

Question. Did you see enough of them to know whether they were disguised or not ?

Aiisu'cr. I saw enough to know that they looked like negroes ; when they struck a
match I saw that their faces either had something black on them, or something black
over their faces ; it was a quick thing, for the match soon went out.

Question. You say their faces were either black or covered ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they were blacked, or had something over tliem ; the four I saw
were pretty much alike ; if there was any difference I could not tell it.

Question. Have you any reason to know, or suspect, what their object was in coming
there ?

Answer. No, sir ; I do not ; it was said they came there to get some pistols from the
negroes.

Question. Did your negroes have jjistols ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When they took hold of you did they give any intimation what they were
going to do with you f

Answer. All they said as they went out of the door was, one of them said, " I reckon
you will not abuse an orphan child again." I had had an orphan boy hired ; he was a
bad boy and would not work, and his mother told me that if he did not work to whip
him and make him do it ; the neighbors there will tell you that I was too easy with
him ; he quit work, and I then whipped him one day ; I gave him two or three licks.

Question. How old was the boy?
Anstver. He was about thirteen years old.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. Was he a white boy ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; a plow-boy.

By the Chairman :

Question. Did you whip him any more than a parent would whip a child ?

Ansicer. Not so much as I would whij) my own child ; his father had lived with me
before he died ; I had a feeling for him because he had no father.

Question. Did the men who came there talk like negroes ?

Anmccr. They did not speak in a right manner or language.
Question. They spoke with a false voice ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; there was very little said ; it was all done iu a quick time, and I

was away from them in a minute or two ; if I had staid with them, probably I might
have found out more than I did ; I have wished since that I had staid with them
but maybe it was better as it was.

Question. Was this orphan boy still living with you ?

Answer. No, sir; he had gone.
Question. AVhero had his father died? ,

Ansiver. In the army.
Question. In which army?
Ansivcr. In the rebel army.
Question. Is it understooil that the Ku-Klux are pretty strong in your county, or is it

supposed there are only a few of them ?

Answer. I have not heard much about them in my settlement ; I have heard right
emart of them off at a distance.

Question. In other parts of the county?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know whether peojile are afraid to say much about them, to give
testimony against them ?

Answer. Well, it is rather my oi)inion they arc.
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Question. Do they tLink it would be unsafe for them to do so, that they would be
injured if they did so ?

Ansjfcr. Yes, sir; that is my opinion.
Qitesiiou. How long have you heard of them about in that county ; how long since

you first heard of them '1

Ansiver. In the county ?

Question. Yes.
Answer. Well, I do not exactly recollect how long it has been since I paid any atten-

tion to them. I do not know when it was I first heard of tlieir doing auythiiag. As
nigh as lean recollect, I reckon it is better than a year since I heard of them ; but I
do not now recollect where the llrstwas that I heard there bad been anything done by
them.

By ^Ir. Bayard :

Question. This was the only occasion that you ever saw these people at all ?

A nswer. That was the first and the last time.
Question. When was it?

Answer. I think it was about the 27th of July.
Question. I understood you to say that you'believed their object was to get pistols

from the two negroes who were in your house ?

Answer. I rather think it was.
Question. The only remark made to you that would indicate anything else was some-

thing about you abusing an orjjhan boy ?

Answer. I have said what the words were : it was something about that.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 25, 1871.

C. C. HUGHES sworn and examined.

By the Chairmax:
Question. State what is your age, where you were born, and where you now live.

Answer. I am twenty-seven years of age ; I was born in Cherokee County, Georgia,
and I live at this time in Haralson County when I am at home.

Question. When did you come here from Haralson County ?

Answer. I came last Monday night was a week ago.
Question. Are there any people in j-our county that are known as Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Y'^es, sir. •

Question. Are there many of them ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; I think there are a considerable number of them, to the best of my
knowledge.

Question. Have you ever seen them ; and, if so, how often ?

Ansiver. I have seen them once ; they were at my house.
Question. How many of them ?

Ansicer. I think there were about twelve of them. They came into my honse' last
May, the 7th day of May ; early in the morning of the 7th, before day. They took me
from my house and abused me.

Question. How did they come into your house?
Answer. They broke into the house ; two or three came to the door and pushed the

door open and came into the house. They took me from the house and carried me off

about fifty yards, and made me lie down flat on the ground, and whipped me. I have
here the hickories to show what they abused me with. While they were engaged in
abusing me, my wife ran to mo and got over me like, but they jerked her away, and
one of them said, "Give her a little if she don't get out of the way." They hit her
upon the hands, and then afterward held her away until they got through beat-
ing me.

Question. Did they strip you?
Ansicer. I had only my night-clothes on.

Question. How many blows do you suppose they struck you ?

Ansicei-. I have no idea how many; I cannot tell you how many.
Question. You could tell whether it was ten or a hundred?
Answer. I expect it was a hundred, if not more. They made me lie flat on the earth,

and there were two whipping me crossways like, and one lengthways. I was hurt
the worst upon the shoulders. I have here the hickories that they used, if you wish
to see them.

Question. Let us see them.
Answer. [The witness took from a carpet-bag some hickory sticks.] This breaking

of the sticks was done by me, so that I might get them into this satchel. All three of
these were used at the same time.
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Qucsfiov. I notice the eiids of these sticks are broken ; did you lind tlicm broken iu
that way ?

A)isHT): Yes, sir; all frazzeled like that, just as they are here.
Question. Tiio Ircsli brcaka were iiuule by yon ?

Annu'cr. Yes sir. [Tiii'. sticks wore Iroin eight to ten feet long, and at the larger end
about as tiiick as a man's tluinib.]

OucMio)!. Wore they disguised ?

Aiiswcr. Yes, sir.

Quasiio)i. In what way ?

Ausjcer. They had souiething over tlieir lindies similar to gowns. I have a- cap here
with me tliat wa.s found tliei'e. This is it, [showing a covering for the head, made of
calico.] There was a stick placed in the liind i)art. of this ca]) in order to make it

8tan<l up straight. And there are holes here, as you can see, for the eye.s, mouth, and
nose, marked witli some red stuft".

Quislioii. Where did yon hud that ?

Aiiniccr. On the si)ot where tuey abused me.
Question. How far did they take you from the honse ?

Annwa: About fifty yards I think ; maybe not quite so far.

Qttcntion. Were you iu bed when they came to the house ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you get up out of bed voluntarily, or did they pull you out of bed ?

Answer. They told me in the first i)l:ice to get up and make a light. I did not mis-
trust they were going to beat me. When I got up they took mo from the house.

Qucslion. You did not opim the door and let them in f

Answei: No, sir; two of them broke the door open and came into the house.
Question. Tlieu you got np to make a light ?

Ansn-er. I think 1 was about on the floor wiieu they broke the door open.
Question. Have you children ?

Ansrver. Yes, sir.

Question. How many ?

Answer. Two; I, have but one now; one has died.

Question. Where were your children ?

Answer. My first child was dead when they came. There was but one there at the
time, and it was in bed.

Question. Did they strike your wife, except the one blow on the hand ?

Answer. That was all.

Question. You say that she attempted to cover you from the blows ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you know any of those men ?

Answer. I am satisfied in my own mind about some of them, but as to swearing point-
blank to them, I cannot, for their faces were all covered up.

Question. Were (hey :iil disguised in that way ?

Ansiecr. Some of them had sticks in their head covering so that it would stand up,

an(J some had not, and the covering vv'ould hang down ijehiud. They all had their

faces covered up with the exception ot tlio holes.

Qaesiion. Did they give any reason for treating you iu this way ?

Answer. Just after they left my house they asked if I had not been stealing—^just in

that \vay. I very ])lainly told them that I did not do the like, and I can bring my
character from my neighborhood how I live, &c.

Question. Do you kuow, or are you satistied what the reason was that they misti'eated

you in that way ?

A)iswe7: I have understood since that it was on account of my politics.

Question. What are y(uir politics?

Answer. I have always been a republican.
Question. What is the feeling in that part of the country toward republicans ?

Answer. Well, it is i)retty bad.

Question. Are they treated with common respect and civility in passing and repa.S8-

iug?
Answer. Well, tolerably ; but they don't like the idea of them, and a great many are

treated with contempt on that account.
Question. What did you say was the undei'standing iu regard to the number of Ku-

Klux in your county f

Answer. I stated that I thought there was a considerable number in that county.
Question. Are they understood to bo organized and to have oaths and signs and grips

and i)ass-words ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; I think that is the understanding with those who do not belong to

them ; I think it is the understanding with all that there is such a thing as i^u organi-
zation in that cimnty.'

Quc'it^on. To which political pai'ty is it supposed tho members of that organization
belouu?
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Answer. To the democratic pnrty.
Qiiesfi&n. Have yon ever lieanl of any republicans helongin'r to the Ku-Klnx?
Aiisiro: Yes, sir ; I have heard of them turning over, but I ilo uofc know it to be bo.
Question. Why did those republieansjain them f

/Insun: I do not know ; that is u question I caunot answer ; I do not know it to be so,
but 8neli tliiuf:;s are talked about.

Qtiestiov. Yon have beard that rumored ?

Ausivcr. Yes. sir.

Question. To \Yhich party do those belonj; -who are opposed to the Ku-Klnx ?

Ansiccr. They generally belong to the republican party.
Qiienlioii. Have you seen the Ku-Klux at any other time except -when they whipped

you?
Answer, No. sir; none in dis'^nise.

Question. Had you heard of them previously ?
•

Ansirer. Yes, sir.

Question. How long before ?

Answer. About three months, I reckon.
Question. What did you hear they had been doing?
Answer. Well, it was supposed that there was such a thing as Ku-Kluxism that had

come into the s.'ttlement; and it wa-s said that they lield their meetings not far from
where I lived. I do not know that ; it was just a settlement report. I <lid not make
any inquiry into it, for I did not think nnieh of it until they came to my bouse. Ihave
since tiied to liud onfall about it I conld, Imt I have not ionnd out a great deal.

Question. Unw they been around the country there since?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What have thej- been doing?
Answer. Abusing jjeople, and taking their guns away from them.
Question. Abusing them in what way?
Answer. Mauling them with hickories, and sticks, &c.
Question. Have they abused any women?
Answer. Yes, sir ; I have not heard of any white women being abused by them.
Qufstion. Have they abused any white men ?

Anstecr. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bayard :

Que^stion. When you say that all the people who have been abused by them in this
way are republicans, do youmean by that that you know personally the politics of all

those who have been so abused?
Ansivrr. Y'es, sir.

Question. Do you know them all ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir; I am satislied what they are in my county; that they are all of
rei^nblican principles.

Question. Are there any such things as illicit stills in your county?
Answer. I think so; that is ono thing I do not pay much attention to ; I do not have

anything to do with it.

Question. You know there are such things?
Anstecr. Yes, sir; there are sneh things about in that country.
Question. Do you know whether these Ku-Klux bands are gotten up to prevent people

from reporting upon those illicit stills?

Ansirer. No, sir; I am not knowing to that; but lean tell one thing : this klan that
came to my house that night went to a still-house in that settlement the fore part of
the night. Persons told me this, that that crowd went to a still-house and got whisky
before they came to my house.

Question. That still was running unlawfully, without paying a tax?
Ansicer. Y"es, sir.

Question. And they went there and got whisky before they came to your house ?

Ansieer. Yes, sir ; they came right on toward my house from there.

Question. You said that nothing was said to yon at the time of this outrage upon yon,

exce])t that they asked you something about your stealing

f

Anmcer. Yes, sir; they just asked me the question ; they did not accuse me.
Question. Alter they had jibused you so, they holloaed back that question to you aa

they left, or was it before?
Ansieir. It was before. I told them I did not, of course.

Question. You were asked by the Chairman whether you had learned since the rea^iou

-why they abused you so ?

Ansicer. Y'es, sir; he asked me that question.

Question. And you said that you had learned their reason for abusing you ?

Anstecr. Yes, sir; for my political principles.

Question. From whom did you learn that?
Answa: "Well, my own brother got hold of it somehow or another at Buchanan, the
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county seat ; he heard that that was the cause of their abusing me, because I did not
vote the democratic ticket.

Question. IIow did Ije get hohl of that ?

Answer. I do not know ; I did not ask him. He got hold of it some way.
Question. Your reason for saying that is a rumor that you cannot trace to any par-

ticular person ?

Answer. I suppose I could if I was a mind to try.

Question. Have you done it ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Are you able to state it upon any stronger grounds than you have stated
already ?

Ansicei: No, sir.

Question. \n regard to similar cases of outrages upon other people in your settlement,
have you any personal knowledge of them, or do you state what you have stated here
merely upon information and rumor ?

Answer. I have no persoual knowledge outside of my own case.

Question. And that single case is the only time you ever saw them ?

Ansiver. Yes,* sir.

Question. That is the only case of which you have an^ personal knowledge ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And all the other cases you speak of are known to you by rumor only I

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Vooriiees :

Question. Have you been before the grand jur5' hero about this trouble ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you given the names of those men so far as you know them ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I gave some names of tlae crowd.
Question, All that you knew ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. When was it that you were before the grand jury ?

Answer. I forget what day it was—one day last week.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Before the United States grand juiy here?
Answei\ Yes, sir.

Question. Were any arrests madc^by the marshal ?

Ansiver. N(.), sir.

Question. You say you are unable to identify any of those men, they were so dis-

guised, but that you had suspicions wlio they were ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I am unable to identify any of them.

By the Chairman :

Question. You have been asked as to your knowledge of these things of which you
have spolicn. Did you ever see a man called General Grant '?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do you know of your personal knowledge that any such man as he is

the President of the United States?
Answer. Certainly I have knowledge of his being President of the United States.

Question. Have you ever seen him personally ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. Yon know it from rumor ?

Answer. Well, I ouglit to.

Question. You know it from information that you believe to be reliable ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. In regard to what you have told us concerning Kh-K1ux operations out-
side of your own particular case, and the reason why they mistreated you in that way,
do you Icnow that from information that you believe, as you believe other things of
which you liave information ?

Answer. Certainly, I do.

Question. You have been asked in regard to distilling. Had you interfered in any
way with those distilleries, or made any threats about them in any way, or done any-
thing in regard to them?
Answer. I have had nothing to do with them.

By IMr. Voorhees :

Question. Do you know where this man General Grant lives ?

Ansiver. Just from rumor.
Question. Where does rumor say he lives?

Ansivei: When he is at homo ho is in Illinois.

Question. AVhere does he live while he is President ?
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Ansiver. In "Wasbinj^toii.

Qu^iion. Does rumor say that ho stays tbcro or in other places most ?

Answer. I do not know that I have ever made any diligent inquiry about the like of
that.

Question. Do you know whether he has been in "Washington this summer?
AnhiH-c): I reckon he has ; I do not know ; I have never made any inquiries about it.

(JuiNtion. Have you ever beard any rnniors upon that subject?
Answer. No, sir ; I live in a backwoods country.

By the Ciiaikman :

Question. This property you have brought here you will leave Avith our clerk, who
will take charge of it. We want to take it to Washington and let them see Avhat
things have been used out here.

Ansicer. These hickories aud this disguise ?

Question. Yes. «

Answer. Well, you are perfectly welcome to them.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 25, 1871.

SOLOMON WOOD sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. State your age, where you were born, where you now live, aud what is
your occupation.

Ansircr. If I live to see the 11th day of next May, I will be fifty-nine years old ; I
was born in South Carolina ; I now live in Haralson County, Georgia ; I a'm a farmer.

Question. Are there any such people in your county as are commonly called Ku-Klux?
Answer. Yes, sir ; I would suppose there were ; they have passed my house several

times.

Question. How many times?
Ansicer. I cannot recollect. I can hear them riding by there very often just before

day, a great many of them ; we suppose them to be the Ku-Klux. Those that came to
my house 1 knew ; they were not disguised.

Question. When did they come there ?

Ansiver. On the 30th day of July, betweeen 10 and 11 o'clock at night. There were
but two of them that I saw. '

Question. Tell us what they did.

Answer. They came there and hollered. They altered their voices, as Ku-Klux gener-
ally do, or as people say they do. They kept hollering, but my wife did not want me
to get up. I have got a house full of children ; I have nine little children ; I have been
married the second time. My wife was scared nearly to death ; she kept at mo not to
get up. They swore they would raise me anyhow. They came at the door. I opened
the door, and a man stood there within sis feet of me with a pistol. I wanted to pat
on my clothes, but he said, " Come out here, or I will put a bullet through you." I had
no weapons and I was obliged to go. He commenced shooting at the house ; he fired
four bullets at the house; three went into the walls of the house, aud one went into
the house where my wife and children were. Those four bullets were all that he had
in his pistol. I went up to him and took him by the shoulder and shook him and said,
" 1 know you." He hushed up cursing then. They commenced to curse me for a radi-
cal, and then said, " Why don't Joe tear the house down ?" They then went otf. I do
not live far from the man; 1 rent land from him. I heard them the next morning close
to my house and 1 saw them ; they did not have their horses with them. I thought
tbej' were men of the same brand. I put on my shoes as quick as I could and Avent
after them. Just as I got there they had caught their horses and were saddling them.
I said, " 1 found out one of you last night, and I come here now to find out the other."
They made out that they supposed I knew both of them the night before.

Question. Was it true that you were a radical ?
'

Ansicer. Certainly, 1 always supported radical iiriuciples.

Question. Were those men radicals?
Anmcer. No, sir ; they were not.

Question. What were they ?

Ansiver. They were democrats.
Question. Had they been in either army during the war ?

Answer. They said they had.
Question. In which army ?

Answer. In the southern army.
Question. How old were they?
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Avm-e): One of tlicni is a young man ; ucitbcr of tbem is more thau tbirty-Iivo or
forty years old, I reckon.

Qncniiov. Had yon heard of the Kn-Klux riding about tberc before that time?
Jvswcr. Yes, bir, frequently ; the public road is uot more than t^Yenty steps from my

door.
Qiicsliov. Have yon beard tbem since?

Avsncr. Yes, sir ; Ibey passed there since, and Avent on to one of my ucigbbors and
abused him a great deal ; they I'uu him oil', and he is here now.

(^hicalloii. AVhat is bis m'.nie ?

Jiisucr. Mr. A(!di.-()ii. He lives a near neiglibor to me. They took him out in tbo,
day-time and shut at him and run him oli'lrom his own home.

QiKstion. Ih.w long have you heard of these people cylled the Ku-Klux in your
neighboibood ?

Aiixiccr. 1 bnve been hearing of them a good long time, but I never l\n<nv of their

being in my sett lenient until last spring. I heard of their filling meu in other places
;

and one was killed not far from where 1 lived.

Qnc^stioii. Who wns be?
Aiisica: .John Walthall.
Qucslioii. How far irom where you lived?
Aiisurr. About tive or six miles. And they beat some, not more than three miles

from where I lived, almost to death. The black people are settled along on tho

toi)of the mountain ; they malce raids in there, and beat them up mightily. They tell

nie that they eome there at nights in gangs of twenty or thirty. 1 should suppoao
there were that many who eome by my house at times, by the way they make a noise.

I am deaf on one side of my head, in consequence of a limb of a tree falling ou my
Lead.

Qucsllov. What is it understood they are beating and abusing people for?

Answer. Well, one thing is (hey do not want them to vote. When the election was
held there for a member of the legislature there was a tie, and they bad to run the
election over again. They did not want a member of the radical party elected, and
they beat and abused these people to kee]) them from going to the election. They
threatened to kill some of the black people if they voted; and iu fact some white men
were afraid to vote, for fear these peojjle would kill them.

Qticsliov. When was that election held?
Avmrr. It has just passed ; it was held on the fourth day of this month.
Qucdiioii. Is it understood that they have beeu riding about this summer and abusing

republicans to prevent them from voting?
AtitiHTr. That is about what they did it for.

Question. You say the election before resulted iu a tie?

Ansivn: Yes, sir.

Qucsiioii. How did this last election go; which party succeeded ?

Aiisn-er. The democratic party succeeded, I think, by forty-five votes. There is a man
here that can tell you more about that than I can; he is a smarter man on this busi-

ness, and lives in Buchanan. His name is Mr. Gentry, and he will be m hero directlj',

I expect, when yon get ready for him. He is here, I kuow, for he is the one who
brought me here. We are now all afraid to go home.

Quest iou. What are you afraid of?
Ansirn: W(^ are afraid that they will kill us.

Qitestioti. Why?
Aiiiu-ei: Because they kuow that we have come here. I was summoned and brought

here. I know that the whole crowd who are with me are afraid they will be killetl.

They threatened that if anybody ever reported ou them they would kill him.

By Mr. B.vvai;d :

Qurstioii. You say you have heard bauds of men riding by your house?
Ansxccr. Yes, sir.

Qticslioii. Did you ever look out and see them?
A7isKir. No, sir, I never did; to tell you the truth, I was afraid of them; I did not

want to see them.
Question You say j'ou have heard the sound of horses' feet going by iu the morning?
Ans2ver. Yes, sir.

Question. You never saw any disguised meu ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Two inen camo to your house without disguises ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who were they?
Answer. Lewis Pope and Newton McChuig.
QueMion. Did yon go belbre the grand jury here?
Answer. Yes, sir. I have been here all the time ; they will not allow me to go home.
Question. You were here to testify against these meu for this outrage ou you?
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Answer, That is just Avbat thoy hronfvlit me here for, they said.
Question. You testified to all this before the grand jury iu the court-house hero?
Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. That was last week?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. Do you know whether McClung and Popo were indicted?
Answer. No, sir; they were not.
Question. They have been discharged ?

Answer. They were not indicted there.
Question. Have they been indicted here ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. Are they under arrest?
Answer. Not that I know of.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Do you know whether indictments were found against them on your testi-
mony ?

Answer. No, sir, I do not know; I never know what they did here at all.

Atlanta, Georgia, OctoUr 25, 1871.

JOSEPH ADDISON sworn and examined.

By the Chairjian :

Question. What is your age, where were you born, where do you live, and what ia

your present occupation ?

Answer. I am about twenty-four years old ; I was born iu Muscogee County, and
now live in Haralson County; I have been living there ever since I was a little bit of
a boy ; I am a farmer.

Question. During the war which side were you on?
Avsieer. I never fought a day in the rebel army ; I was not in it at all.

Question. Which side were your feelings on ?

Ansicer. My feelings were on the side of what you call the radical party now.
Question, What did they call it then ?

Ansicer. I was what you call a Union man then.
Question. Were your opinions well known ?

A^isiccr. Yes, sir ; I reckon I am well known.
Question. Have you seen any people, or do you know of any, in your county, called

Ku-Klux ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Tell us what you know about them.
Answer. Do you want me to state just about all how they did ?

Question. Yes.
' Answer. I will tell you how they did me. They came on a neighbor of mine, a broth-
er-in-law, who lived right close to me. They took both him and his sou out, and
whipped them. They sent me word to leave where I was living. I said I should not
do it. They said that if I did not leave they allowed to shoot me. I laid out tlien

about thi'ce weeks. I then went into the house and laid there, I believe, two nights.
The third night they came on to me, and took me out and hit mo some ten or twelve
licks with a hickory. They then told me they would give me ten days to get away in.

I begged them to let me stay until I had made my crop ; they said I should not do it.

Three or four of them kept saying, " He is not going." I said, " If I am obliged to go,
I will go." They said, " You would rather go than to die, wouldn't you ?" I said,
" Yes, I would rather do anything than to die." They just went oft" and left me there.
That was in the last of March, the first time they came on me. I laid out then, and
the next time they came on mo was the last day iu May, on a dark rainy evening,
about a half an hour by sun. I had been to the store to sell some wheat and corn, so
as to get some little things I wanted. I did not sell it, but brought it back home. I

got back, I reckon, about 2 or 3 o'clock in the evening. My wife had been hoeing cot-

ton, and asked me if I wanted dinner ; she said there was cold victuals enough for

dinner. I ate a cold snack ; we then went on and hoed tmtil it came up to rain. I

hoed out the row we Averc ou, and she went to milk the cow. I then took the wheat
into the house, and backed the wagon u]) under the eaves of the crib. My wife then
got supi^er, and I went in and sat down to supper. I got aboui; half done eating when
one of the dogs broke out barking powerfully. I said, " What is that dog barking at ?"

My wife looked out and said, " Lord have mercy! Joe, it is the Ku-Klux." I jumped out

35 a
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of the door and ran. One of them was riglit in the back yard, and he jahhed the top
of his six-shooter almost against my head, and soid. " Halt! God damn you." I said,
" I will give np." I asked them what they were doing that for ; they said that I had
hoen stealing. I said, " You men here know I have not." Thoy said, " Wc gave you
time once to get away, and, God damn yon, you have not gone; now, God damn you,
you shall not go, for we allow to kill you." I said, "If you do not abuse me or whip
me, I will go U-m nest morning." They said they would not abuse mo or whip me, but
they would kill me. I said, "Let rae go and see my wife and children." They said,
" No, God damn you." I turned away from the man ; ho jammed his pistol in my face,

and said, "God damn you, go on, or I will kill you." They took me about eighty or

ninety yards from there into a little thicket. The man ou my right Avas a high, tall

man ; tbe one on my left was^ a low, chunky fellow. The man ou my right stepped
back, and said to the little fellow on my left, " Old man, we have got him here now

;

do as you ])lease with him." There were some little hickories near him ; he looked
at them, but did not take them. They were all standing right around me with their

guns pointing at me. Just as he turned around, I wheeled and run ; but before I had run
ten yards I heard a half a dozen caps bursted at me. Just as I made a turn to go behind
some buildings and little bushes, I heard two guns fired. I must have gone seventy
or eighty yards, and then I lieard what I thought was a pistol fired. I heard a bullet
hit a tree.' I run on eight or ten steps further, and then I heard a bullet hit a tree just
before me. Every one of them took after me, and run me for a hundred and fifty yards.
I ran down a little bluff and ran across a branch. When I got across there, I could not
run any further, for my shoes were all muddy. I cut the strings of my old shoes, and
left them there. I stopped to listen, but I never s'aw anything more of them. I then
went around and climbed up on the feuce, and sat there and watched until dark. I

then went to the house and got some dry clothes, and then went back where 1 had
fixed a place in the woods to sleep in, and went to bed. That was the last I heard of
them that night. They came back Sunday night before court commenced on Monday,
in Haralson County. My wife would not stay, there by herself, but went to her sister-

in-law's, Milton Powell's* wife. They came in on them on Sunday night, or about two
hours and a half before day IMonday morning. They abused her and cursed her pow-
erfully, and tried to make her tell where I was. They said that if she did not tell

them they* would shoot her God-damned brains out. I was laying out close by there,

and I stood there and heard them. They shot five or six shots in the yard ; some of
them said they shot into the house. They scared my wife and sister-in-law so bad that
they took the children and went into the woods and staid there all night. Tliat was
the last time they were there.

Question. In what montli was tliat ?

Anstcsi: It was last month, I believe. It was Monday morning about two hours and
a half before day. They then told my wife that if they ever caught her or Milton
Powell's wife back there again th«y would kill the last God-damn one of them. That
is about all I can tell, I believe.

Question. Have they ever molested you since then?
Ansiver. No, sir ; they have never been on me any more since then.

Question. Do you still stay there?
Amiccr. No, sir ; I have done moved now. I moved oif, and left my hogs and my

crop and everything there, what little I made. I did not make much crop this yeai',

for I was afraid to work, and now I am afraid to go back there to save anything.
Question. Where do you stop now ?

Ansiver. I live about ten or twelve miles from there, down on the Tallapoosa River.
Question. Where is your brother-in-law uow '?

Ansiver. He has done left and gone away over into the valley.

Question. How many men came there the first time in March?
Ansiver. Seven.
Question. How many came there in May ?

Atisiver. Six.

Question. How many came there this last time?
Answer. I do not know, for I never saw them.
Question. Do you know any of them that came either time ?

Ansiver. I know two of them.
Question. Who were they ?

Answer. One was Joe Roe, and tlie other was John Gilpin.
Question. Who was the one they called " old man V
Ansiver. I do not know who he was.
Question. How many shots do you suppose they fired, and how many caps were

bursted ?

Answer. There were four shots fired at me. I do not know how many caps were
bursted ; I expect that they bursted over a half dozen caps ; I am very sure they did.

Question. The first time they came there, you say they charged you with having been
Btealing ?
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Ansiccr. That was the second time. The first time they said I had been talking
about the Kn-Klux, aim had thrccitened to out Them with my knife. The next time
they came back they said I had been stealing. I said I did not st<'nl, and that the peo-
ple around there, who knew me all the time, kuQW that I had done nothing -wrong.

Question. Did they say what you had been stealing, or from whom you had been
stealing f

Answer. No, sir, and I never asked.
Qiicsiion. What family have you ?

Ansirer. I.havo a wife and three children.
Qnesiio)!. What, in your opinion, was the reason that they persecuted you in this way ?

Answer. I justthinkit was on account of politics—thatit was because I was a radical;
I just believe that was what it was done for.

Question. To what party do you suppose these men belong?
Answer. Some of them are strong democrats; the one I know, that is Joe Roe, is a

strong democrat.
Question. How long had you heard of the Ku-Klux in Haralson County before they

came on you ?

Answer. I do not remember how long it has been ; I reckon it has been over a year.
Question. State whether it is understood that they have been riding about there a

great deal this summer.
Ansxccr, Yes, sir.

Question. What have they been doing ?

Answer. They have been doing right smart of whipping ; they have beat up lots of
people powerfully, and they killed a black man there not long ago.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What is his name ?

Ansivcr. John Walthall.

By the Chairman :

Question. Do you know any reason why they should make war upon the radicals at
this particular time ? Was there any election on hand ?

Answer. It was just before the election for a member of the legislature, a short time
back : it was just before the election that they made all their raids.

Questimi. Did you hear of anybody being raided on, or molested or disturbed in any
way, black or white, excejvt those that are called radicals ?

Answer. Never one.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Have you been before the grand jury here ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When did you appear before them?
Answer. It was one day last week.
Question. Did you state there the same you have stated here ?

Ansicer. Part of it I did not ; I did not state to the grand jiiry this part about their
threatening to kill my wife and children if they caught them back there, and there
might have been some other little words I did not tell them.

Question. You made the same statement, in substance, that you have made here ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were those men in disguise ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they completely disguised ?

Answer. They were disguised over the face except the eye-holes and mouth, I could
see the whiskers through the mouth-holes ; that is the way I knew one man, and I

could see the white on their necks.
Question. Did they have anything over their bodies ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir ; it looked like a shirt made of some sort of calico.

Question. You say you recognized two of them?
Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were they neighbors of yours ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; one of them I was raised up with from a boy.
Question. I understood you to say that when these men got j-ou out, at the time you

broke away and escaped, one of them said to another, " Old man, we have him here
now, and you can do what you please with him."

Ansiver: Yes, sir.

Question, Who was he ?

Ansicer. I do not know ; he was a low, chunky fellow.

Question. Have you any idea who that man was ?

Ansiver. 1 have a little idea.

Question. Was it any man who had anything against you ?
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Answer. No, sir ; I could not say that one mau in my settlement had anything against
mo. *

Question. Do you knovr why you should be brought out for that old mau ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. There was nothing between you and any such mau ?

Ansicer. No, sir ; there was no difficulty between me and any mau except Henry
Wimpy ; we had some little difficiilty about a gun.

Question. Do you believe this aft'air had nothing to do with that ?

Answer. I tliink he had a hand in it. The night they came on to me, I and some
others tracked his mules right up to his gate. Wo measured the mule-tracks and they
fitted his mule point-blank.

Question. You say ho was concerned in it ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and my wife said she knew him, and that she knew another boy of
the name of Jebb Hicks. She said she was crying and taking on about me, when thoy
were carrying me off, and he got his gun and said if she did not hush up he would
»hoot her God-damn brains out.

Question. Did you make that statement before the grand jury?
Answer. That is another thing I did not tell the grand jury, for I never thought

of it.

By the Chairman :

Question. Was the j)erson they called "old mau" the same j)erson you had a dispute
with about a gun ?

Ansieer. No, sir. The man I had the difficulty with was a big, heavy, chunky man,
and this fellow on my left, that they called " old man," was a little, low, chunky
fellow.

Question. What did he do ?

Answer. He just stepped back with his gun. There were some little hickories and
chestnut switches there, and he looked at them as if he was going to them, but he did
not make any move toward them. They were all standing with their guns ; ho
turned around and stepped back with his gun, and got it between me and him, and I

broke and run. Before I had run as far as across this room, a half a dozen caps were
bursted at me.

Question. When ho brought his gun down, did he jiresent it as aman would who was
going to shoot ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he had it cocked, and had his finger on the trigger.

By Mr. Bayaed :

Question. This was in the day-time ?

Ansrver. Yes, sir ; maybe a half an hour or an hour by sun.

By the Chairman :

Question. Did you have any neighbors near you ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; my brother-in-law lived about half a mile from me ; a widow wo-
man by the name of Mrs. Durr, and Jim Henderson, who married one of Mrs. Durr's
daughters, lived about half a mile from me ; Joe Brown lived about a mile from me,
and Sam Wood about the same distance.

Question. Had you any neighbors within less than half a mile ?

Ans2ver. No, sir.

Question. Tell us all you know about your brother-in-law being whipped.
Answer. I have just his word for it. He said that they never said anything at all to

him why they whipped him.
Question. Wheu did they whip him ?

Ansiver. I cannot tell exactly.
Question. Did they whip him at that time when they came to your house ?

Answer. They whipped him that time when they sent me word to leave ; it was four
or five weeks, maybe longer than that, before they came on me.

Question. Did you understand whether they gave him a severe whipping?
Ansicer. They hit him three or four licks ; and they hit his son three or four.

Question. They gave him no reason why they whipped him ?

Ansicer. No, sir; he said they never gave him any reason why.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 25, 1871.

A. B. MARTIN sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. How old are you, where were you born, where do you now live, and what
your present occupation ?
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Ansiver. I will be seveuty-oue years old on the 17th day of next January; I was born
in Carolina, and now live iu Haralson County ; J keep a'shop there, and i'arm it, too.

Question. What kind of a shop do you keep?
Armcer. A work-shop, wagon-making, or anything of the kind ; sometimes chairs,

and sometimes bedsteads. I keep a turning-shop and a wagon-making shop.
Q,ue^tion. You are a mechanic '?

Aimcer. Yes, sir, that is my trade. I can make nearly anything out of wood. If
anything is misplaced in any way, they .just call on me. and I lit it up.

Question. How long have you been living in Haralson County /

A7istver. I crossed the Chattahoochee from Carolina the very day of Polk's election.
Question. You had lived iu South Carolina before that time?
Answer. Yes, sir ; I was born and raised tliore, and my youngest baby was born there.
Question. AVhere were you during the war ?

Ansiccr. Part of the time I was in Cass County. Major Cooper sent for me to oversee
a company of hands for him. I went up there, leaving part of my things at homo;
when I finished my job, they found out I was a wagon-maker, and I bossed his shop for
four years.

Qiiestion. Who was that ?

Answer. Major Cooper.
Question. Mark A. Cooper ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. On which side were you during the war ?

Answer. I have been a Union man from mj^ boyhood ; I was not taiight anything else
by my parents.

Question. Are there any such people in your county as are commonly called Ku-Klus ?

Ansicer. There are a set of men there that are disguised people. They disguise them-
selves with calico, or anything, I do not know what all. I have seen some of them
in the night that were disguised.

Question. How many times have you ever seen them ?

Ansicer. I got to know them only one night.
Question. Where was that ?

Answer. At my house.
_

Question. Wheu was it?
Ansicer. On the 7th of last May.
Question. What did they do ?

Answer. 1 will tell you plainly how the circumstance took place. I lay in one room
and my sister-in-law in another. I had just got to sleeping soundly, so I had to be
shaken two or three times to wake nie up. The first I knew she Avas shaking me, and
said, "Mr. Martin, get uj) ; there are a hundred men tomiug here, I think." I jumped
right up, with my drawers on, and ran out and opened the front door. I j)eeped out,
and it looked to mo like a heap of women. My mind struck me that it was another
runaway set wanting to get married. The Alabama line is.right close by, and thoy
run over on our side to bo married. Such things had hapiJened before, and I thought
it was all right. I opened the door wide open, and said, " Come in." I set the chairs
as well as I could feel them, and said that I would put on my clothes and be out iu a

minute. I put on my pants over my drawers. As I went iu, I told my sister-in-law to

light the candle. She smelled a rata little worse than I did. I got through, and wheu
I went out they presented their guns at me. They took me and my step-son out and
whipped us a plenty. They whipped me so that I had to tote my drawers and pants
in my hands to the house, and they whipped my step-son pretty considerably. I do
not know- what sort of people they are, whether Ku-Klux or not, but I am sensible that
some of them arc pretty cloto neighbors to me. They are mighty rigid democrats,
and I was as much the other way. Gentlemen, I will tell you just as it is. I am a
Union man, certain.

Question. Did they .strip you when they whipped you ?

Ansicer. No, sir ; I had my under-shirt and over-shirt on, and my drawers and pants
on. My suspenders were held with horn buttons, and they whipped me until they cut
the buttons all to pieces, and I had to carry my clpthes iu my bauds.

Question. How many blows do you suppose they struck you ?

Ansicer. I cannot tell you. They struck me until I had no feeling ; if they had whiii-

ped on until yet it would not have made much odds.
Question. Your sense of feeling was entii'ely gone?
Answer. I had no feeling.

Question. How far was that from the house?
Answer. About two hundred yards.

Question. Did they whi]5 you standing up ?

Ansiccr. They made me lie down on my belly.

Question. Did they hold j'ou down iu any way ?

Answer. No, sir ; I tell you my principles are pretty strong, au«! I just thought I could
bear anything.
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Question. What tlici they whip you with ?

Aiisxver. I cuuuot tell you. It was soiriethiug that iiew off in the time of it. There
came another man walking along, and spoke to him, and they went off, and, I think,
lixed it again ; and then he came back and fixed it another spell. They got up and
put a roi^e around my neck, and tried to draw me up to a i^ost-oak sapling. And then
tliey whii>ped me about the legs. If you have ever been bit by a horse-tly you kuosv
that they bite pretty sharp ; that is about all I could feel. My neck is swelled yet,

and it was black for two months.
Qucniion. You say they whipped your stei)-sou?

Answer. Yes, sir ; at the same time.
Question. Is he here ?

Answer. He was fetched here on this same case ; we both went before the grand jury.
Question. I understand you to say that in your opinion those were democrats who

were whipping you, because you were a radical and a Union man.
AnSicer. Yes, sir ; and I was an officer. I had been a notary public for some time,

and I think they begrudged me the office. I will tell you what makes me know it was
my i)olitics. After they crossed the fence and got down into the big road, (I omitted
telling that to you before,) the first word any one of them said to me was, "What is

your politics?" I told them I was a Union man from my cradle, and did not know
anything else but to bo a Union man. Another man said tome, "Can you pray?"
I had begun to see into the thing pretty plainly, and to knov.- that something was
going to take place. I said, "I am not a praying man ; but if I was, the prayers of
the wicked avail nothing." One took me with a gun across my head, and sort of
staggered me. I am confident it was on account of my politics ; I know it.

Qiicstion. How many were there in the crowd?
Ansiver. They had some negroes along with them, iirisoners; the negroes say there

were sixty of them, but some of them would not come to my house at all ; they said

that more than half of them would not go there. I think there were fifteen or twenty
who came to my house.

Question. Do you know the v^nies of any of the negroes?
Ans^cer. Joseph Ray was one, George Carter was another, and George Walthall was

the third one.
Question. Ai'o they here, any of them ?

Ansicer. No, sir.

Question. What did they do with those negroes ?

Ansicer I know what they told me.
Question. What was that?
Ansiver. They said they whii:)ped them powerfully, and kept whipping them; and

they are afraid to come here. A great many of them are afraid actually to tell what
they know ; I know that. There was a tie vote at the last election, and I had to take
one of the party to help me to manage the election.

Question. Were they men you supposed to be connected with the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. 1 do not suppose they ever went with them ; but I believe their good wishes
were with them, and that their sentiments are with them.

Question. In regard to this election, did your people all vote the last time ?

Ansicei; I know of four of them who would not go in my precinct, and they advised
me not to go ; two of them were my sons-in-law. They advised me not to oi)en tho
election, but I went up myself and opened the election. I am not afraid when I think
I am in a good cause. I could not get managers without taking two democrats to

manage, Jesse Goggins and Jesse Newland. Goggins marked the tickets. I took a
ticket myself, and said to Mr. Goggins, " That is the one I am going to vote." Newland
wanted to take the returns of the election, and I said, " No man shall tote it there but
me ; I will take it certain." I took it, and returned it.

Question. Did you hold the election the last time at the same placo,where there had
been a tie vote ?

Answer. No, sir. At the time of the tie vote they would only let us hold the election

at Buchanan. At this election we were authorized by the governor to hold it at our
' precinct. I was the only notary public in the district, and I was obliged to act, though
I was persuaded not to do it. I told them I would do it.

Question. You stated when you saw this crowd coming, you thought it was a run-
away couple coming to you, as a justice of the peace, to be married?
Answer: Yes, sir.

By Mr. Laxsing :

Question. W^hat was the character of their disguises?
Answer. All I can say is this : the next day my wife and somebody else went up to

where they whipped me, and they found a calico piece, and fetched it back to me; it

was made of calico.

Question. What was that ?
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AnsiL-er. It was something like a ribbon—something they had hung on top of their
masks.

Question. Had they on anything like gowns ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; at iirst they looked like a iiarcel of women.
Qucslion. That is why you supposed it was a runaway couple coming to be married?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Coming to your place as a sort of Gretna Green?
Ansivcr. I thought it was a nmaway mutch. There had been the like before, but I

never got whipped for it before. In Alabama they have to give a \)ond of security for

good performance before they can get a license to marry, and 1 had bhmk licenses from
the ordinary.

Question. You can marry them at sight ?

Answer. I can till them out, for the ordinary authorizes me to do so.

Question. ^Yhat do you think is the state of feeling down there to-day toward your
people who have come up here to testify ?

Answer. I think the Ku-Klux have a majority in our county. And, further than
that, I cau say that I aud my wife have not slept in my house three nights since then.

Question. How do you feel about going back ? ,
Answer. I am not going back.
Question, ^\^iy not ?

Answer. Because I am afraid to go among them now. There is not a thing in my
house now ; I rented out my place before I left. My son-in-law is taking care of my
corn-fodder and things.

Question. You say j'ou know of some democrats whom you do not believe belong to
the Ku-Klus, but who encourage them ?

Ansicer. 1 am certain of that. Duncan Monroe is one ; I am as certain of it as I can
be of anything I do not positively know.

By the Chalrm.vx:

Question. "What makes you think so 1

Answer. I heard him tell a man there, about a man in the neighborhood, "K he don't
leave in three days, I will have him Ku-Kluxed

;

"' and they went aud did it. His name
was Thomas Powell ; they went and whixipcd him and his wife, and scai'ed her nearly
to death.

Question. Is he a prominent man in the settlement ?

Answer. He is a good man as to property ; but I do not like a man of such principles.

Question. Does he live well ?

Ansicer. He lives in a brick house, within a mile of me.
Question. Did he own slaves before the war?
Answei: He owned two. I bought a negro to wait on me, and gave two thousand

dollars for him. He hung on to his. I said, " I am glad mine is free ;" and I said to

him, " Dick, behave yourself."

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Have you been before the grand jury here ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did j-ou make the same statement to them that you have made here ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; about as near as I can recollect.

Question. Did you know any of those j)arties who made this assault on you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you give their names ?

Ansicer. I did to the grand jury.

Question. How many did you know ?

Ansicer. Sis.

Question. "What are their names?
Ansicer. James Casey, Thomas Casey, Jack Thomas, David Lowry, James Cos, and

James Garner. I am confident I know them.
Question. You identified those men as being of the party who committed this outrage

on you ?

Answer. James Casey is one that I named as one man who beat me.
Question. You know these parties you have named ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir. After they got through with me, they told me to go and stand
against a jjost-oak and rest myself. This Casey had not moved a foot from where he
whipped me. He raised up his mask, which he had hung over his face, and the moon
shone right plumb into his face, aud he was not a yard from me. Ho was a man I had
known ever since 1844. That is why I identified him, because I saw him.

Question. What was Casey's business there ?

Answer. He is a farmer ; he lives in Polk County, just over the line ; these men all

lived in Polk County.
Question. How far from your house ?
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Answer. The furthest about four miles oif; onelivesa little over a mile ; aud auotbcr
about a mile aud a half. To Casey's bouse you mia,ht tbiuk ^Yas two miles, but I

could go a nearer way. If you take a wagou, you must go two miles.

Qiic^tio)!. Did you give these names to the ofticers hero before the grand jury?
Ansicer. I gave them to the grand jury.
QU'CSiion. When did yoii do that ?

Ansiver. On Thursday, I reckon,
Qv.estion. Thursdi^y of last week ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir.

Queslion. That was the first complaint you made against them ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know whether they w^cre indicted ?

Answer. I cannot say.

Question. You do not know now what the result of the complaint was before tho
grand jury ?

Answer. No, sir, only they have given me a subpo?na to bo here in March.
QMestion. Then you expect these men Avill be tried for that offense ?

Answer. Well, I think they ought»to be. If a man was to shoot another there, and I

should issue a warrant, I could not get a man to arrest him. I have a list of all tho
abuses there, in my haversack. I have seen the sheriff arrest one, myself, and ho and
his father carao with his i)istol and shot him.

Question, Who was that sheriff?

Ansioer. The sheriff of Ha,ralson County.
Question. What offense had that man committed ?

Answer. He had shot at another man, a man by the name of Hancock ; that was
given in before the grand jury.

Question. Have witnesses been summoned for tho trial of that case?
A7isuicr. I know Hancock himself was here, the one they shot at.

Qiiestion. That complaint is novv' before the grand jury of the United States?
Answer. Yes, sir; he told me he put it before the grand jury. He got the deputy

sheriff' so scared that he flung up his commission.
Question. You are a notary public aud justice of the peace of that county?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What is the population of tliat county ?

Ansiver. Now you are too fast for me.
Question. Do you recollect what was the tiumber of votes cast at your election ?

Answer. Wc used to run 160 and 170 votes there altogether ; but this time there
were only 40 on the democratic side, and 15 on the other.

Question. That was in your jireciuct ?

Anmuer. Yes, £ir.

Question. Do you know how many there were in the whole county ?

Ansiver. I disremember the whole count.
Question. You say there were 15 votes for the republicans ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; aud 40 for the other side, when it used to be two-thirds republican
before these Ku-Klus came up.

Question. How many of the republican votes were given by whites, and bow many
by blacks ?

Answer. There were only three black ones voted in our precinct ; they were afraid
TO go up and vote.

Question. How many at the other election ?

Ansiver. I disremember now. They have run it over us certainly. They may be
right, but they never shall change mo any. And I know^ a heap would have voted on
our side only they were afraid to go up and vote. I know four men that I am confi-

dent turned over, but they ran away from our precinct to do it ; they went to Bu-
chanan.

By the Ciiaiuman :

Question. How long after you had beeu whipjied before you got over it so as to go
about and attend to your business ?

Answer. I had to walk pretty steady, of course. I was bruised up powerfullj'. I

think it was two mouths before the black was all gone.

ATL.iJS[TA, Georgia, October 25, 1871.

WILLIAM WILLINGHAM sworn aud examined.

By tho Chairman :

*

Question. What is your age, where were you born, where do you now live, and what
is your occupation ?
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Ansicer. I am going on nineteen years old ; I v>i\\ be uiuetceu the 22d day of next
April ; I was bom in Randolph CoOnty, Alabama, I believe, and I nov.' live in Haral-
son Connty ; I am forming there.

Question. Are you a step-sou of Mr. Martin, the last witness examined by this com-
mittee?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. He married your motJier when she was a widow ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How long have you lived wnth Mr. Martin ?

Answer. I do not know exactly; between sis and seven years, I guess.
Question. Were you at homo the night that disguised men came there and w^hipped

your step-father ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Tell us all that you know about it ; all that you saw, and all that you have
heard.
Answer. One of my aunts lived there with us. When they were coming up she got

Tip and waked mo and the old man up. They came up and called to the old man, and
he went out and opened the front door. They, told him to come out, and I think he
went out. They came on in the house, and after a while, in a few minutes, they took
me out. They took the old man off Irom the house, and made me follow him. The
way I saw them was this : They hunted about over the house for a man that we had
hired there. They said they were hunting him, all about over the house, in the loft,

and so on. That was all that they did there at the house, except that they cursed ma
a little.

Question. What did they do away from the house ?

Ansicer. They whipped us.

Question. Did you see them whip jour step-father ?

Ansicer. Yes, sii". t

*

Question. Where were you ?

Ansicei: I was standing right there.

Question. How many blows did they give him ?

Answer. I cannot tell how many.
Question. How many would you suppose ?

Answer. George Carter, a negro there, said he counted them, and that they hit him
seventy-five licks. I do not know more than what he said. I should think they gave
him between fifty and a hundred licks.

Question. Thej^ whipped you also ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many blows did they give you?
Answer. They gave me about thirty.

Question. Did they whip you over your clothes, or did they sti'ip you?
Ansicer. They pulled up my shirt.

Question. Thej gave their blows on your bare back ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. With what ?

Answer. Yv'ith a hickory.
Question. Were you standing ?

Answer. I was standing up.
QueMion. How was it with the old man, as you call him?
Ansicer. They made him lie down first, and they hit him I reckon fifteen or twenty

licks with a stick while he was lying down, and then they took him and tied him, and
drew him uj) to a tree and whipi^ed him. there ; I could not tell how many licks.

Question. They whipped j^ou standing up?
Answer. Yes, sir ; they tied me and drew me up to a tree and whipped me standing up.

Question, Did they draw you up to the same tree that they tied the old man to?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you know any of the men who whii^ped you ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who were they?
Answer. Jim Casey, David Lowry, Jack Thomas, and Jim Garner.
Question. How many of them whipj)ed you?
Ansicer. There were three that hit me.
Question. With the same hickory, or with a different one from that they used on the

old man ?

Ansicer. They wore out that hickory, and had to get a new one.

Question. How many hickories did they use on you?
Ansicer. They hit me with four at a time.
Question. How many blows ?

Ansicer. Three men struck me ten blows aijiece.

Question. What was the size of the hickory ?
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Ansiccr. It was more than a commou hickory to whip a man with ; it was nearly an
ox-hickory. They whipped the old man with a larger hickory.

Question. Did Ihcy injure your person, break the skin ?

Ansiccr. They broke the skin a little on mo in two places ; but they bruised the old
man powerfully. I do not think the hickory was keen enough to cut the sldu ; but
his back was right black for two weeks.

Question. How was it with your back ?

Ansu-er. It was all in welts, except that my left arm was black and swelled iip.

Question. How many were there in the crowd?
Ansiver. I should think there were twenty or thirty.

Question. Did they give any reason for whipping you ?

Anstver. No, sir.

Question. Did you know of any reason ?

Answer. No, sir ; only that I lived with the old man ; and it was because he was a
radical ; that is what they whipped him for, and I thought that was what they whipped
me for. They asked me what made mo live with the old man, and I said because he
had my mother. I am going to live with him as long as I live, and if they 'are going
to kill me, they will have to kill me.

Question. Did they whip any of the rest of your family ?

Answer. No, sir ; none of the family ; they had three negroes with them ; they hit
one of them, Joe Ray, five licks.

Question. Do you know whether they whipped those negroes any more ?

Answer. I do not know that they did ; but they said they did. Their backs were cut
very bad ; blood and water was running out of their backs two days after that.

Question. You saw that yourself?
Ansiver. Yes, sir ; I saw that myself.

Question. How many women were there at your house ?

Answer. Just my mother and aunt.
Question. Were there any children ?

Answer. Her children.

Question. How many ?

Answer, Three small ones.

Question. Did these people disturb the women and children ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they disturbed the women.
Question. How ?

Ansiver. By taking off the men folks and whipping them.
Question. They did not offer any violence to the women ?

Answer. They did not do anything, only with mother ; they hit mother with one
gun.

Question. Where did they hit her ?

Answer. Over the head : she told them she was going to follow me and Mr. Martin,
and they cursed her, and hit her over the head, and said that if she did they would
shoot her.

Question. How did they make you go along ?

Answer. They just got around me, and said that if I did not go they would kill me.
Question. Were they all armed ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; with guns or i>ist61s, one of them.
Question. Did they have their pistols drawn ?

Answer. Every man had his arms ready cocked for firing.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Have you been hefore the grand jury here ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you made the same statement to them that you have made here ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say you are nineteen years old ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You have not voted?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was any reason given to you at that time for whippiug you ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Was there anything said in your presence about whippiug old man Martin ?

Ansiver. They asked me what made mo live with that old man, and I told them be-
cause he had my mother.

Question. He had married your mother ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was all that was said to you ?

Answer. They said I must leave there ; I said I would leave there whenever my
mother did, and not before ; they said if I did not they would kill me.

Question. Was any charge of any kind made against you ?
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Answer. No, sir ; I have laid iu my house but just two uij^hts since theu.
Question. You have stated all that occurred at that time iu regard to -what they said,

and in regard to what was done ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

By the CnAnaiAX

:

Question. What was it you said about not lying iu your house since tlieu ?

Ansivcr. I said I have laid iu my hoilfee but two uights since the 7th of May last.
Question. Where have you been f

Answer. I lay around watching for them.
Question. Where did you sleep ?

Ansicer. In the bushes, when I did sleep ; they said they would kill me, and I was
afraid to stay in the house.

Question. Have they been goiug about in the neighborhood since they whipped you ?

Ansivcr. Yes, sir ; thej^ killed a uegro since that.

By Mr. Bay.ved :

Question. What negro ?

Answer. John Walthall.

By the Chairman :

Question. Were the men that were there meu that accounted themselves respectable
men ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I think they do.

Question. Did they claim to be meu of standing ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did they live iu fine houses ?

Ansiccr. They lived in common weather-boarded houses ; there are no fine houses
there ; some of them live in log-houses.

Atlanta, Georgia, October, 25, 1871.

GEOEGE W. GENTRY sworn and examined.

By the CELvrRM.vN :

Question. How old are you, where were you born, where do you now live, and what
is your present occupation ?

Answer. I will be thirty-five years old in April next, the Gth day of Aj)ril. I was l)orn

in Fayette County, nine miles from this place, jfud at this time I live in Buchanan, Har-
alson County ; I am a farmer.

Question. What opportunity have you had of becoming acquainted with the people
or your county ?

Answer. I have a very good ojiportunity, as f;ir as that is concerned. I have been
acting-sheriff there in that county. I have been bailiff there for several years, and I am
acquainted with most of the people that live iu that county.

Question. What is the voting population of your county ?

Answer. They generally vote from between live to six hundred, I think ; that is my
recollection—hardly ever to exceed six hundred.

Question. What jiortiou of the voters there are colored, and what portion are white ?

Answer. A large majority are white ; there are but few colored voters in the county.
Question. What jiroportiou are republicaus, and what democrats?
Ansiccr. The true sentiment of the people in the county is republican.
Question.- By what majority, do you think ?

Ansicer. It has been from fifty to seventy-five majority up to the last election,

when it went forty-eight democratic.
Question.' What election was that?
Answer. The election for a representative.
Question. When was that ?

Ansicer. On the 4th day of this month.

By Mr. Vookhees :

'pwes/foj*. Was that a special election?
Answer. Yes, sir ; it was a tie at the election before that.

By the CnAiuar.^N :

Question. State if you know any facts occurring before the election, or at the time o
the election, to accouut for suph a result as you have stated ; that is, that in a county
that has from fifty to seventy-five republican majority, there should be a majority of
forty-eight for the democratic ticket.

Anszcer. I only know this much, what I have heard others say ; and I have the state-
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meut of democrats. One told me that be knew the trick that was going on, and bad
known it for three months, to defeat the republican party.

Question. What did you understand that trick to be ?

Answer. Well, sir, I do not know that I could answer jjositively what I did tmder-
staud it to mean.

Question. Do you know whether there were any acts of violence committed iu that
eounty upon republicans before the election ? ^

Answer. I saw the marks ujion some of them who were whijiped.

Question. How many ?

Ansiver. Three.
Question. How long before the election ?

Ansiccr. The night before the election.

Question. Were they white or colored ?

Answer. They were colored.

Question. Do you know of any others ?

Ansiccr. I do not know of any others who were whipped at that time; I know
of others who were whipped jirevious to that time.

Question. How many others do you suppose?
Answer. There were a great many of them ; there was something between twenty

and thirty whipped previous to that time, %vhite and colored.*

Question. By whom were they said to have been whipped ?

Answer. They were whixiped by disguised men; so they said. They told me that
they could swear to some of the liarties.

Question. Were the parties they mentioned as being concerned iu whipping them
republicans or democrats ?

Answer. I never heard of a republican being accused of being iu such a crowd.
Question. Were those disguised men you sjieak of in your county called Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know whether at the election any republicans were kept away
from the polls through fear ?

Answer. Several of them told me they would not vote the republican ticket, because
they wanted to stay at home and not bo molested by the Ku-Klux, as they called

them.
Question. Do you know whether they voted at all or not ?

Ansiver. They did not vote ; and others told nie that they voted the democratic
ticket iu order that they might be allowed to stay at home and not be molested.

Question. Has there been anybody in your county arrested and brought to trial for

these acts of violence ?

Answer. There has never been a perSon's name presented before the grand jury for

that thing at all.

Question. Do you believe it would be possible, in the present state of things in your
county, for a republican, white or black, to iirocure an administration of justice against
these Ku-Klux ?

Ansiver. I think not.

Question. What makes you think so?
Answer. Well, tliere are grand jurymen there who were knowing to the circumstance

of there having been a colored man killed there, and they never made auy iuquii-y at

all in regard to who it was did it. No inciuest was ever held over the colored man
killed there, nor any coroner sent for at all.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Who was killed ?

Answer. John Walthall. There were but two persons found guilty of auy crime who
were tried in the last civil court there, and they were both republicans. One of them
was charged with the same oli'ense that another person was charged with, and in the
same bill of indictment. The republican was found guilty at the last .court, and the
court before the man who was charged with the same offense, who was a democrat,
went clear. But one witness swore against them, and his evidence convicted one and
cleared the other at two different terms of the court.

By the Chairman :

Question. Do you think there is any considerable number of men in your county who
are determined to prevent, by violence, intimidation, &c., the republicans from exer-

cising their political rights ?

Answer. There is a party there that wants to rule ; that is, they want the majority
to be for the democratic party, and that is what they are striving for ; I am satisfied

of that fact.

Question. How many men are supposed to belong to this Ku-Klux organization
there ?

Answer. Well, I could not tell you. It is not every democrat iu that county that
belongs to it ; there are democrats there as much opposed to it as auy republican, but
then they arc in the minority.
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Question. Do these democrats -who are opposed to it speak openly and above-board
against it ?

Ansiccr. Sometimes they do.

Question. Do the Kii-Klux take any notice of what they say ?

Answer. AYell, I have never known a democrat ever abused by the Ku-Khix party in
that county.

Question. Have you heard people who claim to be men of standing and character and
influence in the county approve this Ku-Klux organization ?

Jnsivcr. There is a gentleman by the name of Monroe there, who has about as mucli
influence as any man in that county; he seems to speak in favor of it ; lie thinks they
whip nobody but those they ought to whip. He said on the night that old man Martin
was whipped, the night that this very negro was killed—he said the Ku-Klux said the
night they whipped ilr. Martin, that they would have him killed if he staid on the top
side of the ground, ilonroe is a mighty clever man, a man I think a heap of, for he
has been a good friend to the people of Haralson County.

Question. Who is he ?

Ansicer. Duncan Monroe.
Question. Do you understand him as saying that it was right for those men to go

about whipping whoever they would ?

Answet: He said this : He said he did not think they had whipped anybody unless
those that ought to be whipped.

Question. Is he a leading democrat in that county?
Ansu-er. Yes, sir ; he is a democrat and was nominated for representative, and was

afterwards defeated on the democratic ticket ; ho is a very popular man.

By Mr. Bay^vrd:

Question. He was defeated ?

A uswer. He was first nominated, but afterwards they held another meeting and nomi-
nated Captain Heard.

Question. He was defeated in his own party ?

Answa: Yes, sir.

Question. Ho was the man who expressed himself
Ansicer. He said they had not whipped anj' but those they ought to whip.
Question. Did he make that statement to you ?

Ansu-er. Yes, su- ; he made it to me. He is as good a friend as I have in Haralson
County.

Question. You were sheriff there ?

Ansu-er. I have acted as sherifi.

Question. Were you elected ?

A7isu-e): I was appointed sheriff; I was elected bailiff.

Question. By whom were you appointed 1

Answer. By the ordinary.
Question. SVith what political party have been your affiliations ?

Answer. Until 1860 I voted the democratic ticket, and I claim to be a true democrat
now. But I now generally vote with the republican party.

Question. You act with them in the elections ?

Ansv:er. So far as their candidates suit me I vote for them ; where they do not, I drop
them off.

Question. Have you been before the grand jury in this city ?

Ansu-er. Yes, sir.

Question. And given there the same testimony you have given here ?

Ansicer. They never asked me as many questions there as you have here.
Question. You went there as a witness upon an indictment ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. And they asked you in regard to that particular case"?

Answer. They asked me if I knew anything about who were Ku-Klux in Haralson
County. I told them I knew of no man who was a Ku-Klux, but I had heard one man
say he was a Ku-Klux and belonged to the organization ; that was all I knew about
them.

Question. Of your own personal knowledge, you do not know a single man who is a
member of the Ku-Klux organization ?

Answer. Xo, sir ; only that one I have just spoken of; he said he was aKu-Klus, and
belonged to the order.

Question. Was there a gentleman before the grand jury to examine you. Judge Cald-
v*'ell, or Mv. Pope, the district attorney ?

Answer. Mr. Pope, I think, was the one who asked me the most questions.
Question. In the j)resence of the grand jury?
Answer. Yes, sir ; I think so.
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Question. And you gave your knowledge upon the subject ?

Ansxcer. Yes, sir ; about the Ku-Klux.

By the Chairman :

Question. You say you never knew personally of any man belonging to the Ku-Klux?
Answer. Only ouc, and I have oulj' his say-so for it.

Queslio7i. Wiio was he?
Answer. J. D. S. Foote. He said he was a Ku-Klus, and belonged to the order; I do

not know whether it was so or not.

Question. Where does he live ?

Ansreer. In Buchanan, where I do.

Question. How old a man is he ?

Ansivcr. He is forty years old, I reckon, pVobably upwards.
Question, AYhat sort of a character does he bear f

Ansicer. Very bad; hardly any one believes what he says.

Question. What side of politics docs he go on ?

Answer. He is a democrat ; but his own party do not believe him when he tells any-
thing, unless they know it is so.

Question. Did he give you any facts or circumstances by which you could judge
whether he was telling the truth or not ?

Ansiver. None at all.

Question. Did he tell you of any time when he was out with the Ku-Klus?
Ansicer. I never heard that man charged with being out. There was a notice left at

Buchanan that they were going to visit me; it was left at Mr. Williams's house. It
was a notice that they would visit my house at a certain time, and it was signed
•' K. K. K." But if they ever came I never saw them.

Question. You have never been molested personally by them ?

Ansiver. I never have.

By Mr. Voorhees :

Question. Mr. Maynard has asked you about men who considered tlicmselves respecta^
ble men, good citizens, &c. Did you ever see a man who admitted that he did not
consider himself a good man ?

Answer. I do not know that I ever did. I think generally the son-iest of them claim
to be as good as any.

Question. The meaner they get the more airs they put on ?

Answer. I think so. Captain Heard told me had seen men in disguise; I never
have. He said he visited a friend's house one night, and a squad of twelve or fifteen

came to the house that night ; but he did not know any of the i^arty at all.

Question. Who is this fellow you say nobody believes ?

Ansivcr. J. D. S. Foote.
Question. To hear him talk he is as good as anybody?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

By the Chairman :

Question. Do you not find some people who claim to be as good as anybody, and some
others who claim to be a great deal better than a great many others; is not that about
the difference ?

Answer. The general language used by a man is, " I am as good as anybody ; " that
is what I hear men say.

Question. Are you not satisfied by some men's bearing and conduct that they consider
themselves better than others ?

Ansiver. What I consider a good man is a man looked upon as a man of truth and
veracity, whose word would be depended upon and not be disputed, that what they
promise can be relied upon. Now, Mr. Monroe is that kind of a mau ; what he would
tell me I would believe, for I never knew anything to the contrary. He is a truthful
man, and stands as fair as any man in Haralson County.

Question. He made those remarks about the Ku-Klux ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. He is a member of the Missionary Baptist Church.

By 'Mv. Lansing :

Question. He justified these whippings ?

Answer, He said he did not think anybody was whipped only those who ought to be
whipped.

Question. Did he give any reason why they ought to be whipped ?

Answer. He did not' to me.
Question. Is he a fair specimen of members of the different churches?
Answer. I believe he is of the members of the church there. They generally speak

their sentiments as they jjlease, without being molested at all by any other members.
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By Mr. Bayakd :

Quest'wn. Either way, and on any side ?

Ansifcr. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Voorhees :

Question. The gospel is free to all ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. Wliat kind of a Baptist is that man—Hard-shell ?

A>iswer. Missionary Baptist.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. You say that peojile there can speak their political sentiments as thvy
please ?

Answer. I say their religious sentiments.

By Mr. Lansing :

Question. You do not mean their political sentiments ?

Answer. No, sir. They do not speak their political sentiments as they please, with-
out being molested ; I do not consider that they do ; they arc very careful how they
talk sometimes, at any rate.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Who is the judge of the criminal court of your county ?

Answer. E. D. Harvey, of Eome. I carried a letter to him just before he held court
there, stating that he was threatened if he came there and undertook to enforce the
laws against the Ku-Klux in Haralson County, that he would be shot upon his seat.
I have learned since that there could be evidence to that effect ; that two men were
heard to say that if he undertook to enforce the law against the Ku-Klux there they
would shoot him on his seat.

Question. Who wrote that letter ?

Answer. The ordinary of the county.
Question, What is his name ?

Answer. A-. D. Woods.
Question. Did you take that letter to Judge Harvey ?

AnsU'Cr. I carried it there, but I could not find him at Eome.
Question. Did he go down there to hold court ?

Answer. He went there, and I informed him, and he said, " I reckon there is more
smoke than fire about it."

Question. Was he interfered with ?

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. Did he try any Ku-Klux?
AnsiDcr. There was not one tried.

Question. That was what they threatened him about ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. You say there has been no bill presented to the grand jiuy on this subject?
Answa: None at all.

Question, There was no complaint alleged that they could act upon ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question, What is the name of the solicitor ?

Ansiver, C. D. Forsyth is the regular solicitor, but he was not there at this term of
the court on account of the condition of his family.

Question. Is Mr. Forsyth a prominent member of the republican party ?

Ansn-er. Yes, su\

Question. Do you know the fact that he went to Washington and testified before the
committee there ?

Anstcer. I do not know it.

Question. He is the prosecuting officer for that county ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. I was not there at this term of the court.

Question. Who appointed Judge Harvey?
Answer. I think he was apj)ointed by the senate and the governor.
Question. He was nominated by Governor Bullock, and confirmed by the senate?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. You say no biU has been sent before the grand jury at all in that county ?

AnsiDcr. No, sir.
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By j\Ir. Lansing :

Question. What do you thiuk is tlio reason why no complaint has been made before
the grand jury for these outrages ?

Ansicer. I think they are afraid to do it. The parties say that they were informed
when they were whipped that if they told about them they would be killed; that is

the statement they make to me.

By the CHAmMAN:
Question. Is it a part of the duty of your grand jury to make presentments of such

cases as they have personal knowledge of, whether anybody goes before them to
l>rosecuto or not ?

Ansu-cr. Yes, sir, that is the charge given to the grand jury.
Question. They are the grand inquest of the county ?

Ansico; That is the way the judge charges them.

Atlanta, Georgl\, Ociohcr 25, 1871.

COLUMBUS JETER (colored) sworn and examined.

By the CrLViRMAN

:

Question. How old are you, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

Answer. I am in my forty-first year ; I was born in Greene County, Georgia, and I

am now living in this city, but I have been living in Douglas County.
Question. How long did you live in Douglas County ?

Ansiver. I went there last February was a year ago.

Question. When did you leave there ?

Ansirer. I was shot on the fourth night in April, and I staid there the next dav, and
the day after that I left ; I think I left on the 6th.

Question. By whom were you shot ?

Ansiver. By Paul McWhorter.
Question. Tell us all about it.

Ansicer. I and my wife generally taught night-school at home until 9 o'clock at night.

The neighbors would come into the school and I would give them lessons as far as I

knew how. I did not charge them for it. On the night of the 4th of April, after school

was over, I and my wife went to bed. She had laid down before me, and I had just laid

my head on the pillow, when I heard a terrible howling around there. I thought it was
dogs. They kept howling to such an extent that I said, "Wife, what does that mean?"
She said, " I do not know, husband." I said, " It is the most curious howling of dogs I

over heard." I said to Mr Key, a man I had hired there, ''Go to the door and see what
is the matter." He went to the door and said, "Mr. Jeter, I do not see anybody." My
gun was lying there on the bed, and I said, " Take the gun and put it up on the rack."

Just then my dog broke out, and I heard them say " Shoot him ; kill him." I knew then

it was the Ku-Klux, aud I broke right to the chimney in my drawers and shirt, and went
right up the chimney. They hollered " Open the door." They broke the door open and
in they came. My child in the bed, twelve years old, was jerked out of lied, and she

knew "the young man aud called his name. He said, " Hush, Emily, I will not hurt you."

They wanted to make them tell where I was, but they said I was not at home. I was
up in the chimney. My wife hollered so that I was excited, and I looked out of the chim-
ney. The moon was shining very bright, aud they were all around the house. One hol-

lered, " God damn him, here he is in the chimney. Fire up the chimney." I hollered

to them not to fire, and I would come down. I thought that would be better than to

allow them to kill my wife and children. The first man who took hold of me that I swear
to was Mr. McWhorter. He had a i^iece of cloth on his face. They jerked me down on
the floor. At that time Dr. McClarty, as I took him to be, struck me with a stick. They
jerked me out of doors. Mr. McWhorter still held me hy the hair of my head. While
they were himting for my gun and the aunnunition I patted him on the leg as I was
lyiug on the gronud, and said, " Master, don't let them kill me." I kept getting up
by degrees until I had my hands on his shoulders. At that time they hollered

for another man, who said he w^ould kill me, or run me off; Herbert Morris was
the man, and he came up and said, " Look, Look." They tied an apron over my
face, so that I coukl see nothing. Mr. McWhorter was still holding mc. In the
bright moon-light I could see through the apron, for it was made of some thin
stutf; I could see through the cloth. I kept falling down as they carried me along, in
order that they might get further from n;e, so that I could get a chance to nm. They
carried me to a tree. Mr. Morris wanted to sell me a hoi-se and charge me 20 per cent,

on the money. Mr. Farmer sold me one and charged me no percentage, and they were
i^ad at mc for that. Morris said, " Can I get Farmer ? " I said, " He is at home." One
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of them said, " Now, Columbus, do you think a colored man is asjjood as a Avliite man ?
'"

I don't know what I said. He said, "This is for sayinj; that a uigfjjer is as rjood as a
white man, and for drawing a stick on a whit(> man." Mr. Morris rricd to kill me once,
and I drew a stick on him and said, that if he came up tome I would liit him. They car-
ried me to a tree and made me hold my head down to the tree. 1 raised uj) my head
and as I raised it, he said, " God damn you, if you raise ajjain I will burst your licad
open." I said, "Lord save mc," and jumped and" run, and as I ij;ot eijjht or ten steps off
they fired a gun and t he load struck nu^ I have forty-four shot in my h-ft shoidder now.
They fired twice more, and they liollered, ''Knn around, and we will jrct him." The.
moon was shininp; very brioht. I could see tlironnih the a])rnn for abont twenty yards
behind me. 1 hollered and coui;lied so as to make them think norhiiit; was tlie nlatter
with me. They then considered and stopped, and I run on al>out twenty yards fiirtiier

and fell. I could sec them on the hill, and hear the dogs barli, when those men got
home. My wife run out and followed them to see which way they carried me. When
the gun fired she made there and went to Mr. Winn's house, and when he came along
and went into the hcTiise she saw him.

Question. Was he with the crowd that took yon out?
Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. Was he disguised ?

Answer. Yes, sir; he had a piece of cloth over his face. I have the apron here that
was tied over my face, and I have my shirt here to show where they shot me.

Question. How many men were there in that crowd?
Answer. I cannot tell. I counted twelve.
Question. You suppose there were more ?

Ansuxr. I am not able to tell. Wheu they stopped in the road they seemed to keep
gathering there.

Question. W^ere they riding or walking?
Avsirer. They were walking, so far as I knew. I saw none riding.
Question. Did you have your school that same night ?

Anstver. Yes, sir. Some young man saw the men passing clo.se to ilr. Hewey's, but
did not know who they were. Mr. Morris drove me off, and told me he intended to
kill me before Christmas.

^
Question. What is the difficulty between you and him ?

Answer. lam a Ba])tist. I went from here to his father's plantation with him. After
we moved to the place I joined the church there, and said to him, " Mr. ilorris, I want
to go to the church once a mouth." He said, "That is all right, Columbus; may be
wheu you go you may bring something to ride." I came to my church on a Saturday.
He got down sick and I nursed him as I would a child. I could not love a white man
better than him—like my own brother. He cauie out Monday morning and said,

"Where were you yesterday?" I said, " I went to church." He said, " By God that
don't suit me." I said "Mr. Morris didn't you agree to it ?" He said, " I did agree to

it, but I break it." I said, "Your father aud brother agreed to it." He said, "No
difference about that ; we are all different men, and I break the agreement." He said,

"Your wife, the damned bitch, is teaching a colored school." I said, "I work for her
and maintain her; why should .she not teach school ? The laws of the country permit
her to do it." He said, " The damned nigger.'^ I said, " Don't curse any ; we have
fallen out ; let us decide it." He drew his knife, aud I said, " If you cut me with that
knife I will hit yon with this stick." At that time I looked back, and I saw a man
coming, the baililf of the county, and I laid the stick down. He came up and stepped
between me and Mr. Morris. He said, "Columbus." I said, " Sir." He said, "Leave
here." I said, " It don't concern you.!' He said, " I will take Mr. Morris's jiart." I

said, " He drew a knife on me." He said, " No nigger shall draw a stick on a white
man." I left, and went on about a mile. Morris followed me, and when I saw him
coming I jumped over the fence. He came up aud said, " What are you going to do ?"

I said, " I had best leave." He raised up in his stirrup and said, " God Almighty knows
that I intend to kill you before Christmas if you were the last nigger in the world."
I said, " I will pray for you." He said, " God damn you, I don't want you to pray for

me." He then said, "Are you coming back?" I said, "No." He said, "By God you
owe me some coru." I said, "I took care of your stock for seventy days, and will you
allow me anything for that ?." He said, " What is right." I said, "I put in ten acres
of wheat and seven acres of oats ; what do you allow me for it?" He said, " Nothing."
I said, " All right." He said, "You owe Billy something." I said, " Yes." Then I said,
" Now let us make friends." He said he would not. He went on to the house, and I

asked him to come in, but he said, " No." He said, " This is all right." I said, " Exccjit

the wheat." I went to Mr. Hewey to work. He said, " Morris, what is it you have
against Columbus ?" He says, " Nothing, except that he is a preacher, and goes to

meeting Sunday."
Question. They attacked you while you were at Hewey's?
Answer. Yes, sir. I had worked there for a week, perhaps. When they came into

my house they said, " We have got the preacher now."

30 G
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Questiou. Who said that?

Answer Mr. McAVlioitcr and Mr. McClarty said it between them.
QiUNtio)). Did yim make any attempt to hrino- rhese parties to justice for tliis?

Answer. Yes, sir. I got my horse that nigiit, the one I had bought i'rom I3i-other

Farmer. Wht-u I got to my house my daughter and little boy were iu the loft, and my
wife was gone. I went to the house of Mr. Hewey, and told her. Dr. McClarty's
wife was there; she is a sister to Mrs. Hewey. I knocked at the door, and both of
them jum])ed and said, " Lord, don't come here !

" " I said, " Mistress, don't get scai'ed.

I am hurt, but nobody will hurt you." She said, "Columbus, don't come here." I

said, " What shall I do ; the blood is running off my back, and my wife and children

are gone?" She said, " Go right througli the woods to Mr. Norton's, and tell him
that T say go for the doctor." I went there and hailed three times without his

answering. The fourth time that I hollered he came to the door and said, "Who
is that?" I said, "It is Co]und)us; I am shot, and Mrs. Hewey says that you
must go for the doctor." I went for my doctor, but gave out before I got to the doctor.

xV colored man took me and laid me over on my belly, and then he went after the doc-

tor, who came the next morning at nine o'clock. When he came he looked at my
shoulder and picked out four of the shot. One man staid with me all night that
night, and the next morning I Avent up to the justice of the peace. When I got there
he asked me what was the matter, and I told him. He said, "Colun\bus, why don't

you take them up with a warrant?" I said, "You miist give me protection while the
court is going on." He said, " I cainiot." I said, " Can't you give me protection to get
out of the country and help my wife and children out?" He said, "I can't." I said,

"If you cau't, it is no nse for me to take them up, for it will do no good to do it, be-

cause, after the trial is over they will kill me." He said, "I can't do you any good; I

will serve a warrant." I said, " Mr. Maxwell, I ask you to tell me the truth between you
and me and God." He said, "What is it?" I said, "Can 'you give me justice here?"
He said, "I cau't, for if I do my house will be burnt up before four-and-twenty hours."

I said, "What shall I do?" He said, "Go down and report to Judge Er.skine." A
young man who had followed me up to see wliat I was going to do, said, "Columbus,
I want that money you owe me'." I said, "I will pay it." I then said, "Mr. Maxwell,

§write out a certiticate, and let him go and get the corn for it." It was written out,

still he would not leave. At last Mr. Maxwell said, "Why don't you take out a war-
rant? I cannot do anything without a warrant." I said to him, "You say that you
cannot protect me?" "lie said, "You can have them arrested and brought to trial." I

then stepped to the well to get some water to pour on my shoulder, there was so much
fever in it. This young man went up to Maxwell and said, " What is Columbus going
to do? Is he going to take out a warrant .^" Mr. Maxwell said, "He don't talk as

though he is." The young man said, "He had better not doit." That is what Mr.
Maxwell said to me, but he denies it befoie the court. Mr. Maxwell came to the well
and said to me, "Just leave your child with some of your colored friends, and go right

through the Avoods to Atlanta, from here." I said, " Mr. Maxwell, I will give you a
dollar a mile to go with me." lie said, " I would not go with you for a hundred dollars

a mile." I said, " I will give you lifteen dollars to carry me ten miles—to carry me out
of the country." He said he would not do it. I left my child there with a woman, and
I walked up to Atlanta. They took my dog out the night they came for me, and 1 sup-
posed they had killed him. Just as I started to come to Atlanta the dog came up to

me, and come with me to Atlanta. I got here the next morning about sunrise and re-

ported here. That is about all I know aljout it.

Qiiestio)!. Did you go to see the sheritf of the county ?

Answer. I did not know the sheriff at that tiiue. I have seen him here since.

Qaesiion. Did you ask the sheriff to arrest the parties?
Aiistver. I sent to Mr. Maxwell. I cannot read writing very well, but I can read

I>rint. He said in one of the papers that this was something he had nothing to do with, or

something of that kind. John M. Hewey took the papers away. He is here in town
this morning, so I am told ; he sold cotton here tins morning. I shall always believe

that Mr. Hewey knew all about it. He told me Sunday, " Columbus, I have got to go
down to DeKalb ; mother's land is going to be sold." I got his mare and curried her
off and fixed her up and said, " What must I do next week ?" He said, "Just whatever
you choose." He went off and took his children. I was shot on Tuesday night, and
he returned on Wednesday. I came here and found that there was no laud sold. I

inquired of his own brother-in-law and he knew nothing about it.

Question. You think he was dealing hypocritically with you ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. Have any of these parties been arrested and brought to trial?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir ; four of them.
Question. Wlaere ?

Answer, At Noon an.

Question, Before whom ?

Answer. "BGiovc Judge Wright. After the trial was over he said, "Ah, Jeter was
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excited ; lie thought it was the Ku-Khix -when it was only that he nra np the chimney
and hurt his shonldcr." He said, "If you will bring the men before me I will give
you justice." When tliey took the testimony there the men all said they had company
and were at home. Mr. Freeman said that his child was sick, and he went dow'u
after the doctor, and just as he was stepping over the doctor's fence he heard a gun
lired.

Quesiion. What doctor?
Answer. Doctor MeClarty. He was the one who was talking to my wife, and his

false-face fell off, and she saw his face.

Question. The witness testified that Doctor McClfrty was at home when the irun
fired?

^

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Qnestion. All the men that you charged with this assaidt on you, proved that they
were at home ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and all of them had company that night.
Question. You say these men were disguised "!

Ansiva: Yes, sir ; they had on a wide piece of cloth, or false-face; some Just tied
around the top of the head. None had on a hair face except Doctor MeClarty.

Quesiion. Had you heard of the Ku-Klux in that county before ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Quesiion. How long before ?

Answer. They said they had been that year where I lived before I got there. This
young man Morris was accused of being one.

(Quesiion .How many jieople do you suppose belong to the Ku-Klux there?
Answer. I cannot tell. They told me when I was down below that they thought

there were about forty in the first raid.

Quesiion. Have any other persons been molested by them besides yourself, to your
knowledge ?

Answer. Not that I know of. There was a colored man in my neighborhood that
they took off in the day-time and we have never heard of him ; they took him off

publicly. I spoke to Mr. Watson about it, and asked him what had become of Bob
Norton.

Question. What did they have against him ?

Answer. I think he was living Avith the man who raised him, and he and his daughter
got into contact in some way or other.

Question. Did they have any other complaint to make against yon, except what you
have stated ?

Ansiver. If there is anything I do not know it.

Question. Where do you live now ?

Ansiver. I work in the city here now ; I am working at the Kimball House.

By Mr. Voorhees :

Quesiion. How long since you left there ?

Answer. I was shot on the 4th night of April, and I got here on the 7th of April.

By the Chairman :

Question. How long was it before you got well ?

Ansiver. I am not well yet; I cannot do much with my left arm. Yon can feel the
shot through my shirt. I cannot do much work and I have not a cent. I left all my
corn in the sherifi"s hands. I never saw my child for three weeks. My wife had to

take a wagon and go for the things herself ; I could get no protection to come away.
If this gentleman here in the court-house, Mr. Chamberlain, had not given me a little

money, I don't know how I would have lived. I had to send two of my children
away.

Quesiion. What doctor has been attending to you?
Answer. Dr. Pierre|iont first attended me, but I had no money to pay him with, and

I went to another doctor. A doctor down there took out four of the shot and I paid
him in corn. He allowed me a dollar a bushel for corn, and I paid him five bushels of
corn.

Question. Do you object to showing us where you were shot ?

Answer. No, sir. (The witness then bared his left shoulder, and showed where he
had been shot.)

Question. Can you feel the shot there now ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; I cannot lie on this side at all.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Who is the sheriff of that county who you say is up here ?

Ansiver. I do not know whether he is the high sheriff or not. I cannot think of his

name just now. Mr. Maxwell is the justice of the peace.
Quesiion. I want to know who is the sheriff.

^
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Ansn-o: He wa8 the sheriff of Douglas Couuty. I caiiuot thiuk of bis name just now,
but lu; is a mighty good man and -wanted to see justice done me. Yes, I remember his

name ; his name is James Clinton.

Question. This injury was iniiicted on you on the night of the 4th of April, and you
left there almost at once and came up hero ?

A))siccr. Yes, sir. Tlie sheriff moved Brother Farmer hei'e himself ; it was said they
were going to kill him. If I had gone to him, ho would have assisted me.

Question. If you had known who this man was, do you believe he would have assisted

you to get justice, aud protected you?
Anfiwer. Well, from the way he has acted since, I believe he would. The colored

people all say he is a just man.
Question. Does he belong to the opjiosite party from the colored people ?

Answer. I think he is a republican. I do not know whether he is in a democratic
office or not.

Question. Does he A'ote with the black people ?

Answer. I think he does.

Question. They have confidence in him ?

Answer. Yes, sir. He came hero' to me, and said that he would assist me. I gave
him all my corn, aud said, "Mr. Clinton, you take it and see mo justiiied."

Question. Has he done justice to you in that ?

Answer. H<! has not written to me since.

Question. Wheu was that done ?

Answer. In April last.

Question. He has not accounted to you for that corn ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Who is Judge Wright?
Ansieer. Judge W^right is judge of the supreme court, I think.
Question. Did the grand jury lind bills against these men ?

Ansivcr. No, sir.

Question. How was the case tried ?

Answer. I do not know much about law.
Question. Was there a jury in the case ?

Answer. No, sir. A man spoke to Judge Wright alone—Colonel Farrow—and told
him he was au attorney for the State in some way.

Question. He was the solicitor ?

Ansioer. Yes, sir ; that was the man.
Question. Where does he live ?

Answer. His office is in the State-house ; I believe he is attorney general.
Question. He was present when this trial took place?
Ansiver. Yes, sir. Mr. Douglas was the lawyer on my side, but he did not say any-

thing ; he just sat there and figured.

Question. Did they examine you as a witness ?

Answer, yes, sir ; they examined me and my wife. But the young man that we
hired, thej^ would not let him come. Young Winn told him that if he would stay away
he would pay him fifty cents a day, and the bojs who did it would i^ay him fifty

dollars.

Question. He was paid to stay away ?

Answer. They said they would pay him ; I do not know whether he got the money.
Question. They promised him the money ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I do not blame him, for they were scared. This young mau told
me that he got on the road expecting the Yankees would come, as we call them, and
he would see them, but that he did not see them. As soon as he got the money from
the young men he came here.

Question. Ho took a bribe ?

Answer. He was living with the young men.
Question. He was paid his wages ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I thought .Judge Wright would subcepna that young man, but he
did not, for he said it was the Government's business to do it.

Question. Colonel Farrow knew vour witness ; he was present at the trial and saw
the whole of it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know how Colonel Farrow obtained his office ?

Answer. I do not. I know I was sent down with him by the governor. Governor
Bullock said that Colonel Farrow would go as my protector.

(Jiiestion. You say that Governor Bullock stated your wrongs to him ?

Ansn-er. Yes, sir. He received a letter from Judge Wright the day before, and the
next day I was to go ; but I did not get here quite in time, aud ou Monday morning
Colonel Farrow and I went down there.

Question. You had interviews with Governor Bullock, aud he put you in charge of
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Mr. Farro-^, the attorney general of the State, and se^t him down with yon to see that
justice was done to you ?

Auswer. Yes, sir.
*

Question. Colonel Farrow knows whether justice was done or not ; he is hero?
Ansiar. Yes, sir ; he is here.
Question. AVere you before the grand jury here at all ?

Ansu-er. No, sir. Several officers told nio to attend court, and I came here, but thej'

never called me before anj' grand jury at all.

Que>>tion. That was the only trial of your case—the one befoi'e .Tndge Wright ?

Answer. Yes, su\ I went to Judge Pope and told him all the circumstances of the
case, and asked him if it could not be prosecuted. He said he could not do it. I then
went over to a lawyer right across here, and he examined the law, and said they could
examine it three times; but Judge Pope saj'S they could not do it. I then just let it

all go.

By the Chairman :

Question. Do you know^ those men they brought in to swear that they had company
that night ?

Auswer. Do I know them all ?

Question. Yes.

Answer. Yes, sir. All were neighbors.
Question. Were they republicans or democrats ?

Ansiver. They were generally democrats, all but Doctor McClarty ; he is said to he a
republican ; but I think all the others are democrats.

By Mr. Voorhees :

Question. The doctor was the man who swore, and proved that the rest were at
home ?

Answer. Another man testified that the doctor was at home. Mr. Freeman said that
he went for the doctor, and just as he stepi^ed over the doctor's fence he heard the gun
fired.

Question. You knew that was not true ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; and God knows it was not true. He has come to me since this case
was over here and talked with me. He said, " Columbus, I was troubled about this

case, and could not help coming to see you." I said, "For what ?" He said, " Because
you said I was there, and I was not there." I said, " I knew j'ou were there, and my
wife knew you."

Question. Why did he go with that crowd ?

Answer. For the reason that all the others did. One of them asked me if a colored
man was as good as a white man. I said, " Do you want the truth ?" He said, "Yes."
I said, "Go to the Scripture; there is no difference. I do not believe there is any dif-

ference between white and colored, if they are honest." And then I was teaching the
colored people there. Just before they carried me out, they said, "God damn you, do
you think a negro is as good as a white man ?" I do not know what I said then.

By the Chaibman :

Question. You say the wife of Doctor McClarty is a sister to Mrs. Hewey ?

Answa: Yes, sir.

Question. They would not allow you to go into the house ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I said to them, " I have got your apron." She said, " Lord ! he
has got the apron."

Question. Have you that apron here ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; here it is. I can show you how they put it to me. [The witness
then put the apron on over his face and tied it.]

Question. Have you any idea whose apron that was ?

Ansu'er. I had an idea, but it may not be true.

Question. Whose do you think it was ?

Answer. I thought it was Herbert Morris's mother's apron.
Question. Have you the shirt which you had on when shot ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; here it is. [The witness showed the shirt with shot-holes in the

left shoulder.]

Atlanta, Georgia, Odoier 25, 1871.

AUEY JETEE (colored) sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. What is your age, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

Answer. I am about thirty-five years old ; I was born in Lincoln County, Georgia

;
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auci have been living in Atlanta since the emancipation, except for a time, when I was
in the country on a farm.

Question. Were yon horn a slave ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are you the wife of Columbus Jeter?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you present at the time last April that he was shot ?

AiiKwa: I was not present when he was shot. They carried him into the woods, and
would not suffer me to go. I was at home when they came into the house.

Question. Go on and tell us all that was done by them.
Answer. You want to know the circumstances generally?
Question. Yes.

Answer. It was between 11 and 12 o'clock on the 4th night of April. We were about
to go to bed ; Mr. Jeter had laid down ; we heard an awful noise in the road, and the
dog began to bark, and there was a pistol fired. Then a man jumped at the door, and
cried out, " Open the door, God damn you ; I will kill you if you don't open the door.''

He kept repeating it, but we were frightened half to death, and did not open the door.

They took an ax and burst the door open, and came in. My husband went up the
chimney. I was standing in the middle of the floor. We had a man living there that

we had hired, and they asked, " Where is that God-damn preachiir ?" The young man
said he did not know where he was. They beat uie over the head, and took me by the
hair of the head, and kept asking where he was. I said I did not know where he was.
Directly Doctor McClarty came and caught hold of my shoulder, and told them to fire

the house. I screamed .and begged them not to kill me. Directly one caught me on
each shoulder, and another ftut his pistol at my breast, and they cried out, " God damn
her, shoot her." I said, " Don't shoot ; I will tell you where he is. He is up the chim-
ney." They went there, and fired up the chimney. They kept on i>ulling me around
and around, and Doctor ]McClarty came and caught me by the shoulder. He had a hick-

ory Avithe about as long as my arm. As he drew back to hit me, I said, " O, doctor,"

for I thought he would kill me, as I was only in my night-clothes. When I said, " O,
doctor," he let me go and went out of the house. They gathered hold of Columbus,
who had come down the chimney, as if they were going to kill him. They dragged
him out by the hair of the head. ' They carried me out, and started to whip me. They
exposed me.

Question. How ?

Ansiver. They turned my clothes up to my waist. One of them went up and said

that I had told the truth and shonhl l)e let alone ; he said it was ridiculous to treat me
in that way. My little girl was in the bed ; they jerked her out by the nape of the neck.

The man who took me from these men came up, and that was the way I first found out

he was along. His name was Billy McWhorter, and he said to my little girl, " Emily,
you shall not be liurt." It seemed that he knew her name. They would hit me a lick

sometimes, but did not seem to want to bruise me up. But they pulled on my hair till

the top of my head was sore for over two mouths. They blindfolded Mr. Jeter with
an apron, and I ran out and begged them to let my husband alone. One of them
turned and shoved me back into the house. I went into the house, and when they left

the door I went out again. They pushed me in again, and stood at the door one of

them with a pistol. Isaw where they were carrying my husband.
Question. When did you see your husband again f

Answer. Next morning about half past eight o'clock.

Question. Where ?

Answer. About two miles from where he was hurt. He was bleeding when I got to

him, with the same shirt on, all bloody and smutty, where he had been up the chim-

ney.
Question. Had you or he been teaching school?

Answer. I was teaching a day-school, and he had a night-school for those who could

not come in the day-time, for the old settled men in the country.

Question. How much education have you and he?
Ansteer. I have studied geography, arithmetic, and grammar, and reading and spell-

ing.

Question. Where did you obtain your education

?

Answer. In slave times we had a colored man who knew how to spell a little, and
unbeknown to the others I learned my letters, I went to school in Knoxville, Tennes-

see, and awhile in Memphis, Tennessee ; and two months here since I was free.

Question. To whom did you go to school in Knoxville?
Answer. To a man who taiight in the Presbyterian school up above Cumberland

street. There were eight northern teachers there ; it was iu 1865, after the fall of

Richmond, when President Lincoln was killed.

Question. Was it Mr. Cresswell ?

Ansiee}'. Yes, sir ; that was the name.
Question. How long were you in Knoxville ?
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Ayisicer. About four months.
Question. How uincb education bad your busband ?

Ansive): He can just read and can "spell pretty well. I taugbt him what little he
knows.

Question. Can you write ?

Auswcr. I can write some, not much ; the hardest thing I have tried to learn has been
writing. I can make the letters very well, but I cannot write a letter very well, for it

takes me so long.

Question. Do you know to whom the apron belonged that was tied over your bus-
band's lace ?

dusuo: Yes, sir ; I knew it.

Quesiion. Whose was it ?

Ansucr. It was Mr. IMorris's mother's apron. She lives right in sight of where I lived,
and I cooked for her son live months last year, and she came and helped me cook for
him several times, with that very apron on.

Question. What is his name?
Ansu-er. Herbert.
Question. Had you any children except this little girl ?

Answer. We had a step son and daugLler of bis. I have no children of my own.
Question. How many of these i)eoplo did yon know?
•Answer. I knew four of them.
Quesiion. Who were they ?

Answer. Mr. Winn, Mr. McWhorter, Mr. Morris, and Doctor McClarty.
Question. Which Morris was that?
Ansu-er. Herbert IMorris.

Question. Do you knov*- any reason why they should treat you and your husband in
that way ?

"
•

Ansu-er. The greatest objection I knew that he had to us was because we would at-
tend church. We would attend church once a month, twelve miles from where wo
lived.

Question. Did he make any complaint about your teaching school?
Answer. Yes, sir, a great deal of complaint, and called me names about teaching ; but

I did not pay attention to that.

Question. You taught only those of your own color?
Anstver. That is all—not exactly my color, but those a gTeat deal darker than I am

;

those of my race, thdugh.
Question. When you speak of your color you mean the negro race ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was your mother a colored woman ?

Answer. She was half white, and my father and my grandfather were white men ; I
am thi-ee-quarters white.

Question. You are what is called a quadroon ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir; I am no't so light-colored as I have been. I worked, out last year
a great deal, and I am somewhat sunburnt.

Atlanta, Geoegl\, October 25, 1871.

JAMES NANCE sworn and examined.

By the Chau^man :

Question. How old are you, where were you born, where do you now live, and what
is your occupation ?

Ansu-er. I am forty-three years old ; I was born in South Carolina, and I now live in
Whitheld County, Georgia ; I am a farmer.

Question. How far do you live from Dalton, Georgia ?

Ansicer. I live eleven miles below Dalton.
Quesiion. Have you ever seen any of those people that are commonly called Ku-Klux ?

Ansicer. I have seen men in disguise. I do not know whether they were Ku-Klux or
what they were.

Quesiion. Where did you see them?
Answer. I saw them in my own house and yard.
Question. When ?

Ansicer. It was on the night of the 30th of September of this year.
Question. How many were there ?

Ansicer. Well, there were eight in the house and yard, and one ai the gate ; I do
not know that the one at the gate was disguised ; I did not see him ; I only heard him
call to the others.
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Question. How wero tliey (lisguised ?

Ansiccr. They bad some kiud of cap over tlieir heads, aud a veil that came down
part of the way, and a dress or a gowu that came dowu to the feet of most of them.

QucsVwiu Were they riding or walking ?

Answer. They came there on horseback.
Question. Were their horses disguised ?

Ansicr. Yes, sir.

Question.' IIow were they disguised ?

Ansicer. Some of them were covered with some kind of white cloth ; they were not
all disguised ; the men had a cross on the waistbands of their pauts ; it looked black,
and like it was made of morocco leather.

Question. Were they armed ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they all liad pistols in their hands, with their thumbs uj)on the
hammer, and fingers upon the trigger, with the muzzle ijoiutiug rather downward

;

that was the position they stood in after they got reconciled.
Question. When did they come to your house ?

Answer. I reckon it was between eleven and twelve o'clock.

Quexlion. Tell us what they said and did.

Answer. They did not say a great deal ; after they saw I would not come out of the
house, one man said that he wished to see mo and talk with me ; I told him I would
talk with him in the house ; he said that my former acts had been bad ; that I ha,d

caused trouble there, aud that I would have to promise them that I would attend to
my own business, and not cause any more trouble ; that I would not meddle with the
business of anybody else.

Question. Did they say anything about your leaving ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Of wliat conduct of yours did they particularly complain ; or was it of
your general conduct ?

Answer. I suppose they had reference to the body of the negro that was found in the
river there ; there was a body of a negro found there in the sediment of the river ; I

had seen the negro chained in one of these men's out-houses, that he used in the
woods where he was getting out timber for the railroad; he had tlie negro chained by
the ankle ; I saw him there on the 20th day of August of this year, with the chain
locked around his ankle, aud around the log nest to the sill of the house. I was taken
before the coroner's jury, and was qualified, as I was here a few moments ago, and
they asked me questions, and I told them what I had seen ; and I told of other men
who had seen the same thing ; they found the man guilty of murdering the negro.

Question. That is, the coroner's jurv found that the negro had been murdered by that
man ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. You saw this negro chained in his out-house ?

Ansiver, I saw him chaiuecl in au out-house that Posey Sebastian used for the hands
to stay in that he employed to cut timber for the railroad ; the house was in the woods.
I can give you, if you desire them, some of the statements that the negro made to me.

Question. Go on and give them.
Answer. I asked the negro how long he had been there. I was a little excited about

the thing ;"I did not like it at all. He told me that that made three Sundays that he
had been there ; that they had kept him chained there in the house. He said they
kept him chained there at night, and in the day-timo he was carried into the Avoods
and made to work at a task ; that, when he did not do his task, they would whip him.
I asked him to show me the marks where he had been whipped, and he pulled ofi' his

coat. He did not have on any sliirt of any account, only some little strings. He was
all cut and smashed with hickories ; his back was all bruised and so were his arms. I

went on to a neighbor's house, and asked some of them to go with me with the inten-

tion of lib(;rating the negro ; but the men told mo that they would uot go into it, for they
were afraid of the Sebastians; that it ought to be done, but they were airaid they
would get into trouble if they did it. That was on Sunday eveuiug. On the Tuesdajr
following, one of those men sent after this Sebastian, and told him what had been seen,

and who had seen it, and, I suppose, he told him the proposition I had madt; ; that is

what he told me. Sebastian went back and took up the negro, and asked him who had
been there on Sunday. The negro did not know me or my son either, but lu; told the

name of 'another man who had been there ; he said three men had been there, and told

him that he should be liberated. That made Sebastian raving at me; and the testi-

mony that I gave before the coroner's jury made him more so.

Question. How long after you saw that man chained there was his body found in the

river ?

Answer. I saw him chained there on Sunday, the 20th day of August, and on the

Snnday following he was found in the river with a railroad clamp around his neck; at

least BO it was said ; I did not go to see him.
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Qucslion. Do you kuow ^vhether the body appeared as if it liad been in the water
any length of time ?

Answer. I had some friouds on the j.nry, and they tohl mo somethings I suppose they
Avouhl not have tohl other men. It was proved before the jury, so some of the jury tolil

me, that he was put in there on Tuesday, late in the evening, after the Sunday 1 saw
him ; he had been in tlu're some four or live days.

(Question. It would a])pear, tlu'u, that they had thrown him into the river pretty soon
after they got this information of your having seen him ehained there ?

Ansiccr. They got the information on Tuesday, and Tuesihiy night, or at least Wed-
nesday morning, the negro was missing. I had a little place'above tliere, and I liadto
pass by there to go to my place. I would go around with my wagon, but would h't
my little boys go through there to see if the yegro was there; aud on Wednesday
morning he was gone;.

ii>Hcsiioii. When they came to your house, did they say anything, to you about your
having been a witness in that case ?

Answer. No, sir ; but I thought that was what they had reference to ; that was the
only charge they ever had against me that I know of. I had been livingthere eighteen
or nineteen years, and never had any diliieulty with any man before that time.

Question. What was it they said about your conduct?
Anstccr. They said my conduct had been very bad; that I had caused trouble, and

must promise that I would just attend to my own business, aud not interfere hereafter
with other iieople's business.

Qiiesdou. Without telling you what you had done that they objected to?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you know any of them ?

Answer. I knew two of them very well.

Question. Who were they ?

Answer. This same Sebastian and his brother.
Question. Have any persons been arrested for killiT;g that negro ?

Answer. No, sir; but this man Posey Sebastian has not made himself public in the
settlement all the time ; he would come in once a week or so, and stay a day and night,

'

and that was all that the iieople would see of him.
Question. He was one of the men supposed to have killed the negro ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did the coroner order his arrest?
Answer. I think he did : at least the bailiff told me that if I would let him know

any time that Sebastian was in the settlement he would arrest him.
Question. He has not been arrested ?

Answer. He has not been arrested, or had not been when I left there.
Question. Did those disguised people visit anybody else ?

Ansiver. Yea, sir; they went from my house to Eesaca, a little town on the railroad.
Question. What did they do there ?

Answer. They went in and bought whisky, and reared around over the town there,
and shot oft" their pistols several times. Four of them went to the house of a Mr. Han-
cock ; he said he kuew one of them ; he saw him through the window.

Question. Were there a number of witnesses before the grand jury against this man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question, Were any of the others visited as well as yourself?
Answer. No, sir ; I do not think any of the other witnesses before the grand jury

were visited by them.
Question. How far Avas this house where the negfro was found from Dalton ?

Answer. Eleven miles.

Question. How far was it from Resaca ?

Ansivei\ It was four miles.

Question. Is Eesaca a railroad station between Dalton and Chattanooga?
Answer. No, sir ; it is a station this side of Dalton, the tirst station above Calhoun.

Resaca is in Gordon County, and the negro was whipped iu Whitheld County ; his

body was found iu the river just below the Gordon Ime.
Question. Do you know anything about this man Sebastian having any connection

with the Ku-Klus order ?

Ansiccr. I do not know that there is any organization of that kind, though there

have been some depredations committed there by disguised men ; I do not know what
kind of organization they have.

Question. Did you hear Sebastian or his brother say anything about the Ku-Klux at

the trial before the coroner ?

Ansicer. I did not myself.
Question. Did you have any reliable information about that ?

Ansiver. 1 had information of what ho said.

Question. What was it ?
"
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Answer. I was told that be said all the Kii-Klux were not hung, and ho. did not think
any of thcni -would be hung.

Qucsiion. Did bo give it out ox* let it be understood that he was one of them ?

Ansivcr. I do not know that he said he was.
Question. He said that they were not all bung, and he did not think any of them

would be bung ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know what reason they had for treating that negro in that way?
Answer. I have beard both their tales—the negro's tale and Sebastian's tale.

Qucsiion. What was that ?

Answer. Sebastian said that the boys thought the negro tried to steal some meat.
When I understood from some of my-)ioigbbors there that Sebastian was treating the
negro in that way, I went to him, and told him that he had better stop it or it would
make trouble there. We were friendly then, and I went to him about it. He bad
several bands hired, and he said that some of the boys thought that the negro bad
been trying to steal some meat. Some of the other bands that he liad there told me
that the negro did not try to steal any meat, but that he wanted to go home, and
Sebastian wanted him to stay there and work. The negro himself told me that he
did not feel satisfied there, and wanted to go home. He said that he started to go
home, and they run him down and caught him, and took him back and whipped him
tremendously. It was proved before the coroner's jury that two respectable white
men saw him whipped ; they swore so before the jury, or at least they told me they
did.

Question. Who was the negro ?

Answ(r. His name was Matt Moore—so he said when I asked him his name that
Sunday.'

Question. Did you know him before ?

Answer. I never saw him before in my life.

Question. How old was be ?

Answer. He looked like he was about twenty-four years old. I wanted to Ivuow who
he was and where he came from. I did not think it wasrightthat he should be treated
in that way. I think he told me that Mr. Fields raised him, a man who had owned a
great manj' slaves.

Question. You made it your business to see that he had what you thought was justice
and fair play ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; I thought it was my business to do it ; I might have been wrong.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What kind of j)eople are these Sebastians, and how many of them are
there ?

Answer. Well, you may think I am mad with the Sebastians, and might not do them
justice. There is a man here, a Mr. Harris, who Avill come before you next, I suppose,
and I will let him state to you what kind of men the Sebastians are. I can tell you
how many there are ; there are William, Posey, Henry, and Columbus Sebastian, all

large, stout, young men.
Question. Do they all live together ?

Answer. No, sir ; William is married.
Question. Who had the negro in chains?
Ansicer. Posey Sebastian.
Question. Does he live by himself?
Answer. He made his home at his father's.

Question. You have said, " They whipped him." I want the innocent excluded from
the guilty.

Answer. I will explain that to you. Posey Sebastian and a negro that Sebastian had
raised, and another that be hired, all Avhipped him ;' they acknowledged that them-
selves. This negro man Matt told me that those three whipped him, and that another
man, by the name of Marion Leadbetter, also whipped him ; but the man who testified

before the coroner's jury only testified to three who whipped him.
Question. I have asked you about the character of those men for this reason : the ob-

ject of this committee is to discover what violations of law there are in Georgia that
render ijeople unsafe in person or in proi^erty. In order to do that we ought to know
who are the innocent and who are the guilty. Therefore, when a man does an act like

that, I want to know whether there is anything like a public sentiment that sustains
him in it, or whether he is a single bad individual in the midst of a kindly disi^osed

and decent connnunity. Do you understand ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Therefore I want to know whether a man who would do such an act as
that bears a good character in the community where he lives ?

Answer. Well, this happened on Saturday night; on ^Monday morning I got a horse
and rode around to all the citizens to see what course should be pursued, or whether
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we should do auytbiug with him or let him pass. Every one of the good citizens
around there, all the neighbors, told me to put it through, and if I did not have money
and it cost money, that I could have it.

Question. The general sentiment of that community was in condemnation of this
cruelty ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When you went to your neighbors, did you see any man that did not look
with abhorrence upon that crime ?

Answer. I did not, but yet they were afraid.

Question. Was this Sebastian a violent man ?

Anstver. I think so ; ho had killed one negro before that, but it was at homo and
nothing was done about it.

Question. Was he a desperate and violent mau ?

Answer. I think so. ,

Question. Was it because of that that they did not like to come in contact with him?
Answer. I do not understand you exactly.
Question. I understood you to say that Sebastian was a desperate and violent char-

acter ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was the objection of the neighbors, who disapproved of this act, to help do
anything about it, because they were afraid of this mau i

Answer. Yes, sir ; they said it ought to be done, but they did not want to get into
trouble.

Question. Was that the general sentiment of your community with regard to that
act?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; it was.
Question. Do you know auy decent man in your community, without regard to his

j)olitical opinion, who approved of that act ?

Answei: I do not. 1 know this, that this mau Sebastian went off and was gone about
a month. When he first came back and made his ajipearauce there he came to chiu-ch,

where all of his associates and acquaintances were. There was not a man there, young
or old, who would speak to him or who would sit with him,but his brothers ; not a mau
except one who this man Sebastian had been in business with last year.

Question. That was the sentiment with regard to him ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. You say that the coroner's jury found that the negro had been murdered
by Sebastian ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; that was the verdict.

Questio7i. When was that verdict found ?

Answer. I do not know when they made their decision about it. I saw the negro
chained in the house on Sunday, the 20th of August, and the next Suuday he was
found iu the river. On Monday morning I was called as a witness before the coroner's
jury, but I do not know whether they found a verdict that day or not. The case stood
open and they examined witnesses for a week or two.

Question. It was some time in Sej)tember that the coroner's jury found their verdict
of guilty ?

Anstver. Yes, sir.

Question. Has there been a grand jury in session in your district since that verdict

was found ?

Answer. Yes, sir; there was a grand jury in Gordon Couutj'.
Question. When ?

Answa: 1 think the first week iu October.
Question. Have they found an indictment against this man Sebastian ?

Answer. I think they have; the bailiff told me to let him kuow when Sebastian was
in the settlement, and that he had a warrant against him.

Question. He was indicted for the murder of the negro?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say that at first he went off and hid himself?
Answe)\ Yes, sir.

Question. Has any attempt been made to find him?
Answer. 1 do not think any search has been made for him.
Question. Was he evading the process of the law ?

Ansiver. I saw the bailili' the night I came down here, and he told me that he was
just waiting to find out where he was.

Question. And when be found him he was going to arrest him ?

Answer. He said he was.
Question. If he is arrested and brought before a jury of thxit county will he be con-

victed, do you think ?
'

Answer. I only kuow the sentiment of my own county. I live iu WTiitcfield County,
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and this case will be tried iu Gordon County. I know that in Whitcfield County every
man is against him, and for giving him justice.

Question. You believe that iu a case of tliis kind, if the evidence comes out which
you have heard, that man will bo convicted by a jury of that county and punished "I

Answer. I do. I believe that Judge Parrott is a man who will have things done up
just right; Jie is oue of the best judges ever upon that circuit.

Question. Does Judge Parrott also hold court in Barlow County ?

Answer. I think he does.

Question. Do you know the fact that he presided there at a trial where three dis-

guised men were convicted of the murder of a negro, and were sentenced to the peni-
tentiary for life ?

Answer. I only know from hearsay ; I have heard so.

Question. He is the same judge to which you refer ?

Answer. Yes, sir. A gentleman came down with me last Monday morning a week
ago, and told me that circumstance. I know that Judge Parrott is on that circuit.

By the Chairm^vn :

Question. You say that Posey Sebastian came to your house with those disguised
men?
Answer. I say so ; ho did.

Question. Did all four of the Sebastians come there ?

Ansivcr. 1 cannot swear to but two of them ; I can swear to two of the men in the
crowd.

Question. Who were there besides the Sebastians ?

Answer. There was a strange man who did the talking ; I saw his face plain, but I

did not know him.
Question. Do you know where he lives ?

Answer. I do not know the man.
^

Question. Did he say where he was from ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. You have been asked something about the political opinions of parties; to
what iiolitical party did these Sebastians belong ?

Answer. Well, they claim to be democrats, but I do,not know that they are firm.

Question. You say tbis Posey Sebastian had killed a black man before this on his own
place ?

Anszva\ He did it at his father's house, but nothing was said about it. It was said
that it was accidental, but it was not the general opinion of the neighbors that it was

;

I do not know but it might have been accidental.

Question. You think this man will be punished if brought to trial ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you think he will be hanged ?

Answer. I do not know whether he would be hanged or not. '

^
Question. Have you ever known of a white man being hanged for killing a negro un-

der any circumstances ?

Answer. I never have.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Would you be afraid that he would be pardoned if convicted ?

Ansiver. I do not believe he would be pardoned if the circumstances could be
made known.

Question. What would bo the reason that he would not be hanged ; what would be
the punishment inflicted upon him ?

Ansiver. I think they would work it around some way, probablj', so as to put him
into the penitentiary.

Question. Put him in the penitentiary for life ?

Ansiver. Maybe so. I know very little about these matters; I do not know any-
thing about law : I am perfectly green—^just a corn-field fellow.

Question. You liave said these men were democrats, but you did not believe they
were firm. With what political party do you go ?

Answer. I have always been a democrat.
Question. Do you believe that in the community where you reside, under the admin-

istration of justice by Judge Parrott, there is security for i^erson and for property, a
reasonable degree of security before the law ?

Ansiver. I believe if these men could be got hold of and brought before Judge Par-
rott, he would execute the law on them ; but I do not believe this man will be arrested

by any common officer, sheriff", bailiff^, or anything of the kind.
Question. Do you mean he will escape from them or evade them?
Answer. He will dodge about and keep out of the way.
Question. Do you mean to say such men would be able to resist, by force, the law of

the State ?
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Answer. I do not reckon-they would be able to resist the law hy force, but they could
dodge about, you know.

Question. Tbey would evade the process of the court?
Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. That would be what you would fear ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. Who is the solicitor of ycmr county?
Ansicer. Mr. Broyles is the solicitor general.
Question. Is it his duty to prosecute these criminals?
Answer. Yes, sir. He sent me a subpoena to attend court, and that is the reason I

want to get from here.

Question. To testify against those men ?

Answer. Yes, sir; that is tlio I'eason he tells on the back of the subpoena.
Question. Is he a vigilant officer, to see that crimiuals are prosecuted?
Ansxver. I think so ; I thinli he is a lirm man.

By the Chairm.vn :

Question. You say that, after the coroner's jury found a verdict against this man, he
went away, and was gone out of the settlement for a while '1

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And that he then came back and went to church on a Sunday ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How many men were there at church at that time ?

Ansicer. Well, there was a right smart congregation ; I suppose there were a hundred
or a hundred and lifty people there.

Question. Did you hear of his going around to other public gatherings in the county ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you see him in the neighborhood?
Answer. I only saw him at meeting that time. He came to meeting on Sunday and

Sunday night. That is the last I saw of him until Saturday night, when he ca'nie to
my house with these disguised men. The next morning I heard he was at a near
neighbor's, and I went to see him, for I felt that I would like to talk with him a little.

I told him what he had been guilty of, what he had done ; I told him. a great many
things.

Question. Why did you not arrest him ?

Ansicer. My will was good, but I did not know I had any right to do it.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. Do you believe he will be iiunished?
Answer. I do not; I think he will stay out of the way.
Question. Do you think he will manage to get olf in some way?
Answa: Well, he was courting a giil there, and since I have been in town my folks

have sent me word that the girl is gone. I think he has taken her and gone oil" with
her.

By the Chairm^vn :

Question. What was there to prevent that neighborhood from turning out and laying
right hold of him, and giving him uj) to an officer of the law and Lave him put iu
prison ?

Answer. They did not know they had any right to do so. I heard several -men say
they could go and arrest him, and was willing to do it at any time if they had the
right.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. They questioned their authority to arrest him without a writ iu their

hands ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By Mr. L.ixsiNG

:

Question. Have you a justice of the peace up there ?

Answer. Mr. William Sebastian is a justice of the peace.
Question. The brother of this man ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. If he shouldremaiu there, do you believe that an ordinary officer of justice

could arrest and hold him without assistance ?

Answer. I do not believe that he could.

Question. Do you believe they would have help enoug,ih furnished them to do it ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; I believe they would.
/ Question. How far from your settlement is your jail ?

Ansxcer. It is eleveu miles from where I live.

Question. Do you think he could bo taken and put in jail and kept there for trial?
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Anstcer. I do not tliiuk he would be kept there.

Question. Why not ?

Answer. I think his friends wouhl take him out of jail.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. Do you mean by his friends these disguised men ?

Ansiccr. Yes, sir. They took a negro out and hung him.
Question. When was that?
Answer. That was last year. He was taken out by disguised men and hung, so they

said.

By Mr. Lai^sing :

Question. So you have a very great doubt whether he would be punished, even if he
should remain there ?

Answer. Yes; I do not think he could be punished by the civil law. I believe if he
could be held until a trial Judge Farrott would see that he was punished.

Question. What is the name of your officer there—your bailiff, or sheriff, or whatever
he is called ?

Answer. Mr. Kean, of Gordon County, is the man who has the warrant.
Question. The coroner's warrant ?

Answer. 1 do not know whether it was the coroner's warrant or a warrant of the
grand jury.

Question. What is he ?

Answer. He is bailiff and constable.
Question. Do you know whether he has made any effort to arrest that man ?

Answer. I do not kuow that he has. He sent me word a time or two to try and find

out when he was about home and let him know.
Question. Was this bailiff at church when Sebastian was there?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. How far from the church does he live ?

Answer. Two miles or two and a half, I reckon.
Question. How long did you know of this fellow being there, at the time he was at

the church ?

Ansiver. He was there at church on Sunday and Sunday night.
Question. Do you kuow whether anybody let Mr. Kean know he was there ?

Ansiccr. I do not. I sent a little boy off when meeting broke up and before the people
dispersed. I told him to go right on and try and get word to him.

Question. You think this man Sebastian has taken the girl and gone off ?

Answer. I think so; that is just my idea.

By the Chairman :

Question. How many disguised men took the negro out of jail ?

Ansiver. I do not kuow. That was at Daltou, and 1 live away this side of Dalton.
I did not see them ; but I heard the jailer state that there were a great many of them
that forced him to give up the key and took the negro out.

By Mr. Bayakd :

Question. What was the offense of the negro?
Answer. Well, I think an attempt at ravishment. Probably he succeeded; I do not

know.
Question. Ravishing a white woman ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

By the Chairman :

Question. That was the charge against him ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 25, 1871.

JAMES L. NANCE sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. How old are you, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

Answer. I will be eighteen years old on the 12th day of nest December ; I was born
in Floyd County, and I now live in ^Vhitefield County.

Question. Are you any kiu to the last witness we examined here ?

Answa: Yes, sir ; he is my father.

Question. Were you at home when the party of disguised men came to his house ?

Answei: Yes, sir.
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Question. Did you see tbom ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qucsiion. Well, what did they do or say ?

Answer. Tbey uever did any harui ; they give pa his orders.

Qnestion. What orders ?

Answer. Th(>y told him he went a little too far.

Question. Did they say iu what respect?
Answer. Soinethiuj^ about a negro beiug drowued up there ; the conversation seemed

to hi', that way.
Question. Did you kuow any of the men ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir ; I knew three of them ; I saw them.
Question. Who were they ?

Ansteer. William Sebastian was one, and Sir. Fields another, and Jim Ramsey
another.

Question. Where do Fields aiad Ramsey live?
Answer. In Spring Place.
Question. How far is Spring Place from Kcsaca ?

Answer. I think it is somewhere about twenty or twenty-five miles.
Question. Is Spring Place in Murray County ?

Answer, Yes, sir.

Question. Does yonr father live nearDalton ?

Answer. Not near Dalton ; it is eleven miles from Dalton.
Question. How far is it from your house to Spring Place, where you say those men

live ?

Ansivcr. I do not kuow exactly how far, but I think it is twenty miles.
Question. Who else did you know besides those three men ?

Ansicer. I did not know any of the rest.

Question. How far docs William Sebastian live from your house?
Answer. About three-quarters of a mile.

Question. Did you see enough of the other men to tell whether they were strangers
there or not ?

Answer. No, sir, they did not seem like they were sti-angers ; there were but nine of
them, and it seemed as if the most of them belonged there iu that settlement.

Question. Did you hear either of the Sebastians make any threat in regard to your
fother?

Ansiecr. Yes, sir. I was working for him at one time, and he and a man by the name
of MuUius got into a fuss, and he threatened him with the Ku-Klux, and I heard that
he threatened my father with the Ku-Klus.

Question. What did he say the Ku-Klux would do ?

Answer. They said they would hang him. I believe that is what they said ; that
they would hang him higher than something, I forget what.

Question. Use the very words that he said.

Answer. I cannot use the words he said about it.

By Mr. Scofield :

Question. Hang him higher than something ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; but I forget what the place was.
Question. Was it "higher than Haman?"
Answer. Yes, I think that was it.

By the Chairman :

Question. Did you ever see any Ku-Klux any other time ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; that was the only time.
'

Question. Have you heard about their going about the country there?
Answer. Only once ; there was a negro who had done some kind of meanness, and

some Ku-Klux over in the valley hung him. I do not know whether it was this same
Man or not.

By Mr. Bayaiio :

Question. What had he done ?

Ansicer. I think he had ravished a woman.
Question. A white woman ?

Ansicer. He uever ravished her, but he killed her.

By the Chairm.-ln :

Question. Where was that ?

Ansiver. That was over in the Cove, as they call it.

Question. Have there been several negroes killed around there ?

Answer. There was one killed in our settlement ; or he was drowned, not killed.

Question. Was that the one Sebastian killed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Did you see that negro -when he vras chained?
Ansioer. Yes, sir; I was there one Sunday with my father.

Question. What was tlie condition of the negro ?

Answer. He loolced pr(>tty bad ; I saw that he had scars all over him.

Question. For Avhat did Sebastian threaten yonr father vrith the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. Because, I suppose, he gave evidence about the negro being drowned.
Question. Was ho talking to your father or to somebody else ?

Answer. To somebody else.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. What is the character of the Sebastians there ?

" Answer. Well, they used to have a pretty good character, but they have, not now.
Question. Is this nian, who is charged with the murder of this black boy, considered

a bad man by the neighbors?
Answer. He is now. Ho is a justice of the peace, but he don't act much like it now

;

he never did much.
Question. Did you go before the coroner's jury ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you tell them all you saw about the negro being chained up, and
about the cruelty this man had inflicted upon him ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Quesfio)i. Did you go before the grand jury when the indictment was found against

him?
Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you been summoned as a witness to go before the next court, when
his case is to be tried ?

Answer. No, sir ; I was not summoned about the negro being drowned.
Question. Yon say you are the^son of Mr. James Nance ?

Anstcei: Yes, sir.

Question. What is your age ?

Answer. I will be eighteen on the 12th day of next December.

By the Chairman :

Question. I understood you to say that these Sebastians used to have a very good
character ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; they used to have before the war.
Question. And one is a justice of the iJeace there now ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

4>«es/iow. Which one?
Ansiver. William Sebastian.

Question. Is tbat the one that was making threats about the Ku-Klux

f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know who appointed him justice of the peace?
Ansive)'. I am not certain ; I believe Judge Parrott.

By Mr. ScOFiKLD

:

Question. Do not the people elect justices of the peace ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir, I believe they do up there.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 25, 1871.

W. H. HARRIS sworn and examined.

By the Chairm.\n :

Question. What is your age, where were yon born, where do you now live, and what
Is your present occupation ?

Answer. I am nearly sixty-one years old ; I was born in North Carolina ; T live up in

Tiltou, Whitelield Coimty, nine 'miles this side of Dalton ; I have been living there

ever since before the war-; my occupation is that of selling spirits by retail, and boot

and shoe making.
Question. Arc there any people in your county that are called Ku-Klux ?

Ansiver. We have had one bunch there ; they passed my bouse one night not long

since.

Question. How many were there of them ?

Ansiver. I counted eight of them ; I heard some say tliere were nine, but I only saw
eight. They stopped in my yard, and bought a pint of whisky of me.

Question. Did you know any of them ?

Ansicer. No, sir.



GEORGIA SUB-COMMITTEE. 577

Qtiestion. Which way were they going ?

Answer. They camo from the river np towards my house, and then turned and went
'westward, probably a quarter of a mile, and then turned and camo back and turned
around towards Resaea, and I understood that they went to Kesaca.

*

Qutviioii. Is that the same night that they went to Mr. Nance's house ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; that was on Saturday night, between 9 and 11 o'clock.
Question. How were they traveling ?

Answer. On horseback.
Queslion. How were they disguised?
Ansn-cr. I believe most of them were disguised in black, the horses covered in white.

They iuid one nnile in the bunch that was not covered at all.

Qncntion. How were thej^ armed ?

Answer. All the arms I saw were pistols, five or six shooters; I never noticed par-
ticularly. Only about four camo up into the yard and the balance staid oli", out of
the yard.

Question. Have you heard of this kind of people being about there through that
region of conntry ?

Answer. Yes, sir, in some two or three cases, I think.
Question. Wlien did you lirst hear of them ?

Answer. Probably a year ago ; not right in my immediate neighborhood ; twelve
miles from me was the tirst account of them I ever heard.

Questio)i. What was the next?
Answer. Well, I do not know how long since ; it has been may be four or five months,

probably longer than that ; I paid no attention to such things as that.
Question. When was the last time that you heard of them ?

Answer. It was last Saturday three weeks ago, which was the last day of last month,
between 9 and 11 o'clock.

Question. Did the tirst company of these men do anything?
Answer. Yes, sir; the first crowd I ever heard of, of that kind of men np there, took

a negro out of jail in an adjoining county and hung him. *

Question. In what county was that f

Answei: In Murray County ?

Question. In what jdace f

Anszver. It was at Spring Place. He was taken out of the jail in Spring Place and
hung.

Question. What did the next crowd do ?

Answer. The next crowd I recollect hearing anything about was a bunch of men who
gathered up a negro for killing a white lady in Sugar Valley ; they took him up and
hung him.

Question. What was the negro charged with that they took out of jail in Sjiring
Place ?

Answer. He was charged with raping a white lady ; a lady he was raised with.
Question. Why was not the negro who killed a white woman arrested under the law ?

Answer. Tliat is too hard a question for me to answer.
Question. How long before that time had ho killed the woman?
Ansicer. From the best of my information, he kept out of the way the next day after

the thing took j)laee and was caught in two or three days after, and I think brought
to Calhoun and hung.

Question. Did you hear what they did the night they were at your house ?

Ansictr. Yes, sir.

Question. What did they do ?

Ansicer. I understood there was a bunch of disguised men went to Mr. Nance's house.
Whether that was before or after I saw them, I could not say. They went to Kesaca,
six miles from where I live, and went into a grocery and knocked about; what they
did I cannot say. They went to !Mr. Nance's, one of my neighbors, a fine man, and
tried to get him out o'f his house. They were armed, and wanted him to come out of
the house, and he said he would not go, but he would talk with them in his house.

They were there and tried to get him out of the house, and a gi'eat deal of conversa-
tion took place that I do not believe that I could call over. I do not expect it is of any
xise for me to do so, for I reckon you heard it all better from Mr. Naiu;e than I

can tell it. The night they were at my house I was not thinking much about them,
and I felt no ways alarmed. I thought it was just a bunch of men, what we call

Ku-Klnx, the first I ever saw, just running through there. But when I heard
Sunday morning Avhat had happened, I knew what they were out for, and I expressed
my opinion then, and I will now, before any man or any set of men. I believe if they
had got Mr. Nance out of the house they would have killed him ; I think it was their

intention to kill him.
Question. To what political party are these disguised men supposed to belong ?

Ansuer. I could not tell you what they are. I can tell you what I suppose they aro,

from what I have learned since by hearsay, what some ofthem profess to be.

37 a



578 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Qii^^iion. Well, what is it ?

Jlnt>irer. They proffess to bo democratK, but whether it is the old iirrangeinent or a
new t,turt-npl cannot -say ; that is what Ihey ehiinj, to belong to the democratic party.

By Mr. Bayahd :

Question. Ila-ve yon yourself any |>crsonal knowledge of the juen who belong to this
organization »

Jnsicer. I Inive not.

Question. When vou speak of their being democrats, have you any personal knowl-
edge of it?

Annwcr. I only say this, my friend : If they are the men they say they are that were
in this club, I say tiiey profess to be democrats ; I do not say positively they are the;

men.
Question. Do you know they are the men ?

Ansirer. I do not.

Question. Do you know Mi\ Nance's politics.

Answer. I do.

Question. What is he ?

Answer. I think ho is a democrat and a gentleman ; one of the finest citizens we have
in our country.

Question. In your county, among the respectable men there, is there not a feeling of
opposition to such acts as these ?

Answer. Not that I know of; I can't say that there is. There never was a word said
about these things that took place there before, either for or against, and no noise made
about it.

Question. The acts you speak of now were the taking that negro out of jail who had
ravished a white lady Avho had raised him

Ansioer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you m(?an that the public sentiment did not tind any fault with that ?

Answer. Nothing was said about it in any waj', shape, or form.
Question. You do not know who did that ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. And the next case was that of a negro who killed a white lady, and he dis
appeared for a day or two, and then they caught him and hung him ?

Answer. Yes, sii'.

Question. Nothing was said in objection to that ?

Answer. Tacre was no talk about the matter.
Question. And the next case was the visit of these people to Mr. Nance's house and

to Resaca ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you know the facts about Mr. Posey Sebastian murdering a black man
and throwing him into the river ?

Answer. I do not know tlje facts.

Question. You know that such a charge was made against him?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And he is under indictment for that offense?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was Mr. Nance visited by them because he had given evidence against him?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Now, in regard to that ci'ime of Posey Sebastian ; was there, or not, a sen-

timent of condenuiation in your setttement?
Ansiver. No, sir, I do not know that there was ; I am only saying what I heard, now

mind you. The lirst I heard of this thing was that a negro had been found in the river.

Mr. Nance wanted the coroner and some men to examine this negro, and not have him
put away until they did so. They investigated the thing for nearly two weeks, the
jury and the coroner, and I think they brought it out plain proof that Posey Sebastian
was the murderer of the negro.

Question. And after that he was indicted by the grand jury ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. And the evidence of Mr. Nance being the best evidence they could get on
that point, he having seen something of it, and knowing nearly all of ityis it the opin-
ion generally in the neighborhood that Mr. Sebastian and the Ku-Klux at large were
the men who constituted the disguised band that visited Mr. Nance f

Answer. It is the sentiment there.

Question. And does the sentiment there sustain Mr. Nance in what he did ?

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Question. They are in favor of him ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And against the Sebastians?
Ansiver. Yes, sir. Mr. Nance is as tine a man as there is in our county, and I have
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talked with as line citizens as we have there, and they thinlc he should not be trampled
on in that manner.

Question. That is the feeling of your people ?

Answer. Yes, sir. We have as peaceable a neighborhood of country, I expect, as there
la in the United States ; tliere is no difticiilty between Union and disunion, radical and
democrat. But this thing is too rough for ijcophs to live under.

Qiiestioti. And the sentiment of your county is opposed to it f

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Without regard to politics at all?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; they have nothing to do with jiolitics in a case like this.

By the Chairman :

Question. Have you heard much said about the drowning of that negro?
Answer. No, sir; it is a thing lying very still.

Question. But they make a great deal of comphiint about the Sebastians going and
disturbing Mr. Nance ?

Ansieer. I do not know that they do.
Question. They disapprove of disturbing Mr. Nance by these people ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. But they do not say much about the drowning of the negro ?

Answer. That is generally talked about, that if wo could only get the right end of it,

and we think we have got it on this Ku-Klux business now. It was a thing talked
very little about, because the jury kept everything quiet at Kesaca, and the witnesses
told nothing outside. There was no inquiry made, for the suspicion lay right where it

.

fell at the start.

Question. There was not much said about it until these Ku-Klux came around and
disturbed Mr. Nance ?

Answer. That is so. The night they came to me I had no idea there was any such
thing ; I was under no excitement whatever, because I uever saw the like before, and
it did not excite me a bit. But Sunday morning, wheu I heard they had been to Mr.
Nance's , the thing did not more than get to my ear when I knew where it started from.

Question. You have said that Mr. Nance is a fine man ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How is it with regard to the Sebastians? *

Ansicer. They stand very well.

Question. One of them is a justice of the peace ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; Mr. William Sebastian, one of the men in the crowd that night, is Q
justice of the peace, and I expect doing business about twenty steps from my door.

Question. What kind of business f

Answer. Jlerchandise, dry-goods, and family groceries.

Question. He is a merchant there iu that community ?

Answer. Yes, sir; and acting at the same time as postmaster.
Question. And justice of the peace also ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Tell us what kind of a character Posey Sebastian has.

Ansiver. Well, he has been a man apparently of very good character and very good
standing. Before this thing took place he was a man I thought very well of, and of
all his family, and respected them as good citizens myself; I do not know what was
the opinion of other people.

Question. That was before this thing took jilace ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. How is it now since this thing has taken place ?

Ansive): Since this thing has taken place I have not a bit of use for him, not a parti-

cle, and the community have not.

Question. What is his standing there ?

Answer. He has none there at all ; and the people have no respect for him more than
if he was a dog.

Question. That is, the decent ijeople of the community ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; the decent people. I have not seen him, with the exception ot

about once, since that thing took place. ,

Question. When a man in your community is charged with having murdered, or
believed to have murdered a negro, and to have taken his life in the way that Posey
Sebastian is supposed to have done, do not the decent people of your community look
upon him with contempt, and have no respect for him at all ?

Answer. They look upon him as if he should bo put to death according to law.
Question. That is the general opinion ?

Ansicei'. Yes, sir.
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By the Chairman :

QucsUon. Have you ever known a white luan to be put to death according to law for

murdering a negro ?

Answei: At auy time ?

Question. Yes, at any time.

Answer. I do not Icnow that I ever did.

Qucslion. Do you believe that Posey Sebastian will ever be tried and punished for
drowning this negro "'

^liiaircr. It he is taken up, caught by the offlcers of our county, I think he will.

Qiicstjon. Will he ever be taken up and caught 'i .

Jns2('Cr. If you get the right kind of men after him.
Qiiesiiov. Has he not been there openly at meeting, and at other places ?

Jn^irei'. I understand he has been at meeting once or twice, and at Tilton once or
twice, but I have not seen him.

Queslion. Have you ever heard of any attempt to arrest him ?

JiiswiT. No; which I think is wrong ; they ought to have had the country full of men
to hunt him up.

By Mr. Vookhees :

Question. Have you ever heard of a white man being put to death according to Ihw
for killing a white man 1

Ansiccr. Yes, sir.

Question. In your county?
Answer. Close by, in Calhoun County, I saw a man hung by the neck until he was

done dead, and I was a guard there.

Question. How long ago was that ?

Answer. It was before the war.

By Mr. Bayakd :

Question. Do you know in whose hands the warrant has been placed for the arrest of

Posey Sebastian "i?

Ans7ver. No, sir ; I do not know that there ever has been such a thing ; I only under-
stand from Mr. Nance that there has been.

Question. Do you k^iow what eftbrt the oiScers have made to capture Sebastian ?

Answer. I do not know whether the man has ever gone out of his house to do it at all.

Question. You do not know whether he has made search, one way or the other ?

Ansiver. No, sir, I do not.

ATL.VNTA, Georgia, October 25, 1<87I.

O. G. RAY sworn aud examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. What is your age, where were you born, where do you now live, and what
is your present occupation '?

Answer. I will be twenty-four years old to-morrow ; I was born in Jackson County,
and I now live there ; I am a farmer.

Question. When did you come uj) here fi-om Jackson County ?

Answei: Last Monday was a week ago.

Question. Have you any people down there that they call Ku-Klux ?

Answe): Well, there are some disguised people there that they say are Ku-Klux.
Question. Have you seen any of them ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir. .

Question. When ?

Ansiver. As well as I recollect, the first time I saw them was the first Monday in

April last.

Question. Where was that ?

Ansivcr. Down in Jackson County, between our house and old Mr. Ezekiel Hewett's
house.

Question. How many of them were there?
Answer. Between thirty- five and forty ; I suppose thirty-six.

Question. Where were they going ?

Answct: Over towards Russell Aaron's; they had been to Bill Booth's, and had just

started over there when I met them. They went once after my brother-in-law, Rus-
sell Aaron.

Question. Did they find Booth?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Where?
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Ansicer. At my brother-in-law's.
Question. Were you tlicre ?

Answer. I had been there, but was coming away.
Question. Did they say anything to you 'I

Ansiver. No, sir ; they never spoke, and never noticed me. I kept, on one side of the
road, and they, came along in a lope, and did not notice me.

Question. At what time was that ?

Answer. I suppose it was between 9 and 10 o'clock.
Question. Did you know any of them ?

Anstver. No, sir.

Question. Hqw w(;re they disguised ?

Avswer. They wer(> dressed iu black, and their horses in white, and they had a black-
looking thing over their heads.

Question. Coidd you see whi^thcn- they had any arms ?

Ansivrr. I could not see ; it was in the night, and they were going in a lope.
Question. WIuhi did you see them again ?

Ansicer. When they came to my iatlier"s.

Question. When was that ?

Anstver. The same night they said they went upon Mr. Holliday.
Question. How many of them were there ?

Answer. I reckon there was some ilfteen or twenty; not over twenty, and not under
fifteen, I reckon ; 1 never paid much attention to them.

Question. Did they do anything at your father's house ?

Answer. Yes. sir.

Question. What?
Answer. When they first rode up they hollered, "Halloa." I laid there until they

hollered the third time, and then I said. " Halloa." They said, " Get up and show as
the way out of here ; who lives here f I said, " Willis Kay." They said, " Where is

ho V I said, " He has gone over to Russell Aaron's." They asked rac to make up a
light. I went to the fire-place, and asked mother if there was any light-wood, and she
said " No." I said " Pgrhaps I can get a piece off this board." They said, " Never
mind

; wo will take your word for it." They told me to tell father that if he did
not stop talking as he had been doing they would hang him higher than Haman.

Question. What had he been saying "l

Ansicer. They said he had been talking about the Ku-Klux.
Question. Did you know any of them f

Ansieer. Yes, sir ; I thought I knew the voice of Mr. Hancock. I could not tell about
the voice when they were talking to me, but when they hollered they let out their
natural voice.

Question. Did they have anything to say to anybody else but you ?

Anstver. No, sir.

Question. Were they disguised as the first ones were ?

Ansicer. Yhb, sir.

Question. They were riding f

Ansicer. Yes, sir.

Qiiesiion, Have you seen them at any time since ?

Answer. No, sir; not since.

Question. You have not been do'wn there since you came up here to court ?

Answer. No, sir ; I have not been back.
Question. How long since you first heard of their riding about through your county?
Answer. I do not know that I can recollect ; a good while.
Question. A year or two f

Answer. I do not know whether they have been riding about there that long, but
down in Oglethorpe they have.

Question. What is it understood that they do when they ride around ?

Ansicer. I do not know exactly what. If they hear of a man and his wife disagree-

ing, they go and tell him that ho must quit it. They went to Tom Arnold's, and told

him he had to quit selling liquoi*.

Question. What was that for ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. Who was he ?

Answer. Thomas Arnold.
Question. Where does he live ?

Anstver. In Jackson County ; he is a store-keeper there, and ho keeps liquor for sale.

Question. And they told him he had to quit selling liquor?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Have you heard of anybody being whipjied by them ?

Ansicer. No. sir ; not in our settlement that I know of Yes, there was a negro
•whipped there the night I saw them first, Mitchell Pendergrast.

Question. Where does he live?
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Answer. Down below our house a piece—between oui- bouse and Mi\ HoUiday's.
Questioyi. How far from wbere you saw them ?

Aiistcer. Not more than three-quarters of a mile, I reckon ; not over a mile, anyhow.

By Mr. Bayakd :

Qncsiion. You came up here to testify before the grand jury in the case of J. E. Hol-
Jiday ?

AnsH-er. Yes, sir.

Question. And you testilied about it ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

QucsUon. And you stated there pretty much what you have stated hero ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. You say you knew none of those people who passed you on the road ?

Answer. No, sir ; I would not have known my daddy or my brother if he had been
there.

Question. They were disguised completely ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; I could not tell whether they were white or black.

Question. And you could not identify anybodj^ when you testified before the grand
jnr.V ?

Answer. No, sir; only the voice of the man that hollered, "Halloa."
Question. You spoke of a man selling liquor ; had he been selling lic|uor to the boys

around the neighborhood ?

Answer. Well, he keeps up a public grocery.

Question. Did he make it a pretty riotous place ?

Answer. Saturday evenings they have shooting-matches there, and sometimes they
have some rows.

Question. Had he been selling liquor to the sons of the people in the neighborhood-;-

to the young men ?

Ansiver. No, sir ; not that I know of. I do not go there much.
Question. They used to have rows down there ?

Answer. Yes, sir. ,
^

Question. And these people gave him orders to stop?
Answer. They told him he had to stop it.

Question. And this is all you know about the operations of these people ?

yinsiver. Yes, sir.

Question. You know nothing about the existence of any of these bands, except what
vou saw yourself ?

Answer. That is all.

Question. Docs anybody else sell liquor about there ?

Anstver. I believe he is the only one that keeps store there.

Question. Is he the only man in the county that sells liquor?

Answer: Well, I believe that Green Smith deals in it.

Question. Are there any stills there ?

uinswer. I do not know of any stills running there.

Question. They do not make any liquor iu tliat county ?

Answer. Tliere is some brandy made there.

Question. Do you know what Arnold's politics are; whether he is a republican or a
democrat ?

Answer. I do not know.
Question. Do you suppose the reason they directed him to stop selUng liquor was

because thej' were opposed to drinking it ?

Ansiver. I do not know whether it was or not.

Question. Is Willis Ray your father ?

Anstver. Yes, sir ; they say so.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 25, 1871.

WILLIS RAY sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. What is your age, where were you born, and where do you now live ?

Answer. I am sixty some odd years old; the real record of my age is destroyed and
burnt up ; I was born in Jasjier County, iu this State, and I now live in Jack«on County,
Georgia.

Question. What is your occupation ?

Answer. I am a farmer.
Question. How long have you been living in Jackson?
Answer. I was raised from about six or seven years old, until about fifteen years old,
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in Oglethorpe County. From that, all the balance of my time in Georgia was iu Jack-
sou County, with the exception of .some four years in this county.

Question. Have you any peoi)le iu your county tlm. they call Ku-Klux ?

Ansurr. There is a hea]) of chat about such people there.
Quc>tlioii. What do they say about them !

Aiiswcr. They say they are Ku-Khix. •

Question. What do they say they do?
Ansice7: They say they do what they say they will do. We hear people promulgate

this way at uieetiug crowds, that they know there is business, and they do it; or what
they sav they will do.

Question. What is that?
Answer. I kuow what they said they would do to me : if I did not hush talking, they

wouhl liaug me.
Question. What had you been sayirtg that Ihey wanted you to husli?
Answer. I had been raising a warning voice for their good, on account of their reck-"

less conduct. I had been talking of the misfortunes they were subjecting themselves
to, in going to so numy phvces of the same niglit and trespassing and interfering be-
tween men and their wives where I did not consider tliey had any business, where the
relatives of the men and wives had no business to have said a word. It seems to me a
secret interforenc« where thci'e should have been none. I talked about ihem in that
way.

Question. They said that you had to quit that or you would be luuig f

Answer. Yes, sir. One week before they came tobother me I could hear their horses'
feet on every road.

Question. How often?
Answer. Along tov.'ard the last as often as once a week. The first I noticed of them

was iu the fall, along about wheat-sowing time. Jly son came in one time in hia
drawers aud shirt-sleeves, bareheaded and barefooted, scared badly, and called upon
me to go down to sef whether his mother-in-law and little children were molested aud
hurt. He said that be jumped out of the window and ran. I ]mt on my clothes aud
took my son, who is here with me, and went down, there. When I got back he was
out iu the cotton-patch, near my house, with his mother's bed-quilt and some clothes.
Tlie next thing they went on my son-in-law. I make free to say that young Billy
Booth is as honorable a man as ever was. They were at old man Mobley's aud Russell
Aaron's, and Thomas Arnold's the same night, and they had just as much business in
hell as they had at either of those places ; not that I wish them any harm, for if they
looked at it right I was their friend, and thej^ were unapprised of the dangers they
were subjecting themselves to. My oldest daughter was the step-mother of oue of the
party that was brought up here in chains. I heard how they were doing, and I v,as
afraid that innocent jieople would sutler. They came on old man Woods on the night
they raided old man Sampson, and left a charge to inquire if there was uot a man iu
the neighborhood named Ray, and what kind of a man he was. They said, " He must
hush talking." I was apprised of the fact before they got by. I told them every-
where ; I was no ways secret about it. Then the next Monday night I heard them
comiug ; I had become alarmed from their roaming, and was on my watch. As they
went on to Hiilliday's, I left the house. My wife and son wanted me to stay; said,

they would not abuse me. Pretty quick alter I heard them stop ; I heard the tiring of
two or three guns, may be four ; then they commenced a scattering tire, two or three
or four, and then there were three spells of it. While they were trying to kill him, I
was praying for them aud him too, that he might escape their hands, aud that there
might be no such disgrace come over the county, and that God might be gloiilied in
the world. They tuined around and came to my house. I was not there; I heard
them, but not euough to recognize their voices. When they left ihey blowed a whistle,
such as I never heard before. My wife and son came to me and said they had come
there and gone. I said that I knew it, and that I expected HoUiday was dead. Then
1 heard horses' feet return back to my yard. I said, " You better get back to the house,
lor if they catch you out of the house there Avill be a commotion." They came up
within a hundred yards of my house, and then hitched their horses, aud staid there
nntil a few minut-es beibre daybreak. They then Avent down in the direction of where
these arrested parties live. 1 heard dogs bark, just as home dogs bark when their own
people ccmc. These people went there, or stopped there. The next night, between 10
aud 2 o'clock, they came agaih, and came to the same ground, and staid there until
some tifteen or twenty minutes after daybreak. Wilson sent for me the next morning.

Question. Who is he ?

Ansicer. A boy raised in my neighborhood. He sent for me to come and see him. I

started, and took n.y son with me. 1 met him, and lie took me- in the house, and
told me (hat he wanted to make a trade with me. I said, "What is it?" He said,

"Bid you get the word I sent to you by Mr. Hiutou ?" I said, '"I did, but J was
afraid." I said, " I undeistand you arc known as beiugone of them, and not only that,

but the manager." He said he did not know how that could be possible. I said,
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' This is ridiculous couduct for you to be out so often." I said, " There is so much
talking about people's taking up linen's and wives' business, aud so nnich roving, that
everybody knows it ; and perhaps you are often watched to your house." He said,
" Yes, that is so, no doubt." Said he, " There were two men in their shirt-sleeves the
night they stopped here at my house." There I got a little more light. I said, " Why
did they stop here ?" He said, " They wanted me to go out ; but 1 did not go out." I
said, " Wilson, you have fished for me a long time before you got lue to say a word;
you know what I told you, and you say it is true." I said, " Give me a dog's chance

;

let me and you settle it between us, or let me quit the State." Said he, " If you find
me in it, you may cut my throat." I said, "Don't tell me that; I have lost all confi-
dence in you in the world; if you do it, I shall not bo disappointed ; and if you don't
do it, I will not bo disa|)pointed." Then he got up this peace resolution, and came to
me to read it. I said, " It is clean to my ear, honorable, andright ; if you will standby
that, it will be all I ask." There were eighty-fovu- of us signed it. Since the soldiers made
their affidavit in JefJcrson, he came to see me. I said, " \'ou are the manager ofthis thing

;

go to the oflicers of the county, and get them to give bond and security to the Govern-
ment of the United States for good behavior, and we can maintain it." Well, when
Haney rode up that morning to his grandfather's, after he got into Jefterson, aud told
me what he had to tell me, 1 told him to do so, and he said it was too late. That was
because they did not want it done. There has not been another raid since. I said,
"This advertisement stuck up at Holliday's gate has broke that pledge ; now go and
give bond and security, and we can maintain it." They said, "It is too late." I said,
" I will give you the advice of a brother : forbear threatening." That was when he
said that there were but two men to swear against them, and they would kill them.
On Sunday wo had a meeting. They inquired about shooting. He shook the back of
his hands in Mr. W^hitehead's.face, and said, "Whenever he says to me what he says
to another man, I will kill him."

Question. Who said that ?

Answer. Jack Haney, one of the men that was arrested. James Haney came by
that night and fired his pistol against his grandfather's corner, and then another dis-

charge, and then another discharge. His grandfather, who married my daughter, said,
" You will suffer for this." The next morning he said, "Jim, who was that shooting
last night ?" He said, " It was me." His grandfather said, " Jim, have you no more
sense than that ?" He said, " Yes, I have as much sense as any man." His grand-
father said, "You have a bad way of showing it; I will indict you for that." He
said, " If you do, yovi never will indict another man." He said, " I will do it." Then
the other said, " If you do it, I will make you lose more than you fear to lose." The
old man said, " I am not afearfl of you." Jim said, " Then 1 will not strike you."
Then the thing broke up. These men ride down from toward Masonic Hall ; I have
lain out and watclx d them do it. I am positively afeared, and it is for nothing I have
done. I have never seen any man in disguise, and never heard one talk in disguise.
But it is so that 1 cannot live in this Christian land without fear.

Question. Have these other men you si^oke of been molested by them ?

Answer. Certainly, it must have molested them when they committed this outrage.
Question. What was the outrage ?

Answer. On Thomas Arnold and his wife. He has an unruly woman, and hard to
control, and they have many a quarrel. I have heard it rumored that they have fought

;

I have heard it that she has whipped him. As for Billy Booth, I did hear of one little

difljculty that is very common when a man gets his second wife ; but that is only
rumor—only settlement chat. This man Holliday was charged with having whipped
his daughter, with having cut her back all to pieces.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. That was J. R. Holliday ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir
;
you know I could not have any prejudice against him, because he

married my daughter. Knowing there was a bad feeling between Hewett and his
father-in-law and Holliday, I said, " You should not have mentioned it now; people
will get hold of it

;
you should recollect and be particular how you talk ; that the back

is subject to examination." The old man, old Billy McDonald, sent down to examine
her back. They fell out with him about taking a hog. He is a good citizen, and op-
posed to Ku-Klux throughout. Holliday is a high-strung man, of high mettle. Old
man McDonald met me on the day of the legislature. He said, "There has been a
damned lie told ; they said Holliday would not shoot, and he has shot ; but the thing
is all hid." Then they called at Mr. Bowman's for half a gallon of liquor. I said,
"No, don't you drink a single drop." He said, " My spirits get too low at times." 1

said, " Mine are too high." I was there when they went through with the whole of it,

but nobody got tight. I was rather satisfied with that until they put up an advertise-
ment, " You damned old cuss, your death is near at hand."

By the Chairman :

Qucbiion. Was that at Holliday's house ?
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Ansiver. Yes, sir ; thoy said if he took that down, he should lianfi in its ])laco.. Isaid,
" If Wilson was there, I would >^o right to him and take it down." I said, ' This will

bring a light with the presses ; if I can get hold of it, I will take it and go to the print-
ing office and find the man it belongs to. Some oiw will know who did it. It is easy
to detect handwritin<j, and he will be revealed by his frequent visits and unruly
tongue." Thej- took that down in the cpring. Thcni there was a great deal of night
shooting. Jones hallooed out, and they halted, and shot at him ; that was to aggravate
Holliday.

Question. Did you hear of their going to a man by the name of Arnold, and telling
him to quit selling liquor ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; he told me himseK that they did it, and said that if he did not do
it, they w'ould skin him alive.

Question, Why did they not want him to sell liquor ?

Ansicer. Because they wanted to do so themselves ; to run the blockade without con-
forming to the law. That is my opinion of it.

Question. You say that some of them charged Holliday with whipping his daughter.
Ansicei: Yes, sir; George Ilaney, one of the arrested parties that were here.

Question. And you told him what?
Ansiver. I told his grandfather that ho should have been more careful in talking,

knowing the bad feeling there was between Hewett's and Haney's family and Holli-

day and McDonald ;. that it would make the matter worse. My daughter had become
a step-grandmother to them, and I wished the children all wetl. If I was partial ia
my life toward any two men, it was toward Ezekiel and Jack Haney. I thought
they would be noble men some day, and would bo able to stand by the standard of
their country, and defend it. I was partial in my feelings toward them ; I thought
they were beautiful men. There is no bad feeling yet ; but such conduct as they
are guilty of, if it is so, and I am obliged to suspicion them, I cannot commend them
for it. If they are ignorant of this thing, then I have made known my opinion.

Question. What is Wilson's business ?

Answer. He is a very line workman, an elegant school-teacher, and now has the chief
office of the county in regard to public schools ; he is a smart man.

Question. Did he deny that he had come to your house ?

Answer. He denied for one of them teetotally
;
yet he has been there all the time

backward and forward.
Question. Have you told us all you know about their doings ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I may know something I do not think of now; I only want to

tell what I know.
Question. Have there been any whippings in your neighborhood ?

Answer. A great many of them in the neighborhood.
Question. Who has been whipped ?

Answer. There was Mitchell Keed, and old Sampson Pendergrast, and the Flannigan
negro, Harrison Flannigan, a time or two ; they have had several bouts at him first

and last. Old Johnny Seay's place was notilied ; he is a nice man.
Question. For what did those men take it upon themselves to disguise themselves

and their horses and go about over the country ?

Answer. I am not able to tell you, more than it is my opinion that they did it to

make everybody just sway to what they say, to take everything into their own hands.
They have defied the powers that be, so that they cannnot be stopped, cannot be found
out, cannot be checked.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Have you been before the grand jiu-y in HoUiday's case ?

Answer. I have not.

Question. W^ere you not summoned here ?

Ansivbr. I was summoned here, and have been here now the ninth day.
Question. Did you see Mr. Pope, the district attorney ?

Anstcer. I reckon ; I do not know him. '

Question. Have you been examined by somebody to find out'what you knew about
HoUiday's case ?

Ansivei: There was a man in the other room wanted to take dowri something the
other evening.

Question. Did you recognize any of these disguised men at all ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did you see them ?

Answer. I could have seen them, but I was afraid to raise up high enough to eoe

them.
Question. You could not swear to any of them?
Ansuxr. No, sir.

Question. How old was this daughter of Mr. J. R. Holliday, whose back waa said to

have been cut into strips by him f



586 CONDITION OF AFFAIRS IN THE SOUTHERN STATES.

Answer. It was liis wifo ; a fine womau.
Question. Who said her back was cut ?

Ansurr. Mr. Hewett told me that George Haney said he saw it.

Question. Was she a Miss Hewett ?

Answer. Slio was a Mrs. McDouald before she was married.
Question. Who saw her back ?

Answer. George Haney said he saw Bob Holliday do it.

Question. Do what?
Answer. Whip her and cut her back all to smash, and wear out one hickory, and send

her litth^ daughter ou^ for another. He said she begged him not to do it ; and then he
ran oiF, so as not to let Holliday see him.

Question. Was there bad feeling between Haney and Holliday ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What did that bad feeling grow out of?
Ansxcer. Out of an old lumber bill that old man Hewett had sawed years ago, and

did not get satisfaction for, as he thought. He is all the man I ever did hear say any
harm of I3ob Holliday. No man living I have more confidence in than Ezekiel Hewett,
bat some people will hold prejudices amazingly.

Question. There was an old grudge between Hewett and Holliday, growing out of an
oM transaction, and continuing down to the present time ?

Answer. That is my opinion.

Question. Was Haney* any relation to Mrs. Holliday ?

Answer. None at all.

Question. Where was he when he saw Holliday whip Mrs. Holliday ?

Answer. Eight in the road.

Question. Did Holliday know that Haney had seen him ?

Ansicer. No ; I reckon he was like I was ; ho did not believe it.

Question. Did Holliday know that Haney had charged him with it ?

Answer. Certainly he did.

Question. Did he get angry with Haney ?

Answer. He heard it first from his wife's people, and it made him verj^ angiy with
them, and lilied to have jiarted them, until he found out where it did come from.

Question. What did he say against Haney ?

Answer. Nothing, that I ever heard 06
Question. There was bad feeling between Holliday and Haney ?

Answer. Yes, sir, there was. I Avasat the old man's tSnnday evening before this thing
took place on Monday. I was talking about the threats of Billy McDonald. He said that
if he was not afeared to get into the law, he would go down, but he would let it alone
for the Ku-Klux to do. I said if he did that he might as well let it alone until dooms-
day, for it never would be settled.

Question. What was that ?

Anstver. About HoUiday's wjfe ; as he heard from his grandson. ,

Question. You say there was a case in which husband and wife quarreled very
bitterly ?

Answer. I did not say bittei'ly.

Question. Well, you say they quarreled ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; there was a quarrel between Booth and his wife ; and in the morn-
ing she threatened him with the Ku-Klux. They put up a notice to him, that if he did
not stay at home and quit drinking, the Ku-Klux would be on to him.

Question. His wife threatened him with that i

Answer. He said, '• The Ku-Klux have never threatened mo ; it is some of my mis-
chievous neighbor boys that did it." That was in the morning, and it was at night
that they wercon to him.

Question. What did they do to him ?

Answer. They caught him at Russell Aaron's ; and they asked him if ho denied that
they put np that notice. He said he did not, and raised uj) his right hand, and said

that he would suffer it to come off if he had denied it.

Question. Wixs he a drinking man, and did he abuse his wife ?

Answer. If he did, I did not know it.

Question. His wife threatened him with being Ku-Kluxed ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And this visit followed?
Ansiver. Yi'H, sir.

Question. Was that' about the same in the other cases ?

Ansucr. About the same.
Question. Did the husband or A^ife threaten with the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. I do not know that Mrs. Holliday ever threatened her husband in her life
;

I think she is too shrewd a woman to do that ; I think her above the like of that.
Question. She would keep her domestic troubles to herself?

1
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Ansiver. Yes, sir. She is a good Avoiiiai) ; but the otlier is not so experienced, and is

more like a child.

Question. Yovi said something about their selling liquor : were there illicit stills up
there ?

Answer. If there is anything like that, I am not the man knowing to it at all.

(Jiteslion. How about this liiau who was told that he should not sell liquor any
more.

Answer. I do not think he has any still.

Question. To whom does ho sell it?
Answer. He sells it toauybody that will buy it ; he is licensed.
Question. Was it riotous there ?

Answer. I think there was some turmoil there ; some quarreling and lighting, per-
haps.

Question. He merelj- had notice not to sell any more liquor ?

Answer. The boys stuck matches through the liouse and lighted them u]!. I told
them that was the danger of the thing. Ho had been indictetl for selling without a
license, and the county made him suffer severely for it; and then he gut a license.

They told him that if he did not quit they would skin him alive. Now, he v,-ould look
well going about without a skin. That night they whipped that yellow boy Mitchell
Eeed, who has been here

Question. What had he done ?

Ansiver. I did not hear anytliing that he had done. Charley Mason was the man
with whom he had li\'ed, and he said it had ruined his crop. They also went to Squire
Chandler's, and ran off the servants he had.

By the "Chairmax :

Question. Was this the man (pointing to Mr. Kicks, the clerk of the committee) who
took down your statemeut?
Answer I think he is.

Question. Was the Mrs. HoUiday Avho came here as a witness the same one that Ha-
uey charged with having been whipped by her husband?

Answer. I think so. Her family is of lojal stock, and there is no better friend to the
Government than old Billy McDonald. If we had had a j)lenty of old Billy McDoualds,
we never would have had the war we have had.

Question. Was he a Uuiou man?
Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Was Holliday a Union man ?

Anstver. I believe he was.
Question. Ho you believe what this man Haney said about Holliday's whipping his

wife, or do you think it was just a slander that he started?
Answer. No, sir, I do not believe it was so, and I thought his grandfather ought not

to have believed it. People need not tell falsehoods and expect them to go before men
of intelligence as facts, for they can-ya light that betrays them.

Question. And until McDonald found out the truth about it, he was a great deal dis-

turbed ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir; and said that Holliday could not cut his back.
Question. In regard to the complaints that Booth's wife made, did you hear her make

them ?

Answer. No, sir; but I think Mr. Aaron heard Billy say so. Billy Booth said, " I did
say it, but no person living ever heard it but just me and my wife; and they scared
mo, and I told them a lie." He said that just as soon as they went away.

Question. What sort of a man is Booth?
Answer. He trades a little, horse-swaps a little, farms a little, and gets tight once in

a while. His wife said to my wife that she had quit crossing him, and takes part of
the fault herself. I hope she is going to do better than she has been doing. I reckon
they would have done better anyhow if there had been no meddling with them.

Question. Which side do these Ku-Klux generally vote on when they go to the elec-

tions ?

Ansiver. Well, if I know them, and I , suspicion them veiy strong, I think that they
want to tear down this Government; that is my sentiment; that is what I think.

Question. Were any of them in the rebel army ?

Answer. Well, I think the height of them were. George Haney was not, for ho was
not old enough, but the others were.

Question. Have you heard them express any hostility to the Government?
Ansiver. Certainly I did hear that; and that makes,me lose confidence in any man.

A man who is not a true friend to his government is not a true friend to me.
Questimi, Do they manifest hostility to the friends of the Government ?

Answer. Certainly they do.
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By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Do you know a single person that yon know to be a member of this organ-
ization ?

Answer. I clo, not ; if I did, I tell you he would have been felled to the floor before
now.

Question. You do not know the politics of any man that belongs to that order ?

Answer. No, sir; I do not know the politics of any such man ; if I was to hear such
a man as that say it, I would not know whether to believe him.

Atlanta, Georgia, October 26, 1871.

W. R. AARON sworn and examined.

By the Chairman :

Question. State your age, where you were born, where yon now live, and what is your
present occupation.
Answer. I am twenty-eight years old; I was born in Forsyth County, and I live

now in Jackson County ; I am a farmer.
Question. Has your wife been before this committee as a wiiness ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What is her name ?

Answer. Nancy Aaron.
Question. Tell us whether, in your community, there have been any people that are

commonly called Kn-Klux.
Answer. Yes, sir ; there were thirty-sis came to my house at one time ; I do not recol-

lect exactly the time they came. They came there to see Mr. Booth ; that is what they
told us when they came ; they had nothing to say out of the way to any of my folks.

Question. How came Mr. Booth to be at your house ? •

Ansu-er. He was owing me a little money, and as he was passing by there he stopped
to pay me. He had been to the grocery to get a little whisky ; he drank right smart,,

and that is what they said they came on him for.

Question. What sort of a man is he ?

Answer. I do not know anything against the man, only that he will drink too much.
Question. How old a man is he ?

Answer. About thirty-five, I think ; he looks like he may be that.

Question. Are there other men in your country that drink too much ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; an old man there by the name of Mr. Mobley, that lives within a
half a mile of me, has laid drunk, I reckon, for about four mouths this summer.

Question. Are there any others ?

Answer. There is another there by the name of Jot. Day ; he nearly lost his crop by
drinking too much.

Question. Are there any others ?

Answer. Not that I know of; none that drink to excess.
Question. Are there others that get drunk?
Answer. Yes, sir ; there are others if I could recollect who they are.

Question. I suppose that in your community, as in most others, nearly everybody
takes his dram, and some take it too often ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. Were you ever asked to join the Ku-Klux?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. When ?

Ansicer. Along this summer, about layiug-by time ; aboiit the 1st of July.
Question. Who asked you ?

Ansu'er. A man by the name of Perry Nicholson.
Question. How old a man is he?
Answer. About twenty-seven, I think.
Question. Where did you meet with him ?

Ansiver. He came to my house and asked me would I join them. I reckon that must
have been his business there. He first had been saying that it would be best »for hira

to join them, and he asked me if I would join them. I said, " No, not for the world."
Then he turned around and said that he Avould'not, either.

Question. Was he supposed to belong to them ?

Answer. I never heard anything of that sort said, but his conversation run that Avay.

Question. What did he tell you about them before you expressed this opinion'?

Ansuvr. He mentioned to me about going to Mr. Holliday's, a week or so before he
mentioned to me about joining them, and telling Holliday that if he would put up a
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notice that he was sony for having accused some meu of bciufr Ku-Klux, they Mould
uot trouble him any more.

Question. "Wliy did he say that ho thought he Avould join them ?

AnnHcr. He did not say, except that it -would be the best thing for him to do so ; that
they would bother him if he did uot do it. He asked if 1 would join them, and I said,
"No, I would not for the -world."

Question. Was that before they came to your house or after-n'ard ?

Ahsicci: It was after the Ku-Klux came to my house.
Question. How were those meu disguised who came to your house ?

Answer. They were most disguised with oil caps on. and were dressed in black.
(,>iiestion. Were they armed f

Ansiccr. Yes, sir ; tJiey had pistols.

Qucsiion. Were they -walking or riding when they came there ?

Answer. They were riding.

Question. At what time did they come there ?

Answer. It was between ten and eleven o'clock at night, probably a little later thau
that ; we had no clock. We were just lixiug to lie down when Mr. 15ooth came to the
house.

Question. How long after Booth came didthey. come there?
Answer. Not more than fifteen or twenty minutes.
Question. Did any of them come into the house?
Ansreer. No, sir ; I asked them in, but they would uot come in.

. Question. Did you know any of them?
Answer. I did not know either of them that I know of. There -was an iron-gray

critter and a mule that I sort of recognized.
Question. To whom did you think they belonged?
Answer. I think they belonged to Jack Haney and Madison Finch ; that is my honest

opinion about the two critters.

Question. How long after this man came to your house and had this.talk about Mr.
Holliday's putting up a notice, before they made the attack on Mr. HoUiday ?

Ansicer. I reckon it was about three weeks.
Question. Where were you the night Mr. Holliday was attacked ?

Answer. I was at home.
Question. Did you see anything of the men who attacked him, or did you hear them

passing ?

Answer. No, sir; they did not pass along my road at all; they went right on from
here to old man Eay's ; so they said.

Question. Have you heard any man speak of being there at Holliday's that night?
Answer. Yes, sir ; Perry Nicholson told me in about two weeks afterward, I reckon,

that Mr. Jim Thurman told him as a secret, that he kicked Holliday out of the house
that night. He told me that he would tell me this if I never would tell anybody. I

said, " Just so," and then he up and told me. I said something to Mr. Holliday after-

"ward, and Mr. Holliday said he thought he knew the man who did it.

Question. Did NichoJsou say whether he himself had been there with them that
night or not ?

Answer. No, sir, he did not say. Nicholson Avas working -with ibis Jim Thurman.
Question. What sort of a man is Thurman ?

Answer. I do not know much about the man ; I never had any dealings with him.
Question. Is he a man of property ?

Anstver. Yes, sir ; he has got right smart of property.
Question. Did he own slaves before the war ?

Answer. 1 think he did, but I am not certain ; I never saw him before the war, but
he is worth right smart.

Question. Do you know whether any threats have been made against Mr. Holliday,

or against anybody who opposes the Ku-Klux ?

Answer. No, sir; uot that I know of.

Question. Do you know anything about the burning of Mr. Holliday's property since

he came here ? •

Answer. No, sir.

By Mr. Bayard :

Question. Were you here before the grand jury, in the Holliday case ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.

Question. You came up here to testify what you have testified to us in regard to the

assault on Holliday's house ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. I understood you to say that you know nothing personally of the attack;

that you did not see the men either going or returning, and know nothing about it,

except what you have heard from rumor ?

Ansiver. Yes, sir.
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Question. Did you say, on tbo iiijiht these men came to your bouse, that they came
there to k)ok for Mr. Booth, and that you knew none of the men at all, but thought you
recognized one or two of the animals as belonging to Mr. Haney, but you recognized
none of the riders ?

Jiisiccr. I recognized none of the riders, only by the way they sat on their horses; I

allowed that tbcy were the same ones.

Qnrslioit. And you thought the horse and mule which you recognized belonged to
Haney 1

Anmccr. Yes, sir.

Quesiion. Was this Booth a very drunken character ?

Aniiinr. He drinks right smart, but he never gets clean down ; he drinks to excess,

but it never throws him.
Question. Had he any trouble in his family—with his wife, for instance ?

Ansu'er. I do not know that he ever had, only he would lay out from home drunk.
Question. Did yon know anything about his wife having procured this visitation to

him by these people ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Do you know whether she had told him that, if he did not behave and do
better, she would have these j^eople visit him ?

Answer. I have heard that rumored, that is all.

Question. Did they disturb any of your family when they came there to youi" house?
Answer. No, sir; none but Billy Booth.
Question. They called him out ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had he any whisky with him ?

Answer. Yes, sir, a little.

Question. What did they say to him ?

Answer. They said something about a notice that had been put up at his house three
or four weeks before, and he had said about the settlement that someof the neighbors,
boys had init up the notice. They asked him if he had said so, and he said that he
would suffer his right arm to drop olf if he had said it. The notice was, that if he did
not stay at home they would give him three hundred, and if that did not do, they
would give him six hundred.

Question. Was that all that they said to him ?

Answer. That is all I recollect.

Question. Did they rebuke him for his drunkenness ?

Ansiccr. They cautioned him mightily about it, and told him not to do it any more,
and quit lying out from home.

Question. That was all the fault they found with him ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. And then they rode away ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That was the only time you over saw them ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I heard them talk afterward when I was in bed in another man's
house.

Question. This man Nicholson never told you that he was a member of the order ?

Ansiver. No, sir.

Question. But he Buggestcd that you and he had better join it, and you promptly de-
clined ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. That is all you know upon the subject f

Answer. That is all.

By the Chairman :

Question. What did you tell him when he asked if you would join ?

Anstver. I told him I would not join them for the world.
Question. What objection had you ?

Ansiver. Because 1 knew it was not in favor of my country ; that it was against the
laws, and I am a law-abiding man.

Question. You thought it was a bad, mischievous, wrong organization ?

Answer. Yes, sir. I did despise them ; when they came to my house that night I

was powerful mad with them. All the harm they did was to leave my fence down.
Question. Was Booth's wife kin to anybody that was supposed to belong to the Ku-

Klux ?

Ansicer. I have heard say, but I do not know that it is true, that her brother has
been accused of it.

Question. What is her brother's name ?

Answer. Jack Ross.
Question. You have been asked what you know about the Ku-Klux. Have yon been

at Mr. Holliday's house and seen the marks and signs on the house ?
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Answer. Yes, sir; I have been there. I saw that there were thirteen bullet-shot in

his house. Mis. HolUday told me that they shot three bullets after they got inside. I

saw but one.
Question. Were there any marks on the door?
Anmcer. No, sir ; I did not notice the door where it was burstcd.
Question. Have they done any other mischief in the country there ?

Ansxver. I believe that is the worst they have done, only I have heard of their whip-
ping some negroes. The night they came to my house there were seventy-five at a
black man's house, close to Mr. Holliday's, and they whiiijied a negro there.

Question. Was he whipped i)retty severely ?

Answer. Yes, sir. He came right on here and reported it ; so it was said in the set-

tlement.
Question. What was his name ?

Answei-. I forget his name ; I never was acquainted with him.
















